



World Radio History

1

## SCHEMATIC SYMBOLS USED IN CIRCUIT DIAGRAMS



<sup>1</sup> Where it is necessary or desirable to identify the electrodes, the curved element represents the *outside* electrode (marked "outside foil," "ground," etc.) in fixed paper- and ceramic-dielectric condensers, and the *negative* electrode in electrolytic condensers.

in electrolytic condensers. <sup>2</sup> In the modern symbol, the curved line indicates the moving element (rotor plates) in variable and adjustable airor mica-dielectric condensers.

In the case of switches, jacks, relays, etc., only the basic combinations are shown. Any combination of these symbols may be assembled as required, following the elementary forms shown.

# THE RADIO AMATEUR'S HANDBOOK

By the HEADQUARTERS STAFF of the AMERICAN RADIO RELAY LEAGUE WEST HARTFORD, CONN., U.S.A.



# 1954

Thirty-first Edition



## COPYRIGHT 1954 BY

# THE AMERICAN RADIO RELAY LEAGUE, INC.

Copyright secured under the Pan-American Convention

International Copyright secured

This work is Publication No. 6 of The Radio Amateur's Library, published by the League. All rights reserved. No part of this work may be reproduced in any form except by written permission of the publisher. All rights of translation are reserved. Printed in U. S. A.

Quedan reservados todos los derechos

Thirty-first Edition

\$3 in U. S. A. proper \$3.30 in U. S. Possessions and Canada \$4 elsewhere

THE RUMFORD PRESS Concord, New Hampshire, U. S. A.

# Foreword

In twenty-eight years of continuous publication *The Radio Amateur's Handbook* has become as much of an institution as amateur radio itself. Produced by the amateur's own organization, the American Radio Relay League, and written with the needs of the practical amateur constantly in mind, it has earned universal acceptance not only by amateurs but by all segments of the technical radio world, from students to engineers, servicemen to operators. This wide dependence on the *Handbook* is founded on its practical utility, its treatment of radio communication problems in terms of how-to-do-it rather than by abstract discussion and abstruse formulas.

But there is another factor as well: dealing with a fast-moving and progressive science, sweeping and virtually continuous modification has been a feature of the *Handbook* — always with the objective of presenting the soundest and best aspects of current practice rather than the merely new and novel. Its annual rewriting is a major task of the headquarters group of the League, participated in by skilled and experienced amateurs well acquainted with the practical problems in the art.

In contrast to most publications of a comparable nature, the *Handbook* is printed in the format of the League's monthly magazine, *QST*. This, together with extensive and usefully-appropriate catalog advertising by manufacturers producing equipment for the radio amateur and industry, makes it possible to distribute for a very modest charge a work which in volume of subject matter and profusion of illustration surpasses most available radio texts selling for several times its price.

This thirty-first edition takes note of the changes in technical practice that have occurred in the past year. A considerable amount of new equipment in all categories appears throughout the book. The chapter on highfrequency transmitters includes new units for the Novice as well as more elaborate units for the accomplished amateur. Continuing the trend of recent years, all transmitting equipment has been designed with the reduction of harmonics in the telecasting bands as a primary feature. The chapter on v.h.f. receivers has been extensively redone, making use of the newest circuits and tubes. And the always informative data chapter on vacuum tubes and semiconductors has been expanded to include over 150 new tube types plus transistors.

The *Handbook* has long been considered an indispensable part of the amateur's equipment. We earnestly hope that the present edition will succeed in bringing as much assistance and inspiration to amateurs and would-be amateurs as have its predecessors.

World Radio History

A. L. BUDLONG General Manager, A.R.R.L.

West Hartford, Conn.

World Radio History

.

# CONTENTS

. .

-

.

	<i>Frontispiece</i>
	The Amateur's Code
Chapter	1 — Amateur Radio
	2—Electrical Laws and Circuits
	3Vacuum-Tube Principles
	4—High-Frequency Communication
	5—High-Frequency Receivers
	6—High-Frequency Transmitters
	7-Power Supplies205
	8—Keying and Break-In229
	9—Speech Amplifiers and Modulators238
	10—Amplitude Modulation265
	11 — Frequency and Phase Modulation
	12-Reduced-Carrier and Single-Sideband
	13—Transmission Lines
	14—Antennas
	15-About V.H.F
	16
	17—V.H.F. Transmitters
	18—V.H.F. Antennas
	19—U.H.F. and Microwave Communication 421
	20 — Mobile Equipment
	21 — Measurements
	22—Assembling a Station
	23BCI and TVI
	24-Construction Practices
	25—Operating a Station520
	26—Miscellaneous Data535
	27—Vacuum Tubes and Semiconductors
	Catalog Section

Index

......

...

# THE AMATEUR'S CODE

# • ONE •

The Amateur is Gentlemanly... He never knowingly uses the air for his own amusement in such a way as to lessen the pleasure of others. He abides by the pledges given by the ARRL in his behalf to the public and the Government.

## • TWO •

The Amateur is Loyal... He owes his amateur radio to the American Radio Relay League, and he offers it his unswerving loyalty.

# • THREE •

The Amateur is Progressive ... He keeps his station abreast of science. It is built well and efficiently. His operating practice is clean and regular.

## • FOUR •

The Amateur is Friendly...Slow and patient sending when requested, friendly advice and counsel to the beginner, kindly assistance and coöperation for the broadcast listener; these are marks of the amateur spirit.

## • FIVE •

The Amateur is Balanced...Radio is his hobby. He never allows it to interfere with any of the duties he owes to his home, his job, his school, or his community.

## • SIX •

The Amateur is Patriotic . . . His knowledge and his station are always ready for the service of his country and his community.

- Paul M. Segal

# CHAPTER 1

# **Amateur** Radio

Amateur radio is a scientific hobby, a means of gaining personal skill in the fascinating art of electronics and an opportunity to communicate with fellow citizens by private shortwave radio. Scattered over the globe are more than 150,000 amateur radio operators who perform a service defined in international law as one of "self-training, intercommunication and technical investigations carried on by . . . duly authorized persons interested in radio technique solely with a personal aim and without pecuniary interest."

From a humble beginning at the turn of the century, amateur radio has grown to become an established institution. Today the American followers of amateur radio number over 100,000, trained communicators from whose ranks will come the professional communications specialists and executives of tomorrowjust as many of today's radio leaders were first attracted to radio by their early interest in amateur radio communication. A powerful and prosperous organization now provides a bond between amateurs and protects their interests; an internationally-respected magazine is published solely for their benefit. The Army and Navy seek the coöperation of the amateur in developing communications reserves. Amateur radio supports a manufacturing industry which, by the very demands of amateurs for the latest and best equipment. is always up-to-date in its designs and production techniques - in itself a national asset. Amateurs have won the gratitude of the nation for their heroic performances in times of natural disaster. Through their organization, amateurs have cooperative working agreements with such agencies as the United Nations and the Red Cross, Amateur radio is, indeed, a magnificently useful institution.

Although as old as the art of radio itself, amateur radio did not always enjoy such prestige. Its first enthusiasts were private citizens of an experimental turn of mind whose imaginations went wild when Marconi first proved that messages actually could be sent by wireless. They set about learning enough about the new scientific marvel to build homemade stations. By 1912 there were numerous Government and commercial stations, and hundreds of amateurs; regulation was needed, so laws, licenses and wavelength specifications for the various services appeared. There was then no amateur organization nor spokesman. The official viewpoint toward amateurs was something like this:

"Amateurs? . . . Oh, yes. . . . Well, stick 'em on 200 meters and below; they'll never get out of their backyards with that."

But as the years rolled on, amateurs found out how, and DX (distance) jumped from local to 500-mile and even occasional 1,000-mile twoway contacts. Because all long-distance messages had to be relayed, relaying developed into a fine art — an ability that was to prove invaluable when the Government suddenly called hundreds of skilled amateurs into war service in 1917. Meanwhile U. S. amateurs began to wonder if there were amateurs in other countries across the seas and if, some day, we might not span the Atlantic on 200 meters.

Most important of all, this period witnessed the birth of the American Radio Relay League, the amateur radio organization whose name was to be virtually synonymous with subsequent amateur progress and short-wave development. Conceived and formed by the famous inventor, the late Hiram Percy Maxim, ARRL was formally launched in early 1914. It had just begun to exert its full force in amateur activities when the United States declared war in 1917, and by that act sounded the knell for amateur radio for the next two and a half years. There were then over 6000 amateurs. Over 4000 of them served in the armed forces during that war.

Today, few amateurs realize that World



HIRAM PERCY MAXIM President ARRL, 1914–1936

War I not only marked the close of the first phase of amateur development but came very near marking its end for all time. The fate of amateur radio was in the balance in the days immediately following the signing of the Armistice. The Government, having had a taste of supreme authority over communications in wartime, was more than half inclined to keep it. The war had not been ended a month before Congress was considering legislation that would have made it impossible for the amateur radio of old ever to be resumed. ARRL's President Maxim rushed to Washington, pleaded, argued, and the bill was defeated. But there was still no amateur radio; the war ban continued. Repeated representations to Washington met only with silence. The League's offices had been closed for a year and a half, its records stored away. Most of the former amateurs had gone into service; many of them would never come back. Would those returning be interested in such things as amateur radio? Mr. Maxim, determined to find out, called a meeting of the old Board of Directors. The situation was discouraging: amateur radio still banned by law, former members scattered, no organization, no membership, no funds. But those few determined men financed the publication of a notice to all the former amateurs that could be located, hired Kenneth B. Warner as the League's first paid secretary, floated a bond issue among old League members to obtain money for immediate running expenses, bought the magazine QST to be the League's official organ, started activities, and dunned officialdom until the wartime ban was lifted and amateur radio resumed again, on October 1, 1919. There was a headlong rush by amateurs to get back on the air. Gangway for King Spark! Manufacturers were hard put to supply radio apparatus fast enough. Each night saw additional dozens of stations crashing out over the air. Interference? It was bedlam!

But it was an era of progress. Wartime needs had stimulated technical development. Vacuum tubes were being used both for receiving and transmitting. Amateurs immediately adapted the new gear to 200-meter work. Ranges promptly increased and it became possible to bridge the continent with but one intermediate relay.

#### TRANS-ATLANTICS

As DX became 1000, then 1500 and then 2000 miles, amateurs began to dream of trans-Atlantic work. Could they get across? In December, 1921, ARRL sent abroad an expert amateur, Paul F. Godley, 2ZE, with the best receiving equipment available. Tests were run, and thirty American stations were heard in Europe. In 1922 another trans-Atlantic test was carried out and 315 American calls were logged by European amateurs and one French and two British stations were heard on this side.

Everything now was centered on one objective: two-way amateur communication across the Atlantic! It must be possible -- but somehow it couldn't quite be done. More power? Many already were using the legal maximum. Better receivers? They had superheterodynes. Another wavelength? What about those undisturbed wavelengths below 200 meters? The engineering world thought they were worthless — but they had said that about 200 meters. So, in 1922, tests between Hartford and Boston were made on 130 meters with encouraging results. Early in 1923, ARRL-sponsored tests on wavelengths down to 90 meters were successful. Reports indicated that as the wavelength dropped the results were better. A growing excitement began to spread through amateur ranks.

Finally, in November, 1923, after some months of careful preparation, two-way amateur trans-Atlantic communication was accomplished, when Schnell, 1MO, and Reinartz, 1XAM (now W9UZ and K6BJ, respectively) worked for several hours with Deloy, 8AB, in France, with all three stations on 110 meters! Additional stations dropped down to 100 meters and found that they, too, could easily work two-way across the Atlantic. The exodus from the 200-meter region had started. The "short-wave" era had begun!

By 1924 dozens of commercial companies had rushed stations into the 100-meter region. Chaos threatened, until the first of a series of national and international radio conferences partitioned off various bands of frequencies for the different services. Although thought still centered around 100 meters, League officials at the first of these frequency-determining conferences, in 1924, wisely obtained amateur bands not only at 80 meters but at 40, 20, and even 5 meters.

Eighty meters proved so successful that "forty" was given a try, and QSOs with Australia, New Zealand and South Africa soon became commonplace. Then how about 20 meters? This new band revealed entirely unexpected possibilities when 1XAM worked 6TS on the West Coast, direct, at high noon. The dream of amateur radio — daylight DX! was finally true.

## **PUBLIC SERVICE**

Amateur radio is a grand and glorious hobby but this fact alone would hardly merit such wholehearted support as is given it by our Government at international conferences. There are other reasons. One of these is a thorough appreciation by the Army and Navy of the value of the amateur as a source of skilled radio personnel in time of war. Another asset is best described as "public service."

About 4000 amateurs had contributed their skill and ability in '17-'18. After the war it was only natural that cordial relations should prevail between the Army and Navy and the amateur. These relations strengthened in the next

# AMATEUR RADIO

few years and, in gradual steps, grew into cooperative activities which resulted, in 1925, in the establishment of the Naval Communications Reserve and the Army-Amateur Radio System (now the Military Affiliate Radio System). In World War II thousands of amateurs in the Naval Reserve were called to active duty, where they served with distinction, while many other thousands served in the Army, Air Forces, Coast Guard and Marine Corps. Altogether, more than 25,000 radio amateurs served in the armed forces of the United States. Other thousands were engaged in vital civilian electronic research, development and manufacturing. They also organized and manned the War Emergency Radio Service, the communications section of OCD.

The "public-service" record of the amateur is a brilliant tribute to his work. These activities can be roughly divided into two classes, expeditions and emergencies. Amateur cooperation with expeditions began in 1923 when a League member, Don Mix, 1TS, of Bristol, Conn. (now assistant technical editor of QST), accompanied MacMillan to the Arctic on the schooner Bowdoin with an amateur station. Amateurs in Canada and the U.S. provided the home contacts. The success of this venture was such that other explorers followed suit. During subsequent years a total of perhaps two hundred voyages and expeditions were assisted by amateur radio, and for many years no expedition has taken the field without such plans.

Since 1913 amateur radio has been the principal, and in many cases the only, means of outside communication in several hundred storm, flood and earthquake emergencies in this country. The 1936 eastern states flood, the 1937 Ohio River Valley flood, the Southern California flood and Long Island-New England hurricane disaster in 1938, and the Florida-Gulf Coast hurricanes of 1947 called for the amateur's greatest emergency effort. In these disasters and many others - tornadoes, sleet storms, forest fires, blizzards - amateurs played a major rôle in the relief work and earned wide commendation for their resourcefulness in effecting communication where all other means had failed. During 1938 ARRL inaugurated a new emergency-preparedness program, registering personnel and equipment in its Emergency Corps and putting into effect a comprehensive program of coöperation with the Red Cross, and in 1947 a National Emergency Coördinator was appointed to full-time duty at League headquarters.

The amateur's outstanding record of organized preparation for emergency communications and performance under fire has been largely responsible for the decision of the Federal Government to set up special regulations and set aside special frequencies for use by amateurs in providing auxiliary communications for civil defense purposes in the event of war. Under the banner, "Radio Amateur Civil Emergency Service," amateurs are setting up and manning community and area networks integrated with civil defense functions of the municipal governments. Should a war cause the shut-down of routine amateur activities, the RACES will be immediately available in the national defense.

## TECHNICAL DEVELOPMENTS

Throughout the many years the amateur was careful not to slight experimental development in the enthusiasm incident to international DX. The experimenter was constantly at work on ever-higher frequencies, devising improved apparatus, and learning how to cram several stations where previously there was room for only one! In particular, the amateur pressed on to the development of the very high frequencies and his experience with five meters is especially representative of his initiative and resourcefulness and his ability to make the most of what is at hand. In 1924, first amateur experiments in the vicinity of 56 Mc. indicated that band to be practically worthless for DX. Nonetheless, great "short-haul" activity eventually came about in the band and new gear was developed to meet its special problems. Beginning in 1934 a series of investigations by the brilliant experimenter, Ross Hull (later QST's editor), developed the theory of v.h.f. wave-bending in the lower atmosphere and led amateurs to the attainment of better distances; while occasional manifestations of ionospheric propagation, with still greater distances, gave the band uniquely erratic performance. By Pearl Harbor thousands of amateurs were spending much of their time on this and the next higher band, many having worked hundreds of stations at distances up to several thousand miles. Transcontinental 6meter DX is now a commonplace occurrence; even the oceans have been bridged! It is a tribute to these indefatigable amateurs that today's concept of v.h.f. propagation was developed largely through amateur research.

The amateur is constantly in the forefront of technical progress. His incessant curiosity, his eagencess to try anything new, are two reasons. Another is that ever-growing amateur radio continually overcrowds its frequency assignments, spurring amateurs to the development and adoption of new techniques to permit the



A sorner of the ARRL laboratory.

# **CHAPTER 1**

accommodation of more stations. For examples, amateurs turned from spark to c.w., designed more selective receivers, adopted crystal control and pure d.c. power supplies. From the ARRL's own laboratory in 1932 came James Lamb's "single-signal" superheterodyne — the world's most advanced high-frequency radiotelegraph receiver and, in 1936, the "noise-silencer" circuit. Amateurs are now turning to speech "clippers" to reduce bandwidths of 'phone transmissions and "single-sideband suppressed-carrier" systems as well as even more selectivity in receiving equipment for greater efficiency in spectrum use.

During World War 11, thousands of skilled amateurs contributed their knowledge to the development of secret radio devices, both in Government and private laboratories. Equally as important, the prewar technical progress by amateurs provided the keystone for the development of modern military communications equipment. Perhaps more important today than individual contributions to the art is the mass coöperation of the amateur body in Government projects such as propagation studies: each participating station is in reality a separate field laboratory from which reports are made for correlation and analysis.

Emergency relief, expedition contact, experimental work and countless instances of other forms of public service — rendered, as they always have been and always will be, without hope or expectation of material reward — made amateur radio an integral part of our peacetime national life. The importance of amateur participation in the armed forces and in other aspects of national defense have emphasized more strongly than ever that amateur radio is vital to our national existence.

## THE AMERICAN RADIO RELAY LEAGUE

The ARRL is today not only the spokesman for amateur radio in this country but it is the largest amateur organization in the world. It is strictly of, by and for amateurs, is noncommercial and has no stockholders. The members of the League are the owners of the ARRL and QST.

The League is pledged to promote interest in two-way amateur communication and experimentation. It is interested in the relaying of messages by amateur radio. It is concerned with the advancement of the radio art. It stands for the maintenance of fraternalism and a high standard of conduct. It represents the amateur in legislative matters.

One of the League's principal purposes is to keep anateur activities so well conducted that the amateur will continue to justify his existence. Amateur radio offers its followers countless pleasures and unending satisfaction. It also calls for the shouldering of responsibilities — the maintenance of high standards,



The operating room at WIAW.

a coöperative loyalty to the traditions of amateur radio, a dedication to its ideals and principles, so that the institution of amateur radio may continue to operate "in the public interest, convenience and necessity."

The operating territory of ARRL is divided into one Canadian and fifteen U.S. divisions. The affairs of the League are managed by a Board of Directors. One director is elected every two years by the membership of each U.S. division, and one by the Canadian membership. These directors then choose the president and vice-president, who are also members of the Board. The secretary and treasurer are also appointed by the Board. The directors, as representatives of the amateurs in their divisions, meet annually to examine current amateur problems. and formulate ARRL policies thereon. The directors appoint a general manager to supervise the operations of the League and its headquarters, and to carry out the policies and instructions of the Board.

ARRL owns and publishes the monthly magazine, QST. Acting as a bulletin of the League's organized activities, QST also serves as a medium for the exchange of ideas and fosters amateur spirit. Its technical articles are renowned. It has grown to be the "amateur's bible," as well as one of the foremost radio magazines in the world. Membership dues include a subscription to QST.

ARRL maintains a model headquarters amateur station, known as the Hiram Percy Maxim Memorial Station, in Newington, Conn. Its call is W1AW, the call held by Mr. Maxim until his death and later transferred to the League station by a special FCC action. Separate transmitters of maximum legal power on each amateur band have permitted the station to be heard regularly all over the world. More important, W1AW transmits on regular schedules bulletins of general interest to amateurs, conducts code practice as a training feature, and engages in two-way work on all popular bands with as many amateurs as time permits.

At the headquarters of the League in West Hartford, Conn., is a well-equipped laboratory to assist staff members in preparation of technical material for QST and the Rodio Amateur's Handbook. Among its other ac-

# AMATEUR RADIO

tivities, the League maintains a Communications Department concerned with the operating activities of League members. A large field organization is headed by a Section Communications Manager in each of the League's seventy-two sections. There are appointments for qualified members as Official Relay Station or Official 'Phone Station for traffic handling; as Official Observer for monitoring frequencies and the quality of signals; as Route Manager and 'Phone Activities Manager for the establishment of trunk lines and networks; as Emergency Coördinator for the promotion of amateur preparedness to cope with natural disasters; and as Official Experimental Station for those pioneering the frequencies above 50 Mc. Mimeographed bulletins keep appointees informed of the latest developments. Special activities and contests promote operating skill. A special section is reserved each month in QST for amateur news from every section of the country.

## AMATEUR LICENSING IN THE UNITED STATES

Pursuant to the law, FCC has issued detailed regulations for the amateur service.

A radio amateur is a duly authorized person interested in radio technique solely with a personal aim and without pecuniary interest. Amateur operator licenses are given to U.S. citizens who pass an examination on operation and apparatus and on the provisions of law and regulations affecting amateurs, and who demonstrate ability to send and receive code. There are four available classes of amateur license - Novice, Technician, General (called "Conditional" if exam taken by mail), and Amateur Extra Class. Each has different requirements, the first two being the simplest and consequently conveying limited privileges as to frequencies available. Examinations for all classes but the Amateur Extra may be taken by mail where the applicant lives further than a specified distance from the examining centers. Station licenses are granted only to licensed operators and permit communication between such stations for amateur purposes, i.e., for personal noncommercial aims flowing from an interest in radio technique. An amateur station may not be used for material compensation of any sort nor for broadcasting. Narrow bands of frequencies are allocated exclusively for use by amateur stations. Transmissions may be on any frequency within the assigned bands. All the frequencies may be used for c.w. telegraphy and some are available for radiotelephony by any amateur, while others are reserved for radiotelephone use by persons holding higher grades of license. The input to the final stage of amateur stations is limited to 1000 watts and on frequencies below 144 Mc. must be adequatelyfiltered direct current. Emissions must be free from spurious radiations. The licensee must provide for measurement of the transmitter frequency and establish a procedure for ehecking it regularly. A complete log of station operto operate porcable and mone stations subject to further regulations. An amateur station may be operated only by an amateur operator licensee, but any licensed amateur operator may operate any amateur station within the scope of privileges conveyed by the licenses. All radio licensees are subject to penalties for violation of regulations.

Amateur licenses are issued entirely free of charge. They can be issued only to citizens but that is the only limitation, and they are given without regard to age or physical condition to anyone who successfully completes the examination. When you are able to copy code at the required speed, have studied basic transmitter theory and are familiar with the law and amateur regulations, you are ready to give serious thought to securing the Government amateur licenses which are issued you, after examination at a local district office or examining points in most of our larger cities, through FCC at Washington. A complete up-to-theminute discussion of license requirements, and study guides for those preparing for the examinations, are to be found in an ARRL publication, The Radio Amateur's License Manual, available from the American Radio Relay League, West Hartford 7, Conn., for 50¢, postpaid.

### LEARNING THE CODE

In starting to learn the code, you should consider it simply another means of conveying

	1.5	_	
Ā	didah	N	dahdit
В	dahdididit	0	dahdahdah
С	dahdidahdit	Ρ	didahdahdit
D	dahdidit	Q	dahdahdidah
E	dit	R	didahdit
F	dididahdit	S	dididit
G	dahdahdit	Т	dah
Н	didididit	U	dididah
I	didit	V	dididah
J	didahdahdah	W	didahdah
K	dahdidah	Х	dahdididah
L	didahdidit	Y	dahdidahdah
Μ	dahdah	Ζ	dahdahdidit
1	didahdahdahdah	б	dahdidididit
2	dididahdahdah	7	dahdahdididit
3	dididahdah	8	dahdahdahdidit
4	didididah	9	dahdahdahdahdit
5	didididit	0	dahdahdahdahdah

Period: didahdidahdidah. Comma: dahdahdididahdah. Question mark: dididahdahdidit. Error:didididididididit. Doubledash:dahdidididah. Wait: didahdididit. End of message: didahdidahdit. Invitation to transmit: dahdidah. End of work: didididahdidah. Fraction bar: dahdidahdit.

Fig. 1-1 - The Continental (International Morse) code.

information. The spoken word is one method, the printed page another, and typewriting and shorthand are additional examples. Learning the code is as easy — or as difficult — as learning to type.

The important thing in beginning to study code is to think of it as a language of *sound*, never as combinations of dots and dashes. It is easy to "speak" code equivalents by using "dit" and "dah," so that A would be "diddh" (the "t" is dropped in such combinations). The sound "di" should be staccato: a code character such as "5" should sound like a machinegun burst: didididit! Stress each "dah" equally; they are underlined or italicized in this text because they should be slightly accented and drawn out.

Take a few characters at a time. Learn them thoroughly in didah language before going on to new ones. If someone who is familiar with code can be found to "send" to you, either by whistling or by means of a buzzer or code oscillator, enlist his coöperation. Learn the code by *listening* to it. Don't think about speed to start; the first requirement is to learn the characters to the point where you can recognize each of them without hesitation. Concentrate on any difficult letters. Learning the code is not at all hard; a simple booklet treating the subject in detail is another of the beginner publications available from the League, and is entitled, Learning the Radiotelegraph Code, 25¢ postpaid.

## THE AMATEUR BANDS

Amateurs are assigned bands of frequencies at approximate octave intervals throughout the spectrum. Like assignments to all services, they are subject to modification to fit the changing picture of world communications needs. Modifications of rules to provide for domestic needs are also occasionally issued by FCC, and in that respect each amateur should keep himself informed by W1AW bulletins, *QST* reports, or by communication with ARRL 11q. concerning a specific point.

In the adjoining table is a summary of the U. S. amateur bands on which operation is permitted as of our press date. Figures are megacycles. AØ means an unmodulated carrier, A1 means c.w. telegraphy, A2 is tone-modulated c.w. telegraphy, A3 is amplitude-modulated 'phone, A4 is facsimile, AØ is television, n.f.m. designates narrow-band frequency- or phase-modulated radiotelephony, and f.m. means frequency modulation, 'phone (including n.f.m.) or telegraphy, F1 is frequency-shift keying.

80 meters	3.500-4.000 — A1 3.500-3.800 — F1 3.800-4.000 — A3 and n.f.m.
40 m.	7.000-7.300 — A1 7.000-7.200 — F1 7.200-7.300 — A3 and n.f.m.
20 m.	$\begin{array}{l} 14.000-14.350  \to A1 \\ 14.000-14.200  \to F1 \\ 14.200-14.300  \to A3  \text{and } n.f.m. \\ 14.300-14.350  \to F1 \end{array}$
15 m.	21.000–21.450 — A1 21.000–21.250 — F1 21.250–21.450 — A3 and n.f.m.
11 m.	26.960-27.230 — AØ, A1, A2, A3, A4, f.m.
10 m.	28.000-29.700 — A1 28.500-29.700 — A3 and n.f.m. 29.000-29.700 — f.m.
6 m,	50–54 — A1, A2, A3, A4, n.f.m. 52,5–54 — f.m.
2 m. ¾ m.	$ \begin{array}{c} 144-148\\ 220-225\\ 420-450^{\dagger}\\ 1,215-1,300\\ 3,300-2,450\\ 3,650-5,925\\ 10,000-10,500\\ 21,000-22,000\\ 11 above 30,000 \end{array} \  \  \  \  \  \  \  \  \  \  \  \  \$

<sup>4</sup> Plak antenna power must not "xceed 50 watts.

In addition, A1 and A3 on portions of 1.800–2.000, as follows:

Area	Band, kc.	Power ( Day	
Minn., Iowa, Mo., Ark., La. and states east, plus Puerto Rico and Virgin Ids.	1800-1825 1875-1900	500	200
N. and S. Dak., Neb., Colo., N. Mex., and states west, plus Ha- waijan Ids.	1900-1925 1975-2000	500*	200*
Texas, Okla., Kansas	1800-1825 1875-1900	200	75

\* Except in State of Washington where daytime power limited to 200 watts and nighttime power to 50 watts.

Novice licensees may use the following frequencies, transmitters to be crystal-controlled and have a maximum power input of 75 watts.

3.700-3.750	A1	21,100-21.250	A1
7.175-7.200	A1	145-147	A1, A2,
			A3. f.m.

Technician licensees are permitted all amateur privileges in the bands 220 Mc, and above.

# Electrical Laws and Circuits



When something occurs at one point in space because something else happened at another point, with no visible means by which the "cause" can be related to the "effect," we say the two events are connected by a field. The fields with which we are concerned are the electric and magnetic, and the combination of the two called the electromagnetic field.

A field has two important properties, intensity (magnitude) and direction. The field exerts a *force* on an object immersed in it; this force represents potential (ready-to-be-used) energy, so the **potential** of the field is a measure of the field intensity. The **direction** of the field is the direction in which the object on which the force is exerted will tend to move.

An electrically-charged object in an electric field will be acted on by a force that will tend to move it in a direction determined by the direction of the field. Similarly, a magnet in a magnetic field will be subject to a force. Everyone has seen demonstrations of magnetic fields with pocket magnets, so intensity and direction are not hard to grasp.

A "static" field is one that neither moves nor changes in intensity. Such a field can be set up by a stationary electric charge (electrostatic field) or by a stationary magnet (magnetostatic field). But if either an electric or magnetic field is moving in space or changing in intensity, the motion or change sets up the other kind of field. That is, a changing electric field sets up a magnetic field, and a changing magnetic field generates an electric field. This interrelationship between magnetic and electric fields makes possible such things as the electromagnet and the electric motor. It also makes possible the electromagnetic waves by which radio communication is carried on, for such waves are simply traveling fields in which the energy is alternately handed back and forth between the electric and magnetic fields.

## Lines of Force

Although no one knows what it is that composes the field itself, it is useful to invent a picture of it that will help in visualizing the forces and the way in which they act.

A field can be pictured as being made up of lines of force, or flux lines. These are purely imaginary threads that show, by the direction in which they lie, the direction the object on which the force is exerted will move. The *number* of lines in a chosen cross section of the field is a measure of the *intensity* of the force. The number of lines per square inch, or per square centimeter, is called the flux density.

## ELECTRICITY AND THE ELECTRIC CURRENT

Everything physical is built up of atoms, particles so small that they cannot be seen even through the most powerful microscope. But the atom in turn consists of several different kinds of still smaller particles. One is the electron, essentially a small particle of electricity. The quantity or charge of electricity represented by the electron is, in fact, the smallest quantity of electricity that can exist. The kind of electricity associated with the electron is called negative.

An ordinary atom consists of a central core called the **nucleus**, around which one or more electrons circulate somewhat as the earth and other planets circulate around the sun. The nucleus has an electric charge of the kind of electricity called **positive**, the amount of its charge being just exactly equal to the sum of the negative charges on all the electrons associated with that nucleus.

The important fact about these two "opposite" kinds of electricity is that they are strongly attracted to each other. Also, there is a strong force of repulsion between two charges of the *same* kind. The positive nucleus and the negative electrons are attracted to each other, but two electrons will be repelled from each other and so will two nuclei.

While in a normal atom the positive charge on the nucleus is exactly balanced by the negative charges on the electrons, it is possible for an atom to lose one of its electrons. When that happens the atom has a little less negative charge than it should — that is, it has a net positive charge. Such an atom is said to be ionized, and in this case the atom is a positive ion. If an atom picks up an extra electron, as it sometimes does, it has a net negative charge and is called a negative ion. A positive ion will attract any stray electron in the vicinity, including the extra one that may be attached to a nearby negative ion. In this way it is possible for electrons to travel from atom to atom. The movement of ions or electrons constitutes the electric current.

The amplitude of the current (that is, its intensity or magnitude) is determined by the rate at which electric charge — an accumulation of electrons or ions of the same kind — moves past a point in a circuit. Since the charge on a single electron or ion is extremely small, the number that must move as a group to form even a tiny current is almost inconceivably large.

#### Conductors and Insulators

Atoms of some materials, notably metals and acids, will give up an electron readily, but atoms of other materials will not part with any of their electrons even when the electric force is extremely strong. Materials in which electrons or ions can be moved with relative case are called **conductors**, while those that refuse to permit such movement are called **nonconductors** or **insulators**. The following list shows how some common materials divide between the conductor and insulator classifications:

Conductors	Insulators
Metals	Dry Air
Carbon	Wood
Acids	Porcelain
	Textiles
	Glass
	Rubber
	Resins

#### **Electromotive** Force

The electric force or potential (called electromotive force, and abbreviated e.m.f.) that causes current flow may be developed in several ways. The action of certain chemical solutions on dissimilar metals sets up an e.m.f.; such a combination is called a cell, and a group of cells forms an electric battery. The amount of current that such cells can carry is limited, and in the course of current flow one of the metals is eaten away. The amount of electrical energy that can be taken from a battery consequently is rather small. Where a large amount of energy is needed it is usually furnished by an electric generator, which develops its e.m.f. by a combination of magnetic and mechanical means.

In picturing current flow it is natural to think of a single, constant force causing the electrons to move. When this is so, the electrons always move in the same direction through a path or circuit made up of conductors connected together in a continuous chain. Such a current is called a direct current, abbreviated d.c. It is the type of current furnished by batteries and by certain types of generators. However, it is also possible to have an e.m.f. that periodically reverses. With this kind of e.m.f. the current flows first in one direction through the circuit and then in the other. Such an e.m.f. is called an alternating e.m.f., and the current is called an alternating current (abbreviated a.c.). The reversals (alternations) may occur at any rate from a few per second up to several billion per second. Two reversals make a cycle; in one evcle the force acts first in one direction, then in the other, and then returns to the first direction. The number of evcles in one second is called the **frequency** of the alternating current.

# **CHAPTER 2**

#### Direct and Alternating Currents

The difference between direct current and alternating current is shown in Fig. 2-1. In these graphs the horizontal axis measures time, increasing toward the right away from the vertical axis. The vertical axis represents the amplitude or strength of the current, increasing in either the up or down direction away from the horizontal axis. If the graph is above the horizontal axis the current is flowing in one direction through the circuit (indicated by the + sign) and if it is below the horizontal axis the current is flowing in the reverse direction through the circuit (indicated by the - sign). Fig. 2-1A shows that, if we close the circuit — that is, make the path for the current complete — at the time indicated by X, the current instantly takes the amplitude indicated by the height A. After that, the current continues at the same amplitude as time goes on. This is an ordinary *direct* current.

In Fig. 2-1B, the current starts flowing with the amplitude A at time X, continues at that amplitude until time Y and then instantly ceases. After an interval YZ the current again begins to flow and the same sort of start-and-stop performance is repeated. This is an *intermiltent* direct current. We could get it by alternately closing and opening a switch in the circuit. It is a *direct* current because the *direction* of current flow does not change; the graph is always on the + side of the horizontal axis.

In Fig. 2-1C the current starts at zero, increases in amplitude as time goes on until it reaches the amplitude  $A_1$  while flowing in the + direction, then decreases until it drops to zero amplitude once more. At that time (X) the



Fig. 2-1 — Three types of enrrent flow. A — direct current: B — intermittent direct current; C — alternating current.

direction of the current flow reverses; this is indicated by the fact that the next part of the graph is below the axis. As time goes on the amplitude increases, with the current now flowing in the direction, until it reaches amplitude  $A_2$ . Then the amplitude decreases until finally it drops to zero (Y) and the direction reverses once more. This is an *alternating* current.

#### Waveforms

The type of alternating current shown in Fig. 2-1 is known as a sine wave. The variations in many a.c. waves are not so smooth, nor is one half-cycle necessarily just like the preceding one in shape. However, these **complex waves** can be shown to be the sum of two or more sine waves of frequencies that are exact integral (whole-number) multiples of some lower frequency. The lowest frequency is called the **fundamental** frequency, and the higher frequencies (2 times, 3 times the fundamental frequency, and so on) are called **harmonics**.

Fig. 2-2 shows how a fundamental and a second harmonic (twice the fundamental) might add to form a complex wave. Simply by changing the relative amplitudes of the two waves, as well as the times at which they pass through zero amplitude, an infinite number of waveshapes can be constructed from just a fundamental and second harmonic. Waves that are still more complex can be constructed if more harmonics are used.

#### Electrical Units

The unit of electromotive force is called the volt. An ordinary flashlight cell generates an e.m.f. of about 1.5 volts. The e.m.f. commonly supplied for domestic lighting and power is 115 volts, usually a.c. having a frequency of 60 cycles per second. The voltages used in radio receiving and transmitting circuits range from a few volts (usually a.c.) for filament heating to as high as a few thousand d.e. volts for the operation of power tubes.

The flow of electric current is measured in amperes. One ampere is equivalent to the movement of many billions of electrons past a point in the circuit in one second. Currents in the neighborhood of an ampere are required for heating the filaments of small power tubes. The *direct* currents used in amateur radio equipment usually are not so large, and it is customary to measure such currents in milliamperes. One milliampere is equal to one one-thousandth of an ampere, or 1000 milliamperes equals one ampere.

A "d.e. ampere" is a measure of a *steady* current, but the "a.e. ampere" must measure a current that is continually varying in amplitude and periodically reversing direction. To put the two on the same basis, an a.e. ampere is defined as the amount of current that will cause the same heating effect (see later section) as one ampere of steady direct current. For sine-wave a.e., this effective (or r.m.s.) value is equal to the maximum amplitude ( $A_1$  or  $A_2$  in Fig. 2-1C) multiplied by 0.707. The instantaneous value is the value



Fig. 2-2 — A complex waveform. A fundamental (top) and second harmonic (center) added together, point by point at each instant, result in the waveform shown at the bottom. When the two components have the same polarity at a selected instant, the resultant is the simple sum of the two. When they have opposite polarities, the resultant is the *difference*; if the negative-polarity component is larger, the resultant is negative at that instant.

that the current (or voltage) has at any selected instant in the cycle.

If all the instantaneous values in a sine wave are averaged over a *half*-cycle, the resulting figure is the **average value**. It is equal to 0.636 times the maximum amplitude. The average value is useful in connection with rectifier systems, as described in a later chapter.

## FREQUENCY AND WAVELENGTH

## Frequency Spectrum

Frequencies ranging from about 15 to 15,000 cycles per second are called **audio** frequencies, because the vibrations of air particles that our ears recognize as sounds occur at a similar rate. Audio frequencies (abbreviated **a.f.**) are used to actuate loudspeakers and thus create sound waves.

Frequencies above about 15,000 cycles are ealled radio frequencies (r.f.) because they are useful in radio transmission. Frequencies all the way up to and beyond 10,000,000,000 cycles have been used for radio purposes. At radio frequencies the numbers become so large that it becomes convenient to use a larger unit than the cycle. Two such units are the kilocycle, which is equal to 1000 cycles and is abbreviated kc., and the megacycle, which is equal to 1,000,000 cycles or 1000 kilocycles and is abbreciated Mc.

The various radio frequencies are divided off into classifications for ready identification. These classifications, listed below, constitute the frequency spectrum so far as it extends for radio purposes at the present time.

Frequency	Classification	Abbreviation
10 to 30 kc.	Very-low frequencies	v.l.f.
30 to 300 kc.	Low frequencies	l.f.
300 to 3000 ke.	Medium frequencies	m,f.
3 to 30 Me.	High frequencies	h.ť.
30 to 300 Mc.	Very-high frequencies	v.h.f.
300 to 3000 Me.	Ultrahigh frequencies	u.h.f.
3000 to 30,000 Me.	Superhigh frequencies	s.h.f.

#### Wavelength

Suppose an r.f. current has a frequency of 3,000,000 cycles per second. The fields will go through complete reversals (one cycle) in 1/3,000,000 second. In that same period of time the fields — that is, the wave — will move 300,000,000/3,000,000 meters, or 100 meters. By the time the wave has moved that distance

Given two conductors of the same size and shape, but of different materials, the amount of current that will flow when a given e.m.f. is applied will be found to vary with what is called the **resistance** of the material. The lower the resistance, the greater the current for a given value of e.m.f.

Resistance is measured in **ohms**. A circuit has a resistance of one ohm when an applied e.m.f. of one volt causes a current of one ampere to flow. The resistivity of a material is the resistance, in ohms, of a cube of the material measuring one centimeter on each edge. One of the best conductors is copper, and it is frequently convenient, in making resistance calculations, to eompare the resistance of the material under consideration with that of a copper conductor of the same size and shape. Table 2-1 gives the ratio of the resistivity of various conductors to that of copper.

The longer the path through which the current flows the higher the resistance of that conductor. For direct current and low-frequency alternating

TABL	E 2-I
Relative Resisti	vity of Metals
Material	Resistivity Compared to Copper
Aluminum (pure) Brass. Cadmium. Chromium. Copper (hard-drawn) Copper (annealed) Iron (pure). Lead. Nickel. Phosphor Bronze. Silver. Tin. Zinc.	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$

the next eycle has begun and a new wave has started out. The first wave, in other words, covers a distance of 100 meters before the beginning of the next, and so on. This distance is the wavelength.

The longer the time of one cycle — that is, the lower the frequency — the greater the distance occupied by each wave and hence the longer the wavelength. The relationship between wavelength and frequency is shown by the formula

$$\lambda = \frac{300,000}{f}$$

where  $\lambda$  = Wavelength in meters f = Frequency in kilocycles

or  $\lambda = \frac{300}{f}$ 

where  $\lambda$  = Wavelength in meters

f = Frequency in megacycles Example: The wavelength corresponding to a

frequency of 3650 kilocycles is

$$\lambda = \frac{300,000}{3650} = 82.2$$
 meters

# Resistance

currents (up to a few thousand cycles per second) the resistance is *inversely* proportional to the cross-sectional area of the path the current must travel; that is, given two conductors of the same material and having the same length, but differing in cross-sectional area, the one with the larger area will have the lower resistance.

#### **Resistance of Wires**

The problem of determining the resistance of a round wire of given diameter and length — or its opposite, finding a suitable size and length of wire to supply a desired amount of resistance can be easily solved with the help of the copperwire table in the Miscellaneous Data chapter. This table gives the resistance, in olums per thousand feet, of each standard wire size.

Example: Suppose a resistance of 3.5 ohms is needed and some No. 28 wire is on hand. The wire table in the Miscellaneous Data ehapter shows that No. 28 has a resistance of 66.17 ohms per thousand feet. Since the desired resistance is 3.5 ohms, the length of wire required will be

$$\frac{3.5}{66.17}$$
 × 1060 = 52.89 feet,

Or, suppose that the resistance of the wire in the circuit must not exceed 0.05 ohm and that the length of wire required for making the connections totals 14 fect. Then

$$\frac{14}{1000} \times R = 0.05 \text{ ohm}$$

where R is the maximum allowable resistance in ohms per thousand feet. Rearranging the formula gives

$$R = \frac{0.05 \times 1000}{14} = 3.57 \text{ ohms/1000 ft.}$$

Reference to the wire table shows that No. 15 is the smallest size having a resistance less than this value.

When the wire is not copper, the resistance values given in the wire table should be multi-

•

Types of resistors used in radio equipment. Those in the foreground with wire leads are carbon types, ranging in size from  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt at the left to 2 watts at the right. The larger resistors use resistance wire wound on ceramic tubes; sizes shown range from 5 watts to 100 watts. Three are the adjustable type, using a sliding contact on an exposed section of the resistance winding.

plied by the ratios given in Table 2-I to obtain the resistance.

Example: If the wire in the first example were iron instead of copper the length required for 3.5 ohms would be

$$\frac{3.5}{66.17 \times 5.65} \times 1000 = 9.35$$
 feet.

#### **Temperature Effects**

The resistance of a conductor changes with its temperature. Although it is seldom necessary to consider temperature in making resistance calculations for amateur work, it is well to know that the resistance of practically all metallic conductors increases with increasing temperature. Carbon, however, acts in the opposite way; its resistance *dccreases* when its temperature rises. The temperature effect is important when it is necessary to maintain a constant resistance under all conditions. Special materials that have little or no change in resistance over a wide temperature range are used in that case.

#### Resistors

A "package" of resistance made up into a single unit is called a **resistor**. Resistors having the same resistance value may be considerably different in size and construction. The flow of current through resistance causes the conductor to become heated; the higher the resistance and the larger the current, the greater the amount of heat developed. Resistors intended for carrying large currents must be physically large so the heat can be radiated quickly to the surrounding air. If the resistor does not get rid of the heat quickly it may reach a temperature that will cause it to melt or burn.

#### Skin Effect

The resistance of a conductor is not the same for alternating current as it is for direct current. When the current is alternating there are internal effects that tend to force the current to flow mostly in the outer parts of the conductor. This decreases the effective cross-sectional area of the conductor, with the result that the resistance increases.

For low audio frequencies the increase in resistance is unimportant, but at radio frequencies this **skin effect** is so great that practically all the current flow is confined within a few thousandths of an inch of the conductor surface. The r.f. resistance is consequently many times the d.c. resistance, and increases with increasing frequency. In the r.f. range a conductor of thin tubing will have just as low resistance as a solid conductor of the same diameter, because material not close to the surface carries practically no current.

#### Conductance

The reciprocal of resistance (that is, 1/R) is called **conductance**. It is usually represented by the symbol *G*. A circuit having large conductance has low resistance, and vice versa. In radio work the term is used chiefly in connection with vacuum-tube characteristics. The unit of conductance is the **mho**. A resistance of one ohm has a conductance of one mho, a resistance of 1000 ohms has a conductance of 0.001 mho, and so on. A unit frequently used in connection with vacuum tubes is the **micromho**, or one-millionth of a mho. It is the conductance of a resistance of one mercohem.

#### OHM'S LAW

The simplest form of electric circuit is a battery with a resistance connected to its terminals, as shown by the symbols in Fig. 2-3. A complete circuit must have an unbroken path so current



can flow out of the battery, through the apparatus connected to it, and back into the battery. The circuit is **broken**, or open, if a connection is removed at any point. A switch is a device for making and breaking connections and thereby closing or opening the circuit, either allowing surrent to flow or preventing it from flowing.

Convers	TABLE : ion Factors fo Multiple	r Fractional	and
To change from	Multiply by		
Units	Micro-units Milli-units Kilo-units Mega-units	1000 1,000,000	1,000,000 1000
Micro-units	Milli-units Units	1000 1,000,000	
Milli-units	Micro-units Units	1000	1000
Kilo-units	Units Mega-units	1000	1000
Mega-units	Units Kilo-units		1,000,000

The values of current, voltage and resistance in a circuit are by no means independent of each other. The relationship between them is known as Ohm's Law. It can be stated as follows: The current flowing in a circuit is directly proportional to the applied e.m.f. and inversely proportional to the resistance. Expressed as an equation, it is

$$I \text{ (amperes)} = \frac{E \text{ (volts)}}{R \text{ (ohms)}}$$

The equation above gives the value of current when the voltage and resistance are known. It may be transposed so that each of the three quantities may be found when the other two are known:

$$E = IR$$

(that is, the voltage acting is equal to the current in amperes multiplied by the resistance in ohms) and

$$R = \frac{E}{I}$$

(or, the resistance of the circuit is equal to the applied voltage divided by the current).

All three forms of the equation are used almost constantly in radio work. It must be remembered that the quantities are in *volls*, *ohms* and *amperes*; other units cannot be used in the equations without first being converted. For example, if the current is in milliamperes it must be changed to the equivalent fraction of an ampere before the value can be substituted in the equations.

Table 2-11 shows how to convert between the various units in common use. The prefixes attached to the basic-unit name indicate the nature of the unit. These prefixes are:

micro — one-millionth (abbreviated  $\mu$ ) milli — one-thousandth (abbreviated m) kilo — one thousand (abbreviated k) mega — one million (abbreviated M)

For example, one microvolt is one-millionth of a volt, and one megohm is 1,000,000 ohms. There are therefore 1,000,000 microvolts in one volt, and 0.000001 megohm in one ohm.

# **CHAPTER 2**

The following examples illustrate the use of Ohm's Law:

The current flowing in a resistance of 20,000 ohms is 150 milliamperes. What is the voltage? Since the voltage is to be found, the equation to use is E = IR. The current must first be converted from milliamperes to amperes, and reference to the table shows that to do so it is necessary to divide by 1000. Therefore,

$$E = \frac{150}{1000} \times 20,000 = 3000$$
 volts

When a voltage of 150 is applied to a circuit the current is measured at 2.5 amperes. What is the resistance of the circuit? In this case R is the unknown, so

$$R = \frac{\vec{E}}{\vec{I}} = \frac{150}{2.5} = 60 \text{ ohms}$$

No conversion was necessary because the voltage and current were given in volts and amperes. How much current will flow if 250 volts is applied to a 5000-obm resistor? Since University

$$I = \frac{B}{R} = \frac{250}{5000} = 0.05$$
 ampere

Milliampere units would be more convenient for the current, and 0.05 amp.  $\times$  1000 = 50 milliamperes.

## SERIES AND PARALLEL RESISTANCES

Very few actual electric circuits are as simple as the illustration in the preceding section. Commonly, resistances are found connected in a



variety of ways. The two fundamental methods of connecting resistances are shown in Fig. 2-4. In the upper drawing, the current flows from the source of e.m.f. (in the direction shown by the arrow, let us say) down through the first resistance,  $R_1$ , then through the second,  $R_2$ , and then back to the source. These resistors are connected in series. The current everywhere in the circuit has the same value.

In the lower drawing the current flows to the common connection point at the top of the two resistors and then divides, one part of it flowing through  $R_1$  and the other through  $R_2$ . At the lower connection point these two currents again combine; the total is the same as the current that flowed into the upper common connection. In this case the two resistors are connected in **parallel.** 

#### **Resistors** in Series

When a circuit has a number of resistances connected in series, the total resistance of the circuit is the sum of the individual resistances. If these are numbered  $R_1$ ,  $R_2$ ,  $R_3$ , etc., then R (total) =  $R_1 + R_2 + R_3 + R_4 + \ldots$ .

where the dots indicate that as many resistors as necessary may be added.

Example: Suppose that three resistors are connected to a source of c.u.f. as shown in Fig. 2-5. The c.n.f. is 250 volts,  $R_1$  is 5000 ohms,  $R_2$  is 20,000 ohms, and  $R_3$  is 8000 ohms. The total resistance is then

$$\begin{array}{l} R = R_1 + R_2 + R_3 = 5000 + 20,000 + 8000 \\ = 33,000 \text{ ohms} \end{array}$$

The current flowing in the circuit is then

$$I = \frac{E}{R} = \frac{250}{33,000} = 0.00757$$
 amp. = 7.57 ma.

(We need not earry calculations beyond three significant figures, and often two will suffice because the accuracy of measurements is seldom better than a few per cent.)

#### Voltage Drop

Ohm's Law applies to *any part* of a circuit as well as to the whole circuit. Although the current is the same in all three of the resistances in the example, the total voltage divides among them. The voltage appearing across each resistor (the voltage drop) can be found from Ohm's Law.

Example: If the voltage aeross  $R_1$  (Fig. 2-5) is called  $E_1$ , that aeross  $R_2$  is called  $E_2$ , and that aeross  $R_3$  is called  $E_3$ , then

$$E_1 = IR_1 = 0.00757 \times 5000 = 37.9$$
 volts  
 $E_2 = IR_2 = 0.00757 \times 20,000 = 451.4$  volts  
 $E_3 = IR_3 = 0.00757 \times 8000 = 60.6$  volts

The applied voltage must equal the sum of the individual voltage drops:

$$\mathcal{E} = E_1 + E_2 + E_3 = 37.9 + 151.4 + 60.6$$
  
= 249.9 volts

The answer would have been more nearly exact if the current had been calculated to more decimal places, but as explained above a very high order of accuracy is not necessary.

In problems such as this considerable time and trouble can be saved, when the current is small enough to be expressed in milliamperes, if the



Fig. 2-5 - An example of resistors in series. The solution of the circuit is worked out in the text.

resistance is expressed in kilohms rather than ohms. When resistance in kilohms is substituted directly in Ohm's Law the current will be in milliamperes if the e.m.f. is in volts.

#### **Resistors in Parallel**

In a circuit with resistances in parallel, the total resistance is *less* than that of the *lowest* value of resistance present. This is because the total current is always greater than the current in any individual resistor. The formula for finding the total resistance of resistances in parallel is

$$R = \frac{1}{\frac{1}{\frac{1}{R_1} + \frac{1}{R_2} + \frac{1}{R_3} + \frac{1}{R_4} + \cdots}}$$

where the dots again indicate that any number of resistors can be combined by the same method. For only two resistances in parallel (a very common case) the formula is

$$R = \frac{R_1 R_2}{R_1 + R_2}$$

Example: If a 500-ohm resistor is paralleled with one of 1200 ohms, the total resistance is

$$R = \frac{R_1 R_2}{R_1 + R_2} = \frac{500 \times 1200}{500 + 1200} = \frac{600,600}{1700}$$
  
= 353 ohms

It is probably easier to solve practical problems by a different method than the "reciprocal of reciprocals" formula. Suppose the three re-



Fig. 2-6 — An example of resistors in parallel. The solution is worked out in the text.

sistors of the previous example are connected in parallel as shown in Fig. 2-6. The same e.m.f., 250 volts, is applied to all three of the resistors. The current in each can be found from Ohm's Law as shown below,  $I_1$  being the current through  $R_1$ ,  $I_2$  the current through  $R_2$  and  $I_3$  the current through  $R_3$ .

For convenience, the resistance will be expressed in kilohus so the current will be in milliamperes.

$$I_1 = \frac{E}{R_1} = \frac{250}{5} = 50 \text{ ma.}$$
$$I_2 = \frac{E}{R_2} = \frac{250}{20} = 12.5 \text{ ma.}$$
$$I_3 = \frac{E}{R_2} = \frac{250}{8} = 31.25 \text{ ma.}$$

The total current is

$$I = I_1 + I_2 + I_3 = 50 + 12.5 + 31.25$$
  
= 93.75 ma,

The total resistance of the circuit is therefore  $R = \frac{E}{2} = \frac{250}{2} = 2.00$  kilohurg ( = 2000 shows)

# $\mathbf{R} = \frac{E}{I} \approx \frac{250}{93.75} = 2.66 \text{ kilohms} (= 2660 \text{ ohms})$

#### **Resistors in Series-Parallel**

An actual circuit may have resistances both in parallel and in series. To illustrate, we use the same three resistances again, but now connected as in Fig. 2-7. The method of solving such a circuit such as Fig. 2-7 is as follows: Consider  $R_2$  and  $R_3$  in parallel as though they formed a single resistor. Find their equivalent resistance. Then this resistance in series with  $R_1$  forms a simple series circuit, as shown at the right in Fig. 2-7.



Fig. 2.7 — An example of resistors in series-parallel. The solution is worked out in the text.

Example: The first  $\operatorname{ste}_D$  is to find the equivalent resistance of  $R_2$  and  $R_3$ . From the formula for two resistances in parallel,

$$R_{\text{eq.}} = \frac{R_2 R_3}{R_2 + R_3} = \frac{20 \times 8}{20 + 8} = \frac{160}{28}$$
  
= 5.71 kilohms

The total resistance in the circuit is then  $R = R_1 + R_{eq} = 5 + 5.71$  kilohms

= 10.71 kilohms

The current is

$$I = \frac{E}{R} = \frac{250}{10.71} = 23.4$$
 ma.

The voltage drops across  $R_1$  and  $R_{eq}$ , are  $E_1 = IR_1 = 23.4 \times 5 = 117$  volts

 $E_2 = IR_{eq.} = 23.4 \times 5.71 = 133$  volts

with sufficient accuracy. These total 250 volts, thus checking the calculations so far, because the sum of the voltage drops must equal the applied voltage. Since  $E_2$  appears across both  $R_2$ and  $R_3$ ,

$$I_2 = \frac{E_2}{R_2} = \frac{133}{20} = 6.75 \text{ ma.}$$
$$I_3 = \frac{E_2}{R_3} = \frac{133}{8} = 16.6 \text{ ma.}$$
$$I_4 = C_{\text{current through }} R_2$$

where 
$$I_2 = \text{Current through } R_2$$
  
 $I_3 = \text{Current through } R_3$ 

The total is 23.35 ma., which checks closely enough with 23.4 ma., the current through the whole circuit.

#### POWER AND ENERGY

Power — the rate of doing work — is equal to voltage multiplied by current. The unit of electrical power, called the watt, is equal to one volt multiplied by one ampere. The equation for power therefore is

$$P = EI$$

where P = Power in watts E = E.m.f. in volts I = Current in amperes

Common fractional and multiple units for power are the milliwatt, one one-thousandth of a watt, and the kilowatt, or one thousand watts.

Example: The plate voltage on a transmitting vacuum tube is 2000 volts and the plate current is 350 milliamperes. (The current must be changed to amperes before substitution in the formula, and so is 0.35 amp.) Then

$$P = EI = 2000 \times 0.35 = 700$$
 watts

By substituting the Ohm's Law equivalents for E and I, the following formulas are obtained for power:

$$P = \frac{E^2}{R}$$
$$P = I^2 R$$

These formulas are useful in power calculations

# **CHAPTER 2**

when the resistance and either the current or voltage (but not both) are known.

Example: How much power will be used up in a 4000-ohm resistor if the voltage applied to it is 200 volts? From the equation

$$P = \frac{E^2}{R} = \frac{(200)^2}{4000} = \frac{40,000}{4000} = 10$$
 watts

Or, suppose a current of 20 milliamperes flows through a 300-ohm resistor. Then

$$P = I^2 R = (0.02)^2 \times 300 = 0.0004 \times 300$$
  
= 0.12 watt

Note that the current was changed from milliamperes to amperes before substitution in the formula.

Electrical power in a resistance is turned into heat. The greater the power the more rapidly the heat is generated. Resistors for radio work are made in many sizes, the smallest being rated to "dissipate" (or carry safely) about  $\frac{1}{4}$ watt. The largest resistors used in amateur equipment will dissipate about 100 watts.

#### Generalized Definition of Resistance

Electrical power is not always turned into heat. The power used in running a motor, for example, is converted to mechanical motion. The power supplied to a radio transmitter is largely converted into radio waves. Power applied to a loudspeaker is changed into sound waves. But in every case of this kind the power is completely "used up"-it cannot be recovered. Also, for proper operation of the device the power must be supplied at a definite ratio of voltage to current. Both these features are characteristics of resistance, so it can be said that any device that dissipates power has a definite value of "resistance." This concept of resistance as something that absorbs power at a definite voltage/current ratio is very useful, since it permits substituting a simple resistance for the load or power-consuming part of the device receiving power, often with considerable simplification of calculations. Of course, every electrical device has some resistance of its own in the more narrow sense, so a part of the power supplied to it is dissipated in that resistance and hence appears as heat even though the major part of the power may be converted to another form.

#### Efficiency

In devices such as motors and vacuum tubes, the object is to obtain power in some other form than heat. Therefore power used in heating is considered to be a loss, because it is not the useful power. The efficiency of a device is the useful power output (in its converted form) divided by the power input to the device. In a vacuum-tube transmitter, for example, the object is to convert power from a d.c. source into a.c. power at some radio frequency. The ratio of the r.f. power output to the d.c. input is the efficiency of the tube. That is,

$$Eff. = \frac{P_0}{P_0}$$

#### where Eff. = Efficiency (as a decimal)

 $\tilde{P}_{o}$  = Power output (watts)

 $P_i$  = Power input (watts)

Example: If the d.c. input to the tube is 100 watts and the r.f. power output is 60 watts, the efficiency is

$$Ef. = \frac{P_0}{P_1} = \frac{60}{100} = 0.6$$

Efficiency is usually expressed as a percentage; that is, it tells what per cent of the input power will be available as useful output. The efficiency in the above example is 60 per cent.

#### Energy

In residences, the power company's bill is for electric energy, not for power. What you pay for is the work that electricity does for you, not the rate at which that work is done.

**Capacitance and Condensers** 

Suppose two flat metal plates are placed close to each other (but not touching) as shown in Fig. 2-8. Normally, the plates will be electrically "neutral"; that is, no electrical charge will be evident on either plate.

Now suppose that the plates are connected to a battery through a switch, as shown. At the



instant the switch is closed, electrons will be attracted from the upper plate to the positive terminal of the battery, and the same number will be repelled into the lower plate from the negative battery terminal. This electron movement will continue until enough electrons move into one plate and out of the other to make the e.m.f. between them the same as the e.m.f. of the battery.

If the switch is opened after the plates have been charged, the top plate is left with a deficiency of electrons and the bottom plate with an excess. In other words, the plates remain charged despite the fact that the battery no longer is connected. However, if a wire is touched between the two plates (short-circuiting them) the excess electrons on the bottom plate will flow through the wire to the upper plate, thus restoring electrical neutrality to both plates. The plates have then been discharged.

The two plates constitute an electrical capacitor or condenser, and from the discussion above it should be clear that a condenser possesses the property of storing electricity. It should also be clear that during the time the electrons are moving - that is, while the condenser is being charged or discharged - a current is flowing in the circuit even though the circuit is "broken" by the gap between the condenser plates. However, the current flows only during the time of

Electrical work is equal to power multiplied by time; the common unit is the watt-hour, which means that a power of one watt has been used for one hour. That is,

$$W = PT$$

where W = Energy in watt-hours

P = Power in wattsT = Time in hours

Other energy units are the kilowatt-hour and the watt-second. These units should be self-

explanatory. Energy units are seldom used in amateur practice, but it is obvious that a small amount of power used for a long time can eventually result in a "power" bill that is just as large as though a large amount of power had been used for a very short time.

charge and discharge, and this time is usually very short. There can be no continuous flow of direct current "through" a condenser.

The charge or quantity of electricity that can be placed on a condenser is proportional to the applied voltage and to the capacitance or capacity of the condenser. The larger the plate area and the smaller the spacing between the plates the greater the capacitance. The capacitance also depends upon the kind of insulating material between the plates; it is smallest with air insulation, but substitution of other insulating materials for air may increase the capacitance of a condenser many times. The ratio of the capacitance of a condenser with some material other than air between the plates, to the capacitance of the same condenser with air insulation, is called the specific inductive capacity or dielectric constant of that particular insulating material. The material itself is called a dielectric. The dielectric constants of a number of materials

TABLE		
Dielectric Constants an	d Breakdow	n Voltages
Material	Dielectric Constant	Puncture Voltage*
Air	1.0	19.8 - 22.8
Alsimag A196	5.7	240
Bakelite (paper-base)	3.8-5.5	650-750
Bakelite (mica-filled)	5-6	475-600
Celluloid	4-16	
Cellulose acetate	6-8	- 300-1000
Fiber	5-7.5	150-180
Formica	4.6-4.9	450
Glass (window)	7.6-8	200 - 250
Glass (photographic)	7.5	
Glass (Pyrex)	4.2 - 4.9	335
Lucite	2.5 - 3	480500
Mica	2.5-8	
Mica (clear India)	6.4-7.5	600-1500
Mycalex	7.4	250
Paper	2.0-2.6	1250
Polyethylene	2.3 - 2.4	1000
Polystyrene	2.4 - 2.9	500 - 2500
Porcelain	6.2-7.5	40 - 100
Rubber (hard)	2 - 3.5	450
Steatite (low-loss)	4.4	150-315
Wood (dry oak)	2.5-6.8	
* In volts per mil (0.	001 inch).	

commonly used as dielectrics in condensers are given in Table 2-111. If a sheet of photographic glass is substituted for air between the plates of a condenser, for example, the capacitance of the condenser will be increased 7.5 times.

#### Units

The fundamental unit of capacitance is the farad, but this unit is much too large for practical work. Capacitance is usually measured in microfarads (abbreviated  $\mu fd$ .) or micromicrofarads ( $\mu\mu fd$ .). The microfarad is one-millionth



Fig. 2-9 — A multiple-plate condenser. Alternate plates are connected together,

of a farad, and the micromicrofarad is one-millionth of a microfarad. Condensers nearly always have more than two plates, the alternate plates being connected together to form two sets as shown in Fig. 2-9. This makes it possible to attain a fairly large capacitance in a small space as compared with a two-plate condenser, since several plates of smaller individual area can be stacked to form the equivalent of a single large plate of the same total area. Also, all plates, except the two on the ends, are exposed to plates of the other group on *both sides*, and so are twice as effective in increasing the capacitance.

The formula for calculating the capacitance of a condenser is

$$C = 0.224 \frac{KA}{d} \left( n - 1 \right)$$

where  $C = \text{Capacitance in } \mu\mu\text{fd.}$ 

- K = Dielectric constant of material between plates
- A =Area of one side of one plate in square inches
- d = Separation of plate surfaces in inches
- n =Number of plates

If the plates in one group do not have the same area as the plates in the other, use the area of the *smaller* plates.

Example: A "variable" condenser has 7 semicircular plates on its rotor, the diameter of the semicircle being 2 inches. The stator has 6 rectangular plates, with a semicircular cut-out to clear the rotor shaft, but otherwise large enough to face the entire area of a rotor plate. The diameter of the cut-out is  $\frac{1}{2}$  inch. The distance between the adjacent surfaces of rotor and stator plates is  $\frac{1}{2}$  inch. The dielectric is air. What is the capacitance of the condenser with the plates fully meshed?

In this case, the "effective" area is the area of the rotor plate minus the area of the cut-out in the stator plate. The area of either semicircle is  $\pi r^2/2$ , where r is the radius. The area of the rotor plate is  $\pi/2$ , or 1.57 square inclus (the radius is 1 inch). The area of the cut-out is  $\pi (!4)^2/2 = \pi/32 = 0.10$  square inches (the radie). The "flective" area is therefore 1.57 - 0.10 = 1.47 square inches. The capacitance is therefore

$$C = 0.224 \frac{KA}{d} (u - 1) = 0.224 \frac{1 \times 1.47}{0.125} (13 - 1)$$
  
= 0.224 × 11.76 × 12 = 31.6 µµfd.

(The answer is only approximate, because of the difficulty of accurate measurement, plus a "fringing" effect at the edges of the plates that makes the actual equacitance a little higher.)

The usefulness of a condenser in electrical circuits lies in the fact that it can be charged with electricity at one time and then discharged at a later time. In other words, it is eapable of storing electrical energy that can be released later when it is needed; it is an "electrical reservoir."

### Condensers in Radio

The types of condensers used in radio work differ considerably in physical size, construction, and capacitance. Some representative types are shown in the photograph. In variable condensers (almost always constructed with air for the dielectric) one set of plates is made movable with respect to the other set so that the capacitance can be varied. Fixed condensers — that is, having fixed capacitance — also can be made with metal plates and with air as the dielectric, but usually



Fixed and variable condensers, The bottom row includes, left to right, a high-voltage mica fixed condenser, a tubular electrolytic, tubular paper, two sizes of "postage-stamp" micas, a small ceramic type (temperature compensating), an adjustable condenser with ceramic insulation (for neutralizing in transmitters), a "button ceramic condenser, and an adjustable "padding" condenser, Four sizes of variable condensers are shown in the second row. The twoplate condenser with the micrometer adjustment is used in transmitters. The condenser enclosed in the metal case is a high-voltage paper type used in power-supply filters,

•

are constructed from plates of metal foil with a thin solid or liquid dielectric sandwiched in between, so that a relatively large capacitance can be secured in a small unit. The solid dielectrics commonly used are mica, paper and special ceramics. An example of a liquid dielectric is mineral oil. The electrolytic condenser uses aluminum-foil plates with a semiliquid conducting chemical compound between them; the actual dielectric is a very thin film of insulating material that forms on one set of plates through electrochemical action when a d.c. voltage is applied to the condenser. The capacitance obtained with a given plate area in an electrolytic condenser is very large, compared with condensers having other dielectrics, because the film is so extremely thin - much less than any thickness that is practicable with a solid dielectric.

#### Voltage Breakdown

When a high voltage is applied to the plates of a condenser, a considerable force is exerted on the electrons and nuclei of the dielectric. Because the dielectric is an insulator the electrons do not become detached from atoms the way they do in conductors. However, if the force is great enough the dielectric will "break down"; usually it will puncture and may char (if it is solid) and permit current to flow. The breakdown voltage depends upon the kind and thickness of the dielectric, as shown in Table 2-III. It is not directly proportional to the thickness; that is, doubling the thickness does not quite double the breakdown voltage. If the dielectric is air or any other gas, breakdown is evidenced by a spark or are between the plates, but if the voltage is removed the arc ceases and the condenser is ready for use again. Breakdown will occur at a lower voltage between pointed or sharp-edged surfaces than between rounded and polished surfaces; consequently, the breakdown voltage between metal plates of given spacing in air can be increased by buffing the edges of the plates.

Since the dielectric must be thick to withstand high voltages, and since the thicker the dielectric the smaller the capacitance for a given plate area, a high-voltage condenser must have more plate area than a low-voltage condenser of the same capacitance. High-voltage high-capacitance condensers are physically large.

## CONDENSERS IN SERIES AND PARALLEL

The terms "parallel" and "series" when used with reference to condensers have the same circuit meaning as with resistances. When a number of condensers are connected in parallel, as in Fig. 2-10, the total capacitance of the group is equal to the sum of the individual capacitances, so

$$C ext{ (total)} = C_1 + C_2 + C_3 + C_4 + \dots$$

However, if two or more condensers are connected in series, as in the second drawing,



the total capacitance is less than that of the smallest condenser in the group. The rule for finding the capacitance of a number of seriesconnected condensers is the same as that for finding the resistance of a number of *parallel*connected resistors. That is,

$$C \text{ (total)} = \frac{1}{\frac{1}{C_1} + \frac{1}{C_2} + \frac{1}{C_3} + \frac{1}{C_4}} + \dots$$

and, for only two condensers in series,

 $C \text{ (total)} = \frac{C_1 C_2}{C_1 + C_2}$ 

The same units must be used throughout; that is, all capacitances must be expressed in either  $\mu$ fd. or  $\mu\mu$ fd.; you cannot use both units in the same equation.

Condensers are connected in parallel to obtain a larger total capacitance than is available in one unit. The largest voltage that can be applied safely to a group of condensers in parallel is the voltage that can be applied safely to the condenser having the *lowest* voltage rating.

When condensers are connected in series, the applied voltage is divided up among the various condensers; the situation is much the same as when resistors are in series and there is a voltage drop across each. However, the voltage that appears across each condenser of a group connected in series is in *inverse* proportion to its capacitance, as compared with the capacitance of the whole group.

Example: Three condensers having capacitances of 1, 2 and 4  $\mu$ fd., respectively, are con-



Fig. 2-11 - An example of condensers connected in series. The solution to this arrangement is worked out in the text.

**CHAPTER 2** 

neeted in series as shown in Fig. 2-11. The total capacitance is

$$C = \frac{1}{\frac{1}{C_1} + \frac{1}{C_2} + \frac{1}{C_3}} = \frac{1}{\frac{1}{1} + \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{4}} = \frac{1}{\frac{7}{4}} = \frac{1}{\frac{7}{4}}$$
$$= 0.571 \,\mu \text{fd}.$$

The voltage across each condenser is proportional to the total capacitance divided by the capacitance of the condenser in question, so the voltage across  $C_1$  is

$$E_1 = \frac{0.571}{1} \times 2000 = 1142$$
 volts

Similarly, the voltages across  $C_2$  and  $C_3$  are

$$E_2 = \frac{0.571}{2} \times 2000 = 571$$
 volts

 $E_3 = \frac{0.571}{4} \times 2000 = 286$  volts

. . . . . .

totaling approximately 2000 volts, the applied voltage.

Condensers are frequently connected in series to enable the group to withstand a larger voltage (at the expense of decreased total capacitance) than any individual condenser is rated to stand. However, as shown by the previous example, the applied voltage does not divide equally among the condensers (except when all the capacitances are the same) so care must be taken to see that the voltage rating of no condenser in the group is exceeded.

# Inductance

It is possible to show that the flow of current through a conductor is accompanied by magnetic effects; a compass needle brought near the conductor, for example, will be deflected from its normal north-south position. The current, in other words, sets up a magnetic field.

If a wire conductor is formed into a coil, the same current will set up a stronger magnetic field than it will if the wire is straight. Also, if the wire is wound around an iron or steel core the field will be still stronger. The relationship between the strength of the field and the intensity of the current causing it is expressed by the inductance of the conductor or coil. If the same current flows through two coils, for example, and it is found that the magnetic field set up by one coil is twice as strong as that set up by the other, the first coil has twice as much inductance as the second. Inductance is a property of the conductor or coil and is determined by its shape and dimensions. The unit of inductance (corresponding to the ohm for resistance and the farad for capacitance) is the henry.

If the current through a conductor or coil is made to vary in intensity, it is found that an e.m.f. will appear across the terminals of the conductor or coil. This e.m.f. is entirely separate from the e.m.f. that is causing the current to flow. The strength of this induced e.m.f. becomes greater, the greater the intensity of the magnetic field and the more rapidly the current (and hence the field) is made to vary. Since the intensity of the magnetic field depends upon the inductance, the induced voltage (for a given current intensity and rate of variation) is proportional to the inductance of the conductor or coil.

The induced e.m.f. (sometimes called back e.m.f.) tends to send a current through the circuit in the *opposite* direction to the current that flows because of the external e.m.f. so long as the latter current is *increasing*. However, if the current caused by the applied e.m.f. decreases, the induced e.m.f. tends to send current through the circuit in the same direction as the current from the applied e.m.f. The effect of inductance, therefore, is to oppose any *change* in the current flowing in the circuit, regardless of the nature of the change. It accomplishes this by storing energy in its magnetic field when the current in the circuit is being increased, and by releasing the stored energy when the current is being decreased.



Inductance coils for power and radio frequencies. The two iron-core coils at the upper left are "chokes" for power-supply filters. The three "pie"wound coils at the lower right are used as chokes in radio-frequency circuits. The other coils are for r.f. tuned eireuits ranging in power from 25 watts to a kilowatt.

The values of inductance used in radio equipment vary over a wide range. Inductance of several henrys is required in power-supply circuits (see chapter on Power Supplies) and to obtain such values of inductance it is necessary to use coils of many turns wound on iron cores. In radio-frequency circuits, the inductance values used will be measured in millihenrys (a millihenry is one one-thousandth of a henry) at low frequencies, and in microhenrys (one one-millionth of a henry) at medium frequencies and higher. Although coils for radio frequencies may be wound on special iron cores (ordinary iron is not suitable) most r.f. coils made and used by amateurs are the "air-core" type; that is, wound on an insulating form consisting of nonmagnetic material.

### Inductance Formula

The inductance of air-core coils may be calculated from the formula

$$L (\mu h.) = \frac{0.2 a^2 n^2}{3a + 9b + 10a}$$

where L = Inductance in microhenrys

- a = Average diameter of coil in inches
- b = Length of winding in inches
- c = Radial depth of winding in inches
- n = Number of turns

The notation is explained in Fig. 2-12. The quantity 10c may be neglected if the coil only has one layer of wire.

Example: Assume a coil having 35 turns of No. 30 d.s.c. wire on a form 1.5 inches in diameter. Consulting the wire table (Miscellaneous Data chapter), 35 turns of No. 30 d.s.c. will occupy 0.5 inch. Therefore, a = 1.5, b = 0.5. n = 35, and  $I = -0.2 \times (1.5)^2 \times (35)^2 = -61.25$  wh

$$L = \frac{1}{(3 \times 1.5) + (9 \times 0.5)} = 01.25 \,\mu \text{m}$$

To calculate the number of turns of a singlelayer coil for a required value of inductance:

$$N = \sqrt{\frac{3a + 9b}{0.2a^2} \times L}$$

Example: Suppose an inductance of 10 microhenrys is required. The form on which the coil is to be wound has a diameter of one inch and is long enough to accommodate a coil length of  $1\frac{14}{4}$  inches. Then a = 1, b = 1.25, and L = 10. Substituting,

$$N = \sqrt{\frac{(3 \times 1) + (9 \times 1.25)}{0.2 \times 1^2} \times 10}$$
$$= \sqrt{\frac{14.25}{0.2} \times 10} = \sqrt{712.5}$$
$$= 26.6 \text{ turns.}$$

 $\Lambda$  27-turn coil would be close enough to the required value of inductance, in practical work,

Fig. 2-12 — Coil dimensions used in the inductance formula.



Since the coil will be 1.25 inches long, the number of turns per inch will be 27/1.25 = 21.6. Consulting the wire table, we find that No. 18 enameled wire (or any smaller size) can be used. We obtain the proper inductance by winding the required number of turns on the form and then adjusting the spacing between the turns to make a uniformly-spaced coil 1.25 inches long.

Every conductor has inductance, even though the conductor is not formed into a coil. The inductance of a short length of straight wire is small — but it may not be negligible, because if the current through it changes its intensity rapidly enough the induced voltage may be appreciable. This will be the case in even a few inches of wire when an alternating current having a frequency of the order of 100 Mc. is flowing. However, at much lower frequencies the inductance of the same wire could be left out of any calculations because the induced voltage would be negligibly small.

## IRON-CORE COILS

### Permeability

Suppose that the coil in Fig. 2-13 is wound on an iron core having a cross-sectional area of 2 square inches. When a certain current is sent through the coil it is found that there are 80,000 lines of force in the core. Since the area is 2



Fig. 2-13 — Typical construction of an iron-core coil. The small air gap prevents magnetic saturation of the iron and increases the inductance at high currents.

square inches, the flux density is 40,000 lines per square inch. Now suppose that the iron core is removed and the same current is maintained in the coil, and that the flux density without the iron core is found to be 50 lines per square inch. The ratio of the flux density with the given core material to the flux density (with the same coil and same current) with an air core is called the **permeability** of the material. In this case the permeability of the iron is 40,000/50 = 800. The inductance of the coil is increased 800 times by inserting the iron core, therefore.

The permeability of a magnetic material varies with the flux density. At low flux densities (or with an air corc) increasing the current through the coil will cause a proportionate increase in flux, but at very high flux densities, increasing the current may cause no appreciable change in the flux. When this is so, the iron is said to be **saturated**. "Saturation" causes a rapid decrease in permeability, because it decreases the ratio of flux lines to those obtainable with the same current and an air core. Obviously, the inductance of an iron-core coil is highly dependent upon the current flowing in the coil. In an air-core coil, the inductance is independent of current because air does not "saturate."

In amateur work, iron-core coils such as the one sketched in Fig. 2-13 are used chiefly in power-supply equipment. They usually have direct current flowing through the winding, and the variation in inductance with current is usually undesirable. It may be overcome by keeping the flux density below the saturation point of the iron. This is done by cutting the core so that there is a small "air gap," as indicated by the dashed lines. The magnetic "resistance" introduced by such a gap is so large — even though the gap is only a small fraction of an inch—compared with that of the iron that the gap, rather than the iron, controls the flux density. This naturally reduces the inductance compared to what it would be without the air gap — but the inductance is practically constant regardless of the value of the current.

#### Eddy Currents and Hysteresis

When alternating current flows through a coil wound on an iron core an e.m.f. will be induced, as previously explained, and since iron is a conductor a current will flow in the core. Such currents (called eddy currents) represent a waste of power because they flow through the resistance of the iron and thus cause heating. Eddy-current losses can be reduced by laminating the core; that is, by cutting it into thin strips. These strips or laminations must be insulated from each other by painting them with some insulating material such as varish or shellae.

There is also another type of energy loss in an iron core: the iron tends to resist any change in its magnetic state, so a rapidly-changing current such as a.c. is forced continually to supply energy to the iron to overcome this "inertia." Losses of this sort are called hysteresis losses.

Eddy-current and hysteresis losses in iron increase rapidly as the frequency of the alternating current is increased. For this reason, we can use ordinary iron cores only at power and audio frequencies — up to, say, 15,000 cycles. Even so, a very good grade or iron or steel is necessary if the core is to perform well at the higher audio frequencies. Iron cores of this type are completely useless at radio frequencies.

For radio-frequency work, the losses in iron cores can be reduced to a satisfactory figure by grinding the iron into a powder and then mixing it with a "binder" of insulating material in such a way that the individual iron particles are insulated from each other. By this means cores can be made that will function satisfactorily even through the v.h.f. range — that is, at frequencies up to perhaps 100 Mc. Because a large part of the magnetic path is through a nonmagnetic material, the permeability of the iron is low compared with the values obtained at power-supply frequencies. The core is usually in the form of a "slug" or cylinder which fits inside the insulating form on which the coil is tion, the major portion of the magnetic path for the flux is in the air surrounding the coil, the slug is quite effective in increasing the coil inductance. By pushing the slug in and out of the coil the inductance can be varied over a considerable range.

### INDUCTANCES IN SERIES AND PARALLEL

When two or more inductance coils (or inductors, as they are frequently called) are connected in series (Fig. 2-14, left) the total induc-



tance is equal to the sum of the individual inductances, provided the coils are sufficiently separated so that no coil is in the magnetic field of another. That is,

$$L_{\text{total}} = L_1 + L_2 + L_3 + L_4 + \dots$$

If inductances are connected in parallel (Fig. 2-14, right), the total inductance is

$$L_{\text{total}} = \frac{1}{\frac{1}{L_1} + \frac{1}{L_2} + \frac{1}{L_3} + \frac{1}{L_4}} + \dots$$

and for two inductances in parallel,

$$L = \frac{L_1 L_2}{L_1 + L_2}$$

Thus the rules for combining inductances in series and parallel are the same as for resistances, if the coils are far enough apart so that each is unaffected by another's magnetic field. When this is not so the formulas given above cannot be used.

#### MUTUAL INDUCTANCE

If two coils are arranged with their axes on the same line, as shown in Fig. 2-15, a current sent through Coil 1 will cause a magnetic field which "cuts" Coil 2. Consequently, an e.m.f. will be induced in Coil 2 whenever the field strength is changing. This induced e.m.f. is similar to the e.m.f. of self-induction, but since it appears in the *second* coil because of current flowing in the *first*, it is a "mutual" effect and results from the mutual inductance between the two coils.

If all the flux set up by one coil cuts all the turns of the other coil the mutual inductance has its maximum possible value. If only a small part



Fig. 2-15 — Mutual inductance. When the switch,  $S_i$  is closed current flows through coil No. 1, setting up a magnetic field that induces an e.m.f. in the turns of coil No. 2.

of the flux set up by one coil cuts the turns of the other the mutual inductance is relatively small. Two coils having mutual inductance are said to be **coupled**.

## Capacitance and Resistance

In Fig. 2-16A a battery having an e.m.f., E, a switch, S, a resistor, R, and condenser, C, are connected in series. Suppose for the moment that R is short-circuited and that there is no other resistance in the circuit. If S is now closed, condenser C will charge *instantly* to the battery voltage; that is, the electrons that constitute the charge redistribute themselves in a time interval so small that it can be considered to be zero. For just this instant, therefore, a very large current flows in the circuit, because all the electricity needed to charge the condenser has moved from the battery to the condenser at an extremely high rate.

When the resistance R is put into the circuit the condenser no longer can be charged instantaneously. If the battery e.m.f. is 100 volts, for example, and R is 10 ohms, the maximum current that can flow is 10 amperes, and even this much can flow only at the instant the switch is closed. But as soon as any current flows, condenser C begins to acquire a charge, which means that the voltage between the condenser plates rises. Since the upper plate (in Fig. 2-16A) will be positive and the lower negative, the voltage on the condenser tries to send a current through the circuit in the opposite direction to the current from the battery. Immediately after the switch is closed, therefore, the current drops below its



Fig. 2-16 — Schematics illustrating the time constant of an RC circuit.

The ratio of actual mutual inductance to the maximum possible value that could theoretically be obtained with two given coils is called the coefficient of coupling between the coils. Coils that have nearly the maximum possible mutual inductance are said to be closely, or tightly, coupled, but if the mutual inductance is relatively small the coils are said to be loosely coupled. The degree of coupling depends upon the physical spacing between the coils and how they are placed with respect to each other. Maximum coupling exists when they have a common axis and are as close together as possible (one wound over the other). The coupling is least when the coils are far apart or are placed so their axes are at right angles.

The maximum possible coefficient of coupling is closely approached only when the two coils are wound on a closed iron core. The coefficient with air-core coils may run as high as 0.6 or 0.7 if one coil is wound over the other, but will be much less if the two coils are separated.

# **Time Constant**

initial Ohm's Law value, and as the condenser continues to acquire charge and its potential or e.m.f. rises, the current becomes smaller and smaller.

The length of time required to complete the charging process depends upon the capacitance of the condenser and the resistance in the circuit. Theoretically, the charging process is never really finished, but eventually the current drops to a value that is smaller than anything that can be measured. The time constant of such a circuit is the length of time, in seconds, required for the voltage across the condenser to reach 63 per cent of the applied e.m.f. (this figure is chosen for mathematical reasons). The voltage across the condenser shown by Fig. 2-17.

The formula for time constant is

$$T = CR$$

where T = Time constant in seconds C = Capacitance in farads R = Resistance in ohms

If C is in microfarads and R in megohms, the time constant also is in seconds. These units usually are more convenient.

Example: The time constant of a 2-µfd, condenser and a 250,000-ohm resistor is

 $T = CR = 2 \times 0.25 = 0.5 \text{ second}$ 

If the applied c.m.f. is 1000 volts, the voltage across the condenser plates will be 630 volts at the end of  $\frac{1}{2}$  second.

If a charged condenser is discharged through a resistor, as indicated in Fig. 2-16B, the same time constant applies. If there were no resistance, the condenser would discharge instantly when S was closed. However, since R limits the current flow the condenser voltage cannot instantly go to zero, but it will decrease just as rapidly as



Fig. 2-17 — How the voltage across a condenser rises, with time, when a condenser is charged through a resistor. The lower curve shows the way in which the voltage decreases across the condenser terminals on discharging through the same resistor.

the condenser can rid itself of its charge through R. When the condenser is discharging through a resistance, the time constant (calculated in the same way as above) is the time, in seconds, that it takes for the condenser to *lose* 63 per cent of its voltage; that is, for the voltage to drop to 37 per cent of its initial value.

Example: If the condenser of the example above is charged to 1000 volts, it will discharge to 370 volts in ½ second through the 250,000ohm resistor.

#### Inductance and Resistance

A comparable situation exists when resistance and inductance are in series. In Fig. 2-18, first consider L to have no resistance and also assume that R is zero. Then closing S would tend to send a current through the circuit. However, the instantaneous transition from no current to a finite value, however small, represents a very rapid *change* in current, and **a** back e.m.f. is developed by the self-inductance of L that is practically equal and opposite to the applied e.m.f. The result is that the initial current is very small.

The back e.m.f. depends upon the *change* in current and would cease to offer opposition if the current did not continue to increase. With no resistance in the circuit (which would lead to an infinitely-large current, by Ohm's Law) the current would increase forever, always growing just fast enough to keep the e.m.f. of self-induction equal to the applied e.m.f.

When resistance is in series, Ohm's Law sets a limit to the value that the current can reach. In such a circuit the current is small at first, just as in the case without resistance. But as

the current increases the voltage drop across Rbecomes larger. The back e.m.f. generated in Lhas only to equal the difference between E and the drop across R, because that difference is the voltage actually applied to L. This difference becomes smaller as the current approaches the final Ohm's Law value. Theoretically, the back e.m.f. never quite disappears (that is, the current never quite reaches the Ohm's Law value) but practically it becomes unmeasurable after a time. The difference between the actual current and the Ohm's Law value also becomes undetectable. The time constant of an inductive circuit is the time in seconds required for the current to reach 63 per cent of its final value. The formula is

**CHAPTER 2** 

$$T = \frac{L}{R}$$

where T' = Time constant in seconds L = Inductance in henrys R = Resistance in ohms

The resistance of the wire in a coil acts as though it were in series with the inductance.

Example: A coil having an inductance of 20 henrys and a resistance of 100 ohms has a time constant of

$$T = \frac{L}{R} = \frac{20}{100} = 0.2$$
 second

if there is no other resistance in the circuit. If a d.e. e.m.f. of 10 volts is applied to such a coil, the final current, by Ohm's Law, is

$$I = \frac{E}{R} = \frac{10}{100} = 0.1$$
 amp. or 100 ma.

The eurrent would rise from zero to 63 milliamperes in 0.2 second after closing the switch.

An inductor cannot be discharged in the same way as a condenser, because the magnetic field disappears as soon as current flow ceases. Opening S does not leave the inductor



Fig. 2-18 - Time constant of an LR circuit.

"charged." The energy stored in the magnetic field instantly returns to the circuit when Sis opened. The rapid disappearance of the field causes a very large voltage to be induced in the coil — ordinarily many times larger than the voltage applied, because the induced voltage is proportional to the *speed* with which the field changes. The common result of opening the switch in a circuit such as the one shown is that a spark or arc forms at the switch contacts at the instant of opening. If the inductance is large and the current in the circuit is high, a great deal of energy is released in a very short period of time.

It is not at all unusual for the switch contacts to burn or melt under such circumstances.

Time constants play an important part in numerous devices, such as electronic keys, timing

## PHASE

The term phase essentially means "time," or the *time interval* between the instant when one thing occurs and the instant when a second related thing takes place. When a baseball pitcher throws the ball to the catcher there is a definite interval, represented by the time of flight of the ball, between the act of throwing and the act of catching. The throwing and catching are "out of phase" because they do not occur at exactly the same time.



Fig. 2-19 — An a.e. cycle is divided off into 360 degrees that are used as a measure of time or phase.

Simply saying that two events are out of phase does not tell us which one occurred first. To give this information, the later event is said to lag the earlier, while the one that occurs first is said to lead. Thus, throwing the ball "leads" the catch, or the catch "lags" the throw.

In a.c. circuits the current amplitude changes continuously, so the concept of phase or time becomes important. Phase can be measured in the ordinary time units, such as the second, but there is a more convenient method: Since each a.c. cycle occupies exactly the same amount of time as every other cycle of the same frequency, we can use the cycle itself as the time unit. Using the cycle as the time unit makes the specification or measurement of phase independent of the frequency of the current, so long as only one frequency is under consideration at a time. If there are two or more frequencies, the measurement of phase has to be modified just as the measurements of two lengths must be reconciled if one is given in fect and the other in meters.

The time interval or "phase difference" under consideration usually will be less than one cycle. Phase difference could be measured in decimal parts of a cycle, but it is more convenient to divide the cycle into 360 parts or degrees. A phase degree is therefore 1/360 of a cycle. The reason for this choice is that with sine-wave alternating current the value of the current at any instant is proportional to the sine of the angle that corresponds to the number of degrees — that is, length and control circuits, and shaping of keying characteristics by vacuum tubes. The time constants of circuits are also important in such applications as automatic gain control and noise limiters.

# **Alternating Currents**

of time — from the instant the cycle began. There is no actual "angle" associated with an alternating current. Fig. 2-19 should help make this method of measurement clear.

#### Measuring Phase

To compare the phase of two currents of the same frequency, we measure between corresponding parts of cycles of the two currents. This is shown in Fig. 2-20. The current labeled A leads the one marked B by 45 degrees, since A's cycles begin 45 degrees sconer in time. It is equally correct to say that  $B \log A$  by 45 degrees.

Two important special cases are shown in Fig. 2-21. In the upper drawing B lags 90 degrees behind A; that is, its cycle begins just onequarter cycle later than that of A. When one wave is passing through zero, the other is just at its maximum point.

In the lower drawing A and B are 180 degrees out of phase. In this case it does not matter which one is to lead or lag. B is always positive while A is negative, and vice versa. The two waves are thus *completely* out of phase.

The waves shown in Figs. 2-20 and 2-21 could represent current, voltage, or both. A and B might be two currents in separate circuits, or A night represent voltage while B represented current in the same circuit. If A and B represent two currents in the same circuit (or two voltages in the same circuit) the total or resultant current (or voltage) also is a sine wave, because adding any number of sine waves of the same frequency always gives a sine wave also of the same frequency.

#### **Phase in Resistive Circuits**

When an alternating voltage is applied to a resistance, the current flows exactly in step with the voltage. In other words, the voltage and current are in phase. This is true at any frequency if the resistance is "pure" — that is, is free from the reactive effects discussed in the next section. Practically, it is often difficult to obtain a purely



Fig. 2-20 — When two waves of the same frequency start their cycles at slightly different times, the time difference or phase difference is measured in degrees. In this drawing wave B starts 45 degrees (one-eightle cycle) later than wave A, and so lags 45 degrees behind A.



Fig. 2.21 — Two important special cases of phase difference. In the upper drawing, the phase difference between A and B is 90 degrees; in the lower drawing the phase difference is 180 degrees.

resistive circuit at radio frequencies, because the reactive effects become more pronounced as the frequency is increased.

In a purely resistive circuit, or for purely resistive parts of circuits, Ohm's Law is just as valid for a.e. of any frequency as it is for d.e.

## REACTANCE

### Alternating Current in Condensers

Suppose a sine-wave a.c. voltage is applied to a condenser in a circuit containing no resistance, as indicated in Fig. 2-22. In the period OA, the applied voltage increases from zero to 38 volts; at the end of this period the condenser is charged to that voltage. In interval AB the voltage increases to 71 volts; that is, 33 volts additional. In this interval a smaller quantity of charge has been added than in OA, because the voltage rise during interval AB is smaller. Consequently the average current during ABis smaller than during OA. In the third interval, BC, the voltage rises from 71 to 92 volts, an increase of 21 volts. This is less than the voltage increase during AB, so the quantity of electricity added is less; in other words, the average current during interval BC is still smaller. In the fourth interval, CD, the voltage increases only 8 volts; the charge added is smaller than in any preceding interval and therefore the current also is smaller.

Thus as the instantaneous value of the applied voltage increases the current decreases.

By dividing the first quarter cycle into a very large number of intervals it could be shown that the current charging the condenser has the shape of a sine wave, just as the applied voltage does. The current is largest at the beginning of the cycle and becomes zero at the maximum value of the voltage (the condenser cannot be charged to a higher voltage than the maximum applied, so no further current can flow) so there is a phase difference of 90 degrees between the voltage and current. During the first quarter cycle of the applied voltage the current is flowing in the nor-

mal way through the circuit, since the condenser is being charged. Hence the current is positive during this first quarter cycle, as indicated by the dashed line in Fig. 2-22.

In the second quarter cycle — that is, in the time from D to H, the voltage applied to the condenser decreases. During this time the condenser *loses* the charge it acquired during the first quarter cycle. Applying the same reasoning, it is plain that the current is small in interval DE and continues to increase during each succeeding interval. However, the current is flowing *against* the applied voltage because the condenser is *discharging into the circuit*. Hence the current is *negative* during this quarter cycle.

The third and fourth quarter cycles repeat the events of the first and second, respectively, with this difference — the polarity of the applied voltage has reversed, and the current changes to correspond. In other words, an alternating current flows "through" a condenser when an a.c. voltage is applied to it. (Actually, current never flows "through" a condenser. It flows in the associated circuit because of the alternate charging and discharging of the capacitance.) As shown by Fig. 2-22, the current starts its cycle 90 degrees before the voltage, so the current in a condenser leads the applied voltage by 90 degrees.

#### **Capacitive Reactance**

The amount of charge that is alternately stored in and released from the condenser is proportional to the applied voltage and the capacitance. Consequently, the current in the circuit will be proportional to both these quantities, since current is simply the rate at which charge is moved. The current also will be proportional to the frequency



Fig. 2-22 — Voltage and current phase relationships when an alternating voltage is applied to a condenser.

of the a.c. voltage, because the same charge is being moved back and forth at a rate that is proportional to the number of cycles per second.

The fact that the current is proportional to the applied voltage is important, because it is the same thing that Ohm's Law says about current flow in a resistive circuit. That being the case, there must be something in the condenser that corresponds in a general way to resistance something that tends to limit the current that ean flow when a given voltage is applied. The "something" clearly must include the effect of capacitance and frequency, since these also affect the amount of current that flows. It is called reactance, and its relationship to capacitance and frequency is given by the formula

$$X_{\rm C} = \frac{1}{2\pi fC}$$

where  $N_C$  = Condenser reactance in ohms

f = Frequency in cycles per second

C = Capacitance in farads

 $\pi = 3.14$ 

Reactance and resistance are not the same thing, but because they have a similar currentlimiting effect the same unit, the ohm, is used for both. Unlike resistance, reactance does not consume or dissipate power. The energy stored in the condenser in one quarter of the cycle is simply returned to the circuit in the next.

The fundamental units (cycles per second, farads) are too large for practical use in radio circuits. However, if the capacitance is in microfarads and the frequency is in megacycles, the reactance will come out in ohms in the formula.

Example: The reactance of a condenser of 470  $\mu\mu$ fd. (0.00047  $\mu$ fd.) at a frequency of 7150 kc. (7.15 Mc.) is

$$X = \frac{1}{2\pi fC} = \frac{1}{6.28 \times 7.15 \times 0.00047} = 47.4 \text{ ohms}$$

#### Inductive Reactance

When an alternating voltage is applied to a circuit containing only inductance, with no resistance, the current always changes just rapidly enough to induce a back e.m.f. that couals and opposes the applied voltage. In Fig.

2-23, the cycle is again divided off into equal intervals. Assuming that the current has a maximum value of 1 ampere, the instantaneous current at the end of each interval will be as shown. The value of the induced voltage is proportional to the rate at which the current changes. It is therefore greatest in the intervals O.1 and GH and least in the intervals CD and DE. The induced voltage actually is a sine wave (if the current is a sine wave) as shown by the dashed curve. The applied voltage, because it is always equal to and opposed by the induced voltage, is coual to and 180 degrees out of phase with the induced voltage, as shown by the second dashed curve. The result, therefore, is that the current flowing in an inductance is 90 degrees out of phase with the applied voltage, and lags behind

the applied voltage. This is just the opposite of the condenser case.

Since the value of the induced e.m.f. is proportional to the rate at which the current changes, a small current changing rapidly (that is, at a high frequency) can generate a large back e.m.f. in a given inductance just as well as a large current changing slowly (low frequency). Consequently, the current that flows through a given inductance will decrease as the frequency is raised, if the applied e.m.f. is held constant. Also, when the applied voltage and frequency are fixed. the value of current required becomes less as the inductance is made larger, because the induced e.m.f. also is proportional to inductance.

When the frequency and inductance are constant but the applied e.m.f. is varied, the necessary rate of current change (to induce the proper back e.m.f.) can be obtained only if the amplitude of the current is directly proportional to the voltage. This is Ohm's Law again, and again the current-limiting effect is similar to, but not identical with, the effect of resistance. It is called inductive reactance and, like capacitive reactance, is measured in ohms. There is no energy loss in inductive reactance; the energy is stored in the magnetic field in one quarter cycle and then returned to the circuit in the next.

The formula for inductive reactance is

$$X_{\rm L} = 2\pi f L$$

where  $X_{\rm L}$  = Inductive reactance in ohms

- = Frequency in cycles per second ſ
  - L = Inductance in henrys 14

$$\pi = 3.1$$

Example: The reactance of a coil having an inductance of 8 henrys, at a frequency of 120 cycles, is

 $X_{\rm L} = 2\pi f L = 6.28 \times 120 \times 8 = 6029 \text{ ohms}$ 

In radio-frequency circuits the inductance values usually are small and the frequencies are large. If the inductance is expressed in millihenrys and the frequency in kilocycles, the conversion factors for the two units cancel, and the formula for reactance may be used without first



Fig. 2-23 - Phase relationships between voltage and current when an alternating voltage is applied to an inductance.

converting to fundamental units. Similarly, no conversion is necessary if the inductance is in microhenrys and the frequency is in megacycles.

Example: The reactance of a 15-microhenry coil at a frequency of 14 Mc. is

 $X_{\rm L} = 2\pi f L = 6.28 \times 14 \times 15 = 1319$  ohms

The resistance of the wire of which the coil is wound has no effect on the reactance, but simply acts as though it were a separate resistor connected in series with the coil.

## Ohm's Law for Reactance

Ohm's Law for an a.e. circuit containing *only* reactance is

$$I = \frac{E}{X}$$
$$E = IX$$
$$X = \frac{E}{I}$$

where E = E.m.f. in volts I = Current in amperes X = Reactance in ohms

The reactance may be either inductive or capacitive.

Example: If a current of 2 amperes is flowing through the condenser of the previous example (reactance = 47.4 ohms) at 7150 kc, the voltage drop across the condenser is

$$E = IX = 2 \times 47.4 = 94.8$$
 volts

If 400 volts at 120 cycles is applied to the 8henry inductance of the previous example, the current through the coil will be

$$I = \frac{E}{X} = \frac{400}{6029} = -0.0663 \text{ amp. (66.3 ma.)}$$

When the circuit consists of an inductance in series with a capacitance, the same current flows through both reactances. However, the voltage across the coil *leads* the current by 90 degrees, and the voltage across the condenser *lags* behind the current by 90 degrees. The coil and condenser voltages therefore are 180 degrees out of phase.

A simple circuit of this type is shown in Fig. 2-24. The same figure also shows the current (heavy line) and the voltage drops across the inductance  $(E_{\rm L})$  and capacitance  $(E_{\rm C})$ . It is assumed that  $X_{\mathbf{L}}$  is larger than  $X_{\mathbf{C}}$  and so has a larger voltage drop. Since the two voltages are completely out of phase the total voltage (that is, the applied voltage  $E_{AC}$ ) is equal to the difference between them. This is shown in the drawing as  $E_{\rm L} = E_{\rm C}$ . Notice that, because  $E_{\rm L}$  is larger than  $E_{\rm C}$ , the resultant voltage is exactly in phase with  $E_{\rm Le}$  In other words, the circuit as a whole simply acts as though it were an inductance - an inductance of smaller value than the actual inductance present, since the effect of the actual inductive reactance is reduced by the capacitive reactance in series with it. If  $X_{\rm C}$  is larger than  $X_{\rm L}$ , the arrangement will behave like a capacitance - again of smaller reactance than the actual capacitive reactance present in the circuit.

The "equivalent" or total reactance of any circuit containing inductive and capacitive reactances in series is equal to  $X_{\rm L} - X_{\rm C}$ . If there are several coils and condensers in series, simply add up all the inductive reactances, then add up all the capacitive reactances, and then subtract the latter from the former. It is customary to call inductive reactance "positive" and capacitive reactance "negative." If the equivalent or net reactance is positive, the voltage leads the current by 90 degrees; if the net reactance is negative, the voltage lags the current by 90 degrees.



Fig. 2-24 — Current and voltages in a circuit having inductive and capacitive reactances in series.

#### **Reactive** Power

In Fig. 2-24 the voltage drop across the coil is larger than the voltage applied to the circuit. This might seem to be an impossible condition, but it is not; the explanation is that while energy is being stored in the coil's magnetic field, energy is being returned to the circuit from the condenser's electric field, and vice versa. This stored energy is responsible for the fact that the voltages across reactances in series can be larger than the voltage applied to them.

In a resistance the flow of current causes heating and a power loss equal to  $I^2R$ . The power in a reactance is equal to  $I^2X$ , but is not a "loss"; it is simply power that is transferred back and forth between the field and the circuit but not used up in heating anything. To distinguish this "nondissipated" power from the power which is actually consumed, the unit of reactive power is called the volt-ampere instead of the watt. Reactive power is sometimes called "wattless" power.

#### IMPEDANCE

The fact that resistance, inductive reactance and capacitive reactance all are measured in ohms does not indicate that they can be combined indiscriminately. Voltage and current are in phase in resistance, but differ in phase by a quarter cycle in reactance. In the simple circuit shown



Fig. 2.25 - Resistance and inductive reactance connected in series.
in Fig. 2-25, for example, it is not possible simply to add the resistance and reactance together to obtain a quantity that will indicate the opposition offered by the combination to the flow of current. Inasmuch as both resistance and reactance are present, the total effect can obviously be reither wholly one nor the other. In circuits containing both reactance and resistance the opposition effect is called **impedance** (Z). The unit of impedance is also the ohm.

The term "impedance" also is generalized to include any quantity that can be expressed as a ratio of voltage to current. Pure resistance and pure reactance are both included in "impedance" in this sense. A circuit with resistive impedance is either one with resistance alone or one in which the effects of any reactance present have been eliminated. Similarly, a reactive impedance is one having reactance only. A complex impedance is one in which both resistance and reactance effects are observable.

It can be shown that resistance and reactance can be combined in the same way that a rightangled triangle is constructed, if the resistance is laid off to proper scale as the base of the triangle and the reactance is laid off as the altitude to the same scale. This is also indicated in Fig. 2-25. When this is done the hypotenuse of the triangle represents the impedance of the circuit,



to the same scale, and the angle between Z and R (usually called  $\theta$  and so indicated in the drawing) is equal to the phase angle between the applied e.m.f. and the current. By geometry,

$$Z = \sqrt{R^2 + X^2}$$

In the case shown in the drawing,

 $Z = \sqrt{(75)^2 + (100)^2} = \sqrt{15,625} = 125$  ohms.

The phase angle can be found from simple trigonometry. Its tangent is equal to  $X/R_i$  in this case X/R = 100, 75 = 1.33. From trigonometric tables it can be determined that the angle having a tangent equal to 1.33 is approximately 53 degrees. In ordinary amateur work it is seldom necessary to give much consideration to the phase angle.

A circuit containing resistance and capacitance in series (Fig. 2-26) can be treated in the same way. The difference is that in this case the current *leads* the applied e.m.f., while in the resistanceinductance case it *lags* behind the voltage.

If either X or R is small compared with the other (say 1/10 or less) the impedance is very nearly equal to the larger of the two quantities. For example, if R = 1 ohm and X = 10 ohms,

$$Z = \sqrt{R^2 + X^2} = \sqrt{(1)^2 + (10)^2}$$
  
=  $\sqrt{101} = 10.05$  ohms.

Hence if either X or R is at least 10 times as large as the other, the error in assuming that the impedance is equal to the larger of the two will not exceed  $\frac{1}{2}$  of 1 per cent, which is usually negligible.

Since one of the components of impedance is reactance, and since the reactance of a given coil or condenser changes with the applied frequency, impedance also changes with frequency. The change in impedance as the frequency is changed may be very slow if the resistance is considerably larger than the reactance. However, if the impedance is mostly reactance a change in frequency will cause the impedance to change practically as rapidly as the reactance itself changes.

#### Ohm's Law for Impedance

Ohm's Law can be applied to circuits containing impedance just as readily as to circuits having resistance or reactance only. The formulas are

$$l = \frac{E}{Z}$$
$$E = IZ$$
$$Z = \frac{E}{I}$$

where E = E.m.f. in volts

I = Current in amperes

Z =Impedance in ohms

Example: Assume that the e.m.f. applied to the circuit of Fig. 2-25 is 250 volts. Then

$$I = \frac{E}{Z} = \frac{250}{125} = 2$$
 amperes.

The same current is flowing in both R and  $X_{\rm L}$ , and Ohm's Law as applied to either of these quantities says that the voltage drop across Rshould equal IR and the voltage drop across  $X_{\rm L}$ should equal  $IX_{\rm L}$ . Substituting.

$$R_{\rm R} = IR = 2 \times 75 = 150$$
 volts

ł

 $E_{X_L} = IX_L = 2 \times 100 = 200$  volts The arithmetical sum of these voltages is greater than the applied voltage. However, the actual sum of the two when the phase relationship is taken into account is equal to 250 volts r.m.s., as shown by Fig. 2-27, where the instantaneous values are added throughout the cycle. Whenever resistance and reactance are in series, the



 $Fi\mu$ . 2-27 — Voltage drops around the circuit of Fig. 2-25. Because of the phase relationships, the applied voltage is less than the arithmetical sum of the drops across the resistor and inductor.

individual voltage drops always add up, arithmetically, to more than the applied voltage. There is nothing fictitious about these voltage drops; they can be measured readily by suitable instruments. It is simply an illustration of the importance of phase in a.e. circuits.

A more complex series circuit, containing resistance, inductive reactance and capacitive reactance, is shown in Fig. 2-28. In this case it is necessary to take into account the fact that the phase angles between current and voltage differ



Fig. 2-28 — Resistance, inductive reactance, and capacitive reactance in series.

in all three elements. Since it is a series circuit, the current is the same throughout. Considering first just the inductance and capacitance and neglecting the resistance, the net reactance is

 $X_{\rm L} = X_{\rm C} = 150 - 50 = 100$  ohms (inductive)

Thus the impedance of a circuit containing resistance, inductance and capacitance in series is

$$\mathbf{Z} = \sqrt{R^2 + (X_{\rm L} - X_{\rm C})^2}$$

Example: In the circuit of Fig. 2-28, the impedance is

$$Z = \sqrt{R^2 + (X_L - X_C)^2}$$
  
=  $\sqrt{(20)^2 + (150 - 50)^2} = \sqrt{(20)^2 + (100)^2}$   
=  $\sqrt{10,400} = 102$  ohms

The phase angle can be found from X/R, where  $X = X_L - X_C$ .

#### **Parallel Circuits**

Suppose that a resistor, condenser and coil are connected in parallel as shown in Fig. 2-29 and an a.e. voltage is applied to the combination. In any one branch, the current will be unchanged if one or both of the other two branches is disconnected, so long as the applied voltage remains unchanged. Hence the current in each branch can be calculated quite simply by the Ohm's Law formulas given in the preceding sections. The total current, I, is the sum of the currents through all three branches — not the arithmetical sum, but the sum when phase is taken into account.



Fig. 2.29 — Resistance, inductance and capacitance in parallel. Instruments connected as shown will read the total current, *I*, and the individual currents in the three branches of the circuit.

### **CHAPTER 2**

The currents through the various branches will be as shown in Fig. 2-30, assuming for purposes of illustration that  $X_{\rm L}$  is smaller than  $X_{\rm C}$ and that  $X_{\rm C}$  is smaller than R, thus making  $I_{\rm L}$ larger than  $I_{\rm C}$ , and  $I_{\rm C}$  larger than  $I_{\rm R}$ . The eurrent through C leads the voltage by 90 degrees and the current through |L| lags the voltage by 90 degrees, so these two currents are 180 degrees out of phase. As shown at E, the total reactive current is the difference between  $I_C$  and  $I_L$ . This resultant current lags the voltage by 90 degrees, because  $I_{\rm L}$  is larger than  $I_{\rm C}$ . When the reactive current is added to  $I_{\rm R}$ , the total current, I, is as shown at F. It can be seen that I lags the applied voltage by an angle smaller than 90 degrees and that the total current, while less than the simple sum (neglecting phase) of the three branch currents, is larger than the current through R alone.

The impedance looking into the parallel circuit from the source of voltage is equal to the applied



Fig. 2-30 — Phase relationships between branch currents and applied voltage for the circuit of Fig. 2-29. The total current through L and C in parallel  $(I_L + I_C)$ and the total current in the entire circuit (I) also are shown.

voltage divided by the total or line current, I. In the case illustrated, I is greater than  $I_{\rm R}$ , so the impedance of the circuit is less than the resistance of R. How much less depends upon the net reactive current flowing through L and C in parallel. If  $X_{\rm L}$  and  $X_{\rm C}$  are very nearly equal the net reactive current will be quite small because it is equal to the *difference* between two nearly equal currents. In such a case the impedance of the circuit will be almost the same as the resistance of R alone. On the other hand, if  $X_{\rm L}$  and  $X_{\rm C}$  are quite different the net reactive eurrent can be relatively large and the total current also will be appreciably larger than  $I_{\rm R}$ . In such a case the circuit impedance will be lower than the resistance of R alone.

#### **Power Factor**

In the circuit of Fig. 2-25 an applied e.m.f. of 250 volts results in a current of 2 amperes. If the circuit were purely resistive (containing no reactance) this would mean a power dissipation of  $250 \times 2 = 500$  watts. However, the circuit actually consists of resistance and reactance, and only the resistance consumes power. The power in the resistance is

$$P = I^2 R = (2)^2 \times 75 = 300$$
 watts

The ratio of the power consumed to the apparent power is called the **power factor** of the circuit, and in the case used as an example would be 300,500 = 0.6. Power factor is frequently expressed as a percentage; in this case, the power factor would be 60 per cent.

"Real" or dissipated power is measured in watts; apparent power, to distinguish it from real power, is measured in volt-amperes (just like the "wattless" power in a reactance). It is simply the product of volts and amperes and has no direct relationship to the power actually used up or dissipated unless the power factor of the circuit is known. The power factor of a purely resistive circuit is 100 per cent or 1, while the power factor of a pure reactance is zero. In this illustration, the reactive power is

$$VA$$
 (volt-amperes) =  $I^2X = (2)^2 \times 100$   
= 400 volt-amperes.

### Transformers

Two coils having mutual inductance constitute a **transformer**. The coil connected to the source of energy is called the **primary** coil, and the other is called the **secondary** coil.

The usefulness of the transformer lies in the fact that electrical energy can be transferred from one circuit to another without direct connection, and in the process can be readily changed from one voltage level to another. Thus, if a device to be operated requires, for example, 115 volts and only a 440-volt source is available, a transformer can be used to change the source voltage to that required. A transformer can be used only with a.e., since no voltage will be induced in the secondary if the magnetic field is not changing. If d.c. is applied to the primary of a transformer, a voltage will be induced in the secondary only at the instant of closing or opening the primary circuit, since it is only at these times that the field is changing.

#### The Iron-Core Transformer

As shown in Fig. 2-31, the primary and secondary coils of a transformer may be wound on a core of magnetic material. This increases the inductance of the coils so that a relatively small number

#### **Complex Waves**

It was pointed out early in this chapter that a complex wave (a "nonsinusoidal" wave) can be resolved into a fundamental frequency and a series of harmonic frequencies. When such a complex voltage wave is applied to a circuit containing reactance, the current through the circuit will not have the same waveshape as the applied voltage. This is because the reactance of a coil and condenser depend upon the applied frequency. For the second-harmonic component of a complex wave, the reactance of the coil is twice and the reactance of the condenser one-half their values at the fundamental frequency; for the third harmonic the coil reactance is three times and the eondenser reactance one-third, and so on.

Just what happens to the current waveshape depends upon the values of resistance and reactance involved and how the circuit is arranged. In a simple circuit with resistance and inductive reactance in series, the amplitudes of the harmonics will be reduced because the inductive reactance increases in proportion to frequency. When a condenser and resistance are in series, the harmonic current is likely to be accentuated because the condenser reactance becomes lower as the frequency is raised. When both inductive and capacitive reactance are present the shape of the current wave can be altered in a variety of ways, depending upon the circuit and the "constants," or values of L, C and R, selected.

This property of nonuniform behavior with respect to fundamental and harmonics is an extremely useful one. It is the basis of "filtering," or the suppression of undesired frequencies in favor of a single desired frequency or group of such frequencies.

of turns may be used to induce a given value of voltage with a small current. A closed core (one having a continuous magnetic path) such as that shown in Fig. 2-31 also tends to insure that practically all of the field set up by the current in the primary coil will cut the turns of the secondary coil. However, the core introduces a power loss because of hysteresis and eddy currents so this type of construction is practicable only at power and audio frequencies. The discussion in this section is confined to transformers operating at such frequencies.



SYMBOLS

Fig. 2-31 — The transformer. Power is transferred from the primary coil to the secondary by means of the magnetic field. The upper symbol at right indicates an ironcore transformer, the lower one an air-core transformer.

### **CHAPTER 2**

#### Voltage and Turns Ratio

For a given varying magnetic field, the voltage induced in a coil in the field will be proportional to the number of turns on the coil. If the two coils of a transformer are in the same field (which is the case when both are wound on the same closed core) it follows that the induced voltages will be proportional to the number of turns on each coil. In the primary the induced voltage is practically equal to, and opposes, the applied voltage. Hence,

$$E_{\rm B}=\frac{n_{\rm B}}{n_{\rm D}}E_{\rm F}$$

where  $E_{\mathbf{s}} =$ Secondary voltage

 $E_{\rm p} = {\rm Primary \ applied \ voltage}$ 

 $n_s =$  Number of turns on secondary

 $n_{\rm p}$  = Number of turns on primary

The ratio  $n_s/n_p$  is called the turns ratio of the transformer,

Example: A transformer has a primary of 400 turns and a secondary of 2800 turns, and 115 volts is applied to the primary. The secondary voltage will be

$$E_{\rm s} = \frac{n_{\rm s}}{n_{\rm p}} E_{\rm p} = \frac{2800}{400} \times 115 = 7 \times 115$$
  
= 805 volts

Also, if 805 volts is applied to the 2800-turn winding (which then becomes the primary) the output voltage from the 400-turn winding will be 115 volts.

Either winding of a transformer can be used as the primary, *providing* the winding has enough turns (enough inductance) to induce a voltage equal to the applied voltage without requiring an excessive current flow,

#### Effect of Secondary Current

The current that flows in the primary when no current is taken from the secondary is called the **magnetizing current** of the transformer. In any properly-designed transformer the primary inductance will be so large that the magnetizing current will be quite small. The power consumed by the transformer when the secondary is "open" — that is, not delivering power — is only the amount necessary to supply the losses in the iron core and in the resistance of the wire of which the primary is wound.

When power is taken from the secondary winding, the secondary current sets up a magnetic field that opposes the field set up by the primary current. But if the induced voltage in the primary is to equal the applied voltage, the original field must be maintained. Consequently, the primary must draw enough additional current to set up a field exactly equal and opposite to the field set up by the secondary current.

In practical calculations on transformers it may be assumed that the entire primary current is caused by the secondary "load." This is justifiable because the magnetizing current should be very small in comparison.

If the magnetic fields set up by the primary and secondary currents are to be equal, the primary current multiplied by the primary turns must equal the secondary current multiplied by the secondary turns. From this it follows that

$$I_{\rm p} = \frac{n_{\rm s}}{n_{\rm p}} I_{\rm s}$$

where  $I_{\rm p} = \text{Primary current}$ 

 $I_{s} =$ Secondary current

 $n_{\rm p}$  = Number of turns on primary

 $n_s$  = Number of turns on secondary

Example: Suppose that the secondary of the transformer in the previous example is delivering a current of 0.2 ampere to a load. Then the primary current will be

$$r_{\rm p} = \frac{n_{\rm s}}{n_{\rm p}} I_{\rm s} = \frac{2800}{400} \times 0.2 = 7 \times 0.2 = 1.4 \text{ amp.}$$

Although the secondary *voltage* is *higher* than the primary voltage, the secondary *current* is *lower* than the primary current, and by the same ratio.

#### **Power Relationships; Efficiency**

A transformer eannot create power; it can only transfer and transform it. Hence, the power taken from the secondary cannot exceed that taken by the primary from the source of applied e.m.f. There is always some power loss in the resistance of the coils and in the iron core, so in all practical eases the power taken from the source will exceed that taken from the secondary. Thus,

$$P_{\rm o} = n P_{\rm i}$$

where  $P_{o}$  = Power output from secondary  $P_{i}$  = Power input to primary

n = Efficiency factor

The efficiency, n, always is less than 1. It is usually expressed as a percentage; if n is 0.65, for instance, the efficiency is 65 per cent.

Example: A transformer has an efficiency of  $85^{+}_{e}$  at its full-load output of 150 watts. The power input to the primary at full secondary load will be

$$P_i = \frac{P_o}{n} = \frac{150}{0.85} = 176.5$$
 watts

A transformer is usually designed to have its highest efficiency at the power output for which it is rated. The efficiency decreases with either lower or higher outputs. On the other hand, the *losses* in the transformer are relatively small at low output but increase as more power is taken. The amount of power that the transformer can handle is determined by its own losses, because these heat the wire and core and raise the operating temperature. There is a limit to the temperature rise that can be tolerated, because too-high



Fig. 2-32 — The equivalent circuit of a transformer lncludes the effects of leakage inductance and resistance of both primary and secondary windings. The resistance Rc is an equivalent resistance representing the constant core losses. Since these are comparatively small, their effect may be neglected in many approximate calculations.

temperature either will melt the wire or cause the insulation to break down. A transformer always can be operated at reduced output, even though the efficiency is low, because the actual loss also will be low under such conditions.

The full-load efficiency of small power transformers such as are used in radio receivers and transmitters usually lies between about 60 per cent and 90 per cent, depending upon the size and design.

#### Leakage Reactance

In a practical transformer not all of the magnetic flux is common to both windings, although in well-designed transformers the amount of flux that "cuts" one coil and not the other is only a small percentage of the total flux. This leakage flux causes an e.m.f. of self-induction: consequently, there are small amounts of leakage inductance associated with both windings of the transformer. Leakage inductance acts in exactly the same way as an equivalent amount of ordinary inductance inserted in series with the circuit. It has, therefore, a certain reactance, depending upon the amount of leakage inductance and the frequency. This reactance is called leakage reactance.

Current flowing through the leakage reactance causes a voltage drop. This voltage drop increases with increasing current, hence it increases as more power is taken from the secondary. Thus, the greater the secondary current, the smaller the secondary terminal voltage becomes. The resistances of the transformer windings also cause voltage drops when eurrent is flowing; although these voltage drops are not in phase with those caused by leakage reactance, together they result in a lower secondary voltage under load than is indicated by the turns ratio of the transformer.

At power frequencies (60 cycles) the voltage at the secondary, with a reasonably well-designed transformer, should not drop more than about 10 per cent from open-circuit conditions to full load. The drop in voltage may be considerably more than this in a transformer operating at audio frequencies because the leakage reactance increases directly with the frequency.

#### Impedance Ratio

In an ideal transformer — one without losses or leakage reactance — the following relationship is true:

#### $Z_{\nu} = Z_{s}N^{2}$

where  $Z_p$  = Impedance looking into primary terminals from source of power

- $Z_{\bullet} =$  Impedance of load connected to secondary
- N = Turns ratio, primary to secondary

That is, a load of any given impedance connected to the *secondary* of the transformer will be transformed to a different value "looking into" the *primary* from the source of power. The impedance transformation is proportional to the square of the primary-to-secondary turns ratio. Example: A transformer has a primary-tosecondary turns ratio of 0.6 (primary has 6/10 as many turns as the secondary) and a load of 3000 ohms is connected to the secondary. The impedance looking into the primary then will be

$$Z_{\rm p} = Z_s N^2 = 3000 \times (0.6)^2 = 3000 \times 0.36$$
  
= 1080 ohms

By choosing the proper turns ratio, the impedance of a fixed load can be transformed to any desired value, within practical limits. The transformed or "reflected" impedance has the same phase angle as the actual load impedance; thus if the load is a pure resistance the load presented by the prinury to the source of power also will be a pure resistance.

The above relationship may be used in practical work even though it is based on an "ideal" transformer. Aside from the normal design requirements of reasonably low internal losses and low leakage reactance, the only requirement is that the primary have enough inductance to operate with low magnetizing current at the voltage applied to the primary.

The primary impedance of a transformer as it looks to the source of power — is determined wholly by the load connected to the secondary and by the turns ratio. If the characteristics of the transformer have an appreciable effect on the impedance presented to the power source, the transformer is either poorly designed or is not suited to the voltage at which it is being used. Most transformers will operate quite well at voltages from slightly above to well below the design figure.

#### Impedance Matching

Many devices require a specific value of load resistance (or impedance) for optimum operation. The impedance of the actual load that is to dissipate the power may differ widely from this value, so a transformer is used to transform the actual load into an impedance of the desired value. This is called impedance matching. From the preceding,

$$N = \sqrt{\frac{Z_{\rm s}}{Z_{\rm p}}}$$

where N = Required turns ratio, secondary to primary

- $Z_{s} =$  Impedance of load connected to seeondary
- $Z_{\rm p} =$ Impedance required

Example: A vacuum-tube a.f. amplifier requires a load of 5000 ohms for optimum performance, and is to be connected to a loudspeaker having an impedance of 10 ohms. The turns ratio, secondary to primary, required in the coupling transformer is

$$N = \sqrt{\frac{Z_s}{Z_p}} = \sqrt{\frac{10}{5000}} = \sqrt{\frac{1}{500}} = \frac{1}{22.4}$$

The primary therefore must have 22.4 times as many turns as the secondary.

Impedance matching means, in general, adjusting the load impedance — by means of a transformer or otherwise — to a desired value. However, there is also another meaning. It is possible to show that any source of power will have its maximum possible output when the impedance of the load is equal to the internal impedance of the source. The impedance of the source is said to be "matched" under this condition. The efficiency is only 50 per cent in such a case; just as much power is used up in the source as is delivered to the load. Because of the poor efficiency, this type of impedance matching is limited to cases where only a small amount of power is available.

#### Transformer Construction

Transformers usually are designed so that the magnetic path around the core is as short as possible. A short magnetic path means that the transformer will operate with fewer turns, for a given applied voltage, than if the path were long. It also helps to reduce flux leakage and therefore minimizes leakage reactance. The number of turns required also is inversely proportional to the cross-sectional area of the core.



Fig. 2-33 — Two common types of transformer construction. Core pieces are interleaved to provide a continuous magnetic path with as low reluctance as possible.

Two core shapes are in common use, as shown in Fig. 2-33. In the shell type both windings are placed on the inner leg, while in the core type the primary and secondary windings may be placed on separate legs, if desired. This is sometimes done when it is necessary to minimize capacity effects between the primary and secondary, or when one of the windings must operate at very high voltage.

Core material for small transformers is usually

### **Radio-Frequency Circuits**

#### RESONANCE

Fig. 2-35 shows a resistor, condenser and coil connected in series with a source of alternating current, the frequency of which can be varied over a wide range. At some *low* frequency the condenser reactance will be much larger than the resistance of R, and the inductive reactance will be small compared with either the reactance of C or the resistance of R. (R is assumed to be the same at all frequencies.) On the other hand, at some very *high* frequency the reactance of L will be very small and the reactance of L will be very

silicon steel, called "transformer iron." The core is built up of laminations, insulated from each other (by a thin coating of shellac, for example) to prevent the flow of eddy currents. The laminations overlap at the ends to make the magnetic path as continuous as possible and thus reduce flux leakage.



Fig. 2-34 — The autotransformer is based on the transformer principle, but uses only one winding. The line and load currents in the common winding (.1) flow in opposite directions, so that the resultant current is the difference between them. The voltage across A is proportional to the turns ratio.

The number of turns required on the primary for a given applied e.m.f. is determined by the size, shape and type of core material used, and the frequency. As a rough indication, windings of small power transformers frequently have about six to eight turns per volt on a core of 1square-inch cross section and have a magnetic path 10 or 12 inches in length. A longer path or smaller cross section requires more turns per volt, and vice versa.

In most transformers the coils are wound in layers, with a thin sheet of paper insulation between each layer. Thicker insulation is used between coils and between coils and eore.

#### **Autotransformers**

The transformer principle can be utilized with only one winding instead of two, as shown in Fig. 2-34; the principles just discussed apply equally well. A one-winding transformer is called an autotransformer. The current in the common section  $(\Lambda)$  of the winding is the difference between the line (primary) and the load (secondary) currents, since these currents are out of phase. Hence if the line and load currents are nearly equal the common section of the winding may be wound with comparatively small wire. This will be the case only when the primary (line) and secondary (load) voltages are not very different. The autotransformer is used chiefly for boosting or reducing the power-line voltage by relatively small amounts.

large. In either case the current will be small, because the reactance is large at either low or high frequencies.

At some intermediate frequency, the reactances of C and L will be equal and the voltage drops across the coil and condenser will be equal and 180 degrees out of phase. Therefore they cancel each other completely and the current flow is determined wholly by the resistance, R. At that frequency the current has its largest possible value, assuming the source voltage to be constant regardless of frequency. A series circuit in which

the inductive and capacitive reactances are equal is said to be resonant.

Although resonance can occur at any frequency, it finds its most extensive application in radio-frequency circuits. The reactive effects associated with even small inductances and capacitances would place drastic limitations on r.f. circuit operation if it were not possible to "cancel them out" by supplying the right amount of reactance of the opposite kind — in other words, "tuning the circuit to resonance."

#### **Resonant Frequency**

The frequency at which a series circuit is resonant is that for which  $X_{\rm L} = X_{\rm C}$ . Substituting the formulas for inductive and capacitive reactance gives

$$f = \frac{1}{2\pi\sqrt{LC}}$$

where f = Frequency in cycles per second

L = Inductance in henrys

C = Capacitance in farads

 $\pi = 3.14$ 

These units are inconveniently large for radiofrequency circuits. A formula using more appropriate units is

$$f = \frac{10^6}{2\pi\sqrt{LC}}$$

where f = Frequency in kilocycles (kc.)

- L = Inductance in microhenrys ( $\mu$ h.)
- C = Capacitance in micromicrofarads  $(\mu\mu fd.)$

 $\pi = 3.14$ 

Example: The resonant frequency of a series circuit containing a  $5-\mu h$ . coil and a  $35-\mu \mu fd$ . condenser is

$$= \frac{10^6}{2\pi\sqrt{LC}} = \frac{10^6}{6.28 \times \sqrt{5 \times 35}}$$
$$= \frac{10^6}{6.28 \times 13.2} = \frac{10^9}{83} = 12,050 \text{ ke.}$$

The formula for resonant frequency is not affected by the resistance in the circuit.

#### **Resonance** Curves

If a plot is drawn of the current flowing in the circuit of Fig. 2-35 as the frequency is varied (the applied voltage being constant) it would look like one of the curves in Fig. 2-36. The shape of the **resonance curve** at frequencies near resonance is determined by the ratio of reactance to resistance at the particular frequency considered.



Fig. 2-35 — A series circuit containing  $L_s C$  and R is "resonant" at the applied frequency when the reactance of C is equal to the reactance of  $L_s$ .



PER CENT CHANGE FROM RESONANT FREQUENCY

Fig. 2-36 — Current in a series-resonant circuit with various values of series resistance. The values are arbitrary and would not apply to all circuits, but represent a typical case. It is assumed that the reactances (at the resonant frequency) are 1000 ohms (minimum Q = 10). Note that at frequencies at least plus or minus ten per cent away from the resonant frequency the current is substantially unaffected by the resistance in the circuit.

If the reactance of either the coil or condenser is of the same order of magnitude as the resistance, the current decreases rather slowly as the frequency is moved in either direction away from resonance. Such a curve is said to be **broad**. On the other hand, if the reactance is considerably larger than the resistance the eurrent decreases rapidly as the frequency moves away from resonance and the circuit is said to be **sharp**. A sharp circuit will respond a great deal more readily to the resonant frequency than to frequencies quite close to resonance; a broad circuit will respond almost equally well to a group or band of frequencies centering around the resonant frequency.

Both types of resonance eurves are useful. A sharp circuit gives good selectivity — the ability to respond strongly (in terms of current amplitude) at one desired frequency and discriminate against others. A broad circuit is used when the apparatus must give about the same response over a band of frequencies rather than to a single frequency alone.

#### Q

Most diagrams of resonant circuits show only inductance and capacitance; no resistance is indicated. Nevertheless, resistance is always present. At frequencies up to perhaps 30 Mc. this resistance is mostly in the wire of the coil. Above this frequency energy loss in the condenser (principally in the solid dielectric which must be used to form an insulating support for the condenser plates) becomes appreciable. This energy loss is equivalent to resistance. When maximum sharpness or selectivity is needed the object of design

**CHAPTER 2** 

is to reduce the inherent resistance to the lowest possible value.

The value of the reactance of either the coil or condenser at the resonant frequency, divided by the resistance in the circuit, is called the Q(quality factor) of the circuit, or

$$Q = \frac{X}{R}$$

where Q =Quality factor

X = Reactance of either coil or condenser in ohms

R = Resistance in ohms

Example: The coil and condenser in a series eircuit each have a reactance of 350 ohms at the resonant frequency. The resistance is 5 ohms. Then the Q is

$$Q = \frac{X}{R} = \frac{350}{5} = 70$$

The effect of Q on the sharpness of resonance of a circuit is shown by the curves of Fig. 2-37. In these curves the frequency change is shown in percentage above and below the resonant frequency.  $Q_8$  of 10, 20, 50 and 100 are shown; these values cover much of the range commonly used in radio work.

#### Voltage Rise

When a voltage of the resonant frequency is inserted in series in a resonant circuit, the voltage that appears across either the coil or condenser is considerably higher than the applied voltage. The current in the circuit is limited only by the actual resistance of the coil-condenser combination in the circuit and may have a relatively high value; however, the same current



Fig. 2-37 — Current in series-resonant circuits having different  $Q_8$ . In this graph the current at resonance is assumed to be the same in all cases. The lower the Q, the more slowly the current decreases as the applied frequency is moved away from resonance.

flows through the high reactances of the coil and condenser and causes large voltage drops. The ratio of the reactive voltage to the applied voltage is equal to the ratio of reactance to resistance. This ratio is the Q of the circuit. Therefore, the voltage across either the coil or condenser is equal to Q times the voltage inserted in series with the circuit.

Example: The inductive reactance of a circuit is 200 ohms, the capacitive reactance is 200 ohms, the resistance 5 ohms, and the applied voltage is 50. The two reactances cancel and there will be but 5 ohms of pure resistance to limit the current flow. Thus the current will be 50/5, or 10 amperes. The voltage developed across either the coil or the condenser will be equal to its reactance times the current, or  $200 \times 10 = 2000$  volts. An alternate method: The Q of the circuit is X/R = 200/5 = 40. The reactive voltage, or  $40 \times 50 = 2000$  volts.

#### Parallel Resonance

When a variable-frequency source of constant voltage is applied to a parallel circuit of the type shown in Fig. 2-38 there is a resonance effect



similar to that in a series circuit. However, in this case the current (measured at the point indicated) is *smallest* at the frequency for which the coil and condenser reactances are equal. At that frequency the current through L is exactly canceled by the out-of-phase current through  $C_{i}$  so that only the current taken by R flows in the line. At frequencies below resonance the current through L is larger than that through C, because the reactance of L is smaller and that of C higher at low frequencies; there is only partial cancellation of the two reactive currents and the line current therefore is larger than the current taken by R alone. At frequencies above resonance the situation is reversed and more current flows through Cthan through  $L_{i}$  so the line current again increases. The current at resonance, being determined wholly by  $R_1$ , will be small if R is large and large if R is small.

The resistance R shown in Fig. 2-38 seldom is an actual resistor. In most cases it will be an "equivalent" resistance that represents the actual energy loss in the circuit. This loss can be inherent in the coil or condenser, or may represent energy transferred to a load by means of the resonant circuit. (For example, the resonant circuit may be used for transferring power from a vacuum-tube amplifier to an antenna system.)

Parallel and series resonant circuits are quite alike in some respects. For instance, the circuits given at A and B in Fig. 2-39 will behave identically, when an external voltage is applied, if (1) L and C are the same in both cases; and (2)  $R_{\rm P}$ 

multiplied by  $R_s$  equals the square of the reactance (at resonance) of either L or C. When these conditions are met the two circuits will have the same Qs. (These statements are approximate, but are quite accurate if the Q is 10 or more.) The circuit at A is a scrice circuit if it is viewed from the "inside" — that is, going around the loop formed by  $L_s C$  and R — so its Q can be found from the ratio of X to  $R_s$ .

Thus a circuit like that of Fig. 2-39A has an equivalent parallel impedance (at resonance) equal to  $R_{\rm p}$ , the relationship between  $R_{\rm s}$  and  $R_{\rm p}$  being as explained above. Although  $R_{\rm p}$  is not an actual resistor, to the source of voltage the parallel-resonant circuit "looks like" a pure resistance of that value. It is "pure" resistance because the coil and condenser currents are 180 degrees out of phase and are equal; thus there is no reactive current in the line. At the resonant frequency the parallel impedance of a resonant circuit is

$$Z_r = QX$$

- where  $Z_r$  = Resistive impedance at resonance Q = Quality factor
  - X =Reactance (in ohms) of either the coil or condenser

Example: The parallel impedance of a circuit having a Q of 30 and having inductive and capacitive reactances of 300 ohms will be  $Z_r = 0X = 50 \times 300 = 15,000$  ohms.

At frequencies off resonance the impedance is no longer purely resistive because the coil and condenser currents are not equal. The offresonant impedance therefore is complex, and



is lower than the resonant impedance for the reasons previously outlined.

The higher the Q of the circuit, the higher the parallel impedance. Curves showing the variation of impedance (with frequency) of a parallel circuit have just the same shape as the curves showing the variation of current with frequency in a series circuit. Fig. 2-40 is a set of such curves.

#### Parallel Resonance in Low-Q Circuits

The preceding discussion is accurate only for Qs of 10 or more. When the Q is below 10, resonance in a parallel circuit having resistance in series with the coil, as in Fig. 2-39A, is not so easily defined. There is a set of values for L and C that will make the parallel impedance a pure resistance, but with these values the impedance does not have its maximum possible value. Another set of values for L and C will make the parallel impedance and the parallel impedance and the set of values for L and L will make the parallel make



Fig. 2-40 — Relative impedance of parallel-resonant circuits with different Qs. These curves are similar to those in Fig. 2-37 for current in a series-resonant circuit. The effect of Q on impedance is most marked near the resonant frequency.

mum value is not a pure resistance. Either condition could be called "resonance," so with low-Q circuits it is necessary to distinguish between maximum impedance and resistive impedance parallel resonance. The difference in tuning is appreciable when the Q is in the vicinity of 5, and becomes more marked with still lower Q values.

#### **Q** of Loaded Circuits

In many applications of resonant circuits the only power lost is that dissipated in the resistance of the circuit itself. At frequencies below 30 Mc, most of this resistance is in the coil. Within limits, increasing the number of turns on the coil increases the reactance faster than it raises the resistance, so coils for circuits in which the Q must be high may have reactances of 1000 ohms or more at the frequency under consideration.

However, when the circuit delivers energy to a load (as in the case of the resonant circuits used in transmitters) the energy consumed in the circuit itself is usually negligible compared with that consumed by the load. The equivalent of such a circuit is shown in Fig. 2-41A, where the parallel resistor represents the load to which power is delivered. If the power dissipated in the



Fig. 2-41 — The equivalent circuit of a resonant circuit delivering power to a load. The resistor R represents the load resistance. At B the load is tapped across part of L, which by transformer action is equivalent to using a higher load resistance across the whole circuit.

load is at least ten times as great as the power lost in the coil and condenser, the parallel impedance of the resonant circuit itself will be so high compared with the resistance of the load that for all practical purposes the impedance of the combined circuit is equal to the load resistance. Under these conditions the Q of a parallelresonant circuit loaded by a resistive impedance is

$$Q = \frac{Z}{X}$$

where Q = Quality factor

Z = Parallel load resistance (ohms)

X =Reactance (ohms) of either the coil or condenser

Example: A resistive load of 3000 ohms is connected across a resonant circuit in which the inductive and capacitive reactances are each 250 ohms. The circuit Q is then

$$\chi = \frac{Z}{X} = \frac{3000}{250} = 12$$

The "effective" Q of a circuit loaded by a parallel resistance becomes higher when the reactances of the coil and condenser are decreased. A circuit loaded with a relatively low resistance (a few thousand ohms) must have low-reactance elements (large capacitance and small inductance) to have reasonably high Q.

#### Impedance Transformation

An important application of the parallelresonant circuit is an impedance-matching device in the output circuit of a vacuum-tube r.f. power amplifier. As described in the chapter on vacuum tubes, there is an optimum value of load resistance for each type of tube and set of operating conditions. However, the resistance of the load to which the tube is to deliver power usually is considerably lower than the value required for proper tube operation. To transform the actual load resistance to the desired value the load may be tapped across part of the coil, as shown in Fig. 2-41B. This is equivalent to connecting a higher value of load resistance across the whole circuit, and is similar in principal to impedance transformation with an iron-core transformer. In high-frequency resonant circuits the impedance ratio does not vary exactly as the square of the turns ratio, because all the magnetic flux lines do not cut every turn of the coil. A desired reflected impedance usually must be obtained by experimental adjustment.

When the load resistance has a very low value (say below 100 ohms) it may be connected in series in the resonant circuit (as in Fig. 2-39A, for example), in which case it is transformed to an equivalent parallel impedance as previously described. If the Q is at least 10, the equivalent parallel impedance is

$$Z_r = \frac{X^2}{R}$$

- where  $Z_r$  = Resistive impedance at resonance
  - X =Reactance (in ohms) of either the coil or condenser
  - R = Load resistance inserted in series

### **CHAPTER 2**

If the Q is lower than 10 the reactance will have to be adjusted somewhat, as described previously, to obtain a resistive impedance of the desired value.

#### L/C Ratio

The formula for resonant frequency of a circuit shows that the same frequency always will be obtained so long as the *product* of L and C is constant. Within this limitation, it is evident that L can be large and C small, L small and C large, etc. The relation between the two for a fixed frequency is called the L/C ratio. A high-C circuit is one which has more capacity than "normal" for the frequency; a low-C circuit one which has less than normal capacity. These terms depend to a considerable extent upon the particular application considered, and have no exact numerical meaning.

#### LC Constants

It is frequently convenient to use the numerical value of the *LC* constant when a number of calculations have to be made involving different L/C ratios for the same frequency. The constant for any frequency is given by the following equation:

$$LC = \frac{25,330}{t^2}$$

where L = Inductance in microhenrys ( $\mu$ h.)

C =Capacitance in micromicrofarads  $(\mu\mu fd.)$ 

f = Frequency in megacycles

Example: Find the inductance required to resonate at 3650 ke, (3.65 Mc.) with expacitances of 25, 50, 100, and 500  $\mu\mu$ fd. The *LC* constant is

$$LC = \frac{25,330}{(3,65)^2} = \frac{25,330}{13,35} = 1900$$

With 25 
$$\mu\mu$$
fd,  $L = 1900/C = 1900/25$   
= 76  $\mu$ h,  
50  $\mu\mu$ fd,  $L = 1900/C = 1900/50$   
= 38  $\mu$ h,  
100  $\mu\mu$ fd,  $L = 1900/C = 1900/100$   
= 19  $\mu$ h,  
500  $\mu\mu$ fd,  $L = 1900/C = 1900/500$   
= 3.8  $\mu$ h.

#### COUPLED CIRCUITS

#### Energy Transfer and Loading

Two circuits are **coupled** when energy can be transferred from one to the other. The circuit delivering power is called the **primary** circuit; the one receiving power is called the **secondary** circuit. The power may be practically all dissipated in the secondary circuit itself (this is usually the case in receiver circuits) or the secondary may simply act as a medium through which the power is transferred to a load. In the latter case, the coupled circuits may act as a radio-frequency impedance-matching device. The matching can be accomplished by adjusting the loading on the secondary and by varying the amount of coupling between the primary and secondary.

#### Coupling by a Common Circuit Element

One method of coupling between two resonant circuits is through a circuit element common to both. The three variations of this type of coupling shown at A, B and C of Fig. 2-42, utilize a common inductance, capacitance and resistance, respectively. Current circulating in one LC branch flows through the common element  $(L_c, C_c \text{ or } R_c)$ and the voltage developed across this element causes current to flow in the other LC branch.



Fig. 2-42 - Four methods of circuit coupling.

If both eircuits are resonant to the same frequency, as is usually the case, the value of coupling reactance or resistance required for maximum energy transfer is generally quite small compared with the other reactances in the cireuits. The common-circuit-element method of coupling is used only occasionally in amateur apparatus.

#### **Capacitive** Coupling

In the eireuit at D the coupling increases as the capacitance of  $C_{\rm e}$ , the "coupling condenser," is made greater (reactance of  $C_{\rm e}$  is decreased). When two resonant circuits are coupled by this means, the capacitance required for maximum energy transfer is quite small if the Q of the seeondary circuit is at all high. For example, if the parallel impedance of the secondary circuit is 100,000 ohms, a reactance of 10,000 ohms or so in the condenser will give ample coupling. The eorresponding capacitance required is only a few micromicrofarads at high frequencies.

#### Inductive Coupling

Figs. 2-43 and 2-44 show inductive coupling, or coupling by means of the mutual inductance between two coils. Circuits of this type resemble the iron-core transformer, but because only a part of the magnetic flux lines set up by one coil cut the turns of the other coil, the simple relationships between turns ratio, voltage ratio and impedance ratio in the iron-core transformer do not hold.

Two types of inductively-coupled circuits are shown in Fig. 2-43. Only one circuit is resonant. The circuit at A is frequently used in receivers for coupling between amplifier tubes when the tuning of the circuit must be varied to respond to signals of different frequencies. Circuit B is used principally in transmitters, for coupling a radiofrequency amplifier to a resistive load.

In these circuits the coupling between the primary and secondary coils usually is "tight" that is, the coefficient of coupling between the eoils is large. With very tight coupling either circuit operates nearly as though the device to which the untuned coil is connected were simply tapped across a corresponding number of turns on the tuned-circuit coil, thus either circuit is approximately equivalent to Fig. 2-41B.

By proper choice of the number of turns on the untuned coil, and by adjustment of the eoupling, the parallel impedance of the tuned circuit may be adjusted to the value required for the proper operation of the device to which it is connected. In any case, the maximum energy transfer possible for a given coefficient of eoupling is obtained when the reactance of the untuned eoil is equal to the resistance of its load.

The Q and parallel impedance of the tuned eircuit are reduced by coupling through an untuned coil in much the same way as by the tapping arrangement shown in Fig. 2-41B.

#### **Coupled Resonant Circuits**

When the primary and secondary circuits are both tuned, as in Fig. 2-44, the resonance effects in both circuits make the operation somewhat more complicated than in the simpler circuits just considered. Imagine first that the two circuits are not coupled and that each is independently tuned to the resonant frequency. The impedance of each will be purely resistive. If the primary circuit is connected to a source of r.f. energy of the resonant frequency and the secondary is then loosely coupled to the primary, a current will flow in the secondary circuit. In flowing through the resistance of the secondary circuit and any load



Fig. 2-43 - Single-tuned inductively-coupled circuits.

that may be connected to it, the current causes a power loss. This power must come from the energy source through the primary circuit, and manifests itself in the primary as an increase in the equivalent resistance in series with the primary coil. Hence the Q and parallel impedance of the primary circuit are decreased by the coupled secondary. As the coupling is made greater (without changing the tuning of either circuit) the coupled resistance becomes larger and the parallel impedance of the primary continues to decrease. Also, as the coupling is made tighter the amount of power transferred from the primary to the secondary will increase to a maximum at critical coupling, but then decreases if the coupling is tightened still more (still without changing the tuning).



Fig. 2-44 — Inductively-coupled resonant circuits. Circuit A is used for high-resistance loads (at least several times the reactance of either  $L_2$  or  $C_2$  at the resonant frequency). Circuit B is suitable for low resistance loads where the reactance of either  $L_2$  or  $C_2$  is at least several times the load resistance.

Critical coupling is a function of the Qs of the two circuits. A higher coefficient of coupling is required to reach critical coupling when the Qs are low; if the Qs are high, as in receiving applications, a coupling coefficient of a few per cent may give critical coupling.

With loaded eircuits such as are used in transmitters the Q may be too low to give the desired power transfer even when the coils are eoupled as tightly as the physical construction permits. In such case, increasing the Q of either circuit will be helpful, although it is generally better to increase the Q of the lower-Q circuit rather than the reverse. The Q of the parallel-tuned primary (input) circuit can be increased by decreasing the L/C ratio because, as shown in connection with Fig. 2-39, this circuit is in effect loaded by a parallel resistance (effect of coupled-in resistance). In the parallel-tuned secondary circuit, Fig. 2-44A, the Q can be increased, for a fixed value of load resistance, either by decreasing the L/C ratio or by tapping the load down (see Fig. 2-41). In the series-tuned secondary circuit, Fig. 2-44B, the Q may be increased by *increasing* the L/C ratio.

There will generally be no difficulty in securing sufficient coupling, with practicable coils, if the Q of each circuit is at least 10. Smaller values will



Fig. 2-45 — Showing the effect on the output voltage from the secondary circuit of changing the coefficient of coupling between two resonant circuits independently tuned to the same frequency. The voltage applied to the primary is held constant in amplitude while the frequency is varied, and the output voltage is measured across the secondary.

suffice if the coil construction permits tight coupling.

#### Selectivity

In Fig. 2-43 only one circuit is tuned and the selectivity curve will be that of a single resonant circuit. As stated, the effective Q depends upon the resistance connected to the untuned coil.

In Fig. 2-44, the selectivity is the same as that of a single tuned circuit having a Q equal to the *product* of the Qs of the individual circuits — ifthe coupling is well below critical and both circuits are tuned to resonance. The Qs of the individual circuits are affected by the degree of coupling, because each couples resistance into the other: the tighter the coupling, the lower the individual Qs and therefore the lower the over-all selectivity.

If both circuits are independently tuned to resonance, the over-all selectivity will vary about as shown in Fig. 2-45 as the coupling is varied. With loose coupling, A, the output voltage (across the secondary circuit) is small and the selectivity is high. As the coupling is increased the secondary voltage also increases until critical coupling.  $B_{i}$  is reached. At this point the output voltage at the resonant frequency is maximum but the selectivity is lower than with looser coupling. At still tighter coupling, C, the output voltage at the resonant frequency decreases, but as the frequency is varied either side of resonance it is found that there are two "humps" to the curve, one on either side of resonance. With very tight coupling, D, there is a further decrease in the output voltage at resonance and the "humps" are farther away from the resonant frequency. Curves such as those at C and D are called flattopped because the output voltage does not change much over an appreciable band of frequencies.

Note that the off-resonance humps have the same maximum value as the resonant output voltage at critical coupling. These humps are caused by the fact that at frequencies off resonance the secondary circuit is reactive and couples reactance as well as resistance into the primary. The coupled resistance decreases off resonance and the humps represent a new condition of critical coupling, at a frequency to which the primary is detuned by the coupled-in reactance from tho secondary.

#### Band-Pass Coupling

Over-coupled resonant circuits are useful where substantially uniform output is desired over a continuous band of frequencies, without readjustment of tuning. The width of the flat top of the resonance curve depends on the Qs of the two circuits as well as the tightness of coupling; the frequency separation between the humps will increase, and the curve become more flat-topped as the Qs are lowered.

Band-pass operation also is secured by tuning the two circuits to slightly different frequencies, which gives a double-humped resonance curve even with loose coupling. This is called stagger tuning. However, to secure adequate power transfer over the frequency band it is usually necessary to use tight coupling and adjust the two circuits, by experiment, to give the desired performance.

#### Link Coupling

A modification of inductive coupling, called link coupling, is shown in Fig. 2-46. This gives the effect of inductive coupling between two coils that have no mutual inductance; the link is simply a means for providing the mutual inductance. The total mutual inductance between two coils coupled by a link cannot be made as great as if the coils themselves were coupled. This is because the coefficient of coupling between aircore coils is considerably less than 1, and since there are two coupling points the over-all coupling coefficient is less than for any pair of coils. In practice this need not be disadvantageous because the power transfer can be made great enough by making the tuned circuits sufficiently high-Q. Link coupling is convenient when ordinary inductive coupling would be impracticable for constructional reasons.

The link coils usually have a small number of turns compared with the resonant-circuit coils. The number of turns is not greatly important, because the coefficient of coupling is relatively independent of the number of turns on either coil; it is more important that both link coils should have about the *same* inductance. The length of the link between the coils is not critical if it is very small compared with the wavelength, but if the length is more than about one-twentieth of a wavelength the link operates more as a transmission line than as a means for providing mutual inductance. In such case it should be treated by the methods described in the chapter on Transmission Lines.



Fig. 2-46 — Link coupling. The initial inductances at both ends of the link are equivalent to mutual inductance between the tuned circuits, and serve the same purpose.

#### Piezoelectric Crystals

A number of crystalline substances found in nature have the ability to transform mechanical strain into an electrical charge, and vice versa. This property is known as piezoelectricity. A small plate or bar cut in the proper way from a quartz crystal, for example, and placed between two conducting electrodes, will be mechanically strained when the electrodes are connected to a source of voltage. Conversely, if the crystal is squeezed between two electrodes a voltage will develop between the electrodes.

Piezoelectric crystals can be used to transform mechanical energy into electrical energy, and vice versa. They are used, for example, in microphones and phonograph pick-ups, where mechanical vibrations are transformed into alternating voltages of corresponding frequency. They are also used in headsets and loudspeakers, transforming electrical energy into mechanical vibration. Crystal plates for these purposes are cut from large crystals of Rochelle salts.



Fig. 2-47 — Equivalent circuit of a crystal resonator. L, C and R are the electrical equivalents of mechanical properties of the crystal;  $C_h$  is the capacitance of the electrodes with the crystal plate between them.

Crystalline plates also are mechanical vibrators that have natural frequencies of vibration ranging from a few thousand cycles to several megacycles per second. The vibration frequency depends on the kind of crystal, the way the plate is cut from the natural crystal, and on the dimensions of the plate. Because of the piczoelectric effect, the crystal plate can be coupled to an electrical circuit and made to substitute for a coil-and-condenser resonant circuit. The thing that makes the **crystal resonator** valuable is that it has extremely high Q, ranging from 5 to 10 times the Qs obtainable with good LC resonant circuits.

Analogies can be drawn between various meehanical properties of the crystal and the electrical characteristics of a tuned circuit. This leads to an "equivalent circuit" for the crystal. The electrical coupling to the crystal is through the electrodes between which it is sandwiched; these electrodes form, with the crystal as the dielectric, a small condenser like any other condenser constructed of two plates with a dielectrie between. The crystal itself is equivalent to a series-resonant circuit, and together with the eapacitance of the electrodes forms the equivalent circuit shown in Fig. 2-47. The equivalent inductance of the crystal is extremely large and the series capacitance, C, is correspondingly low; this is the reason for the high Q of a crystal. The electrode capacitance, Ch, is so very large compared with the series capacitance of the crystal that it has only a very small effect on the resonant frequency.

Crystal plates for use as resonators in radiofrequency circuits are almost always cut from quartz crystals, because for mechanical reasons quartz is by far the most suitable material for this purpose. Quartz crystals are used as resonators in receivers, to give highly-selective reception, and as frequency-controlling elements in transmitters to give a high order of frequency stability.

### **Practical Circuit Details**

#### COMBINED A.C. AND D.C.

Most radio circuits are built around vacuum tubes, and it is the nature of these tubes to require direct current (usually at a fairly high voltage) for their operation. They convert the direct current into an alternating current (and sometimes the reverse) at frequencies varying from well down in the audio range to well up in the superhigh range. The conversion process almost invariably requires that the direct and alternating currents meet somewhere in the circuit.

In this meeting, the a.e. and d.e. are actually combined into a single current that "pulsates" (at the a.e. frequency) about an average value equal to the direct current. This is shown in Fig. 2-48. It is convenient to consider that the alternating current is **superimposed** on the direct current, so we may look upon the actual current as having two components, one d.e. and the other a.e.



In an alternating current the positive and negative alternations have the same average amplitude, so when the wave is superimposed on a direct current the latter is alternately increased and decreased by the same amount. There is thus no average change in the direct current. If a d.c. instrument is being used to read the current, the reading will be exactly the same whether or not the a.c. is superimposed.

However, there is actually more power in such a combination current than there is in the direct current alone. This is because power varies as the *square* of the instantaneous value of the current, and when all the instantaneous squared values are averaged over a cycle the total power is greater than the d.e. power alone. If the a.c. is a sine wave having a peak value just equal to the d.e., the power in the circuit is 1.5 times the d.e. power. An instrument whose readings are proportional to power will show such an increase.

In many circuits, also, we may have two alternating currents of different frequencies; for example, an audio frequency and a radio frequency may be combined in the same circuit. The two in turn may be combined with a direct current. In some cases, too, two r.f. currents of widelydifferent frequencies may be combined in the same circuit.

#### Series and Parallel Feed

Fig. 2–19 shows in simplified form how d.c. and a.c. may be combined in a vacuum-tube circuit. (The tube is shown only in bare outline; so far as the d.c. is concerned, it can be looked upon as a resistance of rather high value. On the other hand, the tube may be looked upon as the *gen*erator of the a.c. The mechanism of tube operation is described in the next chapter.) In this case, it is assumed that the a.c. is at radio frequency, as suggested by the coil-and-condenser tuned circuit. It is also assumed that r.f. current can easily flow through the d.c. supply; that is, the impedance of the supply at radio frequencies is so small as to be negligible.

In the circuit at the left, the tube, tuned circuit, and d.e. supply all are connected in series. The direct current flows through the r.f. coil to get to the tube; the r.f. current generated by the tube flows through the d.e. supply to get to the tuned circuit. This is **series feed**. It works because the impedance of the d.e. supply at radio frequencies is so low that it does not affect the flow of *r.f.* current, and because the d.e. resistance of the coil is so low that it does not affect the flow of *direct* current.

In the circuit at the right the direct current does not flow through the r.f. tuned circuit, but instead goes to the tube through a second coil, RFC (radio-frequency choke). Direct current cannot flow through L because a blocking condenser, C, is placed in the circuit to prevent it. (Without C, the d.e. supply would be shortcircuited by the low resistance of  $L_{i}$ ) On the other hand, the r.f. current generated by the tube can easily flow through C to the tuned circuit because the capacitance of C is intentionally chosen to have low reactance (compared with the impedance of the tuned circuit) at the radio frequency. The r.f. current cannot flow through the d.e. supply because the inductance of RFC is intentionally made so large that it has a very high reactance at the radio frequency. The resistance of *RFC*, however, is too low to have an appre-



Fig. 2-49 — Illustrating series and parallel feed.

ciable effect on the flow of direct eurrent. The two currents are thus in *parallel*, hence the name **parallel feed.** 

Either type of feed may be used for both a.f. and r.f. circuits. In parallel feed there is no d.c. voltage on the a.c. circuit, a desirable feature from the viewpoint of safety to the operator, because the voltages applied to tubes — particularly transmitting tubes — are dangerous. On the other hand, it is somewhat difficult to make an r.f. choke work well over a wide range of frequencies. Series feed is usually preferred, therefore, because it is relatively easy to keep the impedance between the a.e. circuit and the tube low.

#### **By-Passing**

In the series-feed circuit just discussed, it was assumed that the d.c. supply had very low impedance at radio frequencies. This is not likely to be true in a practical power supply, partly



because the normal physical separation between the supply and the r.f. circuit would make it necessary to use rather long connecting wires or leads. At radio frequencies, even a few feet of wire can have fairly large reactance — too large to be considered a really "low-impedance" connection.

An actual circuit would be provided with a **by-pass condenser**, as shown in Fig. 2-50. Condenser C is chosen to have low reactance at the operating frequency, and is installed right in the circuit where it can be wired to the other parts with quite short connecting wires. Hence the r.f. current will tend to flow through it rather than through the d.c. supply.

To be effective, the reactance of the by-pass condenser should not be more than one-tenth of the impedance of the by-passed part of the cireuit. Very often the latter impedance is not known, in which case it is desirable to use the largest capacitance in the by-pass that circumstances permit. To make doubly sure that r.f. current will not flow through a non-r.f. circuit such as a power supply, an r.f. choke may be connected in the lead to the latter, as shown in Fig. 2-50.

The same type of by-passing is used when audio frequencies are present in addition to r.f. Because the reactance of a condenser changes with frequency, it is readily possible to choose a capacitance that will represent a very low reactance at radio frequencies but that will have such high reactance at audio frequencies that it is practically an open circuit. A capacitance of 0.001  $\mu$ fd, is practically a short circuit for r.f., for example, but is almost an open circuit at audio frequencies. (The actual value of capacitance that is usable will be modified by the impedances concerned.) By-pass condensers also are used in audio circuits to carry the audio frequencies around a d.c. supply.

#### Distributed Capacitance and Inductance

In the discussions earlier in this chapter it was assumed that a condenser has only capacitance and that a coil has only inductance. Unfortunately, this is not strictly true. There is always a certain amount of inductance in a conductor of any length, and a condenser is bound to have a little inductance in addition to its intended capacitance. Also, there is always capacitance between two conductors or between parts of the same conductor, and thus there is appreciable capacitance between the turns of an inductance coil.

This distributed inductance in a condenser and the distributed capacitance in a coil have important practical effects. Actually, every condenser is a tuned circuit, resonant at the frequency where its capacitance and distributed inductance have the same reactance. The same thing is true of a coil and its distributed capacitance. At frequencies well below these natural resonances, the condenser will act like a normal capacitance and the coil will act like a normal inductance. Near the natural resonant points, the coil and condenser act like self-tuned circuits. Above resonance, the condenser acts like an inductance and the coil acts like a condenser. Thus there is a limit to the amount of capacitance that can be used at a given frequency. There is a similar limit to the inductance that can be used. At audio frequencies, capacitances measured in microfarads and inductances measured in henrys are practicable. At low and medium radio frequencies, inductances of a few millihenrys and capacitances of a few thousand micromicrofarads are the largest practicable. At high radio frequencies, usable inductance values drop to a few microhenrys and capacitances to a few hundred micromicrofarads.

Distributed capacitance and inductance are important not only in r.f. tuned circuits, but in by-passing and choking as well. It will be appreciated that a by-pass condenser that actually acts like an inductance, or an r.f. choke that acts like a condenser, cannot work as it is intended they should.

#### Grounds

Throughout this book there are frequent references to ground and ground potential. When a connection is said to be "grounded" it does not mean that it actually goes to earth (although in many cases such earth connections *are* used). What it means is that an actual earth connection could be made to that point in the circuit without disturbing the operation of the circuit in any way. The term also is used to indicate a "common" point in the circuit where power supplies and metallic supports (such as a metal chassis) are electrically tied together. It is customary, for example, to "ground" the negative terminal of a d.c. power supply, and to "ground" the filament or heater power supplies for vacuum tubes. Since the cathode of a vacuum tube is a junction point for grid and plate voltage supplies, it is a natural point to "ground." Also, since the various circuits connected to the tube elements have at least one point connected to cathode, these points also are "returned to ground." "Ground" is therefore a common reference point in the radio circuit. "Ground potential" means that there is no "difference of potential" - that is, no voltage - between the circuit point and the earth.

#### Single-Ended and Balanced Circuits

With reference to ground, a circuit may be either single-ended (unbalanced) or balanced. In a single-ended circuit, one side of the circuit is connected to ground. In a balanced circuit, the electrical midpoint is connected to



Fig. 2-51 - Single-ended and balanced eircuits.

ground, so that the circuit has two ends each at the same voltage "above" ground.

Typical single-ended and balanced circuits are shown in Fig. 2-51. R.f. circuits are shown in the upper row, while iron-core transformers (such as are used in power-supply and audio circuits) are shown in the lower row. The r.f. circuits may be balanced either by connecting the center of the coil to ground or by using a "balanced" or "split-stator" condenser and connecting the condenser rotor to ground. In the iron-core transformer, one or both windings may be tapped at the center of the winding to provide the ground connection.

In the single-ended eircuit, only one side of

### **CHAPTER 2**

the circuit is "hot" — that is, has a voltage that differs from ground potential. In the balanced circuit, both ends are "hot" and the grounded center point is at ground potential.

#### Shielding

Two circuits that are physically near each other usually will be coupled to each other in some degree even though no coupling is intended. The metallic parts of the two circuits form a small capacitance through which energy can be transferred by means of the electric field. Also, the magnetic field about the coil or wiring of one circuit can couple that circuit to a second through the latter's coil and wiring. In many cases these unwanted couplings must be prevented if the circuits are to work properly.

Capacitive coupling may readily be prevented by enclosing one or both of the circuits in grounded low-resistance metallic containers, called **shields**. The electric field from the circuit components does not penetrate the shield. A metallic plate, called a **baffle shield**, inserted between two components also may suffice to prevent electrostatic coupling between them. It should be large enough to make the components invisible to each other.

Similar metallic shielding is used at radio frequencies to prevent magnetic coupling. The shielding effect increases with frequency and with the conductivity and thickness of the shielding material.

A closed shield is required for good magnetic shielding: in some cases separate shields, one about each coil, may be required. The baffle shield is rather ineffective for magnetic shielding, although it will give partial shielding if placed at right angles to the axes of, and between, the coils to be shielded from each other.

Shielding a coil reduces its inductance, because part of its field is canceled by the shield. Also, there is always a small amount of resistance in the shield, and there is therefore an energy loss. This loss raises the effective resistance of the coil. The decrease in inductance and increase in resistance lower the Q of the coil. The reduction in inductance and Q will be small if the shield is sufficiently far away from the coil; the spacing between the sides of the coil and the shield should be at least half the coil diameter, and the spacing at the ends of the coil should at least equal the coil diameter. The higher the conductivity of the shield material, the less the effect on the inductance and Q. Copper is the best material, but aluminum is quite satisfactory.

For good magnetic shielding at audio frequencies it is necessary to enclose the coil in a container of high-permeability iron or steel. In this case the shield can be quite close to the coil without harming its performance.

### Modulation, Heterodyning and Beats

Since one of the most widespread uses of radio frequencies is the transmission of speech and nusie, it would be very convenient if the audio spectrum to be transmitted could simply be shifted up to some radio frequency, transmitted as radio waves, and shifted back down to the audio spec-

trum at the receiving point. Suppose the audio signal to be transmitted by radio is a pure 1000cycle tone, and we wish to transmit it at some frequency around 1 Mc. (1,000,000 cycles). One possible way might be to add 1,000,000 cycles and 1,000 cycles together, thereby obtaining a radio frequency of 1,001,000 cycles. Unfortunately, no simple method for doing such a thing directly has ever been devised, although the *effect* is obtained and used in some advanced communications techniques.

Actually, when two different frequencies are present simultaneously in an ordinary circuit (specifically, one in which Ohm's Law holds) each behaves as though the other were not there. It is true that the total or resultant voltage (or current) in the circuit will be the sum of the instantaneous values of the two at every instant. This is because there can be only one value of current or voltage at any single point in a circuit at any instant. Fig. 2-52A and B show two such frequencies, and C shows the resultant. The amplitude of the 1,000,000-cycle current is not affected by the presence of the 1000-cycle current, but merely has its axis shifted back and forth at the 1000-cycle rate. An attempt to transmit such a



Fig. 2-52 — Amplitude-rs.-time and amplitude-rs.frequency plots of various signals. (A)  $1\frac{1}{2}$  cycles of a 1000-cycle signal. (B) A 1,000,000-cycle signal plotted to the same scale as A. Because there are 1500 cycles during this time, they cannot be shown accurately. (C) The signals of A and B flowing in the same circuit. (D) The signals of A and B combined in a circuit where A can control the amplitude of B. The 1,000,000-cycle signal is modulated by the 1000-cycle signal. (E), (F), (G), (H) Amplitude-vs.-frequency plots of the signals in A, B, C and D.

combination as a radio wave would result simply in the transmission of the 1,000,000-cycle frequency, since the 1000-cycle frequency retains its identity as an audio frequency and hence will not be radiated.

There are devices, however, which make it possible for one frequency to control the amplitude of the other. If, for example, a 1000-cycle tone is used to control a 1-Mc. signal, the maximum r.f. output will be obtained when the 1000-cycle signal is at one peak and the minimum will occur at its other peak. The process is called **amplitude modulation**, and the effect is shown in Fig. 2-52D. The resultant signal is now entirely at radio frequency, but with its amplitude varying at the modulation rate (1000 cycles). Receiving equipment adjusted to receive the 1,000,000-cycle r.f. signal can reproduce these changes in amplitude, and thus tell what the audio signal is, through a process called **detection** or **demodulation**.

It might be assumed that the only radio frequency present in such a signal is the original 1,000,000 cycles, but such is not the case. It will be found that two new frequencies have appeared. These are the sum (1,000,000 + 1000)and difference (1,000,000 - 1000) frequencies, and hence the radio frequencies appearing in the circuit after modulation are 999,000, 1,000,000 and 1,001,000 cycles.

Many circuits have been devised for obtaining amplitude modulation, and they will be treated in detail in later chapters. When an audio frequency is used to control the amplitude of a radio frequency, the process is generally called "amplitude modulation," as mentioned previously, but when a radio frequency modulates another radio frequency it is called **heterodyning**. However, the processes are identical. A general term for the sum and difference frequencies generated during heterodyning or amplitude modulation is "beat frequency, for the sum frequency, and lower side frequency for the difference frequency.

In the simple example, the modulating signal was assumed to be a pure tone, but the modulating signal can just as well be a *band* of frequencies making up speech or music. In this case, the side frequencies are grouped into what are called the **upper sideband** and the **lower sideband**. In any case, the frequency that is modulated is called the **carrier** frequency.

In A, B, C and D of Fig. 2-52, the sketches are obtained by plotting amplitude against time. However, it is equally helpful to be able to visualize the spectrum, or what a plot of amplitude vs. frequency looks like, at any given instant of time. E, F, G and H of Fig. 2-52 show the signals of Fig. 2-52A, B, C and D on an amplitude-vs.frequency basis. Any one frequency is, of course, represented by a vertical line. Fig. 2-52H shows the side frequencies appearing as a result of the modulation process.

Amplitude modulation (AM) is not the only possible type nor is it the only one in use. This and other types of modulation are treated in detail in later chapters.

**CHAPTER 3** 

# **Vacuum-Tube Principles**

#### CURRENT IN A VACUUM

The outstanding difference between the vacuum tube and most other electrical devices is that the electric current does not flow through a conductor but through empty space — a vacuum. This is only possible when "free" electrons — that is, electrons that are not attached to atoms — are somehow introduced into the vacuum. Free electrons in an evacuated space will be attracted to a positively-charged object within the same space, or will be repelled by a negatively-charged object. The movement of the electrons under the attraction or repulsion of such charged objects constitutes the current in the vacuum.

The most practical way to introduce a sufficiently-large number of electrons into the evacuated space is by thermionic emission.

#### Thermionic Emission

If a thin wire or filament is heated to incandescence in a vacuum, electrons near the surface are given enough energy of motion to fly off into the surrounding space. The higher the temperature, the greater the number of electrons emitted. A more general name for the filament is cathode.

If the cathode is the only thing in the vacuum, most of the emitted electrons stay in its immediate vicinity, forming a "cloud" about the cathode. The reason for this is that the electrons in the space, being negative electricity, form a negative charge (space charge) in the region of the cathode. The space charge repels those electrons nearest the cathode, tending to make them fall back on it.

Now suppose a second conductor is introduced into the vacuum, but not connected to anything else inside the tube. If this second conductor is given a positive charge by connecting a source of e.m.f. between it and the

Positive

Direction of flow



Fig. 3-1 — Conduction by thermionic emission in a vacuum tube. One battery is used to heat the filament to a temperature that will cause it to emit electrons. The other battery makes the plate positive with respect to the filament, thereby causing the emitted electrons to be attracted to the plate. Electrons captured by the plate flow back through the battery to the filament.

cathode, as indicated in Fig. 3-1, electrons emitted by the cathode are attracted to the positivelycharged conductor. An electric current then flows through the circuit formed by the cathode, the charged conductor, and the source of e.m.f. In Fig. 3-1 this e.m.f. is supplied by a battery ("B" battery); a second battery ("A" battery) is also indicated for heating the cathode or filament to the proper operating temperature.

The positively-charged conductor is usually a metal plate or cylinder (surrounding the cathode) and is called an **anode** or plate. Like the other working parts of a tube, it is a tube element or electrode. The tube shown in Fig. 3-1 is a **two-element** or **two-electrode** tube, one element being the cathode or filament and the other the anode or plate.

Since electrons are negative electricity, they will be attracted to the plate *only* when the plate is positive with respect to the cathode. If the plate is given a negative charge, the electrons will be repelled back to the cathode and no current will flow. The vacuum tube therefore can conduct *only in one direction*.

#### Cathodes

Before electron emission can occur, the cathode must be heated to a high temperature. However, it is not essential that the heating cur-

Representative tube types. The miniature, metalenvelope and small glass tubes in the foreground are receiving types. The two tubes with connections at the top of the bulb, lying down, are transmitting triodes of moderate power ratings. Those in the rear are transmitting-type beam tetrodes.



Fig. 3-2 — Types of eathode construction. Directly-heated cathodes or filaments are shown at A, B, and C. The inverted V filament is used in small receiving tubes, the M in both receiving and transmitting tubes. The spiral filament is a transmitting-tube type. The indirectly-heated cathodes at D and E show two types of heater construction, one a twisted loop and the other bunched heater wires. Both types tend to cancel the magnetic fields set up by the current through the heater.

rent flow through the actual material that does the emitting; the filament or heater can be electrically separate from the emitting cathode. Such a cathode is called **indirectly heated**, while an emitting filament is called **directly heated**. Fig. 3-2 shows both types in the forms in which they are commonly used.

Much greater electron emission can be obtained, at relatively low temperatures, by using special cathode materials rather than pure metals. One of these is thoriated tungsten, or tungsten in which thorium is dissolved. Still greater efficiency is achieved in the **oxide-coated** cathode, a cathode in which rare-earth oxides form a coating over a metal base.

Although the oxide-coated cathode has much the highest efficiency, it can be used successfully only in tubes that operate at rather low plate voltages. Its use is therefore confined to receiving-type tubes and to the smaller varieties of transmitting tubes. The thoriated filament, on the other hand, will operate well in high-voltage tubes.

#### **Plate Current**

If there is only a small positive voltage on the plate, the number of electrons reaching it will be small because the space charge (which is negative) prevents those electrons nearest the cathode from being attracted to the plate. As the plate voltage is increased, the effect of the space charge is increasingly overcome and the number of electrons attracted to the plate becomes larger. That is, the **plate current** increases with increasing plate voltage.

Fig. 3-3 shows a typical plot of plate current vs. plate voltage for a two-element tube or diode. A curve of this type can be obtained with the circuit shown, if the plate voltage is increased in small steps and a current reading taken (by means of the eurrent-indicating instrument — a "milliammeter") at each voltage. The plate current is zero with no plate voltage and the curve rises until a **saturation point** is reached. This is where the positive charge on the plate has substantially overcome the space charge and almost all the electrons are going to the plate. At higher voltages the plate current stays at practically the same value.

The plate voltage multiplied by the plate current is the **power input** to the tube. In a circuit like that of Fig. 3-3 this power is all used in heating the plate. If the power input is large, the plate temperature may rise to a very high value (the plate may become red or even white hot). The heat developed in the plate is radiated to the bulb of the tube, and in turn radiated by the bulb to the surrounding air.

#### RECTIFICATION

the Since current can flow through a tube in only one direction, a diode can be used to change alternating current into direct current. It does this by permitting current to flow when the plate is positive with respect to the cathode, but by shutting off current flow when the plate is negative.

Fig. 3-4 shows a representative circuit. Alternating voltage from the secondary of the transformer, T, is applied to the diode tube in series with a load resistor, R. The voltage varies as is usual with a.e., but current flows through the tube and R only when the plate is positive with respect to the cathode — that is, during the half-cycle when the upper end of the transformer winding is positive. During the negative half-cycle there is simply a gap in the current flow. This rectified alternating current therefore is an *intermittent* direct current.

The load resistor, R, represents the actual circuit in which the rectified alternating current does work. All tubes work into a load of one type or another; in this respect a tube is much like a generator or transformer. A circuit that did not provide a load for the tube would be like a short-circuit across a transformer; no useful purpose would be accomplished and the only result would be the generation of heat in the transformer. So it is with vacuum tubes; they must deliver power to a load in order to serve a useful purpose. Also, to be efficient most of the power must do useful work in the load and not be used in heating the plate of the tube. This means that most of the voltage should appear as a drop across the load rather than as a drop between the plate and cathode.



Fig. 3-3 — The diode, or two-element tube, and a typical curve showing how the plate current depends upon the voltage applied to the plate.

### **CHAPTER 3**

With the diode connected as shown in Fig. 3-4, the polarity of the voltage drop across the load is such that the end of the load nearest the cathode is positive. If the connections to the diode elements are reversed, the direction of rectified current flow also will be reversed through the load.



Fig. 3-4 — Rectification in a diode. Current flows only when the plate is positive with respect to the cathode, so that only half-cycles of current flow through the load resistor,  $R_{c}$ 



### **Vacuum-Tube Amplifiers**

#### TRIODES

#### Grid Control

If a third element — called the **control grid**, or simply **grid** — is inserted between the cathode and plate as in Fig. 3-5, it can be used to control the effect of the space charge. If the grid is given a positive voltage with respect to the cathode, the positive charge will tend to neutralize the negative space charge. The



Fig. 3-5 — Construction of an elementary triode vacuum tube, showing the filament, grid (with an end view of the grid wires) and plate. The relative density of the space charge is indicated roughly by the dot density.

result is that, at any selected plate voltage, more electrons will flow to the plate than if the grid were not present. On the other hand, if the grid is made negative with respect to the cathode the negative charge on the grid will *add* to the space charge. This will *reduce* the number of electrons that can reach the plate at any selected plate voltage.

The grid is inserted in the tube to control the space charge and not to attract electrons to itself, so it is made in the form of a wire mesh or spiral. Electrons then can go through the open spaces in the grid to reach the plate.

#### Characteristic Curves

For any particular tube, the effect of the grid voltage on the plate current can be shown by a set of characteristic curves. A typical set of curves is shown in Fig. 3-6, together with the circuit that is used for getting them. For each value of plate voltage, there is a value of negative grid voltage that will reduce the plate current to zero; that is, there is a value of negative grid voltage that will **cut off** the plate current.

The curves could be extended by making the grid voltage positive as well as negative. When the grid is negative, it repels electrons and therefore none of them reaches it; in other words, no current flows in the grid circuit. However, when the grid is positive, it attracts electrons and a eurrent (grid current) flows, just as current flows to the positive plate. Whenever there is grid current there is an accompanying power loss in the grid circuit, but so long as the grid is negative no power is used.

It is obvious that the grid ean act as a valve to control the flow of plate current. Actually, the grid has a much greater effect on plate eurrent flow than does the plate voltage. A small change in grid voltage is just as effective in bringing about a given change in plate current as is a large change in plate voltage.

The fact that a small voltage acting on the grid is equivalent to a large voltage acting on the plate indicates the possibility of **amplifica-**tion with the triode tube. The many uses of the electronic tube nearly all are based upon this amplifying feature. The amplified output is not obtained from the tube itself, but from the source of e.m.f. connected between its plate and cathode. The tube simply *controls* the power from this source, changing it to the desired form.

To utilize the controlled power, a load must be connected in the plate or "output" circuit, just as in the diode case. The load may be



Fig 3-6 — Grid-voltage-rs,-plate-current curves at various fixed values of plate voltage  $(E_b)$  for a typical small triode. Characteristic curves of this type can be taken by varying the battery voltages in the circuit at the right.

either a resistance or an impedance. The term "impedance" is frequently used even when the load is purely resistive.

#### Tube Characteristics

The physical construction of a triode determines the relative effectiveness of the grid and plate in controlling the plate current. If a very small change in the grid voltage has just as much effect on the plate current as a very large change in plate voltage, the tube is said to have a high amplification factor. Amplification factor is commonly designated by the Greek letter  $\mu$ . An amplification factor of 20, for example, means that if the grid voltage is changed by 1 volt, the effect on the plate current will be the same as when the plate voltage is changed by 20 volts. The amplification factors of triode tubes range from 3 to 100 or so, A high- $\mu$ tube is one with an amplification factor of perhaps 30 or more; medium- $\mu$  tubes have amplification factors in the approximate range 8 to 30, and  $low-\mu$  tubes in the range below 7 or 8.

It would be natural to think that a tube that has a large  $\mu$  would be the best amplifier, but to obtain a high  $\mu$  it is necessary to construct the grid with many turns of wire per inch, or in the form of a fine mesh. This leaves a relatively small open area for electrons to go through to reach the plate, so it is difficult for the plate to attract large numbers of electrons. Quite a large change in the plate voltage must be made to effect a given change in plate current. This means that the resistance of the plate-cathode path — that is, the plate resistance — of the tube is high. Since this resistance acts in series with the load, the amount of current that can be made to flow through the load is relatively small. On the other hand, the plate resistance of a low- $\mu$  tube is relatively low.

The best all-around indication of the effectiveness of the tube as an amplifier is its transconductance - also called mutual conductance. This characteristic takes account of both amplification factor and plate resistance, and therefore is a figure of merit for the tube. Transconductance is the change in plate *current* divided by the change in grid voltage that causes the platecurrent change (the plate voltage being fixed at a desired value). Since current divided by voltage is conductance, transconductance is measured in the unit of conductance, the mho. Practical values of transconductance are very small, so the micromho (one-millionth of a mho) is the commonly-used unit. Different types of tubes have transconductances ranging from a few hundred to several thousand. The higher the transconductance the greater the possible amplification.

#### AMPLIFICATION

The way in which a tube amplifies is best shown by a type of graph called the **dynamic characteristic**. Such a graph, together with the circuit used for obtaining it, is shown in Fig. 3-7. The curves are taken with the plate-supply voltage fixed at the desired operating value. The difference between this circuit and the one shown in Fig. 3-6 is that in Fig. 3-7 a load resistance is connected in series with the plate of the tube. Fig. 3-7 thus shows how the plate current will vary, with different grid voltages, when the plate current is made to flow through a load and thus do useful work.



Fig. 3-7 — Dynamic characteristics of a small triode with various load resistances from 5000 to 100,000 ohns.

The several curves in Fig. 3-7 are for various values of load resistance. When the resistance is small (as in the case of the 5000-ohm load) the plate current changes rather rapidly with a given change in grid voltage. If the load resistance is high (as in the 100,000-ohm curve), the change in plate current for the same grid-voltage change is relatively small, so the curve tends to be straighter.

Fig. 3-8 is the same type of eurve, but with the circuit arranged so that a source of alternating voltage (signal) is inserted between the grid and the grid battery ("C" battery). The voltage of the grid battery is fixed at -5 volts, and from the curve it is seen that the plate current at this grid voltage is 2 milliamperes. This current flows when the load resistance is 50,000 ohms, as indicated in the circuit diagram. If there is no a.c. signal in the grid circuit, the voltage drop in the load resistor is 50,000  $\times$  0.002 = 100 volts, leaving 200 volts between the plate and cathode.

When a sine-wave signal having a peak value of 2 volts is applied in series with the bias voltage in the grid circuit, the instantaneous voltage at the grid will swing to -3 volts at the instant the signal reaches its positive peak, and to -7 volts at the instant the signal reaches its negative peak. The maximum plate current will occur at the instant the grid voltage is -3 volts. As shown by the graph, it will have a value of 2.65 milliamperes. The minimum plate current occurs at the instant the grid voltage is -7 volts, and has a value of 1.35 ma. At intermediate values of grid voltage, intermediate plate-current values will occur.

The instantaneous voltage between the plate



Fig. 3-8 — Amplifier operation. When the plate current varies in response to the signal applied to the grid, a varying voltage drop appears across the load,  $R_{19}$  as shown by the dashed curve,  $E_0$ ,  $I_P$  is the plate current.

and eathode of the tube also is shown on the graph. When the plate current is maximum, the instantaneous voltage drop in  $R_p$  is 50,000  $\times$  0.00265 = 132.5 volts; when the plate current is minimum the instantaneous voltage drop in  $R_p$  is 50,000  $\times$  0.00135 = 67.5 volts. The actual voltage between plate and eathode is the difference between the plate-supply potential, 300 volts, and the voltage drop in the load resistance. The plate-to-cathode voltage is therefore 167.5 volts at maximum plate current and 232.5 volts at minimum plate current.

This varying plate voltage is an a.c. voltage superimposed on the steady plate-cathode potential of 200 volts (as previously determined for no-signal conditions). The peak value of this a.c. output voltage is the difference between either the maximum or minimum plate-cathode voltage and the no-signal value of 200 volts. In the illustration this difference is 232.5 - 200 or 200 - 167.5; that is, 32.5 volts in either case. Since the grid signal voltage has a peak value of 2 volts, the voltage-amplification ratio of the amplifier is 32.5/2 or 16.25. That is, approximately 16 times as much voltage is obtained from the plate circuit as is applied to the grid circuit.

As shown by the drawings in Fig. 3-8, the alternating component of the plate voltage swings in the *negative* direction (with reference to the no-signal value of plate-cathode voltage) when the grid voltage swings in the *positive* direction, and vice versa. This means that the alternating component of plate voltage (that is, the amplified signal) is 180 degrees out of phase with the signal voltage on the grid.

### **CHAPTER 3**

#### Bias

The fixed negative grid voltage (called grid bias) in Fig. 3-8 serves a very useful purpose. One object of the type of amplification shown in this drawing is to obtain, from the plate circuit. an alternating voltage that has the same waveshape as the signal voltage applied to the grid. To do so, an operating point on the straight part of the curve must be selected. The curve must be straight in both directions from the operating point at least far enough to accommodate the maximum value of the signal applied to the grid. If the grid signal swings the plate current back and forth over a part of the curve that is not straight, as in Fig. 3-9, the shape of the a.e. wave in the plate circuit will not be the same as the shape of the grid-signal wave. In such a case the output waveshape will be distorted.

A second reason for using negative grid bias is that any signal whose peak positive voltage does not exceed the fixed negative voltage on the grid cannot cause grid current to flow. With no current flow there is no power consumption, so the tube will amplify *without taking any power from the signal source*. (However, if the positive peak of the signal does exceed the negative bias, current will flow in the grid circuit during the time the grid is positive.)

Distortion of the output waveshape that results from working over a part of the curve that is not straight (that is, a **nonlinear** part of the curve) has the effect of transforming a sine-wave grid signal into a more complex waveform. As explained in an earlier chapter, a complex wave can be resolved into a fundamental and a series of harmonics. In other words, distortion from nonlinearity causes the generation of harmonic frequencies — frequencies that are not present in the signal applied to the grid. Harmonic distortion is undesirable in most amplifiers, although



Fig. 3-9 — Harmonic distortion resulting from choice of an operating point on the curved part of the tube characteristic. The lower half-cycle of plate current does not have the same shape as the upper half-cycle.

there are occasions when harmonics are deliberately generated and used.

#### **Amplifier Output Circuits**

The useful output of a vacuum-tube amplifier is the *alternating* component of plate current or plate voltage. The d.e. voltage on the plate of the tube is essential for the tube's operation, but it almost invariably would cause difficulties if it were applied, along with the a.e. output voltage, to the load. The output circuits of vacuum tubes are therefore arranged so that the a.e. is transferred to the load but the d.e. is not.

Three types of coupling are in common use at audio frequencies. These are resistance coupling, impedance coupling, and transformer coupling. They are shown in Fig. 3-10. In all three cases the output is shown coupled to the grid circuit of a subsequent amplifier tube, but the same types of circuits can be used to couple to other devices than tubes.

In the resistance-coupled circuit, the a.c. voltage developed across the plate resistor  $R_p$  (that is, between the plate and cathode of the tube) is applied to a second resistor,  $R_g$ , through a **coupling condenser**,  $C_e$ . The condenser "blocks off" the d.e. voltage on the plate of the first tube and prevents it from being applied to the grid of tube *B*. The latter tube has negative grid bias supplied by the battery shown. No current flows in the grid circuit of tube *B* and there is therefore no d.e. voltage drop in  $R_g$ ; in other words, the full voltage of the bias battery is applied to the grid of tube *B*.

The grid resistor,  $R_{g}$ , usually has a rather high value (0.5 to 2 megohms). The reactance of the coupling condenser,  $C_{e}$ , must be low enough compared with the resistance of  $R_{g}$  so that the a.e. voltage drop in  $C_{e}$  is negligible at the lowest frequency to be amplified. If  $R_{g}$  is at least 0.5 megohm, a 0.1- $\mu$ fd, condenser will be amply large for the usual range of audio frequencies.

So far as the alternating component of plate voltage is concerned, it will be realized that if the voltage drop in  $C_{\rm e}$  is negligible then  $R_{\rm p}$  and  $R_{\rm g}$  are effectively in parallel (although they are quite separate so far as d.e. is concerned). The resultant parallel resistance of the two is therefore the actual load resistance for the tube. That is why  $R_{\rm g}$  is made as high in resistance as possible; then it will have the least effect on the load represented by  $R_{\rm p}$ .

The impedance-coupled circuit differs from that using resistance coupling only in the substitution of a high-inductance coil (usually several hundred henrys for audio frequencies) for the plate resistor. The advantage of using an inductance rather than a resistor is that its impedance is high for alternating currents, but its resistance is relatively low for d.c. It thus permits obtaining a high value of load impedance for a.c. without an excessive d.c. voltage drop that would use up a good deal of the voltage from the plate supply.

The transformer-coupled amplifier uses a transformer with its primary connected in the plate



A

Fig. 3-10 — Three basic forms of coupling between vacuum-tube amplifiers.

circuit of the tube and its secondary connected to the load (in the circuit shown, a following amplifier). There is no direct connection between the two windings, so the plate voltage on tube Ais isolated from the grid of tube B. The transformer-coupled amplifier has the same advantage as the impedance-coupled circuit with respect to loss of voltage from the plate supply. Also, if the secondary has more turns than the primary, the output voltage will be "stepped up" in proportion to the turns ratio.

Resistance coupling is simple, inexpensive, and will give the same amount of amplification — or voltage gain — over a wide range of frequencies; it will give substantially the same amplification at any frequency in the audio range, for example. Impedance coupling will give somewhat more gain, with the same tube and same plate-supply voltage, than resistance coupling. However, it is not quite so good over a wide frequency range; it tends to "peak," or give maximum gain, over a comparatively narrow band of frequencies. With a good transformer the gain of a transformer-coupled amplifier can be kept fairly constant over the audio-frequency range. On the other hand, transformer coupling in voltage amplifiers (see below) is best suited to triodes having amplification factors of about 10 or less, for the reason that the primary inductance of a practicable transformer cannot be made large enough to work well with a tube having high plate resistance.

An amplifier in which voltage gain is the primary consideration is called a voltage amplifier. Maximum voltage gain is secured when the load resistance or impedance is made as high as possible in comparison with the plate resistance of the tube. In such a case, the major portion of the voltage generated will appear across the load and only a relatively small part will be "lost" in the plate resistance.

Voltage amplifiers belong to a group called Class A amplifiers. A Class A amplifier is one operated so that the waveshape of the output voltage is the same as that of the signal voltage applied to the grid. If a Class A amplifier is biased so that the grid is always negative, even with the largest signal to be handled by the grid, it is called a Class A<sub>1</sub> amplifier. Voltage amplifiers are always Class A<sub>1</sub> amplifiers, and their primary use is in driving a following Class A<sub>1</sub>

#### **Power Amplifiers**

The end result of any amplification is that the amplified signal does some *work*. For example, an audio-frequency amplifier usually drives a loudspeaker that in turn produces sound waves. The greater the amount of a.f. *power* supplied to the 'speaker, the louder the sound it will produce.





Fig. 3-11 shows an elementary power-amplifier circuit. It is simply a transformer-coupled amplifier with the load connected to the secondary. Although the load is shown as a resistor, it actually would be some device, such as a loudspeaker, that employs the power usefully. Every power tube requires a specific value of load resistance from plate to cathode, usually some thousands of ohms, for optimum operation. The resistance of the actual load is rarely the right value for "matching" this optimum load resistance, so the transformer turns ratio is chosen to reflect the proper value of resistance into the primary. The turns ratio may be either step-up or step-down, depending on whether the actual load resistance is higher or lower than the load the tube wants.

The power-amplification ratio of an amplifier is the ratio of the power output obtained from the plate circuit to the power required from the a.c. signal in the grid circuit. There is no power lost in the grid circuit of a Class  $\Lambda_1$ amplifier, so such an amplifier has an infinitely large power-amplification ratio. However, it is quite possible to operate a Class A amplifier in such a way that current flows in its grid circuit during at least part of the cycle. In such a case power is used up in the grid circuit and the power amplification ratio is not infinite. A tube operated in this fashion is known as a Class  $A_2$  amplifier. It is necessary to use a power amplifier to drive a Class A<sub>2</sub> amplifier, because a voltage amplifier cannot deliver power without serious distortion of the wave-shape.

Another term used in connection with power amplifiers is **power sensitivity**. In the case of a Class  $\Lambda_1$  amplifier, it means the ratio of power output to the grid signal voltage that causes it. If grid current flows, the term usually means the ratio of plate power output to grid power input.

The a.e. power that is delivered to a load by an amplifier tube has to be paid for in power taken from the source of plate voltage and current. In fact, there is always more power going into the plate circuit of the tube than is coming out as useful ontput. The difference between the input and output power is used up in heating the plate of the tube, as explained previously. The ratio of useful power output to d.c. plate input is called the **plate efficiency**. The higher the plate efficiency, the greater the amount of power that can be taken from a tube having a fixed plate-dissipation rating.

#### Parallel and Push-Pull

When it is necessary to obtain more power output than one tube is capable of giving, two or more similar tubes may be connected in **parallel**. In this case the similar elements in all tubes are connected together. This method is shown in Fig. 3-12 for a transformer-coupled amplifier. The power output is in proportion to the number of tubes used; the grid signal or **exciting voltage** required, however, is the same as for one tube.

If the amplifier operates in such a way as to consume power in the grid circuit, the grid power required is in proportion to the number of tubes used.

An increase in power output also can be secured by connecting two tubes in **push-pull**. In this case the grids and plates of the two tubes are connected to opposite ends of a balanced circuit as shown in Fig. 3-12. At any instant the ends of the secondary winding of the input transformer,  $T_{t}$ , will be at opposite polarity with respect to the cathode connection, so the grid of one tube is swung positive at the same instant that the grid of the other is swung negative. Hence, in any push-pull-connected amplifier the voltages and currents of one tube are out of phase with those of the other tube.



PUSH-PULL

Fig. 3-12 -- Parallel and push-pull a.f. amplifier circuits.

In push-pull operation the even-harmonic (second, fourth, etc.) distortion is balanced out in the plate circuit. This means that for the same power output the distortion will be less than with parallel operation.

The exciting voltage measured between the two grids must be twice that required for one tube. If the grids consume power, the driving power for the push-pull amplifier is twice that taken by either tube alone.

#### **Cascade** Amplifiers

It is readily possible to take the output of one amplifier and apply it as a signal on the grid of a second amplifier, then take the second amplifier's output and apply it to a third, and so on. Each amplifier is called a stage, and a number of stages used successively are said to be in cascade.

#### **Class B** Amplifiers

Fig. 3-13 shows two tubes connected in a push-pull circuit. If the grid bias is set at the point where (when no signal is applied) the plate current is just cut off, then a signal can cause plate current to flow in either tube *only* when the signal voltage applied to that particular tube is positive. Since in the balanced grid circuit the signal voltages on the grids of the two tubes always have opposite polarities, plate current flows only in one tube at a time.

The graphs show the operation of such an amplifier. The plate current of tube B is drawn inverted to show that it flows in the opposite direction, through the primary of the output transformer, to the plate current of tube A. Thus each half of the output-transformer primary works alternately to induce a half-cycle of voltage in the secondary. In the secondary of  $T_2$ , the original waveform is restored. This type of operation is called Class B amplification.

The Class B amplifier is considerably more efficient than the Class A amplifier. Furthermore, the d.c. plate current of a Class B amplifier is proportional to the signal voltage on the grids, so the power input is small with small signals. The d.c. plate power input to a Class A amplifier is the same whether the signal is large, small, or absent altogether; therefore the maximum input that can be applied to a Class A amplifier is equal to the rated plate dissipation of the tube or tubes. Two tubes in a Class B amplifier can deliver approximately twelve times as much audio power as the same two tubes in a Class A amplifier.

A Class B amplifier usually is operated in such a way as to secure the maximum possible power output. This requires rather large values of plate current and to obtain them the grids must be driven positive with respect to the cathode during at least part of the cycle, so grid current flows and the grid circuit consumes power. While the power requirements are fairly low (as compared with the power output), the fact that the grids are positive during only part of the cycle means that the load on the preceding amplifier or driver stage varies in magnitude during the cycle; the effective load resistance is high when the grids are not drawing current and relatively low when they do take current. This must be allowed for when designing the driver.

Certain types of tubes have been designed specifically for Class B service and can be operated without fixed or other form of grid bias ("zero-bias" tubes). The amplification factor is so high that the plate current is small without signal. Because there is no fixed bias, the grids start drawing current immediately whenever a signal is applied, so the grid-current flow is continuous throughout the cycle. This makes the load on the driver much more constant than is the case with tubes of lower  $\mu$  biased to platecurrent cut-off.

Class B amplifiers used at radio frequencies are known as linear amplifiers because they are



Fig. 3-13 - Class B amplifier operation.

adjusted to operate in such a way that the power output is proportional to the square of the r.f. exciting voltage. This permits amplification of a modulated r.f. signal without distortion. Pushpull is not required in this type of operation; a single tube can be used equally well.

#### **Class AB Amplifiers**

A Class AB amplifier is a push-pull amplifier with higher bias than would be normal for pure Class  $\Lambda$  operation, but less than the cut-off bias required for Class B. At low signal levels the tubes operate practically as Class  $\Lambda$  amplifiers, and the plate current is the same with or without signal. At higher signal levels, the plate eurrent of one tube is cut off during part of the *negative* cycle of the signal applied to its grid, and the plate current of the other tube rises with the signal. The plate current for the whole amplifier also rises above the no-signal level when a large signal is applied.

In a properly-designed Class AB amplifier the distortion is as low as with a Class A stage, but the efficiency and power output are considerably higher than with pure Class A operation. A Class AB amplifier can be operated either with or without driving the grids into the positive region. A Class AB1 amplifier is one in which the grids are never positive with respect to the cathode; therefore, no driving power is required — only voltage, A Class AB<sub>2</sub> amplifier is one that has grid-current flow during part of the cycle if the applied signal is large; it takes a small amount of driving power. The Class AB<sub>2</sub> amplifier will deliver somewhat more power (using the same tubes) but the Class AB<sub>1</sub> amplifier avoids the problem of designing a driver that will deliver power, without distortion, into a load of highly-variable resistance.

#### **Operating Angle**

Inspection of Fig. 3-13 shows that either of the two tubes actually is working for only half the a.c. cycle and idling during the other half. It is convenient to describe the amount of time during which plate current flows in terms of electrical degrees. In Fig. 3-13 each tube has "180-degree" excitation, a half-cycle being equal to 180 degrees. The number of degrees during which plate current flows is called the operating angle of the amplifier. From the descriptions given above, it should be clear that a Class A amplifier has 360-degree excitation, because plate current flows during the whole cycle. In a Class AB amplifier the operating angle is between 180 and 360 degrees (in each tube) depending on the particular operating conditions chosen. The greater the amount of negative grid bias, the smaller the operating angle becomes.

An operating angle of less than 180 degrees leads to a considerable amount of distortion, because there is no way for the tube to reproduce even a half-cycle of the signal on its grid. Using two tubes in push-pull, as in Fig. 3-13, would merely put together two distorted half-cycles. An operating angle of less than 180 degrees therefore cannot be used if distortionless output is wanted.

#### **Class C Amplifiers**

In power amplifiers operating at radio frequencies distortion of the r.f. waveform is relatively unimportant. For reasons described later in this chapter, an r.f. amplifier must be operated with tuned circuits, and the selectivity of such circuits "filters out" the r.f. harmonics resulting from distortion.

A radio-frequency power amplifier therefore can be used with an operating angle of less than 180 degrees. This is called Class C operation. The advantage is that the plate efficiency is inereased, because the loss in the plate is proportional, among other things, to the amount of time during which the plate current flows, and this time is reduced by decreasing the operating angle.

Depending on the type of tube, the optimum load resistance for a Class C amplifier ranges from about 1500 to 5000 ohms. It is usually secured by using tuned-circuit arrangements, of the type described in the chapter on circuit fundamentals, to transform the resistance of the actual load to the value required by the tube. The grid is driven well into the positive region, so that grid eurrent flows and power is consumed in the grid circuit. The smaller the operating angle, the greater the driving voltage and the larger the grid driving power required to develop full output in the load resistance. The best compromise between driving power, plate efficiency, and power output usually results when the minimum plate voltage (at the peak of the driving cycle, when the plate current reaches its highest value) is just equal to the peak positive grid voltage. Under these conditions the operating angle is usually from 150 to 180 degrees and the plate efficiency lies in the range of 70 to 80 percent. While higher plate efficiencies are possible, attaining them requires excessive driving power and grid bias, together with higher plate voltage than is "normal" for the particular tube type.

With proper design and adjustment, a Class C amplifier can be made to operate in such a way that the power input and output are proportional to the square of the applied plate voltage. This is an important consideration when the amplifier is to be plate-modulated for radiotelephony, as described in the chapter on amplitude modulation.

#### FEED-BACK

It is possible to take a part of the amplified energy in the plate circuit of an amplifier and insert it into the grid circuit. When this is done the amplifier is said to have **feed-back**.

If the voltage that is inserted in the grid circuit is 180 degrees out of phase with the signal voltage acting on the grid, the feed-back is called **negative**, or **degenerative**. On the other hand, if the voltage is fed back *in* phase with the grid signal, the feed-back is called **positive**, or **regenerative**.

#### Negative Feed-Back

With negative feed-back the voltage that is fed back *opposes* the signal voltage. This decreases the amplitude of the voltage acting between the grid and cathode and thus has the effect of reducing the voltage amplification. That is, a larger exciting voltage is required for obtaining the same output voltage from the plate circuit.

The greater the amount of negative feed-back (when properly applied) the more independent the amplification becomes of tube characteristics and circuit conditions. This tends to make the frequency-response characteristic of the amplifier flat — that is, the amplification tends to be the same at all frequencies within the range for which the amplifier is designed. Also, any distortion generated in the plate circuit of the tube tends to "buck itself out." Amplifiers with negative feed-back are therefore comparatively free from harmonic distortion. These advantages are worth while if the amplifier otherwise has enough voltage gain for its intended use.





Fig. 3-14 — Simple circuits for producing feed-back.

In the circuit shown at  $\Lambda$  in Fig. 3-14 resistor  $R_{\rm e}$  is in series with the regular plate resistor,  $R_{\rm p}$ , and thus is a part of the load for the tube. Therefore, part of the output voltage will appear across  $R_{\rm e}$ . However,  $R_{\rm e}$  also is connected in series with the grid circuit, and so the output voltage that appears across  $R_{\rm e}$  is in series with the signal voltage. The output voltage across  $R_{\rm e}$  opposes the signal voltage, so the actual a.c. voltage between the grid and eathode is equal to the difference between the two voltages.

The circuit shown at B in Fig. 3-14 can be used to give either negative or positive feed-back. The secondary of a transformer is connected back into the grid circuit to insert a desired amount of feed-back voltage. Reversing the terminals of either transformer winding (but not both simultaneously) will reverse the phase.

#### **Positive Feed-Back**

Positive feed-back *increases* the amplification because the feed-back voltage adds to the original signal voltage and the resulting larger voltage on the grid causes a larger output voltage. The amplification tends to be greatest at one frequency (depending upon the particular circuit arrangement) and harmonic distortion is increased. If enough energy is fed back, a selfsustaining oscillation - in which energy at essentially one frequency is generated by the tube itself — will be set up. In such case all the signal voltage on the grid can be supplied from the plate circuit; no external signal is needed because any small irregularity in the plate current — and there are always some such irregularities - will be amplified and thus give the oscillation an opportunity to build up. Oscillations obviously would be undesirable in an ordinary audiofrequency amplifier, and for that reason (as well as the others mentioned above) the use of positive feed-back is confined principally to "oscillators."

#### INTERELECTRODE CAPACITANCES

Each pair of elements in a tube forms a small condenser, with each element acting as a condenser "plate." There are three such capacitances in a triode — that between the grid and cathode, that between the grid and plate, and that between the plate and cathode. The capacitances are very small — only a few micromicrofarads at most — but they frequently have a very pronounced effect on the operation of an amplifier circuit.

#### Input Capacitance

It was explained previously that the a.c. grid voltage and a.c. plate voltage of an amplifier having a resistive load are 180 degrees out of phase, using the cathode of the tube as a reference point. However, these two voltages are *in* phase going around the circuit from plate to grid as shown in Fig. 3-15. This means that their sum is acting between the grid and plate; that is, across the grid-plate capacitance of the tube.

As a result, a capacitive current flows around the circuit, its amplitude being directly proportional to the sum of the a.e. grid and plate voltages and to the grid-plate capacitance. The source of grid signal must furnish this amount of current, in addition to the capacitive current that flows in the grid-cathode capacitance. Hence the signal source "sees" an effective capacitance that is larger than the grid-cathode capacitance. The greater the voltage amplification the greater this effective input capacitance. The input capaci-



Fig. 3-15 — The a.e. voltage appearing between the grid and plate of the amplifier is the sum of the signal voltage and the ontput voltage, as shown by this simplified circuit. Instantaneous polarities are indicated.

tance of a resistance-coupled amplifier is given by the formula

$$C_{\rm input} = C_{\rm gk} + C_{\rm gp}(A+1)$$

where  $C_{\rm gk}$  is the grid-to-cathode capacitance,  $C_{\rm gp}$  is the grid-to-plate capacitance, and A is the voltage amplification. The capacitance may be as much as several hundred micromicrofarads when the voltage amplification is large, even though the interelectrode capacitances are quite small.

#### **Output Capacitance**

The principal component of the output capacitance of an amplifier is the actual plate-tocathode capacitance of the tube. The output capacitance usually need not be considered in audio amplifiers, but becomes of importance at radio frequencies.

#### Tube Capacitance at R.F.

At radio frequencies the reactances of even very small interelectrode capacitances drop to very low values. A resistance-coupled amplifier cannot be used at r.f., for example, because the reactances of the interelectrode "condensers" are so low that they practically short-circuit the input and output circuits and thus the tube is unable to amplify. This is overcome at radio frequencies by using tuned circuits for the grid and plate, making the tube capacitances part of the tuning capacitances. In this way the circuits can have the high resistive impedances necessary for satisfactory amplification.

The grid-plate capacitance is important at radio frequencies because it is, in effect, a coupling condenser between the grid and plate circuits. Since its reactance is relatively low at r.f., it offers a path over which energy can be fed back from the plate to the grid. In practically every case the feed-back is in the right phase and of sufficient amplitude to cause oscillation, so the circuit becomes useless as an amplifier.

Special "neutralizing" circuits can be used to prevent feed-back but they are, in general, not too satisfactory when used in radio receivers. They are, however, widely used in transmitters.

#### SCREEN-GRID TUBES

The grid-plate capacitance can be reduced to a negligible value by inserting a second grid between the control grid and the plate, as indicated in Fig. 3-16. The second grid, called the screen grid, acts as an electrostatic shield to prevent capacitive coupling between the control grid and plate. It is made in the form of a grid or coarse screen so that electrons can pass through it.

Because of the shielding action of the screen grid, the positively-charged plate cannot attract electrons from the cathode as it does in a triode. In order to get electrons to the plate, it is also necessary to apply a positive voltage (with respect to the cathode) to the screen. The screen then attracts electrons much as does the plate in a triode tube. In traveling toward the screen the electrons acquire such velocity that most of them shoot between the screen wires and then are attracted to the plate. A certain proportion do strike the screen, however, with the result that some current also flows in the screen-grid circuit.

To be a good shield, the screen grid must be connected to the cathode through a circuit that has low impedance at the frequency being amplified. A by-pass condenser from screen grid to cathode, having a reactance of not more than a few hundred ohms, is generally used.

A tube having a cathode, control grid, screen grid and plate (four elements) is called a **tetrode**.



Fig. 3-16 --- Representative arrangement of elements in a screengrid tube, with front part of plate and screen grid cut away. In this drawing the control-grid connection is made through a cap on the top of the tube, thus eliminating the capacitance that would exist between the plate- and grid-lead wires if both passed through the base. "Single-ended" tubes that have both leads going through the base use special shielding and construction to eliminate interlead capacitance.

#### Pentodes

When an electron traveling at appreciable velocity through a tube strikes the plate it dislodges other electrons which "splash" from the plate into the interelement space. This is called **secondary emission**. In a triode the negative grid repels the secondary electrons back into the plate and they cause no disturbance. In the screen-grid tube, however, the positively-charged screen *altracts* the secondary electrons, causing a reverse current to flow between screen and plate.

To overcome the effects of secondary emission, a third grid, called the suppressor grid, may be inserted between the screen and plate. This grid, which usually is connected directly to the cathode, repels the relatively low-velocity secondary electrons. They are driven back to the plate without appreciably obstructing the regular plate-current flow. A five-element tube of this type is called a pentode.

Although the screen grid in either the tetrode or pentode greatly reduces the influence of the plate upon plate-current flow, the control grid still can control the plate current in essentially the same way that it does in a triode. Consequently, the grid-plate transconductance (or mutual conductance) of a tetrode or pentode will be of the same order of value as in a triode of cor-

responding structure. On the other hand, since a change in plate voltage has very little effect on the plate-current flow, both the amplification factor and plate resistance of a pentode or tetrode are very high. In small receiving pentodes the amplification factor is of the order of 1000 or higher, while the plate resistance may be from 0.5 to 1 or more megohms. Because of the high plate resistance, the actual voltage amplification possible with a pentode is very much less than the large amplification factor might indicate. A voltage gain in the vicinity of 50 to 200 is typical of a pentode stage.

In practical screen-grid tubes the grid-plate capacitance is only a small fraction of a micromicrofarad. This capacitance is too small to cause an appreciable increase in input capacitance as described in the preceding section, so the input capacitance of a screen-grid tube is simply the sum of its grid-cathode capacitance and controlgrid-to-screen capacitance. The **output capacitance** of a screen-grid tube is equal to the capacitance between the plate and screen.

#### Pentode R.F. Amplifier

Fig. 3-17 shows a simplified form of r.f. amplifier circuit using a pentode tube. Radiofrequency energy in the small coil coupled to  $L_1$ is built up in voltage in the tuned circuit,  $L_1C_1$ , when  $L_1C_1$  is tuned to resonance with the frequency of the incoming signal. The voltage that appears across  $L_1C_1$  is applied to the grid and cathode of the tube and is amplified by the tube. A second resonant circuit,  $L_2C_2$ , is the load for the plate of the tube, its parallel impedance being high because it is tuned to resonance with the frequency applied to the grid. R.f. output can be taken from the coil coupled to  $L_2$ . The screengrid voltage is obtained from a tap on the plate battery; most tubes are designed for operation with the screen voltage considerably lower than the plate voltage. In this circuit the batteries are assumed to have low impedance for the r.f. current; in a practical circuit, by-pass condensers would be used to make sure that the impedances of the return paths are so low as to be negligible.

#### Audio Amplification

In addition to their applications as radiofrequency amplifiers, pentode or tetrode screengrid tubes also can be constructed for audiofrequency power amplification. In tubes designed for this purpose the chief function of the screen is to serve as an accelerator of the electrons, so that large values of plate current can be drawn at relatively low plate voltages. Such tubes have quite high power sensitivity compared with triodes of the same power output, although harmonic distortion is somewhat greater.

#### Beam Tubes

A beam tetrode is a four-element screen-grid tube constructed in such a way that the electrons are formed into concentrated beams on their way to the plate. Additional design features overcome the effects of secondary emission so that a sup-



Fig. 3-17 — Simplified pentode r.f.-amplifier circuit.  $L_1C_1$  and  $L_2C_2$  are tuned to the same frequency.

pressor grid is not needed. The "beam" construction makes it possible to draw large plate currents at relatively low plate voltages, and increases the power sensitivity.

For power amplification at both audio and radio frequencies beam tetrodes have largely supplanted the pentode type because large power outputs can be secured with very small amounts of grid driving power. The circuits with which they are used are practically identical with those used for pentodes.



Fig. 3-18 — Curves showing the relationship between mutual conductance and negative grid bias for two small receiving pentodes, one a sharp cut-off type and the other a variable- $\mu$  type.

#### Variable-µ Tubes

The mutual conductance of a vacuum tube decreases with increasing negative grid bias, assuming that the other electrode voltages are held constant. Since the mutual conductance controls the amount of amplification, it is possible to adjust the gain of the amplifier by adjusting the grid bias. This method of gain control is universally used in radio-frequency amplifiers designed for receivers. Some means of controlling the r.f. gain is essential in a receiver having **a** number of amplifiers, because of the wide range in the strengths of the incoming signals.

The ordinary type of tube has what is known as a sharp cut-off eharacteristic. The mutual conductance decreases at a uniform rate as the negative bias is increased, as shown in Fig. 3-18. The amount of signal voltage that such a tube can handle without eausing distortion is not sufficient to take care of very strong signals. To overcome this, some tubes are made with a variable- $\mu$  characteristic (that is, the amplification factor changes with the grid bias), resulting in the type of curve shown in Fig. 3-18. The variable- $\mu$  tube can handle a much larger signal than the sharp cut-off type before the signal swings either beyond the zero grid-bias point or the plate-current cut-off point.

#### OTHER TYPES OF AMPLIFIERS

In the amplifier circuits so far discussed, the signal has been applied between the grid and cathode and the amplified output has been taken from the plate-to-cathode circuit. That is, the *cathode* has been the meeting point for the input and output circuits. However, it is possible to use any one of the three principal elements as the common point. This leads to two different kinds of amplifiers, commonly called the grounded-grid amplifier (or grid-separation circuit) and the cathode follower.

Fig. 3-19 — In the upper circuit, the grid is the junction point between the input and output circuits. In the lower drawing, the plate is the junetion. In either case the output is developed in the load resistor, R, and may be coupled to a following amplifier by the usual methods.



These two circuits are shown in simplified form in Fig. 3-19. In both circuits the resistor R represents the load into which the amplifier works; the actual load may be resistance-capacitancecoupled, transformer-coupled, may be a tuned circuit if the amplifier operates at radio frequencies, and so on. Also, in both circuits the batteries that supply grid bias and plate power are assumed to have such negligible impedance that they do not enter into the operation of the circuits.

#### Grounded-Grid Amplifier

In the groundod-grid amplifier the input signal is applied between the cathode and grid, and the output is taken between the plate and grid. The grid is thus the common element. The plate current (including the a.c. component) has to flow through the signal source to reach the eathode. This source always has appreciable impedance, and the alternating plate current causes a voltage drop that is out of phase with the signal and the circuit is therefore degenerative. Also, since the source of signal is in series with the load through the plate-to-cathode resistance of the tube, some of the power in the load is supplied by the signal source. The result is that the signal source is called upon to furnish a considerable amount of power.

The input impedance of the grounded-grid amplifier consists of a capacitance, calculated in a similar way as for the grounded-cathode amplifier, in parallel with an equivalent resistance representing the power furnished by the driving source to the load. The output impedance, neglecting the interelectrode capacitances, is equal to the plate resistance of the tube. This is the same as in the case of the grounded-cathode amplifier.

The grounded-grid amplifier finds its chief application at v.h.f. and u.h.f., where the more conventional amplifier circuit fails to work properly. With a triode tube designed for this type of operation, an r.f. amplifier can be built that is free from the type of feed-back that causes oscillation. This requires that the grid act as a shield between the cathode and plate, reducing the plate-cathode capacitance to a very low value.

#### **Cathode Follower**

The eathode follower uses the plate of the tube as the common element. The input signal is applied between the grid and plate (assuming negligible impedance in the batteries) and the output is taken from between cathode and plate. This circuit, like the grounded-grid amplifier, is degenerative; in fact, *all* of the output voltage is fed back into the input circuit. The input signal therefore has to be larger than the output voltage; that is, the eathode follower gives a loss in voltage, although it gives the same power gain as other circuits.

An important feature of the eathode follower is its low output impedance, which is given by the formula (neglecting the grid-to-cathode capacitance)

$$Z_{\rm output} = \frac{r_{\rm p}}{1+\mu}$$

where  $r_p$  is the tube plate resistance and  $\mu$  is the amplification factor. This is a valuable characteristic in an amplifier designed to cover a wide band of frequencies. In addition, the input capacitance is only a fraction of the grid-to-eathode capacitance of the tube, a feature of further benefit in a wide-band amplifier. The eathode follower is useful as a step-down impedance transformer, since the input impedance is high and the output impedance is low.

#### CATHODE CIRCUITS AND GRID BIAS

Most of the equipment used by amateurs is powered by the a.c. line. This includes the filaments or heaters of vacuum tubes. Although supplies for the plate (and sometimes the grid)



Fig. 3-20 — Filament center-tapping methods for use with directly-heated tubes.

are usually rectified and filtered to give **pure d.c.** — that is, direct current that is constant and without a superimposed a.c. component — the relatively large currents required by filaments and heaters usually make a rectifier-type d.c. supply impracticable.

#### Filament Hum

Alternating current is just as good as direct current from the heating standpoint, but some of the a.c. voltage is likely to get on the grid and cause a low-pitched "a.c. hum" to be superimposed on the output.

Hum troubles are worst with directly-heated eathodes or filaments, because with such cathodes there has to be a direct connection between the source of heating power and the rest of the circuit. The hum can be minimized by either of the connections shown in Fig. 3-20. In both cases the grid- and plate-return circuits are connected to the electrical midpoint (center-tap) of the filament supply. Thus, so far as the grid and plate are concerned, the voltage and current on one side of the filament are balanced by an equal and opposite voltage and current on the other side. The balance is never quite perfect, however, so filament-type tubes are never completely humfree. For this reason directly-heated filaments are employed for the most part in power tubes, where the amount of hum introduced is extremely small in comparison to the power-output level.

With indirectly-heated cathodes the chief problem is the magnetic field set up by the heater. Occasionally, also, there is leakage between the heater and cathode, allowing a small a.c. voltage to get to the grid. If hum appears, grounding one side of the heater supply usually will help to reduce it, although sometimes better results are obtained if the heater supply is center-tapped



Fig. 3-21 — Cathode biasing. R is the eathode resistor and C is the cathode by-pass condenser.

and the center-tap grounded, as in Fig. 3-20.

#### Cathode Bias

In the simplified amplifier circuits discussed in this chapter, grid bias has been supplied by a battery. However, in equipment that operates from the power line **cathode bias** is the type commonly used.

The cathode-bias method uses a resistor (cathode resistor) connected in series with the cathode, as shown at Rin Fig. 3-21. The direction of plate-

current flow is such that the end of the resistor nearest the cathode is positive. The voltage drop across R therefore places a *negative* voltage on the grid. This negative bias is obtained from the steady d.c. plate current.

If the alternating component of plate current flows through R when the tube is amplifying, the voltage drop caused by the a.c. will be degenerative (note the similarity between this circuit and that of Fig. 3-14A). To prevent this the resistor is by-passed by a condenser, C, that has very low reactance compared with the resistance of R. Depending on the type of tube and the particular kind of operation, R may be between about 100 and 3000 ohms. For good by-passing at the low audio frequencies, C should be 10 to 50 microfarads (electrolytic condensers are used for this purpose). At radio frequencies, capacitances of about 100  $\mu\mu$ fd. to 0.1  $\mu$ fd. are used; the small values are sufficient at very high frequencies and the largest at low and medium frequencies. In the range 3 to 30 megacycles a capacitance of 0.01  $\mu$ fd. is satisfactory.

The value of cathode resistor for an amplifier having negligible d.c. resistance in its plate circuit (transformer or impedance coupled) can easily be calculated from the known operating conditions of the tube. The proper grid bias and plate current always are specified by the manufacturer. Knowing these, the required resistance can be found by applying Ohm's Law.

Example: It is found from tube tables that the tube to be used should have a negative grid bias of 8 volts and that at this bias the plate current will be 12 milliamperes (0.012 amp.). The required eathode resistance is then

$$R = \frac{E}{I} = \frac{8}{0.012} = 667$$
 ohms.

The nearest standard value, 680 ohms, would be close enough. The power used in the resistor is

 $P = EI = 8 \times 0.012 = 0.096$  watt.

 $\Lambda$  ¼-watt or ¼-watt resistor would have ample rating.

The current that flows through R is the *total* cathode current. In an ordinary triode amplifier this is the same as the plate current, but in a screen-grid tube the cathode current is the sum of the plate and screen currents. Hence these two currents must be added when calculating the

### **CHAPTER 3**

value of cathode resistor required for a screengrid tube.

Example: A receiving pentode requires 3 volts negative bias. At this bias and the recommended plate and screen voltages, its plate current is 9 ma, and its screen current is 2 ma. The cathode current is therefore 11 ma, (0.011 amp.). The required resistance is

$$R = \frac{E}{I} = \frac{3}{0.011} = 272$$
 ohms

A 270-ohm resistor would be satisfactory. The power in the resistor is

 $P = EI = 3 \times 0.011 = 0.033$  watt.

The cathode-resistor method of biasing is selfregulating, because if the tube characteristics vary slightly from the published values (as they do in practice) the bias will increase if the plate current is slightly high, or decrease if it is slightly low. This tends to hold the plate current at the proper value.

Calculation of the cathode resistor for a resistance-coupled amplifier is ordinarily not practicable by the method described above, because the plate current in such an amplifier is usually much smaller than the rated value given in the tube tables. However, representative data for the tubes commonly used as resistance-coupled amplifiers are given in the chapter on audio amplifiers, including cathode-resistor values.

#### Screen Supply

In practical circuits using tetrodes and pentodes the voltage for the screen frequently is taken from the plate supply through a resistor. A typical circuit for an r.f. amplifier is shown in Fig. 3-22. Resistor R is the screen dropping resistor, and C is the screen by-pass condenser. In flowing through R, the screen current causes a voltage drop in R that reduces the plate-supply voltage to the proper value for the screen. When the plate-supply voltage and the screen current are known, the value of R can be calculated from Ohm's Law.

Example: An r.f. receiving pentode has a rated screen current of 2 nilliamperes (0.002 amp.) at normal operating conditions. The rated screen voltage is 100 volts, and the plate supply gives 250 volts. To put 100 volts on the screen, the drop across R must be equal to the difference between the plate-supply voltage and the screen voltage; that is, 250 - 100 \approx 150 volts. Then

$$R = \frac{E}{I} = \frac{150}{0.002} = 75,000$$
 ohms.

The power to be dissipated in the resistor is  $P = EI = 150 \times 0.002 = 0.3$  watt.

A 1/2- or 1-watt resistor would be satisfactory.

The reactance of the screen by-pass condenser, C, should be low compared with the screen-tocathode impedance. For radio-frequency applications a capacitance in the vicinity of 0.01  $\mu$ fd. is amply large.

In some circuits the screen voltage is obtained from a voltage divider connected across the plate supply. The design of voltage dividers is discussed at length in the chapter on Power Supplies.



Fig. 3-22 — Screen-voltage supply for a pentode tube through a dropping resistor, R. The screen by-pass condenser, C, must have low enough reactance to bring the screen to ground potential for the frequency or frequencies being amplified.

#### SPECIAL TUBE TYPES

#### Multipurpose Tubes

"Combination" tubes are available to perform more than one function, particularly in receiver circuits. For the most part these are simply multiunit tubes made up of individual tubeelement structures, combined in a single bulb for compactness and economy.

Among the simplest multipurpose types are full-wave rectifiers, combining two diodes in one envelope, and twin triodes, consisting of two triodes in one bulb. More complex types include duplex-diode triodes (two diodes and a triode in one structure), duplex-diode pentodes, converters and mixers (for superheterodyne receivers), combination power tubes and rectifiers, and so on.

#### Mercury-Vapor Rectifiers

For a given value of plate current, the power lost in a diode rectifier will be reduced if it is possible to decrease the voltage drop from plate to cathode. A small amount of mercury in the tube will vaporize when the cathode is heated and, further, will ionize when plate voltage at least equal to a certain minimum value (ionizing voltage) is applied. The positive ions neutralize the space charge and reduce the plate-cathode voltage drop to a practically constant value of about 15 volts, regardless of the value of plate current.

Since this voltage drop is smaller than can be attained with purely thermionic conduction, there is less power loss in a mercury-vapor rectifier than in a vacuum rectifier. Also, the voltage drop in the tube is constant despite variations in load current. Mercury-vapor tubes are widely used in rectifiers built to deliver large power outputs.

#### Grid-Control Rectifiers

If a grid is inserted in a mercury-vapor rectifier it is found that, with sufficient negative grid bias, it is possible to prevent plate current from flowing. However, this is true only if the bias is present before plate voltage is applied. If, after applying plate voltage, the bias is lowered to the point where plate current can flow, the mercury vapor will ionize and the grid will lose control of plate current, because the space charge disappears when ionization occurs. The grid can assume control again only after the plate voltage is reduced below the **deionizing voltage**, which is somewhat less than the plate-cathode voltage drop during plate-current flow.

It was mentioned earlier in this chapter that if there is enough positive feed-back in an amplifier circuit, self-sustaining oscillations will be set up. When an amplifier is arranged so that this condition exists it is called an oscillator.

Oscillations normally take place at only one frequency, and a desired frequency of oscillation can be obtained by using a resonant circuit tuned to that frequency. For example, in Fig. 3-23A the circuit LC is tuned to the desired frequency of oscillation. The cathode of the tube is connected to a tap on coil L and the grid and plate are connected to opposite ends of the tuned circuit. When an r.f. current flows in the tuned circuit there is a voltage drop across L that increases progressively along the turns. Thus if the top end of L is positive at some instant the bottom end will be negative, and the point at which the tap is connected will be at an intermediate potential. The amplified current in the plate circuit, which flows through the bottom section of L, is in phase with the current already flowing in the circuit and thus in the proper relationship for positive feed-back.



COLPITTS CIRCUIT

Fig. 3-23 — Basic oscillator circuits. Feed-back voltage is obtained by tapping the grid and cathode across a portion of the tuned circuit. In the Hartley circuit the tap is on the coil, but in the Colpitts circuit the voltage is obtained from the drop across a condenser.

The amount of feed-back depends on the position of the tap. If the tap is too near the grid end the voltage drop between grid and cathode is too small to give enough feed-back to sustain oscillation, and if it is too near the plate end the impedance between the cathode and plate is too small to permit good amplification. Maximum The same phenomenon also occurs in triodes filled with other gases that ionize at low pressure. **Grid-control rectifiers** or **thyratrons** find considerable application in "electronic switching," and in timing devices. Both triode and tetrode types are manufactured.

### Oscillators

feed-back usually is obtained when the tap is somewhere near the center of the coil.

The circuit of Fig. 3-23A is parallel-fed,  $C_b$  being the blocking condenser. The value of  $C_b$  is not critical so long as its reactance is low (a few hundred ohms) at the operating frequency.

Condenser  $C_{g}$  is the grid condenser. It and  $R_{g}$ (the grid leak) are used for the purpose of obtaining grid bias for the tube. In practically all oscillator circuits the tube generates its own bias. During the part of the cycle when the grid is positive with respect to the cathode, it attracts electrons. These electrons cannot flow through Lback to the eathode because  $C_{g}$  "blocks" direct current. They therefore have to flow or "leak" through  $R_{\rm g}$  to cathode, and in doing so cause a voltage drop in  $R_{\rm g}$  that places a negative bias on the grid. The amount of bias so developed is equal to the grid current multiplied by the resistance of  $R_{\rm g}$  (Ohm's Law). The value of gridleak resistance required depends upon the kind of tube used and the purpose for which the oscillator is intended. Values range all the way from a few thousand to several hundred thousand ohms. The capacitance of  $C_{\mathbf{g}}$  should be large enough to have low reactance (a few hundred ohms) at the operating frequency.

The circuit shown at B in Fig. 3-23 uses the voltage drops across two condensers in series in the tuned circuit to supply the feed-back. Other than this, the operation is the same as just described. The feed-back can be varied by varying the ratio of the reactances of  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  (that is, by varying the ratio of their capacitances).

Another type of oscillator, called the tunedplate tuned-grid circuit, is shown in Fig. 3-24. Resonant circuits tuned approximately to the same frequency are connected between grid and cathode and between plate and cathode. The two coils,  $L_1$  and  $L_2$  are not magnetically coupled. The feed-back is through the grid-plate capacitance of the tube, and will be in the right phase to be positive when the plate circuit,  $C_2L_2$ , is tuned to a slightly higher frequency than the grid circuit,  $L_1C_1$ . The amount of feed-back can be adjusted by varying the tuning of either circuit. The frequency of oscillation is determined by the tuned circuit that has the higher Q. The grid leak and grid condenser have the same functions as in the other circuits. In this case it is convenient to use series feed for the plate circuit, so  $C_{\rm b}$  is a by-pass condenser to guide the r.f. current around the plate supply.

There are many oscillator circuits, some using two or more tubes, but the basic feature of all of them is that there is positive feed-back in the proper amplitude to sustain oscillation.

#### **Oscillator Operating Characteristics**

When an oscillator is delivering power to a load, the adjustment for proper feed-back will depend on how heavily the oscillator is loaded — that is, how much power is being taken from the circuit. If the feed-back is not large enough grid excitation too small — a small increase in load may tend to throw the circuit out of oscillation. On the other hand, too much feed-back will make the grid current excessively high, with the result that the power loss in the grid circuit is larger than necessary. Since the oscillator itself supplies this grid power, excessive feed-back lowers the over-all efficiency because whatever power is used in the grid circuit is not available as useful output.

One of the most important considerations in oscillator design is frequency stability. The principal factors that cause a change in frequency are (1) temperature, (2) plate voltage, (3) loading, (4) mechanical variations of circuit elements. Temperature changes will cause vacuum-tube elements to expand or contract slightly, thus causing variations in the interelectrode capacitances. Since these are unavoidably part of the tuned circuit, the frequency will change correspondingly. Temperature changes in the coil or condenser will alter their inductance or capacitance slightly, again causing a shift in the resonant frequency. These effects are relatively slow in operation, and the frequency change caused by them is called drift.

A change in plate voltage usually will cause the frequency to change a small amount, an effect called dynamic instability. Dynamic instability can be reduced by using a tuned circuit of high effective Q. Since the tube and load



Fig. 3-24 - The tuned-plate tuned-grid oscillator.

represent a relatively low resistance in parallel with the circuit, this means that a low L/C ratio (high-C) must be used and that the circuit should be lightly loaded. A high value of grid leak resistance also is helpful because, by increasing the grid bias without increasing grid current, it raises the effective tube grid and plate resistances as seen by the tank circuit. Using relatively high

Although not vacuum tubes, there is another group of rectifying devices that can perform similar functions. These include the crystal diode and the transistor. They make use of the peculiar properties of certain crystals, particularly germanium, called semiconductors.

plate voltage and low plate current also is desirable.

Load variations act in much the same way as plate-voltage variations. A temperature change in the load may also result in drift.

Mechanical variations, usually caused by vibration, cause changes in inductance and/ or capacitance that in turn cause the frequency to "wobble" in step with the vibration.

Methods of minimizing frequency variations in oscillators are taken up in detail in later chapters.

#### Ground Point

In the oscillator circuits shown in Figs. 3-23 and 3-24 the cathode is connected to ground. It is not actually essential that the radiofrequency circuit should be grounded at the cathode; in fact, there are many times when an r.f. ground on some other point in the circuit



Fig. 3-25 — Showing how the plate may be grounded for r.f. in a typical oscillator circuit (Hartley)

is desirable. The r.f. ground can be placed at any point so long as proper provisions are made for feeding the supply voltages to the tube elements.

Fig. 3-25 shows the Hartley circuit with the plate end of the circuit grounded. No r.f. choke is needed in the plate circuit because the plate already is at ground potential and there is no r.f. to choke off. All that is necessary is a by-pass condenser,  $C_{\rm b}$ , across the plate supply. Direct current flows to the cathode through the lower part of the tuned-circuit coil, *L*. An advantage of such a circuit is that the frame of the tuning condenser can be grounded.

Tubes having indirectly-heated eathodes are more easily adaptable to circuits grounded at other points than the eathode than are tubes having directly-heated filaments. With the latter tubes special precautions have to be taken to prevent the filament from being bypassed to ground by the capacitance of the filament-heating transformer.

### Semiconductor Devices

#### CRYSTAL DIODES

As the name implies, the **crystal diode** is a twoelement rectifying device comparable with a tube diode. In its common form it consists of a small piece of an appropriate crystalline substance with one contact made through a fine pointed wire or

**catwhisker.** The other contact is through the metal mounting, as shown in Fig. 3-26. Such a device will conduct current much more readily in one direction than the other.



*Fig. 3-26* — The germanium crystal and circuit symbol. The arrow points in the direction of minimum resistance.

As compared with a tube diode, the crystal diode has the advantages of very small size, very low interelectrode capacitance (less than one micromicrofarad), and requiring no heater or filament power. Its forward resistance — in the favored direction of current flow — is a few hundred ohms, comparable with that of a tube diode. Its disadvantage is a relatively low inverse peak voltage rating (see Power Supply chapter) and a back resistance (in the direction of least current flow) that may be as low as 20,000 ohms, although in some types the back resistance may be as high as a megohm. The tube diode, in contrast, simply does not conduct in the reverse direction, and so has infinite back resistance for all practical purposes.

The crystal diode is widely used in measuring equipment and as a detector and mixer in receivers.

#### TRANSISTORS

If two catwhiskers are placed very close together on a germanium crystal and a positive voltage applied to one while a negative voltage is applied to the other, both with respect to a common connection called the **base**, it is found that a change in current through the first (the **eniitter**) will cause a corresponding change in the current through the second (the **collector**), and vice versa. Such a device, shown in

Fig. 3-27, is called a pointcontact transistor.

#### Amplification

A current of several milliamperes will flow in the emitter circuit when the positive bias is only a fraction of a volt, so the impedance of the emitter circuit is quite - of the order of a few low hundred ohms. On the other hand, the output resistance of the collector circuit is of the order of tens of thousands of ohms. The current gain the ratio of change in colleetor current to the change in emitter current - varies with the type of transistor and may range from somewhat less

than 1 to a value as high as 3 or 4. However, the emitter current is flowing in a low impedance while the collector current is flowing in a high impedance, so there is a power gain in proportion to the impedances. This gain may be 20 db. or more.

The base circuit of a transistor also has considerable internal resistance, common to the emitter and collector circuits. Inherent feedback occurs because the collector current flows through the base resistance and is thus introduced into the emitter circuit. If the current gain is greater than 1 this feed-back may cause selfoscillation.

#### **Junction Transistors**

Another form of transistor, called the junction type, is also shown in Fig. 3-27. This consists of a sandwich of germanium wafers having opposite conduction characteristics — that is, one type conducts because of a deficiency of electrons (p type) and the other because of an excess of electrons (n type). Junction transistors may be made either of an n-p-n or p-n-p sandwich. Biases of opposite polarity are used on the emitter and collector, just as in the case of pointcontact transistors, but these biases are reversed when a p-n-p is substituted for an n-p-n.

#### Transistor Applications

Since transistors will both amplify and oscillate, they can perform many of the same functions as vacuum tubes. Their advantages are very small size and weight, no cathode power required, and operation at very low voltages and currents of the order of 3 to 6 volts for the emitter and 10 to 25 volts for the collector. At present, their power-handling capacity is quite limited, confining their use to very low power applications. In many respects the characteristics of transistors are the opposite of those of vacuum tubes, so that the circuit techniques are quite different. Since transistors have only very recently been made available commercially, their application in amateur radio is largely a field for future exploration.





# High-Frequency Communication

Much of the appeal of amateur communication on the high frequencies lies in the fact that the results are not always predictable. Transmission conditions on the same frequency vary with the year and even with the time of day. Although these variations usually follow certain established cycles, many peculiar effects can be observed from time to time. Every radio amateur should have some understanding of the known facts about radio wave propagation so that he will stand some chance of interpreting the unusual conditions when they occur. The observant amateur is in an excellent position to make worthwhile contributions to the science, provided he has sufficient background to understand his results. He may discover new facts about propagation at the very-high frequencies or in the microwave region, as anateurs have in the past. In fact, it is through amateur efforts that most of the extended-range possibilities of various radio frequencies have been discovered, either through accident or long and careful investigation.

# What To Expect on the Various Amateur Bands

The 1.8-Mc., or "160-meter," band offers reliable working over ranges up to 25 miles or so during daylight. On winter nights, ranges up to several thousand miles are not impossible. Only small sections of the band are currently available to anateurs, because of the presence of the loran service in that part of the spectrum. The pulsetype interference sometimes caused by loran can be readily climinated by using an audio limiter in the receiver.

The 3.5-Mc., or "80-meter," band is a more useful band during the night than during the daylight hours. In the daytime, one can seldom hear signals from a distance of greater than 200 miles or so, but during the darkness hours distances up to several thousand miles are not unusual, and transoceanic contacts are regularly made during the winter months. During the summer, the static level is high in some parts of the world.

The 7-Me., or "40-meter," band has many of the same characteristics as 3.5, except that the distances that can be covered during the day and night hours are increased. During daylight, distances up to a thousand miles can be covered under good conditions, and during the dawn and dusk periods in winter it is possible to work stations as far as the other side of the world, the signals following the darkness path. The winter months are somewhat better than the summer ones. In general, summer static is much less of a problem than on 80 meters, although it can be serious in the semitropical zones. The 14-Mc., or "20-meter," band is probably the best one for long-distance work. During portions of the sunspot cycle (discussed later in this chapter) it is open to some part of the world during practically all of the 24 hours, while at other times it is generally useful only during daylight hours and the dawn and dusk periods.

The 21-Mc., or "15-meter," band shows highly variable characteristics depending on the sunspot cycle. During sunspot maxima it is useful for long-distance work during a large part of the 24 hours, but in years of low sunspot activity it is almost wholly a daytime band, and sometimes unusable even in daytime. However, it is often possible to maintain communication over distances up to 1500 miles or more by sporadic-*E* ionization (described later), which may occur either day or night at any time in the sunspot cycle.

The 27-Mc. ("11-meter") and 28-Mc. ("10meter") bands are generally considered to be DX bands during the daylight hours and good for local work during the hours of darkness, although at the peak of the sunspot cycle, they are "open" into the late evening hours for DX communication. At the sunspot minimum these bands are usually "dead" for long-distance communication in the northern latitudes. Nevertheless, sporadic-*E* propagation is likely to occur at any time, just as in the case of the 21-Mc. band. The v.h.f. and u.h.f. bands (50 Mc. and higher) are considered in detail in the chapter on v.h.f. propagation.

## **Characteristics of Radio Waves**

Radio waves are basically of the same nature as light and heat, which also are forms of electromagnetic radiation. The principal difference is in the wavelength, which in the case of radio waves is much greater than the wavelengths of light or heat. However, all three types of radiation travel at the same speed (300,000,000 meters per second) in free space, and have similar prop-
erties in that they all can be reflected, refracted, and diffracted.

As described in the ehapter on fundamentals, an electromagnetic wave is composed of moving fields of electric and magnetic force. The lines of force in the two fields are at right angles, and are mutually perpendicular to the direction of travel. A simple representation of a wave is shown in Fig. 4-1. In this drawing the electric lines are perpendicular to the earth and the magnetic lines are horizontal. They could, however, have any position with respect to earth so long as they remain perpendicular to each other.



Fig. 4-1 — Representation of electrostatic and electromagnetic lines of force in a radio wave. Arrows indicate instantaneous directions of the fields for a wave traveling toward the reader. Reversing the direction of one set of lines would reverse the direction of travel.

The plane containing the continuous lines of electric and magnetic force shown by the grid- or mesh-like drawing in Fig. 4-1 is called the wave front.

### **Polarization**

The polarization of n radio wave is taken as the direction of the lines of force in the electric field. If the electric lines are perpendicular to the earth, the wave is said to be vertically polarized; if parallel with the earth, the wave is horizontally polarized. The longer waves, when traveling along the ground, usually maintain their polarization in the same plane as was generated at the antenna. The polarization of shorter waves may be altered during travel, however, and sometimes will vary quite rapidly.

### Medium of Propagation

The **medium** in which electromagnetic waves travel has a marked influence on the speed with which they move. When the medium is empty space the speed, as stated above, is 300,000,000 meters per second. It is almost, but not quite, that great in air, and is much less in some other substances. In dielectrics, for example, the speed is inversely proportional to the dielectric constant of the material.

When a wave meets a good conductor it eannot penetrate it to any extent (although it will travel through a dielectric with ease) because the electric lines of force are practically short-circuited.

### Reflection

A light ray traveling through air of uniform characteristics goes in a straight line, but when it meets some object having different properties its path is shifted. If the "discontinuity" is sufficiently great in extent, as compared with the wavelength of light, and if the change in properties is abrupt, the ray may be reflected. The discontinuity may be either a change in the dielectric constant or the conductivity of the medium. Similarly, a radio wave will be reflected under comparable conditions. However, the discontinuity set up by the reflecting object must at least be comparable with the wavelength in size, to cause reflection of radio waves. Nevertheless, objects as small as an airplane, a tree, or even a man's body will reflect waves a few feet long and less.

### Refraction

When a wave meets a discontinuity that it can penetrate, the change in speed causes its path to be deflected, if it enters at any angle other than the perpendicular to the surface of the new medium. That part of the wave front that enters the new medium first travels at the new speed before the trailing part of the wave front enters, and so the wave as a whole is swung around or refracted. The new direction depends on the difference in speed in the two media, and on the wavelength. Wave "bending" by refraction is the mechanism by which long-distance communication at high frequencies is possible. The medium in which the bending takes place is an ionized region, ealled the ionosphere, in the upper atmosphere. The composition and properties of the ionosphere are discussed later in this chapter.

### Diffraction

When a wave grazes the edge of an object in passing, it tends to be bent around that edge. This effect, called **diffraction**, results in a diversion of part of the energy of those waves which normally follow a straight path, so they may be received at some distance below the summit of an obstruction or around its edges.

### **S**preading

The field intensity of a wave is inversely proportional to the distance from the source. Thus if one receiving point is twice as far from the transmitter as another, the field strength at the more distant point will be just half the field strength at the nearer point. This results from the fact that the energy in the wave front must be distributed over a greater area as the wave moves away from the source. This **inverse-distance law** is based on the assumption that there is nothing in the medium to absorb energy from the wave as it travels, which is true in free space but not in practical communication along the ground and through the atmosphere.

### Types of Propagation

According to the altitude of the paths along which they are propagated, radio waves may be classified as ionospheric waves, tropospheric waves or ground waves.

The ionospheric wave or sky wave is that part of the total radiation that is directed toward the ionosphere. Depending upon variable conditions in that region, as well as upon transmitting wavelength, the ionospheric wave may or may not be returned to earth by the effects of refraction and reflection.

The tropospheric wave is that part of the total radiation that undergoes refraction and reflection in regions of abrupt change of dielectric constant in the troposphere, such as the boundaries between air masses of differing temperature and moisture content.

### PROPERTIES OF THE IONOSPHERE

Except for distances of a few miles, nearly all anateur communication on frequencies below 30 Me. is by means of the sky wave. Upon leaving the transmitting antenna, this wave travels upward from the earth's surface at such an angle that it would continue out into space were its path not bent sufficiently to bring it back to earth. The medium that causes such bending is the ionosphere, a region in the upper atmosphere, above a height of about 60 miles, where free ions and electrons exist in sufficient quantity to have an appreciable effect on the speed at which the waves travel.

The ionization in the upper atmosphere is believed to be caused by ultraviolet radiation from the sun. The ionosphere is not a single region but is composed of a series of layers of varying densities of ionization occurring at different heights. Each layer consists of a central region of relatively dense ionization that tapers off in intensity both above and below.

### **Refraction and Reflection**

The greater the intensity of ionization in a layer, the more the path of the wave is bent. The amount of bending also depends on the wave-length; the longer the wave, the more the path is bent for a given degree of ionization. Thus low-frequency waves are more readily bent than those of high frequency. For this reason the lower frequencies — 3.5 and 7 Mc. — are more "reliable" than the higher frequencies — 14 to 28 Me.; there are times when the ionization is of such low value that waves of the latter frequency range are not bent enough to return to earth.

In addition to refraction, reflection may take place at the lower boundary of an ionized layer if the boundary is sharply defined; i.e., if there is an appreciable change in ionization within a relatively short interval of travel. For waves approaching the layer at or near the perpendicular, the change in ionization must take place within a difference in height comparable with The ground wave is that part of the total radiation that is directly affected by the presence of the earth and its surface features. The ground



Fig.  $4-2 \rightarrow$  Showing how both direct and reflected waves may be received simultaneously.

wave has two components. One is the surface wave, which is an earth-guided wave, and the other is the space wave (not to be confused with the ionospheric or sky wave). The space wave is itself the resultant of two components — the direct wave and the ground-reflected wave, as shown in Fig. 4-2.

### **Ionospheric Propagation**

the wavelength; hence, ionospheric reflection is more apt to occur at longer wavelengths (lower frequencies).

### Absorption

In traveling through the ionosphere the wave gives up some of its energy by setting the ionized particles into motion. The energy **absorption** from this cause increases with the wavelength; that is, absorption is greater at lower frequencies. It also increases with the intensity of ionization, and with the density of the atmosphere in the ionized region.

Ionospheric absorption decreases the strength of the signal at the receiving point below the value that would be expected from the normal spreading of a wave traveling the same distance.

### Virtual Height

Although an ionospheric layer is a region of considerable depth it is convenient to assign to it a definite height, called the virtual height. This is the height from which a simple reflection would give the same effect as the gradual refraction that actually takes place, as illustrated in Fig. 4-3. The wave traveling upward is bent back over a path having an appreciable radius of turning, and a measurable interval of time is consumed in the turning process. The virtual height is the height of a triangle having equal sides of a total length proportional to the time taken for the wave to travel from T to R.



Fig. 4-3 — Bending in the ionosphere, and the echo or reflection method of determining virtual height.

# HIGH-FREQUENCY COMMUNICATION

### Normal Structure of the Ionosphere

The lowest useful ionized layer is called the E layer. The average height of the region of maximum ionization is about 70 miles. The air at this height is sufficiently dense so that the ions and electrons set free by the sun's radiation do not travel far before they meet and recombine to form neutral particles, so the layer can maintain its normal intensity of ionization only in the presence of continuing radiation from the sun. Hence the ionization is greatest around local noon and practically disappears after sundown.

In the daytime there is a still lower ionized area, the *D* region. The *D*-region ionization is proportional to the height of the sun and is greatest at noon. Low-frequency waves (80 meters) are almost completely absorbed by this layer while it exists, and only the highangle radiation is reflected by the *E* layer. (Lower-angle radiation travels farther through the *D* region and is absorbed.)

The second principal layer is the Flayer, which has a height of about 175 miles at night. At this altitude the air is so thin that recombination of ions and electrons takes place very slowly, inasmuch as particles can travel relatively great distances before meeting. The ionization decreases after sundown, reaching a minimum just before sumrise. In the daytime the F layer splits

into two parts, the  $F_1$  and  $F_2$  layers, with average virtual heights of, respectively, 140 miles and 200 miles. These layers are most highly ionized at about local noon, and merge again at sunset into the F layer.

### SKY-WAVE PROPAGATION

### Wave Angle

The smaller the angle at which a wave leaves the earth, the less will be the bending required in the ionosphere to bring it back and, in general, the greater the distance between the point where it leaves the earth and that at which it returns. This is shown in Fig. 4-4. The vertical angle (such as the angle A in the figure) that the wave makes with a tangent to the earth is called the wave angle or angle of radiation.

#### Skip Distance

Since greater bending is required to return the wave to earth when the wave angle is high, at the higher frequencies the refraction frequently is not enough to give the required bending unless the wave angle is smaller than some critical value. This is illustrated in Fig. 4-4, where A and smaller angles give useful signals while waves sent at higher angles penetrate the layer and are not returned. The distance between T and  $R_1$  is, therefore, the shortest possible distance, at that particular frequency, over which communication by normal ionospheric refraction can be accomplished.

The area between the end of the useful ground wave and the beginning of ionospheric-wave reception is called the **skip zone**, and the distance from the transmitter to the nearest point where the sky wave returns to earth is called the **skip** distance. The extent of skip zone depends upon the frequency and the state of the ionosphere, and also upon the height of the layer in which the refraction takes place. The higher layers give longer skip distances for the same wave angle. Wave angles at the transmitting and receiving points are usually, although not always, approximately the same for any given wave path.



Fig. 4-1 — Refraction of sky waves, showing the critical wave angle and the skip zone. Waves leaving the transmitter at angles above the critical (greater than A) are not bent enough to be returned to earth. As the angle is decreased, the waves return to earth at increasingly greater distances.

### Critical and Maximum Usable Frequencies

If the frequency is low enough, a wave sent vertically to the ionosphere will be reflected back down to the transmitting point. If the frequency is then gradually increased, eventually a frequency will be reached where this vertical reflection just fails to occur. This is the **critical frequency** for the layer under consideration. When the operating frequency is below the critical value there is no skip zone.

The critical frequency is a useful index to the highest frequency that can be used to transmit over a specified distance — the **maximum usable** frequency (m.u.f.). If the wave leaving the transmitting point at angle A in Fig. 4-4 is, for example, at a frequency of 14 Mc., and if a higher frequency would skip over the receiving point  $R_1$ , then 14 Me, is the m.u.f. for the distance from T to  $R_1$ .

The greatest possible distance is covered when the wave leaves along the tangent to the earth; that is, at zero wave angle. Under average conditions this distance is about 4000 kilometers or 2500 miles for the  $F_2$  layer, and 2000 km, for 1250 miles for the E layer. The distances vary with the layer height. Frequencies above these limiting m.u.f.'s will not be returned to earth at any distance. The 4000-km, m.u.f. for the  $F_2$ layer is approximately 3 times the critical frequency for that layer, and for the E layer the 2000-km, m.u.f. is about 5 times the critical frequency.

Absorption in the ionosphere is least at the

maximum usable frequency for the distance, and increases very rapidly as the frequency is lowered below the m.u.f. Consequently, best results with low power always are secured when the frequency is as close to the m.u.f. as possible.

It is readily possible for the ionospheric wave to pass through the *E* layer and be refracted back to earth from the *F*,  $F_1$  or  $F_2$  layers. This is because the critical frequencies are higher in the latter layers, so that a signal too high in frequency to be returned by the *E* layer can still come back from one of the others, depending upon the time of day and the existing conditions. Depending upon the wave angle and the distance, it is sometimes possible to carry on communication via either the *E* or  $F_1$ - $F_2$  layers on the same frequency.

### Multihop Transmission

On returning to the earth the wave can be reflected upward and travel again to the ionosphere. There it may once more be refracted, and again bent back to earth. This process may be repeated several times. Multihop propagation of this nature is necessary for transmission over great distances because of the limited heights of the layers and the curvature of the earth, which restrict the maximum one-hop distance to the values mentioned in the preceding section. However, ground losses absorb some of the energy from the wave on each reflection (the amount of the loss varying with the type of ground and being least for reflection from sea water), and there is also absorption in the ionosphere at each reflection. Hence the smaller the number of hops the greater the signal strength at the receiver, other things being equal.

### Fading

Two or more parts of the wave may follow slightly different paths in traveling to the receiving point, in which case the difference in path lengths will cause a phase difference to exist between the wave components at the receiving antenna. The total field strength will be the sum of the components and may be larger or smaller than one component alone, since the phases may be such as either to aid or oppose. Since the paths change from time to time, this causes a variation in signal strength called fading. Fading can also result from the combination of single-hop and multihop waves, or the combination of a ground wave with an ionospheric or tropospheric wave. The latter condition results in an area of severe fading in the region where the two waves have about the same intensity; better reception is obtained at either shorter or longer distances where one component is considerably stronger than the other.

Fading may be rapid or slow, the former type usually resulting from rapidly-changing conditions in the ionosphere, the latter occurring when transmission conditions are relatively stable.

It frequently happens that transmission conditions are different for waves of slightly different frequencies, so that in the case of voice-modu-

lated transmission, involving sidebands differing slightly from the carrier in frequency, the carrier and various sideband components may not be propagated in the same relative amplitudes and phases they had at the transmitter. This effect, known as selective fading, causes severe distortion of the signal.

### Scatter

Even though the operating frequency is above the m.u.f. for a given distance, it is usually possible to hear signals from within the skip zone. This phenomenon, called **scatter**, is caused by random reflections from distances beyond the skip zone. Such reflections can occur when the transmitted energy strikes the earth at a distance and some of it is reflected back into the skip zone to the receiver. Other possible scatter sources are "patches" of ionization of different density than the average, or sporadic-*E* clouds (see later section). Scatter signals are weaker than those normally propagated, and also have a rapid fade or "flutter" that makes them easily recognizable.

It is probable that scatter also plays a considerable part in long-distance transmission (beyond the maximum one-hop distance) — particularly in cases where, with multihop propagation, the m.u.f. at some intermediate reflection point in the ionosphere is below the frequency actually being used.

### OTHER FEATURES OF IONOSPHERIC PROPAGATION

### Cyclic Variations in the Ionosphere

Since ionization depends upon ultraviolet radiation, conditions in the ionosphere vary with changes in the sun's radiation. In addition to the daily variation, seasonal changes result in higher critical frequencies in the E layer in summer. averaging about 4 Mc. as against a winter average of 3 Mc. The F layer shows little variation, the critical frequency being of the order of 4 to 5 Mc. in the evening. The  $F_1$  layer, which has a critical frequency near 5 Me. in summer, usually disappears entirely in winter. The daytime maximum critical frequencies for the  $F_2$  are highest in winter (10 to 12 Mc.) and lowest in summer (around 7 Mc.). The virtual height of the  $F_2$ layer, which is about 185 miles in winter, averages 250 miles in summer. These values are representative of latitude 40 deg. North in the Western hemisphere, and are subject to considerable variation in other parts of the world.

Very marked changes in ionization also occur in step with the 11-year sunspot cycle. Although there is no apparent direct correlation between sunspot activity and critical frequencies on a given day, there is a definite correlation between *average* sunspot activity and critical frequencies. The oritical frequencies are highest during sunspot maxima and lowest during sunspot minima. During the period of minimum sunspot activity the lower frequencies -7 and 3.5 Mc. - fre-

# HIGH-FREQUENCY COMMUNICATION

quently are the only usable bands at night. At such times the 28-Mc. band is seldom useful for long-distance work, while the 14-Mc. band performs well in the daytime but is not ordinarily useful at night. The next sunspot minimum is forecast for the winter of 1954–55. The most recent maximum occurred in the winter of 1947– 48.

### Ionosphere Storms and Other Disturbances

Certain types of sunspot activity cause considerable disturbances in the ionosphere (ionosphere storms) and are accompanied by disturbances in the earth's magnetic field (magnetic storms). Ionosphere storms are characterized by a marked increase in absorption, so that radio conditions become poor. The critical frequencies also drop to relatively low values during a storm, so that only the lower frequencies are useful for communication. Ionosphere storms may last from a few hours to several days. Since the sun rotates on its axis once every 28 days, disturbances tend to recur at such intervals, if the sunspots responsible do not become inactive in the meantime, Absorption is usually low, and radio conditions therefore good, just preceding a storm.

Unusually high ionization in the region of the atmosphere below the normal ionosphere may increase absorption to such an extent that skywave transmission becomes difficult and sometimes even impossible. The length of such a disturbance may be several hours, with a gradual falling off of transmission conditions at the beginning and an equally gradual building up at the end of the period. **Fade-outs**, similar to the above in effect, are caused by sudden disturbances on the sun. They are characterized by very rapid ionization, with sky-wave transmission disappearing almost instantly, occur only in daylight, and do not last as long as the first type of absorption.

Magnetic storms frequently are accompanied by unusual auroral displays, creating an ionized "curtain" in the polar regions which can act as a reflector of radio waves. Auroral reflection may be observed on any frequency, depending upon the conditions, and it is always characterized by a flutter on all signals that makes voice work difficult. It is most noticeable in the northern latitudes and on signals traveling through the Auroral zone — that is, through the polar regions and over the North Atlantic.

### Sporadic-E Ionization

Scattered patches or clouds of relatively dense ionization occasionally appear at heights approximately the same as that of the E layer. This sporadic-E ionization is most prevalent in the equatorial regions, where it is substantially continuous. In northern latitudes it is most frequent in the spring and early summer, but is present in some degree a fair percentage of the time the year 'round. It accounts for a good deal of the night-time short distance work on the lower frequencies (3.5 and 7 Mc.) and, when more intense, for similar work on 14 and 28 Mc. Exceptionally intense sporadic-E ionization is responsible for work over distances exceeding 400 or 500 miles on the 50-Mc. band.

There are indications of a relationship between sporadic-E ionization and average sunspot activity, but it does not appear to be directly related to daylight and darkness since it may occur at any time of the day. However, there is an apparent tendency for the ionization to peak at mid-morning and in the early evening.

### **Meteor Trails**

A phenomenon that frequently occurs on signals from within the skip zone is a sudden increase in intensity, called a burst. Bursts are caused by meteors which, entering the earth's atmosphere at high speed, are followed by an ionized trail of rather high intensity. The ionization is caused by heating from the friction between the meteor and the air molecules in the ionosphere region. The ionization usually disappears in less than a second, but during that time it is often capable of reflecting signals up to 100 Me. or so. The lower frequency limit depends on the length of the ionized trail. Bursts are frequently observed on the 14- and 28-Mc, bands, especially during those times of the year when "meteor showers" occur. When the meteor is moving in a direction somewhat parallel to the wave path, it can induce a rising or falling "whistle" on the signal, for a second or so.

### **Tropospheric Propagation**

Changes in temperature and humidity of air masses in the lower atmosphere often permit work over greater than normal ground-wave distances on 28 Mc, and higher frequencies. The effect can be observed on 28 Mc, but it is generally more marked on 50 and 144 Mc. The subject is treated in detail in a later chapter.

### **PREDICTION CHARTS**

The Central Radio Propagation Laboratory of National Bureau of Standards offers prediction charts three months in advance, by means of which it is possible to predict with considerable accuracy the maximum usable frequency that will hold over any path on the earth during a monthly period. The charts are based on ionosphere observations made at a number of stations throughout the world, coupled with considerable statistical data. They are conservative enough to enable the amateur to anticipate and plan his best operating times, particularly on the 14- and 28-Mc, bands. The charts can be obtained from the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington 25, D. C. for 10 cents a copy or \$1.00 per year on subscription. They are called "CRPL-D Basic Radio Propagation Predictions."

# High-Frequency Receivers

A good receiver in the amateur station makes the difference between mediocre contacts and solid QSOs, and its importance cannot be overemphasized. In the uncrowded v.h.f. bands, sensitivity (the ability to bring in weak signals) is the most important factor in a receiver. In the more crowded amateur bands, good sensitivity must be combined with selectivity (the ability to distinguish between signals separated by only a small frequency difference). To receive weak signals, the receiver must furnish enough amplification to amplify the minute signal power delivered by the antenna up to a useful amount of power that will operate a loudspeaker or set of headphones. Before the amplified signal can operate the 'speaker or 'phones, it must be converted to audio-frequency power by the process of detection. The sequence of amplification is not too important - some of the amplification can take place (and usually does) before detection, and some can be used after detection.

There are two major differences between receivers for 'phone reception and for c.w. reception. A 'phone signal has sidebands that make the signal take up about 6 or 8 kc. in the band, and the audio quality of the received signal is impaired if the passband of the receiver is less than half of this. On the other hand, a c.w. signal occupies only a few hundred cycles at the most, and consequently the passband of a c.w.

receiver can be small. In either case, if the passband of the receiver is more than necessary, signals adjacent to the desired one can be heard, and the selectivity of the receiver is said to be poor. The detection process delivers directly the audio frequencies present as modulation on a 'phone signal. There is no modulation on a c.w. signal, and it is necessary to introduce a second radio frequency, differing from the signal frequency by a suitable audio frequency, into the detector circuit to produce an audible beat. The frequency difference, and hence the **beat-note**, is generally made on the order of 500 to 1000 cycles, since these tones are within the range of optimum response of both the ear and the headset. If the source of the second radio frequency is a separate oscillator, the system is known as heterodyne reception; if the detector is made to oscillate and produce the second frequency, it is known as an autodyne detector. Modern superheterodyne receivers (described later) generally use a separate oscillator to generate the beat-note. Summing up the two differences, 'phone receivers can't use as much selectivity as c.w. receivers, and c.w. receivers require some kind of beating oscillator to give an audible signal. Broadcast receivers can receive only 'phone signals because no beat oscillator is included. Communications receivers include beat oscillators and often some means for varying the selectivity.

### **Receiver Characteristics**

### Sensitivity

In commercial circles "sensitivity" is defined as the strength of the signal (in microvolts) at the input of the receiver that is required to produce a specified audio power output at the 'speaker or headphones. This is a satisfactory definition for broadcast and communications receivers operating below about 20 Mc., where atmospheric and man-made electrical noises normally mask any noise generated by the receiver itself.

Another commercial measure of sensitivity defines it as the signal at the input of the receiver required to give an audio output some stated amount (generally 10 db.) above the noise output of the receiver. This is a more useful sensitivity measure for the amateur, since it indicates how well a weak signal will be heard and is not merely a measure of the over-all amplification of the receiver. However, it is not an absolute method for comparing two receivers, because the passband width of the receiver plays a large part in the result.

The random motion of the molecules in the antenna and receiver circuits generates small voltages called thermal-agitation noise voltages. The frequency of this noise is random and the noise exists across the entire radio spectrum. Its amplitude increases with the temperature of the circuits. Only the noise in the antenna and first stage of a receiver is normally significant, since the noise developed in later stages is masked by the amplified noise from the first stage. The only noise that is amplified is that which falls within the receiver passband, so the noise appearing in the receiver output is less when the passband is reduced. Noise is also generated by the current flow within the first tube itself; this effect can be combined with the thermal noise and called receiver noise.

The limit of a receiver's ability to detect weak signals is the thermal noise generated in the input circuit. Even if a perfect noise-free tube were developed and used throughout the receiver, the limit to reception would be the

thermal noise. (Atmospheric- and man-made noise is a practical limit below 20 Mc.) The degree to which a receiver approaches this ideal is called the **noise figure** of the receiver, and it is expressed as the ratio of noise power at the input of the receiver required to increase the noise output of the receiver 3 db. Since the noise power passed by the receiver is dependent on the passband, the figure shows how far the receiver departs from the ideal. The ratio is generally expressed in db., and runs around 6 to 12 db. for a good receiver, although figures of 2 to 4 db. have been obtained. Comparisons of noise figures can be made by the amateur with simple equipment. (See QST, August, 1949, page 20.)

### Selectivity

Selectivity is the ability of a receiver to discriminate against signals of frequencies differing from that of the desired signal. The over-all selectivity will depend upon the selectivity of the individual tuned circuits and the number of such circuits.

The selectivity of a receiver is shown graphically by drawing a curve that gives the ratio of signal strength required at various frequencies off resonance to the signal strength at resonance, to give constant output. A resonance curve of this type is shown in Fig. 5-1. The bandwidth is the width of the resonance curve (in cycles or kilocycles) of a receiver at a specified ratio; in Fig. 5-1, the bandwidths are indicated for ratios of response of 2 and 10 ("6 db. down" and "20 db. down").

The bandwidth at 6 db. down must be sufficient to pass the signal and its sidebands if faithful reproduction of the signal is desired. However, in the crowded amateur bands, it is generally advisable to sacrifice fidelity for intelligibility. The ability to reject adjacent-channel signals depends upon the **skirt selectivity** of the receiver, which is determined by the bandwidth at high attenuation. In a receiver with good skirt selectivity, the ratio of the 6-db. bandwidth to the 60-db. bandwidth will be about 0.25 for c.w. and 0.5 for 'phone. The minimum usable bandwidth at 6-db. down is about 150 cycles for c.w. reception and about 2000 cycles for 'phone.

Detection is the process of recovering the modulation from a signal (see "Modulation, Heterodyning and Beats"). Any device that is "nonlinear" (i.e., whose output is not *exactly* proportional to its input) will act as a detector. It can be used as a detector if an impedance for the desired modulation frequency is connected in the output circuit.

Detector sensitivity is the ratio of desired detector output to the input. Detector linearity is a measure of the ability of the detector to reproduce the exact form of the modulation on the incoming signal. The resistance or impedance of the detector is the resistance or impedance it presents to the circuits it is con-



Fig. 5-1 — Typical selectivity curve of a modern superheterodyne receiver. Relative response is plotted against deviations above and below the resonance frequency. The scale at the left is in terms of voltage ratios, the corresponding decibel steps are shown at the right.

#### Stability

The stability of a receiver is its ability to "stay put" on a signal under varying conditions of gain-control setting, temperature, supplyvoltage changes and mechanical shock and distortion. The term "unstable" is also applied to a receiver that breaks into oscillation or a regenerative condition with some settings of its controls that are not specifically intended to control such a condition.

### **Fidelity**

Fidelity is the relative ability of the receiver to reproduce in its output the modulation carried by the incoming signal. For perfect fidelity, the relative amplitudes of the various components must not be changed by passing through the receiver. However, in amateur communication the important requirement is to transmit intelligence and not "high-fidelity" signals.

### **Detection and Detectors**

nected to. The input resistance is important in receiver design, since if it is relatively low it means that the detector will consume power, and this power must be furnished by the preceding stage. The signal-handling capability means the ability to accept signals of a specified amplitude without overloading or distortion.

### **Diode Detectors**

The simplest detector for a.m. is the diode. A galena, silicon or germanium **crystal** is an imperfect form of diode (a small current can pass in the reverse direction), and the principle of detection in a crystal is similar to that in a vacuum-tube diode.



Fig. 5-2 — Simplified and practical diode detector circuits. A, the elementary half-wave diode detector; B, a practical circuit, with r.f. filtering and audio output coupling; C, full-wave diode detector, with output coupling indicated. The circuit,  $L_2C_1$ , is tuned to the signal frequency; typical values for  $C_2$  and  $R_1$  in A and C are  $250 \ \mu\mu fd$ , and 250,000 ohms, respectively; in B,  $C_2$  and  $C_3$  are 100  $\ \mu\mu fd$ . each;  $R_1$ , 50,000 ohms; and  $R_2$ , 250,000 ohms.  $C_4$  is 0.1  $\ \mu fd$ . and R smay be 0.5 to 1 megohm.

Circuits for both half-wave and full-wave diodes are given in Fig. 5-2. The simplified half-wave circuit at 5-2 $\Lambda$  includes the r.f. tuned circuit,  $L_2C_1$ , a coupling coil,  $L_1$ , from which the r.f. energy is fed to  $L_2C_1$ , and the diode, D, with its load resistance,  $R_1$ , and bypass condenser,  $C_2$ . The flow of rectified r.f. current causes a d.c. voltage to develop across the terminals of  $R_1$ . The – and + signs show the polarity of the voltage. The variation in amplitude of the r.f. signal with modulation causes corresponding variations in the value of the d.c. voltage across  $R_1$ . In audio work the load resistor,  $R_1$ , is usually 0.1 megohm or higher, so that a fairly large voltage will develop from a small rectified-current flow.

The progress of the signal through the detector or rectifier is shown in Fig. 5-3. A typical modulated signal as it exists in the tuned circuit is shown at A. When this signal is applied to the rectifier tube, current will flow only during the part of the r.f. cycle when the plate is positive with respect to the cath-

# **CHAPTER 5**

ode, so that the output of the rectifier consists of half-cycles of r.f. These current pulses flow in the load circuit comprised of  $R_1$  and  $C_2$ , the resistance of  $R_1$  and the capacity of  $C_2$  being so proportioned that  $C_2$  charges to the peak value of the rectified voltage on each pulse and retains enough charge between pulses so that the voltage across  $R_1$  is smoothed out, as shown in C.  $C_2$  thus acts as a filter for the radio-frequency component of the output of the rectifier, leaving a d.c. component that varies in the same way as the modulation on the original signal. When this varying d.c. voltage is applied to a following amplifier through a coupling condenser ( $C_4$  in Fig. 5-2B), only the variations in voltage are transferred, so that the final output signal is a.c., as shown in D.

In the circuit at 5-2B,  $R_1$  and  $C_2$  have been divided for the purpose of providing a more effective filter for r.f. It is important to prevent the appearance of any r.f. voltage in the output of the detector, because it may cause overloading of a succeeding amplifier tube. The audiofrequency variations can be transferred to another circuit through a coupling condenser,  $C_4$ , to a load resistor,  $R_3$ , which usually is a "potentiometer" so that the audio volume can be adjusted to a desired level.

Coupling to the potentiometer (volume control) through a condenser also avoids any flow of d.c. through the control. The flow of d.c. through a high-resistance volume control often tends to make the control noisy (scratchy) after a short while.

The full-wave diode circuit at 5-2C differs in operation from the half-wave circuit only in that both halves of the r.f. cycle are utilized. The full-wave circuit has the advantage that very little r.f. voltage appears across the load resistor,  $R_1$ , because the midpoint of  $L_2$  is at the same potential as the cathode, or "ground" for r.f., and r.f. filtering is easier than in the half-wave circuit.

The reactance of  $C_2$  must be small compared









Fig. 5-4 — Circuits for plate detection. A, triode; B, pentode. The input circuit,  $L_1C_1$ , is tuned to the signal frequency. Typical values for the other components are:

Compone	ent Circuit A	Circuit B
C <sub>2</sub> 0	.5 μfd. or larger.	0.5 µfd. or larger.
C <sub>3</sub> 0	.001 to 0.002 µfd.	250 to 500 µµfd.
C4 0	.1 μfd.	0.1 µfd.
$C_5$	·	$0.5 \ \mu fd.$ or larger.
R <sub>1</sub> 2	5,000 to 150,000 ohms.	10,000 to 20,000 ohms.
R <sub>2</sub> 5	0,000 to 100,000 ohms.	100,000 to 250,000 ohms.
$R_3$	.,	50,000 ohms.
R4		20,000 ohms.
RFC	2.5 mh.	2.5 mb.
1)	- 100 to	950 males may be used

Plate voltages from 100 to 250 volts may be used. Effective screen voltage in B should be about 30 volts.

to the resistance of  $R_1$  at the radio frequency being rectified, but at audio frequencies must be relatively large compared to  $R_1$ . If the capacity of  $C_2$  is too large, response at the higher audio frequencies will be lowered.

Compared with other detectors, the sensitivity of the diode is low, normally running around 0.8 in audio work. Since the diode consumes power, the Q of the tuned circuit is reduced, bringing about a reduction in selectivity. The loading effect of the diode is close to one-half the load resistance. The detector linearity is good, and the signal-handling capability is high.

### **Plate Detectors**

The plate detector is arranged so that rectification of the r.f. signal takes place in the plate circuit of the tube. Sufficient negative bias is applied to the grid to bring the plate current nearly to the cut-off point, so that application of a signal to the grid circuit causes an increase in average plate current. The average plate current follows the changes in signal amplitude in a fashion similar to the rectified current in a diode detector.

Circuits for triodes and pentodes are given in Fig. 5-4.  $C_3$  is the plate by-pass condenser, and, with *RFC*, prevents r.f. from appearing in the output. The cathode resistor,  $R_1$ , provides the operating grid bias, and  $C_2$  is a by-pass for both radio and audio frequencies.  $R_2$  is the plate load resistance and  $C_4$  is the output coupling condenser. In the pentode circuit at B,  $R_3$  and  $R_4$  form a voltage divider to supply the proper screen potential (about 30 volts), and  $C_5$  is a by-pass condenser.  $C_2$  and  $C_5$  must have low reactance for both radio and audio frequencies.

In general, transformer coupling from the plate circuit of a plate detector is not satisfactory, because the plate impedance of any tube is very high when the bias is near the platecurrent cut-off point. Impedance coupling may be used in place of the resistance coupling shown in Fig. 5-4. Usually 100 henrys or more inductance is required.

The plate detector is more sensitive than the diode because there is some amplifying action in the tube. It will handle large signals, but is not so tolerant in this respect as the diode. Linearity, with the self-biased circuits shown, is good. Up to the overload point the detector takes no power from the tuned circuit, and so does not affect its Q and selectivity.

### Infinite-Impedance Detector

The circuit of Fig. 5-5 combines the high signal-handling capabilities of the diode detector with low distortion and, like the plate detector, does not load the tuned circuit it connects to. The circuit resembles that of the plate detector, except that the load resistance,  $R_1$ , is connected between cathode and ground and thus is common to both grid and plate circuits, giving negative feed-back for the audio frequencies. The cathode resistor is by-passed for r.f. but not for audio, while the plate circuit is by-passed to ground for both audio and radio frequencies.  $R_2$  forms, with  $C_3$ , an RC filter to isolate the plate from the "B" supply. An r.f. filter, consisting of a series r.f. choke and a shunt condenser, can be connected between the cathode and  $C_4$  to eliminate any r.f. that might otherwise appear in the output.

The plate current is very low at no signal, increasing with signal as in the case of the plate detector. The voltage drop across  $R_1$  consequently



Fig. 5.5 — The infinite-impedance detector. The input circuit,  $L_2C_1$ , is tuned to the signal frequency. Typical values for the other components are:

C <sub>2</sub> — 250 µµfd.	R <sub>1</sub> — 0.15 megohm.
$C_3 - 0.5 \ \mu fd$ .	R <sub>2</sub> — 25,000 ohms.
$C_4 = 0.1 \ \mu fd$ ,	R <sub>3</sub> — 0.25-megohm volume

 $C_4 = 0.1 \ \mu fd$ ,  $R_3 = 0.25$ -megohim volume control. A tube having a medium amplification factor (about 20) should be used. Plate voltage should be 250 volts. increases with signal. Because of this and the large initial drop across  $R_1$ , the grid usually cannot be driven positive by the signal, and no grid current can be drawn.

### REGENERATIVE DETECTORS

By providing controllable r.f. feed-back (regeneration) in a triode or pentode detector circuit, the incoming signal can be amplified many times, thereby greatly increasing the sensitivity of the detector. Regeneration also increases the effective Q of the circuit and thus the selectivity. The grid-leak type of detector is most suitable for the purpose.

The grid-leak detector is a combination diode rectifier and audio-frequency amplifier. In the circuits of Fig. 5-6, the grid corresponds to the diode plate and the rectifying action is exactly the same as in a diode. The d.e. voltage from rectified-current flow through the grid leak,  $R_1$ , biases the grid negatively, and the audiofrequency variations in voltage across  $R_1$  are amplified through the tube as in a normal a.f. amplifier. In the plate circuit,  $T_1$ ,  $L_4$  and  $L_3$  are the plate load resistances,  $C_3$  is a by-pass condenser and RFC an r.f. choke to eliminate r.f. in the output circuit.

A grid-leak detector has considerably greater sensitivity than a diode. The sensitivity is further increased by using a screen-grid tube instead of a triode, as at 5-6 B and C. The operation is equivalent to that of the triode circuit. The screen bypass condenser, C5, should have low reactance for both radio and audio frequencies,  $R_2$  and  $R_3$ constitute a voltage divider on the plate supply to furnish the proper screen voltage. In both circuits, C<sub>2</sub> must have low r.f. reactance and high a.f. reactance compared to the resistance of  $R_1$ . Although the regenerative grid-leak detector is more sensitive than any other type, its many disadvantages commend it for use only in the simplest receivers. The linearity is rather poor, and the signal-handling capability is limited. The signal-handling capability can be improved by reducing  $R_1$  to 0.1 megohm, but the sensitivity will be decreased. The degree of antenna coupling is often critical.

The circuits in Fig. 5-6 are regenerative, the feed-back being obtained by feeding some signal to the grid back from the plate circuit. The amount of regeneration must be controllable, because maximum regenerative amplification is secured at the critical point where the circuit is just about to oscillate. The critical point in turn depends upon circuit conditions, which may vary with the frequency to which the detector is tuned. In the oscillating condition, a regenerative detector cau be detuned slightly from an incoming c.w. signal to give *autodyne* reception.

The circuit of Fig. 5-6A uses a variable by-pass condenser,  $C_{3}$ , in the plate circuit to control regeneration. When the capacity is small the tube does not regenerate, but as it increases toward maximum its reactance becomes smaller until there is sufficient feed-back to cause oscillation. If  $L_2$  and  $L_3$  are wound end-to-end in the same direction, the plate connection is to the outside of the plate or "tickler" coil,  $L_3$ , when the grid connection is to the outside of  $L_2$ .

The circuit of 5-6B is for a pentode tube, regeneration being controlled by adjustment of the screen-grid voltage. The tickler,  $L_3$ , is in the plate circuit. The portion of the control resistor between the rotating contact and ground is by-passed by a large condenser (0.5



Fig. 5-6 — Triode and pentode regenerative detector circuits. The input circuit,  $L_2C_1$ , is tuned to the signal frequency. The grid condenser,  $C_2$ , should have a value of about 100  $\mu\mu$ fd, in all circuits; the grid leak,  $R_1$ , may range in value from 1 to 5 megohins. The tickler coil, L3, ordinarily will have from 10 to 25 per cent of the number of turns on  $L_2$ ; in C, the cathode tap is about 10 per cent of the number of turns on L2 above ground. Regeneration-control condenser C3 in A should have a maximum capacity of 100  $\mu\mu$ fd. or more; by-pass con-densers C<sub>3</sub> in B and C are likewise 100  $\mu\mu$ fd. C<sub>5</sub> is ordinarily 1 µfd. or more; R2, a 50,000-ohm potentiometer; R3, 50,000 to 100,000 ohms. L4 in B (L3 in C) is a 500henry inductance,  $C_4$  is 0.1 µfd, in both circuits,  $T_1$  in A is a conventional audio transformer for coupling from the plate of a tube to a following grid, RFC is 2.5 mh. In A, the plate voltage should be about 50 volts for best sensitivity. Pentode circuits require about 30 volts on the screen; plate potential may be 100 to 250 volts.

 $\mu$ fd. or more) to filter out scratching noise when the arm is rotated. The feed-back is adjusted by varying the number of turns on  $L_3$  or the coupling between  $L_2$  and  $L_3$ , until the tube just goes into oscillation at a screen potential of approximately 30 volts.

Circuit C is identical with B in principle of operation. Since the screen and plate are in parallel for r.f. in this circuit, only a small amount of "tickler"—that is, relatively few turns between the cathode tap and ground — is required for oscillation.

### Smooth Regeneration Control

The ideal regeneration control would permit the detector to go into and out of oscillation smoothly, would have no effect on the frequency of oscillation, and would give the same value of regeneration regardless of frequency and the loading on the circuit. In practice, the effects of loading, particularly the loading that occurs when the detector circuit is coupled to an antenna, are difficult to overcome. Likewise, the regeneration is usually affected by the frequency to which the grid circuit is tuned.

In all circuits it is best to wind the tickler at the ground or cathode end of the grid coil, and to use as few turns on the tickler as will allow the detector to oscillate easily over the whole tuning range at the plate (and screen, if a pentode) voltage that gives maximum sensitivity. Should the tube break into oscillation suddenly as the regeneration control is advanced, making a click, it usually indicates that the coupling to the antenna (or r.f. amplifier) is too tight. The wrong value of grid leak plus too-high plate and screen voltage are also frequent causes of lack of smoothness in going into oscillation.

#### Antenna Coupling

If the detector is coupled to an antenna, slight changes in the antenna (as when the wire swings in a breeze) affect the frequency of the oscillations generated, and thereby the beat frequency when e.w. signals are being received. The tighter the antenna coupling is made, the greater will be the feedback required or the higher will be the voltage necessary to make the detector oscillate. The antenna coupling should be the maximum that will allow the detector to go into oscillation smoothly with the correct voltages on the tube. If capacity coupling to the grid end of the coil is used, generally only a very small amount of capacity will be needed to couple to the antenna. Increasing the capacity increases the coupling.

At frequencies where the antenna system is resonant the absorption of energy from the oscillating detector circuit will be greater, with the consequence that more regeneration is needed. In extreme cases it may not be possible to make the detector oscillate with normal voltages. The remedy for these "dead spots" is to loosen the antenna coupling to a point that pernits normal oscillation and smooth regeneration control.

### **Body Capacity**

A regenerative detector occasionally shows a tendency to change frequency slightly as the hand is moved near the dial. This condition (body capacity) can be corrected by better shielding, and sometimes by r.f. filtering of the 'phone leads. A good, short ground connection and loosening the coupling to the antenna will help.

### Hum

Hum at the power-supply frequency, even when using battery plate supply, may result from the use of a.c. on the tube heater. Effects of this type normally are troublesome only when the circuit of Fig. 5-6C is used, and then only at 14 Me. and higher. Connecting one side of the heater supply to ground, or grounding the centertap of the heater-transformer winding, will reduce the hum. The heater wiring should be kept as far as possible from the r.f. circuits.

House wiring, if of the "open" type, may cause hum if the detector tube, grid lead, and grid condenser and leak are not shielded. This type of hum is easily recognizable because of its rather high pitch.

#### Tuning

For c.w. reception, the regeneration control is advanced until the detector breaks into a "hiss," which indicates that the detector is oscillating. Further advancing the regeneration control after the detector starts oscillating will result in a slight decrease in the strength of the hiss, indicating that the sensitivity of the detector is decreasing.

The proper adjustment of the regeneration control for best reception of c.w. signals is where the detector just starts to oscillate. Then c.w. signals can be tuned in and will give a tone with each signal depending on the setting of the tuning control. As the receiver is tuned through a signal the tone first will be heard as a very high pitch, then will go down through "zero beat" and rise again on the other side, finally



Fig. 5-7 — As the tuning dial of a receiver is turned past a c.w. signal, the beat-note varies from a high tone down through "zero beat" (no audible frequency difference) and back up to a high tone, as shown at A, B and C. The curve is a graphical representation of the action. The beat exists past 8000 or 10,000 cycles but usually is not heard because of the limitations of the andio system.

disappearing at a very high pitch. This behavior is shown in Fig. 5-7. A low-pitched beat-note cannot be obtained from a strong signal because the detector "pulls in" or "blocks": that is, the signal forces the detector to oscillate at the signal frequency, even though the circuit may not be tuned exactly to the signal. This phenomenon, is also called "locking-in"; the more stable of the two frequencies assumes control over the other. It usually can be corrected by advancing the regeneration control until the beat-note is heard again, or by reducing the input signal.

The point just after the detector starts oscil-

### **Tuning and Band-Changing Methods**

### Band-Changing

The resonant circuits that are tuned to the frequency of the incoming signal constitute a special problem in the design of amateur receivers, since the amateur frequency assignments consist of groups or bands of frequencies at widely-spaced intervals. The same coil and tuning condenser cannot be used for, say, 14 Mc. to 3.5 Mc., because of the impracticable maximum-to-minimum capacity ratio required, and also because the tuning would be excessively critical with such a large frequency range. It is necessary, therefore, to provide a means for changing the circuit constants for various frequency bands. As a matter of convenience the same tuning condenser usually is retained, but new coils are inserted in the circuit for each band.

One method of changing inductances is to use a switch having an appropriate number of contacts, which connects the desired coil and disconnects the others. The unused coils are sometimes short-circuited by the switch, to avoid the possibility of undesirable self resonances in the unused coils. This is not necessary if the coils are separated from each other by several coil diameters, or are mounted at right angles to each other.

Another method is to use coils wound on forms with contacts (usually pins) that can be plugged in and removed from a socket. These coils are advantageous when space in a multiband receiver is at a premium. They are also very useful when considerable experimental work is involved, because they are easier to work on than coils clustered around a switch.

### **Bandspreading**

The tuning range of a given coil and variable condenser will depend upon the inductance of the coil and the change in tuning capacity. For ease of tuning, it is desirable to adjust the tuning range so that practically the whole dial scale is occupied by the band in use. This is called **bandspreading**. Because of the varying widths of the bands, special tuning methods must be devised to give the correct maximumminimum capacity ratio on each band. Several of these methods are shown in Fig. 5-8.

In A, a small bandspread condenser,  $C_1$  (15to 25- $\mu\mu$ fd. maximum capacity), is used in parallel with a condenser,  $C_2$ , which is usually large lating is the most sensitive condition for c.w. reception. Further advancing the regeneration control makes the receiver less susceptible to blocking by strong signals, but also less sensitive to weak signals.

If the detector is in the oscillating condition and a 'phone signal is tuned in, a steady audible beat-note will result. While it is possible to listen to 'phone if the receiver can be tuned to exact zero beat, it is more satisfactory to reduce the regeneration to the point just before the receiver goes into oscillation. This is also the most sensitive operating point.

enough (100 to 140  $\mu\mu$ fd.) to cover a 2-to-1 frequency range. The setting of  $C_2$  will determine the minimum capacity of the circuit, and the maximum capacity for bandspread tuning will be the maximum capacity of  $C_1$ plus the setting of  $C_2$ . The inductance of the coil can be adjusted so that the maximumminimum ratio will give adequate bandspread. It is almost impossible, because of the nonharmonic relation of the various band limits, to get full bandspread on all bands with the same pair of condensers.  $C_2$  is variously called the **band-setting or main-tuning** condenser. It must be reset each time the band is changed.

The method shown at B makes use of condensers in series. The tuning condenser,  $C_1$ , may have a maximum capacity of 100 µµfd. or more. The minimum capacity is determined principally by the setting of  $C_3$ , which usually has low capacity, and the maximum capacity by the setting of  $C_2$ , which is of the order of 25 to 50 µµfd. This method is eapable of close adjustment to practically any desired degree of bandspread. Either  $C_2$  and  $C_3$  must be adjusted for each band or separate preadjusted condensers must be switched in.

the bandspread, and vice versa. For a given will be bandspread will be greater if  $C_2$  is set at higher capacity.  $C_2$  may be mounted in the plug-in collapse, it is satisfied to be bound on the capacity of the content of the con



Fig. 5-8 — Essentials of the three basic bandspread tuning systems.

This requires a separate condenser for each band, but eliminates the necessity for resetting  $C_2$  each time the band is changed.

### Ganged Tuning

The tuning condensers of the several r.f. circuits may be coupled together mechanically and operated by a single control. However, this operating convenience involves more complicated construction, both electrically and mechanically. It becomes necessary to make the various circuits **track** — that is, tune to the same frequency at each setting of the tuning control.



Fig. 5.9 — Showing the use of a trimmer condenser to set the minimum circuit capacity in order to obtain true tracking for gang-tuning.

True tracking can be obtained only when the inductance, tuning condensers, and circuit inductances and minimum and maximum capacities are identical in all "ganged" stages. A small trimmer or padding condenser may be connected across the coil, so that variations in minimum capacity can be compensated. The fundamental circuit is shown in Fig. 5-9, where  $C_1$  is the trimmer and  $C_2$  the tuning condenser. The use of the trimmer necessarily increases the minimum circuit eapacity, but it is a necessity for satisfactory tracking. Midget condensers having maximum capacities of 15 to 30  $\mu\mu$ fd. are commonly used.

The same methods are applied to bandspread circuits that must be tracked. The circuits are identical with those of Fig. 5-8. If both general-coverage and bandspread tuning are to be available, an additional trimmer condenser must be connected across the coil in each circuit shown. If only amateur-band tuning is desired, however, then  $C_3$  in Fig. 5-8B, and  $C_2$  in Fig. 5-8C, serve as trimmers.

The coil inductance can be adjusted by starting with a larger number of turns than

For many years (up to about 1932) practieally the only type of receiver to be found in amateur stations consisted of a regenerative detector and one or more stages of audio amplification. Receivers of this type can be made quite sensitive but strong signals block them easily and, in our present crowded bands, they are seldom used except in emergencies. They have been replaced by **superheterodyne** receivers, generally called "superhets."

#### The Superheterodyne Principle

In a superheterodyne receiver, the frequency of the incoming signal is heterodyned to a new radio frequency, the **intermediate frequency** (abbreviated "i.f."), then amplified, and finally detected. The frequency is changed by modulating the output of a tunable oscillator (the high-frenecessary and removing a turn or fraction of a turn at a time until the circuits track satisfactorily. An alternative method, provided the inductance is reasonably elose to the correct value initially, is to make the coil so that the last turn is variable with respect to the whole coil, or to use a single short-circuited turn the position of which can be varied with respect to the coil. The application of these methods is shown in Fig. 5-10.

Still another method for trimming the inductance is to use an adjustable brass (or copper) or powdered-iron core. The brass core acts like a single shorted turn, and the inductance of the eoil is decreased as the brass core, or "slug," is moved into the coil. The powdered-iron core has the opposite effect, and *increases* the inductance as it is moved into the coil. The Q of the coil is not affected materially by the use of the brass slug, provided the brass slug has a clean surface or is silverplated. The use of the powdered-iron core will raise the Q of a coil, provided the iron is suitable for the frequency in use. Good powdered-iron cores can be obtained for use up to about 50 Mc.



Fig. 5-10 — Methods of adjusting the inductance for ganging. The half-turn in A can be moved so that its magnetic field either aids or opposes the field of the coil. The shorted loop in B is not connected to the coil, but operates by induction. It will have no effect on the coil inductance when the axis of the loop is perpendicular to the axis of the coil, and will give maximum reduction of the coil inductance when rotated  $90^\circ$ . The loop can be a solid disk of metal and give exactly the same effect.

### The Superheterodyne

quency, or local, oscillator) by the incoming signal in a mixer or converter stage (first detector) to produce a side frequency equal to the intermediate frequency. The other side frequency is rejected by selective circuits. The audiofrequency signal is obtained at the second detector. C.w. signals are made audible by autodyne or heterodyne reception at the second detector.

As a numerical example, assume that an intermediate frequency of 455 ke. is chosen and that the incoming signal is at 7000 kc. Then the high-frequency oscillator frequency may be set to 7455 kc., in order that one side frequency (7455 minus 7000) will be 455 kc. The high-frequency oscillator could also be set to 6545 kc. and give the same difference frequency. To produce an audible e.w. signal at

the second detector of, say, 1000 cycles, the autodyning or heterodyning oscillator would be set to either 454 or 456 kc.

The frequency-conversion process permits r.f. amplification at a relatively low frequency, the i.f. High selectivity and gain can be obtained at this frequency, and this selectivity and gain are constant. The separate oscillators can be designed for good stability and, since they are working at frequencies considerably removed from the signal frequencies (percentage-wise), they are not normally "pulled" by the incoming signal.

### Images

Each h.f. oscillator frequency will cause i.f. response at two signal frequencies, one higher and one lower than the oscillator frequency. If the oscillator is set to 7455 kc. to tune to a 7000-kc. signal, for example, the receiver can respond also to a signal on 7910 kc., which likewise gives a 455-kc. beat. The undesired signal is called the **image**. It can cause unnecessary interference if it isn't eliminated.

The radio-frequency circuits of the receiver (those used before the signal is heterodyned to the i.f.) normally are tuned to the desired signal, so that the selectivity of the circuits reduces or eliminates the response to the image signal. The ratio of the receiver voltage output from the desired signal to that from the image is called the signal-to-image ratio, or image ratio.

The image ratio depends upon the selectivity of the r.f. tuned circuits preceding the mixer tube. Also, the higher the intermediate frequency, the higher the image ratio, since raising the i.f. increases the frequency separation between the signal and the image and places the latter further away from the resonance peak of the signal-frequency input circuits. Most receiver designs represent a compromise between economy (few r.f. stages) and image rejection (large number of r.f. stages).

### Other Spurious Responses

In addition to images, other signals to which the receiver is not ostensibly tuned may be heard. Harmonics of the high-frequency oscillator may beat with signals far removed from the desired frequency to produce output at the intermediate frequency; such spurious responses can be reduced by adequate selectivity before the mixer stage, and by using sufficient shielding to prevent signal pick-up by any means other than the antenna. When a strong signal is received, the harmonics generated by rectification in the second detector may, by stray coupling, be introduced into the r.f. or mixer circuit and converted to the intermediate frequency, to go through the receiver in the same way as an ordinary signal. These "birdies" appear as a heterodyne beat on the desired signal, and are principally bothersome when the frequency of the incoming signal is not greatly different from the intermediate frequency. The cure is proper circuit isolation and shielding.

Harmonics of the beat oscillator also may be converted in similar fashion and amplified through the receiver; these responses can be reduced by shielding the beat oscillator and operating it at low power level.

### The Double Superheterodyne

At high and very-high frequencies it is difficult to secure an adequate image ratio when the intermediate frequency is of the order of 455 kc. To reduce image response the signal frequently is converted first to a rather high (1500, 5000, or even 10,000 kc.) intermediate frequency, and then — sometimes after further amplification — reconverted to a lower i.f. where higher adjacent-channel selectivity can be obtained. Such a receiver is called a double superheterodyne.

### FREQUENCY CONVERTERS

A circuit tuned to the intermediate frequency is placed in the plate circuit of the mixer, to offer a high impedance to the i.f. voltage that is developed. The signal- and oscillator-frequency voltages appearing in the plate circuit are rejected by the selectivity of this circuit. The i.f. tuned circuit should have low impedance for these frequencies, a condition easily met if they do not approach the intermediate frequency.

The conversion efficiency of the mixer is the ratio of i.f. output voltage from the plate circuit to r.f. signal voltage applied to the grid. High conversion efficiency is desirable. The mixer tube noise also should be low if a good signal-to-noise ratio is wanted, particularly if the mixer is the first tube in the receiver.

The mixer should not require too much r.f. power from the h.f. oscillator, since it may be difficult to supply the power and yet maintain good oscillator stability. Also, the conversion efficiency should not depend too critically on the oscillator voltage (that is, a small change in oscillator output should not change the gain), since it is difficult to maintain constant output over a wide frequency range.

A change in oscillator frequency caused by tuning of the mixer grid circuit is called pulling. Pulling should be minimized, because the stability of the whole receiver depends critically upon the stability of the h.f. oscillator. Pulling decreases with separation of the signal and h.f.oscillator frequencies, being less with high intermediate frequencies. Another type of pulling is caused by regulation in the power supply. Strong signals cause the supply voltage to change, and this in turn shifts the oscillator frequency.

### Circuits

If the first detector and high-frequency oscillator are separate tubes, the first detector is called a "mixer." If the two are combined in one envelope (as is often done for reasons of economy or

efficiency), the first detector is called a "converter." In either case the function is the same.

Typical mixer circuits are shown in Fig. 5-11. The variations are chiefly in the way in which the oscillator voltage is introduced. In 5-11A, a pentode functions as a plate detector; the oscillator voltage is capacity-coupled to the grid of the tube through C2. Inductive coupling may be used instead. The conversion gain and input selectivity generally are good, so long as the sum of the two voltages (signal and oscillator) impressed on the mixer grid does not exceed the grid bias. It is desirable to make the oscillator voltage as high as possible without exceeding this limitation. The oscillator power required is negligible. If the signal frequency is only 5 or 10 times the i.f., it may be difficult to develop enough oscillator voltage at the grid (because of the selectivity of the tuned input circuit). However, the circuit is a sensitive one and makes a good mixer, particularly with high-G<sub>m</sub> tubes like the 6AC7 and 6AK5. A good triode also works well in the circuit, and tubes like the 7F8 (one section), the 6J6 (one section), the 12AT7 (one section), and the 6J4 work well. When a triode is used, the signal frequency must be short-circuited in the plate circuit, and this is done by connecting the tuning capacitor of the i.f. transformer directly from plate to cathode.

It is difficult to avoid "pulling" in a triode or pentode mixer, and a pentagrid mixer tube provides much better isolation. A typical circuit is shown in Fig. 5-11B, and tubes like the 68A7, 7Q7 or 6BE6 are commonly used. The oscillator voltage is introduced through an "injection" grid. Measurement of the rectified current flowing in  $R_2$  is used as a check for proper oscillator-voltage amplitude. Tuning of the signal-grid circuit can have little effect on the oscillator frequency because the injection grid is isolated from the signal grid by a screen grid that is at r.f. ground potential. The pentagrid mixer is much noisier than a triode or pentode mixer, but its isolating characteristics make it a very useful device.

Many receivers use pentagrid converters, and two typical circuits are shown in Fig. 5-12. The circuit shown in Fig. 5-12A, which is suitable for the 6K8, is for a "triode-hexode" converter. A triode oscillator tube is mounted in the same envelope with a hexode, and the control grid of the oscillator portion is connected internally to an injection grid in the hexode. The isolation



Fig. 5-11 — Typical circuits for separately-excited mixers, Grid injection of a pentode mixer is shown at A, and separate excitation of a pentagrid converter is given in B. Typical values for B will be found in Table 5-1 the values below are for the pentode mixer of A.  $C_1 \rightarrow 0$  to 50 mg/d.  $B_2 \rightarrow 1.0$  mergohm.

$\chi_{ij} = 10 \text{ to so } \mu\mu\mu$	It's tro thegonities
$C_2 - 5$ to 10 $\mu\mu$ fd.	<ul> <li>R<sub>3</sub> — 0,47 megohm.</li> </ul>
$C_3, C_4, C_5 - 0.001 \ \mu fd.$	R <sub>4</sub> — 1500 ohms.
Ry 6800 ohms	

Positive supply voltage can be 250 volts with a 6AC7, 150 with a 6AK5.

between oscillator and converter tube is reasonably good, and very little pulling results, except on signal frequencies that are quite large compared with the i.f.

The pentagrid-converter circuit shown in Fig. 5-12B can be used with a tube like the 6SA7, 6SB7Y, 6BA7 or 6BE6. Generally the only care necessary is to adjust the feed-back of the oscillator circuit to give the proper oscillator r.f. voltage. This condition is checked by measuring the d.c. current flowing in grid resistor  $R_2$ .

A more stable receiver generally results, particularly at the higher frequencies, when separate tubes are used for the mixer and oscillator. Practically the same number of circuit com-

TABLE 5-I								
Circuit and Operating Values for Converter Tubes Plate voltage=250 Screen voltage=100, or through specified resistor from 250 volts								
		SELF-	EXCITED			SEPARAT	e Excitati	ION
Tube	Cathode Resistor	Screen Resistor	Grid Leak	Grid Current	Cathode Resistor	Screen Resistor	Grid Leak	Grid Current
6BA7 <sup>1</sup> . 6BE6 <sup>1</sup> .	. 0	12,000 22,000	22,000 22,000	0.35 ma. 0.5	68 150	15,000 22,000	22,000 22,000	0.35 ma. 0.5
6K8 <sup>2</sup> (6AE8 <sup>1</sup> ) 6SA7 <sup>2</sup> (7Q7 <sup>3</sup> ) 6SB7Y <sup>2</sup>	0	27,000 18,000 15,000	47,000 22,000 22,000	0.15-0.2 0.5 0.35	150 68	18,000 15,000	22,000 22,000	0.5 0.35
<sup>1</sup> Miniature tube <sup>2</sup> Octal base, metal. <sup>3</sup> Lock-in base.								





Fig. 5-12 — Typical circuits for triole-hexode (A) and pentagrid (B) converters. Values for  $R_1$ ,  $R_2$  and  $R_3$  can be found in Table 5-1; others are given below.  $C_1 - 47$  µµfd.  $C_3 - 0.01$ µfd.  $C_2$ ,  $C_4$ ,  $C_5 - 0.001$ µfd.  $R_4 - 1000$  ohms.

ponents is required whether or not a combination tube is used, so that there is very little difference to be realized from the cost standpoint.

Typical circuit constants for converter tubes are given in Table 5-1. The grid leak referred to is the oscillator grid leak or injection-grid return,  $R_2$  of Figs. 5-11 and 5-12.

The effectiveness of converter tubes of the type just described becomes less as the signal frequency is increased. Some oscillator voltage will be coupled to the signal grid through "spacecharge" coupling, an effect that increases with frequency. If there is relatively little frequency difference between oscillator and signal, as for example a 14- or 28-Mc. signal and an i.f. of 455 kc., this voltage can become considerable because the selectivity of the signal circuit will be unable to reject it. If the signal grid is not returned directly to ground, but instead is returned through a resistor or part of an a.v.c. system, considerable bias can be developed which will cut down the gain. For this reason, and to reduce image response, the i.f. following the first converter of a receiver should be not less than 5 or 10 percent of the signal frequency, for best results.

### **Audio Converters**

Converter circuits of the type shown in Fig. 5-12 can be used to advantage in the reception of c.w. and single-sideband suppressed-career signals, by introducing the local oscillator on the No. 1 grid, the signal on the No. 3 grid, and working the tube into an audio load. Its operation can

# **CHAPTER 5**

be visualized as heterodyning the incoming signal into the audio range. The use of such circuits for audio conversion has been limited to selective i.f. amplifiers operating below 500 kc. and usually below 100 kc. An ordinary a.m. signal cannot be received on such a detector unless the tuning is adjusted to make the local oscillator zero-beat with the incoming carrier.

Since the beat oscillator modulates the electron stream completely, a large beat-oscillator component exists in the plate circuit. To prevent overload of the following audio amplifier stages, an adequate i.f. filter must be used in the output of the converter.

### THE HIGH-FREQUENCY OSCILLATOR

Stability of the receiver is dependent chiefly upon the stability of the h.f. oscillator, and particular care should be given this part of the receiver. The frequency of oscillation should be insensitive to mechanical shock and changes



Fig. 5-13 — High-frequency oscillator circuits. A, pentode grounded-plate oscillator; B, triode groundedplate oscillator; C, triode oscillator with tickler circuit. Goupling to the mixer may be taken from points X and Y. In A and B, coupling from Y will reduce pulling effects, but gives less voltage than from X; this type is best adapted to mixer circuits with small oscillator-voltage requirements. Typical values for components are as follows:

	Circuit A	Circuit B	Circuit C
$\overline{C_1}$	100 µµfd.	100 µµfd.	100 µµfd.
C2	0.1 µfd.	0.1 µfd.	0.1 µfd.
$\begin{array}{c} C_3 \\ R_1 \\ R_2 \end{array}$	0.1 μfd. 47,000 ohnis. 47,000 ohnis.	47,000 ohms. 10,000 to 25,000 ohms.	47,000 ohms. 10,000 to 25,000 ohms.

The plate-supply voltage should be 250 volts. In circuits B and C,  $R_2$  is used to drop the supply voltage to 100-150 volts; it may be omitted if voltage is obtained from a voltage divider in the power supply.

in voltage and loading. Thermal effects (slow change in frequency because of tube or circuit heating) should be minimized. They can be reduced by using ceramic instead of bakelite insulation in the r.f. circuits, a large cabinet relative to the chassis (to provide for good radiation of developed heat), minimizing the number of high-wattage resistors in the receiver and putting them in the separate power supply, and not mounting the oscillator coils and tuning eondenser too close to a tube. Propping up the lid of a receiver will often reduce drift by lowering the terminal temperature of the unit.

Sensitivity to vibration and shock can be minimized by using good mechanical support for eoils and tuning condensers, a heavy chassis, and by not hanging any of the oscillator-circuit components on long leads. Tie-points should be used to avoid long leads. Stiff *short* leads are excellent because they can't be made to vibrate.

Smooth tuning is a great convenience to the operator, and can be obtained by taking pains with the mounting of the dial and tuning condensers. They should have good alignment and no back-lash. If the condensers are mounted off the chassis on posts instead of brackets, it is almost impossible to avoid some back-lash unless the posts have extra-wide bases. The condensers should be selected with good wiping contacts to the rotor, since with age the rotor contacts can be a source of erratic tuning. All joints in the oscillator tuning circuit should be carefully soldered, because a loose connection or "rosin joint" can develop trouble that is sometimes hard to locate. The chassis and panel materials should be heavy and rigid enough so that pressure on the tuning dial will not cause torsion and a shift in the frequency.

In addition, the oscillator must be capable of furnishing sufficient r.f. voltage and power for the particular mixer circuit chosen, at all frequencies within the range of the receiver, and its harmonie output should be as low as possible to reduce the possibility of spurious responses.

The oscillator plate power should be as low as is consistent with adequate output. Low plate power will reduce tube heating and thereby lower the frequency drift. The oscillator and mixer circuits should be well isolated, preferably by shielding, since coupling other than by the intended means may result in pulling.

If the h.f.-oscillator frequency is affected by changes in plate voltage, a voltage-regulated plate supply (VR tube) can be used.

### Circuits

Several oscillator circuits are shown in Fig. 5-13. The point at which output voltage is taken for the mixer is indicated in each case by X or Y. Circuits A and B will give about the same results, and require only one coil. However, in these two circuits the cathode is above ground potential for r.f., which often is a cause of hum modulation of the oscillator output at 14 Me, and higher frequencies when a.c.-heated-cathode tubes are used. The circuit of Fig. 5-13C reduces hum because the cathode is grounded. It is simple to adjust, and it is also the best circuit to use with filament-type tubes. With filament-type tubes, the other two circuits would require r.f. chokes to keep the filament above r.f. ground.

Besides the use of a fairly high C/L ratio in the tuned circuit, it is necessary to adjust the feed-back to obtain optimum results. Too much feed-back may cause the oscillator to "squeg" and generate several frequencies simultaneously; too little feed-back will cause the output to be low. In the tapped-coil circuits (A, B), the feedback is increased by moving the tap toward the grid end of the coil. Using the oscillator shown at C, feed-back is obtained by increasing the number of turns on  $L_2$  or by moving  $L_2$  closer to  $L_1$ .

### The Intermediate-Frequency Amplifier

One major advantage of the superhet is that high gain and selectivity can be obtained by using a good i.f. amplifier. This can be a onestage affair in simple receivers, or two or three stages in the more elaborate sets.

### Choice of Frequency

The selection of an intermediate frequency is a compromise between conflicting factors. The lower the i.f. the higher the selectivity and gain, but a low i.f. brings the image nearer the desired signal and hence decreases the image ratio. A low i.f. also increases pulling of the oscillator frequency. On the other hand, a high i.f. is beneficial to both image ratio and pulling, but the selectivity and gain are lowered. The difference in gain is least important.

An i.f. of the order of 455 kc, gives good selectivity and is satisfactory from the standpoint of image ratio and oscillator pulling at frequencies up to 7 Mc. The image ratio is poor at 14 Mc. when the mixer is connected to the antenna, but adequate when there is a tuned r.f. amplifier between antenna and mixer. At 28 Mc. and on the very-high frequencies, the image ratio is very poor unless several r.f. stages are used. Above 14 Mc., pulling is likely to be bad unless very loose coupling can be used between mixer and oscillator.

With an i.f. of about 1600 kc., satisfactory image ratios can be secured on 14, 21 and 28 Mc. but the i.f. selectivity is considerably lower. For frequencies of 28 Mc. and higher, the best solution is to use a double superheterodyne, choosing one high i.f. for image reduction (5 and 10 Mc. are frequently used) and a lower one for gain and selectivity.

In choosing an i.f. it is wise to avoid frequencies on which there is considerable activity by the various radio services, since such signals may be picked up directly on the i.f. wiring. Shifting the i.f. or better shielding are the solutions to this interference problem.

### Fidelity; Sideband Cutting

Modulation of a carrier causes the generation of sideband frequencies numerically equal to the carrier frequency plus and minus the highest modulation frequency present. If the receiver is to give a faithful reproduction of modulation that contains, for instance, audio frequencies up to 5000 cycles, it must at least be capable of amplifying equally all frequencies contained in a band extending from 5000 cycles above or below the carrier frequency. In a superheterodyne, where all carrier frequencies are changed to the fixed intermediate frequency, this means that the i.f. amplifier should amplify equally well all frequencies within that band. In other words, the amplification must be uniform over a band 5 ke, wide, when the carrier is set at one edge. If the carrier is set in the center, a 10-kc, band is required. The signal-frequency circuits usually do not have enough over-all selectivity to affect materially the "adjacentchannel" selectivity, so that only the i.f.-amplifier selectivity need be considered.

If the selectivity is too great to permit uniform amplification over the band of frequencies occupied by the modulated signal, some of the sidebands are "cut." While sideband cutting reduces fidelity, it is frequently preferable to sacrifice naturalness of reproduction in favor of communications effectiveness.

The selectivity of an i.f. amplifier, and hence the tendency to cut sidebands, increases with the number of amplifier stages and also is greater the lower the intermediate frequency. From the standpoint of communication, sideband cutting is never serious with two-stage amplifiers at frequencies as low as 455 kc. A two-stage i.f. amplifier at 85 or 100 kc. will be sharp enough to cut some of the higher-frequency sidebands, if good transformers are used. However, the cutting is not at all serious, and the gain in selectivity is worthwhile if the receiver is used in the lowerfrequency bands.

### Circuits

I.f. amplifiers usually consist of one or two stages. At 455 ke, two stages generally give all the gain usable, and also give suitable selectivity for 'phone reception.

A typical circuit arrangement is shown in Fig. 5-14. A second stage would simply duplicate the circuit of the first. The i.f. amplifier practically always uses a remote cut-off pentode-type tube operated as a Class A amplifier. For maximum selectivity, double-tuned transformers are used for interstage coupling, although single-tuned circuits or transformers with untuned primaries can be used for coupling, with a consequent loss in selectivity. All other things being equal, the selectivity of an i.f. amplifier is proportional to the number of tuned circuits in it. In Fig. 5-14, the gain of the stage is reduced by introducing a negative voltage to the lead marked "to a.v.c." or a positive voltage to  $R_1$ at the point marked "to manual gain control." In either case, the voltage increases the bias on the tube and reduces the mutual conductance and hence the gain. When two or more stages are used, these voltages are generally obtained from common sources. The decoupling resistor,  $R_3$ , helps to prevent unwanted interstage coupling.  $C_2$  and  $R_4$  are part of the automatic volumecontrol circuit (described later); if no a.v.c. is used, the lower end of the i.f.-transformer secondary is connected to ground.

In a two-stage amplifier the screen grids of both stages may be fed from a common supply, either through a resistor  $(R_2)$  as shown, the screens being connected in parallel, or from a voltage divider across the plate supply. Separate screen voltage-dropping resistors are preferable for preventing undesired coupling between stages.

Typical values of eathode and screen resistors for common tubes are given in Table 5-II. The 6K7, 6SK7, 6BJ6 and 7II7 are recommended for i.f. work. The indicated screen resistors drop the plate voltage to the correct screen voltage, as  $R_2$  in Fig. 5-14.

When two stages are used the high gain will tend to cause instability and oscillation, so that good shielding, by-passing, and careful circuit arrangement to prevent stray coupling, with exposed r.f. leads well separated, are necessary.

### I.F. Transformers

The tuned circuits of i.f. amplifiers are built up as transformer units consisting of a metal shield container in which the coils and tuning condensers are mounted. Both air-core and powdered iron-core universal-wound coils are used, the latter having somewhat higher Qs and hence greater selectivity and gain. In universal windings the coil is wound in layers with each turn traversing the length of the coil, back and forth, rather than being wound perpendicular to the axis as in ordinary single-layer coils. In a straight multilayer winding, a fairly large



Fig. 5-14 — Typical intermediate-frequency amplifier circuit for a superheterodyne receiver. Representative values for components are as follows:

 $C_1 \rightarrow 0.1 \ \mu fd.$  at 455 kc.: 0.01  $\mu fd.$  at 1600 kc. and higher.  $C_2 \rightarrow 0.01 \ \mu fd.$ 

C<sub>3</sub>, C<sub>4</sub>, C<sub>5</sub> = 0.1  $\mu$ fd. at 455 kc.; 0.01  $\mu$ fd, above 1600 kc. R<sub>1</sub>, R<sub>2</sub> = See Table 5-11. R<sub>3</sub> = 1800 ohms. R<sub>4</sub> = 0.22 megohm.





PERMEABILITY TUNED

Fig. 5-15 — Representative i.f.-transformer construction. Coils are supported on insulating tabing or (in the air-tuned type) on wax-impregnated wooden dowels. The shield in the air-tuned transformer prevents capacity coupling between the tuning condensers. In the permeability-tuned transformer the cores consist of finely-divided iron particles supported in an insulating binder, formed into cylindrical "plugs." The tuning capacity is fixed, and the inductances of the coils are varied by moving the iron plugs in and out.

capacity can exist between layers. Universal winding, with its "criss-crossed" turns, tends to reduce distributed-capacity effects.

For tuning, air-dielectrie tuning condensers are preferable to mica compression types because their capacity is practically unaffected by changes in temperature and humidity. Iron-core transformers may be tuned by varying the inductance (permeability tuning), in which case stability comparable to that of variable air-condenser tuning can be obtained by use of high-stability fixed mica condensers. Such stability is of great importance, since a circuit whose frequency "drifts" with time eventually will be tuned to a different frequency than the other circuits, thereby reducing the gain and selectivity of the amplifier. Typical i.f.-transformer construction is shown in Fig. 5-15.

Besides the type of i.f. transformer shown in Fig. 5-15, special units to give desired selectivity characteristics are available. For higherthan-ordinary adjacent-channel selectivity tripletuned transformers, with a third tuned circuit inserted between the input and output windings, are sometimes used. The energy is transferred from the input to the output windings via this tertiary winding, thus adding its selectivity to the over-all selectivity of the transformer. Variable-selectivity transformers also can be obtained. These usually are provided with a third (untuned) winding which can be connected to a resistor, thereby loading the tuned circuits and decreasing the Q to broaden the selectivity curve. The resistor is switched in and out of the circuit to vary the selectivity. Another method is to vary the coupling between primary and secondary, overcoupling being used to broaden the selectivity curve. Special circuits using single tuned circuits, coupled in any of several different ways, are used in some applications.

### Selectivity

The over-all selectivity of the r.f. amplifier will depend on the frequency and the number of stages. The following figures are indicative of the bandwidths to be expected with goodquality transformers in amplifiers so constructed as to keep regeneration at a minimum:

	Bandwidth in Kilocycles		
	6 db.	20 db.	40 db.
Intermediate Frequency	down	down	down
One stage, 50 kc. (iron core)	0.8	1.4	2.8
One stage, 455 kc. (air core). , ,	8.7	17.8	32.3
One stage, 455 ke, (iron core).	4.3	10.3	20.4
Two stages, 455 kc. (iron core).	2.9	6.4	10.8
Two stages, 1600 ke	11.0	16.6	27.4
Two stages, 5000 kc	25.8	46.0	100.0

### **Tubes for I.F. Amplifiers**

Variable- $\mu$  (remote cut-off) pentodes are almost invariably used in i.f. amplifier stages, since grid-bias gain control is practically always applied to the i.f. amplifier. Tubes with high plate resistance will have least effect on the selectivity of the amplifier, and those with high mutual conductance will give greatest gain. The choice of i.f. tubes has practically no effect on the signal-to-noise ratio, since this is determined by the preceding mixer and r.f. amplifier.

When single-ended tubes are used, the plate and grid leads should be well separated. With these tubes it is advisable to mount the screen by-pass condenser directly on the bottom of the socket, crosswise between the plate and grid pins, to provide additional shielding. The outside foil of the condenser should be grounded.

### THE SECOND DETECTOR AND BEAT OSCILLATOR

### **Detector Circuits**

The second detector of a superheterodyne receiver performs the same function as the detector in the simple receiver, but usually operates at a higher input level because of the relatively

			creen-Drop or I.F. Amj	
Tube	Pl •te Volts	Screen Volts	Cathode Resistor	Screen Resistor
6AB71*	300		200 ohms	33,000 ohms
6.1('7)	300		160	62,000
6AK52	180	120	200	27,000
6AU 62	250	150	68	33.000
6BA62*	250	100	68	33.000
6B1162	250	150	100	33,000
6BJ62*	250	100	82	47,000
6J71	250	100	1200	270,000
6K71*	250	125	240	47.000
68(171*	250	125	68	27,000
6SJ71*	250	150	200	47.000
6SĤ71	250	150	68	39,000
68J71	250	100	820	180.000
6SK71*	250	100	270	56,000
7G7/12323	250	100	270	68,000
71173*	250	150	180	27,000
<sup>1</sup> Octal base	e, metal.	2 Min	iature tube.	<sup>8</sup> Lock-in base.

# **CHAPTER 5**



great amplification ahead of it. Therefore, the ability to handle large signals without distortion is preferable to high sensitivity. Plate detection is used to some extent, but the diode detector is most popular. It is especially adapted to furnishing automatic gain or volume control. The basic circuits have been described, although in many cases the diode elements are incorporated in a multipurpose tube that contains an amplifier section in addition to the diode.

### The Beat Oscillator

Any standard oscillator circuit may be used for the beat oscillator required for heterodyne reception. Special beat-oscillator transformers are available, usually consisting of a tapped coil with adjustable tuning; these are most conveniently used with the circuits shown in Fig. 5-13A and B, with the output taken from Y. A variable condenser of about  $25-\mu\mu fd$ . capacity may be connected between cathode and ground to provide fine adjustment of the frequency. The beat oscillator usually is coupled to the seconddetector tuned circuit through a fixed condenser of a few  $\mu\mu fd$ . capacity.

The beat oscillator should be well shielded, to prevent coupling to any part of the receiver except the second detector and to prevent its harmonics from getting into the front end and being amplified along with desired signals. The b.f.o. power should be as low as is consistent with sufficient audio-frequency output on the strongest signals. However, if the beat-oscillator output is too low, strong signals will not give a proportionately strong audio signal. Contrary to some opinion, a weak b.f.o. is never an advantage.

### AUTOMATIC VOLUME CONTROL

Automatic regulation of the gain of the receiver in inverse proportion to the signal strength is an operating convenience in 'phone reception, since it tends to keep the output level of the receiver constant regardless of input-signal strength. The average rectified d.c. voltage, developed by the received signal across a resistance in a detector circuit, is used to vary the bias on the r.f. and i.f. amplifier tubes. Since this voltage is proportional to the average amplitude of the signal, the gain is reduced as the signal strength becomes greater. The control will be more complete as the number of stages to which the a.v.c. bias is applied is increased. Control of at least two stages is advisable.

### Circuits

A typical circuit using a diode-triode type tube as a combined a.v.c. rectifier, detector and first audio amplifier is shown in Fig. 5-16. One plate of the diode section of the tube is used for signal detection and the other for a.v.c. rectification. The a.v.c. diode plate is fed from the detector diode through the small coupling condenser,  $C_3$ . A negative bias voltage resulting from the flow of rectified carrier current is developed across  $R_4$ , the diode load resistor. This negative voltage is applied to the grids of the controlled stages through the filtering resistors,  $R_5$ ,  $R_6$ ,  $R_7$  and  $R_8$ . When  $S_1$  is closed the a.v.c. line is grounded, removing the a.v.c. bias from the amplifiers.

It does not matter which of the two diode plates is selected for audio and which for a.v.e. Frequently the two plates are connected together and used as a combined detector and a.v.e. rectifier. This could be done in Fig. 5-16. The a.v.e. filter and line would connect to the junction of  $R_2$  and  $C_2$ , while  $C_3$  and  $R_4$  would be omitted from the circuit.

### Delayed A.V.C.

In Fig. 5-16 the audio-diode return is made directly to the cathode and the a.v.c. diode is returned to ground. This places bias on the a.v.c. diode equal to the d.c. drop through the cathode resistor (a volt or two) and thus delays the application of a.v.c. voltage to the amplifier grids, since no rectification takes place in the a.v.c. diode circuit until the carrier amplitude is large enough to overcome the bias. Without this delay the a.v.c. would start working even with a very small signal. This is undesirable, because the full amplification of the receiver then could not be realized on weak signals. In the audio-diode circuit fixed bias would cause distortion, so the return there is directly to the cathode.

The time constant of the resistor-condenser combinations in the a.v.c. circuit is an important part of the system. It must be high enough so that the modulation on the signal is completely filtered from the d.c. output, leaving only an average d.c. component which follows the relatively slow carrier variations with fading. Audiofrequency variations in the a.v.c. voltage applied to the amplifier grids would reduce the percentage of modulation on the incoming signal. But the time constant must not be too great or the a.v.c. will be unable to follow rapid fading. The capacitance and resistance values indicated in Fig. 5-16 will give a time constant that is satisfactory for average reception.

### C.W.

A.v.c. can be used for c.w. reception but the circuit is more complicated. The a.v.c. voltage must be derived from a rectifier that is isolated from the beat-frequency oscillator (otherwise the rectified b.f.o. voltage will reduce the receiver gain even with no signal coming through). This is generally done by using a separate a.v.c. channel connected to an i.f. amplifier stage ahead of the second detector (and b.f.o.). If the selectivity ahead of the a.v.c. rectifier isn't good, strong adjacent signals will develop a.v.c. voltages that will reduce the receiver gain while listening to weak signals. When clear channels are available,

however, c.w. a.v.c. will hold the receiver output constant over a wide range of signal input. A.v.c. systems designed to work on c.w. signals must have fairly long time constants to work with slow-speed sending, and often a selection of time constants is made available.

### Amplified A.V.C.

The a.v.c. system shown in Fig. 5-16 will not hold the audio output of the receiver exactly constant, although the variation becomes less as more stages are controlled by the a.v.c. voltage. The variation also becomes less as the delay voltage is increased, although there will, of course, be variation in output if the signal intensity is below the delay-voltage level at the a.v.c. rectifier. In the circuit of Fig. 5-16, the delay voltage is set by the proper operating bias for the triode portion of the tube. However, a separate diode may be used, as shown in Fig. 5-17A. Since such a system requires a large voltage at the diode, a separate i.f. stage is sometimes used to feed the delayed a.v.c. diode, as in Fig. 5-17B. A system like this, often called an "amplified a.v.c." system, gives superlative control action, since it maintains full receiver sensitivity for weak signals and substantially uniform audio output over a very wide range of signal strengths. To avoid a slight decrease in signal volume "on tune," the transformer coupling  $V_2$  to  $V_3$  should not be selective.



Fig. 5-17 - Delayed a.v.c. is shown at A, and amplified and delayed a.v.e. is shown in B. The circuit at B gives excellent a.v.c. action over a wide range, with no impairment of sensitivity for weak signals. For either eireuit, typical values are:  $C_1 = 0.001 \ \mu fd.$ 

 $C_2 - 100 \ \mu\mu fd.$ 

 $R_1, R_2 = 1.0$  megohm.  $R_3, R_4 = Voltage divider.$ 

Resistors  $R_3$  and  $R_4$  are carefully proportioned to give the desired delay voltage at the cathode of diode  $V_2$ . Bleeder current of 1 or 2 ma. is ample, and hence the bleeder can be figured on 1000 or 500 ohms per volt. The delay voltage should be in the vicinity of 3 or 4 for a simple receiver and 10 or 20 in the case of a multitube high-gain affair.

### **Noise Reduction**

### Types of Noise

In addition to tube and circuit noise, much of the noise interference experienced in reception of high-frequency signals is caused by domestic or industrial electrical equipment and by automobile ignition systems. The interference is of two types in its effects. The first is the "hiss" type, consisting of overlapping pulses similar in nature to the receiver noise. It is largely reduced by high selectivity in the receiver, especially for code reception. The second is the "pistol-shot" or "machine-gun" type, consisting of separated impulses of high amplitude. The "hiss" type of interference usually is caused by commutator sparking in d.c. and series-wound a.c. motors, while the "shot" type results from separated spark discharges (a.e. power leaks, switch and key clicks, ignition sparks, and the like).

The only known approach to reducing tube and circuit noise is through better "front-end" design and through more over-all selectivity.

### Impulse Noise

Impulse noise, because of the short duration of the pulses compared with the time between them, must have high amplitude to contain much average energy. Hence, noise of this type strong enough to cause much interference generally has an instantaneous amplitude much higher than that of the signal being received. The general principles of devices intended to reduce such noise is to allow the desired signal





Fig. 5.18 — Series-valve noise-limiter circuits. A, as<br/>used with an infinite-impedance detector: B, with a diode<br/>detector. Typical values for components are as follows:<br/>  $R_1 = 0.27$  megohm.  $R_4 = 20,000$  to 47,000 ohms.<br/>  $R_2 = 47,000$  ohms.  $C_1 = 270 \ \mu \text{pfd}$ .<br/>  $R_3 = 10,000$  ohms.  $C_2, C_3 = 0.1 \ \mu \text{fd}$ .

All other diode-circuit constants in B are conventional.

to pass through the receiver unaffected, but to make the receiver inoperative for amplitudes greater than that of the signal. The greater the amplitude of the pulse compared with its time of duration, the more successful the noise reduction.

Another approach is to "silence" (render inoperative) the receiver during the short duration time of any individual pulse. The listener will not hear the "hole" because of its short duration, and very effective noise reduction is obtained. Such devices are called "silencers" rather than "limiters."

In passing through selective receiver circuits, the time duration of the impulses is increased, because of the Q of the circuits. Thus the more selectivity ahead of the noise-reducing device, the more difficult it becomes to secure good pulse-type noise suppression.

### Audio Limiting

A considerable degree of noise reduction in code reception can be accomplished by amplitude-limiting arrangements applied to the audio-output circuit of a receiver. Such limiters also maintain the signal output nearly constant during fading. These output-limiter systems are simple, and adaptable to most receivers. However, they cannot prevent noise peaks from overloading previous stages.

### SECOND-DETECTOR NOISE LIMITER CIRCUITS

The circuit of Fig. 5-18 "chops" noise peaks at the second detector of a superhet receiver by means of a biased diode, which becomes nonconducting above a predetermined signal level. The audio output of the detector must pass through the diode to the grid of the amplifier tube. The diode normally would be nonconducting with the connections shown were it not for the fact that it is given positive bias from a 30-volt source through the adjustable potentiometer,  $R_3$ . Resistors  $R_1$  and  $R_2$  must be fairly large in value to prevent loss of audio signal.

The audio signal from the detector can be considered to modulate the steady diode current, and conduction will take place so long as the diode plate is positive with respect to the cathode. When the signal is sufficiently large to swing the cathode positive with respect to the plate, however, conduction ceases, and that portion of the signal is cut off from the audio amplifier. The point at which cut-off occurs can be selected by adjustment of  $R_3$ . By setting  $R_3$  so that the signal just passes through the "valve," noise pulses higher in amplitude than the signal will be cut off. The circuit of Fig. 5-18A, using an infinite-impedance detector, gives a positive voltage on rectifi-



cation. When the rectified voltage is negative, as it is from the usual diode detector, the circuit arrangement shown in Fig. 5-18B must be used.

An audio signal of about ten volts is required for good limiting action. The limiter will work on either c.w. or 'phone signals, but in either ease the potentiometer must be set at a point determined by the strength of the incoming signal.

Second-detector noise-limiting circuits that automatically adjust themselves to the receiver carrier level are shown in Fig. 5-19. In either circuit,  $V_1$  is the usual diode second detector,  $R_1R_2$  is the diode load resistor, and  $C_1$  is an r.f. by-pass. A negative voltage proportional to the carrier level is developed across  $C_2$ , and this voltage cannot change rapidly because  $R_3$  and  $C_2$ are both large. In the circuit at A, diode  $V_2$  acts as a conductor for the audio signal up to the point where its anode is negative with respect to the cathode. Noise peaks that exceed the maximum carrier-modulation level will drive the anode negative instantaneously, and during this time the diode does not conduct. The large time constant of  $C_2R_3$  prevents any rapid change of the reference voltage. In the circuit at B, the diode  $V_2$  is inactive until its eathode voltage exceeds its anode voltage. This condition will obtain under noise peaks and, when it does, the diode  $V_2$  short-circuits the signal and no voltage is passed on to the audio amplifier. Diode rectifiers such as the 6H6 and 6AL5 can be used for these types of noise limiters. Neither circuit is useful for c.w. reception, but they are both quite effective for 'phone work. The series circuit (A) is slightly better than the shunt circuit.

### I.F. Noise Silencer

In the circuit shown in Fig. 5-20, noise pulses are made to decrease the gain of an i.f. stage momentarily and thus silence the receiver for the duration of the pulse. Any noise voltage in excess of the desired signal's maximum i.f. voltage is taken off at the grid of the i.f. amplifier, amplified by the noise-amplifier stage, and rectified by the full-wave diode noise rectifier. The noise circuits are tuned to the i.f. The rectified noise voltage is applied as a pulse of negative bias to the No. 3 grid of the 6L7 i.f. amplifier, wholly or partially disabling this stage for the duration of the individual noise voltage. The noise-amplifier/rectifier circuit is biased by means of the Fig. 5-19 — Self-adjusting series (A) and shunt (B) noise limiters, The functions of  $V_1$  and  $V_2$  can be combined in one tube like the 6116 or 6A1.5.  $C_1 = 100 \ \mu\mu fd$ .  $C_2, C_3 = 0.05 \ \mu fd$ .  $R_1 = 0.27 \ mgs$  in A; 47,000 ohms

 $R_2 = 0.27$  meg. in A; 0.15 meg. in B.  $R_2 = 1.0$  meg. in A; 0.15 meg.

 $R_3 = 1.0$  megohm.  $R_4 = 0.82$  megohm.

R5 - 6800 ohms.

"threshold control,"  $R_2$ , so that rectification will not start until the noise voltage exceeds the desired signal amplitude. With automatic volume control the a.v.c. voltage can be applied to the grid of the noise amplifier, to augment this threshold bias. In a typical instance, this system improved the signal-to-noise ratio some 30 db. (power ratio of 1000) with heavy ignition interference, raising the signal-to-noise ratio from -10 db. without the silencer to +20 db. with the silencer.

### SIGNAL-STRENGTH AND TUNING INDICATORS

An indicator that will show relative signal strength is a useful receiver accessory. It is an aid in giving reports to transmitting stations, and it is helpful in aligning the receiver circuits, in conjunction with a test oscillator or other steady signal.

Two types of indicators are shown in Fig. 5-21. That at  $\Lambda$  uses an electron-ray tube, several types of which are available. The grid of the triode section usually is connected to the a.v.c. line. The particular type of tube used depends upon the voltage available for its grid; where the



Fig. 5-20 — I.f. noise-silencing circuit. The plate supply should be 250 volts. Typical values for components are:  $C_1 = 50 - 250 \ \mu\mu fd$ . (use smallest value possible without r.f. feed-back).

a.v.c. voltage is large, a remote cut-off type (6G5, 6N5 or 6AD6G) should be used in preference to the sharp cut-off type (6E5).

The system at B uses a milliammeter in a bridge circuit, arranged so that the meter readings increase with the signal strength. The voltage developed by the a.v.c. circuit is approximately a logarithmic function of the signal, so if the plate current of the tube is proportional to the grid voltage, the meter will read according to a linear decibel scale and will not be "crowded" at some point.

To adjust the system in Fig. 5-21B, pull the tube out of its socket or otherwise break the cathode circuit so that no plate current flows, and adjust the value of resistor  $R_1$  across the meter until the scale reading is maximum. The value of resistance required will depend on the internal resistance of the meter, and must be determined by trial and error (the current is approximately 2.5 ma.). Then replace the tube, allow it to warm up. turn the a.v.c. switch to "off" so the grid is shorted to ground, and adjust the 3000-ohm variable resistor for zero meter current. When the a.v.c, is "on," the meter will follow the signal variations up to the point where the voltage is high enough to cut off the meter tube's plate current. This will occur in the neighborhood of 15 volts with a 6J5 or 6SN7GT, and represents a rather high-amplitude signal.

The bridge circuit, while not exactly linear, is quite satisfactory from a practical standpoint. It will handle a signal range of well over 80 db. The meter cannot be "pinned" because



CHAPTER 5

Fig. 5-21 — Tuning-indicator or S-meter circuits for superheterodyne receivers. A, electron-ray indicator: B, bridge circuit for a.v.c.-controlled tube. MA = 0-1 or 0-2 milliammeter.  $R_1 = See$  text.

the maximum reading occurs when the tube plate current is driven to zero, at which point further increases in a.v.c. bias cause no change.

# **Improving Receiver Selectivity**

### INTERMEDIATE-FREQUENCY AMPLIFIERS

As mentioned earlier in this chapter, one of the big advantages of the superheterodyne receiver is the improved selectivity that is possible. This selectivity is obtained in the i.f. amplifier, where the lower frequency allows more selectivity per stage than at the higher signal frequency. For 'phone reception, the limit to useful selectivity in the i.f. amplifier is the point where so many of the sidebands are cut that intelligibility is lost, although it is possible to remove completely one full set of side-bands without impairing the quality at all. Maximum receiver selectivity in 'phone reception requires good stability in both transmitter and receiver, so that they will both remain "in tune" during the transmission. The limit to useful selectivity in code work is around 100 or 200 cycles for hand-key speeds, but this much selectivity requires good stability in both transmitter and receiver, and a slow receiver tuning rate for ease of operation.

### Single-Signal Effect

In heterodyne c.w. reception with a superheterodyne receiver, the beat oscillator is set to give a suitable audio-frequency beat note when the incoming signal is converted to the intermediate frequency. For example, the beat oscillator may be set to 456 kc. (the i.f. being 455 ke.) to give a 1000-cycle beat note. Now, if an interfering signal appears at 457 kc., or if the receiver is tuned to heterodyne the incoming signal to 457 ke., it will also be heterodyned by the beat oscillator to produce a 1000cycle beat. Hence every signal can be tuned in at two places that will give a 1000-cycle beat (or any other low audio frequency). This audiofrequency image effect can be reduced if the i.f. selectivity is such that the incoming signal, when heterodyned to 457 kc., is attenuated to a very low level.

When this is done, tuning through a given signal will show a strong response at the desired beat note on one side of zero beat only, instead of the two beat notes on either side of zero beat characteristic of less-selective reception, hence the name: single-signal reception.

The necessary selectivity is not obtained with nonregenerative amplifiers using ordinary tuned circuits unless a low i.f. or a large number of circuits is used.

### Regeneration

Regeneration can be used to give a singlesignal effect, particularly when the i.f. is 455 kc. or lower. The resonance curve of an i.f. stage at critical regeneration (just below the oscillating point) is extremely sharp, a bandwidth of 1 kc. at 10 times down and 5 kc. at 100 times down being obtainable in one stage. The audio-frequency image of a given signal thus can be reduced by a factor of nearly 100 for a 1000-cycle beat note (image 2000 cycles from resonance).

Regeneration is easily introduced into an i.f. amplifier by providing a small amount of capacity coupling between grid and plate. Bringing a short length of wire, connected to the grid, into the vicinity of the plate lead usually will suffice. The feed-back may be controlled by the regular cathode-resistor gain control. When the i.f. is regenerative, it is preferable to operate the tube at reduced gain (high bias) and depend on regeneration to bring up the signal strength. This prevents overloading and increases selectivity.

The higher selectivity with regeneration reduces the over-all response to noise generated in the earlier stages of the receiver, just as does high selectivity produced by other means, and therefore improves the signal-to-noise ratio. However, the regenerative gain varies with signal strength, being less on strong signals, and the selectivity varies.

### **Crystal Filters**

Probably the simplest means for obtaining high selectivity is by the use of a piezoelectric quartz crystal as a selective filter in the i.f. amplifier. Compared to a good tuned circuit, the Q of such a crystal is extremely high. The crystal is ground to be resonant at the desired intermediate frequency. It is then used as a selective coupler between i.f. stages.

Fig. 5-22 gives a typical crystal-filter resonance curve. For single-signal reception, the audio-frequency image can be reduced by a factor of 1000 or more. Besides practically eliminating the a.f. image, the high selectivity of the crystal filter provides good discrimination against signals very close to the desired signal and, by reducing the band-width, reduces the response of the receiver to noise.

### Crystal-Filter Circuits; Phasing

Several crystal-filter circuits are shown in Fig. 5-23. Those at A and B are practically identical in performance, although differing in details. The crystal is connected in a bridge circuit, with the secondary side of  $T_{1}$ , the input transformer, balanced to ground either through a pair of condensers, C-C (A), or by a center-tap on the secondary,  $L_2$  (B). The bridge is completed by the crystal and the *phasing condenser*,  $C_2$ , which has a maximum capacity some-

what higher than the capacity of the crystal in its holder. When  $C_2$  is set to balance the crystal-holder capacity, the resonance curve of the crystal circuit is practically symmetrical; the crystal acts as a series-resonant circuit of very high Q and thus allows signals of the desired frequency to be fed through  $C_3$  to  $L_3L_4$ , the output transformer. Without  $C_2$ , the holder capacity (with the crystal acting as a dielectric) would pass undesired signals.

In the circuit at C, the Q of the load circuit for the filter is adjusted by the setting of R, which in turn varies the bandwidth of the filter from "sharp" to a bandwidth suitable for 'phone reception. This circuit or a modification of it is found in practically all of the better communications receivers these days.

The "bandpass" crystal filter at D uses two crystals separated slightly in frequency to give a bandpass characteristic to the filter. If the frequencies are removed only a few hundred cycles from each, the characteristic is an excellent one for c.w. reception. With crystals about 2 kc. apart, a good 'phone characteristic is obtained.

### Additional I.F. Selectivity

Many commercial communications receivers do not have sufficient selectivity for amateur use, and their performance can be improved by adding additional selectivity. One popular method is to couple a BC-453 aircraft receiver (war surplus, tuning range 190 to 550 kc.) to the tail end of the 465-kc. i.f. amplifier in the communications receiver and use the resultant output of the BC-453. The aircraft receiver uses an 85-kc. i.f. amplifier that is quite sharp — 6.5 kc. wide at -60 db. — and it helps tremendously in separating 'phone signals and in backing up crystal filters for improved c.w. reception. (See QST, January, 1948, page 40.)



Fig. 5-22 — Graphical representation of single-signal selectivity. The shaded area indicates the over-all bandwidth, or region in which response is obtainable.

# 96

If a BC-453 is not available, it is still a simple matter to enjoy the benefits of improved selectivity. It is only necessary to heterodyne to a lower frequency the 465-kc. signal existing in the receiver i.f. amplifier and then rectify it after passing it through the sharp low-frequency amplifier. The Hammarlund Company and the J. W. Miller Company both offer 50-kc. transformers for this application.

QST references on high i.f. selectivity include: McLaughlin, "Selectable Single Sideband," April, 1948; Githens, "Super-Selective C.W. Receiver," Aug., 1948.

### RADIO-FREQUENCY AMPLIFIERS

While selectivity to reduce audio-frequency images can be built into the i.f. amplifier, diserimination against radio-frequency images can only be obtained in circuits ahead of the first detector. These tuned circuits and their associated vacuum tubes are called radio-frequency amplifiers. For top performance of a communica-



Fig. 5-23 - Crystal-filter circuits of four types. The first three give variable bandwidth, with C having the greatest range of selectivity.

tions receiver on frequencies above 7 Mc., it is mandatory that it have one or two stages of r.f. amplification, for image rejection and improved sensitivity.

Receivers with an i.f. of 455 kc. can be expected to have some r.f. image response at a signal frequency of 14 Me. and higher if only one stage of r.f. amplification is used. (Regeneration in the r.f. amplifier will reduce image response, but regeneration usually requires frequent readjustment when tuning across a band.) With two stages of r.f. amplification and an i.f. of 455 ke., no images should be apparent at 14 Mc., but they will show up on 28 Mc. and higher. Three stages or more of r.f. amplification, with an i.f. of 455 kc., will reduce the images at 28 Mc., but it really takes four or more stages to do a good job. The better solution at 28 Me. is to use a "triple-detection" superheterodyne, with one stage of r.f. amplification and a first i.f. of 1600 ke, or higher. A normal receiver with an i.f. of 455 kc, can be converted to a triple superhet by connecting a "converter" (to be described later) ahead of the receiver.

For best selectivity, r.f. amplifiers should use high-Q circuits and tubes with high input and output resistance. Variable- $\mu$  pentodes are practically always used, although triodes (neutralized or otherwise connected so that they won't oscillate) are often used on the higher frequencies because they introduce less noise. Pentodes are better where maximum image rejection is desired, because they have less loading effect on the circuits.

### FEED-BACK

Feed-back giving rise to regeneration and oscillation can occur in a single stage or it may appear as an over-all feed-back through several stages that are on the same frequency. To avoid feed-back in a single stage, the output must be isolated from the input in every way possible. with the vacuum tube furnishing the only coupling between the two circuits. An oscillation can be obtained in an r.f. or i.f. stage if there is any undue capacitive or inductive coupling between output and input circuits, if there is too high an impedance between cathode and ground or screen and ground, or if there is any appreciable impedance through which the grid and plate currents can flow in common. This means good shielding of coils and condensers in r.f. and i.f. circuits, the use of good by-pass condensers (mica or ceramic at r.f., paper or ceramic at i.f.), and returning all by-pass condensers (grid, cathode, plate and screen) with short leads to one spot on the chassis. If single-ended tubes are used, the screen or cathode by-pass condenser should be mounted across the socket, to serve as a shield between grid and plate pins. Less care is required as the frequency is lowered, but in high-impedance circuits, it is sometimes necessary to shield grid and plate leads and to be eareful not to run them close together.

To avoid over-all feed-back in a multistage

amplifier, attention must be paid to avoid running any part of the output circuit back near the input circuit without first filtering it carefully. Since the signal-carrying parts of the circuit (the "hot" grid and plate leads) can't be filtered, the best design for any multistage amplifier is a straight line, to keep the output as far away from the input as possible. For example, an r.f. amplifier might run along a chassis in a straight line, run into a mixer where the frequency is changed, and then the i.f. amplifier could be run back parallel to the r.f. amplifier, provided there was a very large frequency difference between the r.f. and the i.f. amplifiers. However, to avoid any possible coupling, it would be better to run the i.f. amplifier off at right angles to the r.f.amplifier line, just to be on the safe side. Good shielding is important in preventing over-all oscillation in high-gain-per-stage amplifiers, but it becomes less important when the stage gain drops to a low value. In a high-gain amplifier, the power leads (including the heater circuit) are common to all stages, and they can provide the over-all coupling if they aren't properly filtered. Good by-passing and the use of series isolating resistors will generally eliminate any possibility of coupling through the power leads. R.f. chokes, instead of resistors, are used in the heater leads where necessary.

### CROSS-MODULATION

Since a one- or two-stage r.f. amplifier will have a passband measured in hundreds of ke, at 14 Mc. or higher, strong signals will be amplified through the r.f. amplifier even though it is not tuned exactly to them. If these signals are strong enough, their amplified magnitude may be measurable in volts after passing through several r.f. stages. If an undesired signal is strong enough after amplification in the r.f. stages to shift the operating point of a tube (by driving the grid into the positive region), the undesired signal will modulate the desired signal. This effect is called cross-modulation, and is often encoun-



Fig. 5-24 - Typical radio-frequency amplifier circuit for a superheterodyne receiver. Representative values for components are as follows:

 $C_1$ ,  $C_2$ ,  $C_3$ ,  $C_4 = 0.01 \ \mu fd$ . below 15 Mc., 0.001  $\mu fd$ . at 30 Mc. R<sub>1</sub>, R<sub>2</sub> — See Table 5-11.

R3 - 1800 ohms.

R4

- 0.22 megohm.



Fig. 5-25 - Converter-eireuit tracking methods. Following are approximate circuit values for 450- to 465-ke. i.f.s, with tuning ranges of approximately 2.15-to-1 and C2 having 140-uufd, maximum, and the total minimum capacitance, inclucing C3 or C4, being 30 to 36 µµfd.

Tuning Range           1.7-4 Me,           3.7-7.5 Me,           7-15 Me,           14-30 Me,	L <sub>1</sub> 50 μh, 14 μh, 3,5 μh, 0,8 μh,	$\begin{array}{c} L_2 \\ \hline 40 \ \mu h. \\ 12.2 \ \mu h. \\ 3 \ \mu h. \\ 0.78 \ \mu h. \end{array}$	Cs 0.0013 µfd. 0.0022 µfd. 0.0045 µfd. None used
---	--	--	--

Approximate values for 450- to 465-kc, i.f.s with a 2.5-to-1 tuning range, C1 and C2 being 350-µµfd, maximum, minimum including C3 and C4 being 40 to 50 µµfd.

Tuning Range 0.5-1.5 Me, 1.5-4 Me, 4-10 Me,	$\frac{L_1}{240 \ \mu h,} \\ \frac{32 \ \mu h,}{4.5 \ \mu h,} \\ \frac{4.5 \ \mu h,}{4.5 \ \mu h,} \\ \frac{1}{2} $	$\frac{L_2}{130 \ \mu h.} \\ \frac{25 \ \mu h.}{1 \ \mu h.} \\ \frac{1}{4} \ \mu h.} \\ $	$\frac{C_{\delta}}{\frac{425 \ \mu\mu \text{fd.}}{0.00115 \ \mu\text{fd.}}}$
10-25 Mc.	0.8 µh.	$0.75 \ \mu h.$	None used

tered in receivers with several r.f. stages working at high gain. It shows up as a superimposed modulation on the signal being listened to, and often the effect is that a signal can be tuned in at several points. It can be reduced or eliminated by greater selectivity in the antenna and r.f. stages (difficult to obtain), the use of variable- $\mu$  tubes in the r.f. amplifier, reduced gain in the r.f. amplifier, or reduced antenna input to the receiver.

A receiver designed for minimum cross-modulation will use as little gain as possible ahead of the high-selectivity stages, to hold strong unwanted signals below the overload point.

### Gain Control

To avoid cross-modulation and other overload effects in the first detector and r.f. stages, the gain of the r.f. stages is usually made adjustable. This is accomplished by using variable-µ tubes and varying the d.e. grid bias, either in the grid or cathode circuit. If the gain control is automatic, as in the case of a.v.e., the bias is controlled in the grid circuit Manual control of r.f. gain is generally done in the cathode circuit. A typical r.f. amplifier stage with the two types of gain control is shown in schematic form in Fig. 5-24.

#### Tracking

In a receiver with no r.f. stage, it is no inconvenience to adjust the high-frequency oscillator and the mixer circuit independently, because the mixer tuning is broad and requires little attention over an amateur band. However, when r.f. stages are added ahead of the mixer, the r.f. stages and mixer will require retuning over an entire amateur band. Hence most receivers with one or more r.f. stages gang all of the tuning controls to give a single-tuning-control receiver. Obviously there must exist a constant difference in frequency (the i.f.) between the oscillator and the mixer/r.f. circuits, and when this condition is achieved the circuits are said to track.

Tracking methods for covering a wide frequency range, suitable for general-coverage receivers, are shown in Fig. 5-25. The tracking capacity, ('5. commonly consists of two con-

Improving Receiver Sensitivity The sensitivity (signal-to-noise ratio) of a re-

ceiver on the higher frequencies above 20 Mc. is dependent upon the bandwidth of the receiver and the noise contributed by the "front end" of the receiver. Neglecting the fact that image rejection may be poor, a receiver with no r.f. stage is generally satisfactory, from a sensitivity point, in the 3.5- and 7-Me, bands. However, as the frequency is increased and the atmospheric noise becomes less, the advantage of a good "front end" becomes apparent. Hence at 14 Mc. and higher it is worth while to use at least one stage of r.f. amplification ahead of the first detector for best sensitivity as well as image rejection. The multigrid converter tubes have very poor noise figures, and even the best pentodes and triodes are three or four times noisier when used as mixers than they are when used as amplifiers.

If the purpose of an r.f. amplifier is to improve the receiver noise figure at 14 Mc. and higher, a high-gm pentode or triode should be used. Among the pentodes, the best tubes are the 6AC7, 6AK5 and the 6SG7, in the order named. The 6AK5 takes the lead around 30 Mc. The 6J4, 6J6, 7F8 and triode-connected 6AK5 are the best of the triodes. For best noise figure, the antenna circuit should be coupled a little heavier than optimum. This cannot give best selectivity in the antenna circuit, so it is futile to try to

densers in parallel, a fixed one of somewhat less capacity than the value needed and a smaller variable in parallel to allow for adjustment to the exact proper value. The trimmer,  $C_4$ , is first set for the high-frequency end of the tuning range, and then the tracking condenser is set for the low-frequency end. The tracking capacity becomes larger as the percentage difference between the oscillator and signal frequencies becomes smaller (that is, as the signal frequency becomes higher). Typical circuit values are given in the tables under Fig. 5-25. The coils can be conveniently calculated with the ARRL Lightning Calculator and then trimmed in the eircuit for best tracking.

In amateur-band receivers, tracking is simplified by choosing a bandspread circuit that gives practically straight-line-frequency tuning (equal frequency change for each dial division), and then adjusting the oscillator and mixer tuned circuits so that both cover the same total number of kilocycles. For example, if the i.f. is 455 kc. and the mixer circuit tunes from 7000 to 7300 kc. between two given points on the dial, then the oscillator must tune from 7455 to 7755 ke, between the same two dial readings. With the bandspread arrangement of Fig. 5-8A, the tuning will be practically straight-line-frequency if ('2 (bandset) is 4 times or more the maximum capacity of C1 (bandspread), as is usually the case for strictly amateur-band coverage.  $C_1$  should be of the straight-line-capacity type (semicircular plates).

maximize sensitivity and selectivity in this circuit. When a receiver is satisfactory in every respect

(stability and selectivity) except sensitivity on 14 through 30 Me., the best solution for the amateur is to add a preamplifier, a stage of r.f. amplification designed expressly to improve the sensitivity. If image rejection is lacking in the receiver, some selectivity should be built into the preamplifier (it is then called a preselector). If, however, the receiver operation is poor on the higher frequencies but is satisfactory on the lower ones, a "converter" is the best solution.

Some commercial receivers that appear to lack sensitivity on the higher frequencies can be improved simply by tighter coupling to the antenna. Since the receiver manufacturer has no way to predict the type of antenna that will be used, he generally designs the input for some compromise value, usually around 300 or 400 ohms in the high-frequency ranges. If your antenna looks like something far different than this, the receiver effectiveness can be improved by proper matching. This can be accomplished by changing the antenna to the right value (as determined from the receiver instruction book) or by using a simple matching device as described later in this chapter. Overcoupling the input circuit will often improve sensitivity but it will, of course, always reduce the image-rejection contribution of the antenna circuit.

Commercial receivers can also be "hopped up" by substituting a high- $g_m$  tube in the first r.f. stage if one isn't already there. The amateur must be prepared to take the consequences, however, since the stage may oscillate, or not track without some modification. A simpler solution is to add the "hot" r.f. stage ahead of the receiver.

### Regeneration

Regeneration in the r.f. stage of a receiver (where only one stage exists) will often improve the sensitivity because the greater gain it provides serves to mask more completely the firstdetector noise, and it also provides a measure of automatic matching to the antenna through tighter coupling. However, accurate ganging becomes a problem, because of the increased selectivity of the regenerative r.f. stage, and the receiver almost invariably becomes a two-handedtuning device. Regeneration should not be overlooked as an expedient, however, and amateurs have used it with considerable success. High- $q_m$ 

As mentioned earlier, when a receiver doesn't cover a particular frequency range, either in fact or in satisfactory performance, a simple solution is to use a **converter**. A converter is another "front end" for the receiver, and it is made to tune the proper range or to give the necessary performance. It works into the receiver at some frequency between 1.6 and 10 Mc. and thus forms with the receiver a "triple-detection" superhet.

There are several different types of converters in vogue at the present time. The commonest type, since it is the oldest, uses a regular tunable oscillator, mixer, and r.f. stages as desired, and works into the receiver at a fixed frequency. A second type uses broad-banded r.f. stages in the r.f. and mixer stages of the converter, and only the oscillator is tuned. Since the frequency the converter works into is high (7 Mc, or more), little or no trouble with images is experienced, despite the broad-band r.f. stages. A third type of converter uses broad-banded r.f. and output stages and a fixed-frequency oscillator (self- or crystal-controlled). The tuning is done with the receiver the converter is connected to. This is an excellent system if the receiver itself is well shielded and has no external pick-up of its own. Many war-surplus receivers fall in this category. A fourth type of converter uses a fixed oscillator with ganged mixer and r.f. stages, and requires two-handed tuning, for the r.f. stages and for the receiver. The r.f. tuning is not crititubes are the best as regenerative amplifiers, and the feed-back should not be controlled by changing the operating voltages (which should be the same as for the tube used in a high-gain amplifier) but by changing the loading or the feed-back coupling. This is a tricky process and another reason why regeneration is not too widely used.

### Gain Control

In a receiver front end designed for best signalto-noise ratio, it is advantageous in the reception of weak signals to eliminate the gain control from the first r.f. stage and allow it to run "wide open" all of the time. If the first stage is controlled along with the i.f. (and other r.f. stages, if any), the signal-to-noise ratio of the receiver will suffer. As the gain is reduced, the  $g_m$  of the first tube is reduced, and its noise figure becomes higher. A good receiver might well have two gain controls, one for the first radio-frequency stage and another for the i.f. and other r.f. stages.

# **Extending the Tuning Range**

cal, however, unless there are many stages The broad-banded r.f. stages have the advantage that they can be built with short leads. since no tuning capacitors are required and the unit can be tuned initially by trimming the inductances. They are more prone to cross-modulation than the gang-tuned r.f. stages, however, because of the lack of selectivity. The fourth type of converter is probably the most satisfactory, particularly if a crystal-controlled highfrequency oscillator is used. It not only has the advantage of the best selectivity and protection against images and cross-modulation, but the crystal gives it a stability unobtainable with selfcontrolled oscillators. Amateurs who specialize in operation on 28 and 50 Mc. generally use good converters ahead of conventional communications receivers, and it pays off in better performance for the station.

While converters can extend the operating range of an existing receiver, their greatest advantage probably lies in the opportunity they give for getting the best performance on any one band. By selecting the best tubes and techniques for any particular band, the amateur is assured of top receiver performance. With separate converters for each of several bands, changes can be made in any one without disabling or impairing the receiver performance on another band. The use of converters ahead of the low-frequency receiver is rapidly becoming standard practice on the bands above 14 Mc.

# Tuning a Receiver

### C.W. Reception

For making code signals audible, the beat oscillator should be set to a frequency slightly different from the intermediate frequency. To adjust the beat-oscillator frequency, first tune in a moderately-weak but steady carrier with the beat oscillator turned off. Adjust the receiver tuning for maximum signal strength, as indicated by maximum hiss. Then turn on the beat oscillator and adjust its frequency (leaving the receiver tuning unchanged) to give a suitable beat note. The beat oscillator need not subsequently be touched, except for occasional checking to make certain the frequency has not drifted from the initial setting. The b.f.o. may be set on either the high- or low-frequency side of zero beat.

The best receiver condition for the reception of e.w. signals will have the first r.f. stage running at maximum gain, the following r.f., mixer and i.f. stages operating with just enough gain to maintain the signal-to-noise ratio, and the audio gain set to give confortable headphone or speaker volume. The audio volume should be controlled by the audio gain control, not the i.f. gain control. Under the above conditions, the selectivity of the receiver is being used to best advantage, and cross-modulation is minimized. It precludes the use of a receiver in which the gain of the first r.f. stage and the i.f. stages are controlled simultaneously.

### Tuning with the Crystal Filter

If the receiver is equipped with a crystal filter the tuning instructions in the preceding paragraph still apply, but more care must be used both in the initial adjustment of the beat oscillator and in tuning. The beat oscillator is set as described above, but with the crystal filter set at its sharpest position, if variable selectivity is available. The initial adjustment should be made with the phasing control in an intermediate position. Once adjusted, the beat oscillator should be left set and the receiver tuned to the other side of zero beat (audio-frequency image) on the same signal to give a beat note of the same tone. This beat will be considerably weaker than the first, and may be "phased out" almost completely by careful adjustment of the phasing control. This is the adjustment for normal operation; it will be found that one side of zero beat has practically disappeared, leaving maximum response on the other.

An interfering signal having a beat note differing from that of the a.f. image can be similarly phased out, provided its frequency is not too near the desired signal.

Depending upon the filter design, maximum selectivity may cause the dots and dashes to lengthen out so that they seem to "run together." It must be emphasized that, to realize the benefits of the crystal filter in reducing interference, it is necessary to do all tuning with it in the circuit. Its high selectivity often makes it difficult to find the desired station quickly, if the filter is switched in only at times when interference is present.

### 'Phone Reception

In reception of 'phone signals, the normal procedure is to set the r.f. and i.f. gain at maximum, switch on the a.v.c., and use the audio gain control for setting the volume. This insures maximum effectiveness of the a.v.c. system in compensating for fading and maintaining constant audio output on either strong or weak signals. On occasion a strong signal close to the frequency of a weaker desired station may take control of the a.v.c., in which case the weaker station may disappear because of the reduced gain. In this case better reception may result if the a.v.c. is switched off, using the manual r.f. gain control to set the gain at a point that prevents "blocking" by the stronger signal.

When receiving an AM signal on a frequency within 5 to 20 kc. from a single-sideband signal it may also be necessary to switch off the a.v.e. and resort to the use of manual gain control, unless the receiver has excellent skirt selectivity. No ordinary a.v.e. circuit can handle the syllabic bursts of energy from the SSB station.

A crystal filter will help reduce interference in 'phone reception. Although the high selectivity cuts sidebands and reduces the audio output at the higher audio frequencies, it is possible to use quite high selectivity without destroying intelligibility. As in c.w. reception, it is advisable to do all tuning with the filter in the circuit. Variableselectivity filters permit a choice of selectivity to suit interference conditions.

An undesired carrier close in frequency to a desired carrier will heterodyne with it to produce a beat note equal to the frequency difference. Such a heterodyne can be reduced by adjustment of the phasing control in the crystal filter.

A tone control often will be of help in reducing the effects of high-pitched heterodynes, sideband splatter and noise, by cutting off the higher audio frequencies. This, like sideband cutting with high selectivity circuits, causes some reduction in naturalness.

### Spurious Responses

Spurious responses can be recognized without a great deal of difficulty. Often it is possible to identify an image by the nature of the transmitting station, if the frequency assignments applying to the frequency to which the receiver is tuned are known. However, an image also can be recognized by its behavior with tuning. If the signal causes a heterodyne beat note with the desired signal and is actually on the same frequency, the beat note will not change as the receiver is tuned through the signal; but if the interfering signal is an image, the beat will vary in pitch as the receiver is tuned. The beat oscillator in the receiver must be turned off for this test. Using a crystal filter with the beat oscillator on, an image will peak on the side of zero beat opposite that on which desired signals peak.

Harmonic response can be recognized by the "tuning rate," or movement of the tuning dial required to give a specified change in beat note. Signals getting into the i.f. via high-frequency oscillator harmonics tune more rapidly (less dial movement) through a given change in beat note than do signals received by normal means.

Harmonics of the beat oscillator can be recognized by the tuning rate of the beat-oscillator

pitch control. A smaller movement of the control will suffice for a given change in beat note than that necessary with legitimate signals. In poorlyshielded receivers it is often possible to find b.f.o. harmonics below 2 Mc., but they should be very weak at higher frequencies.

# Narrow-Band Frequency- and Phase-Modulation Reception

### FM Reception

In the reception of NFM (narrow-band FM) by a normal AM receiver, the a.v.c. is switched off and the incoming signal is not tuned "on the nose," as indicated by maximum reading of the S-meter, but slightly off to one side or the other. This puts the carrier of the incoming signal on one side or the other of the i.f. selectivity characteristic (see Fig. 5-1). As the frequency of the signal changes back and forth over a small range with modulation, these variations in frequency are translated to variations in amplitude, and the consequent AM is detected in the normal manner. The signal is tuned in (on one side or the other of maximum carrier strength) until the audio quality appears to be best. If the audio is too weak, the transmitting operator should be advised to increase his swing slightly, and if the audio quality is bad ("splashy" and with serious distortion on volume peaks) he should be advised to reduce his swing. Coöperation between transmitting and receiving operators is a necessity for best audio quality. The transmitting station should always be advised immediately if at any time his bandwidth exceeds that of an AM signal. since this is a violation of FCC regulations, except in those portions of the bands where wideband FM is permitted.

If the receiver has a discriminator or other detector designed expressly for FM reception, the signal is *peaked* on the receiver (as indicated by maximum S-meter reading or minimum background noise). There is also a spot on either side of this tuning condition where audio is recovered through slope detection, but the signal will not be as houd and the background noise will be higher.

### **PM Reception**

Phase-modulated signals can be received in the same way that NFM signals are, except that in this case the audio output will appear to be lacking in "lows," because of the differences in the deviation-vs.-audio characteristics of the two systems. This can be remedied to a considerable degree by advancing the tone control of the receiver to the point where more nearly normal speech output is obtained.

NPM signals can also be received on communications receivers by making use of the crystal filter, in which case there is no need for audio compensation. The crystal filter should be set to the sharpest position and the earrier should be tuned in on the crystal peak, not set off to one side. The phasing condenser should be set not for exact neutralization but to give a rejection notch at some convenient side frequency such as 1000 cycles off resonance. There is considerable attenuation of the side bands with such tuning, but it can readily be overcome by using additional audio gain. NFM signals received through the crystal filter in this fashion will have a "boomy" characteristic because the lower frequencies are accentuated.

### **Reception of Single-Sideband Signals**

Single-sideband signals are generally transmitted with little or no carrier, and it is necessary to furnish the carrier at the receiver before proper reception can be obtained. Because little or no carrier is transmitted, the a.v.c. in the receiver has nothing that indicates the average signal level, and manual variation of the r.f. gain control is required.

A single-sideband signal can be identified by the absence of a strong carrier and by the severe variation of the S-meter at a syllable rate. When such a signal is encountered, it should first be peaked with the main tuning dial. (This centers the signal in the i.f. passband.) After this operation, do not touch the main tuning dial. Then set the r.f. gain control at a very low level and switch off the a.v.e. Increase the audio volume control to maximum, and bring up the r.f. gain control until the signal can be heard weakly. Switch on the beat oscillator, and carefully adjust the frequency of the beat oscillator until proper speech is heard. If there is a slight amount of carrier present, it is only necessary to *zero-bcat* the beat oscillator with this weak carrier. It will be noticed that with incorrect tuning of an SSB signal, the speech will sound high- or low-pitched or even inverted (very garbled), but no trouble will be had in getting the correct setting once a little experience has been obtained. The use of minimum r.f. gain and maximum audio gain will insure that no distortion (overload) occurs in the receiver. It may require a readjustment of your tuning habits to tune the receiver slowly enough during the first few trials.

Once the proper setting of the b.f.o. has been established by the procedure above, all further tuning should be done with the main tuning control. However, it is not unlikely that SSB stations will be encountered that are transmitting the other sideband, and to receive them will require shifting the b.f.o. setting to the other side of the receiver i.f. passband. The initial tuning procedure is exactly the same as outlined above, except that you will end up with a considerably different b.f.o. setting. The two b.f.o. settings should be noted for future reference, and all tuning of SSB signals can then be done with the main tuning dial. After a little experience, it becomes a simple matter to determine which way to tune the receiver if the receiver (or transmitter) drifts off to make the received signal sound low- or high-pitched.

# Alignment and Servicing of Superheterodyne Receivers

### I.F. Alignment

A calibrated signal generator or test oscillator is a useful device for alignment of an i.f. amplifier. Some means for measuring the output of the receiver is required. If the receiver has a tuning meter, its indications will serve. Lacking an S-meter, a high-resistance voltmeter or a vacuumtube voltmeter can be connected across the second-detector load resistor, if the second detector is a diode. Alternatively, if the signal generator is a modulated type, an a.c. voltmeter can be connected across the primary of the transformer feeding the 'speaker, or from the plate of the last audio amplifier through a  $0.1-\mu fd$ , blocking condenser to the receiver chassis. Lacking an a.c. voltmeter, the audio output can be judged by ear, although this method is not as accurate as the others. If the tuning meter is used as an indication, the a.v.e. of the receiver should be turned on, but any other indication requires that it be turned off. Lacking a test oscillator, a steady signal tuned through the input of the receiver (if the job is one of just touching up the i.f. amplifier) will be suitable. However, with no oscillator and tuning an amplifier for the first time, one's only recourse is to try to peak the i.f. transformers on "noise," a difficult task if the transformers are badly off resonance, as they are apt to be. It would be much better to spend a little time and haywire together a simple oscillator for test purposes.

Initial alignment of a new i.f. amplifier is as follows: The test oscillator is set to the correct frequency, and its output is coupled through a condenser to the grid of the last i.f. amplifier tube. The trimmer condensers of the transformer feeding the second detector are then adjusted for maximum output, as shown by the indicating device being used. The oscillator output lead is then elipped on to the grid of the next-to-the-last i.f. amplifier tube, and the second-from-the-last transformer trimmer adjustments are peaked for maximum output. This process is continued, working back from the second detector, until all of the i.f. transformers have been aligned. It will be necessary to reduce the output of the test oscillator as more of the i.f. amplifier is brought into use. It is desirable in all cases to use the minimum signal that will give useful output readings. The i.f. transformer in the plate circuit of the mixer is aligned with the signal introduced to the grid of the mixer. Since the tuned circuit feeding the mixer grid may have a very low impedance at the i.f., it may be necessary to boost the test generator output or to disconnect the

tuned circuit temporarily from the mixer-stage grid.

If the i.f. amplifier has a crystal filter, the filter should first be switched out and the alignment carried out as above, setting the test oscillator as closely as possible to the crystal frequency. When this is completed, the crystal should be switched in and the oscillator frequency varied back and forth over a small range either side of the crystal frequency to find the exact frequency, as indicated by a sharp rise in output. Leaving the test oscillator set on the crystal peak, the i.f. trimmers should be realigned for maximum output. The necessary readjustment should be small. The oscillator frequency should be checked frequently to make sure it has not drifted from the crystal peak.

A modulated signal is not of much value for aligning a crystal-filter i.f. amplifier, since the high selectivity cuts sidebands and the results may be inaccurate if the audio output is used as the tuning indication. Lacking the a.v.e. tuning meter, the transformers may be conveniently aligned by ear, using a weak unmodulated signal adjusted to the crystal peak. Switch on the beat oscillator, adjust to a suitable tone, and align the i.f. transformers for maximum audio output.

An amplifier that is only slightly out of alignment, as a result of normal drift or aging, can be realigned by using any steady signal, such as a local broadcast station, instead of the test oscillator. One's 100-ke, standard makes an excellent signal source for "touching up" an i.f. amplifier. Allow the receiver to warm up thoroughly, tune in the signal, and trim the i.f. for maximum output.

If you bought your receiver instead of making it, be sure to read the instruction book earefully before attempting to realign the receiver. Most instruction books include alignment details, and any little special tricks that are peculiar to the receiver will also be described in detail.

### R.F. Alignment

The objective in aligning the r.f. circuits of a gang-tuned receiver is to secure adequate tracking over each tuning range. The adjustment may be earried out with a test oscillator of suitable frequency range, with harmonics from your 100-kc. standard or other known oscillator, or even on noise or such signals as may be heard. First set the tuning dial at the high-frequency end of the range in use. Then set the test oscil-

lator to the frequency indicated by the receiver dial. The test-oscillator output may be connected to the antenna terminals of the receiver for this test. Adjust the oscillator trimmer condenser in the receiver to give maximum response on the test-oscillator signal, then reset the receiver dial to the low-frequency end of the range. Set the test-oscillator frequency near the frequency indicated by the receiver dial and tune the test oscillator until its signal is heard in the receiver. If the frequency of the signal as indicated by the test-oscillator calibration is higher than that indicated by the receiver dial, more inductance (or more capacity in the tracking condenser) is needed in the receiver oscillator circuit; if the frequency is lower, less inductance (less tracking capacity) is required in the receiver oscillator. Most commercial receivers provide some means for varying the inductance of the coils or the capacity of the tracking condenser, to permit aligning the receiver tuning with the dial calibration. Set the test oscillator to the frequency indicated by the receiver dial, and then adjust the tracking capacity or inductance of the receiver oscillator coil to obtain maximum response. After making this adjustment, recheck the high-frequency end of the scale as previously described. It may be necessary to go back and forth between the ends of the range several times before the proper combination of inductance and capacity is secured. In many cases, better over-all tracking will result if frequencies near but not actually at the ends of the tuning range are selected, instead of taking the extreme dial settings.

After the oscillator range is properly adjusted, set the receiver and test oscillator to the highfrequency end of the range. Adjust the mixer trimmer condenser for maximum hiss or signal, then the r.f. trimmers. Reset the tuning dial and test oscillator to the low-frequency end of the range, and repeat; if the circuits are properly designed, no change in trimmer settings should be necessary. If it is necessary to increase the trimmer capacity in any circuit, it indicates that more inductance is needed; conversely, if less capacity resonates the circuit, less inductance is required.

Tracking seldom is perfect throughout a tuning range, so that a check of alignment at intermediate points in the range may show it to be slightly off. Normally the gain variation from this cause will be small, however, and it will suffice to bring the circuits into line at both ends of the range. If most reception is in a particular part of the range, such as an amateur band, the circuits may be aligned for maximum performance in that region, even though the ends of the frequency range as a whole may be slightly out of alignment.

### Oscillation in R.F. or I.F. Amplifiers

Oscillation in high-frequency amplifier and mixer circuits shows up as squeals or "birdies" as the tuning is varied, or by complete lack of audible output if the oscillation is strong enough to cause the a.v.c. system to reduce the receiver gain drastically. Oscillation can be caused by poor connections in the common ground circuits. Inadequate or defective by-pass condensers in cathode, plate and screen-grid circuits also can cause such oscillation. A metal tube with an ungrounded shell may cause trouble. Improper screen-grid voltage, resulting from a shorted or too-low screen-grid series resistor, also may be responsible for such instability.

Oscillation in the i.f. circuits is independent of high-frequency tuning, and is indicated by a continuous squeal that appears when the gain is advanced with the c.w. beat oscillator on. It can result from defects in i.f.-amplifier circuits similar to those above. Inadequate screen or plate by-pass capacitance is a common cause of such oscillation. An additional by-pass condenser of 0.1- to 0.25-µfd, capacitance often will remedy the trouble.

### Instability

"Birdies" or a mushy hiss occurring with tuning of the high-frequency oscillator may indicate that the oscillator is "squegging" or oscillating simultaneously at high and low frequencies. This may be caused by a defective tube, too-high oscillator plate or screen-grid voltage, excessive feed-back, or too-high grid-leak resistance.

A varying beat note in e.w. reception indicates instability in either the h.f. oscillator or beat oscillator, usually the former. The stability of the beat oscillator can be checked by introducing a signal of intermediate frequency (from a test oscillator) into the i.f. amplifier; if the beat note is unstable, the trouble is in the beat oscillator. Poor connections or defective parts are the likely cause. Instability in the high-frequency oscillator may be the result of poor circuit design, loose connections, defective tubes or circuit components, or poor voltage regulation in the oscillator plate- and/or screen-supply circuits. Mixer pulling of the oscillator circuit also will cause the beat note to "chirp" on strong e.w. signals beeause the oscillator load changes slightly.

In 'phone reception with a.v.c., a peculiar type of instability ("motorboating") may appear if the h.f.-oscillator frequency is sensitive to changes in plate voltage. As the a.v.e. voltage rises the currents of the controlled tubes decrease, decreasing the load on the power supply and causing its output voltage to rise. Since this increases the voltage applied to the oscillator, its frequency changes correspondingly, throwing the signal off the peak of the i.f. resonance curve and reducing the a.v.c. voltage, thus tending to restore the original conditions. The process then repeats itself, at a rate determined by the signal strength and the time constant of the powersupply circuits. This effect is most pronounced with high i.f. selectivity, as when a erystal filter is used, and can be cured by making the oscillator insensitive to voltage changes or by regulating the plate-voltage supply. The better receivers use VR-type tubes to stabilize the oseillator voltage - a defective VR tube will eause trouble with oscillator instability.

### **CHAPTER 5**

# A One-Tube Regenerative Receiver

The receiver shown in Figs. 5-26, 5-27, 5-28 and 5-29 represents close to the minimum requirements of a useful short-wave receiver. Under suitable conditions, it is capable of receiving signals from many foreign countries. It is an excellent receiver for the beginner, because it is easy to build and the components are not expensive.



Fig. 5-26 — The simple one-tube regenerative receiver is built on a wood-and-Presdwood chassis, with an aluminum panel. The large left-hand knob drives the calibrated scale on the bandspread condenser. The large right-hand knob is for the band-set condenser.

From the circuit in Fig. 5-28, it can be seen that the only tube in the receiver is a 6SN7 twin triode. One section is used as a re-

generative detector, the other triode

Fig. 5-27 — Another view of the one-tube regenerative receiver shows how the tube and coil sockets are monited. The headphone tip jacks on the rear panel — the set of four machine screws and nuts is for connecting to the power supply. section serving as an audio amplifier to the headphones. A variable antenna-coupling condenser,  $C_1$ , minimizes "dead spots" in the tuning range that might be caused by antennaresonance effects. Two tuning condensers are used. The band-set condenser,  $C_4$ , tunes to the desired frequency band, and the bandspread condenser,  $C_2$   $C_3$ , allows the operator to tune

slowly through the band. The bandspread condenser is a dual condenser made from a single midget variable, and on all of the amateur bands except 3.5 Mc. only the  $C_3$  portion is connected in the circuit. The 3.5-Mc. coil includes a jumper that connects  $C_2$  on that band. Regeneration is controlled by varying the plate voltage on the detector with  $R_4$ .

The mechanical design is made as simple as possible. Work on the chassis and the front panel can be done with only a No. 18 drill, a <sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>-inch drill, and a round file. There is no complicated metal work or bending. To reduce the panel size, the knob on the band-set condenser overlaps the friction-driven tuning dial.

The front panel is a  $7 \times 7$ -inch sheet of  $\frac{1}{16}$ -inch aluminum. It carries the tuning controls, the regeneration adjustment and the antenna-coupling condenser shaft. The sides of the chassis are soft wood strips,  $7 \times 2 \times \frac{5}{28}$ inches. The deck of the chassis is a

 $7 \times 7$ -inch sheet of ¼-inch Presdwood (or Masonite). The 6SN7 socket is supported on  $\frac{5}{8}$ -inch-long mounting pillars, and the 5-





Fig. 5-28 — Wiring diagram of the one-tube regenerative receiver. Ci - Homemade adjustable con- $R_1 - 1.5$  megohms,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt. denser, See text.  $\mathbf{R}_2$ -0.15 megohm, 12 watt. C2, C3 -- Reworked midget variable - 1500 ohms, 12 watt.  $R_3$ (Millen 21935). See text.  $\mathbf{R}_4$ - 50,000-ohm wire-wound po-- 100-µµfd, midget (Millen 20100), C4 variable tentiometer. R 33,000 ohms, I watt. – 100+µµfd. mica. Cz. -RFC1-2.5-mh. r.f. choke (Na-C<sub>6</sub>, C<sub>7</sub> — 170-µµfd, mica. C<sub>8</sub> — 12-µfd, 150-volt electrolytic. tional 100U).

 $C_9 \rightarrow 10$ -µfd, 25-volt electrolytic,

prong coil socket is on %-inch pillars. The grid leak,  $R_1$ , and grid condenser,  $C_5$ , are located above the deck. The back panel is made of 1/4-inch Presdwood and carries the binding posts. The binding posts are 34-inch 6-32 machine serews with suitable nuts and washers. The chassis is assembled with 34-inch No. 6 round-head wood screws. Upon completion, the assembly is given a coat of flat black paint. The front panel is secured to the chassis side members with No. 6 round-head wood screws.

The bandspread condenser,  $C_2/C_3$ , is made by modifying a Millen 21935 variable condenser. Using a hack-saw blade, the stator bars are carefully cut between the eighth and ninth

- T<sub>1</sub> Interstage audio transformer (Stancor A-1723),

plates (counting back from the front panel). The ninth plate is removed by twisting it loose with long-nosed pliers,  $C_2$  is the section nearest the panel.

Coil sizes and data are given in the coil table. All coils are wound on 1-inch diameter 5pin coil forms. The coil for the 80-meter range is close-wound and requires no treatment, but the spaced-turns coils should be secured by running a little Duco cement across the wire at several points. Before cementing the turns, each coil should be tried in the receiver, To obtain smooth regeneration, it may be necessary to make minor changes in spacing between  $L_1$ and  $L_2$ .

The antenna condenser,  $C_1$ , is made from two 1-inch squares of sheet copper. One plate is secured to the underside of the deck on a tiepoint. The other plate is carried by a 1/4-inch diameter polystyrene rod. Rotating the shaft swings the moving plate away from the fixed plate and provides a capacity of from 5 to less than 1  $\mu\mu$ fd. The polystyrene rod passes through the front panel and out the back panel. It is secured at the back by a 1/4-inch shaft collar. The panel end carries a tuning knob, and a rubber grommet under slight compression, placed between the knob and the panel, acts as a friction lock. The moving plate is secured to the polystyrene rod by a copperwire hairpin soldered to the plate and fixed into a pair of holes drilled in the rod. A flexible





Fig. 5-29 — This view underneath the one-tube regenerative receiver shows the arrangement of parts and the construction of the variable antenna-coupling condenser.

# CHAPTER 5

#### COIL TABLE FOR THE ONE-TUBE **REGENERATIVE RECEIVER**

All coils wound on Millen 45005 1-inch diameter coil forms. Both  $L_1$  and  $L_2$  should be wound in the same direction, with L2 closer to the pins of the form, The grid end of  $L_1$  and the plate end of  $L_2$ should be on the outside ends of the coils.

Range	<b>L</b> <sub>1</sub>	$L_2$	$s_{ep.} L_1 - L_2$
2.8 — 6 Me. (80 meters)	25 t. No. 26 enam., close-wound	4 t. No. 26 enam., close-wound	³∕s inch
5.9 — 13.5 Mc. (40 meters)	13 <sup>1</sup> 2 t. No. 22 enam., spaced to occupy 5% inch	114 t. No. 26 enam., close-wound	¼ inch
13.6 — 30 Me. (20 and 14 meters)	5 <sup>1</sup> 4 t. No. 22 enam., spaced to occupy <sup>5</sup> / <sub>8</sub> inch	1¾ t. No. 26 enam., close-wound	‱ inch
24.5 - 40 Me. (10 and 11 meters)	112 t. No. 22 enam., close-wound	1 <sup>3</sup> 4 t. No. 26 enam., close-wound	\$ís inch

lead is soldered to the protruding wire, and the lead passes out through a hole in the side of the chassis to make connection to the antenna. Knots in this wire, on either side of the chassis wall, secure the wire firmly in place. The fixed plate is covered with a single layer of cellophane Scotch Tape, to prevent a short-circuit when the condenser is positioned at maximum capacity.

All wiring is No. 14 tinned copper. Direct leads from the condensers to the coil socket add to the strength and rigidity of the receiver. The r.f. choke RFC1, by-pass condensers, and the audio transformer all are fastened to the underside of the deck.

The power supply for the receiver, shown in Figs. 5-30 and 5-31, is simple to assemble because it is built on a wooden chassis. Two strips of  $112 \times$ 34-inch wood, 12 inches long, are nailed to two short end pieces. The



Fig. 5-31 - Circuit diagram of the power supply for the regenerative receiver.

C1, C2 - 16-µfd. 450-volt electrolytic (Mallory RS-217).

- $R_1 = 20,000$ -ohm 10-watt wire-wound, L<sub>1</sub> = 7-henry 50-ma, filter choke (Stancor C-1707).
- 115-volt line plug.
- 275-0-275 volts at 50 ma., 6.3 v. at 2.5 amp., 5 v. at 2 amp. (Thordarson T22R30). Ti

separation between strips is just enough (11/4 inches) to clear the tube socket and electrolytic condensers, and the leads from the transformer and choke also pass through this opening. Binding posts are made in the same manner as on the receiver, with No. 6 machine screws and suitable nuts and washers.

Although it is satisfactory to mount the power supply on the same table with the receiver, it should be at least one or two feet away, to avoid the possibility of a.e. hum pick-up. For the same reason, the antenna lead should not pass too close to any a.c. wiring from or to the power supply.

Using the parts listed in Fig. 5-31 should result in a power supply that gives about 180 volts when connected to the receiver. However, if the 6SN7 in the receiver appears to run too hot (as tested by touching the tube after the receiver has been running for 5 or 10 minutes), the output voltage can be reduced by increasing the resistance at  $R_1$  (Fig. 5-31). Adding



Fig. 5-30 - The power supply for the regenerative receiver is built on a simple wooden chassis.

5000 or 10,000 ohms in series with  $R_1$  should do the trick. Or it may be possible to borrow a voltmeter for measuring the output voltage.

The tuning procedure for a regenerative receiver is given earlier in this chapter. Even a short piece of wire hung inside the operating room will serve as an antenna, but for best results an antenna from 30 to 75 feet long, strung as high as possible, should be used.

In buying headphones for use with this receiver, one should avoid the "low-impedance" headphones offered in many of the surplus outlets. While these headsets are excellent when used in the proper circuits, this simple receiver requires the use of "high-impedance" headphones for maximum signal output. Good, inexpensive headphones of this type can be found in any radio store.
# **HIGH-FREQUENCY RECEIVERS**

## A Two-Band Five-Tube Superheterodyne

The five-tube superheterodyne shown in Figs. 5-32, 5-34 and 5-36 is a double-conversion receiver tuning the 3.5- and 7-Me. amateur bands. It is not difficult to build, and it has stability and selectivity not surpassed by factory-built receivers costing much more.

As can be seen in Fig. 5-33, the eireuit diagram, the receiver uses intermediate frequencies of 1700 and 100 kc. The 1700-kc. first i.f. permits using an oscillator that tunes only one range for the two bands. Tuning the oscillator from 5.2 to 5.7 Mc. gives an i.f. of 1700 kc. for the 3.5- to 4.0-Mc. range and the same i.f. for the 6.9- to 7.4-Mc. range. The oscillator components are soldered in place (no switching or plug-in coils) and the dial calibration is made once and can then be relied upon. To change bands, it is only necessary to swing the input condenser,  $C_1$ , to the 80- or 40meter band. The 1700-kc. i.f. eliminates any pulling on the oscillator, in either range.

With no r.f. stage, the receiver's signal-tonoise ratio is determined by the mixer. The 6AC7 is the best tube available for the purpose. To minimize spurious responses, two tuned circuits are used in the input between antenna and converter grid. The stator plates of the dual condenser,  $C_1$ , are shielded from each other, as are the two coils  $L_2$  and  $L_3$ , and the coupling between circuits is obtained by the 0.001-µfd. condenser.

The 1700-kc. signal from the first converter is converted in the 6K8 second converter to 100 kc. The use of a 1600-kc. crystal for the oscillator at this point permits using an r.f. gain control that has no effect on the frequency. No frequency change with gain-control setting is a desirable characteristic of any good receiver, so the 1600kc. crystal at \$2.75 is not a luxury. While the 1600-kc. oscillator could be made self-controlled, it would be almost certain to "pull" with gaincontrol changes.

The specified 1700-kc. transformer,  $T_1$ , is a relatively expensive item, but there can be no compromise at this point, because a poor transformer will not have enough rejection to avoid the secondary inages (200 kc. away) that might otherwise ride through.

The 100-kc. output from the 6K8 is filtered through three tuned circuits and feeds

٠

Fig. 5-32 — The five-tube double-conversion superheterodyne tunes the 3.5- and 7-Mc. bands without bandswitching. The controls on the left are audio volume (upper) and b.f.o. switch, and those on the right are antenna tuning (upper) and i.f. gain. a triode plate detector ( $\frac{1}{2}$  6SN7). This detector is regenerative, but the regeneration is fixed and doesn't have to be bothered with by the operator unless he changes tubes and the new tube has considerably different characteristics. The regeneration in the 100-kc, detector gives the receiver its single-signal e.w. reception characteristic, since there aren't enough tuned circuits to give it otherwise. The b.f.o. uses the other triode in the 6SN7 envelope, and stray coupling is used for the b.f.o. injection. No panel control of b.f.o. pitch is available, because the selectivity is not adjustable and the variable-pitch feature is not essential.

Up to this point the gain of the receiver is not too high, and two stages of audio amplification are used. Omitting the cathode by-pass condensers still leaves more than enough audio for any pair of high-impedance headphones.

By keeping the signal level low up to and through the selective stages, there is a minimum opportunity for overloading and cross-modulation, and the gain need be kept only high enough to prevent degrading the signal-to-noise ratio. Further, a regenerative stage has a tendency to "flatten out" with strong signals, so the regenerative detector is somewhat protected by holding the gain down. However, the receiver has quite adequate sensitivity — in any normal location and with a fair to good antenna, any signal that can be heard by a large receiver can be heard by this one, except in rare cases where the large receiver's superior selectivity makes the difference.

#### Construction

The construction of the receiver is unconventional in that two chassis are used, as shown in Figs. 5-32 and 5-34, and the panel is mounted away from the chassis. All of the electrical components are mounted on the aluminum  $7 \times 11 \times$ 2-inch chassis, and this sits on an inverted  $7 \times 11 \times$  $\times$  2-inch steel chassis that serves as a base and bottom cover. The bottom chassis has rubber feet (grommets) at its corners that prevent its slipping





Fig. 5-33 - Wiring diagram of the five-tube receiver.

- $C_1 = 140 \cdot \mu \mu fd.$ -per-section dual variable (Hammarlund MCD-140-M).
- C2 35-µµfd. midget variable (Bud LC-1643 or Hammarlund HF-35).
- C3 100-µµfd, midget variable (National PSR-100).
- $R_5 1000$ -ohm wirewound potentiometer (Mallory AIMP).
- All resistors 1/2-watt unless specified otherwise.
- $L_1 8$  turns No. 30 d.c.e. elose-wound over ground end of  $L_2$ .
- L2, L3 35 turns No. 30 d.e.c. close-wound on National XR-50 slug-tuned form.

⋩

- L<sub>4</sub> 23 turns No. 24 hare space-wound 32 turns per inch, §4-inch diam. Tickler is 134 turns spaced 1 turn from L<sub>4</sub>. See text. (Made from B & W 3008 Miniductor.)
- L<sub>5</sub> 20-mh. (approx.) slug-tuned coil (RCA 205R1).
- T<sub>1</sub> 1700-kc. i.f. transformer, modified (Millen 62161).
- T2, T3 100-kc. transformers made from TV components (RCA 205R1). See text.
- T<sub>4</sub> --- Small 3:1 audio transformer (Stancor A-63-C).
- RFC<sub>1</sub>  $\leftarrow$  750  $\mu$ h. (National R-33).
- The 1600-kc. crystal is a Peterson Radio type Z-2.
  - \$

orte IOWI ppor ationa the OD O WI OI CHUSSIS cente table. ed away from nch-long two co wasners ne The S.1321 ne such 5-36 ann a 00 brass **LWO** collars at each end of and The more that 12-inch 6<u>-32</u> aluminum chascollars ne panel SCIEWS center. strength ž crews, panel is IS. secured c make they iona dns The the c 22

aluminum chassis is bolted to the hassis by two  $4\frac{1}{4}$ -inch lengths of a diameter brass rod, threaded

ΗA

Ы

H

Ы

F

О

# **HIGH-FREQUENCY RECEIVERS**

Fig. 5-35 — The 1700-ke. i.f. ean is modified by drilling two holes in the side of the ean.

On the transformer assembly proper, the old grid (green) and ground (black) wires are removed. On the tuning condenser connected to the coil nearest the tuning condensers, a new plate lead is connected to the stator and a new B+ lead to the rotor. The old plate lead (blue) becomes the new grid lead, and the old B+lead (red) becomes the new ground lead by transferring it from the terminal to the rotor wire near the coil.

During reassembly, the new plate and B+ leads should be soldered to a length of wire that is passed through the shield-can hole before the entire assembly is completed. Otherwise it is difficult to snake out the new plate and B+ leads unless small flexible wire is used.

6-32 at each end. These rods pass through holes in the top and lip of each chassis. The only holes that are required in the steel chassis are those for the two tie rods, the four holes for the rubber feet, and a  $1\frac{1}{4}$ -inch diameter hole to clear the headphone jack.

In the oscillator circuit, the 35-µµfd. tuning condenser,  $C_2$ , is supported by a small aluminum bracket. The correct location of the condenser on the bracket can be found after the dial-andchassis assembly has been completed. It is imperative to the smooth operation of the tuning condenser that the shaft of the condenser be correctly aligned with the coupling of the dial. The 100- $\mu\mu$ fd. trimmer, C<sub>3</sub>, is mounted under the chassis with its shaft extending through to the top, so that the capacitor is adjustable from above the chassis. Neither  $C_2$  nor  $C_3$  is grounded to the chassis through its mounting - leads from the rotors are grounded to the chassis at one point near the 6AC7 tube socket. The oscillator coil,  $L_4$ , is mounted by its leads on a small multiple tie point.

The shield between the input coils,  $L_2$  and  $L_3$ , is made of thin aluminum. It has a notch in the edge that goes against the chassis side, to clear the antenna-coil leads, and it has a hole through it for the lead between the bottoms of  $L_2$  and  $L_3$ .

The dual condenser,  $C_1$ , is fastened to the chassis by a single 6-32 screw, and the head of this screw has a copper shield soldered to it for minimizing coupling between  $C_{1A}$  and  $C_{1B}$ . The shield is easily cut out from copper flashing and soldered to the screw head. The rotor assembly of  $C_1$  must be

٠

Fig. 5-34 — A top view of the five-tube superheterodyne shows how an aluminum and a steel chassis are combined for greater weight and strength. The 6C4 oscillator and 6AC7 mixer are at the left, and the two 6SN7s are at the extreme right. Note the shield between the stator sections of the condenser on the left.



removed to put the shield in place, but this is just a matter of loosening four screws. Don't touch the stator plates. The screw with the shield on it, which holds  $C_1$  to the chassis, also holds the coil shield in place underneath the chassis.

The 1700-kc, i.f. transformer is mounted on its side because the chassis and panel sizes are such that the receiver can be mounted in a small cabinet, and mounting the transformer upright would prevent any such installation. To lav the transformer on its side, two 3/8-inch diameter holes are drilled in the side of the i.f. can, opposite the coils. The leads from the i.f. transformer are brought out these holes and through corresponding holes in the chassis. An end plate on the transformer has a clearance hole for the grid lead. Fig. 5-35 shows these modifications and how the leads are connected. The 1700-kc. transformer is fastened to the chassis with two clamps using spade bolts. An alternative method would be to make a bracket of the end plate and another bracket at the adjusting-screw end of the transformer.

The 100-ke eircuits use a TV component, the RCA 205R1 Horizontal Oscillator coil. As purchased, they have the soldering lugs and tuning screw out of the top of the ean, but they are easily reversed by uncrimping the can and reversing the assembly. Before reassembly, however, there are



a few things to be done. The large coil is used for the 100-kc, tuned circuit by connecting a 100- $\mu\mu$ fd, mica condenser between Pins A and F and lifting the center-tap from Pin C. Don't break the center-tap — the easiest way is to scrape the two wires first to remove the insulation, flow a drop of solder on the scraped portion, and then cut the two wires away at the pin. The other winding is used as the primary in  $T_2$  and the tickler in  $T_3$ . The primary in  $T_2$  can be tuned from the top, beeause there is also an iron slug in this smaller coil.

In wiring the set, use tic points liberally so that no components will be floppy. The only shielded wires are the one running from the volume control to Pin 1 of the audio amplifier and the leads from  $T_3$  to Pins 4 and 5 of the detector. The shields are grounded to the chassis at the ends and any other convenient points.

The oscillator coil,  $L_4$ , is made from B & W Miniductor. To separate the two coils of  $L_4$ , push the 3rd or 4th turn from one end of the piece of Miniductor through toward the center of the coil. Snip this wire with a pair of cutters and push the two ends back out. Each end is then peeled around for  $\frac{1}{2}$  turn. The two coils are adjusted to the right number of turns by working in from the outside ends.

The rotor of  $C_1$  is connected underneath the chassis to the 0.001- $\mu$ fd, coupling condenser by running a wire from the front support of the

rotor through a  $\frac{1}{4}$ -inch elearance hole in the chassis. The 0.001- $\mu$ fd, coupling condenser and  $L_2$  and  $L_3$  are grounded to the lug under  $L_2$ .

#### Adjustment

There are two types of adjustment that must be made to get the receiver working: adjusting the circuits to the proper frequencies and adjusting the oscillators and the regenerative detector to the proper amplitudes. To this latter end, leave the eathode end of  $R_1$  disconnected in the original wiring, and lightly solder (so that it can be changed later) the lead from Pin 5 of the detector to Terminal C of  $T_3$ . Resistors that may require changing are  $R_2$  and  $R_3$ , so don't solder them too well at first.

Connect a power supply to the receiver and see that the tubes light and that the power-supply voltages are approximately correct. The 250 volts can be anything 25 volts either side of 250, and the 105 volts, coming from a VR tube, will be nothing to worry about if the VR tube lights. A suggested power supply is shown in Fig. 5-37.

Next connect a low-range milliammeter between  $R_1$  and cathode (+ lead to cathode) and apply power again. The grid current should read about 0.05 ma. (50  $\mu$ a.). If it reads much more than this, try a slightly larger resistor at  $R_2$ , or a smaller one if the grid current is too low. Make these adjustments with the rotor arm of the r.f.

Fig.  $5-36 - \Lambda$  bottom view of the five-tube superheterodyne. The audio choke, L<sub>6</sub>, is in the upper right-hand corner, near where the power leads leave the chassis. The 6SN7 soeket nearer the panel is the detector-b.f.o. section.



# **HIGH-FREQUENCY RECEIVERS**

gain control at the grounded end.

Next cheek the oscillation of the 6C4 high-frequency oscillator. To do this, connect a 0–10 voltmeter across the 4700-ohm resistor in the plate circuit of the 6C4 (+ terminal to +105 side, - terminal to the 0.001- $\mu$ fd, condenser). Observe the voltage reading and then touch your finger to the stator of  $C_2$  or  $C_3$ .

If the oscillator is working, the voltmeter reading will increase. If you get no change, it means the oscillator isn't working. With both coils of  $L_4$  wound in the same direction (as they will be if Miniductor is used), the stator of the tuning condenser should be connected to the outer end of the larger coil, and Pin 5 of the 6C4 should be connected to the outside turn of the smaller coil.

If you can borrow a serviceman's test oscillator that will give a modulated signal at 1700 kc., this signal can be introduced at the grid of the 6K8 and the 100-kc. i.f. circuits can be peaked (b.f.o. turned off), listening in the headphones for maximum response. The 1700-kc, signal can then be transferred to the grid of the 6AC7 and the trimmers peaked on  $T_1$ . Lacking the signal generator, the alternative is to provide a modulated signal in the 80- or 40-meter band and couple it to the stator of  $C_{1B}$ . If the signal is from a crystal oscillator or VFO at 3750 kc. (for example), running from an unfiltered power supply to furnish the modulation, set the tuning dial vertical. If the signal is at 3500 kc., set the tuning condenser  $C_2$ at almost full capacity. Rock  $C_3$  slowly until the signal is heard. Then peak the 100-kc. transformers  $T_2$  and  $T_3$ , reducing the signal input as necessary to avoid overloading. Next turn on the b.f.o. and adjust the slug in  $L_5$  until a beat note is heard. Then peak the trimmers in  $T_1$ .

With the initial tuning of the 100-ke, channel done, the slugs of  $L_2$  and  $L_3$  can be adjusted for maximum signal, with no antenna connected. Set  $C_1$  at almost full capacity, the signal near 3.5 Mc., and adjust the iron slugs for maximum in the headphones. If a VFO or crystal oscillator is furnishing the signal, there will probably be enough pick-up without any apparent coupling, but a short 6-inch wire connected to the antenna terminal may be required to pick up the output from a low-powered signal source.

It is not likely that the 100-kc, eircuits will be tuned to the exact frequency that makes the calibrations coincide on 80 and 40 meters. While this isn't necessary, of course, it does make the dial look cleaner. To bring the calibrations into line, beg or borrow a frequency standard that will give signals at 100-kc, intervals. First locate the 4.0- and 7.0-Mc, points on the receiver dial, by referring the harmonics from the 100-kc, standard to the original signal you used for alignment. If, for example, the 80-meter signal you used was at 3650 kc., you know that the first 100-kc, harmonic you hear on the high-frequency side will be 3700 kc., and the first one on the low side will be 3600



Fig. 5-37 — Suggested circuit diagram for the receiver power supply.

 $T_1$  — Stancor PM-8407 or equivalent. S<sub>1</sub> — S.p.s.t. toggle switch.

ke. The second harmonic of the 3650-ke. signal will furnish a check point at 7300 kc.  $(2 \times 3650)$ , so swinging  $C_1$  to about  $\frac{1}{3}$  meshed (where it will peak the 7-Mc. signals) will allow you to locate the 7-Mc. points. Thus you will have 100-kc. intervals on the dial from 3.5 to 4.0 Mc. and from 6.9 to 7.4 Mc., but not necessarily coinciding. To make them coincide, some slight retuning of the 100-kc. transformers is required. If, for example, the 7.0-Mc. point occurs to the right of the 3.6-Mc. point, the 100-kc. amplifier is tuned low, and the slugs should be turned out slightly. A few trials will bring the circuits into place.

Now check the regeneration of the detector by connecting the lead from Pin 5 of the detector to D on  $T_3$ . If a steady beat is heard, indicating that the detector is oscillating, tune both circuits of  $T_2$  and see if they will kill the oscillation. Their action is to load the regenerative detector to where it won't oscillate — if the action persists, try a 4700-ohm resistor at  $R_3$  as a last resort. These circuits should be peaked on a modulated signal, with the b.f.o. turned off.

After the detector has been made regenerative, the calibration can again be checked as in a preceding paragraph, and any minor changes in tuning made as are found necessary. Once the 100-kc. circuits have been aligned they can be left alone, and if the 3.5- and 4.0-Mc. points don't come where you want them on the tuning dial, a slight adjustment of  $C_3$  will correct it.

Connect a 140- $\mu\mu$ fd, variable in series between antenna and the antenna post. On 80 meters, peak  $C_1$  on a signal and rock the adjustment slug of  $L_2$ . If it tunes fairly sharp, the antenna coupling is not too tight on that band. Swing  $C_1$  out until you are listening on 40 (to a signal) and again rock the slug on  $L_2$ . If it tunes broad, reduce the capacity of the 140- $\mu\mu$ fd, antenna condenser until  $L_2$  shows a definite peak. Note the settings of the condenser for the two bands.

The input condenser,  $C_1$ , will tune sharply on either band, and it should always be peaked when listening to a weak signal. Detuning it slightly will attenuate abnormally loud signals.

The power-supply requirements for the receiver are slight: about 15 ma. at 250 volts and 25 ma. at 105. A 60-ma, power supply will take care of this and the extra 10-12 ma, for a VR-105. A circuit diagram with suggested values is shown in Fig. 5-37.

# A Clipper/Filter for C.W. or 'Phone

The clipper/filter shown in Fig. 5-39 is plugged into the receiver headphone jack and the headphones are plugged into the limiter, with no work required on the receiver. The limiter will cut down serious noise on 'phone or c.w. signals, it The circuit is shown in Fig. 5-38. The constants are not too critical, and have been adjusted for operation at the signal levels ordinarily available from the headphone jack on a receiver. The clipper output circuit is heavily by-passed by  $C_6$ 





C<sub>1</sub>, C<sub>4</sub>, C<sub>7</sub> — 470- $\mu\mu$ fd. mica. C<sub>2</sub> — 0.04- $\mu$ fd. paper. C<sub>3</sub> = 0.1- $\mu$ fd. paper. C<sub>5</sub> = 8- $\mu$ fd. 450-volt electrolytic. C<sub>6</sub> = 0.003- $\mu$ fd. paper. C<sub>8</sub> = 10- $\mu$ fd. 25-volt electrolytic. C<sub>9</sub> = 0.25- $\mu$ fd. paper. R<sub>1</sub>, R<sub>3</sub> = 1 megohm. /2 watt. R<sub>2</sub>, R<sub>9</sub> = 1500 ohms. /2 watt.

- L<sub>1</sub> 250-mh, ehoke (Millen 34400-250).
- J<sub>1</sub> 'Phone jack, single circuit.
- S1-2-circuit 3-position switch.

will keep the strength of c.w. signals at a constant level, and it will add selectivity to your receiver for c.w. reception. It will do much to relieve the operating fatigue caused by long hours of listening to static crashes, key clicks encountered on the air and with break-in operation, and the like. to reduce the amplitude of the harmonics generated in the clipping process, and additional bypassing by  $C_9$ , across the headset, is used for the same purpose. Cathode-follower input and output circuits allow the unit to be used with any receiver output and any headphones, and they also



٠

Fig. 5-39 — The audio clipper unit includes input and output amplifiers of the cathodefollower type, a dual-triode clipper circuit, and a selective audio system. It is built in a small utility box, with a cable for power-supply connections and a cord and plug to pick up audio from the receiver's headphone jack.

# **HIGH-FREQUENCY RECEIVERS**

٠

Fig. 5-40 — Inside view of the clipper unit. The gain control, switch, headphone jack, and the larger fixed condensers are mounted on the walls of the box. The two tubes and the selective audio circuit are mounted on the removable panel, The selective circuit, consisting of the choke coil and two tubular condensers, occupies the upper half of the panel in this view. The socket at the left is for the input and output amplifiers; the right-hand socket is for the double-triode elipper.

٠

contribute to the effectiveness of the audio filter,  $L_1C_2C_3$ . A three-position switch,  $S_1$ , is provided so that the unit can be cut out entirely, used with straight limiting and no selectivity, or with both selectivity and limiting. The "off" position is useful principally to convince the skeptical, and the limiting without selectivity is useful for impulse noise, when encountered. High selectivity and good noise suppression do not go hand in hand.

The unit, shown in Figs. 5-39 and 5-40, is built on one panel and the sides of a 3 by 4 by 5 utility box. The parts on the panel and the box proper are connected through cabled leads made long enough so the panel can be swung out as shown. Any type of construction can be used, since there is nothing critical in the layout. One precaution to observe is to use a shielded lead between the "hot" input terminal and the switch, to prevent possible stray coupling between the input and later high-impedance circuits because of the cabled leads.

The selective audio circuit chosen gives a type of frequency-response curve that is quite useful. The peak at 800 cycles is broad enough to avoid tuning difficulties, even when used in conjunction with the crystal filter in the receiver. Nevertheless, the response drops off rapidly enough, particularly on the high-frequency side, to make a marked difference in respect to the "capturing" of the limiter by strong off-resonance signals. There is a "notch" at 1700 cycles.

There is a wide latitude in choice of inductances for  $L_1$ . The Millen coil listed under Fig. 5-38 was



the best of available low-priced units tried, in terms of sharpness of the response curve and the depth of the rejection notch. Some of the small filter chokes such as the Stancor C-1515 and Thordarson T20C53 also work reasonably well. The former will resonate at approximately the same frequencies as given above with 330  $\mu\mu$ fd, at  $C_2$  and 470  $\mu\mu$ fd, at  $C_3$ ; the latter choke requires 0.001  $\mu$ fd, at  $C_2$  and 0.002  $\mu$ fd, at  $C_3$ . With any coil the values of capacitance required to place the peak and notch at frequencies that best fit one's taste in beat notes can easily and quickly be determined by simple cut-and-try. Other types of selective audio circuits can, of course, also be substituted.

In use, the receiver's gain controls should be set so that only the stronger signals are clipped; too-deep clipping will make the receiver sound as though practically every signal overloads it. Once the proper settings for clipping level are determined, the actual audio volume is adjusted by the gain control on the unit. A little juggling back and forth between the receiver controls and the output control in the clipper unit will eventually result in the receiver's sounding very much like it does without the clipper present. The difference is that the signals and noise, including one's own transmitter signal, don't rise above the level set as a ceiling.

# The "Selectoject"

The Selectoject is a receiver adjunct that can be used as a sharp amplifier or as a single-frequency rejection filter. The frequency of operation may be set to any point in the audio range by turning a single knob. The degree of selectivity (or depth of the null) is continuously adjustable and is independent of tuning. In 'phone work, the rejection notch can be used to reduce or eliminate a heterodyne. In c.w. reception, interfering signals may be rejected or, alternatively, the desired signal may be picked out and amplified. The Selectoject may also be operated as a low-distortion variable-frequency audio oscillator suitable for amplifier frequency-response measurements, modulation tests, and the like, by advancing the "selectivity" control far enough in the selectiveamplifier condition. The Selectoject is connected in a receiver between the detector and the first audio stage. Its power requirements are 4 ma, at 150 volts and 6.3 volts at 0.6 ampere. For proper operation, the 150 volts should be obtained from across a VR-150 or from a supply with an output capacity of at least 20 µfd.

The wiring diagram of the Selectoject is shown in Fig. 5-41. Resistors  $R_2$  and  $R_3$ , and  $R_4$  and  $R_5$ . can be within 10 per cent of the nominal value but they should be as close to each other as possible. An ohmmeter is quite satisfactory for doing the matching. One-watt resistors are used because the larger ratings are usually more stable over a long period of time.

If the station receiver has an "accessory socket" on it, the cable of the Selectoject can be made up to match the connections to the socket, and the numbers will not necessarily match those shown in Fig. 5-41. The lead between the second detector and the receiver gain control should be broken and run in shielded leads to the two pins of the socket corresponding to those on the plug marked "A.F. Input" and "A.F. Output." If the receiver has a VR-150 included in it for voltage stabilization there will be no problem in getting the plate voltage — otherwise a suitable voltage divider should be incorporated in the receiver, with a 20- to 40-µfd, electrolytic condenser connected from the +150-volt tap to ground.

In operation, overload of the receiver or the Selectoject should be avoided, or all of the possible selectivity may not be realized.

The Selectorect is useful as a means for obtaining much of the performance of a crystal filter from a receiver lacking a filter.



- -0.01-µfd. mica, 400 volts. C1 -
- $C_2, C_3 = 0, 1 \text{-} \mu \text{fd}$ , paper, 200 volts.  $C_4, C_8 = 0.002 \text{-} \mu \text{fd}$ , paper, 400 volts.  $C_4 = 0.05 \text{-} \mu \text{fd}$ , paper, 400 volts.
- $C_5 = 0.05 \cdot \mu f d$ , paper, 400 volts.  $C_6 = 16 \cdot \mu f d$ , 150 · volt electrolytic.
- $C_7 = 0.0002 \cdot \mu fd.$  mica.  $R_1 = 1$  megohm,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt.
- R1 Indeform, 22 watt, matched as closely as possible (see text).
   R4, R5 2000 ohms, 1 watt, matched as closely as
- possible (see text).
- - R6 20,000 ohms, 1/2 watt,
  - R7 2000 ohms, 1/2 watt.
  - Rs - 10,000 ohms, 1 watt.
  - 6000 ohms, 1/2 watt. R<sub>9</sub>
  - R10-20,000 ohms, 1/2 watt.
  - R<sub>11</sub> 0.5-megohm ½-watt potentiometer (selectivity). R12, R13 - Ganged 5-megohm potentiometers, standard
  - audio taper (tuning control).
  - R<sub>14</sub>-0.12 megohm, 1/2 watt.
  - $S_1$ ,  $S_2 D.p.d.t.$  toggle (can be ganged).

## A Bandswitching Preselector for 14 to 30 Mc.

The performance of many receivers begins to drop off at 14 and 30 Mc. The signal-tonoise ratio is reduced, and trouble with r.f.image signals becomes apparent. The preselector shown in Figs. 5-42 and 5-44 can be added ahead of any receiver without making any changes within the receiver, and a self-contained power supply eliminates the problem of furnishing heater and plate power.

As can be seen from the wiring diagram, Fig. 5-43, a 6AK5 r.f. pentode is used in the preselector. Both the grid and plate circuits are tuned, but the tuning condensers are ganged and only one control is required. The gain through the amplifier is controlled by changing the cathode voltage, through  $R_3$ . A sclenium rectifier is used to supply plate power, and the heater power comes from a step-down transformer. The chassis is at r.f. ground but the d.c. circuit is isolated, to prevent shortcircuiting the a.c. line through external connections to the preselector.

A two-section ceramic switch selects either the 14- to 21-Me. or the 28-Mc. coil, or the antenna can be fed through directly to the receiver input. When operating in an amateur band between 14 and 30 Mc., switching to the band not in use will attenuate one's own signal sufficiently to permit direct monitoring, in most cases.

As shown in Fig. 5-42, the ganged condensers are controlled from the front panel by a National MCN dial, and a small knob to the right of this dial is connected to the antenna trimmer,  $C_4$ , for peaking the tuning with various antennas. The a.e. line is controlled by  $S_2$ , a toggle switch mounted on the panel.

The preselector is built on a  $3 \times 5 \times 10^{-1}$ inch chassis, and a  $6 \times 6^{-1}$  inch plate of thin metal is used for a panel. A  $1\frac{3}{4} \times 3^{-1}$  inch aluminum bracket mounted about  $3\frac{1}{2}$  inches behind the front panel supports the tuning condenser,  $C_{5}$ , and the antenna trimmer,  $C_{4}$ . Millen 39005 flexible couplings are required to handle the offset shaft of  $C_{4}$ . Both  $C_{5}$  and  $C_{8}$  are mounted on the chassis with 6-32 screws, but the chassis should be scraped free of paint before installation, to insure good contact.

The shield partition between the two switch sections (Fig. 5-44) straddles the tube socket and shields the grid from the plate circuit. The switched ends of all coils are supported by their respective switch points, and the other ends are soldered to tie points mounted on the

#### COIL TABLE FOR THE PRESELECTOR

- L<sub>1</sub> 5 t. No. 24, <sup>3</sup>/<sub>4</sub>-inch diameter (B & W 3012)
- L<sub>2</sub> 5 t. No. 24, 1-inch diameter (B & W 3016)
- L<sub>3</sub> 6 t. No. 24, <sup>3</sup>/<sub>4</sub>-inch diameter (B & W 3012)
- L<sub>4</sub> 7 t. No. 20, 1-inch diameter (B & W 3014)
- L<sub>5</sub> 7<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> t. No. 20, <sup>3</sup>/<sub>4</sub>-inch diameter (B & W 3010)
- L<sub>6</sub> 3 t. No. 24, 1-inch diameter (B & W 3015)
- $L_7$  11 t. No. 24 d.c.c., close-wound,  $\frac{1}{2}$ -inch diameter
- $L_8$  4 t. No. 28 d.c.c., close-wound,  $\frac{1}{2}$ -inch diameter
- $L_7$  and  $L_8$  are wound adjacent on a  $\frac{1}{12}$  -inch diameter polystyrene form (National PRD-2)

chassis. The mica trimmers,  $C_9$  and  $C_{10}$ , are supported on short lengths of stiff wire, and a hole in the side of the chassis is required to reach  $C_{10}$  with an aligning tool.

The power-supply components are mounted as near the rear of the chassis as possible. The selenium rectifier must be insulated from the chassis.



•

Fig. 5-42 — A bandswitching preselector for 14 and 28 Me. A single 6AK5 amplifier is used, and the power supply is included in the unit. The antenna-trimming condenser is mounted on the small aluminum partition.



The coils are made from B & W "Miniductors," as shown in the coil table, with the exception of one plate and coupling coil which are wound on a polystyrene form. The ground returns for the cathode and plate by-pass condensers are made to a common terminal, a soldering lug under one of the mounting screws for  $C_8$ .

When the wiring has been completed and checked, the antenna is connected to  $J_1$  and a cable from  $J_2$  is run to the receiver input. Tune the receiver to the 14-Mc, band and set  $S_1$  to the proper point. Then turn the main tuning dial until the noise or signal increases to a maximum. This should occur with  $C_5$  and  $C_8$  set at close to maximum capacity. Then peak the noise by adjusting  $C_{10}$  and  $C_4$ .

The 28-Mc. range is adjusted in the same

way, with the exception that  $C_9$  is touched up. It may be found necessary to touch up  $C_4$  when different antennas are used. The presclector may oscillate with no antenna connected, but with any type of wire or feed line the operation of the amplifier should ordinarily be perfectly stable.

As shown, the preselector is intended for use with coaxial-line feed to the antenna and to the receiver. If a balanced two-wire line is used from the antenna, it is recommended that a suitable two-wire connector be substituted for  $J_1$ . The grounded sides of  $L_1$  and  $L_2$ should be disconnected from ground and returned to one side of the connector. The output connector can be left as shown, since at the lower frequencies the proper antenna connection isn't so important.



•

Fig. 5-44 —  $\Lambda$  view underneath the chassis of the bandswitching preselector, showing the shield partition between switch sections and the selenium rectifier and associated filter.

٠

## **HIGH-FREQUENCY RECEIVERS**

# An Antenna-Coupling Unit for Receiving

It will often be found advantageous on the 14- and 28-Mc, bands to tune (or match) the receiving-antenna feed line to the receiver, in order to get the most out of the antenna. One way to do this is to use, in reverse, any of the line-coupling devices advocated for use with a transmitter. Naturally the components can be small, because the power involved is negligi-



Fig. 5-45 — Circuit diagram of the coupling unit.
C<sub>1</sub> — 140-μμfd, midget variable (Millen 22140),
C<sub>2</sub> = 100-μμfd, midget variable (Millen 22100),
L<sub>4</sub>, L<sub>2</sub> = 25 turns No. 26 d.e.e. space-wound to occupy 1 inch on 1-inch diameter form (Millen 45000),
tapped at 2, 5, 8, 12 and 18 turns,

S1 – 2-circuit 5-position single-section ceramic wafer switch (Mallory 173C).

ble, and small receiving condensers and coils are quite satisfactory. Some provision for adjustable coupling is recommended, as in the transmitting case, because the signal-to-noise ratio at 14 and 28 Me, is dependent, to a large extent, on the degree of coupling to the antenna system. The tuning unit can be built on a small chassis located near the receiver, or it can be mounted on the wall and a piece of RG-59/U run from the unit to the receiver input, in the manner of a link line in transmitting practice. For ease in changing bands, the coils can be switched or plugged into a suitable socket.

Adjustable coupling not only offers an opportunity to adjust for best signal-to-noise ratio, but the coupling can be decreased when a strong local signal is on the air, to climinate "blocking" and crossmodulation effects in the receiver.

•

Fig. 5.46 - A compact coupling network for matching a balanced line to the receiver on 14 and 28 Mc.

٠

One convenient type of antenna-coupling unit for receivers uses the familiar pi-section filter circuit, and can be used to match a wide range of antenna impedances. The diagram of a compact unit of this type is shown in Fig. 5-45. Through proper selection of condensers and inductances, a match can be obtained over a wide range of values. The device can be placed close to the receiver and left connected all of the time, since it will have little or no effect on the lower frequencies. A short length of 300-ohm Twin-Lead is convenient for connecting the antenna coupler to the receiver.

The antenna coupler is built in a  $5 \times 7 \times 2$ inch metal chassis. All of the components except the two coils are mounted on the front and rear faces. The condensers are mounted off the panel by the spacers furnished with the condensers, and a clearance hole for the shaft prevents any short-circuit to the panel. The coils, wound on Millen 45000 phenolic forms, are fastened to the chassis with brass series, and the coils should be wound on the forms as far away as possible from the mounting end. The switch should be wired so that the switching sequence puts in, in each coil, 2 turns, 5 turns, 8 turns, 12 turns, 18 and 25 turns.

The unit is adjusted for maximum signal by switching to different coil positions and adjusting  $C_1$  and  $C_2$ . It will not be necessary to retrim the condensers except when going from one end of a band to the other, and when the unit is not in use, as on 7 and 3.5 Mc., the coils should be set at the minimum number of turns and the condensers set at minimum. The small reactances remaining have a negligible effect. The coil in the grounded side should be shorted if coaxial-line feed is used.



# **Receiver Matching to Tuned Lines**

The pi-section coupler shown in Figs. 5-45 and 5-46 can be used in many instances for matching a balanced open-wire line to the receiver, and it can be used with an unbalanced line by short-circuiting the inductance in the grounded side of the unbalanced line. However, there are many applications where another type of coupler is slightly more advantageous, as when an all-band antenna system with tuned feeders is used, or where a wide range of line impedances may be en-



 $Fi\mu$ , 5-47 — A small tuned coupler for matching the receiver to a tuned line. The unit is made either seriesor parallel-tuned by the position of the autenna connection block.

countered. This other type of coupler, shown in Figs. 5-47, 5-48 and 5-49, is simply a scaleddown transmitter coupler, with provision for either series or parallel tuning. The change from series to parallel tuning is made simply by the manner in which the antenna connection plate is plugged into the unit.

As can be seen in the wiring diagram, Fig. 5-48, when the antenna connection plate is plugged in so that all four contacts are engaged, the two condensers are connected across the coil in series, to give parallel tuning. When the plate is dropped down, so that only the antenna plugs engage at A and B, the unit is connected for series tuning. Small low-power transmitting coils with swinging links are used.

The unit is built in a  $4 \times 4 \times 2$ -inch box, with the coil socket mounted on one  $2 \times 4$ inch side. One of the  $4 \times 4$ -inch side plates is replaced by a sheet of polystyrene or other insulating material, on which are mounted four banana jacks. A similar but smaller piece of insulating material is drilled at the same time



Fig. 5-48 — Circuit of the tuned antenna coupler,  $C_1, C_2 = 100 \cdot \mu \mu fd$ , midget variable (Millen 22100),  $L_1 = Coil$  to tune to hand in use, with swinging link (National AR-16),

to take four banana plugs. A pair of clearance holes must be added to the larger plate to clear two of the plugs when the series connection is used.

The two condensers are mounted in the box and ganged with an insulated shaft coupling. The remaining  $4 \times 4$ -inch side plate is drilled and filed to form an oval hole that will pass the 300-ohm line from the coupler to the receiver. A rubber grommet should be fitted in the hole to protect the line from the metal and to provide a little clearance.

In operation, the coupler is used in exactly the same way that one is used with a transmitter. Some experimenting is necessary to determine whether series or parallel tuning should be used on the various bands, and it may be necessary to use the coil from the next lower-frequency band if series tuning is indicated, or to remove a few turns from a coil if parallel tuning is required. In any event, the tuner should tune fairly sharply and give a definite "peak" to the incoming signals. When this condition has been found on any one band, the coupling can then be adjusted for maximum response to the signals, by adjusting the position of the link winding within  $L_1$ .



Fig. 5-49 - Another view of the tuned antenna coupler.

## A One-Tube Converter for 10 and 11 Meters

The 10- and 11-meter converter shown in Figs. 5-50 and 5-52 is a simple unit that can be built in a few hours, for a cost of less than fourteen dollars. The converter uses a fixed-tune i.f. and tunable input and oscillator circuits, in preference to a fixed-frequency oscillator and a tunable output circuit. With a one-tube converter of the latter type, it is almost impossible to avoid picking up at least a few signals in the tuning range of the receiver. Using a tunable oscillator and a fixed-frequency output circuit permits one to select an i.f. free from interference. The plate-current demand is only 5 ma., and it is usually possible to operate the converter from the receiver power supply.

As can be seen in Fig. 5-51, the Hartley circuit is used in the oscillator portion of the 6BA7 pentagrid converter. A padding condenser,  $C_2$ , is switched in through  $S_1$  to change the range for 11-meter operation. Condenser  $C_4$  is used for tuning, and the input circuit is tuned to either range with  $C_1$ . The screen grid of the 6BA7 is operated at about 65 volts, since higher voltages will increase the total tube current without any marked improvement in performance. However, since the available supply voltage will vary with different receivers, the value of the screen dropping resistor,  $R_2$ , cannot be specified, and it must be calculated, as described later.

There is a good reason for not using an antenna switch for straight-through operation of the converter. With practically any available switch it is very difficult to prevent capacity coupling between the input and output circuits of the converter. Any such capacity coupling increases the problem of eliminating interference at the i.f. By equipping the converter and the receiver with identical input terminals and using similar plugs on both the antenna feed line and the converter output cable, antenna changeover is no problem. The metal partition separating  $L_2$  and  $L_3$ , shown in Fig. 5-52, reduces the effect of oscillator harmonics beating with high-frequency (FM) broadcast stations.

#### Construction

The converter is built on a 5 by 7 by 2-inch aluminum chassis, and a 6 by 7-inch panel is held in place by the components mounted on the front wall of the chassis. The main tuning dial is a National type MCN.

It can be seen in Fig. 5-50 that the oscillator tuning condenser.  $C_4$ , is mounted on  $\frac{1}{4}$ -inch

Fig. 5-50 — A one-tube converter for extending the tuning range of a receiver to 10 and 11 meters. The crystal socket on the back of the chassis receives the antenna plug (Millen 37412).

.

metal pillars. A National type GS-10 stand-off insulator is located at the front-right-hand side of  $C_4$ , and a soldering lug at the top end of this insulator is soldered to the stator terminal lug of the condenser. This added support for the tuning condenser improves oscillator stability, by preventing rocking of  $C_4$  as the control shaft is turned. A feed-through bushing at the other front terminal of the condenser is used to support and insulate the lead passing through the chassis to the coil below. The padder condensers for the oscillator circuit,  $C_3$  and  $C_5$ , are mounted on the rear terminal lugs of the tuning condenser.

The grid coil,  $L_2$ , is mounted on the terminal lugs of the input tuning condenser,  $C_1$ . The antenna coil,  $L_1$ , should be wound around  $L_2$  before the larger coil is soldered in place. The tube socket, to the rear of  $C_1L_2$ , is mounted with pins No. 1 and 7 facing toward the rear of the chassis. The aluminum shield between the input and the oscillator coils has a  $\frac{3}{8}$ -inch lip bent over along one edge, for fastening to the chassis. The shield is slotted to clear the cathode-tap lead.

The screen and decoupling resistors,  $R_2$  and  $R_3$ , respectively, are supported at the powersupply ends by a tie-point strip which is held in place by the same screw that anchors the soldering lug for  $L_3$ . If the receiver supply voltage is known at this time, it is possible to calculate the correct value for the screen-dropping resistor, and the resistor can be mounted on the tiepoint strip. The resistor value is obtained from the equation

$$R$$
 (ohms) =  $\frac{\text{supply voltage} - 65}{0.0046}$ 

Example: Supply voltage 260; the resistor value is

 $\frac{260-65}{0.0046} = \frac{42,391 \text{ ohms. Anything within } 20\,\%}{\text{of this figure would be satisfactory.}}$ 

The coaxial output cable is terminated at the chassis end at a tie-point strip located at the left end of the chassis.







Fig. 5-51 - Circuit diagram of the low-cost 10- and 11-meter converter.

- $C_1 = 15$ -µµfd, variable (Millen 20015),
- $C_2$ ,  $C_3 = 3-30$ - $\mu\mu$ fd, miea trimmer,  $C_4 = 25$ - $\mu\mu$ fd, variable (Millen 19050 with 2 stator and  $C_4$ 2 rotor plates removed).
- 68-µµfd, silver mica.  $C_5$
- 47-μµfd. ceramic. C6 -
- C7, C9 0.01-µfd. disc ceramic.
- C<sub>8</sub> 82-µµfd. mica.
- 22,000 ohms. 1/2 watt.  $R_1 -$
- Screen resistor: see text.  $R_2 -$
- $R_3 = 1000$  ohms,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt.  $L_1 = 3$  turns No. 24 d.s.c., space wound around  $L_2$ .

It is important that the link from the converter to the receiver be well shielded, to avoid picking up any signals directly in the receiver. A length of RG-58 U or RG-59/U can be used and, if necessary, a small shield should be mounted over the antenna binding post of the receiver. However, it is usually possible to set the receiver somewhere near 3 Mc. that will be free from even the weakest straight-through interference.

If no communications receiver is available, a war-surplus BC-454 aircraft receiver (tuning range of 3 to 6 Mc.) makes an inexpensive receiver for use with this converter.

#### Testing

Power for the converter can be obtained from a separate supply, but it is usually more convenient to "steal" the power from the receiver. The converter requires 6.3 volts at 0.3 ampere for the heater and 200 to 250 volts d.c. at 5 to 6 ma, for the plate and screen.

After the power supply has been connected, it



- L<sub>2</sub> 13 turns No. 20 tinned, <sup>5</sup>/<sub>8</sub>-inch diam., <sup>1</sup>/<sub>316</sub>-inch long (B & W 3007).
- L<sub>3</sub> 6 turns No. 18 tinned, ½-inch diam., ¾-inch long, cathode tap 1¾ turns from ground end (B & W 3002).
- L<sub>4</sub> -- Slug-tuned plate coil (CTC LS3 -- 5 MC.),
- 15-10 turns No. 24 d.s.c. scramble wound at cold end of  $L_4$ .
- J<sub>1</sub> Panel-mounting male socket (Amphenol 86-CP4)
- $P_1 = 300$ -ohm Twin-Lead plug (Millen 37412).
- S<sub>1</sub>, S<sub>2</sub> S.p.s.t. toggle switch.

is advisable to check the screen and plate voltages with a voltmeter. It may be necessary to change the value of  $R_2$  if the screen voltage isn't in the recommended range of 60 to 70.

If your transmitter uses VFO, set the VFO to have a harmonic fall at 28 Mc., and tune the receiver to 3 Mc. If you have crystal control, turn on the oscillator and set the receiver to the crystal's 28-Mc, harmonic minus 25 Me, If, for example, your crystal has a harmonic at 28,650 kc., set the receiver to 3650 kc. Set the tuning condenser,  $C_4$ , to where you want the test frequency (transmitter-oscillator harmonic) to appear on the dial, and tune it in by adjusting  $C_3$ . If the signal is too loud, remove any test antenna from the converter. With a reasonable signal, check the tuning of the input circuit,  $C_1L_2$ , and adjust  $L_4$  for maximum signal in the receiver.

Once the converter has been set up on known frequencies within the 10- and 11-meter bands,  $C_2$  and  $C_3$  are left fixed and the tuning is done with  $C_4$ . The bandspread will be approximately 80 dial divisions on 10 and 20 or so on 11 meters,  $C_1$  need not be touched over a tuning range of about 200 kc., and so should be used at intervals if the entire band is being combed.

Fig. 5.52 - A bottom view of the one-tube converter. The toggle switches are for band-changing and opening the heater circuit.

The principle of using a fixed high-frequency oscillator in a converter and tuning the receiver the converter works into can be elaborated upon by using a stage of r.f. amplification ahead of the mixer and by using a crystalcontrolled oscillator for maximum stability. Since such a converter is generally used on a high frequency where fundamental crystals are not available, it is necessary to use a harmonic of a lower-frequency crystal. A crystalcontrolled converter of this type is shown in Figs. 5-53 and 5-55. A separate converter is required for the 14-, 21- and 27-/28-Me. bands, since by using separate converters it is possible to simplify their construction and to maximize their performance.

The converter uses the harmonic of a crystal oscillator to provide an exceedingly stable highfrequency oscillator signal. For example, in the 10-meter converter a 12,25-Me, crystal doubles to 24.5 Mc., and this signal is fed to the mixer. By tuning the amplifier (your present receiver) following the mixer over the range 3.5 to 5.2 Me., you are, in effect, tuning across the 28-Me. band. The r.f. circuits in the converter are tuned to 28 Mc., and only have to be touched up when going from one end of the band to the other.

The wiring diagram is shown in Fig. 5-54, A neutralized triode-connected 6AK5 is used for the r.f. amplifier. There is some question as to its necessity on 14 and 21 Me., where the atmospheric noise is generally high enough to limit the maximum usable sensitivity. A pentode-connected 6AK5 could probably be used with no detectable difference in performance on 14 and 21, but the triode is easy to handle and you don't lose anything by using it. Using high-impedance circuits with the pentode might give trouble from regeneration, unless the stage were neutralized. Adjustable antenna coupling and a Faraday screen are included to accommodate various antenna systems and to eliminate capacity coupling to the antenna line. The r.f. stage runs at 105 volts on the plate, since this gives the best noise figure. The separate plate lead also offers an opportunity to kill the converter by opening this circuit. The 6AK5 pentode mixer is easy to handle and quiet enough so that its noise doesn't impair the over-all performance. A triode mixer might be used, but the pentode runs with low current and is quiet.

121

The plate circuit of the mixer is tuned to the center of the receiver tuning range by setting  $L_4$  to resonate with the various shunt circuit capacities. The circuit has a low Q and there is little variation in gain over the range. A 6C4 eathode follower is used as a low-impedance coupling to the receiver input.

One section of a 6J6 twin triode is used for the crystal oscillator, and the other half serves as a frequency multiplier. To minimize the other harmonics existing in the plate circuit of the multiplier, the plate is tapped down on

 $L_6$ . To get the best possible r.f. circuits, within W = W "Miniductors" the space limitations, B & W "Miniductors" are used for  $L_1$ ,  $L_2$  and  $L_3$ . Their Q is well above that obtainable with smaller-diameter coils, and they are easy to handle. To insure good shielding and low-resistance ground paths, an aluminum chassis is used in preference to the more common steel units.

The converter is built on a 5  $\times$  9<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>  $\times$  3-inch aluminum chassis, with several shield partitions to reduce unwanted interstage coupling. The most important shield is the one that straddles the r.f. amplifier socket and separates the grid and plate circuits of this stage. The grid tuning condenser,  $C_2$ , is mounted on bakelite insulating washers, and its ground lead returns to the common ground at the tube socket, to eliminate stray coupling through chassis cur-



Fig. 5-53 - A 28-Mc. crystal-controlled converter. The adjustable antenna coupling can be seen at the left front. The tube shields, from left to right, cover the triode-connected 6AK5 r.f. amplifier, the 6AK5 mixer and the 6C4 cathode follower. The unshielded tube is the 6J6 oscillator-multiplier.

## CHAPTER 5



- C<sub>6</sub> 5-µµfd, midget variable (Johnson 160-102)
- $C_7 \Pi_{-\mu\mu}$ fd, midget butterfly (Johnson 160-211),
- Cs, C13 -– 470-µµfd, mica.
- Twisted wire, See text.  $C_{\theta}$  —
- $C_{16}$ ,  $C_{19}$  See coil table.  $C_{18}$  47- $\mu\mu$ fd. mica.

- $R_1, R_9 = 220 \text{ ohms.}$  $R_2 = 2200 \text{ ohms.}$  1 watt.

rents. If this isn't done, you may have trouble neutralizing the amplifier.

A 21/4-inch diameter hole is punched in the chassis, so that the externally-mounted antenna coil,  $L_1$ , can be coupled to the grid coil,  $L_2$ . The Faraday screen is then mounted across this hole on the underside of the chassis. To construct the Faraday shield, first cut a piece of <sup>1</sup>/<sub>8</sub>-inch-thick polstyrene (Millen Quartz-Q) to measure  $2\frac{1}{2}$  by  $3\frac{1}{4}$  inches, and drill a pair of holes at one end to clear No. 6 screws, for mounting the finished shield. (These are the same screws that hold the mounting strip for the antenna condenser,  $C_1$ , visible in Fig. 5-53.) At the opposite end of the poly sheet, drill a small hole in each corner, for securing the wire used in making the shield. Then wind No. 20 tinned wire tightly around the poly sheet in the long direction, spacing it with string or more No. 20 wire. When the winding is finished and secured at both ends, unwind the spacing string (or wire) and remove it. If you have done the job carefully, you will have neat parallel lines of wire across the polystyrene, all equally spaced and all lying fairly flat. Then apply two or three heavy coats of Duco cement to one side only, allowing sufficient time between coats for the cement to harden thoroughly. When this has been done, it will be found an easy job to cut each wire on the uncemented side. Straight-

- R<sub>13</sub> 82,000 ohnis.
- All resistors 12-watt unless otherwise specified.
- 14, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16 See coil table.
- J<sub>1</sub>, J<sub>2</sub> Cable-connector sockets (Jones S-101).
- RFC<sub>1</sub> 750-µh, r.f. choke (National R-33).
- XTAL See coil table.

en out the wires so that you now have a flat sheet of parallel wires, and trim off the wires at the mounting holes end of the sheet along a line inside the mounting holes. Figs. 5-55 and 5-56 show what this looks like. When trimming these wires, be careful to see that no wire is left touching an adjacent one. Trim the wire ends at the other end to about  $\frac{1}{2}$  inch from the polystyrene. Clamp the shield in a vise, between two pieces of wood, and wrap each wire end around a piece of No. 12 tinned copper, as shown in Fig. 5-56. With a good hot iron, run a bead of solder along the bus, and your shield is finished. Work fast, and no heat will reach the poly. The shield is mounted with the smooth side exposed through the hole, and one end of the No. 12 bus is grounded at the r.f. tube socket.

The grid coil,  $L_2$ , is supported by its leads and a couple of drops of Duco cement that hold its grounded end to the Faraday shield. The antenna coil,  $L_1$ , is mounted by its leads on a piece of 1/4-inch diameter polystyrene rod. The rod is supported by a shaft bushing. A small wire pin through the rod at the back of the bushing and a rubber grommet between the bushing and the control knob give a soft friction lock that holds the coupling in any position. Flexible leads run from the coil to  $C_1$  and the shield of the RG-59/U coaxial line.

# **HIGH-FREQUENCY RECEIVERS**

The r.f. plate coil,  $L_3$ , is cemented to a small piece of polystyrene sheet that is supported by two small brackets. The neutralizing condenser,  $C_6$ , is supported by one terminal of  $C_7$  and a stiff wire lead back to the grid pin on the tube socket. The coupling condenser,  $C_{9}$ , is simply an insulated wire wrapped once around the lead from  $C_8$  to the grid of the mixer. It is brought out of the oscillator compartment through a polystyrene or rubber grommet.

After the usual last check of the wiring, connect a power supply and remove the 6AK5 r.f. amplifier from its socket. Listen in on your receiver at the crystal frequency, and if you don't find the crystal signal, adjust  $L_5$  until you do. Then set your receiver on the proper harmonic frequency

and peak  $L_6$  for maximum signal, as indicated by your S-meter. Then back off on L<sub>5</sub> a little, because there is no need to run the crystal at maximum.

Then tune your receiver — its antenna circuit must complete the cathode circuit of the 6C4 follower - to about 3.8 Mc. and peak  $L_4$  for maximum noise. The adjustment is not sharp. If your receiver has an antenna trimmer, peak it too. Then plug in the 6AK5 r.f. amplifier and, after the tube has warmed up, rock  $C_2$  and  $C_7$ . Through the hole in the bottom plate, use an alignment tool to adjust  $C_6$  a little at a time, until

you lose any unpleasant sounds with all settings of  $C_2$  and  $C_7$ , and the r.f. stage is neutralized. Connect the antenna, and peak  $C_2$  and  $C_7$  on a signal. Do all of your tuning with your regular receiver, and only use  $C_2$  and  $C_7$  to peak the signal when you make a big frequency excursion, The adjustable antenna coupling provides some measure of gain control for the unit, but it is generally best to use fairly tight coupling and hold the gain down in your regular receiver. The antenna coupling is designed for low-impedance input, and will work satisfactorily with

Fig. 5-55 — This view of the underside of the converter with the bottom cover removed shows the Faraday shield at the lower right, the shield straddling the r.f. amplifier socket (lower center) and the shielded oscillator section (top cen-ter). The neutralizing condenser for the r.f. stage is adjusted through a hole in the bottom eover.



## COIL TABLE FOR THE CRYSTAL-CONTROLLED

CONVERTER			
$L_1$	14 Mc.	<i>21 Mc.</i>	28 Mc.
	23 t. No. 24	9 t. No. 24	10 t. No. 20
	¾-inch diam.	1-inch diam.	1-inch diam.
	(B & W 3012)	(B & W 3016)	(B & W 3015)
$L_2$	21 t. No. 24	10 t. No. 20	9 t. No. 20
	¾-inch diam.	1-inch diam.	1-inch diam.
	(B & W 3012)	(B & W 3015)	(B & W 3015)
$L_3$	38 t. No. 24	22 t. No. 24	16 t. No. 24
	¾-inch diam.,	¾-inch diam.,	¾-inch diam.,
	center-tapped	center-tapped	center-tapped
	(B & W 3012)	(B & W 3012)	(B & W 3012)
L <sub>4</sub>	Slug-tuned coil (Cambridge Thermionic Corp. 1-Me. LSM with 200 turns removed) (Coils for L <sub>5</sub> and L <sub>6</sub> are wound on ¼-inch diameter Cambridge Thermionic Corp. LSM forms)		
$L_5$	No. 32 enam.,	No. 32 enam.,	30 t. No. 28
	close-wound,	close-wound,	enam.,
	½ inch long	½ inch long	close-wound
$L_6$	22 turns No. 28	20 t. No. 20	20 t. No. 24
	enam., close-wound,	enam., close-wound,	enam., close-wound,
	center-tapped	center-tapped	center-tapped
C <sub>16</sub>	75 μμfd.	75 μμfd.	33 μμfd.
C <sub>19</sub>	0	22 μμfd.	22 μμfd.
Xtal	6000 kc. (triples)	5875 kc. (triples)	12,250 kc, (doubles)

# CHAPTER 5



50- or 75-ohm line. If you use 300-ohm Twin-Lead, it is better to leave the short length of coaxial line ungrounded and to use something other than a coaxial fitting for connecting the antenna. If your antenna uses 600-ohm line or tuned feeders, it is best to use a small antenna tuning unit link-coupled through a length of RG-59/U to the converter input.

There is nothing sacred about the crystal frequencies used, other than to be sure that they have no harmonics falling within the signal-frequency range. For the crystals suggested in the coil table, the receiver tunes from 4 to 3.6 to cover 14 to 14.4 Mc. (yes, it tunes backwards!), 3.375 to 3.825 for 21 to 21.45 Mc., and 3.5 to 5.2 for 28 to 29.7 Mc. The 27-Mc. amateur band is also covered by the 10-meter converter, simply by tuning your receiver below 3.5 Mc.

What first i.f. (tuning range of your receiver) you will use depends on the available crystals and the range your present receiver tunes. Using the second or third harmonic of the crystal should be satisfactory in practically every case. By eareful selection of crystal frequencies, you can arrange things so that the



•

Fig. 5-56 — Constructional details of the Faraday shield, before soldering the ends of the No. 20 wires to the No. 12 wire bus.

band edges start at some even 100-kc. mark on your receiver, thus giving you frequencycalibrated reception (with the necessary mental correction factor). The accuracy of calibration of your receiver on the one tuning range, together with the accuracy of the crystal used in the oscillator portion of the converter, will determine the accuracy of calibration of the receiving system.

#### Power Supply

The circuit diagram of a suitable power supply for use with the converters is shown in Fig. 5-57, although any source of 6.3 volts a.c. and 105 and 180 volts d.c. will do. One set of connections runs to the converter in use, and the other goes to a small control box located on the operating table. If desired, the a.c. switch can be incorporated in the power supply, but the plate switch, in the 105-volt lead to the r.f. stage, should be handy to the operator. A switch can be provided for shifting the pcwer from one converter to another. Since separate receiving antennas are generally used at these frequencies, the antennas do not require switching.

٠

Fig. 5.57 — A power supply for the erystal-controlled converter.

- C1, C2-8-#fd. 450-volt electrolytic.
- R1 1500 ohms, 10 watts.
- R2-10,000 ohms, 10 watts.
- L1 16-hy, 50-ma. choke (Staneor C-1003).
- $T_1 = 240-0-240$  at 40 ma., 5 and 6.3 v. (Staneor P-6297).

¢

# HIGH-FREQUENCY RECEIVERS An All-Purpose Super-Selective I.F. Amplifier

The amplifier shown in Figs. 5-58 and 5-60 is designed to connect to any receiver at the grid of the first i.f. tube, to give superior selectivity for either 'phone or c.w. reception. The signals at 455 kc. are heterodyned to 50 kc. and filtered through either or both of two selective amplifiers. One of the amplifiers uses 11 high-Q tuned circuits to give a selectivity characteristic that is about 350 eycles wide at 6 db. down and 1300 cycles wide at 60 db. down. The other amplifier uses 9 "stagger-tuned" circuits that give a 2300-cycle bandwidth at 6 db. down and 5 kc. at 60 db. down. The broader amplifier has its tuning adjusted so that it is centered about 1700 cycles higher in frequency than the sharp one. Thus, when a 'phone carrier is tuned to fall in the center of the sharp amplifier, one sideband falls in the broader amplifier. The outputs of the amplifiers are fed to a common detector, and the relative amplitude of carrier and sideband at the detector can be changed by controlling the gains through the two amplifiers. By emphasizing the carrier at the detector, "exalted-carrier" reception is obtained, which has the advantage that fewer distortion products are generated on a signal in the presence of QRM. For c.w. reception, only the sharp amplifier is used, while the reception of SSB signals requires only the broad amplifier.

The complete circuit of the amplifier is shown in Fig. 5-59. Receiver output at 455 kc., at as low a level as possible (to avoid overloading), is fed into the 6BE6 converter stage, where a crystal-controlled oscillator is selected either 50 kc. higher or lower, to use the selectable-sideband principle.<sup>1</sup> A third position of the switch,  $S_1$ , permits running both crystals at once, for alignment purposes, as described later.

The two i.f. amplifiers follow the converter, and two 6BJ6 variable- $\mu$  pentodes are used in each channel. There are isolation resistors and condensers in each power lead to prevent any over-all feed-back.

<sup>1</sup> McLaughlin, "Exit Heterodyne QRM," QST, Oct., 1947.

The resistor,  $R_{50}$ , between gain control,  $R_{17}$ , and ground, is used to bring the relative maximum gains of the two channels to approximate equality. The gain of the broad channel will vary with the degree of stagger-tuning, so  $R_{50}$ should be inserted only after the alignment procedure has been completed. Its value, of course, may work out differently than that shown.

The detector uses two 12AU7 dual triodes in in the "product detector" circuit. The advantage of the circuit is that it minimizes intermodulation at the detector and doesn't require a big b.f.o. signal for exalted-carrier reception. A signal-level indicator circuit connected to the sharp amplifier doesn't indicate b.f.o. voltage, so the signallevel meter reads the same with b.f.o. on or off.

The signal-level circuit, labeled "A.V.C.-Rect." in Fig. 5-59, consists of a cathode follower driving a diode. In three positions of  $S_2$ , the rectified current simply works the meter, but an **a**.v.c. voltage is applied throughout the amplifier in the fourth position.

The tuning meter is important. It permits the operator to center the carrier in the sharp amplifier, and also warns him when the amplifier is in danger of overloading. Overloading will tend to nullify the advantages of high selectivity, so it is important that the unit always be operated below this point. The manual gain controls will take care of about 60-db. range.

The series trap,  $RFC_5C_{48}$ , is tuned to 50 kc. to by-pass the r.f. and prevent its getting on the audio grids. A choice of two low-impedance outputs is provided, for 'phones and loudspeaker.

#### Construction

There are only a few departures from conventional construction technique in this amplifier. Miniature tubes were used only to provide room for the tuned circuits — on a larger chassis or with a different layout, metal tubes should be perfectly satisfactory. However, no attempt should be made to save space by mounting the

Fig. 5-58 — The super-selective i.f. amplifier uses two channels in parallel — a sharp one for c.w. or for 'phone carrier, and a broad one for a 'phone sideband.

The sharp i.f. is the strip at the rear of the chassis, and the broad one is just in front of it. The two tubes at the right-hand end of the broad amplifier are the "product detector." The b.f.o. can is at the front right, next to the tube, and the near-by tube and can are in the signal-metering circuit.

The controls, from left to right, are sideband selector switch, audio volume, broad i.f. gain, sharp i.f. gain, function switch, and b.f.o. pitch control.



## CHAPTER 5

tuned circuits in anything but a straight line. The shield cans do not provide complete magnetic shielding at 50 kc., and it is possible to couple right through the thin aluminum.

The i.f. strips proper are built on aluminum channels. All power leads are brought out through shielded wires, to minimize coupling via the common power circuits. Using the shielded wire is also an aid to construction, because the shields are soldered to lugs at points near the tube sockets, and the isolating resistors are then mounted between tube socket (or coil terminal) and the exposed ends of the shielded wires. The Hallicrafters coils leave no room for the associated shunt condensers, so they are connected directly across the terminals.

The RCA coils, used in the broad amplifier, must be reworked slightly before using. As supplied, the terminals come out the top of the can, so the coil must be removed by untwisting four small tabs. The coil to be used is connected to Terminals A and F, and another coil connected to Terminals C and D should have its leads snipped. The 390-µµfd. silver-mica condenser can then be soldered to Terminals A and F before the assembly is replaced in the shield can.

The b.f.o. coil,  $L_1$ , uses both coils of the RCA 205R1 connected in series. This is done by lifting the single wire from Terminal C and connecting it to Terminal F. Externally, Terminals A and D are used.

The main chassis is aluminum, 12 by 17 by 2 inches, and the front panel is a standard relayrack affair 7 inches high. The shielded leads from the i.f. strips proper are brought out through holes to tie points conveniently located away from signal circuits. Two short pieces of RG-59/U coaxial cable are used - one from the input jack at the rear of the chassis up to the 6BE6 grids, and the other from the output of the sharp



Fig. 5-59 - Wiring diagram of the 50-kc. selective amplifier.

- C1 -- 0.005-µfd. ceramic.
- C2, C6, C11, C12, C13, C18, C19, C20, C21, C26, C30, C31, C32, C36, C37, C38, C39, C42, C44, C45, C59 - 0.1µfd. 400-volt.
- C3, C5, C10, C17, C29, C35, C43, C52 0.01-µfd. ceramic. - 47-µµfd. ceramic.
- $C_7, C_8, C_9, C_{14}, C_{15}, C_{16}, C_{22}, C_{23}, C_{24} 2.4 \mu\mu fd. mica (two 4.7 \mu\mu fd. in series if lower value not avail$ able).
- 100-µµfd. ceramic. C25 -
- $C_{27}, C_{28}, C_{33}, C_{34}, C_{40}, C_{41} 4.7 \cdot \mu\mu fd. mica. C_{46}, C_{51} 16 \cdot \mu fd. 450 \cdot volt electrolytic.$
- C47 0.002-ufd. ceramic.
- C48 250-970-µµfd. adjustable mica (El Menco 306).  $C_{49} = 0.001 \cdot \mu fd.$  ceramic.

- C50, C53-10-µfd. 50-volt electrolytic.
- 470-μµfd. ceramic. C54
- 35-µµfd. midget variable. C55
- 220-µµfd. silver mica. C56 -
- $C_{57}$ ,  $C_{58} = -3300 \cdot \mu\mu$ fd, silver mica.  $C_{60}$ ,  $C_{61} = -20 \cdot \mu$ fd, 50-volt electrolytic.
- C60, C61
- 10-µµfd. ceramic.  $C_{62}$
- R<sub>1</sub>-0.15 megohm.
- R2, R9, R13, R19, R23, R32, R40, -0.1 megohm.
- R3, R5 0.12 megohm.
- R4, R6 330 ohms. R7, R8 2700 ohms.

- R10, R14, R20, R24, R48 100 ohms. R11, R12, R15, R16, R21, R22, R27, R28 -– 10.000 ohms.
- 2000-ohm wire-wound potentiometer. R17, R26 -
- -27,000 obms, 1 watt. R18, R25
- R29 1500 ohms.

# **HIGH-FREQUENCY RECEIVERS**

i.f. amplifier to the grid of the 12AU7 a.v.c.rectifier. The input and output signal leads from the i.f. amplifiers are fed through Millen 32150 ceramic bushings, where the projecting wire serves as a tie point. The detector bias control.  $R_{38}$ , is mounted at the rear of the chassis, since it need not be touched after the original adjustment for minimum detection in a single channel, except when a 12AU7 detector tube is replaced.

#### Alignment

The best point in a receiver to take off the signal for this i.f. amplifier is at the grid of the first i.f. stage in the receiver. If the receiver has a crystal filter between mixer and i.f. stage, it won't be used normally. The crystal filter can be used, but it requires getting two oscillator crystals for the sharp i.f. amplifier of just the right frequency.

The frequency to which the selective amplifier

is aligned is determined by the frequencies of the two crystals in the 6BE6 converters. Assume that the nominal i.f. frequency of the receiver is 455 ke., and that the available crystals are 408 and 505 kc. The sharp i.f. will then be aligned to half the difference, or 48.5 kc. (408 + 48.5), but the fact that this is 1.5 kc, higher than the nominal 455 is nothing to worry about.

Set a signal generator or test oscillator to half the crystal-oscillator difference (e.g., 48.5 kc.) and align the sharp channel by working back from the detector, introducing the signal first at the grid of the second 6BJ6, and aligning the following circuits, and then introducing the signal at the first 6BJ6 and then the 6BE6 mixer. The final touching up of the sharp amplifier is done by switching  $S_1$  to the point where both 6BE6s are operative and tuning a signal at 455 ke. until it "zero beats" with itself, as heard in the output. The sharp circuits are then given a fi-



- 1000 ohms. R30
- $R_{31}$ - 1.5 megohins.
- R33 - 330 ohms, 1 watt.
- 1500 ohms, 1 watt.  $R_{34}$
- $R_{35}$ – 4700 ohms,
- R36 - 6800 ohms.
- 12,000 ohms. R37
- R 38 5000-ohm wire-wound potentiometer.
- R39, R44 -- 47,000 ohms.
- R<sub>41</sub> 0.5-megohm volume control. R<sub>42</sub> 2200 ohms.
- R42
- R43, R45 0.22 megohm.
- R46 450 ohms, 1 watt.
- R47-47,000 ohms, 1 watt.
- R49 68,000 ohms, 1 watt. R50
- -270 ohms; adjust to balance gains. All resistors 1/2 watt unless specified otherwise.

- La 50-mh. slug-tuned coil (RCA 205R1 Horizontal Osc. Coil. See text).
- LC<sub>1</sub> through LC<sub>11</sub> 25-mh, slug-tuned coil shunted by 390- $\mu\mu$ fd. silver mica condenser. Q = 100 at 50 kc. (Hallierafters 50B489).
- $LC_{12}$  through  $LC_{21} = 25$ -mh. slug-timed coil shinted by 390- $\mu\mu$ fd, silver mica condenser, Q = 60 at 50 kc. (RCA 205R1 Horizontal Osc. Coil modified. Sec text).
- RFC1, RFC2 750-ah, r.f. choke (National R-33), RFC2, RFC4 10-mh, r.f. choke (National R-50-1).
- RFC5 25-mh. r.f. choke (Millen 34225),
- MA 0.2-ma, milliammeter,
- Two-circuit 3-position wafer switch.  $S_1$
- Three-circuit 4-position wafer switch.
- T<sub>1</sub> 8-watt output transformer (Merit A-2901).

nal peaking, as indicated by the tuning meter. During alignment procedures, always work with a minimum signal and with the gain control,  $R_{17}$ , advanced to maximum gain.

The b.f.o. is aligned by switching it on, setting  $C_{55}$  to the center of its range, and adjusting the slug in  $L_1$  to zero beat on a signal peaked through the sharp amplifier.

The broad i.f. amplifier is "stagger-tuned," which means that alternate circuits are tuned to the same frequency. First, peak circuits  $LC_{12}$ through  $LC_{20}$  to a slightly higher (1.5 kc.) frequency than the sharp channel. While doing this, the lead from the meter circuit can be transferred from  $LC_{11}$  to  $LC_{20}$ , and the signal introduced to the grid of a 6BE6. Then set the signal source to a frequency 750 cycles higher than the frequency at which the sharp channel was peaked, and peak circuits LC<sub>12</sub>, LC<sub>14</sub>, LC<sub>16</sub>,  $LC_{18}$  and  $LC_{29}$ , as indicated by the meter. Then set the signal source to a frequency 2750 cycles higher than the sharp-channel frequency, and peak circuits LC13, LC15, LC17 and LC19. Now, varying the frequency of the signal source, the response indicated by the meter will show a response that has two unequal peaks. The peaks can be equalized, or nearly so, by readjustment of  $LC_{12}$ . The lead from the meter circuit can now be returned to  $LC_{11}$ .

If an audio output meter is available, get a final check on the response of the broad amplifier by setting the b.f.o. to the midfrequency of the sharp amplifier and, with the sharp amplifier turned down, swing the input signal across the range and watch the audio response. It should be fairly flat from about 500 to 2700 cycles or so, dropping off rapidly beyond that.

Without access to a signal generator, it may be necessary to rig up a 50- or a 450-kc. oscillator with good stability and a slow tuning rate.

# **CHAPTER 5**

#### Operation

The operator has his choice of several types of operation with this amplifier. For highly-selective c.w. reception, use switch  $S_2$  in the "C.W." position, with the b.f.o. offset to give the favorite beat-note frequency. Signals will drop in and out rapidly as one tunes across a band, and a slow tuning rate is highly desirable. For less critical reception of c.w., or for net operation, switch to "SSB" and use the broad i.f. characteristic, reducing the gain in the sharp channel to a minimum. The same settings maintain for the reception of SSB 'phone signals — the b.f.o. is set to the midfrequency of the sharp channel and all tuning is done with the main tuning dial of the receiver.

Regular AM 'phone signals are received with S<sub>2</sub> set either to "MAN." or "A.V.C.," depending upon the QRM conditions. In either case, the carrier is peaked on the meter for accurate tuning, and the two gain controls are set for best listening. In "MAN." operation this will usually mean riding gain on the sharp channel so that the meter never goes beyond half-scale, and with the broad-amplifier gain control backed off proportionately. In "A.V.C.," both controls can be run wide open, but as one tunes across some signals the set may overload until the tuning is centered on the desired carrier. A heterodyne on one sideband will be eliminated by switching  $S_1$ . "Practice" is the only advice one can give on handling the i.f. amplifier to its greatest capabilities, always remembering that you have the choice of two sidebands to listen to plus the ability to vary the relative amplitudes of carrier and sidebands.

As in all selective amplifiers, overload is the big enemy, and it is generally best to run the audio volume at or near maximum and the i.f. gain at the lowest usable value.



Fig. 5-60 - This view underneath the chassis shows the two oscillator erystals at the lower right. Most of the shielded leads are power leads to the i.f. strips, although some of the lowlevel audio leads are also run in shielded wire. The eight holes across the center are for access to the tuning slugs of the broad i. f. strip.

٠

# High-Frequency Transmitters

The principle requirements to be met in c.w. transmitters for the amateur bands between 1.8 and 30 Mc. are that the frequency must be as stable as good practice permits, the output signal must be free from modulation and that harmonics and other spurious emissions must be eliminated or reduced to the point where they do not cause interference to other stations.

The over-all design depends primarily upon the bands in which operation is desired, and the power output. A simple oscillator with satisfactory frequency stability may be used as a transmitter at the lower frequencies, as indicated in Fig. 6-1A, but the power output obtainable is small. As a general rule, the output of the oscillator is fed into one or more amplifiers to bring the power fed to the antenna up to the desired level, as shown in B.

An amplifier whose output frequency is the same as the input frequency is called a straight amplifier. If such a straight amplifier is placed in an intermediate position between two other transmitter stages it is sometimes called a buffer amplifier.

Because it becomes increasingly difficult to maintain oscillator frequency stability as the frequency is increased, it is most usual practice in working at the higher frequencies to operate the oscillator at a low frequency and follow it with one or more frequency multipliers as required to arrive at the desired output frequency. A frequency multiplier is an amplifier that delivers output at a multiple of the exciting frequency. A doubler is a multiplier that gives output at twice the exciting frequency; a tripler multiplies the exciting frequency by three, etc. From the viewpoint of any particular stage in a transmitter, the preceding stage is its driver.

As a general rule, frequency multipliers should not be used to feed the antenna system directly, but should feed a straight amplifier which, in turn, feeds the antenna system, as shown in Fig. 1-C, D and E. As the diagrams indicate, it is often possible to operate more than one stage from a single power supply.

Good frequency stability is most easily obtained through the use of a crystal-controlled oscillator, although a different crystal is needed for each frequency desired (or multiples of that frequency). A self-controlled oscillator or VFO (variable-frequency oscillator) may be tuned to any frequency with a dial in the manner of a receiver, but requires great care in design and construction if its stability is to compare with that of a crystal oscillator.

In all types of transmitter stages, screen-grid tubes have the advantage over triodes that they require less driving power. With a lower-power exciter, the problem of harmonic reduction is made easier. The most satisfactory oscillator circuits require the use of a screen-grid tube.



Fig. 6-1 — Block diagrams showing typical combinations of oscillator and amplifiers and power-supply arrangements for transmitters. A wide selection is possible, depending upon the number of bands in which operation is desired and the power output.

World Radio History

## Oscillators

#### Crystal Oscillators

The frequency of a crystal-controlled oscillator is held constant to a high degree of accuracy by the use of a quartz crystal. The frequency depends almost entirely on the dimensions of the crystal (essentially its thickness); other circuit values have comparatively negligible effect. However, the power obtainable is limited by the heat the crystal will stand without fracturing. The amount of heating is dependent upon the r.f. crystal current which, in turn, is a function of the amount of feed-back required to provide proper excitation. Crystal heating short of the danger point results in frequency drift to an extent depending upon the way the crystal is cut. Excitation should always be adjusted to the minimum necessary for proper operation.

#### Crystal-Oscillator Circuits

Fig. 6-2 shows three commonly-used crystaloscillator circuits. All are of the electron-coupled type in which the screen of the tube serves as the plate of a triode oscillator. A separate output tank circuit is used in the actual plate circuit. Because of the shielding effect of the screen and suppressor grids, the coupling between the two circuits is comparatively small and exists principally through the common electron stream within the tube. Thus when the load is coupled to the output circuit, its effect will be much less than if it were coupled directly to the frequencygenerating circuit.

In the Tri-tet circuit of A, the screen is the grounded "plate" of a t.g.t.p. triode oscillator, the crystal taking the place of the coil-andcondenser grid tank. Excitation is controlled by adjustment of the tank  $L_1C_1$  which should have a low L/C ratio and be tuned considerably to the high-frequency side of the crystal frequency (approximately 5 Mc. for a 3.5-Mc. crystal) to prevent over-excitation and high erystal current. Once the proper adjustment for average crystals has been found,  $C_1$  may be replaced with a fixed condenser of equal value.

In the grid-plate circuit of Fig. 6-2B, the oscillating circuit is the equivalent of a groundedplate Colpitts. Excitation is adjusted by changing the ratio of the two capacitances,  $C_6$  and  $C_7$ . The oscillating circuit of the modified Pierce oscillator in C is also basically a Colpitts, this time with a grounded cathode. The grid-cathode and screen-cathode capacitances serve the same purpose as the two condensers connected across the circuit in B. To obtain proper adjustment of excitation, the screen-cathode capacitance is augmented by  $C_9$  which may be adjusted for optimum excitation.

In these circuits, output at multiples of the crystal frequency may be obtained by tuning the plate tank circuit to the desired harmonic, the output obtainable dropping off, of course, at the higher harmonics.

If the behavior of these circuits is to be pre-

dieted with any degree of accuracy, the tube used must be one having good screening. From all considerations, the 6AG7 is recommended. With a well-screened tube and proper excitation adjustment, the output plate tuning characteristic



Fig. 6-2 - Commonly-used crystal-controlled oscillator circuits. Values are those recommended for a 6AG7 tube. (See reference in text for other tubes.)

- C1 Feed-back-control condenser 3.5-Me. crystals - approx. 220-µµfd. mica. - 7-Mc. crystals approx, 150-µµfd, mica.
- $C_2 \rightarrow Output tank condenser \rightarrow 100-\mu\mu fd.$  variable for single-band tank; 250- $\mu\mu$ fd. variable for twoband tank (see text).

- $\begin{array}{l} \begin{array}{c} \text{Dath tark (see text),}\\ C_3 = \text{Screen by-pass} = 0.001\text{-}\mu\text{fd. disk ceramic.}\\ C_4 = \text{Plate by-pass} = 0.001\text{-}\mu\text{fd. disk ceramic.}\\ C_5 = \text{Output coupling condenser} = 50 \text{ to } 100\text{-}\mu\mu\text{fd.} \end{array}$ mica.
- Excitation-control condenser approx. 10-µµfd. Ce mica.
- Excitation-control condenser 220-µµfd. mica.  $C_7$
- $C_7 = Excitation-control condenser = 0.001 + \mu fd. mica.$  $C_8 = D.c. blocking condenser = 0.001 + \mu fd. mica.$  $C_1 = Excitation-control condenser = 220 + \mu \mu fd. mica.$
- C9 Excitation-control condenser - $C_{10}$  — Heater by-pass — 0.001-µfd. disk ceramie.  $R_1$  — Grid leak — 0.1 megohm,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt.
- Screen resistor 47,000 ohms, 1 watt (see text  $R_2$ if oscillator is to be keyed).
- L4 Excitation-control inductance 3.5-Me. crystals
- $L_1 \rightarrow Excitation-control inductance = 3.5 Are. crystals$  $approx. 4 <math>\mu$ h.; 7-Me. crystals approx. 2  $\mu$ h. L\_2 Output-circuit coil single-band: 3.5 Me. -17  $\mu$ h.; 7 Me. 8  $\mu$ h.; 14 Me. 2.5  $\mu$ h.; 28 Me. 1  $\mu$ h. Two-band operation: 3.5 & 7 Me. -7.5  $\mu$ h.; 7 & 14 Me. 2.5  $\mu$ h. (See text.)
- RFC1 2,5-mh, 50-ma. r.f. choke.

# **HIGH-FREQUENCY TRANSMITTERS**

at the crystal fundamental, as well as at harmonics, will be similar to that shown in Fig. 6-3 and tuning will cause less than 25 cycles change in frequency. Crystal current, under these conditions, should not be excessive. If the oscillator is to be keyed, best characteristics will be obtained by omitting the screen resistor,  $R_2$ , and connecting the screen lead to a regulated source of 75 to 150 volts.

If a tube with poorer screening is used, the effect of tuning the output circuit will not be greatly different at harmonics of the crystal frequency, but the operation at the crystal fundamental may be altered drastically. When the output circuit is tuned near resonance, oscillation may stop entirely, necessitating a critical adjustment to one side of resonance for good keying characteristics and to prevent a marked rise in crystal current. Under these conditions, the frequency may vary as much as 200 cycles.

Crystal current may be estimated by observing the relative brilliance of a 60-ma. dial lamp connected in series with the crystal. For stable operation, crystal current should be limited as much as possible and satisfactory output should be obtained with a current of 40 ma. or less. If the oscillator is to be keyed, the lamp should be removed to prevent chirps.



For best harmonic output a tube with high mutual conductance should be used. This is especially important in the circuit of Fig. 6-2C. The 6AG7 also meets this requirement. A low-Coutput tank circuit is desirable, especially for harmonic output. However, if a tank condenser large enough to cover two adjacent bands with the same coil is used, the output at the crystal fundamental and at the harmonic will be approximately the same, since the L/C ratio will be high when the circuit is tuned to the harmonic, where low C is of the greater importance.

For best performance with a 6AG7 tube, the values given under Fig. 6-2 should be followed closely. (For a discussion of values for other tubes, see QST for March, 1950, page 28.)

#### Quartz-Crystal Characteristics

While crystals are produced for frequencies as high as 50 Me., by far the majority of those used in amateur high-frequency transmitters are cut for the 3.5- and 7-Mc. bands. With suitable frequency-multiplying stages, this permits the use of a single crystal for operation in the harmonically-related parts of higher-frequency bands, as well as at the crystal fundamental frequency. As an example, a 3501-kc. crystal with appropriate multipliers may be used for the frequencies of 7002 kc., 14,004 kc., 28,008 kc. etc. The characteristics of a crystal — particularly in the thickness-frequency and temperaturefrequency relationships — depend upon the plane in which the crystal plate is cut from the natural quartz block. While other cuts are useful in certain applications, those for anateur transmitters invariably are of either the "AT" or "BT" types. Their respective temperature characteristics are as follows:

AT-cut — + 10 cycles per Mc. per degree at 0
degrees C,
<ul> <li>O cycles per Mc. per degree at 45 degrees C,</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>+ 20 cycles per Mc. per degree at 85 degrees C.</li> </ul>
BT-cut — - 10 cycles per Mc. per degree at 0 degrees C.
<ul> <li>O cycles per Mc. per degree at 30</li> <li>degrees (*).</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>- 20 cycles per Mc. per degree at 70 degrees C,</li> </ul>

The relationship between the thickness of a crystal and its frequency is given by:

$$f_{\rm Me.} = \frac{k}{t_{\rm mil}}$$

where  $f_{\text{Me}}$  is the frequency in megacycles, t the thickness in thousandths of an inch and k is a constant of the crystal cut approximately as follows:

An AT crystal usually is more active than one of the BT-cut type, but since it is thinner for the same frequency, there is greater danger of fracture in operation. Therefore, AT-cut crystals usually are used for frequencies below 5 Mc., while the BT-cut is used for crystals whose frequencies lie above 5 Mc., although this is not true in all cases.

While crystals are sometimes cut for fundamental frequencies as high as 14 Mc., most crystals used by amateurs for frequencies higher than the 7-Mc. band are "harmonictype" crystals; that is, the thickness corresponds to a frequency of one-third (sometimes one-fifth) of the normal operating frequency. The other dimensions of the crystal are proportioned so that the mechanical vibration is at three times (or five times) the fundamental frequency.

#### **Regrinding Crystals**

Because crystals near any desired frequency can be purchased reasonably these days, it is not profitable for the amateur to cut and grind his own blanks. However, frequently it may be desirable to make a limited increase in the frequency of a crystal at hand. Indispensable requirements are a piece of plate glass, a good micrometer, supplies of Size 800 aluminum oxide for light grinding, and Size 400 silicon carbide for coarse grinding, and a test oscillator. A test oscillator of the regenerative type, such as the one shown in Fig. 6-2B, is preferred. The oscillator should be equipped with a grid-current milliammeter, preferably one with a 0.5-ma. scale. The grid current should be checked first with the crystal to be reground, and preferably with several others known to have satisfactory activity, to obtain an average of the grid current to be expected for normal crystal activity.

The most important factor in respect to activity is that of maintaining the proper surface contour. When properly ground, the crystal is thicker in the center than at the edges. The difference in thickness should vary from about 0.001 inch for a 3.5-Mc. crystal  $\frac{1}{2}$  inch square to about 0.00015 inch for a 7-Mc. crystal.

The grinding compound should be sprinkled on the glass plate and moistened with water to make a very thin paste. One side of the crystal should be marked at a corner with a pencil and *all* of the grinding should be done on the *opposite* side. The crystal should be swirled around in figure-eight paths. The path should be changed frequently to another part of the glass plate so that the plate will be worn evenly. Light pressure with the finger on a corner of the crystal should be used. Make three or four "8's" to each of the corners in succession and then repeat. Use lighter pressure and make fewer "8's" as the desired frequency is approached.

If a calibrated receiver is available, it can be used to keep a continuous check on the frequency as the crystal is being ground. Place a sheet of tinfoil or metal under the plate glass and connect it to the antenna terminal of the receiver. Then as the crystal is being ground, it will produce a hiss in the receiver that peaks close to the crystal frequency. To be safe, however, it is advisable to limit the use of this method of checking to within 20 kc. of the desired frequency at 7 Mc. Then if it is found that the activity is not up to normal, the contour can be corrected without overshooting the desired frequency.

The crystal should be thoroughly cleaned of grinding compound and other matter before using the micrometer or checking in the test oscillator, of course. Use soap, warm water and a tooth brush, and dry with a lintless cloth or tissue. Handle the crystal by the edges only after cleaning.

#### Lowering Frequency

If a crystal has accidentally been ground down too far, or if it is desired to lower slightly the frequency of any other crystal, this can often be done by loading the crystal. Loading, however, may reduce the crystal activity if it is carried too far. With a good active crystal, it should be possible to decrease the frequency as much as one per cent - 35 kc, for a 3500-kc, erystal, Cold soft solder rubbed into the crystal surface is suitable. The solder should be applied gradually while the frequency and activity are checked. Start off by marking a circle about 1/4 inch in diameter at the center of the crystal and use this as a boundary for additional applications of the solder. The loading should be applied to both surfaces as equally as possible.

#### VARIABLE-FREQUENCY OSCILLATORS

The frequency of a VFO depends entirely on the values of inductance and capacitance in the circuit. Therefore, it is necessary to take careful steps to minimize changes in these values not under the control of the operator. As examples, even the minute changes of dimensions with temperature, particularly those of the coil, may result in a slow but noticeable change in frequency called drift. The effective input capacitance of the oscillator tube, which must be connected across the circuit, changes with variations in electrode voltages. This, in turn, causes a change in the frequency of the oscillator. To make use of the power from the oscillator, a load, usually in the form of an amplifier, must be coupled to the oscillator and variations in the load may reflect on the frequency. Very slight mechanical movement of components may result in a shift in frequency, and vibration can cause undesirable modulation.

#### **VFO** Circuits

Fig. 6-4 shows the most commonly used circuits. They are designed to minimize the effects mentioned above. All are of the electron-coupled type discussed in connection with crystal oscillators.

The oscillating circuits in Figs. 6-4A and B are the Hartley type; those in C and D are Colpitts circuits. There is little choice between the circuits of A and C. In both, all of the effects mentioned, except changes in inductance, are minimized by the use of a high-Q tank circuit obtained through the use of large tank capacitances. Any uncontrolled changes in capacitance thus become a very small percentage of the total circuit capacitance.

In the series-tuned Colpitts circuit of Fig. 6-11) (sometimes called the Clapp circuit), a high-Q circuit is obtained in a different manner. The tube is tapped across only a small portion of the oscillating tank circuit, resulting in very loose coupling between tube and circuit. The taps are provided by a series of three condensers across the coil. In addition, the tube capacitances are shunted by large condensers, so the effects of the tube - changes in electrode voltages and loading — are still further reduced. In contrast to the preceding circuits, the resulting tank circuit has a high L/C ratio and therefore the tank current is much lower than in the circuits using high-C tanks. As a result, it will usually be found that, other things being equal, drift will be less with the low-C circuit.

For best stability, the ratio of  $C_{11} + C_{12}$  to  $C_{13}$  or  $C_{14}$  (which are usually equal) should be as high as possible without stopping oscillation. The permissible ratio will be higher the higher the Q of the coil and the mutual conductance of the tube. If the circuit does not oscillate over the desired range, a coil of higher Q must be used or the capacitance of  $C_{13}$  and  $C_{14}$  reduced.

#### Load Isolation

In spite of the precautions already discussed, the tuning of the output plate circuit will cause a noticeable change in frequency, particularly in the region around resonance. This effect can be reduced considerably by designing the oscillator for half the desired frequency and doubling frequency in the output circuit, although there will be some sacrifice in output.

It is desirable, although not a strict necessity if detuning is recognized and taken into account, to approach as closely as possible the condition where the adjustment of tuning controls in the transmitter, beyond the VFO frequency control, will have negligible effect on the frequency. This can be done by substituting a fixed-tuned circuit

in the output of the oscillator, and adding one or more fixed-tuned amplifiers or doublers, as shown in Fig. 6-5, to give the desired isolation between the oscillator and the first tunable amplifier stage. The fixed-tuned circuits may consist of nonresonant chokes or, for greater output or frequency multiplying, slug-tuned coils adjusted to the desired frequency. A voltage-regulated supply is recommended.

#### Chirp

In all of the eircuits shown there will be some change of frequency with changes in screen and plate voltages, and the use of regulated voltages for both usually is necessary. One of the most serious results of voltage instability occurs if



Fig. 6-4-VFO circuits, Approximate values for 3.5 Me, are given below. For 1,75 Me., all tank-circuit values of capacitance and inductance, all tuning capacitances and C13 and C14 should be doubled; for 7 Mc., they should be cut in half.

- C1-Oscillator bandspread tuning condenser-150- $\mu\mu$ fd, variable.
- $C_2$ Output-circuit tank condenser - 100-µµfd, variable. C<sub>3</sub> Oscillator tank condenser — 500-µµfd, zero-temp,
- mica, — Grid coupling condenser — 100-μμfd, zero-temp,  $C_4$
- miea,
- $C_5$ Heater by-pass - 0.001-µfd, disk ceramic,
- Screen by-pass -0.001- $\mu$ fd, disk ceramic, Plate by-pass -0.001- $\mu$ fd, disk ceramic,  $C_6$
- $C_7$
- Output coupling condenser 50 to 100-µµfd. Cs mica.
- C9 Oscillator tank condenser - 680-µµfd, zero-temp. mica.
- C10 Oscillator tank eondenser 0.0022-µfd. zero-

temp. mica. C11 - Oscillator bandspread padder - 50-µµfd, variable air.

- C12 Oscillator bandspread tuning condenser 25- $_{\mu\mu}$ fd. variable. C<sub>13</sub>, C<sub>14</sub> — Tube-coupling condenser — 0.001- $_{\mu}$ fd. zero-
- temp. mica,
- $\mathbf{R}_{L}$
- -- 17,000 ohms, 15 watt. -- Oscillator tank coil -- 4.3 µh., tapped about one-La third-way from grounded end.
  - Output-circuit tank coil 22 µh.
- $1.3 Oscillator tank coil 4.3 \mu h.$  $1.4 Oscillator tank coil 33 \mu h. (B & W JEL-80).$
- RFC1 2.5-mb. 50-ma. r.f. choke.
- $V_1 = 6AG7$  preferred; other well-screened types usable,  $V_2 = 6AG7$  required.

the oscillator is keyed, as it often is for break-in operation. Although voltage regulation will supply a steady voltage from the power supply and therefore is still desirable, it cannot alter the fact that the voltage on the tube must rise from zero when the key is open, to full voltage when the key is closed, and must fall back again to zero when the key is opened. The result is a chirp each time the key is opened or closed, unless the time constant in the keying circuit is reduced to the point where the chirp takes place so rapidly that the receiving operator's ear cannot detect it. Unfortunately, as explained in the chapter on keying, a certain minimum time constant is necessary if key clicks are to be minimized. Therefore it is evident that the measures necessary for the reduction of chirp and clicks are in opposition, and a compromise is necessary. For best keying characteristics, the oscillator should be allowed to run continuously while a subsequent amplifier is keyed. However, a keyed amplifier represents a widely variable load and unless sufficient isolation is provided between the oscillator and the keyed amplifier, the keying characteristics may be little better than when the oscillator itself is keyed.

#### Frequency Drift

Frequency drift is further reduced most easily by limiting the power input as much as possible and by mounting the components of the tuned



Fig. 6-5 — Diagram showing two isolating amplifier stages following a VFO. Well-screened tubes, such as the 65K7 or similar types are recommended.

$C_1 \rightarrow Coupling condenser \rightarrow 100$ -	$R_1 = Grid wak = 30,000 0 mms$
$C_2 - By$ -pass condenser - 0.001-	R <sub>2</sub> — Cathode biasing resistor — 200 to 500 ohms, 1 watt,
$\mu$ fd. disk ceramic. Co — Heater by-mass — 0.001- $\mu$ fd.	RFC1 - 2,5-mh, 50-ma, r.f. choke or

 $C_3$  — Heater by-pass — 0.001-µfd. disk ceramic. — 2,5-mh, 50-ma, r.f. choke or slug-tuned coil.

circuit in a separate shielded compartment, so that they will be isolated from the direct heat from tubes and resistors. The shielding also will elininate changes in frequency caused by movement of nearby objects, such as the operator's hand when tuning the VFO. The circuit of Fig. 6-4D lends itself well to this arrangement, since relatively long lends between the tube and the tank circuit have negligible effect on frequency because of the large shunting capacitances. The grid, cathode and ground leads to the tube can be bunched in a cable up to several feet long. Variable condensers should have ceramic insulation, good bearing contacts and should preferably be of the double-bearing type, and fixed condensers should have zero temperature coefficient. The tube socket also should have ceramic insulation and special attention should be paid to the selection of a tank coil in the oscillating section.

#### **Oscillator** Coils

The Q of the tank coil used in the oscillating portion of any of the circuits under discussion should be as high as circumstances (usually space) permit, since the losses, and therefore the heating, will be less. With recommended care in regard to other factors mentioned previously, most of the drift will originate in the coil. The coil should be well spaced from shielding and other large metal surfaces, and be of a type that radiates heat well, such as a commercial airwound type, or should be wound tightly on a threaded ceramic form so that the dimensions will not change readily with temperature. The wire with which the coil is wound should be as large as practicable, especially in the high-C circuits.

#### Mechanical Vibration

To eliminate mechanical vibration, components should be mounted securely. Particularly in the circuit of Fig. 6-4D, the condenser should preferably have small, thick plates and the coil

braced, if necessary, to prevent the slightest mechanical movement. Wire connections between tank-circuit components should be as short as possible and flexible wire will have less tendency to vibrate than solid wire. It is advisable to cushion the entire oscillator unit bymounting on sponge rubber or other shock mounting.

#### **Tuning Characteristic**

If the circuit is oscillating, touching the grid of the tube or any part of the circuit connected to it will show a change in plate current. In tuning the plate output circuit without load, the plate current will be relatively high until it is tuned near resonance where the plate current will dip to a

low value, as illustrated in Fig. 6-3. When the output circuit is loaded, the dip should still be found, but broader and much less pronounced as indicated by the dashed line. The circuit should not be loaded beyond the point where the dip is still recognizable.

#### **Checking VFO Stability**

A VFO should be checked thoroughly before it is placed in regular operation on the air. Since succeeding amplifier stages may affect the signal characteristics, final tests should be made with

# **HIGH-FREQUENCY TRANSMITTERS**

the complete transmitter in operation. Almost any VFO will show signals of good quality and stability when it is running free and not connected to a load. A well-isolated monitor is a necessity. Perhaps the most convenient, as well as one of the most satisfactory, well-shielded monitoring arrangements is a receiver combined with a crystal oscillator, as shown in Fig. 6-6. (See "Crystal Oscillators," this chapter.) The crystal frequency should lie in the band of the lowest frequency to be checked and in the frequency range where its harmonies will fall in the higher-frequency bands. The receiver b.f.o. is turned off and the VFO signal is tuned to beat with the signal from the crystal oscillator instead. In this way any receiver instability caused by overloading of the input circuits, which may result in "pulling" of the h.f. oscillator in the receiver, or by a change in line voltage to the receiver when the transmitter is keyed, will not affect the reliability of the check. Most presentday crystals have a sufficiently-low temperature coefficient to give a satisfactory check on drift as well as on chirp and signal quality if they are not overloaded.

Harmonics of the crystal may be used to beat with the transmitter signal when monitoring at the higher frequencies. Since any chirp at the lower frequencies will be magnified at the higher frequencies, accurate checking can best be done by monitoring at the latter.

R.f. power amplifiers used in amateur transmitters usually are operated under Class C conditions (see chapter on vacuum-tube fundamentals). Fig. 6-7 shows a screen-grid tube with the required tuned tank in its plate circuit. Equivalent eathode connections for a filamenttype tube are shown in Fig. 6-8. It is assumed that the tube is being properly driven and that the various electrode voltages are appropriate for Class C operation. The main objective, of course, is to deliver as much fundamental power as possible (or as desired) into a load, R, without exceeding the tube ratings. The load resistance Rmay be in the form of a transmission line to an antenna, or the grid circuit of another amplifier. A further objective is to minimize the harmonic energy (always generated by a Class C amplifier) fed into the load circuit. In attaining these objectives, the Q of the tank circuit is of importance.

#### PLATE TANK Q

The Q is determined (see chapter on electrical laws and circuits) by the L/C ratio and the load resistance of the tube (not the resistance of the load circuit). The tube load resistance is related, in approximation, to the ratio of the d.c. plate voltage to d.c. plate current at which the tube is operated. The amount of C that will give a Q of 12 for various ratios is shown in Fig. 6-9. A Q of 12 is a value chosen as an average that will satisfy most of the requirements to be discussed. Certain The distance between the crystal oscillator and receiver should be adjusted to give a good beat between the crystal oscillator and the transmitter signal. When using harmonics of the crystal oscillator, it may be necessary to attach a piece of wire to the oscillator as an antenna to give sufficient signal in the receiver.

Cheeks may show that the stability is suffi-



 $Fi\mu$ . 6-6 — Set-up for checking VFO stability. The receiver should be tuned preferably to a harmonic of the VFO frequency. The crystal oscillator may operate somewhere in the band in which the VFO is operating. The receiver b.f.o. should be turned off.

ciently good to permit oscillator keying at the lower frequencies, where break-in operation is of greater value, but that chirp becomes objectionable at the higher frequencies. If further improvement does not seem possible, it would be logical in this case to use oscillator keying at the lower frequencies and amplifier keying at the higher frequencies.

## **R. F. Power Amplifiers**

specific considerations may make a higher or lower value desirable. For a given plate-voltage/plate-current ratio, the Q will vary directly as the tank capacitance, twice the capacitance doubles the Q etc.

#### Effect of Q on Tube Plate Efficiency

For good tube plate efficiency, the voltage drop across the tank (which determines the instantaneous plate voltage) should approach a sine wave characteristic. Although the plate current flowing through the tank is in the highly-distorted form of short pulses containing considerable harmonic energy, a resonant circuit discriminates against harmonic *voltages* across the circuit according to the Q of the circuit. If the Q is sufficiently high, the wave shape of the voltage drop across the tank circuit will be essentially sinusoidal. So far as tube plate efficiency is concerned, requirements will be met satisfactorily if the tank Q is 5 or greater. However, as the Q is increased, the current circulating in the tank circuit becomes greater, increasing the tankcircuit loss. If the Q is greater than about 20, the losses in the tank circuit caused by the increasingly greater tank current will offset any further improvement in plate efficiency.

#### Harmonic Output Reduction

Strictly speaking, a high-Q tank circuit does not "attenuate" harmonics. The plate *current* pulses remain unchanged with Q. However, it has been explained above that the harmonic voltage drop across the tank circuit (a pure sine wave has no harmonic content) decreases with an increase in Q and therefore when the load circuit is coupled across the tank circuit capacitively, as shown in Fig. 6-7B, the harmonic voltage across the load will be reduced as the Q of the tank circuit is increased.

When inductive coupling is used, as in Fig. 6-7A, harmonic reduction in the load comes about for a different reason. At resonance, as explained in the chapter on electrical laws and circuits, there is a build-up of fundamental current in the tank circuit, and this current becomes greater as the Q is increased. As the current through the tank coil increases, the same power in the load will be obtained with looser inductive coupling (a smaller coupling coefficient). Since the harmonic current through the coil remains fixed irrespective of Q, the amount of harmonic energy coupled out becomes less as the coupling is decreased.

As stated above, tank-circuit loss increases with Q, so that the choice of Q must be a compromise depending upon whether efficiency or harmonic reduction is considered the more important.

#### Q vs. Coupling

Also, as explained above, it is seen that the Qhas an influence on coupling to a load when the coupling is inductive. The higher the Q, the larger the tank current and the smaller the coefficient of coupling to the load can be for a given value of current in the load. Conversely, the lower the Q, the greater the coefficient of coupling must be.



Fig. 6-7 — Output coupling circuits. A = In-ductive link coupling. B = Capacitive coupling.

C1 - Plate tank condenser - see text and Fig. 6-9 for capacitance, Fig. 6.29 for voltage rating.

- $C_2$  Heater by-pass 0.001  $\mu$ fd. disk ceramic,  $C_3$  Steren by-pass 0.001  $\mu$ fd. disk ceramic,  $C_3$  Steren by-pass voltage rating depends on method of screen supply. See section on sereen considerations. Voltage rating same as plate voltage will be safe under any condition.
- C4 Plate by-pass 0.001-µfd, disk ceramie or mica. Voltage rating same as  $C_1$ , plus safety factor. C<sub>5</sub> — Coupling condenser — see Fig. 6-18.
- $L_1$  To resonate at operating frequency with  $C_1$ . See LC chart in miscellancous-data chapter and inductance formula in electrical-laws chapter, or use ARR1. Lightning Calculator.
- $L_2 \mbox{Reactance equal to line impedance. See reactance chart in miscellane-ous-data chapter and inductance formula in electrical-laws chapter,$ or use ARRL Lightning Calculator.
- R Representing load.

#### Q and Broadbanding

Amateur frequencies are in bands - not spot frequencies — and it becomes desirable to design the circuits of the transmitter so that it may be



operated within a band with a minimum of retuning. It is therefore desirable to use the minimum Q that will satisfy the previously discussed requirements.

### OUTPUT COUPLING SYSTEMS

#### Coupling to Flat Coaxial Lines

When the load R in Fig. 6-7A is located for convenience at some distance from the amplifier, or when maximum harmonic reduction is desired, it is advisable to feed the power to the load through a low-impedance coaxial cable. The shielded construction of the cable prevents radiation and makes it possible to install the line in any convenient manner without danger of unwanted coupling to other circuits.

If the line is more than a small fraction of a wavelength long, the load resistance at its output

end should be adjusted, by a matching circuit if necessary, to match the characteristic impedance of the cable. This reduces losses in the cable to a minimum and makes the coupling adjustments at the transmitter independent of the cable length. Matching circuits for use between the cable and another transmission line are discussed in the chapter on transmission lines, while the matching adjustments when the load is the grid circuit of a following amplifier are described elsewhere in this chapter.

Assuming that the cable is properly terminated, proper loading of the amplifier will be assured, using the circuit of Fig. 6-10C, if

1) The plate tank circuit has reasonably high value of Q. A value of 10 or more is usually sufficient.

2) The inductance of the pickup or link coil is close to the optimum value for the frequency

# CHAPTER 6

# **HIGH-FREQUENCY TRANSMITTERS**



Fig. 6-9 — Chart showing plate tank capacitance required for a Q of 12. To use the chart, divide the tube plate voltage by the plate current in milliamperes. Select the vortical line corresponding to the answer obtained. Follow this vertical line to the diagonal line for the band in question, and thence horizontally to the left to read the capacitance. For a given ratio of platevoltage/plate current, doubling the capacitance shown doubles the Q etc. When a split-stator condenser is used in a balanced circuit, the capacitance of *each section* may be one half of the value given by the chart.

and type of line used. The optimum coil is one whose self-inductance is such that its reactance at the operating frequency is equal to the characteristic impedance,  $Z_0$ , of the line.

3) It is possible to make the coupling between the tank and pick-up coils very tight.

The second in this list is often hard to meet. Few manufactured link coils have adequate inductance even for coupling to a 50-ohm line at low frequencies.

If the line is operating with a low s.w.r., the

Capacitance in  $\mu\mu$ fd. Required for Coupling to Flat Coaxial Lines with Tuned Coupling Circuit Characteristic Impedance of Line Frequency Band 52 75 Mc. ohms 1 ohms 1.8 900 600 3.5 450 300 230150 14 115 75 2860 40

<sup>1</sup> Capacitance values are maximum usable. *Note:* Inductance in circuit must be adjusted to resonate at operating frequency.

system shown in Fig. 6-10C will require tight coupling between the two coils. Since the secondary (pick-up coil) circuit is not resonant, the leakage reactance of the pick-up coil will cause some detuning of the amplifier tank circuit. This detuning effect increases with increasing coupling, but is usually not serious. However, the amplifier tuning must be adjusted to resonance, as indicated by the plate-current dip, each time the coupling is changed.

#### Tuned Coupling

The design difficulties of using "untuned" pick-up coils, mentioned above, can be avoided by using a coupling circuit tuned to the operating frequency. This contributes additional selectivity as well, and hence aids in the suppression of spurious radiations.

If the line is flat the input impedance will be essentially resistive and equal to the  $Z_0$  of the line. With coaxial cable, which has a  $Z_0$  of 75 ohms or less, a circuit of reasonable Q can be obtained with practicable values of inductance and capacitance connected in series with the line's input terminals.

Suitable circuits are given in Fig. 6-10 at A and B. The values of inductance and capacitance in the coupling circuits are not highly critical, but the L/C ratio must not be too small. The Q of the coupling circuit often may be as low as 2, without running into difficulty in getting adequate coupling to a tank circuit of proper design. Larger values of Q can be used and will result in increased ease of coupling, but as the Q is increased the frequency range over which the circuit will operate without readjustment becomes smaller. It is usually good practice, therefore, to use a couplingcircuit Q just low enough to permit operation, over as much of a band as is normally used for a particular type of communication, without requiring retuning.



Fig. 6-10 — With flat transmission lines power transfer is obtained with looser coupling if the line input is tuned to resonance.  $C_1$  and  $L_1$  should resonate at the operating frequency. See table for maximum usable value of  $C_1$ . If circuit does not resonate with maximum  $C_1$  or less, inductance of  $L_1$  must be increased, or added in series at  $L_2$ .

Capacitance values for a Q of 2 and line impedances of 52 and 75 ohms are given in the accompanying table. These are the maximum values that should be used. The inductance in the circuit should be adjusted to give resonance at the operating frequency. If the link coil used for a particular band does not have enough inductance to resonate, the additional inductance may be connected in series as shown in Fig. 6-10B.

In practice, the amount of inductance in the circuit should be chosen so that, with somewhat loose coupling between  $L_1$  and the amplifier tank coil, the amplifier plate current will increase when the variable condenser,  $C_1$ , is tuned through the value of capacitance given by the table. The coupling between the two coils should then be increased until the amplifier loads normally, without changing the setting of  $C_1$ . If the transmission line is flat over the entire frequency band under consideration, it should not be necessary to readjust  $C_1$  when changing frequency, if the values given in the table are used. However, it is unlikely that the line actually will be flat over such a range, so some readjustment of  $C_1$  may be needed to compensate for changes in the input impedance of the line as the frequency is changed. If the input impedance variations are not large,  $C_1$  may be used as a loading control, no changes in the coupling between  $L_1$  and the tank coil being necessary.

The degree of coupling between  $L_1$  and the amplifier tank coil will depend on the couplingcircuit Q. With a Q of 2, the eoupling should be tight — eomparable with the coupling that is typical of "fixed-link" manufactured coils. With a swinging link it may be necessary to increase the Q of the coupling circuit in order to get sufficient power transfer. This can be done by increasing the L/C ratio.

#### Pi-Section Output Tank

A pi-section tank circuit may also be used in coupling to a low-impedance transmission line, as shown in Fig. 6-11. The output condenser,  $C_2$ ,



#### Fig. 6-11 — Pi-section output tank circuit.

- C<sub>1</sub> Input condenser see text and Fig. 6-9 for eapacitance. For voltage rating see C1, Fig. 6-7. - Output condenser — adjustable to half reactance  $C_2$ of line impedance --see text and reactance chart in chapter of miscellaneous data. Voltage rating — receiving spacing good for 1 kw. at 50 or 75 ohms if line is terminated in link, otherwise plate voltage plus 25%.
- $C_3$  Heater by-pass 0.001-µfd. disk ceramic.  $C_4$  Screen by-pass see Fig. 6-7.
- C5
- Plate hypass see Fig. 6-7. Plate blocking condenser 0.001-µfd. disk ce- $C_6$ ramic or mica. Voltage rating same as  $C_1$ .
- $L_1$  Inductance approx. same as  $L_1$ , Fig. 6-7.

should be adjustable to a reactance of about half of the characteristic impedance of the line.  $C_1$ , the input condenser, and  $L_1$  should have values approximately the same as used in a conventional tank circuit for a Q of 12 (see Fig. 6-9).

A decrease in the capacitance of  $C_2$ , or the inductance of  $L_1$ , will increase the coupling and vice versa. Each time  $L_1$  or  $C_2$  is changed,  $C_1$ must be readjusted for resonance.

#### **R.F. AMPLIFIER-TUBE OPERATION**

#### Driving Power, Efficiency, Dissipation and Power Input

One of the most significant tube ratings is the maximum plate-dissipation rating. This is the power that can be safely dissipated in the tube as heat. It is the difference between r.f. power output and the d.e. power input to the plate. For a given dissipation rating, the theoretical power output from a tube depends on the efficiency with which it can be made to operate. The  $P_{o}/P_{d}$  curve of Fig. 6-12 shows the theoretical power output obtainable at various efficiencies in terms of the plate-dissipation rating. For instance, at an efficiency of 60 per cent, the curve shows that the output will be 1.5 times the dissipation rating, while at an efficiency of 90 per cent a power of 9 times the dissipation rating might be obtained. However, the  $P_i/P_d$  curve shows that the power input at 90 per cent would have to be 10 times the dissipation rating. An input of this magnitude would exceed the power-input rating (plate voltage  $\times$  plate current) of the tube, which is based on cathode emission and electrode insulation. Also, referring to Fig. 6-13, it is seen that the higher efficiencies are obtainable only by the use of an inordinate amount of driving power. In other words, the power amplification decreases rapidly. The typical operating conditions given in the tube tables represent a compromise of these factors. Fig. 6-12 shows the usual practical efficiencies attainable for various classes of tube operation. For instance, at an efficiency of 75 per cent, a Class C amplifier could normally be operated at a power input of 4 times its plate dissipation. A doubler, however, normally operating at about 35 per cent efficiency, could handle an input of only about 1.5 times its dissipation rating. The efficiencies shown for Class B amplifiers are for full excitation and full input.

The figures for driving power listed in the tube tables do not include coupling-circuit losses and to assure adequate excitation, the driver tube should be eapable of an output power three or four times the rated driving power of the amplifier. For normal operation, proper excitation is indicated when rated d.c. grid current is obtained at rated bias (see tube tables).

Depending on the material from which the plate is made, the plate will show no color, or varying degrees of redness, when operating at rated dissipation. This can be checked by operating the tube without excitation, but with plate



Fig. 6-12 — Curves showing the relationship of power output  $(P_{\circ})$ , power input  $(P_{1})$ , plate dissipation  $(P_{1})$  and efficiency according to class of amplifier tube operation,

and screen voltages applied, for a period approximating normal operation. Fixed bias should be applied to bring the plate current to some low value at the start. The bias should be gradually reduced until the input to the tube (plate voltage  $\times$  plate current in decimal parts of an ampere) equals the rated dissipation. The color of the plate at this input should be noted so that it can be compared with the color showing in normal operation. A brighter color in operation would indicate that the dissipation rating is being execeeded. However, most tubes of recent design do not show color at rated dissipation.

#### Maximum Grid Current

Maximum grid dissipation usually is expressed in terms of the maximum grid current at which the tube should be operated to prevent damage to the tube. A common result of excessive grid heating is a condition where the grid current gradually falls off. If the bias is supplied largely by grid-leak action, the bias drops and the tube draws excessive plate current. The total effect is one in which the temperature of the tube rapidly rises to the danger point. Sometimes, but not always, the tube will restore itself to normal if all power, except filament, is turned off for several minutes. If the overload has been serious or prolonged, with a thoriated-filament tube, it may be possible to reactivate the filament, as described below, but sometimes the tube will be permanently damaged.

#### Filament Voltage

The filament voltage for the indirectly-heated cathode-type tubes found in low-power classifications may vary 10 per cent above or below rating without seriously reducing the life of the tube. But the voltage of the higher-power filament-type tubes should be held closely between the rated voltage as a minimum and 5 per cent above rating as a maximum. Make sure that the plate power drawn from the power line does not cause a drop in filament voltage below the proper value when plate power is applied.

Thoriated-type filaments lose emission when the tube is overloaded appreciably. If the overload has not been too prolonged, emission sometimes may be restored by operating the filament at rated voltage with all other voltages removed for a period of 10 minutes, or at 20 per cent above rated voltage for a few minutes.

#### **Bias and Tube Protection**

The portion of the excitation cycle over which the amplifier draws plate grid current (operating angle) is governed by applying a negative biasing voltage between grid and eathode. Recommended values will be found in the tube tables. Several methods of obtaining bias are shown in Fig. 6-14. In A, bias is obtained by the voltage drop across a resistor in the grid d.c. return circuit when rectified grid current flows. The proper value of resistance may be determined by dividing the required biasing voltage by the d.c. grid current at which the tube will be operated. The tube is biased only when excitation is applied, since the voltage drop across the resistor depends upon grid-current flow. When excitation is removed, the bias falls to zero. At zero bias most tubes draw power far in excess of the plate-dissipation rating. So it is advisable to make provision for protecting the tube when excitation fails by accident, or by intent as it does when a preceding stage in a c.w. transmitter is keyed. This protection can be supplied by obtaining all bias from





a source of fixed voltage, as shown in Fig. 6-14B. It is preferable, however, to use only sufficient fixed bias to protect the tube and obtain the balance needed for operating bias from a grid leak, as indicated in C. The grid-leak resistance in this case is calculated as above, except that the fixed voltage used is subtracted first.

Fixed bias may be obtained from dry batteries or from a power pack (see power-supply chapter). If dry batteries are used, they should be checked periodically, since even though they may show normal or above-normal voltage, they eventually develop a high internal resistance. Grid-current flow through this battery resistance may increase the bias considerably above that anticipated. The life of batteries in bias service will be approximately the same as though they were subject to a drain equal to the grid current, despite the fact that the grid-current flow is in such a direction as to charge the battery, rather than to discharge it.

If the maximum c.w. ratings shown in the tube tables are to be used, the input should be cut to zero when the key is open. Aside from this, it is not necessary that plate current be cut off completely but only to the point where the rated dissipation is not exceeded. In this case platemodulated 'phone ratings should be used for c.w. operation, however.

In Fig. 6-14F, bias is obtained from the voltage drop across a resistor in the cathode (or filament center-tap) lead. Protective bias is obtained by the voltage drop across  $R_5$  as a result of plate (and screen) current flow. Since plate current must flow to obtain a voltage drop across the resistor, it is obvious that cut-off protective bias cannot be obtained by this system. When excitation is applied, plate (and screen) current increases and the grid current also contributes to the drop across  $R_5$ , thereby increasing the bias to the operating value. Since the voltage between plate and cathode is reduced by the amount of the voltage drop across  $R_5$ , the over-all supply voltage must be the sum of the plate and operating-bias voltages. For this reason, the use of cathode bias usually is limited to low-voltage tubes when the extra voltage is not difficult to obtain.

The resistance of the cathode biasing resistor  $R_5$  should be adjusted to the value which will give the correct operating bias voltage with rated grid, plate and screen currents flowing with the amplifier loaded to rated input. When excitation is removed, the input to most types of tubes will fall to a value that will prevent damage to the tube, at least for the period of time required to remove plate voltage.

A disadvantage of this biasing system is that the cathode r.f. connection to ground depends upon a by-pass condenser. From the consideration of v.h.f. harmonics and stability with highperveance tubes, it is preferable to make the cathode-to-ground impedance as close to zero as possible.



Fig. 6-14 — Various systems for obtaining protective and operating bias for r.f. amplifiers. A — Grid-leak, B — Battery, C — Combination battery and grid leak, D — Grid leak and adjusted-voltage bias pack, E — Combination grid leak and voltage-regulated pack, F — Cathode bias.

# HIGH-FREQUENCY TRANSMITTERS

#### Protecting Screen-Grid Tubes

Screen-grid tubes cannot be eut off with bias unless the screen is operated from a fixed-voltage supply. In this ease the cut-off bias is approximately the screen voltage divided by the amplification factor of the screen. This figure is not always shown in tube-data sheets, but cut-off voltage may be determined from an inspection of tube curves, or by experiment.

When the screen is supplied from a series dropping resistor, the tube can be protected by the use of a screen-clamper tube, as shown in Fig. 6-15. The grid-leak bias of the amplifier tube with excitation is applied also to the grid of the clamper tube. This is usually sufficient to cut off the clamper tube. However, when excitation is removed, the clamper-tube bias falls to zero and it draws enough current through the screen dropping resistor usually to limit the input to the amplifier to a safe value. If complete screenvoltage eut-off is desired, a VR tube may be inserted in the sereen lead as shown. The VRtube voltage rating should be high enough so that it will extinguish when excitation to the amplifier is removed. One VR tube should be used for each 40 ma. of screen eurrent, other tubes being added in parallel if needed.

#### Screen Considerations

Since the power taken by the sereen does not contribute to the r.f. output, it is dissipated entirely in heating the screen, so the dissipation can be calculated simply by multiplying the screen voltage by the screen current.

It should be kept in mind that screen current varies widely with both excitation and loading. If the screen is operated from a fixed-voltage source, the tube should never be operated without plate voltage and load, otherwise the screen may be damaged within a short time. Supplying the screen through a series dropping resistor from a higher-voltage source, such as the plate supply, affords a measure of protection, since the resistor causes the screen voltage to drop as the eurrent increases, thereby limiting the power drawn by the screen. However, with a resistor, the screen voltage may vary considerably with excitation, making it necessary to check the voltage at the screen terminal under actual operating conditions to make sure that the screen voltage is normal. Reducing excitation will cause the screen current to drop, increasing the voltage; increasing excitation will have the opposite effect. These changes are in addition to those caused by changes in bias and plate loading, so if a screen-grid tube is operated from a series resistor or a voltage divider, its voltage should be ehecked as one of the final adjustments after excitation and loading have been set.

An approximate value of resistance for the sereen-voltage dropping resistor may be obtained by dividing the voltage *drop* required from the supply voltage (difference between the supply voltage and rated screen voltage) by the rated screen current in decimal parts of an ampere.

Fig. 6-15 — Screen clamper circuit for protecting screengrid power tubes. The VR tube is needed only for complete cut-off.

 $C_1 = 0.001$ -µfd. disk ceramic.  $R_1 = 100$  ohms.

Some further adjustment may be necessary, as mentioned above, so an adjustable resistor with a total resistance above that calculated should be provided.

#### FEEDING EXCITATION TO THE GRID

In eoupling the grid input circuit of an amplifier to the output circuit of a driving stage the objective is to load the driver plate circuit so that the desired amplifier grid excitation is obtained without exceeding the plate-input ratings of the driver tube.

As explained earlier, the grid of a Class C amplifier must be driven positive in respect to cathode over a portion of the excitation cycle, and rectified grid current flows in the grid-cathode circuit. This represents an average resistance across which the exciting voltage must be developed by the driver stage. In other words, this is the load resistance into which the driver plate circuit must be coupled. The approximate grid input resistance is given by:

Input impedance (ohms)  
= 
$$\frac{driving \ power \ (watts)}{d.c. \ grid \ current \ (ma.)^2} \times 622 \times 10^3.$$

For normal operation, the values of driving power and grid current may be taken from the tube tables.

Since the grid input resistance is a matter of a few thousand ohms, an impedance step-down is necessary if the grid is to be fed from a lowimpedance transmission line. This can be done by the use of a tank as an impedance-transforming device in the grid circuit of the amplifier as shown in Fig. 6-16. This eoupling system may be considered either as simply a means of obtaining mutual inductance between the two tank coils, or as a low-impedance transmission line. If the line is longer than a small fraction of a wavelength, and if a s.w.r. bridge is available, the line is more easily handled by adjusting it as a matched transmission line.



#### Inductive Link Coupling with Flat Line

In adjusting this type of line, the object is to make the s.w.r. on the line as low as possible over as wide a band of frequencies as possible so that power can be transferred over this range without retuning. It is assumed that the output coupling considerations discussed earlier have been observed in connection with the driver plate circuit. So far as the amplifier grid circuit is concerned, the controlling factors are the Q of the tuned grid circuit,  $L_2C_2$ , (see Fig. 6-17) the inductance of the coupling coil,  $L_4$ , and the degree of coupling between  $L_2$  and  $L_4$ . Variable coupling between the coils is convenient, but not strictly necessary if one or both of the other factors can be varied. An s.w.r. indicator (shown as "SWR" in the drawing) is essential. An indicator such as the "Micromatch" (a commercially available instrument) may be connected as shown and the adjustments made under actual operating conditions; that is, with full power applied to the amplifier grid.

Assuming that the coupling is adjustable, start with a trial position of  $L_4$  with respect to  $L_2$ , and adjust  $C_2$  for the lowest s.w.r. Then change the coupling slightly and repeat, Continue until the s.w.r. is as low as possible; if the circuit constants are in the right region it should not be difficult to get the s.w.r. down to 1 to 1. The Q of the tuned grid circuit should be designed to be at least 10, and if it is not possible to get a very low s.w.r. with such a grid circuit the probable reason is that  $L_4$  is too small. Maximum coupling, for a given degree of physical coupling between the two coils, will occur when the inductance of  $L_4$  is such that its reactance at the operating frequency is equal to the characteristic impedance of the link line. The reactance can be calculated as described in the chapter on electrical fundamentals if the inductance is



Fig. 6-16 — Coupling excitation to the grid of an r.f. power amplifier by means of a low-impedance coaxial line

Ci, Ca, Li, La - See corresponding components in Fig. 6-7.

 $C_2$  — Amplifier grid tank condenser — see text and Fig. 6-17 for capacitance, Fig. 6-30 for voltage rating.  $C_4$  — 0.001-µfd, disk ceramic.

- 1.2 To resonate at operating frequency with C2. See LC chart in miscellaneous-data chapter and inductance formula in electrical-laws chapter, or use ARRL Lightning Calculator.
- L4 Reactance equal to line impedance see reactance chart in miscellaneous-data chapter and inductance formula in electrical-laws chapter, or use ARRL Lightning Calculator.

R is used to simulate grid impedance of the amplifier when a low-power s.w.r. indicator, such as a resistance bridge, is used. See formula in text for calculating value. Standing-wave indicator SWR is inserted in line only while line is made flat.



Fig. 6-17 — Chart showing required grid tank capacitance for a Q of 12. To use, divide the driving power in watts by the square of the d.e. grid current in milliamperes and proceed as described under Fig. 6-9. Driving power and grid current may be taken from the tube tables. When a split-stator condenser is used in a balanced grid circuit, the capacitance of *each section* may be half that shown by the chart.

known; the inductance can either be calculated from the formula in the same chapter or measured as described in the chapter on measurements.

Once the s.w.r. has been brought down to 1 to 1, the frequency should be shifted over the band so that the variation in s.w.r. can be observed, without changing  $C_1$  or the coupling between  $L_2$ 

and  $L_4$ . If the s.w.r. rises rapidly on either side of the original frequency the circuit can be made "flatter" by reducing the Q of the tuned grid circuit. This may be done by decreasing  $C_2$  and correspondingly increasing  $L_2$  to maintain resonance, and by tightening the coupling between  $L_2$  and  $L_4$ , going through the same adjustment process again. It is possible to set up the system so that the s.w.r. will not exceed 1.5 to 1 over, for example, the entire 7-Mc, band and proportionately on other bands. Under these circumstances a single setting will serve for work anywhere in the band, with essentially constant power transfer from the line to the power-amplifier grids.

If the coupling between  $L_2$ and  $L_4$  is not adjustable the
same result may be secured by varying the L/Cratio of the tuned grid circuit — that is, by varying its Q. If any difficulty is encountered it can be overcome by changing the number of turns in  $L_4$  until a match is secured. The two coils should be tightly coupled.

When a resistance-bridge type s.w.r. indicator (see measuring-equipment chapter) is used it is not possible to put the full power through the line when making adjustments. In such case the operating conditions in the amplifier grid circuit can be simulated by using a *carbon resistor* ( $\frac{1}{2}$  or 1 watt size) of the same value as the calculated amplifier grid impedance, connected as indicated by the arrows in Fig. 6-16. In this case the amplifier tube *must* be operated "cold" — without filament or heater power. The adjustment process is the same as described above, but with the driver power reduced to a value suitable for operating the s.w.r. bridge.

When the grid coupling system has been adjusted so that the s.w.r. is close to 1 to 1 over the desired frequency range, it is certain that the power put into the link line will be delivered to the grid circuit. Coupling will be facilitated if the line is tuned as described under the earlier section on output coupling systems.

### Link Feed with Unmatched Line

When the system is to be treated without regard to transmission-line effects, the link line must not offer appreciable reactance at the operating frequency. Unless the constants happen to tune the link near resonance, any appreciable reactance, inductive or capacitive, will in effect reduce the coupling, making it impossible to transfer sufficient power from the driver to the amplifier grid circuit. Coaxial cables especially have considerable capacitance for even short lengths and for this reason it may be more desirable to use a spaced line, such as Twin-Lead, if the radiation can be tolerated.

The reactance of the line can be nullified only by making the link resonant. This may require changing the number of turns in the link coils, the length of the line, or the insertion of a tuning capacitance. The disadvantages of such a resonant link are obvious. Since the s.w.r. on the link line may be quite high, the line losses increase because of the greater current, the voltage increase may be sufficient to cause a break-down in the insulation of the cable and the added tuned circuit makes adjustment more critical with relatively small changes in frequency.

These troubles may not be encountered if the link line is kept very short for the highest frequency. A length of 5 feet or more may be tolerable at 3.5 Mc., but a length of a foot at 28 Mc. may be enough to cause serious effects on the functioning of the system.

Adjusting the coupling in such a system depends so much on the dimensions of the link line used that it must necessarily be largely a matter of cut and try. If the line is short enough so as to have negligible reactance, the coupling between the two tank circuits will increase within

limits by adding turns to the link coils, maintaining as close as possible equal inductances in each coil, or by coupling the link coils more tightly, if possible, to the tank coils. If it is impossible to change either of these, a variable condenser of 300  $\mu\mu$ fd. may be connected in series with or in parallel with the link coil at the driver end of the line, depending upon which connection is the most effective. If coaxial line is used, the condenser should be connected in series with the inner conductor. If the line is long enough to have appreciable reactance, the variable condenser is used to resonate the entire link circuit. As mentioned previously, the size of the link coils and the length of the line, as well as the size of the condenser, will affect the resonant frequency and it may take an adjustment of all three before the condenser will show a pronounced effect on the coupling. When the system has been made resonant, coupling may be adjusted by varying the link condenser.

### Simple Capacitive Interstage Coupling

The capacitive system of Fig. 6-18A is the simplest of all coupling systems. (See Fig. 6-8 for filament-type tubes.) In this circuit, the plate tank circuit of the driver,  $C_1L_1$ , serves also as the grid tank of the amplifier. Although, it is used more frequently than any other system, it is less flexible and has certain limitations that must be taken into consideration.

The two stages cannot be separated physically any appreciable distance without involving loss in transferred power, radiation from the coupling lead and the danger of feed-back from this lead. Since both the output capacitance of the driver tube and the input capacitance of the amplifier are across the single circuit, it is sometimes difficult to obtain a tank circuit with a sufficiently low Q to provide an efficient circuit at the higher frequencies. The coupling can be varied by altering the capacitance of the coupling condenser,  $C_2$ , but no impedance transforming is possible. The driver load impedance is the sum of the amplifier grid resistance and the reactance of the coupling condenser in series, the coupling condenser serving simply as a series reactor. Driver load resistance increases with a decrease in the capacitance of the coupling condenser.

When the amplifier grid impedance is lower than the optimum load resistance for the driver, a transforming action is possible by tapping the grid down on the tank coil, but this is not recommended because it invariably causes an increase in v.h.f. harmonics and sometimes sets up a parasitic circuit.

So far as coupling is concerned, the Q of the circuit is of little significance. However, the other considerations discussed earlier in connection with tank-circuit Q should be observed.

### Pi-Section Tank as Interstage Coupler

A pi-section tank circuit, as shown in Fig. 6-18B, may be used as a coupling device between screen-grid amplifier stages. The circuit is actually a capacitive coupling arrangement with the grid of the amplifier tapped down on the circuit by means of a capacitive divider. In contrast to the tapped-coil method mentioned previously, this system will be very effective in reducing v.h.f. harmonics, because the output condenser,  $C_8$ , provides a direct capacitive shunt for harmonics across the amplifier grid circuit.

To be most effective in reducing v.h.f. harmonics,  $C_8$  should be a mica condenser connected directly across the tube-socket terminals. Tapping down on the circuit in this manner also helps to stabilize the amplifier at the operating frequency because of the grid-circuit loading provided by  $C_8$ . For the purposes both of stability and harmonic reduction, experience has shown that a value of 100  $\mu\mu$ fd. for  $C_8$  usually is



Fig. 6-18 — Capacitive-coupled amplifiers. A — Simple capacitive coupling. B — Pi-section coupling.

- C<sub>1</sub> Driver plate tank condenser see text and Fig. 6-7 for capacitance, Fig. 6-29 for voltage rating.
- $C_2 \rightarrow Coupling condenser \rightarrow 50$  to 150 µµfd, mica, as necessary for desired coupling. Voltage rating sum of driver plate and amplifier biasing voltages, plus safety factor.
- $C_3 \rightarrow Driver$  plate by-pass condenser  $\rightarrow 0.001$ -µfd, disk ceramic or mica. Voltage rating same as plate voltage, plus safety factor.
- $C_4 Grid$  by -pass 0.001- $\mu$ fd, disk ceramic.
- C5 Heater by pass 0.001-µfd, disk ceramic.
- $C_6$  Driver plate blocking condenser 0.001-µfd, disk ceramic or mica. Voltage rating same as  $C_2$ .
- $C_7$  Pi-section input condenser see text and Fig. 6-9 for capacitance. Voltage rating same as  $C_L$
- $C_8$  Pi-section output condenser 100- $\mu\mu$ fd. mica. Voltage rating same as driver plate voltage plus safety factor,
- 14 To resonate at operating frequency with C<sub>1</sub>. See LC chart in miscellaneous-data chapter and inductance formula in electrical-laws chapter, or use ARRL Lightning Calculator.
- $L_2$  Pi-section inductance See text. Approximately same as  $L_1$ .
- RFC<sub>1</sub> Grid r.f. choke 2.5-mh. Current rating minimum of grid-current to be expected.
- RFC<sub>2</sub> Driver plate r.f. choke 2.5 mh. Current rating minimum of plate current expected.

### **CHAPTER 6**



Fig. 6-19 — Circuit of sensitive neutralizing indicator. *Xtal* is a 1N34 crystal detector, *MA* a 0-1 direct-current milliammeter and *C* a 0.001- $\mu$ fd. mica by-pass condenser.

sufficient. In general,  $C_7$  and  $L_2$  should have values approximating the capacitance and inductance used in a conventional tank circuit. A reduction in the inductance of  $L_2$  results in an increase in coupling because  $C_7$  must be in-

ereased to return the circuit to resonance. This changes the ratio of  $C_7$  to  $C_8$  and has the effect of moving the grid tap up on the circuit. Since the coupling to the grid is comparatively loose under any condition, it may be found that it is impossible to attilize the full power capability of the driver stage. If sufficient excitation cannot be obtained, it may be necessary to raise the plate voltage of the driver, if this is permissible. Otherwise a larger driver tube may be required. As shown in Fig. 6-18B, parallel driver plate feed and amplifier grid feed are necessary.

### STABILIZING AMPLIFIERS External Coupling A straight amplifier operates with its

input and output circuits tuned to the same frequency. Therefore, unless the coupling between these two circuits is brought to the necessary minimum, the amplifier will oscillate as a tuned-plate tuned-grid circuit. Care should be used in arranging components and wiring of the two circuits so that there will be negligible opportunity for coupling external to the tube itself. Complete shielding between input and output circuits usually is required. All r.f. leads should be kept as short as possible and particular attention should be paid to the r.f. return paths from plate and grid tank circuits to cathode. In general, the best arrangement is one in which the cathode (or filament center tap) connection to ground, and the plate tank circuit are on the same side of the chassis or other shielding. Then the "hot" lead from the grid tank (or driver plate tank) should be brought to the socket through a hole in the shielding. Then when the grid tank condenser, or by-pass is grounded, a return path through the hole to cathode will be encouraged, since transmission-line characteristics are simulated.

A check on external coupling between

input and output circuits can be made with a sensitive indicating device, such as the one diagrammed in Fig. 6-19. The amplifier tube is removed from its socket and if the plate terminal is at the socket, it should be disconnected. With the driver stage running and tuned to resonance, the indicator should be coupled to the output tank coil and the output tank condenser tuned for any indication of r.f. feed-through. Experiment with shielding and rearrangement of parts will show whether the isolation can be improved.

#### Neutralizing Circuits

The plate-grid capacitance of screen-grid tubes is reduced to a fraction of a micro-microfarad by the interposed grounded screen. Nevertheless, the power sensitivity of these tubes is so great that only a very small amount of feed-back is necessary to start oscillation. To assure a stable amplifier, it is usually necessary to load the grid circuit, or to use a neutralizing circuit. A neutralizing circuit is one external to the tube that balances the voltage fed back through the grid-plate capacitance, by another voltage of opposite phase.

Fig. 6-20A shows how a screen-grid amplifier may be neutralized by the use of an inductive link line coupling the input and output tank circuits in proper phase. The two coils must be properly polarized. If the initial connection proves to be incorrect, connections to one of the link coils should be reversed. Neutralizing is adjusted by changing the distance between the link coils and the tank coils, once correct polarization has been determined. A wrong connection will cause the amplifier to oscillate still more strongly. In the case of capacitive coupling, one of the link coils will be coupled to the plate tank coil of the driver stage.

A capacitive neutralizing system for serecongrid tubes is shown in Fig. 6-20B.  $C_2$  is the neutralizing condenser. The capacitance should be chosen so that at some adjustment of  $C_2$ , the ratio of  $C_2$  to  $C_1$  equals the ratio of the tube grid-plate capacitance to the grid-cathode capacitance. If  $C_1$  is 0.001 µfd., then

$$C_2 = \frac{1000 \ C_{\rm gl}}{C_{\rm gk}}$$

The grid-cathode capacitance must include all strays directly across the tube capacitance, including the capacitance of the tuning-condenser stator to ground. This may amount to 5 to 20  $\mu\mu$ fd. In the case of capacitance coupling, as shown in Fig. 6-20C, the output capacitance of the driver tube must be added to the grid-cathode capacitance of the amplifier in arriving at the value of  $C_2$ . If  $C_2$  works out to an impractically large or small value,  $C_1$  can be changed mica condensers in parallel.

### Neutralizing Adjustment

The procedure in neutralizing is essentially the same for all types of tubes and circuits. The filament of the amplifier tube should be lighted and excitation from the preceding stage fed to the grid circuit. There should be no plate voltage applied to the amplifier.

The immediate objective of the neutralizing process is reducing to a minimum the r.f. driver voltage fed from the input of the amplifier to its output circuit through the grid-plate capacitance of the tube. This is done by adjusting carefully, bit by bit, the neutralizing condenser or link coils until an r.f. indicator in the output circuit reads minimum.



Fig. 6-20 — Screen-grid neutralizing circuits. A — Inductive neutralizing. B–C — Capacitive neutralizing.

- $C_1 = Grid$  by-pass condenser = approx. 0.001- $\mu$ fd, mica. Voltage rating same as biasing voltage in B, same as driver plate voltage in C,
- C2 Neutralizing condenser approx. 2 to 10 μμfd, — see text. Voltage rating same as amplifier plate voltage for c.w., twice this value for plate modulation.
- L1, 12 Neutralizing link usually a turn or two will be sufficient.

The device shown in Fig. 6-19 makes a sensitive neutralizing indicator. The link should be coupled to the output tank coil at the low-potential or "ground" point. Care should be taken to make sure that the coupling is loose enough at all times to prevent burning out the meter or the rectifier. The plate tank condenser should be readjusted for maximum reading after each change in neutralizing.

A simple indicator is a flashlight bulb (the lower the power the more sensitive) connected at the center of a turn or two of wire coupled to the tank coil at the low-potential point. However, its sensitivity is poor compared with the milliammeter-rectifier.

The grid-current milliammeter may also be used as a neutralizing indicator. If the amplifier is not neutralized, there will be a large dip in grid current as the plate-tank tuning passes through resonance. This dip in grid current reduces as neutralization is approached until at exact neutralization all change in grid current should disappear.

When neutralizing an amplifier of medium or high power, it may not be possible to bring the reading of the rectifier indicator down to zero, but a minimum point in the adjustment of the neutralizing control should be found where higher readings are obtained on either side.

### Grid Loading

The use of a neutralizing circuit may often be avoided by loading the grid circuit if the driving stage has some power capability to spare. Loading by tapping the grid down on the grid tank coil (or the plate tank coil of the driver in the case of capacitive coupling), or by a resistor from grid to cathode is effective in stabilizing an amplifier, but either device will increase v.h.f. harmonics. The best loading system is the use of a pi-section filter, as shown in Fig. 6-18B. This circuit places a capacitance directly between grid and cathode. This not only provides the desirable



Fig. 6-21 —  $\Lambda$  — Usual parasitic circuit. B — Resistive loading of parasitic circuit. C — Inductive coupling of loading resistance into parasitic circuit.

loading, but also a very effective capacitive short for v.h.f. harmonics. A  $100-\mu\mu$ fd mica condenser for  $C_5$ , wired directly between tube terminals will provide sufficient loading for most screengrid tubes.

### V.H.F. Parasitic Oscillation

Unless steps are taken to prevent it, parasitic oscillation in the v.h.f. range will take place in almost every r.f. power amplifier. The heavy lines of Fig. 6-21A show the usual parasitic tank circuit, which resonates, in most cases, between 150 and 200 Me. For each type of tetrode, there is a region, usually above the parasitic frequency, in which the tube will be self-neutralized. Therefore, a v.h.f. parasitic oscillation may be suppressed by adding sufficient inductance,  $L_p$ , to tune the circuit into this region. However, to avoid TVI, the self-neutralizing frequency must not be above 100 Mc., preferably 120 Mc. When it is lower, the circuit must be limited to 100 or 120 Me, and the parasitic suppressed by loading the circuit with resistance,  $R_p$ . A coil of 4 or 5 turns, 1/4 inch in diameter, is a good starting size. With the tank condenser turned to maximum capacitance, the circuit should be checked with a g.d.o. to make sure the resonance is above 100 Mc. Then, with the shortest possible leads, a noninductive 100-ohm 1-watt resistor should be connected across the entire coil. The amplifier should be tuned up to its highest-frequency band and operated at low voltage. The tap should be moved a little at a time to find the minimum number of turns required to suppress the parasitic. Then voltage should be increased until the resistor begins to feel warm after several minutes of operation, and the power input noted. This input should be compared with the normal input and the power rating of the resistor increased by this proportion; i.e., if the power is half normal, the wattage rating should be doubled. This increase is best made by connecting 1-watt carbon resistors in parallel to give a resultant of about 100 ohms. As power input is increased, the parasitic may start up again, so power should be applied only momentarily until it is made certain that the parasitic is still suppressed. If the parasitic starts up again when voltage is raised, the tap must be moved to include more turns. So long as the parasitic is suppressed, the resistors will heat up only from the operatingfrequency current.

Since the resistor can be placed across only that portion of the parasitic circuit represented by  $L_p$ , the latter should form as large a portion of the circuit as possible. Therefore, the tank and bypass condensers should have the lowest possible inductance and the leads shown in heavy lines should be as short as possible and of the heaviest practical conductor. This will permit  $L_p$  to be of maximum size without tuning the circuit below the 100-Mc, limit.

Another arrangement that has been used successfully is shown in Fig. 6-21C. A small turn or two is inserted in place of  $L_p$  and this is cou-

pled to a circuit tuned to the parasitic frequency and loaded with resistance. The heavy-line circuit should first be checked with a g.d.o. Then the loaded circuit should be tuned to the same frequency and coupled in to the point where the parasitic ceases. The two coils can be wound on the same form and the coupling varied by sliding one of them. Slight retuning of the loaded circuit may be required after coupling. Start out with low power as before, until the parasitic is suppressed. Since the loaded circuit in this case carries much less operating-frequency current, a single 100-ohm 1-watt resistor will often be sufficient and a 30-µµfd. mica trimmer should serve as the tuning condenser,  $C_{p}$ .

### Low-Frequency Parasitic Oscillation

The screening of most transmitting screen-grid tubes is sufficient to prevent low-frequency parasitic oscillation caused by resonant circuits set up by r.f. chokes in grid and plate circuits. Should this type of oscillation (usually between 1200 and 200 kc.) occur, see section under triode amplifiers.

### PARALLEL-TUBE AMPLIFIERS

The circuits for paralleltube amplifiers are the same as for a single tube, similar terminals of the tubes being connected together. The grid impedance of two tubes in parallel is half that of a single tube. This means that twice the grid tank capacitance shown in Fig. 6-17 should be used for the same Q. The plate load resistance is halved so that the plate tank condenser capacitance for a single tube (Fig. 6-9) also should be doubled. The total grid current will be doubled, so to maintain the same grid bias, the grid-leak resist-



Fig. 6-22 - Push-pull screen-grid amplifier circuits.

- A Inductive-link coupling. B Capacitive coupling.
- $C_1$  Split-stator grid tank condenser see text and Fig. 6-17 for capacitance, Fig. 6-30 for voltage rating.
  - $C_2$  Split-stator plate tank condenser see text and Fig. 6-9 for capacitance Fig. 6-29 for voltage rating.
- $C_3$  Grid by-pass condenser 0.001-µfd. disk ceramic.
- C4, C5 Filament by-pass 0.001-µfd. disk ceramic.
- C6, C7 Screen by pass 0.001-µfd. disk ceramic or mica. Voltage rating depends on maximum voltage to which screen may soar, depending on how it is supplied. Voltage rating equal to plate voltage will be safe in any case.
- $C_8$  Plate by-pass 0.001-µfd. disk ceramic or mica. Voltage rating same as plate voltage for c.w.; twice this value for plate modulation, plus safety
- $C_9$  Driver plate tank condenser see section on simple capacitive coupling with single tube. For same Q, each section on simple capacitive coupling tance shown in Fig. 6-9. Voltage rating of each section should be twice d.c. plate voltage of driver.

C10, C11 – Coupling condenser – 50- to 150- $\mu\mu$ fd. mica. Voltage rating twice driver plate voltage.

 $C_{12} = 0.001$ -µfd. disk ceramic or mica. Voltage rating same as plate voltage plus C13 - See text.

- $L_1$ ,  $L_2$  To resonate at operating frequency. See LC chart in miscellaneous data chapter and inductance formula in electrical-laws chapter, or use ARRL Lightning Calculator.
- L3, L4 Coupling links reactance equal to feed-line impedance. See reactance chart in miscellaneous-data chapter and inductance formula in electrical-
- L4, L5 Neutralizing links usually a turn or two will be sufficient.
- RFC1 2.5-mh. r.f. choke, to carry grid current. RFC2 - 2.5-mh. r.f. choke to carry plate current.

ance should be half that used for a single tube. The required driving power is doubled. The capacitance of a neutralizing condenser, if used, should be doubled and the value of the screen dropping resistor should be cut in half. In treating parasitic oscillation, it may be necessary to use individual chokes in each plate and grid lead, rather than one in the common leads. Input and output capacitances are doubled, which may be a factor in efficient operation at higher frequencies.

### **PUSH-PULL AMPLIFIERS**

Circuits for push-pull amplifiers are shown in Fig. 6-22. With this arrangement both gridinput impedance and optimum plate load resistance are doubled. For the same Q, each section of the split-stator tank condensers should have half the capacitance for a single tube drawing the same total plate current and having the same grid impedance shown by Figs. 6-9 and 6-17. This means that the total tank-circuit capacitance is one-quarter that for a single tube and that the inductances of the tank coils must be quadrupled to resonate at the same frequency. Other values remain the same, except that the total grid, screen and plate currents will be twice the values for a single tube and the stage will require twice the driving power.

In Fig. 6-22A, inductive link coupling is shown. The neutralizing circuit is shown in heavy lines and may not be necessary. Fig. 6-22B shows capacitive coupling to the grids. The driver in this case must be provided with a balanced output circuit. To maintain balanced excitation, it may be necessary to place  $C_{13}$ , shown in dashed



lines, across the lower portion of the circuit to balance the driver-tube output capacitance across the upper half. The remainder of circuit B is the same as A. If a neutralizing link is needed, it should be coupled at the center of the driver plate tank coil.

It is advisable to use separate screen and heater by-pass condensers, especially when TVI

is a factor. Fig. 6-23 shows equivalent "cathode" connections to be substituted when filament-type tubes are used. Also, individual v.h.f. parasitic chokes will be necessary.

### Balance in Push-Pull Amplifiers

Proper push-pull operation requires an accurate balance between the two sides of the circuit. Otherwise the dissipation will not be distributed evenly between the two tubes, one being overloaded if an attempt is made to operate the amplifier at full rating. Unbalance is indicated when the grid and/or plate currents are not equal and, if serious, is accompanied by a visible difference in the color of the tube plates. If interchanging the tubes does not change the unbalance, the circuit is not symmetrical electrically.

If the coil center-tap in split-stator tank circuits is sufficiently well-isolated from ground, the balance will depend upon the accuracy of capacitance balance in the tank condensers, the length of leads connecting the tubes to the condenser (including the return lead from rotor to filament) and the settings of the neutralizing condensers. Unbalance in the plate circuit will seldom influence the balance in the grid circuit, but the opposite may not be true. Lengthening one or the other of the leads between the tubes and the tank condenser will alter the balance, particularly in the plate circuit. In extremes it may be necessary to place a trimmer across one section of the split-stator condenser. Small differences often may be taken care of by a readjustment of the neutralizing condensers, possibly to slightly unequal settings. Otherwise, the neutralizing condensers are adjusted together, keeping the capacitances as equal as possible at each step.

### FREQUENCY MULTIPLIERS

### Single-Tube Multiplier

Output at a multiple of the frequency at which it is being driven may be obtained from an amplifier stage if the output circuit is tuned to a harmonic of the exciting frequency instead of to the fundamental. Thus, when the frequency at the grid is 3.5 Mc., output at 7 Mc., 10.5 Mc., 14 Mc., etc., may be obtained by tuning the plate tank circuit to one of these frequencies. The circuit otherwise remains the same as that for a straight amplifier, although some of the values and operating conditions may require change for maximum multiplier efficiency.

Efficiency in a single- or parallel-tube multiplier comparable with the efficiency obtainable when operating the same tube as a straight amplifier involves decreasing the operating angle in proportion to the increase in the order of frequency multiplication. Obtaining output comparable with that possible from the same tube as a straight amplifier involves greatly increasing the plate voltage. A practical limit as to efficiency and output within normal tube

ratings is reached when the multiplier is operated at maximum permissible plate voltage and maximum permissible grid current. The plate current should be reduced as necessary to limit the dissipation to the rated value by increasing the bias. High efficiency in multipliers is not often required in practice, since the purpose is usually served if the frequency multiplication is obtained without an appreciable gain in power in the stage.

Multiplications of four or five sometimes are used to reach the bands above 28 Mc. from a lower-frequency crystal, but in the majority of lower-frequency transmitters, multiplication in a single stage is limited to a factor of two or three, because of the rapid decline in practicably obtainable efficiency as the multiplication factor is increased. Screen-grid tubes make the best frequency multipliers because their high power-sensitivity makes them easier to drive properly than triodes.

Since the input and output circuits are not tuned close to the same frequency, neutralization usually will not be required. Instances may be encountered with tubes of high transconductance, however, when a doubler will oscillate in t.g.t.p. fashion, requiring the introduction of neutralization. The link neutralizing system of Fig. 6-20A is convenient in such a contingency.

### Push-Pull Multiplier

A single- or parallel-tube multiplier will deliver output at either even or odd multiples of the exciting frequency. A push-pull multiplier does not work satisfactorily at even multiples because even harmonics are largely canceled in the output. On the other hand, amplifiers of this type work well as triplers or at other odd harmonics. The operating requirements are similar to those for single-tube multipliers.

### **Push-Push Multipliers**

A two-tube circuit which works well at even harmonics, but not at the fundamental or odd harmonics, is shown in Fig. 6-24. It is known as the **push-push** circuit. The grids are connected in push-pull while the plates are connected in parallel. The efficiency of a doubler using this circuit may approach that of a straight amplifier under similar operating conditions, because there is a plate-current pulse for each cycle of the output frequency.

This arrangement has an advantage in some applications. If the heater of one of the tubes is turned off, making the tube inoperative, its grid-plate capacitance, being the same as that of the remaining tube, serves to neutralize the circuit. Thus provision is made for either straight amplification at the fundamental with a single tube, or doubling frequency with two tubes as desired.

The grid tank circuit is tuned to the frequency of the driving stage and should have the same constants as the grid tank circuit of a push-pull



Fig. 6-24 — Circuit of a push-push frequency multiplier for even harmonics.

C<sub>1</sub>L<sub>1</sub> and C<sub>2</sub>L<sub>2</sub> — See text.

 $C_3 = Plate$  by pass = 0.001- $\mu$ fd, disk ceramic or mica. Voltage rating equal to plate voltage plus safety factor.

RFC-2.5-mh. r.f. choke.

amplifier (see Fig. 6-22). The plate tank circuit is tuned to an even multiple of the exciting frequency, usually the second harmonic, and should have the same values as a straight amplifier for the harmonic frequency (see Fig. 6-9), bearing in mind that the total plate current of both tubes determines the C to be used.

### TRIODE AMPLIFIERS

Circuits for triode amplifiers are shown in Fig. 6-25. Neglecting references to the screen, all of the foregoing information applies equally well to triodes. All triode straight amplifiers must be neutralized, as Fig. 6-25 indicates. From the tube tables, it will be seen that triodes require considerably more driving power than screengrid tubes. However, they also have less power sensitivity, so that greater feed-back can be tolerated without the danger of instability.

### Low-Frequency Parasitic Oscillation

When r.f. chokes are used in both grid and plate circuits of a triode amplifier, the splitstator tank condensers combine with the r.f. chokes to form a low-frequency parasitic circuit, unless the amplifier circuit is arranged to prevent it. In the circuit of Fig. 6-25B, the amplifier grid is series fed and the driver plate is parallel-fed. For low frequencies, the r.f. choke in the driver plate circuit is shorted to ground through the tank coil. In Figs. 6-25C and D, a resistor is substituted for the grid r.f. choke. This resistance should be at least 100 ohms. If any grid-leak resistance is used for biasing, it should be substituted for the 100-ohm resistor.

### TUNING A TRANSMITTER

Fig. 6-26 shows where milliammeters and voltmeters may be connected to obtain desired readings. Metering of all stages is usually not necessary except for initial adjustments. After preceding stages have been adjusted for proper operating conditions, a transmitter can often be tuned up using only grid- and plate-current milliammeters in the final-amplifier circuit.

While cathode metering often is used for rea-

sons of safety to the operator and meter insulation, it is frequently difficult to interpret readings that are the resultant of three currents, one of which may be falling while the other two are increasing. Fig. 6-27 shows a commonly-used system for switching a single meter to read current in any of several different circuits. The resistors, R, are connected in the various circuits in place of the milliammeters shown in Fig. 6-26. Since the resistance of R is several times the internal resistance of the milliammeter, it will have no practical effect upon the reading of the meter itself.

When the meter must read currents of widely differing values, a meter with a range sufficiently low to accommodate the lowest values of current to be measured may be selected. In the circuits in which the current will be above the scale of the meter, the resistance of R can be adjusted to a lower value which will give the meter reading a multiplying factor. (See chapter on measurements.) Care should be taken to observe proper polarity in making the connections between the resistors and the switch.

The first step in adjusting each stage is to check for parasitic oscillation as discussed earlier. The second step is to adjust neutralizing if neutralization is required.

While it is usually possible to make all initial

tuning adjustments of low-power stages with plate voltage applied, it is preferable to disconneet the plate voltage until adjustments of excitation have been made. Starting with the oscillator, its output tank circuit should be resonated as indicated by a dip in the plate-current reading (see Fig. 6-3), or by a maximum reading of grid current to the following stage if it is coupled capacitively. Both readings should occur simultaneously. At this point, the frequency of the oscillator output should be checked with an absorption wavemeter to make sure that it is tuned to the desired band. If transmission-line coupling is used, the coupling to the grid of the amplifier should first be adjusted for minimum standing-wave ratio as described earlier. After this adjustment, the coupling at the oscillator end of the line only should be altered. If the amplifier grid current is much above rated value, the coupling to the oscillator should be reduced. Conversely, if the amplifier grid current is low, coupling should be increased. As the coupling is increased, the oscillator should draw more plate current and the dip at resonance should become less pronounced, as indicated in Fig. 6-3. If it is possible to increase the coupling to the point where the oscillator plate current is up to the rated value and vet the required grid current is not up to rated value, the biasing voltage should



Fig. 6-25 — Triode amplifier circuits. A — Link compling, single tube. B — Capacitive coupling, single tube, C — Link coupling, push-pull, D — Capacitive coupling, push-pull. Aside from the neutralizing circuits, which are mandatory with triodes, the circuits are the same as for screen-grid tubes, and should have the same values throughout. The neutralizing condenser, C<sub>1</sub>, should have a capacitance somewhat greater than the grid-plate capacitance of the tube. Voltage rating should be twice the d.c. plate voltage for c.w., or four times for plate modulation, plus safety factor. The resistance R<sub>1</sub> should be at least 100 ohms and it may consist of part or preferably all of the grid leak. For other component values, see similar screen-grid diagrams.



Fig. 6-26 — Diagrams showing placement of voltmeter and milliammeter to obtain desired measurements, A — Series grid feed, parallel plate feed and series screen voltage-dropping resistor, B — Parallel grid feed, series plate feed and screen voltage divider.

be measured with a high-resistance (20,000 ohms per volt) voltmeter. If the stage has a simple biasing resistor from grid to ground, connect a 2.5-mh. r. f. choke in series with the voltmeter prod going to the grid. The bias should be measured with the stage operating under excitation. If the biasing voltage measures too high, any fixed bias should be reduced and then, if necessary, the grid-leak resistance. If the driver is operating up to rated plate current and rated grid current cannot be obtained with the required bias, the indication is that the screen and/or plate voltage of the oscillator must be raised if this can be done with safety to the oscillator tube. However, it should be borne in mind that even if an intermediate stage is underdriven, it still may furnish the required driving power for the following stage. Therefore, it is, of course, advisable to check this before making any drastic changes in the oscillator.

The same process is followed in tuning up following amplifier stages, step by step. If there is any difficulty in obtaining the desired excitation to any particular stage, be sure that the screen voltage of the driver stage is up to normal as discussed earlier in the section on screen-grid considerations. If the excitation is adjusted first without plate and screen voltages it may be found that the grid current will change when these voltages are applied and the stage is loaded. It is normal for grid current to drop somewhat when these voltages are applied and still further when the load is coupled, especially with triodes. When this occurs, excitation should be increased, to bring the grid current back to rated value.

If it is found that grid current increases when the plate tank circuit is tuned slightly to the high-frequency side of resonance, this indicates regeneration. This may be of little consequence in exciter stages so long as oscillation does not result under any normal tuning condition. But in the final amplifier, especially if it is to be modulated, it is a condition to be avoided by better shielding or more accurate neutralization.

The main objective in the end, of course, is to obtain adequate excitation to the final amplifier and, in general, any adjustment of earlier stages that will produce this result without overloading anywhere along the line will be satisfactory. In conservative design, the full power capability of the exciter stages may not be needed. In the interests of v.h.f. harmonic reduction, it is desirable to provide an excitation control so that the excitation to the final amplifier can be limited to that necessary for satisfactory operation. This can be in the form of a potentiometer control of the screen voltage of the first



Fig. 6-27 — Method of switching a single milliammeter. The resistors, R, should be 10 to 20 times the internal resistance of the meter; 47 ohms will usually be satisfactory.  $S_1$  is a 2-section rotary switch. Its insulation should be ceranic for high voltages, and an insulating coupling should always be used between shaft and control knob.

stage after the oscillator. Then reduction in screen voltage of this stage will reduce excitation all along the line, which is desirable.

### MEASURING POWER OUTPUT

The power output of any transmitter stage can he checked with reasonable accuracy by simply coupling an ordinary lamp to the output tank circuit and comparing its brilliance with that of another lamp of the same size operating from a.c. Since it is difficult to judge power accurately when the lamp is over or under normal brilliance, the lamp selected should have a wattage rating as close as possible to that expected from the amplifier. Flashlight bulbs can be used for low power. At frequencies above 7 Me. sufficient coupling usually is obtained by connecting the lamp in series with a



CHAPTER 6

few turns of wire that can be slipped over or inside the tank coil, as shown in Fig. 6-28A. But at 3.5 and 7 Mc., it is usually necessary to tap the bulb directly across a portion of the tank coil, as shown at B. WARNING! Turn off the high voltage when tapping a scries-fed tank circuit. The coupling should be adjusted until the plate current at resonance is the rated loaded value for the tube. A more accurate duning load is described in QST for March, 1951, page 32.

### COMPONENT RATINGS AND INSTALLATION

### Plate Tank-Condenser Voltage

In selecting a tank condenser with a spacing between plates sufficient to prevent voltage



Fig. 6-28 — Using a lamp bulb for an approximate eheck on the output of an oscillator or amplifier. The coupling should be adjusted to make the stage draw rated plate current when tuned to resonance. Special caution should be used in tapping the lamp directly on the coil when series plate feed is used. Always turn off the power before making a change in the tap. breakdown, the peak r.f. voltage across a tank eircuit under load, but without modulation, may be taken conservatively as equal to the d.e. plate voltage. If the d.e. plate voltage also appears across the tank condenser, this must be added to the peak r.f. voltage, making the total peak voltage twice the d.e. plate voltage. If the amplifier is to be plate-modulated, this last value must be doubled to make it four times the d.e. plate voltage, because both d.c. and r.f. voltages double with 100-per-cent plate modulation. At the higher plate voltages, it is desirable to choose a tank circuit in which the d.c. and modulation voltages do not appear across the tank condenser, to permit the use of a smaller condenser with less plate spacing. Fig. 6-29 shows the peak voltage, in terms of d.c. plate voltage, to be expected across the tank condenser in various circuit arrangements. These peak-voltage values are given assuming that the amplifier is loaded to rated plate current. Without load, the peak r.f. voltage will run much higher. Since a c.w. transmitter may be operated without load while adjustments are being made, although a modulated amplifier never should be operated without load, it is sometimes considered logical to select a condenser for a c.w. transmitter with a peak-voltage rating equal to that rcquired for a 'phone transmitter of the same power. However, if minimum cost and space are considerations, a condenser with half the spacing required for 'phone operation can be used in a c.w. transmitter for the same carrier

output, as indicated under Fig. 6-29, if power is reduced temporarily while tuning up without load.

In the circuits of Fig. 6-29C, D and E the rotors are deliberately connected to the positive side of the high-voltage supply, eliminating any difference in d.c. potential between the rotors and stators.

The plate spacing to be used for a given peak voltage will depend upon the design of the variable condenser, influencing factors being the mechanical construction of the unit, the dielectric used and its placement in respect to intense fields, and the condenser-plate shape and degree of polish. Condenser manufacturers usually rate their products in terms of the peak voltage between plates.

Plate tank condensers should be mounted as close to the tube as temperature considerations will permit to make possible the shortest capacitive path from plate to cathode. Especially at the higher frequencies where minimum circuit capacitance becomes important, the condenser should be mounted with its stator plates well spaced from the chassis or other shielding. In circuits where the rotor must be insulated from ground, the condenser should be mounted on ceramic insulators of size commensurate with the plate voltage involved and — most important of all, from the viewpoint of safety to the operator - a well-insulated coupling should be used between the condenser shaft and the dial. The section of the shaft attached to the dial should be well grounded. This can be done conveniently through the use of panel shaft-bearing units.

#### Grid Tank Condensers

In the circuit of Fig. 6-30, the grid tank condenser should have a voltage rating approximately equal to the biasing voltage plus 20 per cent of the plate voltage. In the balanced circuit of B, the voltage rating of *each section* of the condenser should be this same value.

The grid tank condenser is preferably mounted with shielding between it and the tube socket for isolation purposes. It should, however, be mounted close to the socket so that a short lead can be passed through a hole to the socket terminal. The rotor ground lead or by-pass lead should be run directly to the nearest point on the chassis or other shielding. In the circuit of Fig. 6-30A, the same insulating precautions mentioned in connection with the plate tank condenser should be used.

#### **Plate Tank Coils**

The inductance of a manufactured coil usually is based upon the highest plate-voltage/ plate-current ratio likely to be used at the maximum power level for which the coil is designed. Therefore in the majority of cases, the capacitance shown by Figs. 6-9 and 6-17 will be greater than that for which the coil is designed and turns must be removed if a Q of 12 or more is needed. At 28 Mc., and sometimes 14 Mc., the value of capacitance shown by the chart for a high plate-voltage/plate-current ratio may be lower than that attainable in practice with the components available. The design of manufactured coils usually takes this into consideration also and it may be found that values of capacitance greater than those shown (if stray capacitance is included) are required to tune these coils to the band.

Manufactured coils are rated according to the plate-power input to the tube or tubes when the stage is loaded. Since the circulating tank current is much greater when the amplifier is unloaded, care should be taken to operate the amplifier conservatively when unloaded to prevent damage to the coil as a result of excessive heating.

Tank coils should be mounted at least their diameter away from shielding to prevent a marked loss in Q. Except perhaps at 28 Me., it is not important that the coil be mounted quite close to the tank condenser. Leads up to 6 or 8 inches are permissible. It is more important to keep the tank condenser as well as other components out of the immediate field of the coil. For this reason, it is preferable to mount the coil so that its axis is parallel to the condenser shaft, either alongside the condenser or above it.

### Plate-Blocking and By-Pass Condensers

Plate-blocking condensers should have low inductance; therefore condensers of the mica type are preferred. For frequencies between 3.5 and 30 Mc., a capacitance of  $0.001 \ \mu$ fd, is commonly used. The voltage rating should be 25 to 50 per cent above the plate-supply voltage.

Wherever their voltage rating will permit (500 volts),  $0.001_{-\mu}$ fd. disk ceramic condensers should be used as by-passes, since, when applied correctly (see TVI chapter), they are series resonant in the TV range and therefore are an important measure in filtering power-supply leads. For higher voltages, use  $0.001_{-\mu}$ fd. mica by-passes.

#### R.F. Chokes

The r.f. choke in parallel plate feed must have high impedance at the operating frequency to avoid loss. In multiband transmitters, if it is found that the choke heats excessively on one or more bands, the only solution is to use a different choke for these bands.



Fig. 6-30 — The voltage rating of the grid tank condenser in A should be equal to the biasing voltage plus about 20 per cent of the plate voltage. This same rating should be applied to each section of the split-stator condenser in B,

# 154

## A One-Tube Two-Band Transmitter for the Novice

Figs. 6-31, 6-32, and 6-33 show the details of a low-power crystal-oscillator transmitter covering the 3.5- and 7-Mc. bands. It is complete with power supply, and an output circuit that will feed directly into a simple antenna without the need for an antenna tuner. The circuit diagram appears in Fig. 6-32. A 6AG7 pentode is used in an oscillator of the grid-plate type. The output circuit, consisting of  $C_{10}$ ,  $C_{11}$  and  $L_1$ , is in the form of a pi-section network that will couple into a wire of random length. The circuit is keyed in the cathode circuit.

 $J_1$  is an octal tube socket that is used as a combination crystal socket and key jack.  $R_1$  is the grid leak.  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  are excitation-control condensers.  $RFC_1$  is necessary to prevent shortcircuiting  $C_2$  for r.f. when the key is closed.  $R_2$  is the screen voltage-dropping resistor that reduces the voltage to the screen.  $RFC_2$  is the plate feed choke. Plate current is measured by the milliammeter,  $MA_1$ .  $C_7$  is the plate blocking condenser, and  $C_3$ ,  $C_5$  and  $C_6$  are by-pass condensers.

The power supply is a simple one delivering about 350 volts. The smoothing filter, consisting of  $C_8$ ,  $C_9$  and  $L_2$ , is of the condenser-input type.  $R_3$  is the bleeder resistor.  $S_1$  turns the power supply on and off.

### Construction

The parts are assembled on a  $7 \times 12 \times 3$ -inch aluminum chassis. In the placement of parts in the transmitter, the power-supply section is kept in a line at the back of the chassis. The r.f. components are mounted toward the front of the chassis. As can be seen in the photographs, there are three octal sockets — one for the 5Y3 rectifier, one for the 6AG7 oscillator, and the third which is used as a crystal socket and key jack.

With the exception of the three sockets and

the meter, all the mounting holes can be made with an ordinary hand drill. For the socket holes, one can purchase, or borrow, a socket punch. The meter hole can be started with the socket punch and then enlarged with a half-round or rattail file. The variable condensers are mounted directly against the under side of the chassis. In placing them, be sure that their shafts extend far enough out from the front of the chassis to accommodate the tuning knobs. These condensers are of the broadcast-receiver replacement type, and can be purchased locally, or from one of the large mailorder houses. They are usually listed as singlegang midget t.r.f. condensers and have a maximum capacitance of more than 300  $\mu\mu$ f.

The power transformer is mounted in such a manner that the high-voltage leads and the 5-volt rectifier leads are brought out at a point closest to the 5Y3 rectifier socket. A three-terminal tie point is mounted close to the transformer 115-volt leads to furnish terminals for the power switch and transformer leads. After the sockets, a.e. switch, meter, and feed-through bushings for holding  $L_1$  are all mounted in place, the wiring can be started.

#### Wiring

Connect the two 115-volt transformer primary leads (black), each to one of the tie points. Then also connect one of the power-cord wires to one of these tie points, and one terminal of the power switch,  $S_1$ , to the other. Connect the remaining side of  $S_1$ , and the remaining power-cord wire to the third tie point. Fasten one of the 6.3-volt transformer leads (green) to a soldering lug under the tie-point mounting serew. The remaining 6.3volt transformer wire (green) is connected to Pin 7 on the 6AG7 socket.

For the high-voltage wiring, the center-tap





Fig. 6-31 — Top view of the Novice 2-band transmitter. L<sub>1</sub> at the top right-hand side is shown in the 80-meter position. The shorting clip is clipped to the feed-through bushing. The lead to the key is a short piece of 300-ohm Twin-lead which is terminated in a Millen 300-ohm plug. This type of plug is the correct size for octal socket Pins 2 and 4.



wire of the high-voltage secondary (red and yellow) is connected to ground, one of the highvoltage leads (red) is connected to Pin 4 of the 5Y3 socket, while the other red lead goes to Pin 6. One of the 5-volt rectifier-filament leads (yellow) is connected to Pin 8 of the 5Y3 socket, and the other yellow lead is run to Pin 2. Also connected to Pin 2 of the 5Y3 socket is a lead from the choke,  $L_2$ , and the lead marked + from  $C_8$ . The other side of  $C_8$ , or the *negative* side, is grounded. The remaining lead of  $L_2$ , the *plus* side of  $C_9$ , and a lead from  $R_3$ , are all run to a terminal on a tie point. The *negative* side of  $C_9$  and the other lead from  $R_3$  are grounded. This completes the power-supply wiring.

Pins 1, 2, and 3 of the 6AG7 socket are connected together with a bare wire and the wire run to ground. Also, one side of  $C_2$  must be grounded, so it can be connected to one of these pins. The other side of  $C_2$  is run to Pin 5. A lead to  $RFC_1$  is also connected to Pin 5. One side of  $C_1$ , one side of  $R_1$ , and a lead to Pin 8 of  $J_1$  are all soldered to Pin 4 of the 6AG7 socket. The other side of  $R_1$  is grounded, while the remaining side of  $C_1$  goes to Pin 5. Pins 4 and 6 of the crystal socket are also grounded. The remaining side of  $RFC_1$  is connected to Pin 2 of  $J_1$ . Also connected to Pin 2 is one side of  $C_3$ . The other side of  $C_3$  is grounded.

The screen resistor,  $R_2$ , is connected between the  $B + (+ \text{ terminal of } C_9)$  terminal and Pin 6 of the 6AG7 socket. Also connected to Pin 6 is one side of  $C_5$ . The other side of  $C_5$  is grounded. A lead is connected between the B+ terminal and the + side of the meter. The other terminal of the meter is connected to one side of  $RFC_2$ . Also connected to this point on  $RFC_2$  is one side of  $C_6$ , the other side of  $C_6$  being grounded. The remaining side of  $RFC_2$  is connected to Pin 8 of the 6AG7 socket and  $C_7$  is connected between this side of  $RFC_2$  and the stator section of  $C_{10}$  is also connected to the nearest of the two feedthrough bushings holding  $L_1$ . The stator of  $C_{11}$ is connected to the other feed-through bushing, and a lead is run from this bushing to the transmitter output terminal mounted on the back side of the chassis. This should complete all wiring below the chassis.

### Coil

As shown in the parts list,  $L_1$  is a Barker & Williamson stock No. 3016 coil with 13 turns removed from each end. For 40-meter operation, it is necessary to short out a large part of the coil. This is accomplished by use of a short clip lead. One end of the lead is connected along with one end of  $L_1$  to the output bushing (the one connected to  $C_{11}$ ). The other end of  $L_1$  is soldered to the input bushing. To operate on 40 meters, it is necessary to attach the clip to the 30th turn of  $L_1$  from the input side. In order not to short out the 29th and 31st turns, they can be bent in toward the axis of the coil.

### Testing

An 80-meter crystal between 3700 and 3750 kc, will be needed for 80-meter operation. For 40meter work, one between 3588 and 3598 kc, will be required. (The crystal frequency is doubled for 7-Mc, operation.)

In tuning up on 80 meters, insert the crystal in Pins 6 and 8 of the octal socket. The key leads are inserted in Pins 2 and 4. A 115-volt 10- or 15watt light bulb will serve as an artificial load for testing purposes. Connect the bulb to the output of the rig by soldering a piece of wire to the center terminal in the base of the bulb, and one to the screw shell portion. One of the wires is then connected to the output terminal of the transmitter and the other to the chassis. The 115-volt a.c. switch is turned on and the tubes allowed a minute or so to warm up. After the rig has been on for a minute, close the key. Tune the station receiver to the crystal frequency and the transmitter's signal should be heard. The input condenser,  $C_{10}$ , is slowly tuned through its range. Two things should happen — the dummy load lamp should light and the meter should show a dip, or lower reading, at the point where the bulb lights. Also, the signal should be louder at this point. Now

tune the output condenser,  $C_{11}$ , across its range and the bulb should brighten at one point, and the signal get louder in the receiver. Also, the meter should show a greater reading than before. Switching back and forth between the two condensers, always tune for maximum brilliance in the bulb.

### Antenna

An antenna may now be substituted for the lamp. The type of output circuit used in the rig will load with almost any length of wire. However, it will load with a 30-foot length of wire on both 80 and 40 meters a great deal easier than with some lengths. One end of the wire should be connected to the output terminal and the other end suspended on an insulator attached to a cord or rope slung from the highest available support. (See the antenna chapter for methods of bringing the wire in to the transmitter.)

### **Output Indicator**

The transmitter can be tuned up by the meter, but sometimes a beginner may become confused trying to interpret the readings he gets. A simple device to show that the antenna is taking power consists of two pieces of wire, about two feet long, and a 2-volt 0.06-ampere flashlight bulb, either No. 48 or 49. The bulb is connected between the two pieces of wire, one lead to the tip of the bulb base and the other lead to the shell of the base, making a four-foot length of wire with the bulb in the center. One end of this wire is connected to the output terminal, while the other end is clipped on the antenna, three or four feet up. Scrape the wire at this point if it is insulated. When the transmitter is turned on and the condensers are tuned, a point will be reached in the tuning where the bulb will glow, or light up. Tune the condensers for maximum brilliance in the bulb; this is an indication that maximum power is going into the antenna.

Forty-meter tune-up procedure is the same as

**CHAPTER 6** 

Shopping List for Novice Transmitter
$22 - \mu\mu f$ , mica condenser,
220-µµf, mica condenser,
4.0.001-μf, disk ceramic condensers,
2 8- $\mu$ f, 500-volt midget electrolytic condensers.
67,000-ohm resistor, ½ watt,
22,000-ohm resistor, 1 watt,
0.1-megohm resistor, 2 watts,
2 2½-mh. r.f. chokes (National R1008 or Millen
34102),
2 variable condensers (midget type t.r.f. one-gang
broadcast receiver replacement).
70 turns of No. 24 wire, 1-inch diam., 21/4 inches
long (B & W 3016 with 13 turns removed
from each end).
8-hy, 40-ma, filter choke (Thordarson T20C52),
Power transformer: 350–0–350 volts r.m.s., 70 ma.; 5 v., 2 amp.; 6.3 v., 2½ amp. (Thordarson
TS-24R02), TS-24R02),
3 octal sockets.
Single-pole single-throw toggle switch.
2 feed-through insulators (National TPB),
Tip jack (Amphenol type 7818).
2 three-point terminal strips.
0-50 or 0-100 d.c. milliammeter (Shurite).
Aluminum chassis 3 by 7 by 12 inches.
6 feet of hook-up wire,
6AG7 tube,
5Y3 tube.
6 solder lugs.
18.6-32 $\times$ 1/2-inch nuts, bolts, and washers.
Two tuning knobs to fit ¼-inch shaft
Crystal.

for 80 with the exception of using the correct crystal, and shorting out the section of  $L_1$ . Remember to listen on the receiver when tuning up the transmitter on 40 or 80. When tuning up on 40, the signal should be definitely louder on 40 than on 80 meters, and vice versa for 80-meter tune-up.

When the oscillator is fully loaded and tuned to resonance, the plate current should run between 20 and 30 ma., representing a power input of 7 to 10 watts.

(This unit originally described in the November, 1953, issue of *QST*.)



•

Fig. 6-33 — Bottom view of the Novice one-tube transmitter showing the wiring of parts. The power supply components are mounted along the back side while the r.f. section runs along the front. The output lead from the feedthrough bushing is clearly visible on the right-hand side. The only openings at the back are the output terminal and the 115-volt a.e. leads,

World Radio History

### A Sweep-Tube Transmitter for 3.5 and 7 Mc.

Figs. 6-34 through 6-37 show a low-power transmitter using a single TV-receiver sweep-tube triode. It will deliver an output of about 10 watts on 80 or 40 meters. Power supply and antenna tuner are included.

As shown by Fig. 6-36, the oscillator utilizes one section of a 6BL7.  $J_1$  is the keying jack, and

means of capcitor  $C_7$ ,  $J_2$  is the metering jack and  $S_1$  is the plate-voltage on-off switch. With excitation available and with  $S_1$  open, a meter plugged into  $J_2$  will register amplifier grid current. When the switch is closed, the meter will indicate the combined plate and grid currents.

Output from the amplifier is link-coupled to



also serves as the oscillator metering jack. The plate tank,  $C_2L_1$ , eovers the frequency range of 3.75 to 9.2 Mc.

Plate voltage for the oscillator is held to approximately 200 volts by a series-dropping resistor,  $R_2$ , and output from the stage is capacity-coupled to the final through  $C_6$ .

The amplifier employs grid-leak bias, has a split-stator plate circuit, and is neutralized by



Fig. 6-34 — The sweep-tube transmitter is housed in a hinged cover metal eabinet. The knobs across the bottom of the 7 × 10-inch panel, from left to right, control the oscillator, amplifier and the antenna coupler. S<sub>1</sub> is located directly above J<sub>1</sub> and to the left of the panel indicator. S<sub>2</sub> is mounted above the amplifier metering jack, J<sub>2</sub>.

the antenna tuner,  $C_{13}L_4$ . The tuner components have been wired to feed-through bushings and the antenna feeder terminals in a manner which permits adjustment of the LC ratio for either series or parallel tuning. An accompanying ehart lists the jumper connections which should be used for setting up the tuner circuit.

The power supply employs a condenser-input filter and delivers approximately 330 volts when



Fig. 6-35 — This interior view shows the autenna coil centered at the left edge of the  $2 \times 7 \times$ 9-inch aluminum chassis. Five feed-through bushings for the antenna circuit are located to the right of the coil and the feeder terminals are at the rear of the base.  $L_2$ , the oscillator tube, and the crystal are at the front right-hand section of the chassis and the 5Y3GT is on the center line just to the left of the power transformer. A %-inch hole, equipped with a rubber grommet, to the front of  $T_1$ , provides through-chassis elearance for a neutralizing tool. The a.c. input connector is located on the rear wall of the chassis, loaded by the transmitter.  $S_2$  is the on-off switch for the supply.

### Construction

Three photographs of the transmitter show how the components are laid out on the chassis and the panel. The jacks, switches, and the panel indicator are the only parts actually mounted on the panel of the Bud type C-993 cabinet. Tuning capacitors for the oscillator and the amplifier are mounted on the front wall of the chassis and  $C_{13}$  of the coupler is mounted on small pillars at the right side (rear view) of the base,  $C_{13}$  must be insulated from ground. An insulated shaft coupling between the capacitor and a panel bearing assembly are provided. Quarter-inch metal pillars space the panel and base at either end of the unit. Three-eighths-inch holes are drilled in the panel for the tuning shafts of the three capacitors, and 11%-inch openings are punched in the front wall of the chassis to provide clearance for the panel-mounted jacks.

No. 16 tinned is used for the r.f. wiring, and Belden shielded wire No. 8885 is used for the leads running to the switches and the pilot lamp. The strip of flashing copper that supports the neutralizing condenser,  $C_7$ , is  $\frac{1}{2}$ -inch wide at one end and tapers down to 1/8 inch at the tube socket end.  $C_7$  is mounted in a  $\frac{1}{4}$ -inch hole, drilled at the wide end of the strip.

The three jumpers for the antenna circuit are made with ordinary hook-up wire and Millen type 36021 grid connectors. The holes in the connectors must be enlarged by reaming so that they will fit over the small National type TPB polystyrene bushings that serve as Terminals 1 through 5 of Fig. 6-36.

#### Testing

A 15-watt lamp bulb equipped with short wire leads, a 0-100-ma. meter, a key and a voltmeter should be available for testing the transmitter. The first test is made with the key plugged into  $J_1$ , with  $S_1$  set at the open position and with the



C<sub>1</sub>, C<sub>3</sub>, C<sub>4</sub>, C<sub>8</sub>, C<sub>12</sub> — 0.005- $\mu$ fd. disk ceramic. C<sub>2</sub> — 140- $\mu\mu$ fd. variable (Hammarlund HF-140). C<sub>5</sub>, C<sub>10</sub>, C<sub>11</sub> — 0.001- $\mu$ fd. disk ceramic. C<sub>6</sub> — 15- $\mu\mu$ fd. mica or ceramic.

- $C_7 1 8 \mu \mu fd$ . tubular trimmer (Erie 532-10).
- C9, C13 100-µµfd.-per-section variable (Bud LC-1663) - 8-µfd, 450-volt electrolytic (Sprague TVA-C14, C15-1704).

- $\begin{array}{l} R_1 & \rightarrow (8,000 \text{ ohms}, \frac{1}{2} \text{ watt.} \\ R_2 & = 10,000 \text{ ohms}, \frac{1}{2} \text{ watts.} \\ R_3 & = 10,000 \text{ ohms}, \frac{1}{2} \text{ watt.} \\ R_4 & = 50,000 \text{ ohms}, 10 \text{ watts.} \\ L_1 & = 33 \text{ turns No. 24, 34-inch diam., 1152 inches long} \end{array}$
- (B & W Miniductor No. 3012). (B & W Miniductor No. 3012).  $L_2 = 3.5$  Mc. -40 µh. -46 turns No. 24, 134-inch diam., 134 inches long, center-tapped (B & W 80M(Ch)).

7 Mc.  $-14 \mu h. -26$  turns 180. 22, 17 diam., 11/2 inches long, center-tapped (B & 14 µh. - 26 turns No. 22, 11/4-inch

- L3-3.5 and 7 Mc. Each 3 turns No. 18, wound
- with turns spaced wire diam., over center of Lz. L4 3.5 Mc. 37 µh. 38 turns No. 16, 1¾-inch diam., 276 inches long. Wound in 2 sections with 316-inch space at center for L5 (B & W 80JVL). 7 Mc. - 12.8 µh. - 22 turns No. 16, 134-inch diam., 2516 inches long. 2 sections with 316-inch space at center for L<sub>5</sub> (B & W 40JVL).
- L5-3,5 and 7 Mc. Each 3 turns No. 16, 13/4-inch diam., turns spaced wire diam.
- -8-henry 75-ma. filter choke (Stancor C1355). L6 -
- 11 6.3-volt panel-indicator assembly.
- J1, J2 Closed-circuit jacks.
- RFC1, RFC2 1-mh. r.f. choke (National R-50),
- RFC<sub>3</sub> 2.5-mh. r.f. choke (National R-100S).
- S1, S2 S.p.s.t. toggle switch.
- T<sub>1</sub> Power transformer: 340 volts r.m.s. each side of center tap, 70 ma.; 5 volts, 2 amp.; 6.3 volts, 2.5 amp. (Staneor PC8408).

Antenna-Coupler Connection Chart				
	Jumper Connections			
Tuning	Low-C	MedC	High-C	
Parallel	1-5 2-3	1-5 3-4	$1-5 \\ 2-5 \\ 3-4$	
Series	1-2	1-4	1-4 2-5	

voltmeter connected across  $R_4$ . The supply output should exceed 400 volts when  $S_2$  is closed.

Next, turn off the supply and insert a 3.5-Mc. crystal in the holder and a 3.5-Mc. coil in the amplifier. The meter should be plugged into  $J_2$ and  $S_1$  must be open for the time being. Now, turn on the power, close the key and tune the oscillator plate capacitor,  $C_2$ , for an amplifier grid current of approximately 10 ma. If the crystal kicks out as the maximum capacitance of  $C_2$ is reached, the plate tank is tuned too close to the crystal frequency and it is necessary to retune to the high frequency side of resonance. Make certain that the oscillator is not tuned for maximum output inasmuch as this results in excessive crystal current. If the meter is transferred to  $J_1$ , it should show a cathode current of 30 ma.

The next step is that of neutralizing the amplifier. Start with  $C_7$  set for minimum capacitance (slug all the way out) and then increase the capacitance until the amplifier plate condenser,  $C_9$ , can be swung through resonance without affecting the amplifier grid current.  $S_1$  must be open during this adjustment. If the lamp is to be used as the test load, connect it to the antenna terminals and insert the 7-Mc, coil in the coupler. Start the loading adjustments with very loose coupling between  $L_4$ and  $L_5$  and with the oscillator adjusted for an amplifier grid current of 5 or 6 ma. Now, close  $S_1$  and tune  $C_9$  for resonance. The amplifier cathode current should be approximately 25 ma. with the stage lightly loaded and may be increased to 55 or 60 ma, by increasing the coupling between  $L_4$  and  $L_5$  and by adjustment of  $C_{13}$ . As the loading is increased, make certain that the amplifier and the tuner are kept at resonance by retuning both  $C_9$  and  $C_{13}$ .

With the amplifier fully loaded, the power supply output voltage will drop to approximately 325 volts and, as a result, the cathode current for the oscillator section of the 6BL7 will be lower than that recorded earlier. About 15 ma. is correct for the oscillator and this current may be checked by inserting the meter plug into  $J_1$ . Of course, with the amplifier in operation, it is necessary to subtract the amplifier cathode current for the true oscillator drain.

The set-up for testing the transmitter at 7 Mc, is identical to that used at the lower frequency except for the antenna coupler connections. At 7 Mc., the bulb loads best with the coupler circuit adjusted for low-*C* operation. One precaution must be observed with the 7-Mc, crystal in use. Always start the oscillator adjustment with the tank capacitor,  $C_2$ , set for minimum capacitance and then tune for an amplifier grid current of not more than 5 or 6 ma.

For adjustment of the coupler for a particular antenna, see the transmission-line chapter.

(Original description, QST, April, 1953.)

Fig. 6-37-– Bottom view showing L1 and RFC2 mounted on tie-point strips to the left and the rear of the 6BL7 tube socket, re-spectively,  $RFC_1$  is parallel with the left wall of the chassis and  $RFC_3$  stands up to the left of C<sub>9</sub>, R<sub>2</sub> and R<sub>4</sub> are in front of L6 and the filter capacitors at the rear of the chassis. The neutralizing eapaeitor, C7, is supported by the rear stator terminal of C<sub>9</sub> and by a strip of flashing copper which also serves as the eapacitor-to-grid lead. Holes, 11/8 inches in diameter, punched in the chassis just below the centers of C<sub>9</sub> and C13, provide clearance for the coil-socket wiring.



•

### A Beginner's 35-Watt Transmitter

Figs. 6-38 through 6-40 illustrate a 35-watt two-stage transmitter for the 40- and 80-meter bands. The necessary power supply is included. The circuit is shown in Fig. 6-38. A 6AG7 Pierce crystal oscillator operating at 3.5 Mc. drives a 6L6, either as a straight amplifier on 80, or as a doubler to 40 meters.  $RFC_1$  is resonant at about 5 Me. - sufficiently close to either band to provide the required drive to the amplifier, yet far enough removed to prevent oscillation in the 6L6 stage. The output tank circuit,  $C_9L_1$ , has sufficient tuning range to include both bands without changing coils; the socket and plug-in form are merely a convenient means of mounting the coil. The output link is designed to feed an antenna tuner through a coax line. Both stages have parallel plate feed, and are keyed simultaneously in the cathode circuit.  $I_1$  is a dial lamp, used here as a tuning indicator. If desired, it may be replaced with a 150-ma. d.c. milliammeter. either mounted on a bracket on top of the chassis, or set in the front edge.

With the components specified, the power supply should deliver a voltage of 350 or more under load. A condenser-input filter is used. (Although a metal-can dual filter condenser, mounted on top of the chassis, is shown, cardboard tubular condensers, mounted under the chassis may be substituted if desired.)

#### Wiring

Details of construction are covered in the photographs and their captions.

The power supply is wired first, using insulated tie points as junctions wherever a transformer of filter-condenser will not conveniently reach a desired terminal. (All power wiring should be kept close against the chassis, while r.f. wiring should be spaced well away from the chassis.) The heaters of the 6AG7 and 6L6 are wired next.

Pin 8 of the 6L6 and Pin 5 of the 6AG7 are wired together and  $C_2$  and  $C_6$  are installed. A lead is then run from Pin 5 of the 6AG7 to the key jack and  $C_{14}$  is installed across the key jack, keeping the leads of  $C_{14}$  as short as possible. This completes the cathode keying circuit.

The square condenser appearing over the 6AG7 socket is  $C_3$  and is connected between Pin 6 and ground.  $R_2$ , the screen dropping resistor, is connected from Pin 6 to the tie point between the tubes. The B+ lead is run to this tie point, and both  $R_2$  and  $R_4$  are tied to it.  $RFC_1$  goes from Pin 8 of the 6AG7 to the tie point of the B + lead. The condenser below  $RFC_2$  is  $C_8$  — it is con-



Fig. 6-38-Circuit diagram of the Novice 35-watt transmitter

- C1, C2, C5, C6, C7, C8-0.005-µfd. 500-volt disk-type ceramic (Sprague).
- C<sub>3</sub>, C<sub>4</sub> 100- $\mu\mu$ fd, mica. C<sub>9</sub> 235- $\mu\mu$ fd, variable (Bnd MC-1859).
- $C_{10}, C_{11} = 10$ - $\mu$ fd, 450-volt electrolytic (see text).  $C_{12}, C_{13}, C_{14} = 0.001$ - $\mu$ fd, 500-volt disk-type ceramic
- (Sprague) (see text).
- $R_1 = 56,000 \text{ ohms}, \frac{1}{2} \text{ watt.}$  $R_2 = 22,000 \text{ ohms}, 1 \text{ watt.}$
- R<sub>3</sub>-18,000 ohms, 1 watt.
- R<sub>4</sub> 18,000 ohms, 1 watt.
- R5-50,000 ohms, 10 watts.
- 3.5-7.0 Me. 15 turns No. 18 enamel, 11/2-inch L diam., close-wound (National XR-4 coil form).
- 5-turn link No. 18 enamel, close-wound-below tank 1.2 coil  $L_1$ .
- Filter choke, 10.5 henrys, 110 ma., 220 ohms (Merit C-2993).
- No. 46 pilot-lamp bulb, 6-8 volts, 250 ma., blue Ь bead.
- $J_1$ Closed-circuit jack.
- Coax connector, chassis-mounting type.  $\mathbf{J}_2$
- RFC<sub>1</sub> 100-µh, r.f. choke (Millen 34300). RFC<sub>2</sub> 2.5-mh, r.f. choke (National R100-S).
- S<sub>1</sub> S.p.s.t. toggle switch.
- $T_1 = Power transformer, 350 volts r.m.s. each side of center, 120 ma.; 6.3 volts, 4.7 amp.; 5 volts, 3$ amp. (Merit P-2953).

Fig. 6-39 — The aluminum chassis is  $7 \times 12 \times 3$  inches, Power-supply components are along the rear edge, while the crystal socket, 6AG7, 6L6, *I*1 and the shielded coil are in line at the front. Centered along the front edge are the key jack, power switch and the single tuning control. All sockets are submounted. The rectifier and the coil take 4-prong sockets; the two tubes take octal sockets. The coil shield is ICA type 1549, The substitution of an upright transformer will avoid cutting a large hole in the chassis.



nected from Pin 3 of the 6L6 to a tie point and then to the stator of  $C_9$ . The link output terminals on the coil socket are connected to the coax connecter with a short length of coax cable. The v.h.f. filter condensers,  $C_{12}$  and  $C_{13}$ , are at the power connector with leads as short as possible.

#### Testing

The transmitter may be tested by connecting a 25-watt electric bulb between the center contact of the coax connector and chassis. When the power is turned on, and the key closed, the indicator lamp,  $I_1$ , should light up brightly. Then, starting at maximum capacitance, slowly adjust the tuning condenser, toward minimum capacitance until the indicator lamp dims. This is resonance at 80 meters, and the 25-watt lamp should light up as the indicator lamp dims. Further readjustment of the tuning condenser toward minimum capacitance should show a second resonance point, this time at 10 meters, and the 25-watt lamp should light again.

Information on the construction and adjustment of antenna couplers will be found in the chapter on transmission lines. The 6L6 may be loaded up to a maximum of 100 ma, plate current.

Fig. 6-40 — The a.e. power connector and coax output connector are at the rear. The filter choke,  $L_3$ , is fastened against the rear of the chassis. The choke to the rear of the power switch is *RFC*<sub>2</sub>. The tuning condenser is in the upper right.





### A Compact 75-Watt 6-Band Transmitter

Fig. 6-41 — The complete 75-watt 6-hand transmitter fits into an  $8 \times 14 \times 8$ -inch cabinet. Along the bottom, from left to right, are the two power switches (S<sub>5</sub> and S<sub>6</sub>), the key jack (J<sub>7</sub>), the "operate-test" switch (S<sub>4</sub>) and the

crystal socket. Across the center are the meter switch  $(S_3)$ , the amplifier tank control  $(C_0)$ and the oscillator tuning condenser  $(C_6)$ . To the right of the meter at the top are the loading condenser  $(C_{10})$  and the oscillator bandswitch  $(S_2)$ .

Figs. 6-41 through 6-47 show the circuit and photographs of a two-stage transmitter delivering an r.f. output of 50 watts on all bands from 3.5 to 28 Me., inclusive. It is complete with power supply and a versatile metering system on a  $11 \times 7 \times 2$ -inch chassis. Provision is made for connection of a VFO, a plate-and-screen modulator and also an external emergency power supply.

As the circuit diagram of Fig. 6-44 shows, a 5763 is used in a grid-plate oscillator circuit.  $C_2$  is a mica trimmer that permits adjustment of oscillator excitation for proper keying and drive to the amplifier.  $S_1$  grounds the cathode through  $C_3$  so that the 5763 can be driven from a VFO through the erystal socket.  $L_1$  is tapped to cover

3.5 through 28 Me. with a switch,  $S_2$ . The oscillator output with either 3.5- or 7-Me. erystals, at either fundamental or second harmonic, is more than adequate for proper drive to the 6146 amplifier. Sufficient drive is also obtained quadrupling from 3.5-Me. erystals to 14 Me., or tripling to 21 Me. from 7-Me. erystals. Quadrupling from 7-Me. erystals, however, does not supply adequate excitation, so frequency is doubled in the output stage for 27- or 28-Me. operation, unless 9-Me. erystals for tripling, or 28-Me. erystals, are available.

Plug-in coils are used in the output tank cirenit. Since both stages are parallel-fed in the plate circuit, the power supply need not be turned off while changing coils. The amplifier is

Fig. 6-42 — The oscillator is in the  $2 \times 4 \times$ 4-inch box to the left, with the crystal-VFO switch and 5V4G immediately behind. The amplifier is in the 4 imes $\times$  6-inch box. C<sub>9</sub> (bottom) and E10 (top) are mounted against the right-hand side of the box. The coil socket is to the rear surrounded by the 1turn neutralizing link.  $C_8$ ,  $RFC_4$  and  $L_2$  are immediately in front of the coil socket. To the right are the two 6X5GTs, the power transformer and Ls. The pin jacks toward the front are metering jacks. The holes at the rear are for ventilation.



Fig. 6-43 — Inside of the oscillator box from the amplifier side, RFC<sub>1</sub> and C<sub>7</sub> are in the foreground in this view. Leads from C<sub>7</sub> and L<sub>5</sub> are precut to pass through to the amplifier compartment.

•

neutralized by means of a simple inductive link system  $(L_5 \text{ and } L_6)$ .  $L_2$  is a v.h.f. parasitic suppressor.

Both stages are keyed simultaneously in the eathode circuit for break-in operation, the key being plugged in at  $J_7$ .

### Power Supply

An economical power supply delivering voltages for both stages is included on the chassis. A voltage of 600 (under load) for the final ampli-

condenser. Cs. near minimum capacitance.

fier is obtained from an inexpensive broadcast replacement transformer through the use of a

#### COIL DATA

Oscillator Coil, L<sub>1</sub>: Wound with No. 26 enameled wire on 1-inch diameter form (Millen 45000) in four sections. 1st section: 20 turns close-wound 2nd section: 10 turns close-wound 3rd section: 5 turns close-wound 4th section: 4 turns spaced wire diameter Taps taken off between sections. Spacing between sections approximately ½ inch. Fourth section (21-28 Mc.) turn spacing should be adjusted to cover 30 Mc. with oscillator

Amplifier coils, LaLa:

Band	Wire Size	Turns	Turns 'inch	Space Between Coils
L <sub>3</sub>	22 enanı.	- 15	20	
3.5 Mc. L4	22 enam.	20	elose-wound	¹∕a in.
L3	18 enam.	10	10	
7 Mc. Li	18 enam.	8	close-wound	<sup>3</sup> / <sub>16</sub> in.
La	18 enam.	5	10	
14 Mc. La	18 enam.	5	10	0.2 in.
L3 21-28	18 enam.	3	10	0.2 in.
Mc. La	18 enam.	3	10	
				·

Coils wound on  $1\frac{1}{2}$ -inch diameter forms (National XR-4) with  $L_3$  at bottom and plate terminal down. See Fig. 6-44 for connections in coil form and socket.



bridge rectifier circuit. The center tap of this system provides a voltage of 230 for operating the oscillator and the screen of the amplifier, the latter through the dropping resistor,  $R_9$ . The choke,  $L_8$ , in the high-voltage filter, it should be noted, is connected in the negative side of the supply. When using the built-in supply, a plug with the pins shorted, as indicated by the dotted lines, should be inserted in  $J_8$ . When using an emergency supply, appropriate voltages can be introduced through  $J_8$  after the shorting plug has been removed.

#### Metering Circuits

A 1-ma. milliammeter,  $M_1$ , is used for measuring the essential currents and voltages. It is connected as a voltmeter having a full-scale range of 5 volts by adding  $R_4$  in series. Current is determined by measuring the voltage drop across resistors of proper value inserted in series with the circuits in which current is to be measured. This permits the use of standard resistors as current shunts. The ranges selected here are as follows: oscillator cathode current, 50 ma.; amplifier grid current, 10 ma.; amplifier screen current, 20 ma.; amplifier cathode current, 200 ma. In addition, three tip jacks mounted on the chassis can be selected by a test prod connected to one position on the meter switch. One,  $J_5$ , is connected to the power-supply low-voltage terminal through  $R_{13}$  which is a multiplier giving a full-scale meter reading of 300 volts. A second tip jack,  $J_6$ , is similarly connected to the high-voltage terminal through a 1000-volt multiplier,  $R_{14}$ . The third tip jack,  $J_4$ , connects to another similar jack,  $J_3$ , at the rear of the chassis so that the meter can be used for external measurements, such as an indicator for an s.w.r. bridge or in an r.f. voltmeter for checking power output.

### **Test-Operate Switch**

A useful adjunct is the "test-operate" switch,  $S_4$ . In the "operate" position, the amplifier screen is connected to its normal supply. In the "test" position, the screen is grounded. This limits the plate current to about 15 or 20 ma. which results in just about the right amount of power to operate an s.w.r. bridge. If the 6146 is to be plate-screen modulated, the screen voltage must be obtained from the high-voltage tap through a dropping resistor, rather than from the low-voltage tap. In this case, the cathode should never be opened while the power supply is on, because the voltage ratings of both the tube screen and the ceramic by-pass condensers will be greatly exceeded.  $S_{4A}$  guards against this by grounding the cathode through an auxiliary contact of  $J_7$  when the key is removed. Then  $S_4$ becomes the on-off switch, opening both eathode circuits (through  $S_{4A}$ ) and grounding the amplifier screen (through  $S_{4B}$ ) when the switch is in the "test" position. To turn the oscillator on and close the amplifier eathode circuit for "test" use, a closed key, or shorted plug, must be inserted in the closed-circuit jack,  $J_7$ .



Fig. 6-45 — The bottom plate of the amplifier box is fastened permanently to the chassis and the amplifier partially assembled before fastening the box in place.  $RFC_3$  is in the fore-ground,  $RFC_4$  standing at the rear. The coil socket at the right is spaced up 1% inches, the tube socket 3/4 inch. Notice the "zero-length" leads to the disk eeramie condensers.

#### Neutralizing Coils

The neutralizing coil,  $L_5$ , is made simply by drilling two small holes diametrically opposite close to the outer (15-meter) end of the form, A piece of rather stiff wire is threaded through the holes and then the wire inside the form is pressed into a half-turn shape with the finger. Connections are made to each end outside the form and the half-turn may be rotated in the holes to adjust neutralization. L6 is a single turn of No. 12 wire, approximately 11% inches in diameter, supported at one end under the screw holding the socket, and at the other end by a tie-point mounted on the same serew.

#### Adjustment

With the key open, the supply voltage at the high tap should measure about 800 volts and 300 at the low tap. If the 5V4G is removed from its socket, the voltage at the low tap will be about 400.

With the switch set in the "test" position, the oscillator tuning should be adjusted for maximum amplifier grid current, A reading of 4 ma. indicates adequate drive, although on some bands it may run as high as 10 ma. If the minimum read-

Fig. 6-14 - Circuit diagram of the complete transmitter. Dotted lines in Js indicate jumpers in plug used for normal operation.

- $C_1$ ,  $C_7 = 220$ - $\mu\mu$ fd, mica,  $C_2 = 3$ -30- $\mu\mu$ fd, ceramic trimmer, compression type.
- C<sub>3</sub>-0.002-µfd. mica.
- C4 100-µµfd. miea.
- 0.002-ufd. mica. C.5 ---
- $C_6 = 50_{-\mu\mu}fd.$  midget variable (Bud LC-1644).  $C_8 = 0.001_{-\mu}fd.$  midget variable (Bud LC-1644).
- 235-µµfd. variable, 0.024-inch spacing (Bud type Ca
- MC-1859).  $C_{10} =$ – 140-µµfd. variable, 0.024-inch spacing (Bud type MC-1856).
- C11 to C27, inclusive 0.001-µfd. disk ceramic, 3%-inch diam., 600 volts.
- C<sub>28</sub> 470-µµfd. mica, 1200 volts, case type CM-45.
- C29 Dual 8-µfd. electrolytic, 450 volts.
- C30, C31 40-µfd. electrolytic, 450 volts.
- $R_1$  --0.1 megohm, 1/2 watt.
- R2, R3 --27,000 ohms, 1 watt.

- $\begin{array}{l} R_2, R_3 = 24000 \text{ ohms}, 1 \text{ watt.} \\ R_4 = 5000 \text{ ohms}, \frac{1}{2} \text{ watt.} \\ R_5 = 100 \text{ ohms}, \frac{1}{2} \text{ watt.} \\ R_6 = 263 \text{ ohms} (270), \frac{1}{2} \text{ watt.} \\ R_7 = 555 \text{ ohms} (560), \frac{1}{2} \text{ watt.} \end{array}$
- R8 25 ohms (27), 1/2 watt.
- R<sub>9</sub> 4700 ohms, 1 watt.
- R<sub>10</sub>-0.1 megohm, 1 watt.
- R11, R12-20,000 ohms, 10 watts
- $R_{13} 0.5$  megohm,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt.



ing of 4 ma. is not obtained, adjust  $C_2$ . Up to a certain point, increasing this capacitance will increase the oscillator output, but too much feedback may result in chirpy keying.  $C_2$  should be adjusted for the best compromise between adequate drive and good keying characteristics. The oscillator cathode current should run 25 to 30 ma. on all bands.

Neutralization is adjusted by moving the half turn  $L_5$  eloser to or farther away from the oscillator tank coil. With  $S_4$  in the "test" position, the oscillator should be adjusted for maximum amplifier grid current on 21 Me., and the amplifier plate tank circuit tuned to resonance. If the amplifier is not neutralized, there will be a noticeable kick in grid current as the plate tank condenser is swung through resonance. The neutralizing half turn should be adjusted carefully for minimum change in grid current. The same procedure should be followed for 14 Mc. If the neutralizing must be readjusted, the half turn should be set for the best average result for the two bands. The amplifier should then be checked for oscillation with  $S_4$  in the "operate" position. The amplifier plate current at resonance should swing the meter off scale when the key is closed.

R<sub>14</sub> — 1 megohm, 1 watt.

- L1 See coil data. L2 I turns No. 16, ¾-inch diam., ¾ inch long.
- La, L4 -See coil data.
- L7 Filter choke, 40 ma., 300 ohms, approximately. Ls - 10.5 henrys, 110 ma., 250 ohms.
- $F_1 Fuse$ , 2 amp. Ji - Crystal socket.
- J<sub>2</sub> Coax connector, chassis-mounting type,
- J<sub>3</sub>, J<sub>4</sub>, J<sub>5</sub>, J<sub>6</sub> 78-1P). Tip jacks, insulated type (Ampheno
- Closed-circuit 'phone jack.
- Js Octal socket.
- M1-0-1 d.c. milliammeter.
- $P_1$  -"Phone tip test plug.
- S<sub>1</sub>, S<sub>5</sub>, S<sub>6</sub> S.p.s.t. toggle.
- S2 -- Single-pole 5-position ceramic wafer (Centralab 2500 or 2501)
- 2-pole 5-position bakelite wafer, non-shorting type (Centralab type 1405).
- D.p.d.t. toggle.
- RFC<sub>1</sub>, RFC<sub>2</sub>, RFC<sub>3</sub> 2.5 mh., 75 ma. (Millen 34300-2500).
- RFC<sub>4</sub> -- 2.5 mh., 250 ma. (Millen 34102).
- T<sub>I</sub> Filament transformer, 6.3 v., 1.2 amp.
- T<sub>2</sub> Power transformer, 360 v. each side c.t., 120 ma.; 5 v., 3 amp.: 6.3 v., 3 amp. or more.
- NOTE: Manufacturer's part numbers given above are to indicate size and style. Similar components are generally available from a number of different suppliers,

### CHAPTER 6

L



rear lip of the box so that the lid is drawn down tight. Notice the numerous ventilating holes.

Do not close the key more than momentarily for this check.

The output coupling system is designed to work into a flat 50- or 75-ohm line, either to an antenna or to an antenna tuner. The amplifier may be loaded to a cathode current of 140 Ma. on all bands except 28 Mc. Under load, the amplifier grid current should be adjusted to 2 to 2.5 ma. by detuning the oscillator tank circuit. The screen current under these conditions should run between 10 and 12 ma. At 28 Mc., with the final

amplifier doubling, the grid current should be adjusted to the maximum possible (5 to 6 ma. under load) and the eathode current limited to about 120 ma. Loading can be adjusted by  $C_{10}$ which tunes the link circuit.

In fringe areas, a low-pass filter may be required for 21- and 28-Mc, operation. On lower frequencies, or in the presence of good TV signals, the use of a conventional antenna tuner will usually be adequate to suppress TVL.

(Originally described in QST, December 1952.)

Fig. 6-47 - Bottom view of the 6-band transmitter. The highvoltage filter condensers, C<sub>30</sub> and C<sub>31</sub>, and their equalizing resistors, R11 and R12, are at the rear of the chassis.  $T_1$  and  $L_7$  are to the left, with C29 and R10 above. J. is in the extreme rear left-hand corner. At top center. supported on insulated tie points, l. to r., are  $R_{9}$ ,  $R_2$  and  $R_3$ . In the upper left-hand corner are  $R_4$ ,  $R_{13}$  and  $R_{14}$  and  $F_1$ . RFC1, C1 and C3 are to the right. Shielded wiring and disk-ceramic condensers are applied according to method described in the chapter on TVI.



Fig. 6-46 — Looking into the oscillator compartment.

and S2 are at the top with C6 below,  $RFC_2$  and  $C_{14}$  are supported on a tic point in the foreground,  $R_1$ ,  $C_2$  and  $C_4$  are to the rear of the tube. C<sub>5</sub> is soldered between C6 and the tube socket, RFC1 and C7 are hidden by the tube and tun-ing condenser. The cover of the amplifier is hinged at the center for changing coils. The latch at the rear engages the

### A Completely-Shielded 90-Watt Transmitter or Exciter

The transmitter shown in Figs. 6-48 through 6-52 is designed for the reduction of v.h.f. harmonic radiation without requiring special construction for shielding purposes. It uses a standard 3 by 4 by 17 inch chassis as the main enclosure. The plug-in coils are provided with individual shields using 3-inch diameter removable shield cans that also are standard items.

The final amplifier is a 6146, driven by a 6AG7 frequency multiplier that is driven in turn by a 6AG7 crystal oscillator-multiplier. Provision is made for driving the latter tube from an external VFO. The power output is approximately 60 watts on all bands from 3.5 through 28 Me. at the 90-watt input c.w. rating of the 6146. With plate modulation the 67-watt input rating gives a carrier output of close to 50 watts.

#### **Oscillator Circuit**

The crystal oscillator uses the grid-plate circuit and is intended for use with either 3.5- or 7-Mc. crystals. Its plate circuit,  $L_1C_4$  in Fig. 6-49, covers the range from 7 to 14.5 Mc. and  $L_1$  is wired permanently in the circuit. When using 7-Me. crystals  $C_4$  is tuned toward its highcapacity end when 7-Me, output is required for the following stage, and near the low-capacity end when the buffer is driven on 14 Mc. With 3.5-Me, crystals  $C_4$  is set near maximum capacity for 7-Mc. excitation of the buffer, and at or below midscale for 3.5-Mc, excitation. The tuning in the latter case corresponds to the setting that gives minimum harmonic output from the oscillator; at 3.5 Mc. enough fundamental voltage gets through to the buffer grid to give it adequate drive. Coil changing in the oscillator circuit is avoided by this method.

For VFO input the feed-back condenser,  $C_2$ , is shorted to ground for r.f. by  $S_1$ . The crystal should be removed from its socket when using the VFO. A coaxial connector is used for the VFO circuit, and the VFO should be of the type that includes the length of coax as part of its tuned output circuit. The VFO output can be on either 3.5 or 7 Me., depending on the final output frequency and the choice of method of operation, as described later.



Fig. 6-48 — A compact and completely shielded low-power transmitter using a 6146 as the final amplifier. It can be used at an input of 90 watts on c.w. or 67 watts for plate-modulated 'phone. The unit is mounted on a  $3\frac{1}{2}$ -inch rack panel.

### Frequency Multiplier

The frequency multiplier or buffer stage is coupled to the final amplifier grid by a pinetwork. This type of circuit permits using a relatively large fixed capacitance,  $C_9$ , directly from grid to ground in the amplifier circuit and is highly advantageous in preventing v.h.f. harmonics generated in the grid circuit from developing an appreciable voltage between grid and ground. This not only prevents amplification of such harmonics in the plate circuit but also helps keep harmonic currents from flowing in the d.c. grid return lead.

 $C_9$  is also useful in stabilizing the final amplifier to prevent self-oscillation at the operating frequency. The larger the capacitance of  $C_{9}$  in comparison with the capacitance in use at  $C_7$ , the greater the impedance step-down between the buffer plate and the amplifier grid, thus the buffer plate resistance is reflected as a comparatively low resistance at the grid of the amplifier. This, together with the fact that any energy fed back from the amplifier plate circuit through the tube's grid-plate capacitance cannot develop much feed-back voltage across the large fixed capacitance between grid and cathode, effectively prevents self-oscillation and avoids the necessity for neutralization of the amplifier. The optimum circuit values for this purpose are given in Fig. 6-49 and the buffer coil table.

On 3.5 Mc. additional capacitance,  $C_8$ , is connected in parallel with  $C_9$  to provide proper circuit operation. On all frequencies the buffer tuning condenser,  $C_7$ , is near minimum capacity at the proper operating setting. A 50  $\mu\mu$ fd. condenser can be used instead of the one specified in Fig. 6-49, if desired,

 $L_2$  and  $L_3$  are small coils in the buffer grid and plate circuits to prevent v.h.f. parasitic oscillations in the buffer stage.

#### Amplifier Output Circuit

The amplifier output circuit also is a pi network, designed specifically for working into essentially resistive loads between 50 and 75 ohms. It is therefore suitable for working into properly terminated coaxial cable of the usual

impedance values. In cases where the antenna is fed by types of line other than coax, an antenna matching network or antenna tuner of the coaxcoupled type described in the chapter on transmission lines should be used. This permits operating the coax link at a low standing-wave ratio and provides the proper load for the 6146 amplifier circuit.

The amplifier tank condenser,  $C_{12}$ , is a split-stator type connected to the coil socket in such a way that only one section is used on all bands except 3.5 Mc., where the second section is connected in by means of a jumper in the coil form.



Fig. 6-49 - Circuit diagram of the transmitter.

C1, C3, C5, C6 - 470-µµfd, mica.

- C<sub>2</sub> = 150- $\mu\mu$ fd, mica. C<sub>4</sub>, C<sub>7</sub> = 140- $\mu\mu$ fd, variable (Millen 19140) C<sub>8</sub>, C<sub>9</sub> = 100- $\mu\mu$ fd, silver mica.
- C10 0.001-µfd. mica, 1200-volt working.
- C11 470-µµfd. miea, 1200-volt working.
- 100-µµfd, per section variable, 1000-volt spacing (National TMS-100D).  $C_{12}$
- 325-µµfd, variable (Millen 19325).  $C_{13}$
- $C_{14} = 470 \cdot \mu \mu fd.$  silver mica.
- C15 to C32, inc. -- 0.001-μfd, ceramic, midget size.
- $R_1, R_3 = 47,000 \text{ ohms}, \frac{1}{2}\text{-watt}, R_2 = 47,000 \text{ ohms}, 1 \text{ watt}.$
- R<sub>4</sub>-15,000 ohms, 1 watt.
- $\mathbf{R}_5$ -27,000 ohms, 1 watt.
- $R_6 150$  ohms,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt.  $R_7 2.2$  ohms (2X shunt for 0-25 milliammeter).

 $L_4$  in the amplifier plate lead is for the purpose of preventing v.h.f. parasitic oscillation in the amplifier.

#### Other Circuit Details

Cathode currents of all three tubes can be measured by means of the meter switching arrangement shown in Fig. 6-49. The amplifier grid current also can be measured. The 0-25 milliampere scale is used directly for measuring the oscillator cathode current and amplifier grid current, the meter being shunted by 100-ohm resistances in each of these two positions to preserve circuit continuity when the switch is in other positions. In the switch position for measuring buffer cathodc current the meter is shunted by a low resistance that multiplies the scale by 2, and when the final amplifier cathode current is measured the meter is similarly shunted by a resistance

- $R_8 \rightarrow 0.21$  ohms (10  $\times$  shunt for 0-25 milliammeter).
- R9, R10 100 ohms, ½ wart. L1, J2 Coax connectors, chassis type.
- $B_1 = Closed-circuit jack.$ RFC1, RFC3, RFC4 = 2.5 mh. r.f. choke (National R-100S),
- RFC<sub>2</sub> - 1-mh. r.f. choke (National R-300S).
- RFC5 2.5-mh. r.f. choke (Millen 34300-2500).
- 13 turns No. 22, diameter 1 inch, length 1 inch.  $L_1 =$
- 1.2
- 16 turns No. 30 d.c.e. on ½-watt resistor,
  6 turns No. 14, diameter 5/6 inch, length 1 inch. 1.3
- L4-8 turns No. 18, diameter 1/4 inch, length 5/8 inch. L5, 1.6 -
- See coil table. M<sub>1</sub>-0-25 d.c. milliammeter (Simpson Model 125).
- S.p.s.t. toggle.
- $S_2$ 2-pole, 4-position wafer switch, non-shorting (Centralab 2505),

that multiplies the range by 10 so that the fullscale reading is 250 milliamperes. The values of multiplier resistance required in these two cases will depend on the type of instrument used and should be adjusted to the proper value experimentally. The method is described in the chapter on measuring equipment.

Loading is controlled by the output condenser,  $C_{13}$ . Although it has the highest capacitance available in condensers of this construction, it is not large enough for proper operation of the pi network on 3.5-4 Mc., so an additional capacitance,  $C_{14}$ , is connected in on this band by means of a jumper in the coil form. This large fixed capacitance restricts the adjustment range possible with  $C_{13}$ , so two coils are needed for proper loading in this band. The one covering the 3500-3750-kc. range is adjusted for proper loading to maximum permissible tube input at c.w. ratings,



Fig. 6-50 — The shielded power wiring should be installed before the r.f. components are permanently mounted, including the certamic by-passes across the ends of the shielded wires. The wires running along the center of the chassis go to the heater and grid choke of the final amplifier. The two that follow the chassis corner at the left are from the oscillator and buffer cathodes to the meter switch.

and the 3750–4000-kc. coil is similarly adjusted for sufficient range to give maximum tube input at 'phone ratings.

Amplifier cathode keying is shown in Fig. 6-49, but any method may be used with appropriate changes in the diagram. A lead is brought out from the "hot" end of the amplifier grid leak,  $R_5$ , so that the d.c. voltage developed by excitation may be used to control a screen protective tube if an earlier stage is keyed. The circuit constants in the oscillator and buffer stages in Fig. 6-49 are such that both these tubes can run without excitation, with a 300-volt plate supply, without exceeding the plate dissipation rating of either 6AG7. This permits keying the VFO when separate VFO input is used.

Shielded wiring for preventing harmonics from flowing on supply leads is indicated in the circuit diagram. These leads should be by-passed by midget ceramic condensers at the points indicated, using the technique described in the TVI chapter. The corresponding technique for highvoltage mica by-passes is used for the amplifier high-voltage plate lead.

All three tubes have parallel plate feed. This permits grounding the tank condensers directly to the chassis, which is advantageous both mechanically and electrically. In the buffer and amplifier stages parallel feed is a necessity because the pi networks cannot be series-fed.

### Construction

All of the circuits with the exception of the buffer and amplifier coils are inside the chassis. The metal 6AG7s provide their own shielding. The 6146 mounts through the rear chassis wall and is covered by the same type of shield can (ICA No. 1549) as is used to cover the tank coils except that it is trimmed down a bit in length and is drilled with  $\frac{1}{8}$ -inch holes above and below the tube to give ventilation. The location of the principal components is shown in the bottom view.

Since the space underneath the chassis is limited, some care must be used to fit the parts in. The best plan is first to lay out the complete transmitter and drill all holes in the chassis, making sure that everything is provided for before anything is permanently mounted. Make the partitions and amplifier tube mounting bracket and fit them in place before drilling any mounting holes for them in the chassis. Mounting holes in these pieces may then be used to locate the corresponding chassis holes. The tube socket bracket and final tank condenser together form a separate subassembly on which most of its wiring may be done, including the shielded cathode lead to the meter switch, after the mechanical fit has been checked. The bracket is drilled to clear the rear shaft extension of the condenser and uses holes already present in the condenser back plate for mounting. The plate blocking condenser,  $C_{10}$ , is mounted on the screw which is part of the stator plate assembly; this condenser must be as close as possible to the condenser so that it will clear the coil socket mounted on the rear chassis wall. A short stand-off insulator is mounted just to the left of the tube socket, at the left in the bottom view, to mount the plate lead and one end of the parasitic choke,  $L_4$ .

The center partition should have a  $\frac{1}{2}$ -inch hole at the point where the amplifier grid lead comes through from the buffer stage, and should be cut out about  $\frac{1}{8}$  inch at the bottom where it must fit over the shielded wiring laid on the

Coils wound on 1		diameter 1 1 XR-5)	forms (Nation	nal XR-4
	Wire Size	No.of Turns	Turns per Inch	L, uh.ª
Buffer coil, Ls				
3.5 - 4 Mc.	26	42	28	48
7 Mc.	22	25	20	18.4
14 Mc.	18	10	10	3.5
21 Mc.	18	5	10	1.34
27 — 30 Mc.	18	31/2	10	0.86
Amplifier coil, Ls				
3.5 - 3.75 Mc.	18	231/3	16	14.5
3.75 - 4 Mc.	22	251/3	20	18.7
7 Mc.	18	171/3	12	8.3
14 Mc.	18	101/5	8	3.25
21 Mc.	16	61/3	5	1.36
27 — 30 Mc.	16	41/3	5	0.84

chassis. These parts and the meter shield should be the last things mounted, after all other assembly and wiring has been completed.

The shielded wiring should be laid in first, as shown in Fig. 6-50. Soldering lugs may be used as hold-downs, the wire shield being spot soldered to each such lug. Start the leads, fitted with ceramic by-passes, at the output terminal strip or tube socket, as the case may be, and run them to their final locations, temporarily mounting the part at which they terminate to get the exact lead length. Then trim the wire and install the ceramic by-pass when called for in the diagram.

After the shielded wiring is in place, install the amplifier coil socket and wiring, leaving enough lead length to reach the tank condenser to be mounted later. This coil socket must be mounted with the ring *outside* the chassis in order to provide sufficient clearance for the amplifiertube subassembly. Then complete the oscillator and buffer assembly and wiring, except that the buffer coil socket should not be mounted because it interferes with installing the amplifier subassembly. Also mount and wire the key jack and meter switch, including mounting and finishing shielded leads for the meter.

When this has been done the amplifier tube subassembly may be permanently installed and the connections to it completed. After installation the amplifier plate choke should be mounted, using the chassis hole for the 6146 for access. The buffer coil socket and amplifier output condenser,  $C_{13}$ , may then be installed and the wiring completed. The last operation is to mount the meter shield.

Since the size of some parts is critical, in view of the limited space, the specific components used in the unit shown are designated in the circuit caption.

## **CHAPTER 6**

### Operation

The final amplifier is operated straight through on all bands and the buffer amplifier preferably, although not necessarily, is operated as a frequency multiplier. On bands where the buffer is used as a straight amplifier care must be taken to choose tuning conditions that do not permit self-oscillation in the buffer stage. On 3.5 Mc. with either crystal or VFO control there is no tendency for the buffer to self-oscillate because its grid circuit is not resonant at the operating frequency. On this frequency the principal precaution to be observed is that  $C_4$  should be tuned so that the drive at *harmonics* of the input frequency is not excessive. The proper setting for  $C_4$  is the one that results in maximum amplifier grid current when the buffer plate circuit is properly resonated.

When operating on 7 Me.,  $C_4$  should be toward minimum capacitance, but not far enough to resonate at 14 Me. Adjust for maximum amplifier grid current, with the buffer plate circuit resonated, by varying  $C_4$  toward minimum capacity. When the amplifier grid current is maximum, pull out the crystal or shut off the VFO and the grid current should drop to zero. If it does not, decrease  $C_4$  until it does. The grid current should be ample with  $C_4$  set so there is no danger of buffer oscillation.

For 14-Mc, operation, set  $C_4$  near maximum capacitance so that the buffer is driven on 7 Mc, and operates as a doubler. Adjust for maximum amplifier grid current. On 21 Mc, operate the buffer as a tripler, driving it on 7 Mc, and adjusting  $C_4$  in the same way as for 14 Mc.

The preferable method of operation on 27–30 Me, is to use a 7-Me, crystal or VFO, adjust  $C_4$  to resonate at 14 Me, and then double in the buffer stage. In this case  $C_4$  will be near minimum capacity. Alternatively, a 3.5-Mc, crystal or



Fig. 6-51 — Bottom view of the transmitter completely wired. The oscillator plate coil,  $L_1$ , is between the two variable condensers at the right. The amplifier circuit occupies the left-hand portion of the chassis in this photograph. The chassis is 3 by 4 by 17 inch aluminum and is covered by a  $4 \times 17$  aluminum bottom plate (not shown). The bracket on which the amplifier socket is mounted is supported at one end by the plate tank condenser and at the other by a partition that shields the amplifier section from the oscillator-buffer section. The amplifier plate choke is mounted on the chassis between the tube-socket bracket and the chassis wall, just below the plate-lead terminal. The meter is enclosed by a right-angle shield to prevent stray harmonic pick-up that might cause radiation through the meter hole in the panel.



171

Fig. 6-52 — Power supply diagram for the 6146 exciter-transmitter. Note: For plate modulation, disregard the screen-supply cireuit shown, and supply d.e. screen voltage through a 35,000-ohm 10-watt resistor econnected from the "hot" end of the modulation transformer secondary to screen.

I.2 — 4.5 henrys, 200 ma. T<sub>1</sub> — Filament transformer: 2.5 v., 4 amp., 1500-volt insulation.

T<sub>2</sub> — Pilate transformer: 800 v. each side e.t., 225 ma. T<sub>3</sub> — Filament transformer: 6.3 v., 6 amp.

 $S_1, S_2 - S.p.s.t.$  toggle.

RFC - 2.5 mh. r.f. choke.

VFO may be used, in which case the optimum method is to double in the oscillator plate circuit, the setting of  $C_4$  being near maximum capacity, and use the buffer as a quadrupler. This results in higher amplifier grid current, in the average case, than can be obtained by quadrupling in the oscillator stage and doubling in the buffer. The grid drive for the final amplifier is less than when using 7-Mc. crystals or VFO, but is sufficient for operating the 6146 at maximum ratings on either c.w. or 'phone. Care must be used to select the right harmonic when quadrupling in the buffer, since the tuning range is sufficient to reach both 21 and 28 Mc. on the 28-Mc. coil. In all the preliminary tuning, it is excellent practice to check the actual frequency of each circuit, particularly the buffer plate circuit, with an absorption wavemeter.

C3-8-µfd. 450-volt electrolytic.

 $R_1, R_2 = 0.1$  megohm, 1 watt.  $R_3 = 4000$  ohms, 25 watts.  $R_4 = 25,000$  ohms, 10 watts.

 $R_5 = 0.5$  megohm,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt.  $L_4 = 5/25$  henrys, 225 ma.

With any of the types of operation described above, the maximum grid current through the 27,000-ohm amplifier grid resistor should be from 3 ma. to about 4.5 ma., with the amplifier fully loaded. These values are in excess of the normal operating figures, the optimum current being 2.5 to 3 ma. for c.w. operation and 1.8 to 2 ma. for plate-modulated 'phone. This is for a plate-supply voltage of 600, with a plate current of 150 ma. for c.w. operation and 113 ma. for 'phone.

The method of tuning the amplifier is the same on all bands. Assuming that the load has been adjusted to represent a pure resistance, or nearly so, of 50 to 75 ohms, set  $C_{13}$  to maximum capacitance, apply plate and screen voltage, and adjust  $C_{12}$  for minimum plate current. Then decrease the capacity of  $C_{13}$  by a small amount and reresonate  $C_{12}$ . Continue until the plate current at the minimum of the dip is the desired value. Since the off-resonance plate current of the 6146 may run as high as 250 ma. it is advisable to do preliminary testing at reduced plate and screen voltage, until the proper operating conditions have been once established.

If the load is not the type that is represented by a properly-terminated coax line it may or may not be possible to control the loading adequately by means of  $C_{13}$ . The pi network constants are fairly critical as to loading, and if proper loading cannot be secured it is an indication that the coax line is not flat.

#### Power Supply

The oscillator and buffer require a total current of approximately 50 ma. at 300 volts. In order to avoid the excessive plate dissipation that might occur with a supply that gives more than 300 volts, the plate voltage should be regulated by means of VR tubes. The plate currents taken by the oscillator and buffer do not vary greatly from band to band, the oscillator current being about 20 ma. on all bands and the buffer taking about 25 ma. on all except 7 Mc. where it is about 12.

The amplifier requires a 600-volt plate supply capable of an output current of 150 ma., approximately. The screen current averages about 12 ma. through a dropping resistor of 35,000 ohms, the optimum value. A suggested power supply circuit is given in Fig. 6-52. This utilizes a single plate transformer designed to deliver 600 volts at 225 ma. through a choke-input filter.

Compared with other beam tetrodes, the 6146 operates with quite low screen voltage and the ordinary screen protective tube circuit does not reduce the screen voltage to a low-enough value to prevent excessive plate dissipation when there is no r.f. excitation. The circuit shown here consequently includes a VR-75 to cut off the screen voltage under such conditions. To compensate for the voltage drop through the VR tube the screen resistor is reduced to 25,000 ohms.

(Originally described in QST, Feb., 1952.)

### A 500-Watt Multiband VFO Transmitter

Figs. 6-53 through 6-59 show the circuit and other details of a 500-watt transmitter with VFO frequency control, capable of operation in any band from 3.5 to 28 Mc. It is completely shielded and all tuning adjustments, including band changing, may be done with the panel controls.

As the circuit of Fig. 6-56 shows, the VFO uses a 5763 in a Clapp circuit operating over a range of 3370 to 4000 kc., split into three bandspread ranges, tuned by  $C_1$ , which is fitted with a calibrated dial. These ranges, selected by proper setting of  $C_2$ , are 3500 to 3750 kc., 3370 to 3405 kc. (for 11-meter operation) and 3750 to 4000 kc. for 75-meter 'phone work.

The oscillator circuit is followed by two isolating stages. The first is a 6C4 connected as a cathode follower, which is very effective in reducing reaction on the oscillator by subsequent stages. The result is a keyed VFO with good characteristics, even on 10 meters. Since the output of the eathode follower is quite small, it is followed by a 5763 in an amplifier fixed tuned in the 3.5-Me, region.

Frequency multiplying to reach the higherfrequency bands is done in the next two stages, the first using a 5763, while the second employs the larger 6146 to drive the final amplifier. These two stages are tuned with multiband tuners circuits which have a tuning range that includes all necessary bands. Thus no switching or plug-in coils are needed. Neither of these two stages is operated as a straight amplifier, except on 80 meters. Frequency is doubled in the 6146 stage for output on 40, 20 and 10 meters, and tripled for output on 15 meters. The 5763 stage is operated at 3.5 Mc. for 80- and 40-meter output, doubles to 7 Mc. for 20- and 15-meter output, and quadruples to 14 Mc. for 10-meter output. Excitation to the final is adjusted by the potentiometer in the screen circuit of this stage.

The 813 in the final amplifier also uses a multiband tuner to cover all bands. This stage is always operated as a straight amplifier, and should be entirely stable without neutralization. The only switching necessary is in the output link circuit in changing between high- and low-frequency bands. Loading is adjusted by  $C_{10}$ .

A 50-ma, meter may be switched to read plate current in the exciter stages, grid current in the driver and final-amplifier stages, or screen current to the 813. The ½-ohm resistor in the 6146 highvoltage lead multiples the meter-sale reading by three. A separate 500-ma, meter is used to check plate current to the 813.

The two-circuit rotary switch,  $S_1$ , is used to bias the screens of the 6146 and 813 negative while tuning up the preceding stages and setting the VFO to frequency. In the first position, both screens are biased: in the second position, only the 813 screen is biased, while positive voltage from a voltage divider is applied to the screen of the 6146 so that this stage may be tuned up. In the third and fourth positions, positive voltage is applied to both screens, but in the last position, it is applied to the 813 screen through an audio choke so that the stage may be screen-plate modulated.

Two bias rectifiers are included in the unit, to supply fixed bias to the 6146 and 813, so that the plate currents will be cut off during keying intervals. Both rectifier systems operate from a single 6.3-volt filament transformer,  $T_2$ , is operated from the 6.3-volt winding of the filament transformer,  $T_1$ .

 $T_1$ . Two a.c. outlets are provided for connecting the primaries of external high- and low-voltage supplies into the control circuit consisting of three toggle switches.  $B_1$  is the ventilating blower that starts operating as soon as the filament switch is closed. The blower is essential where so much power is confined in a small space. The jack,  $J_3$ , provides a means of keying the final amplifier, rather than the oscillator, if desired. It also permits plugging in a simple cathode modulator of the type described in the chapter on speech amplifiers and modulators.

It is highly important that the VFO box make good contact with the chassis; otherwise the VFO may be adversely affected by feed-back from the



•

Fig. 6-53 — The standard-rack panel is 12¼ inches high. Controls (National HRS) along the bottom, centers spaced at intervals of 2½ inches either side of center, are, left to right, for  $C_4$ ,  $S_3$ ,  $C_5$ ,  $C_2$ ,  $S_1$  (Centralab 1405),  $S_2$  and  $C_{10}$ . Power toggles are below at the center, spaced 1 inch apart. The calibrated VFO dial (National SCN) for  $C_1$  is at the center, with the excitation control (National P dial) to the left, and the dial (National AM) for  $C_9$  to the right. National CFA chart frames outline the rectangular openings for the recessed meters, 50-ma, to the left, 500-ma, to the right. The shielding enclosure is built up using aluminum angle, perforated sheet (also used for the bottom plate), and self-tapping screws. Fig. 6-54 — The components are assembled on a  $17 \times 12 \times 3$ -inch aluminum chassis. The meters are housed in  $4 \times 4 \times 2$ -inch hoxes, the VFO enclosure is  $6 \times 6 \times 6$ , while the box enclosing L3 and L4, to the right, measures  $3 \times 4 \times 5$  inches. The special plate choke, *RFC*<sub>1</sub>, to the left of the 813, is close-wound with 129 turns No. 26 d.c.c. wire, on a Millen 31004 11/16-inch ceramic pillar. Cs is fastened to the top of the choke, while C7 is mounted below near the h.v. feed-through. (Both C7 and C8 are Sprague 20DK-T5.) The small cones, fastened to the condenser frame by drilling holes in the assembly rods, support  $L_9$ . A screw, tapped into the same rod, anchors the grounded end of  $L_7$ , whose outer end connects to the rear stator terminal below. The 813 socket is mounted on 1/2-inch pillars, over a  $2\frac{1}{4}$ -inch hole in the chassis. Along the rear apron are  $J_3$ ,  $J_2$ , + h.v. (Millen 37001) and ground terminals, a.e. power-input connector, two a.c. outlets, low-voltage input terminals, and key connector.



adjacent final tank when working on 80 meters. Mounting screws spaced an ineh around the bottom lip of the box, and correspondingly in the top cover, should eliminate this completely.

#### Coils

 $L_1$  (35  $\mu$ h.) is a B & W 80-BCL coil with the link and base removed.  $L_2$  is given under Fig. 6-58.  $L_3$  (2.6  $\mu$ h.) is 31 turns of B & W 3003 miniductor, while  $L_4$  (5.3  $\mu$ h.) is 30 turns of Type 3011.  $L_5$  (1.5  $\mu$ h.) consists of 11 turns of No. 16,  $\frac{3}{4}$ inch diameter,  $\frac{13}{16}$  inch long.  $L_6$  (8.9  $\mu$ h.) has 291/2 turns of B & W 3015 miniductor.  $L_9$  (1.6  $\mu$ h.) has 7 turns of  $\frac{1}{4}$ -inch copper tubing, 2 inches diameter,  $2\frac{1}{8}$  inches long.

 $L_7$  (5.1 µh.) and  $L_8$  (4.2 µh.) are made as follows from B&W 3905-1 strip eoil: Count off 10¼ turns, clip the wire without breaking the support bars. Bend the last quarter turn out. This portion is  $L_7$ . Remove the next ¾ turn to make a ¼-inch space between  $L_7$  and  $L_8$ . Count off 10 turns more, cut the remainder of the coil stock off. Unwind the last turn on  $L_8$  to make the necessary lead to the stator of  $C_9$ . Tap  $L_8$  at the 8th turn from  $L_7$ .

#### **A**djustment

A 400-volt 250-ma. supply is required for the exciter and the screen of the final amplifier. For full rated output from the 813, a supply delivering 2000 to 2200 volts at 300 ma. (including bleeder current) is needed. The amplifier may, of course, be operated at lower plate voltage with less power input. The diagram of a suitable power unit is shown in Fig. 6-59.

The VFO tuning ranges should first be adjusted. Set  $S_1$  to the first position, biasing the screen of the 6146. Adjust the screen potentiometer in the 5763 multiplier stage to zero, and turn on the filaments and the low-voltage supply. Set  $C_1$  at 95 degrees on the dial (near minimum capacitance). Set  $C_2$  accurately at midscale. Then, listening on a calibrated receiver, adjust  $C_3$ until the VFO signal is heard at 3750 kc.

Now, tune the receiver to 3500 ke., and turn  $C_1$  toward maximum capacitance until the VFO signal is heard. This should be close to the lower end of the dial. By carefully bending the rearmost rotor plate of  $C_1$  toward the rear, it should be

Fig. 6-55 - The VFO box is placed with its front wall 1316 inches back of the panel, central on the chassis. L1 is mounted on 2-inch cones to center it in the box. The shaft of C1 (Cardwell PL-6001 minus last stator plate) is central on the box front, at a height to match that of Co. C2 (Cardwell PL-6002) is mounted, between C1 and the coil, shaft downward, to engage the right-angle drive below. C3 (Cardwell PL-6009) is similarly mounted, to the left of C<sub>2</sub>. Grouped to the left are V4, L2, and V3 in front, with V5 and V1 to the rear, and V2 in the center. Feed-throughs in the bottom of the coil box to the rear connect L3 and  $L_4$  to  $C_4$  below. The ventilating holes are over the 6146.  $C_9$  (Johnson 200DD35) is placed with its shaft 21/4 inches from the end of the chassis, and its rear end plate 15% inches in from the back edge. The three feed-throughs to the left connect Ls to S2.



174

### **CHAPTER 6**



possible to adjust the range of 3500 to 3750 kc. so that it covers from 5 to 95 degrees on the dial. Some slight readjustment of  $C_3$  may be necessary during the plate-bending process to keep the band centered on the dial.

Now, set  $C_1$  at about 15 degrees. Set the receiver at 3750 kc, and reduce the capacitance of  $C_2$  until the VFO signal is heard. Then, tuning the receiver to 4000 kc., the VFO signal should be heard when its dial is set at about 85 degrees. Mark this setting of  $C_2$  accurately.

If it is desired to center the 11-meter band on the dial, set  $C_1$  at midscale. Increase the capacitance of  $C_2$  until the VFO signal is heard at 3387 kc. Mark this setting of  $C_2$  also accurately.

Output	C4		('b		- C9
Band (Mc.)	Dial	Band (Mc.)	Dial	Band (Mc.)	Dial <sup>2</sup>
3.5	8.8	3.5	6.1	3.5	77
7	8.8	3.5	0.5	7	- 9
14	1.5	7	9.5	14	82
21	1.5	7	3.7	21	26
27-28	4.7	14	18	28	7

The next step can be done most easily with a high-resistance voltmeter connected across the grid leak of the 5763 buffer amplifier. Set  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  at minimum capacitance, and adjust the slug in  $L_2$  for maximum grid voltage. Then watch the grid voltage as  $C_2$  is swung through its range. If there is appreciable increase in grid voltage as  $C_2$  is turned toward maximum capacitance, tune  $L_2$  to a higher frequency by moving the slug out more. By correct adjustment of the slug, the grid voltage should remain essentially constant over the entire usable frequency range.

Now readjust  $C_2$  to midscale and turn the meter switch to read 6146 grid current, and turn the excitation control to give a reading of 2 or 3 ma. Resonate the output tank circuit of the 5763 frequency multiplier at 80 meters (near maximum capacitance) as indicated by maximum 6146 grid current.

Next, turn  $S_1$  to the second position, so that screen voltage is applied to the 6146, but not to the 813. Turn the meter switch to read 6146 plate current, and resonate the 6146 output tank circuit as indicated by the plate-current dip (near maximum capacitance). Turning the meter



switch to read 813 grid current adjust the excitation control to give a final-amplifier grid-current reading of about 25 ma.

The 813 should be tested initially at reduced plate voltage. Plate voltage can be reduced by inserting a 150-watt lamp in series with the highvoltage transformer primary. A 300-watt lamp bulb connected across the output connector can be used as a dummy load for testing. Make sure that  $S_2$  is turned to the low-frequency position. This position is used for 3.5- and 7-Mc. operation. The other position is used for 14, 21 and 28 Mc. Turn  $S_1$  to the third position to apply screen voltage to the 813, apply plate voltage and resonate the output tank circuit (near maximum capacitance) as indicated by a dip in plate current. Full plate voltage may now be applied and C10 adjusted to give proper loading (220 ma. maximum). Adjust the excitation control to give a final-amplifier grid current of 15 to 20 ma.

Tuning up on the other bands is done in a similar manner, by adjusting the tuners in each circuit to the correct band to obtain the desired multiplication. The table shows the approximate dial setting for each band, but each should be checked with an absorption wavemeter and the setting logged for future reference.

A suitable antenna tuner should be used be-

tween the transmitter output and the antenna. Antenna tuners are described in the chapter on transmission lines.

(Originally described in QST for January, 1954.)



### **CHAPTER 6**





Fig. 6-58 -- The panel drops 31s inch below the bostom edge of the chassis. The National ACD-1 right-angle drive Fig. 6-58 — The panel drops 36 inch below the bottom are glaced 126 inches up from the bottom edge of the chassis. The National ACD-1 right-angle drive for  $C_2$  is at the center. The other controls along the bottom are placed 126 inches up from the bottom edge of the chassis, and the corresponding components mounted so that their shafts line up with the controls. Panel bushings should be provided for the shafts of  $C_{10}$  (Cardwell PL-7006), and the right-angle drive; panel-bearing shaft units for  $C_4$  and  $C_5$  (Cardwell PL-6043), and  $S_2$  (Centralab 2505). The 6146 is mounted on a  $5 \times 234$ -inch bracket between  $C_4$  and  $C_5$ , whose shafts are fitted with insulating couplings.  $C_5$  is mounted on spacers, while  $C_4$  is mounted on its side on a bracket. T<sub>1</sub> (Triad F-18A) and T<sub>2</sub> (Triad F-14X) are mounted on another bracket at the center.  $L_5$  and  $L_6$ , at right angles, are soldered between the terminals of  $C_5$  and Pin 4 of the 813 socket, seen through the 234-inch hole in the chassis. C<sub>10</sub> and S<sub>2</sub> are mounted on small brackets. T<sub>3</sub> (Triad F-23U) and the blower (available from Allied Radio, Chicago, No. 72-702 motor and 72-703 fan) are to the left. All power wirring is done with shielded wire (Belden 8656, Birnbach 1820, or shielded ignition wire for the 2000-volt line: Belden 8885 for the rest).  $L_2$ , behind S<sub>3</sub> (Belden 8656, Birnbach 1820, or shielded ignition wire for the 2000-volt line; Belden 8865 for the rest). L2, behind S3 (Centralab 1411), is a National XR-50 slug-tuned form close-wound with 93 turns No. 36 enameled wire.





Fig. 6-59 - Circuit of a suitable power supply for the 813 transmitters.

C1. C2 — 4- $\mu$ fd. 2000-volt oil-filled. C3, C4, C5 — 4- $\mu$ fd. 600-volt eleetrolytic. R<sub>1</sub> - 25,000 ohms. 200 watts. R2-15,000 ohms, 25 watts. L1 - 5/25-h. 300-ma, swinging.

- $L_1 = -20$ -h. 300-ma, smoothing,  $L_2 = -20$ -h. 250-ma, filter choke,  $L_1 = -150$ -watt lamp (Tone up)

- $S_1, S_2 10$ -amp. switch.
- $S_3 3$ -amp. switch.  $T_1 2.5$  volts, 10 amp.

- $\begin{array}{c} T_{1} = 2.00 \text{ volts, to anp.} \\ T_{2} = 2000 \text{ volts d.e., 300 ma.} \\ T_{3} = 400.0400 \text{ r.m.s., 250 ma.; 5} \\ \text{ volts, 3 amp. (UTC S-40)} \end{array}$

World Radio History

### A 200-Watt Transmitter for 160 and 80 Meters

Figs. 6-60 through 6-64 show circuits and constructional details of a 200-watt transmitter designed primarily for the 160-meter band. However, it will also work well doubling frequency to the 80-meter band in the output stage.



Fig. 6-60 — A front view of the 160-meter transmitter designed by W1TRF, showing the panel layout. The VFO is directly calibrated for 160 and 80 meters on the National SCN dial. The lower row of controls are, left to right, keying jack, buffer plate tuning, meter switch and the filament switch. To the right of the two meters are the final plate-tuning and the swinging-link controls.

#### Circuit

The circuit is shown in Fig. 6-62. A 6AG7 is used in the series-tuned VFO which works on 160. The oscillator plate circuit, which is untuned, is capacity coupled to another 6AG7 in the buffer stage. Cathode bias is supplied to the buffer stage by  $R_3$ . The buffer screen voltage is taken from the regulated source that supplies the VFO section. The buffer operates straight through and is coupled to the final-amplifier grid by  $C_{14}$ . An 813 was chosen because of its low drive requirements and its adaptability to a wide range of plate voltages - it is possible to run an input of 200 watts with a plate voltage as low as 1200. The stage is neutralized by means of a simple homemade condenser, C17. The conventional neutralizing connection, shown in dotted lines, was not used in this instance. Stray wiring eapacitances are such that the circuit is "over-neutralized," requiring the introduction of positive, instead of negative, feed-back for neutralization. Therefore, the neutralizing capacitance is directly from grid to plate. However, the use of different components, or a slightly different layout, may require the conventional connection shown in dotted lines, rather than the one used.

Fixed bias is supplied to the final amplifier by a 50-ma. sclenium rectifier and a small filament transformer,  $T_2$ , working in reverse from the 6.3volt filament supply. A VR-150 is used to stabilize the biasing voltage. Screen voltage is supplied from the high-voltage source through  $R_8$  and  $R_9$ to provide a simple means of modulating both plate and screen.

#### Construction

The transmitter is constructed entirely on a standard 10  $\times$  17-inch ehassis with a 10<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>-inch panel. The VFO portion is built on the left-hand side of the chassis. The 6AG7 socket is inverted so that the tube extends below the chassis. This method allows all of the wiring on the socket to be enclosed within the shield.  $C_3$ ,  $C_4$ ,  $C_5$  and the grid resistor,  $R_1$ , are all soldered directly to the soeket, and the filament by-pass condensers,  $C_{23}$ and  $C_{24}$ , as well as the screen by-pass condenser,  $C_7$ , are soldered directly to ground from their respective pins. Shielded power wires are brought into the compartment through rubber grommets. The r.f. plate lead to the coupling condenser,  $C_{8}$ , is made of a short piece of RG/59-U coaxial cable and this also is brought up through the chassis along with the power leads.  $L_1$ , the VFO coil, is close-wound on a 1-inch Millen form and is mounted on a half-inch cone insulator. The ends of the winding are soldered directly to their connections. Two half-inch spacers are used to hold the VFO tuning condenser,  $C_2$ , above the chassis so as to line the shaft up with the drive mechanism of the National SCN dial. The oscillator padder,  $C_1$ , and its mounting bracket are bolted firmly to the chassis. A  $3 \times 4 \times 5$ -inch aluminum utility box is used to cover the VFO circuit. A small opening cut in the front cover allows the tuning dial to turn freely.

The oscillator plate choke,  $RFC_2$ , and the buffer grid choke,  $RFC_3$ , are mounted vertically. The choke terminals are used as the points for the coupling condenser,  $C_8$ , and the buffer grid re-



Fig. 6-61 — A view of the VFO section with the cover removed. The inverted 6AG7 socket is just to the left of the tuning condenser.  $RFC_1$  is to the front of the 6AG7 socket, the shielded wire connected to the choke is the keying lead. The grid coil is mounted on a half-inch cone insulator. The padder condenser is mounted on a "U"shaped bracket to the right of the tuning condenser.

### CHAPTER 6



Fig. 6-62 — Circuit diagram of the 200-watt 160-meter transmitter.

- $C_1 = 100 \cdot \mu \mu fd.$  variable (Millen 22100).  $C_2 = 50 \cdot \mu \mu fd.$  variable (Millen 19050).  $C_3, C_8, C_{14} = 100 \cdot \mu \mu fd.$  mica.
- C4, C5-680-µµfd. silvered mica.
- C<sub>6</sub>, C<sub>7</sub>, C<sub>9</sub>, C<sub>11</sub>, C<sub>12</sub>, C<sub>13</sub>, C<sub>15</sub>, C<sub>16</sub>, C<sub>23</sub>, C<sub>24</sub> 0.01-µfd. disc ceramie.
- C10 140-µµfd. variable (Millen 19140).
- C<sub>17</sub> Neutralizing capacitance: see text.
- C18, C20, C21, C22 0.001-µfd. 5000-volt mica. Dual-section variable, 200-μμfd.-per-section (Na-tional TMC-200-D). C19
- 8-µfd. 250-volt electrolytic. C25, C26 -
- C27, C28, C29, C30 0.1-µfd, molded.
- $R_1, R_2 = 22,000 \text{ ohms}, \frac{1}{2} \text{ watt.}$  $R_3 = 220 \text{ ohms}, 1 \text{ watt.}$
- R4 10,000 ohms, 10 watts, adjustable.
- R5, R6, R7 100 ohms, 2 watts
- R8 25,000 ohms, 50 watts, adjustable.
- R9 25,000 ohms, 50 watts.
- R10 - 500 ohms, 2 watts.
- 100 μh. 68 turns No. 30 s.s.e. close-wound on  $L_1$ 1-inch form.
- L2 70-µh. 96 turns No. 24, 1-inch diam., 3 inches long (B & W 3016 Miniductor).

sistor,  $R_2$ . The buffer tuning condenser,  $C_{10}$ , is mounted directly in front of the tube socket on the vertical bracket supplied with the condenser. A B & W 3016 Miniductor has just about the right inductance for  $L_2$ .

The 813 socket is mounted directly on the chassis to the right of the buffer-tube socket, with the coupling condenser,  $C_{14}$ , placed so that the leads are as short as possible.  $RFC_5$ , the 813 grid choke, is in front of the tube socket, near the grid-meter shunt. The meter shunting resistors for the buffer plate and the 813 grid circuits are fastened to a pair of two-terminal lug strips. The 813 screen-current shunt is mounted on two small cone insulators and is connected with high-voltage insulated wire, since the screen voltage rises to the supply value when the tube is not being driven. All external power leads have v.h.f. filters. The components are placed in the enclos-

- 1.3 1.8 Mc, 90 μh. 56 turns No. 16, 3-inch diam.. 6 inches long over-all, ¾-inch space at center for L4 (B & W 160 TVH or TVL with mounting
  - for plug in link). 3.5 Mc. - 40 µh. - 38 turns No. 14, 3-inch diam., 6 inches long over-all, <sup>3</sup>/<sub>4</sub>-inch space at center for L<sub>4</sub> (B & W 80TVII or TVL).
- 5-turn variable link (B & W 3555).

- $L_4 = 5$ -turn variable link (B & w. one.).  $MA_1 = D.c.$  milliammeter, 50-ma. scale.  $MA_2 = D.c.$  milliammeter, 500-ma. scale. RFC<sub>1</sub>, RFC<sub>2</sub>, RFC<sub>3</sub>, RFC<sub>5</sub> = 2.5-mh. r.f. choke (Na-diand R-100-S).
- RFC4, RFC7 7-µh, r.f. choke (Ohmite Z-50).
- RFC6-1-mh. r.f. choke (National R-152).
- Line-filter choke (Ohmite Z-21). RFC<sub>8</sub> -
- S1 Single-wafer double-pole 3-position ceramic rotary.
- S.p.s.t. toggle. S.
- SR = 50-ma, selenium rectifier. T<sub>1</sub> = 6.3-volt 3-amp, filament transformer (Stancor P-5014 or equiv.
- 6,3-volt 1.2-amp. filament transformer (Stancor  $T_{2}$ P-6134 or equiv.).
- T<sub>3</sub>-10-volt 5-amp. filament transformer (Stancor P-6139 or equiv.).

ure formed by the aluminum barrier shield running the length of the chassis.

The neutralizing "condenser," C<sub>17</sub>, consists of a strip of aluminum about a half inch wide and 2 or 3 inches long, bent at right angles and mounted on a feed-through insulator near the socket grid terminal. The feed-through is connected to the grid terminal and neutralizing is adjusted by altering the length of the strip or by bending it closer to, or farther from, the tube.

The output tank condenser,  $C_{19}$ , is mounted above the chassis on half-inch cone insulators. The shaft is connected to the tuning dial through a ceramic-insulated shaft coupling. The jack bar for  $L_3$  is supported on National GS-1 pillar insulators and mounted alongside the tank condenser. Another insulated shaft coupling is used to extend the shaft of the swinging link to the panel. A length of coaxial cable is run from the link assem-
Fig. 6-63 — Top view of the 160-meter chassis removed from the cabinet. On the rear edge of the chassis are the two filament transformers and the VR tube for the bias supply, T<sub>2</sub> is underneath. In front of the transformers are the 6AG7 buffer tube, the VR-150 regulator for the VFO and the aluminum box shielding the oscillator section, To the left of the 813 are the final tank condenser and the swinging-link assembly, Along the rear of the chassis are the high-voltage connector, the 115-yolt input connector, the grounding post and the exciter low-voltage connector,



bly to the antenna terminal along the left drop of the chassis.

The shielding barrier is spaced 3 inches from the rear. This enclosure contains all of the a.c. wiring, the line chokes and the bias supply. The high voltage to the final is routed through a feedthrough in the shield,  $L_2$  is cemented between two ceramic cone stand-off insulators on the other side of the barrier.

The circuit of a suitable power supply for this unit is shown in Fig. 6-59. A power transformer having a rating of 700 volts, e.t., 70 ma, may be substituted for the one specified under  $T_{3}$ ,  $S_{3}$ turns on the low-voltage supply and the filaments of the high-voltage rectifiers,  $S_2$  turns on the high-voltage transformer. When  $S_3$  is open, a 115-volt lamp,  $I_1$ , is connected in series with the primary of the high-voltage transformer to reduce voltage during adjustment.

### Adjustment

After turning on the low-voltage supply, the slider on  $R_4$  should be adjusted to the point where the VR tube just stays ignited with the key closed. At resonance, the buffer plate current should be about 22 ma, and screen current approximately 8 ma. This should produce an 813 grid current of 18 or 20 ma. When the key is opened, the buffer plate current should drop to about 12 ma, while the screen current is reduced almost to zero. If there is any variation in buffer plate current as the tank circuit is furned through its range with the key open, a check should be made for parasitic oscillation, as discussed earlier in this chapter.

In tuning up the final amplifier, the screen resistor,  $R_8$ , should be adjusted to leave about 20,000 ohms in the circuit and quarter or half maximum plate voltage applied. A dummy load should be connected and the output tank tuned to resonance. As the load is adjusted to take current, the plate and screen voltages can be increased slowly while checking the stability, For normal operation at maximum legal input. the screen voltage is raised to 350 and the place voltage to 1200 or 1250. The coupling to the antenna or load can then be adjusted, by means of the variable link, to bring the power input up to 200 watts.

In the case of 80-meter operation, it may be of some advantage to raise the screen voltage to 400. (Originally described in OST for July 1952.)



Fig. 6-64 - Bottom view of the 160-meter transmitter,  $R_4$  is to the left. The inverted 6AG7 oscillator tube is just to the left of the buffer tuning-condenser shaft. In front of the 813 socket are the meter-shunting resistors and the meter switch.  $R_8$  and  $R_9$ are to the right of the 813 socket. The final plate choke is mounted on the right drop of the chassis. All power wiring is done with shielded wire to suppress whif, harmontics.

## A Simple VFO

The details of a simple VFO with output at 1.75, 3.5 or 7 Mc. are shown in Figs. 6-65 through 6-69. In the circuit, shown in Fig. 6-68, a Type 5763 miniature pentode in a series-tuned Colpitts oscillator circuit drives a similar tube as an amplifier or doubler. The output circuit of the oscillator stage is broadbanded through the use



Fig. 6-65 — A simple VFO delivering output at 1.75, 3.5 or 7 Mc.

of self-resonant slug-tuned coils at  $L_2$ , and frequency may be doubled in this circuit, as well as in the output circuit, to obtain 7-Mc. output. For 3.5-Mc. output, frequency may be doubled in either stage. The nominal output is approximately 2 watts — sufficient for driving the usual crystal-oscillator stage of the transmitter.

To simplify the bandspread problem, the oscillator tuning range is restricted. At 3.5 Mc. **a** range of approximately 250 kc. is covered. For c.w. operation in this band, the band-set condenser,  $C_2$ , is set so that the tuning condenser,  $C_1$ , covers approximately 3500 to 3750 kc. For operation in the 'phone portion of the band,  $C_2$ is reset to shift the range to approximately 3750 to 4000 kc. Corresponding ranges are provided at the harmonics, and the oscillator can be tuned low enough (by  $C_2$ ) to cover the 11-meter band with appropriate doublers.

### Construction

The unit is built in a  $5 \times 6 \times 9$ -inch steel box with cap-type covers. The components are assembled on an aluminum-sheet base supported by sections of aluminum angle stock that hold the base halfway between the two covers. On top, the tuning condenser,  $C_1$ , is fastened directly to the base along the center line. The shaft is fitted with a National Type AM vernier dial. The two tubes and  $L_2$  are in line to the right in Fig. 6-66 with the output tank coil,  $L_3$ , to the left of the amplifier tube. The  $L_2$  coils are wound on Millen Type 74001 shielded slug-tuned forms.

Underneath, in Fig. 6-67, the band-set condenser,  $C_2$ , is mounted against the front of the box. A short lead through a feed-through point or clearance hole connects the stator of  $C_2$  to the stator of  $C_1$  above.  $L_1$  is wound on a Millen 1-inch coil form and is placed immediately to the rear of  $C_2$ . The output tank condenser,  $C_{14}$ , is mounted on a bracket with its rear stator termi-



Fig. 6-66 — The top of the simple VFO showing the oscillator tuning condenser, the tubes and plug-in coils.



Fig. 6.67 — Bottom view of the simple VFO showing the arrangement of parts underneath.

## **HIGH-FREQUENCY TRANSMITTERS**



Fig. 6-68 - Circuit diagram of the simple VFO.

- Ci Approx, 15-µµfd, variable (Millen 19025 with all but 1 rotor and 2 stators removed)  $100-\mu\mu$ fd, variable (Millen 22100).
- C2 -

- $C_2 = 100 \mu d0.$  variable (Simen 22100).  $C_3, C_4 = 0.001 \mu d1.$  silvered mica.  $C_5, C_9, C_{15} = 100 \mu \mu d1.$  mica.  $C_6, C_7, C_8, C_{11}, C_{12} = 0.01 \mu d1.$  disc ceramic.  $C_{10}, C_{13} = 0.001 \mu d1.$  disc ceramic.  $C_{14} = 140 \mu \mu d1.$  variable (Millen 22140).  $P_{12} P_{2} = -47.000$  chems 14 watt

- C(4 = 140- $\mu$ )d. variable (M)len 22140). R<sub>1</sub>, R<sub>2</sub> = 47,000 ohms,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt. L<sub>1</sub> = 62 turns No. 30 d.s.c., 1 inch diam., close-wound. L<sub>2</sub> = 1.75 Mc. 210 turns No. 36 d.s.c.,  $\frac{1}{2}$  inch diam., close-wound (Millen 74001 form).(300  $\mu$ h.) = 3.5 Mc. 126 turns No. 30 d.s.c.,  $\frac{1}{2}$  inch diam.,

nal close to the coil socket. It is placed so that its insulated shaft-extension control will balance up with the control for  $C_2$  in front.

The various r.f. chokes and fixed condensers are grouped closely around the sockets with which they are associated in the circuit. All power wiring is done with shielded wire and coaxial output terminals are provided at the rear for either capacitive or link coupling. Key and power connections are made through the octal plug. Several ventilating holes are cut in the longer sides of the box and also in the top cover.

### **A**djustment

The unit requires a regulated 150-volt supply. The supply diagrammed in Fig. 6-69 is suitable. First adjust  $R_1$ , Fig. 6-69, to the maximum resistance that will permit the VR150 to stay ignited when the key is closed. Then, listening on a calibrated receiver, close the key, set  $C_1$  at maximum capacitance and adjust  $C_2$  until the oscillator signal is heard at 3500 kc. Tuning  $C_1$  should then cover the band up to about 3750 kc. Mark the setting of  $C_2$ , set  $C_1$  at maximum again and adjust  $C_2$  until the signal is heard at 3750 kc.

- close-wound (Millen 74001 form). (75  $\mu$ h.) 1.75 Me. 55  $\mu$ h. 45 turns No. 22 d.c.c., 1½ inches diam., close-wound (Bud OEL-160, 14 turns removed).
- -3.5 Me. 16 µh. 20 turns No. 22 d.c.c., 11/2 inches diam., close-wound (Bud OEL-80, 8 turns removed).
- 7 Mc. 5 µh. 12 turns No. 22 d.c.c., 1½ inches diam., 34 inch long (Bud OEL-20).
- $J_1 =$ - Chassis-mounting octal plug.
- $1_2$ ,  $1_3$  Female coaxial connector (Jones S101-D), RFC<sub>1</sub> 2.5-mh, r.f. choke (National R-50).
- RFC2, RFC3 2.5-mh. r.f. choke (standard type),

Then  $C_1$  should cover the range from 3750 to approximately 4000 kc. Repeat the process, setting  $C_2$  for about 3350 kc. to obtain the proper range for 11 meters.

To adjust the remainder of the circuit, turn the slug of  $L_2$  in full. Touch a small neon bulb to the capacitive output terminal and adjust  $C_{14}$ for maximum indication. Check the output frequency with a wavemeter, since indications may be obtained at any multiple of 1.75 Mc. When the VFO is connected to a following stage,  $C_{14}$  and  $L_2$  should be adjusted for maximum grid current. For capacitive output coupling, connection is made at  $J_2$ , while  $J_3$  is provided for link coupling. With capacitive coupling, the output tank circuit should resonate with coaxial-cable lengths up to five or six feet. The frequency should be rechecked, since the setting of  $C_{14}$  will be influenced somewhat by the length of the coaxial cable with capacitive coupling.  $C_{14}$  may require an occasional touch-up in tuning the VFO across the band. A milliammeter connected in series with the key should read approximately 40 ma.; about half of this is taken by the oscillator screen and plate circuits.



Fig. 6-69 - Circuit diagram of a power supply for the simple VFO.  $C_2 = 16 - \mu fd.$  450-volt electro-Cı, lytic.

- R1-5000 ohms, 25 watts, adjustable. L1, L2 — 10-h. 50-ma. filter choke.
- $J_1 Octal socket.$  $S_1 3$ -amp. toggle switch.
- T<sub>1</sub> Power transformer: 325.0-325 volts r.m.s., 40 ma.; 6.3 volts, 2 amp.; 5 volts, 2 amp.

## A Silenced VFO for Break-In C.W.

Unfortunately, there is no known practical way in which an oscillator, particularly of the VFO type, can be keyed without a compromise in respect to clicks or chirps. Steps taken to climinate one will aggravate the other. In the VFO unit shown in Figs. 6-70 through 6-74, the oscillator is not keyed, but allowed to run continuously while a subsequent amplifier is keyed. The signal from the oscillator is suppressed by proper shielding and circuit design, so that it does not interfere with reception on any frequency, including the operating frequency, even with the receiver r.f. gain control at maximum. Any desired shaping of the keyed signal can be applied to the amplifier without introducing chirps.

A diagram of the system is shown in Fig. 6-71. A very low-power high-*C* Hartley oscillator (15 to 20 volts at the plate), using a 6BD6 and operating in the region of 875 kc., drives a second 6BD6 as a strictly Class A isolating amplifier at the same frequency. The Class A stage, in turn, drives a 6AG5 doubler to 1750 kc. This stage is keyed by the blocked-grid method. Thus, until the key is closed, most of the signal is confined to 875 kc. Further supression of harmonics from the oscillator is obtained by omitting the cathode by-pass condenser in the Class A stage, thereby introducing a slight amount of degeneration.

The output circuits of both the oscillator and buffer are broadbanded, and require only initial adjustment. The output circuit contains a bandpass coupler, thus preserving single-control tuning throughout.

### Construction

The photographs of Figs. 6-70 and 6-72 show one method of construction. The unit is housed in a standard  $5 \times 6 \times 9$ -ineh steel utility box. Small rubber shock mounts are bolted to the bottom cover of the box so that the entire assembly can be mounted on a chassis close to the input circuit of the transmitter it is used to drive. Parts layout within the box is not critical, and may be changed from the arrangement shown in the photographs to meet individual preferences, provided that certain considerations are kept in mind. It is desirable to have as much isolation as possible between stages to eliminate stray coupling of the oscillator harmonic to the output circuit. For this reason all heater and d.c. supply leads are made with shielded wire with the shield braid grounded at several points.

Most of the parts are mounted on an aluminum shelf cut to fit snugly inside the box, and spaced  $1\frac{1}{6}$  inches from the bottom. The interior of the bottom is divided into two compartments by a shield as shown in the photographs. The larger compartment contains the oscillator circuit, and the smaller the Class A and doubler stages. The coils in the smaller compartment should be mounted at right angles to one another.

In the top view, Fig. 6-70, the oscillator tube is at the right of the main tuning condenser, the Class A stage at the left, with the doubler centered about 1% inches in from the left hand edge. The adjusting screws for  $L_2$  and  $L_3$  are visible between the tubes. Band-setting condenser  $C_2$  is mounted at right angles to the main tuning condenser, with its adjustment shaft projecting through the right hand side of the case. The oscillator coil is mounted on a ceramic insulator adjacent to the tuning condensers. An extension shaft is brought out from the rear of  $C_1$  so that additional stages may be gauged to the oscillator tuning condenser if desired.



Fig. 6-70 — Top view of the silenced VFO with cover removed. The dial is a Millen type 10035.

## **HIGH-FREQUENCY TRANSMITTERS**



### **Adjustment and Operation**

Some adjustment of the amount of fixed capacitance used in the oscillator circuit may be required to permit tuning the range 875 kc. to 1000 kc. With the values shown, only the e.w. portion of the 3.5- to 4-Me, band will be covered by  $C_1$ . This results in greater bandspread, but if full coverage is desired, the 200- $\mu\mu$ fd, condenser should be used as  $C_1$ , with the 140- $\mu\mu$ fd, unit for  $C_2$ . A wide range of frequencies including the 11-meter band, can be covered by readjustment of the band-setting condenser  $C_2$ .

The most important adjustment is to make sure that the Class A stage is operating true Class A, because if grid current flows in this stage, the oscillator harmonic will be heard in the receiver even when the key is opened, defeating the purpose of the unit. To do this, resonate the plate circuit of the oscillator in the center of the desired tuning range. Then do the same for the plate circuit of the Class A stage. If no wavemeter capable of tuning the required range is available, a receiver tuned to the broadcast band can be used. Connect a low-range voltmeter, through a 2.5-mh. r.f. choke, across cathode resistor  $R_5$  of the Class A stage. About 3 volts bias should be indicated. Now pull the oscillator tube out of its socket. The voltage read across  $R_5$  will remain the same if Class A conditions are being met. If they are not, reducing



Fig. 6-72 — Bottom view of the silenced VFO.

R

R<sub>2</sub>

justable.

justable.

## **CHAPTER 6**



oscillator output by increasing the size of  $R_3$ , or decreasing the size of either  $R_2$  or  $R_4$  should correct the trouble.

To adjust the bandpass coupler in the output circuit, it is first necessary to connect the unit to the stage it is to drive in the main portion of the transmitter. This should be done with as short a lead as possible. In the arrangement shown in the circuit diagram, direct connection of the output to the grid of the next stage is shown, so that the fixed bias applied to the keying circuit can also be applied to the following stage. This is a requirement if full advantage of



Fig. 6-74 - Two suggested methods of coupling the VFO unit to the transmitter. In both cases the 6AG7 is used as either a doubler or quadrupler from the output of the VFO. In A, a former crystal-oscillator stage has been revised to operate with fixed bias. In B, a switching system providing for either VFO or crystal control is shown.

 $C_1 = 0.001 - \mu fd.$  (or larger) mica.

 $R_1 = 10,000$  ohms,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt.  $R_2$ ,  $R_3 = 47,000$  ohms,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt.

S1 - Double-pele 3-or-more-position ceramic.

the "silenced" feature of the design is to be gained, as explained below. Once connection to the grid of the following stage is made, open one side of the secondary circuit of the bandpass coupler, separate the two coils as far as possible, and resonate the primary circuit with the oscillator set to the center of the band. Reconnect the secondary, open the primary circuit, and resonate the secondary circuit, adjusting it for resonance in the center of the desired pass-band. A grid dip meter will be invaluable in making these adjustments, although they can be done, at a sacrifice of time, by other methods. Once both circuits are resonated properly, move one coil closer to the other a fraction of an inch at a time until the response of the coupler is flat across the band. Output should be observed by noting grid current in the following stage as the main tuning condenser is tuned through its range. If the output varies widely from one end of the band to the other, readjustment of the trimmer condensers, and the coupling between the windings, is required. Sufficient drive for the former crystal oscillator in almost any modern transmitter should be available across the entire band. To eliminate the last trace of signal from the oscillator, it is usually necessary to apply a certain amount of fixed bias to the grid of the stage into which the VFO works. When connected as indicated in Fig. 6-71, the 75 volts bias from the VFO power supply will be applied to the grid of the following stage. If the following stage has a grid blocking or coupling condenser, this should be removed. Any grid leak in this stage also should be eliminated.

Adjustment of the keying characteristics is made by changing the resistance and capacitance in the keying circuit, as described elsewhere in this book. A variable resistance,  $R_8$ , is included, but some experimentation with the value of  $C_{12}$ may be needed to suit individual tastes.

The diagram of a suitable power supply for this unit is shown in Fig. 6-73.  $R_1$  should be adjusted until the two VR tubes operating from this branch stay ignited under load.  $R_2$  should similarly be adjusted until the VR tube stays ignited under operating conditions.

(Originally described in QST, Feb. 1950.)

## A Beat-Frequency Exciter

Fig. 6-77 shows the circuit diagram of a transmitter frequency-generating unit employing the heterodyne principle. The output of the 6AK6 crystal oscillator at 6500 kc. and the output of the 6AK6 VFO, covering the range of 2650 to 3000 kc., are combined in a mixer of the balancedmodulator type. The output of the mixer, which makes use of a pair of 6BE6s, is tuned to the difference between these two frequencies to give the range of 3500 to 3850 kc. This range includes the c.w. portion of the 80-meter band and, by adding suitable frequency multipliers, all other bands up to and including the 28-Mc. band can be covered. With a change of crystal frequency, the unit will also cover the 80-meter 'phone band.

The advantage of such a system is that neither oscillator need be keyed for break-in operation, since the fundamental and harmonics of both oscillators fall outside amateur bands and therefore do not cause interference in the receiver. Both oscillators run continuously, while the mixer is keyed. Thus the keying characteristic can be shaped as desired to climinate key clicks without the danger of introducing chirp.

The 6BE6s in the balanced-modulator circuit are connected with their plates in push-pull. The VFO drive is fed to the two No. 1 grids in parallel, while the crystal-oscillator signal is fed in pushpull to the No. 2 grids. The VFO fundamental and harmonics are out of phase in the push-pull output circuit and are cancelled to negligible amplitude, so that the only signal present is the desired difference beat to which the output circuit is tuned.

### **Amplifier Section**

The output of the circuit shown in Fig. 6-77 will be quite low, and unless an adequate bufferdoubler section is already available, the addition of an amplifier will be necessary. Fig. 6-78 shows the circuit of a stable output section sufficient to drive a beam-tetrode final to rated input on the fundamental frequency. As a feature of convenience in tuning, a bandpass coupler is incorporated in the output of the mixer, thus making readjustment of this stage unnecessary over the range of operating frequencies. This coupler, consisting of  $C_1L_1$  and  $C_2L_2$ , Fig. 6-78, is merely substituted for the output circuit  $C_7L_3$ in Fig. 6-77 when the amplifier section is added. The 6AQ5 untuned buffer stage, although not strictly essential, provides a small amount of gain and, more important, eliminates the need for neutralizing the output stage, even when a poorly-sereened tube, such as the 6L6, is used.

### Construction

Figs. 6-75 and 6-76 show an example of the construction of a unit of this type. The exciter shown in the photographs is not the one whose circuit diagram appears here, although the circuit is essentially the same aside from the use of regular-size tubes. Mechanical stability of the variable oscillator, its drift characteristics and freedom from a.c. ripple are just as important in the beat-frequency unit as they are in a conventional VFO. Although a high-C Hartley VFO is shown in the diagram, a Clapp-type circuit can be used just as well, with a probable improvement in drift characteristics. It is suggested that the first step in construction be the building of the variable oscillator, followed by the crystal circuit and then the mixer and amplifier sections in that order. The proper functioning of each stage can be checked as construction progresses. Individual shielding of the variable-oscillator and mixer coils is recommended. The output tank of the amplifier section should be shielded from the preceding stages by a partition. In the rear-view photograph of Fig. 6-76, the VFO is in a separate shock-mounted box to the right. The tube is mounted externally in a horizontal position. The power-supply to the left is likewise a separate unit and is cushioned to prevent transmitting



Fig. 6-75 — A beat-frequency exciter built by W6RZL. The dial at the left controls the frequency of the VFO and thereby the frequency of the exciter output. The other two dials are for the crystal-oscillator and amplifier-output tanks.



Fig. 6.76 - Rear view of W6RZL's exciter. The shielded compartment encloses the variable oscillator. The power supply is a detachable shock-mounted assembly. Octal, instead of miniature tubes, were used in this particular unit.



Fig. 6-77 - Circuit diagram of W60WP's basic beatfrequency source. Output from this unit will be low and an amplifier is recommended unless adequate bufferdoubler stages are already available. (See Fig. 6-78.)

- C1, C2 57-µµfd. mica.
- $C_{3}, C_{4}, C_{12}, C_{13} = 0.01$ -µfd. disk ceramic.  $C_{5_{3}}, C_{15} = 30$ -µµfd. trimmer.
- C6, C8, C9 0.1-µfd. 600-volt paper.
- $C_7 100 \cdot \mu \mu fd$ , variable.
- $C_{10} 140 \cdot \mu \mu fd$ , variable. 240-µµfd. silvered mica.  $C_{II} -$
- C14 100-µµfd. mica.
- R1 47,000 ohms, 1/2 watt.
- R2, R3, R6 10,000 ohms, 1 watt.
- 47,000 ohms, 1 watt.  $\mathbf{R}_4$
- 470 ohms, 1/2 watt. R5, R9 -
- 10,000 ohms, 10 watts.  $R_7$
- R<sub>8</sub> 3.9 megohns, 1 watt. 14 26 turns No. 24 d.c.c., 78-inch diam., close wound.
- 15 turns No. 24 d.c.c., center-tapped, wound over L<sub>2</sub>  $L_1$ .
- La-32 turns No. 24 d.c.c., 11/2-inch diam., close wound, center-tapped.
- -3 turns No. 18 hook-up wire wound over center L of L<sub>3</sub>.
- 19 turns No. 20 enam., 11/4-inch diam., 1 inch long, Ls tapped 5 turns from bottom.
- Primary of 50L6 output transformer.
- RFC1 2.5-mh. r.f. ehoke.

vibration to the VFO. The tuned circuits of the mixer and amplifier are mounted underneath the chassis, although the tubes of these stages are above.

### Keying

The 6BE6 converter tubes present substantially constant loading to the variable oscillator. To preserve this condition, cathode keying cannot be employed. However, the tube design is such that Miller effect with changes in space current is negligible. Thus, interruption of the plate and screen supply offers an excellent method of keying. Since this places the "hot" side of the key at

## **CHAPTER 6**

150 volts above ground, a keying relay is recommended as a safety measure. The electrical circuit can be traced back from the key in Fig. 6-77. Shaping on both "make" and "break" is provided, with greater emphasis on the "break" characteristic. This gives the type of keying generally accepted as most desirable. The larger-than-usual (0.1  $\mu$ fd.) plate and screen bypass condensers, as well as the plate decoupling and screen-dropping resistors, are all part of the shaping network. The "make" lag is introduced in the screen lead through  $L_{6}$ , which is the primary of a replacement-type 50L6 output transformer. Where the 6AQ5-6L6 output section of Fig. 6-78 is used, the screen of the

6AQ5 is connected to the key circuit as indicated. This is a further safeguard against the presence of residual key-up signal.

### Adjustment

The circuit of a suitable power supply is shown in Fig. 6-79. With both oscillators on, and plate and screen voltage applied to the mixer, set the variable oscillator on 3000 kc, with the aid of a receiver. Now tune the receiver to 3500 ke. The desired beat should be clearly audible. Next adjust the mixer tuning condenser to give maximum signal strength. Repeat this procedure, setting the variable oscillator at 2650 ke., and tuning in the beat at 3850 kc. This establishes basic tuning ranges on the oscillator and mixer dials.

Now, connect the mixer output to the stage to be driven and make the necessary adjustments in the mixer tuning to show maximum drive, as indicated by the plate milliammeter of the driven stage.

The next step is to adjust the variable-oscillator coupling condenser,  $C_{15}$ , to the minimum value necessary to maintain full drive from the mixer. The plate tank circuit of the crystal oscillator should be detuned in like manner. Since the 6BE6s drive very easily, there is no object in overdriving; in fact, undesirable interaction could result if the drive were excessive.

The unit is now ready for final calibration and installation. In operation, the procedure is to set the oscillator tuning dial first and then trim up the mixer tuning as required to give necessary output. If the output section of Fig. 6-78 is used, the bandpass coupler is adjusted by varying the settings of  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  until fairly uniform drive over the 3500-3850 kc, band is secured. Oscillator tuning and output controls in this case are the



Fig. 6-78 — A stable output section giving sufficient boost in drive to handle a high-power beam final on the fundamental frequency. Note the bandpass coupler substituted for the mixer output circuit in Fig. 6-77. Use of the 6AO5 untuned buffer is discussed in the text.

- C1, C2 100-µµfd. trimmer
- C<sub>3</sub>, C<sub>6</sub>, C<sub>7</sub>, C<sub>8</sub> 0.01- $\mu$ fd. disk eeramie. C<sub>4</sub> 0.1- $\mu$ fd. 600-volt paper.
- $C_5$ - 100-µµfd. miea.
- C9 - 100-µµfd. variable.
- R1 470 ohms, 1/2 watt. R2-470 ohms, 1 watt.
- $R_3 = 22,000$  ohms, 1 watt.  $R_4 = 600$  ohms, 2 watts.
- R5-22,000 ohms, 2 watts.

only ones requiring adjustment for OSY. To "zero in" on a station to be called, switch S<sub>1</sub> applies just enough voltage to the keyed circuit to provide a usable signal in the home-station receiver.

To maintain the keying characteristic through following transmitter stages, it will be necessary to observe two precautions. (1) In stages where fixed bias is used, the amount of this bias should be just sufficient to cut off plate current. Addi-

tional operating bias should be secured through grid resistance. (2) Adequate drive must be provided for each stage.

While the special problems of c.w. operation make the heterodyne exciter especially attractive in this field, it is equally adaptable to 'phone work. To cover the 75-meter 'phone band, a 6850-kc. crvstal must be substituted for the 6500-kc. one used for c.w. The 'phone band will  $L_1 = 32$  turns No. 30 enam., in two equal sections  $1\frac{1}{2}$ inches apart on  $1\frac{1}{2}$ -inch-diam. form. L<sub>2</sub> - 26 turns No. 30 enam. wound in area between

- sections of  $L_1$ .
- 28 turns No. 14 enam., on 13/4-ineh-diam. eeramie La form.
- 3 turns No. 18 hook-up wire, wound at cold end L4 of L<sub>3</sub>.
- MA<sub>1</sub> 100-ma. milliammeter.
- RFC<sub>1</sub> 2.5-mh. r.f. choke. RFC<sub>2</sub> - 1.5 mh. r.f. choke.

be covered in the 2850 to 3000-kc. range of the variable oscillator.

Narrow-band f.m. is readily obtained by connecting any of the standard reactance-tube circuits to the variable-oscillator circuit. An important advantage of the heterodyne unit is that deviation is unaffected by exciter loading. This factor also makes the unit ideally suited for frequency-shift transmission on bands where such operation is authorized.



Fig. 6-79 - Circuit diagram of a power supply for the heat-frequency exciter.

- C1 8-µfd. 600-volt electrolytic.
- C2, C3-8-µfd. 450-volt electrolytic.
- R1-10,000 ohms, 10 watts, adjustable.
- L1-2.3-hy. 150-ma. 60-ohm filter ehoke (Staneor 2304).
- L2-16-hy. 50-ma. 580-ohm filter choke (Stancor C-1003).
- -S.p.s.t. toggle.
- T<sub>1</sub> Power transformer: 350–0–350 volts r.m.s., 110 ma.; 5 volts, 2 amp.; 6.3 volts, 3 amp. (Thordarson T-22R32).

## **A** Remotely-Tuned VFO

The VFO shown in Figs. 6-80 through 6-84 is a series-tuned Colpitts (Clapp) circuit built in two sections. The large compartment contains only the tuned circuit (Fig. 6-81A), while the other contains the 5763 tube and a pair of OB2 voltage regulators (Fig. 6-81B). The two are connected with a piece of double-conductor coaxial cable that may be of any length up to 10 feet or so. The advantages of such a system are, first, that the tuned circuit is well removed from heatgenerating equipment, including the oscillator tube itself, and second, that it forms a convenient means of remote frequency control. While this arrangement was designed primarily as a driver for the frequency-multiplier unit described later in this chapter, in many cases the existing crystal-oscillator tube of a transmitter can be substituted for the second unit mentioned. if the tube is a 6AG7 or 5763. If the grid-plate crystal-oscillator circuit is in use in the transmitter, it should be possible to feed the tuned eircuit directly through the 2-conductor cable to the crystal terminals without modifying the crystal circuit in any way. RG-22/U is recommended for the connecting cable.

The oscillator operates in the 3.5-Mc. region and the bandspread tuning system, consisting of  $C_1$ ,  $C_2$  and  $C_3$ , is designed to cover the desired frequency ranges in three steps, when  $C_1$  and  $C_2$ are altered as described under Fig. 6-81. With one setting of  $C_2$ , the tuning condenser  $C_1$  spreads the range of 3500 to 3750 kc. out over 95 per cent of the National ACN dial. Since this fundamental range covers the most-used 80-meter c.w. frequencies, and harmonics of this range cover all of the higher-frequency bands, excepting only the 11-meter band, this range will usually suffice for 90 per cent of all operating. By shifting the setting of  $C_2$ , the range of 3750 to 4000 kc, is spread out over about 75 per cent of the dial. The 11-meter band is provided for by a third setting of  $C_2$ .

### Tuned-Circuit Unit

The tuned circuit is housed in a  $5 \times 6 \times 9$ -inch aluminum box. An enclosure of this size is needed not only to provide mounting for an adequate dial, but also to permit spacing the coil well away from the sides of the box so that its Q will not be drastically reduced by the shielding in its field.

The dial is first mounted centrally on one of the  $5 \times 9$ -inch sides of the box. The tuning condenser,  $C_1$ , is then coupled to the dial and the mounting step at the rear of the condenser is supported against the bottom of the box with a heavy metal spacer cut to fit. The band-set condenser,  $C_2$ , is shaft-hole mounted 1 inch in from the left side and bottom of the box. This necessitates drilling the shaft hole through the edge of the dial frame.  $C_3$  is soldered directly across the terminals of  $C_2$ . The knob is a National HIRS-5.

The B & W coil is removed from its mounting by first drilling out the rivets in the plug-in base, leaving the metal angle pieces at each end attached to the coil, and unsoldering the leads from the pins. The link winding is carefully removed by snipping the turns and prying the spacing blocks loose with a knife. One turn is removed from the coil itself. The coil is then mounted on National GS-1 pillar insulators so that it will be centrally located in the box in both directions.

The three-contact jack for the remote-tuning

Fig. 6-80 — The remotely-tuned VFO. The large box contains the tuned eieuit, the smaller one the oscillator and voltage-regulator tubes. The two terminals on the smaller box are for output and key connections. The power connector is at the end opposite the eable connection.



## **HIGH-FREQUENCY TRANSMITTERS**



Fig. 6-81 - Circuit of the remotely-tuned VFO.

- C<sub>1</sub> Approx. 12-µµfd. variable (Hammarlund HF-15, rear stator plate removed, rear rotor plate bent; see text)
- C2 Approx. 23-µµfd. variable (Hammarlund HF-35, last stator and last two rotor plates removed).
- C3-- 39-µµfd. silvered mica.
- C4, C5-0.001-µfd. silvered mica.

- C4, U.5 = 0.001- $\mu$ II, silvered state. C6, C7, C8, C9 = 0.001- $\mu$ fd, disk ceramic. R1 = 47,000 ohms, 12 watt. R2 = 10,000 ohms, 10 watts, with slider. L1 = 35  $\mu$ L, = 39 turns No. 18, 1% inches long, 1½ inches diam. (B & W JEL-80, 1 turn and link removed).
- 3-contact female jack (78-PCG3F). J1, J2 -
- $J_3 Key jack 'phono input jack.$  $<math>J_4 Insulated 'phone-tip jack.$
- 4-contact male connector (C-J P-301-AB).
- RFC1, RFC2-1-mh. r.f. choke (National R-50).
- NOTE: RG-22/U remote cable is terminated at each end with Amphenol 91-MPM 36 male connector to fit  $J_1$  and  $J_2$ .

eable is set in the back of the box, and  $C_4$  and  $C_5$ are soldered to its terminals.

### Tube Unit

The photographs show the essential details of the assembly of the tube unit. The enclosure is a standard  $2 \times 2 \times 4$ -inch aluminum box. The three tubes are mounted on a shelf spaced  $1\frac{1}{2}$ inches from the top of the box. This dimension is critical if the tubes are to be removed without difficulty. The keying and output jacks are mounted

in one of the covers, below the shelf level, and the power connector is mounted at one end and the jack for the coax cable at the other. The resistor,  $R_2$ , is mounted on top of the



shelf, alongside the tubes, on the same side of the box as the keying and output jacks. This makes it possible to remove the tubes and adjust the slider by removing the blank cover of the box. The resistor is supported between two small angle pieces joined with a piece of threaded rod (or a long 6-32 screw) through the resistor form.

All wiring, with the exception of the connections to the keying and output jacks and

the cable connector, can be done before the shelf is placed in the box. This includes connections to the power connector which mounts from the inside. In the bottom view of Fig. 6-84, the plate choke,  $RFC_2$  is to the lower left, soldered between Pin 6 of the 5763 socket and Pin 5 of the socket of the first 0B2 regulator. The cathode choke,  $RFC_1$ , is above, with one end fastened to Pin 7 of the 5763 socket, while the other end is left free until the cover plate carrying the key jack is ready to be put in place.  $C_6$  is soldered directly across  $J_3$ . Leads of proper length are made for the jacks and cable connector, and these connections can be made after the shelf has been put in place, and just before the cover is put on. Care should be used in placing the tubes in their sockets, since there is little height to spare. If necessary, the tips of the tubes can be run up through the ventilating holes in the top of the box to allow the pins to clear the sockets.

### Power Supply

Any power supply delivering between 250 and 400 volts at 50 ma. or more may be used to operate this VFO. If a 120-ma. transformer, instead of the 70-ma, unit specified for the power-supply diagram of Fig. 6-90, is provided, the VFO and the multiplier unit may be operated from the single supply.



# 190

## **CHAPTER 6**



### Adjustment

Adjustment of the frequency range for maximum bandspread is quite sinaple. Set  $C_1$  to a dial reading of 5. Then adjust  $C_2$  until the oscillator signal is heard on the receiver at 3500 kc. Set the receiver to 3750 kc. and adjust  $C_1$  until the signal is heard. If this occurs with the dial set at less than 100, carefully bend the rearmost rotor plate of  $C_1$  away from the adjacent stator plate, making sure that the plates do not touch and short the condenser in any position of the rotor. Turn  $C_1$  again to a dial reading of 5, reset  $C_2$  for 3500 kc., and check again for the point where  $C_1$  tunes to 3750 ke. By proper adjustment of the rotor plate to  $C_1$ , the 3500-to-3750-kc, range can be made to cover the entire dial, or as much of it as desired.

### 'Phone Band

After this initial range has been set, tune the receiver to 3875 kc. Set  $C_1$  to midscale and adjust  $C_2$  until the VFO signal is heard. Then the range of 3750 to 4000 kc. should be approximately centered on the diał with a coverage of about 75 divisions. The range can be shifted one way or the other by simply shifting  $C_2$  slightly.

Fig. 6-84 — Bottom view of the tube-unit shelf. RFC<sub>1</sub> is above, RFC<sub>2</sub> helow. C<sub>6</sub> is soldered to  $J_3$ on the cover plate. The two leads going to the left solder to the cable connector. The one to the left above goes to  $J_4$ , the lead to the right to  $J_3$ .





## •

Fig. 6-83 — The completed tube section with the tubes in place. Ventilation holes are drilled in the top of the box and in the plate covering the free side.

### 11-Meter Band

If it is desired to center the 11-meter band on the dial, set  $C_1$  to midscale, set the receiver to 3387 ke. and adjust  $C_2$  until the VFO is heard. All three settings of  $C_2$  should be plainly marked so that they can be returned to when desired.

The cathode current may vary from about 28 ma, with both  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  set at maximum capacitance to 37 ma, with both at minimum.

In using the VFO, the tube unit should be placed close to the stage to be driven and fastened securely to the chassis. A short lead should be used to connect the output terminal to the grid of the stage to be driven. If the driven stage has no grid condenser, a  $100-\mu\mu$ fd mica condenser should be connected between the output terminal and the grid of the driven stage. If more than adequate drive is obtained, the screen of the oscillator tube can be connected to the junction between the two VR tubes, rather than to the end of  $R_2$  as shown in Fig. 6–81. This unit is not a crystal-oscillator tube or other buffer amplifier should be provided.

(Originally described in QST, Jan. 1953.)

## A 6-Band Frequency-Multiplier Unit

The unit shown in Figs. 6-85 through 6-90 is a subassembly containing all tubes and circuits necessary for multiplying frequency from any low-power 1.75- or 3.5-Mc. VFO or crystal oscillator. It gives enough output on any of the six bands from 3.5 to 28 Mc. to drive any amplifier tube such as the 2E26, 807, or 6146. Changing from one band to another is simply a matter of clicking a switch and resonating with the single control for maximum grid current to a following amplifier.

### The Circuit

The circuit diagram is shown in Fig. 6-86. The first stage, operating at 80 meters, uses a wellscreened tube, the 6AK6, because it is called upon to work as a straight amplifier when the VFO output is in the same band. Type 6C4 triodes are used in the remaining stages which are always operated as frequency multipliers.

The 80-meter circuit is designed to cover 3500 to 4000 kc.  $C_8$  is a bandspread padder. However, when the bandswitch is turned to the 7-Mc. and higher-frequency positions,  $C_{11}$  adds enough capacitance across the 80-meter tank circuit to shift its lowest frequency to about 3350 kc. so that the harmonics will include the 11-meter band. It is to this second range that the following stages are tracked. The 21-Mc. band is reached by tripling frequency in the stage otherwise used for 14 Mc. The bandswitch shorts out an appropriate portion of  $L_3$  for 21 Mc.

The trimmers,  $C_{19}$  and  $C_{28}$ , are to compensate for the difference between the input capacitance of the 6C4s and the larger capacitance of the screen-grid tube to be used in the amplifier, thereby automatically maintaining proper conditions for tracking.  $C_{16}$ ,  $C_{24}$  and  $C_{35}$  adjust the range over which the tuning condensers will tune.

All tubes are protected against excessive dissipation, when not being driven, by the use of cathode biasing resistors.

### Construction

If dimensions are to be kept to a minimum, it will be necessary to make a special shielding enclosure of sheet aluminum. However, if size is not considered an important factor, a standard  $5 \times 6 \times 9$ -inch box can be used.

The chassis shown is made from sheet aluminum about  $\frac{1}{16}$  inch thick. It is  $4\frac{1}{2}$  inches wide and  $7\frac{1}{2}$  inches long, with  $\frac{1}{2}$ -inch lips bent down along the longer edges for fastening to the sides of the box. The box is made to fit the chassis as closely as possible and has an inside height of  $4\frac{1}{2}$  inches. The front and the two sides are made from a single piece, with  $\frac{1}{2}$ -inch lips bent along both top and bottom edges. Similar lips are bent along all four edges of the removable back. The two rear corners of the chassis must be notched out for these lips.

The chassis is placed in the box with its top surface  $2\frac{1}{4}$  inches down from the top of the box and a row of  $\frac{1}{4}$ -inch holes is drilled along each side of the box, just above the chassis level. The top cover also is perforated.

The bandswitch is made up from Centralab Switchkit parts. The index assembly is Type P-123 and the ceramic wafers are Type X having 6 positions, 5 of which are used. The switch is mounted on aluminum brackets (with the tie rods in a vertical plane) to bring the center of the shaft  $1\frac{1}{8}$  inches below the chassis. In the bottomview photograph, the first wafer at the top (80) is

Fig. 6-85 — This small package contains the necessary frequency multipliers to give output on any of the six ham bands from 80 to 10 from any 1.75or 3.5-Mc. VFO or crystal oscillator. The switch knob at the bottom selects the band, while the single tuning control resonates all circuits. Oscillator input is connected to the pin jack in front: output on the desired band is taken from the one to the rear. The large hole below the row of ventilating holes in the side is for adjusting the 14-Mc. grid trimmer. A single hole in the opposite side provides access to the 10-meter grid trimmer.





Fig. 6-86 - Circuit diagram of the single-control frequency multiplier.

- $C_1 470 \mu \mu fd.$  mica.
- C<sub>2</sub>, C<sub>3</sub>, C<sub>4</sub>, C<sub>5</sub>, C<sub>6</sub>, C<sub>10</sub>, C<sub>12</sub>, C<sub>13</sub>, C<sub>14</sub>, C<sub>18</sub>, C<sub>20</sub>, C<sub>21</sub>, C<sub>22</sub>, C<sub>29</sub>, C<sub>30</sub>, C<sub>31</sub>, C<sub>32</sub>, C<sub>36</sub>, C<sub>37</sub>, C<sub>38</sub>, C<sub>39</sub> 0.001.  $\mu$ fd. disc ceramic.
- C7 -- Approx. 65-µµfd, variable (see text).
- C<sub>8</sub> 100-µµfd. silvered mica.
- C<sub>9</sub> 220-µµfd. mica.
- C11 17-µµfd, silvered mica.
- C15 Approx. 35-µµfd. variable (see text).
- $C_{16} 150$ -µµfd, mica trimmer or 30-µµfd, mica trimmer and 47-µµfd, silvered mica in parallel.
- C<sub>19</sub>, C<sub>24</sub>, C<sub>28</sub>, C<sub>35</sub> 30- $\mu\mu$ fd. mica trinimer (Millen 27030).
- C17, C25, C26, C27 100-µµfd. mica.

 $C_{23}$ ,  $C_{34} \leftarrow Approx$ , 25-µµfd, variable (see text).

- R1, R4, R6, R8-22,000 ohms, 1/2 watt.
- R2 3300 ohms, 1 watt.
- R3-33.000 ohms, I watt.
- R5 2200 ohms, 1 watt.
- $R_7 = 2350$  ohms, 2 watts (two 4700-ohm 1-watt in parallel).
- R<sub>9</sub> 1940 ohms, 2 watts (3300-ohm 1-watt and 4700ohm 1-watt in parallel).
- L<sub>1</sub> Approx. 12  $\mu$ h. 24 turns No. 22 d.e.e., 1-inch diam., close-wound, or smaller wire spaced to length of  $3_4$  inch (see text).
- $L_2 = Approx, 4.2 \ \mu h, = 17 \ turns, {}^3$  i-inch diam., 17/32

inch long (B & W 3012 Miniductor).

- L<sub>3</sub> Approx. 1.8 µh. 12 turns, <sup>8</sup>/<sub>4</sub>-inch diam., <sup>8</sup>/<sub>4</sub> inch long, tapped at 6 <sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> turns from ground end; see text (B & W 3011 Miniductor).
- L<sub>4</sub> Approx. 0.4 µh. 7 turns, ½-inch diam., 7/s inch long (B & W 3003 Miniductor).
- $J_1$  Four-contact male power connector (Jones P-304-AB),
- P<sub>1</sub> Four-contact female cable connector (Jones S-304-CCD).
- RFC<sub>1</sub>, RFC<sub>2</sub>, RFC<sub>3</sub>, RFC<sub>4</sub>, RFC<sub>5</sub>, RFC<sub>6</sub>, RFC<sub>7</sub>, RFC<sub>8</sub> - 2.5-mh, r.f. choke (National R-100-S).
- $S_1 = 4$ -pole 6-contact rotary switch (see text for assembly procedure).

World Radio Histor

C33 - 47-µµfd. mica.

Fig. 6-87 — Top interior view of the frequency multiplier showing the tubes, coils and the tuning-condenser gang. The 80-meter coil is in the foreground with the 6AK6 to the right. The 40-meter coil and plate trimmer are behind the 6AK6 with the 7-Mc. 6C4 to the left. In the second section to the rear, the 14-Mc. coil with its 21-Mc. tap is to the left, followed by the 28-Mc. plate trimmer and tube. The 20-meter 6C4, its plate trimmer and the 28-Mc. coil are to the right. The lips along the top edges of the box are duplicated on the bottom. The Condenser gang is made up of two Hammarlund type HFD-100 units.

spaced  $\frac{1}{2}$  inch from the index head, with its point contacts to the left. The second wafer (40) is spaced 1 inch from the first with its point contacts to the right. The third wafer (20 and 15) is spaced 2 inches from the second with its point contacts to the left. The last wafer (output) is spaced 1 inch from the preceding one with its point contacts also to the left. The rear mounting bracket is spaced  $\frac{1}{2}$  inch behind the last wafer. The front mounting bracket is fastened to the index head at the shaft bushing.

The tube sockets are placed  $\frac{7}{8}$  inch in from the edges of the chassis. The 6AK6 and the 14-Mc. 6C4 are to the right, spaced  $\frac{11}{4}$  and  $\frac{43}{4}$ inches respectively back from the front edge of the chassis. The 7-Mc. and 28-Mc. tubes are to the left, spaced back  $\frac{25}{8}$  and  $\frac{61}{4}$  inches respectively.

The shafts of the two tuning-condenser units are coupled together with a Millen type 39003 rigid coupling. It may be necessary to file down the front end of the coupling close to the setscrew hole to permit the setscrew to get a good grip on the short tail shaft of the front condenser. In the first condenser section at the front (80), the last 5 rotor plates are removed. In the second section (40), the first 9 rotor plates are removed. In the third section (20 and 15), the first 4 rotor plates are left in and the remainder are removed. The fourth stator plate of this section also is removed, but the rest of the stators are left in. In the last section, all rotors except the last four are removed.

The condenser gang is mounted on top of the chassis with its front mounting hole 1/2 inch from the front edge of the chassis. In assembling the unit, the condenser gang should be mounted first with screws at the two inner mounting holes only. Then the switch gang underneath should be positioned and the mounting holes in the brackets drilled to match the front and rear mounting holes of the condenser gang. In other words, the switch brackets should be fastened to the chassis by means of the front and rear condensermounting screws. After the holes have been drilled in the switch brackets, remove the front bracket, fasten it down with the front condensermounting screw, slide the front of the switch into the front bracket, fasten with the shaft nut, and then fasten the rear switch bracket with the rear condenser-mounting screw.



Mount the tube sockets with the plate terminals toward the nearest switch wafer.

The two grid trimmers,  $C_{19}$  and  $C_{28}$ , are mounted vertically underneath,  $C_{19}$  just to the rear of the second wafer and  $C_{28}$  immediately behind the third wafer. Half-ineh holes are drilled in the sides of the box and the chassis lips are notched out so that these condensers can be adjusted from the outside. The three plate trimmers are fastened on top of the chassis, using the nearest choke-mounting screw to fasten the grounded side to the chassis. The other terminal of the trimmer is soldered directly to the appropriate tuning-condenser stator terminal.

### Coils

Approximate inductance values for the coils are given under Fig. 6-86 for the benefit of those who must wind their own. However, the use of the B & W Miniductor coils has the advantage that the original coil dimensions can be duplicated closely. This is necessary if pruning of the coils for tracking is to be avoided. The 80-meter coil,  $L_1$ , is wound on a Millen bakelite 1-inch diameter form, fastened to the chassis. The other coils are supported by their leads which are soldered directly to the condenser terminals. The 21-Mc. tap on  $L_3$  should be made with a piece of wire about 3 inches long. When the outer ends of the coil are soldered across the condenser terminals, this tap, which comes near the top of the seventh



turn, should be bent in a sweeping curve around the *outer* side of the coil (counterclockwise as viewed from the front) to the end of a wire from the bandswitch, coming up through a hole in the chassis drilled alongside the condenser frame. The tap is soldered to the end of this switch wire. Don't clip off the excess tap length until adjustments for tracking, described later, have been made.

The Centralab switches have two rotor contacts and  $C_9$  and  $C_{17}$  are most conveniently mounted by opening up the lower rotor contact so that it does not make connection with the rotor, and then soldering the condenser between this terminal and the other rotor terminal above. The lower terminal is then used also as a tie point for the preceding  $0.001-\mu fd$ , plate blocking condenser and a lead going through the chassis to the tuning-condenser stator terminal above.  $C_{25}$  and  $C_{26}$  are soldered directly between the contact terminals of the two switch sections, while  $C_{27}$  is soldered between the terminal of the switch and the top end of the near-by grid choke,  $kFC_7$ .  $C_1$  is soldered between the input pin jack and the grid terminal of the 6AK6 socket.

### Mounting the Unit in a Transmitter

In mounting the multiplier unit on a chassis with other stages, it is not necessary, of course, that it be placed close to the panel. By using extension shafts, it can be placed as far to the rear as desired. The unit should be fastened

## **CHAPTER 6**

•

Fig. 6-88 — Bottom view of the multiplier chassis showing the bandswitch, r.f. chokes and other small components. The 80-meter circuit is at the top, the 10meter circuit at the bottom. The 20-meter grid trimmer is to the right and behind the second switch wafer. The 10-meter grid trimmer is to the left of the third wafer. This view also shows how the removable back of the enclosure is made. The text describes a somewhat different and simpler method of mounting the switch.

securely to the chassis and the amplifier tube mounted close to the output terminal. The grid of the amplifier should be connected to the output terminal of the multiplier unit with a short wire well spaced from the chassis, and the cathode of the amplifier should be grounded or by-passed immediately to the chassis. If the grid wire, or the path from the amplifier cathode to the multiplier box is much over 6 inches long, there may be a noticeable loss in output at 28 Me., and it may not be possible to resonate the higher-frequency multiplier circuits.

It is preferable also to have the oscillator located on the same chassis as the multiplier unit so that the coupling leads will be short. However, if the oscillator has the power and tuning range to spare, a piece of coax cable can be used, as shown in Fig. 6-89. In order to do this, it must be possible to retune the oscillator output circuit to compensate for the capacitance of the cable.

### Power Supply

A power supply delivering 375 to 380 volts at 60 or 70 ma. is required to operate the unit. To assure adequate output, the supply voltage should be close to this figure. A suitable circuit is shown in Fig. 6-90.

### Adjustment

Until the unit has been tuned up, no plate or screen voltage should be applied to the amplifier. Means should be provided for checking the amplifier grid current, or the voltage across its grid leak. While it should be possible to make adjust-

Stage	80			40		20/15		10	
Switch Position	Cath- ode	Grid Leak	Screen	Cath- ode	Grid Leak	('ath- ode	Grid Leak	Cath- ode	Grid Leak
80	65	25	235	17	0	19	0	16	0
40	60	30	221	40	97	19	0	16	0
20	59	30	211	36	96	72	126	16	0
15	58	31	207	34	89	93	106	16	0
10	58	30	207	34	89	69	120	45	130

## **HIGH-FREQUENCY TRANSMITTERS**

ments without metering the multiplier unit, the job will be a little easier if a milliammeter is inscrted temporarily in the high-voltage lead to the power supply, at least.

With the switch in the 80-meter position, turn on the oscillator and tune it to 3500 kc. (1750 kc. if the oscillator output is at 160 meters). If the oscillator is crystal-controlled, use the lowestfrequency crystal at hand. Now resonate the multiplier for maximum drive to the amplifier. With the multiplier tuned to resonance, adjust the coupling to the oscillator to give maximum drive to the amplifier. Maximum drive should occur with the oscillator developing a bias of 15 to 30 volts across the grid leak of the 6AK6. If no other means is available, the drive to the 6AK6 can be reduced by reducing the size of  $C_1$ , Fig. 6-89. If a VFO is used, the multiplier should be checked at both 3500 and 4000 kc. to make sure it is covering the proper frequency range. (The multiplier must always be retuned, of course, for any appreciable change in oscillator frequency.) It may be necessary to spread out the last few turns of  $L_1$  on the coil form to get the circuit to hit both ends of the band. Drive to the



amplifier should be essentially the same anywhere in the band, providing the output of the oscillator is reasonably constant.

With the 80-meter stage working properly, the switch should be turned to the 7-Mc. position, Set the VFO to 3500 kc. and resonate the multiplier. If there is no indication of drive to the amplifier, it may be necessary to adjust the 7-Mc. trimmer, C16, a little bit at a time, retuning the gang, until an indication of output is obtained. As an aid, a milliammeter in the highvoltage lead should show a dip when  $C_{16}$  is tuned through resonance. When an indication is obtained, tune the gang for peak drive and then adjust  $C_{16}$  to increase the peak. The correct adjustment is the one where no readjustment of either the gang or the trimmer will increase the drive. Now turn the oscillator to 3750 kc. and retune the multiplier. The drive to the amplifier should be essentially unchanged.

Now tune the oscillator back to 3500 kc. and retune the multiplier for maximum output. Leave the multiplier and oscillator tuning at this point and turn the bandswitch to 14 Mc. Adjust first  $C_{24}$ , and then  $C_{19}$ , for maximum amplifier grid current. It may take a little juggling back and forth between these two before a maximum reading of drive is obtained. The milliammeter in the high-voltage lead should



Fig. 6-90 — Circuit diagram of a suitable power supply for the frequency-multiplier unit.

C1, C2 - 16-µfd. 600-volt wkg. electrolytic.

R1 - 50,000 ohms, 10 watts.

 $L_1 = 12$ -hy. 80-ma. filter choke. St = S.p.s.t. toggle switch.

Ti — Power transformer: 350-0-350 volts r.m.s., 70 ma.: 6.3 volts, 2.5 amp.; 5 volts, 3 amp. (Stancor P-4078 or equivalent).

show a dip when  $C_{24}$  is tuned through resonance.

Leaving all tuning adjustments fixed, turn the switch to the 21-Me. position. Now adjust  $C_{24}$ carefully and note whether an increase or decrease in capacitance causes an increase in drive to the amplifier. If it is an increase, lengthen the tap wire (see preceding section on coils) slightly. Then turn the switch back to 14 Mc. and readjust  $C_{24}$  for maximum drive. Then switch back to 21 Mc. and check carefully again. By adjusting the length of the tap wire carefully, it should be possible to arrive at a condition where maximum drive is obtained both at 14 and 21 Mc. with the same adjustment of  $C_{24}$ .

Adjustment for 28 Mc. is similar to that for 14 Mc., although it will be more critical. Careful adjustment of  $C_{28}$  and  $C_{35}$  will be necessary for maximum amplifier drive. The 11-meter band is eovered by tuning the multiplier to resonance at the desired frequency with the switch in the 28-Mc. position. The various circuits should be checked with an absorption wavemeter to make sure that they are tuning to the right multiple.

When the above adjustments for the lowfrequency ends of the various bands have been completed as described, it should be found that the output will be essentially the same at any point within a given band.

The accompanying tables show typical voltage readings taken with the unit in operation driving the grid of a 6146 amplifier.

(Originally described in QST for April 1952.)

TABLE 6-II Typical Total Current and Output Readings*									
	80	40	20	15	10				
Amplifier bias ** (volts)	152	195	187	144	140				
Total B ma. at resonance	41	47	53	60	60				
Total B ma. off resonance	45	58	75	78	85				
Total B ma., no exicitation - 3	35			,					

## A 6146 Multiband Amplifier

Figs. 6-91 through 6-95 show the circuit and constructional details of a 6146 amplifier using a National multiband tuner (Type MB-40SL). It is capable of handling up to 90 watts input at 600 volts with plate-screen modulation, or up to 750 volts for c.w. operation. This unit, contained in a standard  $5 \times 6 \times$  9-inch aluminum box, was thereby removing the d.c. from the condenser. The center tap of the low-frequency coil,  $L_4$ , as well as the rotors of the low-frequency tank condenser are grounded. The low-frequency condenser section is the one at the rear.

A combination of fixed bias and a 6AQ5 clamp tube cuts the input to zero when excitation is



designed primarily as an amplifier to follow the Bandbox frequency-multiplier unit described in the preceding section.

The circuit diagram is shown in Fig. 6-91. To permit operation at 600 or 750 volts without exceeding the voltage breakdown rating of the tank condensers in the multiband tuner, the original series plate feed was changed to parallel feed, removed. The 6AQ5 is connected as a tetrode with its screen operated from the voltage divider made up of  $R_2$  and  $R_3$ . This provides a heavier clamper-tube current at low amplifier screen voltages than with the triode connection which permits the clamper-tube screen voltage to fall along with its plate voltage when excitation is removed from the amplifier.



Fig. 6-92 — An 80-watt am plifier using a 6146 and a multiband tuner.

•

## **HIGH-FREQUENCY TRANSMITTERS**

### Construction

All assembly and wiring can be done before the unit is placed in the box. As shown in Fig. 6-94, the two tubes are mounted on aluminum brackets slung from the left side of the frame of the tuner condenser. These are each 21/2 inches square. not including a half-inch mounting lip at the rear. (The two separate brackets might well be replaced with a single shelf running the length of the condenser frame.) In the photograph of Fig. 6-94, the lip of the 6146 bracket is bent upward, while the lip of the 6AQ5 bracket is bent downward to provide room for the components underneath. (If a single shelf is used, the lip should be bent

downward.) The only other essential precaution is to place the socket of the 6146 far enough away from the tuning unit so that the tube will not interfere with the swinging of the output link. The brackets are fastened to the side strip of the condenser frame by drilling and tapping holes in the frame for 6-32 screws.

Before the brackets are fastened permanently, the holes for the two controls should be spotted on the front of the box. These should be centered 11/8 inches from the bottom of the box in Fig. 6-92, and so that they will line up with the two control shafts when the bottom of the condenser frame is resting against the left-hand side of the box. (The stand-off insulators furnished with the unit should be removed and the tuner mounted directly by its metal feet.) The shafts are cut off so that they may be coupled to panel-bearing units. Holes for the power plug and coax connector should be punched at the rear of the box where they will not interfere with the placement of the unit in the box. Holes should also be drilled in the box for the output connector,  $J_2$ . This is placed near the junction of the two brackets, as seen in Fig. 6-94.

Three-terminal tie points should be fastened underneath the 6AQ5 bracket for mounting the

Fig. 6-94 - Side view of the multiband amplifier.



Fig. 6-93 — Bottom view of the multiband amplifier.

four resistors. The grid choke,  $RFC_1$ , is mounted on a small angle fastened underneath the 6146 bracket.

In Fig. 6-95, the plate r.f. choke is threaded onto one of the assembly screws, while the plate by-pass condenser,  $C_3$ , is fastened by its lower terminal with a screw tapped into the condenser frame. The plate blocking condenser,  $C_4$ , is mounted by soldering one of its terminals to the rear stator terminal of the tank condenser. The parasitic choke,  $L_1$ , is wound in the lead from the outer end of the plate r.f. choke to the 6146 plate cap. A short lead connects one of the link terminals to  $J_2$ , while the other link terminal is grounded to one of the  $J_2$  mounting screws.

All power wiring should be done with shielded wire. This includes all wiring to the clamper tube.

Depending on the most convenient arrangement in combining the amplifier with other units, it may be used either in a horizontal position, as shown in Fig. 6-92, or in a vertical position. In the latter case, ventilating holes should be drilled in the side that will be the top.

The following section discusses power supply for and operation of this amplifier.

(Originally described in QST, May, 1953.)





## A Bandswitching 80-Watt Transmitter

Figs. 6-96 through 6-99 show how the three preceding units may be combined to form a bandswitching VFO transmitter covering 6 bands. Power supply for all units is included.

### **Circuit Considerations**

Fig. 6-97 shows the circuit external to the individual units. High voltage for the 6146 amplifier is obtained from an inexpensive b.e. transformer,  $T_1$ , working into a bridge rectifier. The supply delivers 550 volts at a full load to the amplifier of 150 ma. on e.w. A choke-input filter is used with this supply, and the 6X5GT rectifier filaments are operated from the 6.3-volt winding of this transformer. The required filter-condenser voltage rating is obtained by connecting 500-volt electrolytics in series. A supply voltage of 350 for the VFO, frequency multiplier, and the screen of the 6146 is obtained from a second supply using a condenser-input filter. All transmittertube heaters are operated from the 6.3-volt winding of the low-voltage transformer.

Provision is made for the external connection of a plate modulator. There are Millen safety terminals at the rear for connecting in the output of the modulator, and an audio choke is included for the screen circuit. Also, an a.e. outlet and switch,  $S_1$ , are available for the modulator power supply.

The rotary switch,  $S_3$ , performs, in a single operation, the combined duties of power control and meter switching. In the mid-position, the meter is switched to read grid current, plate voltage is removed from the 6146, and the screen is grounded. While the switch is in this position, the VFO may be set to frequency and the frequency multiplier tuned for the desired amplifier grid current without putting a signal on the air. When the switch is thrown to the right, plate and screen voltages are applied to the amplifier, and the meter reads plate current with a 10-times shunt across the meter. This is the operating position for e.w.

For 'phone operation, the switch is thrown to the left, instead of to the right. In this position, the modulator-input terminals are connected in the plate circuit of the 6146, and the choke,  $L_1$ , is inserted in the screen lead.

### Construction

The components are assembled on a  $13 \times 17 \times$  3-inch steel chassis, with a  $\frac{3}{16}$ -inch aluminum rack panel 834 inches high. An aluminum chassis could be used, but is not necessary since the units are already shielded in aluminum boxes. Also, since each of the r.f. units is shielded and filtered, the power wiring has been done with ordinary unshielded wire, although, of course, there is no objection to the use of shielded wire.

The frequency-multiplier unit is placed at the left-hand end of the chassis, far enough to the rear to allow space for shaft couplings between the panel and the shaft bearings. To facilitate the use of coax-cable r.f. connections between the units, the bakelite pin-jack input and output terminals of the frequency-multiplier unit were replaced with shielded 'phono jacks, similar to those suggested for the VFO and amplifier units.

The amplifier is mounted at the right-hand end of the chassis. If the shafts of the panel bearings for the amplifier unit are long enough, the unit can be spaced back of the panel the same distance as the multiplier unit. In this case, the link shaft is run through a  $\frac{1}{4}$ -inch hole in the

Fig.  $6.90 - \Lambda n$  80-watt 6-band handswitching transmitter built around VFO, frequency-multiplier and output-stage units described in preceding sections.



## **HIGH-FREQUENCY TRANSMITTERS**



Fig. 6-97 — Power and control circuits for the 80-watt multiband transmitter.

- C<sub>1</sub>, C<sub>2</sub>, C<sub>3</sub>, C<sub>4</sub> -- 16- $\mu$ fd. Aerovox PRS-16), -16-µfd. 500-volt electrolytie (c.g.,
- R1 100 ohms, 1/2 watt. R2
- 10-times shunt for 25-ma, meter (No, 30 wire wound on 1-watt resistor of 50 ohms or more and connected to its terminals. Adjust turns to required multiplication, see instruments chapter). R3, R4 20,000 ohms, 10 watts.
- Rs - 50,000 ohms, 10 watts.
- 35-hy. 15-ma. choke (e.g., Thordarson T-20C51). 7-hy. 150-ma. filter choke (e.g., Halldorson C-La
- 1.2 5027).
- 10.5-by, 110-ma, filter choke (e.g., Staneor 1001),
   1 3-inch d.c. milliammeter, 25-ma, scale (e.g., Triplett 327A).  $MA_1 -$

panel, while the tuning-condenser shaft is cut to fit the insert of the National AM dial. If the shafts have been cut short, however, it will be necessary to move the unit farther back to make room for shaft couplings.

The VFO unit is mounted in the rear left-hand corner of the chassis, with the remotetuning cable connector toward the left.

All three units are fastened down to the chassis with self-tapping screws from the bottom. If a steel chassis is used, the aluminum cover plates of the multiplier and amplifier units should be used between the chassis and the bottoms of the boxes, the self-tapping mounting screws going through both the chassis and the covers into the lips of the boxes. The paint on the chassis should

Fig. 6-98 — Inside view of the 80-watt multiband rig. Two power supplies are sandwiched in between the individually-shielded units. Along the rear are modulator-input terminals, a.c. input connector, and an outlet for an external modulator power supply:

- $P_1 -$ Octal male connector (Amphenol 86-PF-8).
- $\mathbf{P}_2$ Female cable connector to fit VFO connector (Jones S-304-CCT),
- $P_3$ - Female cable connector to fit multiplier connector (Jones S-304-CCT).  $S_1, S_2$
- S.p.s.t. toggle switch. S3-
  - 4-wafer 3-position rotary switch, bakelite insula-tion (e.g., Centralab 1427, or assembled from Switchkit parts).
- T<sub>1</sub> Power transformer: 375 0–375 volts r.m.s., 150 ma.: 5 volts, 3 amp.; 6.3 volts, 4.7 amp. (e.g. Thordarson 24R06U).
- T2 Power transformer: 360 0-360 volts r.m.s., 120 ma.; 5 volts, 3 anip.; 6.3 volts, 3.5 amp. (e.g., Halldorson P-9315).

be removed in the areas to be covered by the units, so that the shielding will make good electrical contact with the chassis. This operation can be made easier by using an application of paint remover, being careful not to allow the remover to ereep beyond the limits of the edges of the



World Radio History



units and thus spoil the appearance of the chassis.

The low-voltage transformer,  $T_2$ , is centered between the two larger units, and placed as far to the rear as possible. A flush-mounting transformer happened to be on hand, but a vertical type is easier to mount, since it requires no large cutout on the chassis. The 5V3GT is placed to the rear of the amplifier box, in such a position that it will not interfere with the power plug.

The high-voltage transformer,  $T_1$ , is mounted in front of the low-voltage unit with a space of about  $\frac{1}{4}$  inch between the two. The two 6N5GTs are, in turn, mounted forward of the high-voltage transformer, spaced about 3 inches apart, center to center. The 5V4G is in front of the right-hand 6X5GT, leaving space for the meter.

The meter is mounted behind the panel as a safety measure. It is held in an aluminum bracket, with the face of the meter flush with the front edge of the chassis. The meter should be placed so that its center comes about 7 inches from the left-hand end of the chassis, and the center of its scale about 51/2 inches up from the bottom edge. The meter-scale opening in the panel is cut out to fit the inside dimensions of a National CFA chart frame. If desired, a hole can be drilled in the panel to give access to the zeroadjust screw of the meter. A similar chart frame, centered 3½ inches below, helps to balance the panel layout and is very useful for logging the multiband-tuner settings for the various bands, since it is not too difficult to tune the amplifier up on a harmonic, instead of the desired fundamental, without realizing it.

The two power switches are placed either side of a line running through the two multiplier controls, and the rotary switch,  $S_2$ , is centered on a line between the two amplifier controls. These three switches are mounted 1½ inches up from the bottom edge.

Panel bearings for the controls are not used, the short extension shafts riding in 14-inch holes, reamed out just enough to provide free turning without excessive play.

Holes lined with rubber grommets are drilled

## **CHAPTER 6**

Fig. 6-99 — Bottom view of the 80-watt bandswitching transmitter. The low-voltage powersupply components and sereen audio choke are in the upper left-hand corner. Below, at the center, are the filter components for the high-voltage supply. The biasing battery is held in place by an aluminum cleat and a pair of long machine screws. The power-coolford switch is at the lower left.

in the chassis to pass the power leads to the three units. R.f. connections between the VFO output and the multiplier input, and between the multiplier output and amplifier input are made with RG-59/U coax cable in lengths as short as possible to minimize capacitance and yet provide shielding. The

plugs that fit the shielded 'phono jacks can be easily attached to the ends of the RG-59/U by baring the center conductor so that it will extend through to the tip of the plug, and fraying the braid out around the shell of the plug, and soldering. Be sure, however, to leave enough of the inner insulation so that the inner conductor does not short against the grounded shell. After the cables have been carefully made up, it would be well to check for short-circuits with an ohmmeter.

The filter and audio chokes can be seen in the bottom-view photograph. The filter condensers are also mounted under the chassis, supported at each end on terminal strips. The biasing battery is held in place with a simple clamping arrangement. A pair of 2-inch machine screws are spaced slightly greater than the width of the battery. They are fastened permanently in place with nuts. An aluminum cleat with holes to fit the machine-screw spacing is held down with nuts and lockwashers at the bottom ends of the screws.

The cabinet shown is a Par-Metal DL-128. A hole is cut in the left side, toward the rear, to line up with the connector in the VFO unit for the remote-tuning cable.

### Adjustment

Adequate drive is obtained with the VFO screen operated from the tap between the two VR tubes in the VFO unit (approximately 108 volts). With a fixed bias of 45 volts and a 12,000ohm grid leak, grid currents in excess of 3 ma. should be obtainable on all bands. It should be limited to 3 ma. by detuning the multiplier unit. If the power supply shown is duplicated, the high-voltage supply should deliver 550 volts under a load of 150 ma. plus bleeder current, making the operating input to the amplifier a little over 80 watts. For 'phone operation, the 40-watt 807 modulator shown in the chapter on speech amplifiers and modulators should be just about right for this transmitter. The modulationtransformer secondary should be set for 5000 ohms, and the plate current under modulation should be limited to 112 ma.

## A High-Power Tetrode Amplifier

Figs. 6-100 through 6-105 show the construction of a high-power tetrode amplifier covering all bands from 3.5 to 29 Mc. It is capable of being operated at an input of 1 kw., although it will operate efficiently at less input.

The eircuit is shown in Fig. 6-101. The tube is the type 4-250A. A National type MB-40L "all-band" tank is used in the grid circuit. This eircuit is a combination of inductance and variable condensers that may be tuned to any of the above bands without switching or changing coils. A pi-section tank circuit is used in the output. It is designed to feed into a flat 52- or 75-ohm line, either feeding an antenna directly or through a conventional antenna coupler. A B & W rollingtype variable inductance makes coil switching unnecessary in this circuit also.  $L_2$  is a separate inductance section for 28 Mc.  $S_1$  selects the proper network output capacitance.

The amplifier is neutralized by the capacitivebridge method.  $C_2$  is the neutralizing condenser.  $L_1$  and  $R_1$  form a v.h.f. parasitie-suppressor circuit. The plate of the amplifier is parallel-fed through the special r.f. choke,  $RFC_4$ . All power leads are filtered for v.h.f. harmonics.  $B_1$  is a small electric blower required as an aid in dissipating the heat developed inside the shielding enclosure.  $RFC_3$  is a safety choke to provide a d.c. path to ground in case  $C_{27}$  breaks down. Otherwise, high voltage will appear on the output cable if the condenser fails.

### Construction

The amplifier is assembled on a standard chassis,  $17 \times 10 \times 3$  inches, with a  $10^{1}/_{2}$ -inch panel. The grid tuner is mounted in a separate shielding enclosure at the right-hand end of the chassis in Fig. 6-102. This box is  $3^{1}/_{2}$  inches wide, 5 inches high and 7 inches deep, made of  $\frac{1}{16}$ -inch aluminum sheet. This same material is used throughout the construction. A coax fitting at the rear of the grid-tuner box is the input con-

nector. The grid and neutralizing leads pass through the side of the box into the large compartment. The constructional details of the latter may be seen in Fig. 6-101. The over-all dimensions of this section are  $133\frac{1}{8} \times 10 \times 7\frac{1}{6}$  inches high. Three-quarter-inch flanges are bent along all four edges of the side pieces. The front and back pieces have these lips only along the top edges, since they are made high enough to allow an overlap ever the edge of the chassis at the bottom. All sides, except the top, are fastened together with 6-32 screws and nuts. The top lid is fastened down by tapping screw holes along the lips around the top edges, and is perforated with  $\frac{1}{2}$ -inch holes above the area of the tube.

It is important that the pieces for this enclosure be made accurately so as to leave no gap at any point. If necessary, the pieces can be made by a local sheet-metal worker.

The plate tank condenser is mounted centrally in the box, using sheet-aluminum brackets to space it from the bottom. The condenser is placed with its end plates running vertically, i.e., on its side. The variable inductance,  $L_3$ , is placed alongside the condenser with the small fixed coil,  $L_2$ , mounted by fastening one end to the forward right-hand terminal of the variable inductance and the other end to a lug under one of the rear condenser-stator nuts. A flexible strip of copper connects the coax output fitting to the rear terminal of the variable coil.

The output condensers, excepting  $C_4$ , are stacked up behind the variable coil and the selector switch.  $S_1$ , is mounted on a small bracket to the rear, so that a control shaft may be run to the panel in between the tank coil and condenser.  $C_4$  is soldered directly across the output connector. It may be helpful to series-resonate this condenser at the frequency of a local TV station to minimize TVI. This can be done by adjusting the length of the condenser leads and checking with a grid-dip oscillator, as described in the



### ۲

Fig. 0-100 — A high-power shielded tetrode amplifier. The small enclosure at the left contains an all-band tuner for the grid circuit. The dial near the center controls the input condenser of a pisection output tank, while the knob at the right is the control for a roller-type variable inductance. The switch below selects the proper output eapacitance.

•

## CHAPTER 6



Fig. 6-101 — Circuit diagram of the amplifier. The broken line separates the above- and below-chassis wiring. C1 - 220-µµfd, mica.

- $C_2$  Disc-type neutralizing condenser, approx. 2 μμfd, with at least ¼-inch spacing (National NC-800A
- C<sub>3</sub> 150-µµfd. variable, 6000 volts, 0.171-inch spacing (National TMA-150A).
- C<sub>4</sub>, C<sub>5</sub>, C<sub>6</sub> 100- $\mu\mu$ fd, mica, 2500 volts. C<sub>7</sub>, C<sub>8</sub> 220- $\mu\mu$ fd, mica, 2500 volts. C<sub>9</sub>, C<sub>10</sub> 470- $\mu\mu$ fd, mica, 2500 volts.

- C<sub>11</sub> to C<sub>22</sub>, inc, -- 0.001-µfd. disc ceramic, 600 volts.
- C<sub>23</sub>, C<sub>24</sub>, C<sub>25</sub>, C<sub>26</sub> 0.005-μfd. disc ceramic, 600 volts,
   C<sub>27</sub>, C<sub>28</sub>, C<sub>29</sub> 500-μμfd. ceramic, 10,000 volts (Centralab TV3-501).
- $R_1 \rightarrow$  Five 680-ohm 1-watt carbon resistors in parallel.  $L_1 \rightarrow$  Parasitic coil, 5½ turns No. 11, ¼-inch diam.
- $R_1$  tapped across 3 turns.  $L_2 = 5$  turns No. 10, 2½ inches long, 1½-inch diam.  $L_3 = Variable$  inductor, 15  $\mu$ h, max. (B & W 3852).

chapter on TVI. At the lower TV frequencies, the condenser lead can be formed into a small coil of a turn or so.

The plate-feed r.f. choke,  $RFC_4$ , is placed to the rear of the tank condenser. To be effective on all bands, including the 21-Mc. band, it is necessary to alter the windings slightly, as shown in Fig. 6-103. It is a good idea to check the choke for resonances with a grid-dip oscillator after it has been placed in the position it is to occupy, but before it has been wired in, because proximity to surrounding components and shielding may affect the resonances. Performance of the choke will be poor at any frequency where the g.d.o. shows a resonance with the terminals of the choke short-circuited.

The tube socket is mounted above the chassis on spacers that are just long enough so that the shielded wires going to the screen and filament terminals, with their by-pass condensers, just span the distance between the socket terminals and lugs fastened to the chassis below each terminal. The lead then immediately passes through the chassis. Strips of copper sheet connect the plate terminal of the tube to the top terminal of the plate choke and the rotor terminal of the neutralizing condenser mounted on the righthand wall of the enclosure, as shown in Fig.

- $L_4$  To series-resonate with  $C_4$  at desired TV frequency.
- Blower and motor, 115 v. a.c. (available from Allied Radio, Chicago, catalog No. 72-702 motor and 72-703 fan).
- $J_1$ ,  $J_2$  Coaxial connectors, ehassis-mounting type. MA<sub>1</sub> - 0-50 ma, d.c. milliammeter.
- RFC<sub>1</sub>, RFC<sub>2</sub>, RFC<sub>3</sub>-2.5-mh, r.f. choke (NOTE: RFC<sub>1</sub> is not supplied with the National MB-40L multiband unit).
- RFC<sub>4</sub> -National type R-175 choke modified as shown in Fig. 6-111.
- RFC5, RFC6-2-µh. r.f. choke, 500 ma. (National R-60).
- S<sub>1</sub>-Single-circuit 7-position ceramic switch, progressive shorting (Centralab type P-I-S wafer).
- T<sub>1</sub> Filament transformer, 5v. 13 amp. (UTC S-59).

6-102. The strips should be fitted carefully so as to avoid placing any strain on the cap terminal of the tube. The filament transformer is fastened down in the forward right-hand corner. Power terminals are lined up along the rear edge of the chassis. All r.f. grounds should be made directly to the chassis with the shortest possible lead length — even a half inch is worth saving.

Underneath, the d.e. and a.e. leads come out in shielded wire. A  $0.001-\mu fd$ , disc ceramic by-pass is used across both ends of each lead excepting the high-voltage lead (see TVI chapter for method of connection). The high-voltage lead is by-passed with TV filter capacitors.  $RFC_6$  is installed close to the high-voltage terminal.  $C_{20}$ ,  $C_{25}$ ,  $C_{26}$  and  $C_{29}$ likewise are fastened directly to the power terminals where the leads leave the chassis. The shielding of the power leads is grounded to the chassis by soldering to lugs wherever they pass through the chassis. The power wires are intentionally made to follow long paths around the edge of the chassis to provide additional harmonic attenuation. The braid is grounded at frequent intervals by soldering to lugs that also serve as hold-downs.

The blower is mounted on a bracket formed from a strip of aluminum. Air is forced through a set of holes in the chassis that duplicate in

## **HIGH-FREQUENCY TRANSMITTERS**

size and arrangement the holes in the 4-250A socket. The filament-transformer terminals project through clearance holes drilled in the chassis, and the four v.h.f. by-pass condensers,  $C_{21}$ ,  $C_{22}$ ,  $C_{23}$  and  $C_{24}$ , are connected directly from the terminals to grounding lugs.

### Adjustment

The diagram of a suitable power supply for this amplifier is shown in Fig. 6-105. With 150 volts bias, a grid current of about 25 ma. is optimum, although the plate efficiency will change but little with any grid current between 15 and 30 ma. The single fixed link provided with the grid tuner will not provide uniform loading of the driver stage with coax input, so means should be provided in the output circuit of the driver for varying the ecoupling.

Optimum screen voltage is about 400 and the screen current should run between 50 and 75 ma., depending on the plate voltage used. At 2750 volts, a full kilowatt can be run to the amplifier, but it will work well at plate voltages as low as 1500, with a plate current of 350 ma.

It is important that the coaxial line into which the amplifier works be closely matched (see transmission-line chapter) at its terminating end, otherwise there is danger of damage to the mica output condensers. To protect the contacts on the variable inductance, adjustments should be made with litle or no power input to the amplifier. Experience will show where the tap should be



Fig, 6-103 — The R-175 choke as modified to work on all amateur bands in the 3.5- to 30-Me, range, including 21 Me.

placed for each band and thereafter it can be preset before applying full power. When reducing plate voltage, provision should also be made for reducing screen voltage, since otherwise the screen current may run to dangerous proportions.

It is advisable to set the tank condenser so as to operate the output circuit at a Q in the neighborhood of 12, as shown in the graph of Fig. 6–9, although it may not be possible to attain this figure at the extremes of the tuning range.

Fig. 6-102 — Interior of the shielding compartment housing the 4-250A and its output circuit. The neutralizing condenser and filament transformer may be seen in the forward right-hand corner.



## **CHAPTER 6**



The neutralizing condenser should be adjusted for minimum reaction on the grid current under actual operating conditions. The approximate setting can be determined by the use of a grid-dip oscillator tuned to the operating frequency. All voltages should be removed and the g.d.o. coupled to the plate tank circuit. The neutralizing condenser should be adjusted for minimum r.f. in the grid tank circuit when both tanks are tuned to resonance. R.f. in the grid circuit can be checked with the aid of an indicating wavemeter of the type described in the measurements

chapter. Final touching up can be done after checking the operation with voltages applied to the tube. In connection with the neutralizing circuit, the value of  $C_1$  is fairly critical, but a capacitance within usual tolerance of the marked value should be satisfactory.

In adjusting the loading on the amplifier, increasing the output capacitance, or increasing the inductance, or both, while maintaining resonance with the tank condenser, will reduce the loading and vice versa.

(Originally described in QST, Oct. 1952.)

Fig. 6-105 - Circuit diagram of a power-supply system for the highpower tetrode amplifier. C1-8-µfd. 450-volt electrolytic. C2, C3 - 4-ufd. 600-volt electrolytic. C4-2-µfd. oil-filled, voltage rating same as transformer r.m.s. C5 - 4.µfd. oil-filled, voltage rating same as transformer r.m.s. - 25,000 ohms, 25 watts.  $\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{1}}$ R<sub>2</sub> - 25,000 ohms, 50 watts. R<sub>3</sub> - 50,000 ohms, 50 watts. R4, R5-25,000 ohms, 100 watts. L<sub>1</sub> — 30-hy. 50-ma. filter choke. 1.2 — 5/25-hy. 150-ma. swinging. 1.3 — 20-hy. 150-ma. smoothing. L4 — 5/25-hy. 500-ma. swinging. L5 — 20-hy. 500-ma. smoothing. I1 - 115-volt lamp of suitable size to reduce voltage for tune-up. - 20-amp. s.p.s.t. switch.  $S_1$ S2, S3, S4 - 15-amp. s.p.s.t. switch. - Ceramie s.p.s.t. rotary switch. T1, T3 - Filament transformer: 5 volts, 3 amp. T2-Plate transformer: 400 volts d.c., 150 ma. T<sub>4</sub> - Filament transformer: 2.5 volts, 10 amp., 10,000-volt insulation. To - Plate transformer: up to 2750 volts d.e., 350 ma. VR — VR-150-30.

 $S_1$  turns on all filaments and the bias supply.  $S_2$  turns on the screen supply and  $S_3$  the high-voltage supply. With  $S_4$  open, a 115-volt lamp is inserted in scries with the high-voltage-transformer primary to lower plate voltage for adjustment. Opening  $S_5$  likewise reducess screen voltage. With all switches except  $S_2$  closed,  $S_2$ 



becomes the main control switch. The tap on  $R_3$  should be adjusted to give the desired screen voltage under operating conditions with  $S_5$  closed. Bias is obtained from the parallel-connected 5Z3 half-wave rectifier. The tap on  $R_1$  should be adjusted until the VR tube just ignites without excitation to the amplifier.

٠

Fig. 6-104 — Bottom view of the high-power tetrode amplifier, showing the small ventilating fan and the shielded power wiring. No bottom plate on the chassis is necessary.

# **Power Supplies**

Essentially pure direct-current plate supply is required to prevent serious hum in the output of receivers, speech amplifiers, modulators and transmitters. In the case of transmitters, d.c. plate supply is also dictated by government regulation.

The filaments of tubes in a transmitter or modulator usually may be operated from a.c. However, the filament power for tubes in a receiver (excepting power audio tubes), or those in a speech amplifier may be a.c. only if the tubes are of the indirectly-heated-cathode type, if hum is to be avoided.

Wherever commercial a.c. lines are available, high-voltage d.c. plate supply is most cheaply and conveniently obtained by the use of a transformerrectifier-filter system. An example of such a system is shown in Fig. 7-1.

In this circuit, the plate transformer,  $T_1$ , steps up the a.c. line voltage to the required high voltage. The a.c. is changed to pulsating d.c. by the rectifiers,  $V_1$  and  $V_2$ . Pulsations in the d.c. appearing at the output of the rectifier (points A and B) are smoothed out by the filter composed of  $L_1$  and  $C_1$ .  $R_1$ is a bleeder resistor. Its chief function is to discharge  $C_1$ , as a safety measure, after the supply is turned off. By proper selection of value,  $R_1$  also helps to minimize changes in output voltage with changes in the amount of current drawn from the supply.  $T_2$  is a step-down transformer to provide filament voltage for the rectifier tubes. It must have sufficient insulation between the



filament winding and the core and primary winding to withstand the peak value of the rectified voltage.  $T_3$  is a similar transformer to supply the filaments or heaters of the tubes in the equipment operating from the supply. Frequently, these three transformers are combined in a single unit having a single 115-volt primary winding and the required three secondary windings on one core.

## **Rectifier Circuits**

### Half-Wave Rectifier

Fig. 7-2 shows three rectifier circuits covering most of the common applications in amateur equipment. Fig. 7-2A is the circuit of a half-wave rectifier. During that half of the a.c. cycle when the rectifier plate is positive with respect to the cathode (or filament), current will flow through the rectifier and load. But during the other half of the cycle, when the plate is negative with respect to the cathode, no current can flow. The shape of the output wave is shown in (A) at the right. It shows that the current always flows in the same direction but that the flow of current is not continuous and is pulsating in amplitude.

The average output voltage — the voltage read by the usual d.c. voltmeter — with this circuit is 0.45 times the r.m.s. value of the a.c. voltage delivered by the transformer secondary. Because the frequency of the pulses in the output wave is relatively low (one pulsation per cycle), considerable filtering is required to provide adequately smooth d.c. output, and for this reason this circuit is usually limited to applications where the current involved is small, such as in supplies for cathode-ray tubes and for protective bias in a transmitter.

Another disadvantage of the half-wave rectifier circuit is that the transformer must have a considerably higher primary volt-ampere rating (approximately 40 per cent greater), for the same d.c. power output, than in other rectifier circuits.

### Full-Wave Center-Tap Rectifier

The most universally-used rectifier circuit is shown in Fig. 7-2B. Being essentially an arrangement in which the outputs of two halfwave rectifiers are combined, it makes use of both halves of the a.c. cycle. A transformer with a center-tapped secondary is required with the circuit. When the plate of  $V_1$  is positive, current flows through the load to the center-tap. Current cannot flow through  $V_2$  because at this instant its cathode (or filament) is positive in respect to its plate. When the polarity reverses,  $V_2$  conducts and current again flows through the load to the center-tap, this time through  $V_2$ .

The average output voltage is 0.45 times the r.m.s. voltage of the entire transformer-secondary, or 0.9 times the voltage across half of the transformer secondary. For the same total secondary voltage, the average output voltage is the same as that delivered with a half-wave rectifier. However, as can be seen from the sketches of the output waveform in (B) to the right, the frequency of the output pulses is twice that of the half-wave rectifier. Therefore much less filtering is required. Since the rectifiers work alternately, each handles half of the average load current. Therefore the load current which may be drawn from this circuit is twice the rated load current of a single rectifier.

Two separate transformers,

with their primaries connected in parallel and secondaries connected in series (with the proper polarity) may be used in this circuit. However, if this substitution is made, the primary volt-ampere rating must be reduced to about 40 per cent less than twice the rating of one transformer.

### Full-Wave Bridge Rectifier

Another full-wave rectifier circuit is shown in Fig. 7-2C. In this arrangement, two rectifiers operate in series on each half of the cycle, one rectifier being in the lead to the load, the other being in the return lead. Over that portion of the cycle when the upper end of the transformer secondary is positive with respect to the other end, current flows through  $V_1$ , through the load and thence through  $V_2$ . During this period current cannot flow through rectifier  $V_4$  because its plate is negative with respect to its cathode (or filament). Over the other half of the cycle, current flows through  $V_3$ , through the load and thence through  $V_4$ . Three filament transformers



Fig. (-2 — Fundamental vacuum-tube rectifier circuits,  $\Lambda$  — Half-wave, B — Full-wave, C — Full-wave bridge, A.e.-input and pulsating-d.e. output wave forms are shown at the right. Output-voltage values indicated do not include rectifier drops. Other types of rectifiers may be substituted in these circuits.

are needed — one for  $V_1$  and  $V_3$  and one each for  $V_2$  and  $V_4$ . The output waveshape (C), to the right, is the same as that from the simple center-tap rectifier circuit. The ouptut voltage obtainable with this circuit is 0.9 times the r.m.s. voltage delivered by the transformer secondary. For the same total transformersecondary voltage, the average output voltage when using the bridge rectifier will be twice that obtainable with the center-tap rectifier circuit. However, when comparing rectifier circuits for use with the same transformer, it should be remembered that the power which a given transformer will handle remains the same regardless of the rectifier circuit used. If the output voltage is doubled by substituting the bridge circuit for the center-tap rectifier circuit, only half the rated load current can be taken from the transformer without exceeding its normal rating. The value of load current which may be drawn from the bridge rectifier circuit is twice the rated d.c. load current of a single rectifier.

### Rectifiers

### Cold-Cathode Rectifiers

Tube rectifiers fall into three general classifications as to type. The cold-cathode type is a diode which requires no cathode heating. Certain types will handle up to 350 ma, at 200 volts d.e. output. The internal drop in most types lies between 60 and 90 volts. Rectifiers of this kind are produced in both half-wave (single-diode) and full-wave (double-diode) types.

### **High-Vacuum Rectifiers**

High-vacuum rectifiers depend entirely upon the thermionic emission from a heated filament and are characterized by a relatively high

## **POWER SUPPLIES**

internal resistance. For this reason, their application usually is limited to low power, although there are a few types designed for medium and high power in cases where the relatively high internal voltage drop may be tolerated. This high internal resistance makes them less susceptible to damage from temporary overload and they are free from the bothersome electrical noise sometimes associated with other types of rectifiers.

Some rectifiers of the high-vacuum full-wave type in the so-called receiver-tube class will handle up to 250 ma. at 400 to 500 volts d.c. output. Those in the higher-power class can be used to handle up to 500 ma. at 2000 volts d.c. in fullwave circuits. Most low-power high-vacuum rectifiers are produced in the full-wave type, while those for greater power are invariably of the halfwave type. A few of the lower-voltage types have indirectly heated cathodes, but are limited in heater-to-cathode voltage rating.

### Mercury-Vapor Rectifiers

In mercury-vapor rectifiers the internal resistance is reduced by the introduction of a small amount of mercury which vaporizes under the heat of the filament, the vapor ionizing upon the application of voltage. The voltage drop through a rectifier of this type is practically constant at approximately 15 volts regardless of the load current. Tubes of this type are produced in sizes that will handle any voltage or current likely to be encountered in amateur transmitters. For high power they have the advantage of cheapness. Rectifiers of this type, however, have a tendency toward a type of oscillation which produces noise in near-by receivers. This can usually be eliminated by suitable filtering.

As with high-vacuum rectifiers, full-wave types are available in the lower-power ratings only. For higher power, two tubes are required in a fullwave circuit.

### Selenium Rectifiers

Selenium rectifiers are available which make it possible to design a power supply capable of delivering up to 400 or 450 volts, 200 ma. These units have the advantages of compactness, low internal voltage drop (about 5 volts), and the fact that no filament transformer is needed. However, to limit the charging current with condenser input, a resistance of 25 to 100 ohms should be used in series with the rectifier. They may be substituted in any of the basic circuits shown in Fig. 7-2, the terminal marked "+" or "cathode" corresponding to the filament in these circuits. Circuits in which the selenium rectifier is particularly adaptable are shown later in Figs. 7-20 through 7-22. Since they develop little heat if operated within their ratings, they are especially suitable for use in equipment requiring minimum temperature variation.

Typical ratings are listed in the tube tables.

### **Rectifier Ratings**

Vacuum-tube rectifiers are subject to limitations as to breakdown voltage and current-handling capability. Some types are rated in terms of the maximum r.m.s. voltage which should be applied to the rectifier plate. This is sometimes dependent on whether a choke- or condenserinput filter is used. Others, particularly mercuryvapor types, are rated according to maximum inverse peak voltage — the peak voltage between plate and cathode while the tube is not conducting. In the circuits of Fig. 7-2, the inverse peak voltage across each rectifier is 1.4 times the r.m.s. value of the voltage delivered by the *entire* transformer secondary.

All rectifier tubes are rated also as to maximum d.e. load current and many, in addition, carry peak-current ratings, all of which should be carefully observed to assure normal tube life. With a condenser-input filter, the peak current may run several times the d.c. current, while with a chokeinput filter the peak value may not run more than a few per cent above the d.c. load current.

### **Operation of Rectifiers**

In operating rectifiers requiring filament or cathode heating, care should be taken to provide the correct filament voltage at the tube terminals. Low filament voltage can cause excessive voltage drop in high-vacuum rectifiers and a considerable reduction in the inverse peak-voltage rating of a mercury-vapor tube. Filament connections to the rectifier socket should be firmly soldered, particularly in the case of the larger mercury-vapor tubes whose filaments operate at low voltage and high current. The socket should be selected with care, not only as to contact surface but also as to insulation, since the filament usually is at full output voltage to ground. Bakelite sockets will serve at voltages up to 500 or so, but ceramic sockets, well spaced from the chassis, always should be used at the higher voltages. Special filament transformers with high-voltage insulation between primary and secondary are required for rectifiers operating at potentials in excess of 1000 volts inverse peak.

The rectifier tubes should be placed in the equipment with adequate space surrounding them



Fig. 7-3 — Connecting mercury-vapor rectifiers in parallel for heavier currents.  $R_1$  and  $R_2$  should have the same value, between 50 and 100 ohms, and corresponding filament terminals should be connected together.

to provide for ventilation. When mercury-vapor tubes are first placed in service, and each time after the mercury has been disturbed, as by removal from the socket to a horizontal position, they should be run with filament voltage only for 30 minutes before applying high voltage. After that, a delay of 30 seconds is recommended each time the filament is turned on.

Rectifiers may be connected in parallel for current higher than the rated current of a single unit. This includes the use of the sections of a

The pulsating d.c. waves from the rectifiers shown in Fig. 7-2 are not sufficiently constant in amplitude to prevent hum corresponding to the pulsations. Filters consisting of capacitances and inductances are required between the rectifier and the load to smooth out the pulsations to an essentially constant d.c. voltage. Also, upon the design of the filter depends to a large extent the voltage regulation of the power supply and the maximum load current that can be drawn from the supply without exceeding the peak-voltage rating of the rectifier.

Power-supply filters fall into two classifications, depending upon whether the first filter element following the rectifier is a condenser or a choke. Condenser-input filters are characterized by relatively high output voltage in respect to the transformer voltage, but poor voltage regulation. Choke-input filters result in much better regulation, when properly designed, but the output voltage is less than would be obtained with a condenser-input filter from the same transformer.

### Voltage Regulation

The output voltage of a power supply always decreases as more current is drawn, not only because of increased voltage drops in the transformer, filter chokes and the rectifier (if highvacuum rectifiers are used) but also because the output voltage at light loads tends to soar to the peak value of the transformer voltage as a result of charging the first condenser. By proper filter design the latter effect can be eliminated. The change in output voltage with load is called *voltage regulation* and is expressed as a percentage.

$$Per \ cent \ regulation = \frac{100 \ (E_1 - E_2)}{E_2}$$
  
Example: No-load voltage =  $E_1 = 1550$  volts.  
Full-load voltage =  $E_2 = 1230$  volts.  
Percentage regulation =  $\frac{100 \ (1550 - 1230)}{1230}$   
=  $\frac{32,000}{1220} = 26$  per cent.

Regulation may be as great as 100% or more with a condenser-input filter, but by proper design can be held to 20% or lcss with a choke-input filter.

Good regulation is desirable if the load current varies during operation, as in a keyed stage or a Class B modulator, because a large change in voltage may increase the tendency toward key clicks in the former case or distortion in the latter. On the other hand, a steady load, such as is represented by a receiver, speech amplifier or unkeyed stages in a transmitter, does not require good regulation so long as the proper voltage is obtained under load conditions. Another condouble diode for this purpose. Equalizing resistors of 50 to 100 ohms should be connected in series with each plate, as shown in Fig. 7-3, as a measure toward maintaining an equal division of current between the two rectifiers.

## Filters

sideration that makes good voltage regulation desirable is that the filter condensers must have a voltage rating safe for the highest value to which the voltage will soar when the external load is removed.

When essentially constant voltage, regardless of current variation is required (for stabilizing an oscillator, for example), special voltage-regulating circuits described elsewhere in this chapter are used.

### Load Resistance

In discussing the performance of power-supply filters, it is convenient to express the load connected to the output terminals of the supply in terms of resistance. The load resistance is equal to the output voltage divided by the total current drawn, including the current drawn by the bleeder resistor.

### Input Resistance

The sum of the transformer-winding resistance and the rectifier resistance is called the input resistance.

### Bleeder

A bleeder resistor is a resistance connected across the output terminals of the power supply (see Fig. 7-1). Its functions are to discharge the filter condensers as a safety measure when the power is turned off and to improve voltage regulation by providing a minimum load resistance. When voltage regulation is not of importance, the resistance may be as high as 100 ohms per volt. The resistance value to be used for voltageregulating purposes is discussed in later sections. From the consideration of safety, the power rating of the resistor should be as conservative as possible, since a burned-out bleeder resistor is more dangerous than none at all!

### **Ripple Frequency and Voltage**

The pulsations in the output of the rectifier can be considered to be the resultant of an alternating current superimposed upon a steady direct current. From this viewpoint, the filter may be considered to consist of shunting condensers which short-circuit the a.c. component while not interfering with the flow of the d.c. component, and series chokes which pass d.c. readily but which impede the flow of the a.c. component.

The alternating component is called the ripple. The effectiveness of the filter can be expressed in terms of per cent ripple, which is the ratio of the r.m.s. value of the ripple to the d.c. value in terms of percentage. For c.w. transmitters, a reduction of the ripple to 5 per cent is considered adequate.

## **POWER SUPPLIES**

The ripple in the output of power supplies for voice transmitters and VFOs should be reduced to 0.25 per cent or less. High-gain speech amplifiers and receivers may require a reduction to as low as 0.1 per cent.

Ripple frequency is the frequency of the pulsations in the rectifier output wave — the number of pulsations per second. The frequency of the ripple with half-wave rectifiers is the same as the frequency of the line supply — 60 cycles with 60cycle supply. Since the output pulses are doubled with a full-wave rectifier, the ripple frequency is doubled — to 120 cycles with 60-cycle supply.

The amount of filtering (values of inductance and capacitance) required to give adequate smoothing depends upon the ripple frequency, more filtering being required as the ripple frequency is lower.

CONDENSER-INPUT FILTERS

Condenser-input filter systems are shown in Fig. 7-4. Disregarding voltage drops in the chokes, all have the same characteristics except



Fig. 7-4 — Condenser-input filter circuits. A — Simple condenser. B — Single-section. C — Double-section.

in respect to ripple. Better ripple reduction will be obtained when LC sections are added, as shown in Figs. 7-4B and C.

### **Output Voltage**

To determine the approximate d.c. voltage output when a condenser-input filter is used, reference should be made to the graph of Fig. 7-5.

Example: Transformer r.m.s. voltage — 350 Input resistance — 200 ohms Maximum load current, including bleeder current — 175 ma. Load resistance =  $\frac{350}{0.175}$  = 2000 ohms approx.



Fig. 7-5 — Chart showing approximate ratio of d.e. output voltage across filter input condenser to transformer r.m.s. secondary voltage for different load and input resistances.

From Fig. 7-5, for a load resistance of 2000 ohms and an input resistance of 200 ohms, the d.c. output voltage is given as slightly over 1 times the transformer r.m.s. voltage, or about 350 volts.

### Regulation

If a bleeder resistance of 50,000 ohms is used, the d.c. output voltage, as shown in Fig. 7-5, will rise to about 1.35 times the transformer r.m.s. value, or about 470 volts, when the external load is removed. For greater accuracy, the voltage drops through the input resistance and the resistance of the chokes should be subtracted from the values determined above. For best regulation with a condenser-input filter, the bleeder resistance should be as low as possible without exceeding the transformer, rectifier or choke ratings when the external load is connected.

### Maximum Rectifier Current

The maximum load current that can be drawn, from a supply with a condenser-input without exceeding the peak-current rating of the rectifier may be estimated from the graph of Fig. 7-6. Using values from the preceding example, the ratio of peak rectifier current to d.c. load current for 2000 ohms, as shown in Fig. 7-6 is 3. Therefore, the maximum load current that can be drawn without exceeding the rectifier rating is  $\frac{1}{3}$ the peak rating of the rectifier. For a load current of 175 ma., as above, the rectifier peak current rating should be at least  $3 \times 175 = 525$  ma.

With bleeder current only, Fig. 7-6 shows that



Fig. 7-6 — Graph showing the relationship between the d.e. load current and the rectifier peak plate current with condenser input for various values of load and input resistance.

the ratio will increase to over 8. But since the bleeder draws less than 10 ma. d.e., the rectifier peak current will be only 90 ma. or less.

### **Ripple Filtering**

The approximate ripple percentage after the simple condenser filter of Fig. 7-4A may be determined from Fig. 7-7. With a load resistance of 2000 ohms, for instance, the ripple will be approximately 10% with an 8-µfd. condenser or 20% with a 4-µfd. condenser. For other capaci-



Fig. 7-7 — Showing approximate 120-cycle percentage ripple across filter input condenser for various loads,

## CHAPTER 7

tances, the ripple will be in inverse proportion to the capacitance, e.g., 5% with 16  $\mu$ fd., 40% with 2  $\mu$ fd., etc.

The ripple can be reduced further by the addition of *LC* sections as shown in Figs. 7-4B and C. Fig. 7-8 shows the factor by which the ripple from any preceding section is reduced depending on the product of the capacitance and inductance added. For instance, if a section composed of a choke of 5 hy, and a condenser of 4  $\mu$ fd, were to be added to the simple condenser of Fig. 7-4A, the product is  $4 \times 5 = 20$ . Fig. 7-8 shows that the original ripple (10% as above with 8  $\mu$ fd, for example) will be reduced by a factor of about 0.08. Therefore the ripple percentage after the new section will be



Fig. 7-8 — Ripple-reduction factor for various values of L and C in filter section. Output ripple = input ripple  $\times$  ripple factor.

approximately  $0.08 \times 10 = 0.8\%$ . If another section is added to the filter, its reduction factor from Fig. 7-8 will be applied to the 0.8% from the preceding section, etc.

### CHOKE-INPUT FILTERS

i

Much better voltage regulation results when a choke-input filter, as shown in Fig. 7-9, is used. Choke input also permits better utilization of the rectifier, since a higher load eurrent usually can be drawn without exceeding the peak current rating of the rectifier.

If the first choke has a value equal to or greater than

$$L_{\rm (hy_{\star})} = \frac{Load\ resistance\ (ohms)}{1000},$$

the output voltage will not soar above the average value of the rectified wave at the input of the choke when the load current is small. This is in contrast to the performance of the condenserinput filter where the output voltage tends to soar toward the peak value at light current loads. This value of inductance is known as the **critical** value.

## **POWER SUPPLIES**

If the first choke has a value equal to or greater than

$$L_{(hy, *)} = \frac{Load \ resistance \ (ohms)}{500}$$

the peak rectifier current will not exceed the d.c. load current by more than 10 per cent when the



Fig. 7-9 — Choke-input filter circuits. A — Single-section. B — Double-section.

load current is large. This is in contrast to the condenser-input filter where the peak rectifier current may run 2 to 5 times the d.c. load current. This value of inductance is known as the **optimum** value.

Both of the above conditions will usually be satisfied for all values of load current drawn from the supply if the choke has at least the critical value of inductance for the minimum current load (usually the bleeder resistance only) and does not fall below the optimum value for the greatest current load to be drawn.

Specially-designed input chokes, called swinging chokes, are available. These chokes are usually rated in terms of maximum d.c. current and the range of inductance over which they are designed to "swing" with different load currents. For instance, a choke may have a rating of 5 to 25 hy., 250 ma. This means that the inductance is 5 hy. with 250 ma. d.c. flowing through it.

From the formula for optimum inductance, 5 hy, is optimum for a minimum load resistance of  $5 \times 500 = 2500$  ohms. (At 250 ma., this resistauce means a minimum voltage of  $2500 \times 0.250$ = 625 volts — at higher voltages than 625, at the same current, the resulting load resistance will be higher. Therefore, the choke will have at least optimum inductance for all higher voltages.)

### **Bleeder Resistance**

Also, 25 hy. is the *critical* inductance for  $25 \times 1000 = 25,000$  ohms. Therefore the bleeder resistance should be *not greater than* 25,000 ohms.

In the case of supplies for higher voltages in particular, the limitation on maximum load resistance may result in the wasting of an appreciable portion of the transformer power capacity in the bleeder resistance. A higher bleeder resistance drawing less current can be used, of course, but at a sacrifice in regulation. Two input chokes in series will permit the use of a bleeder of twice the resistance, cutting the wasted current in half. Another alternative that can be used to advantage in a e.w. transmitter is to use a very highresistance bleeder for protective purposes and then use only sufficient fixed bias on the tubes operating from the supply to bring the total eurrent drawn from the supply, when the key is open, to the value of current that the required bleeder resistance should draw from the supply. Operating bias is brought back up to normal by increasing the grid-leak resistance. Thus the entire current capacity of the supply (with the exception of the small drain of the protective bleeder) can be used in operating the transmitter stages.

### **Output Voltage**

Provided the input-choke inductance is at least the *critical* value, the output voltage may be calculated quite closely by the following equation:

$$E_{\rm o} = 0.9E_{\rm t} - \frac{(I_{\rm B} + I_{\rm L})(R_{\rm 1} + R_{\rm 2})}{1000} - E_{\rm r}$$

where  $E_0$  is the output voltage;  $E_1$  is the r.m.s. voltage applied to the rectifier (r.m.s. voltage between center-tap and one end of the secondary in the case of the center-tap rectifier);  $I_B$ and  $I_L$  are the bleeder and load currents, respectively, in milliamperes;  $R_1$  and  $R_2$  are the resistances of the first and second filter chokes; and  $E_r$  is the drop between rectifier plate and cathode. The various voltage drops are shown in Fig. 7-11. At no load  $I_L$  is zero, hence the no-load voltage may be calculated on the basis of bleeder current only. The voltage regulation may be determined from the no-load and full-load voltages using the formula previously given.

### Ripple with Choke Input

The percentage ripple output from a singlesection filter (Fig. 7-9A) may be determined to



Fig. 7-10 — Graph showing combinations of inductance and capacitance that may be used to reduce ripple with a single-section choke-input filter.

CHAPTER 7

a close approximation, for a ripple frequency of 120 cycles, from Fig. 7-10.

Example: L = 5 h.,  $C = 4 \mu fd.$ , LC = 20.

From Fig. 7-10, percentage ripple = 5 per cent.

Example: L = 5 hy. What eapacitance is needed to reduce the ripple to 1 per cent? Following the 1-per-cent line to the right to its intersection with the diagonal, thence downward to the *LC* scale, read *LC* = 100, 100/5 = 20  $\mu$ fd.

In selecting values for the first filter section, the inductance of the choke should be determined by the considerations discussed previously. Then the condenser should be selected that when combined with the choke inductance (minimum inductance in the case of a swinging choke) will bring the ripple down to the desired value. If it is found impossible to bring the ripple down to the desired figure with practical values in a single section, a second section can be added, as shown in Fig. 7-9B and the reduction factor from Fig. 7-8 applied as discussed under condenser-input filters. The second choke should not be of the swinging type, but one having a more or less constant inductance with changes in curient.

### OUTPUT CONDENSER

If the supply is intended for use with an audio-frequency amplifier, the reactance of the last filter condenser should be small (20 per cent or less) compared with the other audio-frequency resistance or impedance in the circuit, usually the tube plate resistance and load resistance. On the basis of a lower a.f. limit of 100 cycles for speech amplification, this condition usually is satisfied when the output capacitance (last filter capacitor) of the filter has a capacitance of 4 to 8  $\mu$ fd., the higher value of capacitance being used in the case of lower tube and load resistances.

### RESONANCE

Resonance effects in the series circuit across the output of the rectifier which is formed by the first choke  $(L_1)$  and first filter condenser  $(C_1)$  must be avoided, since the ripple voltage would build up to large values. This not only is the opposite action to that for which the filter is intended, but also may cause excessive rectifier peak currents and abnormally-high inverse peak voltages. For full-wave rectification the ripple frequency will be 120 cycles for a 60-cycle supply, and resonance will occur when the product of choke inductance in henrys times condenser capacitance in microfarads is equal to 1.77. The corresponding figure for 50-cycle supply (100-cycle ripple frequency) is 2.53, and for 25-cycle supply (50-cycle ripple frequency) 13.5. At least twice these products of inductance and capacitance should be used to ensure against resonance effects. With a swinging choke, the minimum rated inductance of the choke should be used.

### RATINGS OF FILTER COMPONENTS

Although filter condensers in a choke-input filter are subjected to smaller variations in d.c. voltage than in the condenser-input filter, it is advisable to use condensers rated for the peak transformer voltage in case the bleeder resistor should burn out when there is no load on the power supply, since the voltage then will rise to the same maximum value as it would with a filter of the condenser-input type.

In a condenser-input filter, the condensers should have a working-voltage rating at least as high, and preferably somewhat higher, than the peak-voltage rating of the transformer. Thus, in the case of a center-tap rectifier having a transformer delivering 550 volts each side of the center-tap, the minimum safe condenser voltage rating will be  $550 \times 1.41$  or 775 volts. An 800-volt condenser should be used, or preferably a 1000-volt unit.

Filter condensers are made in several different types. Electrolytic condensers, which are available for peak voltages up to about 800, combine high capacitance with small size, since the dielectric is an extremely-thin film of oxide on aluminum foil. Condensers of this type may be connected in series for higher voltages, although the filtering capacitance will be reduced to the resultant of the two capacitances in series. If this arrangement is used, it is important that each of the condensers be shunted with a resistor of about 100 ohms per volt of supply voltage, with a power rating adequate for the total resistor current at that voltage. These resistors may serve as all or part of the bleeder resistance (see choke-input filters). Condensers with highervoltage ratings usually are made with a diclectric of thin paper impregnanted with oil. The working voltage of a condenser is the voltage that it will withstand continuously.

The input choke may be of the swinging type, the required minimum no-load and full-load inductance values being calculated as described above. For the second choke (smoothing choke) values of 10 to 20 henrys ordinarily are used. Since chokes usually are placed in the positive leads, the negative being grounded, the windings should be insulated from the core to withstand the full d.c. output voltage of the supply and be capable of handling the required load current.

Filter chokes or inductances are wound on iron cores, with a small gap in the core to prevent magnetic saturation of the iron at high currents. When the iron becomes saturated its permeability decreases, consequently the inductance also decreases. Despite the air gap, the inductance of a choke usually varies to some extent with the direct current flowing in the winding; hence it is necessary to specify the inductance at the current which the choke is intended to carry. Its inductance with little or no direct current flowing in the winding may be considerably higher than the value when full load current is flowing.

## **POWER SUPPLIES**

## **Plate and Filament Transformers**

### **Output Voltage**

The output voltage which the plate transformer must deliver depends upon the required d.c. load voltage and the type of filter circuit.

With a choke-input filter, the required r.m.s. secondary voltage (each side of center-tap for a center-tap rectifier) can be calculated by the equation:

$$E_{t} = 1.1 \left[ E_{o} + \frac{I(R_{1} + R_{2})}{1000} + E_{r} \right]$$

where  $E_{\bullet}$  is the required d.c. output voltage, *I* is the load current (including bleeder current) in millianperes,  $R_1$  and  $R_2$  are the d.c. resistances of the chokes, and  $E_r$  is the voltage drop in the rectifier.  $E_t$  is the full-load r.m.s. secondary voltage; the open-circuit voltage usually will be 5 to 10 per cent higher than the full-load value.

The approximate transformer output voltage required to give a desired d.c. output voltage



Fig. 7-11 — Diagram showing various voltage drops that must be taken into consideration in determining the required transformer voltage to deliver the desired output voltage.

with a given load with a condenser-input filter system can be calculated with the help of Fig. 7-11.

Example:  
Required d.c. output volts 
$$-500$$
  
Load current to be drawn  $-100$  ma.  
Load resistance  $=\frac{500}{0.1}=5000$  ohms.  
If the rectifier resistance is 200 ohms, Fig. 7-5  
shows that the ratio of d.e. volts to the required

shows that the ratio of d.e. volts to the required transformer.r.m.s. voltage is approximately 1.15. The required transformer terminal voltage under load with chokes of 200 and 300 ohms is

$$E_{t} = \frac{E_{o} + I\left(\frac{R_{1} + R_{2} + R_{r}}{1000}\right)}{1.15}$$
$$= \frac{500 + 100\left(\frac{200 + 300 + 200}{1000}\right)}{1.15}$$
$$= \frac{570}{1.15} = 495 \text{ volts.}$$

í

### Volt-Ampere Rating

The volt-ampere rating of the transformer depends upon the type of filter (condenser or choke input). With a condenser-input filter the heating effect in the secondary is higher because of the high ratio of peak to average current, consequently the volt-amperes consumed by the transformer may be several times the watts delivered to the load. With a choke-input filter, provided the input choke has at least the critical inductance, the secondary volt-amperes can be calculated quite closely by the equation:

### Sec. V.A. = 0.00075EI

where E is the *total* r.m.s. voltage of the secondary (between the outside ends in the case of a center-tapped winding) and I is the d.e. output current in milliamperes (load current plus bleeder current). The primary volt-amperes will be 10 to 20 per cent higher because of transformer losses.

### **Filament Supply**

Except for tubes designed for battery operation, the filaments or heaters of vacuum tubes used in both transmitters and receivers are universally operated on alternating current obtained from the power line through a stepdown transformer delivering a secondary voltage equal to the rated voltage of the tubes used. The transformer should be designed to carry the current taken by the number of tubes which may be connected in parallel across it. The filament or heater transformer generally is center-tupped, to provide a balanced circuit for climinating hum.

For medium- and high-power r.f. stages of transmitters, and for high-power audio stages, it is desirable to use a separate filament transformer for each section of the transmitter, installed near the tube sockets. This avoids the necessity for abnormally large wires to carry the total filament current for all stages without appreciable voltage drop. Maintenance of rated filament voltage is highly important, especially with thoriated-filament tubes, since under- or over-voltage may reduce filament life.

### **Rewinding Filament Transformers**

Although the home winding of high-voltage transformers is a task that few amateurs undertake these days, the rewinding of a smalltransformer secondary to give some desired filament voltage is not difficult. It involves a matter of only a small number of turns and the wire is large enough to be handled easily. Often a broadcast-receiver power transformer with a burned-out high-voltage winding, but with the primary winding intact, can be converted into an entirely satisfactory filament transformer without great effort.

The primary volt-ampere rating of a transformer to be rewound may be taken from the label on the transformer or from the manufacturer's catalogue. This will indicate whether or not the transformer will be capable of handling the necessary power. The secondary volt-ampere rating will be ten to twenty per eent less than the primary rating. The product of the voltage and the number of amperes required from the new filament winding, plus that for any other secondaries that may be kept in use, should not exceed the secondary volt-ampere rating, unless the builder is willing to accept a lower safety factor.

Before disconnecting the winding leads from their terminals, each should be marked for identification. In removing the core laminations, eare should be taken to note the manner in which the eore is assembled, so that the reassembling will be done in the same manner. Some transformers have secondaries wound over the primary, while in others the order is reversed. In ease the secondaries are on the inside, the turns can be pulled out from the center after slitting and removing the fiber eore.

The turns removed from one of the original filament windings of known voltage should be earefully counted as the winding is removed. This will give the number of turns per volt and the same figure should be used in determining the number of turns for the new secondary. For instance, if the old filament winding was rated at 5 volts and has 20 turns, this is 20/5 = 4 turns per volt. If the new secondary is to deliver 7.5 volts, the required number of turns on the new winding will be  $7.5 \times 4 = 30$  turns. In winding a transformer, the size of wire

is an important factor in the heat developed in operation. A cross-sectional area of 1000 circular

# CHAPTER 7

mils per ampere is conservative. A value commonly used in amateur-service transformers is 700 c.m.p.a. The windings of some of the lessexpensive broadcast-receiver transformers may run as low as 500 c.m.p.a. The larger the c.m.p.a. figure, the cooler the transformer will run. The current rating in amperes of each wire size shown in the miscellaneous data chapter at 1000 c.m.p.a. may be obtained by pointing off three decimal places from the right in the figures in the third column. Similar ratings at 700 e.m.p.a. are given in a separate column. Ratings at 500 c.m.p.a. will be twice the current rating at 1000 c.m.p.a. As an example, No. 18 has a current rating of 1.62 amperes at 1000 c.m.pa., 2.32 amperes at 700 c.m.p.a., or 3.25 amperes at 500 c.m.p.a. If the transformer being rewound is a filament transformer, it may be necessary to choose the wire size carefully to fit the small available space. On the other hand, if the transformer is a power unit, with the high-voltage winding removed, there should be plenty of room for a size of wire that will conservatively handle the required current.

The insulation to be used between the primary and secondary windings (and also between the secondary winding and the core if the secondary is on the inside) will depend on whether the transformer is to be used to supply r.f. tubes or rectifier tubes in a high-voltage supply. A few layers of linen paper should be sufficient for the former service, but insulating eambric sheet should be used if the voltage between primary and secondary runs over 1000 volts

## Voltage Dropping

### Series Voltage-Dropping Resistor

Certain plates and screens of the various tubes in a transmitter or receiver often require a variety of operating voltages differing from the output voltage of available power supplies. In most cases, it is not economically feasible to provide a separate power supply for each of the required voltages. If the current drawn by an electrode, or combination of electrodes operating at the same voltage, is reasonably eonstant under normal operating conditions, the required voltage may be obtained from a supply of higher voltage by means of a voltagedropping resistor in series, as shown in Fig. 7-12A. The value of the series resistor.  $R_1$ , may

be obtained from Ohm's Law,  $R = \frac{E_d}{I}$ , where

 $E_d$  is the voltage drap required from the supply voltage to the desired voltage and I is the total rated current of the load.

Example: The plate of the tube in one stage and the screens of the tubes in two other stages require an operating voltage of 250. The nearest available supply voltage is 400 and the total of the rated plate and screen currents is 75 ma. The required resistance is

$$R = \frac{400 - 250}{0.075} = \frac{150}{0.075} = 2000 \text{ ohms.}$$

The power rating of the resistor is obtained from P (watts) =  $I^2R = (0.075)^2 (2000) = 11.2$ watts. A 25-watt resistor is the nearest safe rating to be used.

### Voltage Dividers

The regulation of the voltage obtained in this manner obviously is poor, since any change in current through the resistor will cause a directly-proportional change in the voltage drop across the resistor. The regulation can be improved somewhat by connecting a second resistor from the low-voltage end of the first to the negative power-supply terminal, as shown in Fig. 7-12B. Such an arrangement constitutes a voltage divider. The second resistor,  $R_2$ , acts as a constant load for the first,  $R_1$ , so that any variation in current from the tap becomes a smaller percentage of the total current through  $R_1$ . The heavier the current drawn by the resistors when they alone are connected across the supply, the better will be the voltage regulation at the tap.

Such a voltage divider may have more than a single tap for the purpose of obtaining more than one value of voltage. A typical arrangement is shown in Fig. 7-12C. The terminal voltage is E, and two taps are provided to give
## **POWER SUPPLIES**



lower voltages,  $E_1$  and  $E_2$ , at currents  $I_1$  and  $I_2$ respectively. The smaller the resistance between taps in proportion to the total resistance, the smaller the voltage between the taps. For convenience, the voltage divider in the figure is considered to be made up of separate resistances  $R_3$ ,  $R_4$ ,  $R_5$ , between taps.  $R_3$  carries only the bleeder current,  $I_{\rm b}$ ;  $R_4$  carries  $I_1$  in addition to  $I_{\rm b}$ ;  $R_5$  carries  $I_2$ ,  $I_1$  and  $I_{\rm b}$ . To calculate the resistances required, a bleeder current,  $I_{\rm b}$ , must be assumed; generally it is low



compared with the total load current (10 per cent or so). Then the required values can be calculated as shown in Fig. 7-12C, I being in decimal parts of an ampere.

The method may be extended to any desired number of taps, each resistance section being calculated by Ohm's Law using the need voltage drop across it and the total current through it. The power dissipated by each section may be calculated either by multiplying I and E or  $I^2$  and R.

## Voltage Stabilization

#### **Gaseous Regulator Tubes**

There is frequent need for maintaining the voltage applied to a low-voltage low-current circuit at a practically constant value, regard-less of the voltage regulation of the power supply or variations in load current. In such applications, gaseous regulator tubes (VR105-30, VR150-30, etc.) can be used to good advantage. The voltage drop across such tubes is constant over a moderately wide current range. Tubes are available for regulated voltages of 150, 105, 90 and 75 volts.

The fundamental circuit for a gaseous regulator is shown in Fig. 7-13A. The tube is con-



Fig. 7-13 — Voltage-stabilizing circuits using VR tubes.

nected in series with a limiting resistor,  $R_1$ , across a source of voltage that must be higher than the starting voltage. The starting voltage is about 30 per cent higher than the operating voltage. The load is connected in parallel with the tube. For stable operation, a minimum tube current of 5 to 10 ma. is re-

quired. The maximum permissible current with most types is 40 ma.; consequently, the load current cannot exceed 30 to 35 ma. if the voltage is to be stabilized over a range from zero to maximum load current.

The value of the limiting resistor must lie between that which just permits minimum tube current to flow and that which just passes the maximum permissible tube current when there is no load current. The latter value is generally used. It is given by the equation:

$$R = \frac{1000 (E_s - E_r)}{I}$$

where R is the limiting resistance in ohms,  $E_s$  is the voltage of the source across which the tube and resistor are connected,  $E_r$  is the rated voltage drop across the regulator tube, and I is the maximum tube current in milliamperes (usually 40 ma.).

Fig. 7-13B shows how two tubes may be used in series to give a higher regulated voltage than is obtainable with one, and also to give two values of regulated voltage. The limiting resistor may be calculated as above, using the sum of the voltage drops across the two tubes for  $E_r$ . Since the upper tube must carry more current than the lower, the load connected to the low-voltage tap must take small current. The total current taken by the loads on both the high and low taps should not exceed 30 to 35 milliamperes.



Voltage regulation of the order of 1 per cent can be obtained with regulator circuits of this type.

#### **Electronic Voltage Regulation**

Several circuits have been developed for regulating the voltage output of a power supply electronically. While more complicated than the VRtube circuits, they will handle higher voltages and currents and the output voltage may be varied continuously over a wide range. In the circuit of Fig. 7-14, the 5651 regulator tube supplies the grid (4) of the 68L7 with a constant reference voltage. When the load connected across the output terminals increases, the output voltage tends to decrease. This decreases the plate (5) voltage. Since grid (1) is connected directly to plate (5), grid (1) becomes less positive and that triode

## CHAPTER 7

Fig. 7-14 - Electronic voltage-regulator circuit. C1 - 0.1-µfd, 400-volt paper. R1 - 160-ohm 10-watt potentiometer (balance). R2, R5 - 12,000 ohms, 2 watts. R3, R4 - 0.47 megohm, 1/2 watt. R<sub>6</sub> — 68,000 ohms, 1 watt. R<sub>7</sub> — 15,000 ohms, 2 watts. 10,000 ohm potentiometer R8 (output control). Rø 1 megohm, 1/2 watt.

draws less plate current. The voltage drop across  $R_3$  being less, the bias on the grids of the 6AS7G is reduced, decreasing the voltage drop across the 6AS7G and thereby maintaining the original output voltage.

For a maximum regulated voltage output of 250, the filtered d.c. input voltage should be 325 volts at 225 ma. For a constant line voltage the output voltage will remain constant within 0.2 volt over a load-current range of 0 to 225 ma. With a line-voltage variation of plus or minus 10 per eent, the output voltage will vary less than 0.1 volt.

Another similar regulator circuit is shown in Fig. 7-15. The principal difference is that screengrid regulator tubes are used. The fact that a screen-grid tube is relatively insensitive to changes in plate voltage makes it possible to ob-



- C<sub>3</sub>-0.015-µfd, paper. C<sub>4</sub> - 0.1-µfd. paper.

- $\begin{array}{l} C_4 = 0, 1 \text{-} \mu f d, \text{ paper,} \\ R_1 = 0.3 \text{ megohm, } \frac{1}{2} \text{ watt.} \\ R_2, R_3 = 100 \text{ ohms, } \frac{1}{2} \text{ watt.} \\ R_4 = 510 \text{ ohms, } \frac{1}{2} \text{ watt.} \\ R_5, R_8 = 30,000 \text{ ohms, } 2 \text{ watts.} \\ R_6 = 0.24 \text{ megohm, } \frac{1}{2} \text{ watt.} \\ R_7 = 0.15 \text{ megohm, } \frac{1}{2} \text{ watt.} \end{array}$

- R<sub>10</sub> 0.1-megohin potentiometer.
- $R_{11} = 13,000 \text{ ohms}, \frac{1}{2} \text{ watt.}$  $1_1 = 8 \text{-hy.}, 40 \text{-ma. filter choke.}$
- S.p.s.t. toggle.
- Power transformer: 375-375 volts Ϋ́, r.m.s., 160 ma.; 6.3 volts, 3 amps.; 5 volts. 3 amps.
  - (Thor. 22 R 33).

## **POWER SUPPLIES**

I	11	$\Pi$	Output voltage - 300			
•						
450 v.	22 ma.	3 mv.	150 ma.	2.3 mv.		
425 v.	45 ma.	4 mv.	125 ma.	2.8 mv.		
400 v.	72 ma.	6 mv.	100 ma.	2.6 mv.		
375 v.	97 ma.	8 mv.	75 ma.	2.5 mv.		
350 v.	122 ma.	9.5 mv.	50 ma.	3.0 mv.		
325 v.	150 ma.	3 mv.	25 ma.	3.0 mv.		
300 v.	150 ma.	2.3 mv.	10 ma.	2.5 mv.		

tain a reduction in ripple voltage adequate for many purposes simply by supplying filtered d.c. to the screens with a consequent saving in weight and cost. The accompanying table shows the performance of the circuit of Fig. 7-15. Column I shows various output voltages, while Column II shows the maximum current that can be drawn at that voltage with negligible variation in output voltage. Column III shows the measured ripple

As discussed in the chapter on high-frequency transmitters, the chief function of a bias supply for the r.f. stages of a transmitter is that of providing protective bias, although under certain circumstances, a bias supply, or pack, as it is sometimes called, can provide the operating bias if desired.

#### Simple Bias Packs

Fig. 7-16A shows the diagram of a simple bias supply.  $R_1$  should be the recommended grid leak for the amplifier tube. No grid leak should be used in the transmitter with this type of supply. The output voltage of the supply, when amplifier grid current is not flowing, should be some value between the bias required for plate-current cut-off and the recommended operating bias for the amplifier tube. The transformer peak voltage (1.4 times the r.m.s. value) should not exceed the recommended operating-bias value, otherwise the output voltage of the pack will soar above the operating-bias value with rated grid current.

This soaring can be reduced to a considerable extent by the use of a voltage divider across the transformer secondary, as shown at B. Such a system can be used when the transformer voltage is higher than the operating-bias value. The tap on  $R_2$  should be adjusted to give amplifier cut-off bias at the output terminals. The lower the total value of  $R_2$ , the less the soaring will be when grid current flows.

A full-wave circuit is shown in Fig. 7-16C.  $R_3$  and  $R_4$  should have the same total resistance and the taps should be adjusted symmetrically. In all cases, the transformer must be designed to furnish the current drawn by these resistors plus the current drawn by  $R_1$ .

#### **Regulated Bias Supplies**

The inconvenience of the circuits shown in Fig. 7-16 and the difficulty of predicting values in practical application can be avoided at the maximum current. The second part of the table shows the variation in ripple with load current at 300 volts output.

A single VR tube may also be used to regulate the voltage to a load current of almost any value so long as the *variation* in the current does not exceed 30 to 35 ma. If, for example, the average load current is 100 ma., a VR tube may be used to hold the voltage constant provided the current does not fall below 85 ma. or rise above 115 ma. In this case, the resistance should be calculated to drop the voltage to the VR-tube rating at the maximum load current to be expected plus about 5 ma. If the load resistance is constant, the effects of variations in line voltage may be eliminated by basing the resistance on the load current plus 15 ma. Voltage-regulator tubes may also be connected in parallel as described later in this chapter.

## **Bias Supplies**

in most cases by the use of gaseous voltageregulator tubes across the output of the bias supply, as shown in Fig. 7-17A. A VR tube with a voltage rating anywhere between the



Fig. 7-16 — Simple bias-supply circuits. In A, the peak transformer voltage must not exceed the operating value of bias. The circuits of B (half-wave) and C (full-wave) may be used to reduce transformer voltage to the rectifier.  $R_1$  is the recommended grid-leak resistance.

CHAPTER 7



Fig. 7-17 — Illustrating the use of VR tubes in stabilizing protective-bias supplies,  $R_1$  is a resistor whose value is adjusted to limit the current through each VR tube to 5 ma, before amplifier excitation is applied. R and  $R_2$  are current-equalizing resistors of 50 to 1000 ohms.

biasing-voltage value which will reduce the input to the amplifier to a safe level when excitation is removed, and the operating value of bias, should be chosen.  $R_1$  is adjusted, without amplifier excitation, until the VR tube ignites and draws about 5 ma. Additional voltage to bring the bias up to the operating value when excitation is applied can be obtained from a grid leak resistor, as discussed in the transmitter chapter.

Each VR tube will handle 40 ma, of grid current. If the grid current exceeds this value under any condition, similar VR tubes should be added in parallel, as should be added in parallel, as shown in Fig. 7-17B, for each 40 ma., or less, of additional grid current. The resistors  $R_2$ are for the purpose of helping to maintain equal currents through each VR tube, and should have a value of 50 to 1000 ohms or more as required.

If the voltage rating of a single VR tube is not sufficiently high for the purpose, other VR tubes may be used in series (or series-parallel if required to satisfy grid-current requirements) as shown in the diagrams of Fig. 7-17C and D.



If a single value of fixed bias will serve for more than one stage, the biasing terminal of each such stage may be connected to a single supply of this type, provided only that the total grid current of all stages so connected does not exceed the current rating of the VR tube or tubes. Alternatively, other separate VR-tube branches may be added in any desired combination to the same supply, as shown



## POWER SUPPLIES

in Fig. 7-17E, to adapt them to the needs of each stage.

Providing the VR-tube current rating is not exceeded, a series arrangement may be tapped for lower voltage, as shown at F.

The circuit diagram of an electronicallyregulated bias-supply is shown in Fig. 7-18. The output voltage may be adjusted to any value between 20 volts and 80 volts and the unit will handle grid currents up to 200 ma. over the range of 30 to 80 volts, and 100 ma. over the remainder of the range. This will take care of the bias requirements of most tubes used in Class B amplifier service. The regulation will hold to about 0.001 volt per milliampere of grid current.

#### Other Sources of Biasing Voltage

In some cases, it may be convenient to obtain the biasing voltage from a source other than a separate supply. A half-wave rectifier may be connected with reversed polarization to obtain biasing voltage from a low-voltage plate supply, as shown in Fig. 7-19A. In another arrangement, shown at B, a spare filament winding can be used to operate a filament transformer of similar voltage rating in reverse to obtain a voltage of about 130 from the winding that is customarily the primary. This will be sufficient to operate a VR75 or VR90 regulator tube.



Fig. 7-19 — Convenient means of obtaining biasing voltage. A — From a low-voltage plate supply. B — From spare filament winding.  $T_1$  is a filament transformer, of a voltage output similar to that of the spare filament winding, connected in reverse to give 115 volts r.m.s. output. If cold-eathode or selenium rectifiers are used, no additional filament supply is required.

A bias supply of any of the types discussed requires relatively little filtering, if the outputterminal peak voltage does not approach the operating-bias value, because the effect of the supply is entirely or largely "washed out" when grid current flows.

## **Selenium-Rectifier Circuits**

While the circuits shown in Figs. 7-20, 7-21 and 7-22 may be used with any type of rectifier, they find their greatest advantage when used with selenium rectifiers which require no filament transformer.



Fig. 7-20 — Simple half-wave circuit for selenium rectifier.

C1-0.05-µfd. 600-volt paper.

C2-40-µfd. 200-volt electrolytic.

R<sub>1</sub> - 25 to 100 ohms.

Fig. 7-20 is a straightforward half-wave rectifier circuit which may be used in applications where 115 to 130 volts d.c. is desired. It can be used for bias supply, for instance. In this, as well as other circuits, it will be observed that the negative side of the output is common with one side of the a.c. line and it is suggested that this side be fused with a  $\frac{1}{2}$ -ampere fuse.

Fig. 7-21 shows several voltage-doubler circuits. Of the three, the one shown at A is the most desirable since there is no series condenser. It is a full-wave circuit and there will be very little ripple voltage appearing at the output. The arrangement of circuit B is such that one side of the output may be grounded. In circuit C, the point X is common to both condensers in the rectifier and filter, and a single-unit



Fig. 7-21 — Voltage-doubling circuits for use with selenium rectifiers.

 $C_1 = 0.05 - \mu fd. 600 - volt paper.$ 

 $C_2 = 40 - \mu fd. 200$ -volt electrolytic.

C<sub>3</sub> — Filter condenser.

R1-25 to 100 ohms.

L<sub>1</sub> - Filter choke.

3-section condenser can be used to save space. If the load current is less than 100 ma., this is the best circuit.

Fig. 7-22A shows a voltage tripler, and B and C auadruplers.

All components are standard,  $C_1$  in all circuits is for "hash" filtering and its value is not critical. A 0.05-µfd. 600-volt-working condenser should serve. All other condensers should be 40-µfd. 200-volt units, except those in the tripler and quadrupler circuits. Those in the circuit of Fig. 7-22 should have a rating of 450 volts working. In the voltage multipliers and in other circuits where a condenser is passing the full current, good condensers should be used because the a.c. ripple mentioned above appears across the condenser and increases as the load increases. If the current is allowed to become too high, it will cause heating and deterioration of the condenser. This can be kept to a minimum by using a capacitor of high value and making sure it is of good make.  $R_1$  should be 25 ohms, but if it is found that the rectifier units are running a little too warm, this value may be increased to as high as 100 ohms, with a corresponding drop in output voltage, of course. A single-section filter, as shown in Fig. 7-21C, will provide sufficient smoothing for most applications.

These circuits should be used with caution, since there is always a direct connection between power line and load.



CHAPTER 7

Fig. 7-22 — A — Tripler circuit. B — Half-wave quadrupler. C - Full-wave quadrupler. C1 - 0.05-µfd, 600-volt paper.

 $C_2 = 40 \cdot \mu fd.$  450-volt electrolytic.  $C_3 = 100 \cdot \mu fd.$  150-volt electrolytic.

#### R1 - 25 to 100 ohms.

## **Power-Line Considerations**

#### POWER-LINE CONNECTIONS

If the transmitter is rated at much more than 100 watts, special consideration should be given to the a.c. line running into the station. In some residential systems, three wires are brought in from the outside to the distribution board, while in other systems there are only two wires. In the three-wire system, the third wire is the neutral which is grounded. The voltage between the other two wires normally is 230, while half of this voltage (115) appears between each of these wires and neutral, as indicated in Fig. 7-23A. In systems of this type, usually it will be found that the 115-

volt household load is divided as evenly as possible between the two sides of the circuit. half of the load being connected between one wire and the neutral, while the other half of the load is connected between the other wire and neutral. Heavy appliances, such as electric stoves and heaters, normally are designed for 230-volt operation and therefore are connected across the two ungrounded wires. While both ungrounded wires should be fused, a fuse should never be used in the wire to the neutral, nor should a switch be used in this side of the line. The reason for this is that opening the neutral wire does not disconnect the equip-



Fig. 7-23 - Three-wire power-line circuits. A - Normal 3-wire-line termination. No fuse should be used in the grounded (neutral) line. B — Showing that a switch in the neutral does not remove voltage from either side of the line. C — Connections for both 115- and 230-volt transformers. D — Operating a 115-volt plate transformer from the 230-volt line to avoid light blinking. T1 is a 2-to-1 step-down transformer.

#### World Radio History

## POWER SUPPLIES

The usual line running to baseboard outlets is rated at 15 amperes. Considering the power consumed by filaments, lamps, modulator, receiver and other auxiliary equipment, it is not unusual to find this 15-ampere rating exceeded by the requirements of a station of only mod-



Fig. 7-24 — Two methods of transformer primary control. At A is a tapped toy transformer which may be connected so as to boost or buck the line voltage as required. At B is indicated a variable transformer or autotransformer (Variae) which feeds the transformer primaries.

erate power. It must also be kept in mind that the same branch may be in use for other household purposes through another outlet. For this reason, and to minimize light blinking when keying or modulating the transmitter, a separate heavier line should be run from the distribution board to the station whenever possible. (A three-volt drop in line voltage will cause noticeable light blinking.)

If the system is of the three-wire type, the three wires should be brought into the station so that the load can be distributed uswac. to keep the line balanced. The voltage across a fixed load on one side of the circuit will increase as the load current on the other side is increased. The rate of increase will depend upon the resistance introduced by the neutral wire. If the resistance of the neutral is low, the increase will be correspondingly small. When the currents in the two circuits are balanced, no current flows in the neutral wire and the system is operating at maximum efficiency.

Light blinking can be minimized by using transformers with 230-volt primaries in the power supplies for the keyed or intermittent part of the load, connecting them across the two ungrounded wires with no connection to the neutral, as shown in Fig. 7-23C. The same can be accomplished by the insertion of a stepdown transformer whose primary operates at 230 volts and whose secondary delivers 115 volts. Conventional 115-volt transformers may be operated from the secondary of the step-down transformer (see Fig. 7-23D).

When a special heavy-duty line is to be installed, the local power company should be consulted as to local requirements. In some localities it is necessary to have such a job done by a licensed electrician, and there may be special requirements to be net in regard to fittings and the manner of installation. Some amateurs terminate the special line to the station at a switch box, while others may use electric-stove receptacles as the termination. The power is then distributed around the station by means of conventional outlets at convenient points. All circuits should be properly fused.

#### LINE-VOLTAGE ADJUSTMENT

In certain communities trouble is sometimes experienced from fluctuations in line voltage. Usually these fluctuations are caused by a variation in the load on the line and, since most of the variation comes at certain fixed times of the day or night, such as the times when lights are turned on at evening, they may be taken care of by the use of a manuallyoperated compensating device. A simple arrangement is shown in Fig. 7-24A. A toy transformer is used to boost or buck the line voltage as required. The transformer should have a tapped secondary varying between 6 and 20 volts in steps of 2 or 3 volts and its secondary should be capable of carrying the full load current of the entire transmitter, or that portion of it fed by the toy transformer.

The secondary is connected in series with the line voltage and, if the phasing of the windings is correct, the voltage applied to the primaries of the transmitter transformers can be brought



Fig. 7-25—With this circuit, a single adjustment of the tap switch S<sub>1</sub> places the correct primary voltage on all transformers in the transmitter. Information on constructing a suitable autotransformer at negligible cost is contained in the text. The light winding represents the regular primary winding of a revamped transformer, the heavy winding the voltage-adjusting section,

up to the rated 115 volts by setting the toytransformer tap switch on the right tap. If the phasing of the two windings of the toy transformer happens to be reversed, the voltage will be reduced instead of increased. This connection may be used in cases where the line voltage may be above 115 volts. This method is preferable to using a resistor in the primary of a power transformer since it does not affect the voltage regulation as seriously. The circuit of 7-24B illustrates the use of a variable transformer (Variac) for adjusting line voltage to the desired value.

Another scheme by which the primary voltage of each transformer in the transmitter may be adjusted to give a desired secondary voltage, with a master control for compensating for changes in line voltage, is shown in Fig. 7-25.

This arrangement has the following features: 1) Adjustment of the switch  $S_1$  to make the voltmeter read 105 volts automatically adjusts all transformer primaries to the predetermined correct voltage. 2) The necessity for having all primaries work at the same voltage is eliminated. Thus, 110 volts can be applied to the primary of one transformer, 115 to another, etc., as required to obtain the desired output voltage.

3) Independent control of the plate transformer is afforded by the tap switch  $S_2$ . This permits power-input control and does not require an extra autotransformer.

#### Constant-Voltage Transformers

Although comparatively expensive, special transformers called constant-voltage transformers are available for use in cases where it is necessary to hold line voltage and/or filament voltage constant with fluctuating supply-line voltage. They are rated over a range of 17 va. at 6.3 volts output, for small tube-heater demands, up to several thousand volt-amperes at 115 or 230 volts. In average figures, such transformers will hold their output voltage within one per cent under an input-voltage variation of 30 per cent.

## **Construction of Power Supplies**

The length of most leads in a power supply is unimportant, so that the arrangement of components from this consideration is not a factor in construction. More important are the points of good high-voltage insulation, adequate conductor size for filament wiring, proper ventilation for rectifier tubes and most important of all - safety to the operator. Exposed high-voltage terminals or wiring which might be bumped into accidentally should not be permitted to exist. They should be covered with adequate insulation or placed inaccessible to contact during normal operation and adjustment of the transmitter. Powersupply units should be fused individually, All negative terminals of plate supplies and positive terminals of bias supplies should be securely grounded to the chassis, and the chassis connected to a waterpipe or radiator ground. All transformer, choke, and condenser cases should also be grounded to the chassis.

Rectifier filament leads should be kept short to assure proper voltage at the rectifier socket, and the sockets should have good insulation and adequate contact surface. Plate leads to mercury-vapor tubes should be kept short to minimize the radiation of noise.

Where high-voltage wiring must pass through a metal chassis, grommet-lined clearance holes will serve for voltages up to 500 or 750, but ceramic feed-through insulators should be used for higher voltages. Bleeder and



Fig. 7-26—A typical simple receiver power supply. Filament and plate voltages are taken from the multicontact tube socket which serves as an outlet.



Fig. 7- 27— Bottom view of the simple receiver power supply showing the cut-out for the flush-mounting transformer.

## **POWER SUPPLIES**

٠

Fig. 7-28 — A typical highvoltage transmitter power supply. The transformers, chokes and condensers are inverted so that no terminals are exposed to accidental contact. The caps of the 866 rectifiers are the insulated type.



voltage-dropping resistors should be placed where they are open to air circulation. Placing them in confined space reduces the rating.

It is highly preferable from the standpoint of operating convenience to have separate filament transformers for the rectifier tubes, rather than to use combination filament and plate transformers, such as those used in receivers. This permits the transmitter plate voltage to be switched on without the necessity so that all power may be cut off quickly, either before working on the equipment, or in case of an accident. Spring-operated switches or relays are not sufficiently reliable for this important service. Foolproof devices for cutting off all power to the transmitter and other equipment are shown in Fig. 7-30. The arrangements shown in Fig. 7-30A and B are similar circuits for two-wire (115-volt) and three-wire (230-volt) systems. S is an enclosed double-throw knife switch of the sort



Fig. 7-29 — Bottom view of the transmitter power supply showing the cut-outs for the terminals. Separate power plugs are used for the rectifier-filament and plate transformers so that they may be switched independently from the control position.

for waiting for rectifier filaments to come up to temperature after each time the high voltage has been turned off. When using a combination power transformer, high voltage may be turned off without turning the filaments off by using a switch between the transformer center tap and chassis. This switch should be of the rotary type with good insulation between contacts. The shaft of the switch *must* be grounded.

#### **SAFETY PRECAUTIONS**

All power supplies in an installation should be fed through a single main power-line switch



Fig. 7-30 — Reliable arrangements for cutting off all power to the transmitter. S is an enclosed double-pole knife-type switch, J a standard a.c. outlet, P a shorted plug to fit the outlet and I a red lamp. A is for a two-wire 115-volt line, B for a three-wire

A is for a two-wire 115-volt line, B for a three-wire 230-volt system, and C a simplified arrangement for low-power stations.

usually used as the entrance switch in house installations. J is a standard a.e. outlet and P a shorted plug to fit the outlet. The switch should be located prominently in plain sight and members of the household should be instructed in its location and use. I is a red lamp located alongside the switch. Its purpose is not so much to serve as a warning that the power is on as it is to help in identifying and quickly locating the switch should it become necessary for someone else to cut the power off in an emergency.

The outlet J should be placed in some corner out of sight where it will not be a temptation for children or others to play with. The shorting plug can be removed to open the power circuit if there are others around who might inadvertently throw the switch while the operator is working on the rig. If the operator

takes the plug with him, it will prevent someone from turning on the power in his absence and either injuring themselves or the equipment or perhaps starting a fire.

Those who are operating low power and feel that the expense or complication of the switch isn't warranted can use the shorted-plug idea as the main power switch. In this case, the outlet should be located prominently and identified by a signal light, as shown in Fig. 7-30C.

The test bench ought to be fed through the main power switch, or a similar arrangement at the bench, if the latter is remote from the transmitter.

A bleeder resistor with a power rating giving a considerable margin of safety should be used across the output of all transmitter power supplies so that the filter condensers will be discharged when the high-voltage transformer is turned off. To guard against the possibility of danger to the operator should the bleeder re-

## CHAPTER 7



Fig. 7-31 — Two schemes for shorting the high-voltage supply automatically for safety purposes when the transmitter door is opened.

sistor burn out without his knowledge, and also to protect him in case he neglects to turn off the power supply before opening a cabinet transmitter enclosure, one of the devices shown in Fig. 7-31 is recommended. In A, a grounded pivoted metal lever drops by gravity against a contact connected to the positive high-voltage terminal when the cabinet door is opened, shorting the power supply. When the door is closed, it pushes against the end of the lever protruding through the door opening and the short is removed automatically. In another scheme, shown at B, a metal ball, suspended on a cord, drops into a triangle of contacts, one of which is grounded, while the other two go to positive terminals of power supplies. The wedge mounted on the door pushes against the suspending cord, lifting the ball when the door is closed. The power supplies should be equipped with suitable fuses to save the equipment in case the device is ever called upon to perform its duty.

## **Emergency and Independent Power Sources**

Emergency power supply which operates independently of a.c. lines is available, or can be built in a number of different forms, depending upon the requirements of the service for which it is intended.

The most practical supply for the average individual amateur is one that operates from a 6-volt car storage battery. Such a supply may take the form of a small motor generator (often called a genemotor), a rotary converter, or a vibrator-transformer-rectifier combination.

#### **Dynamotors**

A dynamotor differs from a motor generator in that it is a single unit having a double armature winding. One winding serves for the driving motor, while the output voltage is taken from the other. Dynamotors usually are operated from 6-, 12-, 28- or 32-volt storage batteries and deliver from 300 to 1000 volts or more at various current ratings.

Genemotor is a term popularly used when making reference to a dynamotor designed especially for automobile-receiver, soundtruck and similar applications. It has good regulation and efficiency, combined with economy of operation. Standard models of genemotors have ratings ranging from 250 volts at 50 ma. to 400 volts at 375 ma. or 600 volts at 250 ma. The normal efficiency averages around 50 per cent, increasing to better than 60 per cent in the higher-power units. The voltage regulation of a genemotor is comparable to that of well-designed a.e. supplies.

## **POWER SUPPLIES**

Successful operation of dynamotors and genemotors requires heavy direct leads, mechanical isolation to reduce vibration, and thorough r.f. and ripple filtration. The shafts and bearings should be thoroughly "run in" before regular operation is attempted, and thereafter the tension of the bearings should be checked occasionally to make certain that no looseness has developed.

In mounting the genemotor, the support should be in the form of rubber mounting blocks, or equivalent, to prevent the transmission of vibration mechanically. The frame of the genemotor should be grounded through a heavy flexible connector. The brushes on the high-voltage end of the shaft should be bypassed with 0.002-µfd. mica condensers to a common point on the genemotor frame, preferably to a point inside the end cover close to the brush holders. Short leads are essential. It may prove desirable to shield the entire unit, or even to remove the unit to a distance of three or four feet from the receiver and antenna lead.

When the genemotor is used for receiving, a filter should be used similar to that described for vibrator supplies. A 0.01- $\mu$ fd. 600-volt (d.c.) paper condenser should be connected in shunt across the output of the genemotor, followed by a 2.5-mh. r.f. choke in the positive high-voltage lead. From this point the output should be run to the receiver power terminals through a smoothing filter using 4- to 8- $\mu$ fd. condensers and a 15- or 30-henry choke having low d.c. resistance.

#### D.C.-A.C. Converters

In some instances it is desirable to utilize existing equipment built for 115-volt a.c. operation. To operate such equipment with any of the power sources outlined above would require a considerable amount of rebuilding. This can be obviated by using a rotary converter capable of changing the d.c. from 6-, 12- or 32-volt batteries to 115-volt 60-cycle a.e. Such converter units are built to deliver outputs ranging from 40 to 250 watts, depending upon the battery power available.

The conversion efficiency of these units averages about 50 per cent. In appearance and operation they are similar to genemotors of equivalent rating. The over-all efficiency of the converter will be lower, however, because of losses in the a.c. rectifier-filter circuits and the necessity for converting heater (which is supplied directly from the battery in the case of the genemotor) as well as plate power.

#### Vibrator Power Supplies

The vibrator type of power supply consists of a special step-up transformer combined with a vibrating interrupter (vibrator). When the unit is connected to a storage battery, plate power is obtained by passing current from the battery through the primary of the transformer. The circuit is made and reversed rapidly by the vibrator contacts, interrupting the current at regular intervals to give a changing magnetic field which induces a voltage in the secondary. The resulting squarewave d.c. pulses in the primary of the transformer cause an alternating voltage to be developed in the secondary. This high-voltage a.c. in turn is rectified, either by a vacuum-tube rectifier or by an additional synchronized pair of vibrator contacts. The rectified output is pulsating d.c., which may be filtered by ordinary means. The smoothing filter can be a single-section affair, but the output capacitance should be fairly large — 16 to 32  $\mu$ fd.

Fig. 7-32 shows the two types of circuits. At A is shown the **nonsynchronous** type of vibrator. When the battery is disconnected the reed is midway between the two contacts, touching neither. On closing the battery circuit the magnet coil pulls the reed into contact with one contact point, causing current to flow through the lower half of the transformer primary winding. Simultaneously, the magnet



Fig. 7-32 — Basic types of vibrator power-supply circuits. A—Nonsynchronous, B—Synchronous.

coil is short-circuited, deënergizing it, and the reed swings back. Inertia carries the reed into contact with the upper point, causing current to flow through the upper half of the transformer primary. The magnet coil again is energized, and the cycle repeats itself.

The synchronous circuit of Fig. 7-32B is provided with an extra pair of contacts which rectify the secondary output of the transformer, thus eliminating the need for a separate rectifier tube. The secondary center-tap furnishes the positive output terminal when the relative polarities of primary and secondary windings are correct. The proper connections may be determined by experiment.

The buffer condenser,  $C_2$ , across the transformer secondary, absorbs the surges that occur on breaking the current, when the magnetic field collapses practically instantaneously and hence causes very high voltages to be induced in the secondary. Without this condenser excessive sparking occurs at the vibrator contacts, shortening the vibrator life. Correct values usually lie between 0.005 and 0.03  $\mu$ fd., and for 250-300-volt supplies the condenser should be rated at 1500 to 2000 volts d.c. The exact capacitance is critical, and should be determined experimentally. The optimum value is that which results in least battery current for a given rectified d.c. output from the supply. In practice the value can be determined by observing the degree of vibrator sparking as the capacitance is changed. When the system is operating properly there should be practically no sparking at the vibrator contacts. A 5000-ohm resistor in series with  $C_2$  will limit the secondary current to a safe value should the condenser fail.

Vibrator-transformer units are available in a variety of power and voltage ratings, Representative units vary from one delivering 125 to 200 volts at 100 ma, to others that have a 400-volt output rating at 150 ma. Most units come supplied with "hash" filters, but not all of them have built-in ripple filters. The requirements for ripple filters are similar to those for a.c. supplies. The usual efficiency of vibrator packs is in the vicinity of 70 per cent, so a 300-volt 200-ma. unit will draw approximately 15 amperes from a 6-volt storage battery. Special vibrator transformers are also available from transformer manufacturers so that the amateur may build his own supply if he so desires. These have d.c. output ratings varying from 150 volts at 40 ma. to 330 volts at 135 ma.

Vibrator-type supplies are also available for operating standard a.c. equipment from a 6-volt storage battery in power ratings up to 100 watts continuous or 125 watts intermittent.

#### "Hash" Elimination

Sparking at the vibrator contacts causes r.f. interference ("hash," which can be distin-guished from hum by its harsh, sharper pitch) when used with a receiver. To minimize this, r.f. filters are incorporated, consisting of  $RFC_1$ and  $C_1$  in the battery circuit, and  $RFC_2$  with  $C_3$ in the d.c. output circuit.

Equally as important as the hash filter is thorough shielding of the power supply and



its connecting leads, since even a small piece of wire or metal will radiate enough r.f. to cause interference in a sensitive receiver.

Testing in connection with hash elimination should be carried out with the supply operating a receiver. Since the interference usually is picked up on the receiving-antenna leads by radiation from the supply itself and from the battery leads, it is advisable to keep the supply and battery as far from the receiver as the connecting cables will permit. Three or four feet should be ample. The microphone cord likewise should be kept away from the power supply and its leads.

The power supply should be built on a metal chassis, with all unshielded parts underneath. A bottom plate to complete the shielding is advisable. The transformer case, vibrator cover and the metal shell of the tube all should be grounded to the chassis. If a glass tube is used it should be enclosed in a tube shield. The battery leads should be evenly twisted, since these leads are more likely to radiate hash than any other part of a well-shielded supply. Experimenting with different values in the hash filters should come after radiation from the battery leads has been reduced to a minimum. Shielding the leads is not often found to be particularly helpful.

#### PRACTICAL VIBRATOR-SUPPLY CIRCUITS

A vibrator-type power supply may be designed to operate from a six-volt storage battery only, or in a combination unit which may be operated interchangeably from either battery or 115 volts a.c.

An example of the latter-type circuit is shown in Fig. 7-33. It consists essentially of two transformer-rectifier systems - one for 115 volts a.c. and the other a vibrator system to operate from a 6-volt storage battery. A common filter is used for the two systems. In interchanging between a.c. and d.c. operation, the rectifier tube (a 6X5 or 6W5G) is shifted to the appropriate socket, while the filament connections are made to the proper output termi-

Fig. 7-33 - Circuit of a combination a.c.-d.c. power supply for emergency work.

- C1 -– 0.01-µfd, 600-volt paper.
- 8-ufd, 450-volt electrolytic, C2 -
- C3 -32-µfd. 450-volt electrolytic.
- 0.005- to 0.01-µfd. 1600-volt paper.  $C_4$
- C5 -500-µfd. electrolytic, 25 volts or higher.
- 100-µµfd. 600-volt miea. C6 -
- $R_1 -$ 4700 ohms, 1 watt.
- 10- to 12-hy, filter choke, 100 ma. (not over 100 ohms) (Stancor C-2303 or L equivalent).
- RFC<sub>1</sub> -
- 2.5-mh. r.f. choke. -55 turns No. 12 on 1-inch form, RFC<sub>2</sub> close-wound.
- $S_{1}, S_{2}$ Toggle switch.
- $T_1$ Power transformer: 275 to 300 volts r.m.s. each side of center tap, 100 to 150 ma., 6.3-volt filament winding.
- T2-Vibrator transformer (Staneor P-6131 or similar).
- VIB -Vibrator unit (Mallory 500P, 294, etc.).

## **POWER SUPPLIES**



Fig. 7-34 — A typical combination a.e.-d.e. power pack for low-power emergency work. The two transformers are mounted at either end of the chassis. The filter condenser is at the left, the two rectifier sockets at the center and the vibrator to the rear.

nais. If desired, two rectifier tubes may be used and the changeover made through suitable switches.

R.f. filters for reducing hash are incorporated in both primary and secondary eircuits. The secondary filter consists of a 0.01-µfd. paper condenser directly across the rectifier output, with a 2.5-mh. r.f. choke in series ahead of the smoothing filter. In the primary circuit a low-inductance choke and high-capacitance condenser are needed because of the low impedance of the circuit. A choke of the specifications given should be adequate, but if there is trouble with hash it may be beneficial to experiment with other sizes. The wire should be large - No. 12, preferably, or No. 14 as a minimum. Manufactured chokes such as the Mallory RF583 are more compact and give higher inductance for a given resistance because they are bank-wound, and may be substituted if obtainable.  $C_5$  should be at least 500  $\mu$ fd.; even more capacitance may help in bad cases of hash. The components are assembled on a  $5 \times 10 \times 3$ inch steel chassis. Three socket holes are required - one for the 4-prong socket for the vibrator and two octal sockets for the rectifier.

The compactness of selenium rectifiers and the fact that they do not require filament voltage make them particularly suited to compact lightweight power supplies for portable emergency work.

Fig. 7-35 shows the circuit of a vibrator pack that will deliver an output voltage of 400 at 200 ma. It will work with either 115-volt ac. or 6-volt battery input. The eircuit is that of the familiar voltage tripler whose d.c. output voltage is, as a rough approximation, three times the peak voltage delivered by the transformer or line. An interesting feature of the circuit is the fact that the single transformer serves as the vibrator transformer when operating from 6-volt d.c. supply and as the filament transformer when operating from an a.c. line. This is accomplished without complicated switching.

The vibrator transformer,  $T_1$ , is a dualsecondary 6.3-volt filament transformer connected in reverse. In either event, the filament windings must have a rating of 10 amperes if the full load current of 200 ma. is to be used. The vibrator also must be capable of handling the current. The hash-filter choke,  $L_1$ , must earry a current of 20 amperes.

The following table shows the output voltage to be expected at various load currents, depending upon the size of condensers used at  $C_1$ ,  $C_2$  and  $C_3$ .

$C_1, C_2, C_3$ ( $\mu f d.$ )	50 ma.	Output Voltage at 50 ma. 100 ma. 150 ma. 2					
60 40 20	455 425 400	430 390 340	$\frac{415}{360}$ 285	395 330 225			

In operating the supply from an a.e. line, it is always wise to determine the plug polarity with respect to ground. Otherwise the rectifier part of the eircuit and the transformer eircuit ean-



Fig. 7-35 — Circuit diagram of a compact vibrator-a.c. portable power supply using selenium rectifiers.

 $C_1 - 60$ -µfd. 200-volt electrolytic.

 $C_2 = 60$ -µfd. 400-volt electrolytic.

C3 - 60-µfd. 600-volt electrolytic.

- $C_4 = 25$ -µfd. 25-volt electrolytic.
- C5, C6 0.5-µfd. 25-volt paper.
- C7-0.007-µfd, 1500-volt paper.
- R1 25,000 ohms, 10 watts.
- $L_1 = 25 \cdot \mu hy$ . 20-amp. choke.
- $S_1 = 115$ -volt toggle switch.  $S_2 = D.p.d.t.$  heavy duty knife switch.
- $S_2 = 17.p.0.t.$  heavy duty knife switch,  $S_3 = 25$ -amp. s.p.s.t. switch.
- $T_1 See \text{ text.}$
- V -- Ileavy-duty vibrator (Cornell-Dub. 4123).

not be connected to actual ground except through by-pass condensers. Rectangular cutouts are also needed for the two flush-mounting transformers. The filter choke,  $L_1$ , and other small components can be fitted under the chassis. The clip leads to the battery should be no longer than necessary.

#### GASOLINE-ENGINE DRIVEN GENERATORS

For higher-power installations, such as for communications control centers during emergencies, the most practical form of independent power supply is the gasoline-engine driven generator which provides standard 115-volt 60-cycle supply.

Such generators are ordinarily rated at a minimum of 250 or 300 watts. They are available up to two kilowatts, or big enough to handle the highest-power amateur rig. Most are arranged to charge automatically an auxiliary 6- or 12-volt battery used in starting. Fitted with self-starters and adequate mufflers and filters, they represent a high order of performance and efficiency. Many of the larger models are liquid-cooled, and they will operate continuously at full load.

A variant on the generator idea is the use of fan-belt drive. The disadvantage of requiring that the automobile must be running throughout the operating period has not led to general popularity of this idea among amateurs. Such generators are similar in construction and capacity to the small gas-driven units.

The output frequency of an engine-driven generator must fall between the relatively narrow limits of 50 to 60 cycles if standard 60-cycle transformers are to operate efficiently from this source. A 60-cycle electric clock provides a means of checking the output frequency with a fair degree of accuracy. The clock is connected across the output of the generator and the second hand is checked closely against the second hand of a watch. The speed of the engine is adjusted until the two second hands are in synchronism. If a 50-cycle clock is used to check a 60-cycle generator, it should be remembered that one revolution of the second hand will be made in 50 seconds and the clock will gain 4.8 hours in each 24 hours.

Output voltage should be checked with a voltmeter since a standard 115-volt lamp bulb, which is sometimes used for this purpose, is very inaccurate. Tests have shown that what appears to be normal brilliance in the lamp may occur at voltages as high as 150 if the check is made in bright sunlight.

#### Noise Elimination

Electrical noise which may interfere with receivers operating from engine-driven a.c. generators may be reduced or eliminated by taking proper precautions. The most important point is that of grounding the frame of the generator and one side of the output. The ground lead should be short to be effective, otherwise grounding may actually increase the noise. A water pipe may be used if a short connection can be made near the point where the pipe enters the ground, otherwise a good separate ground should be provided.

The next step is to loosen the brush-holder

locks and slowly shift the position of the brushes while checking for noise with the receiver. Usually a point will be found (almost always different from the factory setting) where there is a marked decrease in noise.



Fig. 7.36 — Connections used for eliminating interference from gas-driven generator plants, C should be 1  $\mu$ fd., 300 volts, paper, while C<sub>2</sub> may be 1  $\mu$ fd, with a voltage rating of twice the d.c. output voltage delivered by the generator, X indicates an added connection between the slip ring on the grounded side of the line and the generator frame.

From this point on, if necessary, by-pass condensers from various brush holders to the frame, as shown in Fig. 7-36, will bring the hash down to within 10 to 15 per cent of its original intensity, if not entirely eliminating it. Most of the remaining noise will be reduced still further if the high-power audio stages are cut out and a pair of headphones is connected into the second detector.

#### **POWER FOR PORTABLES**

Dry-cell batteries are the only practical source of supply for equipment which must be transported on foot. From certain considerations they may also be the best source of voltage for a receiver whose filaments may be operated from a storage battery, since no problem of noise filtering is involved.

Their disadvantages are weight, high cost, and limited current capability. In addition, they will lose their power even when not in use, if allowed to stand idle for periods of a year or more. This makes them uneconomical if not used more or less continuously.

Dry "B" batteries are made in a variety of sizes and shapes, from a 45-volt unit weighing about 1 lb. that has an intermittent service rating of 20 hours at a drain of 20 ma., to a 12-lb. unit rated at 130 hours at 40 ma. "A" batteries for filament service range from a 6-volt unit weighing 1½ lbs. delivering in intermittent service an average of 60 ma. for 150 hours, to a 6¼-lb. 1.5-volt unit having a service life of 870 hours at 200 ma. Miniature batteries, suitable for hand-portable use, are also available.

## Keying and Break-In

Offhand it would appear that keying a transmitter is a simple matter, since on the face of it nothing more is involved than turning the transmitter output on and off to correspond to the code characters being sent. Unfortunately, it is not this simple, and perfect keying of a c.w. rig is as difficult to come by as perfect voice quality is with a 'phone transmitter. The problem cannot be dismissed lightly.

Although the operation is basically that of turning the transmitter output power on and off, it is complicated by the fact that it must not be turned on and off instantaneously. Instead, the output must be made to rise to (and fall from) maximum in some finite period of time, if key clicks are to be avoided. These clicks are the inescapable result of changing the power level rapidly, and they appear in the radio spectrum adjacent to the signal proper. The more rapidly the output is varied, the farther the clicks will extend in frequency and the greater will be their amplitude. They interfere unnecessarily with other signals and, if severe enough, can be cause for a discrepancy report by the FCC

Another effect of improper keying of a transmitter is the introduction of **chirp**, a change in frequency at the instant of making or breaking the signal. A chirp of 50 cycles is enough to make a signal unpleasant to copy, and a chirp of several hundred cycles may render the signal difficult to copy or a target for an FCC discrepancy report. Much depends, of course, upon the selectivity and beat note being used at the receiver, but the safest procedure is to aim for no detectable chirp.

A third keying fault is **backwave**, which consists of power leaking through and radiating when the key is "up." A strong backwave makes the signal unpleasant or difficult to copy.

In code transmission, there are intervals between dots and dashes, and slightly longer intervals between letters and words, when no power is being radiated by the transmitter. If the receiver can be made to operate at normal sensitivity during these intervals, it is possible for the receiving operator to signal the transmitting operator, by holding his key down. This is useful during the handling of messages, since the receiving operator can immediately signal the transmitting operator if he misses part of the message. It also reduces the time necessary for calling in answer to a "CQ." The ability to hear signals during the short "key-up" intervals is called **break-in operation**.

#### SELECTING THE STAGE TO KEY

It is often desirable from an operating standpoint to design the c.w. transmitter for breakin operation. In most cases this requires that the oscillator be keyed, since a continuouslyrunning oscillator will create interference in the receiver and prevent break-in on or near one's own frequency, unless the oscillator stage is well shielded.<sup>1</sup> Chirpless and clickless keying of an oscillator is difficult to obtain, since the necessary slow turning on and off of the oscillator (for click elimination) shows up any oscillator frequency-vs.-voltage changes. It is easy to key an oscillator without chirps or without clicks but not without both. The effect of a chirp is multiplied with frequency, and it is difficult to obtain chirpless oscillator keying at an output frequency of 14, 21 or 28 Me.

The best-sounding keying (and the simplest to adjust) is usually obtained by keying the output or driver stage, or both. With the oscillator running continuously and "buffered" by several intermediate stages, its frequency remains constant throughout all parts of the keying cycle. The only problem in keying then becomes that of properly "shaping" the keying to reduce or eliminate clicks. When keying several stages away from the output amplifier, it is necessary to bias the stages following the keyed stage so that they draw little or no plate current when the key is up, to avoid excessive plate dissipation. If the stages are biased too heavily, however, these subsequent amplifiers tend to shorten the rise and fall times and thus reintroduce clicks, This should always be borne in mind when a multistage transmitter is used with low-level keving.

The power broken by the key is an important consideration, both from the standpoint of safety to the operator and that of sparking and sticking at the key contacts. Keying of the oscillator or a low-power stage is favorable on both counts. The use of a keying relay or keyer tube is recommended when a high-power circuit is keyed.

Because transmitters vary widely in design, there is no specific recommendation that can be made about choosing the stage to key. If the oscillator alone keys satisfactorily (no chirps or clicks), even when listening to its

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For a description of a well-shielded oscillator, see Smith, "A Solution to the Keyed-VFO Problem," *QST*, February, 1950.

harmonics on 21 or 28 Mc., the transmitter should be keyed there, but the effect of adding the additional multipliers and amplifiers should be carefully checked, to see that clicks are not reintroduced. Methods for checking will be given later. If the oscillator cannot be keyed satisfactorily by itself or with the following stage added, a stage near the output should be

The plate circuit is a good one to key in an oscillator or low-voltage amplifier, because it is easy to shape the keying properly in this circuit. When plate-circuit keying is used, it is usually done in the negative lead, since this permits one side of the key to be grounded. The stage can be keyed in the positive lead, but both sides of the keyed circuit will be "hot," and a keying relay is advisable. Fig. 8-1 shows the general circuit for negativelead keying in either an oscillator or an amplifier. Two examples are shown using triodes, but screen-grid tubes can be used just as readily. Plate-circuit keying is recommended only for low-voltage circuits if no keying relay is used, since a large portion of the supply voltage can appear across the open key.

Shaping circuits applicable to this and later circuits will be discussed in this chapter under "Testing Your Keying."

Somewhat closely related to plate-circuit keying is screen-grid keying, shown in Fig. 8-2. The only basic difference is that the screen grid is pulled down to a negative voltage when the key is up, to avoid the backwave that may



Fig. 8-1 — Negative plate-lead keying for eathode- or filament-type tubes. These circuits are useful for oscillator or low-power stages, where the voltage across the open key is not very dangerous. Tetrode or pentode stages can be keyed in this manner, but the screen circuit should be stabilized with VR tubes or a heavy voltage divider.  $R_1$  is the normal grid leak,  $C_1$ ,  $C_2$ ,  $C_3$  and  $C_4$  are r.f. by-pass condensers.

**CHAPTER 8** 

keyed and any thought of break-in operation should be discarded. A close approach to break-in operation can be obtained by using a convenient and fast "on-off" switch for the oscillator, or the break-in system described later in the chapter can be used. Foot-actuated switches are available for use as the "on-off" switch — they leave both hands free at all times.

## **Keying Circuits**

be present when the screen goes only to zero volts. The negative supply can be small, since its current demand is only a few milliamperes. If the screen voltage is taken from the plate supply, it should come from a voltage divider rather than a simple dropping resistor.



Fig. 8-2 — Screen-grid keying, suitable for oseillator or amplifier keying,  $R_1$  is the normal grid leak,  $R_2$  should be about 200 to 500 ohms per screen volt, and  $C_1$ ,  $C_2$  and  $C_3$  are normal by-pass condensers.

Grid-circuit, or blocked-grid, keying is shown in Fig. 8-3. With the key up, a negative voltage is applied to the grid sufficient to cut off the tube and prevent current flow. With the key closed, the grid circuit develops normal grid bias through  $R_2$ . The drain on the negative-voltage supply is small, since it is limited by the size of  $R_1$ . Grid-circuit keying is generally used with low-power stages or where the voltage necessary to cut off the amplifier is only a few hundred volts. The value of  $C_1$  determines the keying characteristic, together with the ratio of  $R_2$  and  $R_1$ , and will be discussed later.

By placing the key in the cathode (or center tap) circuit of an oscillator or amplifier, both the grid and plate (and screen, if any) circuits are opened by the key. **Cathode keying** is good for use with amplifiers, because the proper



Fig. 8-3 — Blocked-grid keying.  $R_1$ , the current-limiting resistor, should have a value of about 50,000 ohms.  $C_1$ may have a capacity of 0.1 to 1  $\mu$  fd., depending upon the keying characteristic desired.  $R_2$  is the normal value of grid leak for the tube.

## **KEYING AND BREAK-IN**



Fig. 8-4 — Cathode and center-tap keying. The condensers C are r.f. by-pass condensers. Their capacity is not critical, values of 0.001 to 0.01  $\mu$ fd. ordinarily being used.

shaping can be accomplished readily. It is also widely used with oscillators, but here the shaping is often complicated by the gridcircuit time constant. Cathode keying is shown



keyer-tube circuit for cathode or negative-lead keying.

To cathode of in Fig. 8-4. It is popular for use in low- and medium-power stages, although a keying relay or keyer tube should be used where the plate voltage is more than 300.

> A popular method of keying involves using one or more tubes as keyer tubes, in place of a relay. A keyer tube (or tubes) can be used in the negative-lead or cathodekeying circuits of Figs. 8-1 and 8-4. One advantage of tube keying is that the voltage across

the key is limited by large resistors, and so the operator has no chance for anything but the slightest electrical shock. A further advantage is that the shaping is done in the grid circuit of the keyer tube with inexpensive parts. The basic keyer tube circuit is shown in Fig. 8-5 — it is similar to the grid-circuit keying of Fig. 8-3.

A keying relay can be substituted for a key in any of the keying circuits shown in this chapter. Most keying relays operate from 6.3or 115 volts a.c., and they should be selected for their speed of operation and adequate insulation for the job to be done. Adequate cur-



Fig. 8-6 — A keying relay can always be substituted for the key, to provide better isolation from the keyed circuit. An r.f. filter is generally required at the key, and the keying filter is connected in the keyed circuit at the relay contacts.

rent-handling capability is also a factor. A typical circuit is shown in Fig. 8-6.

The relay-coil current that is broken by the key will cause clicks in the receiver, and an r.f. filter (see later in this chapter) is often necessary across the key. The normal keying filter connects at the relay armature contacts in the usual manner. Vibration effects of the keying relay upon the oscillator circuit should be avoided.

## **Testing Your Keying**

The choice of a keying circuit is not as important as its complete testing. Any of the circuits shown in this section can be made to give satisfactory keying, but they must be adjusted properly.

The easiest way to find out what your keyed signal sounds like on the air is to trade stations with a near-by ham friend some evening for a short QSO. If he is a half mile or so away, that's fine, but any distance where the signals are still S9 will be satisfactory.

After you have found out how to work his rig, make contact and then have him send slow dashes, with dash spacing. (The letter "T" at about 5 w.p.m.) With the crystal filter out, cut the r.f. gain back just enough to avoid receiver overloading (the condition where you get crisp signals instead of mushy ones) and tune slowly from out of beat-note range on one side of the signal through to zero and out the other side. Knowing the tempo of the dashes, you can readily identify any clicks in the vicinity as yours or someone else's. A good signal will have a thump on "make" that is perceptible only where you can also hear the beat note, and the click on "break" should be practically negligible at any point. Fig. 8-7A shows how it should sound. If your signal is like that, it will sound good, provided there are no chirps. Then have him run off a string of 35- or 40-w.p.m. dots with the bug — if they are easy to copy, your signal has no "tails" worth worrying about and is a good one for any speed up to the limit of manual keying. If the receiver has poor selectivity with the crystal filter out, make one last check with the filter in (Fig. 8-7B), to see that the clicks off the signal are negligible even at high signal level.

If you don't have any convenient friends with whom to trade stations, you can still check your keying, although you have to be a little more careful The first step is to get rid of the r.f. click at the key, because if you don't you cannot make further observations. Locally (meaning in your own receiver) this click will coincide in time with clicks that may or may not be on your signal, so there is just no way to observe your signal without first eliminating the r.f. click. And unless you have a keying system that breaks no current, you have a



Fig. 8-7 — Representations of a clean c.w. signal as a receiver is tuned through it. (A) shows a receiver with no crystal filter and the b.f.o. set in the center of the passband, and (B) shows the crystal filter in and the receiver adjusted for single-signal reception. The variation in thickness of the lines represents the relative signal intensity. The audio frequency where the signal disappears will depend upon the receiver selectivity characteristic and the strength of the signal.

click at the key. Even the current broken by the key in a vacuum-tube keyer circuit (which is sometimes only 0.1 ma. or so) will cause r.f. clicks that can be heard in your receiver and often in the b.c. set. If you key with a relay, the key opens the relay-coil circuit and clicks are generated at the key as well as at the relay contacts. Don't make the very common mistake of thinking these clicks are the same as the on-the-air clicks discussed earlier - they are not! They are simply local clicks that you must eliminate before you can observe your signal in your receiver. These clicks are the same as the ones you get when you turn an electric light on or off - when you suddenly start or stop current flow, no matter how little, you generate r.f. and that's the click.

Getting rid of this little click is generally no trick at all, unless you're breaking a lot of current. All it requires is a small r.f. filter, as shown in Fig. 8-8. Sometimes just a small  $(0.001-\mu fd.)$  condenser mounted right at the key terminals will do it, and sometimes it will require the full treatment complete with r.f. chokes and second condenser. Measure the normal current through the key leads, remove the transmitter leads, and then connect a d.c. power supply and resistor to give the same current through the key. When your key will break this current with no click, as observed in your receiver and the b.c. set (tuned off any station), you have a suitable r.f. filter at the



Fig. 8-8 — A filter for eliminating the r.f. click at the key. First try  $C_1$ , then add the two r.f. chokes, and then  $C_2$ . This filter does not eliminate on-the-air clicks, but it is necessary if you are trying to check keying in your own receiver. It should be mounted right at the key.

C<sub>1</sub>, C<sub>2</sub> - 0.01 to 0.001 µfd., not critical. RFC<sub>1</sub>, RFC<sub>2</sub> - 1- to 2.5-mh, r.f. choke. key and you can reconnect the transmitter. If you use a vacuum-tube keyer, just don't turn on the transmitter but key the normal keyer grid current. If you use a keying relay, first eliminate the click at the key by just keying the relay and adding filter across the key, and then eliminate the click at the relay contacts with another r.f. filter in the relay-keyed circuit. The filter should be mounted right at the key or relay contacts. The objective is to be able to make or break normal key current without generating a local click, and the filtering is usually so simple that the junk box will yield the parts and the process takes longer to describe than to apply.

So far you haven't done a thing for your signal on the air and you still don't know what it sounds like, but you may have cleaned up some clicks in the b.c. set. Now disconnect the antenna from your receiver and short the antenna terminals with a short piece of wire. Tune in your own signal and reduce the r.f. gain to the point where your receiver doesn't overload. Detune any antenna trimmer the receiver may have. If you can't avoid overload within the r.f. gain-control range, pull out the r.f. amplifier tube and try again. If you still can't avoid overload, listen to the second harmonic as a last resort. Since an overloaded receiver can generate clicks, it is easy to realize the importance of eliminating overload during any tests or observations.

Describing the volume level at which you should set your receiver for these "shack" tests is a little difficult. The r.f. filter should be effective with the receiver running wide open and with an antenna connected. When you turn on the transmitter and take the other steps mentioned to reduce the signal in the receiver, run the audio up and the r.f. down to the point where you can just hear a little "rushing" sound with the b.f.o. off and the receiver tuned to the signal. This is with the crystal filter in. At this level, a properly-adjusted keying circuit will show no clicks off the rushing-sound range. With the b.f.o. on and the same gain setting, there should be no clicks outside the beat-note range. When observing clicks, make the slow-dash and fast-dot tests outlined previously.

Now you know how your signal sounds on the air, with one exception. If keying your transmitter makes the house lights blink or the dial light in your receiver flicker, you may not be able to tell too accurately about any chirp on your signal. However, if you are satisfied with the absence of chirp when tuning either side of zero beat, it is safe to assume that your receiver isn't chirping with the light flicker and the observed signal is a true representation. No chirp either side of zero beat is fine - some chirp can be either in your transmitter or your receiver, when the lights flicker. But don't try to make these tests without first getting rid of the r.f. click at the key, because clicks can mask a chirp.

In some instances, particularly if the transmitter power is several hundred watts or more, you may find that a small click still persists on all frequencies. If such a click is observed, pull out the last i.f. amplifier tube in your receiver and listen again. If the click is still there, it indicates rectification in the audio system of your receiver, the same type of BCI we condemn cheap midget receivers for. You can cure it with the usual resistor-condenser filter used for curing such BCI cases, or you can leave it in and make mental compensation for it. Any click you hear on your signal should reduce to this minimum click immediately off the signal.

Another unavoidable click can be encountered by r.f. pick-up on the lead from a receiver i.f. amplifier to an "outrigger" selective i.f. amplifier ("Q5-er"). Here again the click will be present at any setting of the receiver tuning control. The solution here is to make your checks with the Q5-er disconnected and the lead removed from the receiver.

Key clicks are caused by the key turning your transmitter on and off too fast — and sometimes by parasitic oscillations in an amplifier — and all a key-click filter does is to slow down the turning-on and turning-off processes. Parasitic clicks occur at points 25 to 100 ke, either side of the signal, and are caused by low-frequency parasitic oscillations triggered by the keying. The cure consists of eliminating the oscillation, not adding key-click filters.

Plate, screen or cathode keying requires a key-click filter of the type shown in Fig. 8-9. Adjustment of such a filter is a simple matter. If the signal has too heavy a click or thump on "make," L should have more inductance. If the click is too heavy on "break," C should have more capacity. The "break" characteristic is also influenced by the value of L, so start with a value of C that reduces the clicks noticeably on "break," adjust the value of L

for best "make" characteristic, and then clean up the "break" by further modification of C. Since you may have only a few stray inductances around the shack, you may not find just the value you want for L. In this case, use a value that gives too soft a "make" and then shunt the inductance with resistance to reduce its effect. Transformer windings will often serve as well as standard chokes in this application, so try everything around the shack until you find what you need. For a given voltage, high-current circuits will require more C and less L than will low-current ones.

In the screen-grid keying circuit (Fig. 8-2), the value of  $R_2$  will also affect the "break" characteristic. If  $R_2$  is too large the "break" will tail off too gradually, if it is too small it may introduce a click on "break." In general it is best to start with a value as suggested in Fig. 8-2 and adjust C (Fig. 8-9) for the proper "break" characteristic.



Fig. 8-9 — A key-click filter for cathode, negativelead or screen keying. It can be located anywhere in the keying line. The values of L and C will vary widely with different currents and voltages, and must be found by eut-and-try. For screen keying, the resistor  $R_2$  (Fig. 8-2) should connect to the junction of L and C.

C — 0.05 to 2.0 μfd. L — 0.5 to 30 henrys.

Adjustment of control-grid or keyer-tube keying characteristics is simple, since the important components are  $C_1$ ,  $R_1$  and  $R_2$  (Figs. 8-3 and 8-5). For a given value of  $C_1$ , increasing the value of  $R_2$  will soften the "make" characteristic, and increasing the value of  $R_1$  will soften the "break." The value of  $R_1$  will be many times the value of  $R_2$ . With grid-block keying, the value of  $R_2$  is determined already if the tube runs grid current, because this will be the normal grid leak, and so the value of  $C_1$ must be adjusted for proper "make" characteristic and then the "break" made satisfactory by adjustment of  $R_1$ . Tubes running heavy grid current are not too suitable for grid-block keying because the value of  $R_1$ generally ends up comparatively low and the negative supply must furnish too much current when the key is down.

If you are keying in a low-level stage, don't overlook the clipping action of subsequent stages that are fixed-biased beyond cut-off. It can reintroduce clicks.<sup>2</sup> And if you key your oscillator, don't be too disappointed in the chirp that shows up when you have clickless keying. Amplifier keying is the answer.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For a more complete discussion of this effect, see Carter, "Reducing Key Clicks," QST, March, 1949.

## Vacuum-Tube Keyers

The practical tube-keyer circuit of Fig. 8-10 can be used for keying any stage of any transmitter. Depending upon the power level of the keved stage, more or fewer Type 45 tubes can be connected in parallel to handle the necessary current. The voltage drop through a single 45 varies from about 90 volts at 50 ma, to 50 volts at 20 ma. Tubes added in parallel will reduce the drop in proportion to the number of tubes used.

When connecting the output terminals of the kever to the circuit to be keved, the grounded output terminal of the kever must be connected to the transmitter ground. Thus the keyer can be used only in negative-lead or cathode keying. When used in eathode keying, it will introduce voltage is available from some other source, such as a bias supply. A simplified version of this circuit could eliminate  $S_1$  and  $S_2$  and their associated resistors and condensers, since they are incorporated only to allow the operator to select the combination he prefers. But once the values have been selected, they can be soldered permanently in place. The rule for adjusting the keying characteristic is the same as for blocked-grid keying.

#### A Low-Power Keyer

If a low-level stage running only a few watts is to be keyed, the tube-keyer circuit of Fig. 8-11 offers a simple solution, By using a 117L7 type



Fig. 8-10 - Wiring diagram of a practical vacuum-tube keyer.

C1-2-µfd. 600-volt paper.

C2-0.0033-µfd. mica.

C3-0.0047-µfd. mica.

0.22 megohm, 1 watt.  $R_1 -$ 

R2-50,000 ohms, 10 watts.

R<sub>3</sub>, R<sub>4</sub> - 4.7 megohms, I watt. R5-0.47 megohm, 1 watt.

 $T_1 = 350-0$  -350 volts, 5 volts and 2.5 volts (Stancor P6003).

cathode bias to the stage and reduce the output. This can be compensated for by a reduction in the grid-leak bias of the stage.

The negative-voltage supply  $(T_1, C_1, R_1 \text{ and }$ the 80 rectifier) can be eliminated if a negative



tube, which incorporates its own rectifier, it is only necessary to connect to some existing power supply at the point marked "X". The keying characteristic will vary with many factors, so the values of  $R_1$  and  $R_2$  only represent starting points for experimentation.

When the key or keying lead has poor insulation, the resistance may become low enough (particularly in humid weather) to reduce the blocking voltage and allow the keyer tube to pass some current. This may cause a slight backwave, but it can be cured by better insulation, or by reduced values of  $R_3$  and  $R_4$  in Fig. 8–10 or  $R_1$  in Fig. 8–11.

Monitoring of Keying

In general, there are two common methods for monitoring one's "fist" and signal. The first, and perhaps more common type, involves the use of an audio oscillator that is keyed simultaneously with the transmitter.

The second method is one that permits receiving the signal through one's receiver, and this generally requires that the receiver be tuned to

the transmitter (not always convenient unless working on the same frequency) and that some method be provided for preventing overloading of the receiver, so that a good replica of the transmitted signal will be received. Except where quite low power is used, this usually involves a relay for simultaneously shorting the receiver input terminals and reducing the receiver gain.

## **KEYING AND BREAK-IN**

## The Monitone-for C.W. and 'Phone

The "Monitone" is a useful device for monitoring c.w. or 'phone transmissions. When used for c.w. work, it furnishes an audio tone every time the transmitter key is closed, and it also blanks the receiver output at the same time. When used with a 'phone transmitter, it blanks the receiver when the transmitter carrier is turned on, and also furnishes an audio replica of the transmitted signal, at any desired volume level. The Monitone requires no direct connection to the transmitter or key, and no changes are needed in the receiver. The sidetone and blanking are keyed by the r.f. output of the transmitter, regardless of frequency.

Referring to Fig. 8-12, the 68L7GT acts as a dual amplifier, for the receiver output and for the sidetone oscillator (consisting of the neon bulb

One method of construction of the Monitone is to use a 6-inch cube aluminum utility box (ICA No. 29843) for a cabinet, mounting the components on one removable wall and a small 2-inch chassis fastened to this wall.  $R_6$ ,  $R_{11}$ ,  $S_2$ ,  $J_2$  and NE-2 can be mounted on the panel, with NE-2 projecting through a rubber grommet. The 1N34 crystal and most of the neon-oscillator parts can mount on the 6J5 socket, and the audio components can be grouped around the 6SL7 socket. A tip lack for the r.f. pick-up lead can be mounted on the rear wall of the chassis, near where the 115-volt line cord and the shielded lead to  $P_1$  are brought out. It is advisable to keep the powersupply wiring and components away from the audio.



 $\begin{array}{c} 6SL7GT \\ \hline \\ R_{2} \\ R_{2} \\ R_{3} \\ R_{4} \\ R_{5} \\ R_{6} \\ R_{6} \\ R_{6} \\ R_{7} \\ R_{6} \\ R_{7} \\ R_$ 

NE-2,  $C_6$  and  $R_{10} + R_{11}$ ). When r.f. from the transmitter is fed in at  $J_1$  it is rectified by XTAL and a negative voltage is developed across  $R_9$ . This negative voltage cuts off the 6J5 and one-half of the 6SL7GT. The neon-bulb oscillator goes into action and the resultant tone is amplified in the other half of the 6SL7GT. For 'phone work,  $S_{1B}$  is opened and  $S_{1A}$  is closed. This turns off the sidetone oscillator and feeds the rectified audio from the transmitter through volume control  $R_6$ .

The tone of the neon-bulb oscillator is varied by the position of  $R_{11}$ . Since the power drain of the Monitone is only about 5 ma. at 250 volts, a resistor is used instead of a filter choke in the power supply. Changeover switch  $S_{1A}S_{1B}$  is mounted on the tone potentiometer,  $R_{11}$ , and is wired so that  $S_{1A}$ is closed when the control arm for the potentiometer is rotated to the extreme counterclockwise position.  $S_{1B}$  should open at this setting of the tone control.  $S_{1A}S_{1B}$ , labeled by the manufacturer as a s.p.d.t. switch, is actually a pair of s.p.s.t. switches built into a single assembly.

#### Installation & Operation

The Monitone is used by plugging the audio plug,  $P_1$ , into the headphone jack of the receiver, the headphones into  $J_2$  of the Monitone, and applying 115 volts a.e. A length of wire must be run from the r.f. input jack,  $J_1$ , to a point where it can pick up r.f. from the transmitter antenna system. With  $S_{1B}$  and the power switch,  $S_2$ , closed, the transmitter may be turned on and the position of the r.f. pick-up lead (Caution! High voltage!) adjusted for a sustained oscillation of the neon tube circuit. Sufficient r.f. coupling between the transmitter and the monitor is indicated by a glow in the bulb and by the sidetone as heard in the headphones.

Break-in operation requires a separate receiving antenna, since none of the available antenna change-over relays is fast enough to follow keying. The receiving antenna should be installed as far as possible from the transmitting antenna. It should be mounted at right



Fig. 8-13 - Wiring diagram for smooth break-in operation. The leads shown as heavy lines should be kept as short as possible, for minimum pick-up of the transmitter signal.

 $C_1, C_2, C_3 = 0.001 \ \mu fd.$ 

 $R_1 \rightarrow Receiver manual gain control.$   $R_2 \rightarrow 5000$ - or 10,000-ohm wire-wound potentiometer.  $RFC_1$ ,  $RFC_2$ ,  $RFC_3 \rightarrow 2.5$ -mh, r.f. ehoke.

Ry - S.p.d.t. keying relay.

angles to the transmitting antenna and fed with low pick-up lead-in material such as coaxial eable or 300-ohm Twin-Lead, to minimize pick-up.

If a low-powered transmitter is used, it is often quite satisfactory to use no special equipment for break-in operation other than the separate receiving antenna, since the transmitter will not block the receiver too seriously. Even if the transmitter keys without clicks, some clicks will be heard when the receiver is tuned to the transmitter frequency because of overload in the receiver. An output limiter, as described in Chapter Five, will wash out these clicks and permit good break-in operation even on your transmitter frequency.

When powers above 25 or 50 watts are used, special treatment is required for quiet break-in on the transmitter frequency. A means should be provided for shorting the input of the receiver when the code characters are sent, and a means for reducing the gain of the receiver at **CHAPTER 8** 

The r.f. field around the antenna system may vary in strength as the transmitter is switched from one band to another. Usually, however, a coupling adjustment made at one frequency will suffice for all other frequencies as long as the pick-up line is coupled to one side of the antenna tuner and not the transmission line.

## **Break-In Operation**

the same time is often necessary. The system shown in Fig. 8-13 permits quiet break-in operation for higher-powered stations. It requires a simple operation on the receiver but otherwise is perfectly straightforward.  $R_1$  is the regular receiver r.f. and i.f. gain control.

> The ground lead is lifted on this control and run to a rheostat,  $R_2$ , that goes to ground. A wire from the junction runs outside the receiver to the keying relay,  $R_y$ . When the key is up, the ground side of  $R_1$  is connected to ground through the relay arm, and the receiver is in its normal operating condition, When the key is closed, the relay closes, which breaks the ground connection from  $R_{\rm T}$ and applies additional bias to the tubes in the receiver. This bias is controlled by  $R_2$ . When the relay closes, it also closes

the circuit to the transmitter oscillator.  $C_2$ ,  $C_3$ ,  $RFC_2$  and  $RFC_3$  compose a filter to suppress the clicks caused by the relay current.

The keying relay should be mounted on the receiver as close to the antenna terminals as possible, and the leads shown heavy in the diagram should be kept short, since long leads will allow too much signal to get through into the receiver. A good high-speed keying relay should be used. If a two-wire line is used from the receiving antenna, another r.f. choke,  $RFC_4$ , will be required. The revised portion of the schematic is shown in Fig. 8-14,

#### A DE LUXE BREAK-IN SYSTEM

In many instances it is quite difficult to key an oscillator without clicks and chirps. Most oscillators will key without apparent chirp if the rise and decay times are made very short, but this introduces key clicks that eannot be



Fig. 8-14 - Necessary circuit revision of Fig. 8-13 if a two-wire lead from the receiving antenna is used. RFC4 is a 2.5-mh. r.f. choke - other values are the same as in Fig. 8-13.

## **KEYING AND BREAK-IN**



Fig. 8-15 - A de luxe break-in system that holds the oscillator eireuit closed (and the receiver input shorted) during a string of fast dots but opens between letters or words.

- C1 0.001-µfd. mica.
- $C_2$ — 0.0047-µfd. mica.
- $R_1 = 20,000$  ohms, 10 watts, wire-wound.
- $R_2 1800$  ohms.  $R_3 1500$  ohms.
- R<sub>4</sub>, R<sub>5</sub> 1.0 megohm. R<sub>6</sub> 4700 ohms.
- 6.8 megohm.  $R_7$
- $R_8 0.47$  megohm.
- 50-ohm center-tapped resistor, 2 watts. R9 All resistors 1-watt composition unless otherwise noted.
- RFC1 2.5-mh. r.f. choke.
- Ry High-speed relay, 1400-ohm 18-volt coil (Stevens-Arnold Type 172 Millisec relay).

avoided. The system shown in Fig. 8-15 avoids this trouble by turning on the oscillator quickly, keying an amplifier with a vacuumtube keyer, and turning off the oscillator after the amplifier keying is finished. The oscillator is turned on and off without lag, but the resultant clicks are not passed through the transmitter. Actually, with keying speeds faster than about 15 w.p.m., the oscillator will stay turned on for a letter or even a word, but it turns off between words and allows the transmitting station to hear the "break" signal of the other station. It requires one tube more than the ordinary vacuum-tube keyer and a special high-speed relay.

As can be seen from Fig. 8-15, the circuit is a combination of the break-in system of Fig. 8-13 and the tube keyer of Fig. 8-11, with a 6SN7 tube and a few resistors added. Normally the left-hand portion of the 6SN7 is biased to a low value of plate current by the drop through  $R_2$  (part of the bleeder  $R_1R_2R_3$ ) and the relay is open. When the key is closed and  $C_2$  starts to discharge, the right-hand portion of the 6SN7 draws current and this in turn puts a less-negative voltage on the grid of the left-hand

portion. The tube draws current and the relay closes. The relay will stay closed until the negative voltage across  $C_2$  is close to the supply voltage, and consequently a string of dots or dashes (which doesn't give  $C_2$  a chance to charge to full negative) will keep the relay closed. In adjusting the system,  $R_2$  controls the amount of idling current through the relay and  $R_6$  determines the voltage across the relay.  $R_7$ ,  $R_8$  and  $C_2$  are the normal resistors and condenser for the tube keyer. When adjusted properly, the relay will close without delay on the first dot and open quickly during the spaces between words or slower letters. When idling, the voltage across the relay should be one or two volts — with the key down it should be 18 volts.

The oscillator should be designed to key as fast as possible, which means that series resistances and shunt capacitances should be held to a minimum. Negative plate-lead keying is slightly faster than cathode keying and should be used in the oscillator. The keyer tubes are connected in the cathode circuit of an amplifier stage to avoid reaction on the oscillator. By using blocked-grid keving of the amplifier stage, the keyer tubes can be eliminated.

Full descriptions of allied systems for break-in operation can be found in the following QSTarticles:

Miller and Meichner, "TVG - An Aid to Break-In," March, 1953.

Puckett, "'DeLuxe' Keying Without Relays," September, 1953; Part II, Dec., 1953.

#### ELECTRONIC KEYS

Electronic keys, as contrasted with mechanical automatic keys, use vacuum tubes or relays (or both) to form automatic dashes as well as automatic dots. Full descriptions of electronic keys can be found in the following QST articles:

- Brann, "In Search of the Ideal Electronic Key," Feb., 1951.
- Turrin, "Debugging the Electronic Bug," Jan., 1950.
- Montgomery, "'Corkey'- A Tubeless Automatic Key," November, 1950.
- Bartlett, "Compact Automatic Key Design," Dec., 1951.
- Turrin, "The 'Tur-Key'", December, 1952. Correction, February, 1953.
- Kaye, "The 'Ultimatic' The Key with a Memory," February, 1953. Note on suitable relays, April, 1953.
- Brann, "A Dot Anticipator for the Electronie Key," July, 1953.

# Speech Amplifiers and Modulators

The audio amplifiers used in radiotelephone transmitters operate on the principles outlined earlier in this book in the chapter on vacuum tubes. The design requirements are determined principally by the type of modulation system to be used and by the type of microphone to be employed. It is necessary to have a clear understanding of modulation principles before the problem of laying out a speech system can be approached successfully. Those principles are discussed under appropriate chapter headings.

The present chapter deals with the design of audio amplifier systems for communication purposes. In voice communication the primary objective is to obtain the most *effective* transmission; i.e., to make the message be understood at the receiving point in spite of adverse conditions created by noise and interference. The methods used to accomplish this do not necessarily coincide with the methods used for

In designing speech equipment it is necessary to know (1) the amount of audio power the modulation system must furnish and (2) the output voltage developed by the microphone when it is spoken into from normal distance (a few inches) with ordinary loudness. It then becomes possible to choose the number and type of amplifier stages needed to generate the required audio power without overloading or distortion anywhere in the system.

#### MICROPHONES

The level of a microphone is its electrical output for a given sound intensity. Level varies greatly with microphones of different types, and depends on the distance of the speaker's lips from the microphone. Only approximate values based on averages of "normal" speaking voices can be given. The values given later are based on close talking; that is, with the microphone about an inch from the speaker's lips.

The frequency response or fidelity of a microphone is its relative ability to convert sounds of different frequencies into alternating current. For understandable speech transmission only a limited frequency range is necessary, and intelligible speech can be obtained if the output of the microphone does not vary more than a few decibels at any frequency within a range of about 200 to 2500 cycles. When the variation expressed in terms of decibels is small between two freother purposes, such as the reproduction of music or other program material. In other words, "naturalness" in reproduction is distinctly secondary to intelligibility.

The fact that satisfactory intelligibility can be maintained in a relatively narrow band of frequencies is particularly fortunate, because the width of the channel occupied by a 'phone transmitter is directly proportional to the width of the audio-frequency band. If the channel width is reduced, more stations can occupy a given band of frequencies without mutual interference.

In speech transmission, amplitude distortion of the voice wave has very little effect on intelligibility. Its importance in communication lies almost wholly in the fact that many of the audiofrequency harmonics caused by such distortion lie outside the channel needed for intelligible speech, and thus will create unnecessary interference to other stations.

## Speech Equipment

quency limits, the microphone is said to be flat between those limits.

#### Carbon Microphones

The carbon microphone consists of a metal diaphragm placed against an insulating cup containing loosely-packed carbon granules (microphone button). Current from a battery flows through the granules, the diaphragm being one connection and the metal backplate the other. Fig. 9-1A shows connections for carbon microphones, A variable resistor is included for adjusting the button current to the value as specified with the microphone. The primary of a transformer is connected in series with the battery and microphone.

As the diaphragm vibrates, its pressure on the granules alternately increases and decreases, causing a corresponding increase and decrease of current flow through the circuit, since the pressure changes the resistance of the mass of granules. The resulting change in the current flowing through the transformer primary causes an alternating voltage, of corresponding frequency and intensity, to be set up in the transformer secondary.

Good-quality carbon microphones give outputs ranging from 0.1 to 0.3 volt across 50 to 100 ohms; that is, across the primary winding of the microphone transformer. With the step-up of the transformer, a peak voltage of between 3 and 10 volts can be assumed to be available at the grid of the

World Radio History

## SPEECH AMPLIFIERS AND MODULATORS 2

amplifier tube. The usual button current is 50 to 100 ma.

#### Crystal Microphones

The **crystal microphone** makes use of the piezoelectric properties of Rochelle salts crystals. This type of microphone requires no battery or transformer and can be connected directly to the grid of an amplifier tube. It is the most popular type of microphone among amateurs, for these reasons as well as the fact that it has good frequency response and is available in inexpensive models. The input circuit for the crystal microphone is shown in Fig. 9-1B.

Although the level of erystal microphones varies with different models, an output of 0.03 volt or so is representative for communication types. The level is affected by the length of the cable connecting the microphone to the first amplifier stage; the above figure is for lengths of 6 or 7 feet. The frequency characteristic is unaffected by the cable, but the load resistance (amplifier grid resistor) does affect it; the lower frequencies are attenuated as the value of load resistance is lowered. A grid-resistor value of at least 1 megohm should be used for reasonably flat response, 5 megohms being a customary figure.

#### Velocity and Dynamic Microphones

In a velocity or "ribbon" microphone, the element acted upon by the sound waves is a thin corrugated metallic ribbon suspended between the poles of a magnet. When vibrating, the ribbon cuts the lines of force between the poles, first in one direction and then the other, thus generating an alternating voltage.

Velocity microphones are built in two types, high impedance and low impedance, the former being used in most applications. A high-impedance microphone can be directly connected to the grid of an amplifier tube, shunted by a resistance of 0.5 to 5 megohms (Fig. 9-1C). Lowimpedance microphones are used when a long connecting cable (75 feet or more) must be employed. In such a case the output of the microphone is coupled to the first amplifier stage through a suitable step-up transformer, as shown in Fig. 9-1D.

The level of the velocity microphone is about 0.03 to 0.05 volt. This figure applies directly to the high-impedance type, and to the low-impedance type when the voltage is measured across the secondary of the coupling transformer.

The dynamic microphone somewhat resembles a dynamic loudspeaker. A light-weight voice coil is rigidly attached to a diaphragm, the coil being suspended between the poles of a permanent magnet. Sound causes the diaphragm to vibrate, thus moving the coil back and forth between the magnet poles and generating an alternating voltage.

The dynamic microphone usually is built with high-impedance output, suitable for working directly into the grid of an amplifier tube. If the connecting cable must be unusually long, a lowimpedance type should be used, with a step-up transformer at the end of the cable.

A small permanent-magnet 'speaker can be used as a dynamic microphone, although the fidelity is not as good as is obtainable with a properly-designed microphone.

#### THE SPEECH AMPLIFIER

The audio-frequency amplifier stage that causes the r.f. carrier output to be varied is called the **modulator**, and all the amplifier stages preceding it comprise the **speech amplifier**. Depending on the modulator used, the speech amplifier may be called upon to deliver a power output ranging from practically zero (only voltage required) to 20 or 30 watts.



Before starting the design of a speech amplifier, therefore, it is necessary to have selected a suitable modulator for the transmitter. This selection must be based on the power required to modulate the transmitter, and this power in turn depends on the type of modulation system selected, as described in other chapters. With the modulator picked out, its **driving-power** requirements (audio power required to excite the modulator to full output) can be determined from the tube tables in the last chapter. Generally speaking, it is advisable to choose a tube or tubes for the last stage of the speech amplifier that will be capable of





Fig. 9-2 — Resistance-coupled voltage-amplifier circuits. A, pentode; B, triode. Designations are as follows:  $C_1$  — Cathode by-pass condenser.

- $C_1$  Cathour by-pass condenser  $C_2$  — Plate by-pass condenser.
- C<sub>3</sub> Output coupling condenser (blocking condenser).
- C4 Screen by pass condenser.
- R1 Cathode resistor,
- R2 Grid resistor.
- R3 Plate resistor.
- R4 Next-stage grid resistor.
- R5 Plate decoupling resistor.

R6 — Screen resistor. Values for suitable tubes are gi

Values for suitable tubes are given in Table 9-I. Values in the decoupling circuit,  $C_2R_5$ , are not critical.  $R_5$  may be about 10% of  $R_3$ ; an 8- or 10- $\mu$ fd, electrolytic condenser is usually large enough at  $C_2$ .

developing at least 50 per cent more power than the rated driving power of the modulator. This will provide a factor of safety so that losses in coupling transformers, etc., will not upset the calculations.

#### **Voltage Amplifiers**

If the last stage in the speech amplifier is a Class  $AB_2$  or Class B amplifier, the stage ahead of it must be capable of sufficient power output to drive it. However, if the last stage is a Class  $AB_1$  or Class A amplifier the preceding stage can be simply a voltage amplifier. From there on back to the microphone, all stages are voltage amplifiers.

The important characteristics of a voltage amplifier are its voltage gain, maximum undistorted output voltage, and its frequency response. The voltage gain is the voltage-amplification ratio of the stage. The output voltage is the maximum a.f. voltage that can be secured from the stage without distortion. The amplifier frequency response should be adequate for voice reproduction; this requirement is easily satisfied.

The voltage gain and maximum undistorted output voltage depend on the operating conditions of the amplifier. Data on the popular types of tubes used in speech amplifiers are given in Table 9-I, for resistance-coupled amplification.

## **CHAPTER 9**

The output voltage is in terms of *peak* voltage rather than r.m.s.; this makes the rating independent of the waveform. Exceeding the peak value causes the amplifier to distort, so it is more useful to consider only peak values in working with amplifiers.

#### Resistance Coupling

Resistance coupling generally is used in voltage-amplifier stages. It is relatively inexpensive, good frequency response can be secured, and there is little danger of hum pick-up from stray magnetic fields associated with heater wiring. It is the only type of coupling suitable for the output circuits of pentodes and high- $\mu$  triodes, because with transformers a sufficiently high load impedance cannot be obtained without considerable frequency distortion. Typical circuits are given in Fig. 9-2 and design data in Table 9-I.

#### Transformer Coupling

Transformer coupling between stages ordinarily is used only when power is to be transferred (in such a case resistance coupling is very inefficient), or when it is necessary to couple between a single-ended and a push-pull stage. Triodes having an amplification factor of 20 or less are used in transformer-coupled voltage amplifiers. With transformer coupling, tubes should be operated under the Class A conditions given in the tube tables at the end of this book.

Representative circuits for coupling singleended to push-pull stages are shown in Fig. 9-3. The circuit at A combines resistance and transformer coupling, and may be used for exciting the



Fig. 9-3 — Transformer-coupled amplifier circuits for driving a push-pull amplifier. A is for resistance-transformer coupling: B for transformer coupling. Designations correspond to those in Fig. 9-2. In A, values can be taken from Table 9-1. In B, the cathode resistor is calculated from the rated plate current and grid bias as given in the tube tables for the particular type of tube used.

## SPEECH AMPLIFIERS AND MODULATORS

#### TABLE 9-I-RESISTANCE-COUPLED VOLTAGE-AMPLIFIER DATA

Date are given for a plate supply of 300 volts. Departures of as much as 50 per cent from this supply voltage will not materially change the operating conditions or the voltage gain, but the output voltage will be in proportion to the new voltage. Voltage gain is measured at 400 cycles, condenser values given are based on 100-cycle cutoff. For increased low-frequency response, all condensers may be made larger than specified (cut-off frequency in inverse proportion to condenser values growided all are changed in the same proportion). A variation of 10 per cent in the values given has negligible effect on the performance.

	Plate Resistor Megohms	Next-Stage Grid Resistor Megohms	Screen Resistor Megohms	Cathode Resistor Ohms	Screen By-pass µłd.	Cathode By-pass µfd.	Blocking Condenser µfd.	Output Volts (Peak) <sup>1</sup>	Voltage Gain <sup>2</sup>
6SJ7,12SJ7	0.1	0.1 0.25 0.5	0.35 0.37 0.47	500 530 590	0.10 0.09 0.09	11.6 10.9 9.9	0.019 0.016 0.007	72 96 101	67 98 104
	0.25	0.25 0.5 1.0	0.89 1.10 1.18	850 860 910	0.07 0.06 0.06	8.5 7.4 6.9	0.011 0.004 0.003	79 88 98	139 167 185
	0.5	0.5 1.0 9.0	2.0 2.2 2.5	1300 1410 1530	0.06 0.05 0.04	6.0 5.8 5.2	0.004 0.002 0.0015	64 79 89	200 238 263
6J7, 7C7, 12J7-GT	0.1	0.1 0.25 0.5	0.44 0.5 0.53	500 450 600	0.07 0.07 0.06	8.5 8.3 8.0	0.02 0.01 0.006	55 81 96	61 82 94
	0.25	0.25 0.5 1.0	1.18 1.18 1.45	1100 1200 1300	0.04 0.04 0.05	5.5 5.4 5.8	0.008 0.005 0.005	81 104 110	104 140 185
	0.5	0.5 1.0 2.0	2.45 2.9 2.95	1700 2200 2300	0.04 0.04 0.04	4.2 4.1 4.0	0.005 0.003 0.0025	75 97 100	161 200 230
	0.1	0.1 0.22 0.47	0.2 0.24 0.26	500 600 700	0.13 0.11 0.11	18.0 16.4 15.3	0.019 0.011 0.006	76 103 129	109 145 168
6AU6, 6SH7, 12AU6, 12SH7	0.22	0.22 0.47 1.0	0.42 0.5 0.55	1000 1000 1100	0.1 0.098 0.09	12.4 12.0 11.0	0.009 0.007 0.003	92 108 122	164 230 262
-	0.47	0.47 1.0 2.2	1.0 1.1 1.2	1800 1900 2100	0.075 0.065 0.06	8.0 7.6 7.3	0.0045 0.0028 0.0018	94 105 122	248 318 371
6AQ6, 6AQ7, 6AT6, 6Q7, 6SL7GT, 6SZ7, 6T8, 12AT6, 12Q7-GT, 12SL7-GT (one triode)	0.1	0 1 0.22 0.47		1500 1800 2100	=	4.4 3.6 3.0	0.027 0.014 0.0065	40 54 63	34 38 41
	0.99	0.22 0.47 1.0		2600 3200 3700	$\equiv$	2.5 1.9 1.6	0.013 0.0065 0.0035	51 65 77	42 46 48
	0.47	0.47 1.0 2.2	_	5200 6300 7200	_	1.2 1.0 0.9	0.006 0.0035 0.002	61 74 85	48 50 51
6AV6, 12AV6, 12AX7 (one triode)	0.1	0.1 0.22 0.47		1300 1500 1700	$\equiv$	4.6 4.0 3.6	0.027 0.013 0.006	43 57 66	45 52 57
	0.22	0.22 0.47 1.0		2200 2800 3100	$\equiv$	3.0 2.3 2.1	0.013 0.006 0.003	54 69 79	59 65 68
	0.47	0.47 1.0 2.2	_	4300 5200 5900		1.6 1.3 1.1	0.006 0.003 0.002	62 77 92	69 73 75
6SC7, 12SC7 3 (one triode)	0.1	0.1 0.25 0.5		750 930 1040	$\equiv$		0.033 0.014 0.007	35 50 54	29 34 36
	0.25	0.25 0.5 1,0		1400 1680 1840	Ξ		0.012 0.006 0.003	45 55 64	39 42 45
	0.5	0.5 1.0 2.0		2330 2980 3280		_	0.006 0.003 0.002	50 62 72	45 48 49
6J5, 7A4, 7N7, 6SN7GT, 12J5-GT, 12SN7-GT (one triode)	0,05	0,05 0.1 0.25		1020 1270 1500		3.56 2.96 2.15	0.06 0.034 0.012	41 51 60	13 14 14
	0.1	0.1 0.25 0.5	_	1900 2440 2700		2.31 1.42 1.2	0.035 0.0125 0.0065	43 56 64	14 14 14
	0.25	0.25 0.5 1.0		4590 5770 6950		0.87 0.64 0.54	0.013 0.0075 0.004	46 57 64	14 14 14
6C4, 12AU7 (one triode)	0.047	0.047 0.1 0.22		870 1200 1500	Ξ	4.1 3.0 2.4	0.065 0.034 0.016	38 52 68	12 12 12
	0.1	0.1 0.22 0.47		1900 3000 4000		1.9 1.3 1.1	0.032 0.016 0.007	44 68 80	12 12 12
	0.22	0.99 0.47 1.0		5300 800 11000	_	0.9 0.52 0.46	0.015 0.007 0.0035	57 82 92	12 12 12

Voltage across next-stage grid resistor at grid-current point,
At 5 volts r.m.s. output.
Cathode-resistor values are for phase-inverter service,

grids of a Class A or AB<sub>1</sub> following stage. The resistance coupling is used to keep the d.c. plate current from flowing through the transformer primary, thereby preventing a reduction in primary inductance below its no-current value; this improves the low-frequency response. With low- $\mu$ triodes (6C5, 6J5, etc.), the gain is equal to that with resistance coupling multiplied by the secondary-to-primary turns ratio of the transformer.

In B the transformer primary is in series with the plate of the tube, and thus must carry the tube plate current. When the following amplifier operates without grid current, the voltage gain of the stage is practically equal to the  $\mu$  of the tube multiplied by the transformer ratio. This circuit also is suitable for transferring power (within the capabilities of the tube) to a following Class AB<sub>2</sub> or Class B stage.

#### **Phase Inversion**

Push-pull output may be secured with resistance coupling by using "phase-inverter" or 'phase-splitter'' circuits as shown in Fig. 9-4.

The circuits shown in Fig. 9-4 are of the "selfbalancing" type. In A, the amplified voltage



Fig. 9-4 - Self-balancing phase-inverter circuits. E and V2 may be a double triode such as the 6SN7GT or 6SL7GT, V3 may be any of the triodes listed in Table 9-1, or one section of a double triode.

- R<sub>1</sub> Grid resistor (1 megohm or less).
- $R_2$  Cathode resistor; use one-half value given in Table 9-1 for tube and operating conditions chosen.
- R<sub>3</sub>, R<sub>4</sub> -- Plate resistor; select from Table 9-I,
- R5, R6 Following-stage grid resistor (0.22 to 0.47 megohm). R7 - 0.22 megohm,
- R8 Cathode resistor; select from Table 9-L
- R9, R10 Each one-half of plate load resistor given in Table 9-1.  $C_1 - 10$ -µfd. electrolytic.
- C2, C3 0.01- to 0.1-µfd. paper.

**CHAPTER 9** 

from  $V_1$  appears across  $R_5$  and  $R_7$  in series. The drop across  $R_7$  is applied to the grid of  $V_2$ , and the amplified voltage from  $V_2$  appears across  $R_5$ and  $R_7$  in series. This voltage is 180 degrees out of phase with the voltage from  $V_1$ , thus giving push-pull output. The part that appears across  $R_7$  from  $V_2$  opposes the voltage from  $V_1$  across  $R_7$ , thus reducing the signal applied to the grid of  $V_2$ . The negative feed-back so obtained tends to regulate the voltage applied to the phaseinverter tube so that the output voltages from both tubes are substantially equal. The gain is slightly less than twice the gain of a single-tube amplifier using the same operating conditions.

In the single-tube circuit shown in Fig. 9-4B the plate load resistor is divided into two equal parts,  $R_9$  and  $R_{10}$ , one being connected to the plate in the normal way and the other between cathode and ground. Since the voltages at the plate and cathode are 180 degrees out of phase, the grids of the following tubes are fed equal a.f. voltages in push-pull. The grid return of  $V_3$  is made to the junction of  $R_8$  and  $R_{10}$  so normal bias will be applied to the grid. This circuit is highly degenerative because of the way  $R_{10}$  is connected. The voltage gain is less than 2 even when a high- $\mu$  triode is used at  $V_3$ .

#### Gain Control

A means for varying the over-all gain of the amplifier is necessary for keeping the final output at the proper level for modulating the transmitter. The common method of gain control is to adjust the value of a.e. voltage applied to the grid of one of the amplifiers by means of a voltage divider or potentiometer.

The gain-control potentiometer should be near the input end of the amplifier, at a point where the signal voltage level is so low there is no danger that the stages ahead of the gain control will be overloaded by the full microphone output. With carbon microphones the gain control may be placed directly across the microphone-transformer secondary. With other types of microphones, however, the gain control usually will affect the frequency response of the microphone when connected directly across it. Also, in a high-gain amplifier it is better to operate the first tube at maximum gain, since this gives the best signal-to-hum ratio. The control therefore is usually placed in the grid circuit of the second stage.

#### DESIGNING THE SPEECH AMPLIFIER

The steps in designing a speech amplifier are as follows:

1) Determine the power needed to modulate the transmitter and select the modulator. In the case of plate modulation, a Class B amplifier may be required. Select a suitable tube type and determine from the tube tables at the end of this book the grid driving power required, if any.

2) As a safety factor, multiply the required driver power by at least 1.5.

3) Select a tube, or pair of tubes, that will deliver the power determined in the second step. This is the last or output stage of the speech-amplifier. Receiver-type power tubes can be used (beam tubes such as the 6L6 may be needed in some cases) as determined from the receiving-tube tables. If the speech amplifier is to drive a Class B modulator, use a Class A or AB<sub>1</sub> amplifier, in preference to Class AB<sub>2</sub>, if it will give enough power output.

4) If the speech-amplifier output stage must operate Class AB<sub>2</sub>, use a medium- $\mu$  triode (such as the 6J5 or corresponding types) to drive it. In the extreme case of driving 6L6s to maximum output, two triodes should be used in push-pull in the driver. In either case transformer coupling will have to be used, and transformer manufacturers' catalogs should be consulted for a suitable type.

5) If the speech-amplifier output stage operates Class A or AB<sub>1</sub>, it may be driven by a voltage amplifier. If the output stage is push-pull, the driver may be a single tube coupled through a transformer with a balanced secondary, or may be a dual-triode phase inverter. Determine the signal voltage required for full output from the last stage. If the last stage is a single-tube Class A amplifier, the peak signal is equal to the grid-bias voltage; if push-pull Class A, the peak signal voltage is equal to twice the grid bias; if Class AB<sub>1</sub>, twice the bias voltage when fixed bias is used; if cathode bias is used, twice the bias figured from the cathode resistance and the no-signal plate current.

6) From Table 9-I, select a tube capable of giving the required output voltage and note its rated voltage gain. A double-triode phase inverter (Fig. 9-4A) will have approximately twice the output voltage and twice the gain of one triode operating as an ordinary amplifier. If the driver is to be transformer-coupled to the last stage, select a medium- $\mu$  triode and calculate the gain and output voltage as described earlier in this chapter.

7) Divide the voltage required to drive the output stage by the gain of the preceding stage. This gives the peak voltage required at the grid of the next-to-the-last stage.

8) Find the output voltage, under ordinary conditions, of the microphone to be used. This information should be obtained from the manufacturer's catalog. If not available, the figures given in the section on microphones in this chapter will serve.

9) Divide the voltage found in (7) by the output voltage of the microphone. The result is the over-all gain required from the microphone to the grid of the next-to-the-last stage. To be on the safe side, double or triple this figure.

10) From Table 9-1, select a combination of tubes whose gains, when multiplied together, give approximately the figure arrived at in (9). These amplifiers will be used in caseade. If high gain is required, a pentode may be used for the first speech-amplifier stage, but it is *not* advisable to use a second pentode because of the possibility of feed-back and self-oscillation. In most cases a triode will give enough gain, as a second stage, to make up the total gain required. If not, a medium- $\mu$  triode, may be used as a third stage.

A high- $\mu$  double triode with the sections in cascade makes a good low-level amplifier, and will give somewhat greater gain than a pentode — medium- $\mu$  triode combination. With resistance-coupled input to the first section the cathode of that section may be grounded, which is helpful in reducing hum.

#### SPEECH-AMPLIFIER CONSTRUCTION

Once a suitable circuit has been selected for a speech amplifier, the construction problem resolves itself into avoiding two difficulties excessive hum, and unwanted feed-back. For reasonably humless operation, the hum voltage should not exceed about 1 per cent of the maximum audio output voltage — that is, the hum should be at least 40 db, below the output level.

Unwanted feed-back, if negative, will reduce the gain below the calculated value; if positive, is likely to cause self-oscillation or "howls." Feedback can be minimized by isolating each stage with "decoupling" resistors and condensers, by avoiding layouts that bring the first and last stages near each other, and by shielding of "hot" points in the circuit, such as grid leads in lowlevel stages.

Speech-amplifier equipment, especially voltage amplifiers, should be constructed on steel chassis, with all wiring kept below the chassis to take advantage of the shielding afforded. Exposed leads, particularly to the grids of low-level high-gain tubes, are likely to pick up hum from the electric field that usually exists in the vicinity of house wiring. Even with the chassis, additional shielding of the input circuit of the first tube in a highgain amplifier usually is necessary. In addition such circuits should be separated as much as possible from power-supply transformers and chokes and also from any audio transformers that operate at fairly-high power levels; this will minimize magnetic coupling to the grid circuit and thus reduce hum or audio-frequency feed-back. It is always safe, although not absolutely necessary, to separate the speech amplifier and its power supply, building them on separate chassis.

If a low-level microphone such as the crystal type is used, the microphone, its connecting cable, and the plug or connector by which it is attached to the speech amplifier, all should be shielded. The microphone and cable usually are constructed with suitable shielding; this should be connected to the speech-amplifier chassis, and it is advisable — as well as usually necessary — to connect the chassis to a ground such as a water pipe. With the top-cap tubes, complete shielding of the grid lead and grid cap is a necessity.

Heater wiring should be kept as far as possible from grid leads, and either the center-tap or one side of the heater-transformer secondary winding should be connected to the chassis. If the centertap is grounded, the heater leads to each tube should be twisted together to reduce the magnetic field from the heater current. With either type of connection, it is advisable to lay heater leads in the corner formed by a fold in the chassis, bringing them out from the corner to the tube socket by the shortest possible path.

When metal tubes are used, always ground the shell connection to the chassis. Glass tubes used in the low-level stages of high-gain amplifiers must be shielded; tube shields are obtainable for that purpose. It is a good plan to enclose the entire amplifier in a metal box, or at least provide it with a cane-metal cover, to avoid feed-back difficulties caused by the r.f. field of the transmitter. R.f. picked up on exposed wiring, leads or tube elements causes overloading, distortion, and self-oscillation of the amplifier:

When using paper condensers as by-passes, be sure that the terminal marked "outside foil" is connected to ground. This utilizes the outside foil of the condenser as a shield around the "hot" foil. When paper condensers are used for coupling between stages, always connect the outside-foil terminal to the side of the circuit having the lowest impedance to ground. Usually, this will be the plate side rather than the following-grid side.

#### **INCREASING THE EFFECTIVENESS** OF THE 'PHONE TRANSMITTER

The effectiveness of an amateur 'phone transmitter can be increased to a remarkable extent by taking advantage of speech characteristics. Measures that may be taken to make the modulation more effective include band compression (filtering), volume compression, and speech clipping.

#### **Compressing the Frequency Band**

Most of the intelligibility in speech is contained in the medium band of frequencies; that is, between about 500 and 2500 cycles. On the other hand, the major portion of speech power is normally concentrated below 500 cycles. It is these low frequencies that modulate the transmitter most heavily. If they are eliminated, the frequencies that carry most of the actual communication can be increased in amplitude without exceeding 100-per-cent modulation, and the effectiveness of the transmitter is correspondingly increased.

One simple way to reduce low-frequency response is to use small values of coupling capacitance between resistance-coupled stages, as shown in Fig. 9-5A. A time constant of 0.0005 second for the coupling condenser and following-stage grid resistor will have little effect on the amplification at 500 cycles, but will practically halve it at 100 cycles. In two cascaded stages the gain will be down about 5 db. at 200 cycles and 10 db. at 100 cycles. When the grid resistor is  $\frac{1}{2}$  megohm a coupling condenser of 0.001 µfd. will give the required time constant.

The high-frequency response can be reduced by using "tone control" methods, utilizing a con-



Fig. 9-5 — A, use of a small coupling condenser to reduce low-frequency response; B, tone-control circuits for reducing high-frequency response. Values for C and R are discussed in the text; 0.01  $\mu$ fd. and 25,000 ohms are typical.

denser in series with a variable resistor connected across an audio impedance at some point in the speech amplifier. The best spot for the tone control is across the primary of the output transformer of the speech amplifier, as in Fig. 9-5B. The condenser should have a reactance at 1000 cycles about equal to the load resistance required by the amplifier tube or tubes, while the variable resistor in series may have a value equal to four or five times the load resistance. The control can be adjusted while listening to the amplifier, the object being to cut the high-frequency response as much as possible without unduly sacrificing intelligibility.

Restricting the frequency response not only puts more modulation power in the optimum frequency band but also reduces hum, because the low-frequency response is reduced, and helps reduce the width of the channel occupied by the transmission, because of the reduction in the amplitude of the high audio frequencies.

#### Volume Compression

Although it is obviously desirable to modulate the transmitter as completely as possible, it is difficult to maintain constant voice intensity when speaking into the microphone. To overcome this variable output level, it is possible to use automatic gain control that follows the *average* (not instantaneous) variations in speech amplitude. This can be done by rectifying and filtering some of the audio output and applying the rectified and filtered d.c. to a control electrode in an early stage in the amplifier

A practical circuit for this purpose is shown in Fig. 9-6. The rectifier must be connected, through the transformer, to a tube capable of delivering some power output (a small part of the output of the power stage may be used) or

## SPEECH AMPLIFIERS AND MODULATORS

else a separate power amplifier for the rectifier circuit alone may have its grid connected in parallel with that of the last voltage amplifier.

Resistor  $R_4$ , in series with  $R_5$  across the plate supply, provides an adjustable positive bias on the rectifier cathodes. This prevents the limiting action from beginning until a desired microphone input level is reached.  $R_2$ ,  $R_3$ ,  $C_2$ ,  $C_3$  and  $C_4$  filter the audio frequencies from the rectified output. The output of the rectifier may be connected to the suppressor grid of a pentode first stage of the speech amplifier.

A transformer with a turns ratio such as to give about 50 volts when its primary is connected to the output circuit of the power stage should be used. If a transformer having a center-tapped secondary is not available, a half-wave rectifier may be used instead of the full-wave circuit shown, but it will be harder to get satisfactory filtering.

The over-all gain of the system must be high enough so that full output can be secured at a moderately low voice level.

#### Speech Clipping and Filtering

In speech waveforms the average power content is considerably less than in a sine wave of the same peak amplitude. Since modulation percentage is based on peak values, the modulation or sideband power in a transmitter modulated 100 per cent by an ordinary voice waveform will be considerably less than the sideband power in the same transmitter modulated 100 per cent by a sine wave. In Fig. 9-7 the upper drawing, A, represents a sine wave having a maximum amplitude that just modulates a given transmitter 100 per cent. The speech wave at B also represents 100-per-cent modulation.

If the amplitude of the wave shown at B is increased so that its power is comparable with or higher than the power in a sine wave, but with everything above 100-per-cent modulation cut off, it will appear as shown at C. This signal will not modulate the transmitter more than 100 per cent, but the voice power is several times greater than B. The wave is not exactly like the one at B, so the result will not sound exactly like the original. However, "clipping" of this type can be used to secure a worth-while increase in modulation power without sacrificing *intelligibility*. Once the system is properly adjusted *it will be impos*-



Fig. 9-6 — Speech-amplifier output-limiting circuit,  $C_1, C_2, C_3, C_4 \rightarrow 0.1$ -µfd.;  $R_1, R_2, R_3 \rightarrow 0.22$  megohm;  $R_4 \rightarrow 25,000$ -ohm pot.;  $R_5 \rightarrow 0.1$  megohm; T — see text.



245

Fig. 9-7 — The normal speech wave (B) has high peaks but low average energy content. When the peaks are clipped the signal may be increased to a considerablyhigher power level without causing overmodulation (C).

sible to overmodulate the transmitter because the maximum output amplitude is held to the same value no matter what the amplitude of the signal applied.

By itself, clipping generates the same highorder harmonics that overmodulation does, and a signal modulated by the elipped waveform shown in Fig. 9-7 would "splatter". To prevent this, the audio frequencies above those needed for intelligible speech must be filtered out, *after* clipping and *before* modulation. The filter required for this purpose should have relatively little attenuation at frequencies below about 2500 cycles, but high attenuation for all frequencies above 3000 cycles.

It is possible to use as much as 25 db. of clipping before intelligibility suffers; that is, if the original peak amplitude is 10 volts, the signal can be clipped to such an extent that the resulting maximum amplitude is less than one volt. If the original 10-volt signal represented the amplitude that caused 100-per-cent modulation on peaks, the clipped and filtered signal ean then be amplified up to the same 10-volt peak level for modulating the transmitter, with a very considerable increase in modulation power.

There is a loss in naturalness with "deep" clipping, even though the voice is highly intelligible. With moderate clipping levels (6 to 12 db.) there is almost no perceptible change in "quality" but the voice power is four to sixteen times as great as in ordinary modulation.

Before drastic clipping can be used, the speech signal must be amplified several times more than is necessary for normal modulation. Also, the hum and noise must be much lower than the tolerable level in ordinary amplification, because the noise in the output of the amplifier increases in proportion to the gain.

One type of clipper-filter system is shown in block form in Fig. 9-8. The clipper is a peaklimiting rectifier of the same general type that is used in receiver noise limiters. It must clip both positive and negative peaks. The gain or clipping



Fig. 9-8 — Block diagram of speech-clipping and filtering amplifier.

control sets the amplitude at which elipping starts. Following the low-pass filter for eliminating the harmonic distortion frequencies is a second gain control, the "level" or modulation control. This control is set initially so that the amplitude-limited output of the elipper-filter cannot modulate the transmitter more than 100 per cent.

It should be noted that the peak amplitude of the audio waveform actually applied to the modulated stage in the transmitter is not necessarily held at the same relative level as the peak amplitude of the signal coming out of the clipper stage. When the clipped signal goes through the filter, the relative phases of the various frequency components that pass through the filter are shifted, particularly those components near the cut-off frequency. This may cause the peak amplitude out of the filter to exceed the peak amplitude of the clipped signal applied to the filter input terminals. Similar phase shifts can occur in amplifiers following the filter, especially if these amplifiers, including the modulator, do not have good low-frequency response. With poor low-frequency response the more-or-less "square" waves resulting from clipping tend to be changed into triangular waves having higher peak amplitude. Best practice is to cut the lowfrequency response before clipping and to make all amplifiers following the clipper-filter as flat and distortion-free as possible.

The best way to set the modulation control in such a system is to check the actual modulation percentage with an oscilloscope connected as described in the chapter on modulation. With the gain control set to give a desired clipping level with normal voice intensity at the microphone, the level control should be adjusted so that the maximum modulation does not exceed 100 per cent no matter how much sound is applied to the microphone.

Practical circuits for clipping and filtering are illustrated in a speech amplitier described in this chapter.

#### High-Level Clipping and Filtering

Clipping and filtering also can be done at high level — that is, at the point where the modulation is applied to the r.f. amplifier — instead of in the low-level stages of the speech amplifier. In one rather simple but effective arrangement of this type the elipping takes place in the Class-B modulator itself. This is accomplished by carefully adjusting the plate-to-plate load resistance for the modulator tubes so that they saturate or elip peaks at the amplitude level that represents

## **CHAPTER 9**

100 per cent modulation. The load adjustment can be made by choice of output transformer ratio or by adjusting the plate-voltage/platecurrent ratio of the modulated r.f. amplifier. It is best done by examining the output waveform with an oscilloscope.

The filter for such a system consists of a choke and condensers as shown in Fig. 9-9. The values of L and C should be chosen to form a low-pass filter section having a cut-off frequency of about 2500 cycles, using the modulating impedance of the r.f. amplifier as the load resistance. For this cut-off frequency the formulas are

$$L_{1} = \frac{R}{7850}$$
$$C_{1} = C_{2} = \frac{63.6}{R}$$

Where R is in ohms,  $L_1$  in henrys, and  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  in microfarads. For example, with a plate modulated amplifier operating at 1500 volts and 200 ma. (modulating impedance 7500 ohms) L would be 7500/7850 = 0.96 henry and  $C_1$  or  $C_2$ 



Fig. 9-9 — Splatter-suppression filter for use at high level, shown here connected between a Class B modulator and plate-modulated r.f. amplifier. Values for  $L_1$ ,  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  are determined as described in the text.

would be  $63.6/7500 = 0.0085 \ \mu$ fd. By-pass condensers in the plate circuit of the r.f. amplifier should be included in  $C_2$ . Voltage ratings for  $C_1$ and  $C_2$  when connected as shown must be the same as for the plate blocking condenser — i.e., at least twice the d.e. voltage applied to the plate of the modulated amplifier. L and C values can vary 10 per cent or so without seriously affecting the operation of the filter.

Besides simplicity, the high-level system has the advantage that high-frequency components of the audio signal fed to the modulator grids, whether present legitimately or as a result of amplitude distortion in lower-level stages, are suppressed along with the distortion components that arise in clipping. Also, the undesirable effects of poor low-frequency response following clipping and filtering, mentioned in the preceding section, are avoided. Phase shifts can still occur in the high-level filter, however, so adjustments preferably should be made by using an oscilloscope to check the actual modulation percentage under all conditions of speech intensity. (For further discussion see Bruene, "High-Level Clipping and Filtering", QST, November, 1951.)

## A Clipper-Filter Speech Amplifier-Driver

The speech amplifier shown in Figs. 9-10 to 9-11, inclusive, uses push-pull triodes to obtain a power output of 13 watts with negligible distortion — sufficient to drive most of the commonly-used Class-B modulator tubes. It includes a clipper-filter for increasing the effectiveness of modulation and for confining the channel width to frequencies needed for intelligible speech. The over-all gain is ample for use with communications-type crystal microphones when using clipping of the order of 12–15 db, Miniature tubes are used in the voltage-amplifier stages. The output tubes are 6B4Gs, operated Class AB1 with fixed bias. Two power supplies are included, one for the voltage amplifier stages and the other for the output tube plates.

As shown in Fig. 9-11, the first two stages are voltage amplifiers of ordinary design, using a 6AU6 pentode in the first stage and a 6C4 triode in the second. The output of the second stage can be switched either to the 12AU7 doubletriode clipper or to the 6C4 voltage amplifier that drives the 6B4G grids. In the latter case the amplifier operation is conventional. The elipper, when operative, provides additional voltage gain as well as clipping. Its output goes through a simple low-pass filter  $(L_1C_{11}C_{12})$  so that harmonics generated by clipping will be attenuated before the signal reaches the grid of the second 6C4. The frequency response of the amplifier with the filter in circuit, but with the signal below the clipping level, drops at the rate of roughly 6 db. per octave below 500 cycles; above 4000 cycles the response is down 25 db, compared with the medium audio range.

A two-section filter is used in the plate supply for the voltage-amplifier stages. The hum level must be kept low because of the high gain required when using elipping. A single-section filter is sufficient for the output stage. Bias for the 6B4G grids is obtained from the low-voltage supply by means of  $R_{16}$ , by-passed by  $C_{14}$ .

Two gain controls are included, one  $(R_6)$  for setting the level into the clipper circuit and thus determining the amount of clipping, and the second  $(R_{13})$  for setting the output level after elipping. With the clipper in use, proper setting of  $R_{13}$  will keep the modulation level high but will prevent overmodulation.

#### Construction

As shown in Fig. 9-10, the voltage amplifiers occupy the left front section of the chassis. The 6AU6 first amplifier is at the left, followed in order to the right by the first 6C4, the 12AU7, and the second 6C4. The 6B4Gs and their output transformer are at the right front. The cylindrical unit just behind the second 6C4 is the interstage audio transformer,  $T_1$ .

Power supply components are grouped along the rear edge of the chassis, with the low-voltage supply at the left. The power transformers should be kept well separated from the voltage amplifiers, particularly the first two stages, in order to minimize hum difficulties.

On the front panel, the microphone input connector is at the lower left. Next to it is the clipping control, then the clipper in-out switch, and then the modulation control. The two toggle switches at the right are  $S_2$  and  $S_3$ . The a.e. input socket is by-passed by  $C_{15}$  and  $C_{16}$ , to reduce the possibility that r.f. picked up on the line cord will get into the low-level speech stages.

The wiring underneath the chassis is relatively simple, as shown by Fig. 9-12. The microphone input circuit, including  $RFC_1$  and  $C_1$ , is enclosed in a National jack shield, and the lead from  $RFC_1$ to the 6AU6 grid also is shielded.

#### Adjusting the Clipper-Filter Amplifier

The good effect of the low-pass filter in eliminating splatter can be entirely nullified if the amplifier stages following the filter can introduce appreciable distortion. Amplifier stages following the unit must be operated well within their capabilities; in particular, the Class B output transformer (if a Class B modulator is to be driven) should be shunted by condensers to reduce the high-frequency response as described in the section on Class B modulators.



Fig. 9-10 — This speech-amplifier and driver has ample gain for a crystal microphone and is complete with power supply. The measured undistorted output is 13 watts. It incorporates a clipper-filter system for increasing modulation effectiveness and decreasing channel width.





CHAPTER 9

World Radio History

## SPEECH AMPLIFIERS AND MODULATORS

Fig. 9-12 — Below-chassis view of the clip-per-filter speech amplifier. The relatively small number of components below the chassis makes wiring simple.

The setting of  $R_{13}$  is most important. It is most easily done with the aid of an oscilloscope (one having a linear sweep) and an audio oscillator, using the test set-up shown in the section on testing of speech equipment. Use a resistance load on the output transformer to reflect the proper load resistance (3000 ohms) at the plates of the 6B4Gs. First set  $R_{13}$ 

at about 1/4 the resistance from the ground end, switch in the clipper-filter, and apply a 500cycle sine-wave signal to the microphone input. Increase the signal amplitude until clipping starts, as shown by flattening of both the negative and positive peaks of the wave. To check whether the clipping is taking place in the clipper or in the following amplifiers, throw  $S_1$  to the "normal" or "out" position; the waveshape should return to normal. If it does not, return S<sub>1</sub> to the "in" position and reduce the setting of  $R_{13}$  until it does. Then reduce the amplifier gain by means of  $R_6$  until the signal is just below the clipping level. At this point the signal should be a sine wave. In-

C1 - 100-µµfd. mica.

C<sub>1</sub> — 100-µµfd, filea. C<sub>2</sub>, C<sub>6</sub>, C<sub>13</sub> — 20-µfd, 25-volt electrolytic. C<sub>3</sub> — 0,1-µfd, 400-volt paper.

- $C_3 = 0.15 \mu m to compare 1.400 volt paper.$  $<math>C_4, C_7, C_{15}, C_{16} = 0.01 \text{ and } 400 \text{ volt paper.}$   $C_5, C_8 = 8 \text{ }\mu \text{fd}, 450 \text{ volt electrolytic.}$   $C_9, C_{11} = 470 \text{ }\mu\mu \text{fd}, \text{ mica.}$

- C<sub>10</sub> 0.002-µfd, mica or paper.
- C12 330-µµfd. mica.
- 30-µfd, 150-volt electrolytic, C14 -
- $c_{14} = 302 \mu a_1 + 5028 \nu a_1$   $C_{17}, C_{18}, C_{19} = 16_{-\mu} fd. 450 \text{-volt} electrolytic.}$   $C_{20}, C_{21} = 8_{-\mu} fd. 450 \text{-volt} electrolytic}$  (can type).  $R_1 = 2.2 \text{ megohms}, \frac{1}{2} \text{ watt}.$   $R_2, R_{14} = 2200 \text{ ohms}, \frac{1}{2} \text{ watt}.$

- -1 megohin, 12 watt.  $R_3 -$
- $R_4, R_9 = 0.47 \text{ megohm}, \frac{1}{2} \text{ watt.}$  $R_5 = 47,000 \text{ ohms}, \frac{1}{2} \text{ watt.}$
- R6 2-megohm volume control.
- R7 3900 ohms, <sup>1</sup>2 watt. R8 0.1 megohm, <sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> watt.
- R10 1500 ohms, I watt.
- R11 47,000 ohms, I watt.
- R<sub>12</sub> 56,000 ohms, 1/2 watt.
- 0.5-megohm volume control. R13 -
- R<sub>15</sub> 10,000 ohms, 20 watts,
- R<sub>16</sub> 2000-ohm 25-watt adjustable.
- 1.1 20 henrys, 900 ohms (Stancor C-1515). 1.2, 1.3 15 henrys, 75 ma. (Stancor C-1002). 1.4 10,5 henrys, 110 ma. (Stancor C-1001).
- J<sub>1</sub> Microphone cable receptacle (Amphenol PC1M).
- J<sub>2</sub> Chassis-mounting 115-volt plug. S<sub>1</sub> - D.p.d.t. rotary switch (Mallory 3122-J).
- S2, S3 S.p.s.t. toggle.
- $\mathbf{\hat{T}}_1$ - Audio transformer, single plate to p.p. grids, ratio 2:1 (Thordarson T20A17).
- $T_{2}$ - Driver transformer, variable ratio, p.p. driver to Class-B grids, pri, rating 120 ma, per side (Stancor A-1763).
- T<sub>3</sub> Power transformer: 700 v. c. t., 90 ma.; 5 v., 2 amp.: 6,3 v. 3.5 amp. (Stancor P-4079).
- Power transformer: 700 v. e. t., 110 ma.: 5 v., 3 'T₁ amp.: 6,3 v. 1,5 amp. (Stancor P-4080).
- RFC1 2.5 mh. r.f. choke.



crease  $R_{13}$ , without touching  $R_6$ , until the wave starts to become distorted, and then back off  $R_{13}$  until distortion disappears.

Next, change the input-signal frequency to 2500 cycles, without changing the signal level. Slowly increase  $R_8$  while observing the pattern. At this frequency it should be almost impossible to get anything except a sine wave through the filter, so if distortion appears it is the result of overloading in the amplifiers following the filter. Reduce the setting of  $R_{13}$  until the distortion disappears, even when  $R_6$  is set at maximum and the maximum available signal from the audio oscillator is applied to the amplifier. The position of  $R_{12}$  should be noted at this point and the observed setting should never be exceeded.

To find the operating setting of  $R_{13}$ , leave the audio-oscillator signal amplitude at the value just under the elipping level and set up the complete transmitter for a modulation check. using the oscilloscope to give the trapezoidal pattern. With the Class C amplifier and modulator running, find the setting of  $R_{13}$  (keeping the audio signal just under the clipping level) that just gives 100-per-cent modulation. This setting should be below the maximum setting of  $R_{13}$  as previously determined; if it is not, the driver and modulator are not capable of modulating the transmitter 100 per cent and must be redesigned - or the Class C amplifier input must be lowered. Assuming a satisfactory setting is found, connect a microphone to the amplifier and set the amplifier gain control,  $R_5$ , so that the transmitter is modulated 100 per cent. Observe the pattern closely at different settings of  $R_6$  to see if it is possible to overmodulate. If overmodulation does not occur at any setting of  $R_6$ , the transmitter is ready for operation and  $R_{13}$ may be locked in position; it need never be touched subsequently. If some overmodulation does occur,  $R_{13}$  should be backed off until it disappears and then locked.

In the absence of an oscilloscope the other methods of checking distortion described in the section on speech-amplifier testing may be used. The object is to prevent distortion in stages following the filter, so that when the clipping level is exceeded the following stages will be working within their capabilities.

## 250

## A Simple Grid Modulator

The modulator circuit shown in Fig. 9-14 is capable of modulating any transmitter, up to the maximum power limit, to about 80 per cent with low distortion. It requires no power supply other than heater power for the tubes, since it gets plate power from the eathode circuit of the r.f. amplifier with which it is used. Although the modulator output is connected in series with the r.f. amplifier eathode, the modulation is essentially of the grid-bias type (see chapter on ampli-



- A simple modulator of the grid-bias type, Fig. 9-13usable with transmitters having c.w. plate inputs up to a kilowatt. Plate power for the unit is obtained automatically from the r.f. amplifier supply.

tude modulation). A useful characteristic of the system is that it does not require a fixed source of grid bias for the amplifier.

The speech amplifier uses a high- $\mu$  double triode to give two stages of resistance-coupled amplification. This gives sufficient gain for a crystal microphone. Resistors  $R_3$ ,  $R_7$  and  $R_{10}$ .

 $C_2 = 0.005 \ \mu fd. \ 100 \ volts.$  $C_4 = 0.01 \ \mu fd. \ 400 \ volts.$ 

C5 - 50-µfd, electrolytic, 50 volts,  $R_1 = 2.2$  megohm,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt.  $R_2 = 0.22$  megohm,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt.  $R_3$ ,  $R_7$ ,  $R_{10} = 22,000$  ohms,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt. together with  $C_1$  and  $C_3$ , provide decoupling and additional fitering of the d.c. obtained from the r.f. amplifier cathode circuit.

The output stage uses one or more 6Y6Gs in parallel; in determining the number of tubes required to modulate a particular amplifier, use one 6Y6G for each 200 ma. of amplifier plate current based on the operating conditions for c.w. work. The audio output voltage is developed across  $L_1$  and  $R_{11}$  in series;  $R_{11}$  may be omitted if the d.c. voltage between the screen and cathode of the 6Y6G does not exceed the rated value of 135 volts.

No special constructional precautions need be observed in laying out the amplifier. The unit shown in Fig. 9-13 is built on a homemade chassis folded from a sheet of aluminum, but a small standard chassis may be used instead. A filament transformer may be included in the unit in case the heater power cannot conveniently be obtained from the transmitter itself.

To use the modulator, first tune up the transmitter for ordinary c.w. operation with the modulator disconnected. Then connect the modulator output terminals in series with the amplifier cathode as indicated in Fig. 9-14. (Make certain that the modulator cathodes are up to operating temperature before applying plate voltage to the r.f. amplifier.) The amplifier plate current should drop to approximately one-half the c.w. value, If the plate current is too high, increase the value of  $R_9$  until it is in the proper region; if too low, decrease the resistance at  $R_9$ . Once this adjustment is made the system is ready for 'phone operation. The r.f. amplifier plate current should show no change with speech input, except for a slight upward kick on voice peaks.

The carrier power output with this system is somewhat less than would be obtained with conventional grid modulation because the d.c. voltage drop in the 6Y6G modulators subtracts from the amplifier plate voltage. The difference is small with r.f. tubes operating at 1000 volts or more.



Fig. 9-14 - Circuit diagram of the speech amplifier and modulator, C1, C3, C6 - 8-µfd, electrolytic, 450 volts.

- R4 0.5-megohm volume control.
  - $m R_5 = 2200~ohms, \frac{1}{2}~watt.$ 
    - R6, R8 0.1 megohm, 1/2 watt.
    - R9 50 ohms, 2 watts (see text).
    - R11-2000 ohms, 2 watts (see text).
    - Li Small filter choke, "a.c.-d.c." type satisfactory.
# SPEECH AMPLIFIERS AND MODULATORS

### Screen Modulator Circuit

Fig. 9-15 is a representative circuit for a modulator for the screen grid of a beam tetrode. Most r.f. tubes of this type require very little modulating power in the screen circuit, so a receivingtype audio power amplifier usually is sufficient. The circuit shown has ample gain for a crystal microphone and will fully modulate a screen grid that does not require an average audio power of more than three or four watts. It can also be used for modulating a pair of r.f. tubes where these requirements are not exceeded. The chapter on amplitude modulation should be consulted for information on determining the voltage swing and modulating power for a particular tube type. The turns ratio required in  $T_1$ , primary to secondary, will range from 1 to 1 to 0.8 to 1 for various r.f. tubes, since the peak output voltage of the tube across the primary of the transformer is about 200 volts. An inexpensive driver transformer, of the type used for coupling a triode or pentode to Class AB<sub>2</sub> tetrodes of the 6L6 class, will be satisfactory. It should preferably have two or three primary taps so the turns ratio can be adjusted. Transformer coupling is used in preference to direct coupling (i.e., "clamp-tube" modulation of the screen) because of simpler adjustment, ease of modulating 100 per cent, and because it permits using a low-voltage supply for the screen grid of the modulated r.f. amplifier.

The speech input stage uses a 68J7 pentode and is followed by a 6J5 voltage amplifier. The 6V6 output stage uses negative feed-back, the feedback voltage being taken from the plate circuit by means of the voltage divider  $R_{10}R_{11}$  and ap-

plied in series with the plate resistor,  $R_7$ , of the preceding stage. Negative feed-back in the modulator is very desirable when a screen or control grid is to be modulated because the load on the modulator varies over the audio-frequency cycle. and feed-back reduces the distortion that arises from this cause. In this circuit the percent feedback is chosen to be as large as possible while still retaining enough voltage gain for normal voice intensity into a crystal microphone.

The lead between the microphone connector and the 68J7 grid should be shielded, as should also the first-stage grid-resistor,  $R_1$ . Such shielding prevents hum pick-up on the grid lead. Aside from this, no special precautions need be observed in constructing the amplifier, beyond keeping the heater leads well away from the plate and grid leads of the tubes.

The heater requirement for the unit is 1 ampere at 6.3 volts. Plate-supply requirements vary from about 70 to 85 ma. at 250 to 300 volts, depending on the screen current taken by the tube being modulated.  $R_{13}$  should be adjusted, by means of the slider, to give the proper d.c. voltage at the screen of the modulated stage. This voltage will, in general, be approximately half the d.c. screen voltage recommended for c.w. operation, as described in the chapter on amplitude modulation. The method of adjustment for linear modulation is also covered in that chapter.

The same circuit may be used for control-grid modulation of either triode or tetrode r.f. amplifiers. The method of adjustment is described in the chapter on amplitude modulation.



Fig. 9-15 - Modulator circuit for screen or control grid modulation.

- C1, C4 10-µfd. 25-volt electrolytic.
- C.2 -– 0,1-µfd, 400-volt paper.
- C<sub>3</sub>, C<sub>5</sub> 0.01-µfd, 400-volt paper.
- 50-µfd, 50-volt electrolytic. C6 -
- $C_6 = 50.401$ , 50.506 electrolytic,  $C_7$ ,  $C_8$ ,  $C_9 = 10.4464$ , 150.504 electrolytic,  $R_1 = 2.2$  megolums,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt,  $R_2$ ,  $R_6 = 1500$  ohms,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt.

- R<sub>2</sub>, R<sub>3</sub> 1 megohm,  $V_2$  watt. R<sub>3</sub> 1 megohm,  $V_2$  watt. R<sub>4</sub> 0.22 megohm,  $V_2$  watt. R<sub>5</sub> 1-megohm potentiometer, audio taper.
- parallel.)

R7, R8 - 0.1 megohm, 1/2 watt.

- $\begin{array}{l} R_{10}, R_{12} = 47,000 \text{ onms, } \\ R_{11} = 27,000 \text{ ohms, } 1 \text{ watt.} \\ R_{13} = 25,000 \text{ ohm adjustable, } 25 \text{ watts.} \\ \end{array}$  $S_1 - 4$ -pole 2-position rotary switch (see text).

R9-235 ohms, 2 watts. (Two 470-ohm 1-watt units in

T<sub>1</sub> — Audio driver transformer (see text).

### 40-Watt Class AB1 Modulator

The modulator unit shown in Figs. 9-16 to 9-18, inclusive, has an undistorted power output of somewhat better than 40 watts. Although designed as a companion unit for the 75-watt transmitter described in the chapter on transmitters, it may be used with any transmitter operating at a d.c. plate power input of 80 watts or less.

#### Speech Circuit

The speech amplifier uses a high- $\mu$  dual triode as a two-stage resistance-coupled amplifier, followed by a medium- $\mu$  triode. The latter is transformer-coupled to the modulator grids. The gain from the microphone input to the 807 grids is more than ample for crystal and other microphones of similar output level. Battery bias is used for the modulator grids since it is the simplest method and a small battery such as those made for hearing-aids can be used. Since no current is taken from the battery, its life is the same as the normal shelf life.

The frequency response of the amplifier is adjusted to put maximum energy in the range where it contributes most to speech intelligibility; that is, the output is highest between 500 and 1200 cycles and drops off gradually on either side. The lower frequencies are reduced by low values of capacitance at  $C_3$  and  $C_4$ , and the high-frequency end is attenuated by  $C_6$  and  $C_7$ .

#### **Power Supply**

The power supply uses a replacement-type transformer with a bridge rectifier to obtain dual output voltages. A single-section filter is used on the high-voltage output and a double-section filter on the low voltage. With the values shown in Fig. 9-17 the hum level is 40 db, below full output of the modulator.

#### **Control Circuits**

The switching arrangement in the control section provides an on-off control for 'phone operation, disables the modulator when c.w. is to be used, and includes a "Test" position similar to that in the 75-watt transmitter. In the

"Phone" position the control switch disconnects the 6146 r.f. amplifier screen from the supply in the transmitter unit and connects it to the screen-dropping resistor,  $R_{18}$ . Simultaneously, the secondary of the modulation transformer is connected in series with the 6146 d.e. plate lead, and the eathodes of the 807 modulators are connected to ground through  $R_{16}$ . The drop in voltage across  $R_{16}$  is used for measuring the modulator plate current. In the "C.W." position the modulator cathode circuit is opened, the secondary of the modulation transformer is short-circuited, and the 6146 screen is connected to the screen supply in the transmitter unit. In both the "Test" and "Off" positions the 6146 screen is disconnected from its supply and grounded, and the modulation transformer secondary is shorted. If a key is plugged into the jack on the transmitter, either position can be used for testing; but the key must be left open when using the "Off" position for on-off 'phone switching.

A few changes in the original transmitter circuit are required. Referring to the circuit diagram in the transmitter chapter, these are:

1) Disconnect the lead between the arm of  $S_{4A}$  and  $J_{7}$ . This section of  $S_{4}$  is no longer needed.

2) Remove  $R_9$  from the circuit. (This resistor is replaced by  $R_{17}$  in Fig. 9-17.)

3) Connect Pin 2 on the auxiliary socket,  $J_8$ , to the top contact of  $J_7$ . This connects the 5763 and 6146 cathodes to the auxiliary socket and thence through the connecting cable to the modulator.

A six-wire cable is used for making connections between the two units. The same pin numbers are used for corresponding circuits at each end, so it is merely necessary to connect Pin 1 in one plug to Pin 1 in the other, and so on. Pins 5 and 6 must be connected by a jumper in order to complete the heater circuit in the transmitter.

The meter in the transmitter is used for making measurements on the modulator by means of a cord with pin jacks running between the "External Voltmeter" jack on the transmitter and the jacks ( $J_2$  to  $J_5$ , inclusive) shown in Fig. 9-17.



Fig. 9-16 — The 40-watt modulator alongside the 75-watt transmitter described in the transmitting chapter. It is completely self-contained, with power supply and control circuits, on a  $5 \times 10 \times 3$ -inch chassis.

The control switch, center, has four positions — off, test, 'phone, and e.w. Microphone connector and gain control are at the left; a.e. switches at the lower right. The two speech amplifier tubes are at the left front, followed by the 807s and the 5V4G to the rear. The modulation transformer is at the right front and the power transformer is at the right rear.

# SPEECH AMPLIFIERS AND MODULATORS

1/212AX7

-2

§R₃

T<sub>3</sub>

4212AX7

C2AT

SPEECH AMP.

AND MOD.

Fi S<sub>1</sub>

115 V.

807 6C4 ₽ C4 R<sub>6</sub> ==C6 <u></u> <u></u> + · + · R The country of the co R9 BT<sub>1</sub> C28 ≸Rγ 807 +230 D 6.3V. TO 6X5GTS 7070 ≹R10 CBA Сев 6X5GT





Fig. 9-17 — Circuit diagram of the Class AB1 modulator using 807s. R<sub>17</sub> - 4700 ohms, 1 watt.

- $C_1 = 100 \cdot \mu\mu fd.$  ceramic.  $C_2 = Dual 8 \cdot \mu fd.$  electrolytic, 450 volts.  $C_3, C_4 = 0.0015 \cdot \mu fd.$  ceramic.
- $C_5 10$ -µfd. electrolytic, 25 volts.
- $C_6 = 470.4\mu fd. ceramic.$  $C_7 = 0.002 \cdot to 0.004.\mu fd. paper, 600 volts.$  $C_8 = Dual electrolytic, 8 (A) and 16 (B) <math>\mu$ fd., 450 volts.
- C<sub>9</sub>, C<sub>10</sub> 30-µfd. electrolytic, 450 volts.
- $(v_{9}, v_{10} 30)$  and electrolytic, 450  $C_{11} 0.004 \cdot \mu fd.$  paper, 1600 volts.  $C_{12} 0.1 \cdot \mu fd.$  paper, 600 volts.  $R_{1} 2.2$  megohms,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt.  $R_{2}, R_{6} 0.1$  megohm,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt.

- $R_3 = 47,000$  ohms,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt.  $R_4 = 1$ -megohm volume control, preferably log taper.

- $\begin{array}{l} R_4 & -1 \mathrm{megohm\ volume\ control,\ pr} \\ R_5 & = 1500\ \mathrm{ohms},\ \frac{1}{2}\ \mathrm{watt}. \\ R_7 & = 10,000\ \mathrm{ohms},\ \frac{1}{2}\ \mathrm{watt}. \\ R_9 & = 1\ \mathrm{megohm},\ \frac{1}{2}\ \mathrm{watt}. \\ R_{10} & = 0.1\ \mathrm{megohm},\ \frac{1}{2}\ \mathrm{watt}. \\ R_{11},\ R_{12} & = 20,000\ \mathrm{ohms},\ \frac{1}{2}\ \mathrm{watt}. \\ R_{13},\ R_{19} & = 1\ \mathrm{megohm},\ 1\ \mathrm{watt}. \\ R_{14} & = 0.47\ \mathrm{megohm},\ \frac{1}{2}\ \mathrm{watt}. \\ R_{16} & = 15,000\ \mathrm{ohms},\ \frac{1}{2}\ \mathrm{watt}. \\ R_{16} & = 50\ \mathrm{ohms},\ \frac{1}{2}\ \mathrm{watt}. \end{array}$

- R16 50 ohms, 1/2 watt.

- $R_{18} = 35,000$  ohms, 10 watts.  $R_{20} = 1000$  ohms,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt (value not critical).

- $L_{2}^{1}$  J<sub>3</sub>, J<sub>4</sub>, J<sub>5</sub> Insulated tip jack. J<sub>6</sub> Octal socket. L<sub>4</sub> 4.5 henrys, 50 ma., 300 ohms. L<sub>2</sub> 8 henrys, 100 ma., 375 ohms.
- S<sub>1</sub>, S<sub>2</sub> S.p.s.t. toggle.
- $S_3 4$ -section, 5-position ceramic wafer switch (2 wafers), 4 positions used.
- T1 Interstage audio transformer, center-tapped secondary, 10-ma. primary, total secondary-to-primary turns ratio 3 to 1. T<sub>2</sub> — Adjustable-ratio modulation transformer, app. 30 watts (UTC CVM-1).
- T<sub>3</sub> Filament transformer, 6.3 v. at 1.2 amp.
  T<sub>4</sub> Power transformer, 350 v. each side c.t., 90 ma.; 5 v. at 2 amp.; 6.3 v. at 3 amp.
  BT<sub>1</sub> 22.5-volt battery (hearing-aid type used in modulator shown in photographs).

Modulator plate current is read through  $J_4$ ; the full scale range is 100 ma, with a 50-ohm resistor at  $R_{16}$ . A.f. voltage for an oscilloscope can be taken from  $J_5$ , through the voltage divider formed by  $R_{15}$  and  $R_{19}$ .  $C_{11}$  is a blocking condenser for the voltage divider.  $R_{15}$  and the total resistance are such as to give about 10 volts peak.

 $C_{12}$  and  $R_{20}$  are used to suppress sparking at the control switch,

When the transmitter and modulator are connected by the cable all the control functions, except keying, are performed by the switch on the modulator unit. The "Test-Operate" switch on the transmitter should be left permanently in the "Operate" position. The key may be left permanently in the jack on the transmitter. Both power supplies run continuously. The 6X5GT heater transformer in each unit should be turned on sufficiently ahead of the power transformer to allow the 6X5GT heaters to attain temperature before the 5V4GT.

#### Construction

Although the unit shown is complete on a  $5 \times 10 \times 3$ -inch chassis, such compact construction is not ordinarily necessary. A larger chassis will provide more freedom for placement of components and will make wiring easier.

In choosing a layout, it is advisable to keep the output transformer,  $T_2$ , well separated from the low-level speech amplifier circuits. This will tend to reduce stray coupling and feed-back and thus prevent any tendency toward self-oscillation. To prevent such oscillation in the layout shown, it was necessary to install a small aluminum

shield between the speech amplifier circuits and the output transformer terminals (Fig. 9-18), and to use a shielded lead from the "hot" terminal (C) of the transformer to the terminal socket at the rear of the chassis,

### **Operating Values**

The optimum plate-to-plate load resistance for 807s operating Class  $AB_1$  with the voltages indicated is approximately 13,000 ohms. For modulating the 75-watt transmitter at full rated 'phone input of 67.5 watts for the 6146 the proper transformer taps are indicated in Fig. 9-17. The antenna loading should be adjusted to make the 6146 plate current 106 ma., at which load the screen current should be 12 ma. and the plate voltage 640. The 6146 grid current should be adjusted to be 3 to 4 ma.

For other tubes or different voltages and currents, or for a different type of modulation transformer, the load resistance should be calculated as described in the chapter on amplitude modulation and the transformer taps chosen accordingly.

The d.c. power supply voltages in the modulator unit (line voltage 120) should measure 690 and 260 for the high and low supplies with no audio input. The modulator idling current is about 50 ma. under these conditions with a new 22.5-volt (actual voltage 24.5 volts) battery for bias. With tone input and the gain adjusted for maximum undistorted output, the modulator cathode current is about 100 ma. However, with speech the modulator plate current should not kick beyond 60 to 65 ma. on voice peaks; this represents 100 per cent modulation.

Fig. 9-18 — The principal components along the lower wall of the chassis, from left to right, are the filament transformer for the 6X5GTs, T<sub>3</sub>, common power-supply choke,  $L_2$  (with the low-voltage supply dual filter condenser  $C_8$ , just above it), filter condensers  $C_9$  and  $C_{10}$ , and the a.c. switches.  $R_{19}$  and  $G_{11}$ , for the oscilloscope audio take-off are mounted on a tie-point strip on the front wall (at the right in this view) near the control switch, S<sub>3</sub>. The screendropping resistor,  $R_{18}$ , for the r.f. amplifier is mounted between the S<sub>3</sub> and a tie point on the chassis.

The components visible along the upper wall are the low-voltage filter choke,  $L_1$ , at the left, transformer  $T_1$  at the center, and  $C_8$  at the right. The bias battery is mounted by a bracket on the chassis wall in the space between  $T_1$  and the chassis deck.



## SPEECH AMPLIFIERS AND MODULATORS 255 Push-Pull 807 Modulator and Speech Amplifier

The speech amplifier and modulator shown in Fig. 9-19 is capable of modulating a power input to the modulated amplifier of approximately 200 watts when the maximum rated voltage of 750 is applied to the 807 plates. The maximum undistorted audio power output is 100 watts at that plate voltage, after allowing for losses in the output transformer. The 807s are operated as Class AB<sub>2</sub> amplifiers.

As shown in Fig. 9-20, the first speech amplifier tube is a 68J7, with its input circuit arranged for use with a crystal microphone. The second stage, also a resistancecoupled voltage amplifier, uses a 6J5. The third stage, which must deliver power to the grids of the Class AB<sub>2</sub> modulator tubes, uses a 6K6 pentode. Negative feed-back is incorporated in this stage as a means for improving its output voltage regulation and reducing distortion. The 6K6 is coupled to the modulator grids through a transformer.

In the modulator stage small chokes, RFC1 and RFC2, are connected in the grid leads and 100ohm resistors are connected in the screen leads to prevent the parasitic oscillations that frequently occur with 807s. Each screen resistor is separately by-passed to ground with a miea condenser for the same reason.

A filament transformer capable of handling all tube heaters is included as part of the unit.

Circuit constants have been selected so that the overall frequency response is sufficiently flat in the normal range of voice frequencies, but drops off above 3000 cycles and below 150 cycles.



Fig. 9-19 - Modulator unit using push-pull 807s with speech amplifier designed for crystal-microphone input. It is built on a 7 by 17 by 3 steel chassis and can be mounted on a standard 834 inch relay-rack panel. The audio power output obtainable varies from 50 to 100 watts depending on the plate voltage supplied to the 807s.



Fig. 9-20 - Circuit diagram of the push-pull 807 modulator

- C<sub>1</sub>, C<sub>4</sub> 10-µfd, 25-volt electrolytic,
- $C_2 = 0, 1 \cdot \mu fd$ , 100-volt paper.  $C_3, C_5 = 0,0015 \cdot \mu fd$ , mica,
- 50-µfd, 50-volt electrolytic, C6 -
- C7, C8  $10-\mu fd$ , 450-volt electrolytic.
- C<sub>9</sub>, C<sub>10</sub>, C<sub>12</sub> 0.002- $\mu$ fd, mica, C<sub>11</sub> 680- $\mu\mu$ fd, mica,

- $C_{11} = 000$ -gain, mea.  $R_1 = 2.2$  megohms,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt,  $R_2$ ,  $R_6 = 1500$  ohms,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt,  $R_3 = 1$  megohm,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt,  $R_4 = 0.22$  megohm,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt,

- R5 1-megohm potentiometer, audio taper.

- R7, R8-0.1 megoh:n, 1/2 watt. Ro - 680 ohms, 1 watt.
- R<sub>10</sub> 0.1 megohm, 1 watt,
- R11-27,000 ohms, I watt,
- R12-47,000 ohms, 1 watt.
- R13, R14 -- 100 ohms, ½ watt.
- RFC<sub>1</sub>, RFC<sub>2</sub> = 0.7 microhenry (Ohmite Z-50), J<sub>1</sub> = Microphone jack,

- $S_1 S.p.s.t.$  switch (part of gain-control assembly), T<sub>1</sub> --- 6.3 volts a.e., 3 amp.
- $T_2$
- Class AB2 driver transformer, single plate to p.p. grids, turns ratio 2 to 1, pri. to 1/2 see.
- $T_3$ Output transformer (see text).

## CHAPTER 9



Fig. 9-21 - Bottom view of the pushpull 807 modulator. In this view the microphone connector is at the lower with the gain control just to its right, with the gain control just to its left. The filament transformer is in the upper left corner. Ceramic feed-through insulators are used to carry the output transformer connections through the chassis, and safety terminals are used for the high-voltage d.e. lead and the output transformer secondary terminals.

The general layout of the unit is shown in Figs. 9-19 and 9-21. The metal tube nearest the front of the chassis is the 68J7 and the 6J5 is toward the rear. The layout is not critical, except that it is advisable to keep the filament transformer well separated from the low-level stages and the input transformer,  $T_2$ .

To prevent hum pick-up the lead from the microphone connector to the grid of the 6SJ7 should be shielded, as should also the grid resistor,  $R_1$ . A satisfactory shield for the grid resistor may be made by slipping a short piece of spaghetti tubing over the resistor and then covering the tubing with shield braid. The braid should be grounded to the chassis. The leads to the gain control,  $R_5$ , should be made from shielded wire.

The type of output transformer to use will depend on the modulating impedance of the Class C r.f. stage. At maximum ratings the 807s require a plate-to-plate load of 6950 ohms, so the output transformer turns ratio must be selected accordingly.

In case the input to the modulated stage is less than 200 watts, the 807s may be operated at a reduced plate voltage to obtain the necessary audio power output. Typical operating conditions at various plate voltages are given below:

Plate voltage	400	500	600	750	volts
Screen voltage	300	300	<b>3</b> 00	<b>3</b> 00	volts
Grid bias	-25	-29	-30	-32	volts
Plate current, max.					
sig.	240	240	200	240	ma.

Plate current, no sig.	90 72	60	52	ma.
Load resistance 32	00 4240	6400	6950	ohms
Power output	55 75	80	120	watts

The output figures given above are tube output only, and do not include transformer losses. They should be reduced by about 15 per cent to obtain the actual power available for modulating the transmitter. For example, with a plate-supply voltage of 500 the actual output can be expected to be about 65 watts, sufficient for modulating 130 watts input.

The table above gives the power supply requirements for the 807s at various plate voltages. The fixed bias may be supplied by batteries or a bias supply such as is described in the chapter on power supplies. The screen voltage may be be-

tween 250 and 300 in the practical case; at 250 volts somewhat less bias is needed and the driving power required is slightly increased but the power output is approximately the same.

The first three stages of the unit may be operated from a small power supply giving approximately 70 ma, at 250 to 300 volts. A suitable circuit diagram is given in Fig. 9-22. This circuit also supplies the fixed bias for the 807 grids, by utilizing the voltage drop between the negative side of the high-voltage output and ground through the tap on resistor  $R_2$ . The slider on  $R_2$  should be adjusted so that the proper bias voltage, as given by the table on this page, is obtained. It is advisable to check the 807 screen current, with no plate voltage on the 807s, to be sure that the rated screen dissipation of 3.5 watts per tube is not exceeded. If it is, the bias should be increased to keep the dissipation within rating. This will prevent damage to the screens during stand-by periods.

Such a power supply can be incorporated in the modulator unit, if desired. The principal precaution to be observed is that the power transformer should not be mounted near the low-level stages. A slightly deeper chassis may be required.



Fig. 9.22 — Power supply for speech-amplifier stages of 807 modulator. The unit also supplies fixed bias for the 807 grids.

- C<sub>1</sub>, C<sub>2</sub> -- 8-µfd, electrolytic, 450 volts.
- C3-50-µfd, electrolytic, 50 volts.
- Filter choke, 30 henrys, 75 ma. La ---
- R1 15,000 ohms, 10 watts. R2 - 1000-ohm adjustable, 10 watts.
- S.D.s.t. toggle.  $S_1$
- T<sub>1</sub> Power transformer, 350 volts each side e.t., 70 ma.; 5 v. 3 amp.; 6.3 v. 3 amp.

# SPEECH AMPLIFIERS AND MODULATORS

# **Modulators and Drivers**

### CLASS-AB AND -B MODULATORS

Class AB or B modulator circuits are basically identical no matter what the power output of the modulator. The diagrams of Fig. 9-23 therefore will serve for any modulator of this type that the amateur may elect to build. The triode circuit is given at A and the circuit for tetrodes at B. When small tubes with indirectly-heated cathodes are used, the cathodes should be connected to ground.

### Modulator Tubes

The audio ratings of various types of transmitting tubes are given in the chapter containing the tube tables. Choose a pair of tubes that is capable of delivering sine-wave audio power equal to somewhat more than half the d.c. input to the modulated Class C amplifier. It is sometimes convenient to use tubes that will operate at the same plate voltage as that applied to the Class C stage, because one power supply of adequate current capacity may then suffice for both stages.

In estimating the output of the modulator, remember that the figures given in the tables are for the *tube* output only, and do not include output-transformer losses. To be adequate for modulating the transmitter, the modulator should have



Fig. 9.23 - Modulator eircuit diagrams. Tubes and eircuit considerations are discussed in the text.

a theoretical power capability about 25 per cent greater than the actual power needed for modulation.

#### Matching to Load

In giving audio ratings on power tubes, manufacturers specify the plate-to-plate load impedance into which the tubes must operate to deliver the rated audio power output. This load impedance seldom is the same as the modulating impedance of the Class C r.f. stage, so a match must be brought about by adjusting the turns ratio of the coupling transformer. The required turns ratio, primary to secondary, is

$$N = \sqrt{\frac{Z_{\rm p}}{Z_{\rm m}}}$$

where N = Turns ratio, primary to secondary

- $Z_{\rm m} =$ Modulating impedance of Class C r.f. amplifier
- $Z_p$  = Plate-to-plate load impedance for Class B tubes

*Example:* The modulated r.f. amplifier is to operate at 1250 volts and 250 ma. The power input is

$$P = EI = 1250 \times 0.25 = 312$$
 watts

so the modulating power required is 312/2 = 156 watts. Increasing this by 25% to allow for losses and a reasonable operating margin gives  $156 \times 1.25 = 195$  watts. The modulating importance of the Class C stage is

$$Z_{\rm m} = \frac{E}{I} = \frac{1250}{0.25} = 5000$$
 ohms.

From the tube tables a pair of Class B tubes is selected that will give 200 watts output when working into a 6900-ohm load, plate-to-plate. The primary-to-secondary turns ratio of the modulation transformer therefore should be

$$N = \sqrt{\frac{Z_{\rm p}}{Z_{\rm m}}} = \sqrt{\frac{6900}{5000}} = \sqrt{1.38} = 1.175:1$$

The required transformer ratios for the ordinary range of impedances are shown graphically in Fig. 9-24.

Many modulation transformers are provided with primary and secondary taps, so that various turns ratios can be obtained to meet the requirements of particular tube combinations.

It may be that the exact turns ratio required cannot be secured, even with a tapped modulation transformer. *Small* departures from the proper turns ratio will have no serious effect if the modulator is operating well within its capabilities; if the actual turns ratio is within 10 per cent of the ideal value the system will operate satisfactorily. Where the discrepancy is larger, it is usually possible to choose a new set of operating conditions for the Class C stage to give a modulating impedance that



Fig. 9.24 — Transformer ratios for matching a Class C modulating impedance to the required plate-to-plate load for the Class B modulator. The ratios given on the curves are from total primary to secondary. Resistance values are in kilohms.

can be matched by the turns ratio of the available transformer. This may require operating the Class C amplifier at higher voltage and less plate current, if the modulating impedance must be increased, or at lower voltage and higher current if the modulating impedance must be decreased. However, this process cannot be carried very far without exceeding the ratings of the Class C tubes for either plate voltage or plate current, even though the power input is kept at the same figure.

### Suppressing Audio Harmonics

Distortion in either the driver or Class B modulator will cause a.f. harmonics that may lie outside the frequency band needed for intelligible speech transmission. While it is almost impossible to avoid some distortion, it *is* possible to cut down the amplitude of the higher-frequency harmonics.

The purpose of condensers  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  across the primary and secondary, respectively, of the Class B output transformer in Fig. 9-23 is to reduce the strength of harmonics and unnecessary highfrequency components existing in the modulation. The condensers act with the leakage inductance of the transformer winding to form a rudimentary low-pass filter. The values of capacitance required will depend on the load resistance (modulating impedance of the Class C amplifier) and the leakage inductance of the particular transformer used. In general, capacitances between about 0.001 and 0.01  $\mu$ fd, will be required; the larger values are necessary with the lower values of load resistance. The voltage rating of each condenser should at least be equal to the d.c. voltage at the transformer winding with which it is associated. In the case of  $C_{2i}$  part of the total capacitance required will be supplied by the plate by-pass or blocking capacitor in the modulated amplifier. A still better arrangement is to use a low-pass filter as shown in Fig. 9-9, even though clipping is not deliberately employed.

#### Grid Bias

Certain triodes designed for Class B audio work can be operated without grid bias. Besides eliminating the grid-bias supply, the fact that grid current flows over the whole audio cycle represents a more constant load resistance for the driver. With these tubes the grid-return lead from the center-tap of the input transformer secondary is simply connected to the filament center-tap or cathode.

When the modulator tubes require bias, it should always be supplied from a *fixed* voltage source. Cathode bias or grid-leak bias cannot be used with a Class B amplifier; with both types the bias changes with the amplitude of the signal voltage, whereas proper operation demands that the bias voltage be unvarying no matter what the strength of the signal. When only a small amount of bias is required it can be obtained conveniently from a few dry cells. When greater values of bias are required, a heavy-duty "B" battery may be used if the grid current does not exceed 40 or 50 milliamperes on voice peaks. Even though the batteries are charged by the grid current rather than discharged, a battery will deteriorate with time and its internal resistance will increase, When the increase in internal resistance becomes appreciable, the battery tends to act like a gridleak resistor and the bias varies with the applied signal. Batteries should be checked with a voltmeter occasionally while the amplifier is operating. If the bias varies more than 10 per cent or so with voice excitation the battery should be replaced.

As an alternative to batteries, a regulated bias supply may be used. This type of supply is described in the power supply chapter.

#### Plate Supply

The plate supply for a Class B modulator should be sufficiently well filtered to prevent hum modulation of the r.f. stage. An additional requirement is that the output condenser of the supply should have low reactance, at 100 cycles or less, compared with the load into which each tube is working. A  $4-\mu fd$ , output condenser with a 1000-volt supply, or a  $2-\mu fd$  eondenser with a 2000-volt supply, usually will be satisfactory. With other plate voltages, condenser values should be in inverse proportion to the plate voltage.

To keep distortion at a minimum, the voltage regulation of the plate supply should be as good as it can be made. If the d.c. output voltage of the supply varies with the load current, the voltage at *maximum* current determined the amount of power that can be taken from the modulator without distortion. A supply whose voltage drops from 1500 at no load to 1250 at the full modulator plate current is a 1250-volt supply, so far as the modulator is concerned, and any estimate of the power output available should be based on the lower figure.

It is particularly important, in the case of a tetrode Class B stage, that the screen-voltage power-supply source have excellent regulation, to prevent distortion. The screen voltage should be set as exactly as possible to the recommended value for the tube. The audio impedance between screen and cathode also must be low.

#### **Overexcitation**

When a Class B amplifier is overdriven in an attempt to secure more than the rated power, distortion increases rapidly. The high-frequency harmonics which result from the distortion modulate the transmitter, producing spurious sidebands which can cause serious interference over a band of frequencies several times the channel width required for speech. (This can happen even though the modulation percentage, as defined in the chapter on amplitude modulation, is less than 100 per cent, if the modulator is incapable of delivering the audio power required to modulate the transmitter.)

As stated earlier, such a condition may be reached by deliberate design, in case the modulator is to be adjusted for peak clipping. But whether it happens by accident or intention, the

splatter and spurious sidebands can be eliminated by inserting a low-pass filter (Fig. 9-9) between the modulator and the modulated amplifier, and then taking care to see that the actual modulation of the r.f. amplifier does not exceed 100 per cent.

#### **Operation Without Load**

Excitation should never be applied to a Class B modulator until after the Class C amplifier is turned on and is drawing the value of plate current required to present the rated load to the modulator. With no load to absorb the power, the primary impedance of the transformer rises to a high value and excessive audio voltages are developed across it — frequently high enough to break down the transformer insulation. If the modulator is to be tested separately from the transmitter, a resistance of the same value as the modulating impedance, and capable of dissipating the full power output of the modulator, should be connected across the secondary.

### DRIVERS FOR CLASS-B MODULATORS

Class  $AB_2$  and Class B amplifiers are driven into the gridcurrent region, so power is consumed in the grid circuit. The preceding stage or driver must be capable of supplying this power at the required peak audio-frequency grid-to-grid voltage. Both of these quantities are given in the manufacturer's tube ratings. The grids of the Class B tubes represent a variable load resistance over the audio-frequency cycle, because the grid current does not increase directly with the grid voltage. To prevent distortion, therefore, it is necessary to have a driving source that will maintain the waveform of the signal without distortion even though the load varies. That is, the driver stage must have good regulation. To this end, it should be capable of delivering somewhat more power than is consumed by the Class B grids, as previously described in the discussion on speech amplifiers.

The driver transformer, T or  $T_2$  in Fig. 9-25, may couple directly between the driver tube and the modulator grids or may be designed to work into a low-impedance (200- or 500-ohm) line. In the latter case, a tube-to-line output transformer must be used at the output of the driver stage. This type of coupling is recommended only when the driver must be at a considerable distance from the modulator; the second transformer not only introduces additional losses but also impairs the voltage regulation of the driver stage.



 $Fi\mu$ , 9.25 — Triode driver circuits for Class B modulators. A, resistance coupling to grids: B, transformer coupling,  $R_1$  in A is the plate resistor for the preceding stage, value determined by the type of tube and operating conditions as given in Table 9.1,  $C_1$  and  $R_2$  are the coupling condenser and grid resistor, respectively: values also may be taken from Table 9.1.

In both circuits the output transformer, T,  $T_2$ , should have the proper turns ratio to couple between the driver tubes and the Class B grids,  $T_1$  in B is usually a 2:1 transformer, secondary to primary, R, the cathode resistor, should be calculated for the particular tubes used. The value of C, the cathode by-pass, is determined as described in the text.

## **CHAPTER 9**

#### Driver Tubes

To secure good voltage regulation the internal impedance of the driver, as seen by the modulator grids, must be low. The principal component of this impedance is the plate resistance of the driver tube or tubes as reflected through the driver transformer. Hence for low driving-source impedance the effective plate resistance of the driver tubes should be low and the turns ratio of the driver transformer, primary to secondary, should be as large as possible. The maximum turns ratio that can be used is that value which just permits developing the modulator grid-to-grid a.f. voltage required for the desired power output.

Low- $\mu$  triodes such as the 6B4G have low plate resistance and are therefore good tubes to use as drivers for Class AB<sub>2</sub> or Class B modulators. Tetrodes such as the 6L6 make very poor drivers in this respect when used without negative feed-back, but with such feed-back the effective plate resistance can be reduced to a value comparable with low- $\mu$  triodes.

In selecting a driver stage always choose Class A or  $AB_1$  operation in preference to Class  $AB_2$ . This not only simplifies the speech-amplifier design

but also makes it easier to apply negative feed-back to tetrodes for reduction of plate resistance. It is possible to obtain a tube power output of approximately 25 watts from 6L6s without going beyond Class AB<sub>1</sub> operation; this is ample driving power for the popular Class B modulator tubes, even when a kilowatt transmitter is to be modulated.

The rated tube output as shown by the tube tables should be reduced by about 20 per cent to allow for losses in the Class B input transformer. If two transformers are used, tube-to-line and line-to-grids, allow about 35 per cent for transformer losses. Another 25 per cent should be allowed, if possible, as a safety factor and to improve the voltage regulation.

Fig. 9-25 shows representative circuits for a push-pull triode driver using cathode bias. If the amplifier operates Class A the cathode resistor need not be by-passed, because the a.f. currents from each tube flowing in the cathode resistor are out of phase and cancel each other. However, in Class AB operation this is not true; considerable distortion will be generated at high signal levels if the cathode resistor is not by-passed. The by-pass capacitance required can be calculated by a simple rule: the cathode resistance in ohms multiplied by the by-pass capacitance in microfarads should equal at least 25,000. The voltage rating of the condenser should be equal to the maximum bias voltage. This can be found from the maximum-signal plate current and the cathode resistance.



Fig. 9.26 — Negative feed-back circuits for drivers for Class B modulators, A — Single-ended heam-tetrode driver. If  $V_1$  and  $V_2$  are a 645 and 6V0, respectively, the following values are suggested:  $R_1$ ,  $t_1,000$  ohms:  $R_2$ , 0.47 megohm;  $R_3$ , 250 ohms;  $R_4$ ,  $R_5$ , 22,000 ohms;  $C_1$ , 0.01 µfd.;  $C_2$ , 50 µfd.

**B** — Push-pull beam-tetrode driver, If  $V_1$  is a 6J5 and  $V_2$  and  $V_3$  61.6s, the following values are suggested:  $R_1$ , 0.1 megohm;  $R_2$ , 22,000 ohms;  $R_3$ , 250 ohms;  $C_1$ , 0.1 afd.;  $C_2$ , 100 afd.

*Example:* A pair of 6B4Gs is to be used in Class AB<sub>1</sub> self-biased. From the tube tables, the cathode resistance should be 780 ohms and the maximum-signal plate current 120 ma. From Ohm's Law,

 $E = RI = 780 \times 0.12 = 93.6$  volts

From the rule mentioned previously, the bypass capacitance required is

 $C = 25,000/R = 25,000/780 = 32 \ \mu \text{fd}.$ 

A 40- or 50- $\mu{\rm fd},$  100-volt electrolytic condenser would be satisfactory.

#### Negative Feed-Back

Whenever tetrodes or pentodes are used as drivers for Class B modulators, negative feedback should be used in the driver stage, for the reason discussed above.

Suitable circuits for single-ended and push-pull tetrodes are shown in Fig. 9-26. Fig. 9-26A shows resistance coupling between the preceding stage and a single tetrode, such as the 6V6, that operates at the same plate voltage as the preceding stage. Part of the a.f. voltage across the primary of the output transformer is fed back to the grid of the tetrode,  $V_2$ , through the plate resistor of the preceding tube,  $V_1$ . The total resistance of  $R_4$  and  $R_5$  in series should be ten or more times the rated load resistance of  $V_2$ . Instead of the voltage divider, a tap on the transformer primary can be used to supply the feed-back voltage, if such a tap is available.

The amount of feed-back voltage that appears at the grid of tube  $V_2$  is determined by  $R_1$ ,  $R_2$  and the plate resistance of  $V_1$ , as well as by the relationship between  $R_4$  and  $R_5$ . Circuit values for a typical tube combination are given in detail in Fig. 9-26.

The push-pull circuit in Fig. 9-26B requires an audio transformer with a split secondary. The feed-back voltage is obtained from the plate of each output tube by means of the voltage divider,  $R_1, R_2$ . The blocking condenser,  $C_1$ , prevents the d.c. plate voltage from being applied to  $R_1R_2$ ; the reactance of this condenser should be low, compared with the sum of  $R_1$  and  $R_2$ , at the lowest audio frequency to be amplified. Also, the sum of  $R_1$  and  $R_2$  should be high (ten times or more) compared with the rated load resistance for  $V_2$  and  $V_3$ .

In this circuit the feed-back voltage that is developed across  $R_2$  appears at the grid of  $V_2$ (or  $V_3$ ) through the transformer secondary and grid-cathode circuit of the tube, provided the tubes are not driven to grid current. The per cent feed-back is

$$n = \frac{R_2}{R_1 + R_2} \times 100$$

where n is the feed-back percentage, and  $R_1$  and  $R_2$  are connected as shown in the diagram. The higher the feed-back percentage, the lower the effective plate resistance. However, if the percentage is made too high the preceding tube,  $V_1$ , may not be able to develop enough voltage, through  $T_1$ , to drive the push-pull stage to maximum output without itself generating harmonic distortion. Distortion in  $V_1$  is not compensated for by the feed-back circuit.

If  $V_2$  and  $V_3$  are 6L6s operated self-biased in Class AB<sub>1</sub> with a load resistance of 9000 ohms,  $V_1$  is a 6J5, and  $T_1$  has a turns ratio of 2-to-1,

total secondary to primary, it is possible to use over 30 per cent feed-back without going beyond the output-voltage capabilities of the 6J5. Twenty per cent feed-back will reduce the effective plate resistance to the point where the output voltage regulation is better than that of 6B4Gs or 2A3s without feed-back.

If the grid-cathode impedance of the tubes is relatively low, as it is when grid current flows, the feed-back voltage decreases because of the voltage drop through the transformer secondary. The circuit should not be used with tubes that are operated Class AB<sub>2</sub>.

### SPEECH-AMPLIFIER CIRCUIT WITH NEGATIVE FEED-BACK

A circuit for a speech amplifier suitable for driving a Class B modulator is given in Fig. 9-27. In this amplifier the 6L6s are operated Class  $AB_1$  and will deliver up to 20 watts to the grids of the Class B amplifier. The feed-back circuit requires no adjustment, but does require an interstage transformer with two separate secondary windings (split secondary).

Any convenient chassis layout may be used for the amplifier provided the principles outlined in the section on speech-amplifier construction are observed. The over-all gain is ample for a communications-type crystal microphone,

The output transformer,  $T_2$ , should be selected to work between a 9000-ohm plate-to-plate load and the grids of whatever Class B tubes will be used. The power-supply requirements for this amplifier are 145 ma. at 360 volts and 2.7 amp. at 6.3 volts.



Fig. 9-27 -- Circuit diagram of speech amplifier using 6L6s with negative feed-back, suitable for driving Class B modulators up to 500 watts output. C<sub>1</sub>, C<sub>5</sub>, C<sub>8</sub> —  $20 \cdot \mu fd$ , 25-volt electrolytic. C<sub>2</sub>, C<sub>9</sub>, C<sub>10</sub> — 0.1- $\mu fd$ , 400-volt paper. C<sub>3</sub>, C<sub>6</sub> — 0.01- $\mu fd$ , 600-volt paper.

- R9 0.17 megohm, 12 watt.
  - $R_{10} = 1500$  ohms, I watt,  $R_{11} = 10,000$  ohms,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt,

  - R<sub>12</sub>, R<sub>13</sub> 0.1 megohin, 1 watt. R<sub>14</sub>, R<sub>15</sub> 22,000 ohms, 1/2 watt.
  - R<sub>16</sub>-250 ohnis, 10 watts.
  - R<sub>17</sub> 2000 ohms, 10 watts.
  - Interstage audio, 2:1 secondary (total) to pri-Ti -
  - mary, with split secondary winding. Class B input transformer to suit modulator  $T_2$ tubes.

 $C_{11} = 100$ -and, so voit electrony  $R_1 = 2.2$  megolums,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt.  $R_2$ ,  $R_7 = 1500$  ohms,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt.  $R_3 = 1.5$  megolums,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt.  $R_4 = 0.22$  megolums,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt.  $R_5$ ,  $R_8 = 47,000$  ohms,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt.

 $C_{4}$ ,  $C_{7}$ ,  $C_{12} = 10 \cdot \mu fd$ , 450-volt electrolytic,  $C_{11} = 100 \cdot \mu fd$ , 50-volt electrolytic.

R6 - 1-megolim volume control.

# **CHAPTER 9**

### **Class B Modulator with Filter**

Representative Class B modulator construction is illustrated by the unit shown in Figs. 9-28 and 9-30. This modulator includes a splatter



Fig. 9-28 — A typical Class B modulator arrangement. This unit uses a pair of 811As, capable of an audio power output of 340 watts, and includes a splatter filter. The modulation transformer is at the left and the splatter choke at the right. All high-voltage terminals are covered so they cannot be touched accidentally.

filter,  $C_1C_2L_1$  in the circuit diagram, Fig. 9-29, and also has provision for short-circuiting the modulation transformer secondary when c.w. is to be used.

The audio input transformer is not built into this unit, it being assumed that this transformer will be included in the driver assembly as is customary. If the modulator and speech amplifier-



Fig. 9-29 - Circuit diagram of the Class B modulator.  $C_1, C_2, L_1 - Sec$  text. (L<sub>1</sub> is Chicago Transformer type SR-300,)

- -D.p.d.t. relay, high-voltage insulation (Advance K<sub>1</sub> type 400), 0-500 d.e. milliammeter, bakelite case.
- $T_1$ - Variable-ratio modulation transformer (Chicago Transformer type CMS-1), Filament transformer, 6.3 v., 8 amp. Π2
- 6.3-volt pilot light. Ιų -
- X<sub>1</sub>, X<sub>2</sub> Chassis-type 115-volt plugs, male. X<sub>3</sub> Chassis-type 115-volt receptacle, female. X3-
- $S_1 S.p.s.t.$  toggle.

driver are mounted in the same rack or cabinet, the length of leads from the driver to the modulator grids presents no problem. The bias required by the modulator tubes at their higher platevoltage ratings should be fed through the centertap on the secondary of the driver transformer. At a plate voltage of 1000 or less no bias is needed and the center-tap connection on the transformer can be grounded.

The values of  $C_1$ ,  $C_2$  and  $L_1$  depend on the modulating impedance of the Class C r.f. amplifier. They can be determined from the formulas given in this chapter in the section on high-level clipping and filtering. The splatter filter will be effective regardless of whether the modulator operating conditions are chosen to give high-level clipping, but it is worth-while to design the system for clipping at 100 per cent modulation if the tube curves are available for that purpose. The voltage ratings for  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  should at least equal the d.e. voltage applied to the modulated r.f. amplifier.

A relay with high-voltage insulation (actually an antenna relay) is used to short-circuit the



Fig. 9-30 — The filament transformer is mounted below the chassis. The relay is used as described in the text.  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  are mounted on small stand-off insulators on the chassis wall.

secondary of  $T_1$  when the relay coil is not energized. A normally-closed contact is used for this purpose. The other arm is used to close the primary circuit of the modulator plate supply when the relay is energized. Shorting the transformer secondary is necessary when the r.f. amplifier is keyed, to prevent an inductive discharge from the transformer winding that would put "tails" on the keyed characters and, with cathode keying of the amplifier, would cause excessive sparking at the key contacts. The control circuit should be arranged in such a way that  $K_1$  is not energized during c.w. operation but is energized by the send-receive switch during 'phone operation.

Careful attention should be paid to insulation since the instantaneous voltages in the secondary circuit of the transformer will be at least twice the d.c. voltage on the r.f. amplifier. Stand-off insulators are used in this unit wherever necessary, including the mounting for the relay.

## **Checking Amplifier Operation**

An adequate job of checking speech amplifiers can be done with equipment that is neither elaborate nor expensive. A simple set-up is shown in Fig. 9-31. The construction of a simple audio oscillator is described in the chapter on measurements. The audio-frequency voltmeter can be either a vacuum-tube voltmeter or a multirange volt-ohm-millianmeter that has a rectifier-type a.e. range. The headset is included for aural checking of the amplifier performance.

An audio oscillator usually will have an output control, but if the maximum output voltage is in excess of a volt or so the output setting may be rather critical when a high-gain speech amplifier is being tested. In such cases an attenuator such as is shown in Fig. 9-31 is a convenience. Each of the two voltage dividers reduces the voltage by a factor of roughly 10 to 1, so that the over-all attenuation is about 100 to 1. The relatively low value of resistance,  $R_4$ , across the input terminals of the amplifier also will minimize stray hum pick-up on the connecting leads.

As a preliminary check, cover the microphone input terminals with a metal shield (with the audio oscillator and attenuator disconnected) and, while listening in the headset, note the hum level with the amplifier gain control in the off position. The hum should be very low under these conditions. Then increase the gain-control setting to maximum and observe the hum; it will no doubt increase. Next connect the audio oscillator and attenuator and, starting from minimum signal, increase the audio input voltage until the voltmeter indicates full power output. (The voltage should equal  $\sqrt{PR}$ , where P is the expected power output in watts and R is the load resistance  $-R_6$  in the diagram.) While increasing the input, listen carefully to the tone to see if there is any change in its character. When it begins to sound like a musical octave instead of a single tone, distortion is beginning. Assuming that the output is substantially without audible distortion at full output, substitute the microphone for the audio oscillator and speak into it in a normal tone while watching the voltmeter. Reduce the gain-control setting until the meter "kicks" nearly up to the



Fig. 9-31 — Simple test set-up for checking a speech amplifier. It is not necessary that the frequency range of the andio oscillator be continuously variable: a number of "spot-frequencies, or even one such frequency, will be satisfactory. Suitable resistor values are:  $R_1$  and  $R_3$ , 10,000 ohms:  $R_2$  and  $R_4$ , 1000 ohms:  $R_5$ , rated load resistance for amplifier output stage;  $R_5$  determine by trial for comfortable headphone level (25 to 100 ohms, ordinarily). F is a high-resistance a.e. voltmeter, multirange rectifier type.

full-power reading on voice peaks. Note the hum level, as read on the voltmeter, at this point; the hum level should not exceed one or two per cent of the voltage at full output.

If the hum level is too high, the amplifier stage that is causing the trouble can be located by temporarily short-circuiting the grid of each tube to ground, starting with the output amplifier. When shorting a particular grid makes a marked decrease in hum, the hum presumably is coming from a *preceding* stage, although it is possible that it is getting its start in that particular grid circuit. If shorting a grid does *not* decrease the hum, the hum is originating either in the plate circuit of that tube or the grid circuit of the next. Aside from wiring errors, a defective tube, or



Fig. 9-32 — Test set-up using the oscilloscope to check for distortion. These connections will result in the type of pattern shown in Fig. 9-33, the horizontal sweep being provided by the audio input signal. For waveform patterns, omit the connection between the audio oscillator and the horizontal amplifier in the 'scope, and use the horizontal linear sweep.

inadequate plate-supply filtering, objectionable hum usually originates in the first stage of the amplifier.

If distortion occurs below the point at which the expected power output is secured, the stage in which it is occurring can be located by working from the last stage toward the front end of the amplifier, applying a signal to each grid in turn from the audio oscillator and adjusting the signal voltage for maximum output. In the case of push-pull stages, the signal may be applied to the primary of the interstage transformer — after disconnecting it from the plate-voltage source. Assuming that normal design principles have been followed and that all stages are theoretically working within their capabilities, the probable causes of distortion are wiring errors (such as

accidental short-circuit of a eathode resistor), defective components, or use of wrong values of resistance in cathode and plate circuits.

#### Using the Oscilloscope

Speech-amplifier checking is facilitated considerably if an oscilloscope of the type having amplifiers and a linear sweep cireuit is available. A typical set-up for using the oscilloscope is shown in Fig. 9-32. With the connections shown, the sweep circuit is not required but horizontal and vertical amplifiers are necessary. Audio voltage from the oscillator is fed directly to one oscilloscope amplifier (horizontal in this case) and the output of the speech amplifier is connected to the other. The 'scope amplifier gains should be adjusted so that each signal gives the same line length with the other signal shut off.

Under these conditions, when the input and output signals are applied simultaneously they are compared directly. If the speech amplifier is distortion-free and introduces no phase shift, the resulting pattern is simply a straight line, as shown at the upper left in Fig. 9-33, making an angle of about 45 degrees with the horizontal and vertical axes. If there is no distortion but there is phase shift, the pattern will be a smooth ellipse, as shown at the upper right. The greater the phase shift the greater the tendency of the ellipse to grow into a circle. When there is evenharmonic distortion in the amplifier one end of the line or ellipse becomes curved, as shown in the second row in Fig. 9-33. With odd-harmonic distortion such as is characteristic of overdriven push-pull stages, the line or ellipse is curved at both ends.

Patterns such as these will be obtained when the input signal is a fairly good sine wave. They will tend to become complicated if the input waveform is complex and the speech amplifier introduces appreciable phase shifts. It is therefore advisable to test for distortion with an input signal that is as nearly as possible a sine wave. Also, it is best to use a frequency in the 500-1000 cycle range, since improper phase shift in the amplifier is usually least in this region. Phase shift in itself is not of great importance in an audio amplifier of ordinary design because it does not change the character of speech so far as the ear is concerned. However, if a complex signal is used for testing, phase shift may make it difficult to detect distortion in the oscilloscope pattern.

In amplifiers having negative feed-back, excessive phase shift within the feed-back loop may cause self-oscillation, since the signal fed back may arrive at the grid in phase with the applied signal voltage instead of out of phase with it. Such a phase shift is most likely to be associated with the output transformer. Oscillation usually occurs at some frequency above 10,000 cycles, although occasionally it will occur at a very low frequency. If the pass-band in the stage in which the phase shift occurs is deliberately restricted to the optimum voice range, as described earlier, the gain at both very high and very low frequencies will be so low that self-oscillation is unlikely, even with large amounts of feed-back.

Generally speaking, it is easier to detect small amounts of distortion with the type of pattern shown in Fig. 9-33 than it is with the waveform pattern obtained by feeding the output signal to the vertical plates and making use of the linear sweep in the 'scope. However, the waveform pattern can be used satisfactorily if the signal from the audio oscillator is a reasonably good sine wave. One simple method is to examine the output of the oscillator alone and trace the pattern on a sheet of transparent paper. The pattern



CHAPTER 9

Fig. 9-33 — Typical patterns obtained with the connections shown in Fig. 9-32. Depending on the number of stages in the amplifier, the pattern may slope upward to the right, as shown, or upward to the left. Also, depending on where the distortion originates, the curvature in the second row may appear either at the top or bottom of the line or ellipse.

given by the output of the amplifier can then be compared with the "standard" pattern by adjusting the oscilloscope gain to make the two patterns coincide as closely as possible. The pattern discrepancies are a measure of the distortion.

In using the oscilloscope care must be taken to avoid introducing hum voltages that will upset the measurements. Hum pick-up on the 'scope leads or other exposed parts such as the amplifier load resistor or the voltmeter can be detected by shutting off the audio oscillator and speech amplifier and connecting first one and then the other to the vertical plates of the 'scope, setting the internal horizontal sweep to an appropriate width. The trace should be a straight horizontal line when the vertical gain control is set at the position used in the actual measurements. Waviness in the line indicates hum. If the hum is not in the 'scope itself (check by disconnecting the leads at the instrument) make sure that there is a good ground connection on all the equipment and, if necessary, shield the hot leads.

The oscilloscope can be used to good advantage in stage-by-stage testing to check waveforms at the grid and plate of each stage and thus to determine rapidly where a source of trouble may be located. When the 'scope is connected to circuits that are not at ground potential for d.c., a condenser of about 0.1  $\mu$ fd, should be connected in series with the hot oscilloscope lead. The probe lead should be shielded so that it will not pick up hum,

# **Amplitude Modulation**

The type of modulation most commonly employed in amateur radiotelephony is called amplitude modulation (AM). The name arises from the fact that the methods of generating a modulated wave of a particular type all accomplish the desired result by varying the instantaneous amplitude of the r.f. output of the transmitter. As described in the chapter on circuit fundamentals, the process of modulating a signal sets up groups of frequencies called sidebands, these sidebands appearing both above and below the frequency of the unmodulated signal or carrier. An amplitude-modulated signal actually consists of a carrier which does not vary in amplitude plus sets of side frequencies or sidebands which in turn may or may not vary in amplitude. Modulation by a single-frequency, constantamplitude tone, for example, sets up side frequencies that do not vary in amplitude. Modulation by voice sets up bands of side frequencies that do vary with the amplitude of the speech.

Amplitude modulation is frequently described as a process of "varying the amplitude of the carrier." A variation in amplitude does take place, when the composite signal as a whole is viewed in a circuit that accepts equally well all frequencies, carrier and sidebands, contained in the signal. The total r.f. output amplitude varies at the modulation-frequency rate because it is the resultant of the instantaneous amplitudes of the carrier and all side frequencies, which continually vary (at radio frequency) in both amplitude and phase relationships. Misunderstanding often occurs because commonly no distinction is made between the carrier, which does not vary in amplitude at modulation frequency, and the signal as a whole, which does vary in amplitude with modulation. In this chapter the term "signal" is used for the composite effect of carrier plus sidebands.

It is illuminating to consider amplitude modulation as a process of frequency conversion or mixing, in which ease the relationship between the carrier, modulating frequencies, and sidebands is straightforward (see chapter on fundamentals). The amplitude variations in the signal arise as a result of the mixing process. These amplitude variations are highly important from a design standpoint, since they set up certain power requirements that must be met, so they are considered in detail in this chapter.

### AM Sidebands and Channel Width

As described in the chapter on fundamentals, combining or mixing two frequencies in an appropriate circuit gives rise to sum and difference frequencies. Speech can be electrically reproduced, with high intelligibility, in a band of frequeneies lying between approximately 100 and 3000 cycles. When these frequencies are combined with a radio-frequency carrier, the sidebands occupy the frequency spectrum from about 3000 cycles below the carrier frequency to 3000 cycles above - a total band or "channel" of about 6 kilocycles. Actual speech frequencies extend up to 10,000 eycles or so, so it is possible to occupy a 20-kc, channel if no provision is made for reducing its width. For communication purposes such a channel width represents a waste of valuable spectrum space, since a 6-ke, channel is fully adequate for intelligibility. Occupying more than the minimum channel creates unnecessary interference, so speech equipment and transmitter adjustment and operation should be pointed toward maintaining the channel width at the minimum.

### THE MODULATED SIGNAL

In Fig. 10-1, the drawing at A shows the unmodulated r.f. signal, assumed to be a sine wave of the desired radio frequency. The graph can be taken to represent either voltage or current.

In B, the signal is assumed to be modulated by the audio-frequency shown in the small drawing above. This frequency is much lower than the carrier frequency, a necessary condition for good modulation, and always the case in radiotelephony because the audio frequencies used are very low compared with the radio frequency of the carrier. When the modulating voltage is "positive" (above its axis) the signal amplitude is increased *above* its unmodulated amplitude; when the modulating voltage is "negative" the signal amplitude is *decreased*. Thus the signal grows larger and smaller with the polarity and amplitude of the modulating voltage.

The drawings at C shows what happens with stronger modulation. The amplitude is doubled at the instant the modulating voltage reaches its positive peak. On the negative peak of the modulating voltage the amplitude just reaches zero; in other words, the signal is completely modulated.

### Percentage of Modulation

When a modulated signal is detected in a receiver, the detector eliminates the carrier and takes from it the modulation. The stronger the modulation, therefore, the greater is the useful receiver output. Obviously, it is desirable to make the modulation as strong or "heavy" as possible. A wave modulated as in Fig. 10-1C would produce considerably more useful audio output than the one shown at B.

The "depth" of the modulation is expressed

as a percentage of the unmodulated carrier amplitude. In either B or C, Fig. 10-1, X represents the unmodulated carrier amplitude, Y is the maximum amplitude on the modulation up-peak, and Z is the *minimum* amplitude on the modulation downpeak.

The outline of the modulated wave is called the modulation envelope. It is shown by the thin line outlining the patterns in Fig. 10-1. In a properly-operating modulation system either side of this outline is an accurate reproduction



Fig. 10-1 — Graphical representation of (A) r.f. output unmodulated, (B) modulated 50%, (C) modulated 100%.

of the modulating wave, as can be seen in Fig. 10-1 at B and C by comparing the upper outline of the modulation envelope with the waveshape of the modulating wave. The lower outline duplicates the upper, but simply appears upside down in the drawing.

The percentage of modulation is

% Mod. =  $\frac{Y - X}{X} \times 100$  (upward modulation), or % Mod. =  $\frac{X-Z}{X} \times 100$  (downward modulation)

If the waveshape of the modulation is such that its peak positive and negative amplitudes are equal, then the modulation percentage will be the same both up and down. If the two percentages differ, the larger of the two is customarily specified.

#### Power in Modulated Wave

The amplitude values shown in Fig. 10-1 eorrespond to current or voltage, so the drawings may be taken to represent instantaneous values of either. Now power varies as the square of either the current or voltage, so at the peak of the modulation up-swing the instantaneous power in the signal of Fig. 10-1C is four times the unmodulated carrier power (because the current and voltage both are doubled). At the peak of

the down-swing the power is zero, since the amplitude is zero. These statements are true of 100 per cent modulation no matter what the waveform of the modulation. The instantaneous power in the modulated signal is proportional to the square of its amplitude at every instant. This fact is highly important in the operation of every method of amplitude modulation.

It is convenient, and customary, to describe the operation of modulation systems in terms of sine-wave modulation. Although this waveshape is seldom actually used in practice (voice waveshapes depart very considerably from the sine form) it lends itself to simple calculations and its use as a standard permits comparison between systems on a common basis. With sine-wave modulation the power in the modulated signal averaged over any number of full cycles of the modulation frequency is found to be  $1\frac{1}{2}$  times the power in the unmodulated carrier. In other words, the power output increases 50 per cent with 100 per cent modulation by a sine wave. This relationship is very useful in the design of modulation systems and modulators, since any such system that is capable of increasing the average power output by 50 per cent with sinewave modulation automatically fulfills the requirement that the instantaneous power at the modulation up-peak be four times the carrier power. No such simple relationship exists with complex waveforms, consequently systems in which the additional power is supplied from outside the modulated r.f. stage (e.g., plate modulation) usually are designed on a sine-wave basis as a matter of convenience, Modulation systems in which the additional power is secured from the modulated r.f. amplifier (e.g., grid modulation) usually are more conveniently designed on the basis of peak power rather than average power.

The extra power that is contained in a modulated signal goes entirely into the sidebands, half in the upper sideband and half in the lower. As a numerical example, full modulation of a 100watt earrier by a sine wave will add 50 watts of sideband power, 25 in the lower and 25 in the upper sideband. Supplying this additional power for the sidebands is the object of all of the various systems devised for amplitude modulation.

Complex waveforms such as speech do not, as a rule, contain as much average power as a sine wave. Ordinary speech waveforms have about half as much average power as a sine wave, for the same *peak* amplitude in both waveforms, Since it is the peak amplitude, not the average power, that determines the percentage of modulation, the sideband power with ordinary speech averages only about half the power with sinewave modulation, for the same modulation percentage in both cases.

### Unsymmetrical Modulation

In an ordinary electric circuit it is possible to increase the amplitude of current flow indefinitely, up to the limit of the power-handling capability of the components, but it cannot very well be decreased to less than zero. The same





Fig. 10.2 - Modulation by an unsymmetrical waveform. This drawing shows 100% downward modulation along with 300% upward modulation. There is no distortion, since the modulation envelope is an accurate reproduction of the waveform of the modulating voltage.

thing is true of the amplitude of an r.f. signal; it can be modulated *upward* to any desired extent, but it cannot be modulated *downward* more than 100 per cent.

When the modulating waveform is unsymmetrical it is possible for the upward and downward modulation percentages to be different. A simple case is shown in Fig. 10-2. The positive peak of the modulating signal is about 3 times the amplitude of the negative peak. If, as shown in the drawing, the modulating amplitude is adjusted so that the peak downward modulation is just 100 per cent (Z = 0) the peak upward modulation is 300 per cent (Y = 4X). The carrier amplitude is represented by X, as in Fig. 10-1. The modulation envelope reproduces the waveform of the modulating signal accurately, hence there is no distortion. In such a modulated signal the increase in power output with modulation is considerably greater than when the modulation is symmetrical and has to be limited to 100 per cent both up and down. However, the peak amplitude, Y, is four times the carrier amplitude, X, so the peak *power* is 16 times the carrier power. When the upward modulation is more than 100 per cent the peak power capacity of the modulating system obviously must be increased sufficiently to take care of the much larger peak amplitudes.

### **Overmodulation**

If the amplitude of the modulation on the downward swing becomes too great, there will be a period of time during which the output is entirely cut off. This is shown in Fig. 10-3. The shape of the downward half of the modulating wave is no longer accurately reproduced by the modulation envelope, consequently the modulation is distorted. Operation of this type is called **overmodulation**. The distortion of the modulation envelope causes new frequencies to be generated (harmonics of the modulating frequency, which combine with the earrier to form new sidebands correspondingly spaced from the carrier frequency) that widen the channel occupied by the modulated signal. These spurious frequencies are commonly called "splatter."

It is important to realize that the channel occupied by an amplitude-modulated signal is dependent on the waveshape of the modulation envelope. If this waveshape is complex and can be resolved into a wide band of audio frequencies, then the channel occupied will be correspondingly large. The modulation-envelope waveshape shown in Fig. 10-3 will contain a large number of harmonics of the original sine-wave frequency of the modulating wave because of the sharp corners in the waveshape when it is "clipped" at the zero axis. However, if the original modulating wave had had exactly this same shape the channel occupied by the modulated signal would be exactly the same. Basically, it is not the fact that the signal cannot be modulated more than 100 per cent downward that causes splatter, but the fact that any distorted waveshape contains higher frequencies than were present in the original undistorted wave. A wave that is efficiently clipped, as is the case with the waveshape shown in Fig. 10-3, will contain a wider range of spurious frequencies than one in which there are no highly abrupt changes in amplitude.



Fig. 10-3 — An overmodulated signal. The modulation envelope is not an accurate reproduction of the waveform of the modulating voltage, This or any type of distortion occurring during the modulation process generates spurious sidebands or "splatter."

Because of this clipping action at zero amplitude, it is important that care be taken to prevent applying too large a modulating signal in the downward direction. Overmodulation results in more splatter than is caused by most other types of distortion in a 'phone transmitter.

### GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

For proper operation of an amplitude-modulated transmitter there are a few general requirements that must be met no matter what particular method of modulation may be used. Failure to meet them is accompanied by undesirable effects, principally distortion of the modulation envelope that increases the channel width as compared with that required by the legitimate frequencies contained in the original modulating wave.

### Frequency Stability

For satisfactory amplitude modulation, the carrier *frequency* must be entirely unaffected by modulation. If the application of modulation causes a change in the carrier frequency, the frequency will wobble back and forth with the modulation. This causes distortion and widens the channel taken by the signal. Thus unnecessary interference is caused to other transmissions.

In practice, this undesirable frequency modulation is prevented by applying the modulation to an r.f. amplifier stage that is isolated from the frequency-controlling oscillator by a buffer amplifier. Amplitude modulation applied directly to an oscillator always is accompanied by frequency modulation. Under existing FCC regulations amplitude modulation of an oscillator is permitted only on frequencies above 144 Me. Below that frequency the regulations require that an amplitude-modulated transmitter be completely free from frequency modulation.

#### Linearity

At least up to the limit of 100 per cent upward modulation, the amplitude of the r.f. output should be directly proportional to the amplitude of the modulating wave. Fig. 10-4 is a graph of an ideal modulation characteristic, or curve showing the relationship between r.f. output amplitude and instantaneous modulation amplitude. The modulation swings the r.f. amplitude back and forth along the eurve A, as the modulating voltage alternately swings positive and negative. Assuming that the negative peak of the modulating wave is just sufficient to reduce the r.f. output to zero (modulating voltage equal to -1 in the drawing), the same modulating voltage peak in the *positive* direction (+1)should cause the r.f. amplitude to reach twice



Fig. 10-4 — The modulation characteristic shows the relationship between the instantaneous amplitude of the r.f. output current (or voltage) and the instantaneous amplitude of the modulating voltage. The ideal characteristic is a straight line, as shown by curve  $A_i$ 

its unmodulated value. The ideal is a straight line, as shown by curve A. Such a modulation characteristic is perfectly linear.

A nonlinear characteristic is shown by curve B. The r.f. amplitude does not reach twice the unmodulated carrier amplitude when the modulating voltage reaches its positive peak. A modulation characteristic of this type gives a modulation envelope that is "flattened" on the uppeak; in other words, the modulation envelope is not an exact reproduction of the modulating wave. It is therefore distorted and harmonics are generated, causing the transmitted signal to occupy a wider channel than is necessary. A nonlinear modulation characteristic can easily result when a transmitter is not properly designed or is misadjusted.

The modulation capability of the transmitter is the maximum percentage of modulation that is possible without objectionable distortion from nonlinearity. The maximum enpability can never exceed 100 per cent on the down-peak, but it is possible for it to be higher on the up-peak. The modulation capability should be as close to 100 per cent as possible, so that the most effective signal can be transmitted.

### Plate Power Supply

The d.e. power supply for the plate or plates of the modulated amplifier should be well filtered; if it is not, plate-supply ripple will modulate the earrier and eause annoying hum. The ripple voltage should not be more than about 1 per eent of the d.e. output voltage.

In amplitude modulation the plate current varies at an audio-frequency rate; in other words, an alternating eurrent is superimposed on the d.e. plate current. The output filter condenser in the plate supply must have low reactance, at the lowest audio frequency in the modulation, if the transmitter is to modulate equally well at all audio frequencies. The condenser capacitance required depends on the ratio of d.e. plate current to plate voltage in the modulated amplifier. The requirements will be met satisfactorily if the eapacitance of the output condenser is at least equal to

$$C = 25 \frac{l}{E}$$

where  $C = \text{Capacitance of output condenser in} \\ \mu \text{fd.}$ 

- I = D.c. plate current of modulated amplifier in milliamperes
- E = Plate voltage of modulated amplifier

Example: A modulated amplifier operates at 1250 volts and 275 ma. The capacitance of the output condenser in the plate-supply filter should be at least

$$C = 25 \frac{I}{E} = 25 \times \frac{275}{1250} = 25 \times 0.22 = 5.5 \,\mu \text{fd}.$$

### Modulation Systems

An amplitude-modulated signal can be generated by a variety of methods, the only presently-used ones being those in which a modulat-

ing voltage is applied to one or more tube elements in an r.f. amplifier. The proper object of all methods is to generate an r.f. signal having a modulation envelope which reproduces the waveform of the modulating voltage with as little distortion as possible.

The methods described in this chapter are the basic ones. There are many specialized variations, usually involving some form of grid modulation

# **Amplitude Modulation Methods**

### PLATE MODULATION

The most popular system of amplitude modulation is plate modulation. It is the simplest to apply, gives the highest efficiency in the modulated amplifier, and is the easiest to adjust for proper operation.

Fig. 10-5 shows the most widely-used system of plate modulation, in this case with triode r.f. tubes. A balanced (push-pull Class A, Class AB or Class B) modulator is transformer-coupled to the plate circuit of the modulated r.f. amplifier. The audio-frequency power generated by the modulator is combined with the d.e. power in the modulated-amplifier plate circuit by transfer through the coupling transformer, T. For 100 per cent modulation the audio-frequency output of the modulator and the turns ratio of the coupling transformer must be such that the voltage at the plate of the modulated amplifier varies between zero and twice the d.e. operating plate voltage, thus causing corresponding variations in the amplitude of the r.f. output.



Fig. 10-5 — Plate modulation of a Class C r.f. amplifier, The r.f. plate by-pass condenser. C, in the amplifier stage should have reasonably high reactance at audio frequencies. A value of the order of 0.001 µfd, to 0.005 µfd, is satisfactory in practically all cases. (See chapter on modulators.)

with the object of increasing the rather low plate efficiency that is an inherent characteristic of grid modulation. Such systems, when they actually achieve substantially distortionless modulation, are rather complicated circuitwise, are difficult to adjust and are not well adapted to rapid frequency change. They have so far had little or no lasting application in amateur communication.

### Audio Power

As stated earlier, the average power output of the modulated stage must increase during modulation. The modulator must be capable of supplying to the modulated r.f. stage sine-wave audio power equal to 50 per cent of the d.e. plate input. For example, if the d.e. plate power input to the r.f. stage is 100 watts, the sine-wave audio power output of the modulator must be 50 watts.

#### Modulating Impedance; Linearity

The **modulating impedance**, or load resistance presented to the modulator by the modulated r.f. amplifier, is equal to

$$Z_{\rm m} = \frac{E_{\rm b}}{I_{\rm p}} \times 1000 \text{ ohms}$$

where  $E_{\rm b} =$  D.e. plate voltage

 $I_{\rm p} = {\rm D.e.}$  plate current (ma.)

 $E_{\rm b}$  and  $I_{\rm p}$  are measured without modulation.

The power output of the r.f. amplifier must vary as the square of the instantaneous plate voltage (the r.f. voltage must be proportional to the plate voltage) in order for the modulation to be linear. This will be the case when the amplifier operates under Class C conditions. The linearity depends upon having sufficient grid excitation and proper bias, and upon the adjustment of circuit constants to the proper values.

#### Adjustment of Plate-Modulated Amplifiers

The general operating conditions for Class C operation are described in the chapter on transmitters. The grid bias and grid current required for plate modulation usually are given in the operating data supplied by the tube manufacturer; in general, the bias should be such as to give an operating angle of about 120 degrees at the d.c. plate voltage used, and the grid excitation should be great enough so that the amplifier's plate efficiency will stay constant when the plate voltage is varied over the range from zero to twice the unmodulated value. For best linearity, the grid bias should be obtained partly from a fixed source of about the cut-off value, and then supplemented by grid-leak bias to supply the remainder of the required operating bias.

The maximum permissible d.e. plate power input for 100 per cent modulation is twice the sine-wave audio-frequency power output available from the modulator. This input is obtained by varying the loading on the amplifier (keeping its tank circuit tuned to resonance) until the product of d.e. plate voltage and plate current is the desired power. The modulating impedance under these conditions must be transformed to the proper value for the modulator by using the correct output-transformer turns ratio. This point is considered in detail in the chapter on modulator design.

Neutralization, when triodes are used, should be as nearly perfect as possible, since regeneration may cause nonlinearity. The amplifier also must be completely free from parasitic oscillations.

Although the total power input (d.e. plus audio-frequency a.e.) increases with modulation, the d.c. plate current of a plate-modulated amplifier should not change when the stage is modulated. This is because each increase in plate voltage and plate current is balanced by an equivalent decrease in voltage and current on the next half-cycle of the modulating wave. D.c. instruments cannot follow the a.f. variations, and since the average d.c. plate current and plate voltage of a properly-operated amplifier do not change, neither do the meter readings. A change in plate current with modulation indicates nonlinearity. On the other hand, a thermocouple r.f. ammeter connected in the antenna or transmission line will show an increase in r.f. current with modulation, because instruments of this type respond to power rather than to current or voltage.

#### Screen-Grid Amplifiers

Screen-grid tubes of the pentode or beamtetrode type can be used as Class C plate-modulated amplifiers by applying the modulation to both the plate and screen grid. The usual method of feeding the screen grid with the necessary d.c. and modulation voltage is shown in Fig. 10-6. The dropping resistor, R, should be of the proper value to apply normal d.c. voltage to the screen under steady carrier conditions. Its value can be calculated by taking the difference between plate and screen voltages and dividing it by the rated screen eurrent.



Fig. 10-6 — Plate and screen modulation of a Class C r.f. amplifier using a screen-grid tube. The plate r.f. by-pass condenser, C<sub>1</sub>, should have reasonably high reactance at all audio frequencies; a value of 0.001 to 0.005  $\mu$ fd, is generally satisfactory. The screen by-pass, C<sub>2</sub>, should be 0.002  $\mu$ fd, or less in the usual case. When the modulated amplifier is a beam tetrode the

When the modulated amplifier is a beam tetrode the suppressor connection shown in this diagram may be ignored. If a base terminal is provided on the tube for the beam-forming plates, it should be connected as recommended by the manufacturer, The modulating impedance is found by dividing the d.c. plate voltage by the sum of the plate and screen currents. The plate voltage multiplied by the sum of the two currents gives the power input to be used as the basis for determining the audio power required from the modulator.



Fig. 10-7 — Plate modulation of a beam tetrode, using an audio impedance in the screen circuit. The value of  $L_1$  is discussed in the text. See Fig. 10-6 for data on bypass capacitors  $C_1$  and  $C_2$ .

Modulation of the screen along with the plate is necessary because the screen voltage has a much greater effect on the plate current than the plate voltage does. Very little modulation takes place and the modulation characteristic is nonlinear if the plate alone is modulated. However, beam tetrodes can be modulated satisfactorily by applying the modulating power to the plate circuit alone, provided the screen is "floating" at audio frequencies — that is, is not grounded for a.f. but is connected to its d.c. supply through an audio impedance. The circuit is shown in Fig. 10-7. The choice coil  $L_1$  is the audio impedance in the screen circuit; its inductance should be large enough to have a reactance (at the lowest desired audio frequency) that is not less than the impedance of the screen. The latter can be taken to be approximately equal to the d.c. screen voltage divided by the d.c. screen current,

#### Choke-Coupled Modulator

One of the oldest types of modulation system is the choke-coupled Class A modulator shown in Fig. 10-8. Because of the relatively low power output and plate efficiency of a Class A amplifier, the method is seldom used now except for a few special applications. The audio power output of the modulator is combined with the d.e. power in the plate circuit, just as in the case of the transformer-coupled modulator. However, there is considerably less freedom in adjustment, since no transformer is available for matching impedances.

The modulating impedance of the r.f. amplifier must be adjusted to the value of load impedance required by the particular modulator tube used, and the power input to the r.f. stage must not exceed twice the rated a.f. power output of the modulator. A complication is the fact that the plate voltage on the modulator must be higher than the plate voltage on the r.f. amplifier, for 100 per cent modulation. This is because the a.f.



Fig. 10-8 — Choke-coupled Class A modulator. The cathode resistor,  $R_2$ , should have the normal value for operation of the modulator tube as a Class A power amplifier. The modulation choke,  $L_1$ , should be 5 henrys or more. A value of 0.001 to 0.005  $\mu$ fd, is satisfactory at  $C_2$ , the r.f. amplifier plate by-pass condenser. See text for discussion of  $C_1$  and  $R_1$ .

voltage developed by the modulator cannot swing to zero without a great deal of distortion.  $R_1$ provides the necessary d.e. voltage drop between the modulator and r.f. amplifier, but its value cannot be calculated without using the published plate family of eurors for the modulator tube used. The voltage drop through  $R_1$  must equal the minimum instantaneous plate voltage on the modulator tube under normal operating conditions.  $C_1$ , an audio-frequency by-pass across  $R_1$ , should have a capacitance such that its reactance at 100 cycles is not more than about one-tenth the resistance of  $R_1$ . Without  $R_1C_1$  the percentage of modulation is limited to 70 to 80 per cent in the average case.

### GRID MODULATION

The principal disadvantage of plate modulation is that a considerable amount of audio power is required. This requirement can be avoided by applying the modulation to a grid element in the modulated amplifier. However, the convenience and economy of the low-power modulator must be paid for, since no modulation system gives something for nothing. The increased power output that accompanies modulation is paid for, in the case of grid modulation, by a reduction in the carrier power output obtainable from a given r.f. amplifier tube, and by more rigorous operating requirements and more complicated adjustment.

The term "grid modulation" as used here applies to all types — control grid, screen, or suppressor — since the operating principles are exactly the same no matter which grid is actually modulated. With grid modulation the plate voltage is constant, and the increase in power output with modulation is obtained by making both the plate current and plate efficiency vary with the modulating signal as shown in Fig. 10-9. For 100 per cent modulation, both plate eurrent and efficiency must, at the peak of the modulation up-swing, be twice their carrier values. Thus at the modulation peak the power input is doubled, and since the plate efficiency also is doubled at the same instant the peak output power will be four times the carrier power. The efficiency obtainable at the peak depends on how carefully the modulated amplifier is adjusted, and sometimes can be as high as 80 per cent. It is generally less when the amplifier is adjusted for good linearity, and under average conditions a round figure of 2/3, or 66 per cent, is representative. Since the carrier efficiency is only half the peak efficiency, the efficiency for earrier conditions, without modulation, is only about 33 per cent. Thus the carrier output is about one-fourth the power obtainable from the same tube in c.w. operation, and about one-third the carrier output obtainable from the tube with plate modulation.

The modulator is required to furnish only the audio power dissipated in the modulated grid under the operating conditions chosen. A speech amplifier capable of delivering 3 to 10 watts is usually sufficient.

Generally speaking, grid modulation does not give as linear a modulation characteristic as plate modulation, even under optimum operating conditions. When misadjusted the nonlinearity may be severe, resulting in bad distortion and splatter. However, with careful adjustment it is capable of quite satisfactory results.



Fig. 10.9 — In a perfect grid-modulated amplifier both plate eurrent and plate efficiency would vary with the instantaneous modulating voltage as shown. When this is so the modulation characteristic is as given by eurve A in Fig. 10.4, and the peak output power is four times the unmodulated carrier power. The variations in plate current with modulation, indicated above, do not register on a d.c. meter, so the plate meter shows no change when the signal is modulated.

### Plate-Circuit Operating Conditions

The d.c. plate power input to the modulated amplifier, assuming a round figure of  $\frac{1}{3}$  (33 percent) for the plate efficiency, should not exceed  $1\frac{1}{2}$  times the plate dissipation rating of the tube or tubes used in the modulated stage. It is generally best to use the maximum plate voltage permitted by the manufacturer's ratings, because the optimum operating conditions are more easily achieved with high plate voltage and the linearity also is improved.

Example: Two tubes having plate dissipation ratings of 55 watts each are to be used with grid modulation.

The maximum permissible power input, at  $33^{+}_{-0}$  efficiency, is

 $\overline{P} = 1.5 \times (2 \times 55) = 1.5 \times 110 = 165$  watts The maximum recommended plate voltage for these tubes is 1500 volts. Using this figure, the average plate current for the two tubes will be

 $I = \frac{P}{E} = \frac{165}{1500} = 0.11$  amp. = 110 ma.

At 33% efficiency, the carrier output to be expected is 55 watts.

The plate-voltage/plate-current ratio at twice carrier plate current is

 $\frac{1500}{220} = 6.8$ 

The tank-circuit L/C ratio should be chosen on the basis of *twice* the average or carrier plate current. If the L/C ratio is based on the plate voltage/plate current ratio under carrier conditions the Q may be too low for good coupling to the output circuit.

### Control-Grid Modulation

Control-grid modulation may be used with any type of r.f. amplifier tube. A typical triode circuit is given in Fig. 10-10. The same circuit can be used with screen-grid tubes merely by supplying the normal value of screen voltage by any convenient means; however, the screen should be by-passed for audio (1 µfd. or more) as well as



Fig. 10-10 — Control-grid modulation of a Class C amplifier. The r.f. grid by-pass condenser, C, should have high reactance at audio frequencies  $(0.005 \ \mu fd, \text{ or less})$ .

radio frequencies. The audio signal is inserted, by means of transformer T, in series with the grid-bias lead. In a push-pull amplifier the trans-

CHAPTER 10

former is connected in the common bias lead. In control-grid modulation the d.e. grid bias is the same as in normal Class C amplifier service, but the r.f. grid excitation is somewhat smaller. The audio voltage superimposed on the d.e. bias changes the instantaneous grid bias at an audio rate, thus varying the operating conditions in the grid circuit and controlling the output and efficiency of the amplifier.

The change in instantaneous bias voltage with modulation causes the rectified grid current of the amplifier to vary, which places a variable load on the modulator. To reduce distortion, resistor R in Fig. 10-10 is connected in the output circuit of the modulator as a constant load, so that the over-all load variations will be minimized. This resistor should be equal to or somewhat higher than the load into which the modulator tube is rated to work at normal audio output. It is also recommended that the modulator circuit incorporate as much negative feed-back as possible, as a further aid in reducing the internal resistance of the modulator and thus improving the "regulation" — that is, reducing the effect of load variations on the audio output voltage. The turns ratio of transformer T should be about 1 to 1 in most cases.

The load on the r.f. driving stage also varies with modulation. This in turn will cause the excitation voltage to vary which may cause the modulation characteristic to be nonlinear. To overcome it, the driver should be expable of two or three times the r.f. power output actually required to drive the amplifier. The excess power may be dissipated in a dummy load (such as an incandescent lamp of appropriate power rating) that then performs the same function in the r.f. circuit that resistor R does in the audio circuit.

The d.e. bias source in this system should have low internal resistance. Batteries or a voltageregulated supply are suitable. Grid-leak bias should not be used.

### **A**djustment

A control-grid modulated amplifier should be adjusted with the aid of an oscilloscope connected as shown in Fig. 10-11. A tone source for modulating the transmitter is a convenience, since a steady tone will give a steady pattern on the oscilloscope. A steady pattern is easier to study than one that flickers with voice modulation.

Having determined the permissible carrier plate current as previously described, apply r.f. excitation and plate voltage and, without modulation, adjust the plate loading to give the required plate current (keeping the plate tank circuit tuned to resonance). Next, apply modulation and increase the modulating voltage until the modulation characteristic shows curvature (see later section in this chapter for use of the oscilloscope). If curvature occurs well below 100 per cent modulation, the plate efficiency is too



Fig. 10-11 - Using the oscilloscope for adjustment of a grid-modulated amplifier. The connections shown are for grid-bias modulation. With screen or suppressor modulation the connection to the horizontal plates of the 'scope should be taken from the grid being modulated: the r.f. pick-up arrangement remains unchanged.

L and C should tune to the operating frequency, and may be coupled to the transmitter tank circuit through a twisted pair or coay, using single-turn links at each end. The  $0.01_{-\mu}$ fd, blocking condenser that couples the andio voltage to the horizontal plates of the oscilloscope should have a voltage rating equal to at least twice the d.e. voltage on the grid that is being modulated.

high. Increase the plate loading slightly and reduce the excitation to maintain the same plate current; then apply modulation and check the characteristic again. Continue this process until the characteristic is as linear as possible from the horizontal axis to twice the carrier amplitude.

### Screen Modulation

Power tubes of the beam tetrode type have very good modulation characteristics when the modulating voltage is superimposed on the d.c. screen-grid voltage. The efficiency and plate current should vary with the modulating voltage as shown in Fig. 10-9.

In many ways screen modulation is more satisfactory than control-grid modulation, since the system does not require a fixed-bias supply for the control grid, and is not highly critical as to excitation voltage. However, the operating principles are identical, and the earrier output is limited to about one-half the plate dissipation rating of the tube or tubes used in the modulated amplifier.

The most satisfactory way to apply the modulating voltage to the screen is through a trans-



Fig. 10-12 — Screen-grid modulation of beam tetrode. Condenser C is an r.f. by-pass condenser and should have high reactance at audio frequencies. A value of  $0.002 \ \mu$ fd, is satisfactory. The grid leak can have the same value that is used for c.w. operation of the tube.

former, as shown in Fig. 10-12. In an ideal beam tetrode the plate current and output should be completely cut off with zero screen voltage, but in practical tubes it is necessary to drive the screen somewhat negative with respect to the eathode to get complete cut-off. For this reason the peak modulating voltage required for 100 per cent modulation is usually 10 per cent or so greater than the d.c. screen voltage. The latter, in turn, is approximately half the rated screen voltage under maximum ratings for c.w. operation.

The audio power required is approximately



Fig. 10-13 - A typical screen voltage-current curve of a beam tetrode adjusted for optimum conditions for screen modulation.

one-fourth the d.c. power input to the screen under c.w. operation, but varies somewhat with the operating conditions. A receiving-type audio power amplifier will suffice as the modulator for most transmitting tubes. Because the relationship between screen voltage and screen current is not linear (a typical curve giving this relationship is shown in Fig. 10-13) the load on the modulator varies over the audio-frequency cycle, and it is therefore highly advisable to use negative feed-back in the modulator circuit. If excess audio power is available, it is also advisable to load the modulator with a resistance corresponding to Rin Fig. 10-10, the value of R being adjusted to dissipate the excess power, Unfortunately, there is no simple way to determine the proper resistance except experimentally, by observing the effect of different values on the waveshape with the aid of an oscilloscope.

On the assumption that the modulator will be fully loaded by the screen plus the additional load resistor R, the turns ratio required in the coupling transformer may be calculated as follows:

$$N = \frac{E_{\rm d}}{2.5\sqrt{PR_{\rm L}}}$$

where N is the turns ratio, secondary to primary;  $E_{\rm d}$  is the rated screen voltage for c.w. operation; P is the rated audio power output of the modulator; and  $R_{\rm L}$  is the rated load resistance for the modulator.

The best method of adjustment is to use an oscilloscope (the connections of Fig. 10-11 may be used, except that the audio sweep voltage is taken from the screen instead of the control grid) and adjust plate loading, grid excitation, and modulating voltage for the greatest output compatible with good linearity at 100 per cent modulation. The amplifier should be loaded heavily and the grid current should be kept at the point where a further reduction decreases the r.f. output. Under proper operating conditions the plate-current dip as the amplifier plate circuit is tuned through resonance will be little more than just discernible.

In an alternative adjustment method not requiring an oscilloscope the r.f. amplifier is first tuned up for maximum output without modulation and the rated d.c. screen voltage (from a fixed-voltage supply) for e.w. operation applied. Use heavy loading and reduce the grid excitation until the output just starts to fall off, at which point the resonance dip in plate current should be small. Note the plate current and, if possible, the r.f. antenna or feeder current, and then reduce the d.c. screen voltage until the plate current is one-half its previous value. The r.f. output current should also be one-half its previous value at this screen voltage. The amplifier is then ready for modulation, and the modulating voltage may be increased until the plate current just starts to shift upward, which indicates that the amplifier is modulated 100 percent. With voice modulation the plate current should remain steady, or show just an occasional small upward kick on intermittent peaks.

It is desirable to operate with the grid current as low as possible, since this reduces the screen current and thus reduces the amount of power required from the modulator. With proper adjustment the linearity is good up to about 90 per cent modulation. When the screen is driven negative for 100 per cent modulation there is a kink in the modulation characteristic at the zerovoltage point that introduces a small amount of distortion. The kink can be removed and the over-all linearity improved by applying a small amount of modulating voltage to the control grid simultaneously with screen modulation, but this requires adjustment with the oscilloscope.

### "Clamp-Tube" Modulation

A method of screen-grid modulation that is convenient in transmitters provided with a screen protective tube ("clamp" tube) is shown in Fig. 10-14. Basically, the idea is that an audio-frequency signal is applied to the grid of the clamp tube, which then becomes a modulator. The simplicity of the circuit is somewhat deceptive, since it is considerably more difficult from a design standpoint than the transformer-coupled arrangement of Fig. 10-12.

For proper modulation the clamp tube must be operated as a triode Class A amplifier, and it will be recognized that the method is essentially identical with the choke-coupled Class A plate modulator of Fig. 10-8 with a resistance,  $R_2$ , substituted for the choke,  $R_2$  in the usual case is the screen dropping resistor normally used for c.w. opera-



Fig. 10-11 — Screen modulation by a "clamp" tube. The grid leak is the normal value for c.w. operation and  $C_2$  should be 0.002 µfd, or less. See text for discussion of  $C_1$ ,  $R_1$ ,  $R_2$  and  $R_3$ .  $R_3$  should have the proper value for Class A operation of the modulator tube, but cannot be calculated unless triode curves for the tube are available.

tion. Its value should be at least two or three times the load resistance required by the Class A modulator tube for optimum audio-frequency output. Unfortunately, relatively little information is available on the triode operation of the tubes most frequently used for screen-protective purposes.

Like the choke-coupled modulator, the clamptube modulator is incapable of modulating the r.f. stage 100 per cent unless the dropping resistor,  $R_1$ , and audio by-pass,  $C_1$ , are incorporated in the circuit. The same design considerations hold, with the addition of the fact that the screen must be driven negative, not just to zero voltage, for 100 per cent modulation. The modulator tube must thus be operated at a voltage ranging from 20 to 40 per cent higher than the screen that it modulates. Proper design requires knowledge of the screen characteristics of the r.f. amplifier and a set of plate-voltage plate-current curves on the modulator tube as a triode.

Adjustment with this system, once the design voltages have been determined, is carried out in the same way as with transformer-coupled screen modulation, preferably with the oscilloscope. Without the oscilloscope, the amplifier may first be adjusted for c.w. operation as described earlier, but with the modulator tube removed from its

socket. The modulator is then replaced, and the cathode resistance,  $R_3$ , adjusted to reduce the amplifier plate current to one-half its c.w. value. The amplifier plate current should remain constant with modulation, or show just a small upward flicker on occasional voice peaks.

### **Controlled** Carrier

As explained earlier, a limit is placed on the output obtainable from a grid-modulation system by the low r.f. amplifier plate efficiency (approximately 33 per cent) under unmodulated carrier



Fig. 10-15 — Circuit for carrier control with screen modulation, A small triole such as the 615 can be used as the control amplifier and a 6Y6G is suitable as a carrier-control tube.  $T_1$  is an interstage and/of transformer having a 1-to-1 or larger turns ratio,  $R_4$  is a 0.5-megohm volume control and also serves as the grid resistor for the modulator. A germanium crystal may be used as the rectifier. Other values are discussed in the text.

conditions. The plate efficiency increases with modulation, since the output increases while the d.e. input remains constant, and reaches a maximum in the neighborhood of 50 per cent with 100 per cent sine-wave modulation. If the power input to the amplifier can be reduced during periods when there is little or no modulation, thus reducing the plate loss, advantage can be taken of the higher efficiency at full modulation to obtain higher effective output. This can be done by varying the power input to the modulated stage, in accordance with average variations in voice intensity, in such a way as to maintain just sufficient carrier power to keep the modulation high, but not exceeding 100 per cent, under all conditions. Thus the carrier amplitude is controlled by the voice intensity. Properly utilized, controlled carrier permits increasing the effective carrier output at maximum level to a value equal to the rated plate dissipation of the tube, or twice the output obtainable with constant carrier.

It is desirable to control the power input just enough so that the plate loss, without modulation, is safely below the tube rating. Excessive control is disadvantageous because the receiver's a.v.c. system must continually follow the varia-

tions in average signal level. The circuit of Fig. 10-15 permits adjustment of both the maximum and minimum power input, and although somewhat more complicated than some circuits that have been used is actually simpler to operate because it separates the functions of modulation and carrier control. A portion of the audio voltage at the modulator grid is applied to a Class A "control amplifier" which drives a rectifier circuit to produce a d.c. voltage negative with respect to ground.  $C_1$  filters out the audio variations, leaving a d.c. voltage proportional to the average voice level. This voltage is applied to the grid of a "clamp" tube to control the d.c. screen voltage and thus the r.f. carrier level. Maximum output is obtained when the carrier-control tube grid is driven to cut-off, the voice level at which this occurs being determined by the setting of  $R_4$ . Minimum input is set to the desired level (usually about equal to the plate dissipation rating of the modulated stage) by adjusting  $R_2$ ,  $R_3$  may be the normal screen-dropping resistor for the modulated beam tetrode, but in case a separate screen supply is used it need be just large enough to give sufficient voltage drop to reduce the no-modulation power input to the desired value.

 $C_1R_1$  should have a time constant of about 0.1 second. The time constant of  $C_2R_3$  should be no larger. Further details may be found in QST for April, 1951, page 64. An oscilloscope is required for proper adjustment.

#### Suppressor Modulation

Pentode-type tubes do not, in general, modulate well when the modulating voltage is applied to the screen grid. However, a satisfactory modulation characteristic can be obtained by applying the modulation to the suppressor grid. The circuit arrangement for suppressor-grid modulation of a pentode tube is shown in Fig. 10-16.

The method of adjustment closely resembles that used with screen-grid modulation. If an oscilloscope is not available, the amplifier is first adjusted for optimum e.w. output with zero bias on the suppressor grid. Negative bias is then applied to the suppressor and increased in value until the plate current and r.f. output current drop to half their original values. When this condition has been obtained the amplifier is ready for modulation.



Fig. 10-16 — Suppressor-grid modulation of an r.f. amplifier using a pentode-type tube. The suppressor-grid r.f. by-pass condenser, C. should be the same as the grid by-pass condenser in control-grid modulation.

Since the suppressor is always negatively biased, the modulator is not required to furnish any power, so a voltage amplifier can be used. The suppressor bias will vary with the type of pentode and the operating conditions, but usually will be of the order of -100 volts. The peak a.f. voltage required from the modulator is equal to the suppressor bias.

### CATHODE MODULATION Circuit

The fundamental circuit for eathode modulation is shown in Fig. 10-17. It is a combination of the plate and grid methods, and permits a carrier efficiency midway between the two. The audio power is introduced in the cathode circuit, and both grid bias and plate voltage are modulated.



Fig. 10-17 -- Circuit arrangement for cathode modulation of a Class C r.f. amplifier. Values of by-pass condensers in the r.f. circuits should be the same as for other modulation methods.

Because part of the modulation is by the control-grid method, the plate efficiency of the modulated amplifier must vary during modulation. The carrier efficiency therefore must be lower than the efficiency at the modulation peak. The required reduction in efficiency depends upon the proportion of grid modulation to plate modulation; the higher the percentage of plate modulation, the higher the permissible carrier efficiency, and vice versa. The audio power required from the modulator also varies with the percentage of plate modulation, being greater as this percentage is increased.

The way in which the various quantities vary is illustrated by the curves of Fig. 10-18. In these eurves the performance of the eathode-modulated r.f. amplifier is plotted in terms of the tube ratings for plate-modulated telephony, with the percentage of plate modulation as a base.

# CHAPTER 10



Fig. 10-18 -- Cathode-modulation performance curves, in terms of percentage of plate modulation plotted against percentage of Class C telephony tube ratings. Win -D,c, plate input watts in terms of percentage of plate-modulation rating.

W. Carrier output watts in per cent of plate-modulation rating (based on plate efficiency of 77.5%). W'a

Audio power in per cent of d.c. watts input.  $\mathbf{N}_{\mathrm{P}}$ - Plate efficiency of the amplifier in percentage.

As the percentage of plate modulation is decreased, it is assumed that the grid modulation is increased to make the over-all modulation reach 100 per cent. The limiting condition, 100 per cent plate modulation and no grid modulation, is at the right (A); pure grid modulation is represented by the left-hand ordinate (B and C).

Example: Assume that the r.f. tube to be used has a 100% plate-modulation rating of 250 watts input and will give a carrier power output of 190 watts at that input. Cathode modulation with 40% plate modulation is to be used. From Fig. 10-18, the carrier efficiency will be 56% with 40% plate modulation, the permissible d.c. input will be 65% of the plate-modulation rating, and the r.f. output will be 48% of the plate-modulation rating. That is,

Power input =  $250 \times 0.65 = 162.5$  watts Power output =  $190 \times 0.48 = -91.2$  watts

The required audio power, from the chart, is equal to 20% of the d.c. input to the modulated amplifier. Therefore

Audio power =  $162.5 \times 0.2 = 32.5$  watts The modulator should supply a small amount of extra power to take care of losses in the grid circuit. These should not exceed four or five watts.

### Modulating Impedance

The modulating impedance of a eathodemodulated amplifier is approximately equal to

$$m rac{E_{
m b}}{I_{
m b}}$$

where m = Percentage of plate modulation (expressed as a decimal)

- $E_{\rm b} = {\rm D.e.}$  plate voltage on modulated amplifier
- $I_{\rm b}$  = D.c. plate eurrent of modulated amplifier

Example: Assume that the modulated amplifier in the example above is to operate at a plate potential of 1250 volts. Then the d.c. plate current is P = 162.5

$$I = \frac{F}{E} = \frac{102.0}{1250} = 0.13 \text{ amp. (130 ma.)}$$

$$m\frac{E_{\rm b}}{I_{\rm b}} = 0.4 \frac{1250}{0.13} = 3846 \text{ ohms}$$

The modulating impedance is the load into which the modulator must work, just as in the case of pure plate modulation. This load must be matched to the load required by the modulator tubes by proper choice of the turns ratio of the modulation transformer, as described in the chapter on speech equipment.

### **Conditions for Linearity**

R.f. excitation requirements for the eathodemodulated amplifier are midway between those for plate modulation and control-grid modulation. More excitation is required as the percentage of plate modulation is increased. Grid bias should be considerably beyond cut-off; fixed bias from a supply having good voltage regulation is preferred, especially when the percentage of plate modulation is small and the amplifier is operating more nearly like a grid-bias modulated stage. At the higher percentages of plate modulation a combination of fixed and grid-leak bias can be used, since the variation in rectified grid current is smaller. The grid leak should be by-passed for audio frequencies. The percentage of grid modulation may be regulated by choice of a suitable tap on the modulation-transformer secondary.

The cathode circuit of the modulated stage

### **Checking AM** 'Phone Operation

### USING THE OSCILLOSCOPE

Proper adjustment of a 'phone transmitter is aided immeasurably by the oscilloscope. The 'scope will give more information, more accurately, than almost any collection of other instruments that might be named. Furthermore, an oscilloscope that is entirely satisfactory for the purpose is not necessarily an expensive instrument; the eathode-ray tube and its power supply are about all that are needed. Amplifiers and linear sweep circuits are by no means necessary.

In the simplest 'scope circuit, radio-frequency voltage from the modulated amplifier is applied directly to the vertical deflection plates of the tube, and audio-frequency voltage from the modulator is applied to the horizontal deflection plates. As the instantaneous amplitude of the audio signal varies, the r.f. output of the transmitter likewise varies, and this produces a wedgeshaped pattern or trapezoid on the screen. If the oscilloscope has a built-in horizontal sweep, the r.f. voltage is applied to the vertical plates as before (never through an amplifier) and the sweep will produce a pattern that follows the modulation envelope of the transmitter output, provided the sweep frequency is lower than the modulation frequency. This produces a waveenvelope modulation pattern.

### The Wave-Envelope Pattern

The connections for the wave-envelope pattern are shown in Fig. 10-19A. The vertical deflection plates are coupled to the amplifier tank coil (or an antenna coil) through a twisted-pair line and pick-up coil. As shown in the alternative drawing, must be independent of other stages in the transmitter. When directly-heated tubes are modulated their filaments must be supplied from a separate transformer. The filament by-pass condensers should not be larger than about 0.002  $\mu$ fd., to avoid by-passing the audio-frequency modulation.

### Adjustment of Cathode-Modulated Amplifiers

In most respects, the adjustment procedure is similar to that for grid-bias modulation. The eritical adjustments are antenna loading, gridbias, and excitation. The proportion of grid-bias to plate modulation will determine the operating conditions.

Adjustments should be made with the aid of an oscilloscope connected in the same way as for grid-bias modulation. With proper antenna loading and excitation, the normal wedge-shaped pattern will be obtained at 100 per cent modulation. As in the case of grid-bias modulation, too-light antenna loading will cause flattening of the upward peaks of modulation as also will too-high excitation. The eathode current will be practically constant with or without modulation when the proper operating conditions have been established.

a resonant circuit tuned to the operating frequency may be connected to the vertical plates, using link coupling between it and the transmitter. This will eliminate r.f. harmonics, and the tuning control provides a convenient means for adjustment of the pattern height.

The position of the pick-up coil should be varied until an unmodulated carrier pattern, Fig. 10-20B, of suitable height is obtained. The horizontal sweep voltage should be adjusted to make the width of the pattern somewhat more than half the diameter of the screen. When voice modulation is applied, a rapidly-changing pattern of varying height will be obtained. When the maximum height of this pattern is just twice that of the earrier alone, the wave is being modulated 100 per cent. This is illustrated by Fig. 10-20D, where the point X represents the horizontal sweep line (reference line) alone, YZ is the carrier height, and PQ is the maximum height of the maximum height of the maximum height of the modulated wave.

If the height is greater than the distance PQ, as illustrated in E, the wave is overmodulated in the upward direction. Overmodulation in the downward direction is indicated by a gap in the pattern at the reference axis, where a single bright line appears on the screen. Overmodulation in either direction may take place even when the modulation in the other direction is less than 100 per cent.

### The Trapezoidal Pattern

Connections for the trapezoid or wedge pattern as used for checking plate modulation are shown in Fig. 10-19B. The vertical plates of the c.r. tube are coupled to the transmitter tank through





Fig. 10-19 — Methods of connecting the oscilloscope for modulation checking. A — connections for wave-envelope pattern with any modulation method: B — connections for trapezoidal pattern with plate modulation. See Fig. 10-11 for 'scope connections for trapezoidal pattern with grid modulation.

a pick-up loop, preferably using a tuned circuit, as shown in the upper drawing, adjustable to the operating frequency. Audio voltage from the modulator is applied to the horizontal plates through a voltage divider,  $R_1R_2$ . This voltage should be adjustable so a suitable pattern width can be obtained; a 0.25-megohm volume control can be used at  $R_2$  for this purpose, with c.r. tubes up to the 3-inch size.

The resistance required at  $R_1$  will depend on the d.e. plate voltage on the modulated amplifier. The total resistance of  $R_1$  and  $R_2$  in series should be about 0.25 megohm for each 100 volts of d.e. plate voltage. For example, if the modulated amplifier operates at 1500 volts, the total resistance should be 3.75 megohms, 0.25 megohm at  $R_2$  and the remainder, 3.5 megohms, in  $R_1$ .  $R_1$ should be composed of individual resistors not larger than 0.5 megohm each, in which case 1-watt resistors will be satisfactory.

For good low-frequency coupling the capacitance, in microfarads, of the blocking condenser, *C*, should at least equal 0.004/R, where *R* is the total resistance  $(R_1 + R_2)$  in megohms. In the example above, where *R* is 3.75 megohms, the capacitance should be at least 0.094/3.75 = 0.001

# **CHAPTER 10**

 $\mu$ fd., approximately. The voltage rating of the condenser should be at least twice the d.e. voltage applied to the modulated amplifier. The capacitance can be made up of two or more similar units in series, so long as the total capacitance is equal to that required, in case a single unit of sufficient voltage rating is not available. Two or more units may be used in parallel if condensers having adequate voltage rating but insufficient capacitance are available.

The corresponding 'scope connections for grid modulation were given in Fig. 10-11. This circuit will be satisfactory for checking screen-grid modulation (the audio connection of course being made to the screen grid rather than to the control grid) for d.e. screen voltages up to 200 volts or so, which will include most beam tetrodes. If the d.e. screen voltage, adjusted for proper modulation, exceeds 200 volts a voltage divider similar to that shown in Fig. 10-19 should be used, the values being calculated as described above using the screen voltage instead of the plate voltage.

Trapezoidal patterns for various conditions of modulation are shown in Fig. 10-20 at F to J, each alongside the corresponding wave-envelope pattern. With no signal, only the cathode-



Fig. 10-20 — Wave-envelope and trapezoidal patterns representing different conditions of modulation,

ray spot appears on the screen. When the unmodulated carrier is applied, a vertical line appears; the length of the line should be adjusted, by means of the pick-up coil coupling, to a convenient value. When the carrier is modulated, the wedge-shaped pattern appears; the higher the modulation percentage, the wider and more pointed the wedge becomes. At 100 per cent modulation it just makes a point on the axis, X, at one end, and the height, PQ, at the other end is equal to twice the carrier height, YZ. Overmodulation in the upward direction is indicated by increased height over PQ, and in the downward direction by an extension along the axis X at the pointed end.

### **Checking Transmitter Performance**

The trapezoidal pattern is far more useful than the wave-envelope pattern for checking the operation of a 'phone transmitter. The latter type of pattern is of use principally for checking modulation percentage, and even when the speech system is fed with a sine-wave tone for close examination of the pattern it is difficult to tell with sufficient accuracy whether the transmitter is operating linearly. Also, even when distortion is evident in the wave-envelope pattern there is no clue as to whether it is occurring in the modulated amplifier or is caused by a defect in the speech equipment.

On the other hand, the trapezoidal pattern is actually a graph of the modulation characteristic of the modulated amplifier. The sloping sides of the wedge show the r.f. amplitude for every value of instantaneous modulating voltage, exactly the type of curve plotted in Fig. 10-4. If these sides are perfectly straight lines, as drawn in Fig. 10-20 at H and I, the modulation characteristic is linear. If the sides show curvature, the characteristic is nonlinear to an extent that is shown by the degree to which the sides depart from perfect straightness. This is true regardless of the waveform of the modulating voltage.

If the speech system can be driven by a good audio sine-wave signal instead of a microphone, the trapezoidal pattern also will show the presence of even-harmonic distortion (the most common type, especially when the modulator is overloaded) in the speech amplifier or modulator. If there is no distortion in the audio system, the trapezoid will extend horizontally equal distances on each side of the vertical line representing the unmodulated carrier. If there is even-harmonic distortion the trapezoid will extend farther to one side of the unmodulated-carrier position than to the other. This is shown in Fig. 10-21. The probable cause is inadequate power output from the modulator, or incorrect load on the modulator.

An audio oscillator having reasonably good sine-wave output is highly desirable for testing both speech equipment and the 'phone transmitter as a whole. A very simple single-tone oscillator such as is shown in the chapter on measurements is quite adequate. With such an oscillator and the 'scope, the pattern is steady and can be studied closely to determine the effects of various operating adjustments.

The patterns shown in Figs. 10-21 and the top four groups of Fig. 10-22 show both correct and incorrect transmitter adjustments. The object of modulated-amplifier adjustment is to obtain a pattern closely resembling that in Fig. 10-22A, which shows excellent linearity (sides of wedge pattern quite straight) over the whole characteristic at 100 per cent modulation. Since no modulated amplifier is perfect, the sides will never be *perfectly* straight, but a close approach is possible. Different methods of modulation give different characteristic results. Fig. 10-22A is typical of correctly-operated plate modulation. With control-grid modulation the sides usually are somewhat concave, particularly near the point of the trapezoid, while screen modulation gives the characteristic pattern shown in Fig. 10-21. As mentioned earlier, it is necessary to drive the screen somewhat negative in order to reach complete plate-current cut-off and thus modulate 100 per cent downward.

Aside from overmodulation downward, Fig.



Fig. 10-21 — Top — a typical trapezoidal pattern obtained with screen modulation adjusted for optimum conditions. The sudden change in slope near the point of the wedge occurs when the screen voltage passes through zero. Center — If there is no audio distortion, the unmodulated carrier will have the height and position shown by the white line superimposed on the sinewave modulation pattern. Bottom — Even-harmonic distortion in the audio system, when the audio signal applied to the speech amplifier is a sine wave, is indicated by the fact that the modulation pattern does not extend equal distances either side of the unmodulated earrier.



**A** Properly-operated 'phone transmitter modulated 100 per cent.

В













### Overmodulation of a transnitter having high modulation capability. Distortion oceurs only on the down-peaks.

### С

Nonlinearity in modulated r.f. stage, frequently caused by insufficient excitation of a plate-modulated amplifier or overeveitation of a gridbias modulated amplifier. The amplifier modulates linearly in the downward direction but the up-peaks are flattened.

### D

Overmodulation and nonlinear operation (insufficient modulation capability). These patterns are similar to those directly above, but with the modulation carried beyond 100 per cent in the downward direction.

### Έ

Overmodulation and parasitic oscillations in the modulated amplifier. The trapezoidal pattern also shows phase distortion caused by incorrect coupling between the oscilloscope and audio system.

### $\mathbf{F}$

Left — Phase distortion caused by incorrect coupling between andio system and oscilloscope, Right — Multiple pattern caused by incorrect setting of oscilloscope time-base control. In both cases the wave is modulated 100 per cent.

Fig. 10-22 — PHOTOGRAPHS OF TYPICAL OSCILLOSCOPE PATTERNS These photographs show various conditions of modulation as displayed by the wedge or trapezoidal patterns in the left-hand column and the wave-envelope patterns in the right-hand column. (Photographs reproduced through courtesv of the Allen B. DuMont Laboratories, Inc., Passaic, N. J.)

### World Radio History

10-22B, which is easily cured by keeping the speech amplifier gain or speech intensity below the point that causes it, the most common type of improper operation is shown by the pattern of Fig. 10-22C. The flattening at the large end of the trapezoid results from the inability of the modulated amplifier to deliver sufficient power output on the modulation up-peak. With plate modulation the most likely cause is insufficient grid excitation or incorrect grid bias or both. With grid modulation this flattening is the result of attempting to operate the amplifier at too-high carrier efficiency. The remedy is to increase the loading on the output circuit and reduce the grid excitation, or both in combination, until the pattern sides are straight.

In this connection, it should be noted that while the trapezoidal pattern of Fig. 10-22C shows nonlinearity in the modulated amplifier, the corresponding wave-envelope pattern of the same figure could result *either* from this cause or from modulator overloading. With the trapezoidal pattern, modulator overloading will be evident by the fact that the position of the vertical line representing the unmodulated carrier will not be at the center of the pattern (when the modulating voltage is cut off) but modulator overloading will not affect the *shape* of the pattern. This assumes that the audio signal is a sine wave.

Curvature near the point of the trapezoid causing it to approach the horizontal axis more slowly than would occur with straight sides, indicates that the output power does not decrease rapidly enough in this region; it may be caused by r.f. leakage from the exciter through the final stage. This can be checked by removing the voltage from the modulated stage, when the carrier should disappear, leaving only the beam spot remaining on the screen (Fig. 10-20F). If a small vertical line remains, the amplifier should be carefully neutralized; if this does not eliminate the line, it is an indication that the 'scope is getting r.f. from lower-power stages, either by coupling through the final tank or via the pick-up loop.

### Faulty Patterns

Figs. 10-20, 10-21, and 10-22A through D show what is normally to be expected in the way of pattern shapes when the oscilloscope is used to check modulation. If the actual patterns differ considerably from those shown, it may be that the pattern is faulty rather than the transmitter.

It is important that r.f. from the modulated stage only be coupled to the oscilloscope, and then only to the vertical plates. The effect of stray r.f. from other stages in the transmitter has been mentioned in the preceding section. If r.f. is present also on the horizontal plates, the pattern will lean to one side instead of being upright. If the oscilloscope cannot be moved to a position where the unwanted pick-up disappears, a small by-pass condenser (10  $\mu\mu$ fd.) should be connected across the horizontal plates as close to the cathode-ray tube as possible. An r.f. choke (2.5 mh, or smaller) may also be connected in series with the ungrounded horizontal plate.

"Folded" trapezoidal patterns, and patterns in which the sides of the trapezoid are elliptical instead of straight, Fig. 10-22F (left), occur when the audio sweep voltage is taken from some point in the audio system other than that where the a.f. power is applied to the modulated stage. Such patterns are caused by a phase difference between the sweep voltage and the modulating voltage. The connections should always be as shown in Fig. 10-11 and 10-19B.

### MODULATION CHECKING WITH THE PLATE METER

The plate milliammeter of the modulated amplifier provides a simple and fairly reliable means for checking the performance of a 'phone transmitter, although it does not give nearly as definite information as the oscilloscope does. If the modulated amplifier is perfectly linear, its plate current will not change when modulation is applied if

1) the upward modulation percentage does not exceed the modulation capability of the amplifier,

2) the downward modulation does not exceed 100 per cent, and

3) there is no change in the d.c. operating voltages on the transmitter when modulation is applied.

This is true of any of the methods of modulation discussed in this chapter, with the single exception of the controlled-carrier system. The plate meter cannot give a reliable check on the performance of the latter system because the plate current increases with the intensity of modulation. With this system the plate-current variations should be correlated with the transmitter performance as observed on an oscilloscope before the plate meter is used for checking modulation.

### Plate Modulation

With plate modulation, a downward shift in plate current may indicate one or more of the following:

- 1) Insufficient excitation to the modulated r.f. amplifier.
- 2) Insufficient grid bias on the modulated stage.
- **3)** The r.f. amplifier is not loaded properly to present the required value of modulating impedance to the modulator.
- 4) Insufficient output capacitance in the filter of the modulated-amplifier plate supply.
- 5) D.e. input to the r.f. amplifier, under carrier conditions, is in excess of the manufacturer's ratings for plate modulation. Alternatively, the filament emission of the amplifier tubes may be low.
- 6) In plate-and-screen modulation of tetrodes or pentodes, the screen is not being sufficiently modulated along with the plate. In systems in which the d.c. screen voltage is

obtained through a dropping resistor, a downward dip in plate current may occur if the screen by-pass condenser capacitance is large enough to by-pass audio frequencies.

7) Poor voltage regulation of the modulatedamplifier plate supply. This may be caused by voltage drop in the supply itself, when the modulated amplifier and a Class B amplifier are operated from the same supply, or may be caused by voltage drop in the primary supply from the power line when the modulator load is thrown on. It is readily checked by measuring the voltage with and without modulation. Poor line regulation will be shown by a drop in filament voltage with modulation.

Any of the following may cause an upward shift in plate eurrent:

- 1) Overmodulation (excessive audio power, audio gain too great).
- Incomplete neutralization of the modulated amplifier,
- 3) Parasitic oscillation in the modulated amplifier.

#### Grid Modulation

With any type of grid modulation, any of the following may cause a downward shift in modulated-amplifier plate current:

- 1) Too much r.f. excitation.
- 2) Insufficient grid bias, particularly with control-grid modulation. Grid bias is usually not critical with screen and suppressor modulation, the value of grid leak recommended for e.w. operation being satisfactory.
- 3) With control-grid modulation, excessive resistance in the bias supply.
- 4) Insufficient output capacitance in platesupply filter.
- Plate efficiency too high under carrier conditions; amplifier is not loaded heavily enough.

Because grid modulation is not perfectly linear (always less so than plate modulation) a properlyoperating amplifier will show a small upward plate-current shift with modulation, 10 per cent or less with sine-wave modulation and amounting to an occasional upward flicker with voice. An upward plate current shift in excess of this may be caused by

- 1) Overmodulation (excessive modulating voltage).
- 2) Regeneration (incomplete neutralization).
- 3) With control-grid or suppressor modulation, bias too great.
- 4) With screen modulation, d.c. screen voltage too low.

In grid-modulation systems the modulator is not *necessarily* operating linearly if the plate current stays constant with or without modulation. It is readily possible to arrive at a set of operating conditions in which flattening of the up-peaks is just balanced by overmodulation downward, resulting in practically the same plate current as when the transmitter is unmodulated. The oscilloscope provides the only certain check on grid modulation. While the same type of improper operation is possible with plate modulation, it occurs only rarely.

### COMMON TROUBLES IN THE 'PHONE TRANSMITTER

### Noise and Hum on Carrier

Noise and hum may be detected by listening to the signal on a receiver, provided the receiver is far enough away from the transmitter to avoid overloading. The hum level should be low compared with the voice at 100 per cent modulation. Hum may come either from the speech amplifier and modulator or from the r.f. section of the transmitter. Hum from the r.f. section cat be detected by completely shutting off the modulator; if hum remains when this is done, the power-supply filters for one or more of the r.f. stages have insufficient smoothing. With a humfree carrier, hum introduced by the modulator can be checked by turning on the modulator but leaving the speech amplifier off; power-supply filtering is the likely source of such hum. If carrier and modulator are both clean, connect the speech amplifier and observe the increase in hum level If the hum disappears with the gain control at minimum, the hum is being introduced in the stage or stages preceding the gain control. The microphone also may pick up hum, a conditior that can be checked by removing the microphone from the circuit but leaving the first speech-amplifier grid circuit otherwise unchanged, A good ground (to a cold water pipe, for example) or the microphone and speech system usually is essential to hum-free operation.

#### Spurious Sidebands

A superheterodyne receiver having a crysta filter is needed for checking spurious sidebands outside the normal communication channel. The r.f. input to the receiver must be kept low enough by removing the antenna or by adequate separation from the transmitter, to avoid overloading and consequent spurious receiver responses. At "S"-meter reading of about half scale is satisfactory. With the crystal filter in its sharpes position tune through the region outside the normal channel limits (3 to 4 kilocycles each side of the carrier) while another person talks into the microphone, Spurious sidebands will be observed as intermittent "clicks" or crackles well away from the carrier frequency. Sidebands more that 3 to 4 kiloeveles from the carrier should be o negligible strength, compared with the carrier in a properly-modulated 'phone transmitter. The causes are overmodulation or nonlinear operation

With sine-wave modulation the relative intensity of sidebands can be observed if a tone of 1000 cycles or so is used, since the crystal filter readilcan separate frequencies of this order. The "S"-meter will show how the spurious side frequencies (those spaced more than the modulating frequency from the earrier) compare with th earrier itself. Without an "S"-meter, the a.v.c

should be turned off and the b.f.o. turned on; then the r.f. gain should be set to give a moderately strong beat note with the carrier. The intensity of side frequencies can be estimated from the relative strength of the beats as the receiver is tuned through the spectrum adjacent to the carrier.

### R.F. in Speech Amplifier

A small amount of r.f. current in the speech amplifier — particularly in the first stage, which is most susceptible to such r.f. pick-up — will cause overloading and distortion in the low-level stages. Frequently also there is a regenerative effect which causes an audio-frequency oscillation or "howl" to be set up in the audio system. In such cases the gain control cannot be advanced very far before the howl builds up, even though the amplifier may be perfectly stable when the r.f. section of the transmitter is not turned on.

Complete shielding of the microphone, microphone cord, and speech amplifier is necessary to prevent r.f. pick-up, and a ground connection separate from that to which the transmitter is connected is advisable.

### MODULATION MONITORING

It is always desirable to modulate as fully as possible, but 100 per cent modulation should not be exceeded — particularly in the downward direction — because harmonic distortion will be introduced and the channel width increased. This causes unnecessary interference to other stations. The oscilloscope is the best instrument for continuously checking the modulation. However, simpler indicators may be used for the purpose, once calibrated.

A convenient indicator, when a Class B modulator is used, is the plate milliammeter in the Class B stage, since plate current of the modulator fluctuates with the voice intensity. Using the oscilloscope, determine the gain-control setting and voice intensity that give 100 per cent modulation on voice peaks, and simultaneously observe the maximum Class B plate-milliammeter reading on the peaks. When this maximum reading is obtained, it will suffice to adjust the gain so that it is not exceeded.

A high resistance (1000-ohms-per-volt or more) rectifier-type voltmeter (copper-oxide or germanium type) also can be used for modulation monitoring. It should be connected across the output circuit of an audio driver stage where the power level is a few watts, and similarly calibrated against the oscilloscope to determine the reading that represents 100 per cent modulation.

The plate milliammeter of the modulated r.f. stage also is of value as an indicator of overmodulation. As explained earlier, the d.e. plate current stays constant if the amplifier is linear. When the amplifier is overmodulated, especially in the downward direction, the operation is no longer linear and the average plate current will change. A flicker of the pointer may therefore be taken as an indication of overmodulation or nonlinearity. However, since it is possible that under some operating conditions the plate current will remain constant even though the amplifier is considerably overmodulated, an indicator of this type is not wholly reliable unless it has been checked against an oscilloscope.

### **Overmodulation Indicators**

Overmodulation on negative peaks is usually the worst type, as explained earlier in this chapter. The millianmeter in the negative-peak indicator of Fig. 10-23 will show a reading on each peak that earries the instantaneous voltage on a plate-modulated amplifier "below zero" — that is, negative. The recifier, V, cannot conduct so long as the negative half-cycle of audio output voltage is less than the d.c. voltage applied to the r.f. tube.

The inverse-peak-voltage rating of the rectifier tube must be at least twice the d.c. plate voltage of the modulated amplifier. The filament transformer likewise must have insulation rated to withstand twice the d.c. plate voltage. Either mercury-vapor or high-vacuum rectifiers can be used. The 15-volt breakdown voltage of the former will introduce a slight error, since the plate voltage must go at least 15 volts negative before the rectifier will ionize, but the error is inconsequential at plate voltages above a few hundred volts.

The effectiveness of the monitor is improved if it indicates at somewhat less than 100 per cent modulation, as it will then warn of the danger of overmodulation before it actually occurs. It can be adjusted to indicate at any desired modulation percentage by making the meter return to a point on the power-supply bleeder as shown in the alternative diagram. The by-pass condenser, C, insures that the full audio voltage appears across the indicator circuit.



Fig. 10-23 — Negative-peak overmodulation indicator. The millianmeter M.4 may be any low-range instrument (up to 0–50 ma, or so). The inverse-peak-voltage rating of the rectifier, V, must be at least twice the d.e. voltage applied to the plate of the r.f. amplifier. The alternative meter-return circuit can be used to indicate modulation in excess of any desired value below 400 per cent. The reactance of the by-pass condenser,  $C_{\rm c}$  at 100 cycles should be small compared with the resistance across which it is connected. An 8-µfd, electrolytic condenser will be satisfactory if the resistance it shunts is 1000 ohms or more.

# Frequency and Phase Modulation

It is possible to convey intelligence by modulating any property of a carrier. These properties are amplitude, frequency and phase. Amplitude modulation (AM) is described in another chapter. When the frequency of the carrier is varied in accordance with the variations in a modulating signal, the result is **frequency modulation (FM)**.

Frequency and phase modulation are not independent, since the frequency cannot be varied without also varying the phase, and vice versa. The difference is largely a matter of definition.

The effectiveness of FM and PM for communication purposes depends almost entirely on the receiving methods. If the receiver will respond to frequency and phase changes but is insensitive to amplitude changes, it will discriminate against most forms of noise, particularly impulse noise such as is set up by ignition systems and other sparking devices. Special methods of detection are required to accomplish this result. Since most amateur receivers do not incorporate the proper circuits, the noise-reducing properties of FM or PM reception are seldom realized in amateur work.

Modulation methods for FM and PM are simple and require practically no audio power. There is also the advantage that, since there is no amplitude variation in the signal, interference to broadcast reception of the type resulting from rectification in the audio circuits of the b.c. receiver is substantially eliminated. These two points represent the principal reasons for the use of FM and PM in amateur work. Unfortunately, the user of FM or PM is unable to get the benefit of the inherent noise-reducing advantages of the system, and is furthermore at a considerable disadvantage with respect to AM of the same power, because most of his communication will be with amateurs using receivers designed specifically for AM.

#### **Frequency Modulation**

Fig. 11-1 is a representation of frequency modulation. When a modulating signal is applied, the earrier frequency is increased during one half-cycle of the modulating signal and decreased during the half-cycle of opposite polarity. This is indicated in the drawing by the fact that the r.f. cycles occupy less time (higher frequency) when the modulating signal is positive, and more time (lower frequency) when the modulating signal is negative. The change in the carrier frequency (frequency deviation) is proportional to the instantaneous amplitude of the modulating signal, so the deviation is small when the instantaneous amplitude of the modulating signal is small, and is greatest when the modulating signal reaches its peak, either positive or negative. That is, the frequency deviation follows the instantaneous changes in the amplitude of the modulating signal.

As shown by the drawing, the amplitude of the signal does not change during modulation.

### **Phase Modulation**

To understand the difference between FM and PM it is necessary to appreciate that the frequency of an alternating current is determined by the *rate at which its phase changes*.

If the phase of the current in a circuit is changed there is an instantaneous frequency change during the time that the phase is being shifted. The amount of frequency change, or deviation, depends on how rapidly the phase shift is accomplished. It is also dependent upon the total amount of the phase shift. In a properlyoperating PM system the amount of phase shift is proportional to the instantaneous amplitude of the modulating signal. The rapidity of the phase shift is directly proportional to the frequency of the modulating signal. Consequently, the frequency deviation in PM is proportional to both the amplitude and frequency of the modulating signal. The latter represents the outstanding difference between FM and PM, since in FM



Fig. 11-1 — Graphical representation of frequency modulation. In the unmodulated carrier at  $\Lambda$ , each r.f. cycle occupies the same amount of time. When the modulating signal, B, is applied, the radio frequency is increased and decreased according to the amplitude and polarity of the modulating signal.

the frequency deviation is proportional only to the amplitude of the modulating

#### Modulation Depth

signal.

Percentage of modulation in FM and PM has to be defined differently than for AM. Practically, "100 per cent modulation" is reached when the transmitted signal occupies a channel just equal to the bandwidth for which the *receiver* is designed. If the frequency deviation is greater than the receiver can accept, the receiver distorts the signal. However, on another receiver designed for a different bandwidth the same signal might be equivalent to only 25 per cent modulation.

In amateur work "narrow-band" FM or PM (frequently abbreviated NFM) is defined as having the same channel width as a properlymodulated AM signal. That is, the channel width does not exceed twice the highest audio frequency in the modulating signal. NFM transmissions based on an upper audio limit of 3000 cycles therefore should occupy a channel no wider than 6 kc.

#### FM and PM Sidebands

The sidebands set up by FM and PM differ from those resulting from AM in that they occur at integral multiples of the modulating frequency oneither side of the carrier rather than, as in AM, consisting of a single set of side frequencies for each modulating frequency. An FM or PM signal therefore inherently occupies a wider channel than AM.

The number of "extra" sidebands that occur in FM and PM depends on the relationship between the modulating frequency and the frequency deviation. The ratio between the frequency deviation, in cycles per second, and the modulating frequency, also in cycles per second, is called the **modulation index**. That is,

$$Modulation \ index = \frac{Carrier \ frequency \ deviation}{Modulating \ frequency}$$

*Example:* The maximum frequency deviation in an FM transmitter is 3000 cycles either side of the earrier frequency. The modulation index when the modulating frequency is 1000 cycles is

Mo

halation index 
$$=\frac{3000}{1000}=3$$

At the same deviation with 3000-cycle modulation the index would be 1; at 100 cycles it would be 30, and so on,

In PM the modulation index is constant regardless of the modulating frequency; in FM it varies with the modulating frequency, as shown in the previous example. In an FM system the ratio of the *maximum* carrier-frequency deviation to the *highest* modulating frequency used is called the **deviation ratio**.

Fig. 11-2 shows how the amplitudes of the carrier and the various sidebands vary with the modulation index. This is for single-tone modulation; the first sideband (actually a pair, one above and one below the carrier) is displaced from the



Fig. 11-2 — How the amplitude of the pairs of sidebands varies with the modulation index in an FM or PM signal. If the curves were extended for greater values of modulation index it would be seen that the carrier amplitude goes through zero at several points. The same statement also applies to the sidebands.

carrier by an amount equal to the modulating frequency, the second is twice the modulating frequency away from the carrier, and so on. For example, if the modulating frequency is 20,000 eycles and the carrier frequency is 29,500 kc., the first sideband pair is at 29,498 kc. and 29,502 kc., the second pair is at 29,496 kc. and 29,504 kc., the third at 29,494 kc. and 29,506 kc., etc. The amplitudes of these sidebands depend on the modulation index, not on the frequency deviation. In AM, regardless of the percentage of modulation (so long as it does not exceed 100 per cent) the sidebands would appear only at 29,498 and 29,502 kc, under the same conditions.

Note that, as shown by Fig. 11-2, the earrier strength varies with the modulation index. (In amplitude modulation the carrier strength is constant; only the sideband amplitude varies.) At a modulation index of approximately 2.4 the carrier disappears entirely. It then becomes "negative" at a higher index, meaning that its phase is reversed as compared to the phase without modulation. In FM and PM the energy that goes into the sidebands is taken from the earrier, the *total* power remaining the same regardless of the modulation index.

#### Frequency Multiplication

Since there is no change in amplitude with modulation, an FM or PM signal can be amplified by an ordinary Class C amplifier without distortion. The modulation can take place in a very low-level stage and the signal can then be amplified by either frequency multipliers or straight amplifiers.

If the modulated signal is passed through one or more frequency multipliers, the modulation index is multiplied by the same factor that the carrier frequency is multiplied. For example, if modulation is applied on 3.5 Mc, and the final output is on 28 Mc, the total frequency multiplication is 8 times, so if the frequency deviation is 500 cycles at 3.5 Mc, it will be 4000 cycles at 28 Mc. Frequency multiplication offers a means for obtaining practically any desired amount of frequency deviation, whether or not the modulator itself is capable of giving that much deviation without distortion.

### Narrow-Band FM and PM

"Narrow-band" FM or PM, the only type that is authorized for use on the lower frequencies where the 'phone bands are crowded, is defined as FM or PM that does not occupy a wider channel than an AM signal having the same audio modulating frequencies. Narrow-band operation requires using a relatively small modulation index.

If the modulation index (with single-tone modulation) does not exceed about 0.6 the most important extra sideband, the second, will be at least 20 db. below the unmodulated carrier level, and this should represent an effective channel width about equivalent to that of an AM signal. In the case of speech, a somewhat higher modulation index can be used. This is because the energy distribution in a complex wave is such that the modulation index for any one frequency component is reduced, as compared to the index with a sine wave having the same peak amplitude as the voice wave.

The chief advantage of narrow-band FM or PM for frequencies below 30 Me, is that it eliminates or reduces certain types of interference to broadcast reception. Also, the modulating equipment is relatively simple and inexpensive. However, assuming the same unmodulated carrier power in all cases, narrow-band FM or PM is not as effective as AM with the methods of reception used by most amateurs. As shown by Fig. 11-2, at an index of 0.6 the amplitude of the first sideband is about 25 per cent of the unmodulated-carrier amplitude; this compares with a sideband amplitude of 50 per cent in the case of a 100 per cent modulated AM transmitter. That is, so far as effectiveness is concerned, a narrow-band FM or PM transmitter is about equivalent to a 100 per cent modulated AM transmitter operating at one-fourth the earrier power.

#### Comparison of FM and PM

Frequency modulation cannot be applied to an amplifier stage, but phase modulation can. PM is therefore readily adaptable to transmitters employing oscillators of high stability such as the crystal-controlled type. The amount of phase shift that can be obtained with good linearity is such that the maximum practicable modulation index is about 0.5 at the radio frequency at which the modulation takes place. Because the phase shift is proportional to the modulating frequency, this index can be used only at the highest frequency present in the modulating signal, assuming that all frequencies will at one time or another have equal amplitudes, Taking 3000 cycles as a suitable upper limit for voice work, and setting the modulation index at 0.5 for 3000 cycles, the frequency response of the speechamplifier system above 3000 cycles must be sharply attenuated, to prevent sideband splatter. Also, if the "tinny" quality of PM as received on an FM receiver is to be avoided, the PM must be changed to FM, in which the modulation index decreases in inverse proportion to the modulating frequency. This requires shaping the speechamplifier frequency-response curve in such a way that the output voltage is inversely proportional to frequency, at least over the voice range. When this is done the maximum modulation index can only be used at the lowest audio frequency, approximately 100 cycles in voice transmission. and must decrease in proportion to the increase in frequency. The result is that the maximum linear frequency deviation is only about 50 cycles, when PM is changed to FM. To increase the deviation to 3000 cycles requires a frequency multiplication of 3000/50, or 60 times.

In contrast, it is relatively easy to secure a fairly-large frequency deviation when a selfcontrolled oscillator is frequency-modulated directly. (True frequency modulation of a crystalcontrolled oscillator results in only very small deviations and so requires a great deal of frequency multiplication.) The chief problem is to maintain a satisfactory degree of carrier stability, since the greater the inherent stability of the oscillator the more difficult it is to secure a wide frequency swing with linearity.

# Methods of Frequency and Phase Modulation

### FREQUENCY MODULATION

The simplest and most satisfactory device for amateur FM is the reactance modulator. This is a vacuum tube connected to the r.f. tank circuit of an oscillator in such a way as to act as a variable inductance or capacitance.

Fig. 11-3 is a representative circuit. The control grid of the modulator tube,  $M_{*}$  is connected across the oscillator tank circuit,  $C_{1}L_{1}$ , through resistor  $R_{1}$  and blocking condenser  $C_{2}$ .  $C_{8}$  represents the input capacitance of the modulator tube. The resistance of  $R_{1}$  is made large compared to the reactance of  $C_{8}$ , so the r.f. current through  $R_{1}C_{8}$  will be practically in phase with the r.f. voltage appearing at the terminals of the tank circuit. However, the voltage across  $C_{8}$  will lag the current by 90 degrees. The r.f. current in the plate circuit of the modulator will be in phase with the grid voltage, and consequently is 90 degrees behind the current through  $C_8$ , or 90 degrees behind the r.f. tank voltage. This lagging current is drawn through the oscillator tank, giving the same effect as though an inductance were connected across the tank. The frequency increases in proportion to the amplitude of the lagging plate current of the modulator. The audio voltage, introduced through a radio-frequency choke, *RFC*, varies the transconductance of the tube and thereby varies the r.f. plate current.

The modulated oscillator usually is operated on a relatively low frequency, so that a high order of carrier stability can be secured. Frequency


Fig. 11-3 — Reactance modulator using a high-transconductance pentode (6SG7, 6AG7, etc.).  $C_1 = R.f.$  tank capacitance (see text).  $C_2, C_3 = -0.001 \cdot \mu fd.$  mica.  $C_4, C_5, C_6 = -0.0017 \cdot \mu fd.$  mica.  $C_7 = 10 \cdot \mu fd.$  electrolytic.  $C_5 = T$  ube input capacitance (see text).  $R_1 = 47,000$  ohms.

R2 - 0,17 megohm.

R3 — Screen dropping resistor; select to give proper screen voltage on type of modulator tube used,
R4 — Cathode bias resistor; select as in case of R3,
L1 — R.f. tank inductance,
RFC — 2.5-mh. r.f. eltoke,

multipliers are used to raise the frequency to the final frequency desired. The frequency deviation increases with the number of times the initial frequency is multiplied; for instance, if the oscillator is operated on 6.5 Mc, and the output frequency is to be 52 Mc, an oscillator frequency deviation of 1000 cycles will be raised to 8000 cycles at the output frequency.

A reactance modulator can be connected to a crystal oscillator as well as to the self-controlled type. However, the resulting signal is more phase-modulated than it is frequency-modulated, for the reason that the frequency deviation that can be secured by varying the tuning of a crystal oscillator is quite small.

#### Design Considerations

The sensitivity of the modulator (frequency change per unit change in grid voltage) depends on the transconductance of the modulator tube. It increases when  $R_1$  is made smaller in comparison with  $C_8$ . It also increases with an increase in L/C ratio in the oscillator tank circuit. Since the carrier stability of the oscillator depends on the L/C ratio, it is desirable to use the highest tank capacitance that will permit the desired deviation to be secured while keeping within the limits of linear operation.

A change in *any* of the voltages on the modulator tube will cause a change in r.f. plate current, and consequently a frequency change. Therefore it is advisable to use a regulated plate power supply for both modulator and oscillator. At the low voltages used (250 volts) the required stabilization can be secured by means of gaseous regulator tubes.

#### Speech Amplification

The speech amplifier preceding the modulator follows ordinary design, except that no power is required from it and the a.f. voltage taken by the modulator grid usually is small — not more than 10 or 15 volts, even with large modulator tubes. Because of these modest requirements, only a few speech stages are needed; a two-stage amplifier consisting of a pentode followed by a triode, both resistance-coupled, will more than suffice for crystal microphones.

#### PHASE MODULATION

The same type of reactance-tube circuit that is used to vary the tuning of the oscillator tank in FM can be used to vary the tuning of an amplifier tank and thus vary the phase of the tank current for PM. Hence the modulator circuit of Fig. 11-3 can be used for PM if the reactance tube works on an amplifier tank instead of directly on a self-controlled oscillator.

The phase shift that occurs when a circuit is detuned from resonance depends on the amount of detuning and the Q of the circuit. The higher the Q, the smaller the amount of detuning needed to secure a given number of

degrees of phase shift. If the Q is at least 10, the relationship between phase shift and detuning (in kiloeveles either side of the resonant frequency) will be substantially linear over a range of about 25 degrees. From the standpoint of modulator sensitivity, the Q of the tuned circuit on which the modulator operates should be as high as possible. On the other hand, the effective Q of the circuit will not be very high if the amplifier is delivering power to a load since the load resistance reduces the Q. There must therefore be a compromise between modulator sensitivity and r.f. power output from the modulated amplifier. An optimum figure for Q appears to be about 20: this allows reasonable loading of the modulated amplifier and the necessary tuning variation can be secured from a reactance modulator without difficulty. It is advisable to modulate at a very low power level - preferably in a transmitter stage where receiving-type tubes are used.

Reactance modulation of an amplifier stage usually also results in simultaneous amplitude modulation because the modulated stage is detuned from resonance as the phase is shifted. This must be eliminated by feeding the modulated signal through an amplitude limiter or one or more "saturating" stages — that is, amplifiers that are operated Class C and driven hard enough so that variations in the amplitude of the grid excitation produce no appreciable variations in the final output amplitude.

For the same type of reactance modulator, the speech-amplifier gain required is the same for PM as for FM. However, as pointed out earlier, the fact that the actual frequency deviation increases with the modulating audio frequency in PM makes it necessary to cut off the frequencies above about 3000 cycles before modulation takes place. If this is not done, unnecessary sidebands will be generated at frequencies considerably away from the carrier.

### **Reactance-Modulator Unit for Narrow-Band FM**

The FM speech-amplifier and modulator unit shown in Figs. 11-4 and 11-5 uses a pentode reactance modulator in a circuit which is basically that of Fig. 11-3. It differs only in the detail that the audio signal is applied to the control grid in parallel with the r.f. voltage from the oscillator, instead of the series-feed arrangement shown in Fig. 11-3, Because of the parallel feed, resistor  $R_4$  is incorporated in the circuit to prevent r.f. from appearing in the plate circuit of the speech-amplifier tube.

The unit uses miniature tubes for the sake of making a compact assembly that can be mounted in any convenient spot near the VFO tuned circuit. In Fig. 11-4 it is shown mounted on the outside of the VFO case, When this type of mounting is used the unit should be placed so that the lead between the VFO tuned circuit and the modulator is as short as possible. If there is space available, it is preferable to mount the unit inside the VFO cabinet.

The chassis for the unit is 4 inches long by 2 inches wide, and has a mounting lip 2 inches deep. As shown in the photographs, it is formed from a piece of aluminum with the edges turned

over to stiffen it. The various components are easily accommodated underneath. The r.f. leads should be kept short and separated as much as possible from the audio and powersupply wiring.

Filament and plate power can usually be taken from the VFO supply, since the total plate current is only a few milliamperes. Filament current required is 0.6 amp. The microphone input is carried through a shielded lead



Fig. 11.4 — Miniature reactance modulator that can be used with any VFO. The shielded lead is for microphone input; the other two wires bring in filament and plate supply.

to the unit, thus the microphone connector can be placed in any convenient location on the VFO unit itself. Once the proper setting of the



Fig. 11-5 - Underneath the modulator unit. The r.f. connection to the VFO goes through the feed-through bushing at the left.

gain control is found it need not be touched again, so screwdriver adjustment is quite adequate.

The adjustment of reactance modulators is discussed in a later section in this chapter.



Fig. 11-6 -- Circuit diagram of the narrow-band FM modulator unit.

- C1 680-µµfd. miea.
- C2, C4 0.01-µfd, paper, 400 volts.
- C<sub>3</sub> 0.025-µfd, paper, 200 volts.
- C5, C6 -- 47-μμfd. mica.
- R<sub>1</sub>-1.2 megohms, 1<sub>2</sub> watt. R<sub>2</sub>, R<sub>8</sub> - 0.22 megohm, 1/2 watt.
- $R_3 = 0.5$ -megohim potentiometer.
- R<sub>4</sub> 0,1 megohm, ½ watt. R<sub>5</sub> 10,000 ohms, ½ watt.
- R6-0,17 megohm, 1/2 watt.
- R<sub>7</sub> 390 ohms, <sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> watt. RFC 2.5-mh. r.f. choke.

### **Checking FM and PM Transmitters**

Accurate checking of the operation of an FM or PM transmitter requires different methods than the corresponding checks on an AM set. This is because the common forms of measuring devices either indicate amplitude variations only (a d.e. milliammeter, for example), or because their indications are most casily interpreted in terms of amplitude. There is no simple measuring instrument that indicates frequency deviation in a modulated signal directly.

However, there is one favorable feature in FM or PM checking. The modulation takes place at a very low level and the stages following the one that is modulated do not affect the linearity of modulation so long as they are properly tuned. Therefore the modulation may be checked without putting the transmitter on the air, or even on a dummy antenna. The power is simply cut off the amplifiers following the modulated stage. This not only avoids unnecessary interference to other stations during testing periods, but also keeps the signal at such a



Fig. 11-7 — D.e. method of cheeking frequency deviation of a reactance-tube-modulated oscillator. A 500or 1000-ohm potentiometer may be used at  $R_{c}$ 

low level that it may be observed quite easily on the station receiver. A good receiver with a crystal filter is an essential part of the checking equipment of an FM or PM transmitter, particularly for narrow-band FM or PM.

The quantities to be checked in an FM or PM transmitter are the linearity and frequency deviation. Because of the essential difference between FM and PM the methods of checking differ in detail.

#### Reactance-Tube FM

It was explained earlier that in FM the frequency deviation is the same at any audio modulation frequency if the audio signal amplitude does not vary. Since this is true at *any* audio frequency it is true at zero frequency. Consequently it is possible to calibrate a reactance modulator by applying an adjustable d.c. voltage to the modulator grid and noting the change in oscillator frequency as the voltage is varied. A suitable circuit for applying the adjustable voltage is shown in Fig. 11-7. The battery, *B*, should have a voltage of **3** to 6 volts (two or more dry cells in series). The arrows indicate clip connections so that the battery polarity can be reversed.

The oscillator frequency deviation should be measured by using a receiver in conjunction with an accurately-calibrated frequency meter,

or by any means that will permit accurate measurement of frequency differences of a few hundred cycles. One simple method is to tune in the oscillator on the receiver (disconnecting the receiving antenna, if necessary, to keep the signal strength well below the overload point) and then set the receiver b.f.o. to zero beat. Then increase the d.e. voltage applied to the modulator grid from zero in steps of about 12 volt and note the beat frequency at each change. Then reverse the battery terminals and repeat. The frequency of the beat note may be measured by comparison with a calibrated audio-frequency oscillator. Note that with the battery polarity positive with respect to ground the radio frequency will move in one direction when the voltage is increased, and in the other direction when the battery terminals are reversed. When several readings have been taken a curve may be plotted to demonstrate the relationship between grid voltage and frequency deviation |

A sample curve is shown in Fig. 11-8. The usable portion of the curve is the center part which is essentially a straight line. The bending at the ends indicates that the modulator is no longer linear; this departure from linearity will cause harmonic distortion and will broaden the channel occupied by the signal. In the example, the characteristic is linear 1.5 kc. on either side of the center or carrier frequency. This is the maximum deviation permissible at the frequency at which the measurement is made. At the final output frequency the deviation will be multiplied by the same number of times that the measurement frequency is multiplied. This must be kept in mind when the check is made at a frequency that differs from the output frequency.

A good modulation indicator is a "magiceye" tube such as the 6E5. This should be connected across the grid resistor of the reactance modulator as shown in Fig. 11-9. Note its deflection (using the d.c. voltage method as in Fig. 11-7) at the maximum deviation to be used. This deflection represents "100 per cent



Fig. 11-8 — A typical curve of frequency deviation ts-modulator grid voltage.

modulation" and with speech input the gain should be kept at the point where it is just reached on voice peaks. If the transmitter is used on more than one band, the gain control should be marked at the proper setting for each band, because the signal amplitude that gives the correct deviation on one band will be either too great or too small on another. For narrow-band FM the proper deviation is approximately 2000 cycles (based on an upper a.f. limit of 3000 cycles and a deviation ratio of 0.7) at the final *output* frequency. If the output frequency is in the 29-Mc, band and the oscillator is on 7 Mc., the deviation at the oscillator frequency should not exceed 2000/4, or 500 cycles.

#### Checking with a Crystal-Filter Receiver

With PM the d.c. method of checking just described cannot be used, because the frequency deviation at zero frequency also is zero. For narrow-band PM it is necessary to check the actual width of the channel occupied by the transmission. (The same method also can be used to check FM.) For this purpose it is necessary to have a crystal-filter receiver and an a.f. oscillator that generates a 3000-cycle sine wave.



Fig. 11-9 — 6E5 modulation indicator for FM or PM nodulators. To insure sufficient grid voltage for a good deflection, it may be necessary to connect the gain control in the modulator grid circuit rather than in an earlier speech-amplifier stage.

Keeping the signal intensity in the receiver at a medium level, tune in the carrier at the oulput frequency. Do not use the a.v.c. Switch on the beat oscillator, and set the crystal filter at its sharpest position. Peak the signal on the crystal and adjust the b.f.o. for any convenient beat note. Then apply the 3000-cycle tone to the speech amplifier (through an attenuator, if necessary, to avoid overloading; see chapter on audio amplifiers) and increase the audio gain until there is a small amount of modulation. Tuning the receiver near the carrier frequency will show the presence of sidebands 3 kc. from the carrier on both sides. With low audio input, these two should be the only sidebands detectable.

Now increase the audio gain and tune the receiver over a range of about 10 kc. on both sides of the carrier. When the gain becomes high enough, a second set of sidebands spaced 6 kc. on either side of the carrier will be detected. The signal amplitude at which these sidebands become detectable is the maximum speech amplitude that should be used. If the 6E5 modulation indicator is incorporated in the modulator, its deflection with the 3000-cycle tone will be the "100 per cent modulation" deflection for speech.

When this method of checking is used with a reactance-tube-modulated FM (not PM) transmitter, the linearity of the system can be checked by observing the carrier as the a.f. gain is slowly increased. The beat-note frequency will stay constant so long as the modulator is linear, but nonlinearity will be accompanied by a shift in the average carrier frequency that will cause the beat note to change in frequency. If such a shift occurs at the same time that the 6-ke, sidebands appear, the extra sidebands may be caused by modulator distortion rather than by an excessive modulation index. This means that the modulator is not capable of shifting the frequency over a wideenough range. The 6-kc. sidebands should appear before there is any shift in the carrier frequeney.

#### **R.F.** Amplifiers

The r.f. stages in the transmitter that follow the modulated stage may be designed and adjusted as in ordinary operation. In fact, there are no special requirements to be met except that all tank circuits should be carefully tuned to resonance (to prevent unwanted i.f. phase shifts that might interact with the modulation and thereby introduce hum, noise and distortion). In neutralized stages, the neutralization should be as exact as possible, also to minimize unwanted phase shifts. With FM and PM, all r.f. stages in the transmitter can be operated at the manufacturer's maximum c.w.-telegraphy ratings, since the average power input does not vary with modulation as it does in AM 'phone operation.

The output of the transmitter should be checked for amplitude modulation by observing the antenna current. It should not change from the unmodulated-carrier value when the transmitter is modulated. If there is no antenna anmeter in the transmitter, a flashlight lamp and loop can be coupled to the final tank coil to serve as a current indicator. If the carrier amplitude is constant, the lamp brilliance will not change with modulation.

Amplitude modulation accompanying FM or PM is just as much to be avoided as frequency or phase modulation that accompanies AM. A mixture of AM with either of the other two systems results in the generation of spurious sidebands and consequent widening of the channel. If the presence of AM is indicated by variation of antenna current with modulation, the cause is almost certain to be nonlinearity in the modulator. In very wide-band FM the selectivity of the transmitter tank circuits may cause the amplitude to decrease at high deviations, but this condition is not likely to occur on amateur frequencies at which wide-band FM would be used.

# Reduced-Carrier and Single-Sideband

The most significant development in amateur radiotelephony in the past several years has been the increased use of single-sideband suppressedcarrier transmissions. This system has tremendous potentialities for increasing the effectiveness of 'phone transmission and for reducing interference, Because only one of the two sidebands normally produced in modulation is transmitted. the channel width is immediately cut in half. However, when only one sideband is transmitted the carrier — which is essential in double-sideband transmission — no longer is necessary; it can be supplied without too much difficulty at the receiver. With the carrier eliminated there is a great saving in power at the transmitter - or, from another viewpoint, a great increase in effective power output. Assuming that the same finalamplifier tube or tubes are used either for normal AM or for single-sideband, carrier suppressed, it can be shown that the use of SSB can give an effective gain of 9 db. over AM - equivalent to increasing the transmitter power 8 times. Eliminating the carrier also eliminates the heterodyne interference that wrecks so much communication in congested 'phone bands,

#### **SUPPRESSING THE CARRIER**

The carrier can be suppressed or nearly eliminated by an extremely sharp filter or by using a balanced modulator. The basic principle in any balanced modulator is to introduce the carrier in such a way that it does not appear in the output but so that the sidebands will. This requirement is satisfied by introducing the audio in push-pull and the r.f. drive in parallel, and connecting the output (plate circuit) of the tubes in push-pull, as shown in Fig. 12-1A, Balanced modulators can also be connected with the r.f. drive and audio inputs in push-pull and the output in parallel (Fig. 12-1B) with equal effectiveness. The choice of a balanced modulator circuit is generally determined by constructional considerations and the method of modulation preferred by the builder. Screen-grid modulation is shown in the examples in Fig. 12-1, but control-grid or plate modulation can be used equally as well. Balancedmodulator circuits using four rectifiers (germanium, copper oxide, or thermionic) in "bridge" or "ring" circuits are often used, particularly in commercial applications, Two-rectifier circuits are also available, and they are widely used in amateur SSB equipment. Examples of rectifiertype balanced modulators are shown in Fig. 12-2. In any of the vacuum-tube circuits, there will be no output with no audio signal because the circuits are balanced. The signal from one tube is balanced or cancelled in the output circuit by the signal from the other tube. The circuits are thus balanced for any value of *parallel* audio signal. When push-pull audio is applied, the modulating voltages are of opposite polarity, and one tube will conduct more than the other. Since any modulation process is the same as "mixing" in receivers, sum and difference frequencies (sidebands) will be generated. The modulator is not



Fig. 12-1 — Two examples of balanced-modulator circuits using screen-grid modulation. In A the r.f. excitation is in parallel in both tubes, and the audio and output are in push-pull. In B the excitation and audio are in push-pull, the output is in parallel. In either case, the earrier frequency,  $f_i$  does not appear in the output circuit—only the two sideband frequencies, f + F and  $f - F_i$ , will appear. The bias fed to the screens is a practical requirement with all screen-grid tubes for proper linear operation, and is not a special requirement of balanced modulators.

Fig. 12-2 — Typical rectifier-type balanced modulators,

The circuit at A is called a "bridge" balanced modulator and has been widely used in commercial work. The balanced modulator at B is

shown with constants suitable for operation at 450 ke, 11 is useful for working into a crystal bandpass filter,  $T_1$ is a transformer designed to work from the andio source into a 600-ohm load. and  $T_2$  is an ordinary i.f. transformer with the trimmer reconnected in series with a 0.001-µfd, condenser, for impedance-matching purposes from the modulator. The condenser  $C_1$  is for carrier balance and may be found unnecessary in some instances - it should be tried connected on either side of the carrier input circuit and used where it is more effective. The 250-ohm poten-tiometer is normally all that is required for carrier balance. The carrier input should be sufficient to develop several volts across the resistor string.

The balanced modulator circuit at C is shown with constants suitable for operation at 3.9 Me. T<sub>3</sub> is a small step-down output transformer (UTC R-38A), shunt-fed to climinate d.e., from the windings,  $L_1$  can be a small coupling coil wound on the "cold" end of the carrier-oscillator tank coil, with sufficient coupling to give two or three volts of r.f. across its output,  $L_2$  is a slug-tuned coil that resonates to the carrier frequency with the effective 0.001 µfd, across it. The 1000-ohm potentioneter is for carrier balance.

balanced for the sidebands, and they will appear in the output.

The amount of carrier suppression is dependent upon the matching of the two tubes and their associated circuits. Normally two tubes of the same type will balance closely enough to give at least 15 or 20 db, carrier suppression without any adjustment. If further suppression is required, trimmer condensers to balance the grid-plate capacities and separate bias adjustments for setting the operating points can be used.

In the rectifier-type balanced modulators shown in Fig. 12-2, the diode rectifiers are connected in such a manner that, if they have equal forward resistances, no r.f. can pass from the carrier source to the output circuit via either of the two possible paths. The net effect is that no r.f. energy appears in the output. When audio is applied, it unbalances the circuit by biasing the diode (or diodes) in one path, depending upon the instantaneous polarity of the audio, and hence some r.f. will appear in the output. The r.f. in the output will appear as a double-sideband suppressedcarrier signal. (For a more complete description of diode-modulator operation, see "Diode Modulators," *QST*, April, 1953, page 39.)

In any diode modulator, the r.f. voltage should be at least 6 or 8 times the peak audio voltage, for minimum distortion. The usual operation involves a fraction of a volt of audio and several volts of r.f. The diodes should be matched as closely as possible — ohumeter measurements of their forward resistances is the usual test.



(The circuit of Fig. 12-2B is described more fully in Weaver and Brown, "Crystal Lattice Filters for Transmitting and Receiving," *QST*, August, 1951. The circuit of Fig. 12-2C is suitable for use in a double-balanced-modulator circuit and is so described in "S8B, Jr.," *General Electric Ham News*, September, 1950.)

#### REDUCED-CARRIER SIGNALS

Double-sideband reduced-carrier signals, obtained by unbalancing a balanced modulator sufficiently to allow some carrier to appear in the output, offer a number of advantages over conventional AM signals: considerably higher efficiency, where efficiency is defined as the ratio of sideband (useful) power output to total power input; high output with comparatively little audio power; and a considerable reduction in heterodyne interference. The signal can be received by ordinary methods, and merely sounds as though it had "a lot of modulation for the carrier."

In ordinary amplitude-modulated systems, the sideband amplitude can never exceed 0.5 the carrier amplitude without generating spurious side frequencies (when sine-wave modulation is used). Under these conditions,  $2_3$  of the total power is in the carrier and  $\frac{1}{3}$  is in the sidebands. However, with DSRC, generated by the unbalancing of a balanced modulator, it is possible to have *any* amplitude of sidebands without generating spurious side frequencies. In practical

### SINGLE-SIDEBAND

tests it has been found that a modulation factor of 4 is perfectly practical, and the distortion under normal demodulation is not enough to impair the communication value of the signal. Under these conditions, the sideband power is  $2\frac{1}{2}$  times as great as could be obtained with straight A3 transmission (grid-modulated) with the same tubes, or about  $\frac{3}{4}$  of what could be obtained with the same tubes plate-modulated 100 per cent. Since the audio-power requirements can be kept low, and the no-modulation plate current may be only a little more than half of the full-signal plate current, the advantages of DSRC are obvious for work where the total power available is limited, as in mobile or portable work.

A DSRC signal can be generated at a low power level and amplified in a linear amplifier (discussed later in this chapter). Under these conditions, a relatively powerful signal can be obtained with a minimum of audio power and total power input to the entire transmitter.

(For further information on DSRC, see Grammer, "D.S.R.C. Radiotelephony," *QST*, May, 1951, and Grammer, "Practical D.S.R.C. Transmitter Design," *QST*, June, 1951.)

#### SINGLE-SIDEBAND GENERATORS

Two basic systems for generating SSB signals are shown in Fig. 12-2. One involves the use of a bandpass filter having sufficient selectivity to pass one sideband and reject the other. Filters having such characteristics can only be constructed for relatively low frequencies, and most filters used by amateurs are designed to work somewhere between 10 and 20 kc. Good sideband filtering can be done at frequencies as high as 500 kc, by using multiple-crystal or electromechanical filters. The low-frequency oscillator output is combined with the audio output of a speech amplifier in a balanced modulator, and only the upper and lower sidebands appear in the output. One of the sidebands is passed by the filter and the other rejected, so that an SSB signal is fed to the mixer. The signal is there mixed with the output of a high-frequency r.f. oscillator to produce the desired output frequency. For additional amplification a linear r.f. amplifier (Class A or Class B) must be used. When the SSB signal is generated at 10 or 20 kc., it is generally first heterodyned to somewhere around 500 kc, and then to the operating frequency. This simplifies the problem of rejecting the "image" frequencies resulting from the heterodyne process. The problem of image frequencies in the frequency conversions of SSB signals differs from the problem in receivers because the beating-oscillator frequency becomes important. Either balanced modulators or sufficient selectivity must be used to attenuate these frequencies in the output and hence minimize the possibility of unwanted radiations.

The second system is based on the phase relationships between the carrier and sidebands in a modulated signal. As shown in the diagram, the audio signal is split into two components that are identical except for a phase difference of 90 degrees. The output of the r.f. oscillator (which may be at the operating frequency, if desired) is likewise split into two separate components having a 90-degree phase difference. One r.f. and one audio component are combined in each of two separate balanced modulators. The carrier is suppressed in the modulators, and the relative phases of the sidebands are such that one sideband is balanced out and the other is accentuated in the combined output. If the output from the balanced modulators is high enough, such an SSB exciter can work directly into the antenna, or the power level can be increased in a following amplifier.

Properly adjusted, either system is capable of good results. Arguments in favor of the filter system are that it is somewhat easier to adjust without an oscilloscope, since it requires only a receiver and a v.t.v.m. for alignment, and it is more likely to remain in adjustment over a long period of time. The chief argument against it, from the anateur viewpoint, is that it requires quite a few stages and at least one frequency conversion after modulation. The phasing system requires fewer



Fig. 12-3 — Two basic systems for generating single-sideband suppressed-carrier signals.

stages and can be designed to require no frequency conversion, but its alignment and adjustment are often considered to be a little "trickier" than that of the filter system. This probably stemmed from lack of familiarity with the system rather than any actual difficulty, and now that commercially-available preadjusted audio-phasing networks are available, most of the alignment difficulty has been eliminated. In most cases the phasing system will cost less to apply to an existing transmitter.

Regardless of the method used to generate a SSB signal of 5 or 10 watts, the minimum cost will be found to be higher than for an AM transmitter of the same low power. However, as the power level is increased, the SSB transmitter becomes more economical than the AM rig, both initially and from an operating standpoint.

#### AMPLIFICATION OF SSB SIGNALS

When an SSB signal is generated at some frequency other than the operating frequency, it is necessary to change frequency by heterodyne methods. These are exactly the same as those used in receivers, and any of the normal mixer or converter circuits can be used. One exception to this is the case where the original signal and the heterodyning oscillator are not too different in frequency (as when heterodyning a 20-kc, signal to 500 kc.) and, in this case, a balanced mixer should be used, to eliminate the heterodyning oscillator frequency in the output.

To increase the power level of an SSB signal, a linear amplifier must be used. The simplest form of linear amplifier (r,f, or audio) is the Class A amplifier, which is used almost without exception throughout receivers and low-level speech equipment. While its linearity can be made relatively good, it is inefficient. The theoretical limit of efficiency is 50 per cent, and most practical amplifiers run 25–35 per cent efficient at full output. At low levels this is not worth worrying about, but when the 2- to 10-watt level is exceeded something else must be done to improve this efficiency and reduce tube, powersupply and operating costs.

Class  $AB_1$  amplifiers make excellent linear amplifiers if suitable tubes are selected. Primary advantages of Class  $AB_1$  amplifiers are that they give much greater output than straight Class A amplifiers using the same tubes, and they do not require any grid driving power (no grid current drawn at any time). Although triodes can be used for Class  $AB_1$  operation, tetrodes or pentodes are usually to be preferred, since Class  $AB_1$  operation requires high peak plate current without grid current, and this is easier to obtain in tetrodes and pentodes than in most triodes.

To obtain maximum output from tetrodes, pentodes and most triodes, it is necessary to operate them in Class AB<sub>2</sub>. Although this produces maximum peak output, it increases the drivingpower requirements and, what is more important, requires that the driver regulation (ability to maintain waveform under varving load) be good or excellent. The usual method to improve the driver regulation is to add fixed resistors across the grid circuit of the driven stage, to offer a load to the driver that is modified only slightly by the additional load of the tube when it is driven into the grid-current region. This increases the driver's output-power requirements. Further, it is desirable to make the grid circuit of the Class AB<sub>2</sub> stage a high-C circuit, to improve regulation and simplify coupling to the driver, A "stiff" bias source is also required, since it is important that the bias remain constant, whether or not grid current is drawn.

Class B amplifiers are theoretically capable of 78,5 per cent efficiency at full output, and practical amplifiers run at 60–70 per cent efficiency at full output. Tubes normally designed for Class B audio work can be used in r.f. linear amplifiers and will operate at the same power rating and efficiency provided, of course, that the tube is capable of operation at the radio frequency. The operating conditions for r.f. are substantially the same as for audio work — the only difference is that the input and output transformers are replaced by suitable r.f. tank circuits. Further, in r.f. circuits it is readily possible to operate only one tube if only half the power is wanted — pushpull is not a necessity in Class B r.f. work. However, the r.f. harmonics will be higher in the case of the single-ended amplifier, and this should be taken into consideration if TV1 is a problem.

For proper operation of Class B amplifiers, and to reduce karmonics and facilitate coupling, the input and output circuits should not have a low C-to-L ratio. A good guide to the proper size of tuning condenser is Figs. 6-9 and 6-17 and, in case of any doubt, it is well to be on the higheapacity side. If zero-bias tubes are used in the Class B stage, it may not be necessary to add much "swamping" resistance across the grid circuit, because the grids of the tubes load the circuit at all times. However, with other tubes that require bias, the swamping resistor should be such that it dissipates from five to ten times the power required by the grids of the tubes. This will insure an almost constant load on the driver stage and good regulation of the grid voltage of the Class B stage.

Before going into detail on the adjustment and loading of the linear amplifier, a few general considerations should be kept in mind. If proper operation is expected, it is essential that the amplifier be so constructed, wired and neutralized that no trace of regeneration or parasitic instability remains. Needless to say, this also applies to the stages driving it.

The bias supply to the Class B linear amplifier should be quite stiff, such as batteries or some form of voltage regulator. If nonlinearity is noticed when testing the unit, the bias supply may be checked by means of a large electrolytic capacitor. Simply shunt the supply with 100  $\mu$ fd. or so of capacity and see if the linearity improves. If so, rebuild the bias supply for better regulation. Do not rely on a large condenser alone.

Where tetrodes or pentodes are used, the screen supply should have good regulation and its voltage should remain constant under the varying current demands. If the maximum screen current does not exceed 30 or 35 mu, a string of VR tubes in series can be used to regulate the screen voltage. If the current demand is higher, it may be necessary to use an electronically-regulated power supply or a heavily-bled power supply with a current capacity of several times the current demand of the screen circuit.

Where VR tubes are used to regulate the screen supply, they should be selected to give a regulated voltage as close as possible to the tube's rated voltage, but it does not have to be exact. Minor differences in idling plate current can be made up by readjusting the grid bias.

From the standpoint of ease of adjustment and availability of proper operating voltages, a linear

### SINGLE-SIDEBAND

amplifier with Class AB<sub>1</sub> tetrodes or pentodes or one with zero-bias Class B triodes would be first choice. The Class B amplifier would require more driving power. (For examples of Class AB<sub>1</sub> tetrode amplifiers, see Russ, "The 'Little Firecracker' Linear Amplifier," *QST*, September, 1953, and Eckhardt. "The Single Side-Saddle Linear," *QST*, November, 1953.)

Table 12-1 lists a few of the more popular tubes commonly used for SSB linear-amplifier operation. Except where otherwise noted, these ratings are those given by the manufacturer for audio work and and as such are based on a sine-wave signal. These ratings are adequate ones for use in SSB amplifier design, but they are conservative for such work and hence do not necessarily represent the maximum powers that can be obtained from the tubes in voice-signal SSB service. In no ease should the average plate dissipation be exceeded for any considerable length of time, but the nature of a SSB signal is such that the average plate dissipation of the tube will run well below the peak plate dissipation. Hence in SSB operation the *peak* plate dissipation may exceed the average by several times.

Getting the most out of a linear amplifier is done by increasing the peak power without exceeding the average plate dissipation over any appreciable length of time. This can be done by raising the plate voltage or the peak current (or both), provided the tube can withstand the inerease. For example, the 6146 is shown with 750 volts maximum on the plate, and it is quite likely that this can be increased to 900 or 1000 volts without any appreciable shortening of the life of the tube. However, the manufacturers have not released any data on such operation, and any extrapolation of the audio ratings is at the risk of the amateur, A 35- to 50-per cent increase above plate-voltage ratings should be perfectly safe in most eases. In a tetrode or pentode, the peak plate current can be boosted some by raising the screen voltage.

When running a linear amplifier at considerably higher than the audio ratings, the "two-tone test signal" (described below) should never be applied at full amplitude for more than a few seconds at any one time. The above statements about working tubes above ratings apply only when a voice signal is used — a prolonged whistle or two-tone test signal may damage the tube.

#### **Adjustment of Amplifiers**

The two eritical adjustments for obtaining proper operation from the linear amplifier are the plate loading and the grid drive. Since these adjustments are preferably made with power on, it is a matter of practical convenience to have both controls readily available, at least during initial tune-up.

The 'scope can show misadjustment at a glance and will greatly facilitate all adjustments. In addition, it is the most reliable instrument for observing modulation amplitude and, once used, is likely to become the most nearly essential instrument in the shack.

With single sideband, 100 per cent modulation with a single tone is a pure r.f. output with no modulation envelope, and the point of amplifier overload is difficult to observe. However, if the input signal consists of two sine waves of different frequencies (for example, 1000 e.p.s. difference) but equal amplitudes, the output of the singlesideband transmitter should have the envelope shown in Fig. 12-4. This is called a "two-tone" test signal to distinguish it from other test signals. Its first advantage lies in the fact that any flattening of the positive peaks is readily discernible, which makes the adjustment of the linear-amplifier drive and output eoupling as simple a procedure as that for AM systems. Flattening of the peaks (to be avoided) is illustrated in Fig. 12-5.

Those who use the filter method for obtaining single-sideband signals can obtain such a test signal by mixing the output of two audio oseillators of good waveform. The experimenters using the phasing method of single-side-band signal generation will recognize the pattern as that obtained when a single test tone is applied to one of the balanced modulators. For this latter group a two-tone test signal may be readily obtained by disabling one of the balanced modulators in the exciter and applying a single input tone.

Suppose that the linear amplifier has been coupled to a dummy load and the single-sideband exciter has been connected to its input. By observing the oseilloscope coupled to the amplifier output, it will be possible to adjust the drive and output coupling so that the peaks of the two-tone test signal waveform are on the verge of flattening. The peak input power may now be checked. This is readily possible, for with the two-tone test



Fig. 12-4 — Oscillogram of a two-tone test signal through a linear amplifier.



Fig. 12-5 — Flattening caused by overdrive or insufficient plate loading.



Fig. 12-6 — The distorted pattern obtained when the bias voltage is incorrect.

296

Tube	Closs	Plate Voltoge	Screen Voltoge	D.C. Grid Voltoge	Zero-Sig. D.C. Plate Current	Max,-Sig. D.C. Plate Current	Zero-Sig. D.C. Screen Current	MaxSig. D.C. Screen Current	Peak R.F. Grid Voltage	MaxSig Avg. Grid Current	MaxSig. Avg. Driving Power	Max, -Roted Screen Dissipotion	Max, -Rated Grid Dissipotion	Avg. Plate Dissipation	MaxSig. Useful Power Output
2E26	AL	250	200	- 14	35	42	7	10	14		0	2.5		10	S
2620	AB2	400 500	125 125	- 15 - 15	10	75 75		16 16	30 30		.2 .2	2 5 2.5		10 12,5	21 27
6146	ABı	600 750	200 200	- 50 - 50	26 29	120 114	.6 .5	13 14	50 50	_	0	33		25	47 60
0140	AB <sub>2</sub>	600 750	185 165	- 50 - 45	21 18	135 120	, S .3	15 11	57 51	.4	.02	3		25	58
807 1625	AB:	600 750	300 300	- 30 - 32	30 26	100 120	.4 .3	6 8	39 46		.1	3.5		25 30	40 60
811-A	В	1000 1250 1500		0 0 - 4.5	22 27 16	175 175 157	=	_	93 88 85	13	3.8 3.0 2.2			65 65 65	124 155 170
	ABI	1000 1500 1750	500 500 500	- 85 - 85 - 90	15 15 10	85 90 85	0 0 0	12 7 9	85 85 90		0	10 10 10		45 63 62	40 73
4-65A	AB <sub>2</sub>	1000 1500 1800	250 250 250	- 30 <sup>1</sup> - 35 <sup>1</sup> - 35 <sup>1</sup>	30 30 25	150 125 110	0 0 0	23 15 13	105 100 90		2.5 1.6 1.1	10 10 10	5 5 5	65 63 63	88 85 125 135
	<b>B</b> <sup>2</sup>	1500 2000 2500	300 400 500	- 50 <sup>1</sup> - 75 <sup>1</sup> - 100 <sup>1</sup>	33 25 20	200 270 230	0 0 0	353 503 353	190 270 300	13 17 6	2.4 4.6 1.8	10 10 10	5 5 5	60 65 65	150 300 325
813	AB:	2000 2250 2500	750 750 750	- 90 - 90 - 95	20 23 18	158 158 180	.8 .8	29 29 28	115 115 118		.1 .1 .2	22 22 22	J	100 100 125	228 258 325
4-125A	ABı	1500 2000 2500	600 600 600	- 90 - 94 - 96	30 25 25	111 120 116	5 3 2	9 3 4	90 94 96		0 0 0	20 20 20		88 125 125	79 115 165
4-123A	AB <sub>2</sub>	1500 2000 2500	350 350 350	- 41 <sup>1</sup> - 45 <sup>1</sup> - 43 <sup>1</sup>	44 36 47	200 150 130	0 0 0	17 3 3	141 105 89	9 7 6	1,25 .7 .5	20 20 20	5 5 5	125 125 125 122	175 175 200
4-250A	AB;	1500 2000 2500 3000	600 600 600 600	- 95 <sup>1</sup> - 104 <sup>1</sup> - 110 <sup>1</sup> - 116 <sup>1</sup>	60 55 60 60	200 203 215 209	2 2 2 1	12 11 7 5	64 88 90 93	=	0 0 0 0	35 35 35 35 35		145 175 225 250	155 230 313 375
4-23UA	AB <sub>2</sub>	1500 2000 2500 3000	300 300 300 300	- 48 <sup>1</sup> - 48 <sup>1</sup> - 51 <sup>1</sup> - 53 <sup>1</sup>	50 60 60 63	243 255 250 237	0 0 0 0	17 13 12 17	96 99 100 99	11 12 11 10	1.1 1.2 1.1	35 35 35 35 35	10 10 10 10	150 185 205 190	214 325 420 520
304TL	AB	1500 2000 3000	Ξ	105 160 260	135 100 65	286 273 222	=		105 160 260		0 0 0	=		300 300 300	128 245 365

#### TABLE 12-I -- LINEAR-AMPLIFIER TUBE-OPERATION DATA

<sup>1</sup> Adjust to give stated zero-signal plate current, <sup>2</sup> Single-sideband suppressed-carrier linear amplifier ratings, voice signal. <sup>3</sup> Due to intermittent nature of voice, average dissipation is considerobly less than max.-signol dissipation.

CHAPTER 12

### SINGLE-SIDEBAND

signal applied, the peak input power will be 1.57 times the d.c. power input to the linear amplifier. Should this be different from the design value for the particular linear amplifier, the drive and loading adjustments can be quickly changed in the proper direction (always adjusting the loading so that the peaks of the envelope are on the verge of flattening) and the proper value reached.

As a final check, before coupling the linear amplifier to the antenna, the single-sideband operator will do well to check the linearity of the system, since distortion in the linear amplifier probably will result in the generation of sidebands on the side that was suppressed in the exciter. Here again the two-tone test signal will be of great help, since distortion of the signal will be readily recognized. A check of the bias supply has already been recommended. The next most likely form of distortion will be caused by curvature of the tube characteristic near cut-off, and will be recognizable from a two-tone test pattern that looks like Fig. 12-6. A slight readjustment of bias (or applying a few volts of positive or negative bias, in the case of zero-bias tubes) will usually straighten out the kink that exists where the pattern crosses the zero axis. Make this adjustment with special care, however, because the dissipation of the tubes with no input signal will be very sensitive to this adjustment. There are a few tubes that will not permit this adjustment to be carried to the point where the kink is entirely eliminated without exceeding the rated plate dissipation.

The antenna may now be coupled to the linear amplifier until the plate input with the excitation as determined above is the same as that obtained with the dummy load. The system has now been adjusted for optimum performance, although it is well to monitor it with a 'scope. (For further reading on linear amplifiers, see Long, "Sugar-Coated Linear-Amplifier Theory," QST, October, 1951, and Ehrlich, "How To Test and Align a Linear Amplifier," QST, May, 1952.)

#### VOICE-CONTROLLED BREAK-IN

Although it is possible for two SSB stations operating on widely different frequencies to work "duplex" if the carrier suppression is great enough (inadequate carrier suppression would be a violation of the FCC rules), most SSB operators prefer to use voice-controlled break-in and operate on the same frequency. This overcomes any possibility of violating the FCC rules and permits three or more stations to engage in a "round table."

Many various systems of voice-controlled break-in are in use, but they are all basically the same. Some of the audio from the speech amplifier is amplified and rectified, and the resultant d.c. signal is used to key an oscillator and one or more stages in the SSB transmitter and "blank" the receiver at the time that the transmitter is on. Thus the transmitter is on at any and all times that the operator is speaking but is off during the intervals between sentences. The voice-control circuit must have a small amount of "hold" built into it, so that it will hold in between words, but it should be made to turn on rapidly at the slightest voice signal coming through the speech amplifier. Both tube and relay kevers have been used with good success. Most voice-control systems require the use of headphones by the operator, but a loudspeaker can be used with the proper circuit. (See Nowak, "Voice-Controlled Break-In . . . and a Loudspeaker," QST, May, 1951, and Hunter, "Simplified Voice Control with a Loudspeaker," QST, October, 1953.)

### A Phasing-Type SSB Exciter

The exciter shown in Figs. 12-7, 12-9 and 12-12 is an excellent unit for the amateur who might like to try single-sideband with a minimum of cost and effort. It requires r.f. driving power from one's present exciter and a power supply. It will deliver SSB output in the 3,9-Mc. 'phone band, either to an antenna for local work or to an r.f. amplifier adjusted for linear operation. The operating frequency can be varied over a wide range without seriously impairing the adjustment. Provision is made for transmitting either the npper or the lower sideband.

The schematic of the exciter is shown in Fig. 12-8. Four 6V6 tubes are used as balanced modulators. The plate circuit of the balanced modulators uses a push-pull-parallel arrangement. The grids of one pair of balanced modulators are fed through a phase-shift network consisting of a 300-ohm resistor and an inductance that is adjustable to 300 ohms reactance at the operating frequency. The grids of the second pair of balanced modulators are fed through a phase-shift and the second pair of balanced modulators are fed through a phase-shift network consisting of a 300-ohm resistor and an inductance that is adjustable to 300 ohms reactance at the operating frequency. The grids of the second pair of balanced modulators are fed through a phase-shift and the second pair of balanced modulators are fed through a phase-shift and the second pair of balanced modulators are fed through a phase-shift and the second pair of balanced modulators are fed through a phase-shift and the second pair of balanced modulators are fed through a phase-shift and the second pair of balanced modulators are fed through a phase-shift and the second pair of balanced modulators are fed through a phase-shift and the second pair of balanced modulators are fed through a phase-shift and the second pair of balanced modulators are fed through a phase-shift and the second pair of balanced modulators are fed through a phase-shift and the second pair of balanced modulators are fed through a phase-shift and the second pair of balanced modulators are fed through a phase-shift and the second pair of balanced modulators are fed through a phase-shift and the second pair of balanced modulators are fed through a phase-shift and the second pair of balanced modulators are fed through a phase-shift and the second pair of balanced modulators are fed through a phase-shift and the second pair of balanced modulators are fed through a phase-shift and the second pair of balanced modulators are fed through a phase-shift and the second pair of balanced modulators are fed th

network consisting of a 300-ohm resistor and a condenser which is adjustable to 300 ohms reactance at the operating frequency. The input impedance of the two phase-shift networks in parallel is 300 ohms.

Each balanced-modulator tube grid is fed through a blocking condenser and provided with grid-leak bias. The bias circuit of each balanced modulator is made adjustable for control of the carrier suppression. Provision is also made for the addition of fixed bias, in case the exciter is used in a voice-controlled circuit where the r.f. excitation is removed during listening periods.

Screen modulation is used, and the screen of each modulator tube is by-passed to ground for r.f. A transformer with a center-tapped secondary is used in the output of each audio amplifier to provide push-pull modulating voltages.

A reversing switch,  $S_1$ , allows switching to either the upper or lower sideband. If this switch has a center "off" position, it will facilitate using the "two-tone test" procedure mentioned earlier,



Fig.  $12.7 - \Lambda$  small single-sideband exciter that includes voice-controlled break-in. Receiving-type tubes are used throughout,

Microphone input and audio gain control are at the left-hand side of the front — the switch selects the upper or lower sideband. (Revised version, W2UNJ, Aug., 1949, QST.)

A voltage divider is inserted between each output of the audio phase-shift network and the corresponding amplifier grid. One of these voltage dividers is made variable to provide for balancing of the two audio channels. The network constants are compensated for the load of these dividers.

#### Speech Amplifier and Voice Control

The speech amplifier is designed to attenuate both low and high frequencies, amplifying only the audio range required for good intelligibility. The wiring diagram is shown in Fig. 12-11. The output of the speech amplifier is coupled to the input of the audio phase-shift network through a transformer with a center-tapped secondary, to provide push-pull audio for the phase-shift network.

Part of the output of the speech amplifier is taken off through an adjustable voltage-divider circuit and blocking condenser to the voicecontrol circuit. There it is rectified by the diodes of the 68Q7, and the resulting d.c. voltage is used to charge  $C_{14}$  negative. An audio choke prevents audio components from appearing across  $C_{14}$ . The triode section of the 68Q7 is normally conducting and holding the relay closed, but when the negative voltage appears across  $C_{14}$  the 68Q7 plate current is cut off and the relay opens. When the audio signal is removed,  $C_{14}$  discharges through  $R_{15}$  and the triode again conducts, closing the relay.

#### The Audio Phase-Shift Network

The audio phase-shift network requires close matching of resistance and capacity values and, to do this economically, advantage is taken of the fact that resistors and condensers in junk boxes and in stock at local dealers vary considerably from their nominal values.

Table 12-11 is used in selecting the network components. The procedure is to collect as many resistors and condensers as possible with nominal values as indicated in the second column of the chart. Measure all of the condensers first, and select the six condensers whose measured values are closest to the "target values" in the third column. Enter the measured values of these condensers in the fourth column of the chart. Then calculate the "target values" for the resistors and select the six resistors whose measured values are closest to these target values.

A capacity bridge, of the type used by servicemen, and a good ohmmeter should give sufficient accuracy in selecting the network components. Absolute accuracy is not important, if the components are all in correct proportion to each other. A difference in percentage error between the resistance measurements and the capacitance measurements will merely shift the operating range of the network. The network components are mounted on a small sheet of insulating material to facilitate wiring.

Networks already adjusted are available through radio dealers — they can be used in this exciter to simplify the construction. The necessary circuit modifications for using a commercial network are shown in Fig. 12-10.

#### Construction

The exciter and its associated audio equipment are assembled on a 13 by 17 by 2-inch aluminum chassis. The four 6V6 balanced-modulator tubes are arranged in a square pattern toward the front center of the chassis, with the plate tuning condenser and coil off to one side and the 6K6 audio amplifier tubes on the other. The two modulation transformers are under the chassis directly below the plate tuning condenser. The speech amplifier is arranged along the left-hand side of the chassis, with the 6SJ7 at the rear and the output transformer on the top of the chassis at the front. The audio phase-shift network is below the output transformer.

The reactive components of the r.f. phasing network,  $L_1$  and  $C_7$ , are mounted in a plug-in

TABLE 12-II Phase-Shift Network Design Data							
art	Nominal Value	Target Value	Measured Value				
$C_1$	0.001	0,00105	$(Cm_1)$				
$C_2$	0.002	0.00210	$(Cm_2)$				
$\bar{C_3}$	0,006	0,00630	(Cm <sub>3</sub> )				
C <sub>4</sub>	0,005	0.00475	$(Cm_4)$				
C5	0.01	0.00950	$(Cm_5)$				
Co	0.03	0.0285	(Cm6)				
$R_1$	100,000	100 =					
$R_2$	20,000	$\frac{Cm_1}{105} =$					
$R_3$	15,000	$\frac{100}{Cm_3} =$					
$R_4$	100,000	$\frac{453}{Cm_4} =$					
$R_5$	50,000	$\frac{476}{\text{Cm}_5} =$					
Re	15,000	$\frac{153}{Cm_6} =$					

### SINGLE-SIDEBAND

shield can that mounts directly behind the balaneed-modulator tubes. The shield can is grounded to the chassis through the spare pins of its plug. The voltage regulator tube is mounted to the left of the shield can, and the 68Q7 voicecontrol tube is to the right. The components in the voice-control circuit are mounted under the chassis at the rear.

#### Associated Equipment

The r.f. input impedance of the exciter is 300 ohms, but a link line of lower characteristic impedance will operate satisfactorily for the short distance usually required. A means for adjusting the r.f. driving power is desirable, A surplus Command set transmitter (BC-696 or T-19 ARC-5), operating at low plate voltages, makes an ideal r.f. source, but any VFO or crystal oscillator with a few watts output will do.

The plate voltage for the speech amplifier must not be taken from the same point in the power supply that furnishes voltage for the 6K6 amplifiers, since interaction may occur that will upset the phase relationship at the output of the two 6K6s. If separate plate voltage sources are not available, an added filter section may be used to isolate the voltage to the speech amplifier.

The built-in voice-controlled relay can be used



Fig. 12-8 - Circuit diagram of the single-sideband exciter. R20. R21 - 680 ohms, 2 watts.

- C1-C6 See Table 12-II.
- C7 Air padder condenser, 3.9 Me.: 150 µµfd.; 7 Me.:
- 100 µµfd.; 14 Mc.: 35 µµfd. C8 - Approx. 400-µµfd, per section, b.c. receiver tuning
- condenser.
- C.9 --0,001-µfd, 1000-volt mica.
- $C_{10} = C_{18} = 0.001 \cdot \mu fd$ , 500-volt mica.  $C_{19}, C_{20} = 4 \cdot \mu fd$ , 150-volt electrolytic.  $R_1 R_6 = See$  Table 12-11.
- R7, R8-300 ohms, 5 watts (5 1500-ohm 1-watt in parallel). R<sub>9</sub> — 0,5-megohm linear volume control.
- R<sub>10</sub> 0.47 megohm. R<sub>11</sub> 0.75 megohm.
- R12-0.24 megohm.
- R13-R16 10,000 ohms.
- R17, R18 15,000-ohm potentiometer, wirewound, R<sub>19</sub> - 7500 ohms, 10 watts.

- All resistors 1-watt unless specified otherwise.  $L_1 = 3.9$  Mc; 25 turns No, 28 enam. 7 Mc; 18 turns No, 22 enam.
  - - 11 Mc.; 12 turns No, 20 enam.
    - All coils close-wound at mounting end of slot of
- National XR-50 slug-tuned form. L2-3.9 Me.: 40-meter 75-watt tank coil with swinging
  - link (Bud OLS-40). 7 Me.: 20-meter 75-watt tank coil with swinging link (Bud OLS-20).
    - 14 Mc.: 15-meter 75-watt tank coil with swing-ing link (Bud OLS-15).
- RFC1 2.5-mh, r.f. choke.
- S1 D.p.d.t. toggle, preferably with center off, See text.
- T<sub>1</sub>, T<sub>2</sub> 5-watt modulation transformer, 10,000 ohms c.t. to 4000 ohms (Stancor A-3812).

## 300

in a number of ways to provide the rapid voice break-in commonly used on 3.9-Mc. SSB 'phone. If a good e.w. break-in system is already in use at the station, the voice-control relay contacts may be substituted for the key, and no other changes are necessary.

If the local oscillator in the receiver will key in the plate voltage lead satisfactorily, then a simple voice break-in system may be obtained



Fig. 12-9— $\Lambda$  rear view of the phasing-type exciter. The two r.f. phasing adjustments project from the shield can. The potentiometer shaft at the left sets the voice-control threshold level. The jack is for the keyed circuit, the r.f. connector takes the excitation cable, and the octal socket is for the power cable.

by using the relay contacts to shift the plate voltage from the receiver local oscillagor to the VFO. A drifting receiver oscillator must be avoided in this system, however.

#### **Operating Conditions**

If voice control is not used, and d.e. operating voltages are removed when excitation is removed for stand-by, then no fixed bias is required on the balanced modulators and a jumper can be placed across the bias terminals. When excitation is removed with d.e. voltages applied, as in voice-controlled operation, then  $4\frac{1}{2}$  volts of fixed bias should be used to limit the plate and screen currents on the balanced modulators.

With 400 volts applied to the balanced-modulator plates and 250 volts to all other plate supply inputs, the operating currents will be approximately as follows:

•	
Total balanced-modulator plate current	85 ma.
VR tube supply current	20 ma.
Total 6K6 amplifier current	62 ma.
Total speech-amplifier current	12 ma.

The total balanced-modulator grid current, measured at the bias terminals, will vary with excitation, but it should be in the range 3 to 5 ma.

These currents will not change appreciably with varying audio input and, with the exception of the grid current, will not change appreciably when the excitation is removed, provided that  $4\frac{1}{2}$  volts of fixed bias is used on the balancedmodulator grids.

The exciter may be coupled directly to an antenna for use as a low-power transmitter, but most amateurs will wish to use it to drive a buffer or final amplifier. All stages following the exciter must be operated under Class A, AB, or B condi-

### **CHAPTER 12**

tions. In general, the correct operating conditions for stages following the exciter may be found by referring to the audio operating conditions for the tube under consideration. Grid-bias and screen voltages should have very good regulation. For amateur voice operation, tubes may be operated considerably beyond the ratings given in the tube manuals, as discussed earlier. When the r.f. amplifier is operated Class AB<sub>2</sub>, the grid tank circuit will require shunting by a resistor in order to provide better regulation of the exciting voltage. The value of this resistor is usually determined by experiment. It should be as small as possible consistent with good output and linear operation.

#### Adjustment

Adjustment of the exciter is best made under actual operating conditions. Connect the exciter to the transmitter, load the exciter with a dummy load, apply r.f. excitation, feed sine-wave audio into the speech amplifier, and tune the output tuning condenser in the conventional way for maximum output.

Reduce the audio input to zero, and adjust potentiometers  $R_{17}$  and  $R_{18}$  for minimum carrier output. Minimum carrier output may be determined by any sensitive r.f. indicator coupled to the final-amplifier plate circuit. A 0–1 milliammeter, in series with a crystal detector and a two-turn coupling loop, will make a satisfactory indicator. The meter should be by-passed with a 0.005-µfd, condenser. If a null indication cannot be obtained within the range of the potentiometers, the 6V6 tubes are not evenly matched. Exchanging the positions of the 6V6s may aid in obtaining the balance, or other tubes may have to be used.

After the carrier balance is obtained, tune in the r.f. source on the station receiver, and with



 Fig. 12-10 — Circuit revisions for including a commercial phase-shift network in the SSB exciter of Fig. 12-8.
 PSN<sub>1</sub> — Phase-shift network (Millen 75012 Phasing Unit).

T1-3:1 audio transformer, reversed (Stancor A-53-C).

the antenna terminals shorted, and the crystal selectivity in sharp position, adjust the crystal phasing to the point where only one sharplypeaked response is obtained as the receiver is tuned through the signal. Now apply sine-wave audio of about 1500-cycle frequency to the speech amplifier, and find the two sidebands on the receiver. Three distinct peak indications will be observed on the S-meter as the receiver is tuned. Set the receiver on the weaker of the two side-

### SINGLE-SIDEBAND



bands and adjust  $L_4$ ,  $C_7$  and  $R_9$  for minimum sideband strength. If suppression of the other sideband is desired, throw  $S_4$  to its other position. A dip obtained with one set of adjustments is not necessarily the minimum. Other combinations should be tried. The final adjustment should give S-meter readings for the two sidebands which differ by at least 30 db. The bias voltage on all four balanced modulator tubes will be approximately equal.

After the adjustments have been completed, the r.f. drive to the exciter should be adjusted to the point where a decrease in drive will cause a decrease in output, but an increase in drive will not cause an increase in output. The complete

adjustment procedure should then be rechecked. The rig is then ready for a microphone, an antenna, and an on-theair test.

If an oscilloscope is available, a simpler and more reliable adjustment procedure may be used. Either linear or sine-wave horizontal sweep may be used on the oscilloscope. The vertical input should be coupled to the output of the transmitter in the same manner as is used for observing amplitude modulation. The sine-wave audio-frequency input to the speech amplifier should be any convenient multiple of the oscilloscope sweep frequency. A 60-cycle sweep frequency and a 600-cycle audio frequency are commonly used. When the exciter is modulated with a single sine-wave audio frequency, the output should be a single radio frequency. Therefore, the oscilloscope should show a straight-edged band across the screen, the same indication as is given by an unmodulated carrier. This is illustrated in Fig. 12-13. If carrier output, or unwanted sideband output, is present, it will be indicated by "ripple" on the top and bottom edges of the oscilloscope picture. A small amount of ripple can be tolerated, but if the exciter is badly out of adjustment, the output will appear to be heavily modulated. Adjustment with the 'scope is accomplished by adjusting all controls to obtain the smallest possible amount of ripple. The oscil-



Fig.  $12 \cdot 12 - U$ nderneath the chassis of the exciter. The two potentiometers are the bias balancing controls,  $R_{17}$  and  $R_{18}$ .

World Radio History

### **CHAPTER 12**



Fig. 12-13 — Sketches of the oscilloscope face showing different conditions of adjustment of the exciter unit,  $(\Lambda)$  shows the substantially clean carrier obtained when all adjustments are at optimum and a sine-wave signal is fed to the audio input, (B) shows improper r.f. phase and unbalance between the outputs of the two balanced modulators. (C) shows improper r.f. phasing but outputs of the two balanced modulators equal. (D) shows proper r.f. phasing but unbalance between outputs of two balanced modulators,

loscope may also be used for continuous monitoring during transmissions to avoid overloading of any stage of the transmitter. Overloading is indicated by a flattening of the modulation-peak patterns at the top and bottom. In observing these patterns, it is difficult to separate the effects of sideband and carrier suppression. However, considered separately, sideband or carrier suppression of 30 db, would give a 3 per cent ripple, 25 db. a ripple of 6 per cent, and 20 db. a 10 per cent ripple. Harmonics present in the audio modulating signal will modify the results and invalidate this test if they run more than 1 per cent, hence it is essential that the audio signal be as pure as possible.

The exciter is capable of driving any pair of beam tubes commonly used in amateur transmitters, or any pair of triodes in Class AB<sub>1</sub>, A buffer stage will ordinarily be required to drive Class B triodes.

### A Crystal-Filter SSB Exciter

The exciter uses a quartz crystal filter operating at 450 ke. (or vicinity). The filter allows a passband of 300 to 3000 cycles; the sideband rejection should run 35-40 db, over 300 to 3000 cycles. At no time within the reject range is the rejection less than 30 db.; at some places it approaches 60 db. Crystals suitable for use in the filter are available on the war surplus market for less than one dollar each. The most useful of these crystals are in the series that runs from 375 to 525 ke. in 1.388-kc, steps; this series is marked at 72 times the crystal frequency in a series of channels from 28.0 to 38.0 Mc. The holder pins have 12-inch spacing. The crystals may be socket-mounted or soldered directly into the filter at the builder's discretion.

The filter is of bridge design with complex entry and terminating sections. The complex sections

are used to suppress the earrier and modify the response characteristics of the bridge, Fig. 12-14 shows the filter proper, set for rejection of the upper sideband. The transformers  $T_1$  and  $T_2$  are replacement-type 455-kc. i.f. transformers, mica-tuned and air-cored.

The original filter was designed to operate at a carrier frequency of 450 ke., although the filter will work at frequencies between 425 and 490 kc, without alteration of the circuit or transformers. Under the condition of design for 450-kc. carrier, crystal "B" is

2.78 kc. higher than 450 kc., or 2 channels higher in the crystal series. Crystal "C" is 1.39 ke. lower than 450 ke., or 1 channel lower. Crystal "D" is 450 kc. Crystal "A," also at 450 kc., is used in a crystal oscillator to generate the initial carrier. Channel markings on these crystals are as follows:

"A" 32.4 Mc., Channel 324 "B" -32.6 Mc., Channel 326

"C" 32.3 Mc., Channel 323

"D" - 32.4 Me., Channel 324

Any other group within the range of the i.f. transformers may be utilized; only the channel relationship need be retained.

A diagram of the exciter proper is shown in Fig. 12-15. The 6K8 hexode-triode serves as 450-kc, oscillator and audio mixer. Approximately **3** volts of audio is required at the signal grid of



Fig. 12-14-The 450-kc, crystal filter used for sideband and carrier rejection.

- C1, C2, C4, C5 100-µµfd. mica or ceramic. -3- to 30-µµfd. ceramic trimmer.
- $T_1$
- -455-kc, interstage i.f, transformer (Meissner 16-6659 or Miller 312-C2)
- T2-455-kc, diode i.f. transformer (Meissner 16-6660 or Miller 312-C4), For a carrier frequency of 450 ke., the crystals are: • •

Grystai	D	C	$\nu$
High-freq, reject	152,8 kc.	448,6 kc.	450.0 kc.
Low-freq, reject	417.2 ke,	451,1 ke.	450,0 kc,

### SINGLE-SIDEBAND



Fig. 12-15 — Complete diagram of the crystal-filter SSB exciter. R9 --- 150 ohms, 1 watt.

Rin

- C<sub>1</sub>, C<sub>2</sub>, C<sub>3</sub>, C<sub>6</sub>, C<sub>7</sub> 0, L<sub>#</sub>fd, 400-volt paper.
- C4, C5 39-µµfd. ceramic.
- Cs 100-µµfd, variable air condenser, mounted in shield can with  $T_4$ .
- C9 0,02-µfd, 600-volt mica.
- C10 0.01-µfd. 400-volt paper.
- $C_{\rm X}$  Trimmers in  $T_3$ .
- R1-0.17 megohm.  $R_2 - 220$  ohms.
- $R_3, R_{11} = 20,000$  ohms, 1 watt.  $R_4, R_5 = 0.1$  megohm.
- R<sub>6</sub>, R<sub>7</sub>, R<sub>8</sub> 10,000 ohms.

the 6K8 for optimum results. The 6K8 delivers a carrier (450 kc.) and sidebands to the input of the filter. The filter rejects one sideband (depending upon the selection of crystals) and delivers single-sideband energy to the 68N7 mixer. The filter also suppresses the earrier, The 68N7 mixer combines the single-sideband energy (in the vicinity of 450 kc.) with the output of the VFO (3400 to 3550 kc.) and the sum products are recovered in the output (3850 to 4000 kc.). A VFO signal of about 6 to 8 volts is required. The output of the mixer is fed to the grid of a Class A 6AG7 tuned r.f. amplifier. The output is sufficient to drive a pair of 807s Class AB<sub>2</sub>. Operation on 10 and 20 meters can be accomplished by heterodyning again to the desired band. Most VFOs in use cover or may be easily made to cover 3400 to 3550 ke. A single untuned 6AC7 amplifier following a BC-221 might be used as a VFO for this exciter.

#### Construction

The original transmitter was built for mobile operation and much hole drilling and experimentation has occurred on the chassis. Mounting the crystals on opposite sides of the transformers will keep stray capacity coupling at a minimum. No shielding other than that provided by the i.f. cans and the output tank can is required. It is important that capacity coupling around the crystal filter be minimized - - no modulated signal must reach the 6SN7 mixer by any route except through the filter. If choice of sidebands is desired, a dual filter using 5 crystals will be required. This filter is shown in Fig. 12-17. A double-section

- $R_{12} = 47,000 \text{ ohms}$ All resistors 1/2 watt unless specified otherwise.
- L<sub>1</sub> 2.5-mh. r.f. choke.
- L<sub>2</sub> 0,5•mh, r.f. choke.

1000 ohms.

- 4.5-Me, slug-tuned i.f. transformer (Miller No. T<sub>3</sub> 1166).
- T<sub>4</sub> 1.5-Me, slug-tuned i.f. transformer, Secondary removed and 8-turn link wound over cold end of primary. All fixed capacitors removed.

wafer switch selects the upper or lower sideband. These wafer sections must be separated by approximately 3 inches to minimize stray coupling. It is recommended that the crystals be wrapped with several layers of adhesive tape and then strapped to the chassis with metal brackets; connections may then be made by soldering to the holder pins.

#### Alignment

Alignment of the filter is straightforward, and once aligned it will need little attention.

1) Crystal " $\Lambda$ " is first removed from the circuit. This crystal is best provided with a socket mount so it can be removed during alignment.



Fig. 12-16 — The crystal-filter SSB exciter, as designed for mobile work, complete with receiver converter and VFO, The top dish is the exciter (with cover removed). The meter reads cathode current to a pair of 807s driven by the unit, and the two knobs handle carrier reinsertion and 6AG7 plate tuning. (WIJEO/9, Nov., 1950, QST.)

### **CHAPTER** 12



Fig. 12-17 — The double-channel crystal filter. All components are the same as in Fig. 12-14, except for the addition of the d.p.d.t. wafer switch. S1, and the compensating condensers,  $C_6$  and  $C_7$  (3- to 30- $\mu\mu$ fd, ceramic). The trimmer on the input side of  $T_2$  is set at minimum and the alignment procedure is followed with  $C_6$  or  $C_7$  wherever the instructions call for adjusting the input condenser.

2) A calibrated signal generator covering the crystal range is connected to the grid of the triode section of the 6K8.

3) A vacuum tube voltmeter is connected from grid to ground of one of the 6SN7 grids.

4) Swing the signal generator through the crystal range until a maximum response is noted at the voltmeter. This will indicate the series-resonant frequency of crystal "C" and with the crystals described, based on a 450-kc, carrier, will be approximately 448.6 kc.

5) Align all transformer trimmers for maximum response on this frequency.

6) Next, adjust the signal generator *slowly* in the higher-frequency direction until a *null* is obtained. This will be the series-resonant frequency of crystal "D," 450 kc, with the crystals indicated,

7) Move the signal generator  $\frac{1}{2}$  ke, *lower* than this null and adjust the trimmer on the input side of  $T_2$  for maximum response.

8) Return signal generator to null.

9) Move the signal generator approximately 1 to 1.2 ke, higher than the null and adjust  $C_3$  for minimum response.

10) Move the signal generator *higher* until another null is found; this

will be the series-resonant frequency of crystal "B," approximately 452.8 kc, with the crystals shown.

11) Continue approximately  $\frac{1}{2}$  ke, higher than this null and adjust the output trimmer on  $T_1$  slightly for moderate null.

12) Repeat Steps 7 through 11 to compensate for interaction, and alignment is complete.

For alignment of the dual filter the procedure is identical but must be done once for each sideband. However, when adjusting the filter for rejecting the *lower* sideband and where Steps 1–12 mention "higher" insert "lower" and vice versa. The alignment chart, Fig. 12-13, will simplify the alignment procedure. For additional information, see Webb. "Aligning the Crystal-Filter S.S.B. Exciter," *QST*, August, 1952.

The slug-tuned i.f. transformer is peaked at 3930 kc, and then stagger-tuned slightly to provide coverage of the entire band. The 6AG7 plate tank capacitor is adjustable from the front panel and is touched up when shifting frequency. It is important that the 6AG7 amplifier stage be stable and show no tendency to oscillate. Good shielding of its grid and plate circuits is usually required, and occasionally a 47-ohm composition resistor from  $T_3$  to Pin 4 of the 6AG7 may be necessary to avoid regeneration.

Many variations of this basic exciter circuit are possible. If a balanced modulator (using a pair of 6K8s) is used, the carrier suppression is readily obtained without close matching of crystals. Other filter circuits can be used, as those shown in Good, "Crystal Filter for 'Phone Reception," *QNT*, October, 1951. For an advanced design for a crystal-filter SSB exciter, see Weaver & Brown, "Crystal Lattice Filters for Transmitting and Receiving," *QNT*, August, 1951.





# SINGLE-SIDEBAND

### **A Two-Stage Linear Amplifier**

The amplifier shown in Figs. 12-19 and 12-21 is designed to follow a low-powered SSB exciter, An 807 Class A driver is used to excite a pair of 811-As operating Class B. Only a few watts is required to drive the 807. The 811-As will deliver about 180 watts peak with 1000 volts on the plates and 250 watts peak at 1200 volts. Operation as a linear amplifier for SSB with 1500 volts on the plates is not recommended because the driver stage is likely to introduce too much distortion, although a small amount of fixed bias  $(3-4\frac{1}{2}$  volts) on the grids of the 811-As will permit c.w. operation at this higher plate voltage.

The circuit is not unlike ordinary Class C practice, except for the bias voltages involved. The 807 stage uses cathode bias, and the 811-As run with zero bias (bias terminals short-eireuited by a jumper wire). The 807 loading is adjusted by varying the position of the link coil in  $L_3$  and the link to  $L_6$  is controlled from the front panel.

A low-inductance by-pass condenser,  $C_2$ , made from a piece of coaxial line, helps to eliminate parasities in the 897 stage, as does returning the screen by-pass condenser,  $C_3$ , to the eathode instead of to ground, Grid chokes,  $L_4$  and  $L_5$  and resistors  $R_3$ ,  $R_4$  and  $R_5$  were found necessary to avoid high-frequency parasitic oscillations in the 811-A stage. All wiring other than r.f. was run in shield braid. Filament by-pass condensers were unnecessary.

#### Construction

The amplifier is built on a 13 by 17 by 3-inch aluminum chassis. The panel is an aluminum relay-rack panel, 15% inches high, held to the chassis by the shaft bearings and meters, and further braced by two strips of 116 by 12-inch brass.



Fig. 12-19 — A rear view of the linear amplifier, showing the push-pull 811- V ontput amplifier and the 807 driver. The cover of the rectangular shield can slides off for access to the final grid coil. The round shield cans are for the 807 grid and plate coils,

The grid coil for the 807 plugs in to a socket mounted at the rear of the chassis and shielded by an ICA No. 1549 3-inch diameter aluminum shield can.



#### Fig. 12-20 - Wiring diagram of the linear amplifier.

- $C_1 = 140 \cdot \mu \mu fd$ , variable (Millen 19140).
- $C_2$  — 13-μμfd, tubular, made of RG-58/U, Active length, 6 inches.
- C<sub>3</sub>, C<sub>4</sub>
- 0,005+µfd. disc ceramic.  $C_5 = 140 \cdot \mu \mu fd.$  variable (Millen 22140).
- C.6 0.001-µfd, 1200-volt mica.
- $C_7$  Dual variable, 100-µµfd. per section (Millen 24100),
- Disc-type condenser (Bud NC-853). Ca. Co.
- $R_{10} = D$ ual variable, 200 $\mu$ dfl, per section, 0.077-inch spacing (National MC-200D). R<sub>1</sub> = 100 ohms,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt,

- R2-680 ohms, 2 watts.
- R<sub>3</sub> 2700 ohms, 1 watts (4/2700-ohm in series-parallel), -20 ohms, 2 watts. R4. R5 -
- -1000 ohms, I watt. R6-
- All resistors are composition, not wirewound,
- L4, L5-9 turns No. 12 enam., ½-inch diameter, 1¼ inches long.
- MA1 --- 0-50 milliammeter.
- M V<sub>2</sub> 0-500 milliammeter.
- $RFC_1 = 2.5$ -mh. 125-ma, r.f. choke.  $RFC_2 = 250$ - $\mu$ h. 75-ma, r.f. choke (Millen 34300). RFC3 - 5-mh, 300-ma, r.f. choke (National R3008),

The plate coil plugs in to a socket mounted 4 inches above the chassis. The platform for the socket also shields the plate condenser,  $C_5$ . Another 3-inch diameter shield can protects the 807 plate coil. The plate by-pass condenser,  $C_6$ , is mounted under the chassis near the 807 socket, and the lead from  $C_5$  and  $L_2$  is brought down to it in shielded wire.

The grid coil for the 811-As is shielded by an ICA No. 29842 4 by 5 by 6 aluminum cabinet. To speed coil changing, the cabinet is fastened to the chassis and a friction-fit

cover is made from a piece of sheet aluminum. The inside lips on the top of the cabinet should be bent down to allow more room for the hand that changes coils.

The output tank condenser,  $C_{10}$ , is mounted on the chassis with aluminum brackets that also support the jack bar for the output coil,  $L_6$ . The variable link mounts on the jack bar.

#### Adjustment

With a signal from the exciter coupled through  $J_{1_1}$  and plate and screen voltages on the 807, it should be quite possible to drive the 811-A grid current off scale (with no plate voltage on the 811-As). Back off the excitation to about 25 ma, grid current and neutralize the 811-A stage by adjusting  $C_3$  and  $C_9$ . Use the "flick" in grid current as  $C_{10}$  is tuned through resonance, or a more sensitive indication such as a crystal diode and

с	OIL TAI	BLE FOR TV	NO-STA	GE LIN	EAR A	MPLI	FIER
Band	Turns	Wire No.	Diam.	Length	$\mu h$ .	Liuk	Spacing
14* - 3.9 14	$rac{22}{10^4} rac{1}{2}$	20 enam. 20 enam.	1	3/1 3-1	$\frac{10}{2,5}$	4 3	\$16 \$16
1.2*** 3.9 14	25 11	20 enam. 20 enam.	1 1	7/8 <sup>3</sup> /4	$\frac{11.2}{2.5}$	4 3	1/16 1/2
1.3 <sup>%%%</sup> 3.9 14	$\frac{22}{12}$	22 enam. 18 enam.	11/4 11/4	1¼ 15	9,4 3,3	6 -4	Adjustable Adjustable
L <sub>6</sub> **** 3.9 14	$\frac{22}{8}$	16 enam. .15 tubing	$rac{2}{2}rac{1}{2}rac{2}{2}$	$\frac{2}{3}\frac{1}{4}\frac{1}{4}$	$\frac{20}{2.3}$	$\frac{3}{3}$	Adjustable Adjustable
**** ₩ a *** Na 150	und on 1 tional A -µufd. m	Millen 45004 Millen 45005 R-16-408 an ica condense VL with 18	plug-in id AR-1 r.	form. 6-208, 7			shunted by STVL.

0-1 milliammeter connected to  $J_2$ .

Couple a dummy load to  $J_2$  and apply plate voltage to the 811-As. Couple an oscilloscope to the dummy load and apply a "two-tone" test signal, as described earlier in this chapter. The 811-A no-signal plate current should run around 40 or 50 ma., depending upon the plate voltage. Adjust the two-tone signal amplitude for 10 or 15 ma, grid current and resonate all circuits. Then increase the excitation until the two-tone pattern just begins to flatten on the peaks. When using 1000 volts on the 811-As, this flattening should not occur before  $MA_2$  indicates 160 ma, or so with 1200 volts the current should run up to 190 ma, without noticeable flattening. If flattening occurs sooner, it indicates that the 811-A stage should be coupled more tightly to its load, or that the 807 stage is not delivering enough drive to the 811-A grids.





Fig. 12-21 — Underneath the chassis, showing all but r.f. leads in shield braid. The coils in the leads from the split-stator grid condenser are parasitic chokes.

# **Transmission Lines**

The place where r.f. power is generated is very frequently not the place where it is to be utilized. A transmitter and its antenna are a good example: The antenna, to radiate well, should be high above the ground and should be kept clear of trees, buildings and other objects that might absorb energy, but the transmitter itself is most conveniently installed indoors where it is readily accessible. There are many other instances where power must be delivered from one point to another.

The means by which power is transported

from point to point is the r.f. transmission line. At radio frequencies a line exhibits entirely different characteristics than it does at commercial power frequencies. This is because the speed at which electrical energy travels, while tremendously high as compared with mechanical motion, is not infinite. The peculiarities of r.f. transmission lines result from the fact that a time interval comparable with an r.f. cycle must clapse before energy leaving one point in the circuit can reach another just a short distance away.

### **Operating Principles**

Suppose we have a battery and a pair of parallel wires extending to a very great distance. At the moment the battery is connected to the wires, electrons in the wire near the positive terminal will be attracted to the battery, and the same number of electrons in the wire near the negative battery terminal will be repelled outward along the wire.

Thus a current flows in each wire near the battery at the instant the battery is connected. However, a definite time interval will elapse before these currents are evident at a distance from the battery. The time interval may be very small. For example, one-millionth of a second (one microsecond) after the connection is made the currents in the wires will have traveled 300 meters, or nearly 1000 feet, from the battery terminals.

The current is in the nature of a charging current, flowing to charge the capacitance between the two wires. But unlike an ordinary condenser, the conductors of this "linear" condenser have appreciable inductance. In fact,



Fig. 13-1 — Equivalent of a transmission line in lumped circuit constants.

we may think of the line as being composed of a whole series of small inductances and capacitances connected as shown in Fig. 13-1, where each coil is the inductance of a very short section of one wire and each condenser is the capacitance between two such short sections.

#### Characteristic Impedance

An infinitely-long chain of coils and condensets connected as in Fig. 13-1, where each L is the same as all others and all the Cs have the same value, has an important property. To an electrical impulse applied at one end, the combination appears to have an impedance — called the **characteristic impedance** or **surge impedance** — that is approximately equal to  $\sqrt{L/\overline{C}}$ , where L and C are the inductance and capacitance per unit length. This impedance is purely resistive.

In defining the characteristic impedance as  $\sqrt{L/C}$ , it is assumed that the conductors have no inherent resistance — that is, there is no  $I^2R$  loss in them — and that there is no power loss in the dielectric surrounding the conductors. In other words, it is assumed there is no power loss in or from the line no matter how great its length. This does not seem consistent with calling the characteristic impedance a pure resistance, which implies that the power supplied is all dissipated in the line. But in an infinitely-long line the effect, so far as the source of power is concerned, is exactly the same as though the power were dissipated in a resistance, because the power leaves the source and travels outward forever along the line.

The characteristic impedance determines the amount of current that can flow when a given voltage is applied to an infinitely-long line, in exactly the same way that a definite value of actual resistance limits current flow when a given voltage is applied.

The inductance and capacitance per unit length of line depend upon the size of the conductors and the spacing between them. The closer the two conductors and the greater their diameter, the higher the capacitance and the lower the inductance. A line with large conductors closely spaced will have low impedance, while one with small conductors widely spaced will have relatively high impedance.

#### "Matched" Lines

Actual transmission lines do not extend to infinity but have a definite length and are connected to, or **terminate** in, a load at the "output"

World Radio History

end, or end to which the power is delivered. If the load is a pure resistance of a value equal to the characteristic impedance of the line, the current traveling along the line to the load does not find conditions changed in the least when it meets the load; in fact, the load just looks like still more transmission line of the same characteristic impedance. Consequently, connecting such a load to a short transmission line allows the current to travel in exactly the same fashion as it would on an infinitely-long line.

In other words, a short line terminated in a purely-resistive load equal to the characteristic impedance of the line acts just as though it were infinitely long. Such a line is said to be **matched**. In a matched transmission line, power travels outward along the line from the source until it reaches the load, where it is completely absorbed.

#### R.F. on Lines

The discussion above, although based on directcurrent flow from a battery, also holds when an r.f. voltage is applied to the line. The difference is that the alternating voltage causes the amplitude of the current at the input terminals of the line to vary with the voltage, and the direction of current flow also periodically reverses when the polarity of the applied voltage reverses. In the time of one evele the energy will travel a distance of one wavelength along the line wires. The current at a given instant at any point along the line is the result of a voltage that was applied at some *earlier* instant at the input terminals. Hence the instantaneous amplitude of the current is different at all points in a one-wavelength section of line; in fact, the current flows in opposite directions in the same wire in adjacent half-wavelength sections. However, at any given point along the line the current goes through similar variations with time that the current at the input terminals did.

The result of all this is that the current (and voltage) travels along the wire as a series of waves having a length equal to the velocity of travel divided by the frequency of the a.c. voltage. On an infinitely-long line, or one properly matched at the load, an animeter inserted anywhere in the line will show the same current, since the animeter averages out the variations in current during a cycle. It is only when the line is not properly matched that the wave motion becomes apparent. This is discussed in the next section.

#### **STANDING WAVES**

In the infinitely-long line (or its matched counterpart) the impedance is the same at any point on the line because the ratio of voltage to current is always the same. However, the impedance at the end of the line in Fig. 13-2 is zero — or at least extremely small — because the line is short-circuited at the end. The outgoing power, on meeting the short-circuit, reverses its direction of flow and goes back along the transmission line toward the input end. There is a large current in the short-circuit, but substantially no voltage across the line at this point. We now have a voltage and current representing the power going outward toward the short-circuit, and a second voltage and current representing the **reflected** power traveling back toward the source.

The reflected current travels at the same speed as the outgoing current, so its instantaneous value will be different at every point along the line, in the distance represented by the time of one cycle. At some points along the line the phase of the outgoing and reflected currents will be such that the currents cancel each other while at others the amplitude will be doubled. At inbetween points the amplitude is between these two extremes. The points at which the currents are in and out of phase depend only on the *time* required for them to travel and so depend only on the *distance* along the line from the point of reflection.

In the short-circuit at the end of the line the two current components are in phase and the total current is large. At a distance of one-half wavelength back along the line from the shortcircuit the outgoing and reflected components will again be in phase and the resultant current will again have its maximum value. This is also



 $Fig,\,13{-}2$  — Standing waves of voltage and current along short-circuited transmission line,

true at any point that is a multiple of a halfwavelength from the short-circuited end of the line.

The outgoing and reflected currents will cancel at a point one-quarter wavelength, along the line, from the short-circuit. At this point, then, the current will be zero. It will also be zero at all points that are an *odd* multiple of one-quarter wavelength from the short-circuit.

If the current along the line is measured at successive points with an ammeter, it will be found to vary about as shown in Fig. 13-2B. The same result would be obtained by measuring the current in either wire, since the ammeter cannot measure phase. However, if the phase could be checked, it would be found that in each successive half-wavelength section of the line the currents at any given instant are flowing in opposite directions, as indicated by the solid line in Fig. 13-2C. Furthermore, the current in the second wire is flowing in the opposite direction to the current

### TRANSMISSION LINES

in the adjacent section of the first wire. This is indicated by the broken curve in Fig. 13-2C. The variations in current intensity along the transmission line are referred to as standing waves. The point of maximum line current is called a current loop or current antinode and the point of minimum line current a current node.

#### Voltage Relationships

Since the end of the line is short-circuited, the voltage at that point has to be zero. This can only be so if the voltage in the outgoing wave is met, at the end of the line, by a reflected voltage of equal amplitude and opposite polarity. In other words, the phase of the voltage wave is reversed when reflection takes place from the short-circuit. This reversal is equivalent to an extra half-eyele or half-wavelength of travel. As a result, the outgoing and returning voltages are in phase a quarter wavelength from the end of the line, and again out of phase a half-wavelength from the end. The standing waves of voltage, shown at D in Fig. 13-2, are therefore displaced by one-quarter wavelength from the standing waves of current. The drawing at E shows the voltages on both wires when phase is taken into account. The polarity of the voltage on each wire reverses in each half-wavelength section of transmission line. A voltage maximum is called a voltage loop or antinode and a voltage minimum is called a voltage node.

#### **Open-Circuited** Line

If the end of the line is open-circuited instead of short-circuited, there can be no current at the end of the line but a large voltage can exist. Again the outgoing power is reflected back toward the source. In this case, the outgoing and reflected components of *current* must be equal and opposite in phase in order for the total current at the end of the line to be zero. The outgoing and reflected components of voltage are in phase and add together. The result is that we again have standing waves, but the conditions are reversed as compared with a short-circuited line. Fig. 13-3 shows the open-circuited line case.



Fig. 13-3 — Standing waves of current and voltage along an open-circuited transmission line.



Fig. 13-4 — Standing waves on a transmission line terminated in a resistive load.

#### Lines Terminated in Resistive Load

Fig. 13–4 shows a line terminated in a resistive load. In this case at least part of the outgoing power is absorbed in the load, and so is not available to be reflected back toward the source. Because only part of the power is reflected, the reflected components of voltage and current do not have the same magnitude as the outgoing components. Therefore neither voltage nor current cancel completely at any point along the line. However, the *speed* at which the outgoing and reflected components travel is not affected by their amplitude, so the phase relationships are similar to those in open- or short-circuited lines.

It was pointed out earlier that if the load resistance,  $Z_r$ , is equal to the characteristic impedance,  $Z_0$ , of the line all the power is absorbed in the load. In such a case there is no reflected power and therefore no standing waves of current and voltage. This is a special ease that represents the change-over point between "short-circuited" and "open-circuited" lines. If  $Z_r$  is less than  $Z_0$ , the current is largest at the load, while if  $Z_r$  is greater than  $Z_0$  the voltage is largest at the load. The two conditions are shown at B and C, respectively, in Fig. 13-4.

The resistive termination is an important practical case. The termination is seldom an actual resistor, the most common terminations being resonant circuits or resonant antenna systems, both of which have essentially resistive impedances. If the load is reactive as well as resistive, the operation of the line resembles that shown in Fig. 13-4, but the presence of reactance in the load causes two modifications: The loops and nulls are shifted toward or away from the load; and the amount of power reflected back toward the source is increased, as compared with the amount reflected by a purely resistive load of the same total impedance. Both effects become more pronounced as the ratio of reactance to resistance in the load is made larger.

#### Standing-Wave Ratio

The ratio of maximum current to minimum current along a line, Fig. 13-5, is called the standing-wave ratio. The same ratio holds for maximum voltage and minimum voltage. It is a measure of the mismatch between the load and the line, and is equal to 1 when the line is perfeetly matched. (In that case the "maximum" and "minimum" are the same, since the current and voltage do not vary along the line.) When the line is terminated in a purely-resistive load, the standing-wave ratio is

$$S.W.R. = \frac{Z_r}{Z_0} \text{ or } \frac{Z_0}{Z_r}$$
(13-A)

Where S, W, R, = Standing-wave ratio

- $Z_r$  = Impedance of load (must be pure resistance)
- $Z_0 = Characteristic impedance of line$

Example: A line having a characteristic impedance of 300 ohms is terminated in a resistive load of 25 ohms. The s.w.r. is

S.W.R. 
$$= \frac{Z_0}{Z_t} = \frac{300}{25} = 12$$
 to 1

It is customary to put the larger of the two quantities,  $Z_r$  or  $Z_0$ , in the numerator of the fraction so that the s.w.r. will be expressed by a number larger than 1.

It is easier to measure the standing-wave ratio than some of the other quantities (such as the



Fig. 13-5 — Measurement of standing-wave ratio. In this drawing,  $T_{max}$  is 1.5 and  $T_{min}$  is 0.5, so the s.w.r. =  $T_{max}/T_{min} = 1.5/0.5 = 3$  to 1.

impedance of an antenna) that enter into transmission-line computations. Consequently, the s.w.r. is a convenient basis for work with lines. The higher the s.w.r., the greater the mismatch between line and load. In practical lines, the power loss in the line itself increases with the s.w.r.

#### INPUT IMPEDANCE

The input impedance of a transmission line is the impedance seen looking into the sending-end or input terminals; it is the impedance into which the source of power must work when the line is connected. If the load is perfectly matched to the line the line appears to be infinitely long, as stated earlier, and the input impedance is simply the characteristic impedance of the line itself. However, if there are standing waves this is no longer true; the input impedance may have a wide range of values.

This can be understood by referring to Figs. 13-2, 13-3, or 13-4. If the line length is such that standing waves cause the voltage at the input

### **CHAPTER** 13

terminals to be high and the current low, then the input impedance is higher than the  $Z_0$  of the line, since impedance is simply the ratio of voltage to current. Conversely, low voltage and high current at the input terminals mean that the input impedance is lower than the line  $Z_0$ . Comparison of the three drawings also shows that the range of input impedance values that may be encountered is greater when the far end of the line is open- or short-circuited than it is when the line has a resistive load. In other words, the higher the s.w.r. the greater the range of input impedance values when the line length is varied.

In addition to the variation in the absolute value of the input impedance with line length, the presence of standing waves also causes the input impedance to contain both reactance and resistance, even though the load itself may be a pure resistance. The only exceptions to this occur at the exact current loops or nodes, at which points the input impedance is a pure resistance. These are the only points at which the outgoing and reflected voltages and currents are exactly in phase: At all other distances along the line the current either leads or lags behind the voltage and the effect is exactly the same as though a capacitance or inductance were part of the input impedance of the line.

The input impedance can be represented by either a resistance and a capacitance, or by a resistance and an inductance, as shown in Fig. 13-6. Whether the impedance is inductive or capacitive depends on the characteristics of the load and the length of the line. It is possible to represent the equivalent circuit by resistance and reactance either in series or parallel, so long as the total impedance and phase angle are the same in either case. Meeting this last condition requires different values of resistance and reactance in the series case than in the parallel case.

The magnitude and character of the input impedance is quite important, since it determines the method by which the power source must be coupled to the line. The calculation of input impedance is rather complicated and its measurement is not feasible with ordinary equipment. Fortunately, in amateur work, it is unnecessary either to calculate or measure it. The proper coupling can be achieved by relatively simple methods described later in this chapter.

#### Unterminated Lines

The input impedance of a short-circuited or open-circuited line not an exact multiple of onequarter wavelength long is practically a pure reactance. This is because there is very little power lost in the line. Such lines are frequently used as "linear" inductances and capacitances.

If a shorted line is less than a quarter wave long, as at X in Fig. 13-2, it will have inductive reactance. The reactance increases with the line length up to the quarter-wave point. Beyond that, as at Y, the reactance is capacitive, high near the quarter-wave point and becoming lower as the half-wave point is approached. It then alternates between inductive and capacitive in successive

### TRANSMISSION LINES

quarter-wave sections. Just the reverse is true of the open-circuited line.

At exact multiples of a quarter wavelength the impedance is purely resistive. It is apparent, from examination of B and D in Fig. 13-2, that at points that are a multiple of a half-wavelength — i. e.,  $\frac{1}{2}$ , 1,  $\frac{1}{2}$  wavelengths, etc. — from the short-circuited end of the line the current and voltage



Fig. 13-6 — Series and parallel equivalents of a line whose input impedance has both reactive and resistive components. The series and parallel equivalents do not have the same values; e.g., in A, L does not equal L' and R does not equal K'.

have the same values that they do at the shortcircuit. In other words, if the line were an exact multiple of a half-wavelength long the generator or source of power would "look into" a shortcircuit. On the other hand, at points that are an odd multiple of a quarter wavelength — i.e.,  $\frac{1}{4}$ ,  $\frac{3}{4}$ ,  $1\frac{1}{4}$ , etc. — from the short-circuit the voltage is maximum and the current is zero. Since Z = E/I, the impedance at these points is theoretically infinite. (Actually it is very high, but not infinite. This is because the current does not actually go to zero when there are losses in the line. Losses are always present, but usually are small.)

#### Impedance Transformation

The fact that the input impedance of a line depends on the s.w.r. and line length can be used to advantage when it is necessary to transform a given impedance into another value.

Study of Fig. 13-4 will show that, just as in the open- and short-circuited cases, if the line is one-half wavelength long the voltage and current are exactly the same at the input terminals as they are at the load. This is also true of lengths that are integral multiples of a half wavelength. It is also true for all values of s.w.r. Hence the input impedance of any line, no matter what its  $Z_0$ , that is a multiple of a half-wavelength long is exactly the same as the load impedance. Such a line can be used to transfer the impedance to a new location without changing its value.

When the line is a quarter wavelength long, or an odd multiple of a quarter wavelength, the load impedance is "inverted." That is, if the current is low and the voltage is high at the load, the input impedance will be such as to require high current and low voltage. The relationship between the load impedance and input impedance is given by:

$$Z_{\rm s} = \frac{Z_0^2}{Z_{\rm r}}$$
 (13-B)

where  $Z_s$  = Impedance looking into line (line length an odd multiple of onequarter wavelength)

 $Z_r$  = Impedance of load (must be pure resistance)

 $Z_0$  = Characteristic impedance of line

Example: A quarter-wavelength line having a characteristic impedance of 500 ohms is terminated in a resistive load of 75 ohms. The impedance looking into the input or sending end of the line is

$$Z_{\pm} = \frac{Z_{0^2}}{Z_{\pm}} = \frac{(500)^2}{75} = \frac{250,000}{75} = 3333$$
 ohms

If the formula above is rearranged, we have

$$Z_0 = \sqrt{Z_s Z_r} \qquad (13-C)$$

This means that if we have two values of impedance that we wish to "match," we can do so if we connect them together by a quarter-wave transmission line having a characteristic impedance equal to the square root of their product. A quarter-wave line, in other words, has the characteristics of a transformer.

#### **Resonant and Nonresonant Lines**

Because the input impedance of a line operating with a high s.w.r. is critically dependent on the line length, and furthermore is usually reactive as well as resistive, special tuning means are required for effective power transfer from the source to the line. Lines operated in this way are commonly called "tuned" or "resonant" lines. On the other hand, if the s.w.r. is low the input impedance is close to the  $Z_0$  of the line and does not vary a great deal with the line length. Such lines are called "flat," or "untuned," or "nonresonant."

There is no sharp line of demarcation between tuned and untimed lines. If the s.w.r. is below 1.5 to 1 the line is essentially flat, since the same coupling method will work with all line lengths. If the s.w.r. is above 3 or 4 to 1 the type of coupling system, and its adjustment, will depend on the line length and such lines fall into the "tuned" category.

It is always advantageous to make the s.w.r. as low as possible. "Tuning the line" becomes necessary only when a considerable mismatch between the load and the line has to be tolerated. The most important practical example of this is when a single antenna is operated on several harmonically-related frequencies, in which case the antenna impedance will have widely-different values on different harmonics.

#### RADIATION

Whenever a wire carries alternating current the electromagnetic fields travel away into space with the velocity of light. At power-line frequencies the field that "grows" when the current is increasing has plenty of time to return or "collapse" about the conductor when the current is decreasing, because the alternations are so slow. But at radio frequencies fields that travel only a relatively short distance do not have time to get back to the conductor before the next cycle commences. The consequence is that some of the electromagnetic energy is prevented from being restored to the conductor; in other words, energy is radiated into space in the form of electromagnetic waves.

The amount of energy radiated depends, among other things, on the length of the conductor in relation to the frequency or wavelength of the r.f. current. If the conductor is very short compared to the wavelength the energy radiated will be small. However, a transmission line used to feed power to an antenna is not short in this sense; in fact, it is almost always an appreciable fraction of a wavelength long and may have a length of several wavelengths.

The lines previously considered have consisted of two parallel conductors of the same diameter. Provided there is nothing in the system to destroy symmetry, at every point along the line the current in one conductor has the same intensity as the current in the other conductor at that point, but the currents flow in opposite directions. This was shown in Figs. 13-2C and 13-3C. It means that the fields set up about the two wires have the same intensity, but  $\delta posite directions$ . The consequence is that the total field set up about such a transmission line is zero; the two fields "cancel out." Hence no energy is radiated.

Actually, the fields do not completely cancel out because for them to do so the two conductors would have to occupy the same space, whereas they are slightly separated. However, the cancellation is substantially complete if the distance between the conductors is very small compared to the wavelength. Transmission line radiation will be negligible if the distance between the conductors is 0.01 wavelength or less, provided the currents in the two wires actually are balanced as described.

The amount of radiation also is proportional to the current flowing in the line. Because of the way in which the current varies along the line when there are standing waves, the effective current, for purposes of radiation, becomes greater as the s.w.r. is increased. For this reason the radiation is least when the line is flat. However, if the conductor spacing is small and the currents are balanced, the radiation from a line with even a high s.w.r. is inconsequential. A small unbalance in the line currents is far more serious.

### **Practical Line Characteristics**

The foregoing discussion of transmission lines has been based on a line consisting of two parallel conductors. Actually, the **parallel-conductor** line is but one of two general types. The other is the **coaxial** or **concentric** line. The coaxial line consists of a round conductor placed in the center of a circular tube. The inside surface of the tube and the outside surface of the smaller inner conductor form the two conducting surfaces of the line.

In the coaxial line the fields are entirely inside the tube, because the tube acts as a shield to prevent them from appearing outside. This reduces radiation to the vanishing point. So far as the electrical behavior of coaxial lines is concerned, all that has previously been said about the operation of parallel-conductor lines applies. There are, however, practical differences in the construction and use of parallel and coaxial lines.

#### PARALLEL-CONDUCTOR LINES

A common type of parallel-conductor line used in amateur installations is one in which two wires (ordinarily No. 12 or No. 14) are supported a fixed distance apart by means of insulating rods called "spacers." The spacings used vary from two to six inches, the smaller spacings being necessary at frequencies of the order of 28 Mc. and higher so that radiation will be minimized. The construction is shown in Fig. 13-7. Such a line is said to be **air-insulated**. Typical spacers are shown in Fig. 13-8. The characteristic impedance of such "open-wire" lines is between 400 and 600 ohms, depending on the wire size and spacing. Parallel-conductor lines also are sometimes constructed of metal tubing of a diameter of  $\frac{1}{4}$  to  $\frac{1}{2}$ inch. This reduces the characteristic impedance



 $Fi\mu$ ,  $I3-7 \rightarrow Typical$  construction of open-wire line. The line conductor fits in a groove in the end of the spacer, and is held in place by a tie-wire anchored in a hole near the groove.

of the line. Such lines are mostly used as quarterwave transformers, when different values of impedance are to be matched.

Prefabricated parallel-conductor line with air insulation developed as a low-loss line for television reception can be used in transmitting applications. This line consists of two No. 18 conductors held at a spacing of one-half to one inch by molded-on spacers. The characteristic impedance is 375 to 450 ohms, depending on the spacing.

A convenient type of manufactured line is one in which the parallel conductors are imbedded in low-loss insulating material (polyethylene). It is commonly used as a TV lead-in and has a charac-



Fig. 13-8 — Typical manufactured transmission lines and spacers.

teristic impedance of 300 ohms. It is sold under various names, the most common of which is "Twin-Lead." This type of line has the advantages of light weight, close and uniform conductor spacing, flexibility and neat appearance. However, the losses in the solid dielectric are higher than in air, and dirt or moisture on the line tends to change the characteristic impedance. Moisture effects can be reduced by coating the line with silicone grease. A special form of 300-ohm Twin-Lead for transmitting uses a polyethylene tube with the conductors molded diametrically opposite; the longer dielectric path in such line reduces moisture troubles.

In addition to 300-ohm line, Twin-Lead is obtainable with a characteristic impedance of 75 ohms for transmitting purposes. Light-weight 75and 150-ohm Twin-Lead also is available.

#### Characteristic Impedance

The characteristic impedance of an air-insulated parallel-conductor line is given by:

$$Z_0 = 276 \log \frac{b}{a} \tag{13-D}$$

where  $Z_0 =$  Characteristic impedance

- b =Center-to-center distance between conductors
- a =Radius of conductor (in same units as h)

It does not matter what units are used for a and b so long as they are the *same* units. Both quantities may be measured in centimeters, inches, etc. Since it is necessary to have a table of common logarithms to solve practical problems, the solution is given in graphical form in Fig. 13-9 for a number of common conductor sizes.

In solid-dielectric parallel-conductor lines such as Twin-Lead the characteristic impedance cannot be calculated readily, because part of the electric field is in air as well as in the dielectric.

#### Unbalance in Parallel-Conductor Lines

When installing parallel-conductor lines care should be taken to avoid introducing electrical unbalance into the system. If for some reason the current in one conductor is higher than in the other, or if the currents in the two wires are not exactly out of phase with each other, the electromagnetic fields will not cancel completely and a considerable amount of power may be radiated by the line.

Maintaining good line balance requires, first of all, a balanced load at its end. For this reason the antenna should be fed, whenever possible, at a point where each conductor "sees" exactly the same thing. Usually this means that the antenna system should be fed at its electrical center. Even though the antenna appears to be symmetrical, physically, it can be unbalanced electrically if the part connected to one of the line conductors is inadvertently coupled to something (such as house wiring or a metal pole or roof) that is not duplicated on the other part of the antenna. Every effort should be made to keep the antenna as far as possible from other wiring or sizable



Fig. 13.9 — Chart showing the characteristic impedance of spaced-conductor parallel transmission lines with air dielectric. Tubing sizes given are for outside diameters.

metallic objects. The transmission line itself will cause some unbalance if it is not brought away from the antenna at right angles to it for a distance of at least a quarter wavelength.

In installing the line conductors take care to see that they are kept away from metal. The minimum separation between either conductor and all other wiring should be at least four or five times the conductor spacing. The shunt capacitance introduced by close proximity to metallic objects can drain off enough current (to ground) to unbalance the line currents, resulting in increased radiation. A shunt capacitance of this sort also constitutes a reactive load on the line, causing an impedance "bump" that will prevent making the line actually flat.

#### COAXIAL LINES

The most common form of coaxial line consists of either a solid or stranded-wire inner conductor surrounded by polyethylene dielectric. Copper braid is woven over the dielectric to form the outer conductor, and a waterproof vinyl covering is placed on top of the braid. This cable is made in a number of different diameters. It is moderately flexible, and so is convenient to install. Some different types are shown in Fig. 13-8. This solid coaxial cable is commonly available in impedances approximating 50 and 70 ohms.

Air-insulated coaxial lines have lower losses than the solid-dielectric type, but are less used in amateur work because they are expensive and difficult to install as compared with the flexible cable. The common type of air-insulated coaxial line uses a solid-wire conductor inside a copper tube, with the wire held in the center of the tube by means of insulating "beads" placed at regular intervals.

#### **Characteristic Impedance**

The characteristic impedance of an air-insulated coaxial line is given by the formula

$$Z_0 = 138 \log \frac{h}{a}$$
 (13-E)

where  $Z_0 = Characteristic impedance$ 

- b = Inside diameter of outer conductor a = Outside diameter of inner conductor
  - (in same units as b)

Curves for typical conductor sizes are given in Fig. 13-10.

The formula for coaxial lines is approximately correct for lines in which bead spacers are used, provided the beads are not too closely spaced. When the line is filled with a solid dielectric, the characteristic impedance as given by the chart should be multiplied by  $1/\sqrt{K}$ , where K is the dielectric constant of the material.

#### ELECTRICAL LENGTH

In the discussion of line operation earlier in this chapter it was assumed that currents traveled along the conductors at the speed of light. Actually, the velocity is somewhat less, the reason being that electromagnetic fields travel more



Fig. 13-10 — Chart showing characteristic impedance of various air-insulated concentric lines.

### **CHAPTER** 13

TABLE 13-I Transmission-Line Data							
Туре	Description or Type Number	Charac- teristic Imped- ance	Velocity Factor	Capaci- tance per foot; μμfd,			
Coaxial	Air-insulated	50-100	0,851				
	RG-8 1	53	0,66	29,5			
	RG-58/U	53	0,66	28,5			
	RG-H/U	75	0,66	20.5			
	RG-59 U	73	0,66	21.0			
Parallel-	Air-insulated	200-600	$0.975^{2}$				
Condue-	14-0803	15	0,68	19,0			
tor	$14-023^3$		0.71	20.0			
	$11.079^3$	150	0.77	10,0			
	$11-056^3$	300	0,82	5.8			
	14-0763	300	0,84	3.9			
	$14-022^3$	300	0,85	3.0			
<sup>2</sup> Aver intervals <sup>3</sup> Amp is made from th	age figure for sma age figure for line s of a few feet, shenol type numb by several manu at given in Fig. are made for trai	es insulated ers and data facturers, b 13-11, Typ	with ceramic a, Line simila ut rated loss ss 14–023, 1	c spacers at ar to 14–056 s may differ			

slowly in material dielectrics than they do in free space. In air the velocity is practically the same as in empty space, but a practical line always has to be supported in some fashion by solid insulating materials. The result is that the fields are slowed down; the currents travel a shorter distance in the time of one cycle than they do in space, and so the wavelength along the line is less than the wavelength would be in free space at the same frequency.

Whenever reference is made to a line as being so many wavelengths (such as a "half-wavelength" or "quarter wavelength") long, it is to be understood that the *cleatrical* length of the line is meant. Its actual physical length as measured by a tape always will be somewhat less. The physical length corresponding to an electrical wavelength is given by

Length in feet = 
$$\frac{984}{f} \cdot V$$
 (13-F)

where f = Frequency in megacycles V = Velocity factor

The velocity factor is the ratio of the actual velocity along the line to the velocity in free space. Values of V for several common types of lines are given in Table 13-I.

Example: A 75-foot length of 300-ohm Twin-Lead is used to carry power to an antenna at a frequency of 7150 kc. From Table 13-1, V is 0.82. At this frequency (7.15 Mc.) a wavelength is

Length (feet) 
$$= \frac{984}{f}$$
.  $V = \frac{984}{7.15} \times 0.82$   
= 137.6 × 0.82 = 112.8 ft.

The line length is therefore 75/112.8 = 0.665 wavelength.

Because a quarter-wavelength line is frequently used as a linear transformer, it is con-

### TRANSMISSION LINES

•

Fig. 13-11 — Attenuation data for common types of transmission lines. Curve A is the nominal attenuation of 600-ohm open-wire line with No. 12 conductors, not including dielectric loss in spacers nor possible radiation losses. Additional line data are given in Table 13-1.



venient to calculate the length of a quarter-wave line directly. The formula is

Length (feet) = 
$$\frac{246}{f} \cdot V$$
 (13-G)

where the symbols have the same meaning as above.

#### LOSSES IN TRANSMISSION LINES

There are three ways by which power may be lost in a transmission line: by radiation, by heating of the conductors  $(I^2R \text{ loss})$ , and by heating of the dielectric, if any. There is no appreciable radiation loss from a coaxial line, but radiation from a parallel-conductor line may exceed the heat losses if the line is unbalanced. Since radiation losses cannot readily be estimated or measured, the following discussion is based only on conductor and dielectric losses.

Heat losses in both the conductor and the dielectric increase with frequency. Conductor losses also are greater the lower the characteristic impedance of the line, because a higher current flows in a low-impedance line for a given power input. The converse is true of dielectric losses because these increase with the voltage, which is greater on high-impedance lines. The dielectric loss in air-insulated lines is negligible (the only loss is in the insulating spacers) and such lines operate at high efficiency when radiation losses are low.

It is convenient to express the loss in a transmission line in decibels per unit length, since the loss in db, is directly proportional to the line length. Losses in various types of lines operated without standing waves (that is, terminated in a resistive load equal to the characteristic impedance of the line) are given in graphical form in Fig. 13-11. In these curves the radiation loss is assumed to be negligible.

When there are standing waves on the line the power loss increases as shown in Fig. 13-12. Whether or not the increase in loss is serious depends on what the original loss would have been if the line were perfectly matched. If the loss with perfect matching is very low, a large s.w.r. will, not greatly affect the *efficiency* of the line — i.e.,



Fig. 13-12 — Effect of standing-wave ratio on line loss. The ordinates give the *additional* loss in decibels for the loss, under perfectly-matched conditions, shown on the horizontal scale.

World Radio History

the ratio of the power delivered to the load to the power put into the line.

Example: A 150-foot length of RG-11/U cable is operating at 7 Mc, with a 5-to-1 s.w.r. If perfectly matched, the loss from Fig. 13-11 would be  $1.5 \times 0.4 = 0.6$  db. From Fig. 13-12 the additional loss because of the s.w.r. is 0.73 db. The total loss is therefore 0.6 + 0.73 = 1.33 db.

An appreciable s.w.r. on a solid-dielectric line may result in excessive loss of power at the higher frequencies. Such lines, whether of the

### Matching the Load to the Line

The load for a transmission line may be any device capable of dissipating r.f. power. When lines are used for transmitting applications the most common type of load is an antenna, but there are also practical cases where the grid circuit of a power amplifier may represent the load. When a transmission line is connected between an antenna and a receiver, the receiver input circuit (not the antenna) is the load, because the power taken from a passing wave is delivered to the receiver.

Whatever the application, the conditions existing at the load, and *only* the load, determine the standing-wave ratio on the line. If the load is purely resistive and equal in value to the characteristic impedance of the line, there will be no standing waves. If the load is not purely resistive, and/or is not equal to the line  $Z_0$ , there will be standing waves. No adjustments that can be made at the input end of the line can change the s.w.r., nor is it affected by changing the line length.

Only in a few special cases is the load inherently of the proper value to match a practicable transmission line. In all other cases it is necessary either to operate with a mismatch and accept the s.w.r. that results, or else to take steps to bring about a proper match between the line and load by means of transformers or similar devices. Impedance-matching transformers may take a variety of physical forms, depending on the circumstances.

Note that it is essential, if the s.w.r. is to be made as low as possible, that the load at the point of connection to the transmission line be purely resistive. In general, this requires that the load be tuned to resonance. If the load itself is not resonant at the operating frequency the tuning sometimes can be accomplished in the matching system.

#### THE ANTENNA AS A LOAD

Every antenna system, no matter what its physical form, will have a definite value of impedance at the point where the line is to be connected. The problem is to transform this **antenna** input impedance to the proper value to match the line. In this respect there is no one "best" type of line for a particular antenna system, because it is possible to transform impedances in parallel-conductor or coaxial type, should be operated as nearly flat as possible, particularly when the line length is more than 50 feet or so. As shown by Fig. 13-12, the increase in line loss is not too serious so long as the s.w.r. is below 2 to 1, but increases rapidly when the s.w.r. riscs above 3 to 1. Tuned transmission lines such as are used with multiband antennas always should be air-insulated, in the interests of highest efficiency.

any desired ratio. Consequently, any type of line may be used with any type of antenna. There are frequently reasons other than impedance matching that dictate the use of one type of line in preference to another, such as ease of installation, inherent loss in the line, and so on, but these are not considered in this section.

Although the input impedance of an antenna system is seldom known very accurately, it is often possible to make a reasonably close estimate of its value. The information in the chapter on antennas can be used as a guide.

Matching circuits may be constructed using ordinary coils and condensers, but are not used very extensively because they must be supported at the antenna and must be weatherproofed. The systems to be described use linear transformers.

#### The Quarter-Wave Transformer or ''Q'' Section

As described earlier in this chapter, a quarterwave transmission line may be used as an impedance transformer. Knowing the antenna impedance and the characteristic impedance of the



Fig. 13-13 — "Q" matching section, a quarter-wave impedance transformer,

transmission line to be matched, the required characteristic impedance of a matching section such as is shown in Fig. 13-13 is

$$Z = \sqrt{Z_1 Z_0}$$

where  $Z_1$  is the antenna impedance and  $Z_0$  is the characteristic impedance of the line to which it is to be matched.

Example: To match a 600-ohm line to an antenna presenting a 72-ohm load, the quarterwave matching section would require a characteristic impedance of  $\sqrt{72 \times 600} = \sqrt{43,200}$ = 208 ohms.

The spacings between conductors of various sizes of tubing and wire for different surge impedances are given in graphical form in Fig. 13-9. (With

### **TRANSMISSION LINES**

 $\frac{1}{2}$ -inch tubing, the spacing in the example above should be 1.5 inches for an impedance of 208 ohms.)

The length of the quarter-wave matching section is given by Equation 13-G.

The antenna must be resonant at the operating frequency. Setting the antenna length by formula is amply accurate with single-wire antennas, but in other systems, particularly close-spaced arrays, the antenna should be adjusted to resonance before the matching section is connected.

When the antenna input impedance is not known accurately, it is advisable to construct the matching section so that the spacing between conductors can be changed. The spacing them may be adjusted to give the lowest possible s.w.r. on the transmission line.

#### Stub Matching

When a transmission line is not matched by the load, the impedance looking into the line toward the load varies with the distance from the load, as discussed earlier in this chapter. Considering the



Fig. 13-14 — Matching the antenna to the line by means of a stub, Y. Curves for determining the lengths X and Y are given in Figs. 13-15 and 13-10, for the case where the line, section X and section Y all have the same characteristic impedance.

input impedance to be equivalent to a resistance in parallel with a reactance, at some distance along the line such as N in Fig. 13-14 the resistive part of the input impedance will be equal to the  $Z_0$  of the line. If at this point a reactance equal to the reactive part of the input impedance, but of the opposite type, is connected across the line, the reactances will cancel and leave only the resistive component. From this point back to the transmitter or other source of energy the line will be matched.

The reactances used for matching in this way are usually linear reactances — sections of transmission line — called stubs. Stubs may be open or closed, depending on whether the free end is left open or is short-circuited, according to the type of reactance required in a particular case. The type and length of stub, as well as the point at which it should be attached to the line, can be found without any knowledge of the antenna input impedance, providing that the s.w.r. on the line can be measured before the stub is attached, and providing that the position of a current node (voltage loop) can be determined under the same conditions.

When the s.w.r. and the position of a current node are known Figs. 13-15 and 13-16 give the



Fig. 13-15 — Graph for determining position and length of a *shorted* stub. Dimensions may be converted to linear units after values have been taken from the graph.

stub information necessary for impedance matching. Stub lengths are given in wavelengths, which may be converted to feet with the help of Equation 13-F. The data in Figs. 13-15 and 13-16 are based on the assumption that the line and stub both have the same  $Z_{0}$ .

With this system of matching it is not necessary that the antenna system be exactly resonant, since the match is based on the position of a eurrent node along the line. The node nearest the antenna should be used for determining the position of the stub so that as much as possible of the transmission line will be operating with a low s.w.r.

#### Folded Dipoles

A half-wave antenna element can be made to match various line impedances if it is split into two or more parallel conductors with the transmission line attached at the center of only one of them. Various forms of such "folded dipoles" are shown in Fig. 13-17. Currents in all conductors are in phase in a folded dipole, and since the conductor spacing is small the folded dipole is equivalent in radiating properties to an ordinary single-conductor dipole. However, the current flowing into the input terminals of the antenna from the line is the current in one conductor only, and the entire power from the line is delivered at this value of current. This is equivalent to saying that the input impedance of the



Fig. 13-16 — Graph for determining position and length of an open stub. Dimensions may be converted to linear units after values have been taken from the graph.

## (A) (A) $\frac{\lambda}{2}$ (B) $\frac{\lambda}{2}$ (C) Line Line Line

Fig. 13-17 — The folded dipole, a method for using the antenna element itself to provide an impedance transformation,

antenna has been raised by splitting it up into two or more conductors.

If the conductors of a folded dipole are all the same diameter and the spacing between them is small, the impedance at the input terminals is approximately equal to the input impedance of an ordinary dipole multiplied by the square of the



Fig. 13-18 — Impedance transformation ratio, twoconductor folded dipole. The dimensions  $d_1$ ,  $d_2$  and s are shown on the inset drawing. Curves show the ratio of the impedance (resistive) seen by the transmission line to the radiation resistance of the resonant antenna system.

### **CHAPTER 13**

number of conductors. A simple half-wave antenna has an impedance of about 70 ohms, so a two-conductor folded dipole will have an input impedance of 280 ohms, and a three-conductor dipole an impedance of 630 ohms. These values are sufficiently close for good matching to 300ohm or 600-ohm line, respectively.

Other values of impedance ratio may be obtained by making one conductor larger in diameter than the other, as shown at C in Fig. 13-17. The required ratio of conductor radii (or diameters) for a desired impedance ratio using two conductors may be obtained from Fig. 13-18. Similar information for a 3-conductor dipole is given in Fig. 13-19. This graph applies where all three conductors not connected to the transmission line are equally spaced from the fed conductor, and have equal diameters (this diameter need not equal the diameter of the fed conductor). The unequal-conductor method has been found particularly useful in matching to low-impedance



Fig. 13-19 — Impedance transformation ratio, threeconductor folded dipole. The dimensions  $d_1$ ,  $d_2$  and sare shown on the inset drawing. Curves show the ratio of the impedance (resistive) seen by the transmission line to the radiation resistance of the resonant antenna system.

antennas such as directive arrays using closespaced parasitic elements.

The length of the antenna element should be such as to be approximately self-resonant at the median operating frequency. The length is usually not highly critical, because this method of matching tends to compensate for changes in antenna reactance with frequency and thus broadens the frequency-response curve of the antenna.

#### "T" and "Gamma" Matching Sections

The method of matching shown in Fig. 13-20A is based on the fact that the impedance

### **TRANSMISSION LINES**

between any two points along a resonant antenna is resistive, and has a value which depends on the spacing between the two points. It is therefore possible to choose a pair of points between which the impedance will have the right value to match a transmission line. In practice, the line cannot



Fig. 13-20 - The "T" match and "gamma" match.

be connected directly at these points because the distance between them is much greater than the conductor spacing of a practicable transmission line. The "T" arrangement in Fig. 13-20A overcomes this difficulty by using a second conductor paralleling the antenna to form a matching section to which the line may be connected.

The "T" is particularly suited to use with a parallel-conductor line, in which case the two points along the antenna should be equidistant from the center so that electrical balance is maintained.

The operation of this system is somewhat complex. Each "T" conductor (y in the drawing) forms with the antenna conductor opposite it a short section of transmission line. Each of these transmission-line sections can be considered to be terminated in the impedance that exists at the point of connection to the antenna. Thus the part of the antenna between the two points carries a transmission-line current in addition to the normal antenna current. The two transmission-line nutching sections are in series, as seen by the main transmission line.

If the antenna by itself is resonant at the operating frequency its impedance will be purely resistive, and in such case the matching-section lines are terminated in a resistive load. However, since these sections are shorter than a quarter wavelength their input impedance — i.e., the impedance scen by the main transmission line looking into the matching-section terminals — will be reactive as well as resistive. This prevents a perfect match to the main transmission line, since its load must be a pure resistance for perfect matching. The reactive component of the input impedance must be tuned out before a proper match can be secured.

One way to do this is to detune the antenna just enough, by changing its length, to cause reactance of the opposite kind to be reflected to the input terminals of the matching section, thus cancelling the reactance introduced by the latter. Another method, which is considerably easier to adjust, is to insert a variable condenser in series with the matching section where it connects to the transmission line, as shown in Fig. 13-21. A condenser having a maximum capacitance of 150  $\mu\mu$ fd, or so will be about right in the average case, for 14 Mc, and higher. The condenser must be protected from the weather.

The method of adjustment commonly used is to cut the antenna for approximate resonance and then make the spacing x some value that is convenient constructionally. The distance y is then adjusted, while maintaining symmetry with respect to the center, until the s.w.r. on the transmission line is as low as possible. If the s.w.r. is not below 2 to 1 after this adjustment, the antenna length should be changed slightly and the matching-section taps adjusted again. This process may be continued until the s.w.r. is as close to 1 to 1 as possible.

When the series-condenser method of reactance compensation is used (Fig. 13-21) the antenna should be the proper length to be resonant at the operating frequency. Trial positions of the matching-section taps are taken, each time adjusting the condenser for minimum s.w.r., until the



Fig. 13-21 — Using series condensers for tuning out reactance in the matching section with the "T" match and "gamma" match. The condenser C should have a maximum capacitance of approximately 150 µµfd, for 14 Me, and may have proportionately lower capacitances for shorter wavelengths. Receiving-type condensers can be used for powers up to a few hundred watts.

standing waves on the transmission line are brought down to the lowest possible value.

The unbalanced ("gamma") arrangement in Fig. 13-20B is similar in principle to the "T," but is adapted for use with single coax line. The method of adjustment is the same.

#### The ''Delta'' Match

The matching system in Fig. 13-22 is based on the variation in impedance between two points symmetrically located with respect to the center of the antenna, as in the case of the "T" match, but uses a different matching section. If the two conductors of a transmission line are fanned out, the  $Z_0$  of the line will increase with the increase in spacing. A fanned section of line can be used to

#### match a given load impedance to the $Z_0$ of a uniformly-spaced transmission line, provided the line $Z_0$ is lower than the impedance of the load. Strictly, such a match can be made only if the conductor spacing in the fanned section of line increases at an exponential rate, but the "delta" arrangement in Fig. 13-22 is a rough approximation to this type of spacing.

Dimensions a and b in Fig. 13-22 depend on the antenna impedance (whether it is a simple half-



Fig. 13-22 - The "delta" matching section.

wave antenna or the driven element of a multielement beam), the size of the conductors in the delta, and the  $Z_0$  of the transmission line to be matched. Methods for calculation are not available, but dimensions for practical cases are given in the chapters on antennas.

#### **BALANCING DEVICES**

An antenna with open ends, of which the halfwave type used as an illustration in this section is an example, is inherently a balanced radiator, having equal and opposite voltages at its ends and minimum voltage at the center. When opened at the center and fed with a parallel-conductor line this balance is maintained throughout the system, including the transmission line, so long as the causes of unbalance discussed earlier in this chapter are avoided.

If the antenna is fed at the center through a coaxial line, as indicated in Fig. 13-23A, this balance is upset because one side of the radiator is connected to the shield while the other is connected to the inner conductor. The antenna current on the side connected to the shield can flow down over the *outside* of the coaxial line, and the fields thus set up cannot be canceled by the fields from the inner conductor because the fields inside the line cannot escape through the shielding afforded by the outer conductor. Hence these "antenna" currents flowing on the outside of the line will be responsible for radiation. (In the gamma match of Fig. 13-20B such radiation is largely prevented because the radiator is continuous and the outer conductor is connected to its center, a point which is at ground potential.)

#### Linear Baluns

Line radiation can be prevented by a number of devices whose purpose is to detune or decouple the line for "antenna" currents and thus greatly reduce their amplitude. Such devices generally are known as **baluns** (a contraction for "balaneed to unbalaneed"). Fig. 13-23B shows one such arrangement, known as a **bazooka**, which uses a sleeve over the transmission line to form, with



Fig. 13-23 — Radiator with coaxial feed (A) and methods of preventing unbalance currents from flowing on the outside of the transmission line (B and C). The halfwave phasing section shown at D is used for coupling between an unbalanced and a balanced circuit when a 4-to-1 impedance ratio is desired or can be accepted.

### **CHAPTER 13**

### TRANSMISSION LINES

the outside of the outer line conductor, a shorted quarter-wave line section. As described earlier in this chapter, the impedance looking into the open end of such a section is very high, so that the end of the outer conductor of the coaxial line is effectively insulated from the part of the line below the sleeve. The length is an *electrical* quarter wave, and may be physically shorter if the insulation between the sleeve and the line is other than air. The bazooka has no effect on the impedance relationships between the antenna and the coaxial line.

Another method that gives an equivalent effect is shown at C. This uses a second conductor, generally of the same diameter as the coaxial line (a piece of the same type of line may be used, the inner conductor being disregarded) to form a parallel-conductor quarter-wave "insulator," thus isolating both halves of the antenna equally from the remainder of the line below the shorting connection.

Fig. 13-23D shows a third balun, in which equal and opposite voltages, balanced to ground, are taken from the inner conductors of the main transmission line and half-wave phasing section. Since the voltages at the balanced end are in series while the voltages at the unbalanced end are in parallel, there is a 4-to-1 step-down in impedance from the balanced to the unbalanced side. This arrangement is useful for coupling between a balanced 300-ohm line and a 75-ohm coaxial line, for example.

#### Coil Baluns

Another form of linear balun is shown in the upper drawing of Fig. 13-24. Two transmission lines of equal length having a characteristic impedance  $Z_0$  are connected in series at one end and in parallel at the other. At the series-connected end the lines are balanced to ground and will match an impedance equal to  $2Z_0$ . At the parallelconnected end the lines will be matched by an impedance equal to  $Z_0/2$ . One side may be connected to ground at the parallel-connected end, provided the two lines have a length such that, considering each line as a single wire, the balanced end is effectively decoupled from the parallel-connected end. This requires a length that is an odd multiple of 1/4 wavelength. The impedance transformation from the series-connected end to the parallel-connected end is 4 to 1.

A definite line length is required only for decoupling purposes, and so long as there is adequate decoupling the system will act as a 4-to-1 impedance transformer regardless of line length. If each line is wound into a coil, as in the lower drawing, the inductances so formed will act as choke coils and will tend to isolate the seriesconnected end from any ground connection that may be placed on the parallel-connected end. Balun coils made in this way will operate over a wide frequency range, since the choke inductance is not critical. The lower frequency limit is where the coils are no longer effective in isolating one line from the other; the length of line in each coil should be about equal to a quarter wavelength at the lowest frequency to be used.

The principal application of such coils is in going from a 300-ohm balanced line to a 75-ohm coaxial line. This requires that the  $Z_0$  of the lines forming the coils be 150 ohms. Design data for winding the coils are not available; however, Equation 13-D can be used for determining the approximate wire spacing. Allowance should be made for the fact that the effective dielectric constant will be somewhat greater than 1 if the coil is wound on a form. The proximity effect between turns can be reduced by making the turn spacing somewhat larger than the conductor spacing. For operation at 3.5 Mc. and higher frequencies the length of each conductor should be about 60 feet. The conductor spacing can be adjusted to the proper value by terminating each line in a resistor equal to its characteristic impedance and adjusting the spacing until an s.w.r. bridge at the input end shows the line to be matched.

A balun of this type is simply a fixed-ratio transformer and does not make up for inaccurate



Fig. 13-24 — Baluns for matching between push-pull and single-ended circuits. The impedance ratio is 4 to 1 from the push-pull side to the unbalanced side. Coiling the lines as shown in the lower drawing increases the frequency range over which satisfactory operation is obtained.

matching elsewhere in the system. With a "300ohm" line on the balanced end, for example, a 75-ohm coax cable will not be matched unless the 300-ohm line actually is terminated in a 300-ohm load.

#### NONRADIATING LOADS

Important practical cases of nonradiating loads for a transmission line are the grid circuit of a power amplifier (considered in the chapter on transmitters), the input circuit of a receiver, and another transmission line. This last case includes the "antenna tuner" — a misnomer because it is actually a device for coupling a transmission line to the transmitter. Because of its importance in amateur installations, the antenna coupler is considered separately in a later section of this chapter.

#### Coupling to a Receiver

A good match between an antenna and its transmission line does not guarantee a low standing-wave ratio on the line when the antenna system is used for receiving. The s.w.r. is determined wholly by what the line "sees" at the receiver's antenna-input terminals. For minimum s.w.r. the receiver input circuit must be matched to the

### CHAPTER 13

line. The rated input impedance of a receiver is a nominal value that varies over a considerable range with frequency. Methods for bringing about a proper match are discussed in the chapter on receivers.

It should be noted that *if* the receiver is matched to the line, then it is desirable that the antenna and line also be matched, since this results in maximum signal transfer from the antenna to the line. If the receiver is *not* matched to the line, the input impedance of the line (at the terminals of the antenna itself) in turn eannot match the antenna impedance. In such a case the signal input to the receiver depends on the coupling system used between the line and the receiver. For greatest signal strength the coupling system has to be adjusted to the best compromise between reeeiver input impedance and load appearing at the input (antenna) end of the line. The proper adjustments must be determined by experiment.

A similar situation exists when the receiver input inpedance inherently matches the line  $Z_0$ , but the line and antenna are mismatched. Under these conditions perfect matching at the receiver does not result in greatest signal strength; a deliberate mismatch has to be introduced so that the maximum power will be taken from the antenna.

The most desirable condition is that in which the receiver is matched to the line  $Z_0$  and the line in turn is matched to the antenna. This transfers maximum power from the antenna to the receiver with the least loss in the transmission line.

### Coupling the Transmitter to the Line

The type of coupling system that will be needed to transfer power adequately from the final r.f. amplifier to the transmission line depends almost entirely on the input impedance of the line. As shown earlier in this chapter, the input impedance is determined by the standing-wave ratio and the line length. The simplest case is that where the line is terminated in its characteristic impedance so that the s.w.r. is 1 to 1 and the input impedance is merely the  $Z_0$  of the line, regardless of line length.

Coupling systems that will deliver power into a flat line are readily designed. For all practical purposes the line can be considered to be flat if the s.w.r. is no greater than about 1.5 to 1. That is, a coupling system designed to work into a pure resistance equal to the line  $Z_0$  will have enough leeway to take care of the small variations in input impedance that will occur when the line length is changed, if the s.w.r. is higher than 1 to 1 but no greater than 1.5 to 1.

Coupling circuits suitable for eoaxial lines are discussed in the chapter on transmitters. As stated in that chapter, an untuned "pick-up" or "link" coil connected directly to the transmission line should have an inductance such that the reactance at the operating frequency is approximately equal to the  $Z_0$  of the line, to assure adequate coupling to a line that is actually flat. While this condition is sometimes met well enough at the higher frequencies, at least for coaxial lines, by manufactured link coils, it is definitely not met when a parallel-conductor

line having a  $Z_0$  of 300 ohms or more is used. The optimum piek-up coil for coupling to such lines will have about the same inductance as the plate tank coil itself.

Amateurs are frequently successful in coupling power into a line even though the pick-up coil is quite small and is loosely coupled to the amplifier tank coil. When such coupling is possible it is an indication that the line is operating at a fairly high s.w.r. and that the line

length is such as to bring a current loop near the input end. It is eustomary to "prune" the line length in such cases until adequate coupling is secured — a practice that has given rise to the wholly fallacious belief, on the part of many, that pruning the line reduces the standing-wave ratio and that a flat line will load an amplifier with a small link and very loose coupling. Pruning the line accomplishes nothing if the line is actually flat because, as explained earlier in this chapter, the input impedance of a matched line is equal to its  $Z_0$  regardless of the line length. If the line is not flat, pruning changes the input impedance and eventually results in a value such that the link or pick-up coil is actually tuned to the operating frequency by the line, a condition that will give maximum power transfer with minimum coupling. The higher the s.w.r. the more loose the coupling can be. Although there is nothing inherently wrong with this method of adjustment, it works only when the s.w.r. is fairly high and will not work with a line that actually is flat.

#### Tuned Coupling

A tuned coupling circuit has the same advantages, when used with properly-terminated parallel-conductor lines, that were outlined in the transmitting chapter in connection with coaxial lines. The principles are the same as well, but a resistance of 300 to 600 ohms is too high to be connected in series with a tuned circuit. Consequently, parallel-tuned circuits must be used with



Fig. 13-25 — Tuned circuits for coupling to a flat parallel-conductor line. Values for  $C_1$  are given in Table 13-11;  $L_1$  is chosen to resonate with the value given at the operating frequency. In the alternative circuit the total inductance of  $L_1$ ,  $L_2$  and  $L_3$  should equal  $L_1$  in the circuit at the left.


Fig. 13-26 — Matching circuits using a coaxial link, for use with parallelconductor transmission lines. Adjustment set-up using an s.w.r. bridge is shown in the lower drawing. Design considerations and method of adjustment are discussed in the text.

these lines. Typical arrangements are shown in Fig. 13-25. The capacitance values given in Table 13-11 are for a Q of 2 and are the *minimum* values that should be used. The Q may be increased, permitting full power transfer with looser coupling between the coils, by increasing the capacitance and decreasing the inductance correspondingly to maintain resonance.

The capacitance values given are the total capacitance required, so if a balanced condenser is used as indicated at  $C_1$  in Fig. 13-25 each section of the condenser should have twice the capacitance given. A single-ended condenser may be used if care is taken to mount it far enough away from the chassis or any other grounded conductor so that the capacitance from stator and frame to ground is small. In such case the condenser should be tuned by an insulated extension shaft.

The series-tuned circuit shown in the transmitter chapter for coax line can be adapted to use with 75-ohm parallel-conductor line by using two variable condensers, one in each line conductor and each having twice the capacitance specified, and removing the ground connection. This is the best arrangement for maintaining balance to ground, but if reasonable eare is taken to mount the condenser as described in the preceding paragraph, a single condenser may be used. In that case the only circuit difference is that neither side of the line should be grounded.

#### Link Coupling

The coupling arrangements for parallel-conductor line shown in Fig. 13-25 are not entirely satisfactory from a constructional standpoint. It is usually more convenient to build the coupling apparatus separate from the final amplifier, and this leads to greater operating flexibility as well. For lines operating at a low standing-wave ratio this is easily accomplished by connecting the amplifier and coupling circuits through a short length of transmission line or "link." When properly designed and adjusted, the tuning of both circuits will be completely independent of the length of the line connecting them. This method has the further advantage that, if the connecting line is coaxial cable, it offers an ideal spot for the insertion of low-pass filters for preventing harmonic interference to television and FM reception.

The circuit for coax-link coupling is given in Fig. 13-26. The constants of the tuned circuit  $C_1 L_3$  are not particularly critical; the principal requirement is that the circuit must be capable of being tuned to the operating frequency. Constants similar to those used in the plate tank circuit will be satisfactory. The construction of  $L_3$  must be such that it can be tapped at least every turn,  $L_2$  must be tightly coupled to  $L_3$ , and the inductance of  $L_2$ should be approximately the value that gives a reactance

equal to the  $Z_0$  of the connecting line at the frequency in use. An average reactance of about 60 ohms will suffice for either 52- or 75-ohm coaxial line.

The coupling circuit at the amplifier end is merely designed and adjusted for working into a flat coaxial line, as described in the transmitter ehapter. Hence the adjustment of coupling at the output end  $(L_2L_3C_1)$  is entirely independent of the adjustment at the input end (tank circuit and  $L_1$ ).

When the system is properly designed and operated, the circuit formed by  $L_2L_3C_1$  acts purely as a matching device to transform the input impedance of the main transmission line to a value equal to the  $Z_0$  of the coaxial link.

The most satisfactory way to set up the system initially is to connect a coaxial s.w.r. bridge in the link as shown in Fig. 13-26, A simple resistance bridge such as is described in the chapter on measurements is perfectly adequate, requiring only that the transmitter output be reduced to a very low value so that the bridge will not be overloaded. Take a trial position of the line taps on  $L_3$ , keeping them equidistant from the center of the coil, and adjust  $C_1$  for minimum s.w.r. as indieated by the bridge. If the s.w.r. is not close to 1 to 1, try new tap positions and adjust  $C_1$  again, continuing this procedure until the s.w.r. is practically 1 to 1. The setting of  $C_1$  and the tap positions may then be logged for future reference, since they will not change so long as the antenna system and frequency are not changed. At this point, check the link s.w.r. over the frequency

		TABLE 13-II n µµfd. Required for ( a Flat Lines with Circuit	
1	Frequency	Characteristic I	mpedance of Line
L	Band	300	600
1	Mc.	ohms	ohms
Т	1.8	600	300
1	3.5	300	150
L	7	150	75
L	14	75	40
I	28	40	20
I		nee in eircuit must crating frequency.	be adjusted to

range normally used in that band, without ehanging the setting of  $C_1$ . No readjustment will be required if the s.w.r. does not exceed 1.5 to 1 over the range, but if it goes higher it is advisable to note as many settings of  $C_1$  as may be necessary to keep the s.w.r. below 1.5 to 1 at any part of the band. Changes in the link s.w.r. are eaused chiefly by changes in the s.w.r. on the main transmission line with frequency, and relatively little by the coupling eircuit itself. A single setting of  $C_1$  at midfrequency will suffice if the antenna itself is broad-tuning.

If it is impossible to get a 1-to-1 s.w.r. at any settings of the taps or  $C_1$ , the s.w.r. on the main transmission line is high and the line length is probably unfavorable. Ordinarily there should be no difficulty if the transmission-line s.w.r. is not more than about 3 to 1, but if the line s.w.r. is higher it may not be possible to bring the link s.w.r. down except by using the methods for reactance compensation described in a subsequent section.

The matching adjustment can be considerably facilitated by using a variable condenser in series with the matching-circuit coupling coil as shown in Fig. 13-27. The additional adjustment thus provided makes the tap settings on  $L_3$  much less critical since varying  $C_2$  has the effect of varying the coupling between the two circuits. For optimum control of coupling,  $L_2$  should be somewhat larger than when  $C_2$  is not used — perhaps twice the reactance recommended above - and the reactance of  $C_2$  at maximum capacitance should be the same as that of  $L_2$  at the operating frequency.  $L_3$  and  $C_1$  are the same as before. The method of adjustment is the same, except that for each trial tap position  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  are alternately adjusted, a little at a time, until the s.w.r. is brought to its lowest possible value. In general, the adjustment sought should be the one that keeps  $C_2$  at the largest possible capacitance, since this broadens the frequency response. Also, the taps on  $L_3$  should be kept as far apart as possible, while still permitting a match, since this also broadens the frequency response of the circuit.



Fig. 13.27 — Using a series condenser for control of coupling between the link and line circuits with the coax-coupled matching circuit.

Once the matching circuit is properly adjusted, the s.w.r. bridge may be removed and full power applied to the transmitter. The input should be controlled by the coupling between  $L_3$  and the amplifier tank coil, never by making any changes in the settings of the matching circuit. If the amplifier will not load properly, tuned coupling should be used into the coax link.

It is possible to use a circuit of this type without initially setting it up with the s.w.r. bridge. In such a case it is a matter of cut-and-try until adequate power transfer between the amplifier and main transmission line is secured. However, this method frequently results in a high s.w.r. in the link, with consequent power loss, "hot spots" in the coaxial cable, and tuning that is critical with frequency. The bridge method is simple and gives the optinum operating conditions quickly and with certainty.

### "TUNED" LINES

If the s.w.r. on a transmission line is high enough to cause the input impedance to change appreciably as the applied frequency is varied, the coupling between the transmitter and the line must be changed accordingly to keep the amplifier loading constant. So far as the coupling apparatus is concerned, the principal difference between flat and tuned lines is that the system can be designed for relatively constant impedance for flat lines, but must be capable of coupling into a wide range of impedances if the line is "tuned."

As mentioned earlier, a simple coil can be used for coupling to a line having a high standing-wave ratio providing the line length is adjusted so there is a current loop near the point where it connects to the pick-up coil. The coupling will be maximum, for a given degree of separation between the pick-up coil and the amplifier tank coil, if the line is pruned to a length such that the input impedance is just sufficiently capacitive to cancel the inductive reactance of the pick-up coil. This can be done by cut-and-try. The higher the s.w.r. on the line the easier it becomes to load the amplifier with loose coupling between the two coils. Whether or not good loading can be obtained over a band of frequencies depends on the characteristics of the antenna system. The sharper the antenna and the higher the line s.w.r. the more difficult it becomes to operate over a hand without progressively changing the line length.

### Series and Parallel Tuning

Rather than adjusting the line length to fit a given coupling coil, it is more practical to adjust the coupling circuit to fit the conditions existing at the input end of the transmission line.

A high standing-wave ratio occurs principally on parallel-conductor lines, either because no attempt has been made at matching the antenna and the line or because the system is used for multiband operation, which precludes such matching. In the latter case, cutting the line length to a multiple of a quarter wavelength will bring either a current or voltage loop near the input terminals of the transmission line (assuming that the antenna itself is resonant) depending on the termination and the line length. If there is a current loop near the input end the impedance will be lower than the line  $Z_0$ ; if a voltage loop, the input impedance will be higher than the line  $Z_0$ . In both cases the input impedances will be essentially resistive.

Under these conditions the circuit arrangements shown in Fig. 13-28 will work satisfactorily. Series tuning is used when a current loop occurs

### TRANSMISSION LINES



Fig. 13-28 — Series and parallel tuning. This method is useful with resonant lines when the length is such as to bring either a current or voltage loop near the input end. Design data and methods of adjustment are given in the text.

at the input end of the line; parallel tuning when there is a voltage loop at the input end. In the series case, the circuit formed by  $L_1$ ,  $C_1$  and  $C_2$ with the line terminals short-circuited should tune to the operating frequency.  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  should be maintained at equal capacitance. In the parallel case, the circuit formed by  $L_1$  and  $C_1$  should tune to resonance with the line disconnected.

The L/C ratio in either circuit depends on the transmission line  $Z_0$  and the standing-wave ratio. With series tuning, a high L/C ratio must be used if the s.w.r. is relatively low and the line  $Z_0$  is high. With parallel tuning, a low L/C ratio must be used if the s.w.r. is relatively low and the transmission-line  $Z_0$  also is low. With either series or parallel tuning the L/C ratio becomes less critical when the s.w.r. is high. As a first approximation, coil and condenser values of the same order as those used in the plate tank circuit may be tried.

To adjust the series-tuned circuit, first couple  $L_1$  loosely to the amplifier tank coil and then vary  $C_1$  and  $C_2$ , keeping their capacitances equal, until the setting is found that makes the amplifier plate current kick upward. Keep adjusting the amplifier tank condenser, C, for minimum plate current while this is being done. When the proper settings are found, increase the coupling between the two coils until the amplifier draws normal plate current with C adjusted for minimum. It is unnecessary to readjust  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  when the coupling is increased. Keep the coupling between the coils at the smallest value that will load the amplifier properly. If full loading cannot be obtained with the tightest possible coupling, use a eoil of more inductance at  $L_1$ .

The same adjustment procedure is used with parallel tuning, except that there is only one condenser,  $C_1$ . If full loading cannot be secured, reduce the inductance of  $L_1$  and increase  $C_1$  correspondingly to maintain the same frequency, until the amplifier loads properly.

The r.f. ammeters shown in Fig. 13-28 are not strictly necessary, but are useful for indicating

maximum output. They may be omitted if desired; in most cases the amplifier plate eurrent is a good enough indication of output, providing the amplifier is operating at normal ratings and efficiency.

In case full loading cannot be obtained even when the L/C ratio is varied, the type of tuning in use probably is not suitable and should be changed; e.g., from series to parallel. If satisfactory loading still cannot be secured, the probability is that the s.w.r. is quite low and the coupling methods designed for flat lines, described earlier, should be used.

Two condensers are used in the series-tuned circuit in order to keep the line balanced to ground. This is because two identical condensers, both connected with either their

stators or rotors to the line, will have the same capacitance to ground. A single condenser would be perfectly usable so far as the operation of the coupling circuit is concerned, but will slightly unbalance the circuit because the frame has more capacitanee to ground than the stator. The unbalance is not especially serious unless the condenser is mounted near a large mass of metal, such as a chassis or shield assembly.

A balaneed condenser is used in the parallel eircuit, in preference to a single unit, for the same reason. An alternative scheme to maintain balance is to use two single-ended condensers in parallel, but with the frame of one connected to one side of the line and the frame of the other connected to the other side of the line. The same two condensers may be switched in series when series tuning is to be used.

#### Link Coupling

The circuits shown in Fig. 13-28 require a means for varying the coupling between two sizable eoils, a thing that is somewhat inconvenient constructionally. It is easier to use separate fixed mountings for the final tank and antenna coils and couple them by means of a link. As explained in the chapter on circuit fundamentals, a *short* link is equivalent to providing mutual inductance between two tuned circuits. Typical arrangements for series and parallel tuning are shown in Fig. 13-29. Although these drawings show variable coupling at both ends of the link, a fixed link coil can be used at either end so long as variable coupling is available at the other.

There is no essential difference between the tuning procedures with these circuits and those of Fig. 13-28. The only change is that the coupling is adjusted by means of a link instead of by varying the spacing between L and  $L_1$ .

In cases where the link will be more than a few inehes long, or when coaxial eable is to be used for the link, it is much better to consider the link as a transmission line that should be properly matched. The circuit of Fig. 13-26 is recommended in that case, except that either a series- or parallel-tuned circuit is substituted for  $C_1L_3$  in that figure. The same considerations apply with respect to the sizes of the link coils, and the best adjustment procedure is that using an s.w.r. bridge.

### Lines of Random Length

Series or parallel tuning will always work satisfactorily with lines having a high standing-wave ratio so long as the electrical length of the line is approximately a multiple of a quarter wavelength. However, it is not always possible to couple satisfactorily when intermediate line lengths are used. This is because at some lengths the input impedance of the line has a considerable reactive component, and because the resistive component is too large to be connected in series with a tuned circuit and too low to be connected in parallel.

The coupling system shown in Fig. 13-26 is capable of handling the resistive component of the input impedance of the transmission lines used in most amateur installations, regardless of the standing-wave ratio on the line. Consequently, it can generally be used wherever either series or parallel tuning would normally be called for, simply by setting the taps properly on the coil. (A possible exception is where the s.w.r. is considerably higher than 10 to 1 and the line length is such as to bring a current loop at the input end. In such a case the resistance may be only a few ohms, which is difficult to match by means of taps on a coil.)

Within limits, the same circuit is capable of being adjusted to compensate for the reactive component of the input impedance; this merely means that a 1-to-1 s.w.r. in the link will be obtained at a different setting of  $C_1$  (Fig. 13-26) than would be the case if the line "looked like" a pure resistance. Sometimes, however,  $C_1$  does not have enough range available to give complete compensation, particularly when (as is the case with some line lengths when the s.w.r. is high) the input impedance is principally reactive.

Under such conditions it is necessary, if the line length cannot be changed to a more satisfactory value, to provide additional means for compensating for or "canceling out" the reactive component of the input impedance. As described



Fig. 13-30 — Reactance cancellation on random-length lines having a high standing-wave ratio.



Fig. 13-29 - Link-coupled series and parallel tuning.

earlier in this chapter (Fig. 13-6) the input impedance can be considered to be equivalent to a circuit consisting either of resistance and inductance or resistance and capacitance. It is generally more convenient to consider these elements as a parallel combination, so if the line "looks like" L'R' at A in Fig. 13-6, it is apparent that if we connect a capacitance of the right value across L' the circuit will become resonant and will appear to be a pure resistance of the value  $\hat{R}'$ . Similarly, connecting an inductance of the right value across C' in Fig. 13-6B will resonate the circuit and the impedance will be equal to R'. The resistive impedance that remains can easily be matched to the coax link by means of the circuit of Fig. 13-26.

The practical application of this principle is shown in Fig. 13-30, where L and C are the reactances required to cancel out the line reactance, L for cases where the line is capacitive, C for lines having inductive reactance. The amount of either inductance or capacitance required is easily determined by trial. Using the s.w.r. bridge in the coax link, first disconnect the main transmission line and connect a noninductive resistor to the line terminals, A 1/2- or 1-watt carbon resistor of about the same resistance as the line  $Z_0$  will do. Adjust the coil taps and  $C_1$  for a 1-to-1 standingwave ratio in the link, as described earlier. This determines the proper setting of  $C_1$  for a purely resistive load, Then take off the resistor and connect the line, again adjusting the taps and  $C_1$  for minimum s.w.r. If a 1-to-1 ratio can be obtained further compensation is not needed, but if not, make the s.w.r, as low as possible and compare the new setting of  $C_1$  with the original setting. If the capacitance has increased, the line reactance is inductive and a condenser must be connected at C in Fig. 13-30. The amount of capacitance needed to bring the proper setting of  $C_1$  near the original setting can be determined by trial. On the other hand, if the capacitance of  $C_1$  is less than the original, an inductance must be connected at L. Trial values will show when the proper tuning conditions have been reached. It is not necessary

### TRANSMISSION LINES

that  $C_1$  be at exactly the original setting after the compensating reactance has been adjusted; it is sufficient that it be somewhere in the same vicinity.

Using this procedure practically any length of line can be coupled properly to the transmitter,

### **Coupler or Matching-Circuit Construction**

The design of matching or "antenna coupler" circuits has been covered in the preceding section, and the adjustment procedure also has been outlined. Since circuits of this type are most frequently used for transferring power from the transmitter to a parallel-conductor transmission line, a principal point requiring attention is that of maintaining good balance to ground. If the coupler circuit is appreciably unbalanced the currents in the two wires of the transmission line will also be unbalanced, resulting in radiation from the line.

In most cases the matching circuit will be built on a metal chassis, following common practice in the construction of transmitting units. The chassis, because of its relatively large area, will tend to establish a "ground" — even though not actually grounded — particularly if it is assembled with other units of the transmitter in a rack or cabinet. The components used in the coupler, therefore, should be placed so that they are electrically symmetrical with respect to the chassis and to each other.

In general, the construction of a coupler circuit should physically resemble the tank layouts used with push-pull amplifiers. In parallel-tuned circuits a split-stator condenser should be used. The condenser frame should be insulated from the chassis because, depending on line length and other factors, harmonic reduction and line balance may be improved in some cases by grounding and in others by not grounding. It is therefore advisable to adopt construction that permits either. Provision also should be made for grounding the center of the coil, for the same reason. The coil in a parallel-tuned circuit should be mounted so that its hot ends are symmetrically placed with respect to the chassis and other components. This equalizes stray capacitances and helps maintain good balance.

When the coupler is of the type that can be shifted to series or parallel tuning as required, two separate single-ended condensers will be satisfactory. As described earlier, they should be connected so that both frames go to the same side of the circuit — i.e., either to the coil or to the line — for series tuning, and when used in parallel for parallel tuning should be connected frame-to-stator.

A coupler designed and adjusted so that the connecting link acts as a matched transmission line may be placed in any convenient location. Some amateurs prefer to install the coupler at the point where the main transmission line enters the station. This helps maintain a neat station layeven when the line s.w.r. is quite high. Unfortunately, no specific values can be suggested for L and C, since they vary widely with line length and s.w.r. Their values usually are comparable with the values used in the regular coupling circuits at the same frequency.

out when an air-insulated parallel-conductor transmission line is used. With solid-dielectric lines, which lend themselves well to neat installation indoors, it is probably more desirable to install the coupler where it can be reached easily for adjustment and band-changing. The use of coaxial line between the transmitter and coupler is strongly recommended if the link line is more than a few inches long, for the reasons outlined in the preceding section.

### COAX-COUPLED MATCHING CIRCUIT

The matching unit shown in Fig. 13-31 is constructed according to the design principles outlined earlier in this chapter. It uses a paralleltuned circuit with taps for matching a parallelconductor line through a link coil to a coaxial line to the transmitter. It will handle about 500



Fig. 13-31 — A coax-coupled matching circuit of simple construction. The entire circuit is mounted on a 3 by 4 by 5 box.  $C_1$  is inside;  $C_2$  and the plug-in coil assembly are mounted on top.

watts of r.f. power and will work, without modification, into lines having an s.w.r. below 3 or 4 to 1. If the s.w.r. is high, it may be necessary to compensate for the reactive part of the input impedance of the line, at certain line lengths, by using an additional coil or condenser as discussed earlier. The necessity for such compensation can be avoided, on lines having a high s.w.r., by making the electrical length of the line a multiple of a quarter wavelength.

As shown by the circuit diagram, Fig. 13-32, the link circuit is adjusted by means of a variable condenser,  $C_1$ , to facilitate matching the main transmission line to the coax link. The coils are constructed from commercially-available coil material, and the link inductances are chosen to provide adequate coupling for flat lines. The link coil, of smaller diameter than the tank coil, is mounted inside the latter at the center. Duco cement is used to hold the coils together at their bottom tie strips. The coils are mounted on Millen type 40305 plugs and require no other support than the stiffness of the short lengths of wire going into the end prongs of the plug from the tank coil. Short lengths of spaghetti tubing are slipped over the leads to the link coil where they go between the tank coil turns to reach the plug.

Taps on the tank coil for connection to a parallel-conductor transmission line are made by bending ordinary soldering lugs around the wire and soldering them in place. The clips are Johnson type 235-860, adjusted so that they fit snugly over the taps when pushed on sidewise. Used this way, the clips provide an easy and rapid method of connecting and disconnecting the line. The proper positions for the taps may be determined by first using the clips in the normal fashion.

The maximum length of coil that can be mounted satisfactorily on the plugs is about 4 inches, and a coil of this size cannot be tuned to the 3.5-Me, band with the  $100-\mu\mu$ fd.-per-section split-stator condenser used in this unit. To cover the 3.5-Me, band it is necessary to shunt the coil with an additional capacitance of about 75  $\mu\mu$ fd.

The matching circuit should be adjusted with the aid of an s.w.r. bridge, as described earlier in this chapter. In general, the tuning will be less

### **CHAPTER 13**



Fig. 13-32 — Circuit diagram of the coax-coupled matching circuit.

 $C_1 = 300$ - $\mu\mu$ fd, variable, approximately 0.024" spacing,  $C_2 = 100$   $\mu\mu$ fd, per section, 1500 volts (National TMK-100D).

J<sub>1</sub> — Chassis-type coax connector.

	Coil Data	
Band	L <sub>1</sub> , turns	L <sub>2</sub> . turns
3.5 Me.*	24 (17 μh.)	10 (5 µh.)
7 Me.	18 (12 μh.)	6 (2.5 µh.)
14 Me.	$10 (5 \ \mu h_{\star})$	3 (1 µh.)
21-28 Me,	6 (2.5 μh.)	2

\* Add 75  $\mu\mu$ fd, in parallel with  $C_2$ .

 $L_1 \rightarrow No. 12$  tinned wire,  $2\frac{1}{2}$  inches dia., 6 turns per inch (B & W 3905-1).

L<sub>2</sub> — No. 16 wire, 2 inches dia., 10 turns per inch (B & W 3907 or 3907-1).

critical, and the circuit will work over a wider frequency range without readjustment, if the taps are kept as far toward the ends of the coil as possible and  $C_1$  is set at the largest capacitance that will permit bringing the s.w.r. in the coax link down to 1 to 1.

### A "UNIVERSAL" MATCHING CIRCUIT

The matching circuit shown in Fig. 13-33 offers considerable flexibility in that it can be used as a tapped-coil matching network of the same type as that just described, and also can be used as either a series- or parallel-tuned "antenna coupler." It can also be adapted to other types of coupling by simple changes in the plug-connection arrangement of the coils.

Two condensers are used in the tank circuit. Their rotors are insulated from each other but are turned simultaneously by a right-angle drive unit. When used either for parallel tuning or the tapped-coil method of matching, the rotors are connected together to form a split-stator condenser having a maximum capacitance of 150



•

Fig. 13-33 - A coupler or matching network that can also be used for series or parallel tuning of tuned lines.

World Radio History

### TRANSMISSION LINES



Fig. 13-34 - Circuit diagram of the "universal" coaxcoupled matching network. For use as a tapped matching circuit, connect the line to taps on  $L_1$ , as at A-B, and connect the jumper, N, to A-B; the jumper is also used for parallel tuning but with the line connected to  $E \cdot F$ . For series tuning, remove the jumper and connect the line to C.D. The ground connection to the middle prong of the coil socket is provided for cases where it is desirable to ground the center of  $L_{1}$ .

C<sub>1</sub> — 300-μμfd. variable, approximately 0.024" spacing. C<sub>2</sub>, C<sub>3</sub> — 300-μμfd. variable, 1000 volts (National TMS-300).

Chassis-type coax connector,

	Coil Data	
Band	L <sub>1</sub> , turns	L <sub>2</sub> , turns
3.5–7 Mc.	20 (14 µh.)	10 (5 µh.)
7-14 Me.	10 $(5 \ \mu h_{\star})$	$6 (2.5 \ \mu h.)$
1.1_98 Mc	.t (1 5 b)	.,

No. 12 tinned wire, 2½ inches dia., 6 turns per inch (B & W 3905-1).
No. 16 wire, 2 inches dia., 10 turns per inch

(B & W 3907 or 3907-1).

 $\mu\mu$ fd. When used for series tuning the condenser frames connect to the parallel-conductor transmission line, the jumper that connects the rotors together being removed.

The unit is built on a 7 by 9 by 2 aluminum chassis and has a 7 by 10 panel. The tank condensers are mounted on small aluminum plates supported on 34-inch stand-off insulators, to insulate the frames from the chassis; this method is preferable to mounting the condensers directly on the insulators as it lessens the mechanical strain on the latter. The soldering lugs projecting from the condensers provide means for connecting the line clips for series and parallel tuning. The jumper for connecting the rotors together is in the foreground; it uses banana plugs that fit into jacks mounted on the condenser mounting plates. The link condenser is located underneath the chassis.

The coils shown are designed primarily for use in the tapped matching circuit or for parallel tuning, but will also be satisfactory for series tuning if the transmission line length is such as to bring a current loop near the input end. Coil taps are made in the same way as in the coupler previously described. Soldering lugs are also used as taps on  $C_2$  and  $C_3$  to make the necessary connections for series or parallel tuning. Because of the fairly large value of maximum capacitance available when the tank condensers,  $C_2$  and  $C_3$ , are used together as a split-stator condenser, it is possible to cover a 2-to-1 frequency range. Consequently, only three coil assemblies are needed to cover the 3.5- to 30-Mc, range, and each one can be used for two (in the case of the smallest coil, three) adjacent amateur bands.

As a tapped matching circuit, adjustment is the same as for the unit just described. When using either series or parallel tuning, the s.w.r. bridge should be used as before, adjusting  $C_1$  and  $C_2$ - $C_3$  for minimum s.w.r. in the coax link.

# Antennas

An antenna system can be considered to inelude the antenna proper (the portion that radiates the r.f. energy), the feedline, and any coupling devices used for transferring power from the transmitter to the line and from the line to the antenna. Some simple systems may omit the transmission line or one or both of the coupling devices. This chapter will describe the antenna proper, and in many cases will show popular types of lines, as well as line-toantenna couplings where they are required. However, it should be kept in mind that any antenna proper can be used with any type of feedline if a suitable coupling is used between the antenna and the line. Changing the line does not change the type of antenna.

### Selecting an Antenna

In selecting the type of antenna to use, the majority of amateurs are somewhat limited through space and structural limitations to simple antenna systems, except for v.h.f. operation where the small space requirements make the use of multielement beams readily possible. This chapter will consider antennas for frequencies as high as 30 Mc. - a later chapter will describe the popular types of v.h.f. antennas. However, even though the available space may be limited, it is well to consider the propagation characteristics of the frequency band or bands to be used, to insure that best possible use is made of the available facilities. The propagation characteristics of the various bands, up to 30 Mc., are described in Chapter Four. In general, antenna construction and location become more critical and important on the higher frequencies. On the lower frequencies (3.5 and 7 Mc.) the vertical angle of radiation and the plane of polarization may be of relatively little importance; at 28 Mc, they may be all-important. On a given frequency, the particular type of antenna best suited for long-distance communication may not be as good for shorter-range work as would a different type.

### Definitions

The important properties of an antenna proper are its polarization, vertical and horizontal angles of maximum radiation, impedance, gain and bandwidth.

The polarization of a straight-wire antenna is determined by its position with respect to the earth. Thus a vertical antenna radiates vertically-polarized waves, while a horizontal antenna radiates horizontally-polarized waves in a direction broadside to the wire and vertically-polarized waves at high vertical angles off the ends of the wire. The wave from an antenna in a slanting position, or from the horizontal antenna in directions other than mentioned above, contains both horizontal and vertical components.

The vertical angle of maximum radiation of an antenna is determined by the free-space pattern of the antenna, its height above ground, and the nature of the ground. The angle is measured in a vertical plane with respect to a tangent to the earth at that point, and it will usually vary with the horizontal angle, except in the case of a simple vertical antenna. The horizontal angle of maximum radiation of an antenna is determined by the free-space pattern of the antenna.

The impedance of the antenna at any point is the ratio of the voltage to the current at that point. It is important in connection with feeding power to the antenna, since it constitutes the load to the line offered by the antenna. It can be either resistive or complex, depending upon whether or not the antenna is resonant.

The field strength produced by an antenna is proportional to the current flowing in it. When there are standing waves on an antenna, the parts of the wire carrying the higher current have the greater radiating effect. All resonant antennas have standing waves — only terminated types, like the terminated rhombic and terminated "V," have substantially uniform current along their lengths.

The ratio of power required to produce a given field strength, with a "comparison" antenna, to the power required to produce the same field strength with a specified type of antenna is called the **power gain** of the latter antenna. The field is measured in the optimum direction of the antenna under test. In amateur work, the comparison antenna is generally a half-wave antenna at the same height and having the same polarization as the antenna under consideration. Power gain usually is expressed in decibels.

In unidirectional beams (antenna systems with maximum radiation in only one direction) the front-to-back ratio is the ratio of power radiated in the maximum direction to power radiated in the opposite direction. It is also a measure of the reduction in received signal when the beam direction is changed from that for maximum response to the opposite

### ANTENNAS

direction. Front-to-back ratio is usually expressed in decibels.

The **bandwidth** of an antenna generally refers to the frequency range over which the

### Ground Effects

The radiation pattern of any antenna that is many wavelengths distant from the ground and all other objects is called the free-space pattern of that antenna. The free-space pattern of an antenna is almost impossible to obtain in practice, except in the v.h.f. and u.h.f. ranges. Below 30 Mc., the location of the antenna with respect to ground plays an important part in determining the actual radiation pattern of the antenna.

When any antenna is near the ground the free-space pattern is modified by reflection of radiated waves from the ground, so that the actual pattern is the resultant of the free-space pattern and ground reflections. This resultant is dependent upon the height of the antenna, its position or orientation with respect to the surface of the ground, and the electrical eharacteristics of the ground. The effect of a perfectly-reflecting ground is such that the



Fig. 14-1 — Effect of ground on radiation of horizontal antennas at vertical angles for four antenna heights. This chart is based on perfectly-conducting ground.

original free-space field strength may be multiplied by a factor which has a maximum value of 2, for complete reinforcement, and having all intermediate values to zero, for complete cancellation. These reflections only affect the radiation pattern in the vertical plane — that is, in directions upward from the earth's surface — and not in the horizontal plane, or the usual geographical directions.

Fig. 14-1 shows how the multiplying factor varies with the vertical angle for several representative heights for horizontal antennas, As the height is increased the angle at which complete reinforcement takes place is lowered, until for a height equal to one wavelength it occurs at a vertical angle of 15 degrees. At still gain and impedance are substantially constant. It is of importance primarily in connection with multiclement beams fed by a "flat" transmission line.

greater heights, not shown on the chart, the first maximum will occur at still smaller angles.

#### **Radiation Angle**

The vertical angle of maximum radiation, is of primary importance, especially at the higher frequencies. It is advantageous, therefore, to erect the antenna at a height that will take advantage of ground reflection in such a way as to reinforce the space radiation at the most desirable angle. Since low angles usually are most effective, this generally means that the antenna should be high - at least one-half wavelength at 14 Mc., and preferably three-quarters or one wavelength, and at least one wavelength, and preferably higher, at 28 Mc. The physical height required for a given height in wavelengths decreases as the frequency is increased, so that good heights are not impracticable; a half-wavelength at 14 Mc. is only 35 feet, approximately, while the same height represents a full wavelength at 28 Mc. At 7 Mc. and lower frequencies the higher radiation angles are effective, so that again a useful antenna height is not difficult of attainment. Heights between 35 and 70 feet are suitable for all bands, the higher figures being preferable.

### Imperfect Ground

Fig. 14-1 is based on ground having perfect conductivity, whereas the actual earth is not a perfect conductor. The principal effect of actual ground is to make the curves inaccurate at the lowest angles; appreciable high-frequency radiation at angles smaller than a few degrees is practically impossible to obtain over horizontal ground. Above 15 degrees, however, the curves are accurate enough for all practical purposes, and may be taken as indicative of the result to be expected at angles between 5 and 15 degrees.

The effective ground plane — that is, the plane from which ground reflections can be considered to take place — seldom is the actual surface of the ground but is a few feet below it, depending upon the character of the soil.

#### Impedance

Waves that are reflected directly upward from the ground induce a current in the antenna in passing, and, depending on the antenna height, the phase relationship of this induced current to the original current may be such as either to increase or decrease the total current in the antenna. For the same power input to the antenna, an increase in current is equivalent to a decrease in impedance, and vice versa. Hence, the impedance of the autenna varies with height. The theoretical curve of variation of radiation resistance for an antenna above perfectly-reflecting ground is shown in Fig. 14-2. The impedance approaches the free-space value as the height becomes large, but at low heights may differ considerably from it.

### **Choice of Polarization**

Polarization of the transmitting antenna is generally unimportant on frequencies between 3.5 and 30 Mc. However, the question of whether the antenna should be installed in a horizontal or vertical position deserves consideration for other reasons. A vertical halfwave or quarter-wave antenna will radiate equally well in all *horizontal* directions, so that it is substantially nondirectional, in the usual sense of the word. If installed horizontally, however, the antenna will tend to show direction at right angles, or broadside, to the wire. The radiation in such a case will be least in the direction toward which the wire points.

The vertical angle of radiation also will be

### The Half-Wave Antenna

The fundamental form of antenna is a single wire whose length is approximately equal to half the transmitting wavelength. It is the unit from which many more-complex forms of antennas are constructed. It is variously known as a half-wave dipole, half-wave doublet, or Hertz antenna.

The length of a half-wavelength in space is:

Length (feet) = 
$$\frac{492}{Freq. (Me.)}$$
 (14-A)

The actual length of a half-wave antenna will not be exactly equal to the half-wave in space, but depends upon the thickness of the conductor in relation to the wavelength as shown in Fig. 14-3, where K is a factor that must be multiplied by the half-wavelength in free space to obtain the resonant antenna length. An additional shortening effect occurs



Fig. 14-3 — Effect of antenna diameter on length for half-wave resonance, shown as a multiplying factor, K, to be applied to the free-space half-wavelength (Equation 14-A). The effect of conductor diameter on the impedance measured at the center also is shown.

### **CHAPTER 14**



Fig. 14-2 — Theoretical curve of variation of radiation resistance for a half-wave horizontal antenna, as a function of height in wavelength above perfectly-reflecting ground.

affected by the position of the antenna. If it were not for ground losses at high frequencies, the vertical half-wave antenna would be preferred because it would concentrate the radiation horizontally.

with wire antennas supported by insulators at the ends because of the capacitance added to the system by the insulators (end effect). The following formula is sufficiently accurate for wire antennas at frequencies up to 30 Mc.:

Length of half-wave antenna (feet) =  

$$\frac{492 \times 0.95}{Freq. (Me.)} = \frac{468}{Freq. (Me.)}$$
(14-B)

Example: A half-wave antenna for 7150 ke, (7.15 Mc.) is  $\frac{408}{7.15} = 65.45$  feet, or 65 feet 5 inches.

Above 30 Mc. the following formulas should be used, particularly for antennas constructed from rod or tubing. K is taken from Fig. 14-3.

Length of half-wave antenna (feet) 
$$=$$

$$\frac{492 \times K}{Freq. (Mc.)}$$
 (14-C)

or length (inches) = 
$$\frac{5905 \times K}{Freq. (Mc.)}$$
 (14-D)

Example: Find the length of a half-wavelength antenna at 20 Mc., if the antenna is made of 2inch diameter tubing. At 20 Mc., a half-wavelength in space is  $\frac{492}{29} = 16.97$  feet, from Eq. 14-A. Ratio of half-wavelength to conductor diameter (changing wavelength to inches) is  $\frac{16.97 \times 12}{2} = 101.8$ . From Fig. 14-3, K = 0.963for this ratio. The length of the antenna, from Eq. 14-C, is  $\frac{492 \times 0.963}{29} = 16.34$  feet, or 16 feet 4 inches. The answer is obtained directly in inches by substitution in Eq. 14-D:  $\frac{5905 \times 0.963}{29}$ = 196 inches.



### **Current and Voltage Distribution**

When power is fed to a half-wave antenna, the current and voltage vary along its length. The current is maximum at the center and nearly zero at the ends, while the opposite is true of the r.f. voltage. The current does not actually reach zero at the current nodes, because of the end effect; similarly, the voltage is not zero at its node because of the resistance of the antenna, which consists of both the r.f. resistance



Fig. 14-5 — The free-space radiation pattern of a halfwave antenna. The antenna is shown in the vertical position. This is a cross-section of the solid pattern described by the figure when rotated on its vertical axis. The "doughnut" form of the solid pattern can be more easily visualized by imagining the drawing glued to a piece of eardboard, with a short length of wire fastened on it to represent the antenna. Twirling the wire will give a visual representation of the solid radiation pattern.

of the wire (*ohmic resistance*) and the radiation resistance. The radiation resistance is an *equivalent* resistance, a convenient conception to indicate the radiation properties of an antenna. The radiation resistance is the equivalent resistance that would dissipate the power the antenna radiates, with a current flowing in it equal to the antenna current at a current loop (maximum). The ohmic resistance of a half-wavelength antenna is ordinarily small enough, in comparison with the radiation re-



Fig. 14-6 — Illustrating the importance of vertical angle of radiation in determining antenna directional effects. Off the end, the radiation is greater at higher angles. Ground reflection is neglected in this drawing of the free-space pattern of a horizontal antenna, sistance, to be neglected for all practical purposes.

#### Impedance

The radiation resistance of an infinitelythin half-wave antenna in free space — that is, sufficiently removed from surrounding objects so that they do not affect the antenna's characteristics — is 73 ohms, approximately. The value under practical conditions is commonly taken to be in the neighborhood of 70 ohms. It is pure resistance, and is measured at the center of the antenna. The impedance is minimum at the center, where it is equal to the radiation resistance, and increases toward the ends. The actual value at the ends will depend on a number of factors, such as the height, the physical construction, the insulators at the ends, and the position with respect to ground.

#### Conductor Size

The impedance of the antenna also depends upon the diameter of the conductor in relation to the wavelength, as shown in Fig. 14-3. If the diameter of the conductor is made large, the capacitance per unit length increases and the inductance per unit length decreases. Since the radiation resistance is affected relatively little, the decreased L/C ratio causes the Q of the antenna to decrease, so that the resonance curve becomes less sharp. Hence, the antenna is capable of working over a wide frequency range. This effect is greater as the diameter is increased, and is a property of some importance at the very-high frequencies where the wavelength is small.



Fig. 14-7 — Horizontal pattern of a horizontal halfwave antenna at three vertical radiation angles. The solid line is relative radiation at 15 degrees. Dotted lines show deviation from the 15-degree pattern for angles of 9 and 30 degrees. The patterns are useful for shape only, since the amplitude will depend upon the height of the antenna above ground and the vertical angle considered. The patterns for all three angles have been proportioned to the same scale, but this does not mean that the maximum amplitudes necessarily will be the same. The arrow iadicates the direction of the horizontal antenna wire.

### **Radiation Characteristics**

The radiation from a half-wave antenna is not uniform in all directions but varies with the angle with respect to the axis of the wire. It is most intense in directions perpendicular to the wire and zero along the direction of the wire, with intermediate values at intermediate angles. This is shown by the sketch of Fig. 14-5, which represents the radiation pattern in free space. The relative intensity of radiation is proportional to the length of a line drawn from the center of the figure to the perimeter. If the antenna is vertical, as shown in the figure, then the field strength will be uniform in all horizontal directions; if the antenna is horizontal, the relative field strength will depend upon the direction of the receiving point with respect to the direction of the antenna wire. The variation in radiation at various vertical angles from a half-wavelength horizontal antenna is indicated in Figs. 14-6 and 14-7.

### FEEDING THE HALF-WAVE ANTENNA

### Direct Feed

If possible, it is advisable to locate the antenna at least a half-wavelength from the transmitter and use a transmission line to carry the power from the transmitter to the



Fig. 14-8 — Methods of directly exciting the half-wave antenna. A, current feed, series tuning; B, voltage feed, capacitive coupling; C, voltage feed, with inductively-coupled antenna tank. In A, the coupling circuit is not included in the effective electrical length of the antenna system proper.

antenna. However, in many cases this is impossible, particularly on the lower frequencies, and direct feed must be used. Three examples of direct feed are shown in Fig. 14-8. In the method shown at A,  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  should be about 150  $\mu\mu$ fd. each for the 3.5-Mc. band, 75  $\mu\mu$ fd. each at 7 Mc., and proportionately smaller at the higher frequencies. The antenna coil connected between them should resonate to 3.5 Me, with about 60 or 70 µµfd., for the 80meter band, for 40 meters it should resonate with 30 or 35  $\mu\mu$ fd., and so on. The circuit is adjusted by using loose coupling between the antenna coil and the transmitter tank coil and adjusting  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  until resonance is indicated by an increase in plate current. The coupling between the coils should then be increased until proper plate current is drawn. It may be necessary to reresonate the transmitter tank circuit as the coupling is increased, but the change should be small.

The circuits in Fig. 14-8B and C are used when only one end of the antenna is accessible. In B, the coupling is adjusted by moving the tap toward the "hot" or plate end of the tank coil — the condenser C may be of any convenient value that will stand the voltage, and it doesn't have to be variable. In the circuit at C, the antenna tuned circuit ( $C_1$  and the antenna coil) should be similar to the transmitter tank circuit. The antenna tuned circuit is adjusted to resonance with the antenna connected but with loose coupling to the transmitter. Heavier loading of the tube is then obtained by tightening the coupling between the antenna coil and the transmitter tank coil.

Of the three systems, that at A is preferable because it is a symmetrical system and generally results in less r.f. power "floating" around the shack. The system of B is undesirable because it provides practically no protection against the radiation of harmonics, and it should only be used in emergencies,

### Transmission-Line Feed for Half-Wave Antennas

Since the impedance at the center of a halfwavelength antenna is in the vicinity of 75 ohms, it offers a good match for 75-ohm twowire transmission lines. Several types are available on the market, with different powerhandling capabilities. They can be connected in the center of the antenna, across a small strain insulator to provide a convenient connection point. Coaxial line of 75 ohms impedance can also be used, but it is heavier and thus not as convenient. In either case, the transmission line should be run away at right angles to the antenna for at least one-quarter wavelength, if possible, to avoid current unbalance in the line caused by pick-up from the antenna. The antenna length is calculated from Equation 14-B, for a half-wavelength antenna. When No. 12 or No. 14 enameled wire is used for the antenna, as is generally the case, the length of the wire is the over-all length measured from the loop through the insulator at each end. This is illustrated in Fig. 14-9.

The use of 75-ohm line results in a "flat" line over most of any amateur band. However, by making the half-wave antenna in a special manner, called the **two-wire** or folded dipole, a good match is offered for a 300-ohm line. Such an antenna is shown in Fig. 14-10. The open-wire line shown in Fig. 14-10 is made of



Fig. 14.9 - Construction of a half-wave doublet fed with 75-ohm line. The length of the antenna is calculated from Equation 14-B or Fig. 14-4.

### ANTENNAS



Fig. 14-10 — The construction of an open-wire folded doublet fed with 300-ohm line. The length of the antenna is calculated from Equation 14-B or Fig. 14-4.

No. 12 or No. 14 enameled wire, separated by lightweight spacers of Lucite or other material (it doesn't have to be a *low-loss* insulating material), and the spacing can be on the order of from 4 to 8 inches, depending upon what is convenient and what the operating frequency is. At 14 Mc., 4-inch separation is satisfactory, and 8-inch or even greater spacing can be used at 3.5 Mc.

The half-wavelength antenna can also be made from the proper length of 300-ohm line, opened on one side in the center and connected to the feedline. After the wires have been soldered together, the joint can be strengthened by molding some of the excess insulating material (polyethylene) around the joint with a hot iron, or a suitable lightweight clamp of two pieces of Lucite can be devised.



Fig. 14-11 — The construction of a 3-wire folded dipole is similar to that of the 2-wire folded dipole. The end spacers may have to be slightly stronger than the others because of the greater compression force on them. The length of the antenna is obtained from Equation 14-B or Fig. 14-4. A suitable line can be made from No. 14 wire spaced  $4\frac{1}{2}$  to 5 inches, or from No. 12 wire spaced 6 inches.

Similar in some respects to the two-wire folded dipole, the three-wire folded dipole of Fig. 14-11 offers a good match for a 600-ohm line. It is favored by amatcurs who prefer to use an open-wire transmission line instead of the 300-ohm insulated line. The three wires of the antenna proper should all be of the same diameter.

Another method for offering a match to a 600-ohm open-wire line with a half-wavelength antenna is shown in Fig. 14-12. The system is called a **delta match**. The line is "fanned" as it approaches the antenna, to have a gradually-increasing impedance that equals the antenna impedance at the point of connection. The dimensions are fairly critical, but careful measurement before installing the antenna and matching section is generally all that is necessary. The length of the antenna, L, is calculated from Equation 14-B or Fig. 14-4. The length of section C is computed from:

$$C \text{ (feet)} = \frac{118}{Freq. (Me.)}$$
 (14-E)

The feeder clearance, E, is found from

$$E \text{ (feet)} = \frac{148}{Freq. (Mc.)}$$
 (14-F)

Example: For a frequency of 7.1 Mc., the length

 $L = \frac{468}{7.1} = 65.91$  feet, or 65 feet 11 inches.

- $C = \frac{118}{7.1} = 16.62$  feet, or 16 feet 7 inches.
- $E = \frac{148}{7.1} = 20.84$  feet, or 20 feet 10 inches.



Fig. 14-12 — Delta-matched antenna system. The dimensions C, D, and E are found by formulas given in the text. It is important that the matching section, E, come straight away from the autenna without any bends.

Since the equations hold only for 600-ohm line, it is important that the line be close to this value. This requires  $4\frac{3}{4}$ -inch spaced No. 14 wire, 6-inch spaced No. 12 wire, or  $3\frac{3}{4}$ -inch spaced No. 16 wire.

If a half-wavelength antenna is fed at the center with other than 75-ohm line, or if a two-wire dipole is fed with other than 300-ohm line, standing waves will appear on the line and coupling to the transmitter may become awkward for some line lengths, as described in the preceding chapter. However, in many cases it is not convenient to feed the half-wave antenna with the correct line (as is the case where multiband operation of the same antenna is desired), and sometimes it is not convenient to feed the antenna at the center. Where multiband operation is desired (to be discussed later) or when the antenna must be



Fig. 14-13 — The half-wave antenna can be fed at the center or at the end with an open-wire line. The antenna length is obtained from Equation 14-B or Fig. 14-4.

fed at one end by a transmission line, an openwire line of from 450 to 600 ohms impedance is generally used. The impedance at the end of a half-wavelength antenna is in the vicinity of several thousand ohms, and hence a standingwave ratio of 4 or 5 is not unusual when the line is connected to the end of the antenna. It is advisable, therefore, to keep the losses in the line as low as possible. This requires the use of ceramic or Micalex feeder spacers, if any appreciable power is used. For low-power installations in dry climates, dry wood spacers that have been boiled in paraffin are satisfactory. Mechanical details of half-wavelength antennas fed with open-wire lines are given in Fig. 14-13. If the power level is low, below 100 watts or so, 300-ohm Twin-Lead can be used in place of the open line.

### Long-Wire Antennas

An antenna will be resonant so long as an integral number of standing waves of current and voltage can exist along its length; in other words, so long as its length is some integral multiple of a half-wavelength. When the antenna is more than a half-wave long it usually is called a long-wire antenna, or a harmonic antenna.

### **Current and Voltage Distribution**

Fig. 14-14 shows the current and voltage distribution along a wire operating at its fundamental frequency (where its length is equal to a half-wavelength) and at its second, third and fourth harmonics. For example, if the fundamental frequency of the antenna is 7 Mc., the current and voltage distribution will be as shown at A. The same antenna excited at 14 Mc. would have current and voltage distribution as shown at B. At 21 Mc., the third harmonic of 7 Mc., the current and voltage distribution would be as in C; and at 28 Mc., the fourth harmonic, as in D. The number of the harmonic is the number of half-waves con-



Fig. 14-14 — Standing-wave current and voltage distribution along an antenna when it is operated at various harmonics of its fundamental resonant frequency.



Fig. 14-15 — Curve A shows variation in radiation resistance with antenna length. Curve B shows power in lobes of maximum radiation for long-wire antennas as a ratio to the maximum radiation for a half-wave antenna.

tained in the antenna at the particular operating frequency.

The polarity of current or voltage in each standing wave is opposite to that in the adjacent standing waves. This is shown in the figure by drawing the current and voltage curves successively above and below the antenna (taken as a zero reference line), to indicate that the polarity reverses when the current or voltage goes through zero. Currents flowing in the same direction are *in phase*: in opposite directions, *aut of phase*.

It is evident that one antenna may be used for harmonically-related frequencies, such as the various amateur bands. The long-wire or harmonic antenna is the basis of multiband operation with one antenna.

### Physical Lengths

The length of a long-wire antenna is not an exact multiple of that of a half-wave antenna because the end effects operate only on the end sections of the antenna; in other parts of the wire these effects are absent, and the wire length is approximately that of an equivalent



Fig. 14-16 — Horizontal patterns of radiation from a full-wave antenna. The solid line shows the pattern for a vertical angle of 15 degrees; dotted lines show deviation from the 15-degree pattern at 9 and 30 degrees. All three patterns are drawn to the same relative scale: actual amplitudes will depend upon the height of the antenna.

portion of the wave in space. The formula for the length of a long-wire antenna, therefore, is

Length (feet) = 
$$\frac{492 (N - 0.05)}{Freq. (Mc.)}$$
 14-G

where N is the number of *half*-waves on the antenna.

Example: An antenna 4 half-waves long at 14.2  
Mc. would be 
$$\frac{492 (4 - 0.05)}{14.2} = \frac{492 \times 3.95}{14.2}$$
  
= 136.7 feet, or 136 feet 8 inches.

It is apparent that an antenna cut as a halfwave for a given frequency will be slightly off resonance at exactly twice that frequency (the



Fig. 14-17 — Horizontal patterns of radiation from an antenna three half-waves long. The solid line shows the pattern for a vertical angle of 15 degrees; dotted lines show deviation from the 15-degree pattern at 9 and 30 degrees. Minor lobes coincide for all three angles.

second harmonic), because of the decreased influence of the end effects when the antenna is more than one-half wavelength long. The effect is not very important, except for a possible unbalance in the feeder system and consequent radiation from the feedline. If the antenna is fed in the exact center, no unbalance will occur at any frequency, but end-fed systems will show an unbalance in all but one frequency, the frequency for which the antenna is cut.

### Impedance and Power Gain

The radiation resistance as measured at a current loop becomes larger as the antenna length is increased. Also, a long-wire antenna radiates more power in its most favorable direction than does a half-wave antenna in its most favorable direction. This power gain is



Fig. 14-18 — Horizontal patterns of radiation from an antenna *two wavelengths* long. The solid line shows the pattern for a vertical angle of 15 degrees; dotted lines show deviation from the 15-degree pattern at 9 and 30 degrees. The minor lobes coincide for all three angles.

secured at the expense of radiation in other directions. Fig. 14-15 shows how the radiation resistance and the power in the lobe of maximum radiation vary with the antenna length.

#### **Directional Characteristics**

As the wire is made longer in terms of the number of half-wavelengths, the directional effects change. Instead of the "doughnut" pattern of the half-wave antenna, the directional characteristic splits up into "lobes" which make various angles with the wire. In general, as the length of the wire is increased the direction in which maximum radiation occurs tends to approach the line of the antenna itself.

Directional characteristics for antennas one wavelength, three half-wavelengths, and two wavelengths long are given in Figs. 14-16, 14-17 and 14-18, for three vertical angles of radiation. Note that, as the wire length in-

CHAPTER 14

creases, the radiation along the line of the antenna becomes more pronounced. Still longer antennas can be considered to have practically "end-on" directional characteristics, even at the lower radiation angles.

#### Methods of Feeding

In a long-wire antenna, the currents in adjacent half-wave sections must be out of phase, as shown in Fig. 14-14. The feeder system must not upset this phase relationship. This requirement is met by feeding the antenna at either end or at any current loop. A two-wire feeder cannot be inserted at a current node,

### Multiband Antennas

As suggested in the preceding section, the same antenna may be used for several bands by operating it on harmonics. When this is done it is necessary to use resonant feeders, since the impedance matching for nonresonant feeder operation can be accomplished only at one frequency unless means are provided for changing the length of a matching section and shifting the point at which the feeder is attached to it.

Furthermore, the current loops shift to a new position on the antenna when it is operated on harmonies, further complicating the feed situation. It is for this reason that a half-wave antenna that is center-fed by a solid-dielectric line is practically useless for harmonic operation; on all even harmonics there is a voltage maximum occurring right at the feed point, and the resultant impedance mismatch is so bad that there is a large standing-wave ratio and consequently high losses arise in the solid dielectric. It is wise not to attempt to use on its harmonics a half-wave antenna center-fed with coaxial cable. High-impedance solid-dielectric lines such as 300-ohm Twin-Lead may be used, however, provided the power does not exceed a few hundred watts.

When the same antenna is used for work in several bands, it must be realized that the directional characteristic will vary with the band in use.



Fig. 14-19 - Practical arrangement of a shortened antenna. The total length, A + B + B + A, should be a half-wavelength for the lowest-frequency band, usually 3.5 Me. See Table 14-1 for lengths and tuning data.

however, because this invariably brings the currents in two adjacent half-wave sections in phase; if the phase in one section could be reversed, then the currents in the feeders necessarily would have to be in phase and the feeder radiation would not be canceled out.

No point on a long-wire antenna offers a reasonable impedance for a direct match to any of the common types of transmission lines. The most common practice is to feed the antenna at one end or at a current loop with a low-loss open-wire line and accept the resulting standing-wave ratio of 4 or 5. When a better match is required, "stubs" are generally used (described in the preceding chapter).

#### Simple Systems

The most practical simple multiband antenna is one that is a half-wavelength long at the lowest frequency and is fed either at the center or one end with an open-wire line. Although the standing-wave ratio on the feedline will not approach 1.0 on any band, if the losses in the line are low the system will be efficient. From the standpoint of reduced feedline radiation, a center-fed system is superior to one that is end-fed, but the end-fed arrangement is often more convenient and should not be ignored as a possibility. The center-fed antenna will not have the same radiation pattern as an end-fed one of the same length, except on frequencies where the over-all length of the antenna is a half-wavelength or less. The end-fed antenna acts like a long-wire antenna on all bands (for which it is longer than a half-wavelength), but the center-fed one acts like two antennas of half that length fed in phase. For example, if a full-wavelength antenna is fed at one end, it will have a radiation pattern as shown in Fig. 14-16, but if it is fed in the center the pattern will be somewhat similar to Fig. 14-7, with the maximum radiation broadside to the wire. Either antenna is a good radiator, but if the radiation pattern is a factor, the point of feed must be considered.

Since multiband operation of an antenna

does not permit matching of the feedline, some attention must be paid to the length of the feedline if convenient transmitter-coupling arrangements are to be obtained. Table 14-I gives some suggested antenna and feeder lengths for multiband operation. In general, the length of the feedline should be some integral multiple of a quarter wavelength at the lowest frequency.

### Antennas for Restricted Space

If the space available for the antenna is not large enough to accommodate the length necessary for a half-wave at the lowest frequency to be used, quite satisfactory operation can be secured by using a shorter antenna and making

Multiband	TABLE 14-I tiband Resonant-Line Fed Antennas		
Antenna Length (ft.)	Feeder Length (ft.)	Band	Type of Tuning
With end feed: 120	60	4-Mc, "phone	series
136	67	3.5-Mc, c.w. 7 through 28-Me.	series parallel
67	33	7 and 21 Me. 14 and 28 Mc.	series parallel
With center feed: 137	67	3.5 through 28 Mc.	parallel
68	66	7 and 21 Mc. 14 and 28 Me.	series paraltel
68	34	7 through 28 Me.	paralle

The antenna lengths given represent compromises for harmonic operation because of different end effects on different bands. The 136-foot endfed antenna is slightly long for 3.5 Me. but will work well in the region (3500–3600 kc.) that quadruples into the 14-Me. band. Bands not listed are not recommended for the particular antenna. The center-fed systems are less critical as to length. Tuning connections are for open-wire line and may differ for 300-ohm Twin-Lead. The end-fed and center-fed antennas will have

The end-fed and center-fed antennas will have the same directional characteristics only on the lowest frequency, as explained in the text.

up the missing length in the feeder system. The antenna itself may be as short as a quarter wavelength and still radiate fairly well, although of course it will not be as effective as one a half-wave long. Nevertheless, such a system is useful where operation on the desired band otherwise would be impossible.

Resonant feeders are a practical necessity with such an antenna system, and a center-fed antenna will give best all-around performance. With end feed the feeder currents become badly unbalanced.

With center feed practically any convenient length of antenna can be used, if the feeder length is adjusted to accommodate at least one half-wave around the whole system.

A practical antenna of this type ean be made as shown in Fig. 14-19. Table 14-11 gives a few recommended lengths. However, the antenna can be made any convenient length, provided the total length of wire is a half-wavelength at the lowest frequency, or an integral multiple of a half-wavelength.

In using the tables, it should be held in mind that the "type of tuning" will vary from that listed if the feed-line lengths are not as shown or if solid-dielectric line (Twin-Lead) is used. This should not be interpreted as a fault in the antenna, and any tuning system (series or parallel) that works well without any trace of heating is quite satisfactory.

### Bent Antennas

Since the field strength at a distance is proportional to the current in the antenna, the high-current part of a half-wave antenna (the center quarter wave, approximately) does most of the radiating. Advantage can be taken of this fact when the space available does not permit building an antenna a halfwave long. In this case the ends may be bent, either horizontally or vertically, so that the



Fig. 14-20 — Folded arrangement for shortened antennas. The total length is a half-wave, not including the feeders. The horizontal part is made as long as convenient and the ends dropped down to make up the required length. The ends may be bent back on themselves like feeders to cancel radiation partially. The horizontal section should be at least a quarter wave long.

total length equals a half-wave, even though the straightaway horizontal length may be as short as a quarter wave. The operation is illustrated in Fig. 14-20. Such an antenna will be a somewhat better radiator than a quarterwavelength antenna on the lowest frequency, but is not so desirable for multiband operation because the ends play an increasingly important part as the frequency is raised. The performance of the system in such a case is difficult to predict, especially if the ends are vertical (the most convenient arrangement) because of the complex combination of horizontal and vertical polarization which results as well as the dissimilar directional characteristics. However, the fact that the radiation pattern is incapable of prediction does not detract from the general usefulness of the antenna. For one-band operation, end-loading with coils (5 feet or so in from each end) is practical and efficient.

	and Feed	E 14-II er Lengths for Sh nnas, Center-Fed	
.1ntenna Length (ft.)	Feeder Length (ft.)	Band	Type of Tuning
100	83	3.5 Me. 7, 14, 21 Me. 28 Mc.	parallel series series or parallel
68	34	3.5 Me. 7, 14, 21 and 28 Me.	series parallel
50	-43	7, 14, 21 and 28 Mc.	parallel
33	51	7, 14, 21 and 28 Me.	parallel
33	31	7 and 21 Me. 14 and 28 Mc.	series parallel

### **Vertical Antennas**

A vertical quarter-wavelength antenna is often used in the low-frequency amateur bands to obtain low-angle radiation. Four typical examples and suggested methods for feeding are shown in Fig. 14-21. The antenna may be wire or tubing supported by wood or insulated guy wires. When



Fig. 14-21 — A quarter-wavelength antenna can be fed directly with 50-ohm coaxial line (A) with a low standing-wave ratio, or a coupling network can be used (B) that will permit a line of any impedance to be used. In (B),  $L_1$  and  $C_1$  should resonate to the operating frequency, and  $L_1$  should be larger than is normally used in a plate tank circuit at the same frequency.

By using multiwire antennas, the quarter-wave vertical can be fed with (C) 150- or (D) 300-ohm line.

tubing is used for the antenna, or when guy wires (broken up by insulators) are used to reinforce the structure, the length given by the formula is likely to be long by a few per cent. A check of the standing-wave ratio on the line will indicate the frequency at which the s.w.r. is minimum, and the length of the antenna can be adjusted accordingly.

The examples shown in Fig. 14-21 all require an antenna insulated from the ground, to provide for the feed point. A grounded tower or pipe can be used as a radiator by employing "shunt feed," which consists of tapping the inner conductor of the coaxial-line feed up on the tower until the best match is obtained, in much the same manner as the "gamma match" (described later) is used on a horizontal element. If the antenna is not an electrical quarter-wavelength long, it is necessary to tune out the reactance by adding capacity or inductance between the coaxial line and the shunting conductor. A metal tower supporting a TV antenna or rotary beam can be shunt-fed only if all of the wires and leads from the supported antenna run down the center of the tower and underground away from the tower, since otherwise they would become part of the low-frequency antenna system.

### THE GROUND-PLANE ANTENNA

A ground-plane antenna is a vertical quarterwavelength antenna using an artificial metallic ground, usually consisting of four rods or wires perpendicular to the antenna and extending radially from its base. Unlike the quarter-wavelength vertical antennas without an artificial ground, the ground-plane antenna will give low-angle radiation regardless of the height above actual ground. It is a useful antenna for DX work in any of the amateur bands below 30 Me.

The vertical portion of the ground-plane antenna can be made of self-supported aluminum tubing, or a top-supported wire, depending upon the necessary length and the available supports. The radials are also made of tubing or heavy wire, depending upon the available supports and necessary lengths.

The radiation resistance of a ground-plane antenna varies with the diameter of the vertical element, as shown in Fig. 14-22. Since the radiation resistance is usually in the vicinity of 30 to 32 ohms, the antenna can be fed with 75-ohm coaxial line if a quarter-wavelength matching section of 50-ohm coaxial line is used between the line and the antenna. (See Chapter Thirteen, "Quarter-Wave Transformers.")



Fig. 14-22 — Radiation resistance of a quarter-wave antenna (with ground plane or grounded) as a function of M. The values apply only when the antenna is of the resonant length.

Fig. 14-23 — The ground plane antenna with shunt matching. The antenna length,  $L_n$ , matching stub length,  $L_n$ , and radial length,  $L_r$ , are determined as described in the text, for matching a transmission line of given characteristic impedance. As shown in the insert, the radials and the outside conductors of the stub and line are all connected together.



It is also possible to feed the ground-plane antenna with coaxial line and a "shunt" matching section, as shown in Fig. 14-23. The various values required for proper matching will depend on the particular type of line used, as well as on the radiation resistance, resonant length, and reactance per unit length of the antenna. These antenna characteristics are dependent on the length/diameter ratio — that is, the ratio of a half wavelength in free space to the diameter of the antenna element — and allowance must be made for this factor. The necessary information for design purposes is given in Figs. 14-22, 14-24 and 14-25.

Determining the antenna dimensions can be reduced to a series of steps, as follows:



Fig. 14-24 — The antenna-length factor as a function of the ratio of a free-space half wavelength to the conductor diameter. The length factor multiplied by a free-space quarter wavelength is the length of a quarter-wave radiator resonant at the selected frequency.

First determine M, the ratio of a free-space half wavelength to the conductor diameter. The following formula may be used:

$$M = \frac{5906}{FD}$$

where F = trequency in megacycles,

D = conductor diameter in inches. Using the value of M so found, read the length factor  $(K_a)$  from Fig. 14-24, the reactance change per 1 per cent change in length  $(K_x)$  from Fig. 14-25, and the radiation resistance  $(R_r)$  from Fig. 14-22.

Since the antenna is to be shortened, these values must be modified appropriately. The actual radiation resistance, after the antenna is properly shortened, will be

$$R_{\rm o} = R_{\rm r} - \frac{Z_1}{4R_{\rm r}} \text{ ohms,}$$

where  $R_{\circ}$  = radiation resistance after shortening,  $Z_{\perp}$  = characteristic impedance of transmission line to be matched.

The proper value of capacitive reactance in the shortened antenna is given by

$$X_{\rm a} = SR_{\rm o}$$
 ohms,

where  $X_{\rm a}$  = capacitive reactance of antenna, and

$$S = \sqrt{\frac{Z_1}{R_o} - 1}.$$

The antenna length that gives the proper capacitive reactance is

$$L_{\rm a} = \frac{2953K_{\rm a}K_{\rm b}}{F}$$
 inches,

where  $L_a$  = required antenna length, and

$$X_{\rm b} = 1 - \frac{X_{\rm a}}{100K_{\rm x}}$$

The only remaining steps are to find the dimensions of the inductive stub and the length of the radial ground-plane rods.

The required stub reactance is given by

$$X_{s} = \frac{Z_{1}}{S}$$
 ohms,



Fig. 14-25 — Reactance change with antenna length as a function of *M*, for quarter-wave ground-plane (or grounded) antennas. If the antenna is longer than the resonant length the reactance is inductive; if shorter, the reactance is capacitive. The curve is accurate for lengths within 10 per cent of the resonant length. Multiply reactance values by 2 for half-wave antennas.

where  $X_{s} =$  inductive reactance of stub. The length of the shorted stub is

$$L_{\rm s} = \frac{32.8VL}{F}$$
 inches,

where  $L_s = \text{stub length}$ ,

V = velocity factor of line used in stub, L =length of stub in electrical degrees having required  $X_{*}$ .

L is equal to the angle whose tangent is  $X_{\rm a}/Z_{\rm a}$ ,

Results on 1.8 Mc. will depend to a large

extent on the antenna system and the time

where  $Z_s$  is the characteristic impedance of the stub.

The length of each radial is given by

$$L_{\rm r} = \frac{2953K_{\rm a}}{F}$$
 inches,

the length being measured from the center line of the radiator to the tip of the radial.

If the radials have a different diameter than the radiator (a common practice) the M and  $K_{\rm a}$  for radials and antenna must be considered separately.

Example: Assume a ground-plane antenna to be constructed with a vertical radiator of 2-inch diameter tubing and radials of No. 10 (0,10-inch diam.) wire, for a frequency of 7.1 Mc, and to be matched to 72-ohm RG-8/U coaxial line by using a stub of the same material.

F = 7.1 Mc., D = 2 inches,  $Z_1 = Z_2 = 72$  ohms,  $V = 0.66, M = 5906 \div (7.1 \times 2) = 416.$ 

From Figs. 14-24, 14-25 and 14-22, it is found that  $K_{\rm a} = 0.971, K_{\rm x} = 5.5, R_{\rm r} = 30.9.$ 

From the formula.

$$R_0 = 30.9 - \frac{72}{4 \times 30.9} = 30.3$$
 ohms

and the factor

$$S = \sqrt{\frac{72}{30.3} - 1} = 1.09.$$

Hence  $X_{a} = 1.09 \times 30.3 = 33$  ohms. 33 Also,  $K_{\rm b} = 1 - \frac{35}{100 \times 5.5}$ = 0.94

Thus the antenna length,

 $L_{\rm a} = \frac{2953 \times 0.971 \times .948 \text{ inches.}}{2953 \times 0.971 \times .948 \text{ inches.}} = 380 \text{ inches} = 31 \text{ feet.}$ 7.1

To find the stub dimensions,

$$X_s = \frac{72}{1.09} = 66.$$

L is the angle whose tangent is  $66 \div 72 = 0.918$ , and from a table of tangents is found to be 42.6 degrees.

Then 
$$L_s = \frac{32.8 \times 0.66 \times 42.6}{7.1} = \frac{130 \text{ inches}}{130 \text{ inches}} = 10 \text{ feet } 10$$

For the radials,

 $M = 5906 \div (7.1 \times 0.1) = 8340, K_{\rm a} = 0.978.$ Hence  $L_r = \frac{2953 \times 0.978}{7} = 407$  inches = 33 feet 11 inches. 71

### Antennas for 160 Meters

ground wave that is effective day or night, and it is to be preferred on 1.8 Mc.

There is another reason why a vertical antenna is better than a horizontal for 160meter operation. The low-angle radiation from a horizontal antenna 1/8 or 1/4 wavelength above ground is almost insignificant. Any reasonable height is small in terms of wavelength, so that a horizontal antenna on 160 meters is a poor radiator at angles useful for long distances ("long," that is, for this band). Its chief usefulness is over relatively short distances at night.

### Bent Antennas

Since ideal vertical antennas are generally out of the question for practical amateur work, the best compromise is to bend the antenna in such a way that the high-current

of day or night. Almost any random long wire that can be tuned to resonance will work during the night but it will generally be found very ineffective during the day. A vertical antenna -- or rather an antenna from which the radiation is predominantly vertically polarized — is probably the best for 1.8-Mc, operation. A horizontal antenna (horizontallypolarized radiation) will give better results during the night than the day because daytime absorption in the ionosphere is so high at this frequency that the reflected wave is too weak to be useful. At night the performance improves because nighttime ionosphere conditions generally permit the reflected wave to return to earth without too much attenuation. The vertically-polarized radiator gives a strong



Fig. 14-26 — Bent antenna for the 160-meter band. In the system at A, the vertical portion (length X) should be made as long as possible. In either antenna system,  $L_1C_1$  should resonate at 1900 kc, roughly. To adjust  $L_2$  in antenna A, resonate  $L_1C_1$  alone to the operating frequency, then connect it to the antenna system and adjust  $L_2$  for maximum loading. Further loading can be obtained by increasing the coupling between  $L_1$  and the link.

portions of the antenna run vertically. It is, of course, advisable to place the antenna so that the highest currents in the antenna occur at the highest points above actual ground. Two antenna systems designed along these lines are shown in Fig. 14-26. The antenna at A uses a loading coil,  $L_2$ , to increase the electrical length of the antenna to a half wavelength, so that the antenna can be fed at its high-voltage point through the coupling circuit  $L_1C_1$ . The antenna of Fig. 14-26B uses a full half-wavelength of wire but is bent so that the high-current portion runs vertically. The horizontal portion running to  $L_1C_1$  should run 8 or 10 feet above ground.

### THE "V" ANTENNA

It has been emphasized that, as the antenna length is increased, the lobe of maximum radiation makes a more acute angle with the



Fig. 14-28 — The basic "V" antenna, made by combining two long wires.

wire. Two such wires may be combined in the form of a horizontal "V" so that the main lobes from each wire will reinforce along a line bisecting the angle between the wires. This increases

#### Grounds

A good ground connection is generally important on 160 meters. The ideal system is a number of wire radials buried a foot or two underground and extending 50 to 100 feet from the central connection point. As many radials as possible should be used.

If the soil is good (not rocky or sandy) and generally moist, a low-resistance connection to the cold-water pipe system in the house will often serve as an adequate ground system. The connection should be made close to where the pipe enters the ground, and the surface of the pipe should be scraped clean before tightening the ground clamp around the pipe.

A 6- or 8-foot length of 1-inch water pipe, driven into the soil at a point where there is



Fig. 14-27 — An arrangement for keeping the main radiating portion of the antenna vertical, considerable natural moisture, can be used for the ground connection. Three or four pipes driven into the ground 8 or 10 feet apart and all joined together at the top with heavy wire are more effective than the single pipe.

The use of a counterpoise is recommended where a buried system is not practicable or where a pipe ground cannot be made to have low resistance be-

cause of poor soil conditions. A counterpoise consists of a number of wires supported from 6 to 10 feet above the surface of the ground. Generally the wires are spaced 10 to 15 feet apart and located to form a square or polygonal configuration under the vertical portion of the antenna.

### Long-Wire Directive Arrays

both gain and directivity, since the lobes in directions other than along the bisector cancel to a greater or lesser extent. The horizontal "V" antenna therefore transmits best in either direction (is bidirectional) along a line bisecting the "V" made by the two wires. The power gain depends upon the length of the wires. Provided the necessary space is available, the "V" is a simple antenna to build and operate. It ean also be used on harmonics, so that it is suitable for multiband work. A top view of the "V" antenna is shown in Fig. 14-28.

Fig. 14-29 shows the dimensions that should be followed for an optimum design to obtain maximum power gain for differentsized "V" antennas. The longer systems give good performance in multiband operation. Angle  $\alpha$  is approximately equal to twice the



Fig. 14-29 — Design chart for horizontal "V" antennas, giving the enclosed angle between sides rs, the length of the wires. Values in parentheses represent approximate wave angle for height of one-half wavelength.

angle of maximum radiation for a single wire equal in length to one side of the "V."

The wave angle referred to in Fig. 14-29 is the vertical angle of maximum radiation. Tilting the whole horizontal plane of the "V" will tend to increase the low-angle radiation off the low end and decrease it off the high end.

The gain increases with the length of the wires, but is not exactly twice the gain for a single long wire as given in Fig. 14-15. In the longer lengths the gain will be somewhat increased, because of mutual coupling between the wires. A "V" eight wavelengths on a leg, for instance, will have a gain of about 12 db. over a half-wave antenna, whereas twice the gain of a single eight-wavelength wire would be only approximately 9 db.

The two wires of the "V" must be fed out of phase, for correct operation. A resonant line may simply be attached to the ends, as shown in Fig. 14-28. Alternatively, a quarter-wave

In Fig. 1720: Interfactively, a space matching section may be employed and the antenna fed through a nonresonant line. If the antenna wires are made multiples of a half-wave in length *Line* (use Equation 14-G for computing the length), the matching section will be closed at the free end. A stub can be connected across the resonant line to provide a match, as described in the preceding chapter.

### THE RHOMBIC ANTENNA

The horizontal rhombic or "diamond" antenna is shown in Fig. 14-30. Like the "V," it requires a great deal of space for erection, but it is capable of giving excellent gain and directivity It also can be used for multiband operation. In the terminated form shown in Fig. 14-30, it operates like a nonresonant transmission line, without standing waves, and is unidirectional. It may also be used without the terminating resistor, in which case there are standing waves on the wires and the antenna is bidirectional.

The important quantities influencing the design of the rhombic antenna are shown in Fig. 14-30. While several design methods may be used, the one most applicable to the conditions existing in anateur work is the so-called "compromise" method. The chart of Fig. 14-31 gives design information based on a given length and wave angle to determine the remaining optimum dimensions for best operation. Curves for value of length of two, three and four wavelengths are shown, and any intermediate values may be interpolated.

With all other dimensions correct, an increase in length causes an increase in power gain and a slight reduction in wave angle. An increase in height also causes a reduction in wave angle and an increase in power gain, but not to the same extent as a proportionate

increase in length. For multiband work, it is satisfactory to design the rhombie antenna on the basis of 14-Me. operation, which will permit work from the 7- to 28-Me. bands as well.

A value of 800 ohms is correct for the terminating resistor for any properly-constructed rhombie, and the system behaves as a pure resistive load under this condition. The terminating resistor must be capable of safely dissipating one-half the power output (to eliminate the rear pattern), and should be noninductive. Such a resistor may be made up from a carbon or graphite rod or from a long 800-ohm transmission line using resistance wire. If the earbon rod or a similar form of lumped resistance is used, the device should be suitably protected from weather effects; i.e., it should be covered with a good asphaltic compound and sealed in a small lightweight box or fiber tube. Suitable nonreactive terminating resistors are also available commercially.



Fig. 14.30 — The horizontal rhombic or diamond antenna, terminated. Important design dimensions are indicated; details in text.



*Fig.* 14-31 — Compromise-method design chart for rhombic antennas of various leg lengths and wave angles. The examples at the right illustrate the use of the chart:

#### »

For feeding the antenna, the antenna impedance will be matched by an 800-ohm line, which may be constructed from No. 16 wire spaced 20 inches or from No. 18 wire spaced 16 inches. The 800-ohm line is somewhat ungainly to install, however, and may be replaced by an ordinary 600-ohm line with only a negligible mismatch. Alternatively, a matching section may be installed between the antenna terminals and a low-impedance line. However, when such an arrangement is used, it will be necessary to change the matching-section constants for each different band on which operation is contemplated.

### Directive Arrays with Driven Elements

By combining individual half-wave antennas into an **array** with suitable spacing between the antennas (called **elements**) and feeding power to them simultaneously, it is possible to make the radiated fields from the individual elements add in a favored direction, thus increasing the field strength in that direction as compared to that produced by one antenna element alone. In other directions the fields will more or less oppose each other, giving a reduction in field strength. Thus a power gain in the desired direction is secured at the expense of a power reduction in other directions.

Besides the spacing between elements, the instantaneous direction of current flow (*phase*) in individual elements determines the directivity and power gain. There are several methods of arranging the elements. If they are strung end to end, so that all lie on the same straight line, the elements are said to be collinear. If they are parallel and all lying in the same plane, the elements are said to be **broadside** when the phase of the current is the same in all, and end-fire when the currents are not in phase. Elements that receive power from the transmitter through the transmission line are called driven elements.

```
(1) Given:
         Length (L) = 2 wavelengths
         Desired wave angle (\Delta) = 20^{\circ}.
      To Find: Π, Φ.
      Methody
         Draw vertical line through point a (L = 2 wave-
            lengths) and point b on abscissa (\Delta = 20^\circ). Read
            angle of tilt (\Phi) for point a and height (H) from
            intersection of line ab at point c on curve II.
      Result:
         \Phi = 60.5^{\circ}
        H = 0.73 wavelength.
(2) Given:
         Length (L) = 3 wavelengths,
         Angle of tilt (\Phi) = 78^{\circ}.
      To Find: H, A.
      Method:
        braw a vertical line from point d on curve L = 3
wavelengths at \Phi = 78^{\circ}. Read intersection of
this line on curve H (point e) for height, and
intersection at point f on the abscissa for \Delta.
```

Result:

H = 0.56 wavelength.

$$2 = 26.6^{\circ}$$
.

The same design details apply to the unterminated rhombic as to the terminated type. When used without a terminating resistor, the system is bidirectional. Resonant feeders are generally used with the unterminated rhombic. A nonresonant line may be used by incorporating a matching section at the antenna, but is not readily adaptable to satisfactory multiband work.

Rhombic antennas will give a power gain of 8 to 12 db. or more for leg lengths of two to four wavelengths, when constructed according to the charts given. In general, the larger the antenna, the greater the power gain.

### The power gain of a directive system inereases with the number of elements. The proportionality between gain and number of elements is not simple, however. The gain deal pends upon the effect that the spacing and

### Collinear Arrays

phasing has upon the radiation resistance of the elements, as well as upon their number.

Simple forms of collinear arrays, with the current distribution, are shown in Fig. 14-32. The two-element array at A is popularly known as "two half-waves in phase." It will be recognized as simply a center-fed antenna operated at its second harmonic. The way in which the number of elements may be extended for increased directivity and gain is shown in Fig. 14-28B. Note that quarter-wave phasing sections are used between elements; these give the reversal in phase necessary to make the currents in individual antenna elements all flow in the same direction at the same instant. Any phase-reversing section may be used as a quarter-wave matching section for attaching a nonresonant feeder, or a resonant transmission line may be substituted for any of the quarterwave sections. Also, the antenna may be end-fed 346



Fig. 14-32 — Collinear half-wave antennas in phase. The system at A is generally known as "two half-waves in phase." B is an extension of the system; in theory the number of elements may be carried on indefinitely, but practical considerations usually limit the elements to four.

by any of the systems previously described, or any element may be center-fed. It is best to feed at the center of the array, so that the energy will be distributed uniformly among the elements.

The gain and directivity depend upon the number of elements and their spacing, centerto-center. This is shown by Table 14-III. Although three-quarter wave spacing gives greater gain, it is difficult to construct a suitable phase-reversing system when the ends of the antenna elements are widely separated. For this reason, the half-wave spacing is most generally used in actual practice.

Collinear arrays may be mounted either horizontally or vertically. Horizontal mounting gives increased horizontal directivity, while the vertical directivity remains the same as for

TABLE 14-III Theoretical Gain of Collinear Half-Wave Antennas					
Spacing between centers of adjacent	Number of half-waves in array vs. gain in db.				
half-waves	2	3	4	5	6
1/2 wave 3/4 wave	1.8	3.3 4.8	1.5 6.0	$\frac{5.3}{7.0}$	6.2 7.8

a single element at the same height. Vertical mounting gives the same horizontal pattern as a single element, but concentrates the radiation at low angles. It is seldom practicable to use more than two elements vertically at frequencies below 14 Mc, because of the excessive height required.

### Broadside Arrays

Parallel antenna elements with eurrents in phase may be combined as shown in Fig. 14-33 to form a broadside array, so named because the direction of maximum radiation is broadside to the plane containing the antennas. Again the gain and directivity depend upon the number of elements and the spacing, the gain for different spacings being shown in Fig. 14-34. Half-wave spacing generally is used, since it simplifies the problem of feeding the system when the array has more than two elements. Table 14-IV gives theoretical gain as a function of the number of elements with half-wave spacing.

### CHAPTER 14

Broadside arrays may be suspended either with the elements all vertical or with them horizontal and one above the other (stacked). In the former case the horizontal pattern becomes quite sharp, while the vertical pattern is the same as that of one element alone. If the array is suspended horizontally, the horizontal pattern is equivalent to that of one element while the vertical pattern is sharpened, giving low-angle radiation.

Broadside arrays may be fed either by resonant transmission lines or through quar-

terwave matching sections and nonresonant lines. In Fig. 14-33, note the "crossing over" of the feeders, which is necessary to bring the elements into proper phase relationship.



Fig. 14-33 — Broadside array using parallel half-wave elements. Arrows indicate the direction of current flow. Transposition of the feeders is necessary to bring the antenna currents in phase. Any reasonable number of elements may be used. The array is bidirectional, with maximum radiation "broadside" or perpendicular to the antenna plane (perpendicularly through this page).

### Combined Broadside and Collinear Arrays

Broadside and collinear arrays may be combined to give both horizontal and vertical directivity, as well as additional gain. The general plan of constructing such antennas is shown in Fig. 14-35. The lower angle of radiation resulting from stacking elements in the vertical plane is desirable at the higher frequencies. In general, doubling the number of elements in an array by stacking will raise the gain from 2 to 4 db., depending upon whether vertical or horizontal elements are used — that is, whether the stacked elements are of the broadside or collinear type.

The arrays in Fig. 14-35 are shown fed from one end, but this is not especially desirable in



Fig. 14-34 — Gain cs. spacing for two parallel half-wave elements combined as either broadside or end-fire arrays.

TABLE 14-IV Theoretical Gain vs. Number of Broadside Elements (Half-Wave Spacing)		
4 db.		
5.5		
8		
9		

the case of large arrays. Better distribution of energy between elements, and hence better over-all performance, will result when the feeders are attached as nearly as possible to the center of the array. Thus, in the eight-element array at A, the feeders could be introduced at the middle of the transmission line between the second and third set of elements, in which case the connecting line would not be transposed between the second and third set of elements. Alternatively, the antenna could be constructed with the transpositions as shown and the feeder connected between the adjacent ends of either the second or third pair of collinear elements.

A four-element array of the general type shown in Fig. 14-35B, known as the "lazy-ll"



Fig. 14-35 — Combination broadside and collinear arrays. A, with vertical elements; B, with horizontal elements. Both arrays give low-angle radiation. Two or more sections may be used. The gain in db. will be equal, approximately, to the sum of the gain for one set of broadside elements (Table 14-IV) plus the gain of one set of collinear elements (Table 14-III). For example, in A each broadside set has four elements (gain 1.8 db.), giving a total gain of 8.8 db. In B, each broadside set has two elements (gain 4 db.) and each collinear set three elements (gain 3.3 db.), making the total gain 7.3 db. The result is not strictly accurate, because of mutual coupling between the elements, but is good enough for praetical purposes.

antenna, has been quite frequently used. This arrangement is shown, with the feed point indieated, in Fig. 14-36.

#### End-Fire Arrays

Fig. 14-37 shows a pair of parallel half-wave elements with currents out of phase. This is known as an end-fire array because it radiates best along the plane of the antennas, as shown. The end-fire array may be used either vertically or horizontally (elements at the same height), and is well adapted to amateur work because it gives maximum gain with relatively close element spacing. Fig. 14-34 shows how the gain varies with spacing. End-fire elements may be combined with additional collinear and broadside elements to give a further increase in gain and directivity.

Either resonant or nonresonant lines may be used with this type of array. Nonresonant lines



Fig. 14-36 — A four-element combination broadsidecollinear array, popularly known as the "lazy-H" antenna. A closed quarter-wave stub may be used at the feed point to match into a 600-ohm transmission line, or resonant feeders may be attached at the point indicated. The gain over a half-wave antenna is 5 to 6 db.

preferably are matched to the antenna through a quarter-wave matching section or phasing stub.

### Phasing

Figs. 14-35 and 14-37 illustrate a point in connection with feeding a phased antenna system which sometimes is confusing. In Fig. 14-37, when the transmission line is connected as at A there is no crossover in the line connecting the two antennas, but when the transmission line is connected to the center of the connecting line the crossover becomes necessary (B). This is because in B the two halves of the connecting line are simply branches of the same line. In other words, even though the connecting line in B is a half-wave in length, it is not actually a half-wave line but two quarter-wave lines in parallel. The same thing is true of the untransposed line of Fig. 14-35B. Note that, under these conditions, the antenna elements are in phase when the line is not transposed, and out of phase when the transposition is made. The opposite is the case when the half-wave line simply joins two an-



Fig. 14-37 — End-fire arrays using parallel half-wave elements. The elements are shown with half-wave spacing to illustrate feeder connections. In practice, eloser spacings are desirable, as shown by Fig. 14-34. Direction of maximum radiation is shown by the large arrows.

tenna elements and does not have the feed line connected to its center, as in Fig. 14-33.

### Adjustment of Arrays

With arrays of the types just described, using half-wave spacing between elements, it will usually suffice to make the length of each element that given by Equations 14-B or 14-C. The half-wave phasing lines between the parallel elements should be of open-wire construction, and their length can be calculated from:

Length of half-wave line (feet) = (14-H) $\frac{480}{Freq. (Me.)}$ 

Example: A half-wavelength phasing line for 28.8 Mc, would be  $\frac{480}{28.8} = 16.66$  feet = 16 feet 8 inches.

The spacing between elements can be made equal to the length of the phasing line. No special adjustments of line or element length



Fig. 14-38 — Simple directive-antenna systems. A is a two-element end-fire array; B is the same array with center feed, which permits use of the array on the second harmonic, where it becomes a four-element array with quarter-wave spacing. C is a four-element array with  $\frac{1}{8}$ -wave spacing. D is a simple two-element broadside array using extended in-phase antennas ("extended double-Zepp"). The gain of A and B is slightly over 4 db. On the second harmonic, B will give about 5-db, gain. With C, the gain is approximately 6 db., and with D, approximately 3 db. In A, B and C, the phasing line contributes about  $\frac{1}{2}$  wavelength to the transmission line; when B is used on the second harmonic, this contribution is  $\frac{1}{2}$  wavelength. Alternatively, the antenna ends may be bent to meet the transmission line, in which case each feeder is simply connected to one antenna. In D, points Y-Y indicate a quarter-wave point (high eurrent) and X-X a half-wave point (high voltwaves if resonant feeders are to be used. A, B and C may be suspended on wooden spreaders. The plane

or spacing are needed, provided the formulas are followed closely.

With collinear arrays of the type shown in Fig. 14-32B, the same formula may be used for the element length, while the length of the quarter-wave phasing section can be found from the following formula:

Length of quarter-wave line (feet) = (14-I)  

$$\frac{240}{Freg. (Mc.)}$$

for 14.25 Me, would be 
$$\frac{240}{14.25} = 16.84$$
 feet = 16

feet 10 inches.

If the array is fed in the center it should not be necessary to make any particular adjustments, although, if desired, the whole system can be resonated by connecting an r.f. ammeter in the shorting link of each phasing section and moving the link back and forth to find the maximum-current position. This refinement is hardly necessary in practice, however, so long as all elements are the same length and the system is symmetrical.

The phasing sections can be made of 300ohm Twin-Lead, if low power is used. However, the lengths of the phasing sections must then be only 84 per cent of the length obtained in the two formulas above.

Example: The half-wavelength line for 28.8 Mc, would become  $0.84 \times 16.66 = 13.99$  feet = 14 feet 0 inches.

Using Twin-Lead for the phasing sections is most useful in arrays such as that of Fig. 14-32B, or any other system in which the element spacing is not controlled by the length of the phasing section.

### Simple Arrays

Several simple directive-antenna systems using driven elements have

achieved rather wide use among amateurs. Four of these systems are shown in Fig. 14-38. Tuned feeders are assumed in all cases; however, a matching section readily can be substituted if a nonresonant transmission line is preferred. Dimensions given are in terms of wavelength; actual lengths can be calculated from the equations for the antenna and from the equation above for the resonant transmission line or matching section. In cases where the transmission line proper connects to the midpoint of a phasing line, only half the length of the latter should be added to the line to find the quarter-wave point.

At A and B are two-element end-fire arrangements using close spacing. They are electrically equivalent; the only difference is in the method of connecting the feeders. B may also be used on the second harmonic, although the spacing is not optimum (Fig. 14-34) for such operation.

A close-spaced four-element array is shown at C. It will give about 2 db. more gain than the two-element array.

### ANTENNAS

The antenna at D, commonly known as the "extended double-Zepp," is designed to take advantage of the greater gain possible with collinear antennas having greater than halfwave center-to-center spacing, but without introducing feed complications. The elements are made longer than a half-wave in order to bring this about. The gain is 3 db. over a single half-wave antenna, and the broadside directivity is fairly sharp.

The antennas of A and B may be mounted either horizontally or vertically; horizontal

### Directive Arrays with Parasitic Elements

### Parasitic Excitation

The antenna arrays previously described are bidirectional; that is, they will radiate in directions both to the "front" and to the "back" of the antenna system. If radiation is wanted in only one direction, it is necessary to use different element arrangements. In most of these arrangements the additional elements receive power by induction or radiation from the driven element, generally called the "antenna," and reradiate it in the proper phase relation.



Fig. 14-39 — Gain rs. element spacing for an antenna and one parasitic element. The reference point, 0 db., is the field strength from a half-wave antenna alone. The greatest gain is in direction A at spacings of less than 0.14 wavelength, and in direction B at greater spacings. The front-to-back ratio is the difference in db. between curves A and B. Variation in radiation resistance of the driven element also is shown. These curves are for a selfresonant parasitic element. At most spacings the gain as a reflector can be increased by slight lengthening of the parasitic element; the gain as a director can be increased by shortening. This also improves the front-to-back ratio.

ship to achieve the desired effect. These elements are called *parasitic* elements, as contrasted to the driven elements which receive power directly from the transmitter through the transmission line.

The parasitic element is called a **director** when it reinforces radiation on a line pointing to it from the antenna, and a **reflector** when the reverse is the case. Whether the parasitic element is a director or reflector depends upon the suspension (with the elements in a plane parallel to the ground) is recommended, since this tends to give low-angle radiation without an unduly sharp horizontal pattern. Thus these systems are useful for coverage over a wide horizontal angle. The system at C, when mounted horizontally, will have a sharper horizontal pattern than the two-element arrays because of the effect of the collinear arrangement. The vertical pattern, however, will be the same as that of the antennas in A and B.

parasitie-element tuning, which usually is adjusted by changing its length.

#### Gain vs. Spacing

The gain of an antenna with parasitic elements varies with the spacing and tuning of the elements, and thus for any given spacing there is a tuning condition that will give maximum gain at this spacing. The maximum front-to-back ratio seldom, if ever, occurs at the same condition that gives maximum forward gain. The impedance of the driven element also varies with the tuning and spacing, and thus the antenna system must be tuned to its final condition before the match between the line and the antenna can be completed. However, the tuning and matching may interlock to some extent, and it is usually necessary to run through the adjustments several times to insure that the best possible tuning has been obtained.

### Two-Element Beams

A 2-element beam is useful where space or other considerations prevent the use of the larger structure required for a 3-element beam. The general practice is to tune the parasitic element as a reflector and space it about 0.15 wavelength from the driven element, although some successful antennas have been built with 0.1-wavelength spacing and director tuning. Gain *vs.* element spacing for a 2-element antenna is given in Fig. 14-39, for the special case where the parasitic element is resonant, but it is indicative of the performance to be expected under maximum-gain tuning conditions.

### Three-Element Beams

Where room is available for an over-all length greater than 0.2 wavelength, a 3-element beam is preferable to one with only 2 elements. Once the over-all length has been decided upon, the curves of Fig. 14-40 can be used to determine the proper spacing of director and reflector. If, for example, the distance between director and reflector ean be made 0.4 wavelength, Fig. 14-40 shows that a spacing of 0.2D-0.2R gives a gain of 7.9 db., and a spacing of 0.25D-0.15R gives a gain of 8.2 db. Obviously the latter is the better choice, although the practical difference might be difficult to measure, and practical (mechanical) considera-



Fig. 14-40 — Gain vs. element spacing for 3-element beams using a driven element and a director and a reflector. The 0-db. reference level is the field strength from a half-wavelength antenna alone. These curves are for the system tuned for maximum forward gain. The element spacing shown is the fraction of a wave-984

length determined by  $\frac{984}{f (Mc.)}$ . Thus a wavelength at 14.2 Mc. = 984/14.2 = 69.3 feet. A spacing of 0.15 wavelength at 14.2 Mc. would be  $0.15 \times 69.3 = 10.4$  feet = 10 feet 5 inches.

tions might call for using the more balanced 0.212-0.21R construction.

When the over-all length has been decided upon, and the element spacing has been determined, the element lengths can be found by referring to Fig. 14-41. It must be remembered that the lengths determined by these charts will vary slightly in actual practice with the element diameter and the method of supporting the elements, and the tuning of a beam should always be checked after installation. However, the lengths obtained by the use of the charts will be close to correct in practically all cases, and they can be used without checking if the beam is difficult of access.

The preferable method for checking the beam is by means of a field-strength meter or the S-meter of a communications receiver, used in conjunction with a half-wave dipole antenna located at least 10 wavelengths away and as high as or higher than the beam that is being checked. A few watts of power fed into the antenna will give a useful signal at the observation point, and the power input to the transmitter (and hence the antenna) should be held constant for all of the readings. Beams tuned on the ground and then lifted into place are subject to tuning errors and cannot be depended upon. The impedance of the driven element will vary with the height above ground, and good practice dictates that all final matching between antenna and line be done with the antenna in place at its normal height above ground.

### Simple Systems: the Rotary Beam

Two- and 3-element systems are popular for rotary-beam antennas, where the entire antenna system is rotated, to permit its gain and directivity to be utilized for any compass direction. They may be mounted either horizontally (with the plane containing the elements parallel to the earth) or vertically.

A 4-element beam will give still more gain than a 3-element one, provided the support is



Fig. 14-11 — Element lengths for a 3-element beam. These lengths will hold elosely for tubing elements supported at or near the center. The radiation resistance (D) is useful information in planning for a matching system, but it is subject to variation with height above ground and must be considered only as an approximation.

The driven-element length (C) may require modification for tuning out reactance if a T- or gamma-match feed system is used, as mentioned in the text.

A 0.21D-0.2R beam cut for 28.6 Me, would have a director length of 452/28.6 = 15.8 = 15 feet 10 inches, a reflector length of 490/28.6 = 17.1 = 17 feet 1 inch, and a driven-element length of 470.5/28.6 = 16.45 = 16 feet 5 inches.

### ANTENNAS

sufficient for at least 0.2-wavelength spacing between elements. The tuning for maximum gain involves many variables, and complete gain and tuning data are not available.

The elements in close-spaced (less than onequarter wavelength element spacing) arrays preferably should be made of tubing of onehalf to one-inch diameter. A conductor of large diameter not only has less ohmic resistance but also has lower Q; both these factors are important in close-spaced arrays because the impedance of the driven element usually is quite low compared to that of a single half-wave dipole. With 3- and 4-element arrays the radiation resistance of the driven element may be so low that ohmic losses in the conductor can consume an appreciable fraction of the power. Low radiation resistance means that the antenna will work over only a small frequency range without retuning unless largediameter conductors are used.

### Feeding Close-Spaced Arrays

Any of the usual methods of feed may be applied to the driven element of a parasitic array. The preferred methods are shown in Fig. 14-42. Resonant feeders are not recommended for lengths greater than a half-wavelength unless open-wire lines of copper-tubing conductors are used.

Three versions of the popular "T"-match are shown, for two-wire lines of Twin-Lead at A, for single coaxial line at B, and for double coaxial line at C. The match is adjusted by moving the shorting bars, keeping them equidistant from the center, until the minimum s.w.r. is obtained on the line. If the s.w.r. minimum is not 1.5 or less, the transmitter frequency should be shifted to find the frequency where the minimum s.w.r. occurs. If it is higher than the original test frequency, increase the antenna element length slightly. The parasitic element lengths taken from Fig. 14-41 should not require much adjustment unless considerably different spacing is used, but it may be necessary to change the position of the shorting bars and the length of the antenna element once or twice before the s.w.r. at the test frequency is acceptable. The matching section may be made of the same type of conductor as the element and spaced a few inches from it. The length of the matching section will be greater with higher-impedance lines and with wider element spacing. A good starting point for a 28-Mc. wide-spaced (0.2D-0.15R) beam fed with 300-ohm Twin-Lead is 28 inches each side of center. A similar antenna and line on 14 Mc. might require about 56 inches each side.

The gamma match, shown in Fig. 14-42D, can be considered as one-half a "T"-match, and the same principles hold. However, when the length of the element is changed, in an effort to minimize the s.w.r., only the side to which the movable bar is connected should be ehanged — the other side should remain at one-half the length obtained from Fig. 14-41.



Fig. 14-42 — Recommended methods of feeding the driven antenna element in close-spaced parasitic arrays. The parasitic elements are not shown. A, B, C, "["], match; D, "gamma" match; E, delta matching transformer; F, coaxial-line quarter-wave matching section; G, folded dipole. Adjustment details are discussed in the text.

With 52-ohm eoaxial line feed, the length of the matching element may run around 15 to 20 inches in a 28-Mc. beam, and twice this value in a 14-Mc. array.

An alternative to adjusting the element length for tuning out the residual reactance is to use a small variable condenser in series at the junction of the coaxial-cable inner conductor and the matching section of the gamma match. A small 140- $\mu\mu$ fd. receiving-type variable is adequate at powers of a few hundred watts, and it can be weatherproofed by mounting it in a small plastic cup or other housing. The T-match of Figs. 14-42 A, B or C would require two condensers, one in each side.

The delta matching transformer shown at E is probably easier to install, mechanically, than any of the others. The positions of the taps (dimension a) must be determined experimentally, along with the length, b, by checking the standing-wave ratio on the line as adjustments are made. Dimension b should be about 15 per cent longer than a.

The coaxial-line matching section at F will work with fair accuracy into a close-spaced parasitic array of 2, 3 or 4 elements without necessity for adjustment. The line is used as a quarter-wavelength transformer, and, if its characteristic impedance is 70 ohms (RG-11/U), it will give a good match to a 600-ohm line when the resistance at the termination is about 8.5 ohms. Over a range of 5 to 15 ohms the mismatch, and therefore the standing-wave ratio, will be less than 2-to-1. The length of the quarter-wave section may be calculated from

Length (feet) = 
$$\frac{246V}{f}$$
 (14-J)

where V = Velocity factor

f = Frequency in Mc.

Example: A quarter-wave transformer of RG-11/U is to be used at 28.7 Me. From the table in Chapter Thirteen, V = 0.66.

Length =  $\frac{246 \times 0.66}{28.7}$  = 5.67 feet = 5 feet 8 inches

The folded-dipole antenna, Fig. 14-42G, presents a good match for the line when properly designed. Details are given in Chapter Thirteen. Different impedance step-up ratios can be obtained by varying the number of conductors or their diameter ratio.

### Sharpness of Resonance

Peak performance of a multielement parasitic array depends upon proper phasing or tuning of the elements, which can be exact for one frequency only. In the case of close-spaced arrays, which because of the low radiation resistance usually are quite sharp-tuning, the frequency range over which optimum results can be secured is only of the order of 1 or 2 per cent of the resonant frequency, or up to about 500 kc, at 28 Mc. However, the antenna can be made to work satisfactorily over a wider frequency range by adjusting the director or directors to give maximum gain at the highest frequency to be covered, and by adjusting the reflector to give optimum gain at the lowest frequency. This sacrifices some gain at all frequencies, but maintains more uniform gain over a wider frequency range.

As mentioned in the preceding paragraphs, the use of large-diameter conductors will broaden the response curve of an array because the larger diameter lowers the Q. This causes the reactances of the elements to change rather slowly with frequency, with the result that the tuning stays near the optimum over a considerably wider frequency range than is the case with wire conductors.

### **Combination Arrays**

It is possible to combine parasitic elements with driven elements to form arrays composed of collinear driven and parasitic elements and combination broadside-collinear-parasitic elements. Thus two or more collinear elements might be provided with a collinear reflector or director set, one parasitic element to each driven element. Or both directors and reflectors might be used. A broadside-collinear array could be treated in the same fashion.

When combination arrays are built up, a rough approximation of the gain to be expected may be obtained by adding the gains for each type of combination. Thus the gain of two broadside sets of four collinear arrays with a set of reflectors, one behind each element, at quarter-wave spacing for the parasitic elements, would be estimated as follows: From Table 14-III, the gain of four collinear elements is 4.5 db, with half-wave spacing; from Fig. 14-34 or Table 14-1V, the gain of two broadside elements at half-wave spacing is 4.0 db.; from Fig. 14-40, the gain of a parasitic reflector at quarter-wave spacing is 4.5 db. The total gain is then the sum, or 13 db. for the sixteen elements. Note that it makes no difference in the final result if the array is considered as a grouping of several sets of antennas plus reflectors or as an array of antennas plus an array of reflectors. The actual gain of the combination array will depend, in practice, upon the way in which the power is distributed between the various elements and upon the effect which mutual coupling between elements has upon the radiation resistance of the array, and may be somewhat higher or lower than the estimate.

A great many directive-antenna combinations can be worked out by combining elements according to these principles.

### **RECEIVING ANTENNAS**

Nearly all of the properties possessed by an antenna as a radiator also apply when it is used for reception. Current and voltage distribution, impedance, resistance and directional characteristics are the same in a receiving antenna as if it were used as a transmitting antenna. This reciprocal behavior makes possible the design of a receiving antenna of optimum performance based on the same considerations that have been discussed for transmitting antennas.

The simplest receiving antenna is a wire of random length. The longer and higher the wire, the more energy it abstracts from the wave. Because of the high sensitivity of modern receivers, sometimes only a short length of wire strung

### ANTENNAS



Fig. 14-43 — Antenna-switching arrangements for various types of antennas and coupling systems, A — For tuned lines with separate antenna tuners or low-impedance lines. B — For a voltage-fed antenna, C — For a tuned line with a single antenna tuner. D — For a voltage-fed antenna with a single tuner, E — For two tuned-line antennas with a tuner for each antenna or for two low-impedance lines. F — For combinations of several two-wire lines.

around the room is used for a receiving antenna, but such an antenna cannot be expected to give good performance, although it is adequate for loud signals on the 3.5- and 7-Mc. bands. It will serve in emergencies, but a longer wire outdoors is always better.

The use of a tuned antenna improves the operation of the receiver, however, because the signal strength is raised more in proportion to the stray noises picked up than is the case with wires of random length. Since the transmitting antenna usually is given the best location, it can also be expected to serve best for receiving. This is especially true when a directive antenna is used, since the directional effects and power gain of directive transmitting antennas are the same for receiving as for transmitting.

In selecting a directional receiving antenna it is preferable to choose a type that gives very little response in all but the desired direction (small minor lobes). This is even more important than high gain in the desired direction, because the cumulative response to noise and unwanted-signal interference in the smaller lobes may offset the advantage of increased desired-signal gain. The feed line from the antenna should be balanced so that it will not pick up signals and thus greatly reduce the directivity effects.

### Antenna Switching

Switching of the antenna from receiver to transmitter is commonly done with a changeover relay, connected in the antenna leads or the coupling link from the antenna tuner. If the relay is one with a 115-volt a.c. coil, the switch or relay that controls the transmitter plate power will also control the antenna relay. If the convenience of a relay is not desired, porcelain knife switches can be used and thrown by hand.

Typical arrangements are shown in Fig. 14-43. If coaxial line is used, the use of a coaxial relay is recommended, although on the lower-frequency bands a regular switch or change-over relay will work almost as well.

### Antenna Construction

The use of good materials in the antenna system is important, since the antenna is exposed to wind and weather. To keep electrical losses low, the wires in the antenna and feeder system must have good conductivity and the insulators must have low dielectric loss and surface leakage, particularly when wet.

For short antennas, No. 14 gauge hard-drawn enameled copper wire is a satisfactory conductor. For long antennas and directive arrays, No. 14 or No. 12 enameled copper-clad steel wire should be used. It is best to make feeders and matching stubs of ordinary soft-drawn No. 14 or No. 12 enameled copper wire, since harddrawn or copper-clad steel wire is difficult to handle unless it is under considerable tension at all times. The wires should be all in one piece; where a joint cannot be avoided, it should be carefully soldered.

In building a two-wire open line, the spacer insulation should be of as good quality as in the antenna insulators proper. For this reason, good ceramic spacers are advisable. Wooden dowels boiled in paraffin may be used with untuned lines, but their use is not recommended for tuned lines. The wooden dowels

can be attached to the feeder wires by drilling small holes and binding them to the feeders with wire.

At points of maximum voltage, insulation is most important, and Pyrex glass, Isolantite or Steatite insulators with long leakage paths are recommended for the antenna. Glazed porcelain also is satisfactory. Insulators should be



Fig. 14-44 - Details of a simple 40-foot "A"-frame mast suitable for erection in locations where space is limited.

cleaned once or twice a year, especially if they are subjected to much smoke and soot.

In most cases poles or masts are desirable to lift the antenna clear of surrounding buildings, although in some locations the antenna will be sufficiently in the clear when strung from one chimney to another or from a housetop to a tree. Small trees usually are not satisfactory as points of suspension for the antenna because of their movement in windy weather. If the antenna is strung from a point near the center of the trunk of a large tree, this difficulty is not so serious. Where the antenna wire must be strung from one of the smaller branches, it is best to tie a pulley firmly to the branch and run a rope through the pulley to the antenna, with the other end of the rope attached to a counterweight near the ground. The counterweight will keep the tension on the antenna wire reasonably constant even when the branches sway or the rope tightens and stretches with varying climatic conditions.

Telephone poles, if they can be purchased and installed economically, make excellent supports because they do not ordinarily require guying in heights up to 40 feet or so. Many low-cost television-antenna supports are now available, and they should not be overlooked as possible antenna aids.

### "A"-FRAME MAST

The simple and inexpensive mast shown in Fig. 14-44 is satisfactory for heights up to 35 or 40 feet. Clear, sound lumber should be selected. The completed mast may be protected by two or three coats of house paint.

If the mast is to be erected on the ground, a couple of stakes should be driven to keep the bottom from slipping and it may then be "walked up" by a pair of helpers. If it is to go on a roof, first stand it up against the side of the building and then hoist it from the roof, keeping it vertical. The whole assembly is light enough for two men to perform the complete operation - lifting the mast, carrying it to its permanent berth, and fastening the guys with the mast vertical all the while. It is entirely practicable, therefore, to erect this type of mast on any small, flat area of roof.

By using  $2 \times 3s$  or  $2 \times 4s$ , the height may be extended up to about 50 feet. The  $2 \times 2$  is too flexible to be satisfactory at such heights.

### SIMPLE 40-FOOT MAST

The mast shown in Fig. 14-45 is relatively strong, easy to construct, readily dismantled, and costs very little. Like the "A"-frame, it is suitable for heights of the order of 40 feet.

The top section is a single  $2 \times 3$ , bolted at the bottom between a pair of  $2 \times 3$ s with an overlap of about two feet. The lower section thus has two legs spaced the width of the narrow side of a  $2 \times 3$ . At the bottom the two



heights in the vicinity of 40 feet, pivoted at the base for easy erection, The height can be extended to 50 feet or more by using 2 × 4s instead of 2 × 3s.

legs are bolted to a length of  $2 \times 4$  which is set in the ground. A short length of  $2 \times 3$  is placed between the two legs about halfway up the bottom section, to maintain the spacing.

The two back guys at the top pull against the antenna, while the three lower guys prevent buckling at the center of the pole.



Fig. 14-46 — Using a lever for twisting heavy guy wires.

The  $2 \times 4$  section should be set in the ground so that it faces the proper direction, and then made vertical by lining it up with a plumb bob. The holes for the bolts should be drilled beforehand. With the lower section laid on the ground, bolt A should be slipped in place through the three pieces of wood and tightened just enough so that the section can turn freely on the bolt. Then the top section may be bolted in place and the mast pushed up, using a ladder or another 20-foot  $2 \times 3$  for the job. As the mast goes up, the slack in the guys can be taken up so that the whole structure is in some measure continually supported. When the mast is vertical, bolt B should be slipped in place and both A and B tightened. The lower guys can then be given a final tightening, leaving those at the top a little slack until the antenna is pulled up, when they should be adjusted to pull the top section into line.

### **GUYS AND GUY ANCHORS**

For masts or poles up to about 50 feet, No. 12 iron wire is a satisfactory guy-wire material. Heavier wire or stranded cable may be used for taller poles or poles installed in locations where the wind velocity is high.

More than three guy wires in any one set usually are unnecessary. If a horizontal antenna is to be supported, two guy wires in the top set will be sufficient in most cases. These should run to the rear of the mast about 100 degrees apart to offset the pull of the antenna. Intermediate guys should be used in sets of three, one running in a direction opposite to that of the antenna, while the other two are spaced 120 degrees either side. This leaves a clear space under the antenna. The guy wires should be adjusted to pull the pole slightly back from vertical before the antenna is hoisted so that when the antenna is pulled up tight the mast will be straight.

When raising a mast that is big enough to tax the facilities available, it is some advantage to know nearly exactly the length of the guys. Those on the side on which the pole is lying can then be fastened temporarily to the anchors beforehand, which assures that when the pole is raised, those holding opposite guys will be able to pull it into nearly-vertical position with no danger of its getting out of control. The guy lengths can be figured by the right-angledtriangle rule that "the sum of the squares of the two sides is equal to the square of the hypotenuse." In other words, the distance from the base of the pole to the anchor should be measured and squared. To this should be added the square of the pole length to the point where the guy is fastened. The square root of this sum will be the length of the guy.

Guy wires should be broken up by strain insulators, to avoid the possibility of resonance at the transmitting frequency. Common practice is to insert an insulator near the top of each guy, within a few feet of the pole, and then cut each section of wire between the insulators to a length which will not be resonant either on the fundamental or harmonics. An insulator every 25 feet will be satisfactory for frequencies up to 30 Mc. The insulators should be of the "egg" type with the insulating material under compression, so that the guy will not part if the insulator breaks.

Twisting guy wires onto "egg" insulators may be a tedious job if the guy wires are long and of large gauge. The simple time- and finger-saving device shown in Fig. 14-46 can be made from a piece of heavy iron or steel by drilling a hole about twice the diameter of the guy wire about a half inch from one end of the piece. The wire is passed through the insulator, given a single turn by hand, and then held with a pair of pliers at the point shown in the sketch. By passing the



wire through the hole in the iron and rotating the iron as shown, the wire may be quickly and neatly twisted.

Guy wires may be anchored to a tree or building when they happen to be in convenient spots. For small poles, a 6-foot length of 1-inch pipe driven into the ground at an angle will suffice. Additional bracing will be provided by using two pipes, as shown in Fig. 14-47.

### HALYARDS AND PULLEYS

Halyards or ropes and pulleys are important items in the antenna-supporting system. Particular attention should be directed toward the choice of a pulley and halyards for a high mast since replacement, once the mast is in position, may be a major undertaking if not entirely impossible.

Galvanized-iron pulleys will have a life of only a year or so. Especially for coastalarea installations, marine-type pulleys with hardwood blocks and bronze wheels and bearings should be used.

For short antennas and temporary installations, heavy clothesline or windowsash cord may be used. However, for more permanent jobs,  $\frac{3}{4}$ -inch or  $\frac{1}{2}$ -inch waterproof hemp rope should be used. Even this should be replaced about once a year to insure against breakage.

Nylon rope, used during the war as glider tow rope, is, of course, one of the best materials for halyards, since it is weatherproof and has extremely long life.

It is advisable to carry the pulley rope back up to the top in "endless" fashion in the manner



Fig. 14.48 — An anterna lead-in panel may be placed over the top sash or under the lower sash of a window. Substituting a smaller height sash in half the window will simplify the weatherproofing problem where the sash overlap.

of a flag hoist so that if the antenna breaks close to the pole, there will be a means for pulling the hoisting rope back down.

### BRINGING THE ANTENNA OR FEED LINE INTO THE STATION

The antenna or transmission line should be anchored to the outside wall of the building, as shown in Fig. 14-49, to remove strain from the lead-in insulators. Holes cut through the walls of the building and fitted with feed-through insulators are undoubtedly the best means of bringing the line into the station. The holes should have plenty of air clearance about the conducting rod, especially when using tuned lines that develop high voltages. Probably the best place to go through the walls is the trimming board at the top or bottom of a window frame which provides flat surfaces for lead-in insulators. Either cement or rubber gaskets may be used to waterproof the exposed joints.

Where such a procedure is not permissible, the window itself usually offers the best opportunity. One satisfactory method is to drill holes in the glass near the top of the upper sash. If the glass is replaced by plate glass, a stronger



Fig. 14-49 — A — Anchoring feeders takes the strain from feedthrough insulators or window glass. B — Going through a full-length screen, a cleat is fastened to the frame of the screen on the inside. Clearance holes are cut in the cleat and also in the screen.

job will result. Plate glass may be obtained from automobile junk yards and drilled before placing in the frame. The glass itself provides insulation and the transmission line may be fastened to bolts fitting the holes. Rubber gaskets will render the holes waterproof. The lower sash should be provided with stops to prevent damage when it is raised. If the window has a full-length screen, the scheme shown in Fig. 14-49B may be used.

As a less permanent method, the window may be raised from the bottom or lowered from the top to permit insertion of a board which carries the feed-through insulators. This lead-in arrangement can be made weatherproof by making an overlapping joint between the board and window sash, as shown in Fig. 14-48.

### LIGHTNING PROTECTION

An ungrounded radio antenna, particularly if large and well elevated, is a lightning hazard.



Fig. 14-50 — Low-loss lightning arresters for transmitting-antenna installations.

### ANTENNAS

When grounded, it provides a measure of protection. Therefore, grounding switches or lightning arresters should be provided. Examples of construction of low-loss arresters are shown in Fig. 14-50. At A, the arrester electrodes are mounted by means of stand-off insulators on a fireproof asbestos board. At B, the electrodes are enclosed in a standard steel outlet box. The gaps should be made as small as possible without danger of breakdown during operation.

### **Rotary-Beam Construction**

It is a distinct advantage to be able to shift the direction of a beam antenna at will, thus securing the benefits of power gain and directivity in any desired compass direction. A favorite method of doing this is to construct the antenna so that it can be rotated in the horizontal plane. The use of such rotatable antennas is usually limited to the higher frequencies -14 Me, and above - and to the simpler antenna-element combinations if the structure size is to be kept within practicable bounds. For the 14-, 21- and 28-Mc, bands such antennas usually consist of two to four elements and are of the parasitic-array type described earlier in this chapter. At 50 Mc. and higher it becomes possible to use more elaborate arrays because of the shorter wavelength and thus obtain still higher gain. Antennas for these bands are described in another chapter.

The problems in rotary-beam construction are those of providing a suitable mechanical support for the antenna elements, furnishing a means of rotation, and attaching the transmission line so that it does not interfere with the rotation of the system.

### Elements

The antenna elements usually are made of metal tubing so that they will be at least partially self-supporting, thus simplifying the supporting structure. The large diameter of the conductor is beneficial also in reducing resistance, which becomes an important consideration when close-spaced elements are used.

Dural tubes often are used for the elements, and thin-walled corrugated steel tubes with copper coating also are available for this purpose. The elements frequently are constructed of sections of telescoping tubing making length adjustments for tuning quite easy. Electrician's thin-walled conduit also is suitable for rotary-beam elements.

If steel elements are used, special precautions should be taken to prevent rusting. Even copper-coated steel does not stand up indefinitely, since the coating usually is too thin. The elements should be coated both inside and out with slow-drying aluminum paint. For coating the inside, a spray gun may be used, or the paint may be poured in one end while rotating the tubing. The excess paint may be caught as it comes out the bottom end and Lightning-arrester systems require the best ground connection obtainable.

The most positive protection is to ground the antenna system when it is not in use; grounded flexible wires provided with clips for connection to the feeder wires may be used. The ground lead should be of short length and run, if possible, directly to a driven pipe or water pipe where it enters the ground outside the building.

## le to shift \_\_\_\_\_\_ hoursel through again until it i

poured through again until it is certain that the entire inside wall has been covered. The ends should then be plugged up with corks sealed with glyptal varnish.

#### Supports

The supporting framework for a rotary beam usually is made of wood or metal, using as lightweight construction as is consistent with the required strength. Generally, the frame is not required to hold much weight, but it must be extensive enough so that the antenna elements can be supported without excessive sag, and it must have sufficient strength to stand up under the maximum wind in the locality. The design of the frame will depend on the size and strength of the elements, whether they are mounted horizontally or vertically, and the method used to rotate the antenna.

The general preference is for horizontal polarization, primarily because less height is required to clear surrounding obstructions when all the antenna elements are in the horizontal plane. This is important at 14 and 21 Mc. where the elements are fairly long.

The support may be coupled to the pole by any convenient means which permits rotation or, alternatively, it may be firmly fastened to the pole and the latter rotated in bearings affixed to the side of the house.



Fig. 14-51 - A ladder-supported 3-element 28-Mc. heam. It is mounted on a pipe mast that projects through a bearing in the roof and is turned from the attie operating room. (W1MRK in August, 1946, QST.)

One type of construction is shown in Fig. 14-51. It uses a section of ordinary ladder as the main support, with crosspieces to hold the tubing antenna elements.

Metal can be used to support the elements of the rotary beam. For 28 Me., a piece of 2inch diameter duraluminum tubing makes a good "boom" for supporting the elements. The elements can be made to slide through suitable holes in the boom, or special clamps and brackets can be fashioned to support the elements. Fittings for TV antennas can often be used on 28-Me. beams.

With all-metal construction, delta, "gamma" or "T"-match are the only practical matching methods to use to the line, since anything else requires opening the driven element at the center, and this complicates the support problem for that element.

#### A Wooden Boom for 14 Mc.

Many amateurs prefer to build their beam booms from standard pieces of lumber, and the beam shown in Figs. 14-52 and 14-53 is an example of excellent design in wooden-boom construction. The boom members are two 20foot 2 × 4s fastened to the 4 × 12 × 24-inch center block with six lag screws. The two center screws serve as the axis for tilting the other four lock the boom in position after



Fig. 14-52 — A wooden boom for a 4-element 14-Mc, boom can be made quite strong by judicious use of guy wires. This installation is made on a windmill tower, and the drive motor is mounted halfway down on the tower. (W6MJB, Nov., 1947, QST.)

final assembly and adjustment have been completed. The blocks midway from each end are  $2 \times 4s$  spaced about six inches apart, with a long bolt between them. When this bolt is drawn tight, a very sturdy box brace is formed. The crossarms are  $3 \times 3s$  twelve feet long, bolted to the boom with carriage bolts.

The umbrella guys should have turnbuckles in them, and the guys are fastened to the center support after the beam has been permanently locked in its horizontal position. With the turnbuckles properly adjusted, there will be no sag in the boom and the elements will be neat.

The elements are 1<sup>3</sup>/<sub>8</sub>- and 1<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>-inch diameter duraluminum tubing, supported by 1<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>-inch stand-off insulators. Hose clamps are used to hold the elements on the insulators. Final adjustment of element lengths is possible through "hairpin" loops. The tower for the beam shown in Fig. 14-52 was a Sears-Roebuck windmill tower. The driving motor for the beam was located halfway down the tower, the torque being transmitted through a length of 1<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>-inch drive shaft. A pipe flange is welded to the drive shaft and bolted to the center block. A cone bearing is obtained by turning both the flange and a sleeve of 2-inch pipe to match, as shown in Fig. 14-53.

One method of matching the line to the antenna is to use a quarter wavelength of 75-ohm Twin-Lead between the radiator and the slipring contacts, to match a 600-ohm line from the slip rings to the transmitter.

A 600-ohm open-wire line is run to a point about halfway up on the tower, then up the side of the tower to the slip rings. The slip rings are mounted on the top of the tower, directly under the center block. A quarter-wavelength matching section of transmitting-type 75-ohm Amphenol Twin-Lead hangs in a loop between the driven element and the slip-ring contacts.

### "Plumber's-Delight" Construction

The lightest beam to build is the so-called "plumber's delight" — an array constructed entirely of metal, with no insulating members between the elements and the supporting structure. Suggested constructional details are shown in Figs. 14-54, 14-55, 14-56, 14-57 and 14-58.

The boom can be built of two lengths of 3-inch diameter 61S-T6 dural tubing of 0.072-inch wall thickness, as shown in Fig. 14-54. The two sections are spliced together with a three-foot length of  $6 \times 6$  oak, turned down at each end to fit inside the tubing. The center of the block is left square to provide a flat surface to attach to the vertical rotating pipe. At each extremity of this boom is cut a hole the exact diameter of the parasitic elements. A two-foot length of 3/4-inch pipe, complete with flange mounting plate, is bolted to the top surface of the oak block, and a single guy wire is run to each end of the boom. An egg insulator and a turnbuckle are placed in each guy. The turnbuckles should be tightened until there is no sag in the boom when it is supported at the center, and then safety-wired.
# **ANTENNAS**

Finally the center block should be given a good coat of paint or varnish.

Eyebolts for

Nails

element

Spring-bronze wiping contacts

Top view of slip rings

The elements can be made of three 12-foot lengths of dural tubing, the two outside lengths telescoping inside the center section. The ends of the center section should be slotted for a distance of about 4 inches with a hack saw, but it is advisable to do the slotting after the center sections have been assembled on the boom. The parasitic-element center sections are fastened to the boom with 1/4-inch bolts, as shown in Fig. 14-55, while the driven element is secured in a cradle made of half sections of iron pipe welded together, as shown in Fig. 14-56. The cradle is bolted to the boom with three <sup>1</sup>/<sub>4</sub>-inch bolts, and the driven element is held fast with two bolts or with adjustable aircraft-tubing clamps.

The feed line for the antenna can be any balanced line, of from 200 to 600 ohms impedance, and it is most conveniently coupled through a "T"-match. This "T"match assembly can be made from two 4-foot lengths of dural tubing joined together by a piece of broomstick, as shown in Fig. 14-58. The "T" is connected to the antenna by two clamps fashioned of 1-inch-wide brass strip.

A convenient method for supporting the boom atop the pipe used to rotate the beam is shown in Fig. 14-57. A "U"-channel into which the boom will fit is welded to the end of the pipe. Holes are drilled in the side of the channel corresponding to holes in the boom. The boom is hoisted up and

positioned between the two flanges and a bolt run through the flanges and the boom. The boom can then be swung into a horizontal position and the second bolt put in place.

#### Feeder Connections

For beams that rotate only 360 degrees, it is common to bring off feeders by making a short section of the feeder, just where it leaves the







Fig. 14-53 - Details of the wooden boom, its method of support and the construction of the slip rings.

11 drive

:

rotating member, of flexible wire. Enough slack should be left so that there is no danger of breaking or twisting. Stops should be placed on the rotating shaft of the antenna so that it will be impossible for the feeders to "wind up."

For continuous rotation, the sliding contact is simple and, when properly built, quite practicable. The chief points to keep in mind are that the contact surfaces should be wide enough to

> take care of wobble in the rotating shaft, and that the contact surfaces should be kept clean. Spring contacts are essential, and an "umbrella" or other scheme for keeping rain off the contacts is a desirable addition. Sliding contacts preferably should be used with nonresonant open-wire lines, so that the line current is low.

600-ohm open-

wire line

The possibility of poor connec-

# 359



Fig. 14-55 — The center element section is held in the boom with a  $\frac{1}{2}-28$  machine serew, nut and lock washer. The guy wire attaches to the head of the bolt.

tions in sliding contacts can be avoided by using inductive coupling at the antenna, with one coil rotating on the antenna and the other fixed in position, the two coils being arranged so that the coupling does not change when the antenna is rotated. A quarter-wave feeder system is conneeted to a tuned pick-up circuit whose inductance is coupled to a link. The link coil connects to a twisted-pair transmission line, but any type of line such as flexible coaxial cable can be used. The circuit would be adjusted in the same way as any link-coupled circuit, and the number of turns in the link should be varied to give proper loading on the transmitter. The rotating coupling circuit tunes to the transmitting frequency. The system is equivalent to a link-coupled antenna tuner mounted on the pole, using a parallel-tuned tank at the end of a quarter-wave line to center-



Fig. 14-56 — The clamp for the driven element is made by splitting 1-foot lengths of iron pipe and welding them as shown,

feed the antenna. For constant coupling, the two coils should be rigid and the pole should rotate without wobble. The two coils might be made a part of the upper bearing assembly holding the rotating pole in position.

There are other variations of the inductivecoupled system. The tuned circuit might, for instance, be placed at the end of a 600-ohm line, and a one-turn link used to couple directly to the center of the antenna, if the construction of the rotary member permits. In this case the coupling can be varied by changing the L/C ratio in the tuned circuit. For mechanical strength the coupling coils preferably should be made of  $\frac{1}{4}$ -inch copper tubing, well braced with insulating strips to keep them rigid.

#### Rotation

It is convenient but not essential to use a motor to rotate the beam. If a rope-andpulley arrangement can be brought into the operating room or if the pole can be mounted near a window in the operating room, hand rotation of the beam will work.

If the use of a rope and pulleys is impracticable, motor drive is about the only alternative. There are several complete

# **CHAPTER 14**

motor driven rotators on the market, and they are easy to mount, convenient to use, and require little or no maintenance. Generally speaking, light-weight units are better because they reduce the load on the mast or tower.

The speed of rotation should not be too great — one or two r.p.m. is about right. This



Fig. 14-57 — The mounting plate is made from a length of "U"-channel iron cut and drilled as shown. The boom is raised vertically until one set of bolt holes is in line and a bolt is slipped through. The boom is then swung into its horizontal position and the other bolt is put in place.

requires a considerable gear reduction from the usual 1750-r.p.m. speed of small induction motors; a large reduction is advantageous because the gear train will prevent the beam from turning in weather-vane fashion in a wind. The usual beam does not require a great deal of power for rotation at slow speed, and a 1/2-hp. motor will be ample. A reversible motor should be used so that it will not be necessary to go through nearly 360 degrees to bring the beam back to a direction only slightly different, but in the opposite direction of rotation, to the direction to which it may be pointed at the moment. In cases where the pole is stationary and only the supporting framework rotates, it will be necessary to mount the motor and gear train in a housing on or near the top of the pole. If the pole rotates, the motor can be installed in a more accessible location.

Driving motors and gear housings will stand the weather better if given a coat of aluminum paint followed by two coats of enamel and a coat of glyptal varnish. Even commercial units will last longer if treated with glyptal varnish. Be sure that the surfaces are clean and free from grease before painting. Grease can be removed by brushing with kerosene and then squirting the surface with a solid stream of water. The work can then be wiped dry with a rag.

The power and control leads to the rotator should be run in electrical conduit or in lead covering, and the metal should be grounded.



Fig. 14-58 — Details of the "T"-match assembly.

# About V.H.F.

While it is possible to use the frequencies above 30 Mc, without knowing anything about wave propagation, the amateur who understands something of the means by which his signals reach distant points will be able to do a better job of it. Because much of the pleasure and satisfaction to be derived from v.h.f. work lie in making the best possible use of propagation vagaries associated with natural phenomena, a working knowledge of the basic principles of wave propagation is a most useful tool for the v.h.f. operator.

# Characteristics of the Bands Above 50 Mc.

The assignments from 50 Mc. up are superior to our lower bands in one outstanding respect: their ability to provide interferencefree communication consistently within a limited service area. Lower frequencies are more subject to varying conditions that impair their effectiveness for work over a radius of 100 miles or less at least part of the time, and the heavy occupancy they support creates a continuing interference problem. Our v.h.f. bands, on the other hand, are seldom crowded, and their characteristics for local work are more stable. Because of these attributes the 50- and 144-Mc. bands, particularly, enjoy considerable popularity in areas where there are dense concentrations of population.

In addition, it has been found that there are several media by which v.h.f. signals are propagated beyond the local range, and operation on the v.h.f. bands has been taken up by many operators who must depend almost entirely on "DX" for their contacts. The latter group, particularly, will benefit from a familiarity with common propagation phenomena. The material to follow is intended to supplement the more detailed information in Chapter Four, dealing with wave propagation as it affects the world above 50 Mc.

#### 50 to 54 Mc.

This band is borderline territory between the frequencies regularly used for long-distance communication and those normally employed for local work. Thus just about every form of wave propagation to be found throughout the radio spectrum will appear, on occasion, in the 50-Mc, region. This diversity has contributed greatly to the growing popularity of the 50-Mc, band in the amateur picture.

During the peak years of the sunspot cycle it is occasionally possible to work 50-Mc. DX of worldwide proportions, by reflection of signals from the  $F_2$  layer. Sporadic-*E* skip provides opportunities for work over distances from 400 to 2500 miles or so during the early summer months, regardless of the solar cycle. Reflection from the aurora regions accounts for communication over 100 to 600-mile paths during pronounced ionospheric disturbances. The ever-changing weather pattern offers frequent opportunities for extension of the normal coverage to as much as 300 miles. This tropospheric condition develops most often during the warmer months, but may occur at any season. In the absence of any favorable propagation, the average wellequipped 50-Mc. station should be able to work regularly over a radius of 75 to 100 miles or more, depending on local terrain.

#### 144 to 148 Mc.

Ionospheric effects are greatly reduced at 144 Mc. It is doubtful whether  $F_2$ -layer reflection ever occurs at this frequency, and sporadic-*E* skip is rare. Aurora DX is fairly common, but the signals are generally weaker than on 50 Mc, Tropospheric effects are more pronounced than on 50 Mc., and distances covered during favorable weather conditions are greater than on lower bands. Air-mass boundary bending has been responsible for communication on 144 Mc, over distances in excess of 1100 miles, and 500-mile work is fairly common in the warmer months. The reliable working range under normal conditions is slightly less than on 50 Me., when comparable equipment and antennas are used.

#### 220 Mc. and Higher

Ionospheric propagation is unlikely at 220 Mc. and up, but tropospheric bending is more prevalent than on lower bands. Amateur experience on 220 and 420 Mc. is showing that they can be as useful as 144 Mc., when comparable equipment is used. Under minimum conditions the range may be slightly shorter, but when signals are good on 144 Mc., they may be better on 220 or 420. Even at 1215 Me. and higher there is evidence that paths well beyond line of sight may be covered successfully.

# **Propagation Phenomena**

The various known means by which v.h.f. signals may be propagated over unusual distances are discussed below.

#### F2-Layer Reflection

The "normal" contacts made on 28 Mc, and lower frequencies are the result of reflection of the transmitted wave by the  $F_2$  layer, the ionization density of which varies with solar activity, the highest frequencies being reflected at the peak of the 11-year solar cycle. The maximum usable frequency (m.u.f.) for  $F_2$ reflection also rises and falls with other welldefined cycles, including daily, monthly, and seasonal variations, all related to conditions on the sun and its position with respect to the earth.

At the low point of the 11-year cycle, such as the period we encountered in the early '50s, the m.u.f. may reach 28 Mc. only during a short period each spring and fall, whereas it may go to 60 Mc, or higher at the peak of the cycle. The fall of 1946 saw the first authentic instances of long-distance work on 50 Mc. by  $F_{2}$ -layer reflection, and as late as 1950 contacts were still being made in the more favorable areas of the world by this medium. In the northern latitudes there are peaks of m.u.f. each spring and fall, with a low period during the summer and a slight dropping-off during the midwinter months. At or near the Equator conditions are more or less constant at all seasons.

Fortunately the  $F_2$  m.u.f. is quite readily

determined by observation, and means are available whereby it may be estimated quite accurately for any path at any time. It is predictable for months in advance,<sup>1</sup> enabling the v.h.f. worker to arrange test schedules with distant stations at propitious times. As there are numerous signals, both harmonics and fundamental transmissions, on the air in the range between 28 and 50 Mc., it is possible for an observer to determine the approximate m.u.f. by careful listening in this range. A series of daily observations will serve to show if the m.u.f. is rising or falling from day to day, and once the peak for a given month is determined it can be assumed that the peak for the following month will occur about 27 days later, this cycle coinciding with the turning of the sun on its axis. The working range, via  $F_2$ skip, is roughly comparable to that on 28 Me., though the *minimum* distance is somewhat longer. Two-way work on 50 Me, by reflection from the  $F_2$  layer has been accomplished over distances ranging from 2200 to 10,500 miles. The maximum frequency for  $F_2$  reflection is believed to be in the vicinity of 70 Me,  $F_2$  DX on 50 Me, is unlikely again before 1956.

#### Sporadic-E Skip

Patchy concentrations of ionization in the *E*-layer region are often responsible for re-

<sup>1</sup> Basic Radio Propagation Predictions, issued monthly, three months in advance, by the Central Radio Propagation Laboratory of the National Bureau of Standards, Order from the Supt. of Documents, Washington 25, D. C.; \$1.00 per year.



Fig. 15-1 — The principal means by which v.h.f. signals may be returned to earth. The  $F_2$  layer, highest of the known reflecting regions of the ionosphere, is eapable of reflecting 50-Mc, signals during the peak period of the 11-year solar cycle. Such communication may be world-wide in scope. Sporadie ionization of the *E* layer produces the familiar "short skip" contacts over medium distances at 28 and 50 Me. On these hands it is a fairly frequent oecurrence regardless of the solar cycle. It is most common in May through August. Refraction of v.h.f. waves also takes place at air-mass boundaries in the lower atmosphere, making possible **comm**unication over distances of several hundred miles, usually without a skip zone, on all v.h.f. bands.

# ABOUT V.H.F.

flection of signals on 28 and 50 Mc. This is the popular "short skip" that provides fine contacts on both bands in the range between 400 and 1300 miles. It is most common in May, June and July, during morning and early evening hours, but it may occur at any time or season. Since it is largely unpredictable, at our present state of knowledge, sporadic-*E* skip is of high "surprise value." Multiple-hop effects may appear, when ionization develops simultaneously over large areas, making possible work over distances of more than 2500 miles.

The upper limit of frequency for sporadic-E skip is not positively known, but scattered instances of 144-Mc. propagation over distances in excess of 1000 miles indicate that E-layer reflection, possibly aided by tropospheric effects, may be responsible.

#### Aurora Effect

Low-frequency communication is occasionally wiped out by absorption of these frequencies in the ionosphere, when ionospheric storms, associated with variations in the earth's magnetic field, occur. During such disturbances, however, v.h.f. signals may be reflected back to earth, making communication possible over distances not normally workable in the v.h.f. range. Magnetic storms may be accompanied by an aurora-borealis display, if the disturbance occurs at night and visibility is good. When the aurora is confined to the northern sky, aiming a directional array at the auroral curtain will bring in signals strongest, regardless of the true direction to the transmitting station. When the display is widespread there may be only a slight improvement noted when the directional array is aimed north. The latter condition is often noticed during the period around the peak of the H-year cycle, when solar activity is spread well over the sun's surface, instead of being concentrated in the region near the solar equator.

Aurora-reflected signals are characterized by a rapid flutter, which lends a "dribbling" sound to 28-Mc. carriers and may render modulation on 50- and 144-Mc. signals completely unreadable. The only satisfactory means of communication then becomes straight c.w. The effect may be noticeable on signals from any distance other than purely local, and stations up to about 800 miles in any direction may be worked at the peak of the disturbance. Unlike the two methods of propagation previously described, aurora effect exhibits no skip zone. It is observed frequently on 50 Mc., and pronounced disturbances affect the 144-Mc. band similarly. The highest frequency for aurora reflection is not yet known.

#### Scatter

When long-distance communication is possible on 50 Mc., stations within the skip zone may be heard with a wavery quality indicative of multipath reception. Such signals have traversed a normal ionospheric path, via either the  $F_2$  or Elayer, and a small amount of energy has returned to the receiver by reflection from a distant point on the earth's surface. The process is similar to that of a radar echo, except that an ionospheric route is followed.

The effect is most marked with high-gain directional arrays and high transmitter power. The direction from which scatter signals are observed indicates the region of most intense ionization, and adaptations of radar methods make it possible to "sound" the ionosphere to determine what distances and directions may be covered on a given frequency.

#### **Reflections from Meteor Trails**

Probably the least-known means of v.h.f. wave propagation is that resulting from the passage of meteors across the signal path. Reflections from the ionized meteor trails may be noted as a Doppler-effect whistle on the carrier of a signal already being received, or they may cause bursts of reception from stations not normally receivable. Sudden large increases in strength of normally-weak signals are another manifestation of this effect. Ordinarily such reflections are of little value in extending communication ranges, since the increases in signal strength are of short duration, but meteor showers of considerable magnitude and duration may provide fluttery v.h.f.



Fig. 15-2 — Illustrating a typical weather sequence, with associated variations in v.h.f. propagation. At the right is a cold air mass (fair weather, high or rising barometer, moderate summer temperatures). Approaching this from the left is a warm moist air mass, which overruns the cold air at the point of contact, creating a temperature inversion and considerable bending of v.h.f. waves. At the left, in the storm area, the inversion is dissipated and signals are weak and subject to fading. Barometer is low or falling at this point,

signals from distances up to 1000 miles or more. Signals so reflected have a combination of the characteristics of aurora and sporadic-Eskip.

#### Tropospheric Bending

Refraction of radio waves takes place whenever a change in refractive index is encountered. This may occur at one of the ionized layers of the ionosphere, as mentioned above, or it may exist at the boundary area between two different types of air masses, in the region close to the earth's surface. A warm, moist air mass from over the Gulf of Mexico, for instance, may overrun a cold, dry air mass which may have had its origin in northern Canada. Each tends to retain its original characteristics for considerable periods of time, and there may be a well-defined boundary between the two for as much as several days. When such airmass boundaries exist along the path between two v.h.f. stations separated by 50 to 300 miles or more, a considerable degree of refraction takes place, and signals run high above the average value. Under ideal conditions there may be almost no attenuation, and signals from far beyond the visual horizon will come through with strength comparable to that of local stations.

Many factors other than air-mass movement of a continental character may provide increased v.h.f. operating range. The convection that takes place along our coastal areas in warm weather is a good example. The rapid cooling of the earth after a hot day in summer, with the air aloft cooling more slowly, is another, producing a rise in signal strength in the period around sundown. The early-morning hours, when the sun heats the air aloft, before the temperature of the earth's surface begins its daily rise, may frequently be the best hours of the day for extended v.h.f. range, particularly in clear, calm weather, when the barometer is high and the humidity low.

Any weather condition that produces a pronounced boundary between air masses of different temperature and humidity characteristics provides the medium by which v.h.f. signals cover abnormal distances. The ambitious v.h.f. enthusiast soon learns to correlate various weather manifestations with radiopropagation phenomena. By watching temperature, barometric pressure, changing cloud formations, wind direction, visibility, and other easily-observed weather signs, he is able to tell with a reasonable degree of accuracy what is in prospect on the v.h.f. bands.

The responsiveness of radio waves to varying weather conditions increases with frequency. Our 50-Mc. band is considerably more sensitive to weather variations than is the 28-Mc. band, and the 144-Mc. band may show strong signals from far beyond visual distances when the lower frequencies are relatively inactive. The maximum distance over which tropospheric propagation is frequently observed on 50 Mc. is in the neighborhood of 300 miles. On 144 Mc. distances of 500 miles are not uncommon. It is probable that this tendency continues on up through the microwave range, and that our assignments in the u.h.f. and s.h.f. portions of the frequency spectrum may someday support communication over distances far in excess of the optical range. Already 144-Mc. tropospheric communication by amateurs has passed the 1100-mile mark, and even greater distances are believed possible on this and higher frequencies.

#### STATION LOCATIONS

In line with our early notions of v.h.f. wave propagation, it was once thought that only highly-clevated v.h.f. stations had any chance of working beyond a few miles. Almost all the work was done by portable stations operating from mountain tops, and only hilltop home sites were considered suitable for fixed-station work. It is still true that the fortunate amateur who lives at the top of a hill enjoys a certain advantage over his fellows on the v.h.f. bands, but high elevation is not the all-important factor it was once thought to be.

Improvements in equipment, the wide use of high-gain antenna systems, and an awareness of the opportunities afforded by weather phenomena have enabled countless v.h.f. workers to achieve excellent results from seemingly poor locations. In 50-Mc. DX work particularly, elevation has ceased to be an important factor, though it may help in extending the range of operation somewhat under normal conditions. A high elevation is somewhat more helpful on 144 Mc. and higher frequencies, particularly when no unusual propagation factors are present, as during the winter months. Other factors, such as close proximity to large bodies of water, may more than compensate for lack of elevation during the other seasons of the year, however.

Stations situated in sea-level locations along our coasts have been consistent in their ability to work long distances on 144 Mc.; weather variations provide interesting propagation effects over our Middle Western plain areas; and even the worker situated in mountainous country need not necessarily feel that he is prevented by the nature of his horizon from doing interesting work. Contacts have been made on 50 and 144 Mc. over distances in excess of 100 miles in all kinds of terrain.

The consistently-reliable nature of 50 and 144 Mc. for work over such a radius and more, regardless of weather, time or season, and the occasional opportunities these frequencies afford for exciting DX, have caused an increasing number of amateurs to migrate to the v.h.f. bands for extended-local communication, once thought possible only on the lower frequencies.

# V.H.F. Receivers

Even more than in work on lower frequencies, receiver performance is all-important in the v.h.f. station. High sensitivity and good signal-to-noise ratio, necessary attributes in a receiving system for 50 Mc, and higher bands. are best attained through the use of a converter, working in conjunction with a communications receiver designed for lower frequencies. Though receivers and converters for 50, 144, and even 220 Me. are available on the amateur market, it is possible for the v.h.f. worker to build his own with fully as good results, and at a considerable saving in cost.

In its basic principles, modern receiving equipment for these bands differs little from that employed on lower frequencies, and the same order of selectivity may be used in amateur work up to at least 450 Mc. The greatest practical selectivity should be used in y.h.f. work, as well as on the frequencies below 30 Mc., as it not only permits more stations to operate in a given band, but is an important factor in improving the signal-to-noise ratio. The effective sensitivity of a receiver having "communication" selectivity can be made considerably better than is possible with broadband systems. First on 56 Me., more than a decade ago, then more recently on 144 Me., and currently on 220 and 420 Mc., the change to selective superheterodyne receivers marked the beginning of real extensions of the operating range.

The superregenerative receiver, once very popular for v.h.f. work, is now used principally for portable operation, or for other applications where maximum sensitivity and selectivity are not of prime importance. It is still capable of surprising performance, for a given number of tubes and components, but its lack of selectivity, its poor signal-to-noise ratio, and its tend-

ency to radiate a strong interfering signal rule out the superregenerator as a fixed-station receiver in areas where there is appreciable v.h.f. activity.

#### R.F. AMPLIFIER DESIGN

The amount of noise generated within the receiver itself is an important factor in the effectiveness of v.h.f. receiving gear. At lower frequencies the external noise is a limiting factor, but at 50 Me. and higher the receiver noise figure, gain and selectivity determine the ability of the system to respond to weak signals. Proper selection of r.f. amplifier tubes and appropriate circuit design aimed at low noise figure are of more importance in the v.h.f. receiver "front end" than mere gain.

Certain triode or triode-connected pentode tubes have been found superior in this respect. their superiority becoming more pronounced as we go higher in frequency. At 144 Mc., for instance, a triode r.f. stage may give substantially the same gain as a pentode, but with a much lower noise figure. With the exeeption of the simplest unit, the equipment described in the following pages incorporates low-noise r.f. amplifier technique.

When triodes are used as r.f. amplifiers some form of neutralization of the grid-plate capacitance is required. This can be capacitive, as is commonly used in transmitting applications.



Fig. 16-1 - Schematic diagram of a push-pull r.f. amplifier for v.h.f. receiver use. This circuit is well suited to use with antenna systems fed by balanced lines. Coil and condenser sizes will be governed by the band for which the amplifier is to be used. C1 - 0.005-µfd, disc ceramic.

- Neutralizing capacitance, about 2 μμfd. May be made from lengths of 75-ohm Twin-Lead about 1½ inches  $C_N$ long.
- $R_1 150$  ohms,  $\frac{1}{2}$ -watt carbon.  $R_2 1000$  ohms,  $\frac{1}{2}$ -watt carbon.

or inductive. The alternative to neutralization is the use of grounded-grid technique. Circuits for v.h.f. triode r.f. amplifier stages are given in Figs. 16-1 through 16-4.

A dual triode operated as a neutralized push-pull amplifier is shown at 16-1. This arrangement is well adapted to v.h.f. preamplifier applications, or as the first stage in a converter, particularly when a balanced transmission line such as the popular 300-ohm Twin-Lead is used. It is relatively selective



Fig. 16-2 — Circuit of the cascode r.f. amplifier. Preferred antenna coupling methods for coaxial or balanced lines are shown. The first r.f. grid coil, and the neutralizing coil, Ls, should be a high-Q design. Other coils are not critical as to Q. C1, C2, C4, C5 - 0.005-µfd, disc ceramic.

- $C_3$ ,  $C_6 50 \cdot \mu \mu fd$ . ceramic.
- $R_1, R_2 100$  ohms,  $\frac{1}{2}$ -watt carbon. R<sub>3</sub>, R<sub>4</sub> 1000 ohms,  $\frac{1}{2}$ -watt carbon.
- $L_N$  Should resonate at signal frequency with 6AK5 gridplate capacitance.

and may require resistive loading of the plate circuit, when used as a preamplifier. The loading effect of the following circuit may be sufficient to give the required bandwidth, when the push-pull stage is inductively coupled to the mixer.

A two-stage triode amplifier having excellent noise figure and broadband characteristics is shown in Fig. 16-2. Commonly called the cascode, it uses a triode or triode-connected pentode followed by a triode grounded-grid stage. This circuit is extremely stable and uncritical in adjustment. At 50 Mc. and higher its over-all gain is at least equal to the best single-stage pentode amplifier and its noise figure is far lower.

Neutralization is accomplished by the coil  $L_{\rm N}$ , whose value is such that

it resonates at the signal frequency with the grid-plate capacitance of the tube. Its inductance is not critical; it may be omitted from the cireuit without the stage going into oscillation, but neutralization results in a lower noise figure than is possible without it. Any of several v.h.f. tubes may be used in the eascode circuit, the most popular arrangement being the 6AK5-6J6 combination. Fig. 16-2.

A simplified version of the cascode, using a dual triode tube designed especially for this application, is shown in Fig. 16-3. By reducing stray capacitance. through direct coupling between the two triode sections, this circuit

# CHAPTER 16

makes for improved performance at the frequencies above 100 Mc. The two sections of the tube are in series, as far as plate voltage is concerned, so it requires higher voltage than the other circuits shown.

The neutralization process for the cascode and neutralized-triode amplifiers is somewhat similar. With the circuit operating normally the neutralizing adjustments (capacitance of  $C_N$  in Fig. 16-1; inductance of  $L_N$  in Figs. 16-2 and 16-3) can be set for best signal-to-noise ratio. The middle of the range over which no oscillation occurs is approximately the proper setting. Finer adjustment can be made by disconnecting one heater lead from the r.f. amplifier tube socket and adjusting the neutralizing for minimum signal. The best results are obtained using a noise generator, adjusting for lowest noise figure, but the two methods described above will provide a fair approximation. Noise generators and their use in v.h.f. receiver adjustment are treated in July, 1953, QST, page 10.

Grounded-grid r.f. amplifier technique is illustrated in Fig. 16-4. Here the input circuit is connected in the cathode lead, with the grid of the tube grounded, to act as a shield between cathode and plate. The grounded-grid circuit is stable and easily adjusted, and is well adapted to broadband applications. The gain per stage is low, so that two or more stages are ordinarily required.

Choice of tubes is fairly limited, the best for the job being the 6J4, 6AN4, 6AJ4 and 6AM4. triodes especially designed for grounded-grid service. The 6J6 is used occasionally, as in Fig. 16-2. Disc-seal tubes such as the "lighthouse" and "pencil tube" types are often used as r.f. amplifiers above 500 Mc., where most miniature tubes become ineffective because of excessive lead inductance.



Fig. 16-3 - Simplified version of the cascode circuit for 6BQ7, 6BK7 or 6BZ7 dual triodes. This circuit is particularly effective at 144 Mc, and higher, Coil and condenser values not given depend on frequency. The neutralizing coil, L<sub>N</sub>, should resonate at the signal frequency, R.f. chokes in the heater circuit should be resonant with the plate-to-ground capacitance of the first triode section, at the highest frequency to be covered. They are bifilar wound,



Fig. 16-4 - Grounded-grid r.f. amplifier. Position of cathode taps on coils should be adjusted for lowest noise figure. C1, C2, C3, C5, C6 - 0.005-µfd. disc ceramic.  $R_4 = .526 \circ ... \mu d R_1$ , ceramic.  $R_1, R_3 = ... 220$  ohms,  $\frac{1}{2}$ -watt carbon.  $R_2, R_4 = ... 470$  ohms,  $\frac{1}{2}$ -watt carbon.

#### MIXER CIRCUITS

Triode tubes are favored for v.h.f. applications, as they are less critical as to operating conditions and the highest frequency at which they will operate satisfactorily is well above that of most pentodes. When used in converters having no r.f. amplifier stage triodes are usually quieter in operation as well.

A simple triode mixer circuit is shown in Fig. 16-5A. The grid circuit is tuned to the signal frequency, the plate circuit to the intermediate frequency. A dual-triode version is given at B. The latter is particularly suitable for use at the higher frequencies. Frequently a



Fig. 16-5 - Two types of triode mixers suitable for v.h.f. receivers. A single-ended triode circuit is shown at A. The tube may be half of a dual triode, with the other used as the oscillator, or separate tubes may be used. The dual-triode version, B, is particularly useful for 144 Me. and higher bands.

C1 - 50-µµfd. ceramic or mica.

C2, C6 - 30- to 50-µµfd, ceramic or mica. C<sub>2</sub>, C<sub>4</sub>, C<sub>5</sub> = 0.005-µfd, disc ceramic, C<sub>3</sub>, C<sub>4</sub>, C<sub>5</sub> = 0.005-µfd, disc ceramic, R<sub>1</sub> = 1 megohm,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt. R<sub>2</sub>, R<sub>4</sub> = 1000 ohms,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt.

R3-150 ohms, 1/2 watt.

367

dual triode is used as a combination mixer-oscillator, using the circuits of Figs, 16-5A and 16-6A. The amount of oscillator injection is usually not critical, but in the interest of stability it should be kept as low as practical. In dual triodes having separate cathodes (7F8, 12AT7, 2C51, etc.) some external coupling may be required, but the common cathode of the 6J6 will provide sufficient injection in most cases. If the injection is more than necessary it can be reduced by dropping the oscillator plate voltage, either directly or by increasing the value of the dropping resistor,  $R_1$ .

A pentode mixer may be less subject to oscillator pulling than a triode, and it will probably require less injection voltage. If a pentode mixer is used, its plate current should be held to the lowest usable value, to reduce tube noise. This may be controlled by varying the mixer screen voltage. The principal use of pentode mixers in v.h.f. work is in the interest of simplicity of circuit layout, as in multiband converters employing bandswitching.

Occasionally oscillation near the signal frequency may be encountered in v.h.f. mixers. This usually results from stray lead inductance in the mixer plate eircuit, and is most common with triode mixers. It may be corrected by connecting a small capacitance from plate to cathode, directly at the tube socket. Ten to 25  $\mu\mu \mathrm{fd},$  will be sufficient, depending on the signal frequency.

#### OSCILLATOR STABILITY

When a high-selectivity i.f. system is employed in v.h.f. reception, the stability of the oscillator is extremely important. Slight variations in oscillator frequency that would not be noticed when a broadband i.f. amplifier is used become intolerable when the passband is reduced to crystal-filter proportions.

One satisfactory solution to this problem is the use of a crystal-controlled oscillator, with frequency multipliers if needed, to supply the injection voltage. Such a converter usually employs one or more broadband r.f. amplifier stages, and tuning is done by varying the intermediate frequency to cover the desired frequency range.

When a tunable oscillator and a fixed intermediate frequency are used, special attention must be paid to the oscillator design, to be sure that it is mechanically and electrically stable. The tuning condenser should be solidly built, preferably of the double-bearing type. Splitstator condensers specifically designed for v.h.f. service, usually having ball-bearing end plates and special construction to insure short leads, are well worth their extra cost. Leads should be made with stiff wire, to reduce vibration effects. Mechanical stability of air-wound coils can be improved by tying the turns together with narrow strips of household cement at several points.

Recommended oscillator circuits for v.h.f. work are shown in Fig. 16-6. The single-ended oscillator may be used for 50 or 144 Mc. with good results. The push-pull version is recommended for higher frequencies and may also be used on the two lower bands, as well. Circuit A works well with almost any small triode, the 6AB4, 6AF4 or one half of a 6J6 or 12AT7 being most commonly used. The 6J6 is well suited to push-pull applications, as shown in circuit 16-6B.



Fig. 16-6 — Recommended circuits for v.h.f. oscillators. The push-pull arrangement at B is recommended for 220 and 120 Mc., particularly.

 $C_{\rm f} = 50 \ \mu\mu {\rm fd.}$ 

 $R_1 = Any$  small carbon resistor, 1000 ohms or less.  $R_2 = 10,000$  ohms,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt.

 $R_3 - 3000$  to 5000 ohms,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt.

#### THE I.F. AMPLIFIER

Superheterodyne receivers for 50 Mc. and up should have fairly high intermediate frequencies, to reduce both oscillator pulling and image response. Approximately 10 per cent of the signal frequency is commonly used, with 10.7 Mc. being set up as the standard i.f. for commercially-built FM receivers. This particular frequency has a disadvantage for 50-Mc. work, in that it makes the receiver subject to image response from 28-Mc. signals, if the oscillator is on the low side of the signal frequency. A spot around 7 Mc. is favored for amateur converter service, as practically all communications receivers are capable of tuning this range.

For selectivity with a reasonable number of i.f. stages, double conversion is usually employed in complete receivers for the v.h.f. range. A 7-Mc. intermediate frequency, for instance, is changed to 455 kc., by the addition of a second mixer-oscillator. This procedure is, of course, inherent in the use of a v.h.f. converter ahead of a communications receiver.

If the receiver so used is lacking in sensitivity, the over-all gain of the converter-receiver combination may be inadequate. This can be corrected by building an i.f. amplifier stage into the converter itself. Such a stage is useful even when the gain of the system is adequate without it, as the gain control can be used to permit operation of the converter with receivers of widely-different performance. If the receiver has an S-meter, its adjustment may be left in the position used for lower frequencies, and the converter gain set so as to make the meter read normally on v.h.f. signals.

Where reception of wide-band FM or unstable signals of modulated oscillators is desired, a converter may be used ahead of an FM broadcast receiver. A superregenerative detector operating at the intermediate frequency, with or without additional i.f. amplifier stages, also may serve as an i.f. and detector system for reception of wideband signals. By using a high i.f. (10 to 30 Me, or so) and by resistive loading of the i.f. transformers, almost any desired degree of bandwidth can be secured, providing good voice quality on all but the most unstable signals. Any of these methods may be used for reception in the microwave region, where stabilized transmission is extremely difficult at the current state of the art.

#### THE SUPERREGENERATIVE RECEIVER

The simplest type of v.h.f. receiver is the superregenerator. It affords fair sensitivity with few tubes and elementary circuits, but its weaknesses, listed earlier, have relegated it to applications where small size and low power consumption are important considerations.



C<sub>2</sub> — 47 µµfd.

 $C_3 = 0.001$  to 0.005 µfd. R<sub>1</sub> = 2 to 10 megohms.

 $R_1 = 2$  to 10 megohins,  $R_2 = 50,000$ -ohm potentiometer.

 $R_2 = 47,000$ -ohm potentiomet  $R_2 = 47,000$  ohms 1 watt

 $R_3 = 47,000$  olums, 1 watt.

 $\mathrm{RFC}$  — Single-layer r.f. choke, for frequency involved,  $\mathrm{T}_1$  — Interstage audio transformer.

Its sensitivity results from the use of an alternating quenching voltage, usually in the range between 20 and 200 kc., to interrupt the normal oscillation of a regenerative detector. The regeneration can thus be increased far beyond the amount usable in a straight regenerative circuit. The detector itself can be made to furnish the quenching voltage, or a separate oscillator tube can be used. Regeneration is usually controlled by varying the plate voltage in triode detectors, or the screen voltage in the case of pentodes. A typical circuit is shown in Fig. 16-7.

# **V.H.F. RECEIVERS**

# Crystal-Controlled Converters for 50, 144 and 220 Mc.

The family of converters shown in Figs. 16-8 through 16-16 was designed to provide optimum reception on all v.h.f. bands. Crystal-controlled injection is used to insure stability, and the r.f. circuit design provides the lowest practical noise figure for each frequency. Special attention has been paid to the reduction of spurious responses, often a troublesome point in broadband converter design. A separate converter section for each band connects to a common i.f. amplifier and power supply by means of a single plug and cable. This carries the mixer output, and plate and filament voltages.

#### The R.F. Circuits

A pentode r.f. amplifier (6CB6) is used in the 50-Mc. converter in the interest of simplicity. With proper design, such a stage can be made to deliver a satisfactory noise figure at 50 Mc. Its performance is quite adequate; it will be found that outside noise picked up by the antenna will be the limiting factor in weak-signal reception, even in a quiet receiving location.

The 144 and 220-Mc. converters have modified cascode circuits with dual triodes (6BQ7A, 6BK7 or 6BZ7) in the first stages. The 220-Mc. converter has an additional pentode stage, to build up the gain and improve the ability of the converter to reject unwanted frequencies. It will be noted that the converters differ somewhat as to circuitry in other respects, but this was done primarily to show examples of various circuit techniques, rather than because of any superiority of one approach over another. This applies particularly to the methods of coupling between stages.

When a fixed injection frequency is used with a variable intermediate frequency, the r.f. and i.f.

circuits of the converter must be made broadband, to avoid the need for readjusting them as the receiver with which the converter is used is tuned across the i.f. range. Spurious responses, both at the i.f. range and at frequencies adjacent to the desired signal frequencies, pose a special problem. Bandpass characteristics are attained through the use of overcoupled double-tuned eircuits in the converter r.f. circuits. These circuits present a high impedance at the signal frequency, but they look like a short circuit to signals in the i.f. range that are picked up by the antenna.

Spurious responses that might develop as the result of the injection of unwanted frequencies at the mixer grid are reduced by the use of a separate tube for the mixer, and coupling the injection voltage from the multiplier stage through a link. Isolation of the mixer and multiplier stages is further increased in the 144- and 220-Mc. converters by the installation of a shield partition along the middle of the base plate.

#### **Crystal Oscillator Details**

Crystal frequencies were selected so that all bands would start at the same spot on the communications receiver dial; in this case 7000 kc. Crystal frequencies, multiplier details and i.f. tuning ranges are shown in Table 16-1. Other i.f. tuning ranges that may be better suited to some communications receivers may be employed by suitable alteration of the crystal and multiplier frequencies.

A fairly high oscillator frequency is desirable, to reduce the possibility of oscillator harmonics appearing in the tuning range, as well as to keep down the number of multiplier stages. Each con-



Fig. 16-8 — Crystalcontrolled converters for 220, 144 and 50 Mc. (*l. to r.*) with their common i.f. amplifier and power supply. All chassis are standard sizes, requiring a minimum of metal work.

•

# 370

verter in this series uses a readily-obtainable crystal operating on its third overtone. This may result in a frequency of oscillation that is not exactly three times that marked on the crystal, but it is close enough for ordinary calibration purposes. Overtone crystals of the desired frequency may be obtained on order, at somewhat higher prices than for fundamental-type crystals. Conventional operation of crystals in the 7-Mc, range, making up the multiplication with additional stages, is not recommended because of the difficulty in avoiding birdies from crystal harmonies. In the overtone circuit, no frequency lower than the overtone at which the crystal oscillates is heard.

#### Layout

Each converter is built on a single  $5 \times 7$ -inch aluminum plate, and mounted on a standard chassis that serves as shielding and case. The three  $5 \times 7 \times 3$ -inch chassis are bolted to the back of the i.f. unit, to be described later. In this way each converter is a separate entity, permitting the constructor to build any one of them, omitting those bands in which he may not be interested. The shape of the i.f. unit is not important, and it could very readily be built in more compact fashion if less than the three converters are planned. The method of construction shown requires a minimum of metal work, and a converter can be rebuilt or replaced without affecting the operation of the others.

As only three tubes are used in the 50 Mc, converter they are arranged in a single line down the middle of the base plate. The other models have the oscillator-multiplier and amplifier-mixer sections separated by a vertical shield partition.

#### THE 50-MC. CONVERTER

The simplest of the three converters is the 50-Mc. unit, shown in Figs. 16-9 and 16-10. The r.f. and mixer stages use 6CB6 pentodes and a 6J6 serves as crystal oscillator and multiplier. A

CHAPTER	16

Band (Mc.)		I.F. (Mc.)	Crys- tal (kc.)	Overtone & Multiplication
50	43	7-11	7166	$3rd \times 2$
144	137	7 - 11	7611	$3rd \times 3 \times 2$
220	213	7 - 12	7100	$3rd \times 5 \times 2$
420*	382	50-54*	7074	$3rd \times 3 \times 3 \times 3 \times 2$
420*	406	26-30*	7518	same
* Fe	or cove	ring 432	to 436	Mc. only, To tune the

somewhat lower noise figure could have been obtained with a triode r.f. amplifier, but the design shown has a noise figure under 5 db. With the considerable external noise picked up by the antenna at 50 Mc., even in a quiet location, there is little to be gained in weak-signal reception by going lower than this figure.

The bottom view of the converter, Fig. 16-9, shows the r.f. amplifier socket and components at the left side. A small shield across the socket isolates the grid and plate circuits. The r.f. plate tuning condenser,  $C_2$ , is near the center. The plate coil,  $L_3$ , is the lower of the two coils in the middle of the photograph, with the mixer grid coil,  $L_4$ , just above it. An enameled-wire link may be seen running from this coil to the doubler plate coil,  $L_{10}$ , at the lower right. The oscillator inductance,  $L_9$ , is at the upper right corner.

Two methods of antenna coupling are shown in the schematic, Fig. 16-10, but the constructor need install only the one that is suited to the type of transmission line he intends to use to feed his antenna system. If coax is used, connection is made directly to the r.f. amplifier grid coil,  $L_2$ . This same type of connection may be used with a balun for balanced lines, or the coupling winding,  $L_1$ , may be added. In some instances it may be desirable to connect a trimmer between  $J_1$  and  $L_2$ , as shown in the 220-Mc. converter, if spurious signals are a problem.



Fig. 16.9 - Bottom view of the50-Mc converter.The r.f. amplifiersocket, divided bya shield partition,is at the left. Crystal oscillator andmultiplier components are at theright, with themixer in the middle.

•

# V.H.F. RECEIVERS



Fig. 16-10 - Schematic diagram of the 50-Me. erystal-controlled converter.

- 20-µµf, min. variable (Johnson 20M11).  $C_1, C_2, C_3 -$  — 50-μμf, min, padder (Hanmarlund MAPC 50),
 — 25-μμf, min, padder (Hammarlund MAPC 25),  $C_4$  $C_5$ L -3 turns fine ins, wire wound over cold end of  $L_2$ . - 9 turns No. 20 tinned, ½-inch diam., 1/16 inch long (B & W Miniductor No. 3003). L2. L4 -- 101/2 turns similar to L3. These coils are mounted La in line with their cold ends 1/8 inch apart. L5-No. 28 enameled wire close-wound one inch on

3%-inch slug-tuned form (National XR-91). Lacquer and dry before winding L6. Wind on upper portion of form.

Adjustment of the converter is very simple. First the oscillator and multiplier are tuned up. with the r.f. and mixer tubes out of their sockets, or with their plate voltage removed. Proper adjustment of the overtone oscillator follows practice outlined in the introductory portion of Chapter Seventeen, and the doubler portion need only be resonated for maximum output initially. This can be checked with a 60-ma, pilot lamp connected across a one-turn loop coupled to the cold end of  $L_{10}$ . The frequency of the output should be checked to be sure that the right overtone and harmonic are being used, and the oscillator tested to see that it is controlled by the erystal.

Now a signal source will be helpful. This can be a signal generator, an amateur signal, or the harmonic of a receiver or transmitter oscillator of known frequency. If the signal is derived locally it should be possible to hear it with only the mixer and oscillator-multiplier stages running, and with no pick-up antenna. If a weak signal is used it may be necessary to put a temporary coupling winding (similar to  $L_1$ ) on the mixer grid coil,  $L_4$ . Peak this circuit and the slug in the mixer plate eircuit for maximum response. The plate voltage should be removed from the r.f. stage during this period, but the tube should be left in the socket with the heater voltage on.

Next feed the signal into the r.f. stage, by either of the coupling methods shown, and peak  $L_2$  and  $L_3$  for maximum response. There should be a considerable rise in noise as the adjustments

- $L_6 10$  turns same wound over cold end of  $L_5$ . L7, L8 - Loop of No. 22 enameled wire inserted in cold ends of L1 and L10, connected by link of same
- material. Fasten in place with cement. L9-13 turns No. 20 tinned, 5%-inch diam., 34 inch
- long, tapped at 3½ turns from crystal end (B & W No, 3007).  $L_{10} - 8$  turns similar to  $L_2$ .
- J Coaxial fitting. 12
- Crystal socket for antenna terminal. J<sub>3</sub> — 4-pin male chassis fitting (Jones P-304-AB),

are made, so the noise level can be used as an indication of resonance in the absence of a test signal.

The converter is now ready for final adjustment, for best signal-to-noise ratio and uniform response across the band. The first can best be done with a noise generator, though a test signal can be used. Noise figure will be affected principally by the tuning of the first stage, and by the adjustment of the antenna eoupling. Watch for improvements in the margin of signal over noise, rather than maximum gain, as these two characteristics may not occur coincidentally. The eoupling between  $L_3$  and  $L_4$  affects the passband of the system and the tuning of these eircuits and the slug in the mixer plate winding can be staggered to provide uniform response across the band. Peaking of the input circuit may be necessary as the receiver is tuned across the entire band, though a setting can be made for the middle of the range most used and this will hold for at least a megacycle either way. Receiver noise ean be used as a check on the uniformity of response, in the absence of signals.

The amount of injection from the multiplier should be set at the least that will provide satisfactory performance. This will not be at all critical, but more injection than needed will increase the tendency to spurious response. It is controlled by the size and position of the coupling loops,  $L_7$ and  $L_8$ . In the original model they are about twothirds the diameter of the windings in which they

# **CHAPTER 16**



are inserted. The loop can be made small enough to slip through between the strips of polystyrene on the Miniduetor, and then spread to give the desired coupling. Cement the loops in place when this is achieved.

#### THE 144-MC. CONVERTER

832-10),

form.

- 50-µµf. min. trimmer (Hammarhund MAPC-50). L<sub>N</sub> — 5 turns No. 20 tinned, ¼-inch diam. Adjust spac-

L<sub>1</sub> — 6 turns No. 20 tinned, ¼-inch diam., turns spaced diam. of wire. Tap at 2½ turns.

 $L_2 = 4$  turns No. 20 enam. 3x-inch diam., 3% inch long.  $L_3 = 3$  turns. No. 20 enam., 3% inch diam., 5% inch long.

apart. L4 --- No. 28 enam, close wound 1 inch on %-inch slug-

L2 and L3 are in line, with their cold ends 1/8 inch

tuned form (National XR-91). Lacquer and dry before winding L5. Wind on upper portion of

ing for neutralizing: see text.

**C**<sub>4</sub> -

The 2-meter converter is shown in Figs. 16-11 and 16-12. From the photograph it may be seen

Fig. 16-11 — The 144-Me. converter is separated into two parts by a shield partition. At the top are the r.f. and mixer stages, with the oscillator and multiplier portion below the shield.

that the r.f. and mixer components are separated from the oscillator-multiplier chain by a shield partition. The r.f. portion is in the upper half of the picture. Use of small plastic trimmers for the tuned circuits saves enough space so that the additional tube is handled without crowding.

The r.f. circuit is the simplified cascode, using any of the several dual triodes designed for this application. Double-tuned circuits in the r.f. plate and mixer grid provide bandpass response



 $C_1$ ,  $C_2$ ,  $C_3$ ,  $C_5$ ,  $C_6 - 1$ - to 8- $\mu\mu$ f. plastic trimmer (Erie

- L<sub>5</sub> 10 turns, same, wound over cold end of L<sub>4</sub>. L<sub>6</sub> 12 turns No. 20 tinned, spaced diam. of wire,  $\frac{5}{8}$ -inch diam. Tap at  $3\frac{1}{2}$  turns. L<sub>7</sub> 11 turns No. 20 enam.,  $\frac{3}{8}$ -inch diam.,  $\frac{3}{4}$  inch
  - long.
  - 8 turns like L7, 5% inch long, L7 and L8 are in line Ls with their cold ends  $\frac{3}{6}$  inch apart. L<sub>9</sub> — 1 turns like  $L_7$ ,  $\frac{3}{8}$  inch long.

  - $L_{10}$ ,  $L_{11} 1$  turn insulated wire at each end, linking  $L_3$ with  $L_9$ .
  - J<sub>1</sub> Coaxial fitting.

  - J<sub>2</sub> 4-pin male chassis fitting (Jones P-304-AB). RFC<sub>1</sub>, RFC<sub>2</sub> Bifilar-wound r.f. chokes. Twist two pieces of No. 26 enameled wire together and wind 15 turns on 1/4-inch diameter.

# V.H.F. RECEIVERS

and help to attenuate unwanted signals on other frequencies. The oscillator-multiplier circuit is similar to the 50-Mc. converter, except that the second half of the 6J6 is a tripler. This is coupled through another pair of double-tuned eircuits to an additional doubler stage.

The order of frequency multiplication can be altered to take care of local interference conditions. Should it turn out that unwanted signals are brought in as a result of frequencies appearing in the multiplier chain, the second stage can be made a doubler and the pentode a tripler. The use of link coupling, and the isolation afforded by the shield, should reduce spurious responses to negligible proportions in most locations, however.

The first steps in adjustment of the 144-Mc. converter are similar to those outlined for the 50-Mc, model. The only additional work required is the neutralization of the 6BQ7 stage. This is done by adjusting the spacing of the turns in  $L_N$ for lowest noise figure, as indicated with a noise generator, or by best signal-to-noise ratio on a test signal. The inductance is not extremely critical, and it may be set somewhat on the lowinductance side of the largest value that can be used without oscillation developing in the r.f. stage.

Other than the neutralization, only the tuning of the input circuit will affect the noise figure materially. This is also best done with a noise generator. It will be found that best results will be obtained with  $L_1C_1$  resonated somewhat on the low-frequency side of the point that produces maximum gain. The tap on  $L_1$  should be set higher on the coil than the point that gives maximum signal response. The objective, as in the other adjustments outlined above, is best signalto-noise ratio, rather than maximum gain.

Uniform response across the band can be attained by stagger-tuning the r.f. plate, mixer grid and mixer plate circuits. Injection coupling should be set as low as will deliver optimum performance. This can be controlled by the position of the coupling loops,  $L_{10}$  and  $L_{11}$ , or by varying the output of the pentode stage by raising or lowering the value of the screen dropping resistor.

#### THE 220-MC. CONVERTER

Circuitry and layout for the 220-Mc. converter, Figs. 16-13 and 16-14, are very similar to the 144-Mc. model, except that an additional stage is used following the cascode, and an additional shield divides the socket of this stage. This helps to make up for the somewhat lower gain of the cascode at the higher frequency, and it improves the rejection of unwanted signals considerably. The latter condition has been found to be troublesome in 220-Mc. work, particularly in areas where TV and FM broadcasting stations are in operation.

No tuning condensers are used in the r.f. circuits, the coils being tuned to the desired frequency by adjusting the turn spacing until they resonate properly with the tube capacitances that appear across them. A variation on the doubletuned circuit is used in which a center-tapped coil serves as both grid and plate inductance. This type of circuit is well adapted to use at frequencies where tube capacitance becomes a limiting factor in the performance of r.f. amplifiers.

A different form of i.f. output coupling is shown in this converter, though it works identically to the method used in the other models. Note that the mixer plate coil is loaded by a 4700-ohm resistance in this case. The i.f. must cover from 7 to 12 Me. for the 220-Me. band, so a broader response is required. The value of this resistance can be altered to attain the desired degree of uniformity, though lower values than the one shown will result in lower over-all gain.

The tuning condenser in the input circuit tunes out the reactance of the line to the antenna. It may not be necessary in some installations, but it is likely to be helpful in reducing spurious responses. The same technique may also be applied



Fig. 16-13 — The 220-Mc, crystal-controlled converter. Note that two shields are used; one separating the injection and r.f. chains, the other dividing the socket for the 6 AK5 r.f. stage. R.f. components occupy the lower half of the assembly.



## CHAPTER 16



Fig. 16-14 - Schematic diagram and parts information for the 220-Mc. converter.  $C_1 - 50-\mu\mu f$ , miniature variable (Hammarlund MAPC-50)

- 8-μμf, plastic trimmer (Eric 532-10), C<sub>2</sub> -
- $-5 \mu \mu$ , plastic trimmer (Eric 532-08-OR5). 5 turns No. 20 tinned, ¼-inch diam., ¼ inch long,
- L center tapped.
- 5 turns No. 20 tinned, 1/4-inch diam. Adjust spae-L<sub>N</sub> ing for neutralization; see text. — 7 turns No. 20 tinned, spaced 1 diam., 1/4-inch

L2, L3 diam., center-tapped.

 No. 28 enam. wound one inch on <sup>3</sup>/<sub>8</sub>-inch slug-tuned form (National XR-91). La -

to advantage in the other converters, when spurious signals are bothersome.

Adjustment procedure is similar to that outlined for the 144-Me, model, except that the spacing of the turns in the r.f. coils must be adjusted, rather than tuning them by capacitors. As in the 144-Me. converter, the order of frequency multiplication can be altered to take care of any extreme local interference problems resulting from near-by TV, FM or other high-powered stations that may ride through as spurious responses. The oscillator ean be operated on its fifth overtone instead of the third, making the second and third stages operate as doubler and tripler, or vice versa. Fifth-overtone operation of the oscillator will require more care in adjustment of feedback than is the case with the third.

The coupling between  $L_8$  and  $L_3$  will be a factor in holding down spurious responses. It should be set at the lowest value that will allow satisfactory performance, by altering the position of the coupling loops,  $L_9$  and  $L_{10}$ , or by varying the value of the screen-dropping resistor in the last frequency-multiplier stage.

If a noise generator is available, and care is used in making the adjustments, it should be possible to achieve noise figures under 6 db. for the 220-Me, converter and 5 db, for the 144- and 50-Mc. models,

- L<sub>5</sub> 12 turns No. 20 tinned, spaced one diam., <sup>5</sup>/<sub>8</sub>-inch diam., tapped at 31/2 turns (B & W Miniductor
- No. 3007). 4 turns No. 20 tinned, ½-inch diam., ¼ inch long (B & W. Miniductor No. 3003). La
- 5 turns like L<sub>6</sub>, L<sub>6</sub> and L<sub>7</sub> are in line with their cold ends spaced ½ inch. L7
- Ls -–2½ turns No. 20 enam., ¼ inch long.
- L9, L10 -2 turns insulated wire between turns of Ls and L3, connected by link of same material. Ъ-Coaxial fitting.
- J<sub>2</sub> Male 4-prong chassis fitting (Jones P-304-AB).

#### V.H.F. RECEIVING BALUNS

As pointed out in the preceding converter descriptions, coaxial antenna input circuits are preferable in v.h.f. receivers where single-ended circuitry is employed. Where long transmission lines must be used, however, the losses in coaxial line discourage its use in feeding the antenna system, Particularly on 144 Mc. and higher, many amateurs prefer close-spaced open-wire lines for runs of 50 feet or more between the operating position and the antenna.

The advantages of coaxial input coupling and the low losses of open-wire balanced lines can both be retained if some means of coupling between the balanced line and the unbalanced receiver input circuit is provided. Such a device, usually called a "balun," is shown in Fig. 13-23D. V.h.f. receiver baluns are usually made of small coaxial line such as RG-59/U, and installed at the converter input terminal. The propagation factor of the line should be taken into account, making the actual length of the folded portion 65 per cent of a half-wave. The straight portion may be any convenient length, though it is usually a wavelength or less.

A 3-band balun for v.h.f. receiving use may also be made by using the coils from a so-called "elevator transformer" for this purpose that can

# V.H.F. RECEIVERS



Fig. 16-15 — Bottom view of the i.f. and power supply unit with bottom cover removed. Power components are at the left. A smaller chassis may be used if less than the three converters are to be built.

be obtained from some TV receiver parts distributors. Such a balun would consist of two pairs of coils, connected in parallel at one end and in series at the other. The parallel end is wired to a coaxial connector and the series end to a crystal socket or a pair of binding posts. The assembly should be housed in a copper or aluminum box that may be as small as  $1 \times 1 \frac{1}{2} \times 2\frac{1}{2}$  inches.

Like the coaxial-line balun, this converts from balanced to unbalanced termination, and provides a 4-to-1 impedance transformation in the process. The coils are designed for use across the v.h.f. TV range, 54 to 216 Mc., so they will serve well for all three amateur v.h.f. bands, 50, 144 and 220 Mc. See Fig. 13-24 for connections.

#### THE I.F. AMPLIFIER AND POWER SUPPLY

The i.f. amplifier (Figs. 16-15 and 16-16) serves two useful purposes. It builds up the gain, for receivers that may be poor performers at 7 Mc., and it provides a means of controlling the over-all gain of the system without disturbing the gain or S-meter controls on the receiver itself. The receiver may thus be operated exactly as it would be on 7 Mc., and the gain of the converter adjusted so that v.h.f. signals will be received It is obvious from the photographs that the i.f. and power supply unit could have been built in a smaller space. If the builder is considering only one or two of the converters he may wish to do this, but where all three are used the arrangement shown is a convenient one. The i.f. chassis is a standard size,  $3 \times 4 \times 17$ -inch aluminum, to which a bottom plate is added for shielding. Rubber feet can be attached to the two ends of the base, and one on each of the converters at the rear, to prevent the combination from marring a

similarly to those on lower frequency bands.

receiver top. The heater voltage, the plate voltage and the i.f. input lead are all carried on shielded wire to a 4-pin plug. This is connected to whichever converter is to be used at the moment, and no other changes other than plugging the antenna into the proper jack are required in changing from one v.h.f. band to another. The shielded wires in the cable are bonded together several times and then wrapped with plastic tape. The coaxial fitting for the connection to the receiver is at the extreme right on the rear wall of the i.f. chassis.

The only adjustment required in the i.f. unit is to set the coil slugs (on poise or signal) so that the response will be as nearly flat as possible across 7 to 11 Mc.



Fig. 16-16 — Schematic diagram and parts information for the i.f. and power supply unit used with the crystalcontrolled converters.

L<sub>1</sub>, L<sub>2</sub> — No. 28 enameled wire close wound on 3%-inch slug-tuned form (National NR-91). Lacquer and dry before adding coupling winding. Wind on upper portion of form. L<sub>3</sub>, L<sub>4</sub> — 10 turns same wound over cold ends of  $L_1$  and  $L_2$ . J<sub>1</sub> — Coaxial fitting.

P1 - Female 4-pin on end of eable (Jones S-304-CCT).

### **CHAPTER 16**

# A Simple Converter for 50 and 144 Mc.

Though the more complex equipment already described is typical of the gear that must be used in order to attain top performance on the v.h.f. bands, it is possible to start with simpler devices and still do a good job. The converter shown in Figs. 16-17 through 16-20 provides the best performance that can be expected from simple equipment. It was not built to be the simplest possible receiving device; rather, it was designed to provide good results with a minimum of complication and cost.

It uses a dual triode, 6J6, as a combined mixer-oscillator, followed by a 6AK5 i.f. amplifier. The latter is necessary; do not try to do without it. The output of a triode mixer is too low to give adequate gain for most receivers. The i.f. amplifier stage makes the converter usable with even the simplest receivers, and provides a convenient means of controlling the over all gain of the system. Plug-in coils mounted inside tube-base type forms provide the means of changing bands.

#### Mechanical Details

Though it could be built in a much smaller space, the converter uses a 3 by 5 by 10-inch chassis, allowing plenty of room for the work that must be done underside. The main tuning condenser is a split-stator variable made from a double-bearing double-spaced  $15-\mu\mu$ fd, type, Each section is reduced to three stator and two rotor plates. This unit is mounted under the chassis, as close to the top plate as possible, to make room for the vernier dial on the front panel. The mixer and i.f. plate coils,  $L_4$  and  $L_5$ , are mounted under the chassis. Normally this will provide all the shielding necessary for the i.f. circuits. If trouble is experienced with signals on the intermediate frequency a bottom plate may be added to the chassis. The panel is set out from the chassis front with half-inch pillars.

A smooth-running dial on the oscillator tuning is a necessity in a v.h.f. converter when communications-receiver selectivity is used. The National type SCN has a good tuning rate, plus ample space for calibration scales for both bands.

The circuit is so simple that no trouble should be experienced if the general parts arrangement is followed. Look over the photographs closely before starting to lay out the chassis for drilling. In the rear view, Fig. 16-18, the oscillator coil, the 6J6 tube, and the mixer grid coil,  $L_1$ - $L_2$ , appear in that order, from left to right, close to the panel. The 6AK5 tube is nearer the back, with the slug adjustment screws of the mixer plate coil,  $L_4$ , and the i.f. plate coils,  $L_5$ - $L_6$ , at the right and left, respectively. Holes are drilled in spare space at the back of the chassis to provide for storage of the set of coils not in use.

Looking in the bottom view, Fig. 16-20, we see the oscillator tuning condenser,  $C_5$ , at the center, the 6J6 socket at the left and the coil socket at the right. Note that the latter is as close to  $C_5$  as possible.

The only critical job in the adjustment procedure is involved in getting the inductance of the oscillator plug-in coils,  $L_3$ , to the correct value. There being only one parallel trimmer for the oscillator ( $C_4$ ) the coils must be made and adjusted earefully in order to have the desired bandspread on both ranges.

Considerable care must be used in the placement of the oscillator and mixer components, so that all leads will be very short; otherwise it will not be possible to resonate these circuits at 148 Mc. The 6J6 socket is at the left of  $C_5$ in the bottom view, and the mixer grid circuit components appear just to the left of the middle. The i.f. amplifier gain control,  $R_7$ , is at the right. The 300-ohm line from the crystalsocket antenna terminal,  $J_4$ , may be seen at the far left.

The mixer plate coil, the i.f. amplifier socket, and the output coil assembly are across the bottom of this view, from left to right. The antenna terminal, power plug and i.f. output connector are on the rear wall in the same order.



•

Fig. 16-17 — A 2-tube converter for 50 and 114 Me. The vernier dial is for oscillator tuning. The two knobs are the i.f. gain control, right, and the mixer tuning condenser. In front are the 2-meter mixer and oscillator plug-in coils.

٠

## V.H.F. RECEIVERS

Fig. 16-18 - Rear view of the simple converter. Near the panel, left to right, the oscillator coils are shown in place. The i.f. amplifier tube is nearer the back of the chassis, with the slug-tuned mixer and i.f. plate coils at either side, Coils not in use are stored at the back of the chassis.



#### Test Procedure

When the assembly and wiring are completed, the oscillator operation should be checked. The power supply should deliver 6.3 volts a.e., at 1 ampere, and 150 volts d.c. at 30 ma., preferably regulated. Insert a milliammeter in series with  $R_3$  and check for oscillation by touching any bare spot in the oscillator plate or grid circuit with a pencil. A change in current indicates oscillation.

Two types of bandspread are possible. With the coil values given in the parts list, the 50-Mc. band covers about 90 divisions of the dial. The 144-Mc, band covers about 50 divisions. The capacitance needed at  $C_4$  is about 12.5  $\mu\mu$ fd. in



Fig. 16-19 - Schematic diagram of the two-tube converter for 50 and 144 Me.

- $C_1 = 15 + \mu \mu fd$ , midget variable (Hammarland HF-15).
- $C_2 = 100 \cdot \mu \mu fd$ , mica or ceramic.

- $C_2 = 100 \mu \mu d$ , mice or ceramic.  $C_3, C_8 = 47 \mu \mu d$ , mice or ceramic.  $C_4 = 35 \mu \mu d$ , ceramic trimmer (Centralab 820-C).  $C_5 = Double-spaced split-stator variable, about 8 <math>\mu \mu f d$ , per section (Hammarhund HFD-15-X, reduced to 3 stator and 2 rotor plates in each section).
- $C_{6}, C_{11} 68 \cdot \mu\mu fd.$  mica or ceramic. C7, C9, C10, C12 0.01  $\mu fd.$  disk ceramic.
- $C_{13} = 15_{-\mu\mu}fd.$  ccramic, Connect directly from Pin 5 to Pin 7 on 6AK5 socket.

- Fin i on 0.4K5 socket. R<sub>1</sub>, R<sub>5</sub> 1 megohin,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt. R<sub>2</sub> 10,000 ohms,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt. R<sub>3</sub>, R<sub>4</sub>, R<sub>5</sub>, R<sub>10</sub> 1000 ohms,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt. R<sub>4</sub> 220 ohms,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt. R<sub>7</sub> 2000.ohm 4-watt potentiometer

- R8 22,000 ohms, 1 watt.
- L1-50 Mc.: 2 turns No. 22 enam. interwound in cold end of L2.
  - 144 Me.: 3 turns No. 22 enam. 1/4-inch diam., close-wound at cold end of L2.

- L<sub>2</sub> = 50 Me.: 7 turns No. 22 tinned, ½-inch diam., ¾ inch long (B & W No. 3003). 144 Me.: 2 turns No. 16 tinned, ¼-inch diam., ¼-inch long.
- L<sub>3</sub>-50 Mc.: 6 turns No. 22 tinned, ½-inch diam., 7/6 inch long center-tapped (B & W No. 3003, with end turns spread slightly). Alternate design for more bandspread, see text.
  - 144 Mc.: U-shaped loop No. 12 wire, 34 inch wide, 1 inch long, center-tapped.
  - Coils L1 and L2 are supported inside Millen 1-inch diameter 4-prong forms. L3 in Millen 45005, 5-prong. Saw off to 34-inch length.
- L4, L5-23 turns No. 22 enam. close-wound on National XR-50 slug-tuned form.
- L6-3 turns No. 22 enam. close-wound at cold end of  $L_5.$
- J1 Crystal socket for antenna terminal.
- J<sub>2</sub> Coaxial fitting, female.
- P<sub>1</sub> 4-prong power fitting, male.

this case. If more bandspread is wanted on 144 Mc., the setting of  $C_4$  can be increased to around 23  $\mu\mu$ fd., and  $L_3$  reduced to 4 turns. The 2-meter band will then cover around 72 divisions. It will not be possible to cover the whole of the 50-Mc. band with this arrangement, without resetting  $C_4$ , but this is no great handicap so long as activity is concentrated in the lower portion of the band, as at present.

The frequency of the oscillator may be checked with an absorption-type wavemeter or Lecher wires. For the 50-Mc. range, the oscillator should tune from 57.4 to 61.4 Mc. in order to beat with an incoming signal to produce a 7.4-Mc. i.f. (The oscillator is on the *high* side of the signal.) A kick in the oscillator plate current, or a flicker in the voltage-regulator tube in the power supply, can be used to show when the frequency is found with the measuring device.

Set the padder,  $C_4$ , so that 57.4 Me. comes at about 5 divisions in from the maximumcapacity end of the tuning range, and check to see where 61.4 Me. is found. It should come just inside the minimum-capacity end of the range. If the circuit will not tune to 61.4 Mc. the inductance of  $L_3$  is too low. Move the turns closer together, and reset  $C_4$  as before for 57.4 Mc. If the bandspread is too small, spread the turns and increase the capacitance of  $C_4$  to compensate, for the desired amount of spread, about 90 divisions on the dial.

Next check the 2-meter range. Here the coil must be adjusted in inductance until the oscillator will hit 136.6 Mc. somewhere between the middle and the maximum-capacity end of the tuning range of  $C_5$ . The high-end, 140.6 Mc., will then appear about 50 divisions higher on the dial. The oscillator is on the *low* side of the signal on this range. Do not change the setting of  $C_4$  in this process, or it will be necessary to alter the 50-Mc. coil again.

Once the oscillator covers the proper frequency ranges the converter may be tested in actual reception. Connect the output through a coaxial cable to a receiver tuned to approximately 7.4 Mc. There should be an increase in noise as the gain control is turned up. The mixer and i.f. amplifier plate windings can be tuned to the proper frequency merely by adjusting the core screws for maximum noise.

The mixer grid circuit may also be peaked on noise, though care should be taken to see that it is not peaked on the image, 14.8 Mc. away from the signal frequency. If the grid circuit is tuned to the desired frequency there will be a considerable increase in the strength of a signal as the grid condenser,  $C_1$ , is tuned through resonance. If the circuit is tuned to the image frequency the noise will peak up, but an amateur-band signal will drop in strength as the noise peak occurs. Tuning the mixer grid circuit shifts the oscillator frequency slightly, so it may be peaked more accurately on noise than when listening to a signal.

A final check of the dial calibration may be made by tuning in signals of known frequency, or by means of an accurate signal generator. Few wavemeters are sufficiently accurate for final calibration by the method outlined earlier.

If trouble is encountered with signals in the 7-Mc. region leaking through, the i.f. can be shifted slightly to tune out the interference. In some instances it may be necessary to put a bottom plate on the chassis. Small changes in intermediate frequency can be made without resetting either the oscillator padder or the i.f. coils. With the i.f. amplifier built into the converter, the setup will have adequate gain for use with almost any receiver. Reception will be nearly as good as with more complex designs, the principal difference being a somewhat higher noise figure (slightly degraded signal-to-noise ratio) in the simpler job. The use of a low-noise r.f. amplifier ahead of the converter (an example is the preamplifier of Fig. 16-22) will make possible reception equal to the best obtainable in a converter having a tunable oscillator.



٠

Fig. 16-20 — Bottom view of the two-band converter. The splitstator condenser at the center is for oscillator tuning. The oscillator coil socket is at the right and the 6,16 socket at the left. The mixer tuning condenser and grid coil socket are in the upper left corner, with the i.f. coils and tube socket at the rear.

•

# V.H.F. RECEIVERS Low-Noise Preamplifier for 144 Mc.

The triode preamplifier shown in Figs, 16-21 to 16-23 will improve the sensitivity and signal-tonoise ratio of receivers or converters for 144 Me.



Fig. 16-21 - Two-meter preamplifier using two 6AJ4 tubes. Adjustments are (left to right) input tuning capacitor, slug of neutralizing winding, and the plate tuning capacitor of the second stage.

that are deficient in these respects. Two separate triode tubes are shown, but any of the dual triodes designed for v.h.f. amplifier service may be used similarly. The circuit may be adapted to use on



Fig. 16-22 - Schematic diagram and parts list for the low-noise preamplifier.

- $C_1$ ,  $C_2$  Plastic trimmer, I to 8  $\mu\mu$ fd. (Erie style C1, C2 — Flastic trimmer, F to 5  $\mu\mu$ 532-10). C3, C4, C5, C6 — 0.001- $\mu$ fd. disk ceramic. R1 — 68 ohms, ½ watt, carbon. R2 — 0.47 megohm, ½ watt.

- R<sub>3</sub> = 470 ohms, ½ watt, carbon. I.1 = 4 turns No. 16 tinned, ¼-inch diam., spaced 1 diameter, tapped at 1¾ turns from ground end.
- $L_2 = 4$  turns No. 24 on ¼-inch slug-tuned form.  $L_3 = 5$  turns No. 18 enam., ¼-inch diam., spaced half diameter.
- $L_4 2$  turns insulated wire wound over cold end of  $L_3$ .
- Coaxial antenna fitting.  $\hat{\mathbf{P}}_1$ - Coaxial plug on eable of suitable length to reach
- converter input. RFC1-22 turns No. 22 enam., %-inch diam., closewound.
- RFC<sub>2</sub>, RFC<sub>3</sub>--18 turns cach, No. 21 enam., 1/4-inch diam. Twist wires together before winding. Coat turns with household cement.

50 or 220 Mc., by suitable alteration of coil and condenser values.

Pin connections given on the schematic diagram, Fig. 16-22, are for the 6AJ4 or 6AM4. Other tubes such as the 6AN4 and 417A will work equally well, if pin connections shown in the tube data section of this Handbook are followed. Slightly different values of cathode bias resistor may be needed if tubes other than the 6AJ4 are used.

The preamplifier is housed in a standard  $3 \times 4$  $\times$  5-inch aluminum utility box. The components were mounted on a sheet of flashing copper and the preliminary work of wiring was done with this plate as a chassis. The plate was later fastened to the inside of the top of the box. The parts could be mounted on the box directly, but they are more accessible if the work is done as described above,

Looking at the interior view, Fig. 16-23, we see the coax fitting, the first tube socket and the input circuit at the left. Between the tube sockets. at the center of the copper base plate, is the slugtuned neutralizing winding,  $L_2$ . A small copper shield divides the second socket, isolating the input and output circuits. This shield is not always needed, but it may be an aid to neutralization. At the far right are the output circuit and the bifilar-wound r.f. chokes for the heater circuit of the second stage. The tuning condensers,  $C_1$  and  $C_2$ , are plastic trimmers of a design that allows a saving in space and offers lower minimum capacitance and lead inductance than conventional flatplate trimmers.

The five grid pins of the 6AJ4 may be strapped together or used individually, as layout requirements dictate. In this instance, Pin 4 is used for



Fig. 16-23 - Interior view of the 144-Me. r.f. amplifier. A small shield across the second tube socket isolates the input and output circuits. The amplifier is built on a copper plate, which is then fitted to the top of a standard aluminum utility box.

the hot end of  $L_1$ , with the trimmer,  $C_1$ , connected to Pin 3. In the second stage, Pins 3 and 4 are tied to the grid side of  $R_2$ , and Pin 1 is by-passed by  $C_4$ .

#### **A**djustment

A noise generator will make the adjustment of the amplifier easy, as it is then only necessary to peak the plate circuit (by  $C_2$ ) for maximum gain, and then adjust the inductance of  $L_3$  and the setting of  $C_1$  for lowest noise figure. It is possible to follow this routine using signals or a signal generator, but it is a more difficult process.

If a signal is to be used, peak the second plate circuit for maximum response first. Then tune the input circuit for maximum also, if the amplifier does not oscillate. If it should oscillate, vary the setting of the slug in  $L_2$  to stop it, before attempting to peak any other adjustments. In adjusting the input circuit, watch for best signal-to-noise ratio, now, rather than for maximum gain. This will show up somewhat on the high-capacity side of the maximum-gain point, as the rotor of  $C_1$  is turned into the stator.

The position of the tap on  $L_1$  can be adjusted in the same way. The optimum point will be higher on the coil than the point at which maximum gain is observed. If the amplifier is adjusted at 146 Mc, it should not be necessary to repeak it across the entire band.

An amplifier of this sort should not be expected to produce a large improvement in reception when it is used ahead of a converter that already has a good triode front end, but installed ahead of a pentode amplifier, and particularly a converter having a bandswitching r.f. circuit, it will help considerably in the reception of weak signals, by increasing the margin of the signal over noise.

### Receivers for 420 Mc.

For best signal-to-noise ratio, receivers for any frequency should have the highest degree of selectivity that can be used successfully at the frequency in question. With crystal control or its equivalent in stability accepted as standard practice on all bands up through 148 Mc, there is little point in using more bandwidth in receivers for these frequencies than is necessary for satisfactory voice reception, a maximum of about 10 kc. Such communication selectivity is now being used successfully by most workers on 220 and 420 Me., too, but it imposes several problems not encountered on lower bands.

First is the matter of oscillator instability in the converter. Even the best tunable oscillator at 420 Mc. suffers from vibration and hand-capacity effects sufficiently to make it difficult to hold the signal in a 10-kc. i.f. bandwidth.

Then, there are still some unstable transmitters being used in work on 220 and 420 Me. It is out of the question to copy these on a selective receiver.

Last, searching a band 30 megacycles wide is excessively time-consuming when communications-receiver selectivity is used in the i.f. system.

There is no single solution to these problems, but the best approach appears to be that of breaking up of the band into segments for different types of operation. This is being done by mutual agreement among 420-Mc. operators at present, as follows: 420 to 432 Mc. — modulated oscillators and wideband FM; 432 to 436 Mc. crystal-controlled c.w., AM and narrow-band FM; 436 to 450 — television.

The first segment can be covered with a superregenerative receiver, a superheterodyne having a wideband i.f. system, or a converter used ahead of an FM broadcast receiver. The high selectivity required for best use of the middle portion makes a crystal-controlled or otherwise highly stable converter and communications receiver combination almost mandatory. Amateur TV is usually received with a converter ahead of a standard TV receiver, tuned to some channel that is not in use locally.

Many of the tubes used on the v.h.f. bands are uscless at 420 Mc., and the performance of even the best u.h.f. tubes is down compared to lower bands. Only the lighthouse or pencil-triode tubes and a few of the miniatures are usable, and these require modifications of conventional circuit technique to produce satisfactory results.

Crystal diodes are often used as mixers in 420-Mc. receivers, as in this frequency range they work nearly as well as vacuum tubes. The over-all gain of a converter having a crystal mixer is about 10 db, lower than one using a tube, so this difference must be made up in the i.f. amplifier. The noise figure of a receiver having a crystal mixer and no r.f. stage includes the noise figure of the i.f. amplifier following the mixer, so best results require that the i.f. amplifier employ low-noise techniques discussed earlier in this chapter. If the i.f. is 50 Mc. or higher it is particularly important that a low-noise triode be used for the first i.f. stage.

Crystal diodes of the type used in radar mixers, such as the 1N21 series, are well suited to 420-Mc. mixer service, though care must be taken to avoid damage from transmitter r.f. energy. Other types of crystal diodes such as the 1N72 and CK710 will stand higher values of crystal current, and their use is recommended.

Few conventional vacuum tubes work well as mixers at 420 Mc, and higher. The 6J6 is useful where a balanced input circuit is desired, as in Fig. 16-5B. For single-ended circuitry the 6AM4 and 6AN4 are recommended. They may be used in grounded-grid or grounded-cathode circuits.

For high-selectivity coverage of the 432- to 436-Mc. segment of the band, a common practice is to use a crystal-controlled converter working into another converter for either the 50- or 144-Mc. band, tuning the latter for the four-megacycle tuning range.

# V.H.F. RECEIVERS

#### A 420-MC. R.F. AMPLIFIER

The r.f. amplifier shown in Figs. 16-24 through 16-26 is eapable of a gain or more than 15 db. and its noise figure can be as low as 6 db, with careful adjustment. It will make a large improvement in the sensitivity of any converter or receiver that has no r.f. stage, or one that is working poorly.

The design shown is for either the 6AJ4 or 6AM4, but with suitable socket and pin-connection changes the 417A and 6AN4 will work

equally well. It is a grounded-grid amplifier with a half-wave line in the plate circuit. The antenna is connected to the cathode of the tube through a coupling condenser. As the input impedance of the grounded-grid stage is low, nothing is gained by the use of a tuned circuit in the cathode lead. Output is taken off through a coupling loop at the point of lowest r.f. voltage along the line.

The amplifier is built in a frame of flashing copper that serves as the outer conductor of the tank circuit. The whole assembly is 10 inches long and 11/4 inches square, except for the bottom, which is about 134 inches wide. Edges are folded over with lips 1/4 inch wide which slide into a bottom cover made from copper sheet  $2\frac{1}{4}$  by 10 inches in size, with its edges bent up 1/4 inch wide on each side.

The plate circuit is made of 1/4-inch copper tubing tuned by a copper-tab capacitor at the far end from the tube. Plate voltage is fed in at the point of minimum r.f. voltage, which in this



Fig. 16-25 - Schematic diagram of the 420-Me. r.f. amplifier.

- $C_1 500 \cdot \mu \mu fd.$  ceramic.
- $C_2, C_3 1000 \cdot \mu \mu fd.$  ceramic feed-through (Erie style 2404).
- C4 -- Copper tabs, 3%-inch diam.; see text and photographs.
- $R_1 150$  ohms,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt.  $R_2 470$  ohms,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt.
- L
- 14-inch copper tubing, 73% inches long, tapped 23% inches from plate end.
- L<sub>2</sub> Loop of insulated wire adjacent to  $L_1$  for  $\frac{3}{4}$  inch. J<sub>1</sub>, J<sub>2</sub> Coaxial fitting. RFC<sub>1</sub>, RFC<sub>2</sub>, RFC<sub>3</sub> 9 turns No. 22,  $\frac{3}{8}$ -inch diam.,
- spaced one diam.

instance is about 5 inches from the open end. The antenna is connected to the cathode through a coupling condenser. The input impedance of the grounded-grid amplifier is so low that nothing is gained by using a tuned circuit at this point. The cathode and heater are maintained above ground potential by small air-wound r.f. chokes.

The tube socket is two inches in from the end of the trough, and is so oriented that its plate connection, Pin 5, is in the proper position to connect to the line with the shortest possible lead. A copper shielding fin is mounted across



Fig. 16-24 - A highly effective r.f. amplifier for 420 Mc. The tank circuit is a half-wave line made of flashing copper. Coaxial fittings are for input and output connections. Heater and plate voltages are brought in on feedthrough by-pass capacitors just visible on either side of the 6AJ4 tube.

the interior of the trough 21/8 inches from the end, dividing the socket so that Pins 3, 4, 5 and 6 are on the plate side of the partition.

Minimum grid-lead inductance is important. This was insured by bending all the grid prongs down against the ccramic body of the socket, and then making the mounting hole just big enough to pass this part of the socket and the prongs. They were soldered to the wall of the trough.

Input and output connections are coaxial fittings mounted on the side wall of the trough. B-plus and heater voltage are brought into the assembly on feed-through capacitors mounted on the same side of the trough as the tube. Connection to the inner conductor of the line is made with a grid clip, so that the point of connection can be adjusted for optimum results.

The copper tubing is slotted at the plate end with a hack saw to a depth of about 1/4 inch, and a strip of flashing copper soldered into this slot to make the plate connection. A copper tab about the size of a one-cent piece is soldered to the other end of the tubing to provide the stationary plate of  $C_4$ . The line is supported near the low-voltage point by a 1/4-inch-thick block of polystyrene. This is centered at a point  $5\frac{1}{4}$  inches in from the tube end of the trough assembly. The hole for the B-plus feed-through is 41/4 inches from the same end.

The movable plate of  $C_4$  is soldered to a screw running through a nut soldered to the upper

# **CHAPTER 16**



Fig. 16-26 — Bottom view of the 420-Me. r.f. amplifier, with the slip-on cover removed. The inner conductor of the tank circuit is held in place by a block of polystyrene, mounted near the lowvoltage point on the line. The plate-voltage feed-through and output coupling loop may be seen at the left of this support. Heater, eathode and antenna-circuit components are in a separate compartment at the tube end of the assembly. The line is tuned at the opposite end by a handmade copper-tab capacitor.

surface of the trough at a point  $\frac{3}{6}$  inch in from the open end. If a fine-thread screw is available for this purpose it will make for easier tuning, though a 6/32 thread was used in this model. This made a wobbly contact, so a coil spring was installed between the top of the trough and the knob to keep some tension on the adjusting screw.

Adjustment of the 420-Me. amplifier is made easier if a noise generator is used, though it is not as important as in the case amplifiers with tuned input circuits. If the amplifier is working properly there will be an appreciable rise in noise as the plate circuit is tuned through resonance, and it may break into oscillation if operated without load. When connected to a following stage, with a reasonably-matched antenna plugged into  $J_1$ , the amplifier should not oscillate unless the coupling loop,  $L_2$ , is much too far from the inner conductor.

When the amplifier is operating stably and tuned to a test signal (or to a peak of response to a noise generator), the next step is to locate the optimum position for feeding the plate voltage into the line. This may be done by running a pencil lead slowly up and down the inner conductor, until a spot is found where touching the lead to the line has little or no effect on the operation of the amplifier. The plate voltage clip should be placed at this point and the process repeated, moving the clip slightly until it is at the minimumvoltage point precisely. This adjustment should be made at the midpoint of the tuning range over which the amplifier is to be used.

The position of the coupling loop should then be adjusted for best signal-to-noise ratio. This will probably turn out to be with the insulated wire lying against the inner conductor for a distance of about  $\frac{3}{4}$  to 1 inch, starting at the minimum-voltage point just located.

#### A CRYSTAL-CONTROLLED CON-VERTER FOR 432 MC.

The converter shown in Figs. 16-27 through 16-30 is designed to provide high sensitivity and signal-to-noise ratio in reception of signals in the 432- to 436-Me, range. It uses a grounded-grid r.f. amplifier stage similar to the one shown in Fig. 16-24, working into a crystal-diode mixer. The intermediate frequency, with the design constants given, is 50 to 54 Mc., though lower frequencies could be used by suitable modification of the injection chain.

Crystal-controlled injection on 382 Mc. is provided by two 6J6s operating as overtone oscillator-tripler and tripler-doubler, respectively. As only a small amount of r.f. is required at 382 Mc.,



Fig. 16-27 — A crystal-controlled converter for 432 to 430 Me. R.f. and mixer stages are in copper subassemblies at the right. Oscillator, multiplier and i.f. amplifier are on the left side.

this line-up is not difficult to build or adjust. An inexpensive 7-Mc, crystal is used. An i.f. preamplifier stage follows the crystal mixer. This may or may not be needed, depending on the performance of the receiver or converter that will serve as the tunable i.f. Low-noise amplification in the i.f. stage is a factor in the over-all performance of the system, so use of the built-in i.f. stage is recommended.

#### Construction

The converter is built on a  $7 \times 11 \times 2$ -inch aluminum chassis, with the r.f. and mixer portions in a copper subassembly that mounts on the top of the chassis, at the right side as seen in

# **V.H.F. RECEIVERS**

Fig. 16-28 — Interior view of the r.f. amplifier and mixer assemblies. The r.f. circuit is a half-wave line. The shorter assembly is the quarter-wave line using a crystal diode mixer.



Fig. 16-27. The oscillator-tripler and triplerdoubler 6J6s are at the left front, with the 6BQ7A i.f. amplifier at the rear. The mixer line is the short portion of the copper assembly, with the r.f. amplifier line at the right. In the bottom view, Fig. 16-28, the injection-chain and i.f. amplifier components are visible.

Fig. 16-28 is an interior view of the r.f. and mixer lines. These are made as two separate assemblies, joined by short length of copper tubing that is visible in the top view. Both tank circuits are  $1\frac{1}{4}$  inches square, with  $\frac{1}{4}$ -inch copper tubing inner conductors. They are made from sheets of flashing copper  $4\frac{1}{4}$  inches long and the r.f. portion is 10 inches long.

The r.f. amplifier is similar structurally to the one described previously, except for the method of coupling between it and the crystal mixer. This is done with a grid clip on each line and a ceramic coupling condenser. The lead from the capacitor, inside the amplifier line, is brought through a half-inch length of copper tubing that is soldered into the walls of both lines. The lead is insulated with spaghetti sleeving.

The B-plus feed to the r.f. stage should be at the point of minimum r.f. voltage,  $1\frac{1}{8}$  inches from the plate end of the copper tubing. The coupling tap is one inch out from the B-plus feedpoint. The coupling point on the mixer line is 1 inch from the ground end. The crystal diode is inserted in a small hole in the mixer inner conductor,  $1\frac{3}{4}$  inches from the ground end. The inner conductors of the r.f. and mixer lines are 7 3/16 and 5 inches long, respectively. Mixer tuning is done with a small plastic trimmer,  $C_{10}$ , while the r.f. plate circuit is tuned with a handmade tab capacitor,  $C_{9}$ , similar to  $C_{4}$  in Fig. 16-25.

Note the r.f. by-pass,  $C_8$ , on the outside of the mixer line. This is made from a piece of copper  $\frac{1}{16}$  inch in diameter, insulated from the line housing by a piece of vinyl plastic. Two thicknesses of the material commonly used for small parts envelopes are satisfactory. The crystal, which may be any of the u.h.f. diodes, is slipped through a close-fit hole and is held in place by the wire soldered to its outside terminal.

Plate and filament voltages are fed into the assembly on feed-through by-pass capacitors, visible in the top-view photograph. Antenna connection is made through a coaxial fitting on the end of the r.f. assembly. A crystal-current jack, a 4-pin power fitting and two i.f. connectors are on the end wall of the chassis. The second coaxial connector was installed so that tests could be made with and without the i.f. amplifier stage.

Wiring in the power circuits is done with shielded wire, in case that TVI might result from the oscillator or multiplier stages. The addition of a bottom plate and power-lead filtering would then be effective. Injection and i.f. coupling leads are also made of shielded wire, this serving in place of coax line that is harder to handle.

The output of the injection chain is coupled into the mixer line by means of a loop,  $L_8$ , that is not visible in the photographs. This loop is mounted on the copper base plate that is under



Fig. 16-29 — Bottom view of the 432-Mc. converter, showing the oscillator, multiplier and i.f. amplifier circuits.

٠

# 384

# CHAPTER 16



Fig. 16-30 — Wiring diagram and parts list for the 432-Me, crystalcontrolled converter. Values given are for an i.f. of 50 to 54 Me.

 $C_1 = 75_{-\mu\mu}f$ , miniature trimmer (Hammarlund MAPC-75). C. -

– 2-μμf, miniature trimmer (Johnson C<sub>3</sub>, C<sub>4</sub>-20MH). C2. - 25-µµf. miniature trimmer (Hammarlund MAPC- $C_5$ 

- 50), 500-μμf, feed-through ceramic (Centralab  $C_7$ C6.
- MFT-500). Handmade copper-tab by-pass; see text. Cs
- $C_9$  Handmade copper-tab variable; see text.  $C_{10}$  0.5: to 5-µµf, plastic trimmer (Erie style 532-08–
- OR5). - 131/2 turns No. 20 tinned, 5%-inch diam., 78 inch La long, tapped at 41/2 turns (B & W Miniductor
- No. 3007). 5 turns No. 20 tinned, ½-inch diam., ¾ inch long (B & W Miniductor No. 3003).  $L_2$
- $-2\frac{3}{4}$  turns similar to  $L_2$ . La
- $L_3 = 2\%$  turns stimula to  $L_2$ .  $L_4 = 2$  turns No. 12 tinned,  $\frac{1}{4}$ -inch diam.,  $\frac{1}{4}$  inch long.  $L_5 = 1$  turn ins. wire between turns of  $L_4$ . May be inner
- conductor of shielded wire, with braid removed.

the mixer and r.f. assembly. Its size and proximity to the mixer inner conductor are not particularly critical, as there is a surplus of injection under ordinary conditions of operation.

#### Adjustment

The first step in putting the converter into operation is to tune up the oscillator and multiplier stages. This process is similar to the adjustment of a transmitter and will not be detailed here. Check to see that the proper frequencies appear as indicated on the schematic diagram. Only enough power at 382 Mc. is needed to develop about 0.5 ma. of crystal current. Anything from 0.2 to 1.0 ma, is satisfactory. Adjustments should be made with no plate voltage on the r.f. stage.

Now connect the converter to a 50-Mc. receiver or converter and peak the i.f. amplifier

- L<sub>6</sub> Half-wave line, <sup>1</sup>/<sub>4</sub>-ineh copper tubing, 73/16 inches long. Quarter-wave line, <sup>1</sup>/<sub>4</sub>-inch copper tubing, 5 inches L7 -
- long. L8 - Loop of insulated wire 1 inch long and 1/2 inch high projecting through base plate on which line
- assemblies are mounted. May be made from inner conductor of shielded wire, with braid removed from last two inches.
- $L_9 = 2$  turns No. 22 enam. around cold end of  $L_{10}$ .
- $L_{10} 6$  turns similar to  $L_2$ .
- L11 11 turns No. 22 enam. close-wound on 3%-inch shig-tuned form (National XR-91).
- 4 turns No. 28 silk or enamel wound over cold 1.12 end of Lii.
- J<sub>1</sub>, J<sub>2</sub> Coaxial fitting.
- J<sub>3</sub> Closed-circuit jack.
- J<sub>4</sub> 4-pin male chassis fitting.
- RFC 10 turns No. 22 tinned, 1/8-inch diam. Space turns diam, of wire.

circuits at about 52 Mc. on noise. Next apply plate voltage and feed a signal into the r.f. stage. Peak the r.f. and mixer capacitors for maximum response at about 434 Mc. These adjustments can be made on noise also, if the circuits were close to resonance originally. A noise generator will give the best check on converter performance, but the margin of signal over noise that is obtained on a received signal is also usable, if adjustments are made with care.

The points of connection for the B-plus and the coupling taps on the r.f. and mixer lines are critical adjustments, but if the dimensions given above are followed carefully the points should be close to optimum. Adjustments can be made and checked readily if the r.f.-mixer assembly is mounted in place temporarily with a few selftapping screws.

# V.H.F. Transmitters

Beginning with the v.h.f. region, amateur frequency assignments are not in direct harmonic relationship with our lower-frequency bands. This fact, coupled with the necessity for extreme care in selection and placement of components for low circuit capacitance and minimum lead inductance, makes it highly desirable to construct separate gear for v.h.f. work, rather than attempt to adapt for v.h.f. use a transmitter designed for the lower amateur frequencies.

Transmitter stability regulations for the 50-Mc, band are the same as for lower bands, and proper design may make it possible to use the same rig for 50, 28, 21, and even 14 Mc., but incorporation of 50 Mc, and higher in the usual multiband transmitter is generally not feasible. Rather, it is usually more satisfactory to combine 50 and 144 Mc, since the two bands are close to a third-harmonic relationship. At least the exciter portion of the transmitter may be made to cover the requirements for both these bands very readily.

Though no stability restrictions are imposed by law on operation at 144 Me, and higher amateur bands (other than that the entire emission must be kept within the limits of the band in question), experience has demonstrated the value of using crystal control or its equivalent in v.h.f. work. Crystal-controlled transmitters and receivers having the minimum bandwidth necessary for voice communication make it possible for hundreds of stations to operate without undue interference in a band that would appear crowded if occupied by a dozen or less stations using broadband receivers and unstable transmitters.

The use of narrow-band communications systems also pays off in the form of improved efficiency in both transmitter and receiver. It is this factor, perhaps more than the interference potentialities of the wide-band systems, which makes it desirable to employ advanced techniques at 220 and even 420 Mc. Stabilized transmitters for 220 Mc. are not too difficult to build, and their use at this frequency is highly recommended.

Construction of multistage rigs for 420 Mc. is not easy, and the choice of tubes suitable for this type of work is quite limited, but the advanced amateur who is interested in making the most of the interesting possibilities afforded by this developing field will be satisfied with nothing less. The 420-Mc. band is much wider than our lower v.h.f. assignments, however, and interference is not likely to become a limiting factor in this band for a long time to come. Thus it may be more important, in many localities, to get activity rolling with any sort of gear, leaving perfection in design to come along as the need develops.

At 420 Mc. and in the higher amateur assignments most standard tubes cannot be used with any degree of success, and special tubes designed for these frequencies must be employed. These types have extremely close electrode spacing, to reduce transit-time effects, and are constructed with leads having virtually no inductance. Several more-or-less conventional tubes are now available which will operate with fair efficiency up to about 500 Mc., but best performance is obtained with the "lighthouse," "pencil tube," or coaxial-electrode types built especially for u.h.f. applications, and requiring specially-designed tank circuits.

Frequency modulation may be used throughout the v.h.f. and higher bands, wide-band emission being permitted above 52.5 Mc. and narrow-band FM anywhere. Where suitable receivers are available to make best use of such emissions, either wide-band or narrow-band FM can provide effective v.h.f. communication. Their use is particularly advantageous in congested areas where the freedom from interference to broadcast and television reception they enjoy may permit operation when an amplitude-modulated transmitter of any power would be a constant source of trouble.

# **Transmitter Technique**

The low-power stages of a transmitter for the v.h.f. bands need not be greatly different in design from those used for lower bands, and many of the ideas in Chapter Six may be used to good advantage in the initial stages of the v.h.f. rig. The constructor has the choice of starting at some lower frequency, usually around 6, 8 or 12 Me., multiplying to the operating frequency in one or more additional stages, or he can use a high initial frequency and thus reduce the number of multiplier stages required or eliminate them entirely. The first approach has the virtue of employing low-cost crystals, and it usually results in better stability when methods other than crystal control are used, but high-frequency crystals may effect a considerable economy in power consumption, an important factor in portable or emergency-powered gear.

A high starting frequency may be helpful in preventing TVI that can result from amplification of unwanted harmonics from a crystal oscillator on 6, 8 or 12 Mc. Several troublesome harmonics are eliminated if a crystal frequency of 24 Me. or higher is used.

#### CRYSTAL OSCILLATORS

Crystal oscillator stages for v.h.f. transmitters may make use of any of the circuits shown in Chapter 6, when crystals up to 12 Mc. are employed, but certain variations are helpful for higher frequencies. Crystals for 12 Mc. or higher are usually of the overtone variety. Their frequency of oscillation is an approximate multiple of some lower frequency, for which the crystal is actually ground. Thus 24-Mc. crystals commonly used in 144-Mc. work are 8-Mc. cuts, specially treated for overtone characteristics. Until recent years such crystals were tricky in operation and subject to excessive drift if operated at high crystal current. The overtone crystals now being supplied are approximately as stable as those designed for fundamental operation, and they are easy to handle in properly designed circuits.

Best results are usually obtained with overtone crystals if some regeneration is added. This makes for easy starting under load and greater output than would be obtainable in a simple triode or tetrode circuit. Two regenerative circuits, with constants for 24- or 25-Mc. crystals, are shown in Fig. 17-1. Triodes are shown, but the same arrangement may be used with tetrode or pentode tubes. The important point in either case is the amount of regeneration, controlled by the position and number of turns in the feed-back winding,  $L_2$ , in Fig. 17-1-A or the position of the tap on  $L_1$  in B. There should be only enough feed-back to assure easy crystal starting and satisfactory operation under load; too much will result in random oscillation not under the control of the crystal.



Fig. 17-1 - Regenerative crystal oscillator circuits for v.h.f. use. Feed-back is controlled by the position of  $L_2$ with respect to  $L_1$  in  $\Lambda$ , or by the position of the tap on  $L_1$  in B. Constants below are for 24 to 27 Mc.

- $C_1 50 \mu \mu fd$ . variable.
- $C_2 = 0.005$ -µfd. ceramic or mica. C3-25-µµfd. ceramic or mica.
- R<sub>1</sub> Decoupling resistor, 1000 to 5000 ohms, carbon,
- R2 Grid leak, to suit tube used.
- $L_1(A) = 18$  turns No. 18, ½-inch dia., 1¼ inches long,  $L_2(A) = 3$  turns similar to A, mounted on same axis,
- about 1/8 inch apart.
- L<sub>1</sub> (B) 14 turns No. 18, <sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>-inch dia., 1 inch long. Tap at about 41/2 turns (see text).



Fig. 17-2 - The functions of crystal oscillator, cathode follower and frequency multiplier are combined in this dual-triode circuit, The circuit L1C1 tunes to the desired overtone frequency, and L2C2 its second or third harmonic, L3 should resonate with tube and crystal capacitance just below the frequency of oscillation. The value of the r.f. chokes in the cathode circuit is not critical. Values for obtaining 144-Me, output with a 24-Mc, crystal are given below.

- $C_1 20 \mu \mu fd$ , variable.
- $C_2 10$ -µµfd, variable.
- $C_2 = 10.4\mu$ Id. variance.  $L_1 = 5$  turns No. 18, 1/2 inch diam., 1/2 inch long.  $L_2 = 2$  turns No. 18, 1/2 inch diam., 1/2 inch long.  $L_3 = 4$  turns No. 18, 3/8 inch diam., 1/4 inch long.

Overtone operation is possible with standard fundamental-type crystals, using the circuits of Fig. 17-1. Practically all will oscillate on their third overtones, and fifth and higher odd overtones may be possible. Adjustment of regeneration is more critical, however, if the crystals are not ground for overtone characteristics. It should also be noted that the frequency may not be an exact multiple of that marked on the crystal holder, so care should be used in working with crystals that are near a band edge.

Crystals ground for overtone service can be made to oscillate on other overtones than the one marked on the holder, A 24-Mc, crystal, actually an 8-Mc. cut, may be made to oscillate on 40, 56, 72 Mc, or even higher odd multiples of its 8-Mc. fundamental frequency. The circuits of Fig. 17-1 may be used, but for high-order overtones the dual triode circuit of Fig. 17-2 is more reliable. Values for achieving 144-Mc, output with a 24-Me, crystal (9th overtone instead of 3rd) are given.

The crystal is resonated, by means of  $L_3$  connected across it, at a frequency just below the desired overtone, or about 70 Me. in this example. Circuit  $L_1C_1$  tunes to the desired overtone, 72 Me.;  $L_2C_2$  to a harmonic, in this case 144 Mc. Regeneration is controlled by varying the coupling between  $L_1$  and  $L_3$ , so that only crystal oscillation is developed. Polarity of these windings is important; bringing them closer should reduce the tendency to self oscillation.

Crystals are now available for frequencies up to around 100 Mc. They are somewhat more expensive than those for 30 Mc, and lower, however, so they have not been used widely in amateur work, except where a saving in power is important, Use of 50-Mc, crystals is made occasionally as a means of preventing radiation of

# **V.H.F. TRANSMITTERS**

the harmonics of lower frequency crystals that might cause interference to television reception.

#### FREQUENCY MULTIPLIERS

Frequency multiplying stages in a v.h.f. transmitter follow standard practice, the principal precaution being arrangement of components for short lead length and minimum stray capacitance. This is particularly important at 144 Mc, and higher. To reduce the possibility of radiation of oscillator harmonics on frequencies that might interfere with television or other services, the lowest satisfactory power level should be used. Low powered stages are easier to shield or filter, in case such steps become necessary.

Common practice in v.h.f. exciter design is to make the tuned circuits capable of operation over the whole range from 48 to 54 Mc., so that the output stage can drive either a 50-Mc. amplifier or a tripler from 48 to 144 Mc. Tripling is often done with push-pull stages, particularly when the output frequency is to be 144 Mc. or higher. The output capacitances of the tubes in such a circuit are in series, permitting a better L/C ratio than is possible with single-ended circuits.

#### AMPLIFIERS

Most transmitting tubes now used by amateurs will work on 50 Mc., but for 144 Mc. and higher the tube types are limited to those having low input and output capacitances and compact physical structure. Leads must be as short as possible, and soldered connections should be avoided in high-powered circuits, where heating may be great enough to reach the melting point of the solder used.

Plug-in coils and their associated sockets or jack bars are generally unsatisfactory for use at 144 Mc. and higher because of the stray inductance and capacitance they introduce. One way around this trouble is the dual tank eireuit shown in Fig. 17-3. Here the tank circuit for 144 Mc. is a conventional tuned line, with its shorting bar made removable by plugs or clips. When the stage is to be used on another band the shorting bar is removed and a coil is plugged into the jack bar, the line then serving as a pair of plate leads.



Fig. 17-3 — An efficient two-band tank circuit for 50 and 144 Mc. For operation on 144 Mc. the shorting bar is plugged into the end of the line. For 50 Mc. a suitable tank coil is plugged into the jack bar. The line then serves merely as a pair of plate leads.  $RFC_1$  is a 144-Mc, choke;  $RFC_2$  a 50-Mc. choke. The split-stator variable,  $C_1$ , tunes either circuit.



Fig. 17-4 — Half-wave line tank circuit, for use at 220 or 420 Mc., where tube and circuit capacitances prohibit the use of an ordinary tuned circuit. Plate voltage is fed into the line at the point of lowest r.f. voltage (see text).

Such an arrangement will operate as efficiently on 144 Me, as if it were designed for that band alone, yet it can be made to work properly on any lower band.

At 220 Mc. and higher it may be necessary to employ half-wave lines as tuned circuits, as shown in Fig. 17-4. Here the tuning capacitance, instead of being connected directly in parallel with the





output capacitance of the tube, is at the far end of a half-wave line. Plate voltage is fed into the line near the middle, at the point where the r.f. voltage is lowest. The proper point can be located by first operating the stage with the voltage fed in near the middle of the line, and then touching a pencil point along the line to locate the spot where the least effect on the grid or plate current is noted. This check should be made with the pencil in an insulating mount, if dangerous values of plate voltage are used.

Neutralization of triode amplifiers for 50 and 144 Mc. can follow standard practice, but the stray inductance and capacitance introduced by the neutralizing circuits may be excessive for 220 Mc. and higher. In such instances groundedgrid amplifiers may be used as shown in Fig. 17-5. Driving power is applied to the cathode circuit, with the grid acting as a shield. Groundedgrid amplifiers are stable, but they require high driving power. Some of the drive appears in the output, so both the driver and amplifier must be modulated when amplitude modulation is used. For this reason the grounded-grid amplifier is used mainly for FM applications.

Tetrode and pentode amplifiers may operate without neutralization, but it is advisable to



Fig. 17-6 — Tuned screen circuit for stabilizing a v.h.f. tetrode push-pull amplifier.  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  may be the two halves of a split-stator variable condenser, if the circuit is symmetrical electrically. The r.f. choke and condenser values vary with frequency, making this form of neutralization essentially a one-band device.  $C_3$  should be about 0.001  $\mu$ fd, for v.h.f. applications.

plan for it in the original layout. With such tubes as the 829 or 832 enough neutralizing capacitance can be obtained by running short lengths of stiff wire up through the chassis alongside the tube plates, crossing them over to the opposite grid terminals below the chassis. Neutralization is adjusted by trimming or bending the wires.

Instability may show up in tetrode amplifiers as the result of ineffective screen by-passing, in which case conventional cross-over neutralization will accomplish little or nothing. The solution lies in series-resonating the screen circuits to ground, as shown in Fig. 17-6. A small split-stator variable can be used for  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  if the layout is completely symmetrical. The r.f. choke and condenser values vary with frequency, so screen neutralization is essentially a one-band device.

#### FREQUENCY MODULATION

Though FM has not enjoyed great popularity in v.h.f. operation, probably because of lack of suitable receivers in most v.h.f. stations, its possibilities should not be overlooked, particularly for the higher bands. At 420 Mc., for instance, the efficiency of most amplifiers is so low that it is often difficult to develop sufficient grid drive for proper AM service. With FM any amount of grid drive may be used without affecting the audio quality of the signal, and the modulation process adds nothing to the plate dissipation. Thus considerably higher power can be run with FM than with AM before damage to the tubes develops or the signal is of poor quality.

Frequency modulation also simplifies transmitter design. The principal obstacle to greater use of FM in v.h.f. work is the wide variation in selectivity of v.h.f. receivers, making it difficult for the operator to set up his deviation so that it will be satisfactory for all listeners.

#### TVI PREVENTION AND CURE

Interference to television reception is not ordinarily so serious a problem with v.h.f. gear as with equipment for lower amateur bands, where more harmonics of the operating frequency fall within the television channels. The principal eauses of TVI from v.h.f. transmitters are as follows:

1) Adjacent-channel interference in Channel 2 from 50 Mc.

2) Fourth harmonic of 50 Mc, in Channels 11, 12 or 13, depending on the operating frequency.

3) Radiation of unused harmonics of the oscillator or multiplier stages. Examples are 9th harmonic of 6 Mc., and 7th harmonic of 8 Mc. in Channel 2; 10th harmonic of 8 Mc. in Channel 6; 7th harmonic of 25-Mc. stages in Channel 9 or 10; and many other combinations. This may include i.f. pick-up, as in the cases of 24-Mc. interference in receivers having 21-Mc. i.f. systems, and 48-Mc. trouble in 45-Mc. i.f.'s.

4) Fundamental blocking effects, including modulation bars, usually found only in the lower channels, from 50-Mc. equipment.

5) Image interference in Channel 2 from 144 Mc., in receivers having a 45-Mc. i.f.

6) Sound interference (picture clear in some cases) resulting from r.f. pick-up by the audio circuits of the TV receiver.

There are many other possibilities, and u.h.f. TV in general use will add to the list, but nearly all can be corrected completely, and the rest can be substantially reduced.

Items 1, 4 and 5 are receiver faults, and nothing can be done at the transmitter to reduce them, except to lower the power or increase separation between the transmitting and TV antenna systems. Item 6 is also a receiver fault, but it can be alleviated at the transmitter by using FM or c.w. instead of  $\Lambda M$  'phone.

Treatment of the various harmonic troubles, Items 2 and 3, follows the standard methods detailed elsewhere in this *Handbook*. It is suggested that the prospective builder of new v.h.f. equipment familiarize himself with TVI prevention techniques, and incorporate them in new construction projects.

Use as high a starting frequency as possible, to reduce the number of harmonics that might cause trouble. Select crystal frequencies that do not have harmonics in TV channels in use locally. Example: The 10th harmonic of 8-Mc. crystals used for operation in the low part of the 50-Mc. band falls in Channel 6, but 6-Mc. crystals for the same frequency range have no harmonic in that channel.

If TVI is a serious problem, use the lowest transmitter power that will do the job at hand. Much interesting work can be done on the v.h.f. bands with but a few watts output, particularly if a good antenna system is used.

Keep the power in the multiplier and driver stages at the lowest practical level, and use link coupling in preference to capacitive coupling, particularly in the later stages.

Plan for complete shielding and filtering of the r.f. sections of the transmitter, should these steps become necessary.

Use coaxial line to feed the antenna system, and locate the radiating portion as far as possible from TV receivers and antenna systems.

# **V.H.F. TRANSMITTERS**

# A Complete Transmitter for 144 Through 21 Mc.

The rack-mounted equipment shown in Fig. 17-7 is an example of the way in which the low-power stages of a rig can be designed to provide for several bands. Each piece of equipment can be used alone, or they combine readily to cover 21, 28, 50 and 144 Mc., at a power level approaching the legal maximum.

At the bottom is a VFO unit tailored to the needs of the v.h.f. man, but useful on lower frequencies as well. Next is an exciter capable of up to 40 watts output on 21, 28 or 48 to 54 Mc. It is a fine low-powered rig for use on 15, 10 or 6 meters as well. Above the exciter are two units designed for high-power operation on 144 and 50 Mc.

#### THE EXCITER

The transmitter-exciter shown in Figs. 17-8 through 17-10 was designed for the v.h.f. man who likes to work some of the lower bands as well. It delivers up to 40 watts output on 21, 28 or 50 Mc., and covers the range down to 48 Mc. so that it may be used as a source of excitation for additional stages that multiply to 144 Mc. Though it was intended for use with the high-

powered amplifiers described later, it may be used effectively as a complete transmitter in itself.

Shielding for TVI reduction was achieved by building the unit inside a standard aluminum chassis. Each power lead is by-passed at the power plug, and all wiring was done with shielded wire. Output is taken off through a coaxial fitting, so that a low-pass filter can be inserted in the line for harmonic attenuation if needed.

#### **Circuit Details**

The exciter circuit follows standard practice. The oscillator is a 5763 grid-plate type with provision for 10 crystals and VFO input. Crys-

Fig. 17-7 — A complete transmitter for 144 through 21 Mc. The four units are, from the bottom up, a VFO with reactance modulator; an excitertransmitter with up to 40 watts output; a tripler-driveramplifier for 114 Mc.; and a shielded amplifier for 50, 28 and 21 Mc. tals may be in the 3.5-, 6-, 7-, 8-, 14- or 24-Mc. ranges. On 21 Mc. the oscillator output is on the signal frequency, and best results are obtained with 7-Mc. crystals, tripling in the plate circuit. For 28 Mc. the oscillator doubles to 14 Mc. with 7-Mc. crystals, quadruples from 3.5 Mc., or works straight through with 14-Mc. overtone crystals. For operation on 50 or 144 Mc., the oscillator output is on 24 to 27 Mc., quadrupling, tripling or working straight through, for 6-, 8or 24-Mc. crystals, respectively. The 100- $\mu$ pfd. tuning capacitor at C<sub>6</sub> tunes the oscillator plate circuit from 14 to 27 Mc., so no bandswitching is needed in this stage.

Another 5763 follows the oscillator, working straight through on 21 Mc., or doubling to 28 or 48 to 54 Mc. Two coils,  $L_2$  and  $L_3$ , and a 50-µµfd. condenser,  $C_{10}$ , cover 21 to 30 Mc., and 48 to 54 Mc., respectively. In case trouble is encountered in making the 5763 run stably as a 21-Mc. amplifier, a third switch position is available for connecting a damping resistor,  $R_8$ , in series with  $L_2$ .

The output stage uses a 6146, with a tapped coil for 21 and 28 Mc., and a second coil for 48 to 54 Mc. Output coupling links in these two





Fig. 17-8 — Looking into the bandswitching exciter-transmitter from the top front. Oscillator components are in the left compartment, the doubler and power connector in the center, and the output stage at the right. Note that the 6146 soeket is mounted inside the output stage compartment.

eoils are also switched. The 6146 works nicely over a wide range of plate voltages, so this rig may be used in exciter service with as little as 300 volts on the final, or it may be used as a complete transmitter at up to 500 volts. A 2E26 may be used in the final stage where its power output is adequate for the job at hand.

The exciter is built largely inside a  $3 \times 5 \times 17$ inch aluminum chassis and is fitted with a standard  $3\frac{1}{2}$ -inch rack panel. Only the crystals, the first two tubes and the filament transformer are outside, and these are mounted on the rear wall of the chassis to keep down the vertical dimension.

Arrangement of parts is not particularly critical, the principal consideration in the first two stages being to mount the tubes in such position that the coupling lead ( $C_{25}$  to the grid of the second 5763) is short. The grid circuit of the second stage should be isolated from the rest of the components to reduce the tendency toward self-oscillation when the stage is operated straight through on 21 Mc. The lead to the grid is made with a short piece of RG-59/U coax, run through a slot in the top of the partition, and a small piece of flashing copper is soldered across the 5763 socket between Pins 1 and 9 to isolate the input and out circuits further. Leads from the tube plate to the bandswitch,  $S_2$ , and thence to the tuning condenser,  $C_{10}$ , are made with  $\frac{1}{2}$ -inchwide copper strap, to hold down lead inductance.

Note the method of mounting the socket for the 6146. Contrary to common practice, this socket is mounted on the *tube side* of the partition. Cathode, heater and screen pins (Nos. 1, 3, 4, 6 and 7) are by-passed individually to separate points on the partition with the shortest possible leads. Heater and cathode leads are brought through the partition with shielded wire, and the control grid and screen leads are run through on short lengths of stiff wire insulated with spaghetti sleeving. Mounting the 6146 socket inside the final stage compartment provides a short plate-

Fig. 17-9 — Rear view of the exciter. On the rear wall at the right are 10 ery stal sockets of various types. Then come the two 5763s, the power plug, the filament transformer, and the output coaxial fitting. On the inside front wall are, in the same order, the crystal switch, oscillator tuning, doubler bandswitch, doubler tuning, and final bandswitch.



World Radio History

### V.H.F. TRANSMITTERS



- C<sub>1</sub> 5-µµfd. ceramic or mica -- see text.
- C2, C4, C5, C7, C8, C9, C11, C13, C14, C15, C16, C18, C19, C20, C21, C22, C23, C24 0.001 µfd. disk ceramic.
- $C_3$ 150-µµfd. mica or ceramic see text.
- 100- $\mu\mu$ fd. midget variable, shaft-mounting type.  $C_6$
- C10 -50-µµfd. midget variable, shaft-mounting type.
- $C_{12}$ 15-µµfd. miea or ceramic. C17 20-µµfd. double-spaced midget variable, shaftmounting type.
- 50-µµfd. ceramic or mica. C25 -
- R<sub>1</sub>, R<sub>4</sub> = 0.1 megolum,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt. R<sub>2</sub> = 220 ohms,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt. R<sub>3</sub>, R<sub>6</sub> = 22,000 ohms, 1 watt.

- 1000 ohms, ½ watt. R5, R10
- R7 100 ohms, ½ watt. R8 7.5 ohms 1 watt (two 15-ohm ½-watt resistors Rs in parallel).
- Ro --- 33,000 ohms, 1 watt.
- R<sub>11</sub> 20,000 ohms, 10 watts.
- Rul = 20,000 onins, to watts. Ru2 = 68 ohms,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt. L<sub>1</sub> = 8½ turns No. 20 tinned, ¾-inch diam., ½ inch long (B & W Miniductor No. 3011). L<sub>2</sub> = 7 turns like L<sub>1</sub>,  $\frac{7}{2}$  inch long.
- $L_3$
- 4 turns No. 20 tinned, <sup>5</sup>/<sub>8</sub>-inch diam., <sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> inch long (B & W No. 3006). 14-2 turns No. 18 push-back, 5%-inch diam., coupled
- to cold end of L3.
- Lō - 4 turns No. 20 tinned, 34-inch diam., 1/2 inch long

to-cathode return. The stage may possibly be unstable if the socket is mounted on the opposite side of the partition from the tube, as is usually done.

The three tuning condensers should be the shaft-mounting type, not the sort that mount on small pillars. Unless the rotor shaft is grounded solidly to the panel it will act as an "antenna" to radiate harmonic energy that is almost certain to cause TVI. The meter tip jacks,  $J_5$  and  $J_6$ , may also turn out to be harmonic radiators, unless by-passed right at the point where they come through the rear wall.

The output coupling links,  $L_6$  and  $L_8$ , are the smallest diameter B & W Miniductor, which makes a close fit inside the larger size used for  $L_5$  and  $L_7$ . They are held in place with household eement. A coupling link is also provided for  $L_3$ , so that a small amount of power can be taken off at 48 Mc. if desired. This is made of selfsupporting stiff insulated wire, coupled closely to the cold end of  $L_3$ .

Note that the front-panel appearance is completely symmetrical, the controls being spaced at regular intervals horizontally, and in the center of the panel vertically. The chassis is

(B & W No. 3010).

- 41/2 turns No. 20 tinned, 1/2-inch diam., 1/2 inch long, mounted inside cold end of L5. (B & W Miniductor No. 3003.)
- $L_7 = 11$  turns like  $L_1$ , tapped at 7 turns,  $\frac{3}{4}$  inch long.  $L_8 = 9$  turns B & W No. 3004,  $\frac{1}{2}$ -inch diam.,  $\frac{3}{4}$  inch
- long, mounted inside cold end of  $L_7$ . J1, J2, J3 - Coaxial fitting. J1 is for VFO input.
- J4 -- Closed-circuit jack.
- Js, J6 Tip jack.
- -8-pin male chassis fitting. J.
- RFC1 2.5-mh. r.f. choke (National R-100-S).
- RFC2 Parasitic choke, 0 turns No. 20 enamel, 1/4-ineh diam., 3% inch long.
- S1A, S1B -- 11-position 2-section ceramic wafer switch. (Made from centralab P-122 index assembly and 2 centralab type Y switch sections. Complete assembly CRL 2513.)
- S2 Similar to above, but single section (CRL 2501 on 2503, wafer type X or Y).
  S3A, S3B Same but 2-pole 3-position single section (CRL 2505, wafer type RN).
  T1 6.3-v. 3-amp. filament transformer.

bottom up, with the cover at the top. This allows ready access to the inside when the unit is in its normal operating position, but it may be used the other side up, if the builder so desires. Ventilation of the 6146 is afforded by twenty 1/4-inch holes drilled in the top and bottom surfaces over and under the tube.

#### Testing and Use

For initial tests a power supply delivering 200 to 250 volts is adequate. Each stage has its platescreen power lead brought out to the plug separately, so that individual metering is possible. Applying voltage through Pin 3, we note that the stage draws low current until oscillation is obtained, because of the cathode bias. Plug a lowrange meter into  $J_5$  to read the grid current of the following stage, and tune  $C_6$  for maximum indication, which will be about 0.5 to 1 ma. at normal operating voltage. The oscillator platescreen current will be around 20 ma.

Should the oscillator refuse to start, try other crystals, and then experiment with the values of  $C_1$  and  $C_3$ . The grid-to-cathode capacitor,  $C_1$ , may not be necessary, particularly if crystals no lower than 6 Mc. are used. Use the lowest value

World Radio History

that will permit oscillation with all crystals. The value of  $C_3$  may be critical when overtone-type crystals are used. Improper values at either of these positions may result in intermittent oscillation, or none at all.

Check the output frequency with a calibrated wavemeter, or by listening with a receiver whose calibration can be relied upon, and proceed to the following stage. Plug the grid meter into  $J_6$ , apply power through Pin 4, and check the output frequency when  $C_{10}$  is tuned for maximum grid current. At least 2 ma, should be available. Check for self-oscillation by removing excitation. Should self-oscillation occur on the 21-Mc. range, switch in the damping resistor,  $R_8$ . This should be the lowest value permissible, as the output from the stage drops rapidly as the series resistance is increased above a few ohms.

When around 2 ma, of grid eurrent is obtained the output stage may be checked. This may be done initially with 250 to 300 volts applied through Pins 5 and 6, using a 25-watt lamp plugged into  $J_3$  for a dummy load. Cutting the excitation (do it only briefly — 6146s draw a tremendous amount of plate current!) should result in zero grid current. If the stage is operating correctly the output should be around 15 watts with 300 volts on the plate.

Increasing to 400 to 450 volts it should be possible to get at least 35 watts output on all frequencies. In an enclosed layout of such small dimensions it is not advisable to go much beyond this level, as the heat dissipation may be high enough to damage the small coils used. Where the exciter is used to drive a high-powered tetrode final stage, 300 volts on the 6146 and 200 to 250 volts on the 5763s is plenty. The rig may be used as a complete transmitter, modulating the output stage on 28 or 50 Me., at 30 to 50 watts input. The operating conditions in all stages can be adjusted to suit the builder's own requirements by varying the screen resistor values. The exciter is keyed in the 6146 eathode lead for e.w. operation.

#### A 144-MC. DRIVER-AMPLIFIER

Shown just above the exciter in the composite photograph, Fig. 17-7, and separately in Figs. 17-11 through 17-13 is a three-stage triplerdriver-amplifier for high-power operation on 144 Mc. It may be used with any exciter that is capable of delivering 5 watts or more on 48 Mc. If a 2-meter exciter is available the tripler may be omitted. The driving power required in that case would be about 10 watts on 144 Mc.

As may be seen from the schematic diagram, Fig. 17-12, a push-pull tripler stage with a pair of 5763s drives a tetrode amplifier using an AX-9903/5894A, which, in turn, drives a pair of 4-125As in the final stage. Input to the final can be up to slightly over 600 watts on AM 'phone, or 750 watts on c.w. By suitable adjustment of the grid drive and the final-amplifier screen and plate voltages, the input can be run as low as 150 watts with good efficiency. Some method of varying the input is recommended, as much of the operation on 144 Mc. can be carried on satisfactorily with moderate power.

#### Electrical and Mechanical Details

The tripler uses two tubes in push-pull in preference to a single tube, as this allows the tubes to be operated at low input and still deliver adequate drive to the succeeding stage without critical adjustments. The tripler grid circuit is self-resonant. The tripler and driver plate tuning adjustments are ganged. Straps of flashing copper  $\frac{3}{16}$  inch wide are used for the leads from the 5763 plates to the tuning condenser,  $C_1$ , to hold down lead inductance.

From the bottom view, Fig. 17-13, it will be seen that sheets of flashing copper are fastened to the bottom of the chassis, covering the area of the driver and final stages, to improve grounding circuit conductivity. Note that the rotor of the driver tuning condenser,  $C_2$ , is grounded through a 100-ohm resistor,  $R_5$ . This was done to cure a 250-Me. parasitie oscillation. Ventila-



Fig. 17-11 — Rear view of the 4-125A amplifier for 144 Mc., showing details of the parallel-line plate circuit. The 5763 tripler tubes are at the left. Note ventilation holes, below which is mounted the driver tube, out of sight

under the chassis.

World Radio History

# V.H.F. TRANSMITTERS



Fig. 17-12 — Wiring diagram and parts list for the high-powered 144-Me. transmitter.

- C1, C2 10-µµfd.-per-section butterfly variable (Cardwell ER-6-BF/S. Johnson 10LB15 alternate: see
  - text).
- C3, C4  $10 \mu\mu$ fd. mica. C5, C6  $0.001 \mu$ fd. disk ceramic.
- C7 0.005-µfd. disk ceramic.
- $C_8 = 50 \cdot \mu \mu fd.$ -per-section split-stator variable (made from Millen 19140; see text).
- C9 - Plate-line tuning adjustment (made from neutralizing condenser; see text).
- 0.001-µfd. 5000-volt mica. C10
- 0.25-µfd. tubular. Cm
- $R_1 = 150,000 \text{ ohms, 1 watt.}$  $R_2 = 18,000 \text{ ohms, 1 watt.}$
- R3 100 ohms, 1/2 watt.
- R<sub>4</sub>-10,000 ohms, 1 watt.
- R<sub>5</sub> 100 ohms, 1 watt.
- R6 10,000 ohms, 10 watts.
- R7-5000 ohms, 10 watts.
- $R_8 = 27,000$  ohms. Use only if needed; see text.
- L<sub>1</sub> I turn No. 14 enam., ¾-inch diam. L<sub>2</sub> 6 turns each side of center, No. 20, ½-inch diam.,
- spaced wire diam.,  $\frac{1}{4}$ -inch space at center for  $L_1$  (B & W Miniductor No. 3007).
- L3-2 turns No. 14 enam., spaced 1/8 inch, 1/2-inch diam.
- L4-2 turns No. 14 enam., spaced 3/8 inch, 13/8-inch diam.

tion for the driver tube is provided by drilling holes through the copper plate and chassis over the tube. An 829B may be used in place of the 9903/5894A, with some sacrifice in driver stage efficiency.

If the 9903 is used, the tube plate leads should be very pliable material, as the tube structure is fragile. The 5894A, an improved version of the 9903, is considerably more rugged mechanically. If standard heat-dissipating connectors are used they should be filed down by about one-third of their diameter because of the close pin spacing. Cardwell butterfly capacitors were used for  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  because of their inherent provision for ganging. Other types such as the Johnson 10LB15 can be substituted by soldering a ganging extension to the rear end of the rotor shaft of  $C_2$ .

The driver plate and final grid circuits are widely separated so that coupling between them will be confined to the link circuit. This helps to keep unwanted harmonics from being transferred to the final grids. This potential source of TVI can be further reduced by installing link-coupled tuned circuits in the tripler plate and driver grid positions, if the station location is one where

- L<sub>5</sub>-2 turns No. 18 push-back, close-spaced, inserted between turns of L<sub>4</sub>.
- Loop of No. 14 enam., 4 inches long, inside L7. Lø
- Copper strap 3/16 inch wide and 8 inches overall  $L_7$ from grid to grid; see text and bottom-view photograph.
- Ls Plate line, 3/8-inch o.d. copper tubing 12 inches long, spaced 1% inches center-to-center. Bend on 1-inch radius to make inverted "L" 41/2 inches high.
- Lo Output coupling loop, made from 131/2-inch piece of No. 14 enam. Sides 7/8 inch spaced. Vertical 01 NO. 14 enam. Since 38 men spaces. For portion 2½ inches high. I.10 — 5-hy. (min.) choke, 100 ma. or more rating. J1, J2, J3 — Closed-circuit jack. J4 — Coaxial fitting. J5 — Crystal socket for output terminal.

- MA1, MA2, MA3, MA4 External meters, not shown in photographs, 200, 50, 100 and 500 ma., respectively
- RFC<sub>1</sub>, RFC<sub>2</sub>, RFC<sub>3</sub>, RFC<sub>4</sub>, RFC<sub>7</sub> 1.8- $\mu$ hy. solenoid v.h.f. choke (Ohmite Z-114).
- RFC5, RFC6 7- $\mu$ hy, solenoid v.h.f. choke (Ohmite Z-50).
- S.p.s.t. toggle switch.  $S_1, S_2 = S.p.s.t.$  toggle switch.  $T_1 = 6.3$ -volt 4-amp. filament transformer.
- $T_2 = 5$ -volt 13-amp. filament transformer (Chicago FO-513).

192-Mc. energy might cause TVI in Channels 9 or 10

The relatively high input and output capacitances of the 4-125As rule out conventional coil-and-condenser circuits at 144 Mc., so no grid tuning capacitor is used in the final stage, and only a very small variable capacitance is used in the plate circuit. The entire grid circuit is made of 5/16-inch-wide copper strap. Two pieces each  $1\frac{1}{2}$  inches long connect the grid terminals to feed-through bushings that are provided for mounting neutralizing tabs, if needed. The center portion of the grid circuit is an egg-shaped loop mounted on the feed-throughs, as seen in the bottom view. The bushings are mounted near the inner corners of the 4-125A sockets. The holes for them are drilled larger than needed to pass the ceramic portions, to keep the grid-to-ground capacitance at a minimum.

The principal neutralizing adjustment is the split-stator variable condenser,  $C_8$ , connected from the screens to ground. A single-section variable (Millen 19140 or Hammarlund MC-140) having supports at each end of the rotor shaft. was modified for this purpose as these types provide a symmetrical path from rotor to ground





Fig. 17-13 — Looking under the chassis of the high-power 2-meter rig. At the lower right are the components of the tripler stage, with the AX-9903 driver tube just above the aluminum partition. The 4-125A sockets, grid circuit, and screen-neutralization eapacitor are at the left. The VR-tube bias system is mounted on the rear chassis wall.

for each side of the circuit. A strip of brass or aluminum is first screwed to the metal mounting brackets at each end, tying them together electrically and mechanically. Then the stator bars are sawed in half, leaving an equal number of plates on each side. These condensers have 9 plates each on stator and rotor originally. The middle stator plate is cut out and the front rotor plate removed, leaving a split-stator condenser with 4 plates on each stator and 8 on the rotor. The two screen terminals on each socket are stators of  $C_8$  is made with copper strap. Symmetry and low inductance are extremely important in this circuit.

The screen circuit also includes two solenoidtype r.f. chokes connected directly to the screen terminals. These are under  $C_8$  and do not show in the bottom view. Their common connection is by-passed, and a small filter choke is connected in the screen voltage lead for modulation purposes. The screen variable capacitor is driven through two universal joint couplings to bring the drive shaft out to a point that provides a pleasing front panel appearance.

Fixed bias for the final stage is provided without use of batteries or an external supply by inserting a voltage regulator tube in series with the grid leak and by-passing the tube with a low-leakage capacitor. When the gas tube fires with application of excitation,  $C_{11}$  charges. Removing excitation stops the current flow through the VR tube and leaves the charge in  $C_{11}$  applied to the 4-125A grids. This cuts off the plate and screen current until the charge in  $C_{11}$ leaks off. The cut-off time varies with the leakage characteristics of  $C_{11}$  and associated components, and some experimentation may be necessary. An external bias source of 90 volts or more may, of course, be substituted.

The construction of the final plate circuit is obvious from the top-view photograph. The tuning device,  $C_9$ , is made from parts of a standard neutralizing capacitor (Millen 15011) mounted on 4-inch ceramic stand-offs (National GS-4) in the center of the chassis. The lead screw on the adjustable plate is extended by means of a short length of ¼-inch diameter brass rod soldered to its end, and this is connected through an insulating coupling and a polystyrene rod to a knob on the front panel. This tuning arrangement provides no logging scale or reset indicator of any sort, but it results in a very worth-while improvement in tank-circuit efficiency over conventional tuning methods.

The copper tubing tank circuit is mounted in place by means of straps of aluminum wrapped around the lines and fastened to the top of the stand-offs. Connection to the tube plates is made with <sup>3</sup>/<sub>4</sub>-inch-wide copper straps that are bolted to the plate lines. No solder is used anywhere in this plate line assembly; the heat dissipated at the tube end of the line would be sufficient to melt soldered connections. The heat-dissipating connectors for the 4-125A plates were cut down to four fins high to reduce plate lead length. Just beyond the stand-off insulators and  $C_9$  the plate lines are bent to a vertical position around a radius of about one inch, the bottom of the line ending about a half inch above the chassis. Here an adjustable strap of flashing copper is wrapped around the lines, and an r.f. choke is connected through a lug to a feed-through bushing carrying the high-voltage d.c. The by-pass,  $C_{10}$ , is under the chassis.

Details of the antenna coupling loop are visible in the top view. The pick-up loop is made adjustable by mounting it through a polystyrene rod that can be rotated from the front panel. This rod passes through a shaft bearing and a tension adjusting device (National SB and Millen 10061) mounted on a small aluminum bracket. Note that a short length of rod is fastened at the top of the loop, so that no adjustment of the coupling will allow it to come in contact with the line electrically.
# V.H.F. TRANSMITTERS

#### **Adjustment and Operation**

This rig contains its own filament transformer so only plate and screen supplies are external. These should be capable of furnishing 250 volts at 75 ma. for the tripler, 400 volts at 200 ma. for the driver, 300 to 400 volts at 75 ma. for the final screens, and 1000 to 2000 volts at 400 ma. for the amplifier plates. The screens of the final and the driver plates may be run from the same supply, though a more flexible set-up is possible if the voltage applied to the final screens is adjustable separately.

The tripler should be tuned up first. Plug a lowrange milliammeter in the tripler grid current jack,  $J_1$ , and apply grid-drive through a coaxial cable and  $J_4$ . Adjust the spacing between the two halves of the grid coil,  $L_2$ , and the position of  $L_1$ , for maximum grid current. This should be 1 to 2 ma. Transfer the meter to the driver grid jack,  $J_2$ , and apply plate voltage through  $R_3$ , tuning  $C_1$  for maximum grid current, which should be between 3 and 5 ma. The inductance of  $L_3$  should be adjusted so that the low end of the band is reached with  $C_1$  set somewhere between the mid-point and the maximum end of its range. Total plate-screen current to the 5763s need not be more than about 50 ma.

Next, tune  $C_2$  through resonance and note whether the grid current changes. Should it dip down at resonance the stage will require neutralization. This is unlikely with the 9903 or 5894A, however, as these tubes are designed to be inherently neutralized at frequencies around 150 Mc. Next, plug a 200-ma. meter into  $J_{3}$ , or connect one externally in series with the plate-screen supply, as shown in Fig. 17-12, and apply plate voltage, preferably with a lamp load coupled to  $L_4$ . If the stage is working correctly, it should be possible to light a 40-watt lamp to full brilliance. Check for self-oscillation by removing excitation briefly. To protect the driver tube, it might be well to make these initial tests at 250 volts or so, increasing to 400 to 500 volts only when the stage is found to be working correctly.

Next, couple the output from the driver stage to the grid circuit of the final, by means of a coaxial cable and  $L_5$  and  $L_6$ . The latter should be the same general shape as  $L_7$ , and mounted inside or just above it, with about 1/8-inch separation. The resonant frequency of the grid circuit can be changed slightly by altering the shape of the grid inductance. Squeezing the sides together raises the frequency; making the tank more nearly round lowers it. When the circuit is properly resonated, it should be possible to develop 25 to 30 ma. grid current, measured in series with the VR tube and ground  $(MA_2$  in Fig. 1). The setting of the screen-to-ground capacitor,  $C_8$ , will affect the grid current, but it may be set approximately to the proper point by adjusting it for maximum grid current with the plate voltage off. The total plate and screen current should be 175 to 200 ma. When the coupling loops at both ends of the coax have been adjusted so as to give maximum grid current,

adjust the turn spacing of  $L_4$  so that its tuning capacitance will be the same as that of  $C_1$ . The two condensers may then be ganged by means of flexible couplings and an insulating shaft.

Now connect a 100-watt lamp at the output terminals and apply about 500 volts to the final plates and 200 or less to the screens, metering both circuits as shown in the schematic diagram. Adjust  $C_9$  for maximum output, watching the grid and plate meters. Move the setting of the screen adjustment in small steps until maximum output, minimum plate current, and maximum grid current all occur at the same setting of the plate tuning. This is the screen adjustment at which the amplifier will operate most stably. Neutralization can also be done by running the amplifier without excitation, adjusting  $C_8$  until there is no evidence of oscillation, but this gives a broader indication than the first method.

Should it be impossible to achieve complete stability by the screen adjustment alone, it may be necessary to add grid-plate capacitance by mounting stiff wires or tabs on the feed-through bushings. In this amplifier, the capacitance added by the feed-through rods alone was just about the right amount, however. This is not the conventional cross-over neutralization, but rather additional grid-plate capacitance. The amount of capacitance added is adjusted in the same way as for triode neutralizing circuits of the crossover type.

Once the amplifier is stabilized at low voltages, proceed to final checks at normal plate and sereen operating conditions. A suitable load for high-power tests is something of a problem, as no lamp combination represents a load that simulates an antenna system at this frequency. A fair load can be made, however, by connecting three or four 100-watt lamps in parallel. Lamps larger than the 100-watt variety are useless for load purposes, as they tend to develop filament hot spots and burn out before reaching anything like normal brilliance.

A method of varying the screen voltage continuously is extremely useful at this juncture, as the final tubes can be made to draw any desired plate current by suitable variation of the screen voltage. Screen dissipation should be watched closely to see that it does not run much over 20 watts in plate-modulated service or 30 watts on e.w., and it is strongly recommended that a screen-current meter be made a permanent part of the metering system. Efficient operation is possible over a range of 800 to 2500 volts on the plates.

The tetrode amplifier with separate screen voltage supply should *never* be operated without load, or with no plate voltage applied. Screen dissipation is certain to be excessive in either ease and tube damage or failure is invited.

Tests with the lamp load should be monitored for freedom from modulation. With some types of chokes for  $L_{10}$ , there may be a tendency to oscillation at some audible frequency. Should this develop, it can be damped by loading the choke slightly with a resistor, as shown by  $R_8$  in Fig. 17-12. The highest value of resistance that will stop the oscillation should be used, if any is necessary. Substituting another choke is a better method. It should have a minimum of 5 henrys inductance, but a wide variety of small filter chokes may be satisfactory.

In general the manufacturer's typical operating conditions for the 4-125As can be followed with good results, but many variations are possible. In v.h.f. work there is no need to run high power at all times, so provision should be made to drop the plate and screen voltages. Efficient operation at plate voltages as low as 800 is possible, if the screen voltage is altered in proportion. Considerable latitude in grid drive is also possible. The principal precaution is to see that none of the tube elements is operated above the maximum safe dissipation given in the manufacturer's literature.

#### A FINAL AMPLIFIER FOR 50, 28 AND 21 MC.

The top unit in the rack of v.h.f. equipment, Fig. 17-7, shown in detail in Figs. 17-14 through 17-16, is a high-powered companion to the exciter described earlier. It covers the same three bands, with a maximum power rating of 600 watts input on AM 'phone, or 800 on c.w., and may be used with any exciter capable of delivering 15 to 25 watts output in the proper frequency range. It is completely shielded, for TVI reduction, and may be changed from band to band without opening the enclosure.

The plate circuit is a pi network, with a va-

riable inductor as the main element. Conventional bandswitching is employed in the grid circuit. Parasitic suppression and neutralizing methods are the principal departures from familiar practice. The aluminum enclosure calls for forced-air cooling.

#### Electrical and Mechanical Features

Looking into the top of the amplifier, as in Fig. 17-14, we see the 4-250A tetrode tube at the left. Just below it is the neutralizing capacitor. At the center of the chassis is the input tuning condenser,  $C_9$ , of the pi-network tank circuit, with the variable inductor at its right. The variable condenser at the far right is the output condenser,  $C_{10}$ . The small components to the right of the tube comprise the parasitic suppression circuit. The coupling capacitor,  $C_8$ , and the 50-Mc. auxiliary coil,  $L_8$ , are near the center of the photograph. Grid-circuit components are visible in the bottom view, along with the filament transformer, cooling fan, and modulation choke.

In order to obtain a satisfactory tuning range and minimum stray inductance, a large neutralizing-type condenser is used for tuning the input to the pi-network plate circuit. The capacity range is about 5 to 20  $\mu\mu$ fd. The output tuning range needed for  $C_{10}$  is roughly 50 to 150  $\mu\mu$ fd., so a conventional transmitting variable may be used. With a properly matched load the r.f. voltage across  $J_2$  is low, and a plate spacing of 0.047 inch is adequate, even with high power.

The variable inductor assembly has considerable stray capacitance, which would make it



Fig. 17-14 — Looking inside the 3-band amplifier. Note the neutralizing condenser used for tuning the input to the pi-network tank circuit. The small air-wound coil, center, is the 50-Mc. portion of the tank,  $L_8$ .



Fig. 17-15 - Schematic diagram and parts list for the 4-250A amplifier.

- $C_1 220 \cdot \mu \mu fd.$  silver mica.
- 30-μμfd, miniature variable, double-spaced (Ham-marlund HF-30-X, shaft-mounted).  $C_2$
- $C_4$ ,  $C_5$ ,  $C_6$ ,  $C_{12}$ ,  $C_{13}$ ,  $C_{14}$ ,  $C_{15} = 0.001$ -µfd. disk C3, ceramic.
- C<sub>7</sub>, C<sub>8</sub>, C<sub>16</sub> = 500-μμfd, 10,000-volt ceramic (Centralab TV 3-501).
- 5-20-µµfd. disk-type variable (National NC-500  $C_9$ neutralizing condenser, with mounting bracket reversed).
- 200- $\mu\mu$ fd. variable, 0.047-inch spacing (National Cio TMK-200).
- 3-30-µµfd. mica trimmer. Cn
- -2-8-µµfd, neutralizing condenser (National NC-C17 800A).
- Ri 10,000 ohms, 5 watts
- See text use only if needed.  $R_2$ – Approximately 100 ohms, 6 watts (three 330-ohm R3
- 2-watt resistors in parallel). 2½ turns No. 20 tinned, <sup>3</sup>/-inch diam.; turns spaced ½ inch (B & W Miniductor No. 3010). L

impossible to develop proper circuit Q at 50 Mc. if the variable coil alone were used, so a small airwound coil,  $L_8$ , is connected ahead of the variable unit. Its inductance is such that only a small portion (one turn or less) of  $L_9$  is used at 50 Mc.

Parallel feed of the high voltage, through  $RFC_2$ , permits the tank circuit to be operated with no d.c. applied to its components. The purpose of  $RFC_3$  is to provide a path to ground for the high voltage in case C<sub>8</sub> should break down. The coils  $L_5$  and  $L_6$ , the capacitor  $C_{11}$ , and the resistor  $R_3$  comprise a parasitic-suppression circuit that will be discussed later.

The grid circuit is largely self-explanatory, with the possible exception of the neutralizing method used,  $C_1$  and  $C_{17}$  make up a capacity bridge, by means of which energy is fed back into the grid circuit from the plate. In this method,  $C_1$  has a critical value. It should be such that the amplifier can be neutralized with  $C_{17}$  at approximately the midpoint of its range. It is possible that some variation in layout might eliminate the need for neutralization, though provision

- 1.2 4 turns B & W No. 3004 cemented inside cold end of  $L_1$ .
- 8 turns No. 20 tinned, 37-inch diam., % inch long, tapped at 6 turns (No. 3011). J.3
- 7 turns B & W No. 3001 cemented inside cold end La of L3.
- 3 turns No. 16 tinned, spaced ¼ inch, on ½-inch L5 diam. ceramic stand-off, 1 inch long.
- 2 turns similar to  $L_5$ , and about  $\frac{1}{4}$  inch away from La it on same form.
- 1.7
- 10-hy. 100-ma. filter choke. 4 turns No. 14 tinned,  $\frac{5}{8}$ -inch diam., spaced  $\frac{1}{8}$ Ls inch.
- 6.2-µh. variable inductor (B & W No. 3851). L9
- Blower motor and fan (Allied Catalog Nos. 72–702 and 72–703).  $\mathbf{B}_1$

- J1, J2 Coaxial fitting, female. RFC1, RFC2, RFC3 20-µh r.f. choke (Ohmite Z-28). S1A, S1B - 2-pole 3-position ceramic wafer switch (Centralab 2505, wafer type RR).
- S2 Single-pole single-throw toggle switch.

should be made for it when the amplifier is built.

Note that the 4-250A socket is mounted above the chassis, with the control grid toward the front. It is raised so that the prongs just clear the chassis. Each contact, with the exception of the control grid, is then by-passed individually to the chassis with the shortest possible leads.

The screen voltage is obtained from a separate source, in preference to the use of a dropping resistor connected to the plate supply. The modulation choke,  $L_{7}$ , should have a minimum of 10 henrys inductance, and a current-carrying capacity of about twice the expected screen current. The resistor connected across the choke should be added only if needed to suppress "singing" resulting from choke resonance in the audio range. It should be the highest value that will stop such tone modulation of the transmitted signal.

Arrangement of parts should be such that r.f. leads are short, and copper or silver strap should be used in preference to wire in r.f. circuits wherever it is mechanically feasible. The by-pass,  $C_{7}$ ,

**CHAPTER 17** 

and the blocking capacitor, C<sub>8</sub>, are high-voltage ceramic units of the type used in TV receiver power supplies. The parasitic-suppression circuit and the parallel-feed r.f. choke are mounted on a ceramic pillar made from two 3-inch stand-off insulators. The r.f. choke should be as far from the tube envelope as possible, to prevent blistering of the paint by heat radiated from the tube.

The filament transformer, modulation choke, grid-circuit components and cooling fan are mounted below the chassis, which is a standard  $3 \times 10 \times 17$ -inch job. The fan may be placed at any point where the blades can rotate close to an intake hole. If this is not possible, a duct just larger than the area of the fan blades can be used to channel the air to the fan. The blades must be bent so that air will be drawn inward. Holes in the chassis just below the tube socket and in the top cover over the tube provide the only air path out of the enclosure. Any other holes should be plugged, and the shielding of the upper portion of the amplifier should make a good fit to the chassis. Circulation may be checked by placing a smoke source near the intake hole. The smoke should be drawn in rapidly, flowing out through the top holes only. A light piece of paper placed over the holes in the top cover should rise perceptibly when the fan is started.

The shielding of the main assembly is made in four pieces, fitted to the front, back and sides of the chassis. The edges are folded over three quarters of an inch and drilled and tapped, or the assembly may be made with self-tapping screws. The entire job should make good contact electrically and mechanically, if cooling and TVI prevention measures are to be effective.

#### **A**djustment and Operation

Initial tests may be made on the amplifier with the parasitic suppression and neutralizing circuits omitted, though both will probably be needed. Start with resistor bias only, as instability will be more evident if the plate current is not cut off in the absence of excitation. The plate and screen voltages should be such that the dissipation by these elements is below the permissible maximum for the tube. A suitable load for the first tests can be made by connecting three 100-watt lamps in parallel at  $J_2$ .

With a 25- or 50-ma, meter connected between  $R_1$  and ground, apply plate and screen voltages (but not grid drive) and watch for signs of grid current. If any appears it will indicate oscillation, either a v.h.f. parasitic, or tuned-plate tuned-grid feed-back near the operating frequency. If a v.h.f. parasitic is encountered, it can be suppressed with the LCR combination shown in the schematic diagram,  $L_6$  and  $C_{11}$  tune to the parasitic frequency,  $L_5$  should be as low inductance as possible, in order to keep the frequency of the parasitic high. The lower the parasitic frequency the greater will be the 50-Mc. energy dissipated in the suppression circuit. With the values given in the parts list there is no overheating of the resistors by dissipation of 50-Me. energy, yet the loading at the parasitic frequency is sufficient to prevent oscillations from starting up, if the tuning of  $C_{11}$  and the coupling between  $L_5$  and  $L_6$  are adjusted carefully.

A check on the need for neutralization may be made by operating the amplifier normally and observing the grid and plate currents simul-



Fig. 17-16 — Bottom view of the amplifier for 50, 28 and 21 Mc, with bottom cover removed. Note method of mounting the ventilating fan. The chassis should be made as nearly airtight as possible, except for the fan hole and holes drilled under the tube socket. Air is thus drawn in through the base and forced up around the base scal of the tube, leaving through holes in the top cover. Screening of the fan hole may be required for TVI prevention.

# **V.H.F. TRANSMITTERS**

taneously. Maximum grid current and minimum plate current should occur at the same setting of  $C_9$ . If the grid current rises as the plate circuit is tuned to the high-frequency side of resonance, more neutralizing expacitance is needed. If neutralization cannot be achieved at any setting of  $C_{17}$  it may be necessary to use a different value of eapacitance at  $C_1$ . Perfect neutralization may not be possible on all three bands with one setting of  $C_{17}$ , but it should be possible to find a satisfactory compromise.

With the amplifier operating stably, actual on-the-air conditions can be set up. The typical operating conditions given by the tube manufacturer can be used as a guide, but any of the values can be varied considerably, provided the maximum safe figure for each of the tube elements is not exceeded. Thus it may be desirable to lower the grid bias when operating at low plate voltage, in order to get the amplifier to draw more plate current. As little as 1000 volts on the plate works well, provided that the grid drive and screen voltage are properly altered.

If the antenna system has an open-wire or other balanced line, the output of the amplifier should be fed through an antenna coupler that provides for coaxial input and balanced output. A low-pass filter can then be used, if needed, between the amplifier and the antenna coupler, to reduce harmonic radiation that might cause TVI.

Though the adjustments are not critical, there are certain optimum values of  $C_9$  and  $L_9$ . Their selection is explained in the discussion of tank circuit Q elsewhere in this *Handbook*. Capacitance required at  $C_9$  will be of the order of 7 to  $12 \ \mu\mu$ fd. for 50 Mc., 10 to 15 for 28 Mc., and around 20  $\mu\mu$ fd, for 21 Mc. This will be nearly "all out" for 50 Mc., near the midpoint for 28, and down to about  $\frac{1}{4}$  inch for 21. The variable coil can be adjusted for resonance for each band, and the approximate number of turns required can be logged for future reference. Logging of settings for  $C_9$  can be done similarly. Adjustment of the variable coil should be made at low power level, to avoid areing at the contact surface and possible damage to the roller and coil.

The capacitance needed at  $C_{10}$  will be about 50  $\mu\mu$ fd for 50 Me., 100 for 28 and 150 for 21 Mc. Adjustment of this control is similar to the use of the familiar swinging link. It is an output coupling adjustment only, and either  $L_9$  or  $C_9$  should be reset for resonance whenever  $C_{10}$  is varied. Adjustment should be made with a standing-wave bridge connected in the coaxial line between  $J_2$  and the antenna coupler, taking care to see that the load is properly matched.

#### A V.H.F. MAN'S VFO

The frequency-control unit shown in Figs. 17-7 and 17-17-17-19 is designed for the v.h.f. operator, though it may be used on all bands from 3.5 Mc. up as well. When used with the other equipment described in these pages it converts the crystal oscillator stage of the exciter to a frequency multiplier. The VFO unit has a speech amplifier and a reactance modulator for narrowband FM built in.

The oscillator is a 5763, with a series-tuned Colpitts circuit having a tuning range of 3000 to 4000 ke. Its plate circuit is untuned, and the output is fed to another 5763 that serves as either amplifier or doubler. The plate circuit of the second stage may be tuned to the oscillator frequency or to its second harmonic.

With the values given in the parts list, one sweep of the vernier dial tunes the oscillator from 3000 to 3713 kc., with a little leeway at each end. The second stage is normally tuned from 6000 to 7425 kc., taking care of the 21-, 27-, 28-, 50- and 144-Mc. requirements of the complete station as desired. By resetting the band-set condenser,  $C_2$ , slightly the oscillator range can be extended to 4000 kc., permitting use of the VFO over the entire 3.5-Mc. band, as well as the 7- and 14-Mc. bands if the user so desires.

Fig. 17-17 — Top view of the VFO unit, with cover removed. Speech-amplifier and reactance-modulator components are at the right, with the oscillator tuning condenser and coil near the center. An aluminum partition divides the oscillator socket. The amplifier stage is at the left end.



# 400

# CHAPTER 17



Fig. 17-18 - Schematic diagram and parts list for the VFO and reactance modulator.

- $C_1$ ,  $C_2 50_{-\mu\mu}$ fd, variable with rotor bearing at each end of shaft (Hammarlund MC-50). Remove plates in C<sub>1</sub> for desired bandspread -- see text. - 680-µµfd. silver mica. C3, C4 -
- C5, C15, C16 47-µµfd. silver mica. C6, C8, C9, C11, C13, C17 0.01-µfd. disk ceramic.
- C7 25-µµfd, ceramic or mica.
- C10 - 140-µµfd, variable (Hammarhind MC-140).
- C12, C14, C18 0.1-µfd. tubular.

- $\begin{array}{l} C_{12}, C_{14}, C_{18} = 0.1 \text{-}\mu\text{in}, \text{ train, train, }\\ R_1 = -68,000 \text{ ohms, } \frac{1}{2} \text{ watt.}\\ R_2 = 1000 \text{ ohms, } \frac{1}{2} \text{ watt.}\\ R_3 = -33,000 \text{ ohms, } \frac{1}{2} \text{ watt.}\\ R_4 = -22,000 \text{ ohms, } 1 \text{ watt.} \end{array}$

- $R_5 = -1$  megohm,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt.  $R_6$ ,  $R_{10}$ ,  $R_{11} = -0.47$  megohm,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt.  $R_7 = 0.22$  megohm.
- R8 0.5-megohin potentiometer, with switch.

#### Construction

Mechanically, the VFO is similar to the exciter, in that it is built inside a standard  $3 \times 4 \times 17$ inch aluminum chassis, with the tubes and filament transformer projecting from the rear wall. This makes a compact shielded unit that mounts on a 3½-inch rack panel. Looking into the top front view, Fig. 17-17, we see the oscillator tuning condenser,  $C_1$ , at the center, driven by the vernier dial. The oscillator inductance is to the left. An aluminum partition splits the oscillator tube socket, with pins 4 to 7 on the right side of the partition. Components of the output stage are at the far left. On the right side are the reactance modulator and speech-amplifier sockets, the deviation control, the band-set condenser,  $C_2$ , and the microphone jack.

- R9 0.1 megohm, ½ watt.
- R<sub>12</sub> 820 ohms, ½ watt. R<sub>13</sub> 10,000 ohms, ½ watt.
- $R_{13}$
- 10-µh. 25-watt transmitting coil (B & W Baby 1.1 Inductor, type 80 M, with plug-in base removed) 14-µh, 25-watt transmitting coil, end-linked (B & W type 40-MEL, with plug-in base removed).
   4-turn link, part of L<sub>2</sub> assembly.  $L_2 -$
- 1.3
- J<sub>1</sub> Closed-circuit jack. 12
- J<sub>3</sub> -- Coaxial fitting, female. 32.53 GRAMM HT02, RFC4 — 2.5-mh. r.f. choke, stand-off type (National R-100S or R-100U), RFC3 — 2.5-mh. r.f. choke (National R-100).
- $S_1 S.p.s.t.$  switch, shaft type.
- $\mathbf{r}_2$ - Switch or gain control, Ro.
- $\tilde{T}_1$ 6.3-volt 3-amp. filament transformer (Chicago FO-63),

The inductances in both stages are made from commercial plug-in coil assemblies. The plug-in bases are removed, and the coils mounted on pillars. The oscillator coil should have at least one half its diameter in all directions clear of metal objects of appreciable size. Wiring should be done with stiff wire, and all components connected with the oscillator circuit should be mounted rigidly.

Where the cable between the VFO and the following equipment is very short, the output from  $J_2$  may be fed directly into the crystal socket. For more remote operation it may be necessary to install a tuned circuit and link coupling at the exciter end in order to insure efficient transfer of energy between the two units.

The reactance modulator follows standard practice. The gain of the first 6BA6 stage is suffi-

### **V.H.F. TRANSMITTERS**



Fig. 17-19 — Looking into the VFO from the rear. The variable condenser at the left is  $C_2$ , for setting the band on the vernier dial. The large variable at the right allows the output circuit to be tuned to the oscillator frequency or its second harmonic.

cient to permit NFM operation on 10, 6 or 2 meters, with a crystal microphone. With the method of connection between the modulator and the oscillator shown in the schematic, the deviation is too low for use on frequencies lower than the 27-Mc. band. More deviation can be obtained by connecting the lead from the coupling capacitors,  $C_{15}$  and  $C_{16}$ , to the stators of  $C_1$  and  $C_2$ , instead of across the tuned circuit. If the FM is to be used only above 27 Mc., however, the method shown is recommended.

Provision is made for turning off the heaters of the 6BA6s when the FM portion of the VFO is not in use. There is some frequency shift when the heaters are turned on and off in this way, however, and if the user expects to change frequently from FM to other modes it would be well to have  $S_2$  break the B-plus lead, rather than the heaters. Where the deviation control is connected in the reactance-modulator grid circuit, as is done here, a blocking capacitor,  $C_{14}$ , must be added in series with the arm of the potentiometer. Otherwise, variation of the control will affect the frequency of the oscillator.

#### Operation

Deviation should be adjusted by listening to the signal on the band where the transmitter is to be used, as it increases with each frequency multiplication. Monitoring the signal is easy, as the proper harmonic of the VFO can be used, and all the rest of the rig left inoperative, thus preventing blocking of the receiver. Deviation requirements of various receivers will vary widely, but a safe starting point is to set the control so that speech sounds clean in a communications receiver with its crystal filter in the broadest "on" position.

The VFO dial (National MCN) can be calibrated with the aid of a receiver capable of tuning the oscillator or doubler range. Set the vernier dial so that the variable condenser is at maximum. Then adjust the bandset condenser until the oscillator frequency is 3000 kc. Check the tuning range before removing plates from  $C_1$ . The tuning range can be made to cover 3000 to 4000 kc, without resetting the bandset condenser, or if the user is interested in the v.h.f. bands only, it can be reduced to 3000 to 3375 kc., multiples of which cover the 50- and 144-Mc, bands. Plates can be removed from  $C_1$ , one at a time, resetting  $C_2$  each time so that the frequency of the oscillator is 3000 kc, with  $C_1$  at maximum, and checking the tuning range on the calibrated receiver. To cover 3000 to 3713 kc.,  $C_1$  was reduced to 3 stator and 2 rotor plates.

To use the VFO with the exciter described earlier, no more than 150 to 200 volts is needed on the second stage. Cathode current, metered at  $J_2$ , will be around 10 ma, when the doubler plate circuit is tuned to resonance. At this low input the tuning is unimportant, so long as the stages following receive sufficient excitation. It is not necessary to retune the doubler plate circuit for frequency shifts normally made within any one band.

The construction of the VFO is such that there should be little frequency drift due to heating as the tubes are operated far below ratings, and being mounted outside the main assembly they cause little temperature change in the frequencycontrolling elements of the oscillator circuit. No special TVI precautions were taken, other than the shielding inherent in the design, and the use of shielded wire for all power wiring.

It is important that the power supply used on the VFO and modulator be well filtered and free from hum. Particularly where FM is used, the slightest a.c. ripple will show up in objectionable proportions. With sufficient filtering in the power supply, the note should be nearly comparable to crystal control, even on the v.h.f. range.

Note that no mention is made of keying the VFO unit. Experience has shown that oscillator keying results in too much frequency shift to be usable in v.h.f. work without precautions that are out of line for a simple unit such as this. In v.h.f. work, at least, keying should be done two stages or more away from the oscillator unless extensive stability measures are taken.

# Transmitter-Exciters for 50 and 144 Mc.

The units shown in Figs. 17-20 through 17-25 are designed to serve several purposes. They may be used individually or together, depending upon whether the builder wishes to operate on both 50 and 144 Mc. or on either band alone. They may serve as complete transmitters for either mobile or home-station service, or they may be used as exciters for driving higher powered stages. The dual tetrode amplifier of Fig. 17-26 would be a suitable following stage for up to 100 watts input.

Overtone oscillator circuits are employed in the interest of low power consumption, circuit simplicity and ease of TVI prevention. Power wiring is done with shielded wire, and the physical arrangement of the parts is such that nearly complete shielding is obtained. If further enclosure is needed to prevent TVI it is merely necessary to cover the top of the unit. Power output is taken off by means of coaxial fittings, for convenience in mobile operation, and for complete shielding.

The two units are as similar, both mechanically and electrically, as possible. Both are built entirely on their  $5 \times 10$ -inch sheet aluminum top plates. These are screwed onto inverted  $3 \times 5 \times$ 10-inch steel or aluminum chassis. Both use a 12AU7 dual triode as oscillator and frequency multiplier, with a 2E26 final amplifier. The 144-Me. unit has a 5763 doubler stage between the 12AU7 and the 2E26, and the operating conditions of the stages vary somewhat.

The necessary driving power for the final is more readily obtained on 50 Me., so the oscillatormultiplier is set up to run at lower input. Inductive neutralization ( $L_4$  and  $L_5$  in Fig. 17-22) was used to stabilize the 50-Me. unit, whereas a small capacitance accomplishes the same end in the 144-Me. amplifier. An end-linked tank circuit works well on 50 Me., but a balanced tank with center link is more satisfactory for 144 Me.

Both transmitters are set up to permit complete metering of all stages. Looking at the male chassis fittings in the schematic diagrams, it may be seen that each grid return, screen and plate lead is brought out to a separate pin. It is helpful during the adjustment of the rigs to be able to meter each stage without breaking into the main wiring. This is done by connecting a meter temporarily between the proper power plug pins. After adjustment is completed the meter can be replaced with a jumper in the plug. The exciter stages require 250 to 300 volts. The amplifier may be operated at the same level, or if more power is wanted the final plate voltage may be raised to 400 volts.

#### Adjustment and Operation

With either rig the oscillator stage should be checked first. This should be done with 150 to 200 volts until correct operation is established, and with no voltage on the following stages. Proper operation of the oscillator depends on the amount of feed-back, which can be adjusted by varying the position of  $L_2$  with respect to  $L_1$ , or by changing the number of turns in either winding. For best mechanical stability, the two coils are made from a single piece of B&W Miniductor, breaking the wire to give the specified number of turns in each winding. Because the characteristics of tubes and crystals vary somewhat, it is well to start with at least one extra turn on each winding.

The feed-back should be only enough to insure easy starting of the oscillator under load. Adjustments should be made with the grid circuit of the following stage completed, with a low-range milliammeter connected to the proper terminals on the plug to read grid current. Oscillation will be evidenced by the sudden appearance of grid current as  $C_1$  is rotated. If the feed-back is correct, this will occur at only a small portion of the tuning range of  $C_1$ . Listen to the oscillation at 24 or 25 Mc. It should vary only slightly in frequency, if at all, as  $C_1$  is tuned. If the frequency changes gradually across the tuning range the oscillator is not crystal controlled, and too much feed-back is indicated. Remove a turn at a time from  $L_2$  until only crystal-controlled oscillation remains. If there is insufficient feed-back there will be no oscillation. Feed-back can be increased by removing turns from  $L_1$ , or adding turns to  $L_2$ . If several crystals are available, try to find a median setting that will work with all of them.

Crystals may be the overtone variety, marked

Fig. 17-20 — A 25-watt transmitter or exciter for 50 Mc. Oscillator and doubler are tuned by screwdriver adjustments at lower left and center of top plate. The amplifier control is the knob at the right. The 11-pin power fitting is at the center, rear, and the antenna output fitting is in the upper right.

## VHF TRANSMITTERS

Fig. 17-21 - Bottom view of the 50-Mc. transmitter-exciter. Oscillafor doubler and final circuits are from left to right. Note the inductive neutralization link between  $L_3$  and L4. Disregard the power fitting at the lower left and follow Fig. 17-22 for power connections.



for frequencies between 24 and 27 Me., or they may be fundamental-type cuts for 8 to 9 Mc., working on their third overtone. Much less feedback is needed for overtone crystals ordinarily, and if they are to be used exclusively  $L_2$  may be reduced to as little as three turns. If difficulty with starting under load is encountered, the size of the coupling capacitor,  $C_3$ , can be reduced, and it may be advantageous to connect an r.f. choke between Pin 2 of the frequency multiplier and the grid leak,  $R_3$ .

The second half of the 12AU7 is operated as a doubler to 50 Mc. in the unit for that band, and as a tripler to 72 Mc. in the 144-Mc. model. It has no unusual features in either case. The amplifier is so easy to drive on 50 Mc, that input to both the oscillator and doubler stages can be kept at quite low level — not more than about 10 ma. plate current for each section. In the 144-Mc. unit the current drains will run about 12 to 15 ma. for each stage. Grid current should be 1 ma. or more in either case.



Fig. 17-22 -- Schematic diagram and parts list for the 50-Mc, transmitter-exciter.

- C1 50-µµfd, trimmer (Millen 26050-LN).
- $C_2, C_5, C_7, C_9 = 0.001$ - $\mu$ fd, disc ceramic.  $C_3, C_6 = 50$ - $\mu\mu$ fd, ceramic.  $C_4 = 25$ - $\mu\mu$ fd, trimmer (National MSR-25).

- C8-20-µµfd, double-spaced shaft-type trimmer (Millen 20920).
- R1 39,000 ohms, 1/2 watt.
- R2, R4 470 ohms, 1/2 watt.
- R3 100,000 ohms, 1/2 watt.
- R5-68,000 ohms, 1/2 watt.
- R6 30,000 ohms, 3 watts. (3 10,000-ohm 1-watt re-sistors in series. May be reduced in resistance and wattage for 300-volt operation.)
- L<sub>1</sub>-9 turns No. 20, ½-inch diam., %6 inch long (B & W Miniductor No. 3003).
- $L_2 = 4$  turns No. 20,  $\frac{1}{2}$ -inch diam.,  $\frac{1}{4}$  inch long.  $L_1$  and La are made from a single piece of B & W Mini-ductor No. 3003, 13 turns total. See text and Fig. 17-21.
  5 turns No. 20, ½-inch diam., 3/6 inch long (B & W No. 3003).
- La
- 1-turn neutralizing loops connected by link. 4. 1.5 -
- No. 14 enam. See Fig. 17-21. 5 turns No. 16, 1-inch diam., 1¼ inch long (B & W No. 3021). Lø
- 1.7 3 turns No. 14 enam., 34 inch diam., inside cold end of L<sub>6</sub>.
- Coaxial output fitting.
- J<sub>2</sub> 11 pin male chassis fitting (Amphenol 86RCP11).
- $RFC_1 1$ -mh. r.f. choke (National R-50).  $RFC_2 2.5$ -mh. r.f. choke (National R-100).

# 404

# CHAPTER 17



Fig. 17-23 - Top view of the 25watt 144-Mc, transmitter, Layout is similar to the 50-Mc, model, except for the additional doubler stage and the mounting of the final tank circuit above the chassis.

The 5763 doubler stage in the 2-meter unit is of conventional design. Care must be taken in layout to keep down lead inductance. Note that the lead from the plate to the tuning condenser is made of quarter-inch wide copper strip.

Because of the difference in layouts required for the two frequencies, the two amplifiers operate somewhat differently. The 50-Mc. unit has the final tank coil and antenna coupling underneath the chassis. There is thus more feed-back, and neutralization was needed. This is furnished by the link that may be seen in the bottom view, Fig. 17-21. A loop of No. 14 enameled wire is

mounted on stand-offs, with one turn coupled to  $L_3$  and the other end to  $L_6$ . The position of the coupling loop at either end is adjusted for neutralization in the same way as for capacitively neutralized amplifiers. The loop  $(L_5)$  is between the second and third turns of  $L_6$ , with the antenna coupling coil below. Slight variations in layout may eliminate the need for neutralization, so the amplifier operation should be checked without it at first.

In order to shorten the plate lead, the plate circuit of the 2-meter unit was mounted above the chassis. This permits use of a balanced tank cir-



Fig. 17-24 — Schematic diagram of the 144-Me, transmitter, Bottom views of both power plug and socket are shown.

- $C_I = 50 \mu \mu fd$ , trimmer (National PSR-50).
- C2, C5, C7, C8, C10, C11, C13, C14, C16-0.001 ufd. dise

- ceramic, C<sub>3</sub>, C<sub>6</sub> 25- $\mu\mu$ fd, ceramic, C<sub>4</sub> 25- $\mu\mu$ fd, trimmer (National PSR-25)
- C9 10-µµfd, double-spaced trimmer (Millen 26920 cut down to 2 rotor and 3 stator plates). C12 - 10-µµfd. ceramic.
- $C_{15} = 10 \mu \mu fd.$  per section butterfly (Johnson 10LB15),
- R1 10,000 ohms, 1 watt.

- $\begin{array}{l} R_1 = 10,000 \text{ ohms, } 14 \text{ watt.} \\ R_2, R_4 = 470 \text{ ohms, } 12 \text{ watt.} \\ R_5 = 68,000 \text{ ohms, } 12 \text{ watt.} \\ R_6 = 12,000 \text{ ohms, } 12 \text{ watt.} \\ R_6 = -12,000 \text{ ohms, } 12 \text{ watt.} \\ R_7 = -22,000 \text{ ohms, } 12 \text{ watt.} \end{array}$

- 22,000 ohms, I watt. Make like R6 in Fig. 17-22 Rs if using more than 300 volt plate supply. L<sub>1</sub>, L<sub>2</sub>
- Similar to Fig. 17-22. turns No. 18, ½-inch diam., ½ inch long 1.3 -- 4 turns No. 18, 12 (B & W No. 3002).
- L<sub>4</sub> 4 turns No. 14, ¼-inch diam., ½ inch long. L<sub>5</sub> 6 turns No. 14, 3 turns each side of center spaced diameter of wire, 1/2-inch diam., 1/4-inch space at center of L6.
- L6-2 turns No. 14 enam., 1/2 inch diam.
- J<sub>1</sub> Coaxial output fitting.
- J<sub>2</sub> 11-prong male chassis fitting (Amphenol 86 RCP11).
- RFC<sub>1</sub> 7-uh, r.f. choke (Ohmite Z-50). RFC<sub>2</sub>, RFC<sub>3</sub>, RFC<sub>4</sub> 1.8- $\mu$ f. r.f. choke (Ohmite Z-144).

# V.H.F. TRANSMITTERS

٠

Fig. 17-25 — Under-chassis view of the 144-Mc. transmitter. Oscillator, tripler and doubler tuned circuits are from left to right.

cuit and practically eliminates the need for neutralization. To make up the difference in capacitance on the two sides of the circuit, a lead from the low side is run through a chassis bushing to just below the chassis level. If there is instability, the length of the lead below the chassis can be varied to effect neutralization. Contact is made to the 2E26 metal ring externally by means of a spring clip mounted under one of the socketmounting screws. This contributes to more stable operation of the amplifier, though connection is made to the ring internally through Pin 8, Shielding may or may not be necessary on the 5763. Operation of the tube without a complete shield results in more effective cooling, and is recommended if possible.

Operating conditions for the various stages follow the tube manufacturer's recommendations closely. If more or less input to the final stage is

# A 100-Watt R.F. Amplifier for 50 and 144 Mc.

The r.f. amplifier shown in Figs. 17-26, 17-27 and 17-28 is designed for use with a dual beam tetrode such as the 829B or AX-9903. It is capable of handling an input of up to 120 watts on c.w. or FM and about 100 watts on AM 'phone. The driver stage should have an output of 5 watts or more, to assure adequate driving power. The same general layout may be used with an 832A or 815, if a suitable value of grid resistor is used. The 815 also requires a different socket.

The amplifier is built on an aluminum chassis 3 by 4 by 17 inches in size, with practically all components mounted topside. The two-band plate is removed from each end of the shaft and four from the middle.







desired it can be controlled by variation of the screen voltage, with a smaller or larger dropping resistor value.

If both transmitters are to be used, their operation may be controlled by an external switch that furnishes heater voltage to the unit desired at the moment. Plate voltages may be left connected to both units in this case, as only the one whose heaters are energized will draw current. Loading on the amplifier is varied by adjusting the position of the output coupling winding. In some cases the insertion of a series tuning condenser between the coupling loop and ground may be desirable. Power output will be about 15 watts maximum on 50 Mc. and about 10 watts for the 144-Me, unit. If the plug connections given in the schematic diagrams are followed it will be possible to interchange the two power plugs without affecting the operation of the rigs.

tank circuit described in Fig. 17-3 is used, to fa-

cilitate easy band changing and assure efficient

operation on 144 Me. Only the plate circuit is

tuned. The grid coils are made to resonate with

the input capacitance of the tube. The plate

tuning condenser is cut down to a capacitance suitable for 144-Mc. used by removing plates,

leaving two stator and three rotor plates in each section. The two stator plates left are those on

either side of the stator connection lug. One rotor

#### World Radio History

•

Fig. 17-26 — A dual-tetrode amplifier for 50 and 144 Mc, with 50-Mc, coils in place. In the foreground are the 144-Mc, grid coil and the antenna coupling loop used for 144-Mc, operation.

٠

inches high, with the tube centered 21/2 inches above the chassis. The tuning condenser and coil socket are also mounted on brackets, the former  $2\frac{3}{8}$  inches high. Both brackets have Ushaped cutouts to pass the plate lines with at least 5/16 inch clearance all around.

The plate lines are  $5^{+}_{22}$  inches long, exclusive of the flexible portion at the plate end. This is of tinned braid, making 11/4 inches additional, from the end of the lines to the slip-on connectors. The flexible portion of the line is made fast by inserting the end of the braid in the tubing and crimping the tubing in a vise. The connection is soldered for added firmness, but the tubing should be squeezed tight enough to hold the braid in place, as long periods of operation may heat the line sufficiently to loosen soldered connections. Connections from the lines to the tuning condenser are made by wrapping the tubing with four turns of tinned wire and soldering this wrap to the line and the condenser tab. The far end of the line is mounted on 2inch standoffs and small copper brackets, bringing the over-all height to  $2\frac{1}{2}$  inches.

The spacing of the lines,  $\frac{3}{4}$ inch center to center, is deter-

mined by the spacing of the pins of the Millen 37212 plug used for a shorting bar. A short is placed across the terminals of the plug, and connection is made for the B-plus with a flexible



Fig. 17-28 — Bottom view of the tetrode amplifier.

lead. The Millen 37211 socket, mounted at the end of the chassis, serves as a convenient storage device for the plug and as a terminal strip for  $RFC_2$ . The plug may be used to adjust the line length; sliding it into or out of the line permits an adjustment of about  $\frac{1}{4}$  inch in over-all length. This may be useful in counteracting for slight variations in tube characteristics.

The grid coil socket is mounted on a plate held in position by the screws on which the tube socket is mounted. It is positioned for minimum lead length — an important consideration. The



Fig. 17-27 - Schematic diagram of the two-band tetrode amplifier.

- C1, C2 Neutralizing capacitors, see text.
- 0,001-µfd. disc ceramic. C3, C4 -
- $C_5$  Split-stator variable, approx. 15µµfd. per section (Millen 24935 with 2 stator and 3 rotor plates removed from each section).
- $C_6$ 0.001-afd. mica, 1200-volt rating.
- R1 4700 ohms, 1 watt.
- R<sub>2</sub> 10,000 ohms, 10 watts.
- $L_1 = 50$  Mc.: 3 turns No. 18, 114-inch dia., turns spaced wire dia. 144 Mc.: U-shaped loop  $\frac{1}{2}$  inch wide and  $\frac{1}{4}$  inch long, No. 14 tinned.
- $L_2 50$  Mc.: 2 turns each side of  $L_1$ , same dia, and spacing, center tapped. Can be made by removing one turn from each end of a National AR-16 10-S assembly.
  - 144 Me.: U-shaped loop similar to  $L_1$ , but center tapped. See Fig. 17-26.
- L<sub>3</sub>-3 turns each side of center, No. 12 tinned, 1 inch dia., spaced 1 dia., conter tapped. Leave ½-inch space for La.
   L4 - 3 turns No. 14 enamel, 1-inch dia., spaced 1 dia.
   L5A, L5B - ¼-inch o.d. copper tubing, 5½ inches long, spaced ¾ inch on centers. Make 7 inches long for 9903/5894A.
- Hairpin coupling loop 31/2 inches long, 3/4 inch wide, No. 12 enamel. L6
- J1, J2 -- Closed-circuit jack.
- Male a.c. connector. J3 -
- RFC<sub>1</sub> 7.0-µh. r.f. choke (Ohmite Z-50).
- RFC2 — 1.8-µh. r.f. choke (Ohmite Z-144). T<sub>1</sub> — Filament transformer, 6.3 volts, 3 amp.

input eapaeitance of the 829B is high enough so that it may be impossible to resonate the grid circuit at 148 Mc., if appreciable lead length or stray capacitance is introduced. If an 832A or AX-9903 is used the grid coil will be somewhat larger than that specified and neutralization may not be needed.

Neutralization is accomplished, when required, by means of leads brought through the bracket, adjacent to the tube plates. These are crossed over to the opposite grids at the socket. Feedthrough bushings are used and soldering lugs are attached to the bushings to provide the neutralizing capacitance. If more is needed these can be replaced with small tabs of sheet copper.

There may be a slight change in neutralizing capacitance needed for the two bands. As neutralization is inclined to be more critical at the higher frequency, the adjustment should be made carefully on 144 Mc. This same setting may be satisfactory for 50-Mc, operation as well.

The plug-in coils are mounted on National PB-16 bases, fitting XB-16 sockets. When the stage is used on 144 Mc, the coupling is by means of a hairpin loop which plugs into the coil socket. The r.f. output is thus fed down to a crystal socket on the back of the chassis, for either band, A similar crystal socket is used for the r.f. input, at the tube end of the chassis.

# **V.H.F. TRANSMITTERS**

# Transmitter-Exciter for 220 Mc.

Construction of a stable transmitter for 220 Mc. is not difficult, and though simple oscillatortype rigs may suffice for short-range work, crystal control or its equivalent is highly worth-while. A low-powered transmitter need not be costly, as receiving tubes can be used throughout, and by selection of a frequency near the low edge of the band, a crystal can be obtained that will serve for the upper portion of the 144-Mc. band as well.

The transmitter shown in Figs. 17-29, 17-30 and 17-31 delivers about two watts. The final stage may be modulated for voice work, or the unit may be used as an exciter to drive higherpowered stages. Three 12AT7 dual triodes are used. The first serves as a third-overtone oscillator and frequency tripler. This drives a pushpull tripler to the operating frequency. The output stage is a neutralized push-pull amplifier.

Probably any of the several dual triodes having the same base connections as the 12AT7 could be used, and with minor modifications 6J6s will work well. The safe input for 6J6s is slightly lower, however, as their maximum plate voltage should not be higher than 250 volts. The 12AT7s will stand 300 volts, if the rig is adjusted properly.

Crystal frequencies should lie between 8.15 and 8.33 Me., or 24.45 and 25 Mc. If the same crystal is to be used in 144-Mc. work, it should be between 8.15 and 8.222 or 24.45 and 24.66 Me. Where crystals in the 8-Me. range are used, it is suggested that values multiplying out to frequencies well inside the band edges be chosen, as the overtone frequency may not be exactly three times the frequency marked on the holder.

#### **Construction and Adjustment**

The transmitter is built on a sheet of aluminum 5 by  $9\frac{1}{2}$  inches in size, so that it may be mounted on a standard aluminum chassis of the same dimensions, 2 inches high. This makes for a minimum of mechanical work, and provides excellent shielding. Power leads are made with shielded cable, and each plate and grid lead is decoupled, to prevent radiation of harmonics through the power cabling. The shielded wire may not be necessary as a TV1-prevention measure, but it makes a neut assembly, and it is easy to install. Should TVI become a problem, most of the preventative measures will already have been taken.

In both top and bottom views the principal components may be identified readily. From left to right, we see the crystal and its associated circuit, the oscillator-tripler tube, the tripler plate circuit, the push-pull tripler tube, tripler plate and amplifier grid eircuits, and final amplifier stage. Power is brought to the various circuits through an 8-pin power fitting, provision being made for metering all important circuits. The tube sockets, crystal socket, tuning condensers and output socket are centered on a line drawn down the middle of the base plate. Initial adjustment of the transmitter can be done with any power supply that will deliver 150 to 250 volts. The rig can be operated at higher voltages than this, but for the first work it is well to stay below 250 volts. If a 300-volt supply is used, a 10-watt resistor of about 5000 ohms should be connected in series with the supply voltage temporarily. If the power fittings are wired as shown in Fig. 17-30, the various circuits can be metered during the testing operation.



Fig. 17-29 - Top view of the 220-Mc. transmitter.

Start with the oscillator, by connecting a 50- or 100-ma, meter between Pins 3 and 4. Leave Pin 2 open for the present. Apply plate voltage and note the current as  $C_1$  is rotated. There will be a sharp dip as the tube goes into oscillation. Check to see if this oscillation is controlled by the crystal. If there is self-oscillation, reduce the size of the feed-back winding,  $L_2$ , a half turn at a time. If there is no oscillation, more inductance may be needed in  $L_2$ . Feed-back may also be controlled by cutting the small winding loose from the larger one, and adjusting the spacing between them. They are made from one piece of B & W Miniduetor, by cutting the wire at the fourth turn.

Once the oscillator is working correctly, solder a jumper wire between Pins 3 and 4, and connect the meter between Pins 3 and 5. Tune  $C_2$  for a slight dip in plate current, and check the frequency to be sure that the stage is tripling. There should be enough output to light a 2-volt 60-ma. pilot lamp with a single-turn loop coupled at the center of  $L_3$ . The capacity of  $C_3$  should be set at the point that gives the greatest output, readjusting  $C_2$  each time  $C_3$  is changed. The purpose of this capacitor is to balance the tank circuit. It will peak at a point that simulates the output capacitance of the tube appearing across the opposite end of  $L_3$ .

Now connect a jumper from Pin 3 to Pin 5, and connect the meter between Pins 3 and 6. A low-range meter (0–10 or 0–25 ma.) may be connected between Pins 8 and 7 also, to measure the final grid current. Adjust  $C_4$  for maximum grid current, or for plate current dip, and move  $L_5$ with respect to  $L_4$ , retuning  $C_4$  as this is done, until the position that gives the highest grid cur-

# CHAPTER 17



Fig. 17-30 - Wiring diagram of the low-powered 220-Me. transmitter.

- 50-μμf. miniature trimmer (Hammarlund MAPC--Ci
- 50). 11-μμf. min 11MB11). miniature butterfly variable (Johnson Co
- C<sub>3</sub>, C<sub>5</sub>,  $C_6 = 3-30 \ \mu\mu f.$  mica trimmer. C<sub>4</sub>, C<sub>7</sub> = 8- $\mu\mu f.$  miniature butterfly variable (Johnson 9MBH)
- L1-10 turns No. 20 tinned, 1/2-inch diam., spaced dianı. of wire.
- $L_2 4$  turns No. 20 tinned similar to  $L_1$ .  $L_1$  and  $L_2$ made from single piece of B & W Miniductor No. 3003: see text.
- L3-12 turns No. 18 tinned, 3/8-inch diam., spaced diam. of wire, center-tapped.

rent is found. There will be little change in plate current, so the final grid meter is the better indicator.

Add a jumper from Pin 3 to Pin 6 and proceed with neutralization of the final stage. This may be done in any of the conventional ways. Setting the neutralizing capacitors at the point where there is no change in grid current as the final plate tank is tuned through resonance is a satisfactory procedure. The two trimmers should be about the same setting, near minimum capacitance. Now apply plate voltage to the final stage, connecting the meter in series with Pin 2, and tune the final plate circuit for maximum output as indicated in a pilot lamp plugged into  $J_1$ . This may be a bluebead 6.3-volt 250-ma, bulb, which will give a bright indication with about 2 watts output.

- $L_4 = 2$  turns No. 18 enam.,  $\frac{1}{2}$ -inch diam., spaced  $\frac{1}{8}$ inch, center-tapped.
- L5-2 turns No. 18 enam., 3/8-inch diam., spaced 1/16 inch, center-tapped.
- U-shaped loop No. 16 tinned, made from 5 inches I.e of wire. Sides of U are 1 inch apart, bent at right angles 1 inch from open end, center-tapped.
- $L_7$  Similar to  $L_6$ , but no center tap. Cover both loops with insulating spaghetti.
- Output terminal (crystal socket), Male power fitting, 8-pin (Ampheno 186-CP8) 12 -
- $P_1$  Matching cable fitting, 8-pin (Ampheno 100-V10). RFC<sub>1</sub>, RFC<sub>2</sub> 18 turns No. 22 enam., close-wound on 1-watt resistor of high value.

If  $L_6$  will not resonate the desired frequency, its inductance may be varied somewhat by spreading or compressing the sides of the Ushaped tank. Making the U narrower lowers the inductance, broadening it lowers its resonant frequency. The position of  $L_7$  with respect to  $L_6$ should be adjusted for maximum antenna power. The degree of coupling will probably be somewhat different than that at which maximum lamp brilliance is found, as the lamp does not simulate the antenna load. Power input to the final stage should not exceed 10 watts.

Average operating currents, with 300-volt plate supply, will be about as follows; oscillator -10ma., tripler — 10 ma., push-pull tripler — 20 ma., final grid current, stage operating - 6-8 ma., final plate current, under load — 20–30 ma.



Fig. 17-31 - Interior view of the 220-Mc. transmitter. Components appear in the same order, left to right, as in external view.

# V.H.F. TRANSMITTERS Transmitting Equipment for 420 Mc.

As on lower frequencies, best results will be obtained in 420-Me. work if the narrowest practical passband is used in the receiver. This dietates the use of stabilized transmitters, if the full possibilities of the 420-Me. band are to be realized. The band is 30 megacycles wide, however, so there is plenty of room for the use of simple rigs and broadband receivers, both of which may be entirely adequate for short-distance experimental work.

Many descriptions of equipment in this category have appeared in QST in recent years. A bibliography at the end of this chapter lists these and various articles dealing with the conversion of war-surplus equipment for 420-Mc. use, as well as articles on more advanced equipment. Segregation of narrow and wideband techniques within the band appears desirable, however, and it is suggested that use of the 420-Me. band be apportioned as follows:

420 to 432 Me. — Modulated oseillators and wideband FM.

432 to 436 Mc. — Crystal-control AM, e.w. and narrowband FM.

436 to 450 Me. — Amateur television.

#### A SIMPLE LOW-POWERED TRANSMITTER

The transmitter shown in Figs. 17-32 through 17-34 is typical of the sort of thing that can be used to good advantage in developing local activity on 420 Me. It runs only a few watts input, and delivers only about one watt of output, but it is quite capable of working over a radius of several miles when used with a good antenna



Fig. 17-33 — Bottom view of the oscillator assembly. The trongh in which the components are mounted is made of flashing copper. It is 6 inches long,  $1\frac{1}{3}$  inches high, and  $2\frac{1}{4}$  inches wide, with  $\frac{1}{4}$ -inch edges folded over for sliding into a clip attached to the main chassis.

system. A single 6J6 is used as a push-pull oscillator, with a half-wave line in its plate circuit. The complete oscillator assembly is built in a trough made of flashing copper. The 6AQ5 modulator and 6C4 speech amplifier are on the main chassis, at the back of which is a copper elip into which the oscillator unit is fitted. This arrangement permits experimenting with different types of r.f. sections without the necessity of making changes in the audio portion of the rig.

Only three adjustments are necessary in plaeing the unit into operation. The frequency should be checked with Lecher wires or a calibrated wavemeter, setting the frequency near the middle of the band. The method of determining the proper point for feeding the B-plus to the line is discussed earlier in this chapter. When this is





Fig. 17-32 — A 420-Me, transmitter built in two units. The modulator portion, on a  $7 \times 7 \times 2$ -inch chassis, uses a 6C4 driving a 6AQ5 modulator. The oscillator uses a 6J6 and is assembled on a removable troughshaped chassis.



Fig. 17-34 - Schematic diagram of the 420-Mc. transmitter.

- $C_1$ ,  $C_4 10 \cdot \mu fd$ . 25-volt electrolytic.
- C2 8-µfd. 450-volt electrolytic.
- C3 0.01-µfd. tubular.
- Miniature split-stator variable, 4 μμfd. per section. (Millen 21912D, with one rotor plate removed Cδ from each section.)
- $\begin{array}{l} {\rm R_1-4.70\ ohns, 1\ watt.}\\ {\rm R_2-0.33\ megohm, \frac{1}{2}\ watt.}\\ {\rm R_3-0.17\ megohm, \frac{1}{2}\ watt.}\\ {\rm R_5-0.17\ megohm, \frac{1}{2}\ watt.}\\ {\rm R_6-0.680\ ohns, 1\ watt.} \end{array}$

- R7, R8 100 ohms, 1/2 watt, carbon.

done the coupling loop should be adjusted for maximum power in the antenna and the transmitter is ready for use. Frequency checks should be made again, after the antenna is connected to be sure that the signal radiated is well inside the band limits.

#### AMPLIFIERS AND FREOUENCY MULTIPLIERS

Not many presently-available tubes work satisfactorily above 400 Mc. The 316A, 703A, 15E, 8012 and 8025, all triodes, work fairly well as oscillators, but are relatively ineffective as frequency multipliers, The 6J6 will deliver a small amount of power as a tripler, and more can be obtained with a pair connected in push-pullparallel.

Of the tetrodes, the 832A and AN9903 are most used in 420-Mc frequency multipliers and amplifiers. One of these tubes as a push-pull tripler from 144 to 432 Me. will drive another as a 432-Me. amplifier. The 832A will give about 2 and 5 watts, while the AN9903 delivers 10 and 25 watts, respectively, in these applications. The 5675, 2C43, 2C39 and 4X150A are typical of the special u.h.f. tubes that are capable of high-efficiency operation, but their use involves the employment of special tank circuits and forced-air cooling.

The tripler-amplifier of Fig. 17-35 uses two AX9903/5894A dual tetrodes to deliver 25 to 30 watts output when driven by a 144-Me, exciter of about 10 watts output. Half-wave lines are used in all 432-Mc. circuits, and a self-resonant coil in the grid circuit of the tripler. Adjustment of eoupling between the stages is done by varying the position of the grid lines,  $L_4$ , with respect to the tripler plate lines.

Be certain that no mechanical stress is imposed on the plate pins by the tank circuits, as the 9903

- R<sub>9</sub> 2700 ohms, 1/2 watt.
- L<sub>1</sub> Midget filter choke.
- 1.2 Plate line made of two pieces of No. 12 wire, 41/4
- 1.2 Flate the made of two pieces of 100.12 whet 4/4 inches long, 3% inch apart, center to center.
   1.3 Hairpin of No. 18 wire, Portion which couples to L<sub>2</sub> is about 5% inch long. Position should be adjusted for maximum transfer of power to antenna.
- Closed-circuit jack. J2 -
- RFC<sub>1</sub>, RFC<sub>2</sub> 12 turns No. 20 enameled wire, 3is-inch diam., 34 inch long.
- T<sub>1</sub> Single-button microphone transformer.

is very easily broken. The 9903/5894A is a more rugged type recently introduced.

The point of connection for the plate voltage should be cheeked to be sure that it is at the minimum r.f. voltage point. A pencil lead may be touched along the line until the smallest effect on the output is observed. Initially, the plate voltage may be fed into the line at a point just toward the tube end from the center.

The position of the grid lines,  $L_4$ , is quite critical and must be adjusted earefully if maximum grid drive is to be obtained. Move the copper strips a small amount at a time, readjusting  $C_1$  meanwhile, until at least 5 ma. of grid current is obtained. More may be used if obtainable. The grid circuit r.f. chokes are connected directly to the tube socket terminals, the input eapacitance of the tube being high enough so that the nodal point is within the tube itself. Great eare should be taken to see that the plate and grid lines do not come in contact with each other in the course of adjusting the coupling. This may be prevented by inserting thin sheets of mica or teflon between the plate and grid lines. Polystyrene is not usable for this purpose, as the heat radiated from the plate lines will melt it.

Adjustment of antenna eoupling is also very eritical, and can best be accomplished with a field-strength meter, which need be nothing more than a crystal diode inserted in a pick-up antenna. A line of any length may be run from the antenna to the meter, for remote indication.

Because of the relatively low efficiency obtainable at this frequency, the tubes should not be run at more than about 60 per cent of their normal ratings unless provision is made for forced-air eooling. The power capabilities can be stepped up by shielding the tubes and tank circuits and blowing air through the shields for cooling pur-

# V.H.F. TRANSMITTERS

Fig. 17-35 - A tripleramplifier for 420 Mc. Using two dual tetrodes, one as a tripler from 114 Mc. and the second as a straightthrough amplifier, this unit delivers 25 watts output on 432 Me. It can be driven by any 144-Me. exciter having an output of 8 watts or more,



poses. Up to about 35 watts output can be developed safely in this way.

#### Bibliography on 420-Mc. Equipment

- "Getting Started on 420 Mc." (Hoisington), June 1946 QST, page 43.
- "Four-Twenty Is Fun" (Tilton), Nov. 1947 QST, page 13.
- "Operating the BC-645 on 420 Mc." (Ralph and Wood), Feb. 1947 QST, page 15.
- "Fun on 420 with the BC-788" (Chapp), July 1948 QST, page 21.
- "Operating the APS-13 on 420 Mc." (Addison), May 1948 QST, page 57.

- "Tripling to 420 Mc." (Brannin), June 1948 QST, page 52.
- "A Doorknob Oseillator for 420 Mc." (Tilton), January 1949 QST, page 29.
- "Simpler Gear for the 420-Mc. Beginner" (Tilton), May 1949 QST, page 11.
- "Better Results on 420 Mc." (Tilton), August 1950 QST, page 11.
- "Coaxial-Tank Amplifier for 220 and 420 Mc." (Brayley), May 1951 *QST*, page 39.
- "New Low-Noise Twin Triode" August 1951 QST, page 46.
- "A 432-Mc. Converter from the Gold-Plated Test Oscillator," June 1952 QST, page 14.



Fig. 17-36 - Schematic diagram of the tripler-amplifier for 432 Me,

- $C_1, C_2 Midget split-stator variable, about 4 \mu\mu fd. per$ section (Millen 21912D),
- 250-µµfd. eeramic. Ca-
- R1 50,000 ohms, 2 watts.
- $R_2 = 100$  ohms,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt, at center tap of  $L_1$ .  $R_3 = 25,000$  ohms, 10 watts.

- $\begin{array}{l} R_4 = 10,000 \text{ ohms, 10 watts,} \\ R_4 = 10,000 \text{ ohms, 1 watts,} \\ R_5 = 20,000 \text{ ohms, 10 watts,} \\ L_1 = 2 \text{ turns No. 14 enamel, 9%-inch diameter, spaced} \end{array}$ twiee wire diameter.
- 1.2 2 turus No. 20 enamel, %16-inch diameter, between turns of  $L_1$ .
- L<sub>3</sub> Flexible copper or silver ribbon,  $\frac{1}{2}$  inch wide and 4 inches long. Average spacing about  $\frac{5}{6}$  in. L<sub>4</sub> Stiff copper strips 3 inches long. Adjust spacing
- between L3 and L4 for maximum grid current, as read in 12.
- L5 -- Flexible copper or silver ribbon, 1/2 inch wide and

434 inches long, including 1/4 inch bent over for fastening to heat-dissipating connectors. Aver-age spacing of line is about 5% inch. Bend last half inch inward to form padder capacitance. (See Fig. 17-35.) The connectors must be filed down to provide a spacing of at least 14 inch between their inside edges.

- L6 Coupling loop of No. 14 enameled wire. U-shaped portion is about 1 inch long.
- J<sub>1</sub>, J<sub>2</sub> Closed-circuit jack. J<sub>3</sub> Crystal socket (Millen 33102).

- J<sub>4</sub> Antenna terminal (National FWG). Not used in revised version. (See Fig. 17-35.)
   RFC<sub>1</sub>, RFC<sub>2</sub>, RFC<sub>5</sub>, RFC<sub>6</sub> U.h.f. choke (Ohmite Z-235). Attach to plate lines at point of lowest r.f. voltage
- RFC3, RFC4 11 turns No. 22 enamel, 316-inch diameter, 1 inch long. Attach directly to socket tabs.

# V.H.F. Antennas

While the basic principles of antenna design are essentially the same for all frequencies where conventional elements are used, certain features of v.h.f. work call for changes in antenna techniques above 50 Mc. Here the physical size of arrays is reduced to the point where an antenna system having some gain over a simple dipole can be used in almost any location, and experimentation with various types of arrays is an important part of the program of progressive v.h.f. amateurs. The importance of high-gain antennas in v.h f, work cannot be overemphasized. By no other means can so large a return be obtained from a small investment as results from the erection of a good directional array.

#### DESIGN CONSIDERATIONS

At 50 Mc, and higher the frequency range over which antenna systems should operate effectively is usually wider than that encountered on lower bands; thus more attention must be focussed on broad frequency response, possibly to the extent of sacrificing other qualities such as high frontto-back ratio.

As we go higher in frequency transmission-line losses rise sharply, and it becomes more important to match the antenna system to the line properly. Most v.h.f. transmission lines are long in terms of wavelength, so it may be more effective to use a high-gain array at relatively low height, rather than a low-gain system at great height, particularly if the antenna location is not completely shielded by heavy foliage, buildings or other obstructions.

The effectiveness of a v.h.f. array is almost directly proportional to *size*, rather than number of elements. A 4-element array for 432 Me. may have as much gain over a dipole as a similarlydesigned array for 144 Me., but it will intercept only one-third as much energy in receiving. To be equal in communication, the array for 432 Mc. must equal the 144-Mc. system in *area*, requiring three times the number of elements, if similar element configurations are used.

#### **Polarization**

Early v.h.f. work was done with simple antennas, and since the vertical dipole gave as good results in all directions as its horizontal counterpart offered in only two directions, vertical polarization became the accepted standard. Later when high-gain antennas came into use it was only natural that these, too, were put up vertical in areas where v.h.f. activity was already well established. When the discovery of various forms of longdistance propagation stirred interest in v.h.f. operation in areas where there was no previous experience, many newcomers started in with horizontal arrays, these having been more or less standard practice on frequencies with which these operators were familiar. As use of the same polarization at both ends of the path is necessary for best results, this lack of standardization resulted in a conflict that, even now, has not yet been completely resolved.

Tests have shown no large difference in results over long paths though evidence points to a slight superiority for horizontal in certain kinds of terrain, but vertical has other factors in its favor. Horizontal arrays are generally easier to build and rotate. Where ignition noise and other forms of man-made interference are present, horizontal systems usually provide better signal-to-noise ratio. Simple 3- or 4-element arrays are more effective horizontal than vertical, as their radiation patterns are broad in the plane of the elements and sharp in a plane perpendicular to them.

Vertical systems can provide uniform coverage in all directions, a feature that is possible only with fairly complex horizontal arrays. Gain can be built up without introducing directivity, an important feature in net operation, or in locations where the installation of rotatable systems is not possible. Mobile operation is simpler with vertical antennas. Fear of increased TVI has kept v.h.f. men in densely-populated areas from adopting horizontal as a standard.

The factors favoring horizontal have been predominant on 50 Mc., and today we find it the standard for that band, except for emergency net operation involving mobile units. The slight advantage it offers in DX work has accelerated the trend to horizontal on 144 Mc. and higher bands,



412

# V.H.F. ANTENNAS

though vertical polarization is still widely used.

The picture on 220 Mc. is still confused, the tendency being to follow the local 144-Mc. trend. Most 420-Mc. work is being done with horizontal. The newcomer to the v.h.f. bands should ascertain which is in general use in the areas he expects to work, and go along with the others in those areas. In setting up activity where there is no operation presently, it is recommended that horizontal polarization be used, principally as a step toward much-needed standardization.

#### IMPEDANCE MATCHING

Because line losses increase with frequency it is important that v.h.f. antenna systems be matched to their transmission lines carefully. Lines commonly used in v.h.f. work include open-wire, usually 300 to 500 ohms impedance, spaced one to two inches; polyethylene-insulated flexible lines, available in 300, 150 and 72 ohms impedance; and coaxial lines of 50 to 90 ohms impedance. Some of the methods by which these may be used to feed antennas of differing impedance are given below.

#### The ''J'

Used mainly for feeding a vertical radiator

5540 300-0hm inches or less Fig. 18-2 - Details of the folded dipole.

around which parasitic elements are rotated, the "J" is a half-wave vertical radiator fed with a quarter-wave matching section, as shown in Fig. 18-1. For 50 or 144 Mc. the spacing of the matching section should be 2 inches or less. The point of attachment of the line will depend on its impedance. It should be slid along the matching section until the point is found that results in the lowest standingwave ratio. The bottom of the matching section can be grounded, and it can be fed with balanced or coaxial line.

The "J" is useful in 144-Mc. mobile applications, usually in the form shown in Fig. 18-1B.

#### The Delta or ''Y'' Match

A simple arrangement for feeding a dipole, either alone or as part of a parasitic array, is the delta or "Y" match, in which the line is fanned out and attached to the radiator at the points where the impedance along the element equals the line impedance. Dimensions for v.h.f. applications can be figured from data in the transmission-line chapter. Its chief weakness is the likelihood of radiation from the matching section, which may impair the effectiveness of a multielement array.

#### The ''T'' Match

The principal disadvantages of the delta system can be overcome through the use of the "T" match, also detailed in the transmission lines

chapter. It provides a means of adjustment, by sliding clips along the parallel conductors, yet the radiation from the matching section is negligible because of its elose proximity to the main element. Its rigid construction is well suited to rotatable arrays. Because the matching is adjustable, the dimensions of the "T" section are not particularly critical. The system may be used with any balanced line, including a pair of coaxial lines, the outer conductors of which may be bonded together and grounded.

#### The Folded Dipole

A flexible means of matching a wide range of antenna impedances is the folded dipole, shown in its simplest form in Fig. 18-2. When made of uniform conductor size the impedance at the feed point is equal to the square of the number of elements in the folded dipole. Thus, the example of Fig. 18-2 has a feed-point impedance of  $4 \times 72$ , or approximately 288 ohms, making it a good match to 300-ohm line. A 3-wire dipole steps the impedance up 9 times.

Greater step-up can be obtained by making the fed portion of the dipole smaller in diameter than the solid portion. The spacing of the conductors affects the step-up in this case. Conductor ratios and spacings can be derived from the foldeddipole monogram in the transmission lines chapter. This principle is applied in the 4-element array of Fig. 18-6.

#### The Gamma Match

A simple device for feeding parasitic arrays with a single coaxial line is shown in Fig. 18-3. Known as the gamma match, it is a modification of the "T" system for unbalanced lines, well adapted to feeding arrays of all-metal construction. With the latter, the outer conductor of the coaxial line may be grounded to the metal boom, or to the center of the driven element. The inner conductor is then connected to a matching section, usually provided with a sliding clip for varying the point of connection to the driven element. The effectiveness of the system is improved if a condenser is connected in series with the gamma section, to tune out its reactance, as shown in Fig. 18-3. This should be mounted in a weatherproof box, which may be of metal and attached to the boom, or to the center of the driven element. A standing-wave bridge should be connected in the coaxial line, and the point of connection between the driven element and the matching section varied, readjusting the series condenser each time until minimum s.w.r. is ob-



Fig. 18-3 - Schematic version of the gamma match. Values for C and D are given in the text.

# 414

tained. The distance out from the center of the driven element will be about 10 inches for 50 Mc. and 4 inches for 144. The maximum capacitance



Fig. 18-4 — Antenna coupler for feeding a balanced load with coaxial line. The circuit L<sub>2</sub>-C<sub>1</sub> must resonate at the operating frequency.

required at C will be about 75 and 25  $\mu\mu$ fd. respectively. The r.f. voltage is low at this point so a receiving-type variable condenser may be used.

#### The Balun

Balanced loads such as are presented by a split dipole or folded dipole can be fed properly with coaxial line only if some form of balanced-tounbalanced coupler (often called balun) is used at the feed point. Details of the various types of baluns may be found in the transmission lines chapter. One of these provides a 4-to-1 impedance step-up in addition to conversion from unbalanced line to balanced load.

The conversion may also be accomplished with a balanced circuit, link coupled to the coaxial line, as in Fig. 18-4. The balanced load is tapped onto the tuned circuit at the proper impedance points, in this case. Such a circuit can be in the array itself, or at any point between the transmitter and the antenna where such a conversion is convenient.





# CHAPTER 18

#### The ''Q'' Section

A quarter-wavelength of line known as a "Q" section may be used to match a low center impedance to a higher value of line impedance, as described in the transmission lines chapter. This may take the form of two pieces of tubing,  $\frac{1}{2}$  to  $\frac{1}{4}$  inch in diameter, mounted so that their centerto-center spacing can be varied to achieve an impedance match between the antenna and the line, where the antenna impedance is not precisely known in advance. Lower values of "Q" section impedance than are available with tubing sizes can be made from lengths of insulated wire, or even coaxial line. The length of the "Q" section will take into account the propagation factor



Fig. 18-6 — Dimensional drawing of a 4-element 50-Mc. array. Element length and spacing were derived experimentally for maximum forward gain at 50.5 Me.

of the line, where such insulating materials are used.

In some installations it may be convenient to use "Q" sections longer than a single quarter wavelength, in which case any odd multiple of a quarter wavelength may be employed. The exact length for any such section may be determined by coupling the line to a source of r.f. energy of the proper frequency and trimming the line for maxi-

TABLE 18-I Dimensions for V.H.F. Arrays, in Inches					
Freq. (Me.)	50	144	220	420	
Driven Element	110	38	217/8	123/4	
Reflector	116	40	261/8	133/8	
lst Director	105	36	235/8	121/8	
2nd Director	103	353/4	233/8	12	
Phasing Section*	114	391/2	257/8	131/2	
0.25 Wavelength	57	193/4	13	65	
0.2 Wavelength	46	15%	103/8	53	
0,15 Wavelength	34	113/4	73/4	4	

# V.H.F. ANTENNAS

mum loading. Such a "Q" section is often used as the flexible portion of a line feeding a rotatable array, to make connection from the array to a fixed transmission line anchor point at the top of the supporting tower.

Where it is desirable to repeat the antenna impedance at the anchor point, a section of flexible line any multiple of a *half* wavelength may be used.

#### ANTENNA SYSTEMS FOR 50 AND 144 MC.

The designing of v.h.f. array is both a mechanical and electrical problem. The electrical principles are basic, but a very wide range of mechanical ideas may be used, and the form that an array will take is usually dictated by the materials that are available. Most v.h.f. arrays can be built to formula dimensions given in Table 18-1. The driven element is usually cut from the formula:

Length (in inches) 
$$\frac{5540}{Freq. (Mc.)}$$

Reflector elements are usually 5 per cent longer than the driven element. Directors are 5 per cent shorter, for the one nearest the driven element, and 6 per cent shorter for the next.



Fig. 18-7 — Detail drawing of inserts which may be used in the ends of the elements of a parasitie array to permit accurate adjustment of element length.

Parasitic element spacing from the driven element is usually 0.15 to 0.25 wavelength for a reflector, and 0.2 or more for directors. The closer the elements are spaced, the lower will be the feed impedance of the driven element. Close-spaced arrays are generally more difficult to tune up properly, and the frequency range over which they work is sharper, so they are seldom used in v.h.f. work.

Elements for 50 Mc. are usually  $\frac{1}{2}$  to 1 inch in diameter; 144-Mc. elements  $\frac{1}{4}$  to  $\frac{1}{2}$  inch; 220-and 420-Mc. elements  $\frac{1}{8}$  to  $\frac{3}{8}$  inch.

#### A Collinear Array for 144 Mc.

Where some gain over a dipole is needed, yet directivity is undesirable, several half-wave elements may be mounted vertically and fed in phase, as shown in Fig. 18-5. The photograph shows three half-wave elements, but five may be used in a similar way. The center element is fed at its midpoint, either directly with 300-ohm Twin-Lead, or through a "Q" section. The two end elements are kept in phase with the center one by folded half-wave sections.

The array of Fig. 18-5 is built on a 1<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>-inch



Fig. 18-8 — A 16-element array for 144 Me. using the all-metal construction methods outlined in Figs. 18-11 to 18-13. The 1-element array for 50 Me. below is also all-metal design.

wooden rug pole, using aluminum TV ground wire for the elements and phasing sections. Inexpensive TV screw-eye insulators are used to support the elements, with the exception of the supports at the element ends. At these points better insulation is desirable, so ceramic pillars are used.

Two 117-inch pieces of wire or tubing are needed. The end elements are 38 inches long, the folded sections 40 inches over all, and the quarterwave portions of the middle dipole are 19 inches. The "Q" section, if used, is 20 inches long. The phasing and "Q" sections are bent around into loops, as shown in the photograph. If the array is fed with 300-ohm line the "Q" section may be omitted without serious mismatch. With openwire line, a "Q" section made of the element material, spaced about one inch, gives a good match. The spacing may be adjusted for minimum s.w.r.

#### A 4-Element Array for 50 Mc.

The array of Fig. 18-6 uses dimensions derived for maximum gain at 50.5 Mc. It will work well over the range from the low end of the band to nearly 52 Mc. If wider frequency response is desired, the driven element should be cut to the formula given above for the desired center frequency, and the reflector made slightly longer and the directors somewhat shorter than the dimensions given. The driven element is a folded dipole of nonuniform conductor size, stepping up the impedance so that the array can be fed with 300-ohm line. A 3-element array of similar dimensions could be matched with a 3-to-1 conductor ratio, instead of 4-to-1. The boom may be of metal or wood. The 50-Mc. array shown in



Fig. 18-9 — Schematic drawing of a 16-element array. A variable "Q" section may be inserted at the feed point if accurate matching is desired. Reflector spacing is 0.2 wavelength.

Fig. 18-8 uses 0.15-wavelength spacing for the reflector and 0.2 for the directors, resulting in slightly less gain than the wider spacing, but allowing considerably more compact construction.

Most v.h.f. arrays are erected to formula dimensions, but if the builder wishes to do so he may tune the array for optimum front-to-back ratio or forward gain. Adjustable inserts for tubing elements may be made by cutting short sections of the element stock lengthwise and inserting these extensions in the ends of the elements as shown in Fig. 18-7.

#### Stacking Parasitic Arrays

The radiation angle of a v.h.f. antenna system can be lowered and worthwhile gain obtained by stacking two parasitic arrays one above the other and feeding them in phase. The horizontal pattern of a vertically polarized array may be sharpened and gain added by mounting two arrays side by side and phasing them in the same way. The physical spacing between the two arrays is usually  $\frac{1}{2}$ ,  $\frac{5}{8}$  or 1 wavelength, depending on the phasing method used. Stacked arrays are usually fed at the center of the system to insure uniform current distribution between the driven elements.

In stacking 50-Mc. arrays the phasing line is usually 0.5 wavelength long. If the two arrays were set up originally for 300-ohm feed when used separately, the phasing line, which serves as a double "Q" section, should have an impedance of about 380 ohms, if the main transmission line is to be 300 ohms. No. 12 wires spaced one inch apart make a convenient phasing line. The gain of

# **CHAPTER 18**

two arrays stacked 0.5 wavelength apart is approximately 4 db. over that of a single array.

Slightly more gain can be obtained by increasing the spacing to 5% wavelength. A phasing line for this spacing may be made of two pieces of coaxial line, with the outer conductors connected together and grounded, if desired. Because of the propagation factor of the coaxial line, such a phasing section is electrically a full wavelength long. The impedance at the midpoint between the two arrays is approximately half that of one array alone.

For 144 Mc. and higher, where the dimensions are within practical limits, the spacing between two stacked arrays may be increased to a full wavelength. This wide spacing is recommended only for arrays having three or more elements, and is most commonly used with 5-element arrays. The phasing line may be open wire, of any convenient wire size and spacing, and the impedance at the midpoint between the two arrays will be half that of one array alone. A "Q" section at the feed point is a convenient method of matching such a "5-over-5" array. Its dimensions will depend on the type of dipoles used in the individual arrays.

#### **Phased Arrays**

Superior performance is obtainable on 144 Mc. and higher by using curtains of 4, 6, 8 or more driven half-wave elements, arranged in pairs fed in phase, and backed up by reflectors. Figs. 18-8 and 18-9 show a 16-element array, while 18-10 is a 12-element array of similar design. The gains are about 14 db. for the 16-element and 12 db. for the 12-element. They may be used for either horizontal or vertical polarization. The pattern of the 12-element is similar in both planes.

The elements used in the 16-element array shown in the photograph are 1/4-inch diameter dural, mounted in the manner shown in Figs. 18-11 and 18-12. The entire structure is of metal; the supports being at the low-voltage point of the elements, no insulation is required. The supporting structure for a 12-element array of similar



Fig. 18-10 — Element arrangement and feed system of the 12-element array. Reflectors are spaced 0.15 wavelength behind the driven elements.

# V.H.F. ANTENNAS

design is shown in detail in Fig. 18-12, with the clamps for holding the array together made as shown in Fig. 18-13.

Element lengths and spacings are not particularly critical in arrays having many driven elements, and careful adjustment is not required for good results. The frequency response of these systems is broader than is the case in arrays where the gain is built up by the use of directors as well as reflectors. Either the 12- or 16-element array



Fig. 18-11 — Model showing the method of assembling for all-metal construction of phased arrays. Dimensions of clamps are given in Fig. 18-13.

may be fed with 300-ohm line connected at the center of the system, as shown in the sketches. The reflectors in the 12-element array are spaced only 0.15 wavelength in back of the driven elements, in order to bring the feed impedance down to roughly 300 ohms. In the 16-element array 0.2-wavelength spacing is used for the reflectors, and even so, the feed impedance may be somewhat lower than 300 ohms. If a long feedline is necessary it may be desirable to insert a variable "Q" section at the feed point, in order to insure accurate matching for minimum s.w.r. In the 16-element array shown in the photograph, a "Q" section having an odd number of quarterwavelengths of 300-ohm Twin-Lead is used to match the center impedance of around 200 ohms to the 450-ohm open wire line used for a 100-foot run to the operating position.

In all-metal construction it is important that the supporting structure be entirely in back of the reflector plane. This can be done readily by using the clamp method of assembly detailed in Figs. 18-11, 18-12 and 18-13. Dimensions given in Fig. 18-13 are for use with the tubing sizes given in Fig. 18-12. Suitable dimensions for other combinations can be worked out readily by making experimental clips from soft sheet copper, and using these for templates in making the clips to be used in the final assembly. When the array is completely assembled the screws holding it together should be drawn up as tightly as possible and then coated with durable lacquer or paint to prevent corrosion,

#### Long-Wire Antennas

Where long-wire systems designed for use on lower frequencies are available they may often be used on the v.h.f. bands with good results, particularly if the feed lines are not too long. "V" and rhombic antenna systems designed expressly for the v.h.f. bands are small enough in size to be used in many locations where similar arrays for lower frequencies would be out of the question. The polarization of longwire systems is normally horizontal, but in locations where they have a downward slope they may also have a considerable vertical component. Their polarization discrimination is seldom as sharp as that of systems using half-wave elements.

Information on the various types of longwire arrays will be found in an earlier chapter. At 144 Mc. and higher it is relatively easy to stack two or more "V" or rhombic arrays a half wave apart. This improves their performance considerably, but makes them essentially one-band devices.

Matching devices that permit feeding longwire antenna systems with flat lines also introduce one-band limitation, so their use is not advisable except in the case of 50 and 144 Mc., two bands that are close to third-harmonic relationship. A "Q" section that is approximately three quarter-wavelengths long at 144 Mc. is one quarter-wavelength long at 50 Mc., so if the feed impedance of the antenna system is the same for both frequencies a "Q" section about



Fig. 18-12 — Supporting framework for a 12-element 144-Mc, array of all-metal design. Dimensions are as follows: element supports (1)  $\frac{3}{4}$  by 16 inches; horizontal members (2)  $\frac{3}{4}$  by 46 inches; vertical members (3)  $\frac{3}{4}$  by 86 inches; vertical support (4)  $\frac{1}{2}$ -inch diameter, length as required; reflector-to-driven-element spacing 12 inches. Parts not shown in sketch: driven elements  $\frac{14}{4}$  by 38 inches; reflectors  $\frac{1}{4}$  by 40 inches; phasing lines No. 18 spaced 1 inch, 80 inches long, fanned out to  $\frac{3}{2}$  inches at driven elements (transpose each halfwave section).



Fig. 18-13 — Detail drawings of the clamps used to assemble the all-metal 2-meter array. A, B and C are before bending into "U" shape. The right-angle bends should be made first, along the dotted lines as shown, then the plates may be bent around a piece of pipe of the proper diameter. Sheet stock should be  $V_{66}$ -inch or heavier aluminum.

58 inches long may be used for both bands. In the case of a rhombic terminated in 800 ohms and fed with 300-ohm line, the matching section should have an impedance of about 500 ohms.

#### ARRAYS FOR 220 AND 420 MC.

The use of high-gain antenna systems is almost a necessity if work is to be done over any great distance on 220 and 420 Mc. Experimentation with antenna arrays for these frequencies is fascinating indeed, as their size is so small as to permit trying various element arrangements and feed systems with ease. Arrays for 420 Mc., particularly, are convenient for investigation and demonstration of antenna principles, as even high-gain systems may be of table-top proportions.

Any of the arrays described previously may be used on these bands, but those having large numbers of driven elements in phase are more readily adjusted for maximum effectiveness. The 12and 16-element arrays of Figs. 18-9 and 18-10 are well adapted to use on 220 or 420. Suitable dimensions may be found in Table 18-1.

A 16-element array for 220 Me. and a 24element array for 420 Me. are shown mounted back-to-back in Fig. 18-14. The 220-Me. portion follows the 16-element design already described. It is fed at the center of the system with 300-ohm tubular Twin-Lead, matched to the center impedance of the array through a "Q" section of  $\chi_{16}$ -inch tubing, spaced about  $1\frac{1}{2}$  inches center to center. This spacing was adjusted for minimum standing-wave ratio on the line.

Elements in the array shown are of  $\mathcal{I}_{16}$ -inch aluminum fuel-line tubing, which is very light in weight and easily worked. The supporting struc-

ture is dural tubing, using the clamp assembly methods of Fig. 18-12.

The 420-Mc. array uses two 12-element assemblies similar to Fig. 18-10, mounted one above the other, about one half wavelength separating the bottom of one from the top of the other. The two sets of phasing lines are joined by means of one-wavelength sections of Twin-Lead at the middle of the array. This junction, which has an impedance of around 150 ohms, is fed with 300ohm tubular Twin-Lead through an adjustable "Q." section.

Elements in the 420-Mc. array are cut from thin-walled  $\frac{1}{4}$ -inch tubing. Their supports are the  $\frac{1}{4}$ -inch stock used for the 220-Mc. elements. Slots were cut in the ends of these supports to take the elements, and a  $\frac{4}{40}$  screw was run through both pieces and drawn up tightly with a nut. The horizontal supports were fastened in holes drilled in the vertical members, and were also held in place with a  $\frac{6}{32}$  screw and nut. The small size and light weight of the  $\frac{420-Mc}{3}$  array did not require the use of clamps to make a strong assembly.

The two one-wavelength sections of 300-ohm line are  $21\frac{3}{4}$  inches long, taking the propagation factor into account. The "Q" section may be of any convenient size of tubing,  $\frac{1}{4}$  to  $\frac{1}{2}$  inch diameter. It should be made adjustable, as matching is important at this frequency. Dimensions for both arrays can be taken from Table 18-I.

#### Plane-Reflector Arrays

At 220 Me, and higher, where their dimensions become practicable, plane-reflector arrays are widely used. Except as it affects the impedance of the system, as shown in Fig. 18-15, the spacing between the driven elements and the reflecting plane is not particularly critical. Maximum gain occurs around 0.1 to 0.15 wavelength, which is also the region of lowest impedance. Highest impedance appears at about 0.3 wavelength. A plane reflector spaced 0.22 wavelength in back of the driven elements has no effect on their feed impedance. As the gain of a plane-reflector array is nearly constant at spacings from 0.1 to 0.25 wavelength, it may be seen that the spacing may be varied to achieve an impedance match.

An advantage of the plane reflector is that it may be used with two driven element systems, one on each side of the plane, providing for twoband operation, or the incorporation of horizontal and vertical polarization in a single structure. The gain of a plane-reflector array is slightly higher than that of a similar number of driven elements backed up by parasitic reflectors. It also has a broader frequency response and higher front-to-back ratio. To achieve these ends, the reflecting plane must be larger than the area of the driven elements, extending at least a quarter wavelength on all sides. Chicken wire on a wood or metal frame makes a good plane reflector. Closely-spaced wires or rods may be substituted, with the spacing between them running up to 0.1

# V.H.F. ANTENNAS



Fig. 18-14 —  $\Lambda$  24-element array for 420 Mc, and a 16-element for 220 mounted back-to-back on a single support.

wavelength without appreciable reduction in effectiveness.

#### **Corner Reflectors**

In the corner reflector two plane surfaces are set at an angle, usually between 45 and 90 degrees, with the antenna on a line bisecting this angle. Maximum gain is obtained with the antenna 0.5 wavelength from the vertex, but compromise designs can be built with closer spacings. There is no focal point, as would be the case for a parabolic reflector. Corner angles greater than 90 degrees can be used at some sacrifice in gain. At less than 90 degrees the gain increases, but the size of the reflecting sheets must be increased to realize this gain.

At a spacing of 0.5 wavelength from the vertex, the impedance of the driven element is approximately twice that of the same dipole in free space. The impedance decreases with smaller spacings and corner angles, as shown in Fig. 18-15. The gain of a corner-reflector array with a 90-degree angle, 0.5 wavelength spacing and sides 1 wavelength long is approximately 10 db. Principal advantages of the corner reflector are broad frequency response and high front-to-back ratio.

#### MISCELLANEOUS ANTENNA SYSTEMS

#### Coaxial Antennas

With the "J" antenna, radiation from the matching section and the transmission line tends to combine with the radiation from the antenna in such a way as to raise the angle of radiation. At v.h.f. the lowest possible radiation angle is essential, and the coaxial antenna shown in Fig. 18-16 was developed to eliminate feeder radiation. The center conductor of a 70-ohm concentric transmission line is extended one-quarter wave beyond the end of the line, to act as the upper half of a half-wave antenna. The lower half is provided by the quarter-wave sleeve, the upper end of which is connected to the outer conductor of the concentric line. The sleeve acts as a shield about the transmission line and very little current is induced on the outside of the line by the antenna field. The line is non-resonant, since its characteristic impedance is the same as the center impedance of the half-wave antenna. The sleeve may be made of copper or brass tubing of suitable diameter to clear the transmission line. The coaxial antenna is somewhat difficult to construct, but is superior to simpler systems in its performance at low radiation angles.





Fig. 18-15 — Feed impedance of the driven element in a corner-reflector array for corner angles of 130 (flat sheet), 90, 60 and 45 degrees. "D" is the dipole-to-vertex spacing.

# 420



#### **Broadband Antennas**

Certain types of antennas used in television are of interest because they work across a wide band of frequencies with relatively uniform response. At very-high frequencies an antenna made of small wire is purely resistive only over a very small frequency range. Its Q, and therefore its selectivity, is sufficient to limit is optimum performance to a narrow frequency range, and readjustment of the length or tuning is required for each narrow slice of the spectrum. With tuned transmission lines, the effective length of the antenna can be shifted by retuning the whole system. However, in the case of antennas fed by matched-impedance lines, any appreciable frequency change requires an actual mechanical adjustment of the system. Otherwise, the resulting mismatch with the line will be sufficient to cause significant reduction in power input to the antenna.

A properly designed and constructed wideband antenna, on the other hand, will exhibit very nearly constant input impedance over several megacycles.

The simplest method of obtaining a broadband characteristic is the use of what is termed a "cylindrical" antenna. This is no more than

# **CHAPTER 18**

a conventional doublet in which large-diameter tubing is used for the elements. The use of a relatively large diameter-to-length ratio lowers the Q of the antenna, thus broadening the resonance characteristic.

As the diameter-to-length ratio is increased, end effects also increase, with the result that the antenna must be made shorter than a thinwire antenna resonating at the same frequency. The reduction factor may be as much as 20 per cent with the tubing sizes commonly used for amateur antennas at v.h.f.

#### **Cone** Antennas

From the cylindrical antenna various specialized forms of broadly-resonant radiators have been evolved, including the ellipsoid, spheroid, cone, diamond and double diamond. Of these, the conical antenna is perhaps the most interesting. With large angles of revolution, the variation in the characteristic impedance with changes in frequency can be reduced to a very low value, making such an antenna suitable for extremely wide-band operation. The cone may be made up either of sheet metal or of multiple wire spines. A variation of this form of conical antenna is widely used in TV reception.

#### **Parabolic Reflectors**

A plane sheet may be formed into the shape of a parabolic curve and used with a driven radiator situated at its focus, to provide a highlydirective antenna system. If the parabolic reflector is sufficiently large so that the distance to the focal point is a number of wavelengths, optical conditions are approached and the wave across the mouth of the reflector is a plane wave. However, if the reflector is of the same order of dimensions as the operating wavelength, or less, the driven radiator is appreciably coupled to the reflecting sheet and minor lobes occur in the pattern. With an aperture of the order of 10 or 20 wavelengths, sizes that may be practical for microwave work, a beam-width of approximately 5 degrees may be achieved.

A reflecting paraboloid must be carefully designed and constructed to obtain ideal performance. The antenna must be located at the focal point. The most desirable focal length of the parabola is that which places the radiator along the plane of the mouth; this length is equal to one-half the mouth radius. At other focal distances interference fields may deform the pattern or cancel a sizable portion of the radiation.

# U.H.F. and Microwave Communication

In moving into the microwave region the amateur encounters marked differences in both the technical approach and the uses to which his frequency assignments may be put. Above 1000 Me. we must discard most of our conventional circuitry and antenna ideas. Coils and condensers are replaced by coaxial tank circuits and resonant cavities. Parallel-wire transmission lines give way to coaxial lines or waveguide. Parasitic arrays are abandoned in favor of parabolic reflectors or horns. And in contrast to the random operating that has been so large a part of the amateur picture on our communication frequencies, microwave work is principally a matter of point-to-point communication between two cooperating stations.

These basic differences have tended to raise a natural boundary in the region around 500 Mc., beyond which relatively few communicating amateurs have ventured. The frequencies at the high end of the spectrum have a strong appeal to the experimenter, however, and the Technician Class license was developed to provide the means whereby this type of worker may legally engage in two-way communication on frequencies above 220 Mc.

At least some anateur work has been done in all the assignments now open to our use. The work of these pioneers in adapting the frequencies above 1000 Mc. to communication purposes has been in line with the best amateur tradition, and it is hoped that the bands beginning at 1215 Mc. will see much amateur exploration in the near future. The frequencies assigned to amateurs in the microwave region are as follows: 1215 to 1300 Mc., 2300 to 2450 Mc., 3300 to 3500 Me., 5650 to 5925 Mc., 10,000 to 10,500 Me., and 21,000 to 22,000 Mc. Any frequency above 30,000 Mc. may be used. Any type of emission may be used in any of these bands, except in the ease of the lowest, where pulse transmission is prohibited.

# **U.H.F. Tank Circuits**

In resonant circuits as employed at the lower frequencies it is possible to consider each of the reactance components as a separate entity. A coil is used to provide the required inductance and a condenser is connected across it to provide the needed capacitance. The fact that the coil itself has a certain amount of self-capacitance, as well as some resistance, while the condenser also possesses a small self-inductance, can usually be disregarded.

At the very-high and ultrahigh frequencies, however, it is no longer possible to separate these components. The connecting leads which, at lower frequencies, would serve merely to join the condenser to the coil now may have more inductance than the coil itself. The required inductance coil may be no more than a single turn of wire, yet even this single turn may have dimensions comparable to a wavelength at the operating frequency. Thus the energy in the field surrounding the "coil" may in part be radiated. At a sufficiently high frequency the loss by radiation may represent a major portion of the total energy in the circuit. Since energy which cannot be utilized as intended is wasted, regardless of whether it is consumed as heat by the resistance of the wire or simply radiated into space, the effect is as though the resistance of the tuned circuit were greatly increased and its Q greatly reduced.

For this reason, it is common practice to utilize resonant sections of transmission line as tuned circuits at frequencies above 300 Mc. A quarter-wavelength line, or any odd multiple thereof, shorted at one end and open at the other, exhibits large standing waves. When a voltage of the frequency at which such a line is resonant is applied to the open end, the response is very similar to that of a parallel resonant circuit; it will have very high input impedance at resonance and a large current flowing at the short-circuited end. The input impedance may be as high as 0.4 megohm for a well-constructed line.

The action of a resonant quarter-wavelength line can be compared with that of a coil-andcondenser combination whose constants have been adjusted to resonance at a corresponding frequency. Around the point of resonance, in fact, the line will display very nearly the same characteristics as those of the tuned circuit. The equivalent relationships are shown in Fig. 19-1. At frequencies off resonance the line displays qualities comparable to the induetive and capacitive reactances of the coil-andcondenser circuit, although the exact relationships involved are somewhat different. For all practical purposes, however, sections of resonant wire or transmission line can be used in much the same manner as coils or condensers.

# 422

In circuits operating above 300 Mc., the spacing between conductors becomes an appreciable fraction of a wavelength. To keep the radiation loss as small as possible the parallel conductors should not be spaced farther apart than 10 per cent of the wavelength, center to center. On the other hand, the spacing of large-diameter conductors should not be reduced to much less twice the diameter because of what is known as the proximity effect, whereby another form of loss is introduced through eddy currents set up by the adjacent fields. Because the cancellation is no longer complete, radiation from an open line becomes so great that the Q is greatly reduced. Consequently, at these frequencies coaxial lines must be used.

#### Construction

Practical information concerning the construction of transmission lines for such specific uses as feeding antennas and as resonant circuits in radio transmitters will be found in this



line, coaxial-line and conventional resonant circuits.

and other chapters of this *Handbook*. Certain basic considerations applicable in general to resonant lines used as circuit elements may be considered here, however.

While either parallel-line or coaxial sections may be used, the latter are preferred for higherfrequency operation. Representative methods for adjusting the length of such lines to resonance are shown in Fig. 19-2. At the left, a sliding shorting disk is used to reduce the effective length of the line by altering the position of the short-circuit. In the center, the same effect is accomplished by using a telescoping tube in the end of the inner conductor to vary its length and thereby the effective length of the line. At the right, two possible methods of mounting parallel-plate condensers, used to tune a "foreshortened" line to resonance, are illustrated. The arrangement with the loading capacitor at the open end of the line has the greatest tuning effect per unit of capacitance; the alternative method, which is equivalent to "tapping" the condenser down on the line, has less effect on the Q of the circuit. Lines with capacitive "loading" of the sort illustrated will

## CHAPTER 19

be shorter, physically, than an unloaded line resonant at the same frequency.

The short-circuiting disk at the end of the line must be designed to make perfect electrical contact. The voltage is a minimum at this end of the line; therefore, it will not break down some of the thinnest insulating films. Usually a



Fig. 19-2 — Methods of tuning coaxial resonant lines.

soldered connection or a tight clamp is used to secure good contact. When the length of line must be readily adjustable, the shorting plug is provided with spring collars which make contact on the inner and outer conductors at some distance away from the shorting plug at a point where the voltage is sufficient to break down the film between the collar and conductor.

Two methods of tuning parallel-conductor lines are shown in Fig. 19-3. The sliding shortcircuiting strap can be tightened by means of screws and nuts to make good electrical contact. The parallel-plate condenser in the second drawing may be placed anywhere along the line, the tuning effect becoming less as the condenser is located nearer the shorted end of the line. Although a low-capacitance variable condenser of ordinary construction can be used, the circular-plate type shown is symmetrical and thus does not unbalance the line. It also has the further advantage that no insulating material is required.



Equivalent impedance points, for coupling or impedance-transformation purposes, are shown in Fig. 19-1 for parallel-line, coaxial-line, and conventional coil-and-condenser circuits.

#### Lumped-Constant Circuits

At the very-high frequencies the low values of L and C required make ordinary coils and condensers impracticable, while linear circuits offer mechanical difficulties in making tuning adjustments over a wide frequency range, and radiation from unshielded lines may reduce their effectiveness materially.

To overcome these difficulties, special high-Q

#### **U.H.F. AND MICROWAVE COMMUNICATION** 423

lumped-constant circuits have been developed in which connections from the "condenser" to the "coil" are an inherent part of the structure. Integral design minimizes both resistance and inductance and increases the C/L ratio.

The simplest of these circuits is based on the use of disks combining half-turn inductance loops with semicircular condenser plates. By connecting several of these half-turn coils in parallel, the effective inductance is reduced to a value appreciably below that for a single turn. Tuning is accomplished by interleaving grounded rotor plates between the turns. Both by shielding action and short-circuited-turn effect, these further reduce the inductance.

Another type of high-C circuit is a singleturn toroid, commonly termed the "hat" resonator. Two copper shells with wide, flat "brims" are mounted facing each other on an axially-aligned copper rod. The capacitance in the circuit is that between the wide shells, while the central rod comprises the inductance.

#### "Butterfly" Circuits

The tank circuits described in the preceding section are primarily fixed-frequency devices. The "butterfly" circuits shown in Fig. 19-4 are capable of being tuned over an exceptionally wide range, while still having high Q and reasonable physical dimensions. The circuit at A is derived from a conventional balanced-type variable condenser. The inductance is in the wide circular band connecting the stator plates. At its minimum setting the rotor plate fills the opening of the loop, reducing the inductance to a minimum. Connections are made to points 1 and 2. This basic structure eliminates all connecting leads and avoids all sliding or wiping electrical contacts to a rotating member. A disadvantage is that the electrical midpoint shifts from point 3 to point 3' as the rotor is turned. Constant magnetic coupling may be obtained by a coupling loop located at point 4, however.

In the modification shown at D, two sectoral stators are spaced 180 degrees, thereby achiev-

# Wave Guides and Cavity Resonators

A wave guide is a conducting tube through which energy is transmitted in the form of electromagnetic waves. The tube is not considered as carrying a current in the same sense that the wires of a two-conductor line do, but rather as a boundary which confines the waves to the enclosed space. Skin effect prevents any electromagnetic effects from being evident outside the guide. The energy is injected at one end. either through capacitive or inductive coupling or by radiation, and is received at the other end. The wave guide then merely confines the energy of the fields, which are propagated through it to the receiving end by means of reflections against its inner walls.

The difficulty of visualizing energy transfer without the usual closed circuit can be relieved somewhat by considering the guide as being evolved from an ordinary two-conductor line.



Fig. 19-4 - "Butterfly" tank circuits for v.h.f., showing front and cross-section views and the equivalent circuit.

ing the electrical symmetry required to permit tapping for balanced operation. Connections to the circuit should be made at points 1 and 2 and it may be tapped at points 3 and 3', which are the electrical midpoints. Where magnetic coupling is employed, points 4 and 4' are suitable locations for coupling links.

The capacitance of any butterfly circuit may be computed by the standard formula for parallel-plate condensers given in the data chapter. The maximum inductance can be obtained approximately by finding the inductance of a full ring of the same diameter and multiplying the result by a factor of 0.17. The ratio of minimum to maximum inductance varies between 1.5 and 4 with conventional construction.

Any number of butterfly sections may be connected in parallel. In practice, units of four to eight plates prove most satisfactory. The ring and stator sections may either be made in a single piece or with separate sectoral stator plates and spacing rings assembled with machine screws.

In Fig. 19-5A, several closed quarter-wave stubs are shown connected in parallel across a two-wire transmission line. Since the open end of each stub is equivalent to an open circuit, the line impedance is not affected by their presence. Enough stubs may be added to form a "U"shaped rectangular tube with solid walls, as at B, and another identical "U"-shaped tube may be added edge-to-edge to form the rectangular pipe shown in Fig. 19-5C. As before, the line impedance still will not be affected. But now, instead of a two-wire transmission line, the energy is being conducted within a hollow rectangular tube.

This analogy to wave-guide operation is not exact, and therefore should not be taken too literally. In the evolution from the two-wire line to the closed tube the electric- and magnetic-field configurations undergo considerable



Fig. 19-5 - Evolution of a wave guide from a two-wire transmission line.

change, with the result that the guide does not actually operate like a two-conductor line shunted by an infinite number of quarter-wave stubs. If it did, only waves of the proper length to correspond to the stubs would be propagated through the tube, but the fact is that such waves do not pass through the guide. Only waves of shorter length — that is, higher frequency — can go through. The distance xrepresents half the *cut-off wavelength*, or the shortest wavelength that is unable to go through the guide. Or, to put it another way, waves of length equal to or greater than 2xcannot be propagated in the guide.

A second point of difference is that the apparent length of a wave along the direction of propagation through a guide always is greater than that of a wave of the same frequency in free space, whereas the wavelength along a two-conductor transmission line is the same as the free-space wavelength (when the insulation between the wires is air).

#### **Operating Principles of Wave Guides**

Analysis of wave-guide operation is based on the assumption that the guide material is a perfect conductor of electricity. Typical dis-



Fig. 19-6 — Field distribution in a rectangular wave guide. The  $TE_{1,0}$  mode of propagation is depicted.

## **CHAPTER 19**

tributions of electric and magnetic fields in a rectangular guide are shown in Fig. 19-6. It will be observed that the intensity of the electric field is greatest at the center along to zero at the end walls. The latter is a necessary condition, since the existence of any elec-

tric field parallel to the walls at the surface would cause an infinite current to flow in a perfect conductor. This represents an impossible situation.

Zero electric field at the end walls will result if the wave is considered to consist of two separate waves moving in zigzag fashion down the guide, reflected back and forth from the end walls as shown in Fig. 19-7. Just at the walls, the positive crest of one wave meets the negative crest of the other, giving complete cancellation of the electric fields. The angle of



Fig. 19.7 — Reflection of two component waves in a rectangular guide,  $\lambda =$  wavelength in space,  $\lambda g =$  wavelength in guide. Direction of wave motion is perpendicular to the wave front (crests) as shown by the arrows.

reflection at which this cancellation occurs depends upon the width x of the guide and the length of the waves; Fig. 19-7A illustrates the case of a wave considerably shorter than the cut-off wavelength, while B shows a longer wave. When the wavelength equals the cut-off value, the two waves simply bounce back and forth between the walls and no energy is transmitted through the guide.

The two waves travel with the speed of light, but since they do not travel in a straight line the energy does not travel through the guide as rapidly as it does in space. A further consequence of the repeated reflections is that the points of maximum intensity or wave crests are separated more along the line of propagation in the guide than they are in the two separate waves. In other words, the wavelength in the guide is greater than the free-space wavelength. This is also shown in Fig. 19-7.

#### Modes of Propagation

Fig. 19-6 represents a relatively simple distribution of the electric and magnetic fields. There is in general an infinite number of ways in which the fields can arrange themselves in a guide so long as there is no upper limit to the

# U.H.F. AND MICROWAVE COMMUNICATION 425

frequency to be transmitted. Each field configuration is called a mode. All modes may be separated into two general groups. One group, designated TM (transverse magnetic), has the magnetic field entirely transverse to the direction of propagation, but has a component of electric field in that direction. The other type, designated TE (transverse electric) has the electric field entirely transverse, but has a component of magnetic field in the direction of propagation. TM waves are sometimes called E waves, and TE waves are sometimes called H waves, but the TM and TE designations are preferred.

The particular mode of transmission is identified by the group letters followed by two subscript numerals; for example,  $TE_{1,0}$ ,  $TM_{1,1}$ , etc. The number of possible modes increases with frequency for a given size of guide. There is only one possible mode (called the *dominant* mode) for the lowest frequency that can be transmitted. The dominant mode is the one generally used in practical work.

#### Wave-Guide Dimensions

In the rectangular guide the critical dimension is x in Fig. 19-5; this dimension must be more than one-half wavelength at the lowest frequency to be transmitted. In practice, the y dimension usually is made about equal to  $\frac{1}{2}x$ to avoid the possibility of operation at other than the dominant mode.

Other cross-sectional shapes than the rectangle can be used, the most important being the circular pipe. Much the same considerations apply as in the rectangular case.

Wavelength formulas for rectangular and circular guides are given in the following table, where x is the width of a rectangular guide and r is the radius of a circular guide. All figures are in terms of the dominant mode.

Cut-off wavelength Longest wavelength trans		Circular 3.41r
mitted with little atten uation Shortest wavelength befor	- . 1.6 <i>x</i> e	3.2r
next mode becomes pos sible		2.8r

#### **Cavity Resonators**

At low and medium radio frequencies resonant circuits usually are composed of "lumped" constants of L and C; that is, the inductance is concentrated in a coil and the capacitance concentrated in a condenser. However, as the frequency is increased, coils and condensers must be reduced to impracticably small physical dimensions. Up to a certain point this difficulty may be overcome by using linear circuits but even these fail at extremely high frequencies. Another kind of circuit particularly applicable at wavelengths of the order of centimeters is the cavity resonator, which may be looked upon as a section of a wave guide with the dimensions chosen so that waves of a given length can be maintained inside.

The derivation of one type of cavity resonator from an ordinary LC circuit is shown in Fig. 19-8. As in the case of the wave-guide derivation, this picture must be accepted with some reservations, and for the same reasons.

Considering that even a straight piece of wire has appreciable inductance at very-high frequencies, it may be seen in Fig. 19-8A and B that a direct short across a two-plate condenser with air dielectric is the equivalent of a tuned circuit with a typical coiled inductance. With two wires between the plates, as shown in Fig. 19-8C, the circuit may be thought of







Fig. 19-8 — Steps in the derivation of a cavity resonator from a conventional coil-and-condenser tuned circuit.

as a resonant-line section. For d.c. or even low frequency r.f., this line would appear as a short across the two condenser plates. At the ultrahigh frequencies, however, such a section of line a quarter wavelength long would appear as an open circuit when viewed from one of the plates with respect to the other end of the section.

Increasing the number of parallel wires between the plates of the condenser would have no effect on the equivalent circuit, as shown at D. Eventually, the closed figure at E will be developed. Since each wire which is added in D is like connecting inductances in parallel, the total inductance across the condenser becomes increasingly smaller as the solid form is approached, and the resonant frequency of the figure therefore becomes higher.

If energy now is introduced into the cavity in a manner such as that shown at F, the circuit will respond like any equivalent coil-condenser tank circuit at its resonant frequency. A cavity resonator may therefore be used as a u.h.f. tuning element, along with a vacuum tube of suitable design, to form the main components of an oscillator circuit which will be capable of functioning at frequencies considerably beyond the maximum limits possible when conventional tubes, coils and condensers are employed.

Other shapes than the cylinder may be used as resonators, among them the rectangular box, the sphere, and the sphere with re-entrant cones, as shown in Fig. 19-9. The resonant frequency depends upon the dimensions of the cavity and the mode of oscillation of the waves (comparable to the transmission modes in a wave guide). For the lowest modes the resonant wavelengths are as follows:

Cylinder	2.61r
Square box	1.411
Sphere	
Sphere with re-entrant cones	4r

The resonant wavelengths of the cylinder and square box are independent of the height when the height is less than a half-wavelength. In other modes of oscillation the height must be a multiple of a half-wavelength as measured inside the cavity. Fig. 19-8F shows how a cylindrical cavity can be tuned when operating in such a mode. Other tuning methods include placing adjustable tuning paddles or "slugs" inside the cavity so that the standing-wave pattern of the electric and magnetic fields can be varied.



A form of eavity resonator in wide practical use is the re-entrant cylindrical type shown in Fig. 19-10. It is useful in connection with vacuum-tube oscillators of the types described for u.h.f. use elsewhere in this chapter. In construction it resembles a concentric line closed at both ends with capacitance loading at the top, but the actual mode of oscillation may differ considerably from that occurring in coaxial lines. The resonant frequency of such a cavity depends upon the diameters of the two cylinders and the distance d between the ends of the inner and outer cylinders.





Fig. 19-10 - Re-entrant cylindrical eavity resonator.

Compared to ordinary resonant circuits, cavity resonators have extremely-high Q. A value of Q of the order of 1000 or more is readily obtainable, and Q values of several thousand can readily be secured with good design and construction.

#### Coupling to Wave Guides and Cavity Resonators

Energy may be introduced into or abstracted from a wave guide or resonator by means of either the electric or magnetic field. The energy transfer frequently is through a coaxial line, two methods for eoupling to which are shown in Fig. 19-11. The probe shown at A is simply a short extension of the inner conductor of the coaxial line, so oriented that it is parallel to the electric lines of force. The loop shown at B is arranged so that it encloses some of the magnetic lines of force. The point at which maximum coupling will be secured depends upon the particular mode of propagation in the guide or cavity; the coupling will be maximum when the coupling device is in the most intense field.

Coupling can be varied by turning either the probe or loop through a 90-degree angle. When the probe is perpendicular to the electric lines the coupling will be minimum; similarly, when the plane of the loop is parallel to the magnetic lines the coupling will have its least possible value.



Fig. 19-11 - Coupling to wave guides and resonators.

# U.H.F. and Microwave Tubes

At ultra-high frequencies, interelectrode capacitance and the inductance of internal leads determine the highest possible frequency to which a vacuum tube can be tuned. The tube usually will not oscillate up to this limit, however, because of dielectric losses, grid emission, and "transit-time" effects. In low-frequency operation, the actual time of flight of electrons between the cathode and the anode is negligible in relation to the duration of the cycle. At 1000 kc., for example, transit time of 0.001 microseeond, which is typical of conventional tubes, is only 1/1000 cycle. But at 100 Mc., this same transit time represents 1/10 of a cycle, and a full cycle at 1000 Mc. These limiting factors establish about 3000 Mc. as the upper frequency limit for negative-grid tubes.

With most tubes of conventional design, the upper limit of useful operation is around 150 Mc. For higher frequencies tubes of special construction are required. The "acorn" and "doorknob" types have been available for many years, these being useful up to 500 Mc. or more in special circuits. Newer miniature types, developed for use in u.h.f. television receivers, now provide good performance up to nearly 1000 Mc.

# U.H.F. AND MICROWAVE COMMUNICATION 427

Very low interelectrode capacitance and lead inductance have been achieved in the newer tubes of modified construction. In some types the electrodes are provided with up to five separate leads which, when connected in parallel, have considerably-reduced effective inductance. In double-lead types the plate and grid elements are supported by heavy single wires which run entirely through the envelope, providing terminals at either end of the bulb. When a resonant circuit is connected to each pair of leads, the shunting capacitance divides between the two circuits. With linear circuits the leads become a part of the line and have distributed rather than lumped constants. Radiation loss is minimized and the effect of the transit time is reduced. In "lighthouse" tubes or megatrons the plate, grid and cathode are assembled in parallel planes, as shown in Fig. 19-12, instead of coaxially. The uniform coplanar electrode design and diskseal terminals permit low interelectrode capacitance.

#### Velocity Modulation

In negative-grid operation the potential on the grid tends to reduce the electron velocity during the more negative half of the oscillation cycle, while on the other half-cycle the positive potential on the grid serves to accelerate them. Thus the electrons tend to separate into groups, those leaving the cathode during the negative half-eycle being collectively slowed down, while those leaving on the positive half are accelerated. After passing into the grid-plate space only a part of the electron stream follows the original form of the oscillation cycle, the remainder traveling to the plate at differing velocities. Since these contribute nothing to the power output at the operating frequency, the efficiency is reduced in direct proportion to the variation in velocity, the output reaching a value of zero when the transit time approaches a half-cycle.

This effect, such a disadvantage in conventional tubes, is an advantage in velocity-modulated tubes in that the input signal voltage on the grid is used to change the velocity of the electrons in a constant-current electron beam,



Fig. 19-12 — Sectional view of the "lighthouse" tube's construction. Close electrode spacing reduces transit time while the disk electrode connections reduce lead inductance. rather than to vary the intensity of a constant-velocity current flow as is the method in ordinary tubes.

A simple form of velocity-modulation oscillator tube is shown in Fig. 19-13. Electrons emitted from the cathode are



Fig. 19-13 — Simple form of cylindrical-grid velocitymodulated tube with retarding-field collector and coavial-line output circuit, used as a superheterodyne high-frequency oscillator or as a superregenerative detector. Similar tubes can also be used as r.f. amplifiers and frequency converters in the 5-50-em. region.

accelerated through a negatively-biased cylindrical grid by a constant positive voltage applied to a sleeve electrode, shown in heavy lines. This electrode, which is the velocity-modulation control grid, consists of two hollow tubes, with a small space at each end between the inner tube, through which the electron beam passes, and the disks at the ends of the larger tube portion. With r.f. voltage applied across these gaps, which are small compared to the distance traveled by the electrons in one half-cycle, electrons entering the tube will be accelerated on positive half-cycles and decelerated on the negative half-cycles. The length of the tube is made equal to the distance covered by the electrons in one-half cycle, so that the electrons will be further accelerated or decelerated as they leave the tube.

As the beam approaches the collector electrode, which is at nearly zero potential, the electrons are retarded, brought to rest, and ultimately turned back by the attraction of the positive sleeve electrode. The collector electrode is, therefore, also termed a *reflector*. The point at which electrons are returned depends on their velocity. Thus the velocity modulation is again translated into current modulation.

Velocity-modulated tubes operate satisfactorily up to 6000 Mc. (5 cm.) and higher, with outputs of 100 watts or more.

#### The Klystron

In the klystron velocity-modulated tube, the electrons emitted by the cathode are accelerated or retarded during their passage through an electric field established by two grids in a cavity resonator, or *rhumbatron*, called the "buncher." The high-frequency electric field between the grids is parallel to the electron stream. This field accelerates the electrons at one moment and retards them at another, in accordance with the variations of the r.f. voltage applied. The resulting velocity-modulated beam travels through a field-free "drift space," where the slowly-moving electrons are gradually overtaken by the faster ones. The electrons emerging from the pair of grids therefore are separated into groups or bunched along the direction of motion. The velocity-modulated electron stream is passed to a "catcher" rhumbatron. Again the beam passes through two parallel grids: the r.f. eurrent created by the bunching of the electron beam induces an r.f. voltage between the grids. The catcher cavity is made resonant at the frequency of the velocity-modulated electron beam, so that an oscillating field is set up within it by the passage of the electron bunches through the grid aperture.

If a feed-back loop is provided between the two rhumbatrons, as shown in Fig. 19-14, oscillations will occur. The resonant frequency depends on the electrode voltages and on the shape of the cavities, and may be adjusted by varying the supply voltage and altering the dimensions of the rhumbatrons. The bunched beam current is rich in harmonics, but the output waveform is remarkably pure because the high Q of the catcher rhumbatron suppresses the unwanted harmonics.

#### Magnetrons

A magnetron is fundamentally a diode with cylindrical electrodes placed in a uniform magnetic field with the lines of electromagnetic force parallel to the elements. The simple cylindrical magnetron consists of a filamentary cathode surrounded by a concentric cylindrical anode. In the more efficient split-anode magnetron the cylinder is divided longitudinally.

Magnetron oscillators are operated in two different ways. Electrically the circuits are similar, the difference being in the relation between electron transit time and the frequency of oscillation.

In the negative-resistance or dynatron type



Fig. 19-14 — Circuit diagram of the klystron oscillator, showing the feed-back loop coupling the frequency-controlling rhumbatrons and the output loop in the catcher.

# **CHAPTER 19**

of magnetron oscillator, the element dimensions and anode voltage are such that the transit time is short compared with the period of the oscillation frequency. Electrons emitted from the cathode are driven toward both halves of the anode. If the potentials of the two halves are unequal, the effect of the magnetic field is such that the majority of the electrons



Fig. 19-15 — Conventional magnetrons, with equivalent schematic symbols at the right. A, simple cylindrical magnetron. B, split-anodenegative-resistance magnetron.

travel to that half of the anode that is at the lower potential. In other words, a *decrease* in the potential of either half of the anode results in an *increase* in the electron current flowing to that half. The magnetron consequently exhibits negative-resistance characteristics. Negative-resistance magnetron oscillators are useful between 100 and 1000 Mc. Under the best operating conditions efficiencies of 20 to 25 per cent may be obtained. Since the power loss in the tube appears as heat in the anode, where it is readily dissipated, relatively large power-handling capacity can be obtained.

In the transit-time magnetron the frequency is determined primarily by its dimensions and by the electric and magnetic field intensities rather than by the tuning of the tank circuits. The efficiency is much better than that of a positive-grid oscillator and good power output can be obtained even on the superhighs.

In a nonoscillating magnetron with a weak magnetic field, electrons traveling from the cathode to the anode move almost radially, their trajectories being bent only slightly by the magnetic field. With increased magnetic field the electrons tend to spiral around the filament, their radial component of velocity being much smaller than the angular component. Under critical conditions of magnetic field strength, a cloud of electrons rotates about the filament. It extends up to the anode but does not actually reach it.

The nature of these electron trajectories is shown in Fig. 19-16. Cases A, B and C correspond to the nonoscillating condition. For a small magnetic field (A) the trajectory is bent slightly near the anode. This bending increases for a higher magnetic field (B) and the electron moves through quite a large angle near the anode before reaching it, signifying a large increase of space charge near the anode. For a

# U.H.F. AND MICROWAVE COMMUNICATION 429

strong magnetie field (C) electrons start radially from the cathode but are soon bent and curl about the filament in the form of a long spiral before reaching the anode. This means a very long transit time and a very large space charge in the whole region where the spiraling takes place. Under critical conditions (D), no current flows to the anode and no electron is able to move from cathode to anode, but a large space charge still exists between the eathode and anode. The spiraling becomes a set of concentric circles, and the entire space-charge distribution rotates about the filament.



Fig. 19-16 — Electron trajectories for increasing values of magnetic field strength, H. Below is shown the corresponding curve of plate current,  $I_{\rm ab}$ . Oscillations commence when H reaches a critical value,  $H_{\rm ct}$ ; progressively higher-order modes of oscillation occur beyond this point.

Fig. 19-16E, F and G depicts higher-order (harmonic-type) modes of operation in which the space charge oscillates not only symmetrically but in transverse directions contrasting to the vibrations of the fundamental.

In a transit-time magnetron oscillator the intensity of the magnetic field is adjusted so that, under static conditions, electrons leaving the cathode move in curved paths which just fail to reach the anode. All electrons are therefore deflected back to the cathode, and the anode current is zero. When an alternating voltage is applied between the two halves of the anode, causing the potentials of these halves to vary about their average positive values, the conditions in the tube become analogous to those in a positive-grid oscillator. If the period of the alternating voltage is made equal to the time required for an electron to make one complete rotation in the magnetic field, the a.c. component of the anode voltage reverses direction twice with each electron rotation. Some electrons will lose energy to the electric field, with the result that they are unable to reach the cathode and continue to rotate about it. Meanwhile other electrons gain energy from the field and are returned to the cathode.



Since those electrons that lose energy remain in the interelectrode space longer than those that gain energy, the net effect is a transfer of energy from the electrons to the electric field. This energy can be applied to sustain oscillations in a resonant transmission line connected between the two halves of the anode.

Split-anode magnetrons for u.h.f. are constructed with a cavity resonator built into the tube structure, as illustrated in Fig. 19-17. The assembly is a solid block of copper which assists in heat dissipation. At extremely high frequencies operation is improved by subdividing the anode structure into from 4 to 16 or more segments, the resonant cavities for each anode coupled by slots of critical dimensions to the common eathode region, as in Fig. 19-18.

The efficiency of multisegment magnetrons reaches 65 or 70 per cent. Slotted-anode magnetrons with four segments function up to 30,000 Mc. (1 cm.), delivering up to 100 watts at efficiencies greater than 50 per cent. Using larger multiples of anodes and higher-order modes, performance can be attained at 0.2 cm.



#### Traveling-Wave Tubes

Gain as high as 23 db. over a bandwidth of 800 Mc. at a center frequency of 3000 Mc. has been obtained through the use of a fairly-simple traveling-wave amplifier tube. Shown schematically in Fig. 19-19, the circuit consists of a helix, down which an electromagnetic wave travels. An electron beam is shot through the helix parallel to its axis, and in the direction of propagation of the wave. When the electron velocity is about the same as the wave velocity in the absence of the electrons, turning on the electron beam causes a power gain for wave propagation in the direction of the electron motion.



The portions of Fig. 19-19 marked "input" and "output" are wave-guide sections to which the ends of the helix are coupled. In practice two electromagnetic focusing coils are used, one forming a lens at the electron gun end, and the other **CHAPTER 19** 

# **Amateur Microwave Technique**

All the bands that have been assigned to amateurs in the microwave region have been used for experimental two-way communication. Complete descriptions of suitable equipment for all these bands is beyond the scope of this text, but examples of the techniques employed are shown below. Reference is made to various articles that have appeared in *QST*, describing microwave gear used by amateurs, for those who wish more details.

#### 1215 Mc.

In this band it is possible to use a few moreor-less conventional triodes with linear circuits, though great care must be used in designing such layouts, and the efficiency will be very low. A transmitter for 1215 Me., designed and built by W3MLN and W3HFW, is shown in Figs. 19-20 - 19-22. It uses a 703A doorknob triode, completely shielded, with the antenna as an integral part of the assembly. The tube is mounted at the end of a halfwave line. Output is capacitively coupled to the folded quarter-wave antenna by means of a probe mounted alongside the plate line.

It should be emphasized that complete shielding of the oscillating circuit (including the tube elements) is absolutely necessary. The circuit will not oscillate at all if the shield is removed from the grid and plate rods, and only very weakly if the tube shield is not in place. Output is only about one watt, with an input of 80 ma, at 350



Fig. 19-20 — An oscillator and antenna system for 1215 Me., built as one unit. (W3HFW = W3MLN)

The most valuable feature of the travelingwave tube is its great bandwidth. The gain is high, though the efficiency is rather low. Typical power output is of the order of 200 milliwatts.

a solenoid running the length of the helix,

volts, but two of these units have been used to communicate over distances up to 12 miles or so with S9 signals. The equipment is described in detail by the designers in QST for April, 1948, page 16.



Fig. 19-21 — Schematic diagram of the 1215-Mc. oscillator.

Lighthouse tubes in suitably designed circuits are more efficient at this frequency. For best results cavities should be used, though trough-line and flat-plate circuits have been used.

Parabolic reflectors are usually employed for this and higher frequencies. It is desirable to make the transmitter or receiver an integral part of the antenna system if possible. If this cannot be done, coaxial line of the shortest usable length may be used. Air-insulated line is preferred to the flexible polyethylene-insulated variety, because of the higher losses in the latter.

#### 2300 Mc.

Most of the work on 2300 Mc, has been done with lighthouse tubes in cavity oscillators, though some of the klystron types such as the 707B have been used. Cavities for this frequency may be a quarter wavelength, half wavelength or three-quarter wavelength long.

Details of a half-wave cavity oscillator using a 2C40 lighthouse tube are shown in Figs. 19-22 and 19-23. This oscillator was designed and built by W2RMA. It may be duplicated by any worker who has access to a few metal-working tools.

The main body of the cavity is 1-inch brass pipe, silver plated. The end that fits over the tube is cut out to an inside diameter of  $1\frac{1}{232}$  inch, the
# U.H.F. AND MICROWAVE COMMUNICATION 431





Fig. 19-22 — Detail drawing of the 703  $\Lambda$  -oscillator for 1215 Me.

only lathe work required. This end is also sawed crosswise at several points so that it may be clamped tightly to the tube with a brass strap, as seen in the photograph. Plate voltage is fed into the cavity through a feed-through capacitor mounted on the side of the tubing, and power is coupled out by means of a capacity probe and coaxial fitting at the hot end. The cavity is tuned with a screw mounted in the end, providing a variable capacitance to the anode post.

Output, with a 250-volt supply, will be 50 to 250 milliwatts. This seemingly small amount of power may be made to do very well with the antenna gain that is possible at this frequency with a parabolic reflector of reasonable dimensions. Gear for 2300 Me, is described in *QST* for July, 1946, page 32, August, 1947, page 128, and February, 1948, page 11.

### 3300 Mc.

Lighthouse oscillators may be used on this frequency, but it is close to the top limit of their capabilities, so better results are obtainable with the klystron types. An advantage of the latter is that the frequency of oscillation may be varied over an appreciable range by changing the reflector voltage. This characteristic is also useful in providing a convenient means of obtaining frequency modulation. This sensitivity to voltage changes makes it desirable to use a regulated hum-free supply.

On this and higher frequencies a convenient system for two-way work is the use of a klystron as both transmitting oscillator and as a local oscillator for receiving. A crystal mixer is used in this case, its output being fed into a receiver serving as the i.f. system. If the receiver so used is capable of f.m. detection it is only necessary to modulate the klystron reflector voltage to provide f.m. communication of good quality. The oscillators of the two stations in communication are then operated on frequencies differing by the value of the intermediate frequency selected. A single antenna system is used for both transmitting and receiving, and no change-over arrangement is needed.

### 5650 Mc.

Amateur work in this range has been done largely with reflex klystrons, two types of which (2K43 and 2K44) are capable of operation within our band. The one-tube system described above may be used for each station, or of course separate tubes may be used for transmitter and local oscillator. In the latter case two antenna systems are required, but the transmitter efficiency is somewhat higher as some power is dissipated across the crystal in the one-tube arrangement.

Frequency modulation of klystrons is more practical than amplitude modulation. Modulation of the repellor voltage requires no audio power, as there is no current drawn by this tube element. A carbon microphone and a microphone transformer, with the repellor voltage fed through the secondary, will handle the audio requirements nicely.

The first two-way microwave communication in amateur history was carried out in this way by A. E. Harrison, W6BMS/2, and R. E. Merchant, W2LGF, who operated in the temporary 5300-Mc. band. Their equipment, described in QSTfor January, 1946, page 19, will also work in the present band.

### 10,000 Mc.

The 723A/B reflex klystron, available at low cost for some time on the surplus market, provided amateurs with a convenient and inexpensive means of operation on 10,000 Mc. As manufactured, the tube will not ordinarily operate in the amateur band without modification.

Like other tubes of the reflex klystron variety, the frequency of oscillation is varied by warping the built-in cavity. It is used with a modified octal socket, with pin No. 4 removed and the



Fig. 19-23 — A half-wave cavity oscillator for 2300 Me. (W2RMA)

World Radio History



Fig. 19-24 — Mechanical details of the 2300-Mc. lighthouse oscillator.

hole enlarged to pass the coaxial line that is part of the tube. This line is terminated in an "antenna" which is ordinarily used to transfer power to a waveguide.

Two vertical struts are provided for tuning, one of which is already variable by means of a stud, which spreads or contracts the flexible strut on the right side, compressing or stretching

# **CHAPTER 19**

the bellows, lowering or raising the frequency respectively.

The upper limit of frequency range, reached by rotating the tuning stud, will seldom be within the amateur band, hence it is necessary to perform the following operation. It may be seen that the top of the cavity is held in a fixed position on the strut on the side of the tube by two small nuts which, after having been tightened, have been spot-welded to each other. The spot weld should be filed away until each nut can be moved freely on the threaded stud. Next, the position of these nuts should be adjusted very carefully, to raise the top of the cavity as was done on the other side. Extreme care should be used in this operation, as excessive stretching of the bellows may break some of the seals and render the tube inoperative. It is advisable to move the lower nut only until a firm resistance is felt. The operating frequency should then be checked, and if it is still below the limit of the band another tube should be tried, as any further attempt to raise the frequency will almost certainly ruin the tube,

Equipment for use on 10,000 Mc. is described in detail in QST for February, 1947, page 58.

### 21,000 Mc.

Operation in this frequency, and in the unassigned region above 30,000 Mc. is still highly experimental in nature. Only once has the 21,000-Mc. band been used for amateur two-way communication. This was accomplished under laboratory conditions by two engineers whose speeialty is development work in this field. Their work is detailed in QST for August, 1946, page 19. Type Z-668 reflex klystrons were used, with horn and parabolic antenna systems, to work two-way over a distance of 800 feet.

# **Mobile Equipment**

The amateur who goes in for mobile operation will find plenty of room for exercising his individuality and developing original ideas in equipment. Each installation has its special problems to be solved.

Most mobile receiving systems are designed around the use of a h.f. converter working into a standard car broadcast receiver tuned to 1500 kc. which serves as the i.f. and audio amplifiers. The car receiver is modified to take a noise limiter and provide power for the converter.

While a few mobile transmitters may run an input to the final amplifier as high as 100 watts or more, an input of about 30 watts normally is considered the practical limit unless the car is equipped with a special battery-charging system. The majority of mobile operators use 'phone.

In contemplating a mobile installation, the car should be studied carefully to determine the most suitable spots for mounting the equipment. Then the various units should be built in a form that will make best use of that space. The location of the converter should have first consideration. It should be placed where the controls can be operated conveniently without distracting attention from the wheel. The following list suggests spots that may be found suitable, depending upon the individual car.

On top of the instrument panel

Attached to the steering post

Under the instrument panel

- In a unit made to fit between the lower lip of the instrument panel and the floor at the center of the car
- On the left-hand door panel (detachable when not in use)

Under the left-hand front seat

In the motor compartment (controls extended through the instrument panel)

The transmitter power control can be placed close to the receiver position, or included in the converter unit. This control normally operates relays, rather than to switch

Electrical-noise interference to reception in a car may arise from several different sources. As examples, trouble may be experienced with ignition noise, generator and voltage-regulator hash, or wheel and tire static.

A noise limiter added to the car b.c. receiver will go far in reducing some types, especially ignition noise from passing cars as well as your own. But for the satisfactory reception of weaker signals, some investigation and treatthe power circuit directly. This permits a minimum length of heavy-current battery circuit. Frequency within any of the 'phone bands sometimes is changed remotely by means of a stepping-switch system that switches crystals. In most cases, however, it is necessary to stop the car to make the several changes required in changing bands.

Depending upon the size of the transmitter unit, one of the following places may be found convenient for mounting the transmitter:

In the glove compartment

Under the instrument panel

In a unit in combination with or without the converter, built to fit between the lower edge of the instrument panel and the floor at the center

Under the right-hand or left-hand front seat On the ledge above the rear seat

Fastened to the back of the front seat

In the trunk

In the motor compartment

Most mobile antennas consist of a vertical whip with some system of adjustable loading for the lower frequencies. Power supplies are of the vibrator-transformer-rectifier or motor-generator type operating from the car storage battery.

Units intended for use in mobile installations should be assembled with greater than ordinary care, since they will be subject to considerable vibration. Soldered joints should be well made and wire wrap-arounds should be used to avoid dependence upon the solder for mechanical strength. Self-tapping screws should be used wherever feasible, otherwise lock-washers should be provided. Any shafts that are normally operated at a permanent or semi-permanent setting should be provided with shaft locks so they cannot jar out of adjustment. Where wires pass through metal, the holes should be fitted with rubber grommets to prevent chafing. Any cabling or wiring between units should be securely elamped in place where it cannot work loose to interfere with the operation of the car.

# **Noise Elimination**

ment of the car's electrical system will be necessary.

### **Ignition Interference**

Fig. 20-1 indicates the measures that may be taken to suppress ignition interference. The condenser at the primary of the ignition coil should be of the coaxial type; ordinary types are not effective. It should be placed as close to the coil terminal as possible. In stubborn cases, two



of these condensers with an r.f. choke between them may provide additional suppression. The size of the choke must be determined experimentally. The winding should be made with wire heavy enough to carry the coil primary current. A 10,000-ohm suppressor resistor should be inserted at the center tower of the distributor, a 5000-ohm suppressor at each spark-plug tower on the distributor, and a 10,000 ohm suppressor at each spark plug. The latter may be built-in or external. A good suppressor element should be molded of material having low capacitance. Erie type L7VR-10ME and L7VR-5ME are satisfactory. In extreme cases, it may be necessary to use shielded ignition wire. The 1951 Pontiae car was equipped with suppressor ignition wires, the resistance being distributed throughout the length of the wire. This is somewhat superior to lumped resistance and may be used if the lead lengths are right to fit your car. They should not be cut, but used as they are sold

### Generator Noise

Generator hash is caused by sparking at the commutator. The pitch of the noise varies with the speed of the motor. This type of noise may be eliminated by using a 0.1- to 0.25-µfd. coaxial condenser in the generator armature circuit. This condenser should be mounted as near the armature terminal as possible and directly



Fig. 20-2 — The right way to install by-passes to reduce interference from the regulator. A condenser should never be connected across the generator field lead without the small series resistor indicated.

# **CHAPTER 20**

on the frame of the generator.

To reduce the noise at 28 Mc., it may be necessary to insert a parallel trap, tuned to the middle of the band, in series with the generator output lead. The coil should have about 8 turns of No. 10 wire, space-wound on a 1-inch diameter and should be shunted with a  $30-\mu\mu$ fd. mica trimmer. It can be pretuned by putting it in the antenna lead to the home-station receiver tuned to the middle of the band. and adjusting the trap to the point of minimum noise. The tuning may need to be peaked up after installing in the car, since it is fairly critical.

### Voltage-Regulator Interference

In eliminating voltage-regulator noise, the use of two coaxial condensers, and a resistormica-condenser combination, as shown in Fig. 20-2, are effective. A 0.1- to 0.25-µfd. coaxial condenser should be placed between the battery terminal of the regulator and the battery, with its case well grounded. Another condenser of the same size and type should be placed between the generator terminal of the regulator and the generator. A  $0.002-\mu$ fd, mica condenser with a 4-ohm earbon resistor in series should be connected between the field terminal of the regulator and ground. Never use a condenser across the field contacts or between field and ground without the resistor in series, since this greatly reduces the life of the regulator. In some cases, it may be necessary to pull double-braid shielding over the leads between the generator and regulator. It will be advisable to run new wires, grounding the shielding well at both ends. If regulator noise persists, it may be necessary to insulate the regulator from the car body. The wire shielding is then connected to the regulator case at one end and the generator frame at the other.

### Wheel Static

Wheel static shows up as a steady popping in the receiver at speeds over about 15 m.p.h. on smooth dry streets. Front-wheel static collectors are available on the market to eliminate this variety of interference. They fit inside the dust cap and bear on the end of the axle, effectively grounding the wheel at all times. Those designated particularly for your car are preferable, since the universal type does not always fit well. They are designed to operate without lubrication and the end of the axle and dust cap should be cleaned of grease before the installation is made. These collectors require replacement about every 10,000 miles.

Rear-wheel collectors have a brush that bears against the inside of the brake drum. It

# **MOBILE EQUIPMENT**

may be necessary to order these from the factory through your dealer.

### Tire Static

This sometimes sounds like a leaky power line and can be very troublesome even on the broadcast band. It can be remedied by injecting an antistatic powder into the inner tubes through the valve stem. The powder is marketed by Chevrolet and possibly others. Chevrolet dealers can also supply a convenient injector for inserting the powder.

#### Tracing Noise

To determine if the receiving antenna is picking up all of the noise, the shielded lead-in should be disconnected at the point where it connects to the antenna. The motor should be started with the receiver gain control wide open. If no noise is heard, all noise is being picked up via the antenna. If the noise is still heard with the antenna disconnected, even though it may be reduced in strength, it indicates that some signal from the ignition system is being picked up by the antenna transmission line. The lead-in may not be sufficiently-well shielded, or the shield not properly grounded. Noise may also be picked up through the 6-volt circuit, although this does not normally happen if the receiver is provided with the usual r.f.-choke-and-by-pass-condenser filter.

In case of noise from this source, a direct wire from the "hot" battery terminal to the receiver is recommended.

Ignition noise varies in repetition rate with engine speed and usually can be recognized by that characteristic in the early stages. Later, however, it may resolve itself into a popping noise that does not always correspond with engine speed. In such a case, it is a good idea to remove all leads from the generator so that the only source left is the ignition system.

Regulator and generator noise may be detected by racing the engine and cutting the ignition switch. This eliminates the ignition noise. Generator noise is characterized by its musical whine contrasted with the ragged raspy irregular noise from the regulator.

With the motor running at idling speed, or slightly faster, checks should be made to try to determine what is bringing the noise into the field of the antenna. It should be assumed that any control rod, metal tube, steering post, etc., passing from the motor compartment through an insulated bushing in the firewall will carry noise to a point where it can be radiated to the antenna. All of these should be bonded to the firewall with heavy wire or braid. Insulated wires can be stripped of r.f. by by-passing them to ground with  $0.5-\mu fd$ , metal-case condensers. The following should not be overlooked: battery lead at the ammeter, gasoline gauge, ignition switch, headlight and taillight leads and the wiring of any accessories running from the motor compartment to the instrument panel or outside the car.



Fig. 20-3 — Diagrams showing addition of noise limiter to car receiver. A — Usual circuit. B — Modification.  $C_1, C_3 = 100 \cdot \mu \mu fd$ , mica.

 $C_2, C_4, C_6 - 0.01$ -µfd. paper.

- $C_5 = 0.1 \mu fd.$  paper. R1 = 47,000 ohms.
- R<sub>1</sub> 47,000 ohms. R<sub>2</sub>, R<sub>10</sub> — 1 megohm.
- $R_3 \frac{1}{2}$  megohm
- R<sub>7</sub>, R<sub>8</sub>, R<sub>9</sub> 0.47 megohm.
- R<sub>4</sub> 10 megohms.
- $R_5 \frac{1}{4}$  megohm.
- R<sub>6</sub>-0.1 megohm.
- $T_1 I.f.$  transformer.  $V_1 - Second$  detector.

The firewall should be bonded to the frame of the car and also to the motor block with heavy braid. If the exhaust pipe and muffler are insulated from the frame by rubber mountings, they should likewise be grounded to the frame with flexible copper braid.

### Noise Limiter

Fig. 20-3 shows the alterations that may be made in the existing car-receiver circuit to provide for a noise limiter. The usual diodetriode second detector is replaced with a type having an extra independent diode. If the car receiver uses octal-base tubes, a 688GT may be substituted. The 7X7 is a suitable replacement in receivers using loktal-type tubes, while the 6T8 may be used with miniatures.

The switch that cuts the limiter in and out of the circuit may be located for convenience on or near the converter panel. Regardless of its placement, however, the leads to the switch should be shielded to prevent hum pick-up.

# A Compact Multiband Mobile Converter

Figs. 20-4 through 20-9 show photographs and diagrams of a small mobile converter covering all bands from 3.5 to 29 Mc.

As the diagram of Fig. 20-6 indicates, the circuit includes an r.f. stage, mixer and h.f. oscillator, each using a 6AJ5, similar to the 6AK5 which can be used interchangeably in this circuit. The input circuit can be peaked up with the  $50-\mu\mu$ fd. air trimmer,  $C_1$ . The grid circuit of the mixer is broadbanded, requiring no attention after preliminary adjustment. The main tuning control is  $C_{17}$  in the h.f. oscillator circuit. Fixed parallel padders are selected to spread each of the bands over a good share of the dial. All coils, including the i.f., are slug-tuned. Included in the bandswitch are the sections  $S_{16}$  and  $S_{18}$  which turn off the filament and plate power, as well as the dial lamps, when the gang is thrown to the b.c. position. A small relay, controlled from the transmitter panel, cuts the B supply to the converter while transmitting. The over-all dimensions are 31/8 by 51/8 by 61/2 inches, not including protuberances, such as the r.f. tuning knob and the power plug. The panel is 5 by 3% inches and includes the dial, antenna-trimmer control and bandswitch. The chassis is 5 by 53/4 by 2. All parts of the enclosure are of aluminum sheet.

The dial mechanism is a planetary unit with a 5 to 1 ratio (National AVD). This is mounted on the panel 1¼ inches from the bottom edge. The dial face is a piece of ¼-inch Lucite or Plexiglas 3 by 5 inches. A semicircle is cut out of the bottom edge with a jig saw to clear the dial mechanism, and is also notched out on the right-hand side to pass the shaft of the antenna trimmer. Before making these cuts, however, the various dial scales should be laid out with a compass scriber, using the position of the dial shaft as the scribing center. The back side of the plastic is covered with ordinary black or other dark-colored paint to form a contrasting background for the calibration marks. A dial lamp is mounted in each upper corner of the panel and the plastic is drilled part way through at these points. The ends of the bulbs extend into these depressions and the transmitted light illuminates the panel. Twelve-volt lamps (operating at 6 volts, of course), or two 6-volt lamps in series, provide plenty of light at half normal voltage. A metal cover of light-gauge aluminum was fashioned to fit over the upper corners of the plastic to eliminate direct light from the lamps. The pointer is a piece of thin transparent plastic, cut to shape and fastened to the dial mechanism with the screws provided. A line is scribed down the center of the pointer.

Underneath, the main tuning-condenser shaft is matched up with the dial shaft and mounted in place. While the condenser shown in the photograph is a two-section job, only one of the sections is used. An L-shaped shield runs along the righthand side and across the rear of the condenser to isolate it from the antenna trimmer mounted nearby on the right-hand edge of the chassis.

The bandswitch gang is made up from Cen-





near the b.c. receiver.

### **MOBILE EQUIPMENT**



Fig. 20-5 - The dial of the bandswitching mobile converter is a piece of clear plastic with calibration marks inscribed. The bandswitch control is at the lower left and the antenna trimmer to the right.

tralab switch-kit parts and consists of five ceramic wafers. Three wafers carry two circuits of five positions (Centralab type RR). The sixth position, shown in the diagram, is the arm slider contact which can be used in this case because the last switch position for all but  $S_{1D}$  is an open-circuit position,  $S_{1{
m C}}$  and  $S_{1{
m D}}$  are separate wafers each having one circuit and six positions (Cen-

tralab type X). The switch is mounted directly behind the main tuning condenser in a vertical position, its shaft 33% inches from the front edge of the chassis. This unusual mounting is convenient for grouping tubes and coils around the switch sections. Only the switch index head and the first wafer are below the chassis. The two circuits of this wafer, comprising  $S_{1A}$  and  $S_{1B}$ , handle



Fig. 20-6 - Circuit of the bandswitching converter.

 $C_1 - 50 \cdot \mu \mu fd.$  miniature variable.

- C<sub>2</sub>, C<sub>6</sub> 50- $\mu\mu$ fd. mica. C<sub>3</sub> 100- $\mu\mu$ fd. mica.
- $C_{4}$ ,  $C_{5}$ ,  $C_{7}$ ,  $C_{8}$ ,  $C_{19} 0.001$ -µfd. mica.  $C_{9} 220$ -µµfd. mica.

- $C_{10} = 3 \ \mu\mu$ fd.  $C_{11} = 51 \ \mu\mu$ fd. silvered mica.
- C12, C13 160-µµfd. silvered mica.
- C14 150-µµfd. silvered mica.
- C15 33-µµfd. silvered mica.
- C16 33-µµfd. mica.
- $C_{17} 15 \cdot \mu \mu fd$ , variable

R7, R8 -for voltages marked. I1, I2 - 12-volt dial lamp.

R3, R5 - 2000 ohms, 1/2 watt.

R1, R4, R6 - 10,000 ohnis, 1/2 watt. R2 - 180 ohnis, 1/2 watt.

- J1, J3 Coaxial connector.
- J2 5-pin male power plug.
- Ry1 6-volt relay.
- S1 Ceramie rotary switch 4 wafers, 2 circuits per wafer, 6 positions per circuit, and 1 wafer, 1 circuit, 6 positions (1 below, 4 above chassis) (made from Centralab kit parts).



Fig. 20-7 — Top view of the bandswitching converter, showing oscillator and mixer coils grouped around the bandswitch. The relay mounted against the front edge of the chassis cuts the power to the converter during transmissions.

the r.f. input circuits. The other four wafers are mounted above and a clearance hole for the switch shaft is drilled in the chassis. Additional bracing against the action of the control lever is provided by adding a strap bracket across the index head at right angles to the assembly rods. This strap is fastened to holes in the index head and with long screws to the chassis.

Coil	Band. Mc,	Lµh.	Turns	Wire Size	Length, Inches		Cath Taj
$L_1^*$	29	0 85	12	28 d.s.c.	3 1	3	_
$L_2^*$	21	14	16	28 d.s.c.	3.	3	
L3*	14	3 1	24	28 d.s.c.	3	4	
L	7	11	52	28 d.s.c.	C-W.	7	
Ls	3 5	38	92	3 € d.s.c.	C-W.	15	
L6 *	29	1.5	18	28 d.s.c.	3,		_
$L_7^*$	21	2.8	27	28 d.s.c.	32	_	_
Ls*	14	6 2	35	28 d.s.c.	('-W',		
Lo	7	25	98	34 d.s.c.	('-W',	_	
$L_{10} = -$	4	82	140	34 enam.	C-W.	_	
$L_{11}^{\bullet}$	29	0 35	9	28 d.s.c.	3		3
L12*	21	0.26	7	28 d.s.c.	3		3
L.13*	14	0.56	10	28 d.s.c.	3/4		-4
L14*	7	1.9	18	28 d.s.c.	3,4		- 6
Lis	4	15	60	28 d.s.c.	(*- W*,		20
L16*	1.5	52	100	34 eaam.	C-W.	25	

in, long, as close as possible to end opposite slug server, others same, but on XR-93 forms, 1% in, long Antenna colls wound over ground end of r.f. grid coils with same size wire. Cathodetap turns counted from ground end of oscillator coils.

A sketch of the switch operating mechanism is shown in Fig. 20-8. Dimensions can be adjusted to suit a variety of conditions. It is merely a matter of experimenting with a few pieces of cardboard and some thumbtacks to find dimensions that will fit each case. The short arm attached to the switch shaft should preferably be of brass so that the nut can be soldered fast. The set-screw collar to which the short arm is attached is a panel bearing. The threaded neck is cut and filed down so that it is a little longer than the thickness of the arm. The excess is then hammered down over the arm to make a firm joint. Solder flowed around the hole will add strength. The flange of the panel bearing should be drilled and tapped for two set screws. The bandswitch scale is a strip of thin aluminum. The positions for the various bands are marked with a scriber and the lines filled in with crayon.

The r.f. tube is the only one mounted top-side up. The mixer and oscillator tubes are upside down and have their connections and associated coils above the chassis. This arrangement permits better utilization of space and the chassis becomes a shield for the r.f. circuit.

### Adjustment

Standard automobile receivers are designed for high-impedance antennas and transmission lines. Since the output of the converter is coupled to a low-impedance coax line, considerable mismatch results. Most b.c. receivers have enough gain so that the losses as a consequence can be tolerated. However, the gain

# **MOBILE EQUIPMENT**

Spacer Steel 23 Dial mechanism Brass Band scale 33" (aluminum strip) Metal block





Bottom View

can be increased considerably by modifying the r.f. coil in the b.c. set. This is accomplished by winding a link of about 25 turns of No. 28 wire on the "cold" end of the antenna coil. This modification, however, will reduce the gain on the b.c. band. One compromise is to use one push button only for the converter and modify only the coil associated with that ehannel.

The entire converter was wired and aligned with a grid-dip meter before applying power. Depending on the forms used, some slight alteration in the number of turns shown in the coil table may be necessary.

Fig. 20-9 - Bottom view of the bandswitching converter showing the switch operating mechanism and inverted mounting of the h.f. oscillator and mixer tubes.

2



Plastic dial plate

# A Mobile Converter for 28 and 50 Mc.

The converter shown in Figs. 20-10 to 20-13 was designed for mobile reception on 6, 10, and 11 meters, but it may also be used in fixedstation work with good results. The intermediate frequency is 1500 kc., to permit its use with mobile broadcast receivers.

### **Circuit Details**

The converter circuit diagram is shown in Fig. 20-11. A 6AK5 broadband r.f. amplifier is followed by a 6J6 mixer-oscillator. The oscillator circuit is the ultraudion type, operating 1500 kc. below the signal frequency. The need for gang-tuned circuits is eliminated by the broadband r.f. amplifier; thus only the oscillator tuning condenser, C<sub>1</sub>, requires adjustment during normal tuning operation. Band



Fig. 20.10 - A bandswitching converter for 6, 10 and 11 meters. The pilot light at the lower right has an adjustable beam, for convenience in mobile work.

changing is accomplished with a 5-section selector switch, shown on the diagram as  $S_{1A}$ , B, C, D, E.

Seven commercially-available coils are used, six of them being identical except for the setting of the slugs. The wide inductance range of the slug-tuned units makes it possible to use similar coils for the r.f., mixer and oscillator coils for both ranges. Padder capacitance is added across the 10-meter r.f. and mixer coils,  $L_4$  and  $L_6$ , and across both oscillator coils,  $L_7$ and  $L_8$ . Varying the slug position takes care of the necessary differences in coil inductance for all these positions.

A single whip antenna may be used for both broadcast and amateur reception. A jumper connection between sections A and E of  $S_1$ completes the circuit between the antenna and the broadcast receiver, with the switch in the position marked B.C. in Fig. 20-11. A filament switch,  $S_2$ , is provided to remove the load of the converter tubes from the car battery when the receiver is being used for broadcast reception.

Broadbanding of the r.f. and mixer circuits is accomplished through the use of low-Q coils and tight coupling in the antenna circuit. The plate coil of the mixer is self-resonant at the intermediate frequency, giving a degree of broadness sufficient to permit tuning the receiver over a limited range near the high end of the broadcast band, providing a vernier effect.

#### Construction

All of the metal components are formed from  $J_{16}$ -inch aluminum stock. The interior view, Fig. 20-12, shows the "L"-shaped section which serves as the front panel and the bottom plate of the unit. The panel and the bottom areas are each 5 inches square. Lips,  $I_2$  inch wide, are folded over along the top and side edges of the panel and also along the sides of the bottom section. The rolled-over edges are drilled and tapped to accommodate 6-32 machine screws.

A three-sided portion and a square top plate complete the converter cabinet. The sides are 5 inches square and the rear wall is  $5\frac{1}{8}$  inches wide. All three sides are 5 inches high with 12-inch flanges folded over on the top edges and drilled and tapped for 6-32 screws. The sides and bottom edges of the case are drilled to clear machine screws; the holes should line up with the tapped holes of the panel-bottom assembly. A rectangular hole, 11% inches high and 2 inches wide, is cut at the bottom left-hand corner (as seen from the rear of the converter) of the rear wall, to provide clearance for the cable connectors. The top plate for the converter measures 5 by 5 inches. Holes, drilled along the edges, allow the cover to be fastened to the flanges at the top of the cabinet.

The physical shape of the converter chassis can best be visualized by study of the interior views. The chassis is 5 by  $4\frac{7}{8}$  by  $1\frac{3}{4}$  inches in size, with flanges  $\frac{1}{2}$  inch wide folded over along the front and the bottom edges to provide a means of mounting. A  $2\frac{1}{4} \times 3\frac{3}{4}$ -inch cut-out at the center of the chassis allows clearance for the bandswitch. A large round hole located in the rear, wall of the chassis simplifies the job of finding the oscillator padder condenser when this control requires adjustment.

A vertical partition used as the mounting surface for the oscillator tuning condenser,  $C_1$ , also serves as the shield between the plate and the grid circuits of the r.f. amplifier. It is  $3\frac{1}{2}$ inches wide and  $4\frac{3}{4}$  inches high, and is notched to clear the main chassis and the spacer bars and rotor arm of the bandswitch. The partition is held in place by a spade lug which passes through the chassis and by a mounting

# **MOBILE EOUIPMENT**



Fig. 20-11 — Circuit diagram of the bandswitching v.h.f. converter.

 $C_1 = 15 \cdot \mu \mu fd$ , variable reduced to one stator and 2 rotor plates (Millen 20015).

- rotor plates (Millen 20015). Ca, Ca, Ca,  $-3 \rightarrow 30$ - $\mu\mu$ fd, mica trimmer (Millen 27030), Ca, Ca, Ca, -0.0015- $\mu$ fd, ceramic (Centralab DA048002A), Ca, Ca -100- $\mu\mu$ fd, ceramic (Centralab CC32Z), C5, Cio -10- $\mu\mu$ fd, ceramic (Centralab DC20Z), Ci -300- $\mu\mu$ fd, ceramic (Centralab D6501), Ci -20 obus -16- $\mu$ fd, ceramic (Centralab D6501), Ci -20 obus -16- $\mu$ fd, ceramic (Centralab D6501), Ci -20 obus -16- $\mu$ fd, ceramic (Centralab D6501), Ci -20 obus -16- $\mu$ fm (Centralab D6501), Ci -20 obus -16- $\mu$ m (Centralab CC20), Ci -20 obus -16- $\mu$ m (Centralab CC20), Ci -20- $\mu$ m (Centralab CC20), Ci -20

- R1-220 ohms, 1/2 watt.

- $\begin{array}{l} R_1 = -220 \text{ obms, } \frac{1}{2} \text{ watt.} \\ R_2, R_6 = -680 \text{ obms, } \frac{1}{2} \text{ watt.} \\ R_3 = 1.5 \text{ megohms, } \frac{1}{2} \text{ watt.} \\ R_4 = 12,000 \text{ obms, } \frac{1}{2} \text{ watt.} \\ R_5 = 47,000 \text{ obms, } \frac{1}{2} \text{ watt.} \\ R_7 = 5000 \text{ obms, } 10 \text{ watts.} \\ L_4, L_2 = 4 \text{ turns No. 28 d.s.e. close-wound over ground} \\ \frac{1}{2} \text{ watt.} = 12 \text{ watt.} \\ R_7 = 5000 \text{ obms, } 10 \text{ watts.} \\ R_7 = 5000 \text{ obms, } 10 \text{ watts.} \\ R_7 = 5000 \text{ obms, } 10 \text{ watts.} \\ R_8 = 12, 28 \text{ d.s.e. close-wound over ground} \\ R_8 = 12, 28 \text{ d.s.e. close-wound over ground} \\ R_8 = 12, 28 \text{ d.s.e. close-wound over ground} \\ R_8 = 12, 28 \text{ d.s.e. close-wound over ground} \\ R_8 = 12, 28 \text{ d.s.e. close-wound over ground} \\ R_8 = 12, 28 \text{ d.s.e. close-wound over ground} \\ R_8 = 12, 28 \text{ d.s.e. close-wound over ground} \\ R_8 = 12, 28 \text{ d.s.e. close-wound over ground} \\ R_8 = 12, 28 \text{ d.s.e. close-wound over ground} \\ R_8 = 12, 28 \text{ d.s.e. close-wound over ground} \\ R_8 = 12, 28 \text{ d.s.e. close-wound over ground} \\ R_8 = 12, 28 \text{ d.s.e. close-wound over ground} \\ R_8 = 12, 28 \text{ d.s.e. close-wound over ground} \\ R_8 = 12, 28 \text{ d.s.e. close-wound over ground} \\ R_8 = 12, 28 \text{ d.s.e. close-wound over ground} \\ R_8 = 12, 28 \text{ d.s.e. close-wound over ground} \\ R_8 = 12, 28 \text{ d.s.e. close-wound over ground} \\ R_8 = 12, 28 \text{ d.s.e. close-wound} \\ R_8 = 12, 28 \text{ d.s.e. close-wound$ ends of  $L_3$  and  $L_4$ ,

lip which is screwed to the bottom side of the cabinet. It is located 3 inches in from the front edge of the chassis.

The heater switch and the pilot-light assembly are mounted at the lower

left- and right-hand corners of the front panel with the bandswitch at the center, 11% inches up from the bottom edge. The selector-switch index plate should have a rotorshaft length of at least 3 inches, and the switch wafers should be mounted on the shaft with the first separated from the index plate by 1-inch spacers and with the second wafer separated from the first by 15% inches.

The National MCN dial is centered above the bandswitch with the control shaft 3 inches above the bottom edge of the panel. It is wise to cut the large mounting hole suggested in the dial-mounting instruction sheet and then do the final fastening down of the dial after the tuning condenser and its mounting

Fig. 20.12 - Interior view of the converter. Only the oscillator is tuned by the front-panel control, eliminating tracking problems.

- L3, L4, L5, L6, L7, L8 6 turns No. 20 enameled wire close-wound on 3%-inch diameter form; slugtuned: inductance range 0.35 to 1.0 µh. (Cambridge Thermionic Corp. LS3-30 Me.).
- Lo Scramble-type winding on <sup>3</sup>/<sub>8</sub>-inch slug-tuned form: inductance range 325 to 750 μh. (Cambridge Thermionic Corp. LS3-1 Me.).
- Lio 20 turns No. 28 d.s.c. scramble-wound next to Ly.
- I1 -- Adjustable-beam dial-light assembly.
- J1, J2 Coaxial-cable jacks (Amphenol 75-PC1M).
- J<sub>3</sub> 3-prong cable connector (Jones P-303AB).
- RFC<sub>1</sub> 300-µh. r.f. choke (Millen 34300),
- SIA, B, C, D, E 2-gang 0-circuit bandswitch (two Cen-tralab SS sections).

S2 - S.p.s.t. toggle switch.

plate have been permanently secured in place.

The interior view of the completed converter shows the 6AK5 amplifier tube in front of the shield partition, with the grid inductances to



the right of the tube. The padder condensers for 27 and 28 Mc. are mounted on the forward coil. From left to right across the rear of the chassis are the mixer-oscillator tube, five of the slug-tuned inductances, and the regulator tube. The i.f. output coil and the two oscillator coils are mounted below the chassis, as seen in the bottom view of the chassis subassembly. The r.f. plate coils are above the chassis to the left of the 0B2 regulator, the 28-Mc. coil being the one with the trimmer condenser mounted across the terminals.

Construction will be simpler if the builder uses coils as shown. The Type LS3 30-Mc. inductors will resonate at 50 Mc. with the tube and circuit capacitances, and only a small padder capacitance is required to tune them to 27 and 28 Mc.

Coaxial jacks for the antenna and i.f. output cables are at the rear of the chassis to the left of the power-cable jack. They are closely grouped so that the input and output cables may be taped together to form a common cable.

Wiring can be done readily if the subassembly method is employed. The bottom-view photograph of the chassis, Fig. 20-13, shows how the circuit components are closely grouped around the tube sockets, with wiring completed to the point of making connections to the band-switch. Twin-Lead of the 75-ohm type is used to make the connection between the antenna input jack and the bandswitch. The two wires enclosed in spaghetti at the right of the chassis in the bottom view are the 6.3-volt leads which go to the heater switch.

### Testing

The heater requirements of the converter are 6.3 volts at 0.625 ann., and the plate supply should deliver 200 to 250 volts at 25 to 30 ma. These may be drawn from the receiver with which the converter is to be used, or a separate supply may be employed. With power turned on, the plate voltage of the mixer and r.f. amplifier should measure 105 volts and the 6AK5 cathode resistor should provide a drop of approximately 2 volts. The 6AK5 cathode current should be about 8.5 ma. The regulator-tube drain will be about 8 ma.

Alignment of the converter is made most simple if a calibrated signal generator is available, otherwise amateur transmitter signals of known frequency may be used. The r.f. and i.f. circuits can be peaked on background noise. The oscillator stage should be on the low side of the signal frequency. It is possible to vary the bandspread of the converter over a wide range. With a fairly low order of padder capacitance, and with the inductance increased by the tuning slug, the 10- and 11meter bands can be covered with one swing of the tuning dial. Anyone not interested in 11 meters can increase the bandspread on the 10-meter range by adding more padder capacitance and by decreasing the inductance of  $L_8$ . The converter as shown has 13 divisions of bandspread at 11 meters and 52 divisions at 10 meters, with the logging of frequencies made on the B scale of the dial. Bandspread for the 50-Me, band is 48 divisions on the A scale. This spread may be increased by the same method.

Some operators favor a selected group of frequencies within a band. A slight improvement in the performance of the converter can be made in this case by peaking the r.f. amplifier circuits at a favorite spot rather than at the center of a band. There may be a tendency toward regeneration in the 50-Mc, r.f. amplifier, however, if the input and plate circuits are peaked at precisely the same frequency, making stagger tuning desirable.

### Reducing Spurious Responses

In localities where there are stations operating in the high FM band a converter or receiver having broadband r.f. stages will experience considerable interference on the

> 50-Mc, range. This can be corrected in several ways, the simplest being the insertion of a 100-Me, trap in the antenna lead.



Fig. 20-13 — Construction of the converter is made easier if as much wiring as possible is done before the assembling is completed. This bottom view of the chassis subassembly shows the wiring completed to the point of connection to the bandswitch.

Vorld Radio History

# MOBILE EQUIPMENT 4 A Crystal-Controlled Converter for Two-Meter Mobile Reception



Fig. 20-14 — Top view of W2UTH's crystal-controlled converter for 2meter mobile reception. The oscillator-multiplier tube and crystal are at the left. At the right are the r.f. amplifier, looking up from the bottom. Because no external adjustments are needed, the converter may be built in almost any shape that will fit available space in the car.

The 144-Mc, mobile converter shown in Figs. 20-14 through 20-16 is designed primarily for mobile operation. Therefore to serve the aims of simplicity, compactness and low battery drain, some of the features that might be considered desirable in a home-station unit have been omitted. However, the cost is fow and the performance of the system is entirely satisfactory, both as to stability and sensitivity.

### Circuit

Since the tuning range of the usual car broadcast receiver is insufficient to permit coverage of the entire 2-meter band without changing crystals, this converter is designed to work into another converter which, in turn, works into the regular car receiver. This second converter is used as a tunable i.f. and should cover the range of 26 to 30 Me. to provide the necessary 1-Me. range to take care of the whole of the 2-meterband. The r.f. stage uses a 6AK5, pentode connected. This results in a slight sacrifice in noise figure, compared to that obtainable with a triode, but with the other noises usually prevalent in mobile work, the ultimate in first-tube is not so important in practice. The mixer is a 6AB4 triode.

The oscillator is the simplest form of triode circuit, using a crystal at 39.33 Mc. in the first half of the 6J6, the second portion tripling to 118 Mc. Crystals such as the James Knights JK-H17 or H-173, the Bliley BH-6, or GE G64B, can be readily obtained for this frequency.

Where the mixer is a separate tube from the oscillator-multiplier, some injection coupling may be necessary, although the minimum required value should be used. The 1.5  $\mu\mu$ fd, needed was obtained by connecting two 3- $\mu\mu$ fd, units in series.

The i.f. stage, using a 6AK5, employs an output circuit that provides low-impedance coupling to the following converter.

•

Fig. 20-15 — Bottom view of the 2-meter converter. The coil form at the upper left is the mixer plate circuit. Oscillator-multiplier components are at the upper right.



The converter is built on a 5  $\times$  5-inch chassis that fits inside a standard utility box. Since there is no adjustment required during operation, the unit can be built in almost any shape that can be fitted into available space in the car. The coils and condensers are mounted under the chassis, and once the initial adjustment is made, they are left alone.

In order to isolate the input and output circuits, of the r.f. amplifier, a small right-angle shield is placed across the 6AK5 socket in such a way as to enclose the antenna coil. The shield may be seen in the lower left side in the bottom view of Fig. 20-15. The antenna is connected directly to the grid coil through coaxial cable.

The mixer output coil,  $L_4$ , is mounted between

the 6AB4 and the i.f. amplifier tube, in the upper right-hand corner in the top view of Fig. 20-14.

At a supply voltage of 150, the converter drain will be about 15 ma. If a higher supply voltage is used,  $R_{15}$  should be increased accordingly. Adjustment is straightforward. The slug in  $L_5$  is first adjusted for maximum background noise in the output of the system. Then  $L_4$  is adjusted for maximum response on 2-meter signals in the most-used part of the band.  $L_1$  can be peaked up by squeezing the turns together or spreading them apart slightly as needed.

With a 19-inch whip good signals have been obtained with this converter at distances up to 30 miles or more.



Fig. 20-16 - Schematic diagram and parts list for the crystal-controlled 2-meter converter. If crystals lower in frequency than 39 Mc. are to be used an overtone oscillator circuit can be substituted for the crystal circuit shown. C1, C2, C3, C9, C10, C13, C14, C18, C19 - 0.001 µfd. R<sub>12</sub>, R<sub>14</sub> — 4700 ohms.

C<sub>4</sub>, C<sub>11</sub> — 5  $\mu\mu$ fd. C<sub>5</sub>, C<sub>8</sub> — 50  $\mu\mu$ fd.

- $C_6 1.5 \ \mu\mu fd.$  (two 3- $\mu\mu fd.$  in series).
- $C_7 10 \,\mu\mu fd$
- 30 µµfd  $C_{12}$
- C15, C17 4-30-µµfd. ceramic trimmer.
- -25 µµfd. C16
- (All fixed capacitors ceramic.)
- Rı 150 ohms.
- $\mathbf{R}_2$ 10,000 ohms. R<sub>3</sub> - 0.68 megohm.
- R4 -- 1000 ohms.
- $R_5$ 3300 ohms.
- R<sub>6</sub> 0.1 megohm.
- $\mathbf{R}_{7}$ 680 ohms.
- R<sub>8</sub> 39,000 ohms.
- Ro – 7000 ohms.
- R10 -1500 ohms.
- -47,000 ohms. Rn

- R<sub>13</sub> 0.22 megohm.
- 5 5000 ohns, 1 watt. (All other resistors ½ watt.) 5 turns No. 16, % inch diam., ½ inch long, tapped R15 L<sub>1</sub> -
- at 11/2 turns. L2 1/2-watt resistor wound full of No. 30 enameled wire.
- $L_3 = 3$  turns No. 16,  $\frac{3}{8}$  inch diam.,  $\frac{1}{4}$  inch long.  $L_4 = 10$  turns No. 24 enam. on  $\frac{13}{22}$  inch diam. form (Millen 69041), brass slug.
- L5 10 turns No. 20 enam. on ½-inch slug-tuned form from BC-624 receiver. National XR-50 also usable.
- L6 11 turns No. 18, 1/2-inch diam. (B & W No. 3003 Miniductor). 3 turns No. 18, 1/2-inch diam.  $L_7$
- $L_8$ ,  $L_9 \frac{1}{2}$  watt resistor wound full of No. 18 enam. J<sub>1</sub> Coaxial fitting, female.

- J2 Coaxial fitting, male. S1 Double-pole single-throw toggle switch.

# MOBILE EQUIPMENT A Multiband Mobile Transmitter



Fig. 20.17 — The bandswitching mobile transmitter installed under the dashboard of W2RPU's car.

The unit shown in Figs. 20-17 through 20-19 is a complete bandswitching mobile transmitter, including modulator and covering all bands from 4 to 29 Mc.

The circuit diagram is shown in Fig. 20-19. Either crystal control or VFO is available simply by snapping the toggle,  $S_1$ . A 6C4 is used in the VFO and this is the only indirectly-heated tube in the transmitter. All others are direct-heater types. The heater of the 6C4 operates from a separate circuit through  $S_2$  so that it can be left on during receiving periods. This cuts down initial drift and eliminates waiting for the cathode to come up to temperature before each transmission. VFO output is taken from the cathode tap to minimize loading effects on frequency. The tuning range of the VFO is limited to 3500 to 4000 kc. This makes it necessary to use crystal control on 11 meters, unless it is desired to extend the VFO range. The plate voltage for the VFO is stabilized by an OB2 regulator tube.

The 5618 following the VFO may be used as an 80- or 40-meter crystal oscillator, or as an amplifier or doubler for the VFO, since the output circuit,  $C_9L_2$ , will tune to either band, one near maximum capacitance and the other near minimum.

The next stage, also using a 5618, may be operated as a doubler to 14 Mc., as a tripler to 21 Mc., or a quadrupler to 28 Mc., depending on the setting of  $C_{13}$  which covers all three bands. This stage is inserted or removed from the circuit by  $S_3$ . Thirty volts of fixed bias from the modulatorbiasing battery practically cuts off plate current to the 5618 when this stage is not in use.

A 5516 is used in the final amplifier. This tube has the same power rating as the 2E25, but it is shorter physically so that it can be fitted into a smaller space. The use of an all-band tuner in the final-amplifier output circuit eliminates the necessity for plug-in coils or switching.

In the audio section, a carbon microphone drives a triode-connected 5618 which, in turn, drives two 2E30s in the Class AB<sub>2</sub> modulator. Microphone voltage is obtained from the car battery through the filter consisting of  $C_{20}$  and  $L_{9}$ .

The milliammeter,  $MA_1$ , can be switched to read current at the important points in the circuit. When switched to position E, it can be used to check plate voltage for the rig's final amplifier stage.

In the front-view photograph of Fig. 20-17, the control knobs across the panel are, from left to right, for VFO, first 5618, second 5618, and final amplifier. The meter switch is to the left of the meter. Along the bottom are the VFO-crystal switch, a dual crystal socket (one socket unwired for a spare crystal), the frequency-multiplier switch, S<sub>3</sub>, microphone-control jack and the VFO heater switch.

In the rear-view photograph of Fig. 20-18, the four tuning condensers are lined up across the panel, just above the chassis level.  $C_{19}$  is a dual midget Hammarlund, originally of 140  $\mu\mu$ fd. per section. To obtain the desired range, one rotor and two stator plates were removed from each section. The high-frequency coil,  $L_4$ , is mounted vertically at the rear of the condenser, while  $L_5$  is placed at right angles alongside the condenser to minimize coupling between the two. Care should be taken to make sure, with a grid-dip meter, that the circuit when completed does not tune simultaneously to fundamental and harmonic frequencies. This can be controlled by altering the coils somewhat.

 $L_3$  is mounted vertically behind the meter.  $L_2$ , at right angles, is fastened to  $C_9$ .  $L_1$  is vertical behind  $C_1$ . The r.f. tubes are lined up across the center of the chassis. The 6C4 is hidden by the biasing battery to the right. The two 5618s are to the right of the 5516 final-amplifier tube. A baffle shield is placed between the tube and  $L_3$ to the right. The audio components and the 0B2



Fig. 20-18 — Rear interior view of W2RPU's mobile transmitter, showing the arrangement of components on the chassis,

# 446

# CHAPTER 20

occupy the rear portion of the chassis. All small components are mounted underneath. The chassis measures  $8\frac{1}{4}$  inches long,  $5\frac{7}{8}$  inches from front to back and 1 inch deep.

Although this transmitter may be operated from a suitable dynamotor, there is an advantage in the use of two supplies. While the rest of the transmitter may be operated at 300 volts, a voltage of 250 is the maximum rated value for the 2E30 modulators. A separate supply for the Class AB<sub>2</sub> modulator with its varying plate current also improves the voltage regulation for the rest of the transmitter. Two 100-ma. vibrator-type

power supplies, one delivering 300 volts and the other 250 volts, are recommended,

The two exciter tank circuits,  $C_9L_2$  and  $C_{13}L_3$ , can be resonated to the desired bands by observing grid current to the following stage. A grid current of 2 to 3 ma, should be adequate for the multiplier stage and 3 to 5 ma, for the final.

The antenna should be of the center-loaded type. The RG-8/U coaxial cable feeding the base of the antenna is tapped on  $L_5$  at a compromise point that serves for all bands. Some slight improvement can be gained by adjusting the tap for the band considered most important.



- $C_1 50 \cdot \mu \mu fd.$  variable (National PSE-50).
- C2 100-µµfd, silvered mica,
- C<sub>3</sub>, C<sub>4</sub> 0.001- $\mu$ fd. silvered mica. C<sub>5</sub>, C<sub>6</sub> 100- $\mu\mu$ fd. mica.
- 0.01 µfd. mica,  $C_7 -$
- C8, C11, C12, C15 -

C19

- 0.001•µfd. mica.
- C<sub>9</sub>, C<sub>13</sub> 100- $\mu\mu$ fd, variable (National PSE-100 with  ${}^{3}_{4}$ -inch shaft).

variable

- C<sub>10</sub>, C<sub>14</sub>  $47 \cdot \mu\mu$ fd. ceramic. C<sub>16</sub>, C<sub>17</sub> 0.001  $\cdot \mu$ fd. 1000  $\cdot$  volt mica.
- C18-0.01-µfd, 1000-volt mica.

#### (Hammarlund

- 110-µµfd-per-section HFD-140; see text)
- C20 - 25-µfd, 25-volt electrolytic,
- R1, R2 0.1 megohm, 1/2 watt.
- $\begin{array}{l} R_3 = -56,000 \text{ ohms, } \frac{1}{2} \text{ watt.} \\ R_4, R_6 = -100 \text{ ohms, } \frac{1}{2} \text{ watt.} \\ R_5 = -27,000 \text{ ohms, } 1 \text{ watt.} \\ R_7 = -2500 \text{ ohms, } 5 \text{ watts.} \end{array}$

- $R_8 10,000 \text{ ohms, } 2 \text{ watts.}$   $R_9 27,000 \text{ ohms, } 2 \text{ watts.}$
- 2000 ohms, 2 watts. R10

- R<sub>11</sub> 56,000 ohms, 2 watts, R<sub>12</sub> 5000 ohms, 2 watts, R<sub>13</sub>, R<sub>14</sub> Meter shunts made of resistance wire to provide for full-scale meter reading of 100 ma.
- -0.15 megohm, 1 watt (depends on meter used). R15

- Li 48 turns No. 26 enam., 1-inch diam., 11/4 inches long (may have to be slightly modified to provia (may have to be signify module to pro-vide proper bandspread).  $L_2 = 28$  turns No. 24 enam., L-inch diam.,  $\frac{7}{2}$  inch long.  $L_3 = 9$  turns No. 20 enam.,  $\frac{3}{4}$ -inch diam.,  $\frac{7}{2}$  inch long.  $L_4 = 16$  turns No. 20 enam.,  $\frac{1}{4}$ -inch diam.,  $\frac{1}{4}$  inch long.  $L_5 = 19$  turns No. 20 enam.,  $\frac{1}{4}$ -inch diam.,  $\frac{1}{4}$  inches

- long, tapped 11/2 turns.
- Ls 10-hy. 30-ma. choke (filter).
- $B_1$ - 30-volt battery with tap at  $7\frac{1}{2}$  volts.
- $J_1 = 3$ -contact open-circuit microphone jack (midget),  $J_2 = 6$ -contact connector (Jones P-306-AB),
- MA1 Milliammeter, 10-ma. scale
- RFC1, RFC2 2.5-mh. r.f. choke (National R-50).
- RFC<sub>3</sub>-2.5-mh. r.f. choke (National R-100U).
- $S_1 S.p.d.t.$  toggle switch.  $S_2$ - S.p.d.t. toggle switch.
- Sa-D.p.d.t. toggle switch.
- S4 2-pole 5-position rotary switch. S5 Push-to-talk switch.
- Midget output transformer: single plate to 200 Тı ohms (mic. connected to 200 ohms)
- Single plate to p.p. grids for Class AB2. Т2-
- Modulation transformer, Class AB<sub>2</sub>, Ta ·

NOTE: J2 connections as follows: (1) VFO heater, (2) other heaters, (3) push-to-talk control to power supplies, (4) + h.v. audio, (5) ground, (6) + h.v. r.f.

# MOBILE EQUIPMENT

# A Band-Changing Mobile Transmitter for 50 and 144 Mc.

Figs 20-20 through 20-25 show circuits and constructional details of a compact transmitter covering the 6- and 2-meter bands. Band-changing is done entirely by the panel controls. The circuit resonant at approximately 15 Mc.  $C_5$  has sufficient range to tune the oscillator output circuit from 24 through 36 Mc. This circuit is tuned to 25 Mc. for 50-Mc. output from the transmitter,



20-20 — The crystal Fig. is mounted above the meter switch, to the left of the amplifier gridtuning control. The tuning knob for the oscillator is at the lower left-hand side of the output switch, S<sub>1</sub>. Controls for the output and amplifier plate eircuits are at the right. The unit may be used vertically by orientating the meter. Ventilating holes should be drilled in the end used as the top.

unit is only 3 inches deep, and therefore is suitable for instrument-panel mounting.

Output on either band may be obtained using crystals in the 8-, 12-, or 25-Mc, ranges. Although it is possible to operate the 2E26 output stage at higher voltage, the unit is designed primarily to work from a 300-volt 100-ma, supply. A single 200-ma, supply should take care of both this unit and a modulator in the latter case. Changing from one band to the other is accomplished through the use of wide-range tanks in the exciter, and a multicircuit tuner in the output. Metering circuits are included.

### Circuit

The circuit of the unit is shown in Fig. 20-22. Type 5763s are used in the Tri-tet oscillator and the driver stage. The oscillator has a fixed eathode

### ٠

Fig. 20-21 — In this view the perforated top cover has been removed to show the completed transmitter. The input and output connectors are on the rear chassis wall and the 5763 subassembly is in the foreground, to the left of the meter switch. The Zshaped partition supports  $C_{12}$ ,  $RFC_4$ and the 2E26,  $C_{12}$  is mounted on a feed-through bushing. The oscillator tuning capacitor,  $C_5$ , is panel-mounted directly helow  $C_{12}$ . The output switch,  $S_1$  is partially hidden by the Z-shaped plate. The multicircuit tuner is at the upper end of the chassis, just helow the link tuning condenser,  $C_{15}$ . and may be tuned to either 24 or 36 Mc. for final output at 144 Mc.

The multiplier output circuit,  $C_{12}L_3$ , covers the range of 48 to 72 Mc., and operates as a doubler to 50 Mc., or as either a doubler or tripler (depending on the oscillator output frequency) to 72 Mc. for final output at 144 Mc. The multiplier is capacity-coupled to the 2E26 amplifier grid. This stage operates straight through at 50 Mc., and as a doubler to 144 Mc. A combination of fixed bias and grid leak is used. The value of fixed bias is not critical — 22 to 45 volts. The 22K screen resistor gives proper screen voltage over a supply-voltage range of 300 to 400 volts.



The plate tuner for the amplifier consists of a capacitor,  $C_{17}$ , and inductors  $L_4$  and  $L_5$ . Output from the amplifier is transferred to  $J_1$  by a seriestuned circuit consisting of  $C_{18}$ ,  $L_6$  and  $S_1$ .  $L_6$  is electrically subdivided by a tap which connects to  $C_{18}$ . That portion of  $L_6$  above the tap provides output coupling at 50 Mc., and the lower section of the coil couples to  $L_5$  when  $S_1$  is set for 144-Me. operation.

The metering circuit uses S2, a 200-ma. d.c. milliammeter, and resistors R4, R8, R10, R12 and  $R_{13}$ ,  $R_{13}$  is connected to Terminals E and  $E_1$  of the switch and, in turn, to Pins 7 and 8 of the power-input connector,  $J_2$ . The latter set of connections allows the plate current of an external modulator to be checked by the meter.

Provision for connecting either a single or a pair of supplies to the transmitter is made at  $J_2$ . If a single 300-volt pack is used for the entire unit, it is necessary to connect a jumper between Pins 3 and 5 of  $J_2$ . With separate supplies for exciter and final, connect the 300-volt supply to Pin 3 and the amplifier supply to Pin 5. When a modulator is connected to the transmitter, connect the secondary of the modulation transformer between Pins 5 and 8 of  $J_{2}$ , connect +h.v. to the 2E26 to Pin 8, and then return the +h.v. lead of the modulation-transformer primary to Pin 7.

### Construction

A 3  $\times$  5  $\times$  10-inch aluminum chassis is used as the housing for the transmitter. The construction is made easier through the use of subassemblies. Fig. 20-24, along with the sketch of Fig. 20-23, identifies the components for the oscillatormultiplier section. The bracket supporting the components has 3/8-inch lips along the right and bottom edges for fastening to the chassis. The wire leader that later connects to  $C_5$  should be about 3 inches long, while the five leads that will be joined to  $J_2$  and  $S_2$  ean be about 5 inches long.

Fig. 20-21 shows a Z-shaped partition spanning the chassis. This can be made and installed most easily in two pieces overlapping and fastened together at the center. The height is made to fit the chassis depth. In Fig. 20-21, the segment lengths, from left to right, are  $2\frac{1}{2}$ ,  $1\frac{1}{8}$ , and  $2\frac{1}{2}$ inches. Lips are bent at the ends and along the bottom for fastening to the chassis. A 11/4-inch hole is nunched in the center of the segment on which the 2E26 is mounted, while a small feedthrough bushing (Millen 32100) is set in the other segment. Position this bushing so that  $C_{12}$ , which is mounted on it, will be at the right level, and clear of the partition segment to the rear. The 2E26 socket is mounted on 5%-inch spacers. Prongs 1, 2, 4, 6 and 8, and the screen by-pass,  $C_9$ , should be returned directly to ground on the socket side of the partition. A 2-terminal tie point to the rear of the socket supports the heater lead and the h.v. end of the screen resistor,  $R_{11}$ .

Mount the meter-shunt resistors across the terminals of S<sub>2</sub>. Join Contacts A<sub>1</sub> and B<sub>1</sub>, and connect 8-inch leads to the rotor-arm contacts and to Stationary Contacts C<sub>1</sub>, D<sub>k</sub>, E and E<sub>1</sub>. A



- L1-1.9 µh., 34 turns No. 22 enam., 1/4-inch diam., close-wound.
- L<sub>2</sub> 0.44 μh., 6 turns No. 20 tinned, ½-inch diam., <sup>3</sup>/<sub>2</sub> inch long (B & W 3003). L<sub>3</sub> 0.155 μh., 3 turns No. 18 tinned, ½-inch diam., <sup>3</sup>/<sub>2</sub> inch long (B & W 3002).

- 12 8-prong male connector.
- National type R-50 r.f. choke. RFC<sub>1</sub> -
- $\begin{array}{l} RFC_1 \longrightarrow \text{National type R-30 r.i. cnowe,} \\ RFC_2, RFC_3 \longrightarrow \text{Ohmite type Z-50 r.f. choke,} \\ RFC_4 \longrightarrow \text{National type R-1008 r.f. choke,} \\ S_1, S_2 \longrightarrow 2\text{-pole 6-position miniature selector switch,} \\ S_1 \text{ used as s.p.d.t. (Centralab PA-2003).} \end{array}$

### MOBILE EQUIPMENT

•

Fig. 20-23 — Drawing of the parts layout for the exciter subassembly. A and B are 2- and 5-terminal tie-point strips.

٠



lead about 1 foot long should be soldered to Contact D.

In constructing the multicircuit tuner, first reduce the 3006 B & W Miniductor to a total of 14½ turns. Without breaking the supporting bars, clip the winding at points that will leave 5 full turns at one end and  $3\frac{1}{4}$  turns at the opposite end. The 6 turns left intact between end windings are used as the output coupling inductance,  $L_6$ . Short leads of No. 16 wire should now be soldered to the free ends of the three windings. Also, solder a short lead  $1\frac{1}{4}$  turns in from the 144-Me, end of the coupling coil. This should place the tap at the top of the coil when it is mounted.

To assemble the tuner, turn  $C_{17}$  with the insulated support bar facing toward the partition. Place the coil about  $\frac{3}{6}$  inch above the condenser, and bend the four leads from  $L_4$  and  $L_5$  into place. The *outside* ends of these sections go directly to the *rear* stator terminal of the condenser, while the inside lead of  $L_5$  goes to the front stator terminal. The inside end of  $L_4$  is grounded to the frame at the rear.

In mounting parts on the chassis, center  $J_2$ on the rear wall  $4\frac{1}{4}$  inches from the exciter end of the chassis, and  $J_1$  in the lower corner of the amplifier end. On the panel side, the shafts for  $C_{17}$  and  $C_{18}$  are 1 inch from the right end,  $S_1$  is centered 2% inches from the right end, while the controls for  $C_5$  and  $C_{12}$  are 4% inches in. A panel bearing is needed for  $C_{12}$ , which is fitted with an insulating shaft coupling. The remaining two controls are 6% inches from the right-hand end. The meter is at the left-hand end.

The subassemblies may now be positioned while the mounting holes are marked. The bracket for the 5763s is placed  $3\frac{1}{4}$  inches from the left-hand end of the chassis, while the rear end of the Z-shaped partition comes at  $5\frac{1}{8}$  inches from the same end.

Before fastening the subassemblies in place, proceed with the wiring. Connect  $S_1$  to  $L_1$  and  $J_1$ ; solder the tap on  $L_6$  to  $C_{18}$ ; mount  $L_2$  on the terminals of  $C_5$ ; connect the rotor arms of  $S_2$  to the meter.

Mount the exciter assembly and attach the proper loose leads to  $C_5$ ,  $J_2$  and  $S_2$ . Mount a tie point at the right-hand mounting screw of the crystal socket, and fasten  $R_9$  between the tie point and Contact C of  $S_2$ . Run leads to the crystal



Fig. 20-24 — This subassembly measures  $2^{1916}$  by  $3^{12}$ inches and supports most of the components for the exciter stages.  $C_{13}$ , with one end floating free, is at the upper right-hand corner. The wire leaders at the bottom of the plate connect to the oscillator tank, meter switch and power connector, as shown by Fig. 20-22.



Oscillator			Multiplier			.tmplifier						
Crystal Freq., Mc.	Ев	1 <sub>р.</sub> Ма,	Plate Freq., Mc.	Eg	E <sub>n</sub>	$I_{\rm p}, Ma,$	Plate Frey,, Mc.	Eg	lg, Ma.	Es	Ip. Ma,	Plate Freq., Mc
8.3	210	20	25	-80	240	25	50	- 190	4	135	45	50
12 5	235	15	6.		245	27	6.4	-210	4.5	120	**	**
25 0	210	20	6 1	-60	240	25	**	-185	4	145	**	
8.0	210	20	21	-85	250	25	72	- 155	3.2	170	50	144
12 0	220	16	21	-140	255	27	43	- 190	4	155	47	• •
b 6	225	18	36	115	245	- • •	**	-215	4.5	150	4.1	4.5
24 0	210	21	21	-65	250	4.4		- 140	3	180	50	

socket and then mount the Z-shaped partition in place.

### Testing

For 50-Mc, operation, the crystal frequency must lie within one of the following ranges: 8.333 to 9.0 Mc.; 12.5 to 13.5 Mc.; 25.0 to 27.0 Mc. With a small B battery for fixed bias and a 300volt supply connected to the exciter, but not the amplifier, tuning of the exciter at 50 Mc. requires only that  $C_5$  and  $C_{12}$  be resonated at 25 and 50 Mc, respectively. The chart shows the approximate operating conditions for the 5763s.

Before testing the amplifier, turn the supply off and connect a jumper between Pins 3 and 5 of  $J_2$ , and connect a 115-volt 10-watt lamp to the output connector.  $S_1$  should be set at the 50-Mc, position. Apply power and resonate  $C_{17}$ , indicated by a dip in plate current. This should come well toward minimum capacitance. Set  $C_{18}$  near full capacitance and retune  $C_{17}$  for resonance. (The amplifier data in the chart were taken with the dummy load. In operation, the currents will depend upon loading.) If biasing voltages are checked, use a v.t.v.m., or a general-purpose test instrument with a radio-frequency choke inductance of at least 1 mh, connected in series.

In tuning up for 144-Mc, output, work with the exciter stages only at first, using a crystal in any one of the following frequency ranges: 8.0 to 8.222 Mc.; 12.0 to 12.333 Mc.; 24 to 24.666 Mc. If a 12-Mc, crystal is selected, the oscillator may be tuned to either 24 or 36 Mc. In either case, the multiplier must be tuned to 72 Mc, by  $C_{12}$ . The oscillator is always tuned to 24 Mc, with crystals in the 8- and 24-Mc, ranges.

In checking amplifier operation at 144 Mc.,  $S_1$  must be in the 144-Mc. position. The plate current will show a relatively small dip at resonance on this band. For resonance, condensers  $C_{17}$  and  $C_{18}$  will be set well toward minimum capacitance.

### Antenna

The tuned-link output circuit is designed for use with low-impedance antenna systems, so quarter-wave whips are recommended. A logical system for mobile work would make use of a twosection 50-Mc, whip that can be reduced to 144-Mc, dimensions by removing a top section.

Fig. 20-25 shows the circuit of an appropriate modulator.



Fig. 20-25 — Circuit of a modulator for the 50- and 141-Me, mobile transmitter, Pin numbers on modulation transformer leads refer to  $J_2$  in Fig. 20-22.

 $T_1$  — Driver transformer; parallel 6N7 to Class B 6N7 grids (Stancor A-4702).

T<sub>2</sub> — Class B modulation transformer (Stancor A-3845; 5000-ohm tap),

# Mobile Power Supply

By far the majority of amateur mobile installations depend upon the car storage battery as the source of power. The tube types used in equipment are chosen so that the filaments or heaters may be operated directly from the battery. High voltage may be obtained from a supply of the vibrator-transformer-rectifier type or from a small motor-generator operating from the battery.

### Filaments

Because tubes with directly-heated cathodes (filament-type tubes) have the advantage that they can be turned off during receiving periods and thereby reduce the average load on the battery, they are preferred by some for transmitter applications. However, the choice of types with direct heating is limited, especially among those for 6-volt operation, and the saving may not always be as great as anticipated, because directly-heated tubes may require greater filament power than those of equivalent rating with indirectly-heated cathodes. In most cases, the power required for transmitter filaments will be quite small compared to the total power consumed.

#### Plate Power

Under steady running conditions, the vibrator-transformer-rectifier system and the motor-generator-type plate supply operate with approximately the same efficiency. However, for the same power, the motor-generator's over-all efficiency may be somewhat lower because it draws a heavier starting current. On the other hand, the output of the generator requires less filtering and sometimes trouble is experienced in eliminating interference from the vibrator.

Converter units, both in the vibrator and rotating types, are also available. These operate at 6 or 12 volts d.e. and deliver 115 volts a.e. This permits operating standard a.e.-powered equipment in the car. Although these systems have the advantage of flexibility, they are less efficient than the previously-mentioned systems because of the additional losses introduced by the transformers used in the equipment.

### Mobile Power Considerations

Since the ear storage battery is a low-voltage source, this means that the current drawn from the battery for even a moderate amount of power will be large. Therefore, it is important that the resistance of the 6-volt circuit be held to a minimum by the use of heavy conductors, no longer than necessary, and good solid connections. A heavy-duty relay should be used in the line between the battery and the plate-power unit. An ordinary toggle switch, located in any convenient position, may then be used for the power control. A second relay may sometimes be advisable for switching the filaments. If the power unit must be located at some distance from the battery (in the trunk, for instance) the 6-volt cable should be of the heavy military type.

A complete mobile installation may draw 30 to 40 amperes or more from the 6-volt battery. This requires a considerably increased demand from the car's battery-charging generator. The voltage-regulator systems on cars of recent years will take care of a moderate increase in demand if the car is driven fair distances regularly at a speed great enough to insure maximum charging rate. However, if much of the driving is in urban areas at slow speed, or at night, it may be necessary to modify the charging system. Special communications-type generators, such as those used in police-car installations, are designed to charge at a high rate at slow engine speeds. The charging rate of the standard system can be increased within limits by tightening up slightly on the voltage-regulator and currentregulator springs. This should be done with caution, however, checking for excessive generator temperature or abnormal sparking at the commutator. The average car generator has a rating of 35 amperes, but it may be possible to adjust the regulator so that the generator will at least hold even with the transmitter, receiver, lights. heater, etc., all operating at the same time.

Another scheme that has been used to increase generator output at slow driving speeds is to decrease slightly the diameter of the gencrator pulley. This means, of course, that the generator will be running above normal at high driving speeds. Some generators will not stand the higher speed without damage.

If higher transmitter power is used, it may be necessary to install an a.e. charging system. In this system, the generator delivers a.e. and works into a rectifier. A charging rate of 75 amperes is easily obtained. Commutator trouble often experienced with d.e. generators at high current is avoided, but the cost of such a system is rather high.

Some mobile operators prefer to use a separate battery for the radio equipment. Such a system can be arranged with a switch that cuts the auxiliary battery in parallel with the ear battery for charging at times when the ear battery is lightly loaded. The auxiliary battery can also be charged at home when not in use.

A tip: many mobile operators make a habit of carrying a pair of heavy cables five or six feet long, fitted with clips to make a connection to the battery of another car in case the operator's battery has been allowed to run too far down for starting.

(See power-supply chapter, vibrator supplies.)

### **CHAPTER 20**

# The Mobile Antenna

For mobile operation in the range between 1.8 and 30 Mc., the vertical whip antenna is almost universally used. Since longer whips present mechanical difficulties, the length is usually limited to a dimension that will resonate as a quarterwave antenna in the 10-meter band. The car body serves as the ground connection. This antenna length is approximately 8 feet.



With the whip length adjusted to resonance in the 10-meter band, the impedance at the feed point, X, Fig. 20-26, will appear as a pure resistance at the resonant frequency. This resistance will be composed almost entirely of radiation resistance (see index), and the efficiency will be high. However, at frequencies lower than the resonant frequency, the antenna will show an increasingly large capacitive reactance and a decreasingly small radiation resistance.



Fig. 20-27 — At frequencies below the resonant frequency, the whip antenna will show capacitive reactance as well as resistance.  $R_{\rm R}$  is the radiation resistance, and  $C_{\rm A}$  represents the capacitive reactance.

The equivalent circuit is shown in Fig. 20–27. For the average 8-ft, whip, the reactance of the capacitance,  $C_A$ , may range from about 150 ohms at 21 Mc, to as high as 8000 ohms at 1.8 Mc, while the radiation resistance,  $R_R$ , varies from about 15 ohms at 21 Mc, to as low as 0.1 ohm at 1.8 Mc. Since the resistance is low, considerable current must flow in the circuit if any appreciable power is to be dissipated as radiation in the resistance. Yet it is apparent that little current can be made to flow in the circuit so long as the comparatively high series reactance remains.



### Eliminating Reactance

The capacitive reactance can be canceled out by connecting an equivalent inductive reactance.  $I_{1,i}$ , in series, as shown in Fig. 20-28, thus tuning the system to resonance.

Unfortunately, all coils have resistance, and this resistance will be added in series, as indicated at  $R_{\rm C}$  in Fig. 20-29. While a large coil may radiate some energy, thus adding to the radiation resistance, the latter will usually be negligible compared to the loss resistance introduced. However, adding the coil makes it possible to feed power to the circuit.

### Ground Loss

Another element in the circuit dissipating power is the ground-loss resistance. Fundamentally, this is related to the nature of the soil in the area under the antenna. Little information



Fig. 20-29 — Equivalent circuit of a loaded whip antenna,  $C_A$  represents the capacitive reactance of the antenna,  $L_L$  an equivalent inductive reactance. Rc is the loading-coil resistance,  $R_G$  the ground-loss resistance, and  $R_R$  the radiation resistance.

is available on the values of resistance to be expected in practice, but some measurements have shown that it may amount to as much as 10 or 12 ohms at 4 Mc. At the lower frequencies, it may constitute the major resistance in the circuit.

Fig. 20-29 shows the circuit including all of the elements mentioned above. Assuming  $C_{\rm A}$  lossless and the loss resistance of the coil to be represented by  $R_{\rm C}$ , it is seen that the power output of the transmitter is divided among three resistances —  $R_{\rm C}$ , the coil resistance:  $R_{\rm G}$ , the ground-loss resistance: and  $R_{\rm R}$ , the radiation resistance. Only the power dissipated in  $R_{\rm R}$  is radiated. The power



Fig. 20.30 — Graph showing the approximate capacitance of short vertical antennas for various diameters and lengths. These values should be approximately halved for a center-loaded antenna.

# MOBILE EQUIPMENT

			alues for 8-f			
		1	Base Loading	I		
ſke.	Loading Lub,	Re (Q50) Ohms	Rc (Q300) Ohms	R <sub>R</sub> Ohms	Feed R* Ohms	Matching Luh.*
1800	345	77	13	0.1	23	3
3800	77	37	6.1	0.35	16	1.2
7200	20	18	3	1,35	15	0.6
14,200	4.5	7.7	1.3	5.7	12	0.28
21,250	1.25	3,4	0,5	14.8	16	0.28
29,000					36	0.23
		C	enter Loadin	a		
1800	700	158	23	0.2	34	3.7
3800	150	72	12	0.8	22	1.4
7200	40	36	6	3	19	0.7
14,200	8.6	15	2.5	11	19	0.35
21,250	2.5	6.6	1.1	27	29	0.29

 $R_{\rm C}$  = Loading-coil resistance;  $R_{\rm R}$  = Radiation resistance.

\* Assuming loading coil Q = 300, and including estimated ground-loss resistance.

Suggested coil dimensions for the required loading inductances are shown in a following table.

developed in  $R_{\rm C}$  and  $R_{\rm G}$  is dissipated in heat. Therefore, it is important that the latter two resistances be minimized,

### MINIMIZING LOSSES

There is little that can be done about the nature of the soil. However, poor electrical contact between large surfaces of the car body, and especially between the point where the feed line is grounded and the rest of the body, can add materially to the ground-loss resistance. For example, the feed line, which should be grounded as close to the base of the antenna as possible, may be connected to the bumper, while the bumper may have poor contact with the rest of the body because of rust or paint.

### Loading Coils

The accompanying table shows the approximate loading-coil inductance required for the various bands. The graph of Fig. 20-30 shows the approximate capacitance of whip antennas of various average diameters and lengths. For 1.8, 4 and 7 Me., the loading-coil inductance required (when the loading coil is at the base) will be approximately the inductance required to resonate in the desired band with the whip capacitance taken from the graph. For 14 and 21 Me., this rough calculation will give more than the required inductance, but it will serve as a starting point for final experimental adjustment that must always be made.

Also shown in the table are approximate values of radiation resistance to be expected with an

8-ft. whip, and the resistances of loading coils — one group having a Q of 50, the other a Q of 300. A comparison of radiation and coil resistances will show the importance of reducing the coil resistance to a minimum, especially on the three lowerfrequency bands.

To minimize loadingcoil loss, the coil should have a high ratio of reactance to resistance, i.e., high Q. A 4-Mc, loading coil wound with small wire on a small-diameter solid form of poor quality, and enclosed in a metal protector, may have a Q as low as 50, with a resistance of 50 ohms or more, High-Q coils require a large conductor, "airwound" construction. turns spaced, the best insulating material available, a diameter not less than half the length of the coil (not always mechan-

ically feasible), and a minimum of metal in the field. Such a coil for 4 Mc, may show a Q of 300 or more, with a resistance of 12 ohms or less. This reduction in loading-coil resistance may be equivalent to increasing the transmitter power by 3 times or more. Most low-loss transmitter plug-in coils of the 100-watt size or larger, commercially produced, show a Q of this order. Where larger inductance values are required, lengths of lowloss space-wound coils are available (B & W).

	Suggested Loading-Coil Dimensions				
$\frac{Req^{*}d}{L_{\mathrm{ub}}},$	Turns	Wire Siz <b>g</b>	Diam, In,	Length In.	Form or B & W Type
700	190	22	3	10	Polystyrene
345	135	18	3	10	Polystyrene
150	100	16	21/2	10	Polystyrene
77	75	$\frac{14}{12}$	21/2	10	Polystyrene
77	29		5	4¼	160T
40	28	$\frac{16}{12}$	21/2	2	80B less 7 t.
40	34		21/2	41⁄4	80T
20	17	$\frac{16}{12}$	21/2	11/4	80B less 18 t,
20	22		21/2	23/4	80T less 12 t.
8.6	16	$\frac{14}{12}$	2	2	40B less 4 t.
8.6	15		21⁄2	3	40T less 5 t,
4.5	10	14	2	$\frac{1\frac{1}{4}}{4}$	40B less 10 t,
4.5	12	12	21⁄2		40T
2.5	8	$^{12}_{6}$	2	2	15B
2.5	8		2 <sup>8</sup> /8	41⁄2	15T
1.25	6	$\frac{12}{6}$	1 <sup>8</sup> / <sub>4</sub>	2	10B
1.25	6		2 <sup>8</sup> / <sub>8</sub>	41⁄2	10T

### Center Loading

The radiation resistance of the whip can be approximately doubled by placing the loading coil at the center of the whip, rather than at the base, as shown in Fig. 20-31. (The optimum position varies with ground resistance. The center is optimum for average ground resistance.) However, the inductance of the loading coil must be



approximately doubled over the value required at the base to tune the system to resonance. For a coil of the same Q, the coil resistance will also be doubled. But, even if this is the case, center loading represents a gain in antenna efficiency, especially at the lower frequencies. This is because the ground-loss resistance remains the same, and the increased radiation resistance becomes a larger portion of the total circuit resistance, even



Fig. 20-32 — The top-loaded 4-Mc, antenna used by W6SCN. The loading coil is a B & W transmitting coil. The coil can be tuned by the variable link which is connected in series with the two halves of the coil.

though the coil resistance also increases. However, as turns are added to a loading coil (other factors being equal) the inductance (and therefore the reactance) increases at a greater rate than the resistance, and the larger coil will usually have a higher Q.

### Top Loading Capacitance

Since the coil resistance varies with the inductance of the loading coil, the coil resistance can be reduced by reducing the number of turns. This can be done, while still maintaining resonance, by adding capacitance to the portion of the antenna above the coil. This capacitance can be provided by attaching a capacitive surface



Fig. 20-33 — Capacitances of spheres, disks and cylinders in free space. These values are approximately those to be expected when used with top-loaded whip antennas. The cylinder length is assumed to be equal to its diameter.

as high up on the antenna as is mechanically feasible. Capacitive "hats," as they are usually called, may consist of a light-weight metal ball, cylinder, disk, or wheel structure as shown in Fig. 20-32. Fig. 20-33 shows the approximate added capacitance to be expected from toploading devices of various forms and dimensions. This should be added to the capacitance of the whip above the loading coil (from Fig. 20-30) in determining the approximate inductance of the loading coil.

When center loading is used, the amount of capacitance to be added to permit the use of the same loading inductance required for base loading is not great, and should be seriously considered, since the total gain made by moving the coil to the center of the antenna may be quite marked.

### Tuning the Band

Especially at the lower frequencies, where the resistance in the circuit is low compared to the coil reactance, the antenna will represent a very high-Q circuit, making it necessary to retune for relatively small changes in frequency. While many methods have been devised for tuning the whip over a band, one of the simplest and most efficient is shown in the sketches of Figs. 20-34 and 20-35, and the photograph of Fig. 20-37. In this case, a standard B & W plug-in coil is used as the loading coil. A length of large-diameter

# **MOBILE EQUIPMENT**



Fig. 20.34 — Details of rod construction. Dimensions can be varied to suit the whip diameter and the builder's convenience. Adjustment of rod lengths is described in the text.

polystyrene rod is drilled and tapped to fit between the upper and lower sections of the antenna. The assembly also serves to clamp a pair of metal brackets on each side of the polystyrene block that serve both as support and connections to the loading-coil jack bar.

A 1%-inch steel rod, about 15 inches long, is brazed to each of two large-diameter washers with holes to pass the threaded end of the upper section. The rods form a loading capacitance that varies as the upper rod is swung away from the lower one, the latter being stationary. Enough variation in tuning can be obtained to cover the 80-meter band. Fig. 20-34 shows the top washer slightly smaller to facilitate marking a frequency scale on the stationary washer, after the upper



Fig. 20-35 — Construction details of the mounting for the rods and plug-in coil.

washer has been marked with an index. After the movable rod has been set, it is clamped in position by tightening up the upper antenna section. The plug-in mounting provides a convenient means of changing loading coils to go to another band.

### FEEDING THE ANTENNA

It is usually found most convenient to feed the whip antenna with coax line. Unless very low-Q loading coils are used, the feed-point impedance will always be appreciably lower than 52 ohms — the characteristic impedance of the commonly-used coax line, RG-8/U or RG-58/U. Since the length of the transmission line will seldom exceed 10 ft., the losses involved will be negligible, even at 29 Mc., with a fairly-high s.w.r. However, unless a line of this length is made reasonably flat, difficulty may be encountered in obtaining sufficient coupling with a link to load the transmitter output stage.

One method of obtaining a match is shown in Fig. 20-36. A small inductance, *L*<sub>M</sub>, is inserted at



the base of the antenna, the loading-coil inductance being reduced correspondingly to maintain resonance. The line is then tapped on the coil at a point where the desired loading is obtained. The table shows the approximate inductance to be used between the line tap and ground. It is advisable to make the experimental matching coil larger than the value shown, so that there will be provision for varying either side of the proper position. The matching coil can also be of the plug-in type for changing bands.

### Adjustment

For operation in the bands from 29 to 1.8 Me., the whip should first be resonated at 29 Me. with the matching coil inserted, but the line disconnected, using a grid-dip oscillator coupled to the matching coil. Then the line should be attached, and the tap varied to give proper loading, using a link at the transmitter end of the line whose reactance is approximately 52 ohms at the operating frequency, tightly coupled to the output tank circuit. After the proper position for the tap has been found, it may be necessary to readjust the antenna length slightly for resonance. This can be checked on a field-strength meter several feet away from the car.

The same procedure should be followed for each of the other bands, first resonating, with the g.d.o. coupled to the matching coil, by adjusting the loading coil.

# 456



### **CHAPTER 20**

•

Fig. 20-37 — W8AU N's adjustable capacity hat for tuning the whip antenna over a band. The coil is a B & W type B 160-meter coil, with a turn or two removed. Spreading the rods apart increases the capacitance. This simple top loader has sufficient capacitance to permit the use of approximately the same loading-coil inductance at the center of the antenna as would normally be required for base loading.

After the position of the matching tap has been found, the size of the matching coil can be reduced to only that portion between the tap and ground, if desired. If turns are removed here, it will be necessary to reresonate with the loading coil.

If an entirely flat line is desired, a s.w.r. indicator should be used while adjusting the line tap. With a good match, it should not be necessary to readjust for resonance after the line tap has been set.

It should be emphasized that the figures shown in the table are only approximate and may be altered considerably depending on the type of ear on which the antenna is mounted and the spot at which the antenna is placed.

### ANTENNAS FOR 50 AND 144 MC.

A common type of antenna employed for mobile operation on 50 and 144 Mc, is the quarter-wave radiator which is fed with a coaxial line. The antenna, which may be a flexible telescoping "fish pole," is mounted in any of several places on the car. Quite a good match may be obtained by this method with the 50-ohm coaxial line now available; however, it is well to provide some means of tuning the system, so that all variables can be taken care of. The simplest tuning arrangement consists of a variable condenser connected between the low side of the transmit-



ter coupling coil and ground, as shown in Fig. 20-38. This condenser should have a maximum capacitance of 75 to 100  $\mu\mu$ fd. for 50 Me., and should be adjusted for maximum loading with the least coupling to the transmitter. Some method of varying the coupling to the transmitter should be provided.

### Bibliography

- Beirose, "Short Antennas for Mobile Operation," QST, Sept., 1953.
- Roberge & McConnell, "Let's Go High Hat!," QST, Jan., 1952.
- Dinsmore, "The 'Hot-Rod' Mobile Antenna," QST, Sept., 1953.
- Swafford, "Improved Coax Feed for Low-Frequency Mobile Antennas," QST, Dec., 1951.

# Measurements

It is practically impossible to operate an amateur station without making measurements at one time or another, even though the methods used may be quite crude. An example of a simple measurement is one that determines whether an amplifier stage in a transmitter is properly tuned; it can be done with no more elaborate equipment than a flashlight lamp and a piece of wire, but whatever the method used, a measurement is essential because the circuit itself gives no visible indication of the state of its tuning. The more refined the measuring equipment and methods, the more information can be obtained, and with more information at hand it becomes possible to adjust a piece of equipment for optimum performance more quickly and surely. Measuring and test equipment is especially valuable in building and in the initial adjustment of radio gear, and in locating and correcting breakdowns and faults.

The basic measurements are those of current, voltage, and frequency. Determination of the values of circuit elements — resistance, inductance and capacitance — are almost equally important. The inspection of waveform in audiofrequency circuits is highly useful. For these purposes there is available a wide assortment of instruments, both complete and in kit form; the latter, particularly, compare very favorably in cost with strictly home-built instruments and are frequently more satisfactory both in appearance and calibration. The instruments described in this chapter are ones having features of particular usefulness in amateur applications.

In using any instrument it should always be kept in mind that there is no such thing as an "absolute" measurement, and that measurements depend not only on the inherent accuracy of the instrument itself (which, in the case of commercially built units is usually within a few per cent, and in any event should be specified by the manufacturer) but also the conditions under which the measurement is made. Large errors can be introduced by failing to recognize the existence of conditions that affect the instrument readings. The instrument can only record what it sees  $\rightarrow$ and what it sees may be something quite different from what the operator thinks it sees. This is particularly true in certain types of r.f. measurements, where there are many stray effects that are hard to eliminate.

## D.C. Measurements

A direct-current instrument — voltmeter, ammeter, milliammeter or microammeter — is a device in which magnetic force is used to deflect a pointer over a calibrated scale in proportion to the current flowing. In the **D'Arsonval** type a coil of wire, to which the pointer is attached, is pivoted between the poles of a permanent magnet, and when current flows through the coil it causes a magnetic field that interacts with that of the magnet to cause the coil to turn. The turning force is exerted against a spiral spring attached to the coil and the pointer deflection is directly proportional to the current.

A less expensive type of instrument is the **moving-vane** type, in which a pivoted iron vane is pulled into a coil of wire by the magnetic field set up when current flows through the coil. The farther the vane extends into the coil the greater the magnetic force on it, for a given change in current, so this type of instrument does not have "linear" deflection — that is, the scale is cramped at the low-current end and spread out at the high-current end.

The same basic instrument is used for measuring either current or voltage. Good-quality instruments are made with fairly high sensitivity that is, they give full-scale pointer deflection with very small currents — when intended to be used as voltmeters. The sensitivity of instruments intended for measuring large currents can be lower, but a highly sensitive instrument can be, and frequently is, used for measurement of currents much greater than needed for full-scale deflection.

### **VOLTMETERS**

Only a fraction of a volt is required for fullscale deflection of a sensitive instrument (1 milliampere or less full scale) so a high resistance is connected in series with it, Fig. 21-1, for measur-



Fig. 21-1 — How voltmeter multipliers and milliammeter shunts are connected to extend the range of a d.c. meter.

ing voltage. Knowing the current and the resistance, the voltage can easily be ealculated from Ohm's Law. The meter is calibrated in terms of the voltage drop across the series resistor or multiplier. Practically any desired full-scale voltage range can be selected by proper choice of multiplier resistance, and voltmeters frequently have several ranges selected by a switch.

The sensitivity of the voltmeter is usually expressed in "ohms per volt." A sensitivity of 1000 ohms per volt means that the resistance of the voltmeter is 1000 times the full-scale voltage, and by Ohm's Law the current required for full-scale deflection is 1 milliampere. A sensitivity of 20,000 ohms per volt, another commonly used value, means that the instrument is a 50-micro-ampere meter. The higher the resistance of the voltmeter the more accurate the measurements



Fig. 21-2 — Effect of voltmeter resistance on accuracy of readings, It is assumed that the d.c. resistance of the screen circuit is constant at 100 kilohms. The actual current and voltage without the voltmeter connected are 1 ma, and 100 volts. The voltmeter readings will differ because the different types of meters draw different amounts of current through the L50-kilohm resistor.

in high-resistance circuits, because the current taken by the voltmeter may cause the voltage to differ from its value with the voltmeter disconnected. This is shown in Fig. 21-2.

The required multiplier resistance is found by dividing the desired full-scale voltage by the current, in amperes, required for full-scale deflection of the meter alone. Strictly, the internal resistance of the meter should be subtracted from the value so found, but this is seldom necessary (except perhaps for very low ranges) because the meter resistance will be negligibly small compared with the multiplier resistance. An exception is when the instrument is already provided with an internal multiplier, in which case the multiplier resistance required to extend the range is

$$R = R_{\rm m}(n-1)$$

where R is the multiplier resistance,  $R_{\rm m}$  is the total resistance of the instrument itself, and n is the factor by which the scale is to be multiplied. For example, if a 1000-ohms-per-volt voltmeter having a calibrated range of 0-10 volts is to be extended to 1000 volts,  $R_{\rm m}$  is 1000 × 10 = 10,000 ohms, n is 1000/10 = 100, and R = 10,000(100-1) = 990,000 ohms.

If a milliammeter is to be used as a voltmeter, the value of series resistance can be found by Ohm's Law:

$$R = \frac{1000E}{I}$$

where E is the desired full-scale voltage and I the full-scale reading of the instrument in milliamperes.

# **CHAPTER 21**

The accuracy of a voltmeter depends on the calibration accuracy of the instrument itself and the accuracy of the multiplier resistors. Precision wire-wound resistors are used in high-quality instruments, but for most purposes standard ½or 1-watt composition resistors will make an acceptable and economical substitute. Such resistors are supplied in tolerances of 5, 10 or 20 per cent  $\pm$  the marked values. By obtaining matched pairs from the dealer's stock, one of which is, for example, 4 per cent low while the other is 4 per cent high, and using the pairs in parallel or series to obtain the required value of resistance, good accuracy can be obtained at small cost. High-voltage multipliers are preferably made up of several resistors in series; this not only raises the breakdown voltage but tends to average out errors in the individual resistors attributable to manufacturing tolerances.

### MILLIAMMETERS AND AMMETERS

A microammeter or milliammeter can be used to measure currents larger than its full-scale reading by connecting a resistance shunt across its terminals as shown in Fig. 21-4. This diverts part of the current through the shunt, and the total current is the sum of that through the shunt and that through the meter. Knowing the meter resistance and the shunt resistance, the relative currents can easily be calculated.

The value of shunt resistance required for a given full-scale current range is given by

$$R = \frac{R_{\rm m}}{n-1}$$

where R is the shunt,  $R_m$  is the internal resistance of the meter, and u is the factor by which the original meter scale is to be multiplied. The internal resistance of a milliammeter is preferably determined from the manufacturer's catalog, but if this information is not available it can be determined by the method shown in Fig. 21-3. Do not use an ohmmeter to measure the internal resistance of a milliammeter; it may ruin the instrument.



Fig. 21-3 — Determining the internal resistance of a milliammeter or microammeter.  $R_1$  is an adjustable resistor having a maximum value about twice that necessary for limiting the current to full scale with  $R_2$  disconnected; adjust it for exactly full-scale reading. Then connect  $R_2$  and adjust it for exactly half-scale reading. The resistance of  $R_2$  is then equal to the internal resistance of the meter, and the resistor may be removed from the circuit and measured separately. Internal resistances vary from a few ohms to several hundred ohms, depending on the sensitivity of the instrument.

# **MEASUREMENTS**

Homemade milliammeter shunts can be constructed from any of the various special kinds of resistance wire, or from ordinary copper wire if no resistance wire is available. The Copper Wire Table in the data chapter gives the resistance per 1000 feet for various sizes of copper wire. After computing the resistance required, determine the smallest wire size that will carry the full-scale current (at 250 circular mils per ampere). Measure off enough wire (pulled tight but not stretched) to provide the required resistance. Accuracy can be checked by causing enough current to flow through the meter to make it read full scale without the shunt; connecting the shunt should then give the correct reading on the new full-scale range.

Any current-measuring instrument should have very low resistance compared with the resistance of the circuit being measured; otherwise, inserting the instrument will cause the current to differ from its value with the instrument out of the circuit. (This does not matter if the instrument is left permanently in the circuit.)



Fig. 21-4 — Voltmeter method of measuring current. This method permits using relatively large values of resistance in the shunt, standard values of fixed resistors frequently being usable. If the multiplier resistance is 20 times the shunt resistance (or more) the error in assuming that all the current flows through the shunt will not be of consequence in most practical applications.

However, the resistance of many circuits in radio equipment is quite high and the circuit operation is affected little, if at all, by adding as much as a few hundred ohms in series. In such cases the voltmeter method of measuring current, shown in Fig. 21-4, is frequently convenient. A voltmeter — or low-range millianmeter provided with a multiplier and operating as a voltmeter — having a full-scale voltage range of a few volts, is used to measure the voltage drop across a comparatively high resistance acting as a shunt. The formula above is used for finding the proper value of shunt resistance for a given scale-multiplying factor,  $R_{\rm m}$  in this case being the multiplier resistance.

### D.C. Power

Power in direct-current circuits is determined by measuring the current and voltage. When these are known, the power is equal to the voltage in volts multiplied by the current in amperes. If the current is measured with a milliammeter, the reading must be divided by 1000 to convert it to amperes.

### RESISTANCE MEASUREMENTS

Measurement of d.e. resistance is based on measuring the current through the resistance when a known voltage is applied, then using Ohm's Law. A simple circuit is shown in Fig. 21-5.



Fig. 21-5 — Measuring resistance with a voltmeter and milliammeter. If the approximate resistance is known the voltage can be selected to cause the milliammeter, M.t, to read about half scale. If not, additional resistance should be first connected in series with R to limit the current to a safe value for the milliammeter. The set-up then measures the total resistance, and the value of R can be found by subtracting the known additional resistance from the total.

The internal resistance of the ammeter or milliammeter, MA, should be low compared with the resistance, R, being measured, since the voltage read by the voltmeter, V, is the voltage across MA and R in series. The instruments and the d.e. voltage should be chosen so that the readings are in the upper half of the scale, if possible, since the percentage error is less in this region.

An **ohmmeter** is an instrument consisting fundamentally of a voltmeter (or milliammeter, depending on the circuit used) and a small dry battery as a source of d.c. voltage, calibrated so the value of an unknown resistance can be read



Fig. 21.6 — Ohmmeter circuits. Values are discussed in the text.

directly from the scale. Typical ohmmeter cireuits are shown in Fig. 21-6. In the simplest type, shown in Fig. 21-6A, the meter and battery are connected in series with the unknown resistance. If a given deflection is obtained with terminals A-B shorted, inserting the resistance to be measured will cause the meter reading to decrease, When the resistance of the voltmeter is known. the following formula can be applied:

$$R = \frac{eR_{\rm m}}{E} - R_{\rm m}$$

- where R is the resistance under measurement. e is the voltage applied (A-B shorted). E is the voltmeter reading with R con
  - nected, and
  - $R_{\rm m}$  is the resistance of the voltmeter.

The circuit of Fig. 21-6A is not suited to measuring low values of resistance (below a hundred ohms or so) with a high-resistance voltmeter. For such measurements the circuit of Fig. 21-6B can be used. The milliammeter should be a 0-4 ma, instrument, and  $R_1$  should be equal to the battery voltage, c, multiplied by 1000. The unknown resistance is

$$R = \frac{I_2 R_{\rm m}}{I_1 - I_2}$$

where R is the unknown.

- $R_{\rm in}$  is the internal resistance of the milliammeter.
- $I_1$  is the current in ma. with R disconnected from terminals A-B, and
- $I_2$  is the current in ma. with R connected.

The formula is approximate, but the error will be negligible if e is at least 3 volts so that  $R_{\perp}$  is at least 3000 ohms.

A third circuit for measuring resistance is shown in Fig. 21-6C. In this case a high-resistance voltmeter is used to measure the voltage drop across a reference resistor,  $R_2$ , when the unknown resistor is connected so that current flows through it,  $R_2$  and the battery in series. By suitable choice of  $R_2$  (low values for low resistance, high values for high-resistance unknowns) this circuit will give equally good results on all resistance values in the range from one ohm to several megohms, provided that the voltmeter resistance,  $R_{\rm m}$ , is always very high (50 times or more) compared with the resistance of  $R_2$ . A 20.000-ohms-per-volt instrument (50-µamp. movement) is generally used. Assuming that the current through the voltmeter is negligible compared with the current through  $R_2$ , the formula for the unknown is

$$R = \frac{eR_2}{E} - R_2$$

where R and  $R_2$  are as shown in Fig. 21-6C,

- e is the voltmeter reading with A-Bshorted, and
- E is the voltmeter reading with Rconnected.

The "zero adjuster,"  $R_1$ , is used to set the

# CHAPTER 21

voltmeter reading exactly to full scale when the meter is calibrated in ohms. A 10,000-ohm variable resistor is suitable with a 20,000ohms-per-volt meter. The battery voltage is usually 3 volts for ranges up to 100,000 ohms or so and 6 volts for higher ranges.

### **Combination Instruments**

Since the same basic instrument is used for measuring current, voltage and resistance, the three functions can readily be combined in one unit using a single meter. Various models of the "VOM" (volt-ohm-milliammeter) are available commercially, the less expensive ones using a 0-1 milliammeter. A simple circuit based on such a meter is shown in Fig. 21-7. It has five current



Fig. 21-7 — Diagram of the volt-ohm-millianmeter.

- $R_1$ 2000-ohm wire-wound variable.
- $\mathbb{R}_2$ 3000 ohms, 1/2 watt.
- $R_3 =$ 10-ma. shunt, 6.11 ohms (see text).
- 100-ma. shunt, 0.555 ohm (see text). R4 ----
- 1000-ma, shunt, 0.055 ohm (see text). R5 ----
- $R_6 = 1000$ -volt multiplier, 0.9 megohm,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt. R<sub>7</sub> = 100-volt multiplier, 90,000 ohms,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt. R<sub>8</sub> = 10-volt multiplier, 10,000 ohms,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt.

- B 4.5-volt dry battery. S1A -B 9-point 2-pole selector switch. MA 0-1 milliammeter.

ranges, from 1 ma. to 1 ampere, three voltage ranges, 10 volts to 1000 volts, and two resistance ranges. Fig. 21-8 shows the ohmmeter calibration; the low-ohms curve is for a meter having an internal resistance of 55 ohms and should be calculated from the formula above (Fig. 21-6B) for instruments of different resistance.

Ordinary carbon resistors can be used as voltmeter multipliers, connecting them in series or parallel to obtain a given value. The 10-, 100and 1000-ma, shunts can be made of copper wire wound on small forms. The approximate lengths and sizes of the wire for the shunts are as follows:  $R_3$ , 9 feet No. 38 enameled;  $R_4$ , 5 feet No. 30 enameled;  $R_5$ ,  $8\frac{1}{2}$  feet No. 18.

It is possible to buy special VOM scales to replace the 0-1 scale for certain types of milliammeters. In such case the circuit recommended for that scale should be used.

More expensive instruments use a 50-µamp. meter in the VOM, with large scales for easy reading. Such instruments frequently include a.c. scales as well, and in general are better purchased complete than made at home.

The VOM, even a very simple one, is among the most useful instruments for the amateur. Besides current and voltage measurements, it

# MEASUREMENTS



Fig. 21-8 — Calibration curve for the high- and lowresistance ranges of the volt-ohm-milliammeter.

can be used for checking continuity in circuits, for finding defective components before installation — shorted condensers, open or otherwise defective resistors, etc. — shorts or opens in wiring, and many other checks that, if applied during the construction of a piece of equipment, save much time and trouble. It is equally useful for servicing, when a component fails during regular operation.

### THE VACUUM-TUBE VOLTMETER

The usefulness of the vacuum-tube voltmeter (VTVM) is based on the fact that a vacuum tube can amplify without taking power from the source of voltage applied to its grid. It is therefore possible to have a voltmeter of extremely high resist-

V.D.C. R

≲R₂



Values to be used in the circuit depend consid-

- C1 0.002- to 0.005-µfd. mica. C2-0.01 µfd., 1000 to 2000 volts, paper or mica.  $R_1 = 1$  megohm,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt.  $R_1$  to  $R_5$ , inclusive — To give desired voltage ranges, totaling 10 megohms. 2 to 3 megohms. Re, Rz - $R_8 -$ - 10,000-ohm variable.  $R_9, R_{10} = 2000$  to 3000 onme.  $R_{11} = 5000$ - to 10,000-ohm poten-10,000 to 50,000 ohms. R12 A 50,000 ohm slider-type R14 -R<sub>13</sub>, wire-wound can be used. R<sub>15</sub> — 10 megohrus. R<sub>16</sub>-3 megohms. R<sub>17</sub> — 10-megohm variable. M - Microammeter, range from  $0-200 \mu \text{amp. to } 0-1 \text{ ma.}$ V<sub>1</sub> — Dual triode, 6SN7 or 12AU7.
  - V2 Dual diode, 6H6 or 6AL5.

ance, and thus take negligible current from the circuit under measurement, without using a d.e. instrument of exceptional sensitivity.

While there are several possible circuits, the one commonly used is shown in Fig. 21-9. A dual triode,  $V_1$ , is arranged so that, with no voltage applied to the left-hand grid, equal currents flow through both sections. Under this condition the two cathodes are at the same potential and no current flows through M. The currents can be adjusted to balance by potentiometer  $R_{\rm II}$ , which takes care of variations in the tube sections and in the values of cathode resistors  $R_9$  and  $R_{10}$ . When a voltage is applied to the left-hand grid the current through that tube section changes but the current through the other section remains unchanged, so the balance is upset and the meter indicates. The sensitivity of the meter is regulated by  $R_{8}$ , which serves to adjust the calibration.  $R_{12}$ , common to the cathodes of both tube sections, is a feed-back resistor that stabilizes the system and makes the readings linear.  $R_6$  and  $C_1$ form a filter for any a.c. component that may be present, and  $R_6$  is balanced by  $R_7$  connected to the grid of the second tube section.

To stay well within the linear range of operation the scale is limited to 3 volts or less in the average commercial instrument, Higher ranges are obtained by means of the voltage divider formed by  $R_1$  to  $R_5$ , inclusive. As many ranges as desired can be used. Common practice is to use 1 megohm at  $R_1$ , and to make the sum of  $R_2$  to  $R_5$ , inclusive, 10 megohms, thus giving a total resistance of 11 megohms, constant for all voltage

For measuring a.c. voltages the rectifier circuit shown at the lower left of Fig. 21-9 is used. One section of the double diode,  $V_2$ , is a half-wave rectifier and the second half acts as a balancing device, adjustable by  $R_{17}$ , to eliminate contact potential effects that would cause a constant d.c. voltage to appear at the VTVM grid. When measuring a.c.,  $R_8$  is usually set so that the r.m.s. a.c. calibration coincides with the d.c. calibration. A separate resistor is frequently switched in for the purpose.

ŚR₃ R<sub>6</sub> R<sub>7</sub> =Ci R₁3 ≷ ≶R4 1500+ ŚR₅ v Ri₄≶ R16 R<sub>17</sub> SRIO R V2 R12 Fig. 21-9 - Vacuum-tube voltmeter circuit.

erably on the supply voltage and the sensitivity of the meter, M.  $R_{12}$ , and  $R_{13}$ - $R_{14}$ , should be adjusted so that the voltmeter circuit can be brought to balance, and to give full-scale deflection on M with about 3 volts applied to the grid. The meter connections can be reversed to read voltages that are negative with respect to ground.

The VTVM has the disadvantage that it requires a source of power for its operation, as compared with a regular d.c. instrument. Also, it is susceptible to r.f. pick-up when working around an operating transmitter, unless well shielded and filtered. The fact that one of its terminals is grounded is also disadvantageous in some cases, since a.c. readings in particular may be inaccurate if an attempt is made to measure a circuit having both sides "hot" with respect to ground. Nevertheless, the high resistance of the VTVM more than compensates for these disadvantages, especially since in the majority of measurements they do not apply.

### CALIBRATION

When extending the range of a d.c. instrument calibration usually is necessary, although resistors for voltmeter multipliers often can be purchased to close-enough tolerances so that the new range will be accurately known. However, in calibrating an instrument such as a VTVM a known voltage must be available to provide a starting point. Fresh dry cells have an open-circuit terminal voltage of approximately 1.6 volts, and one or more of them may be connected in series to provide several calibration points on the low range. Gas regulator tubes in a power supply, such as the 0C3, 0D3, etc., also provide a stable source of voltage whose value is known within a few per cent. Once a few such points are determined the voltmeter ranges may be extended readily by adding multipliers or a voltage divider as appropriate.

Shunts for a milliammeter may be adjusted by first using the meter alone in series with a source of voltage and a resistor selected to limit the current to full scale. For example, a 0-1 milliammeter may be connected in series with a dry cell and a 2000-ohm variable resistor, the latter being adjusted to allow exactly 1 milliampere to flow. Then the shunt is added across the meter and its resistance adjusted to reduce the meter reading by exactly the scale factor, n. If n is 5, the shunt would be adjusted to make the meter read 0.2 milliampere, so the full-scale current will be 5 ma. Using the new scale, the second shunt is added to give the next range, the same procedure being followed. This can be carried on for several ranges, but it is advisable to check the meter on the highest range against a separate meter used as a standard, since the errors in this process tend to be cumulative.

## Measurement of Frequency and Wavelength

### ABSORPTION FREQUENCY METERS

The simplest possible frequency-measuring device is a resonant circuit, tunable over the desired frequency range and having its tuning dial calibrated in terms of frequency. It operates by extracting a small amount of energy from the oscillating circuit to be measured, the frequency being determined by the tuning setting at which the energy absorption is maximum (Fig. 21-10).

Although such an instrument is not capable of



Fig. 21-10 — Absorption frequency meter and a typical application. The meter consists simply of a calibrated resonant circuit *LC*. When coupled to an amplifier or oscillator the tube plate current will rise when the frequency meter is tuned to resonance. A flashlight lamp may be connected in series at X to give a visual indication, but it decreases the selectivity of the instrument and makes it necessary to use rather close coupling to the circuit being measured.

very high accuracy, because the Q of the tuned circuit cannot be high enough to avoid uncertainty in the exact setting and because any two coupled circuits interact to some extent and change each others' tuning, the **absorption wavemeter** or frequency meter is nevertheless a highly useful instrument. It is compact, inexpensive, and requires no power supply. There is no ambiguity in its indications, as is frequently the case with the heterodyne-type instruments described later.

When an absorption meter is used for checking a transmitter, the plate current of the tube connected to the circuit being checked can provide the necessary resonance indication. When the frequency meter is loosely coupled to the tank circuit the plate current will give a slight upward flicker as the meter is tuned through resonance. The accuracy is greatest when the loosest possible coupling is used.

A receiver oscillator may be checked by tuning in a steady signal and heterodyning it to give a beat note as in ordinary c.w. reception. When the frequency meter is coupled to the oscillator coil and tuned through resonance the beat note will change. Again, the coupling should be made loose enough so that a justperceptible change in beat note is observed.

An approximate calibration for the wavemeter, adequate for most purposes, may be obtained by comparison with a calibrated re-

# **MEASUREMENTS**

ceiver. The usual receiver dial calibration is sufficiently accurate. A simple oscillator circuit covering the same range as the frequency meter will be useful in calibration. Set the receiver to a given frequency, tune the oscillator to zero beat at the same frequency, and adjust the frequency meter to resonance with the oscillator as described above. This gives one calibration point. When a sufficient number of such points has been obtained a graph may be drawn to show frequency vs. dial settings on the frequency meter.

### INDICATING WAVEMETERS

The plain absorption meter requires fairly close coupling to the oscillating circuit to affect the plate current of a tube sufficiently to give visual indication. The sensitivity of the instru-



Fig. 21-11 — Circuit diagram of indicating wavemeter. With the meter plug removed, it can be used as a compact absorption meter of the ordinary type.

C1-50-µµfd. variable (Hammarlund HF-50).

- C2, C3 0.001-µfd. disc ceramic.
- h - Open-circuit jack.
- MA D.e. milliammeter, 0–1 or less. P<sub>1</sub> 'Phone plug.

### Coil Data, L1

Freq. Range	Turns	Wire	Diameter	Turns/inch	Tap *
1.6- 4.2 Mc.	139	32 enam.	34 in.	Close-wound	32
3.6-10.5 Mc.	-40	32 enam.	34 in.	Close-wound	12
7 8-24.0 Mc.	-40	24 tinned	1/2 in.	32	- 14
17.8-52.0 Mc.	15	20 tinued	1/2 in.	16	5
38 -117 Mc.	4	20 tinned	յ∕ <u>s</u> in.	16	11/5
80 -270 Mc.	Hairpi	n of No. 14	wire, 🍫 in.	spacing, 2 inch	es long
	includi	ng coil form	pins. Tapp	ed 11⁄5 in. from (	round
	end.				

\* Turns from ground end.

Coil forms are Amphenol 24-5H, 34-in, diameter.

ment can be increased, by adding a rectifier and d.c. microammeter or milliammeter, to the point where very loose coupling will suffice for a good reading. A typical circuit for this purpose is given in Fig. 21-11, and Figs. 21-12 and 21-13 show how such an instrument can be constructed. For convenience in use, the tuned circuit is mounted in a small metal box that can be held in one hand for close coupling to a circuit. The d.e. meter can be connected or not as desired, since it is separate (it can also be mounted in a small box) so the instrument can be used either as a plain absorption meter or as an indicating-type meter.

The rectifier is a crystal diode, tapped down on the tuned-circuit coil to avoid excessive loading



Fig. 21-12 - A compact absorption wavemeter provided with a crystal rectifier and jack for an indicating meter. The meter can be mounted in a separate box, if desired. The dial is similar to that used on the grid-dip meter described later in this chapter.

of the circuit which would broaden the tuning. Tapping down also improves the sensitivity, by providing an approximate impedance match between the tuned circuit and the crystal-circuit load. By plugging a headset into the output jack ('phones having 2000 ohms or greater resistance should be used for greatest sensitivity) the wavemeter can be used as a monitor for modulated transmissions.

It is of course possible to mount the d.c. meter in the same unit with the wavemeter proper, but this increases the bulk and weight. The separate units have the advantage, also, that a long line can be used to connect the two, since such a line carries only d.c., so the meter can be placed at a remote point to pick up r.f. while the indicator is placed at the spot where adjustments are being made. This is frequently useful in antenna work, for example.

Where connection to an a.c. line is convenient, a VTVM can be used instead of the milliammeter or microammeter, and because of its high resistance will considerably increase the sensitivity and selectivity of the wavemeter.

In addition to the uses mentioned above, a meter of this type may be used for final adjust-



Fig. 21-13 - Inside the indicating-type wavemeter. The tuning condenser should be mounted as close as possible to the coil socket so the leads will be of negligible length. The box is  $15\% \times 25\% \times 4$  inclus.

ment of neutralization in r.f. amplifiers. For this purpose it may be loosely coupled to the plate tank coil. Alternatively,  $L_1$  may be removed and the final-amplifier link output terminals connected to the coil socket. The latter method tends to ensure that the pick-up is from the final tank coil only.

### LECHER WIRES

At very-high and ultrahigh frequencies it is possible to determine frequency by actually measuring the length of the waves generated. The measurement is made by observing standing waves on a two-wire parallel transmission line or **Lecher wires**. Such a line shows pronounced resonance effects, and it is possible to determine quite accurately the current loops (points of maximum current). The physical distance between two consecutive current loops is equal to one-half wavelength. Thus the wavelength can be read directly in meters (39.37 inches = 1 meter; 0.3937 inch = 1 cm.), or in centimeters for the very-short wavelengths.

The Lecher-wire line should be at least a wavelength long — that is, 7 feet or more on 144 Mc. — and should be entirely air-insulated except where it is supported at the ends. It may be made of copper tubing or of wires stretched tightly. The spacing between wires should not exceed about 2 per cent of the shortest wavelength to be measured. The positions of the current loops are found by means of a "shorting bar," which is simply a metal strip or knife edge which can be slid along the line to vary its effective length.

### Making Measurements

For measuring the frequency of a transmitter, a convenient and fairly sensitive indicator can be made by soldering the ends of a one-turn loop of wire, of about the same diameter as the transmitter tank coil, to a low-current flashlight bulb. The loop should be coupled to the tank coil to give a moderately bright glow. A coupling loop should be connected to the ends of the Lecher wires and brought near the tank coil, as shown in Fig. 21-15. Then the shorting bar should be slid along the wires outward from the transmitter until the lamp gives a sharp dip in brightness. This point should be marked and the shorting bar moved out until a second dip is obtained. The distance between the two points will be equal to half the wavelength. If the measurement is made in inches, the frequency will be

$$F_{\rm Mc.} = \frac{5905}{length \text{ (inches)}}.$$
  
length is measured in meters,  
150

If the

$$T_{Mc.} = \frac{150}{length (meters)}$$

In checking a superregenerative receiver, the Lecher wires may be similarly coupled to the receiver coil. In this case the resonance indication may be obtained by setting the receiver just to the point where the hiss is obtained, then as the bar is slid along the wires a spot will be found where the receiver goes out of oscillation. The distance between two such spots is equal to a half-wavelength.



Fig. 21-15 — Coupling a Lecher wire system to a transmitter tank coil. Typical standing-wave distribution is shown by the dashed line. The distance X between the positions of the shorting bar at the current loops equals one-half wavelength.

The shorting bar must be kept at right angles to the two wires. A sharp edge on the bar is desirable, since it not only helps make good contact but also definitely locates the *point* of contact.

Accurate readings result when the loosest possible coupling is used between the line and the tank coil. Careful measurement of the exact distance between two current loops also is essential.

### HETERODYNE METHODS

Heterodyne methods of frequency measurement make use of a stable oscillator generating either a known frequency or one that is variable over a known range. Measurement consists in comparing the unknown frequency with the known frequency of the oscillator, using an ordinary receiver for detecting both. This method is more accurate than others, because frequency



•

Fig. 21-14 — One end of a typical Lecher wire system. The wire is No. 16 baresolid-copper antenna wire (hard-drawn). The turnbuckles are held in place by a  $3\% \times 2$ -inch bolt through the anchor block. The other end of the line, which is connected to the pick-up loop, should be insulated.

## MEASUREMENTS



Fig. 21-16 - Circuit for crystal-controlled frequency standard. Tubes such as the 65K7, 6SH7, 6AU6, etc., are suitable.

- $C_1 -$ 50-µµfd, variable,
- 150-µµfd. mica. Co
- C3 0.0022-µfd. mica.
- C4 0.01-µfd. paper, C5 - 22-µµfd. mica.
- R - 0.47 megohm, 1/2 watt.

- $R_2 = 1000 \text{ ohms}, \frac{1}{2} \text{ watt.}$   $R_3 = 0.1 \text{ megohin}, \frac{1}{2} \text{ watt.}$   $R_4 = 0.15 \text{ megohin}, \frac{1}{2} \text{ watt.}$

differences of less than a cycle can be observed by aural (beat-note) methods, and the oscillator can be calibrated to practically any degree of precision by comparison with standard frequeneies transmitted from WWV and WWVII.

Care must be used in heterodyne frequency measurement because in most cases harmonics are used and the measured frequency can be in error by a large factor if the wrong harmonic is picked. Also, a superheterodyne receiver will give many spurious responses in the presence of a strong signal and harmonics, so these must be recognized and ignored in making measurements. In general, heterodyne methods are most useful in measuring frequency to a high degree of accuracy after the frequency is known approximately from other methods. The absorption wavemeter is useful for making the first approximation and thus eliminating the possible gross errors.

### Frequency Measurement with the Receiver

An ordinary receiver has the essential elements needed for frequency measurement. Its dial readings must be calibrated in terms of frequency, of course, before measurements can be made. Manufactured receivers are generally so calibrated; the accuracy of the calibration will vary with the receiver model, but if the receiver is well made and has good inherent stability, a bandspread dial calibration can be relied upon to within perhaps 0.2 per cent. For most accurate measurement, maximum response in the receiver should be determined by means of a carrier-operated tuning indicator (such as an S-meter), the receiver beat oscillator being turned off. If the receiver has a erystal filter, it should be set in a fairly "sharp" position to increase the accuracy.

When checking the frequency of your own transmitter, the receiving antenna should be disconnected so the signal will not overload or "block" the receiver. Also, the r.f. gain should be reduced as a further precaution against overloading. If the receiver still blocks without

an antenna the frequency may be checked by turning off the power amplifier and tuning in the oscillator alone. It is difficult to avoid blocking under almost any conditions with a regenerative receiver, and so this type is not very suitable for checking the frequency of one's own transmitter.

### THE HETERODYNE FREQUENCY METER

The heterodyne frequency meter is an oscillator with a precise frequency calibration. The oseillator must be so designed and constructed that it can be accurately calibrated and will retain its calibration over long periods of time.

The oscillator used in the frequency meter must be very stable. Mechanical considerations are most important in its construction. No matter how good the instrument may be electrically, its accuracy cannot be depended upon if the mechanical construction is flimsy. Frequency stability can be improved by avoiding the use of phenolic compounds and thermoplastics (bakelite, polystyrene, etc.) in the oscillator circuit, employing only high-grade ceramics instead. Plug-in coils ordinarily are not acceptable; instead, a solidly-built and firmly-mounted tuned circuit should be permanently installed. The oscillator panel and chassis should be as rigid as possible.

For amateur purposes the most useful type of meter is one covering the amateur bands only. The VFOs described in the chapter on transmitters are typical of the circuits and construc-



Fig. 21-17 - A compact frequency standard and harmonic amplifier for generating either 100- or 1000-ke. intervals throughout the spectrum to 150 Mc. It has a self-contained power supply using the transformer shown in the upper part of the photo. The output coutrol is at the upper left, and the switch in the foreground is the harmonic-amplifier bandswitch. The dual crystal is between the bandswitch and output control." The toggle switch at the lower left corner of the panel selects either 1000- or 100-kc, intervals.

# **CHAPTER 21**

tion since they are designed with the same considerations in mind — i.e., to be highly stable both electrically and mechanically. Hence a good VFO, if accurately calibrated in frequency, is also a good heterodyne frequency meter.

Calibration must be done by comparing the oscillator frequency at various points in its range with signals of known frequency. The best method is to calibrate from a secondary frequency standard, described in the next section, at intervals of, say, 100 kc, and fill in the calibration curve by interpolation. The oscillator usually works over the approximate range 1750–2000 kc., harmonics being used for the higher amateur bands. If the calibration is done on the highest band - 28-32 Mc. — at intervals of 100 kc, it is equivalent to having calibration points at intervals of 100/16 = 6.25 kc, on the fundamental-frequency range.



Accuracy

Transmitted frequencies are accurate within 2 parts in 100 million.

### **Propagation Notices**

During the announcement intervals at 20 minutes after and 10 minutes before the hour, propagation notices applying to transmission paths over the north Atlantic are transmitted from WWV on 2.5, 5, 10, 15, 20, and 25 Me. These notices, in telegraphic code, consist of the letter N, W, or U followed by a number. The letter designations apply to propagation conditions as of the time of the broadcast, and have the following significance:

- W Ionospheric disturbance in progress or expected.
- U Unstable conditions, but communication possible with high power.
- N No warning,

The number designations apply to expected propagation conditions during the subsequent 12 hours and have the following significance:

Digit	Forecast
1	Impossible
2	Very Poor
3	Poor
4	Fair to Poor
5	Fair
6	Fair to Good
7	Good
8	Very Good
9	Excellent

Standard radio and audio frequencies are broadcast continuously from WWV, operated by the Central Radio Propagation Laboratory, National Bureau of Standards, Washington, D. C. on the following frequencies:

Freq., Mc.	Modulations (c,p.s.)
2.5	1, 440 or 600
5	1, 440 or 600
10	1, 440 or 600
15	1, 440 or 600
20	1, 440 or 600
25	1, 440 or 600

Similar broadcasts are given from WWVH, Puunene, T.H., on the following frequencies:

Freq., Mc.	Modulations (c.p.s.)
5	1, 440 or 600
10	1, 440 or 600
15	1, 440 or 600

Transmissions are as given in the charts above, except that the WWVH broadcast is interrupted for 4 minutes following each hour and half hour and for periods of 40 minutes beginning at 0700 and 1900 universal time.

### **Time** Signals

The 1-c.p.s. modulation is a 5-millisecond pulse at intervals of precisely one second, and is heard as a tick. Time intervals as transmitted are accurate to within 2 parts in 100 million + 1 microsecond. The tick on the 59th second is omitted.


Fig. 21-18 — Circuit diagram of the frequency standard and harmonic amplifier.

- $C_E 25$ -µµfd, midget variable (Hammarlund MAPC 25).
- 3 μμfd. (2½ inches of 75-ohm Twin-Lead).  $C_2$
- 0.1-µfd. paper, 400 volts. C3, C4 -
- 250-uµfd. ceramic.  $C_5$
- C<sub>6</sub>, C<sub>7</sub>, C<sub>9</sub> 0.001-µfd. disc ceramic.
- 100-µµfd. ceramic. Cs.
- C10, C11 -20-µfd, electrolytic, 250 volts,  $\mathbf{R}_1$  –
- 4.7 megohm, 1/2 watt. 22,000 ohms, 1/2 watt. R<sub>2</sub>
- R3, R4, R5-0.47 megohm, 1/2 walt.
- 470 ohms, 1/2 watt. Re
- 5000-ohm potentiometer.  $R_7$
- $\mathbf{Rs}$ 47,000 ohms, 1 watt.
- R<sub>9</sub> 1000 ohms, I watt.
- 1-mh. r.f. choke (National R-50), 4- $\mu$ h r.f. choke (National R-60), 2- $\mu$ h r.f. choke (National R-60). La
- $L_2$
- 1.3
- 0.5 µh. (1-µh. r.f. choke, National R-33, with 10 1.4 turns removed).
- L s 3 turns No. 16, 1/4-inch diam., 3/8 inch long,
- CR-65-ma, selenium rectifier.
- Tip jack. L.
- RFC<sub>1</sub> 0,5-mh. r.f. choke (National R-50). - 5-mh, r.f. choke (National R-1008). RFC<sub>2</sub> -
- S.p.s.t. toggle switch. S.
- $\mathbb{F}_2$ S.p.s.t. toggle switch mounted on  $R_7$ .
- 53 1-pole 6-position selector switch; shorting type (Centralab 2500).
- Power transformer, 150 volts, 25 ma.: 6.3 volts, 0.5 amp. (Merit P-3046).  $T_{2}$
- XTAL. 100-1000-kc, dual frequency crystal (Valpey DFS).

### THE SECONDARY FREQUENCY STANDARD

The secondary frequency standard is a highlystable oscillator generating a single frequency, usually 100 kc. It is nearly always crystal-controlled, and inexpensive 100-ke. crystals are available for the purpose. Since the harmonics are multiples of 100 kc, throughout the spectrum. some of them can be compared directly with the standard frequencies transmitted by WWV. The edges of most amateur bands also are exact multiples of 100 kc., so it becomes possible to determine the band edges very accurately. This is an important consideration in amateur frequency measurement, since the only regulatory requirement is that an amateur transmission be inside the assigned band and not on a specific frequency.

Intervals of 100 ke, are sometimes too close for accurate identification of a given harmonic, so special crystals that operate at both 1000 and 100 kc. are available. Intervals of 1000 kc. are sufficiently far apart to avoid

confusion; since the average receiver calibration is good enough to provide positive identification. Once the 1000-kc, harmonics are spotted, it is easy to count off the 100-kc, intervals from the known 1000-kc, points.

 $\sim$ 

Jı

Manufacturers of 100-ke, crystals usually supply circuit information for their particular crystals. The circuit given in Fig. 21-16 is representative, and will generate usable harmonics up to 30 Mc, or so. The variable condenser,  $C_1$ , provides a means for adjusting the frequency to exactly 100 kc. Harmonic output is taken from the circuit through a small condenser,  $C_5$ . There are no particular constructional points to be observed in building such a unit. Power for the tube heater and plate may be taken from the supply in the receiver with which the unit is to be used. The plate voltage is not critical, but it is recommended that it be taken from a VR-150 regulator if the receiver is equipped with one.

Sufficient signal strength usually will be secured if a wire is run between the output terminal connected to  $C_5$  and the antenna post on the receiver. At the lower frequencies a metallic connection may not be necessary.

Figs. 21-17 through 21-19 show a compact standard, complete with power supply, that will give usable harmonics from both 100 and 1000 ke, up through the 144-Me, band. It uses a dual crystal, either fundamental frequency being selected by a switch, and the output of the oscillator is fed to a crystal-diode rectifier to increase the amplitude of the high-order harmonics. These harmonics are then amplified in the second tube, a stage having broadly-tuned plate circuits centering in the higher-frequency amateur bands, switched in or out as required. A cathode gain control is provided in the amplifier circuit for regulating the output amplitude. The whole unit is constructed in a  $5 \times 3 \times 4$  box of the type having its own chassis, the small size being used so the unit can be squeezed into limited space on the operating table. It can be put on a larger chassis and box if desired, since the construction is not critical. Sufficient signal strength in the receiver should be secured by connecting a short piece of wire to the output terminal, but on very high frequencies it may be necessary to connect the wire to one antenna post on the receiver.

#### **Adjusting to Frequency**

In either Fig. 21-16 or 21-18 the frequency can be adjusted exactly to 100 kc. by making use of

# 468

### **CHAPTER 21**



•

Fig. 21-19 — Below-chassis view of the frequency standard. The 1N34A harmonic generator is at the upper left. The variable condenser at the bottom is for adjustment of the oscillator frequency to exactly 100 kc. At the upper right, mounted on the rear lip of the chassis, is the selenium rectifier for the power supply. The filter condenser is just below it. Small resistors and condensers are grouped around the tube sockets.

the WWV transmissions tabulated in this chapter. Select the WWV frequency that gives a good signal at your location at the time of day most convenient. Tune it in with the receiver b.f.o. off and wait for the period during which the modulation is absent. Then switch on the 100-ke. oscillator and adjust its frequency, by means of  $C_1$ , until its harmonic is in zero beat with WWV. The exact setting is easily found by observing the slow pulsation in background noise as the harmonic comes close to zero beat, and adjusting to where the pulsation disappears or occurs at a very slow rate. The pulsations can be observed even more readily by switching on the receiver's b.f.o., after approximate zero beat has been secured, and observing the rise and fall in intensity (not frequency) of the beat tone. For best results the WWV signal and the signal from the 100-kc. oscillator should be about the same strength. It is advisable not to try to set the 100-kc. oscillator when the WWV signal is modulated. since it is difficult to tell whether the harmonic is being adjusted to zero beat with the carrier or with one of the sidebands,

### Frequency Checking

The secondary standard provides signals of known frequency that can be tuned in on the station receiver. Determination of the frequency of a transmitter is then carried out by the method described earlier under "Frequency Measurement with the Receiver," using these points as positive identification of band edges. By using the known 100-kc, points the receiver calibration can be corrected so that, by interpolation, the frequency of a signal lying between the calibration points can be determined with good accuracy.

#### More Precise Methods

The methods described in this section are quite adequate for the primary purpose of amateur frequency measurements — that is, determining whether or not a transmitter is operating inside the limits of an amateur band, and the approximate frequency inside the band. For measurement of an unknown frequency to a high degree of accuracy more advanced methods can be used. Accurate signals at closer intervals can be obtained by using a multivibrator in conjunction with the 100-ke. standard, and thus obtaining signals at intervals of, say, 10 kc. or some other integral divisor of 100. Temperature control is frequently used on the 100-kc, oscillator to give a high order of stability (Collier, "What Price Precision?", QST, September and October, 1952). Also, the secondary standard can be used in conjunction with a variable-frequency interpolation oscillator to fill in the standard intervals (Woodward, "A Linear Beat-Frequency Oscillator for Frequency Measurement," QST, May, 1951). An interpolation oscillator and standard can be combined in one instrument, one application of this type having been described in QST for May, 1949 (Grammer, "The Additive Frequency Meter").

### **Test Oscillators**

For many measurements and tests, it is necessary to have a source of signal at some desired frequency or range of frequencies. Although there is a wide variety of test oscillators capable of generating such signals, for most amateur work one or two simple types are quite adequate. A variable-frequency oscillator covering as much as possible of the r.f. spectrum, calibrated in frequency, has many useful applications. For 'phone work, an audio signal source is equally valuable in testing and adjustment of speech amplifiers, modulators and associated audio circuits and equipment. Both types can be built quite easily and at low cost.

### THE GRID-DIP METER

The grid-dip meter is a simple vacuum-tube oscillator to which a low-range milliammeter or microammeter has been added to read the oscillator grid current,  $\Lambda 0-1$  milliammeter is sensitive enough in most cases. The grid-dip meter is so called because when the oscillator is coupled to a tuned circuit, the grid current will show a decrease or "dip" when the oscillator is tuned through resonance with the unknown circuit. The reason for this is that the external circuit will absorb energy from the oscillator when both are tuned to the same frequency; the loss of energy from the oscillator circuit eauses the feedback to decrease and this in turn is accompanied by a decrease in grid current. The dip in grid current is quite sharp when the circuit to which the oscillator is coupled has reasonably high Q.

The grid-dip meter is most useful when it covers a wide frequency range and is compactly constructed so that it can be coupled to circuits in hard-to-reach places such as in a transmitter or receiver chassis. It can thus be used to check tuning ranges and to find unwanted resonances of the type described in the chapter on TVL Since it is its own source of r.f. energy it does not, like the absorption wavemeter, require the circuit being checked to be energized. In addition to resonance checks, the grid-dip meter also can be used as a signal source for receiver alignment and similar purposes and, as described later in this chapter, is useful in measurement of inductance and capacitance in the range of values used in r.f. eircuits.

Figs. 21-20 to 21-22, inclusive, show a grid-dip meter of quite compact construction using plug-in coils to cover a continuous frequency range of 1600 kc. to 160 Mc., and thus useful in all amateur bands up through 144 Me. as well as for checking for resonances in the low group of v.h.f. TV channels, the most important from the standpoint of harmonic TVL It is small and light, and can be held and tuned with one hand since the



Fig. 21-20 - A compact and light-weight grid-dip meter for one-hand operation. It is built in a  $15_{\text{K}} \times 2\frac{1}{3} \times 4$ -inch "Channel-lock" box and uses six plug-in coils to cover the range 1600 kc, to 160 Me. The power supply and milliammeter for reading grid current are in a separate unit.



Fig. 21-21 — Circuit diagram of the grid-dip meter. C1-50-µµfd. midget variable (Hammarfund HF-50).  $C_2 = -100 \cdot \mu_{\mu} fd.$  ceramic, C<sub>3</sub>. C<sub>4</sub>, C<sub>6</sub> = 0,001 \cdot \mu fd, disc ceramic, C<sub>5</sub> = 0.01 \cdot \mu fd, disc ceramic. R1-22,000 ohms, 1/2 watt,

#### Cuil Data L.

Contrata, 14									
Freq. Range	Turns	Wire	Diameter	Turns/inch	Tap *				
1.59-3.5 Me.	139	32 enam.	$^{3}4$ in,	Close-wound	32				
- 3.45- 7.8 Me.	40	32 enam.	34 in.	Close-wound	12				
7.55-17 5 Me.	40	24 tinned	1⁄2 in.	32	14				
17 2-40 Mc,	15	20 tinned	1/2 in.	16	5				
37 -85 Mc.	-4	20 tinned	1/2 in.	16	11/3				
78 -160 Mc.	Hairpi	n of No. 14	wire, 3/8 in	. spacing, 2 inch	es long				
	includi	ing coil form	pins, Tapp	ed 1½ in. from	ground				

end. \* Turns from ground end.

Coil forms are Amphenol 24-5H, 34-in, diameter,

dial extends slightly over the edges of the box so it can be operated with the thumb. The milliammeter is not contained in the oscillator itself but can be mounted separately in any convenient spot for viewing. Fig. 21-23 shows the milliammeter mounted in a standard meter case which also contains the power supply for the oscillator. The cable connecting the two units can be any desired length.

The oscillator circuit, shown in Fig. 21-21, is a grounded-plate Hartley, with the eathode tap adjusted for maximum sensitivity — that is, greatest change in grid current when tuning through resonance with a coupled circuit rather than maximum grid current. For satisfactory operation at the highest frequency, the leads in the tuned circuit should be kept as short as possible, and the tuning condenser,  $C_1$ , is mounted so that its rotor and stator terminals are practically touching the corresponding pins on the coil socket. The tube socket is mounted on a bracket made from aluminum and placed at an angle so that the tube can be removed. The eathode connection between the tube socket and the coil socket is made of flat copper strip to reduce its inductance as much as possible.

Coils for the two low-frequency ranges are wound on the outsides of the forms in normal fashion, but with the exception of the highest range the remaining coils are lengths of B & W Miniductor mounted inside the forms. A hairpinshaped coil is used for the highest range. As the coil forms are polystyrene, which softens at relatively low temperatures, care must be used in soldering to the pins. It is helpful to drill a metal plate, a few inches square and 1/16 inch or so thick,

## 470



so the coil pins will fit snugly; then if the plate is pressed firmly against the bottom of the form during soldering it will conduct the heat away from the polystyrene rapidly enough to prevent softening, if the soldering operation is not prolonged.

A transparent dial cut from a piece of  $\frac{1}{3}$ -inch Plexiglas (obtainable at hobby stores) is used in preference to a solid dial so the calibration can be placed on top of the box, where there is more room for lettering. A hairline indicator is scratched on the dial, which is also provided with a standard small knob, fastened to it by small machine screws threaded in from the bottom.

The power supply shown in Fig. 21-23 uses a miniature power transformer with a selenium rectifier and a simple filter to give approximately 120 volts for the oscillator plate. The potentiometer shown in Fig. 21-21 is for adjustment of plate voltage. In any grid-dip meter the grid current will be different in different parts of the frequency range, with fixed plate voltage, so it is ordinarily necessary to choose a plate voltage that will keep the reading on scale in the part of the range where the grid current is highest. This usually results in rather low grid current at some other part of the range. With variable plate voltage this compromise is unnecessary.

The instrument may be calibrated by listening to its output with a calibrated receiver. The calibration should be as accurate as possible, although "frequency-meter accuracy" is not required in the applications for which a grid-dip meter is useful.

The grid-dip meter may be used as an indicating-type absorption wavemeter by shutting off the plate voltage and using the grid and cathode of the tube as a diode. However, this type of cir-



Fig. 21-23 — Power supply and millianimeter for the grid-dip meter are contained in a meter case. The control on top is for varying the plate voltage to maintain the grid current in the proper region.

### **CHAPTER 21**



Fig. 21-22 — The griddip oscillator is built on the U-shaped portion of the box,  $C_3$ ,  $C_4$  and  $C_6$  are grounded to a soldering lug at the left of the socket. Wires in the power and meter cable terminate at a 4-point terminal strip at the left.

cuit is not as sensitive as the crystal-detector type shown earlier in this chapter, because of the highresistance grid leak in series with the meter.

In using the grid-dip meter for checking the resonant frequency of a circuit the coupling should be kept to the point where the dip in grid current is just perceptible. This reduces interaction between the two circuits to a minimum and gives the highest accuracy. With too-close



Fig. 21-24 — Circuit diagram of the power supply for the grid-dip meter.

- C1, C2 16-µfd, electrolytic, 150 volts.
- $R_1 = 1000$  ohms, 12 watt.
- $R_2 = 0.1$ -megohm potentiometer.
- T<sub>1</sub> Power transformer, 6,3 volts and 125 to 150 volts. (Merit P-3046 or equivalent.)
- CR 20-ma. selenium rectifier.
- MA 0-1 d.e. milliammeter.

coupling the oscillator frequency may be "pulled" by the circuit being checked, in which ease different readings will be obtained when resonance is approached from the high side as compared with approaching from the low side.

### AUDIO-FREQUENCY OSCILLATORS

A useful accessory for testing audio-frequency amplifiers and modulators is an audio-frequency signal generator or oscillator. Checks for distortion, gain, and the ordinary troubles that occur in such amplifiers do not require elaborate equipment; in most cases, a single audio frequency will suffice. The chief requirement is that the audio oscillator be able to generate a reasonably good sine wave.

Figs. 21-25 and 21-26 show a simple oscillator of a type entirely adequate for 'phone transmitter testing using the methods described in the chapter on amplitude modulation. It generates a fixed frequency of approximately 400



AUDIO OUTPUT

cycles, and since it is provided with a step attenuator giving maximum outputs of approximately 1, 0.1, and 0.01 volts r.m.s., as well as continuously-variable output control, it can be used as a substitute for any type of microphone by proper choice of the high, medium, or low output.

The circuit diagram is given in Fig. 21-25. One section of a double triode is used as a Colpitts oscillator, with  $C_2$ ,  $C_3$  and the secondary winding of  $T_1$  forming the tuned circuit. (With the transformer specified, the entire secondary winding is used.) The primary winding of  $T_1$  is connected to the grid of the second triode section, which is used as a cathode follower. Variable output from the unit is taken from the arm of a potentiometer,  $R_3$ , connected as the cathode-follower load. The high output is taken directly from  $R_3$ , while the two lower outputs are taken from a ladder-type divider,  $R_4R_6$  and  $R_5R_7$ . These points are brought out to tip jacks.

Molded paper condensers should be used at  $C_2$  and  $C_3$ ; cardboard-cased tubulars have been found to be unreliable in this circuit.

The power requirements are quite low — the total cathode current of the 6SN7GT is only 7.5 ma, and can be taken from any convenient source of about 150 volts. The 6SN7GT heater requires 0.6 amp. at 6.3 volts.

The measurement of fundamental quantities such as current, voltage and power at radio frequencies, and circuit elements such as inductance and capacitance, can be accomplished with equipment readily available to or easily constructed by the amateur. Measurements of this type at r.f. are equally as useful in building, testing, and operating equipment as their counterparts in d.e. circuits.

### R.F. CURRENT

R.f. eurrent-measuring devices use a **thermocouple** in conjunction with an ordinary d.e. instrument. The thermocouple is made of two dissimilar metals which, when heated, generate a small d.e. voltage. The thermocouple is beated by a resistance wire through which the r.f. eur-



Fig. 21-26 — A simple and inexpensive audio oscillator for use in checking 'phone transmitter operation. It generates a good sine wave of fixed frequency and is provided with an attenuator so that the output level can be set at the proper value for substituting for any type of microphone.

### **R.F. Measurements**

rent flows, and since the d.c. voltage developed is proportional to the heating, which in turn is proportional to the power used by the heating element, the deflections of the d.c. instrument are proportional to power rather than to current. This causes the calibrated scale to be compressed at the low-current end and spread out at the highcurrent end. The useful range of such an instrument is about 3 or 4 to 1; that is, an r.f. ammeter having a full-scale reading of 1 ampere can be read with satisfactory accuracy down to about 0.3 ampere, one having a full scale of 5 amperes can be read down to about 1.5 amperes, and so on. No single instrument can be made to handle a wide range of currents. Neither can the r.f. ammeter be shunted satisfactorily, as can be done with d.e. instruments, because even a very small

amount of reactance in the shunt will cause the readings to be highly dependent on frequency.

### **R.F. VOLTAGE**

An r.f. voltmeter is a rectifier-type instrument, in which the r.f. is converted to d.c., which is then measured with a d.e. milliammeter. The best type of rectifier for most applications is a crystal diode, such as the 1N34 and similar types, because its capacitance is so low as to have little effect on the behavior of the r.f. circuit to which it is connected. The principal limitation of these rectifiers is their rather low value of safe inverse peak voltage. Vacuum-tube diodes are considerably better in this respect, but their size, shunt capacitance, and the fact that power is required for heating the cathode constitute serious disadvantages in many applications. Typical circuits for crystal-diode r.f. voltmeters are given in Fig. 21-27.

One of the principal uses for such voltmeters is as null indicators in r.f. bridges, as described later in this chapter. Another useful application is in measurement of the voltage between the conductors of a coaxial line, to show when a transmitter is adjusted for optimum output. In either case the voltmeter impedance should be high compared with that of the circuit under measurement, to avoid taking appreciable power, and the relationship between r.f. voltage and the reading of the d.c. instrument should be as linear as possi-



Fig. 21-27 — R.f. voltmeter circuits using a crystal rectifier and d.c. microammeter or 0-1 milliammeter. The circuit at A is suitable for measuring low voltages — up to about 35 volts maximum. B is for measuring the voltage between the conductors of a coaxial line. The total resistance of  $R_2$  and  $R_3$  should be of the order of 500 ohms, with the ratio of  $R_2$  to  $R_3$  chosen to apply not more than 10 volts to the crystal circuit, based on the unmodulated carrier power in the line. In both circuits,  $R_1$  should be not less than 10,000 ohms for a 0-100 microammeter, and should be 0.001  $\mu$ fd, or more. In B,  $J_1$  and  $J_2$  represent coaxial connectors. The voltmeter is preferably built in a shielded hox, the  $2 \times 4 \times 4$  size being large enough to contain the whole instrument.

ble — that is, the d.e. indication should be directly proportional to the r.f. voltage at all points of the scale.



Fig. 21-28 — R.f. ammeter mounted for connecting into a coaxial line for measuring power. A "2-inch" instrument will fit into a  $2 \times 4 \times 1$  metal box. The shunt capacitance of an ammeter mounted in this way has a negligible effect on the accuracy at frequencies as high as 30 Mc, if the instrument has a bakelite case. Metalcased meters should be mounted on a bakelite panel which can in turn be mounted in a cut-out which clears the meter case by about  $\frac{1}{2}$  inch.

All rectifiers show a variation in resistance with applied voltage, the resistance being highest when the applied voltage is small. These variations can be fairly well "swamped out" by using a high value of resistance in the d.e. circuit of the rectifier. A resistance of at least 10,000 ohms is necessary for reasonably good linearity, and higher values are beneficial. For this reason a fairly sensitive d.c. instrument should be used if possible, a 0–100 microammeter, although a 0-1 milliammeter will serve quite well in many cases, A VTVM is ideal for the purpose since its extremely high input resistance exceeds anything that is practical with an ordinary microammeter. High resistance in the d.c. circuit also raises the impedance of the r.f. voltmeter and reduces its power consumption.

The basic voltmeter circuit is shown in Fig. 21-27A, and is simply a half-wave rectifier with a meter and a resistor,  $R_1$ , for improving the linearity. The time constant of  $C_1R_1$  should be large compared with the period of the lowest radio frequency to be measured — a condition that can easily be met if  $R_1$  is 10,000 ohms and  $C_1$  is 0.001 µfd, or more — so  $C_1$  will stay charged near the peak value of the r.f. voltage. The radio-frequency choke may be omitted if there is a low-resistance d.e. path through the circuit being measured.  $C_2$  provides additional r.f. filtering for the d.e. circuit.

A practical arrangement for measuring the r.f. voltage in a coaxial line from a transmitter is shown at B. A voltage divider,  $R_2R_3$ , is connected across the line, the resistance values being chosen so the inverse peak voltage rating of the rectifier is not exceeded. This rating is in the vicinity of 50 volts, which limits the r.m.s. voltage that may be applied to the crystal to a maximum of 35 volts. If the approximate power carried by the line is known, the voltage can easily be calculated if the line is flat. A standing-wave ratio of 4 to 1 will cause the voltage to be twice the calculated value at a voltage loop, and 100 per cent modulation also doubles the voltage; it is unlikely that the s.w.r. will exceed 4 to



Fig. 21-29 — Set-ups for measuring inductance and capacitance with the grid-dip meter.

1 in a properly operated coax line, the safety factor will be adequate if the voltage divider is designed on the basis of applying one-fourth the rated value of voltage, or 8 to 10 volts, to the crystal. The total resistance in the divider should be about 100 times the line impedance so the power consumed by the voltmeter will not exceed 1 per cent of the power in the line. Composition resistors should be used, allowing 1 watt dissipation in  $R_2$  (which usually dissipates practically all the voltmeter power) for each 100 watts in the line. The necessary dissipation can be built up by using resistors in series.

In constructing such a voltmeter care must be used to prevent stray coupling between the line and any part of the voltmeter, and also between the voltage divider and the crystal rectifier circuit. Also, the resistor or resistors comprising  $R_2$ should be kept away from grounded metal in order to reduce stray capacitance.

### Calibration

Calibration is not necessary for purely comparative measurements. A calibration in actual voltage requires a known resistive load and an r.f. anneter. The set-up is the same as for r.f. power measurement as described later, and the voltage calibration is obtained by calculation from the known power and known load resistance, using Ohm's Law —  $E = \sqrt{PR}$ . As many points as possible should be obtained, by varying the power output of the transmitter, so that the linearity of the voltmeter can be checked.

Different voltage ranges may be secured, with a fixed voltage divider, by changing the value of  $R_1$ . It is advisable to calibrate on the lowest range and then, with a fixed value of power in the line, increase  $R_1$  until the desired scale factor is obtained.

### R.F. POWER

Measurement of r.f. power requires a resistive load of known value and either an r.f. ammeter or a calibrated r.f. voltmeter. The power is then either  $I^2R$  or  $E^2/R$ , where R is the load resistance in ohms.

The simplest method of obtaining a load of

known resistance is to use an antenna system with coax-coupled matching circuit of the type described in the chapter on transmission lines. When the circuit is adjusted, by means of an s.w.r. bridge, to bring the s.w.r. down to 1 to 1 the load is resistive and of the value for which the bridge was designed (52 or 75 ohms). Fig. 21-28 shows a convenient way of mounting an r.f. ammeter for measuring current in a coaxial line. The instrument can be inserted in the line in place of the s.w.r. bridge after the matching has been completed, and the transmitter is then adjusted — without touching the matching circuit for maximum current. The ammeter may be left in the line during regular operation if desired, but it should be kept in mind that a mismatch such as might be caused by an accident to the antenna system may result in damage to the instrument since under such conditions it is possible for the current to reach several times its normal value.

An r.f. voltmeter of the type described in the preceding section also can be used for power measurement in a similar set-up. It has the advantage that, because its scale is substantially linear, a much wider range of powers can be measured with a single instrument.

### INDUCTANCE AND CAPACITANCE

The ability to measure the inductance of coils and the capacitance of condensers frequently saves time that might otherwise be spent in cutand-try. A convenient instrument for this purpose is the grid-dip oscillator, described earlier in this chapter.



Fig. 21-30 — A convenient mounting, using bindingpost plates, for L and C standards made from commercial y-available parts. The condenser is a 100-µµfd, silver mica unit, mounted so the lead length is as nearly zero as possible. The inductance standard, 5 µh., is 17 turns of No. 3015 B & W Miniductor, 1-inch diameter, 16 turns per inch.

For measuring inductance, the coil is connected to a condenser of known capacitance as shown at A in Fig. 21-29. With the unknown coil connected to the standard condenser, the pick-up loop is coupled to the coil and the oscillator frequency adjusted for the grid-current dip, using the loosest coupling that gives a detectable indication. The inductance is then given by the formula

$$L_{\mu \rm h} = rac{2.5,330}{C_{\mu\mu 
m fil} \, f_{
m Mc}.^2}$$

### **CHAPTER 21**

•

Fig. 21-34 — The logarithmic f.s. meter is constructed on a small aluminum channel. A small copper plate between the two coils is used for reducing the interstage coupling to the point where the r.f. amplifier is nonregenerative.



connecting a fairly large resistance in series with the milliammeter (or microammeter). About 10,000 ohms is required for good linearity. This considerably reduces the sensitivity of the meter, but the lower sensitivity can be compensated for by making the pick-up antenna sufficiently large.

#### A Sensitive Logarithmic F.S. Meter

For indicating the effect of antenna adjustments at a distant station, a logarithmic type of indicator is desirable in the field-strength meter since the meter readings with such an instrument are directly proportional to decibels. Figs. 21-32 to 21-34, inclusive, show a meter of this type. It makes use of the fact that the rectified d.e. output of a detector following a.v.c.-controlled r.f. stages tends to be logarithmic with respect to the r.f. voltage applied to the receiver.

As shown in Fig. 21-33, the circuit includes an r.f. amplifier, a detector, and a d.e. amplifier, using miniature battery tubes. The rectified r.f. voltage developed across  $R_1$  in the diode circuit of the 1U5 is applied through the ground connection to the grid of the 1T4 r.f. amplifier and thus controls its gain. The 1½-volt "A" battery is not connected to ground but is allowed to "float," permitting the a.v.e. voltage to be effective on the grids.

In the unit shown in the photographs, slugtuned coils are used because of their small size



Fig. 21-35 — Typical calibration curve of the logarithmic field-strength meter. The curve is sufficiently logarithmic, for practical purposes, between about 0.05 and 0.45 ma. The way in which the readings vary with applied signal, and not the absolute value of the signal, is the important point, and since this will not change significantly so long as the same circuit is used, the curve above may be used with any similar instrument. and because they eliminate the need for variable tuning condensers. However, ordinary condensertuned circuits can be substituted; the only requirement is that the circuits must be tunable to the frequency at which the antenna is being adjusted. The only critical point about the construction of such a meter is to lay out the tuned circuits so that the r.f. amplifier is stable; otherwise, any convenient layout may be used.

With the values shown in Fig. 21-33 the nosignal plate current should be very close to 0.5 milliampere. A less-sensitive d.c. instrument will require more "B" voltage. Whatever the type of meter, the current may be brought to exactly full scale, with no signal input, by shunting it with a variable resistor of suitable range, depending on the internal resistance.

Fig. 21-35 is a typical calibration curve. The readings are approximately logarithmic over about 70 per cent of the scale, with a range of about 20 db. Used with a folded-dipole pick-up antenna, the instrument is sensitive enough for use a few thousand feet away from a beam antenna fed with a few hundred watts.

### CHECKING STANDING WAVES

Standing waves on a transmission line can be measured if it is possible to measure the current at every point along the line, or the voltage between the two conductors at every point along the line. Rough checks on parallelconductor lines can be made by going along the line with an absorption wavemeter having a crystal rectifier, taking care to keep the pick-up coil (or pick-up antenna) at the same distance from the line at every measurement. With such a device the maximum milliammeter reading usually will indicate current loops if a small pick-up coil is used, and voltage loops if a short pick-up antenna is used.

An alternative indicator, also useful with parallel-conductor lines, is a neon lamp. With moderate amounts of transmitter power, a lowwattage lamp will glow when the glass bulb is brought into contact with one line wire. As the lamp is moved along the line, a change in brightness indicates standing waves. If the glow is substantially the same all along the line the s.w.r. can be considered to be low enough for practical purposes.

### Standing-Wave Ratio Indicators

Simple indicators such as those just mentioned are useful for checking the presence of



Fig. 21-36 — This fundamental bridge circuit is the basis for one type of device for measuring standing-wave ratio.

standing waves along a transmission line but are not adequate for actual measurement of the standing-wave ratio. Also, it is frequently inconvenient, and sometimes impossible, to move a current or voltage indicator along a transmission line for the distance required in checking standing waves.

An alternative method uses a bridge circuit to measure the standing-wave ratio. Fig. 21-36 will serve to illustrate the basic principles.  $R_1$  and  $R_2$  are fixed resistors having known values, and  $R_{\rm S}$  is a calibrated variable resistor. The unknown resistance to be measured,  $R_{\rm L}$ , is connected in series with  $R_{\rm S}$  to form a voltage divider across the source of voltage, E. The resistance of the voltmeter, V, should be very much larger than any of the four resistance "arms" of the bridge for maximum accuracy. From Ohm's Law it is apparent that when  $R_1/R_2$  equals  $R_S/R_L$  the voltage drops across  $R_1$  and  $R_S$  are equal (this is also true of the voltage drops across  $R_2$  and  $R_L$ ) and there is no difference of potential between points Cand D. Hence the voltmeter reading is zero ("null") and the bridge is said to be "balanced." Under any other conditions the potentials at C and D are not the same and the voltmeter reads the difference of potential.

The basis for s.w.r. measurements with a bridge is the fact that the input impedance of a properly-terminated transmission line is a pure resistance equal to the line's characteristic impedance. If a matched line is connected as the unknown arm of an appropriate bridge circuit the bridge can be balanced in the usual way and the indicating instrument will show a null. However, if the line is not properly terminated the voltage reflected back from the far end of the line will appear at the terminals of the bridge and will register on the voltmeter. The relationship between voltmeter reading (in percentage of full scale) and standing-wave ratio is shown in Fig. 21-37. This curve applies only when the voltmeter impedance is extremely high -20 times or more - compared with the impedance for which the bridge is designed.

While other bridge circuits can be used for s.w.r. measurement, the resistance bridge is

#### **Bridge Construction**

The voltmeter used in s.w.r. bridge circuits employs a crystal diode and is subject to the considerations described earlier in this chapter. In most cases, the bridge is used chiefly in the adjustment of an antenna matching system or in the adjustment of a coax-coupled matching network of the type described in the chapter on transmission lines. The object in such cases is to get the best possible match, as indicated by a null reading on the voltmeter, and not particularly to make accurate s.w.r. measurements. For this purpose the voltmeter requirements are not rigorous because it takes no current when the bridge is balanced, and a 0-1 milliammeter with a few thousand ohms resistance in series will serve very well. The circuit of Fig. 21-38 and the construction of Fig. 21-39 are ouite satisfactory for a bridge intended primarily for impedance matching.

A principal point in the construction of an s.w.r. bridge is to avoid stray coupling between the resistors forming the bridge arms and between the arms and the voltmeter circuit. This can be done by keeping the resistance arms separated and at right angles to each other, and by placing the crystal and its connecting leads so that the loop so formed is not in inductive relationship with any loops formed by the bridge arms. Shielding between the bridge arms and the crystal circuit is helpful in reducing such couplings, although it is not always necessary. The two resistors forming the "ratio arms," R<sub>1</sub> and



Fig. 21-37 — Standing-wave ratio in terms of meter reading (relative to full scale) after setting outgoing voltage to full scale. This graph is a plot of the formula

S

$$W, R, = \frac{V + V r}{V - V r}$$

where Vo and Vr are the outgoing and reflected components, respectively, of the voltage on the transmission line.



Fig. 21-38 — A simple bridge circuit useful for impedance-matching in coaxial lines.

 $C_1$ ,  $C_2 = 0.005$ - $\mu$ fd, disk ceramie.

 $R_1, R_2 = -47$ -ohm composition,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt.  $R_3 = 50$ - or 7.5-ohm (depending on line impedance) composition,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt.  $R_4 = 1000$ -ohm composition,  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt.

 $J_1, J_2 \rightarrow Coaxial connector.$ The meter may be a 0–1 milliammeter or d.e. voltmeter of any type having a sensitivity of 1000 ohms per volt or greater, and a full-scale range of 5 to 10 volts. Negative side of meter connects to ground.

 $R_2$ , should have identical relationships with metal parts, to keep the shunt capacitances equal, and also should have the same lead lengths so the inductances will balance. Leads should be kept as short as possible.

#### S.W.R. Measurement with a Bridge

For reasonably accurate measurement of s.w.r. the bridge must not only be well constructed, along the lines described above, but must have a voltmeter of very high impedance compared with the line impedance and must have provision



### **CHAPTER 21**

for measuring the voltage applied to the bridge as well as the voltage developed between the arms. This is so the applied voltage can be kept constant (by regulating the transmitter output) both with and without the transmission line connected to the load terminals. If the input voltage is not maintained at a constant value the readings are unreliable. The same d.c. instrument can be used for both voltage measurements, but separate crystal rectifiers must be provided. Fig. 21-40 is the circuit of a bridge so equipped. Since the "input" voltmeter is simply used as a reference, its linearity is not important, nor does its reading have to bear any definite relationship to that of the "bridge" voltmeter, except that its range has to be at least twice that of the latter.

The resistance in the bridge voltmeter circuit should be of the order of 100 times the line impedance to avoid voltmeter errors; that is,  $R_4$ plus the voltmeter resistance should be at least 50,000 ohms. This generally requires a sensitive d.e. instrument such as a 0–100 microammeter, a 20,000-ohms-per volt voltmeter, or, better, a VTVM.

### Testing and Calibration

In a bridge intended for s.w.r. measurement rather than simple matching, the first check is to apply just enough r.f. voltage so that the bridge voltmeter reads full scale with the load terminals open. Measure the input voltage, then shortcircuit the load terminals and readjust the input to the same voltage. The bridge voltmeter should again register full scale. If it does not, the ratio arms,  $R_1$  and  $R_2$ , probably are not exactly equal. These two resistors should be earefully matched, although their actual value is not critical. This test should be made at the highest frequency to be used. If a similar test at a low frequency shows better balance, the probable cause is stray inductance or capacitance in one arm not balanced by equal strays in the other.

After the "short" and "open" readings have been equalized, the bridge should be checked for null balance with a "dummy" resistor equal to the line impedance connected to the load terminals. It is convenient to mount a half- or 1-watt resistor of the proper value in a coax connector, keeping it centered in the connector and using the minimum lead length. The bridge voltmeter should read zero at all frequencies. A reading above zero that remains constant at all frequencies indicates that the "dummy" resistor is

Fig. 21-39 — An inexpensive bridge for matching adjustments using the circuit of Fig. 21-38. It is built in a  $15_8 \times 2\frac{1}{8} \times 4$ -inch "Channel-lock" box. The standard resistor, R<sub>3</sub>, bridges the two coax connectors. A pin jack is provided for connection to the d.c. meter; the meter negative can be connected to the case or a coax fitting.



Fig. 21-40 - Bridge circuit for s.w.r. measurements. This circuit is intended for use with a d.e. voltmeter, range 5 to 10 volts, having a resistance of 10,000 ohms per volt or greater.

- C1, C2, C3, C4 0.005-µfd, disk ceramic.
- Gi, U2, C3, C4 0.007-410, 015K veramic,
   Rt, R2 17-ohm composition, ½ or 1 watt,
   R3 50- or 7.5-ohm (depending on line impedance) composition, ½ or 1 watt,
   R4, R5 10,000 ohms, ½ watt,
- 14, 15 Roote onmestors, J<sub>1</sub>, J<sub>2</sub> Coaxial connectors, Meter connects to either "input" or "bridge" position as required.

not matched to  $R_3$ , while readings that vary with frequency indicate stray reactive effects or stray eoupling between parts of the bridge.

When the operation is satisfactory on the two points just described, the null should be checked with the dummy resistor connected to the bridge through several different lengths of transmission line, to ensure that  $R_3$  actually matches the line impedance. If the null is not complete in this test both the dummy resistor and  $R_3$  will have to be adjusted until a good match is obtained. With care, composition resistors can be filed down to raise the resistance, so it is best to start with re-

sistors somewhat low in value. With each change in  $R_3$ , adjust the dummy resistor to give a good null when connected directly to the bridge, then try it at the end of several different lengths of line, continuing until the null is satisfactory under all conditions of line length and frequency. A discrepancy of a few per cent of the full-scale reading is tolerable.

With a high-impedance voltmeter, the s.w.r. readings will closely approximate the theoretical curve of Fig. 21-37. The calibration can be checked by using composition resistors as loads. Adjust the transmitter coupling so that the bridge voltmeter reads full scale with the output terminals open, and then check the input voltage. Connect various values of resistance across the output terminals, making sure that the input voltage is readjusted to be the same in each case. and note the reading with the meter in the bridge position. The s.w.r. is given by

S.W.R. = 
$$\frac{R_{\rm L}}{R_0}$$
 or  $\frac{R_0}{R_{\rm T}}$ 

where  $R_0$  is the line impedance for which the bridge has been adjusted to null, and  $R_{\rm L}$  is the resistance used as a load. Use the formula that places the larger of the two resistances in the numerator. If the readings do not correspond exactly for the same s.w.r. when appropriate resistors above and below the line impedance for which the bridge is designed are used, the current taken by the voltmeter is affecting the measurements

Using a 0-100 microammeter, a 20,000-ohmsper-volt voltmeter on a 5-volt or higher range, or a VT voltmeter, the difference between "up" and "down" s.w.r. measurements should be negligible, provided the load resistors used for this test can be measured (at d.c.) with sufficient accuracy. Values over 1000 ohms or so should not be used at the higher frequencies.



Fig. 21-41 — Top and bottom views of s.w.r. bridge using the circuit of Fig. 21-40. The box is constructed from flashing copper and measures 3 inches long, 13 deep and 15% wide, the width being selected to be just great enough to permit connecting a 1-watt standard resistor, R<sub>3</sub>, to the coax fittings with substantially no



lead length. A small piece of copper shields the bridge arms from the crystal rectifiers,  $R_1$  and  $R_2$  are symmetrically placed with respect to  $R_3$  and are at right angles to it to reduce stray coupling. The positive side of the d.c. meter connects to the feed-through bushings and the negative to the serew below them.

### Using the Bridge

The procedure is the same whether the bridge is used for matching or for s.w.r. measurement. Apply power with the load terminals either open or shorted, and adjust the input until the bridge voltmeter reads full scale. Because the bridge operates a very low power level it may be necessary to couple it to a low-power driver stage rather than to the final amplifier. Alternatively, the plate voltage and excitation for the final amplifier may be reduced to the point where the power output is af the order of a few watts. Then connect the load and observe the voltmeter reading. For matching, adjust the matching network until the best possible null is obtained. For s.w.r. measurement, note the input voltage after adjusting for full-scale with the load terminals open or shorted, then connect the load and readjust the transmitter for the same input voltage. The bridge voltmeter then indicates the standingwave ratio.

#### Parallel-Conductor Lines

Bridge measurements made directly on parallel-conductor lines are frequently subject to considerable error because of "antenna" currents flowing on such lines. These currents, which are either induced on the line by the field around the antenna or coupled into the line from the transmitter by stray capacitance, are in the same phase in both line wires and hence do not balance out like the true transmission-line currents. They will nevertheless actuate the bridge voltmeter, causing an indication that has no relationship to the standing-wave ratio.



Fig. 21-42 — Girenit for using coaxial s.w.r. bridge for measurements on parallel-conductor lines. Values of circuit components are identical with those used for the similar "antenna-coupler" circuit discussed in the ehapter on transmission lines.

The effect of "antenna" currents on s.w.r. measurements can be largely overcome by using a coaxial bridge and coupling it to the parallelconductor line through a properly-designed impedance-matching circuit. A suitable circuit is given in Fig. 21-42. It closely resembles the common type of "antenna coupler," and in fact such a coupler can be used for the purpose. In the balanced tank circuit the "antenna" or parallel components on the line tend to balance out and so are not passed on to the s.w.r. bridge. It is essential that  $L_1$  be coupled to a "cold" point on  $L_2$  to minimize capacitive coupling, and also desirable that the center of  $L_2$  be grounded to the chassis on which the circuit is mounted.

Values should be such that  $L_2C_2$  can be tuned to the operating frequency and that  $L_1$  provides sufficient coupling, as described in the trans-

### **CHAPTER 21**



Fig. 21-43 — The "twin-lamp" standing-wave indicator mounted on 300-ohm Twin-Lead. Scotch tape is used for fastening.

mission-line chapter. The measurement procedure is as follows:

Connect a noninductive  $(\frac{1}{2}$ - or 1-watt earbon) resistor, having the same value as the characteristic impedance of the parallel-conductor line, to the "line" terminals. Apply r.f. to the bridge, adjust the taps on  $L_2$  (keeping them equidistant from the center), while varying the capacitance of  $C_1$  and  $C_2$ , until the bridge shows a null. After the null is obtained, do not touch any of the circuit adjustments. Next, short-circuit the "line" terminals and adjust the r.f. input until the bridge voltmeter reads full scale. Remove the shortcircuit and test resistor, and connect the regular transmission line. The bridge will then indicate the standing-wave ratio on the line.

The circuit requires rematching, with the test resistor, whenever the frequency is changed appreciably. It can, however, be used over a portion of an amateur band without readjustment, with negligible error.

#### The ''Twin-Lamp''

A simple and inexpensive standing-wave indicator for 300-ohm line is shown in Fig. 21-43. It consists only of two flashlight lamps and a short piece of 300-ohm line. When laid flat against the line to be checked, the combination of inductive and capacitive coupling is such that outgoing power on the line causes the lamp nearest to the transmitter to light, while reflected power lights the lamp nearest the load. The power input to the line should be adjusted to make the lamp nearest the transmitter light to full brilliance. If the line is properly matched and the reflected power is very low, the lamp toward the antenna will be dark. If the s.w.r. is high, the two lamps will glow with practically equal brilliance.

The length of the piece of 300-ohm line needed in the twin-lamp will depend on the transmitter power and the operating frequency. A few inches will suffice with high power at high frequencies, while a foot or two may be needed with low power and at low frequencies.

In constructing the twin-lamp, cut one wire in the exact center of the piece and peel the ends back on either side just far enough to provide leads to the flashlight lamps. Remove about  $\frac{1}{2}$ 



Fig. 21-44 — Wiring diagram of the "twin-lamp" standing-wave indicator.

inch of insulation from one wire of the main transmission line at some convenient point. Use the lowest-current flashlight bulbs or dial lamps available. Solder the tips of the bulbs together and connect them to the bare point in the transmission line, then solder the ends of the cut portion of the short piece to the shells of the bulbs. Figs. 21-43 and 21-44 should make the construction clear. Installing the twin-lamp on a line introduces a discontinuity in the line impedance which causes the s.w.r. from the twin-lamp back to the transmitter to differ from the s.w.r. existing between the antenna and twin-lamp. For this reason it is desirable to remove it after s.w.r. checks have been made. It is convenient to mount the twin-lamp on a short length of line fitted to a 300-ohm plug at one end and a mating socket at the other. If similar plugs and sockets are used on the transmitter and regular transmission line, the whole test unit can be inserted and taken out at will.

The twin-lamp will respond to "antenna" currents on the transmission line in much the same way as the bridge circuits discussed earlier. There is therefore always a possibility of error in its indications, unless it has been determined by other means that "antenna" currents are inconsequential compared with the true transmission-line current.

### The Oscilloscope

The cathode-ray oscilloscope gives a visual representation of signals at both audio and radio frequencies and can therefore be used for many types of measurements that are not possible with instruments of the types discussed earlier in this chapter. In amateur work, one of the principal uses of the 'scope is for displaying an amplitudemodulated signal so a 'phone transmitter can be adjusted for proper modulation and continuously monitored to keep the modulation percentage within proper limits. For this purpose a very simple circuit will suffice, and an oscilloscope designed expressly for this purpose is described in this section.

The versatility of the 'scope can be greatly increased by adding amplifiers and linear deflection circuits, but the design and adjustment of such circuits tends to be complicated if optimum performance is to be secured, and is somewhat outside the field of this chapter. Special components are generally required. Oscilloscope kits for home assembly are available from a number of suppliers, and since their cost compares very favorably with that of a home-built instrument of comparable design, they are recommended for serious consideration by those who have need for or are interested in the wide range of measurements that is possible with a fully-equipped 'scope.

### CATHODE-RAY TUBES

The heart of the oscilloscope is the **cathode**ray tube, a vacuum tube in which the electrons emitted from a hot cathode are first accelerated to give them considerable velocity, then formed into a beam, and finally allowed to strike a special translucent screen which *fluoresces*, or gives off light at the point where the beam strikes. A beam of moving electrons can be moved laterally, or **deflected**, by electric or magnetic fields, and since its weight and inertia are negligibly small, it can be made to follow instantly the variations in periodically-changing fields at both audio and radio frequencies.

The electrode arrangement that forms the electrons into a beam is called the **electron gun**. In the simple tube structure shown in Fig. 21-45, the gun consists of the cathode, grid, and anodes Nos. 1 and 2. The intensity of the electron beam is regulated by the grid in the same way as in an ordinary tube. Anode No. 1 is operated at a positive potential with respect



Fig. 21-45 - Typical construction for a cathode-ray tube of the electrostatic-deflection type.

#### World Radio History

to the cathode, thus accelerating the electrons that pass through the grid, and is provided with small apertures through which the electron stream passes. On emerging from the apertures the electrons are traveling in practically parallel straight-line paths. The electrostatic fields set up by the potentials on anode No. 1 and anode No. 2 form an electron lens system which makes the electron paths converge or focus to a point at the fluorescent screen. The potential on anode No. 2 is usually fixed, while that on anode No. 1 is varied to bring the beam into focus. Anode No. 1 is, therefore, called the focusing electrode.

Electrostatic deflection, the type generally used in the smaller tubes, is produced by **deflecting plates.** Two sets of plates are placed at right angles to each other, as indicated in Fig. 21-45. The fields are created by applying suitable voltages between the two plates of each pair. Usually one plate of each pair is connected to anode No. 2, to establish the polarities of the vertical and horizontal fields with respect to the beam and to each other.

#### Formation of Patterns

When periodically-varying voltages are applied to the two sets of deflecting plates, the path traced by the fluorescent spot forms a **pattern** that is stationary so long as the amplitude and phase relationships of the voltages remain unchanged. Fig. 21-46 shows how such patterns are formed. The horizontal sweep



voltage is assumed to have the "sawtooth" waveshape indicated. With no voltage applied to the vertical plates the trace simply sweeps from left to right across the screen along the horizontal axis X-X' until the instant H is reached, when it reverses direction and returns to the starting point. The sine-wave voltage applied to the vertical plates similarly would trace a line along the axis Y-Y' in the absence of any deflecting voltage on the horizontal plates. However, when both voltages are present the position of the spot at any instant depends upon the voltages on both sets of plates at that instant. Thus at time B the horizontal voltage has moved the spot a short distance to the right and the vertical voltage has similarly moved it upward, so that it reaches the actual position B' on the screen. The resulting trace is easily followed from the other indicated positions, which are taken at equal time intervals.

### Types of Sweeps

A sawtooth sweep-voltage waveshape, such as is shown in Fig. 21-46, is called a linear sweep, because the deflection in the horizontal direction is directly proportional to time. If the sweep were perfect the fly-back time, or time taken for the spot to return from the end (H) to the beginning (I or A) of the horizontal trace, would be zero, so that the line HI would be perpendicular to the axis Y-Y'. Although the fly-back time cannot be made zero in practicable sweep-voltage generators it can be made quite small in comparison to the time of the desired trace AH, at least at most frequencies within the audio range. The line H'I' is called the **return trace**; with a linear sweep it is less brilliant than the pattern, because the spot is moving much more rapidly during the fly-back time than during the time of the main trace.

The linear sweep shows the shape of the wave in the same way that it is usually represented graphically. If the period of the a.c. voltage applied to the vertical plates is considerably less than the time taken to sweep horizontally across the screen, several cycles of the vertical or "signal" voltage will appear in the pattern.

The shape of the pattern obtained, with a given signal waveshape on the vertical plates, obviously will depend upon the shape of the horizontal sweep voltage. If the horizontal sweep is sinusoidal, the main and return sweeps each occupy the same time and the spot moves faster horizontally in the center of the pattern than it does at the ends. When two sinusoidal voltages of the same frequency are applied to both sets of plates, the pattern may be a straight line, an ellipse, or a circle, depending upon the amplitudes and phase relationships of the two voltages.

For many amateur purposes a satisfactory horizontal sweep is simply a 60-cycle voltage of adjustable amplitude. In modulation monitoring (described in the chapter on amplitude modulation) audio-frequency voltage can be taken from the modulator to supply the horizontal sweep. For examination of audio-frequency waveforms, the linear sweep is essential. Its frequency should be adjustable over the entire range of audio frequencies to be inspected on the oscilloscope.

#### Lissajous Figures

When sinusoidal a.c. voltages are applied to the two sets of deflecting plates in the oscilloscope the resultant pattern depends on

the relative amplitudes, frequencies and phase of the two voltages. If the ratio between the two frequencies is constant and can be expressed in intergers a stationary pattern will be produced. This makes it possible to use the oscilloscope for



Fig. 21-47 — Lissajous figures and corresponding frequency ratios for a 90-degree phase relationship between the voltages applied to the two sets of deflecting plates.

determining an unknown frequency, provided a variable frequency standard is available, or for determining calibration points for a variablefrequency oscillator if a few known frequencies are available for comparison.

The stationary patterns obtained in this way are called **Lissajous figures**. Examples of some of the simpler Lissajous figures are given in Fig. 21-47. The frequency ratio is found by counting the number of loops along two adjacent edges. Thus in the third figure from the top there are three loops along a horizontal edge and only one along the vertical, so the ratio of the vertical frequency to the horizontal frequency is 3 to 1. Similarly, in the fifth figure from the top there are four loops along the horizontal edge and three along the vertical edge, giving a ratio of 4 to 3. Assuming that the known frequency is applied to the horizontal plates, the unknown frequency is

$$f_2 = \frac{n_2}{n_1} f_1$$

- where  $f_1$  = known frequency applied to horizontal plates,
  - $f_2 =$  unknown frequency applied to vertical plates,
  - $n_1 =$ number of loops along a vertical edge, and
  - $n_2 =$  number of loops along a horizontal edge.

An important application of Lissajous figures is in the ealibration of audio-frequency signal generators. For very low frequencies the 60-cycle power-line frequency is held accurately enough to be used as a standard in most localities. The medium audio-frequency range can be covered by comparison with the 440- and 600-cycle modulation on the WWV transmissions. An oscilloscope having both horizontal and vertical amplifiers is desirable, since it is convenient to have a means for adjusting the voltages applied to the deflection plates to secure a suitable pattern size. It is possible to calibrate over a 10to-1 range, both upwards and downwards, from each of the latter frequencies and thus eover the audio range useful for voice communication.

### A Simple Oscilloscope

Figs. 21-48 through 21-50 show the circuit and constructional details of a simple 2-inch oscilloscope suitable for the r.f. measurements described in the chapter on amplitude modulation. The compact assembly, with everything sup-



Fig. 21-49 — A 2-inch oscilloscope of compact construction, snitable for modulation measurements and monitoring. It is designed around the 2BP1 cathode-ray tube and can be mounted either in the transmitter itself or in a separate cabinet. (Built by W1BHD and W1NUQ.)



Fig. 21-49 — Rear view of the 2-inch oscilloseope. The 2BP1 is supported by the strap at the end of the shield, which champs around the tube base. The tube socket floats, with short flexible leads running to the terminal board.

ported by the 31/4 by 51/4-inch panel, makes it possible to mount it right in a transmitter unit, if desired. In such case the heater power and high voltage for the 2BP1 tube may be taken from the transmitter power supply. The heater of the tube requires 6.3 volts at 0.6 ampere. The high voltage may be anything between 500 and 1000 volts, the maximum current being about 600 microamperes.

Fig. 21-50 is the circuit diagram of the unit. Four controls are provided, for adjusting the focus and brightness and for centering the pattern both horizontally and vertically. The horizontal and vertical signal input terminals are isolated from the c.r.t. deflection plates for d.c. by blocking condensers  $C_1$  and  $C_2$ . These condensers should be rated to stand the maximum voltage applied



Fig. 21-50 — Circuit diagram of the 2-inch oscilloscope. The high voltage may be between 500 and 1000 volts. according to the voltage available.

- C<sub>1</sub>, C<sub>2</sub>, C<sub>4</sub>, C<sub>5</sub> 0.01- $\mu$ fd., 1000-volt rating. C<sub>3</sub> 0.5  $\mu$ fd., 500 volts.
- R<sub>1</sub>, R<sub>2</sub> 3-megohm volume control,
- $\begin{array}{l} R_{3}, R_{4} = 82,000 \ ohms, \ \frac{1}{2} \ watt, \\ R_{5}, R_{6} = 2.2 \ megohms, \ \frac{1}{2} \ watt. \end{array}$
- -0,75 megohin, 1 watt. R7 -
- Rs, R10-0.25-megohim volume control.
- R9-0.1 megohin, I watt.
- R11-0,27 megohm, 1 watt.

to the tube plus the peak signal voltage. The signal voltage required for full deflection depends on the high voltage used, and for 500-volt operation is 65 volts per inch horizontally and 40 volts per inch vertically. At 1000 volts the corresponding figures are 130 volts per inch horizontally and 80 volts per inch vertically.

As shown in Figs. 21-48 and 21-49, the four control potentiometers are mounted in pairs each side of the c.r.t. face on the panel. Quarter-inch brass rods support a small bakelite panel at the rear. Power connections are made by means of a



*Fig.* 21-51 — Suggested power supply for the 2-inch oscilloscope if power is not supplied by the transmitter. A 60-cycle sweep circuit is included.

C<sub>1</sub> - 0.25 to 1 µfd., 1000 volts.

R1 - 0.5-megohm volume control.

 $S_1, S_2 = S.p.s.t.$  toggle.  $\Gamma_1 = Small$  replacement transformer, 250 to 350 volts Ti each side c.t., current rating unimportant. The 2X2 rectifier filament is supplied by one-half of the 5-volt rectifier winding. Filament secondary 6.3 volts, current required 0.6 amp.

T<sub>2</sub> — Audio transformer, 1 to 1 ratio suitable.

terminal strip, and double binding-post assemblies are used for the signal inputs. The brass rod supports are drilled and tapped at the ends, and at the front are assembled to the same holes that mount the bezel (Millen 80072) and the tube shield (Millen 80042). The latter is used to protect the tube from both low-frequency a.c. and r.f. fields that act on the beam and distort the pattern.

Connections and use of an oscilloscope of this type for modulation checking are described in the chapter on amplitude modulation. For the trapezoidal pattern some of the audio voltage from the modulator should be applied to the horizontal plates through a voltage divider as described in that chapter. For continuous monitoring of modulation a 60-cycle sweep can be used on the horizontal plates. The 60-cycle voltage can be obtained through a small audio transformer from the power line, as indicated in Fig. 21-51, with a potentiometer for setting it to the proper value to give a pattern of the desired size.

The unit can of course be mounted in a standard utility box or cabinet, if desired, in which event it is convenient to include a power supply. A suitable diagram is given in Fig. 21-51. Any small replacement transformer can be used since the power required is extremely small.

## **CHAPTER 22**

# Assembling a Station

An amatcur station is generally far better known by its signal and good operation than by its physical appearance. Good operating and a clean signal will build a reputation faster than thousands of dollars invested in special equipment and an elaborate "shack," and it is this very fact that makes amateur radio the democratic hobby that it is. However, most amateurs take pride in the arrangement of their stations, in the same way that they are careful of the appearance and arrangement of anything else that is part of the household. An antenna installation is the only external indication of the amateur station, and the degree of neatness required is generally determined by the district where the amateur lives and the attitude of the neighbors. However, with the advent of all different kinds of television receiving antennas, neighbors are in a much less favorable position to complain about the appearance of an amateur antenna system in the vicinity. TVI is something else, however!

The actual location inside the house of the "shaek" - the room where the transmitter and receiver are located — depends, of course, on the free space available for amateur activities. Fortunate indeed is the amateur with a separate room that he can devote to his amateur station, or the few who can have a special small building separate from the main house. However, most amateurs must share a room with other domestic activities, and amateur stations will be found tucked away in a corner of the living room, a bedroom, a large closet, or even under the kitchen stove! A spot in the cellar or the attic can almost be classed as a separate room, although it may lack the "finish" of a normal room.

Regardless of the location of the station, however, it should be designed for maximum operating convenience and safety. It is foolish to have the station arranged so that the throwing of several switches is required to go from "receive" to "transmit," just as it is silly to have the equipment arranged so that the operator is in an uncomfortable and cramped position during his operating hours. The reasons for building the station as safe as possible are obvious, if you are interested in spending a number of years with your hobby!

### CONVENIENCE

The first consideration in any amateur station is the operating position, which includes the operator's table and chair and the pieces of equipment that are in constant use (the receiver, send-receive switch, and key or microphone). The table should be as large as possible, to allow sufficient room for the receiver or receivers, frequency-measuring equipment, monitoring equipment, control switches, and keys and microphones, with enough space left over for the logbook, a pad and pencil, and perhaps a large ash tray. Suitable space should be included for radiogram blanks and a call book, if these accessories are in frequent use. If the table is small, or the number of pieces of equipment is large, it is often necessary to build a shelf or rack for the auxiliary equipment, or to mount it in some less convenient location in or under the table. If one has the facilities, a semicircular "console" can be built of wood, or a simpler solution is to use two small wooden cabinets to support a table top of wood or Masonite. Home-built tables or consoles can be finished in any of the available oil stains, varnishes, paints or lacquers, Many operators use a large piece of plate glass over part of their table, since it furnishes a good writing surface and can cover miscellaneous charts and tables.



This compact station is arranged for clean-cut c.w. operation, with no frills or extras. The homemade modern-style table provides adequate operating space, a cubbyhole for log and Call Book, and drawers for QSL cards and spare parts. (W9NN, Des Plaines, Ill.)

### **CHAPTER 22**

# 486

prefix lists, operating aids, calendar, and similar accessories.

If the major interests never require frequent band changing, or frequency changing within a band, the transmitter can be located some distance from the operator, in a location where the meters can be observed from time to time (and the color of the tube plates noted!). If frequent band or frequency changes are a part of the usual operating procedure, the transmitter should be mounted close to the operator, either along one side or above the receiver, so that the controls are easily accessible without the need for leaving the operating position.



Fig. 22-1 — In a station assembled for maximum ease in frequency or band changing, the transmitter should be located next to the operating position, as shown above. On the operating table, the receiver is in front of the operator and VFO or crystal-switching oscillator on the left. (The VFO or crystal oscillator could be part of the transmitter proper, but most operators seem to prefer a separate VFO.)

The frequency standard and other auxiliary equipment can be mounted on a shelf above the receiver. The operating table can be an old desk, or a top supported by two small wooden cabinets. The "send-receive" switch is to the right of the telegraph keys — other switches are on the transmitter or the individual units.

The above arrangement can be made to look cleaner by arranging all of the equipment on the table behind a single panel or a set of panels. In this case, provision must be made for getting behind the panel for servicing the units.

A compromise arrangement would place the VFO or crystal-switched oscillator at the eperating position and the transmitter in some convenient location not adjacent to the operator. Since it is usually possible to operate over a portion of a band without retuning the transmitter stages, an operating position of this type is an advantage over one in which the operator must leave his position to make a change in frequency.

#### Controls

The operator has an excellent chance to exercise his ingenuity in the location of the operating controls. The most important controls in the station are the receiver tuning dial and the send-receive switch. The receiver tuning dial should be located four to eight inches above the operating table, and if this requires mounting the receiver off the table, a small shelf or bracket will do the trick. With the



One of the most convenient station arrangements is to build a semicircular operating table as shown here. All operating controls are readily available, and considerably more equipment can be grouped around the operator than when an ordinary desk is used. (W2SAI, *Ricerton*, N, J.)

single exception of the amateur whose work is almost entirely in traffic or rag-chew nets, which require little or no attention to the receiver, it will be found that the operator's hand is on the receiver tuning dial most of the time. If the tuning knob is too high or too low, the hand gets cramped after an extended period of operating, hence the importance of a properly-located receiver. The majority of c.w. operators tune with the left hand, preferring to leave the right hand free for copying messages and handling the key, and so the receiver should be mounted where the knob can be reached by the left hand, 'Phone operators aren't tied down this way, and tune the communications receiver with the hand that is more convenient.

The hand key should be fastened securely to the table, in a line just outside the right shoulder and far enough back from the front edge of the table so that the elbow can rest on the table. A good location for the semiauto-



In this arrangement, the two receivers (with separate londspeakers) and the transmitter  $\lambda$  FO are all within easy reach of the operator, while the monitoring oscilloscope on the left-hand transmitter rack can be easily seen from the operating position, (W 7.1 U, Boulder City, Ner.)

### **ASSEMBLING A STATION**

matic or "bug" key is right next to the handkey, although some operators prefer to mount the automatic key in front of them on the left, so that the right forcarm rests on the table parallel to the front edge.

The best location for the microphone is directly in front of the operator, so that he doesn't have to shout across the table into it, or run up the speech-amplifier gain so high that all manner of external sounds are picked up. If the microphone is supported by a boom or by a flexible "goose neck," it can be placed in front of the operator without its base taking up valuable table space.

In any amateur station worthy of the name, it should be necessary to throw no more than one switch to go from the "receive" to the "transmit" condition. In 'phone stations, this switch should be located where it can be easily reached by the hand that isn't on the receiver. In the case of c.w. operation, this switch is most conveniently located to the right or left of the key, although some operators prefer to have it mounted on the left-hand side of the operating position and work it with the left hand while the right hand is on the key. Either location is satisfactory, of course, and the choice depends upon personal preference, Some operators use a foot-controlled switch, which is a convenience but doesn't allow too much freedom of position during long operating periods.

If the microphone is hand-held during 'phone operation, a "push-to-talk" switch on the microphone is convenient, but hand-held microphones tie up the use of one hand and



 $Fi\mu$ , 22-2 — When little space is available for the amateur station, the equipment has to be spotted where it will fit. In the above arrangement, the transmitter, modulator and power supplies (separate units) are sandwiched in alongside the operating table and on a shelf above the table. The antenna tuning unit is mounted over the feed-through insulators that bring the antenna line into the "shack," and londspeaker and small power supplies are mounted under the table. The operating position is clean, however, with the VFO, receiver and keys at table level. The tuning knob of this receiver would be uncomfortably low if the receiver weren't raised by the wooden areb, and the "sendreceive" switch is mounted on the right-hand side of this arch, next to the hand key. Interconnecting leads should be cabled along the back of the table and table legs, to keep them inconspicuous,



This illustrates how concealing all interconnecting wires and eliminating gear not necessary to communication results in an extremely near station. (*IE3AUJ*, *Woodstock*, *Out.*)

are not too desirable, although they are widely used in mobile and portable work.

The location of other switches, such as those used to control power supplies, filaments, 'phone/c.w. change-over and the like, is of no particular importance, and they can be located on the unit with which they are associated. This is not strictly true in the case of the 'phone'c.w. DX man, who sometimes has need to change in a hurry from c.w. to 'phone. In this case, the change-over switch should be at the operating table, although the actual change-over should be done by a relay controlled by the switch.

If a rotary beam is used the control of the beam should be convenient to the operator. The direction indicator, however, can be located anywhere within sight of the operator, and does not have to be located on the operating table unless it is included with the control.

When several fixed beams are used, the selection of any one should be possible from the operating position, to minimize the time required to select the proper one. This generally means using a series of antenna relays or a stepping switch.

#### **Frequency Spotting**

In a station where a VFO is used, or where a number of crystals is available, the operator should be able to turn on only the oscillator of his transmitter, so that he can spot accurately his location in the band with respect to other stations. This allows him to see if he has anything like a clear channel (if such a thing exists in the amateur bands!), or to see what his frequency is with respect to another station. Such a provision can be part of the "send-receive" switch. Switches are available with a center "off" position, a "hold" position on one side, for turning on the oscillator only, and a "lock" position on the other side for turning on the transmitter and antenna relays. If oscillator keying is used, the key serves the same pur-

### CHAPTER 22



Fig. 22-3 — Power circuits for a high-power station. A shows the outlets for the receiver, monitoring equipment, speech amplifier and the like. The outlets should be mounted inconspicnously on the operating table. B shows the transmitter filament circuits and control-relay circuits, if the latter are used. C shows the plate-transformer primary circuits, controlled by the power relay. A heavy-duty switch can be used instead of the relay, in which case the antenna relay would be connected in circuit C

If 115-volt pilot lamps are used, they can be connected as shown. Lower-voltage lamps must be connected across suitable windings on transformers. With "push-to-talk" operation, the "send-receive" switch can be a d.p.d.t. affair, with the second pole controlling

the "on-off" circuit of the receiver.

pose, provided a "send-receive" switch is available to turn off the high-voltage supplies and prevent a signal going out on the air during adjustment of the oscillator frequency.

For 'phone operation, the telegraph key or an auxiliary switch can control the transmitter oscillator, and the "send-receive" switch can then be wired into the control system so as to control the oscillator as well as the other circuits.

#### Comfort

Of prime importance is the comfort of the operator. If you find yourself getting tired after a short period of operating, examine your station to find what causes the fatigue. It may be that the chair is too soft or hasn't a straight back or is the wrong height for you. The key or receiver may be located so that you assume an uncomfortable position while using them. If you get sleepy fast, the ventilation may be at fault. (Or you may need sleep!)

### POWER CONNECTIONS AND CONTROL

Following a few simple rules in wiring your power supplies and control circuits will make it an easy job to change units in the station. If the station is planned in this way from the start, or if the rules are recalled when you are rebuilding, you will find it a simple matter to revise your station from time to time without a major rewiring job.

It is neater and safer to run a single pair of wires from the outlet over to the operating table or some central point, rather than to use a number of adapters at the wall outlet.

#### Interconnections

The wiring of any station will entail two or three common circuits, as shown in Fig. 22-3. The circuit for the receiver, monitoring equipment and the like, assuming it to be taken from a wall outlet, should be run from the wall to an inconspicuous point on the operating table, where it terminates in a multiple outlet large enough to handle the required number of plugs. A single switch between the wall outlet and the receptacle will then turn on all of this equipment at one time.

The second common circuit in the station is that supplying voltage to rectifier- and transmitter-tube filaments, bias supplies, and anything else that is not switched on and off during transmit and receive periods. The coil power for control relays should also be obtained from this circuit. The power for this circuit can come from a wall outlet or from the transmitter line, if a special one is used.

The third circuit is the one that furnishes power to the plate-supply transformers for the r.f. stages and for the modulator. (See chapter on Power Supplies for high-power considerations. When it is opened, the transmitter is disabled except for the filaments, and the transmitter should be safe to work on. However, one always feels safer when working on the transmitter if he has turned off every power supply pertaining to the transmitter.

### **ASSEMBLING A STATION**

With these three circuits established, it becomes a simple matter to arrange the station for different conditions and with new units. Anything on the operating table that runs all the time ties into the first circuit. Any new power supply or r.f. unit gets its filament power from the second circuit. Since the third circuit is controlled by the send-receive switch (or relay), any power-supply primary that is to be switched on and off for send and receive connects to circuit No. 3.

### Break-In and Push-To-Talk

In c.w. operation, "break-in" is any system that allows the transmitting operator to hear the other station's signal during the "key-up" periods between characters and letters. This allows the sending station to be "broken" by the receiving station at any time, to shorten calls, ask for "fills" in messages, and speed up operation in general. With present techniques, it requires the use of a separate receiving antenna and, with high power, some means for protecting the receiver from the transmitter when the key is "down." Several methods, applicable to high-power stations, are described in Chapter Eight. If the transmitter is low-powered (50 watts or so), no special equipment is required except the separate receiving antenna and a receiver that "recovers" fast. Where break-in operation is used, there should be a switch on the operating table to turn off the plate supplies when adjusting the oscillator to a new frequency, although during all break-in work this switch will be closed.

"Push-to-talk" is an expression derived from the "push" switch on some microphones, and it means a 'phone station with a single control for all change-over functions. Strictly speaking, it should apply only to a station where this single send-receive switch must be held in place during transmission periods, but any fast-acting switch will give practically the same effect. A control switch with a center "off" position, and one "hold" and one "lock" position, will give more flexibility than a straight "push" switch. The one switch must control the antenna change-over relay, the transmitter power supplies, and the receiver "on-off" circuit. This latter is necessary to disable the receiver during transmit periods, to avoid acoustic feed-back.

### Switches and Relays

It is dangerous to use an overloaded switch in the power circuits. After it has been used for some time, it may fail, leaving the power on the circuit even after the switch is thrown to the "off" position For this reason, large switches, or relays with adequate ratings, should be used to control the plate power. Relays are rated by coil voltages (for their control circuits) and by their contact current ratings.

When relays are used, the send-receive switch closes the circuit to their coils, thus closing the relay contacts. The relay contacts are in the power circuit being controlled, and thus the switch handles only the relay-coil current.

### SAFETY

Of prime importance in the layout of the station is the personal safety of the operator and of visitors, invited or otherwise, during normal operating practice. If there are small children in the house, every step must be taken to prevent their accidental contact with power leads of any voltage. A locked room is a fine idea, if it is possible, otherwise housing the transmitter and power supplies in metal cabinets is an excellent, although expensive, solution. Lacking a metal cabinet, a wooden cabinet or a wooden framework covered with wire screen is the next-best solution. Many stations have the power supplies housed in metal cabinets in the operating room or in a closet or basement, and this cabinet or entry is kept locked — with the key out of reach of everyone but the operator. The power leads are run through conduit to the transmitter, using ignition cable for the high-voltage leads. If the power supplies and transmitter are in the same eabinet, a lock-type main switch for the incoming line power is a good precaution.

A simple substitute for a lock-type main switch is an ordinary line plug with a short connecting wire between the two pins. By wiring a female receptacle in series with the main power line in the transmitter, the shorting plug will act as the main safety lock. When the plug is removed and hidden, it will be impossible to energize the transmitter, and a stranger or child isn't likely to spot or suspect the open receptacle.

An essential adjunct to any station is a shorting stick for discharging any high voltage to ground before any work or coil changing is done in the transmitter. Even if interlocks and power-supply bleeders are used, the failure of



This example of a "console" shows how it is possible to find room for a receiver and multiband kilowatt transmitter (plus power supplies and modulator), together with a wide variety of accessories including a 7-inch TV receiver, tape recorder and panoramic adapter. (W4RQG, Winston-Sulem, N. C.)

# 490

one or more of these components may leave the transmitter in a dangerous condition. The shorting stick is made by mounting a small metal hook, of wire or rod, on one end of a dry stick or bakelite rod. A piece of ignition cable or other well-insulated wire is then run from the hook on the stick to the chassis or common ground of the transmitter, and the stick is hung alongside the transmitter. Whenever the power is turned off in the transmitter to work on the rig, or to change coils, the shorting stick is first used to touch the several high-voltage leads (tank condenser, filter condenser, tube plate connection, etc.) to insure that there is no high voltage at any of these points. This simple device has saved many a life. Use it!

### Fusing

A minor hazard in the amateur station is the possibility of fire through the failure of a component. If the failure is complete and the component is large, the house fuses will generally blow. However, it is unwise and inconvenient to depend upon the house fuses to protect the lines running to the radio equipment, and every power supply should have its primary circuit individually fused, at about 150 to 200 per cent of the maximum rating of the supply. Circuit breakers can be used instead of fuses if desired.

#### Wiring

Control-circuit wires running between the operating position and a transmitter in another part of the room should be hidden, if possible. This can be done by running the wires under the floor or behind the base molding, bringing the wires out to terminal boxes or regular wall fixtures. Such construction, however, is generally only possible in elaborate installations, and the average amateur must content himself with trying to make the wires as inconspicuous as possible. If several pairs of leads must be run from the operating table to the transmitter, as is generally the case, a single piece of rubber- or vinyl-covered multiconductor cable will always look neater than several pieces of rubber-covered lamp cord.

The antenna wires always present a problem, unless coaxial-line feed is used. Open-wire line from the point of entry of the antenna line should always be arranged neatly, and it is generally best to support it at several points. Many operators prefer to mount their antennatuning assemblies right at the point of entry of the feedline, together with an antenna changeover relay (if one is used), and then the link from the tuning assembly to the transmitter can be made of inconspicuous coaxial line or Twin-Lead. If the transmitter is mounted near the point of entry of the line, it simplifies the problem of "What to do with the feeders?"

#### General

You can check your station arrangement by asking yourself the following questions. If all of your answers are an honest "Yes," your station will be one of which you can be proud.

1) Is your station safe, under normal operating conditions, both for the operator and the visitor?

2) Is the operating position comfortable, even after several hours of operating?

3) Do you throw not more than one switch to go from "receive" to "transmit"?

4) Does it take only a short time to explain to another amateur how to work your station?

5) Do you show your station to visiting amateurs or laymen without apologizing for its appearance?

This complete half-kilowatt station is an excellent example of how all of the equipment can be concealed inconspienously in the living room. The cabinet is built of 34-inch plywood finished in blonde mahogany and, with the doors closed, looks like a custom-built radio-phonograph combination. (W9MQK, Madison, Wisc.)



# BCI and TVI

Every amateur has the obligation to make sure that the operation of his station does not, because of any shortcomings in equipment, cause interference with other radio services. It is unfortunately true that much interference is directly the fault of broadcast and TV receiver construction. Nevertheless, the amateur can and should help to alleviate interference even though the responsibility for it does not lie with him.

Successful handling of interference cases reouires winning the listener's coöperation. Here are a few pointers on how to go about it.

#### Clean House First

The first step obviously is to make sure that the transmitter has no radiations outside the bands assigned for amateur use. The best check on this is your own AM or TV receiver. It is always convincing if you can say — and demonstrate that you do not interfere with reception in your own home.

### Don't Hide Your Identity

Whenever you make equipment changes - or shift to a hitherto unused band or type of emission — that might be expected to change the interference situation, check with your neighbors. If no one is experiencing interference, so much the better; it does no harm to keep the neighborhood aware of the fact that you are operating without bothering anyone.

Should you change location, announce your presence and conduct occasional tests on the air. requesting anyone whose reception is being spoiled to let you know about it so steps may be taken to eliminate the trouble.

#### Act Promptly

The average person will tolerate a limited amount of interference, but no one can be expected to put up with frequent and extended interruptions to programs. The sooner you take steps to eliminate the interference, the more agreeable the listener will be; the longer he has to wait for you, the less willing he will be to coöperate.

### Causes and Cure of BCI

Interference with AM broadcasting usually falls into one or more rather well-defined categories. A knowledge of the general types of interference and the methods required to eliminate it will lead to a rapid appraisal of the situation and will avoid much cut-and-try in finding a cure.

### **Transmitter Defects**

Out-of-band radiation is something that must be cured at the transmitter. Parasitie oscillations are a frequently unsuspected

### **Present Your Story Tactfully**

When you interfere, it is natural for the complainant to assume that your transmitter is at fault. If you are certain that the trouble is not caused by harmonics or other spurious emissions from your transmitter, explain to the listener that if it is simply the presence of your strong signal on his receiving antenna that eauses the difficulty, and that some modifications will have to be made in the receiver if he is to expect interference-free reception,

#### **Arrange for Tests**

Most listeners are not very competent observers of the various aspects of interference. If at all possible, enlist the help of another amateur and have him operate your transmitter while you see what happens at the affected receiver. You can then determine for yourself where the trouble is most likely to be,

### Avoid Working on the Receiver

If your tests show that the fault has to be remedied in the receiver itself, do not offer to work on the receiver. It is not your fault that the receiver design is defective. Recommend that the work be done by a reliable serviceman, and offer to advise the latter as to the cause and cure if necessary.

### In General

In this "public relations" phase of the problem a great deal depends on your own attitude. Most people will be willing to meet you half way, particularly when the interference is not of long standing, if you as a person make a good impression. Your personal appearance is important. So is what you say about the receiver — no one takes kindly to hearing his possessions derided. If you discuss your interference problems on the air, do it in a constructive way one calculated to increase listener coöperation, not destroy it.

source of such radiations, and no transmitter can be considered satisfactory until it has been thoroughly checked for both low- and highfrequency parasities. Very often parasities show up only as transients, causing key clicks in c.w. transmitters and "splashes" or "burps" on modulation peaks in AM transmitters. Methods for detecting and eliminating parasitics are discussed in the transmitter chapter.

In c.w. transmitters the sharp make and break that occurs with unfiltered keying causes transients that, in theory, contain frequency components through the entire radio spectrum. Practically, they are often strong enough in the immediate vicinity of the transmitter to cause serious interference to broadcast reception. Key clicks can be eliminated by the methods detailed in the chapter on keying.

A distinction must be made between clicks generated in the transmitter itself and those set up by the mere opening and closing of the key contacts when current is flowing. The latter are of the same nature as the clicks heard in a receiver when a wall switch is thrown to turn a light on or off, and may be more troublesome nearby than the clicks that actually go out on the signal. A filter for eliminating them usually has to be installed as close as possible to the key contacts.

Overmodulation in AM 'phone transmitters generates transients similar to key clicks. It can be prevented either by using automatic systems for limiting the modulation to 100 per cent, or by continuously monitoring the modulation. Methods for both are described in the chapter on amplitude modulation. In this connection, the term "overmodulation" means any type of nonlinear modulation that results from overloading or inadequate design. This can occur even though the actual modulation percentage is less than 100.

BC1 is frequently made worse by radiation from the transmitter, power wiring, or the r.f. transmission line. This is because the signal causing the interference, in such cases, is radiated from wiring that is nearer the broadcast receiver than the antenna itself. In such cases much depends on the method used to couple the transmitter to the antenna, a subject that is discussed in the chapters on transmission lines and antennas. If it is at all possible the antenna itself should be placed so that it is not in close proximity to house wiring, telephone and power lines, and similar conductors.

### Image and Oscillator-Harmonic Responses

Relatively few superhet broadcast receivers have any r.f. amplification preceding the mixer, so that the selectivity at the signal frequency is not especially high. The result is that strong signals from near-by transmitters, even though the transmitting frequency is far removed from the broadcast band, can force themselves to the mixer grid. They will normally be eliminated by the i.f. selectivity, except in cases where the transmitter frequency is the image of the broadcast signal to which the receiver is tuned, or when the transmitter frequency is so related to a harmonic of the broadcast receiver's local oscillator as to produce a beat at the intermediate frequency.

These image and oscillator-harmonic responses tune in and out on the broadcast receiver dial just like a broadcast signal, except that in the case of harmonic response the tuning rate is more rapid. Since most receivers use an intermediate frequency in the neighbor-

hood of 450 kc., the interference is a true image only when the amateur transmitting frequency is in the 1750-kc, band, Oscillator-harmonic responses occur from 3.5- and 7-Mc, transmissions, and sometimes even from higher frequencies.

The problem is to reduce the amplitude of the amateur signal in the front end of the b.c. receiver. If the receiver uses an external antenna a wavetrap at the receiver antenna terminals may help. It may also be helpful to reduce the length of the receiving antenna - and particularly to avoid a length that might be near resonance at the transmitter frequency - or to change its direction with respect to the transmitting antenna. If the signal is being picked up by the antenna it will disappear when the antenna is disconnected. If it is still present under these circumstances the pick-up is in the set wiring or the power circuits. A line filter may be tried for the latter. Pick-up on the set wiring can only be cured by installing some shielding around the r.f. circuits, Copper window screening cut and fitted to size will usually do the trick.

Since images and harmonic responses occur at definite frequencies on the receiver dial, it is always possible to choose an operating frequency that will not give such a response on top of the broadcast stations that are favored in the vicinity. While your signal may still be heard when the receiver is tuned off the local stations, it will at least not interfere with program reception.

#### Cross-Modulation

With 'phone transmitters, there are occasionally cases where the voice is heard whenever the broadcast receiver is tuned to a b.c. station, but there is no interference when tuning between stations. This is cross-modulation, a result of rectification in one of the early stages of the receiver. Receivers that are susceptible to this trouble usually also get a similar type of interference from regular broadcasting if there is a strong local b.c. station and the receiver is tuned to some *other* station.

The remedy for cross-modulation in the receiver is the same as for images and oscillatorharmonic responses — reduce the strength of the amateur signal at the receiver by means of a wave-trap, line filter, or shielding, as required. The trouble is not always in the receiver, however, since cross modulation can occur in any rectifying circuit — such as a poor contact in water or steam piping, gutter pipes, and other conductors in the strong field of the transmitting antenna.

#### **Audio-Circuit Rectification**

The most frequent cause of interference from operation at the higher frequencies is from rectification of a signal that by one means or another gets into the audio system of the receiver. In the milder cases an amplitudemodulated signal will be heard with reasonably good quality, but is not tunable — that is, it is present no matter what the frequency to

### BCI AND TVI

which the receiver dial is set. An unmodulated carrier may have no observable effect in such cases beyond causing a little hum. However, if the signal is very strong there will be a reduction of the audio output level of the receiver whenever the carrier is thrown on. This causes an annoying "jumping" of the program when the interfering signal is keyed. With 'phone transmission the change in audio level is not so objectionable because it occurs at less frequent intervals. Also, ordinary rectification gives no audio output from a frequency-modulated signal, so the interference can be made almost completely unnoticeable if FM or PM is used instead of AM.

Interference of this type is most prevalent in a.c.-d.c. receivers. The pick-up may occur in the audio-circuit wiring or the interfering signal may get into the audio circuits by way of the line cord. Power-line pick-up can be treated by means of line filters, but pick-up in the receiver wiring requires individual attention. Remedies that have been found successful are described in the sections following.

### CHECKING AND CURING BCI

When a case of broadcast interference comes to your attention, set a definite time to conduct tests and then prepare to do the job as expeditiously as possible. As suggested before, get another amateur to operate your transmitter while you do the actual observing and testing at the listener's receiver. If you have a small broadcast receiver of your own that does not show interference, take it with you to demonstrate to the listener that the trouble is not in your transmitter but in his receiver. The procedure outlined below will save time in getting at the source of the trouble and eliminating it.

1) Determine whether the interference is tunable or not. This will usually indicate the methods required for elimination of the trouble, as it will show which of the general types of interference discussed above is present.

2) If the set has an external antenna, disconnect it and turn the volume control up full. If the interference is no longer present, it is merely necessary to prevent the r.f. appearing on the antenna from entering the set. If wavetraps reduce the amplitude of the interfering signal but do not eliminate it entirely, try a short piece of wire as a receiving antenna. Alternatively, the antenna may be relocated. It should be placed as far as possible from the transmitting antenna, and should run at right angles to it to minimize coupling.

3) If the interference persists after the antenna is disconnected, check for r.f. on the power line by using a sensitive wavemeter such as that described in the chapter on measurements to probe along the a.c. cord that connects the set to the power source. (This test also should be made with receivers using built-in loops.) Checks should be made at the transmitter frequency, and also at harmonic frequencies. If r.f. is detected in the line, by-pass both sides of the a.c. line to ground with 0.005-µfd, ceramic condensers at the point where the line cord enters the set. (A simple plug-and-socket adapter can be made up for this purpose.) If this does not completely eliminate the interference, try a line filter designed for the operating frequency.

4) If it is evident that the interference is being picked up on the receiver wiring, explain the situation to the owner and tell him that the exact cause cannot be determined without removing the chassis from the cabinet, and that, in any event, the receiver will have to be modified if the interference is to be eliminated. Recommend that the actual work be done by a radio serviceman. Offer to check into the cause yourself, if he will allow you to take the set to your shop (with the understanding that you will not make any changes in the receiver without his express permission) so the serviceman can be told what needs to be done.



Fig. 23-1 — Two methods of eliminating r.f. from the grid of a combined detector/first-audio stage. At A, the value of the grid leak is reduced to 2 or 3 megohms, and a mica by-pass condenser is added. At B, both grid and cathode are by-passed.

5) In the event that the owner allows you to take the receiver, set it up near your transmitter and check to see if the amplitude of the interfering signal is changed by various settings of the receiver volume control. If it is, the r.f. is entering the set *ahead* of the volume control. If it is unaffected by the volume control, it is getting into the audio stages at a point following the volume control.

6) Pin the source down, if it is ahead of the volume control, by removing one tube at a time until one is found that kills the interference when it is removed. In sets using series-connected filaments, this will be possible only if a tube of equal heater rating, and with all but the heater pins clipped off, is *substituted* for the tube.

7) Determine which element (or elements) of the tube is picking up the interference by touching each tube pin with a test lead about three feet long. The lead, acting as an antenna, will cause the interference to increase when it is placed on a tube pin that is contributing to the interference. Once the sensitive points have been determined, the trouble can be eliminated by shielding the leads connected to the tube element that is affected, and by shielding the tube itself. Grid leads are the principal offenders, especially the long leads that run from a tube cap to a tuning condenser terminal.

8) If the pick-up is found to be in the audio system — as is the case in many sets, especially when the transmitter is operating at 28 Me, or higher — it can be eliminated by one or another of the methods shown in Figs. 23-1 and



23-2. Fig. 23-1A is a method that has proved successful with many a.e.-d.c. receivers. The value of the grid leak in the combined detector/first-audio tube (usually a 12SQ7 or its equivalent) is reduced to 2 or 3 megohms. The grid is then by-passed for r.f. with a 250- $\mu\mu$ fd. mica condenser. Fig. 23-1B is a similar method. A third method that has worked in a.c.-d.c. receivers requires only that the heater of the detector 'first-audio stage be by-passed to ground with a 0.001-µfd. condenser. The method shown in Fig. 23-2 uses a 75,000-ohm <sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>-watt resistor to form, with the tube capacitance, a low-pass filter. The resistor is connected between the grid pin of the tube and all other wires connected to the grid. In all cases, both sides of the a.e. line should be by-passed to chassis with 0.001- to 0.01- $\mu$ fd, condensers.

#### Wavetraps and A.C. Line Filters

A wavetrap consists of a parallel-tuned circuit that is connected in series with the broad-



Fig.  $23 \cdot 3 \rightarrow A$  simple wavetrap circuit, L and C must resonate at the frequency of the interfering signal. Suitable constants are tabulated below.

Band	C				L		
3.5 7 11 21 28	140 μμfd. 100 μμfd. 50 μμfd. 35 μμfd. 25 μμfd.	16 6 3.5 2.2 1.5	μh., 32 19 14 12 9	turns	=22, =22, ≠18, ≠18, ±18,	1'' 1'' 1''	1" long 1" 1" 1" 1"

cast antenna and the antenna post of the receiver. It should be designed to resonate at the frequency of the interfering signal. The circuit of a simple trap is shown in Fig. 23-3. If interference results from operation in more than one amateur band several traps may be connected in series, each tuned to the center of one of the bands in which operation is contemplated. To adjust the wavetrap, have another licensed amateur operate the transmitter while you tune the trap for maximum attenuation of the interference.

A common form of a.e. line filter is shown in Fig. 23-4. This type of filter will usually do some good if the signal is being picked up on the house wiring and transferred to the set by way of the line cord. The values used for the coils and condensers are in general not critical. The effectiveness of the filter will depend considerably on the ground connection used, and it may be necessary to try grounding to several different possible ground connections to secure



Fig. 23-4 — A.e. line filter for receivers. The values of  $C_1$ ,  $C_2$  and  $C_3$  are not generally critical; capacitanees from 0.001 to 0.01  $\mu$ fd, can be used,  $L_1$  and  $L_2$  can be a 2-inch winding of No. 18 enameled wire on a half-inch diameter form.

the best results. A filter of this type will usually not be very helpful if the signal is being picked up on the line cord itself, which may be the case when the transmitter is on v.h.f. In such a case it should be installed inside the receiver chassis and grounded to the chassis at the point where the line cord enters.

The tuned filter shown in Fig. 23-5 is often more effective than the untuned type when only one frequency needs to be eliminated. After installation, the condenser is simply adjusted to reduce the interference to the greatest possible extent. It is advisable to mount either type of filter in a small shield box, to prevent pick-up in the filter and to make it less conspicuous.





Fig. 23-5 — Resonant filter for the a.e. line. A single condenser times both  $L_1$  and  $L_2$ , which are unity-coupled, one wound on top of the other. Constants for amateur bands are tabulated below.

Band	$C_{-}$	Li - L2
3.5	110 + 150 (fixed)	25 t. No. 18, 1½" dia, $\times$ $2^{3}{}_{8}^{\prime\prime\prime}$ long
7	110 µµfd.	18 t. No. 18, 114" dia, × 23 8" long
14	$100 \ \mu\mu$ fd.	12 t. No. 18, $1\frac{1}{4}$ " dia, $\times 2^{3}\frac{1}{8}$ " long
21	50 µµfd.	10 t. No. 18, $1^{1}4''$ dia, $\times 2^{3}8''$ long
28	25 µµfd.	9 1. No. 18, $1\frac{1}{2}$ " dia, $\times 2^{3}$ s'' long

D.c.c. wire is recommended for all coils.

### **BCI AND TVI**

### Interference with Television

Interference with the reception of television signals usually presents a more difficult problem than interference with AM broadcasting. In BCI cases the interference almost always can be attributed to deficient selectivity or spurious responses in the BC receiver. While similar deficiencies exist in many television receivers, it is also true that amateur transmitters generate harmonies that fall inside many or all television channels. These spurious radiations cause interference that ordinarily cannot be eliminated by anything that may be done at the receiver, so must be prevented at the transmitter itself.

The over-all situation is further complicated by the fact that television broadcasting is in three distinct bands, two in the v.h.f. region and one in the u.h.f.

### V.H.F. Television

For the amateur who does most of his transmitting on frequencies below 30 Mc, the TV band of principal interest is the low v.h.f. band between 54 and 88 Mc. If harmonic radiation can be reduced to the point where no interference is caused to Channels 2 to 6, inclusive, it is almost certain that any harmonic troubles with channels above 174 Mc, will disappear also.

The relationship between the v.h.f. television channels and harmonics of amateur bands from 14 through 28 Mc. is shown in Fig. 23-6. Harmonics of the 7- and 3.5-Mc. bands are not shown because they fall in every television channel. However, the harmonics above 54 Mc. from these bands are of such high order that they are usually rather low in amplitude, although they may be strong enough to interfere if the television receiver is quite close to the amateur transmitter. Low-order harmonics — up to about the sixth are usually the most difficult to eliminate.

Of the amateur v.h.f. bands, only 50 Mc. will have harmonics falling in a v.h.f. television channel (Channels 11, 12 and 13). However, a trans-

mitter for any amateur v.h.f. band may cause interference if it has multiplier stages either tuned to or having harmonies in one or more of the v.h.f. TV channels. The r.f. energy on such frequencies can be radiated directly from the transmitting circuits or coupled by stray means to the transmitting antenna.

#### Frequency Effects

The degree to which transmitter harmonics or other undesired radiation actually in the TV channel must be suppressed depends principally on two factors, the strength of the TV signal on the channel or channels affected, and the relationship between the frequency of the spurious radiation and the frequencies of the TV picture and sound carriers within the channel. If the TV signal is very strong, interference can be eliminated by comparatively simple methods. However, if the TV signal is very weak, as in "fringe" areas where the received picture is visibly degraded by the appearance of set noise or "snow" on the screen, it may be necessary to go to extreme measures.

In either case the intensity of the interference depends very greatly on the exact frequency of the interfering signal. Fig. 23-7 shows the placement of the picture and sound carriers in the standard TV channel. In Channel 2, for example, the picture carrier frequency is 54 + 1.25 =55.25 Me, and the sound carrier frequency is 60 - 0.25 = 59.75 Mc. The second harmonic of 28.010 kc. (56.020 kc, or 56.02 Mc.) falls 56.02 -54 = 2.02 Me, above the low edge of the channel and is in the region marked "Severe" in Fig. 23-7. On the other hand, the second harmonic of 29,500 kc. (59,000 kc. or 59 Me.) is 59 - 54 = 5Mc, from the low edge of the channel and falls in the region marked "Mild." Interference at this frequency has to be about 100 times as strong as at 56,020 kc, to cause effects of equal intensity,



Fig. 23-6 — Relationship of amateurband harmonics to v.h.f. TV channels. Harmonic interference from transmitters operating below 30 Mc, is most likely to be serious in the low-channel group (54 to 88 Mc.).



### **CHAPTER 23**



Fig. 23-7 — Location of picture and sound carriers in a monochrome television channel, and relative intensity of interference as the location of the interfering signal within the channel is varied without changing its strength. The three regions are not actually sharply defined as shown in this drawing, but merge into one another gradually.

Thus an operating frequency that puts a harmonic near the picture carrier requires about 40 db, more harmonic suppression in order to avoid interference, as compared with an operating frequency that puts the harmonic near the upper edge of the channel.

For a region of 100 kc, or so either side of the sound carrier there is another "Severe" region where a spurious radiation will interfere with reception of the sound program, and this region also should be avoided. In general, a signal of intensity equal to that of the picture carrier will not cause noticeable interference if its frequency is in the "Mild" region shown in Fig. 23-7, but the same intensity in the "Severe" region will utterly destroy the picture.

#### Interference Patterns

The visible effects of interference vary with the type and intensity of interference. Complete "blackout," where the picture and sound disappear completely, leaving the screen dark, occurs only when the transmitter and receiver are quite close together. Strong interference ordinarily causes the picture to be broken up, leaving a jumble of light and dark lines, or turns the picture "negative" — the normally white parts of the picture turn black and the normally black parts turn white. "Cross-hatching" — diagonal bars or lines in the picture — accompanies the



Fig. 23.8 — "Cross-hatching," caused by the beat between the picture carrier and an interfering signal inside the TV channel.

latter, usually, and also represents the most common type of less-severe interference. The bars are the result of the beat between the harmonic frequency and the picture carrier frequency. They are broad and relatively few in number if the beat frequency is comparatively low — near the picture carrier — and are numerous and very fine if the beat frequency is very high — toward the upper end of the channel. Typical crosshatching is shown in Fig. 23-8. If the frequency fulls in the "Mild" region in Fig. 23-7 the crosshatching may be so fine as to be visible only on close inspection of the picture, in which case it may simply cause the apparent brightness of the screen to change when the transmitter carrier is thrown on and off.

Whether or not cross-hatching is visible, an amplitude-modulated transmitter may cause



Fig. 23-9 — "Sound bars" or "modulation bars" accompanying amplitude modulation of an interfering signal. In this case the interfering carrier is strong enough to destroy the picture, but in mild cases the picture is visible through the horizontal bars. Sound bars may accompany modulation even though the unmodulated carrier gives no visible cross-hatching.

"sound bars" in the picture. These look about as shown in Fig. 23-9. They result from the variations in the intensity of the interfering signal when modulated. Under most circumstances modulation bars will not occur if the amateur transmitter is frequency- or phase-modulated. With these types of modulation the cross-hatching will "wiggle" from side to side with the modulation.

Except in the more severe cases, there is seldom any effect on the sound reception when interference shows in the picture, unless the frequency is quite close to the sound carrier. In the latter event the sound may be interfered with even though the picture is clean.

Reference to Fig. 23-6 will show whether or not harmonics of the frequency in use will fall in any television channels that can be received in the locality. It should be kept in mind that not only harmonics of the final frequency may interfere, but also harmonics of any frequencies that may be present in buffer or frequency-multiplier

### BCI AND TVI

stages. In the case of 144-Mc, transmitters, frequency-multiplying combinations that require a doubler or tripler stage to operate on a frequency actually in a low-band v.h.f. channel in use in the locality should be avoided.

#### Harmonic Suppression

Effective harmonic suppression has three separate phases:

1) Reducing the amplitude of harmonies generated in the transmitter. This is a matter of circuit design and operating conditions.

2) Preventing stray radiation from the transmitter and from associated wiring. This requires adequate shielding and filtering of all circuits and leads from which radiation can take place.

3) Preventing harmonics from being fed into the antenna.

It is impossible to build a transmitter that will not generate some harmonics, but it is obviously advantageous to reduce their strength, by circuit design and choice of operating conditions, by as large a factor as possible before attempting to prevent them from being radiated. Harmonic radiation from the transmitter itself or from its associated wiring obviously will cause interference just as readily as radiation from the antenna, so measures taken to prevent harmonics from reaching the antenna will not reduce TVI if the transmitter itself is radiating harmonics. But once it has been found that the transmitter itself is free from harmonic radiation, devices for preventing harmonies from reaching the antenna can be expected to produce results.

### REDUCING HARMONIC GENERATION

Since reasonably-efficient operation of r.f. power amplifiers always is accompanied by harmonic generation, good judgment calls for operating all frequency-multiplier stages at a very low power level — plate voltages not exceeding 250 or 300. When the final output frequency is reached, it is desirable to use as few stages as possible in reaching the output power level, and to use tubes that require a minimum of driving power.

#### Circuit Design and Layout

Harmonic currents of considerable amplitude flow in both the grid and plate circuits of r.f. power amplifiers, but they will do relatively little harm if they can be effectively by-passed to the cathode of the tube. Fig. 23-10A shows the paths followed by harmonic currents in an amplifier circuit; because of the high reactance of the tank coil there is little harmonic current in it, so the harmonic currents simply flow through the tank condenser, the plate (or grid) blocking condenser, and the tube capacitances. The lengths of the leads forming these paths is of great importance, since the inductance in this circuit will resonate with the tube capacitance at some frequency in the v.h.f. range (the tank and blocking capacitances usually are so large compared with the tube capacitance that they have little effect on the resonant frequency). If such a resonance happens to occur at or near the same frequency as one of the transmitter harmonics, the effect is just the same as though a harmonic tank circuit



Fig. 23-10 — (A) A v.h.f. resonant circuit is formed by the tube capacitance and the leads through the tank and blocking condensers. Regular tank coils are not shown, since they have little effect on such resonances. (B) U sing low-inductance condensers shunting the twbe elements to lower the resonance point below the TV channels.  $C_5$  and  $C_6$  usually are 15 to 50 µµfd, and either of vacuum or tubular construction.

had been deliberately introduced; the harmonic at that frequency will be tremendously increased in amplitude.

Such resonances are unavoidable, but by keeping the path from plate to eathode and from grid to cathode as short as is physically possible, the resonant frequency usually can be raised above 100 Mc. in amplifiers of medium power. This puts it between the two groups of television channels.

In low-frequency transmitters where physically-short return paths from plate or grid to cathode are difficult because of the shape and size of tubes and tank condensers, the arrangement shown in Fig. 23-10B is frequently helpful. Condensers  $C_5$  and  $C_6$  should be of the vacuum or tubular type and should be mounted as close as possible to the tube connections. They form resonant circuits in themselves with the tube capacitance, but generally at a sufficiently high frequency so that no harm is done. At lower frequencies than this self-resonance, they effectively add to the tube expacitance and thus tune the inductance of the leads through the regular tank and blocking condensers to a considerably lower frequency than the tube alone. The resonance therefore can be shifted to a frequency below 54 Mc, and again is outside the TV range. This method is most useful at 3.5 and 7 Me. beeause it increases the tank capacitance to the point where there may be very little tank coil left, at the higher frequencies.

It is easier to place grid-eireuit v.h.f. resonances where they will do no harm when the amplifier is link-coupled to the driver stage, since this generally permits shorter leads and more favorable eonditions for by-passing the harmonics than is the case with capacitive coupling. Link coupling also reduces the coupling between the driver and amplifier at harmonic frequencies, thus preventing driver harmonics from being amplified,

The inductance of leads from the tube to the tank condenser can be reduced not only by shortening but by using flat strip instead of wire conductors. It is also better to use the chassis as the return from the blocking condenser to cathode, since a chassis path will have less inductance than almost any other form of connection.

The v.h.f. resonance points in amplifier tank circuits can be found by coupling a grid-dip meter covering the 50-250 Me, range to the grid and plate leads. If a resonance is found in or near a TV channel, methods such as those described above should be used to move it well out of the TV range. The grid-dip meter also should be used to check for y.h.f, resonances in the tank coils, because coils made for 14 Mc, and below usually will show such resonances. In making the check, disconnect the coil entirely from the transmitter and move the grid-dip meter coil along it while exploring for a dip in the 54-88 Mc, band. If a resonance falls in a TV channel that is in use in the locality, changing the number of turns will move it to a frequency where it will not be troublesome.

In many r.f. amplifiers the cathode connection of the tube is below chassis while the plate (and sometimes the grid) connection frequently is above. In such a case the blocking condenser should be mounted *below* chassis. If the ground return is made to the top, the r.f. current has to flow over the top and either through the hole for the tube socket or else entirely over the chassis surface before it reaches the cathode. This condition is highly undesirable not only because of v.h.f. resonances but because such chassis currents frequently cause instability in the amplifier.

#### **Operating Conditions**

Grid bias and grid current have an important effect on the harmonic content of the r.f. currents in both the grid and plate circuits. In general, harmonic output increases as the grid bias and grid current are increased, but this is not necessarily true of a *particular* harmonic. The third and higher harmonics, especially, will go through fluctuations in amplitude as the grid current is increased, and sometimes a rather high value of grid current will minimize one harmonic as compared with a low value of grid current. This characteristic can be used to advantage where a particular harmonic is causing interference, keeping in mind that the operating conditions that minimize one harmonic may greatly increase another

For equal operating conditions, there is little or no difference between single-ended and pushpull amplifiers in respect to harmonic generation. Push-pull amplifiers are frequently trouble-makers on even harmonics because with such amplifiers the even-harmonic voltages are in phase at the ends of the tank circuit and hence appear with equal amplitude across the whole tank coil, if the center of the coil is not grounded. Under such circumstances the even harmonics can be coupled to the output circuit through stray capacitance between the tank and coupling coils. This does not occur in a single-ended amplifier if the coupling coil is placed at the cold end of the tank.

### Harmonic Traps

If a harmonic in only one TV channel is particularly bothersome — frequently the case when the transmitter operates on 28 Me. — a trap tuned to the harmonic frequency may be installed in the plate lead as shown in Fig. 23-11. At the harmonic frequency the trap represents a very high impedance and hence reduces the amplitude of the harmonic current flowing through the tank circuit. In the push-pull circuit both traps have the same constants. The L/Cratio is not critical but a high-C circuit usually will have least effect on the performance of the plate circuit at the normal operating frequency.

Since there is a considerable harmonic voltage across the trap, it may radiate unless the transmitter is well shielded. Traps should be placed so that there is no coupling between them and the amplifier tank circuit.

A trap is a highly-selective device and so is useful only over a small range of frequencies, A



Fig. 23-11 — Harmonic traps in an amplifier plate circuit. L and C should resonate at the frequency of the harmonic to be suppressed. C may be a 25- to 50- $\mu\mu$ fd, midget, and L usually consists of 3 to 6 turns about  $\frac{1}{2}$  inch in diameter for Channels 2 through 6. The inductance should be adjusted so that the trap resonates at about half capacity of C before being installed in the transmitter. It may be checked with a grid-dip meter. When in place, it is adjusted for minimum interference to the TV picture.

second- or third-harmonic trap on a 28-Mc. tank circuit usually will not be effective over more than 50 kc. or so at the fundamental frequency, depending on how serious the interference is without the trap. Because they are critical of adjust-

### BCI AND TVI

ment, it is better to prevent TVI by other means, if possible, and use traps only as a last resort.

499



### PREVENTING RADIATION FROM THE TRANSMITTER

The extent to which interference will be caused by direct radiation of spurious signals depends on the operating frequency, the transmitter power level, the strength of the television signal, and the distance between the transmitter and TV receiver. Transmitter radiation can be a very serious problem if the TV signal is weak, if the TV receiver and amateur transmitter are close together, and if the transmitter is operated with high power.

#### Shielding

Direct radiation from the transmitter circuits and components can be prevented by proper shielding. To be effective, a shield must completely enclose the circuits and parts and must have no openings that will permit r.f. energy to escape. Unfortunately, ordinary metal boxes and cabinets do not provide good shielding, since such openings as louvers, lids, holes for running in connections, and so on, allow far too much leakage.

A primary requisite for good shielding is that all joints must make a good electrical connection along their entire length. A small slit or crack will let out a surprising amount of r.f. energy; so will ventilating louvers and large holes such as those used for mounting meters. On the other hand, small holes do not impair the shielding very greatly, and a limited number of ventilating holes may be used if they are small — not over  $l_4$  inch in diameter. Also, wire screen makes quite effective shielding if the wires make good electrical connection where they cross over, so the leakage through large openings can be very much reduced by covering such openings with screening, well bonded to all edges of the opening. The intensity of r.f. fields about coils, condensers, tubes and wiring decreases very rapidly with distance, so shielding is more effective, from a practical standpoint, if the components and wiring are not too close to it. It is advisable to have a separation of several inches, if possible, between "hot" points in the circuit and the nearest shielding.

For a given thickness of metal, the greater the conductivity the better the shielding. Copper is best, with aluminum, brass and steel following in that order. However, if the thickness is adequate for structural purposes (over 0.02 inch) and the shield and a "hot" point in the circuit are not in close proximity, any of these metals will be satisfactory. Greater separation should be used with steel shielding than with the other materials not only because it is considerably poorer as a shield but also because it will cause greater losses in near-by circuits than would copper or aluminum at the same distance. Wire screen used as a shield should also be kept at some distance from highvoltage or high-current r.f. points, since there is considerably more leakage through the mesh than through solid metal.

Where two pieces of metal join, as in forming a corner, they should overlap at least a half inch and be fastened together firmly with serews or bolts spaced at close-enough intervals to maintain firm contact all along the joint. The contact surfaces should be clean before joining, and should be checked occasionally — especially steel, which is almost certain to rust after a period of time.

The leakage through a given size of aperture in shielding increases with frequency, so such points as good continuous contact, screening of holes, and so on, become even more important when the radiation to be suppressed is in the high band — 174–216 Mc. — than in the low TV band. Hence 50- and 144-Mc. transmitters, which in general will have frequency-multiplier harmonics of relatively high intensity in this region, require special



Fig. 23-12 — Proper method of by-passing the end of a shielded lead using disk ceramic condenser. The 0.001 µfd, size should be used for 1600 volts or less: 500 µµfd, at higher voltages. The leads are wrapped around the inner and onter conductors and soldered, so that the lead length is negligible. This photograph is about four times actual size.



Fig. 23-13 — By-passing the end of a high-voltage lead. The end of the shield braid is soldered to a hig fastened to the chassis directly underneath. The other terminal of the condenser is similarly bolted directly to the chassis. When the by-pass is used at a terminal connection block the "hot" lead should be soldered directly to the terminal, if possible, but in any event connected to it by a very short lead.



attention in this respect if the possibility of interfering with a channel received locally exists.

### Lead Treatment

Even very good shielding can be made completely useless when connections are run from external power supplies and other equipment to the circuits inside the shield. Every conductor so introduced into the shielding forms a path for the escape of r.f., which is then radiated by the connecting wires. Hence a step that is essential in every case is to prevent harmonic currents from flowing on the leads leaving the shielded enclosure.

Harmonic currents always flow on the d.e. or a.c. leads connecting to the tube circuits. A very effective means of preventing such currents from being coupled into other wiring, and one that provides desirable by-passing as well, is to use shielded wire for all such leads, maintaining the shielding from the point where the lead connects to the tube or r.f. circuit right through to the point where it is about to leave the chassis. The shield braid should be grounded to the chassis at both ends and at frequent intervals along the path.

Good by-passing of shielded leads also is essential. Bearing in mind that the shield braid about the conductor confines the harmonic currents to the *inside* of the shielded wire, the object of bypassing is to prevent their escape. Figs. 23-12 and 23-13 show the proper way to by-pass. The smalltype 0.001-µfd. ceramic disk condenser, when mounted on the end of the shielded wire as shown in Fig. 23-12, actually forms a series-resonant circuit in the 54-88-Mc, range and thus represents practically a short-circuit for low-band TV harmonics. The exposed wire to the connection terminal should be kept as short as is physically possible, to prevent any possible harmonic pickup exterior to the shielded wiring. Disk condensers of this capacitance are available in several voltage ratings up to 1600 volts. For higher voltages, the maximum capacitance available is approximately 500  $\mu\mu$ fd., which is large enough for good by-passing of harmonics. Alternatively, mica condensers may be used as shown in Fig. 23-13, mounting the condenser flat against the chassis and grounding the end of the shield braid directly to chassis, keeping the exposed part as short as possible. Either  $0.001-\mu fd$ , or  $470-\mu\mu fd$ .  $(500 \ \mu\mu fd.)$  condensers should be used. The larger capacitance is series-resonant in Channel 2 and the smaller in Channel 6.

These by-passes are essential at the connectionblock terminals, and desirable at the tube ends of the leads also. Installed as shown with shielded

### CHAPTER 23

Fig. 23-14 — Additional r.f. filtering of supply leads may be required in regions where the TV signal is very weak. The r.f. choke should be physically small, and may consist of a 1-inch winding of No. 26 enameled wire on a 1/4-inch form, close-wound. Manufac-tured single-layer chokes having an inductance of a few microhenrys also may be used.

wiring, they have been found to be so effective that there is usually no need for further harmonic filtering. However, if a test shows that additional filtering is required, the arrangement shown in Fig. 23-14 may be used. Such an r.f. filter should be installed at the tube end of the shielded lead, and if more than one circuit is filtered care should be taken to keep the r.f. chokes separated from each other and so oriented as to minimize coupling between them. This is necessary for preventing harmonics present in one circuit from being coupled into another.

In difficult cases involving Channels 7 to 13i.e., close proximity between the transmitter and receiver, and a weak TV signal — additional leadfiltering measures may be needed to prevent radiation of interfering signals by 50- and 144-Me. transmitters. A recommended method is shown in Fig. 23-15. It uses a shielded lead by-passed



Fig. 23-15 — Additional lead filtering for harmonics or other spurious frequencies in the high v.h.f. TV band (174-216 Mc.).

C1 - 0.001-µfd. disk ceramie.

- C2-0.001-µfd. feed-through by-pass (Erie Style 326), (For 500-2000-volt lead, substitute Plasticon Glass mike, LSG – 251, for C2.) RFC – 14 inches No. 26 enamel close-wound on 31s
- inch diam, form or resistor.

with a ceramic disk as described above, with the addition of a low-inductance feed-through type condenser and a small r.f. choke, the condenser being used as a terminal for the external connection. For voltages above 400, a condenser of compact construction (as indicated in the caption) should be used, mounted so that there is a very minimum of exposed lead, inside the chassis, from the condenser to the connection terminal.

As an alternative to the series-resonant bypassing described above, feed-through type condensers such as the Sprague "Hypass" type may

### BCI AND TVI

be used as terminals for external connections. The ideal method of installation is to mount them so they protrude through the chassis, with thorough bonding to the chassis all around the hole in which the condenser is mounted. The principle is illustrated in Fig. 23-16.



Fig. 23-16 — The best method of using the "Hypass" type feed-through condenser. Capacitances of 0.01 to 0.1  $\mu$ fd, are satisfactory. Condensers of this type are useful for high-current circuits, such as filament and 115-volt leads, as a substitute for the r.f. choke shown in Fig. 23-14, in cases where additional lead filtering is needed.

Meters that are mounted in an r.f. unit should be enclosed in shielding covers, the connections being made with shielded wire with each lead by-passed as described above. The shield braid should be grounded to the panel or chassis immediately outside the meter shield, as indicated in Fig. 23-17. A by-pass may also be connected across the meter terminals, principally to prevent any fundamental current that may be present from flowing through the meter itself. As an alternative to individual meter shielding the meters may be mounted entirely behind the panel, and the panel holes needed for observation may be covered with wire screen that is carefully bonded to the panel all around the hole.

Care should be used in the selection of shielded wire for transmitter use. Not only should the insulation be conservatively rated for the d.c. volt-



Fig. 23-17 — Meter shielding and by-passing. It is essential to shield the meter mounting hole since the meter will carry r.f. through it to be radiated. Suitable shields can be made from  $2V_2$ -or 3-inch diameter shield cans of the type made for enclosing coils,

age in use, but the insulation should be of material that will not easily deteriorate in soldering. The r.f. characteristics of the wire are not especially important, except that the attenuation of harmonics in the wire itself will be greater if the insulating material has high losses at radio frequencies; in other words, wire intended for use at d.c. and low frequencies is preferable to cables designed expressly for carrying r.f. The attenuation also will increase with the length of the wire; in general, it is better to make the leads as long as circumstances permit rather than to follow the more usual practice of using no more lead than is actually necessary. Where the wiring crosses or runs parallel, the shields should be spot-soldered together and connected to the chassis. For high voltages, automobile ignition cable covered with shielding braid is recommended.

Proper shielding of the transmitter requires that the r.f. circuits be shielded entirely from the external connecting leads. A situation such as is shown in Fig. 23-18, where the leads in the r.f. chassis have been shielded and properly filtered



Fig. 23-18 - A metal cabinet can be an adequate shield, but there will still be radiation if the leads inside can pick up r.f. from the transmitting circuits.

but the chassis is mounted in a large shield, simply invites the harmonic currents to travel over the chassis and on out over the leads *outside* the chassis. The shielding about the r.f. circuits should make complete contact with the chassis on which the parts are mounted.

### **Checking Transmitter Radiation**

A check for transmitter radiation always should be made before attempting to use low-pass filters or other devices for preventing harmonics from reaching the antenna system. The only really satisfactory indicating instrument is a television receiver. In regions where the TV signal is strong an indicating wavemeter such as one having a crystal or tube detector may be useful; if it is possible to get any indication at all on harmonics either on supply leads or around the transmitter itself, the harmonics are probably strong enough to cause interference. However, the absence of any such indication does not mean that harmonic interference will not be caused. If the techniques of shielding and lead filtering described in the



Fig. 23-19 — Dummy-antenna circuit for checking harmonic radiation from the transmitter and leads. The matching circuit helps prevent harmonics in the output of the transmitter from flowing back over the transmitter itself, which may occur if the lamp load is simply connected to the output coil of the final amplifier. See transmission-line chapter for details of the matching circuit. Tuning must be adjusted by cut-and-try, as the bridge method described in the transmission-line chapter will not work with lamp loads because of the change in resistance when the lamps are hot.

preceding section are followed, the harmonic intensity on any external leads should be far below what any such instruments can detect.

Radiation checks should be made with the transmitter delivering full power into a dummy antenna, such as an incandescent lamp of suitable power rating, preferably installed inside the shielded enclosure. If the dummy must be external, it is desirable to connect it through a coaxmatching circuit such as is shown in Fig. 23-19. Shielding the dummy antenna circuit is also desirable, although it is not always necessary.

Make the radiation test on all frequencies that are to be used in transmitting, and note whether or not interference patterns show in the received picture. (These tests must be made while a TV signal is being received, since the beat patterns will not be formed if the TV picture carrier is not present.) If interference exists, its source can be detected by grasping the various external leads (by the insulation, not the live wire!) or bringing the hand near meter faces, louvers, and other possible points where harmonic energy might escape from the transmitter. If any of these tests cause a change — not necessarily an *increase* — in the intensity of the interference, the presence of harmonies at that point is indicated. The location of such "hot" spots usually will point the way to the remedy. If the TV receiver and the transmitter can be operated side-by-side, a length of wire connected to one antenna terminal on the receiver can be used as a probe to go over the transmitter enclosure and external leads. This device will very quickly expose the spots from which serious leakage is taking place.

As a final test, connect the transmitting antenna or its transmission line terminals to the outside of the transmitter shielding. Interference created when this test is applied indicates that weak currents are on the outside of the shield and can be conducted to the antenna when the normal antenna connections are used. Currents of this nature represent interference that can be conducted *over* low-pass filters, etc., and which therefore cannot be eliminated by such filters.

### PREVENTING HARMONICS FROM REACHING THE ANTENNA

The third and last step in reducing harmonic TVI is to keep the spurious energy generated in or passed through the final stage from traveling over the transmission line to the antenna. It is seldom worthwhile even to attempt this until the radiation from the transmitter and its connecting leads has been reduced to the point where, with the transmitter delivering full power into a dummy antenna, it has been determined by actual testing with a television receiver that the radiation is below the level that can cause interference. If the dummy antenna test shows enough radiation to be seen in a TV picture, it is a practical certainty that harmonics will be coupled to the antenna system no matter what preventive measures are taken.

In inductively-coupled output systems, some harmonic energy will be transferred from the final amplifier through the mutual inductance between the tank coil and the output eoupling coil. Harmonics of the output frequency transferred in this way can be greatly reduced by providing sufficient selectivity between the final tank and the transmission line. A good deal of selectivity, amounting to 20 to 30 db, reduction of the second harmonic and much higher reduction of higher-order harmonics, is furnished by a matching circuit of the type shown in Fig. 23-19 and described in the chapter on transmission lines. An "antenna coupler" is therefore a worthwhile addition to the transmitter.

In 50- and 144-Me, transmitters, particularly, harmonics not directly associated with the output frequency — such as those generated in low-frequency early stages of the transmitter — may get coupled to the antenna by stray means. For example, a 144-Me. transmitter might have an oscillator or frequency multiplier at 48 Mc., followed by a tripler to 144 Mc. Some of the 48-Mc, energy will appear in the plate circuit of the tripler, and if passed on to the grid of the final amplifier will appear as a 48-Me, modulation on the 144-Mc, signal. This will cause a spurious signal at 192 Me., which is in the high TV band, and the selectivity of the tank circuits may not be sufficient to prevent its being coupled to the antenna. Spurious signals of this type can be reduced by using link coupling between the driver stage and final amplifier (and between earlier stages as well) in addition to the suppression afforded by using an antenna coupler.

### Capacitive Coupling

Harmonics and other spurious signals transferred from the tank by stray capacitance are not suppressed by an antenna coupler to the same extent as those transferred by pure inductive coupling. The upper drawing in Fig. 23-20 shows the link-coupled system as it might be used to couple into a parallel-conductor line. Inasmuch as a coil is a sizable metallic object, there is capacitance between the final tank coil and its associated link coil, and between the antenna tank



Fig. 23-20 — The stray capacitive coupling between coils in the upper circuit leads to the equivalent circuit shown below, for v.h.f. harmonics.

coil and its link. Energy coupled through these capacitances travels over the link circuit and the transmission line as though these were merely single conductors. The tuned circuits simply act as masses of metal and offer no selectivity at all for capacity-coupled energy. Although the actual capacitances are small, they offer a very good coupling medium for frequencies in the v.h.f. range.

Capacitive coupling can be reduced by coupling to a "cold" point on the tank coil — the end con-

nected to ground or cathode in a single-ended stage. In push-pull circuits having a split-stator condenser with the rotor grounded for r.f., all parts of the tank coil are "hot" at even harmonics, but the center of the coil is "cold" at the fundamental and odd harmonics. If the center of the tank coil, rather than the rotor of the tank condenser, is grounded through a by-pass condenser the center of the coil is "cold" at all frequencies, but this arrangement is not very desirable because it causes the harmonic currents to flow through the coil rather than the tank condenser and this increases

the harmonic transfer by pure inductive coupling.

With either single-ended or balanced tank circuits the coupling coil should be grounded to the chassis by a short, direct connection as shown in Fig. 23-21. If the coil feeds a balanced line or link,



**50**3

it is preferable to ground its center, but if it feeds a coax line or link one side may be grounded, Coaxial output is much preferable to balanced output, because the harmonics have to stay *inside* a properly installed coax system and tend to be attenuated by the cable before reaching the antenna coupler.

At high frequencies — and possibly as low as 14 Mc. — capacitive coupling can be greatly reduced by using a shielded coupling coil as shown in Fig. 23-22. The inner conductor of a length of coaxial cable is used to form a one-turn coupling coil. The outer conductor serves as an open-circuited shield around the turn, the shield being grounded to the chassis. The shielding has no effect on the inductive coupling. Because this construction is suitable only for one turn, the coil is not well adapted for use on the lower frequencies where many turns are required for good coupling. Shielded coupling coils having a larger number of turns are available commercially, A shielded coil is particularly useful with push-pull amplifiers when the suppression of even harmonics is important.

A shielded coupling coil or coaxial output will not prevent stray capacitive coupling to the antenna if harmonic currents can flow over the *outside* of the coax line. In Fig. 23-23, the arrangement at either A or C will allow r.f. to flow over the outside of the cable to the antenna system. The proper way to use coaxial cable is to shield the transmitter completely, as shown at B, and make sure that the outer conductor of the cable is a continuation of the transmitter shielding. This



Fig. 23-22 — Shielded coupling coil constructed from coaxial cable. The smaller sizes of cable such as RG-59/U are most convenient when the coil diameter is 3 inches or less, because of greater flexibility. For larger coils RG-8/U or RG-11/U can be used,

prevents r.f. inside the transmitter from getting out by any path except the *inside* of the cable. Harmonics flowing *through* a coax line can be stopped from reaching the antenna system by an antenna coupler or by a low-pass filter installed in the line.



World Radio History

504







Fig. 23-23 — Right (B) and wrong (A and C) ways to connect a coaxial line to the transmitter. In either A or C, harmonic energy coupled by stray capacitance to the outside of the cable will flow without hindrance to the antenna system. In B the energy cannot leave the shield and hence can flow out only through, not over, the cable.

#### Low-Pass Filters

A low-pass filter properly installed in a coaxial line, feeding either a matching circuit (antenna coupler) or feeding the antenna directly, will provide very great attenuation of harmonics. When the main transmission line is of the parallel-conductor type, the coax-coupled matching-circuit arrangement is highly recommended as a means for using a coax low-pass filter.



Fig. 23-24 — An inexpensive low-pass filter using silvermica postage-stamp condensers. The box is a 2 by 4 by 6 aluminum chassis. Aluminum shields, bent and folded at the sides and bottom for fastening to the chassis, form shields between the filter sections. The diagonal arrangement of the shields provides extra room for the coils and makes it easier to fit the shields in the box, since bending to exact dimensions is not essential. The bottom plate, made from sheet aluminum, extends a half inch beyond the ends of the chassis and is provided with mounting holes in the extensions. It is held on the chassis with sheet-metal screws.

### **CHAPTER 23**

A properly-designed low-pass filter will not introduce appreciable power loss at the fundamental frequency if the coaxial line in which it is inserted is terminated so that the s.w.r. is low. (The s.w.r. can easily be measured by means of a simple bridge as described in the chapters on measurements and transmission lines.) Such a filter has the property of passing without loss all frequencies below its "cut-off" frequency, but simultaneously has large attenuation for all frequencies above the cut-off frequency.

Low-pass filters of simple and inexpensive construction for use with transmitters operating below 30 Mc, are shown in Figs. 23-24 and 23-26. These are designed to use mica condensers of readily-available capacitance values, for compactness and low cost. Both use the same circuit, Fig. 23-25, the only difference being in the L and C values. Technically, they are three-section filters having two full constant-k sections, and two *m*-derived terminating half-sections, and their attenuation in the 54–88-Mc, range varies from over 50 to nearly 70 db., depending



Fig. 23-25 — Low-pass filter circuit for attenuating harmonics in the TV bands.  $J_1$  and  $J_2$  are chassis-type coaxial connectors. In the table below the letters refer to the following:

- A Constructed as in Fig. 23-24, using 100- and 70μμfd, 500-volt silver mica condensers in parallel for C<sub>2</sub> and C<sub>3</sub>.
- B Same as 14 but with 70- and 50-μμfd, silver mica condensers in parallel for C<sub>2</sub> and C<sub>3</sub>.
- **C** Constructed as in Fig. 23-26, using 100- and 50- $\mu\mu$ fd, mica condensers, 1200-volt (case-style CM-45) in parallel for C<sub>2</sub> and C<sub>3</sub>.

D and E — Constructed with variable condensers, 500- to 1000-volt rating, adjusted to values given.

	А	в	С	D	E	
Zo	52	75	52	52	75	ohms
ſ.	36	35.5	41	40	40	Me.
∫∞.	41.4	47	54	50	50	Mc.
f1	25.5	25.2	29	28.3	28.3	Me.
$f_2$	32.5	31.8	37.5	36.1	36.1	Me.
$C_1, C_4$	50	40	50	46	32	μµfd.
$C_2, C_3$	170	120	150	154	106	μµfd.
$L_1, L_5$	$5\frac{1}{2}$	6	4	5	61/2	turns*
L2, L4	8	111	7	7	91/2	turns*
$L_3$	9	13	8	81/2	111/2	turns*

\* No. 12 or No. 14 wire, 1/2 inch inside diameter, 8 turns per inch.

<sup>1</sup> A 9-turn coil with closer turn spacing to give the same inductance is shown in Fig. 23-24.
# BCI AND TVI

on the frequency and the particular set of values used. Above 174 Mc, the theoretical attenuation is better than 85 db., but will depend somewhat on internal resonant conditions associated principally with the lead lengths to the condensers. These leads should be kept as short as is physically possible.

The power that these filters ean handle safely is determined by the voltage and current limitations of the mica condensers. These limitations are such that the power capacity is least at the highest frequency. The unit using postage-stamp silver mica condensers is capable of handling approximately 50 watts in the 28-Me. band, when working into a properlymatched line, but is good for about 150 watts at 21 Me. and 300 watts at 14 Mc. and lower frequencies. The unit with the larger mica condensers (case-type CM-45) will carry about 250 watts safely at 28 Me., this rating

safely at 28 Me., this rating increasing to 500 watts at 21 Me. and a kilowatt at 14 Me. and lower. If there is an appreciable mismatch between either filter and the line into which it works, these ratings will be considerably decreased, so in order to avoid condenser failure it is highly essential that the line on the output side of the filter be carefully matched by its load. This can be done with an s.w.r. bridge, and the matching is easy to control if the line from the filter terminates in a matching circuit of the type described in the chapter on transmission lines.

The power capacity of these filters can be increased considerably by substituting r.f. type



Fig. 23-26 — Low-pass filter using case-type CM-45 condensers. The lox is a 2 by 5 by 7 aluminum chassis, fitted with a bottom plate of similar construction to the one used in Fig. 23-24.



Figs. 23-27 — Low-pass filter for use with 50-Mc. transmitters and 52-ohm line. It uses variable air condensers adjusted to the proper capacitance values and is suited to powers up to a kilowatt.

fixed condensers (such as the Centralab 850 series) or variable air condensers, in which event the power capability will be such as to handle the maximum amateur power on any band. The construction can be modified to accommodate either of the latter types of condenser, using a similar layout in a larger box.

Using condensers of standard tolerances, there should be little difficulty in getting proper filter operation. A grid-dip meter with an accurate calibration should be used for adjustment of the coils. First, wire up the filter without  $L_2$  and  $L_4$ . Short-circuit  $J_1$  at its inside end with a screwdriver or similar conductor, couple the grid-dip meter to  $L_1$  and adjust the inductance of  $L_1$ , by varying the turn spacing, until the circuit resonates at  $f_{\infty}$  as given in the table. Do the same thing at the other end of the filter with  $L_5$ . Then couple the meter to the circuit formed by  $L_3$ ,  $C_2$  and  $C_3$ , and adjust  $L_3$  to resonate at the frequency  $f_1$  as given by the table. Then remove  $L_3$ , install  $L_2$  and  $L_4$  and adjust  $L_2$  to make the cireuit formed by  $L_1$ ,  $L_2$ ,  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  (without the short across  $J_1$ ) resonate at  $f_2$  as given in the table. Do the same with  $L_4$  for the circuit formed by  $L_4$ ,  $L_5$ ,  $C_3$  and  $C_4$ . Then replace  $L_3$  and check with the grid-dip meter at any coil in the filter; a distinct resonance should be found at or very close to the cut-off frequency,  $f_c$ . The filter is then ready for use.

The filter constants suggested at D and E in Fig. 23-25 are based on the optimum design for good impedance characteristics — that is, with m = 0.6 in the end sections — and a cut-off fre-

# 505

quency below the RETMA standard i.f. for television receivers (sound carrier at 41.25 Mc.; picture carrier at 45.75 Mc.). This is to avoid possible harmonic interference from 21 Mc. and below to the receiver's intermediate amplifier. The other designs similarly cut off at 41 Mc, or below, but min these cases is necessarily based on the capacitances available in standard fixed condensers.



Fig. 23-29 — A 52-ohm low-pass filter for 111-Mc, transmitters.

## Filters for 50- and 144-Mc. Transmitters

Since a low-pass filter must have a cut-off frequency above the frequency on which the transmitter operates, a filter fer a v.h.f. transmitter cannot be designed for attenuation in all television channels. This is no handicap for v.h.f. work but means that the filter will not be effective when used with lower-frequency transmitters, unless it happens that no TV channels in use in the locality fall inside the pass-band of the filter.

Fig. 23-27 shows a filter for 52-ohm coax suitable for a 50-Mc, transmitter of any power up to the authorized limit. The circuit diagram is given in Fig. 23-28. If the values of inductance



Figs. 23-28 - Circuit diagram of the low-pass filters for 50- and 144-Me, transmitters, Values on the drawing are for the 50-Mc, filter, Partitions are not used in the 144-Me, unit.

- $C_1$ ,  $C_4 \rightarrow 50$  Me.: 50-µµfd. variable, shaft-monuted, set to middle of tuning range (Johnson 501.15)
- 144 Me.: 11-µµfd, ceramic (10-µµfd, useable), C2, C3-50 Me.: 100-µµfd, variable, shaft-mounted, set with rotor 1/4 inch out of stator (Bud MC-905)

144 Me.: 38-μμfd. stand-off by-pass (Erie Style 721A).

- 50-Me, coil data:
- L<sub>1</sub>, L<sub>5</sub>  $-3\frac{1}{2}$  turns  $\frac{5}{8}$  inch long. Top leads  $\frac{3}{4}$  inch, bottom leads  $\frac{1}{4}$  inch long. L<sub>2</sub>, L<sub>4</sub>  $-4\frac{1}{2}$  turns  $\frac{5}{8}$  inch long. Leads  $\frac{1}{2}$  inch long
- each end. L3-5½ turns ¾ inch long. Leads 1 inch long each. All 50-Mc. coils No. 12 tinned, ½-inch diam., coil length measured between right-angle bends where leads begin.
- 144-Mc. coil data:
- $L_1$ ,  $L_5 3$  turns  $\frac{1}{4}$  inch long. Leads  $\frac{1}{4}$  inch long each end.
- L<sub>2</sub>, L<sub>4</sub> 2 thrns  $\frac{1}{8}$  inch long. Leads 1 inch long each end.
- -5 turns 34 inch long. Leads 5 8 inch long each end.  $L_3 -$ All 144-Mc, coils No. 18 tinned, 1/4-inch diam., lengths measured as for 50-Mc, coils,
- J<sub>1</sub>, J<sub>2</sub> Coaxial fitting.

and capacitance can be measured (see chapter on measurements) the components can be preset and assembled without further adjustment. Alternatively, the grid-dip meter method described earlier may be used. The resonant frequencies are:

$L_1C_1 (J_1 \text{ shorted})$ $L_5C_4 (J_2 \text{ shorted})$	81.5	Mc.
$L_3C_2C_3$ ( $L_2$ and $L_4$ disconnected)	-46	Me.
$\left. \begin{array}{c} L_1 L_2 C_1 C_2 \left( L_3 \ { m disconnected}  ight) \\ L_4 L_5 C_3 C_4 \left( L_3 \ { m disconnected}  ight) \end{array}  ight\}$	58.5	Me.

The cut-off frequency is approximately 65 Me.

The case for the 50-Mc, filter is a standard box (ICA Slip-cover, No. 29100) measuring  $3\frac{1}{8}$  by 13 by  $2\frac{5}{8}$  inches. The two end condensers,  $C_1$  and  $C_4$ , are mounted with their two stator posts toward the ends of the filter. The two larger units are mounted in the center compartment with their rotor shafts toward the middle. The top leads from coils  $L_1$  and  $L_5$  are wrapped around the stator terminals of  $C_1$  and  $C_4$ , and the bottom leads fit directly into the coaxial input and output fittings. The outer ends of coils  $L_2$  and  $L_4$  are soldered to the coaxial fitting terminals, and their inner ends are soldered to lugs supported on oneinch ceramic stand-off insulators. Leads from the stand-offs go through holes in the partitions to the bottom stator lugs on  $C_2$  and  $C_3$ .  $L_3$  is soldered to the two upper lugs on these two capacitors, thus completing the filter circuit. Lead lengths for the coils given in the parts list are the total lengths to be left when the winding is completed, including the portions that will be used in soldering operations.

This filter will give high attenuation in Channels 4-6 and all the high-band channels, and thus will take care of most of the spurious signals generated in a 50-Mc. transmitter.

A filter for low-power 144-Mc, transmitters is shown in Fig. 23-29. It is designed for maximum attenuation in the 190-215 Mc, region to suppress the spurious radiations in that range that frequently occur with 144-Mc. transmitters, but also has good attenuation for all frequencies above 170 Mc. Optimum capacitance values are given in Fig. 23-28. If possible, several units of the nearest standard values available should be measured and those having values closest to the optimum used. The inductance values are too small to be measured with sufficient accuracy, so the filter should be adjusted by the following method:

# BCI AND TVI

First, mount  $L_1$  and  $C_1$ , short  $J_4$  temporarily at its inner terminals, and adjust  $L_4$  until the combination resonates at 200 Me, as shown by griddip meter. Next, remove the short from  $J_4$  and connect  $L_2$  and  $C_2$ , adjusting  $L_2$  until the circuit formed by  $L_1L_2C_4C_2$  resonates at 144 Me. Then disconnect  $L_2$  and mount  $L_3$  between  $C_2$  and  $C_3$ . Adjust  $L_3$  until the circuit  $L_3C_2C_3$  resonates at 112 Me. Next, disconnect  $L_3$  and follow a similar procedure starting from the other end with  $L_5$  and  $C_4$ . Finally, reconnect all coils and a check at any point in the filter should show resonance at 160 Me., the approximate cut-off frequency.

The case for the 144-Me. filter is made from flashing copper and is  $1\frac{1}{4}$  inches square by  $7\frac{1}{8}$  inches long. The main portion of the case is cut from a single piece with the end tabs folded down and soldered to the sides. Flanges are folded over at the bottom, and a cover is made to slip over these.

#### Filter Installation

In order to give the harmonic attenuation of which it is capable, a low-pass filter must be installed in such a way that *all* the output of the transmitter flows through it. If harmonic currents are permitted to flow on the outside of the connecting coaxial cables, they will simply flow over the filter and on up to the antenna, and the filter does not have an opportunity to stop them. That is why it is so important to reduce the radiation from the transmitter and its leads to negligible proportions.

Fig. 23-30 shows the proper way to install a filter between a shielded transmitter and a matching circuit. Note that the coax, together with the shields about the transmitter and filter, forms a continuous shield to keep all the r.f. inside. It is thus forced to flow through the filter and the harmonics are attenuated. If there is no harmonic energy left after passing through the filter, shielding from that point on is not necessary; consequently, the matching circuit or antenna coupler does not need to be shielded. However, the antenna-coupler chassis arrangement shown in Fig. 23-30 is desirable because it will tend to prevent fundamental-frequency energy from flowing from the matching circuit back over the transmitter; this helps eliminate feed-back troubles in audio systems.

If the antenna is driven through coaxial line the matching circuit shown in Fig. 23-30 may be omitted. In that case the line goes directly from the filter to the antenna.

When a filter does not seem to give the har-

monic attenuation of which it should be capable, the probable reason is that harmonics are by-passing it because of improper installation and inadequate transmitter shielding, including lead filtering. However, occasionally there are cases where the circuits formed by the cables and the apparatus to which they connect become resonant at a harmonic frequency. This greatly increases the harmonic output at that frequency. Such troubles can be completely overcome by substituting a slightly different cable length. The most critical length is that connecting the transmitter to the filter. Checking with a grid-dip meter at the final amplifier output coil usually will show whether an unfavorable resonance of this type exists.

# SUMMARY

The methods of harmonic elimination outlined in this chapter have been proved beyond doubt to be effective even under highly unfavorable conditions. It must be emphasized once more, however, that the problem must be solved one step at a time, and the procedure must be in logical order. It cannot be done properly without two items of simple equipment: a grid-dip meter and wavemeter covering the TV bands, and a dummy antenna.

The proper procedure may be summarized as follows:

1) Take a critical look at the transmitter on the basis of the design considerations outlined under "Reducing Harmonic Generation".

2) Check all circuits, particularly those connected with the final amplifier, with the grid-dip meter to determine whether there are any resonances in the TV bands. If so, rearrange the circuits so the resonances are moved out of the critical frequency region.

3) Connect the transmitter to the dummy antenna and check with the wavemeter for the presence of harmonics on leads and around the transmitter enclosure. Seal off the weak spots in the shielding and filter the leads until the wavemeter shows no indication at any harmonic frequency.

4) At this stage, check for interference with a TV receiver. If there is interference, determine the cause by the methods described previously and apply the recommended remedies until the interference disappears.

5) When the transmitter is completely clean on the dummy antenna, connect it to the regular antenna and check for interference on the TV receiver. If the interference is not bad, an antenna coupler or matching circuit installed as previously described should clear it up. Alternatively, a lowpass filter may be used. If neither the antenna coupler nor filter makes any difference in the interference, the evidence is strong that the interference, at least in part, is being caused by receiver overloading because of the strong funda-



Fig. 23-30 — The proper method of installing a low-pass filter between the transmitter and antenna coupler or matching circuit. If the antenna is fed through coax the matching circuit may be omitted but the same construction should be used between the transmitter and filter. The filter should be thoroughly shielded.

World Radio History

mental-frequency field about the TV antenna and receiver. (See later section for identification of fundamental-frequency interference.) A coupler and or filter, installed as described above, will invariably make a difference in the intensity of the interference if the interference is caused by transmitter harmonics alone.

6) If there is still interference after installing the coupler and/or filter, and the evidence shows that it is probably caused by a harmonic, more attenuation is needed. A more elaborate filter may be necessary. However, it is well at this stage to assume that part of the interference may be eaused by receiver overloading, and take steps to alleviate such a condition before trying highlyelaborate filters, traps, etc., on the transmitter,

# HARMONICS BY RECTIFICATION

Even though the transmitter is completely free from harmonic output it is still possible for interference to occur because of harmonics generated outside the transmitter. These result from rectification of fundamental-frequency currents induced in conductors in the vicinity of the transmitting antenna. Rectification can take place at any point where two conductors are in poor electrical contact, a condition that frequently exists in plumbing, downspouting, BX cables crossing each other, and numerous other places in the ordinary residence. It also can occur in any exposed vacuum tubes in the station, in power supplies, speech equipment, etc., that may not be enclosed in the shielding about the r.f. circuits. Poor joints anywhere in the antenna system are especially bad, and rectification also may take place in the contacts of antenna changeover relays. Another common cause is overloading the front end of the communications receiver when it is used with a separate antenna (which will radiate the harmonics generated in the first tube) for break-in.

Rectification of this sort will not only cause harmonic interference but also is frequently responsible for cross-modulation effects. It can be detected in greater or less degree in most locations, but fortunately the harmonics thus generated are not usually of high amplitude. However, they can cause considerable interference in the immediate vicinity in fringe areas, especially when operation is in the 28-Mc. band. The amplitude decreases rapidly with the order of the harmonic, the second and third being the worst. It is ordinarily found that even in cases where destructive interference is comparatively mild from 14 Mc., and is negligible at still lower frequencies.

There is nothing that can be done at either the transmitter or receiver when rectification occurs. The remedy is to find the source and eliminate the poor contact either by separating the conductors or bonding them together. A crystal wavemeter (tuned to the fundamental frequency) is useful for hunting the source, by showing which conductors are carrying r.f. and, comparatively, how much. Interference of this kind is frequently intermittent, since the rectification efficiency will vary with vibration, the weather, and so on. The possibility of corroded contacts in the TV receiving antenna should not be overlooked, especially if it has been up a year or more.

# TV RECEIVER DEFICIENCIES

#### Front-End Overloading

When a television receiver is quite close to the transmitter, the intense r.f. signal from the transmitter's fundamental may overload one or more of the receiver circuits to produce spurious responses that cause interference.

If the overload is moderate, the interference is of the same nature as harmonic interference; it is caused by harmonics generated in the early stages of the receiver and, since it occurs only on channels harmonically related to the transmitting frequency, is difficult to distinguish from harmonics actually radiated by the transmitter. In such cases additional harmonic suppression at the transmitter will do no good, but any means taken at the receiver to reduce the amateur fundamental strength fed to the first tube will effect an improvement. With more severe overloading interference also will occur on channels *not* harmonically related to the transmitting frequency, so such cases are easily identified.

#### **Cross-Modulation**

Under some circumstances overloading will result in cross-modulation or mixing of the amateur signal and that from a local FM or TV station. For example, a 14-Mc, signal can mix with a 92-Mc. FM station to produce a beat at 78 Mc, and cause interference in Channel 5, or with a TV station on Channel 5 to cause interference in Channel 3. Neither of the channels interfered with is in harmonic relationship to 14 Mc. Both signals have to be on the air for the interference to occur, and eliminating either at the TV receiver will eliminate the interference.

There are many combinations of this type, depending on the band in use and the local frequency assignments to FM and TV stations. The interfering frequency is equal to the amateur fundamental frequency either added to or subtracted from the frequency of some local station, and when interference occurs in a TV channel that is not harmonically related to the amateur transmitting frequency the possibilities in such frequency combination should be investigated.

#### I. F. Interference

Some TV receivers do not have sufficient selectivity to prevent strong signals in the intermediate-frequency range from forcing their way through the front end and getting into the i.f. amplifier. The once-standard intermediate frequency of, roughly, 21 to 27 Mc., is subject to interference from the fundamental-frequency output of transmitters operating in either the 21and 27-Mc, bands, Transmitters on 28 Mc, sometimes will cause this type of interference as well.

A form of i.f. interference peculiar to 50-Me. operation near the low edge of the band occurs with some receivers having the standard "41-Me." i.f., which has the sound carrier at 41.25 Me. and the picture carrier at 45.75 Me. A 50-Me. signal that forces its way into the i.f. system of the receiver will cause a beat with the i.f. picture carrier that falls on or near the i.f. sound carrier, even though the interfering signal is not actually in the nominal pass-band of the i.f. amplifier.

There is a type of i.f. interference unique to the 144-Me, band in localities where certain u.h.f. TV channels are in operation, affecting only those TV receivers in which double-conversion type plug-in u.h.f. tuning strips are used. The design of these strips involves a first intermediate frequency that varies with the TV channel to be received and, depending on the particular strip design, this first i.f. may be in or close to the 144-Me, amateur band. Since there is comparatively little selectivity in the TV signalfrequency circuits ahead of the first i.f., a signal from a 144-Mc, transmitter will "ride into" the i.f., even when the receiver is at a considerable distance from the transmitter. The channels that can be affected by this type of i.f. interference are as follows:

Receivers with	Receivers with
21-Mc.	41-Mc.
second i.f.	second i.f.
Channels 14–18, inc.	Channels 20–25, inc.
Channels 41–48, inc.	Channels 51–58, inc.
Channels 69–77, inc.	Channels 82 and 83.

If the receiver is not close to the transmitter, a trap of the type shown in Fig. 23-33 will be effective. However, if the separation is small the 144-Mc, signal will be picked up directly on the receiver circuits and the best solution is to readjust the strip oscillator so that the first i.f. is moved to a frequency not in the vicinity of the 144-Mc, band. This has to be done by a competent technician.

I.f. interference is easily identified since it occurs on all channels — although sometimes the intensity varies from channel to channel — and the cross-hatch pattern it causes will rotate when the receiver's fine-tuning control is varied. When the interference is caused by a harmonic, overloading, or cross modulation, the structure of the interference pattern does not change as the finetuning control is varied, although its intensity may change.

#### **High-Pass Filters**

In all the above cases the interference can be eliminated if the fundamental signal strength can be reduced to a level that the receiver can handle. To accomplish this with signals on bands below 30 Mc., the most satisfactory device is a highpass filter having a cut-off frequency between 30 and 50 Mc., installed at the tuner input terminals



Fig. 23-31 — High-pass filters for installation at the TV receiver antenna terminals,  $\Lambda$  — balanced filter for 300ohm line, B — for 75-ohm coaxial line. Important: Do not use a direct ground on an a.c.-d.e. chassis, Ground through a 0.001-µfd, mica condenser.

of the receiver. Circuits that have proved effective are shown in Figs. 23-31 and 23-32. Fig. 23-32 has one more section than the filters of Fig. 23-31 and as a consequence has somewhat better cut-off characteristics. All the circuits given are designed to have little or no effect on the TV signals but will attenuate all signals lower in frequency than about 40 Mc. These filters preferably should be constructed in some sort of shielding container, although shielding is not always necessary. The dashed lines in Fig. 23-32 show how individual filter coils can be shielded from each other. The condensers can be



Fig. 23-32 — Another type of high-pass filter for 300ohm line. The coils may be wound on  $\frac{1}{2}$ -inch diameter plastic knitting needles, *Important*: Do not use a direct ground on an a.e.-d.e. chassis. Ground through a 0.001ufd. mica condenser,

tubular ceramic units centered in holes in the partitions that separate the coils.

High-pass filters cannot be applied successfully in the case of 50-Mc. transmissions, because a filter having a sufficiently-sharp cut-off characteristic to give both good attenuation at 50-54Me. and no attenuation above 54 Mc. cannot be built, practically. A high-Q wavetrap, tuned to the transmitting frequency, is about the only practical solution. A successful design, using quarter-wave sections of Twin-Lead, is shown in Fig. 23-33. These "suck-out" traps absorb energy at the frequency to be eliminated, when carefully tuned. The assembly should be slid along the TV antenna lead-in until the most Fig. 23-33 — Absorption-type wavetrap using sections of 300ohm line tuned to have an electrical length of  $\frac{1}{24}$  wavelength at the transmitter frequency. Approximate physical lengths (dimension A) are 40 inches for 50 Mc, and 11 inches for 144 Mc., allowing for the loading effect of the capacitance at the open end. Two traps are used in parallel, one on each side of the line to the receiver. Install close to receiver antenna terminals.

effective position is found, and then fastened in place with Scotch Tape. An insulated tuning tool should be used for adjustment of the condenser, since it is at a "hot" point and will show considerable body-capacity effect.

High-pass filters are available commercially at moderate prices. In this connection, it should be understood by all parties concerned that while an amateur is responsible for harmonic radiation from his transmitter, it is no part of his responsibility to pay for or install filters, wavetraps, etc., that may be required at the receiver to prevent interference caused by his *fundamental* frequency. The set owner should be advised to get in touch with the organization from which he purchased the receiver or which services it, to make arrangements for proper installation. Proper installation usually requires that the filter be installed right at the input terminals of the r.f. tuner of the TV set and not merely at the antenna terminals, which may be at a considerable distance from the tuner. The question of cost is one to be settled between the set owner and the organization with which he deals. Some of the larger manufacturers of TV receivers have instituted arrangements for ecoperating with the set dealer in installing high-pass filters at no cost to the receiver owner. FCC-sponsored TVI Committees, now operating in many cities, have all the information necessary for effectuating such arrangements.

If the fundamental signal is getting into the receiver by way of the line cord a line filter such as that shown in Fig. 23-4 may help. To be most effective it should be installed inside the receiver ehassis at the point where the cord enters, making the ground connections directly to chassis at this



point. It may not be so helpful if placed between the line plug and the wall socket unless the r.f. is actually picked up on the house wiring rather than on the line cord itself

## Antenna Installation

Many television receivers will respond strongly to parallel currents on the receiving transmission line. Usually, the transmission line picks up a great deal more energy from a near-by transmitter than the television receiving antenna itself, causing parallel currents that should be, but are not, rejected by the receiver's input circuit. This situation can be improved by using shielded transmission line — coax or, in the balanced form, "twinax" — on the receiving installation. For best results the line should terminate in a coax fitting on the receiver chassis, but if this is not possible the shield should be grounded to the chassis right at the antenna terminals.

The use of shielded transmission line for the receiver also will be helpful in reducing response to harmonics actually being radiated from the transmitter or transmitting antenna. In most receiving installations the transmission line is very much longer than the antenna itself, and is consequently far more exposed to the harmonie fields from the transmitter. Much of the harmonic pick-up, therefore, is on the receiving transmission line when the transmitter and receiver are quite close together. Shielded line, plus relocation of either the transmitting or receiving antenna to take advantage of directive effects, often will result in reducing overloading, as well as harmonic pick-up, to a level that does not interfere with reception.

# **U.H.F. Television**

Although u.h.f. television is comparatively new, experience so far indicates that harmonic TVI is far less troublesome in this band than in the v.h.f. TV band. Harmonics from transmitters operating below 30 Mc, are of such high order that they would normally be expected to be quite weak; in addition, the components, circuit conditions and construction of low-frequency transmitters are such as to tend to prevent very strong harmonics from being generated in this region. However, this is not true of v.h.f. transmitters, particularly those working in the 144-Mc, and higher bands. Here the problem is quite similar to the problem of the low v.h.f. TV band with respect to transmitters operating below 30 Me.

There is one highly favorable factor in u.h.f. TV that does not exist in the most of the v.h.f. TV band: If harmonics are radiated, it is possible to move the transmitter frequency sufficiently (within the amateur band being used) to avoid interfering with a channel that may be in use in the locality. By restricting operation to a portion of the band that will not result in harmonic interference, it is possible to avoid the necessity for taking extraordinary precautions to prevent harmonic radiation.

# **BCI AND TVI**

	••		TABL				
	Harmo	nic Relationship	-Amateur V.	H.F. Bands a	ind U.H.F. T	V Channels	
Amateur		Fundamental	U.II.F. TV Channel	Amateur		l Fundamental	U.II.F. TV Channel
Band	Harmonic	Freq, Range	Affected	Band	Harmonic	Freq. Range	Affected
144 Mc.	4th	144.0 - 144.5	31	220 Mc.	3rd	220-220.67	45
		144.5 - 146.0	32			220.67 - 222.67	46
		146.0-147.5	33			222.67 - 224.67	47
		147, 5-148, 0	34			224.67 - 225	48
					4th	220-221	82
	5th	144.0 - 144.4	55			221 - 222.5	83
		144.4 - 145.6	56				
		145.6 - 146.8	57	420 Mc	2nd	420-421	75
		146.8 - 148	58			421-424	76
						424-427	77
	6th	144-144,33	79			427 - 430	78
	otu	144.33-145.33				430-433	79
		145,33-147,33	81			433 - 436	80
		147.33-148	82			436 - 439	81
		111.00.110	0			439 - 442	82
						442-448	83

The frequency assignment for u.h.f. television consists of seventy 6-megacycle channels (Nos. 14 to 83, inclusive) beginning at 470 Mc, and ending at 890 Mc. The harmonics from amateur bands above 50 Mc, span the u.h.f. channels as shown in Table 23-I. Since the assignment plan calls for a minimum separation of six channels between any two stations in one locality, there is ample opportunity to choose a fundamental frequency that will move a harmonic out of range of a local TV frequency.

The basic methods of preventing harmonic radiation already described will apply equally well in the u.h.f. TV region. However, there is comparatively little information as yet on the best types of components for these frequencies. It is anticipated also that modifications of the techniques will be developed to give improved harmonic suppression as experience is acquired.

# **Color Television**

It is probable that a number of stations will begin transmitting television programs in color during 1954, but it is not expected that any very considerable number of receivers capable of color reproduction will be in use immediately. The color TV system now proposed uses a subcarrier frequency spaced 3.58 megacycles from the regular picture carrier (or 4.83 Mc, from the low edge of the channel) for transmitting the color information. Harmonies which fall in the color subcarrier region can be expected to cause break-up of color in the received picture. This modifies the chart of Fig. 23-7 to introduce another "severe" region centering around 4.8 Mc. measured from the low-frequency edge of the channel. Hence with color television reception there is less opportunity to avoid harmonic interference by choice of operating frequency.

# Construction Practices

# TOOLS AND MATERIALS

While an easier, and perhaps a better, job can be done with a greater variety of tools available, by taking a little thought and care it is possible to turn out a fine piece of equipment with only a few of the common hand tools. A list of tools which will be indispensable in the construction of radio equipment will be found on this page. With these tools it should be possible to perform any of the required operations in preparing

#### INDISPENSABLE TOOLS

Long-nose pliers, 6-inch. Diagonal cutting pliers, 6-inch. Wire stripper. Screwdriver, 6- to 7-inch, 1/4-inch blade. Screwdriver, 4- to 5-inch, 1/8-inch blade. Scratch awl or scriber for marking lines. Combination square, 12-inch, for laying out work. Hand drill, 14-inch chuck or larger, 2-speed type preferable. Electric soldering iron, 100 watts, 1/4-in. tip. Hack saw, 12-inch blades. Center punch for marking hole centers. Hammer, ball-peen, 1-lb, head. Heavy knife. Yardstiek or other straightedge. Carpenter's brace with adjustable hole cutter or socket-hole punches (see text). Large, coarse, flat file. Large round or rat-tail file, 1/2-inch diameter. Three or four small and medium files-flat, round, half-round, triangular. Drills, particularly 1/4-inch and Nos. 18, 28, 33, 42 and 50. Combination oil stone for sharpening tools. Solder and soldering paste (noncorroding). Medium-weight machine oil. ADDITIONAL TOOLS Bench vise, 4-inch jaws. Tin shears, 10-inch, for cutting thin sheet metal. Taper reamer, 1/2-inch, for enlarging small holes. Taper reamer, 1-inch, for enlarging holes. Countersink for brace. Carpenter's plane, 8- to 12-inch, for woodworking. Carpenter's saw, crosscut. Motor-driven emery wheel for grinding. Long-shank serewdriver with screw-holding clip for tight places. Set of "Spintite" socket wrenches for hex nuts. Set of small, flat, open-end wrenches for hex nuts. Wood chisel, 1/2-inch. Cold chisel, 1/2-inch. Wing dividers, 8-inch, for seribing circles. Set of machine-screw taps and dies. Dusting brush. Soeket punches, esp. 11/8" and 11/4".

panels and metal chassis for assembly and wiring. It is an excellent idea for the amateur who does constructional work to add to his supply of tools from time to time as finances permit.

Several of the pieces of light woodworking machinery, often sold in hardware stores and mail-order retail stores, are ideal for amateur radio work, especially the drill press, grinding head, band and circular saws, and joiner. Although not essential, they are desirable should you be in a position to acquire them.

# Twist Drills

Twist drills are made of either high-speed steel or carbon steel. The latter type is more common and will usually be supplied unless specific request is made for high-speed drills. The carbon drill will suffice for most ordinary equipment construction work and costs less than the high-speed type.

While twist drills are available in a number of sizes those listed in **bold-faced** type in Table 24-I will be most commonly used in construction of amateur equipment. It is usually desirable to purchase several of each of the commonly-used sizes rather than a standard set, most of which will be used infrequently, if at all.

# Care of Tools

The proper care of tools is not alone a matter of pride to a good workman. He also realizes the energy which may be saved and the annovance which may be avoided by the possession of a full kit of well-kept sharp-edged tools.

Drills should be sharpened at frequent intervals so that grinding is kept at a minimum each time. This makes it easier to maintain the rather critical surface angles required for best cutting with least wear. Occasional oilstoning of the cutting edges of a drill or reamer will extend the time between grindings.

The soldering iron can be kept in good condition by keeping the tip well tinned with solder and not allowing it to run at full voltage for long periods when it is not being used. After each period of use, the tip should be removed and cleaned of any scale which may have accumulated. An oxidized tip may be cleaned by dipping it in sal ammoniac while

# **CONSTRUCTION PRACTICES**

hot and then wiping it clean with a rag. If the tip becomes pitted it should be filed until smooth and bright, and then tinned immediately by dipping it in solder.

## **Useful Materials**

Small stocks of various miscellaneous materials will be required in constructing radio apparatus, most of which are available from hardware or radio-supply stores. A representative list follows:

- Sheet aluminum, 16 or 18 gauge for brackets and shielding.
- $\frac{1}{2} \times \frac{1}{2}$ -inch aluminum angle stock.
- $\sqrt{4}$ -inch diameter round brass or aluminum rod for shaft extensions.
- Machine screws: Round-head and flat-head, with nuts to fit. Most useful sizes: 4-36, 6-32 and 8-32, in lengths from 1/4 inch to 11/2 inches. (Nickel-plated iron will be found satisfactory except in strong r.f. fields, where brass should be used.)

Bakelite, lucite and polystyrene scraps.

Soldering lugs, panel bearings, rubber grommets, terminal-lug wiring strips, varnished-cambric insulating tubing.

Shielded and unshielded wire.

Tinned bare wire, Nos. 22, 14 and 12.

Machine screws, nuts, washers, soldering lugs, etc., are most reasonably purchased in quantities of a gross.

## CHASSIS WORKING

With a few essential tools and proper procedure, it will be found that building radio gear on a metal chassis is no more of a chore than building with wood, and a more satisfactory job results. Aluminum is to be preferred to steel, not only because it is a superior shielding material, but because it is much easier to work and to provide good chassis contacts.

The placing of components on the chassis is shown quite clearly in the photographs in this *Handbook*. Aside from certain essential dimensions, which usually are given in the text, exact duplication is not necessary.

Much trouble and energy can be saved by spending sufficient time in planning the job. When all details are worked out beforehand





# TABLE 24-I

Numbered Drill Sizes

	D: 1		Drilled for
Number	Diameter (mils)	Will Clear Screw	Tapping Iron Steel or Brass
	(111110)		50000 101088
1	228.0	_	
2	221.0	12 - 24	_
3	213,0	_	14 - 24
4	209.0	12-20	
5	205.0		-
6	204.0		
7	201.0	-	_
8	199.0		
9	196.0		
10	193.5	10-32	
11	191.0	10-24	
12 13	189.0		—
	185.0	_	
14	182,0		
15 16	180.0	_	
17	177.0 173.0		12-24
17	169.5	8-32	_
19	166.0	8-04	12-20
20	161,0	_	12-20
21	159.0		10-32
22	157.0		
23	154.0		
24	152.0		
25	149.5		10-24
26	147.0		
27	144.0		
28	140.0	6-32	
29	136.0		8-32
30	128.5	_	_
31	120.0	_	—
32	116.0		—
33	113.0	4-36, 4-40	_
34	111.0		
35	110.0	—	6-32
36	106.5		_
37	104.0	_	
38 39	101.5	3-48	-
40	099.5 098.0	3-48	_
40	096.0	_	_
42	093.5	_	4-36, 4-40
43	089,0	2-56	
44	086.0		-
45	082,0		3-48
46	081.0	_	_
47	078.5	_	_
48	076,0	—	_
49	073.0	_	2-56
50	070.0	_	_
51	067.0		_
52	063.5	_	
	059.5	_	_
53			

the actual construction is greatly simplified.

Cover the top of the chassis with a piece of wrapping paper or, preferably, cross-section paper, folding the edges down over the sides of the chassis and fastening with adhesive tape. Then assemble the parts to be mounted on top of the chassis and move them about until a satisfactory arrangement has been found, keeping in mind any parts which are to be mounted underneath, so that interferences in mounting may be avoided. Place condensers and other parts with shafts extending through the panel first, and arrange them so that the controls will form the desired pattern on the panel. Be sure to line up the shafts squarely with the chassis front. Locate any partition shields and panel brackets next, and then the tube sockets and any other parts, marking the mounting-hole centers of each accurately on the paper. Watch out for condensers whose shafts are off center and do not line up with the mounting holes. Do not forget to mark the centers of socket holes and holes for leads under i.f. transformers. etc., as well as holes for wiring leads. The small holes for socket-mounting screws are best located and center-punched, using the socket itself as a template, after the main center hole has been cut.

By means of the square, lines indicating accurately the centers of shafts should be extended to the front of the chassis and marked on the panel at the chassis line, the panel being fastened on temporarily. The hole centers may then be punched in the chassis with the center punch. After drilling, the parts which require mounting underneath may be located and the mounting holes drilled, making sure by trial that no interferences exist with parts mounted on top. Mounting holes along the front edge



Fig. 24.2 — To cut rectangular holes in a chassis corner, holes may be filed out as shown in the shaded portion of B, making it possible to start the hack-saw blade along the cutting line. A shows how a single-ended handle may be constructed for a hack-saw blade.

of the chassis should be transferred to the panel, by once again fastening the panel to the chassis and marking it from the rear.

Next, mount on the chassis the condensers and any other parts with shafts extending to the panel, and measure accurately the height of the center of each shaft above the chassis, as illustrated in Fig. 24-1. The horizontal displacement of shafts having already been marked on the chassis line on the panel, the vertical displacement can be measured from this line. The shaft centers may now be marked on the back of the panel, and the holes drilled. Holes for any other panel equipment coming above the chassis line may then be marked and drilled, and the remainder of the apparatus mounted. Holes for terminals etc., in the rear edge of the chassis should be marked and drilled at the same time that they are done for the top.

# **CHAPTER 24**

# Drilling and Cutting Holes

When drilling holes in metal with a hand drill it is important that the centers first be located with a center punch, so that the drill point will not "walk" away from the center when starting the hole. When the drill starts to break through, special care must be used. Often it is an advantage to shift a two-speed drill to low gear at this point. Holes more than  $\frac{1}{4}$  inch in diameter may be started with a smaller drill and reamed out with the larger drill.

The chuck on the usual type of hand drill is linited to ¼-inch drills. Although it is rather tedious, the ¼-inch hole may be filed out to larger diameters with round files. Another method possible with linited tools is to drill a series of small holes with the hand drill along the inside of the diameter of the large hole, placing the holes as close together as possible. The center may then be knocked out with a cold chisel and the edges smoothed up with a file. Taper reamers which fit into the carpenter's brace will make the job easier. A large rattail file clamped in the brace makes a very good reamer for holes up to the diameter of the file, if the file is revolved counterclockwise.

For socket holes and other large round holes, an adjustable cutter designed for the purpose may be used in the brace. Occasional application of machine oil in the cutting groove will help. The cutter first should be tried out on a block of wood, to make sure that it is set for the correct diameter. The most convenient device for cutting socket holes is the socket-hole punch. The best type is that which works by turning a take-up screw with a wrench.

## **Rectangular Holes**

Square or rectangular holes may be cut out by making a row of small holes as previously described, but is more easily done by drilling a 1/2-inch hole inside each corner, as illustrated in Fig. 24-2, and using these holes for starting and turning the hack saw. The sockethole punch and the square punches which are now available also may be of considerable assistance in cutting out large rectangular openings. The burrs or rough edges which usually result after drilling or cutting holes may be removed with a file, or sometimes more conveniently with a sharp knife or chisel. It is a good idea to keep an old wood chisel sharpened and available for this purpose. A burr reamer will also be useful.

## CONSTRUCTION NOTES

If a control shaft must be extended or insulated, a flexible shaft coupling with adequate insulation should be used. Satisfactory support for the shaft extension can be provided by means of a *metal* panel bearing made for the purpose. Never use panel bearings of the nonmetal type unless the condenser shaft is grounded. The metal bearing should be connected to the chassis with a wire or grounding strip.

# **CONSTRUCTION PRACTICES**

This prevents any possible danger of shock. The use of fiber washers between ceramic insulation and metal brackets, screws or **nuts** will prevent the ceramic parts from breaking.

#### Cutting and Bending Sheet Metal

If a sheet of metal is too large to be cut conveniently with a hack saw, it may be marked with scratches as deep as possible along the line of the cut on both sides of the sheet and then clamped in a vise and worked back and forth until the sheet breaks at the line. Do not carry the bending too far until the break begins to weaken; otherwise the edge of the sheet may become bent. A pair of iron bars or pieces of heavy angle stock, as long or longer than the width of the sheet, to hold it in the vise will make the job easier. "C"-clamps may be used to keep the bars from spreading at the ends. The rough edges may be smoothed up with a file or by placing a large piece of emery cloth or sandpaper on a flat surface and running the edge of the metal back and forth over the sheet.

Bends may be made similarly. The sheet should be scratched on both sides, but not so deeply as to cause it to break.

#### Finishing Aluminum

Aluminum chassis, panels and parts may be given a sheen finish by treating them in a caustic bath. An enamelled container, such as a dishpan or infant's bathtub, should be used for the solution. Dissolve ordinary household lye in cold water in a proportion of 1/4 to 1/2 can of lye per gallon of water. The stronger solution will do the job more rapidly. Stir the solution with a stick of wood until the lye crystals are complete dissolved. Be very careful to avoid any skin contact with the solution. It is also harmful to clothing. Sufficient solution should be prepared to cover the piece completely. When the aluminum is immersed, a very pronounced bubbling takes place and ventilation should be provided to disperse the escaping gas. A half hour to two hours in the solution should be sufficient, depending upon the strength of the solution and the desired surface.

Remove the aluminum from the solution with sticks and rinse thoroughly in cold water while swabbing with a rag to remove the black deposit.

DECIMAL E	QUIVALE	NTS OF FRACT	IONS
1/32	.03125	17,32	.53125
1/16	.0625	9/16	.5625
3,32	.09375	19/32	.59375
1/8	.125	5/8	.625
5/32	.15625	21/32	.65625
3/16	.1875	11/16	.6875
7/32	.21875	23, 32	.71875
1/4	.25	3 '4	.75
9/32	.28125	25/32	.78125
5/16	.3125	13/16	.8125
11/32	.34375	27/32	.84375
3/8	.375	7/8	.875
13, 32	.40625	29/32	.90625
7/16	.4375	15/16	.9375
15/32	.46875	31/32	.96875
1/2	.5	1	1.0

Then wipe off with a rag soaked in vinegar to remove any stubborn stains or fingerprints. (See May, 1950, QST for a method of coloring and anodizing aluminum.)

### Soldering

The secret of good soldering is in allowing time for the *joint*, as well as the solder, to attain sufficient temperature. Enough heat should be applied so that the solder will melt when it comes in contact with the wires being joined, without touching the solder to the iron. Always use rosin-core solder, never acid-core. Except where absolutely necessary, solder should never be depended upon for the mechanical strength of the joint; the wire should be wrapped around the terminals or clamped with soldering terminals.

When soldering crystal diodes or carbon resistors in place, especially if the leads have been cut short and the resistor is of the small <sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>-watt size, the resistor lead should be gripped with a pair of pliers up close to the resistor so that the heat will be conducted away from the resistor. Overheating of the resistor while soldering can cause a permanent resistance change of as much as 20 per cent. Also, mechanical stress will have a similar effect, so that a small resistor should be mounted so that there is no appreciable mechanical strain on the leads.

Trouble is sometimes experienced in soldering to the pins of coil-forms or male cable plugs. It helps first to tin the inside of the pins by applying soldering paste to the hole, and then flowing solder into the pin. Then immediately clear the solder from the hot pin by a whipping motion or by blowing through the pin from the inside of the form or plug. Before inserting the wire in the pin, file the nickel plate from the tip. After soldering, round the solder tip off with a file.

When soldering to sockets, it is a good idea to have the tube or coil form inserted to prevent solder running down into the socket prongs. It also helps to conduct the heat away when soldering to polystyrene sockets, which often soften under the heat of the iron.

#### Wiring

The wire used in connecting up amateur equipment should be selected considering both the naximum current it will be called upon to handle and the voltage its insulation must stand without breakdown. Also, from the consideration of TVI, the power wiring of all transmitters should be done with wire that has a braided shielding cover. Receiver and audio circuits may also require the use of shielded wire at some points for stability, or the elimination of hum.

No. 20 stranded wire is commonly used for most receiver wiring (except for the highfrequency circuits) where the current does not exceed 2 or 3 amperes. For higher-current heater circuits, No. 18 is available. Wire with cellulose acetate insulation is good for voltages up to about 500. For higher voltages, thermoplastic-insulated wire should be used. Inexpensive wire strippers that make the removal of insulation from hook-up

4



Fig. 24-3 — Cable-stripping dimensions for Jones Type P-101 plugs, Smaller dimensions are for  $\frac{1}{2}$ -inch plugs, the larger dimensions for  $\frac{1}{2}$ -inch plugs. As indicated in C<sub>4</sub>, the remaining copper braid is wound with bare or tinned wire to make a snug fit in the sleeve of the plug.

wire an easy job are available on the market. In cases where power leads have several branches in the chassis, it is convenient to use fiber-insulated tie points or "lug strips" as anchorages or junction points. Strips of this type are also useful as insulated supports for resistors, r.f. chokes and condensers. High-voltage wiring should have exposed points held to a minimum, and those which cannot be avoided should be rendered as inaccessible as possible to accidental contact or short-circuit.

Where shielded wire is called for and capacitance to ground is not a factor, Belden type 8885 shielded grid wire may be used. If capacitance must be minimized, it may be necessary to use a piece of car-radio low-capacitance lead-in wire, or coaxial cable.

For wiring high-frequency circuits, rigid wire is often used. Bare soft-drawn tinned wire, sizes 22 to 12 (depending on mechanical requirements), is suitable. Kinks ean be removed by stretching a piece 10 or 15 feet long and then cutting into short lengths that ean be handled conveniently. R.f. wiring should be run directly from point to point with a minimum of sharp bends and the



CHAPTER 24

Fig. 24-5 — Method of assembling ¼-inch cable, Amphenol Type 83-1SP (PL-259) plug and adapter.

wire kept well spaced from the chassis or other grounded metal surfaces. Where the wiring must pass through the chassis or a partition, a clearance hole should be cut and lined with a rubber grommet. In case insulation becomes necessary, varnished cambric tubing (spaghetti) can be slipped over the wire.

In transmitters where the peak voltage does not exceed 2500 volts, the shielded grid wire mentioned above should be satisfactory for power circuits. For higher voltages, Belden type 8656, Birnbach type 1820, or shielded ignition cable can be used. In the case of filament circuits carrying heavy current, it may be necessary to use No. 10 or 12 bare or enameled wire, slipped through spaghetti, and then covered with copper braid pulled tightly over the spaghetti. The chapter



Fig. 24-4 — Dimensions for stripping ½-inch cable to fit Amphenol Type 83-1SP (PL-259) phg.



Fig. 24.6 - Stripping dimensions for Amphenol 82-830 and 82-832 plug-in connectors. The longer exposed braid is for the first type.

#### World Radio History

# **CONSTRUCTION PRACTICES**



(C) RIGHT

Fig. 24-7 — Methods of lacing cables. The method shown at C is more secure, but takes more time than the method of B. The latter is usually adequate for most amateur requirements.

on TVI shows the manner in which shielded wire should be applied. If the shielding is simply slid back over the insulation and solder flowed into the end of the braid, the braid usually will stay in place without the necessity for cutting it back or binding it in place. The braid should be burnished with sandpaper or a knife so that solder will take with a minimum of heat to protect the insulation underneath.

R.f. wiring in transmitters usually follows the method described above for receivers with due respect to the voltages involved.

Power and control wiring external to the transmitter chassis preferably should be of shielded wire bound into a cable. Fig. 24-7 shows the correct methods of lacing cables.

#### **Coaxial Plug Connections**

Considerable time and trouble can be saved in making cable connections to coaxial plugs by starting out with the correct stripping dimensions. Fig. 24-3 shows how the end of the cable should be prepared for connecting to Jones Type P-101 plugs. After the exposed braid has been wound, it should be carefully tinned, applying no more heat than is necessary, to avoid melting the inner insulation. A small amount of solder also should be flowed into the sleeve of the plug. Then, when the cable is inserted in the sleeve, the connection can be made secure by holding the iron against the sleeve until the solder inside melts. While joining the two, the plug may be held by inserting it in a hole drilled in a board. Figs. 24-4, 24-5 and 24-6 show details of connections to different types of Amphenol plugs and adapters. In Fig. 24-4, it is easiest to cut through to the wire with a sharp knife at a distance of  $\frac{13}{16}$  inch from the end of the wire and remove the insulation and shielding in one piece. Then slice off a  $\frac{1}{16}$ -inch piece of polyethylene which may be slid back onto the wire.

After the braid in Fig. 24-5 has been frayed back, it will be necessary to file the braid down as much as possible to make it fit the plug.

# **COMPONENT VALUES**

Values of composition resistors and small condensers (mica and ceramic) are specified throughout this Handbook in terms of "preferred values." In the preferred-number system, all values represent (approximately) a constant-percentage increase over the next lower value. The base of the system is the number 10. Only two significant figures are used. Table 24-II shows the preferred values based on tolerance steps of 20, 10 and 5 per cent. All other values are expressed by multiplying or dividing the base figures given in the table by the appropriate power of 10. (For example, resistor values of 33,000 ohms, 6800 ohms, and 150 ohms are obtained by multiplying the base figures by 1000, 100, and 10, respectively.)

"Tolerance" means that a variation of plus or minus the percentage given is considered satisfactory. For example, the actual resistance of a "4700-ohm" 20-per-cent resistor can lie anywhere between 3700 and 5600 ohms, approximately. The permissible variation in the same resistance value with 5-per-cent tolerance

$\begin{array}{c c c c c c } \textbf{Table 24-II}\\ \hline \textbf{Standard Component Values}\\ \hline \begin{array}{c} 20\% & 10\% & \delta\% \\ \hline \underline{Tolerance} & \underline{Tolerance} & \underline{Tolerance} \\ \hline 10 & 10 & 10 \\ & 11 \\ 12 & 12 \\ & 13 \\ 15 & 15 & 15 \\ & 16 \\ 18 & 18 \\ & 20 \\ 22 & 22 & 22 \\ & 21 \\ & 27 & 27 \\ & 30 \\ 33 & 33 & 33 \\ & 30 & 36 \\ & 39 & 39 \\ & 43 \\ 47 & 47 & 47 \\ & 43 \\ 47 & 47 & 47 \\ & 56 & 56 \\ & 68 & 68 \\ & 68 & 68 \\ & 68 & 68 \\ & 68 & 68$									
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1	TABLE 24-II							
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Standard Component Values								
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	-								
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$									
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$									
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	10	10							
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		10							
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		12							
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$									
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	15	15							
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		10							
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		18							
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		00							
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	22	22							
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$									
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		27							
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		00							
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	33	33							
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$									
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1	39							
$\begin{array}{cccc} & 51 \\ 56 & 56 \\ 62 \\ 68 & 68 \\ 75 \\ 82 & 82 \\ 91 \end{array}$	47	47							
56 56 62 68 68 68 75 82 82 91	47	47							
68 68 68 75 82 82 91		50							
68 68 68 75 82 82 91		56							
75 82 82 91	00	60							
82 82 91	08	08							
91		60							
		82							
100 100 100	100	100							
	100	100	100						

would be in the range from 4500 to 4900 ohms, approximately.

Only those values shown in the first column of Table 24-11 are available in 20-per-cent tolerance. Additional values, as shown in the second column, are available in 10-per-cent tolerance; still more values can be obtained in 5-per-cent tolerance.

In the component specifications in this *Handbook*, it is to be understood that when no tolerance is specified the *largest* tolerance available in that value will be satisfactory.

Values that do not fit into the preferrednumber system (such as 500, 25,000, etc.) easily can be substituted. It is obvious, for example, that a 5000-ohm resistor falls well within the tolerance range of the 4700-ohm 20-per-cent resistor used in the example above. It would not, however, be usable if the tolerance were specified as 5 per cent.

# COLOR CODES

Standardized color codes are used to mark values on small components such as composition resistors and mica condensers, and to identify leads from transformers, etc. The resistor-condenser number color code is given in Table 24-III.

## Fixed Condensers

The methods of marking "postage-stamp" mica condensers, molded paper condensers, and tubular ceramic condensers are shown in Fig. 24-8. Condensers made to American War Standards or Joint Army-Navy specifications are marked with the 6-dot code shown at the top. Practically all surplus condensers are in this eategory. The 3-dot RETMA code is used for  $\pm 20\%$  tolerance only: other ratings and tolerances are covered by the 6-dot RETMA code.

Examples: A condenser with a 6-dot code has the following markings: Top row, left to right, black, yellow, violet; bottom row, right to left, brown, silver, red. Since the first color in the top row is black (significant figure zero) this is the AWS code and the condenser has mica dielectric. The significant figures are 4 and 7, the decimal multiplier 10 (brown, at right of second row), so the capacitance is 470 µµfd. The tolerance is  $\pm 10^{7}$  (. The final color, the characteristic, deals with temperature coefficients and methods of testing, and may be ignored.

A condenser with a 3-dot code has the following colors, left to right; brown, black, red. The significant figures are 1, 0 (10) and the multiplier is 100. The capacitance is therefore 1000  $\mu\mu$ fd.

A condensor with a 6-dot code has the following markings: Top row, left to right, brown, black, black; bottom row, right to left, black, gold, blue. Since the first color in the top row is neither black nor silver, this is the RETMA code. The significant figures are 1, 0, 0 (100) and the decimal multipler is 1 (black). The capacitance is therefore 100  $\mu\mu$ fd. The gold dot shows that the tolerance is  $\pm 5\%$  and the blue dot indicates 600-volt rating.

## Ceramic Condensers

Conventional markings for ceramic con-

densers are shown in the lower drawing of Fig. 24-8. The colors have the meanings indicated in Table 24-1V. In practice, dots may be used instead of the *narrow* bands indicated in Fig. 24-8.

Example: A ceramic condenser has the following markings: Broad band, violet; narrow bands or dots, green, brown, black, green. The significant figures are 5, 1 (51) and the decimal multiplier is 1, so the capacitance is 51  $\mu\mu$ d. The temperature coefficient is -750 parts per million per degree C. as given by the broad band, and the capacitance tolerance is  $\pm 5\%$ .

#### **Fixed Composition Resistors**

Composition resistors (including small wirewound units molded in cases identical with the composition type) are color-coded as shown in





RETMA 3-dot 500-volt, ±20 ¿ tolerance only







Fig. 24-8 — Color coding of fixed mica, molded paper, and tubular ceramic condensers. The color code for mica and molded paper condensers is given in Table 24-111. Table 24-1V gives the color code for tubular ceramic condensers.

# CONSTRUCTION PRACTICES





Fixed composition resistors

Fig. 24-9 — Color coding of fixed composition resistors. The color code is given in Table 24-III. The colored areas have the following significance:

A — First significant figure of resistance in ohms

- B Second significant figure.
- C Decimal multiplier.

D — Resistance tolerance in per cent. If no color is shown, the tolerance is  $\pm 20\%$ .

Fig. 24-9. Colored bands are used on resistors having axial leads; on radial-lead resistors the colors are placed as shown in the drawing. When bands are used for color coding the body color has no significance.

Examples: A resistor of the type shown in the lower drawing of Fig. 24-9 has the following color bands: A, red; B, red; C, orange; D, no color. The significant figures are 2, 2 (22) and the decimal multiplier is 1000. The value of resistance is therefore 22,000 ohms and the tolerance is  $\pm 20^{+0.01}$ .

A resistor of the type shown in the upper drawing has the following colors: body (A), blue; end (B), gray; dot, red; end (D), gold. The significant figures are 6, 8 (68) and the decimal multiplier is 100, so the resistance is 6800 ohms. The tolerance is  $\pm 5\%$ 

## I.F. Transformers

 $\frac{Blue}{Red} - \frac{6}{9} \frac{B^{2}}{B^{2}} + 1 ead.$ 

Green — grid (or diode) lead.

Black — grid (or diode) return.

NOTE: If the secondary of the i.f.t. is centertapped, the second diode plate lead is green-

	1	TABLE 24-II	I	
	Resistor-C	Condenser Co	olor Code	
Calor		t Decimal Multiplier	Tolerance (1)	Voltage Rating*
Black	0	1	-	_
Brown	1	10	1*	100
Red	2	100	2*	200
Orange	3	1000	3*	300
Yellow	4	10,000	4*	400
Green	ō	100,000	5*	500
Blue	6	1,000,000	6*	600
Violet	7	10,000,000	7*	700
Gray	8	100,000,000	8*	800
White	9	000,000,000,000	9*	900
Gold	-	0.1	5	1000
Silver	-	0.01	10	2000
No color	· _		20	500

	TABLE 24-IV Color Code for Ceramic Condensers									
			Capacitanc	e Tolerance						
Color	Significant Figure	Decimal Multiplier	10 μμfd.	Less than 10 µµfd. (in µµfd.)	Temp. Coeff. p.p.m./deg. C.					
Black Brown Red Orange Yellow	0 1 2 3 4	1 10 100 1000	± 20 ± 1 ± 2	2.0	$ \begin{array}{r} 0 \\ -30 \\ -80 \\ -150 \\ -220 \end{array} $					
Green Blue Violet Gray White	5 6 7 8 9	0 01 0.1	± 5 ± 10	0.5 0.25 1.0	$ \begin{array}{r} - 330 \\ - 470 \\ - 750 \\ 30 \\ 500 \\ \end{array} $					

and-black striped, and black is used for the center-tap lead.

# A.F. Transformers

Blue — plate (finish) lead of primary.

- Red "B" + lead (this applies whether the primary is plain or center-tapped).
- Brown -- plate (start) lead on center-tapped primaries. (Blue may be used for this lead it polarity is not important.)
- Green grid (finish) lead to secondary,
- Black grid return (this applies whether the secondary is plain or center-tapped).
- Yellow grid (start) lead on center-tapped secondaries. (Green may be used for this lead if polarity is not important.)

NOTE: These markings apply also to line-togrid and tube-to-line transformers.

#### Loudspeaker Voice Coils

Green - finishBlack - start.

#### Loudspeaker Field Coils

Black an I Re I - start. Yellow and Red - finish. Slate and Red - tap (if any).

#### **Power Transformers**

- 1) Primary Leads.....Black If tapped:
  - Common.....Black Tap, ..., Black and Yellow Striped Finish.....Black and Red Striped
- 2) High-Voltage Plate Winding......Red Center-Tap . . . Red and Yellow Striped
- Center-Tap. . Yellow and Blue Striped
- 4) Filament Winding No. 1, ..... Green Center-Tap. . Green and Yellow Striped
- 5) Filament Winding No. 2. ..... Brown Center-Tap. Brown and Yellow Striped
- Center-Tap. ... Slate and Yellow Striped

# **Operating a Station**

The enjoyment of our hobby usually comes from the operation of our station once we have finished its construction. Upon the *station* and its *operation* depend the communication records that are made.

An operator with a slow, steady, clean-cut method of sending has a big advantage over the poor operator. Good sending is partly a matter of practice but patience and judgment are just as important qualities of an operator as a good "fist." The technique of speaking in connected thoughts and phrases is equally important for the operator who uses voice.

# OPERATING COURTESY AND TOLERANCE

Normal operating interests in amateur radio vary considerably. Some prefer to rag-chew, others handle traffic, others work DN, others concentrate on working certain areas, countries or states and still others get on for an occasional contact only to check a new transmitter or antenna.

Interference is one of the things we amateurs have to live with. However, we can conduct our operating in a way designed to alleviate it as much as possible. Before putting the transmitter on the air, listen on your own frequency. If you hear stations engaged in communication on that frequency, stand by until you are sure no interference will be caused by your operations, or shift to another frequency. No amateur or any group of amateurs has any *exclusive* claim to any frequency in any band. We must work together, each respecting the rights of others. Remember, those other chaps can cause you as much interference as you cause them, sometimes more! Where a VFO is used it is not necessary to stick to a single operating frequency though it is well to have one or two preferred and alternate frequencies. It has become general operating procedure these days to work stations on or near your own frequency. This practice will automatically assist in reducing interference.

# C.W. PROCEDURE

The best operators, *both* those using voice and c.w., observe certain operating procedures developed from experience and regarded as "standard practice."

1) Calls. Calling stations may call efficiently by transmitting the call signal of the station called three times, the letters DE, followed by one's own station call sent three times. (Short calls with frequent "breaks" to listen have proved to be the best method.) Repeating the call of the station called four or five times and signing not more than two or three times has proved excellent practice, thus: WØBY WØBY WØBY WØBY DE W1AW W1AW AR.

*CQ.* The general-inquiry call (CQ) should be sent not more than five times without interspersing one's station identification. The length of repeated calls is carefully limited in intelligent amateur operating. (CQ is not to be used when testing or when the sender is not expecting or looking for an answer. Never send a CQ "blind." Always be sure to listen on the transmitting frequency first.)

The directional CQ: To reduce the number of useless answers and lessen QRM, every CQ call should be made informative when possible.

Examples: A United States station looking for any Hawaiian annateur calls: CQ KH6 CQ KH6 CQ KH6 DE W41A W41A KAA KA Western station with traffic for the East Coast when looking for an intermediate relay station calls: CQ EAST CQ EAST CQ EAST DE W51GW W51GW W51GW K. A station with messages for points in Massachusetts calls: CQ MASS CQ MASS CQ MASS DE W7CZY W7CZY K,

Hams who do not raise stations readily may find that their sending is poor, their calls ill-timed or judgment in error. When conditions are right to bring in signals from the desired locality, you can call them. Reasonably short calls, with appropriate and brief breaks to listen, will raise stations with minimum time and trouble.

2) Answering a Call: Call three times (or less); send DE; sign three times (or less); after contact is established decrease the use of the call signals of both stations to once or twice. When a station receives a call but does not receive the eall letters of the station calling, QRZ? may be used. It means "By whom am I being called?" QRZ should not be used in place of CQ.

3) Ending Signals and Sign-Off: The proper use of  $\overline{AR}$ , K,  $\overline{KN}$ ,  $\overline{SK}$  and CL ending signals is as follows:

 $\Lambda R$  — End of transmission. Recommended after call to a specific station before contact has been established,

*Example:* W6ABC W6ABC W6ABC W6ABC W6ABC W6ABC DE W9LMN W9LMN AR. Also at the end of transmission of a radiogram, immediately following the signature, preceding identification.

K - Go ahead (any station). Recommended after CQ and at the end of each transmission

# **OPERATING A STATION**

during QSO when there is no objection to others breaking in,

*Example:* CQ CQ CQ DE WIABC WIABC K or W9XYZ DE WIABC K.

 $\overline{\rm KN}$  — Go ahead (specific station), all others keep out. Recommended at the end of each transmission during a QSO, or after a call, when calls from other stations are not desired and will not be answered.

Example: W4FGH DE XU6GRL KN.

 $\overline{SK}$  — End of QSO. Recommended before signing *last* transmission at end of a QSO.

#### Example: .... SK W8LMN DE W5BCD.

 $CL \rightarrow 1$  am closing station. Recommended when a station is going off the air, to indicate that it will not listen for any further calls.

## Example: .... SK W7111J DE W2JKL CL.

4) Test signals to permit another station to adjust receiving equipment may consist of a series of Vs with the call signal of the transmitting station at frequent intervals. Remember that a test signal can be a totally unwarranted cause of QRM, and always listen first to find a clear spot if possible.

5) *Receipting* for conversation or traffic: Never send acknowledgment until the transmission has been entirely received. "R" means "All right, OK, I understand *completely*." Use R *only* when *all* is received correctly.

6) Repeats. When most of a transmission is lost, a call should be followed by correct abbreviations to ask for repeats. When a few words on the end of a transmission are lost, the *last word received correctly* is given after ?AA, meaning "all after." When a few words at the beginning of a transmission are lost, ?AB for "all before" a stated word should be used. The quickest way to ask for a fill in the middle of a transmission is to send the last word received correctly, a question mark, then the next word received correctly. Another way is to send "?BN [word] and [word]."

Do not send words twice (QSZ) unless it is requested. Send single. Do not fall into the bad habit of sending double without a request from fellows you work. Don't say "QRM" or "QRN" when you mean "QRS." Don't CQ unless there is definite reason for so doing. When sending CQ, use judgment.

#### **General Practices**

When a station has receiving trouble, the operator asks the transmitting station to "QSV." The letter "R" is often used in place of a decimal point (e.g., "3R5 Mc.") or the colon in time designation (e.g., "2R30 PM"). A long dash is sometimes sent for "zero."

The law concerning superfluous signals should be noted. If you *must* test, disconnect the antenna system and use an equivalent "dummy" antenna. Send your call frequently when operating. Pick a time for adjusting the station apparatus when few stations will be bothered.

The up-to-date amateur station uses "break-

.

in." For best results send at a medium speed. Send evenly with proper spacing. The standardtype telegraph key is best for all-round use. Regular daily practice periods, two or three periods a day, are best to acquire real familiarity and proficiency with code.

No excuse can be made for "garbled" copy. Operators should copy what is sent and refuse to acknowledge a whole transmission until every word has been received correctly. *Good operators do not guess.* "Swing" in a fist is *not* the mark of a good operator. Unusual words are sent twice, the word repeated following the transmission of "?". If not *sure*, a good operator systematically asks for a fill or repeat. Sign your call frequently, interspersed with calls, and at the end of all transmissions.

#### On Good Sending

Assuming that an operator has learned sending properly, and comes up with a precision "fist" — not fast, but clean, steady, making wellformed rhythmical characters and spacing beautiful to listen to — he then becomes subject to outside pressures to his own possible detriment in everyday operating. He will want to "speed it up" because the operator at the other end is going faster, and so he begins, unconsciously, to run his words together or develops a "swing."

Perhaps one of the easiest ways to get into bad habits is to do too much playing around with special keys. Too many operators spend only enough time with a straight key to acquire "passable" sending, then subject their newlydeveloped "fists" to the entirely different movements of bugs, side-swipers, electronic keys, or what-have-you. All too often, this results in the ruination of what may have become a very good "fist."

Think about your sending a little. Are you satisfied with it? You should not be — ever. Nobody's sending is perfect, and therefore *every* operator should continually strive for improvement. Do you ever run letters together — like Q for MA, or P for AN — especially when you are in a hurry? Practically everybody does at one time or another. Do you have a "swing"? Any recognizable "swing" is a deviation from perfection. Strive to send like tape sending; copy a W1AW Bulletin and try to send it with the same spacing using a local oscillator on a subsequent transmission.

Check your spacing in characters, between characters and between words occasionally by making a recording of your fist on an inked tape recorder. This will show up your faults as nothing else will. Practice the correction of faults.

## **USING A BREAK-IN SYSTEM**

Break-in avoids unnecessarily long ealls, prevents QRM, gives more communication per hour of operating. Brief calls with frequent short pauses for reply can approach (but not equal) break-in efficiency.

A separate receiving antenna facilitates break-

in operation. It is only necessary with break-in to pause just a moment with the key up (or to cut the carrier momentarily and pause in a 'phone conversation) to listen for the other station. The click when the carrier is cut off is as effective as the word "break."

*C.w. telegraph* break-in is usually simple to arrange. With break-in, ideas and messages to be transmitted can be pulled right through the holes in the QRM. Snappy, efficient amateur work with break-in usually requires a separate receiving antenna and arrangement of the transmitter and receiver to eliminate the necessity for throwing switches between transmissions.

In calling, the transmitting operator sends the letters "BK" at frequent intervals during his call so that stations hearing the call may know that break-in is in use and take advantage of the fact. *He pauses at intervals* during his call, to listen for a moment for a reply. If the station being called does not answer, the call can be continued.

With a tap of the key, the man on the receiving end ean interrupt (if a word is missed). The other operator is constantly monitoring, awaiting just such directions. It is not necessary that you have perfect facilities to take advantage of break-in when the stations you work are break-inequipped. After any invitation to break is given (and at each pause) press your key — and contact can start *immediately*.

# **VOICE OPERATING**

The use of proper procedure to get best results is just as important as in using code. In telegraphy words must be spelled out letter by letter. It is therefore but natural that abbreviations and shortcuts should have come into widespread use. In voice work, however, abbreviations are not necessary, and should have less importance in our operating procedure. The letter "K" has been agreed to in tele-

The letter "K" has been agreed to in telegraphic practice so that the operator will not have to pound out the separate letters that spell the words "go ahead." The voice operator can say the words "go ahead" or "over," or "come in please."

One laughs on c.w. by spelling out 111. On 'phone use a laugh when one is called for. Be natural as you would with your family and friends,

The matter of reporting *readability* and *strength* is as important to 'phone operators as to those using code. With telegraph nomenclature, it is necessary to spell out words to describe signals or use the abbreviated signal reporting system (**RST**... see Chapter Twenty-Six). Using voice, we have the ability to "say it with words." "Readability four, Strength eight" is the best way to give a quantitative report. Reporting can be done so much more meaningfully with ordinary words: "You are weak but you are in the elear and I can understand you, so go ahead," or "Your signal is strong but you are buried under local interference." Why not say it with words?

## **Voice-Operating Hints**

1) Listen before calling,

2) Make short calls with breaks to listen. Avoid long CQs; do not answer any.

3) Use push-to-talk. Give essential data concisely in first transmission.

4) Make reports honest. Use definitions of strength and readability for reference. Make your reports informative and useful. Honest reports and *full* word description of signals save amateur operators from FCC trouble.

5) Limit transmission length, Two minutes or less will convey much information. When three or more stations converse in round tables, brevity is essential.

6) Display sportsmanship and courtesy, Bands are congested . . . make transmissions meaningful . . . give others a break.

7) Check transmitter adjustment . . . avoid AM overmodulation and splatter. Do not radiate when moving VFO frequency or checking NFM swing. Use receiver b.f.o. to check stability of signal. Complete testing before busy hours!

## Voice Equivalents to Code Procedure

Voice	Code	Meaning
Go ahead; over	K	Self-explanatory
Wait; stand by	AS, QRX	Self-explanatory
Okay	R	Receipt for a cor-
		rectly-transcribed
		message or for
		"solid" transmission
		with no missing por-
		tions

## 'Phone-Operating Practice

Efficient voice communication, like good c.w. communication, demands good operating. Adherence to certain points "on getting results" will go a long way toward improving our 'phoneband operating conditions.

Use push-to-talk technique. Where possible arrange on-off switches or controls for fast backand-forth exchanges that enulate the practicality of the wire telephone. This will help reduce the length of transmissions and keep brother amateurs from calling you a "monologuist" — a guy who likes to hear himself talk!

Listen with care. Keep noise and "backgrounds" out of your operating room to facilitate good listening. It is natural to answer the strongest signal, but take time to listen and give some consideration to the *best* signals, regardless of strength. Every amateur cannot run a kilowatt, but there is no reason why every amateur cannot have a signal of good quality, and utilize uniform operating practices to aid in the understandability and case of his own communications.

Interpose your call regularly and at frequent intervals. Three short calls are better than one

# **OPERATING A STATION**

long one. In calling CQ, one's call should certainly appear at least once for every five or six CQs. Calls with frequent breaks to listen will save time and be most productive of results. In identifying, always transmit your own call last. Don't say "This is W1ABC standing by for W2DEF"; say "W2DEF, this is W1ABC, over." FCC regulations show the call of the transmitting station sent last.

Include country prefix before call. It is not correct to say "9RRX, this is 1BDL." Correct and legal use is "W9RRX, this is W1BDL." FCC regulations require proper use of calls; stations have been cited for failure to comply with this requirement.

Monitor your own frequency. This helps in timing calls and transmissions. Send when there is a chance of being copied successfully — not when you are merely "more QRM." Timing transmissions is an art to cultivate.

Keep modulation constant. By turning the gain "wide open" you are subjecting anyone listening to the diversion of whatever noises are present in or near your operating room, to say nothing of the possibility of feed-back, echo due to poor acoustics, and modulation excesses due to sudden loud noises. Speak near the microphone, and don't let your gaze wander all over the station causing sharply-varying input to your speech amplifier; at the same time, keep far enough from the microphone so your signal is not modulated by your breathing. Change distance or gain only as necessary to insure uniform transmitter performance without overmodulation, splatter or distortion.

*Make connected thoughts and phrases.* Don't mix disconnected subjects. Ask questions consistently, Pause and get answers.

*Have a pad of paper handy.* It is convenient and desirable to jot down questions as they come in the course of discussion in order not to miss any. It will help you to make intelligent to-thepoint replies.

Steer clear of inanities and soap-opera stuff. Our amateur radio and also our personal reputation as a serious communications worker depend on us.

Avoid repetition. Don't repeat back what the other fellow has just said. Too often we hear a conversation like this: "Okay on your new antenna there, okay on the trouble you're having with your receiver, okay on the company who just came in with some ice cream, okay . . . [etc.]." Just say you received everything OK. Don't try to prove it.

Use phonetics only as required. When clarifying genuinely doubtful expressions and in getting your call identified positively we suggest use of the ARRL Phonetic List. Limit such use to really-necessary clarification.

The speed of radiotelephone transmission (with perfect accuracy) depends almost entirely upon the skill of the two operators involved. One must learn to speak at a rate allowing perfect understanding as well as permitting the receiving operator to copy down the message text, if that is necessary. Because of the similarity of many English speech sounds, the use of alphabetical word lists has been found necessary. All voiceoperated stations should use a *standard* list as needed to identify call signals or unfamiliar expressions.

# ARRL Word List for Radiotelephony

ADAM	JOHN	SUSAN
BAKER	KING	THOMAS
CHARLIE	LEWIS	UNION
DAVID	MARY	VICTOR
EDWARD	NANCY	WILLIAM
FRANK	OTTO	X-RAY
GEORGE	PETER	YOUNG
HENRY	QUEEN	ZEBRA
IDA	ROBERT	

Example: WIAW . . . W 1 ADAM WILLIAM.

Round Tables. The round table has many advantages if run properly. It clears frequencies of interference, especially if all stations involved are on the same frequency, while the enjoyment value remains the same, if not greater. By use of push-to-talk, the conversation can be kept lively and interesting, giving each station operator ample opportunity to participate without waiting overlong for his turn.

Round tables can become very unpopular if they are not conducted properly. The monologuist, off on a long spiel about nothing in particular, cannot be interrupted; make your transmissions short and to the point. "Butting in" is discourteous and unsportsmanlike; don't enter a round table, or any contact between two other amateurs, unless you are invited. It is bad enough trying to understand voice through prevailing interference without the added difficulty of poor quality; check your transmitter adjustments frequently. In general, follow the precepts as hereinbefore outlined for the most enjoyment in round tables as well as any other form of radiotelephone communication.

## WORKING DX

Most amateurs at one time or another make "working DX" a major aim. As in every other phase of amateur work, there are right and wrong ways to go about getting best results in working foreign stations, and it is the intention of this section to outline a few of them.

The ham who has trouble raising DX stations readily may find that poor transmitter efficiency is not the reason. He may find that his sending is poor, or his calls ill-timed, or his judgment in error. When conditions are right to bring in the DX, and the receiver sensitive enough to bring in several stations from the desired locality, the way to work DX is to use the appropriate frequency and timing and *call these stations*, as against the common practice of calling "CQ DX."

The call CQ DX means slightly different things to amateurs in different bands:

a) On v.h.f., CQ DX is a general call ordinarily used only when the band is open, under favorable "skip" conditions. For v.h.f. work such a call is used for looking for new states and countries, also for distances beyond the customary "line-of-sight" range on most v.h.f. bands.

b) CQ DX on our 7-, 14- and 28-Mc. bands may be taken to mean "General call to any foreign station." The term "foreign station" usually refers to any station in a foreign continent. (*Experienced* amateurs in the U. S. A. and Canada do not use this call, but answer such calls made by foreign stations.)

# DX OPERATING CODE (For W/VE Amateurs)

Some anateurs interested in DX work have caused considerable confusion and QRM in their efforts to work DX stations. The points below, if observed by all W/VE amateurs, will go a long way toward making DX more enjoyable for everybody.

1. Call DX only after he calls CQ, QRZ?, signs SK, or 'phone equivalents thereof.

- 2. Do not call a DX station:
  - a. On the frequency of the station he is working until you are sure the QSO is over. This is indicated by the ending signal  $\overline{SK}$  on e.w. and any indication that the operator is listening, on 'phone.
  - b. Because you hear someone else calling him.
  - c. When he signs KN, AR, CL, or 'phone equivalents.
  - d. Exactly on his frequency.
  - e. After he calls a directional CQ, unless of course you are in the right direction or area.

3. Keep within frequency-band limits. Some DX stations operate outside. Perhaps they can get away with it, but you cannot.

4. Observe calling instructions of DX stations, "10U" means call ten kc. up from his frequency, "15D" means 15 kc. down, etc.

5. Give honest reports. Many foreign stations *depend* on W and VE reports for adjustment of station and equipment.

6. Keep your signal clean. Key clicks, chirps, hum or splatter give you a bad reputation and may get you a citation from FCC.

7. Listen for and call the station you want. Calling CQ DX is not the best assurance that the *rare* DX will reply.

8. When there are several W or VE stations waiting to work a DX station, avoid asking him to "listen for a friend." Let your friend take his chances with the rest. Also avoid engaging DX stations in rag-chews against their wishes c) CQ DX used on 3.5 Mc. under winter-night conditions may be used in this same manner. At other times, under average 3.5-Mc. propagation conditions, the call may be used in domestic work when looking for new states or countries in one's own continent, usually applying to stations located over 1000 miles distant from you.

The way to work DX is not to use a CQ call at all (in our continent). Instead, use your best tuning skill — and listen — and listen — and listen. You have to hear them before you can work them. Hear the desired stations first; time your calls well. Use your utmost skill. A sensitive receiver is often more important than the power input in working foreign stations. If you can hear stations in a particular country or arca, chances are that you will be able to work someone there.

One of the most effective ways to work DX is to know the operating habits of the DX stations sought. Doing too much transmitting on the DX bands is not the way to do this. Again, *listening* is effective. Once you know the operating habits of the DX station you are after you will know when and where to call, and when to remain silent waiting your chance.

Some DX stations use the signals HM, MH, LM and ML to indicate where they are tuning for replies. The meanings of these signals are as follows:

- HM Will start to listen at *high*-frequency end of band and tune toward *middle* of band.
- MII Will start to listen in the *middle* of the band and tune toward the *high*-frequency end.
- LM Will start to listen at *low-frequency* end of band and tune toward *middle* of band.
- ML Will start to listen in the *middle* of the band and tune toward the *low*-frequency end.

*Example:* If the procedure will be to tune from the middle of the band to the high end, a CQ call goes; CQ DE G5BY MH K.

ARRL has recommended some operating procedures to DX stations aimed at controlling some of the thoughtless operating practices sometimes used by W/VE amateurs. A copy of these recommendations (Operating Aid No. 5) can be obtained free of charge from ARRL Headquarters.

In any band, particularly at line-of-sight frequencies, when directional antennas are used, the directional CQ such as CQ W5, CQ north, etc., is the preferable type of call. Mature amateurs agree that CQ DX is a wishful rather than a practical type of call for most stations in the North Americas looking for contacts in foreign countries. Ordinarily, it is a cause of unnecessary QRM.

Conditions in the transmission medium make all field strengths from a given region more nearly equal at a distance, irrespective of power used. In general, the higher the frequency band, the less important power considerations become. This accounts in part for the relative popularity of the 14- and 28-Me, bands among amateurs who like to work DX.

# **OPERATING A STATION**

DATE	ETATION CALLED	CALLED	HIS PREO. OR DIAL	HIS SIGNALS RST	SIGNALS	PRED. MC.	EMIS- SION TYPE	POWER INPUT WATTS	TIME OF ENDING GSO	OTHER DATA
-16-53										
:15PM	NOTAD	×	3.65	589	569X	3.5	A1	250	6:43	Ttc-rec'd 6, sent 10
:20	CQ	×		-		1				0
21		W4TWI	7.16	369	579				7:32	Vy heavy QRM on me
:25	WOUKS	×	3.83		47	3.9	A3	100	10:05	Jam J
-18-52										- U
:05AM	VK4EL	×	14.03			14	A1	250		Answered a W6
	ZL2ACV	×	14.07	339	559X				7:20	
:21	×	KA2KW	14.07	469×	349				7:33	First KA
1:36	CQ	×								
1:37	×	W6T1	14.01	589	5890				8:12	
							-	-		
	1				-	-	_	-	-	

KEEP AN ACCURATE AND COMPLETE STATION LOG AT ALL TIMES! F.C.C. REQUIRES IT.

A page from the official ARRL log is shown above, answering every Government requirement in respect to station records. Bound logs made up in accord with the above form can be obtained from Headquarters for a nominal sum or you can prepare your own, in which case we offer this form as a suggestion. The ARRL log has a special wire binding and lies perfectly flat on the table.

# KEEPING AN AMATEUR STATION LOG

The FCC requires every amateur to keep a complete station operating record. It may also contain records of experimental tests and adjustment data. A stenographer's notebook can be ruled with vertical lines in any form to suit the user. The Federal Communications Commission requirements are that a log be maintained that shows (1) the date and time of *each* transmission, (2) *all calls* and transmissions made (whether two-way contacts resulted or not), (3) the input

power to the last stage of the transmitter, (4) the frequency band used, (5) the time of ending each QSO and the operator's identifying signature for responsibility for each session of operating. Messages may be written in the log or separate records kept — but record must be made for one year as required by the FCC. For the convenience of amateur station operators ARRL stocks both logbooks and message blanks, and if one uses the official log he is sure to comply fully with the Government requirements if the precautions and suggestions included in the log are followed.

# Message Handling

Amateur operators in the United States and a few other countries enjoy a privilege not available to amateurs in most countries — that of handling third-party message traffic. In the early history of amateur radio in this country, some amateurs who were among the first to take advantage of this privilege formed an extensive relay organization which became known as the American Radio Relay League.

Thus, amateur message-handling has had a long and honorable history and, like most services, has gone through many periods of development and change. Those amateurs who handled traffic in 1914 would hardly recognize it the way some of us do it today, just as equipment in those days was far different from that in use now. Progress has been made and new methods have been developed in step with advancement in communication techniques of all kinds. Amateurs who handled a lot of traffic found that organized operating schedules were more effective than random relays, and as techniques advanced and messages increased in number, trunk lines were organized, spot frequencies began to be used, and there sprang into existence a number of traffic nets in which many stations operated on the same frequency to effect wider coverage in less time with fewer relays; but the old methods are still available to the amateur who handles only an occasional message.

Although message handling is as old an art as is amateur radio itself, there are many amateurs who do not know how to handle a message and have never done so. As each amateur grows older and gains experience in the amateur service, there is bound to come a time when he will be called upon to handle a written message, during a communications emergency, in casual contact with one of his many acquaintances on the air, or as a result of a request from a nonamateur friend. Regardless of the occasion, if it comes to you, you will want to rise to it! Considerable embarrassment is likely to be experienced by the amateur who finds he not only does not know the form in which the message should be prepared, but does not know what to do with the message once it has been filed or received in his station.

Traffic work need not be a complicated or time-consuming activity for the casual or occasional message-handler. Amateurs may participate in traffic work to whatever extent they wish, from an occasional message now and then to becoming a part of organized traffic systems. This chapter explains some principles so the reader may know where to find out more about the subject and may exercise the message-handling privilege to best effect as the spirit and opportunity arise.

## Responsibility

Amateurs who originate messages for transmission or who receive messages for relay or delivery should first consider that in doing so they are accepting the responsibility of clearing the message from their station on its way to its destination in the shortest possible time. Fortyeight hours after filing or receipt is the generallyaccepted rule among traffic-handling amateurs, but it is obvious that if every amateur who relayed the message allowed it to remain in his station this long it might be a long time reaching its destination. Traffic should be relayed or delivered as quickly as possible.

#### Message Form

Once this responsibility is realized and accepted, handling the message becomes a matter of following generally-accepted standards of form and transmission. For this purpose, each message is divided into four parts: the preamble, the address, the text and the signature. Some of these parts themselves are subdivided. It is neccessary in preparing the message for transmission and in actually transmitting it to know not only what each part is and what it is for, but to know in what order it should be transmitted, and to know the various procedure signals used with it when sent by c.w. If you are going to send a message, you may as well send it right.

Standardization is important! There is a great deal of room for expressing originality and individuality in amateur radio, but there are also times and places where such expression can only cause confusion and inefficiency. Recognizing the need for standardization in message form and message transmitting procedures, ARRL has long since recommended such standards, and most traffic-interested amateurs have followed them. In general, these recommendations, and the various changes they have undergone from year to year, have been at the request of ama-

			GRAN		۲
19			JOH CALLY	2330	APR 16
To	BAGMAR JOHNS RØ WEST MULE GANTON OHIO PLEASE LET (		646 670 vite Bod 699 vite 676664 Sponsor 1,472 vag 67579		5 4
			RITA		
	Participation and the second	1.012760.03			00000
	-Ville-	CANNON DIEL			1.00
ENT					

Here is an example of a plain-language message in correct ARRL form. The preamble is always sent as shown: number, station of origin, check, place of origin, time filed, date. teurs participating in this activity, and they are completely outlined and explained in *Operating an Amateur Radio Station*, a copy of which is available upon request or by use of the coupon at the end of this chapter.

## Clearing a Message

Amateurs not experienced in message handling should depend on the experienced messagehandler to get a message through, if it is important; but the average amateur can enjoy operating with a message to be handled either through a local traffic net or by free-lancing. The latter may be accomplished by careful listening for an amateur station at desired points, directional CQs, use of the General Calling frequencies, or by making and keeping a schedule with another amateur for regular work between specified points. He may well aim at learning and enjoying through doing. The joy and accomplishment in thus developing one's operating skill to top perfection has a reward all its own.

The best way to clear a message is to put it into one of the many organized traffic networks, or to give it to a station who can do so. There are many amateurs who make the handling of traffic their principal operating activity, and many more still who participate in this activity to a greater or lesser extent. The result is a system of traffic nets which spreads to all corners of the United States and covers most U. S. possessions and Canada. Once a message gets into one of these nets, regardless of the net's size or coverage, it is systematically routed toward its destination in the shortest possible time.

If you decide to "take the bull by the horns" and put the message into a traffic net yourself (and more power to you if you do!), you will need to know something about how traffic nets operate, and the special Q signals and procedure they use to dispatch all traffic with a maximum of efficiency. Reference to net lists in QST (usually in the November and January issues) will give you the frequency and operating time of the net in your section, or other net into which your message can go. Listening for a few minutes at the time and frequency indicated should acquaint you with enough fundamentals to enable you to report into the net and indicate your traffic. From that time on you follow the instructions of the net control station, who will tell you when and to whom (and on what frequency, if different from the net frequency) to send your message. Since most nets use the special "ON" signals, it is usually very helpful to have a list of these before you (list available from ARRL IIq.).

## **Network** Operation

About this time, you may find that you are enjoying this type of operating activity and want to know more about it, and to increase your proficiency. Many amateurs are happily "addicted" to traffic handling after only one or two brief exposures to it. Most traffic nets are at present being conducted by c.w., since this mode of communication seems to be more popular for record purposes — but this does not mean that high code speed is a necessary prerequisite to working in traffic networks. There are many nets organized specifically for the slow-speed anateur, and most of the so-called "fast" nets are usually glad to slow down to accommodate slower operators, especially those nets at state or section level.

The significant facet of net operation, however, is that code speed alone does not make for efficiency --- sometimes quite the contrary! A high-speed operator who does not know net procedure can "foul up" a net much more completely and more quickly than can a slow operator. It is a proven fact that a bunch of high-speed operators who are not "savvy" in net operation cannot accomplish as much during a specified period as an equal number of slow operators who know net procedure. Don't let your code speed deter you from getting into traffic work. Given a little time, your speed will reach the point where you can compete with the best of them. Concentrate first on learning net procedure, for most traffic nowadays is handled on nets.

Much traffic is also being handled on 'phone nowadays. This mode is exceptionally well suited to short-range traffic work and requires knowledge of phonetics and procedure peculiar to voice operation. Procedure is of paramount importance on 'phone, since the public may be listening. The major problem, of course, is QRM.

*Teamwork* is the theme of net operation. The net which functions most efficiently is the net in which all participants are thoroughly familiar with the procedure used, and in which operators refrain from transmitting except at the direction of the net control station, and do not occupy time with extraneous comments, even exchange of pleasantries. There is a time and place for everything. When a net is in session it should concentrate on handling traffic until all traffic is eleared. Before or after the net is the time for rag-chewing and discussion. Some details of net operation are included in Operating an Amateur Radio Station, mentioned earlier, but the whole story cannot be told. There is no substitute for actual participation.

One of the most important ways in which the anateur serves the public, thus making his existence a national asset, is by his preparation for and his participation in communications emergencies. Every amateur, regardless of the extent of his normal operating activities, should give some thought to the possibility of his being the only means of communication should his eommunity be cut off from the outside world. It has happened many times, often in the most unlikely places; it has happened without warning, finding some amateurs totally unprepared; it can happen to you. Are you ready?

There are two principal ways in which any amateur can prepare himself for such an eventuality. One is to provide himself with equip-

#### The National Traffic System

To facilitate and speed the movement of message traffic, there is in existence an integrated national system by means of which originated traffic will normally reach its destination area the same day the message is originated. This system uses the local section net as a basis. Each section net sends a representative to a "regional" net (normally eovering a call area) and each "regional" net sends a representative to an "area" net (normally covering a time zone). After the area net has cleared all its traffic, its members then go back to their respective regional nets, where they clear traffic to the various section net representatives. By means of connecting schedules between the area nets, traffic can flow both ways so that traffic originated on the West Coast reaches the East Coast with a maximum of dispatch, and vice versa. In general local section nets function at 1900, regional nets at 1945, area nets at 2030 and the same or different regional personnel again at 2130. Some section nets conduct a late session at 2200 to effect traffic delivery the same night. Local time is referred to in each case.

The NTS plan somewhat spreads traffic opportunity so that casual traffic may be reported into nets for efficient handling one or two nights per week, early or late; or the ardent traffic man can operate in both early and late groups and in bebetween to roll up impressive totals and speed traffic reliably to its destination. Old-time traffic men who prefer a high degree of organization and teamwork have returned to the traffie game as a result of the new system. Beginners have shown more interest in becoming part of a system nationwide in scope, in which anyone ean participate. The National Traffie System has vast and intriguing possibilities as an amateur service. It is open to any amateur who wishes to participate.

The above is but the briefest résumé of what is of necessity a rather complicated arrangement of nets and schedules. Complete details of the System and its operation are available to anyone interested. Just drop a line to ARRL Headquarters.

# **Emergency Communication**

ment capable of operating on any type of emergency power (i.e., either a.e. or d.c.), and equipment which can readily be transported to the scene of disaster. Mobile equipment is especially desirable in most emergency situations.

Such equipment, regardless of its elaborateness or modernness, is of little use, however, if it is not used properly and at the right times; and so another way for an amateur to prepare himself for emergencies, by no means less important than the first, is to *learn to operate efficiently*. There are many amateurs who feel that they know how to operate efficiently who find themselves considerably handicapped at the crucial time by not knowing proper procedure, by being unable due to years of casual amateur operation to adapt themselves to snappy, abbreviated transmissions, and by being unfamiliar with message form and routing procedures. It is dangerous to overrate your ability in this respect; it is far better to assume that you have much to learn.

In general it can be said that there is more emergency equipment available than there are operators who know properly how to operate during emergency conditions, for such conditions require clipped, terse procedure with complete break-in on c.w. and fast push-to-talk on 'phone. The casual rag-chewing aspect of amateur radio, however enjoyable and worth-while in its place, must be forgotten at such times in favor of the business at hand. There is only one way to gain experience in this type of operation, and that is by practicing it. During an emergency is no time for practice; it should be done beforehand, as often as possible, on a regular basis.

This leads up to the necessity for emergency organization and preparedness. ARRL has long recognized this necessity and has provided for it. The Section Communications Manager (whose address appears on page 6 of any recent issue of QST) is empowered to appoint certain qualified amateurs in his section for the purpose of coordinating emergency communication organization and preparedness in specified areas or communities. This appointee is known as an Emergency Coördinator for the city or town. One is specified for each community. For coördination and promotion at section level a Section Emergency Coördinator arranges for and recommends the appointments of various Emergency Coördinators at activity points throughout the section. Emergency Coördinators organize amateurs in their communities according to local needs for emergency communication facilities.

The community amateurs taking part in the local organization are members of the Amateur Radio Emergency Corps (AREC). All amateurs are invited to register in the AREC, whether they are able to play an active part in their local organization or only a supporting rôle. Application blanks are available from your EC, SEC, SCM or direct from ARRL Headquarters. In the event that inquiry reveals no Emergency Coördinator appointed for your community, your SCM would welcome a recommendation either from yourself or from a radio club of which you are a member. By holding an amateur operator license, you have the responsibility both to your community and to amateur radio to uphold the traditions of the service.

Among the League's publications is a booklet entitled *Emergency Communications*. This booklet, while small in size, contains a wealth of information on AREC organization and functions and is invaluable to any amateur participating in emergency or civil defense work. It is free to

# Before Emergency

PREPARE yourself by providing a transmitter-receiver set-up together with an emergency power source upon which you can depend.

TEST both the dependability of your emergency equipment and your own operating ability in the annual ARRL Simulated Emergency Test and the several annual on-the-air contests, especially Field Day.

REGISTER your facilities and your availability with your local ARRL Emergency Coördinator. If your community has no EC, contact your local civic and relief agencies and explain to them what the Amateur Service offers the community in time of disaster.

# In Emergency

LISTEN before you transmit. Never violate this principle.

REPORT at once to your Emergency Coördinator so that he will have up-to-theminute data on the facilities available to him. Work with local civic and relief agencies as the EC suggests, offer these agencies your services directly in the absence of an EC.

**RESTRICT** all on-the-air work in accordance with FCC regulations, Sec. 12.156, whenever FCC "declares" a state of communications emergency.

QRRR is the official ARRL "land SOS," a distress call for emergency only. It is for use *only* by a station seeking assistance.

RESPECT the fact that the success of the amateur effort in emergency depends largely on circuit discipline. The established Net Control Station should be the supreme authority for priority and traffic routing.

CO-OPERATE with those we serve. Be ready to help, but stay off the air unless there is a specific job to be done that you can handle more efficiently than any other station.

COPY all bulletins from WIAW. During time of emergency special bulletins will keep you posted on the latest developments.

# After Emergency

REPORT to ARRL Headquarters as soon as possible and as fully as possible so that the Amateur Service can receive full credit. Amateur Radio has won glowing public tribute in many major disasters since 1919. Maintain this record.

# **OPERATING A STATION**

AREC members and should be in every amateur's shack. Drop a line to the ARRL Communications Department if you want a copy, or use the coupon at the end of this chapter.

## The Radio Amateur Civil Emergency Service

In order to be prepared for any eventuality, FCC and the Federal Civil Defense Administration (FCDA), in collaboration with ARRL, have promulgated the Radio Amateur Civil Emergency Service. RACES is a temporary peacetime service, intended primarily to serve civil defense and to continue operation during any extreme national emergency, such as war. It shares certain segments of frequencies with the regular Amateur Service on a non-exclusive basis. Its regulations have been made a sub-part of the familiar amateur regulations; that is, the present regulations have become sub-part A, the new RACES regulations being added as sub-part B. Copies of both parts are included in the latest edition of the ARRL License Manual.

If every amateur participated, we would still be far short of the total operating personnel required properly to implement RACES. As the service which bears the responsibility for the successful implementation of this important new function, we face not only the task of installing (and in some cases building) the necessary equipment, but also of the training of thousands of additional people. This can and should be a function of the local unit of the Amateur Radio Emergency Corps under its EC and his assistants, working in close collaboration with the local civil defense organization.

The first step in organizing RACES locally is the appointment of a Radio Officer by the local civil defense director, possibly on the recommendation of his communications officer. A complete and detailed communications plan must be approved successively by local, state and FCDA regional directors, by the FCDA Washington office, and by FCC. Once this has been accomplished, applications for station authorizations under this plan can be submitted direct to FCC. **OST** will carry further information from time to time, and ARRL will keep its field officials fully informed by bulletins as the situation requires. A series of three articles in QST for March, April and May, 1953, makes a useful reference and sets the stage for RACES.

In the event of war, civil defense will place great reliance on RACES for radio communications. RACES is an Amateur Service. Its implementation is logically a function of the Amateur Radio Emergency Corps — an additional functicu in peacetime, but probably an exclusive function in wartime. Therefore, your best opportunity to be of service will be to register with your local EC, and to participate actively in the local AREC/RACES program.

# **ARRL** Operating Organization

Amateur operation must have point and constructive purpose to win public respect. Each individual amateur is the ambassador of the entire fraternity in his public relations and attitude toward his hobby. ARRL field organization adds point and purpose to amateur operating.

The Communications Department of the League is concerned with the practical operation of stations in all branches of amateur activity. Appointments or awards are available for rag-chewer, traffic enthusiast, 'phone operator, DX man and experimenter.

There are seventy-three ARRL Sections in the League's field organization, which embraces the United States, Canada and certain other territory. Operating affairs in each Section are supervised by a Section Communications Manager elected by members in that section for a twoyear term of office. Organization appointments are made by the section managers, elected as provided in the Rules and Regulations of the Communications Department, which accompany the League's By-Laws and Articles of Association. Section communications managers' addresses for all sections are given in full in each issue of QST. SCMs welcome monthly activity reports from all amateur stations in their jurisdiction.

Whether your activity embraces 'phone or telegraphy, or both, there is a place for you in League organization.

# LEADERSHIP POSTS

To advance each type of station work and group interest in amateur radio, and to develop practical communications plans with the greatest success, appointments of leaders and organizers in particular single-interest fields are made by SCMs. Each leadership post is important. Each provides activities and assistance for appointee groups and individual members along the lines of natural interest. Some posts further the general ability of amateurs to communicate efficiently at all times, by pointing activity toward networks and round tables, others are aimed specifically at establishment of provisions for organizing the amateur service as a stand-by communications group to serve the public in disaster, civil defense need or emergenev of any sort. The SCM appoints the following in accordance with section needs and individual qualifications:

- PAM 'Phone Activities Manager, Organizes activities for OPSs and voice operators in his section, Promotes 'phone nets and recruits OPSs,
- RM Route Manager, Organizes and coördinates e.w traffic activities, Supervises and promotes nets and recruits ORS6.
- SEC Section Emergency Coördinator, Promotes and administers section emergency radio organization.
   EC Emergency Coördinator, Organizes amateurs of a
  - community or other area for emergency radio service; maintains liaison with officials and agencies served; also with other local communication facilities.

# **530**



# STATION APPOINTMENTS

ARRL's field organization has a place for every active amateur who has a station. The Communications Department organization exists to increase individual enjoyment and station effectiveness in amateur radio work, and we extend a cordial invitation to every amateur to participate fully in the activities and to apply to the SCM for one of the following station appointments. ARRL Membership and the General Class license or VE equivalent is prerequisite to appointments, except OES is available to Novice/ Technician grades.

- OPS Official 't hone Station, Sets high voice operating standards and procedures, furthers 'phone nets and traffic.
- ORS Official Relay Station, Traffic service, operates c.w., nets; noted for 15 w.p.m. and procedure ability. Official Bulletin Station, Transmits ARRL and
- OBS Official Bulletin Station. Transmits ARRL and FCC bulletin information to amateurs.
- OES Official Experimental Station. Experimental operating, collects and reports v.h.f.-u.h.f.-s.h.f. propagation data, may engage in facsimile, TT, TV, etc., experiments working on 50 Mc, and/or above.
- OO Official Observer. Sends cooperative notices to amateurs to assist in frequency observance, insures high-quality signals, and prevents FCC trouble.

#### Emblem Colors

Members wear the emblem with black-enamel background. A red background for an emblem will indicate that the wearer is SCM. SECs, ECs, RMs, PAMs may wear the emblem with green background. Observers and all *station* appointees are entitled to wear blue emblems.

# **SECTION NETS**

Amateurs can add much experience and pleasure to their own amateur lives, and substance and accomplishment to the credit of all of amateur radio, when organized into effective interconnection of cities and towns.

The successful operation of a net depends a lot on the Net Control Station. This station should be chosen carefully and be one that will not hesitate to enforce each and every net rule and set the example in his own operation.

A progressive net grows, obtaining new members both directly and through other net members. Bulletins may be issued at intervals to keep in direct contact with the members regarding

# **CHAPTER 25**

general net activity, to keep tab on net procedure, make suggestions for improvement, keep track of active members and weed out inactive ones.

A National Traffic System is sponsored by ARRL to facilitate the over-all expeditious relay and delivery of message traffic. The system recognizes the need for handling traffic beyond the section-level networks that have the popular support of both 'phone and c.w. groups (OPS and ORS) throughout the League's field organization. Area and regional provisions for NTS are furthered by Headquarters correspondence. The ARRL Net Directory, revised in December each year, includes the frequencies and times of operation of the hundreds of different nets operating on amateur band frequencies.

## Radio Club Affiliation

ARRL is pleased to grant affiliation to any amateur society having (1) at least 51% of the voting club membership as full members of the League, and (2) at least 51% of society government-licensed radio amateurs. In high school radio clubs bearing the school name, the first above requirement is modified to require one full member, ARRL, in the club. Where a society has common aims and wishes to add strength to that of other club groups and strengthen amateur radio by affiliation with the national amateur organization, a request addressed to the Communications Manager will bring the necessary forms and information to initiate the application for affiliation. Such clubs receive field-organization bulletins and special information at intervals for posting on club bulletin boards or for relay to their memberships, A travel plan providing communications, technical and secretarial contact from the Headquarters is worked out seasonally. to give maximum benefits to as many as possible of the several hundred active affiliated radio clubs. Papers on club work, suggestions for organizing, for constitutions, for radio courses of study, etc., are available on request.

## Club Training Aids

One section of the ARRL Communications Department handles the Training Aids Program. This program is a service to ARRL affiliated clubs. Material is aimed at education, training and entertainment of club members. Interesting quiz material is available.

Training Aids include such items as motionpicture films, film strips, slides, and lecture outlines. Also, code-proficiency training equipment such as recorders, tape transmitters and tapes will be loaned when such items are available.

All Training Aids materials are loaned free (except for shipping charges) to ARRL affiliated clubs. Numerous groups use this ARRL service to good advantage. If your club is affiliated but has not yet taken advantage of this service, you are missing a good chance to add the available features to your meeting programs and general club activities. Watch club bulletins and QST or write the ARRL Communications Department for full details.

# **OPERATING A STATION**

# 🔵 WIAW

The Maxim Memorial Station, W1AW, is dedicated to fraternity and service. Operated by the League headquarters, W1AW is located about four miles south of the Headquarters offices on a seven-acre site. The station is on the air daily, except holidays, and available time is divided between different bands and modes.



Telegraph and 'phone transmitters are provided for all bands from 1.8 to 144 Mc. The normal frequencies in each band for e.w. and

voice transmissions are as follows: 1885, 3555, 3950, 7125, 7255, 14,100, 14,280, 21,020, 21,350, 28,060, 28,768, 52,000 and 145,600 kc. Operatingvisiting hours and the station schedule are listed every other month in QST.

All amateurs are invited to visit W1AW, as well as to work the station from their own shacks. The station was established to be a living memorial to Hiram Percy Maxim and to earry on the work and traditions of the amateur fraternity.

# OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Within the ARRL field organization there are several special activities. The first Saturday and Sunday of each month is set aside for all ARRL officials, officers and directors to get together over the air from their own stations. This activity is known to the gang as the LO party. For all appointees, other quarterly tests are scheduled to develop operating ability and a spirit of fraternalism.

In addition to these special activities for appointees and members, ARRL sponsors various other activities open to all amateurs. The DXminded amateur may participate in the Annual ARRL International DX Competition during February and March. This popular contest may bring you the thrill of working new countries. Then there is the ever-popular Sweepstakes in November. Of domestic scope, the SS affords the opportunity to work new states for that WAS award. A Novice activity is planned annually. The interests of v.h.f. enthusiasts are also provided for in special activities planned by ARRL.

As in all our operating, the idea of having a good time is combined in the Annual Field Day with the more serious thought of preparing ourselves to render public service in times of emergency. A premium is placed on the use of equipment without connection to commercial power sources. Clubs and individual groups always have a good time in the "FD," learn much about the requirements for operating under knockabout conditions afield.

ARRL contest activities are diversified to appeal to all operating interests, and will be found announced in detail in issues of QST preceding the different events.

# **AWARDS**

The League-sponsored operating activities heretofore mentioned have useful objectives and provide much enjoyment for members of the fraternity. Achievement in amateur radio is recognized by various certificates offered through the League and detailed below.

## WAS Award

WAS means "Worked All States." This award is available regardless of affiliation or nonaffiliation with any organization. Here are the rules to follow in applying for WAS:

1) Two-way communication must be established on the amateur bands with each of the states; any and all amateur



bands may be used. A card from the District of Columbia may be submitted in lieu of one from Maryland.

2) Contacts with all states must be made from the same location. Within a given community one location may be defined as from places no two of which are more than 25 miles apart.

3) Contacts may be made over any period of years, and may have been made any number of years ago, provided only that all contacts are from the same location.

 QSL cards, or other written communications from stations worked confirming the necessary two-way contacts, must be submitted by the applicant to ARRL headquarters.

5) Sufficient postage must be sent with the confirmations to finance their return. No correspondence will be returned unless sufficient postage is furnished.

6) The WAS award is available to all amateurs.

7) Address all applications and confirmations to the Communications Department, ARRL, 38 La Salle Road, West Hartford, Conn.

## DX Century Club Award

Here are the rules under which the DX Century Club Award will be issued to amateurs who have worked and confirmed contact with 100 countries in the postwar period. If you worked fewer than 100 countries before the war and have since worked and confirmed a sufficient number to make the 100 mark, the DXCC is still available to you under the rules detailed on page 74 of June, 1946, QST. 1) The Century Club Award Certificate for confirmed contacts with 100 or more countries is available to all annateurs everywhere in the world.

2) Confirmations must be submitted direct to ARRL headquarters for all countries claimed. Claims for a total of 100 countries must be included with first application. Confirmation from forcign contest logs may be requested in the case of the ARRL International DX Competition only, subject to the following conditions:

a) Sufficient confirmations (fother types must be submitted so that these, plus the DX Contest confirmations, will total 100. In every case, Contest confirmations must not be requested for any countries from which the applicant has regular confirmations. That is, contest confirmations will be granted only in the case of countries from which applicants have no regular confirmations.

b) Look up the contest results as published in QST to see if your man is listed in the foreign scores. If he isn't, he did not send in a log and no confirmation is possible.

c) Give year of contest, date and time of QSO.

d) In future DX Contests do not request confirmations until after the final results have been published, usually in one of the early fall issues. Requests before this time must be ignored.

3) The ARRL Countries List, printed periodically in QST, will be used in determining what constitutes a "country." The Miscellaneous Data chapter of this *Handbook* contains the Postwar Countries List.

4) Confirmations must be accompanied by a list of claimed countries and stations to aid in checking and for future reference.

5) Confirmations from additional countries may be submitted for eredit each time ten additional confirmations are available. Endorsements for affixing to certificates and showing the new confirmed total (110, 120, 130, etc.) will be awarded as additional credits are granted. ARRL DX Competition logs from foreign stations may be utilized for these endorsements, subject to conditions stated under (2).

6) All contacts must be made with amateur stations working in the authorized amateur bands or with other stations licensed to work amateurs.

7) In cases of countries where amateurs are licensed in the normal manner, credit may be chaimed only for stations using regular government-assigned call letters. No credit may be claimed for contacts with stations in any countries in which amateurs have been temporarily closed down by special government edict where amateur licenses were formerly issued in the normal manner.

8) All stations contacted must be "land stations"... contacts with ships, anchored or otherwise, and aircraft, cannot be counted.

9) All stations must be contacted from the same call area, where such areas exist, or from the same country in cases where there are no call areas. One exception is allowed to this rule: where a station is moved from one call area to another, or from one country to another, all contacts must be made from within a radius of 150 miles of the initial location.

10) Contacts may be made over any period of years from November 15, 1945, provided only that all contacts be made under the provisions of Rule 9, and by the same station licensee; contacts may have been made under different call letters in the same area (or country), if the licensee for all was the same.

11) All confirmations must be submitted exactly as received from the stations worked. Any altered or forged confirmations submitted for CC credit will result in disqualification of the applicant. The eligibility of any DXCC applicant who was ever barred from DXCC to reapply, and the conditions for such application, shall be determined by the Awards Committee. Any holder of the Century Club Award submitting forged or altered confirmations must forfeit his right to be considered for further endorsements.

12) OPERATING ETHICS: Fair play and good sportsmanship in operating are required of all amateurs working toward the DX Century Club Award. In the event of specific objections relative to continued poor operating ethics an individual may be disqualified from the DXCC by action of the ARRL Awards Committee.

13) Sufficient postage for the return of confirmations must be forwarded with the application. In order to insure the safe return of large batches of confirmations, it is suggested that enough postage be sent to make possible their return by first-class mail, registered.

14) Decisions of the ARRL Awards Committee regard-

ing interpretation of the rules as here printed or later amended shall be final.

15) Address all applications and confirmations to the Communications Department, ARRL, 38 La Salle Road, West Hartford 7, Conn.

### WAC Award

The International Amateur Radio Union issues WAC (Worked All Continents) certificates to all members of member-societies who subnit proof of two-way communication with at least one station on each continent. Foreign amateurs submit their proof direct to member-societies of the IARU. Others may make application to ARRL, headquarters society of the Union. A c.w. and a telephony certificate are available. Also, special endorsements will be placed on certificates upon receipt of request accompanied by proof of having worked all continents on the 3.5- or 50-Mc, bands.

#### Code Proficiency Award

Many hams can follow the general idea of a contact "by ear" but when pressed to "write it down" they "muff" the copy. The Code Proficiency Award invites every amateur to prove himself as a proficient operator, and sets up a system of awards for step-by-step gains in copying proficiency. It enables every amateur to check his code proficiency, to better that proficiency, and to receive a certification of his receiving speed.

This program is a whale of a lot of fun. The League will give a certificate to any licensed radio amateur who demonstrates that he can copy perfectly, for at least one minute, plainlanguage Continental code at 10, 15, 20, 25, 30 or



35 words per minute, as transmitted during special monthly transmissions from W1AW and W60WP.

As part of the ARRL Code Proficiency program W1AW transmits plain-language practice material each evening at speeds from 5 to 35 w.p.m. All amateurs are invited to use these transmissions to increase their code-copying ability. Non-amateurs are invited to utilize the lower speeds, 5,  $7\frac{1}{2}$  and 10 w.p.m., which are transmitted for the benefit of persons studying the code in preparation for the amateur license

# **OPERATING A STATION**

examination. Refer to any issue of QST for details of the practice schedule.

## Rag Chewers Club

The Rag Chewers Club is designed to encourage friendly contacts and discourage the "hello-good-by" type of QSO. Its purpose is to bond together operators interested in honest-togoodness rag-chewing over the air. Membership certificates are available.

How To Get in: (1) Chew the rag with a member of the club for at least a solid half hour. This does not mean a half hour spent in trying to get a message over through bad QRM or QRN, but a solid half hour of conversation or message handling. (2) Report the conversation by card to The Rag Chewers Club, ARRL, Communications Department, West Hartford, Conn., and ask the member station you talk with to do the same. When both reports are received you will be sent a membership certificate entitling you to all the privileges of a Rag Chewer.

How To Stay in: (1) Be a conversationalist on the air instead of one of those tongue-tied infants who don't know any words except "euagn" or "eul," or "QRU" or "nil." Talk to the fellows you work with and get to know them. (2) Operate your station in accordance with the radio laws and ARRL practice. (3) Observe rules of courtesy on the air (4) Sign "RCC" after each call so that others may know you can talk as well as call.

#### A-1 Operator Club

The A-1 Operator Club should include in its ranks every good operator. To become a member, one must be nominated by at least two operators who already belong. General keying or voice technique, procedure, copying ability, judgment and courtesy all count in rating candidates under the club rules detailed at length in *Operating an Amateur Radio Station*. Aim to make yourself a fine operator, and one of these days you may be pleasantly surprised by an invitation to belong to the A-1 Operator Club, which carries a worth-while certificate in its own right.

#### Brass Pounders League

Every individual reporting more than a specified minimum in official monthly traffic totals is given an honor place in the QST listing known as the Brass Pounders League and a certificate to recognize his performance is furnished by the SCM.

The value to amateurs in operator training, and the utility of amateur message handling to the members of the fraternity itself as well as to the general public, make message-handling work of prime importance to the fraternity. Fun, enjoyment, and the feeling of having done something really worth while for one's fellows is accentuated by pride in message files, records, and letters from those served.

## Old Timers Club

The Old Timers Club is open to anyone who holds an amateur call at the present time, and who held an amateur license (operator or station) 20-or-more years ago. Lapses in activity during the intervening years are permitted.

If you can qualify as an "Old Timer," send us a brief chronology of your ham career, being sure to indicate the date of your first annateur license, and your present call. If the evidence submitted proves you eligible for the OTC, you will be added to the roster and will receive a membership certificate.

## **INVITATION**

Amateur radio is capable of giving enjoyment, self-training, social and organization benefits in proportion to what the individual amateur puts into his hobby. All amateurs are invited to become ARRL members, to work toward awards, and to accept the challenge and invitation offered in field-organization appointments. Drop a line to ARRL Headquarters for the booklet *Operating an Amateur Radio Station*, which has detailed information on the field-organization appointments and awards. Accept today the invitation to take full part in all League activities and organization work.

# SEE NEXT PAGE 🗲



MERICAN RADIO RELAT LEAGUE. MERT RABITIRD, CONN

► Operating an Amateur Radio Station coversthe details of practical amateur operating. In it you will find information on Operating Practices, Emergency Communication, ARRL Operating Activities and Awards, the ARRL Field Organization, Handling Messages, Network Organization, "Q" Signals and Abbreviations used in amateur operating, important extracts from the FCC Regulations, and other helpful material. It's a handy reference that will serve to answer many of the questions concerning operating that arise during your activities on the air.

▶ Emergency Communications is the "bible" of the Amateur Radio Emergency Corps. Within its eight pages are contained the fundamentals of emergency communication which every amateur interested in public service work should know, including a complete diagrammatical plan adaptable for use in any community, explanation of the role of the American Red Cross and FCC's regulations concerning amateur operation in emergencies. The Radio Amateur Civil Emergency Service (RACES) comes in for special consideration, including a complete table of RACES frequencies on the front cover. If you don't already have an upto-date copy of this manual, we suggest you take steps to obtain one immediately.

mateur Rodio Emergency Corps

The two publications described above may be obtained without charge by any *Handbook* reader. Either or both will be sent upon request.

AMERICAN RADIO RELAY LEAGUE 38 La Salle Road	
West Hartford 7, Connecticut, U. S. A.	
Please send me, without charge, the following:	
OPERATING AN AMATEUR RADIO EMERGENCY COMMUNICATIONS	STATION
Name	
(Please Print)	
Address	
• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	

# THE DECIBEL

In most radio communication the received signal is converted into sound. This being the case, it is useful to appraise signal strengths in terms of relative loudness as registered by the ear. A peculiarity of the ear is that an increase



This fact is the basis for the use of the relative-power unit called the **decibel**. A change of one decibel (abbreviated **db**.) in the power level is just detectable as a change in loudness under ideal conditions. The power ratio and decibels are related by the following formula:

$$Db_{\star} = 10 \log \frac{P_2}{P_1}$$

Common logarithms (base 10) are used.

Note that the decibel is based on *power* ratios. Voltage or current ratios can be used, but only when the impedance is the same for both values of voltage, or current. The gain of an amplifier cannot be expressed correctly in db. if it is based on the ratio of the output voltage to the input voltage unless both voltages are measured across the same value of impedance. When the impedance at both points of measurement is the same, the following formula may be used for voltage or current ratios:

$$Db_{\cdot} = 20 \log \frac{V_2}{V_1}$$
  
or 20 log  $\frac{I_2}{I_1}$ 

The two formulas are shown graphically in the accompanying chart for ratios from 1 to 10. Gains (increases) expressed in decibels may be added arithmetically; losses (decreases) may be subtracted. A power decrease is indicated by prefixing the decibel figure with a minus sign. Thus +6 db. means that the power has been multiplied by 4, while -6 db. means that the power has been divided by 4. The chart may be used for other ratios by adding (or subtracting, if a loss) 10 db. each time the ratio scale is multiplied by 10, for power ratios; or by adding (or subtracting) 20 db. each time the scale is multiplied by 10 for voltage or current ratios.

# • VOLTAGE DECAY IN RC CIRCUITS

The accompanying chart enables calculation of the instantaneous voltage across the termi-



nals of a condenser discharging through a resistance. The voltage is given in terms of percentage of the voltage to which the condenser is initially charged. To obtain the voltage-decay time in seconds, multiply the factor (t/CR) by the time constant of the resistor-condenser circuit.

*Example:* A 0.01- $\mu$ fd. condenser is charged to 150 volts and then allowed to discharge through a 0.1-megohm resistor. How long will it take the voltage to fall to 10 volts? In percentage, 10/150 = 6.7%. From the chart, the factor corresponding to 6.7% is 2.7. The time constant of the circuit is equal to  $CR = 0.01 \times 0.1 = 0.001$ . The time is therefore 2.7  $\times$  0.001 = 0.0027 second, or 2.7 milliseconds.

Example: An RC circuit is desired in which the voltage will fall to 50% of the initial value in 0.1 second. From the chart, t/CR = 0.7 at the 50%-voltage point. Therefore CR = t/0.7 = 0.1/0.7 = 1.43. Any combination of resistance and capacitance whose product (R in megohms and C in microfarads) is equal to 1.43 can be used; for example, C could be 1 µfd. and R 1.43 megohms,

STANDARD METAL GAUGES								
Gauge	American	U. S.	Birmingham					
No.	or B. & S. <sup>1</sup>	Standard <sup>2</sup>	or Stubs <sup>3</sup>					
1	.2893	.28125	.300					
2	.2576	.265625	.284					
3	.2294	.25	.259					
4	.2043	.234375	.238					
5	.1819	.21875	.220					
6	.1620	.203125	.203					
7	.1443	.1875	.180					
8	.1285	.171875	.165					
9	.1144	.15625	.148					
10	.1019	.140625	.134					
11	.09074	.125	.120					
12	.08081	.109375	.109					
13	.07196	.09375	.095					
14	,06408	.078125	.083					
15	.05707	.0703125	.072					
16	.05082	.0625	.065					
17	.04526	.05625	.058					
18	.04030	.05	,019					
19	.03589	.01375	.042					
20	.03196	.0375	.035					
21	.02846	.034375	.032					
22	.02535	.03125	.028					
23	.02257	.028125	.025					
24	.02010	.025	.022					
25	.01790	.021875	.020					
26	.01594	.01875	.018					
27	.01420	.0171875	.016					
28	.01264	.015625	.014					
29	.01126	.0140625	.013					
30	.01003	.0125	.012					
31	.008928	.0109375	.010					
32	.007950	.01015625	.009					
33	.007080	.009375	.008					
34	.006350	.00859375	.008					
35	.005615	.0078125	.007					
36	,005000	.00703125	.003					
37	.004453	.006640626						
38	.003965	.00625						
39	.003531							
40	.003145	•••••	••••					
<ol> <li><sup>1</sup> Used for aluminum, copper, brass and nonferrous alloy sheets, wire and rods.</li> <li><sup>2</sup> Used for iron, steel, niekel and ferrous alloy sheets, wire and rods.</li> <li><sup>3</sup> Used for seamless tubes; also by some manufacturers for copper and brass.</li> </ol>								
r.114	re tot copper and of	turers for copper and brass.						

# MUSICAL SCALE

# Approximate frequencies of notes of the musical scale, based on A-440. (Bottom Octave)

	(Botto	m Octave				
		Note	Frequen 28	<i>icy</i>	Note	Frequency
	1	A-1	28	Middle C -	( C3	262
	1	A#-1	29		C#2	277
		A#-1 B-1 Co	31		D3	294
		( Co	33	v.e	Dat	311
		C#o	35	24	E3	311 330
		Do	37	e o	F3	349
	1.0	C#0 Do D#0	39	ar Idl	F#3	370
	01	Eo	35 37 39 41	First octave above Middle C	G3	392
	- <u>1</u>	Fo	44	Et a	G±3	415
	le (	F#o	46	Ē	43	440
	Third octave below Middle C	Fo F#o Go G#o Ao	49		A#3	466
	N in	G#o	49 52 55		B3	494
	III	Ao	55		C4	599
	Ē	140	55		(*=1	523 554
		Bo	6.7	Ve	Da	587
		Ci	55 62 65	poq	Dea	819
		C#1	69	C <sup>s</sup>	F4	622 659
		Di	69 73 78	l octave a Middle C	174	698
	MO	D#1	78	lid	Fe4	740
	ا ت ق	Bo C1 C#1 D1 D#1 E1	89	pr	GA	784
	Second octave below Middle C	Fi	82 87	Second octave above Middle C	$\begin{array}{c} Note \\ ( \ C3 \\ C3 \\ E4 \\ C3 \\ E5 \\ E4 \\ E5 \\ E4 \\ E4 \\ E4 \\ E4 \\ E4$	831
	cta	$ \begin{array}{c} F_1 \\ F_4 \\ G_1 \\ G_4 \\ A_{41} \\ B_1 \\ C_2 \\ B_2 \\ C_2 \\ D_{42} \\ C_2 \\ B_2 \\ C_2 \\ B_2 \\ C_2 \\ B_2 $	93	<i>2</i> Å	44	880
	N C	GI	98		444	932
	ŭ l	G#1	104		R4	988
	Scc.	AI	110		C5	1047
	03	A#1	110 117		C#5 D5 D#5 E5	1100
		Bi	122	.	D5	1109 1175
	i i	C2	131	00	D25	1245
		C#2	139	Cat	E5	1319
		D2	123 131 139 147 156	Third octave above Middle C	Fā	1397
	MO	D#2	156	dd	F#5	1480
	En	E2	165	- PR	Gā	1568
ł	le (	F2	$165 \\ 175$	hir	G#5	1661
	octave be Middle C	F#2	185	E	15	1661 1760
	N.00	G2	196		A#5	1865
	First octave below Middle C	G#2	208		F5 F#5 (15 G#5 A5 A#5 B5	1976
	드	A2	208 220 233	í	C6 C#6 D6	2093
1		A#2	233		C#6	2217
1		B2	247	Ne	D6	2349
I				q	D#6	2489
I				80	D#6 E6	2637
ł				le O	F6	2794
I				Fourth octave above Middle C	F#6	2960
				Mic	G6	3136
				INC	G6 G#6 A6 A#6	3322
1				Ĕ	A6	3520
ł				1	A#6	3729
Í				i	B6	3729 3951
1					B6 C7	4186
1						

GREEK ALPHABET								
Greek Letter	Greek Name	English Equivalent	Greek Letter	Greek Name	English Equivalent			
Λa	Alpha	a	Νν	Nu	n			
Ββ	Beta	b	Ξξ	Xi	x			
Γγ	Gamma	g	0.0	Omicron	ŏ			
$\Delta \delta$	Delta	g d	Π π	Pi	р			
Εε	Epsilon	е	Ρρ	Rho	r			
Ζζ	Zeta	Z	Σσ	Sigma	s			
Ηη	Eta	é	Ττ	Tau	t			
θθ	Theta	, th	Υυ	Upsilon	u			
Ιι	Iota	i	$\Phi \phi$	Phi	$\mathbf{ph}$			
Кк	Kappa	k	XX	Chi	ch			
Λλ	Lambda	1	$\Psi \psi$	Psi	ps			
Μμ	Mu	m	Ωω	Omega	ps ō			

# COPPER-WIRE TABLE

			Т	urns per L	inear Inch	2	Turns	per Square	Inch <sup>2</sup>	Feet pe	r Lb.		Current Carrying		
Gauge No. <b>B. &amp;</b> S.	Diam. in Mils <sup>1</sup>	Circular Mil Area	Enamel	S.S.C.	D.S.C. or S.C.C.	D.C.C.	<i>S.C.C</i> .	Enamel S.C.C.	D.C.C.	Bare	D.C.C.	Ohms per 1000 ft. <b>25°</b> C.	Capacity <sup>3</sup> at 700 C.M. per Amp.	Diam. in mm.	Nearest British S.W.G. No.
1	289.3	83690	_	_	_	_	_		_	3.947	_	.1264	119.6	7.348	1
2	257.6	66370	_	_	_	_	_		_	4,977	_	.1593	94.8	6,544	3
3	229.4	52640	_		_	_	_	_	_	6.276	_	.2009	75.2	5.827	4
4	204.3	41740	_		-	—	_			7.914		.2533	59.6	5.189	5
5	181.9	33100	_	_	_		_	_	—	9,980	_	.3195	47.3	4.621	7
6	162.0	26250	—		—	-	—	—	-	12.58	—	. 4028	37.5	4.115	8
7	144.3	20820	-	-	—	-	_	-	-	15.87	_	. 5080	29.7	3,665	9
8	128.5	16510	7.6	_	7.4	7.1	-	-	_	20.01	19.6	. 6405	23.6	3,264	10
9	114.4	13090	8.6	—	8.2	7.8	- 1	-	-	25,23	24.6	.8077	18.7	2.906	11
10	101.9	10380	9.6		9.3	8.9	87.5	84.8	80.0	31.82	30.9	1.018	14.8	2.588	12
11	90.74	8234	10.7	-	10.3	9.8	110	105	97.5	40.12	38.8	1.284	11.8	2.305	13
12	80.81	6530	12.0	-	11.5	10.9	136	131	121	50.59	48.9	1.619	9.33	2.053	14
13	71.96	5178	13.5	-	12.8 14.2	12.0 13.8	170 211	162 198	$150 \\ 183$	63.80 80.14	$\frac{61.5}{77.3}$	$2.042 \\ 2.575$	7.40 5.87	1,828 1,628	16
14 15	64.08 57.07	4107 3257	15.0 16.8	_	14.2	13.8	262	250	223	101.4	97.3	3.247	4.65	1,450	17
15	57.07	2583	18.9	18.9	17.9	16.4	321	306	271	127.9	119	4.094	3.69	1,291	18
17	45.26	2048	21.2	21.2	19.9	18.1	397	372	329	161,3	150	5,163	2,93	1.150	18
18	40.30	1624	23.6	23.6	22.0	19.8	493	454	399	203.4	188	6.510	2.32	1.024	19
19	35.89	1288	26.4	26.4	24.4	21.8	592	553	479	256.5	237	8.210	1.84	.9116	20
20	31,96	1022	29.4	29.4	27.0	23.8	775	725	625	323.4	298	10.35	1.46	.8118	21
21	28.46	810.1	33.1	32.7	29.8	26.0	940	895	754	407.8	370	13.05	1.16	.7230	22
22	25.35	642.4	37.0	36.5	34.1	30.0	1150	1070	910	514.2	461	16,46	.918	.6438	23
23	22.57	509.5	41.3	40.6	37.6	31.6	1400	1300	1080	648.4	584	20.76	.728	.5733	24
24	20.10	404.0	46.3	45.3	41.5	35.6	1700	1570	1260	817.7	745	26.17	.577	.5106	25
25	17.90	320.4	51.7	50.4	45.6	38.6	2060	1910	1510	1031	903	33.00	458	.4547	26 27
26	15.94	254.1	58.0	55.6	50.2	41.8	2500 3030	2300 2780	1750 2020	1300 1639	1118 1422	$41.62 \\ 52.48$	.363	.4049	27
27	14.20	201.5 159.8	64.9 72.7	61.5 68.6	55.0 60.2	45.0 48.5	3670	3350	2020	2067	1922	66.17	.200	.3211	30
28 29	12.04	126.7	81.6	74.8	65.4	51.8	4300	3900	2700	2607	2207	83.44	.181	.2859	31
30	10.03	100.5	90.5	83.3	71.5	55.5	5040	4660	3020	3287	2534	105,2	.144	.2546	33
31	8,928	79,70	101	92.0	77.5	59.2	5920	5280		4145	2768	132.7	.114	.2268	34
32	7,950	63.21	113	101	83.6	62.6	7060	6250	_	5227	3137	167.3	.090	.2019	36
33	7.080	50.13	127	110	90.3	66.3	8120	7360		6591	4697	211.0	.072	.1798	37
34	6,305	39.75	143	120	97.0	70.0	9600	8310	_	8310	6168	266.0	.057	.1601	38
35	5.615	31.52	158	132	104	73.5	10900	8700	-	10480	6737	335.0	.045	.1426	38-39
36	5,000	25.00	175	143	111	77.0	12200	10700	-	13210	7877	423.0	.036	.1270	39-40
37	4.453	19.83	198	154	118	80.3	l	—		16660	9309	533.4	.028	.1131	41
38	3.965	15.72	224	166	126	83.6	] —	—	-	21010	10666	672.6	.022	.1007	42
39	3.531	12.47	248	181	133	86.6		_		26500	11907	848.1	.018	.0897	43
40	3.145	9.88	282	194	140	89.7			-	33410	14222	1069	.014	.0799	44

<sup>1</sup> A mil is 1/1000 (one-thousandth) of an inch. <sup>2</sup> The figures given are approximate only, since the thickness of the insulation varies with different manufacturers.

<sup>3</sup>700 circular mils per amperci sa satificatory design figure for small transformers, but values from 500 to 1000 C.M. are commonly used. For 1000 C.M./amp. divide the circular mil area (third column) by 1000; for 500 C.M./amp. divide circular mil area by 500.

# **FILTERS**

The filter sections shown on the facing page can be used alone or, if greater attenuation and sharper cut-off are required, several sections can be connected in series. In the low- and high-pass filters,  $f_o$  represents the cut-off frequency, the highest (for the low-pass) or the lowest (for the high-pass) frequency transmitted without attenuation. In the bandpassfilter designs,  $f_1$  is the low-frequency cut-off and  $f_2$  the high-frequency cut-off. The units for L, C, R and f are henrys, farads, ohms and cycles, respectively.

All of the types shown are for use in an unbalanced line (one side grounded), and thus they are suitable for use in coaxial line or any other unbalanced circuit. To transform them for use in balanced lines (e.g., 300-ohm transmission line, or push-pull audio circuits), the series reactances should be equally divided between the two legs. Thus the balanced constant- $k \pi$ -section low-pass filter would use two inductances of a value equal to  $L_k/2$ , while the balanced constant- $k \pi$ -section high-pass filter would use two condensers of a value equal to  $2C_k$ .

If several low- (or high-) pass sections are to be used, it is advisable to use *m*-derived end sections on either side of a constant-*k* section, although an *m*-derived center section can be used. The factor *m* relates the ratio of the cutoff frequency and  $f_{\infty}$ , a frequency of high attenuation. Where only one *m*-derived section is used, a value of 0.6 is generally used for *m*, although a deviation of 10 or 15 per cent from this value is not too serious in amateur work. For a value of m = 0.6, *f* will be 1.25*f*<sub>c</sub> for the low-pass filter and 0.8*f*<sub>c</sub> for the high-pass filter. Other values can be found from

$$m = \sqrt{1 - \left(\frac{f_c}{f_{\infty}}\right)^2} \text{ for the low-pass filter and}$$
$$m = \sqrt{1 - \left(\frac{f_{\infty}}{f_c}\right)^2} \text{ for the high-pass filter}$$

The filters shown should be terminated in a resistance = R, and there should be little or no reactive component in the termination.

Simple audio filters can be made with powdered-iron-core chokes and paper condensers. Sharper cut-off characteristics will be obtained with more sections. The values of the components can vary by  $\pm 5\%$  with little or no reduction in performance. The more sections there are to a filter the greater is the need for accuracy in the values of the components. High-performance audio filters can be built with only two sections by winding the inductances on toroidial powdered-iron forms — it generally takes three sections to obtain the same results when using other inductances.

Sideband filters are usually designed to operate in the range 10 to 20 kc. Their attenuation requirements are such that usually at least a five-section filter is required. The coils should be as high-Q as possible, and mica condensers are the most suitable capacitors.

Low-pass and high-pass filters for harmonic suppression and receiver-overload prevention in the television frequencies range are usually made with self-supporting coils and mica or ceramic condensers, depending upon the power requirements.

In any filter, there should be no magnetic or capacity coupling between sections of the filter unless the design specifically calls for it. This requirement makes it necessary to shield the coils from each other in some applications, or to mount them at right angles to each other.

Further information on filter design can be found in the following articles:

- Bennett, "Audio Filters for Eliminating QRM," QST, July, 1949.
- Berry, "Filter Design for the Single-Sideband Transmitter," QST, June, 1949.
- Buchheim, "Low-Pass Audio Filters," QST, July, 1948.
- Grammer, "Pointers on Harmonie Reduction," QST, April, 1949; "High-Pass Filters for TVI Reduction," QST, May, 1949.
- Mann, "An Inexpensive Sideband Filter," QST, March, 1949.
- Rand, "The Little Slugger," QST, February, 1949.
- Smith, "Premodulation Speech Clipping and Filtering," QST, February, 1946; "More on Speech Clipping," QST, March, 1947.

# **TUNED-CIRCUIT RESPONSE**

The graph below gives the response and phase angle of a high-Q parallel-tuned circuit.



Circuit Q is equal to

$$2\pi fRC$$
 or  $\frac{R}{2\pi fL}$ 

where L and C are the inductance and capacitance at the resonant frequency, f, and R is the parallel resistance across the circuit. The curves above become more accurate as the circuit Q is higher, but the error is not especially great for values as low as Q = 10.

# MISCELLANEOUS DATA

#### LOW-PASS FILTERS <u>L</u> 2 <u>L</u>1 2 ന്ന 000 ന്ന $\frac{C_2}{2}$ CK 2 m - derived end sections for use Constant-k TI section -derived π section with intermediate $\pi$ section 2 lll -0000/ 2020 2000 2222-<u>L</u>K 2 2L2 L= C₂ m – derived end sections for use with intermediate Tsection Constant-k T section m-derived T section $L_{i} = mL_{K} \quad C_{i} = \frac{1 - m^{2}}{4m}C_{K}$ $C_1 = \frac{1 - m^2}{4m} C_K$ $L_{K} = \frac{R}{\pi f_{C}}$ $C_{K} = \frac{1}{\pi f_{C}R}$ $L_1 = mL_K$ $L_2 = \frac{1-m^2}{4m}L_K \quad C_2 = mC_K$ $L_2 = \frac{1 - m^2}{4m} L_K \quad C_2 = m C_K$ HIGH-PASS FILTERS ന്ന 2L 2L2 m-derived $\pi$ section m-derived end sections for use Constant-k T section with intermediate $\pi$ section 2C1 2C1 2C<sub>K</sub> <u>C2</u> C2 m-derived T section m – derived end section for use Constant - k T section with intermediate Tsection $L_{I} = \frac{4m}{1-m^2}L_{K} \qquad C_{I} = \frac{C_{K}}{m}$ $L_{1} = \frac{4m}{1-m^{2}}L_{K}$ $C_{1} = \frac{C_{K}}{m}$ $L_{K} = \frac{R}{4\pi f_{c}} C_{K} = \frac{1}{4\pi f_{c} R}$ $L_2 = \frac{L_K}{m} \quad C_2 = \frac{4m}{1-m^2} C_K$ $L_2 = \frac{L_K}{m} \qquad C_2 = \frac{4m}{1-1} - C_K$ BANDPASS FILTERS 2220 24.2 2L2K Constant-k n section Three – element $\pi$ section 2C1K 2C1K 2C - uiu 0000-0 ~uur Hhelle Constant-k Tsection Three-element Tsection Three-element Tsection $L_{1K} = \frac{R}{\pi (f_2 - f_1)} \cdot C_{1K} = \frac{f_2 - f_1}{4\pi f_1 f_2 R}$ $\mathsf{L}_{\mathsf{J}} = \mathsf{L}_{\mathsf{IK}} - \mathsf{L}_{\mathsf{J}}' = \frac{\mathsf{R}}{\pi(\mathsf{f}_{\mathsf{I}} + \mathsf{f}_{\mathsf{Z}})}$ $L_1 = \frac{f_1 R}{\pi f_2 (f_2 - f_1)} C_1 = C_{1K}$ $L_{2K} = \frac{(f_2 - f_1)R}{4\pi f_1 f_2} \quad C_{2K} = \frac{-1}{\pi (f_2 - f_1)R}$ $-C_{1} = \frac{f_{2} - f_{1}}{4\pi f_{1}^{2} R_{2}} \cdot L_{2} = \frac{(f_{2} - f_{1})R}{4\pi f_{1}^{2} r_{1}^{2}}$ $C_{1}' = \frac{f_{1} + f_{2}}{4\pi f_{1} f_{2} R} \quad L_{2} = L_{2R}$ $C_2 = C_{2K} - C_2' = \frac{1}{\pi (f_1 + f_2)R}$ $L_{2}' = \frac{(f_{1} + f_{2})R}{4\pi f_{1} f_{2}} \quad C_{2} = \frac{f_{1}}{\pi f_{2} (f_{2} - f_{1})R}$

In the above formulas R is in ohms, C in farads, L in henrys, and f in cycles per second.

# 541



By use of the chart above, the approximate reactance of any capacitance from 1.0  $\mu\mu$ fd, to 10  $\mu$ fd, at any frequency from 100 cycles to 100 megacycles, or the reactance of any inductance from 0.1  $\mu$ h, to 1.0 henry, can be read directly. Intermediate values can be estimated by interpolation. In making interpolations, remember that the rate of change between lines is logarithmic. Use the frequency or reactance scales as a guide in estimating intermediate values on the capacitance or inductance scales.

This chart also can be used to find the approximate resonance frequencies of LC combinations, or the frequency to which a given coil-and-condenser combination will tune. First locate the respective slanting lines for the capacitance and inductance. The point where they intersect, i.e., where the reactances are equal, is the resonant frequency (projected downward and read on the frequency scale).

# ELECTRICAL CONDUCTIVITY OF METALS

	Relative Conductivity <sup>1</sup>	Temp. Coef. <sup>2</sup> of Resistance
Aluminum (2S; pure)	59	0.0049
Aluminum (alloys):		
Soft-annealed		
Ileat-treated		
Brass		0.002 - 0.007
Cadmium.		
Chromium		
Climax		
Cobalt		
Constantin		0.00002
Copper (hard drawn)		0.004
Copper (annealed)	100	
Everdur		
German Silver (18%)		0.00019
Gold	65	
Iron (pure)	17.7	0.006
Iron (cast)	2-12	
Iron (wrought)	11.4	

<i>C</i> .	Relative nductivity	Temp. Coef.2
Co	nauctivity	of Resistance
Lead	7	0.0041
Manganin	3.7	0,00002
Mercury	1.66	0.00089
Molybdenum	33.2	0.0033
Monel	4	0,0019
Nichrome	1.45	0.00017
Nickel	12-16	0.005
Phosphor Bronze	36	0.004
Platinum	15	
Silver	106	0.004
Steel	3-15	
Tin	13	0.0042
Tungsten	28.9	0.0045
Zine	28.2	0.0035

Approximate relations

An increase of 1 in A. W. G. or B. & S. wire size increases resistance 25%.

An increase of 2 increases resistance 60 %.

An increase of 3 increases resistance 100 %.

An increase of 10 increases resistance 10 times.

<sup>1</sup>At 20° C., based on copper as 100. <sup>2</sup>Per °C. at 20° C.
## **MISCELLANEOUS DATA**

Volts 2.1 6-8	Am;
	0.15
6-8	
	0.2
6-8	0.2
6-8	0.4
6-8	0.4
2.9	0.17
2.9	0.17
18.0	0.23
18.0	0.23
	2.9 2.9 18.0

#### MINIDUCTOR DATA

Raytheon and Tung-Sol.

The chart and table below, furnished through courtesy of Barker & Williamson, can be used to determine the approximate inductance of coils made of Miniductor material. The curves show the percentage of the total inductance (given in the right-hand column of the table) of the coil as supplied, when cut to various lengths.



Catalog Number	Diam. (Inches)	Turns Per Inch	Approx. Length (Inches)	Approx. Inductance (µh.)
3001	1/2	4	2	0.4
3002	1/2	8	2	0.96
3003	1/2	16	2	3.2
3004	1/2	32	2	13.7
3005	5/8	4	2	0.56
3006	5/8	8	2	1.4
3007	5/8	16	2	4.9
3008	5/8	32	2	19.2
3009	8/4	4	3	0.94
3010	3⁄4	8	3	2.9
3011	8/4	16	3	10.9
3012	8/4	32	3	42.5
3013	1	4	3	1,9
3014	1	8	3	4.8
3015	1	16	3	19.9
3016	1	32	3	73.0

#### INDUCTANCE OF SMALL COILS

Most inductance formulas lose accuracy when applied to the small coils used in v.h.f. work and in low-pass filters built for reducing harmonic interference to television, because the conductor thickness is no longer negligible in comparison with the size of the coil. The accompanying chart shows the measured inductance of typical coils used for these purposes, and may be used as a basis for circuit design. Two curves are given: curve A is for coils wound to an inside diameter of  $\frac{1}{2}$  inch; curve B is for coils of  $\frac{3}{4}$ -inch inside diameter. In both curves the wire size is No. 12, winding pitch 8 turns to the inch ( $\frac{1}{6}$  inch centerto-center turn spacing). The inductance values given include leads  $\frac{1}{2}$  inch long.



Measured inductance of coils wound with No. 12 bare wire, 8 turns to the inch. The values include half-inch leads. Where smaller inductance values are required, they should be obtained experimentally by adjusting to the proper resonance frequency with the specified capacitance. Coils of larger inductance can be wound from the common formulas.

# Vacuum Tubes and Semiconductors

For the convenience of the designer, the receiving-type tubes listed in this chapter are grouped by filament voltages and construction types (glass, metal, miniature, etc.). For example, all 6.3-volt metal tubes are listed in Table I, all lock-in base tubes are in Table III, all miniatures are in Table XI, and so on.

Transmitting tubes are divided into triodes and tetrodes-pentodes, then listed according to rated plate dissipation. This permits direct comparison of ratings of tubes in the same power classification.

For quick reference, all tubes are listed in numerical-alphabetical order in the index beginning on the following page.

#### **Tube Ratings**

Vacuum tubes are designed to be operated within definite maximum (and minimum) ratings. These ratings are the maximum safe operating voltages and eurrents for the electrodes, based on inherent limiting factors such as permissible eathode temperature, emission, and power dissipation in electrodes.

In the transmitting-tube tables, maximum ratings for electrode voltage, current and dissipation are given separately from the typical operating conditions for the recommended elasses of operation. In the receiving-tube tables, because of space limitations, ratings and operating data are combined. Where only one set of operating conditions appears, the positive electrode voltages shown (plate, screen, etc.) are, in general, also the maximum rated voltages for those electrodes.

For certain air-cooled transmitting tubes, there are two sets of maximum values, one designated as CCS (Continuous Commercial Service) ratings, the other ICAS (Intermittent Commercial and Amateur Service) ratings. Continuous Commercial Service is defined as that type of service in which long tube life and reliability of performance under continuous operating conditions are the prime consideration. Intermittent Commercial and Amateur Service is defined to include the many applications where the transmitter design factors of minimum size, light weight, and maximum power output are more important than long tube life, ICAS ratings are considerably higher than CCS ratings. They permit the handling of greater power, and although such use involves some sacrifice in tube life, the period over which tubes will continue to give satisfactory performance in intermittent service can be extremely long,

#### Typical Operating Conditions

The typical operating conditions given for transmitting tubes represent, in general, maximum ICAS ratings where such ratings have been given by the manufacturer. They do not represent the *only* possible method of operation of a particular tube type. Other values of plate voltage, plate current, grid bias, etc., may be used so long as the maximum ratings for a particular voltage or current are not exceeded.

#### INDEX TO TUBE TABLES

I — 6.3-Volt Metal Receiving Tubes H — 6.3-Volt Glass Tubes with Octal Bases	V14 V15	XIII — Control and Regulator Tubes XIV — Cathode-Ray Tubes and Kine-	V36
III — 7-Volt Lock-In Base Tubes	V17	scopes	V37
IV — 6.3-Volt Glass Receiving Tubes	V19	XV — Reetifiers	V42
V — 2.5-Volt Receiving Tubes	V20	XVI — Triode Transmitting Tubes	V45
VI — 2.0-Volt Receiving Tubes	V21	XVII — Tetrode and Pentode Transmit-	
VII — 2.0-Volt Tubes with Octal Bases	V21	ting Tubes	V56
VIII — 1.5-Volt Battery Tubes	V22	XVIII — Klystrons	V61
IX — High-Voltage Heater Tubes	V23	XIX — Cavity Magnetrons	V63
X — Special Receiving Tubes	V25	XX — Transistors.	V64
XI — Miniature Receiving Tubes	V27	XXI — Germanium Crystal Diodes,	V65
XII — Subminiature Tubes	V33	XXII — Miniature Sclenium Rectifiers	V65

#### BASE TYPE DESIGNATIONS

$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	J = Jumbo L = Lock-in M = Medium	N = None  or special type O = Octal S = Small	W = Wafer
	VI		

## VACUUM-TUBE DATA

For convenience in locating data on specific tube types the index below lists all tubes in numerical-alphabetical order, showing the page number where individual tubes may be found in the classified-data section (pages V14–V63) and the identifying base-diagram number in the base-diagram section (pages V5–V13),

$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	$\begin{array}{c} 3 \text{D} 24 \\ 3 \text{D} 24 \\ 3 \text{D} 7 \\ 3 $	$\begin{array}{l} y_{52} y_{53} y_{54} \\ y_{53} y_{53} \\ y_{54} \\ y_{53} \\ y_{54} \\ y_{55} \\ y_{55} \\ y_{56} \\ y_$	Tupe         Page Base           6A18G.         V15 7AU           6A18G.         V15 7AU           6A18G.         V27 9AT           6AC5GT         V15 6Q           6AC7.         V14 8N           6AC5GT         V15 7AU           6A17G         V16 7AU           6A101         V33 -           6A106G         V15 7AU           6A107G         V16 8AY           6A105G         V15 7AC           6A105G         V16 7AU           6A127G         V16 8AY           6A126G         V16 7AU           6A127G         V16 8AY           6A127G         V16 7AU           6A127G         V16 7AU           6A127G         V16 8AG           6A147G         V16 7AU           6A147G         V16 8AG           6A147G         V16 8AG           6A147G         V16 8AG           6A1414         V28 9BX           6A1416         V27 70C           6A143         V28 9BX           6A144         V28 9BX           6A144         V28 9BX           6A144         V28 9BX           6A155         V28 7PM	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $
1R4 V22 4AH 1R5 V27 7AT 184. V27 7AV 185. V27 6AU	3B26	5 W P 15 5 N 3 5 N 4 5 N 3 5 N 4 5 N 3 5 N 4 5 N 4	738 12C 742 4C 742 5Q 742 5T 742 5T 742 5C 742 5C 742 5L 738 Flg. 46 760 7BM 719 5B 715 6T 719 7B 719 7C 719 7C 719 7C 727 5CE	0BJ5	68D7GT. V17 8M 68E7GT. V17 8N 68F5. V15 6AB 68F7. V15 7AZ 68G7. V15 7BK 68H7 V15 8BK 68H7L. V15 8BK

## **CHAPTER 27**

1110 110 VAT 0AV 011A	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	12AV7.       V30       9A         12AW6.       V30       7. M         12AW7.       V30       9A         12AV4GT.       V30       9A         12AV4GT.       V30       9A         12AY7.       V30       9A         12BAG.       V30       9A         12BAG.       V30       7C         12BAG.       V30       7A         12BAG.       V23       8A         12CT4.       V30       9A	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $
-----------------------	--	---	--	--	--

## VACUUM-TUBE DATA



## **CHAPTER 27**

$\begin{array}{cccc} T & pet & Pane & Pane \\ TZ40, & V48 & 3G4 \\ U \in 100, & V30 & 216 \\ U \in 1488, & V33 & Flg, 57 \\ U \in 1435, & V40 & 3G4 \\ U & 150, & V48 & 215 \\ U & 151, & V48 & 215 \\ \end{array}$	Type         Page Base           V70         V 40 3N           V70A         V 40 3N           V70A         V 50 3N           V70A         V 50 3N           V70L         V 50 3N           V70D         V 51 3G           V70D         V 31 4J	Type         Page         Base           VR00.         V37         4AJ           VR105.         V37         4AJ           VR150.         V37         4AJ           VR150.         V37         4AJ           VR150.         V37         4AJ           VR150.         V37         4AJ           VR152.         V36         4J           VT127A.         V51         T-4B           VT191	Type         Page         Hase           WE304.X         V14         21           X6030.X         V26         Fig. 4           X.Y.N         V26         Fig. 9           X.X.N         V25         8AC           X.X.L         V18         5AC           X.X.FM         V26         8HZ	Type         Page Base           X225         V43 4P           Z668         V62           ZB60         V50 2D           ZB120         V50 4E
	1	SEMICONDUCTORS	5	
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{ccccccc} \mathrm{M}1752 & \mathrm{V}64 \\ \mathrm{OC}50 & \mathrm{V}64 \\ \mathrm{OC}51 & \mathrm{V}64 \\ \mathrm{PT2A} & \mathrm{V}61 \\ \mathrm{PT2S} & \mathrm{V}61 \\ \mathrm{R}1734 & \mathrm{V}64 \\ \mathrm{R}12517 & \mathrm{V}64 \\ \mathrm{R}12520 & \mathrm{V}64 \\ \mathrm{R}12522 & \mathrm{V}64 \\ \mathrm{R}12522 & \mathrm{V}64 \\ \mathrm{R}12522 & \mathrm{V}64 \\ \mathrm{R}2522 & \mathrm{V}64 \\ \mathrm{R}252 & \mathrm{V}64 \\ \mathrm{R}252 & \mathrm{V}64 \\ \mathrm{R}-14 & \mathrm{V}64 \\ \mathrm{R}-20 & \mathrm{V}64 \\ \mathrm{R}-21 & \mathrm{V}64 \\ \mathrm{T}-21 & \mathrm{V}64 \\ \mathrm{T}-21 & \mathrm{V}64 \\ \mathrm{T}-016 \\ \mathrm{T}-01 & \mathrm{V}64 \\ \mathrm{T}-010 & \mathrm{V}64 \\ \mathrm{V}64 & \mathrm{V}64 \\ \mathrm{T}-010 & \mathrm{V}64 \\ \mathrm{V}64 \\ \mathrm{V}64 & \mathrm{V}64 \\ \mathrm{V}64 & \mathrm{V}64 \\ \mathrm{V}64 \\ \mathrm{V}64 & \mathrm{V}64 \\ \mathrm{V}64 \\ \mathrm{V}64 & \mathrm{V}64 \\ $

#### VACUUM-TUBE BASE DIAGRAMS

The diagrams on the following pages show standard socket connections corresponding to the base designations given in the column headed "Socket Connections" in the classified tube-data tables. Bottom views are shown throughout, Terminal designations are as follows:

A = Anode	CL = Collector	11	= Heater	P	$\Rightarrow$ Plate (Anode)	Ref	= Reflector
B = Beam	D = Deflecting Plate	IC	= Internal Con.	$\mathbf{P}_1$	= Starter-Anode	$\mathbf{S}_{-}$	= Shell
BP = Bayonet Pin	F = Filament	18	= Internal Shield	Pbf	= Beam Plates	TA	= Target
BS = Base sleeve	FE = Focus Elect.	-K	= Cathode	RC			
C = Ext. Coating	G = Grid	NC	L = No Connection		Electrode	٠	= Gas-Type Tube

Alphabetical subscripts D, P, T and HX indicate, respectively, diode unit, pentode unit, triode unit or hexode unit in multimit types. Subscript M, T or CT indicates filament or heater tap. Generally when the No. 1 pin of a metal-type tube in Table I, with the exception of all triodes, is shown connected to the shell, the No. 1 pin in the glass (G or GT) equivalent is connected to an internal shield.

#### R.E.T.M.A. TUBE BASE DIAGRAMS

Bottom views are shown. Terminal designations on sockets are shown above.



### VACUUM-TUBE DATA

NC 3

x(2

K(2

вŪ

NC (4)

NC

ĸ

NC 3

н (2

A.(2)

нŪ

NC 4

SH 1(8)F

NC 2  $\cap$ 7 NC

G2 3

FU

нŰ

PRE

н (2)

NC

H G

Q

15(2)

4J

4SA

5AA

3A2

5AJ

5AQ

(4)

58A

**(**4)н

TBG2

5 B T

(4) SNC

5CE

3,0

5BG

6 NC

G

4 G

SH K

5

ßк

**4**)н

DNC

6 NC

7)K

**1**8 K

(5)NC

BH HO

T BA NC

(S)G

€ NC

SNC

6Par

5AF

ñ

5AN

4 Z

4 R

46

нŰ

5 (T

NC(4)

NC (3

00

Ρ

н(2

NC (4)

NC

G.(

H(2

#### TUBE BASE DIAGRAMS

Bottom views are shown. Terminal designations on sockets are given on page V5.

F+(2)

٥Ĉ

F+

4

NC 

NC (4)

HO

нт (4)

HO

G,

NC 3

P2

G2 (2

на

P2

NC 3

P(2

c (2

۵P

(4)F-

4 E

4 M

4 X

5AC

NC

6

DK

(B)H

5

(4)н

(4)<sub>G2</sub>

(5)F

5BZ

<u>(5)</u>н

5AW

T

5AL









**4** S



5A



















TK





5CB



4 нC



6 NC G 3 NC 2 าว HO





588 G2 (4) NC 3 Later

F (2 18 Par NC T 5BJ

P.(4) (S)NC Γ K(2

5BU







нŪ 5 D



F+C

**(**4)6

(3)NC

6 NC

NC

DF

4 F







10

K (2

PC

P 2

нŒ

FO

DO

580

(3)G



NC 2 NC





Sн

5 E



6,3 NC2 ()H H(I 5AZ

GIA











### **CHAPTER 27**

#### TUBE BASE DIAGRAMS

Bottom views are shown. Terminal designations on sockets are given on page V5.



## VACUUM-TUBE DATA

#### TUBE BASE DIAGRAMS

Bottom views are shown. Terminal designations on sockets are given on page V5,



#### TUBE BASE DIAGRAMS

Bottom views are shown. Terminal designations on sockets are given on page V5.



## VACUUM-TUBE DATA

## **V10**

#### TUBE BASE DIAGRAMS

Bottom views are shown. Terminal designations on soekets are given on page V5.



nN.

элн

World Radio History

ЭАк

9AM

9AQ

## **CHAPTER 27**

#### TUBE BASE DIAGRAMS

Bottom views are shown. Terminal designations on sockets are given on page V5.



## VACUUM-TUBE DATA

## V12

#### TUBE BASE DIAGRAMS

Bottom views are shown, Terminal designations on sockets are given on page V5,



## **CHAPTER 27**

#### TUBE BASE DIAGRAMS

Bottom views are shown. Terminal designations on sockets are given on page V5.



G₂() ®к Т-9Ј

#### TABLE I-METAL RECEIVING TUBES

Characteristics given in this table apply to all tubes having type numbers shown, including metal tubes, glass tubes with "G" suffix, and bantam tubes with "GT" suffix. For "G" and "GT" tubes not listed (not having metal counterparts), see Tables II, VII, VIII and IX.

		Socket	Fil. o	r Heater	Capa	citanc	e μμfd.		Plote			Screen	Plote	Plote	Tronscon-		Lood	Power	
Туре	Name	Connec- tions	Volts	Amp.	tn	Out	Plote- Grid	Use	Supply Volts	Grid Bios	Screen Volts	Current Ma.	Current Ma.	Resistance Ohms	ductance Micromhos	Amp. Foctor	Portetana	Output Watts	Туре
6A8	Pentogrid Converter	88	6.3	0.3	Osc	. Grid 50000		Converter	250	- 3.0	100	2,7	3,5	Anode-grid	(No. 2) 250 v	olts ma	x. thru 20,00	D0 ohms	6A8
6AB7 1853	Remote Cut-off Pentode	8N	6.3	0.45	8	5	0.015	Class-A Amp.	300	- 3.0	200	3.2	12.5	700000	5000	3500			6AB7 1853
6AC7 1852	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	8N	6.3	0.45	11	5	0.015	Class-A Amp.	300	160*	150	2.5	10	1000000	9000	6750			6AC
6AG7	Power Pentode	8Y	6.3	0.65	13	7,5	0.06	Closs-A: Amp.	300	- 3.0	150	7/9	30/30.5	130000	11000		10000	3.0	6AG
6AJ7	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	8N	6.3	0.45	—			Class-A Amp.	300	160*	300	2.5	10	1000000	9000				6AJ
6AK7	Pentode Power Amp.	8Y	6.3	0.65	13	7.5	0.06	Closs-A Amp.	300	- 3	150	7	30	130000	11000		10000	3.0	6AK
688	Duplex-Diode Pentode	8E	6.3	0.3	6	9	0.005	Closs-A Amp.	250	- 3.0	125	2.3	9.0	650000	1125	730			688
6C5	Triode	60	6.3	0.3	3	11	2	Class-A Amp.	250	- 8.0			8.0	10000	2000	20			
					3		-	Bias Detector	250	-17.0			P	late current a	djusted to 0,2	ma. wi	ith no signo	r i	6C5
6F5	High-µ Triodo	5M	6.3	0.3	5.5	4	2.3	Class-A Amp.	250	- 1.3		—	0.2	66000	1500	100			6F5
								Class-A <sub>1</sub> Pent. <sup>3</sup>	250 315	-16.5 -22.0	250 315	6.5 8.0	36 <sup>7</sup> 42	80000 75000	2500 2650	200 200	7000 7000	3.2 5.0	
								Class-A: Triode L	250	-20.0			347	2600	2600	6.8	4000	0.85	
6F6	Pentode Power Amplifier	75	6.3	0.7	6.5	13	0.2	Class-AB2 Amp.6 Class-AB2 Amp.6	375 375	340* 26.0	250 250	8/18 5/19.5	54/77 34/82		tput for 2 tub ad, plate-to-p	es at	10000 <sup>8</sup> 10000 <sup>8</sup>	19.0 18.5	6F6
								Class-AB <sub>2</sub> Amp. <sup>16</sup>	350 350	730* -38	$\equiv$	=	50/61 48/92	=	=	=	10000 B 6000 B	9 13	
6H6	Twin Diode	7Q	6.3	0.3		—		Rectifier		Ma	x. a.c. v	oltage per	plate = 15	0 r.m.s. Max.	output currer	nt 8.0 m			686
6J5	Triode	6Q	6.3	0.3	3.4	3.6	3.4	Class-A Amp.	250	- 8.0			9	7700	2600	20	1		615
6.17	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	7 R	6.3	0.3	7	12	0.005	R.F. Amp.	250	- 3.0	100	0.5	2.0	1.5 meg.	1225	1500			-
	sharp edi-on remove		0.5	0.5	· ·	12	0.003	Bias Detector	250	- 4.3	100	Catho	de current	0.43 ma.			0.5 meg.		6J7
6K7	Variable-µ Pentode	7R	6.3	0.3	7	12	0.005	R.F. Amp.	250	- 3.0	125	2.6	10.5	600000	1650	990			
					Ľ		0.005	Mixer	250	-10.0	100		-		Oscill	ator pe	ok volts = 7.	0	6K7
6K8	Triode-Hexodo	8K	6.3	0.3			<u> </u>	Converter	250	- 3.0	100	6	2.5	Triod	e Plate (No. 2	2) 100 v	olts, 3.8 m	o.	6K8
								Single Tube Closs A <sub>1</sub>	250 300	170° 220°	250 200	5.4/7.2 3.0/4.6	75/78 51/54.5	=	=	=	2500 4500	6.5 6.5	-
								Single Tube Class Aj	250 350	-14.0 -18.0	250 250	5.0/7.3 2.5/7.0	72/79 54/66	22500 33000	6000 5200	_	2500 4200	6.5 10.8	
								P.P. Class A16	270	125*	270	11/17	134/145			_	5000 <sup>8</sup>	18.5	
616	Beam Power Amplifier	740	6.3	0.9	10	12	0.4	P.P. Closs A1 6	250 270	-16.0 -17.5	250 270	10/16 11/17	120/140 134/155	24500 23500	5500 5700	=	5000 <sup>8</sup> 5000 <sup>8</sup>	14.5 17.5	616
			1					P.P. Class AB <sub>1</sub> <sup>5</sup>	360	250*	270	5/17	88/100			L	9000 %	24.5	
								P.P. Closs AB <sub>1</sub> <sup>6</sup>	360	-22.5	270	5/15	88/132	Power of	utput for 2 tu	bes.	6600 5	26,5	1
								P.P. Closs AB <sub>2</sub> 4	360 360	-18.0 -22.5	225 270	3.5/11 5/16	78/142 88/205	Load	plate-to-plate	•	6000 <sup>8</sup> 3800 <sup>8</sup>	31.0 47.0	
6L7	Pentagrid Mixer Amplifier	71	6,3	0.3			-	R.F. Amp. Mixer	250 250	- 3.0 - 6.0	100 150	5.5 8.3	5.3 3.3	800000 Over 1 meg.	1100 Oscillotar-				6L7
6N7	Twin Triode	88	6.3	0.8	-		-	Class-B Amp.	300	0			35/70	_ rer r meg.		9110 (140	8000	10.0	6N7
6Q7	Duplex-Diode Triode	7V	6.3	0.3	5	3.8	1.4	Triode Amp.	250	- 3.0			1.1	58000	1200	70	8000	10.0	607
6R7	Duplex-Diode Triode	7V	6.3	0.3	4.8	3.8	2.4	Triode Amp.	250	- 9.0			9.5	8500	1200	16	10000	0,28	6R7
657	Remote Cut-off Pentode	7R	6.3	0.15	6.5	10.5	0.005	Closs-A Amp.	250	- 3.0	100	2.0	8.5	1000000	1750	10	10000	0,20	6S7
6SA7	Pentagrid Converter	8R2	6.3	0,3				Converter	250	01	100	8.0	3.4	800000		1	or 20000 o		65A
	-		1					Converter	100	- 1	100	10.2	3.4	500000	900	+ resist	or 20000 6	nm\\$	OSA
55B7Y	Pentagrid Converter	8R	6.3	0.3	9.6	9.2	-	Converter	250	- 1	100	10.2	3.8	1000000	900				ACP
						Dsc. Se	ction in	88-108 Mc. Serv.	250	220009	120009	12.6/12.5	6.8/6.5						6SB
65C7	Twin-Triode	1		.1.															1

**V14** 

#### TABLE I-METAL RECEIVING TUBES-Continued

		Socket	Fil. or	Heater	Capa	citance	) μμfd.		Plate	Grid	Screen	Screen	Plate	Plate	Transcon-	Amp.	Load	Pawer	
Туре	Name	Connec- tions	Volts	Amp.	In	Out	Plate- Grid	Use	Supply Volts	Bios	Volts	Current Ma.	Current Ma.	Resistance Ohms	ductance Micromhos	Factor	Resistance Ohms	Output Watts	Туре
6SF5	High-µ Třiode	6AB	6.3	0.3	4	3.6	2.4	Class-A Amp.	250	- 2.0			0.9	66000	1500	100		—	6SF5
6SF7	Diode Variable-µ Pentode	7 A Z	6.3	0.3	5.5	6	0.004	Class-A Amp.	250	- 1.0	100	3,3	12,4	700000	2050	_		—	6SF7
65G7	Semivariable-µ Pentode	8BK	6.3	0.3	8.5	7	0.003	H.F. Amp.	250	- 2.5	150	3,4	9.2	Over 1 meg.	4000	—	—	—	65G7
6SH7	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	8BK	6.3	0.3	8.5	7	0.003	Class-A Amp.	250	- 1.0	150	4.1	10.8	900000	4900				65H7
65J7 1	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	8N	6:3	0.3	6	7	0.005	Class-A Amp.	250	- 3.0	100	0.8	3	1500000	1650	2500		—	6SJ7
65K7"	Variable-µ Pentode	8N	6.3	0.3	6	7	0.003	Class-A Amp.	250	- 3.0	100	2.4	9.2	800000	2000	1600		—	65K7
65Q7	Duplex-Diode Triode	8Q	6.3	0.3	3.2	3.0	1.6	Class-A Amp.	250	- 2.0	—	—	0.8	91000	1100	100		—	6SQ7
65R7	Duplex-Diode Triode	8Q	6.3	0.3	3.6	2.8	2.40	Class-A Amp.	250	- 9.0	—	—	9.5	8500	1900	16		—	6SR7
6557	Variable-µ Pentode	8N	6.3	0.15	5.5	7.0	0.004	Class-A Amp.	250	- 3.0	100	2.0	9.0	1000000	1850		—	—	6557
6517	Duplex-Diode Triode	8Q	6,3	0.15	2.8	3	1.50	Class-A Amp.	250	- 9.0			9.5	8500	1900	16	—		6ST7
45V7	Diode R.F. Pentode	7AZ	6.3	0.3	6.5	6	0.004	Class-A Amp.	250	- 1	150	2.8	7,5	800000	3400	—	l —	—	6SV7
65Z7	Duplex-Diode Triode	8Q	6.3	0.15	2.6	2.8	1.10	Class-A Amp.	250	- 3	—	—	1.0	58000	1200	70	—	—	6SZ7
617	Duplex-Diode Triode	7V	6.3	0.15	1.8	3.1	1.70	Class-A Amp.	250	- 3.0		—	1.2	62000	1050	65			6T7
_								Class-A1 Amp. <sup>5</sup>	250	-12.5	250	4.5/7.0	45/47	52000	4100	218	5000	4.5	
6V6	Beam Power Amplifier	7AC	6.3	0.45	2.0	7.5	0.7	Class-AB <sub>1</sub> Amp. <sup>6</sup>	250	-15.0	250	5/13	70/79	60000	3750		10000 <sup>8</sup>	10.0	6V6
							l	Class-Mol Mmp."	285	- 19.0	285	4/13.5	70/92	65000	3600	—	8 0008	14.0	
1611	Pentode Power Amplifier	75	6,3	0.7		—	—	Audio Amp.					Character	istics same as	6F6				1611
1612	Pentagrid Amplifier	71	6.3	0.3	7.5	11	0.001	Class-A Amp.	250	- 3.0	100	6.5	5.3	600000	1100	880			1612
1620	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	7 R	6.3	0.3	—			Class-A Amp.					Character	istics same as	6J7				1620
	a life a destada	75	6.3	0.7				Class-AB <sub>2</sub> Amp. <sup>6</sup>	300	- 30.0	300	6.5/13	38/69		I —	—	4000 <sup>8</sup>	5.0	1621
1621	Power Amplifier Pentode	/3	0.5	0.7				Class-A <sub>1</sub> Amp. <sup>6</sup>	330	500*			55/59			—	5000 <sup>8</sup>	2.0	1021
1622	Beam Power Amplifier	7AC	6.3	0.9		—	—	Class-A1 Amp.	300	-20.0	250	4/10.5	86/125				4000	10.0	1622
1851	Television Amp. Pentode	7R	6,3	0.45	11.5	5.2	0.02	Class-A Amp.	300	- 2.0	150	2.5	10	750000	9000	6750			1851
5693	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	8N	6.3	0.3	5.3	6.2	0.005	Class-A Amp.	250	- 3	100	0,85	3.0	1000000	1650				5693
5961	Pentagrid Converter	8R	6.3	0.3	Osc	. Grid	<b>20Κ</b> Ω	Converter	250	- 2	100	8.5	3.5	1000000	Con	version	Gm = 450		5961
6137	Remote Cut-off Pentode	8N	6.3	0.3	5.0	6.5	0.003	Class-A: Amp.	250	- 3	100	2.6	9.2	800000	2000	—	—		6137

\* Cathode resistor-ohms.

<sup>1</sup> Screen tied to plate. <sup>2</sup> For 6SA7GT use base diagram 8AD. <sup>3</sup> Grid bias—2 volts if separate oscillator excitation is used.
<sup>4</sup> Also Type "6SJ7Y."

<sup>5</sup> Values are for single tube.
 <sup>6</sup> Values are for two tubes in push-pull.

7 Max.-signal value. 8 Plate-to-plate value. 9 Osc. grid leak—Scrn res. **V15** 

#### TABLE II-6.3-VOLT GLASS TUBES WITH OCTAL BASES

(For "G" and "GT"-Type Tubes Not Listed Here, See Equivalent Type in Table I; Characteristics and Connections Will Be Identical)

		Socket	Fil. or	Heater	Capa	citance	e μμfd.		Plate	Grid	Screen	Screen	Plate	Plate	Transcan-		Load	Power	
Туре	Name	Connec- tions	Volts	Amp.	In	Out	Plate- Grid	Use	Supply Volts	Bias	Volts	Current Ma.	Current Ma.	Resistance Ohms	ductance Micromhos	Factor	Resistance Ohms	Output Watts	Туре
2822	Diode	Fig. 37	6.3	0.75	2.2	—		U.h.f. Detector		Ave	rage cat	hode Ma.	=5; Outpu	t volts = 50 d.	c.; Load resis	stance =	10000.		2B22
2022	Triode	4AM	6.3	0.3	2.2	0.7	3.60	Closs-A Amp.	300	-10.5	—	—	11	6600	3000	20	I —	—	2C22
		1						Class-A Amp. <sup>4</sup>	250	-45.0	—		60	800		4.2	2500	3.75	
6A5GT	Triode Power Amplifier	6T	6.3	1.0				P.P. Class AB <sup>5</sup>	325	-68.0	—		80		5250	—	3000 <sup>6</sup>	15.0	6A5G
				1				P.P. Class AB <sup>5</sup>	325	850*	]		80			—	5000 <sup>6</sup>	10.0	
							1	C1 4 4	250	0	In	put	5.0	40000	1800	72	8000	3.5	6AB6G
6AB6G	Direct-Coupled Amplifier	7AU	6.3	0.5				Class-A Amp.	250	0	0.	itput	34	40000	1800	11	8000	3.5	OADOG
410707	High-µ Power-Amplifier	60	6.3	0.4				P.P. Class B 5	250	0			5.0	36700	3400	125	10000 6	8.0	6AC5GT
<b>GAC</b> SGT	Triode	00	0.3	0.4				DynCoupled	250		—	_	32	30/00	3400	125	7000	3.7	DACJGI
					-				180	0	In	put	7.0						6AC6G
6AC6G	Direct-Coupled Amplifier	7AU	6.3	1.1				Class-A Amp.	180	0	0.	stput	45	1 —	3000	54	4000	3.8	OALOG
6AD5G	High-# Triode	60	6.3	0.3	4.1	3.9	3.3	Class-A Amp.	250	- 2.0	—	—	0.9		1500	100	-		6AD5G
	Electron-Ray Tube	7AG	6.3	0.15				Indicator	100		0 f	or 90°;	-23 for 135	°; 45 for 0°. 1	arget curren	t 1.5 ma	. for 0°.	1	6AD6G

#### TABLE II-0.3-VULI GLASS TUBES WITH OCTAL BASES-Continued

			1		T														
		Socket	Fil. or	Heater	Сара	citance	∋µµfd.		Plate	Grid	Screen	Screen	Plate	Plate	Transcon-		Load	Power	1
Туре	Name	Connec- tions	Valts	Amp.	In	Out	Plate- Grid	Use	Supply Volts	Bias	Volts	Current Ma.	Current Mo,	Resistance Ohms	ductance Micromhos	Amp. Factor	Resistance Ohms	Output Watts	Туре
6AD7G	Triode-Pentade	8AY	6,3	0,85				Triode Amp.	250	-25.0			4.0	19000	325	6.0		-	6AD7G
								Pentode Amp.	250	-16.5	250	6.5	34	80000	2500	-	7000	3.2	UAD/ G
6AE5G10	Triode Amplifier	6Q	6.3	0.3	—	-	-	Class-A Amp.	95	-15.0			7.0	3500	1200	4.2			6AE5G
6AE6G	Single-Grid Twin-Plate Triode	7AH	6.3	0.15		-		Plate No. 1 Plate No. 2	250 250	1.5 1.5			6.5 4.5	25000 35000	1000 950	25 33		=	6AE6G
	Twin-Input Triode	7AX	6.3	0.5	—			Driver Amplifier	250	-13.5			5.0	9300	1500	14			6AE7GT
6AF5G	Triode	6Q	6.3	0.3				Closs-A Amplifier	180	-18.0			7.0		1500	7.4			6AF5G
6AF7G	Twin Electron Ray	8AG	6.3	0.3	—	_	-	Indicator Tube		-				1					6AF7G
6AG6G10	Power-Amplifier Pentode	75	6.3	1.25				Class-A Amplifier	250	- 6.0	250	6.0	32		10000		8500	3.75	6AG6G
6AH4GT	Triode	8EL	6.3	0.75	7.5	3.2	4.2	Class-A Amplifier	250	- 23			30	1780	4500	8			6AH4GT
6AH5G	Beam Power Amplifier	6AP	6.3	0.9		_		Class-A Amplifier	350	-18	250			33000	5200		4200	10.8	6AH5G
6AH7GT	Twin Triode	8BE	6.3	0.3		_	-	Converter & Amp.	250	- 9.0			121	6600	2400	16			6AH7GT
6AL6G	Beam Power Amplifier	6AM	6.3	0.9	—		_	Class-A Amplifler	250	-14.0	250	5.0	72	22500	6000		2500	6.5	6AL6G
6AL7GT	Electron-Ray Tube	8CH	6,3	0,15	—		—	Indicator		to its ele	any of t actrode. 1	he three ill Similar inv	luminated a vard disp. v	oreas displac with —5 volt	ed 1/ <sub>16</sub> in. mi s. No pottern	n. outwo with —	ord with +5 6 volts grid.	i valts	6AL7GT
6AQ7GT	Duplex Diode Triode	8CK	6.3	0.3	2.3	1.5	2.8	Class-A Amplifier	250	- 2.0			2.3	44000	1600	70			6AQ7GT
6AR6	Beam Power Amp.	6BQ	6.3	1.2	11	7	0.55	Class-A Amplifier	250	-22.5	250	5	77	21000	5400	95		—	6AR6
6AR7GT	Duo-Diode Remote Pentode	7DE	6.3	0.3	5.5	7.5	.003	Class-A Amplifier	250	- 2	100	1.8	7.0	1200000	2500				6AR7GT
6 <b>A</b> \$7G	Low-Mu Twin Triode	88D	6.3	2,5				D.C. Amplifier Class-A1 Amp. P.P.	135 250	250* 2500*	$\equiv$	=	125 100/106	280	7500	2.1	6000 °	13	6AS7G
6AU5GT	Beam Pentode	6CK	6.3	1.25	11.3	7	0.5	Horz. Def. Amp.	45011	- 5011	—		10011	Peo	ok pos. plate	pulse =:	5000 volts.		6AU5GT
6AV5GT	Beam Pentode	6CK	6.3	1.2	—	—		Horz. Def. Amp.	50011	- 5011	1750		10011	Peo	ak pos. plate	pulse =	4500 volts.		6AV5GT
6AW7GT	Twin Triode	8CQ	6.3	0.3	—		—	Class-A Amplifier	100	0			1.4		1200	80			6AW7GT
6B4G	Triode Power Amplifier	55	6.3	1.0			—	Power Amplifier		Ch	aracteris	tics same	as Type 6A	3-Table IV		—			684G
686G	Duplex-Diode High-µ Triode	7V	6.3	0.3	1.7	3.8	1.7	Detector-Amplifler		c	haracteri	stics same	as Type 7	5—Table IV				-	686G
6BD5GT	Beam Pentode	6CK	6.3	0.9	—	—		Horz. Def. Amp.	32511		32511		10011	Peo	sk pos. plate	pulse = 4	4000 volts.	-	68D5GT
6BL7GT	Double Triede	8BD	6.3	1,5	4.4	1.1	4	Class-A Amp.	250	- 9			40 <sup>1</sup>	2000	7000	14	—		6BL7GT
6BQ6GT	Beam Pentode	6AM	6.3	1.2		—	—	Deflection Amp.	55011		150	—	10011	Peo	sk pos. plate	pulse = 4	4000 volts.		6BQ6GT
6BG6G	Beam Power Amplifier	5BT	6.3	0.9	11	6.5	0.5	Deflection Amp.	70011	- <b>50</b> 11	350		10011	Peo	ak pos. plate	pulse = (	6000 volts.		6BG6G
6BX7GT	Twin Triode	8BD	6.3	1.5	4.4	1.1	4.2	<b>Class-A Amplifier</b>	250	390*			42	1300	7600	10	I —		6BX7GT
6C8G	Twin Triode	8G	6.3	0.3		—	—	Amp. 1 Section	250	- 4.5	—		3.1	26000	1450	38			6C8G
6CD6G	Beam Pentode	5BT	6.3	2.5	26	10	1.0	Horz. Def. Amp.	70011	- 5011	17511		17011	Peo	ak pos. plate	pulse = (	6000 volts.		6CD6G
6D8G	Pentogrid Converter	8 A	6.3	0.15		—		Converter	250	- 3.0	100	Cotho	de current	13.0 Ma.	Anode	grid (No	. 2) Volts =:	250 <sup>3</sup>	6D8G
6E8G10	Triode-Hexode Converter	80	6.3	0.3				Converter	250	- 2.0				<b>Triode</b> Plate	150 volts				6E8G
6F8G	Twin Triode	8G	6.3	0.6			—	Amplifier	250	- 8.0			91	7700	2600	20			6F8G
6G6G	Pentode Power Amplifier	75	6.3	0.15	—	_		Class-A Amplifier Class-A Amplifier <sup>2</sup>	180 180	- 9.0 -12.0	180	2.5	15	175000	2300 2000	400	10000	1.1	6G6G
6H4GT	Diode Rectifier	5AF	6.3	0.15	_	_	_	Detector	100	_			4.0						6H4GT
6H8G	Duo-Diode High-µ Pentode	8E	6.3	0.3		_		Class-A Amplifier	250	- 2.0	100		8,5	650000	2400			-	6H8G
6J8G10	Triode Heptode	8H	6.3	0.3		_		Converter	250	- 3.0	100	2.8	1.2		-grid (No. 2)	250 voli	s mox.3 5 n		6J8G
6K5GT10	High-µ Triode	5U	6.3	0.3	2.4	3.6	2.0	Closs-A Amplifier	250	- 3.0			1.1	50000	1400	70	<u> </u>		6K5GT
6K6GT	Pentode Power Amplifier	75	6.3	0.4				Class-A Amplifier		,-		Choroc		me as Type 4			L		6K6GT
	Triode Amplifier	60	6.3	0.15	2.8	5.0	2.8	Class-A Amplifier	250	- 9.0			8.0		1900	17		-	6L5G
áL5G				10		_		Class-A Amplifier	250	- 6.0	250	4.0	36		9500		7000		6M6G
	Power Amplifier Pentode	75	6.3	1.2															
6L5G 6M6G <sup>10</sup> 6M7G		75 7R	6.3 6.3	0.3			—	R.F. Amplifier	250	- 2.5	125	2.8	10.5	900000	3400	_			6M7G
6M6G10	Power Amplifier Pentode				_			R.F. Amplifier Triode Amplifier	250 100	- 2.5	—	2.8	0.5	91000	1100	_			6M7G 6M8GT
6M6G <sup>10</sup> 6M7G	Power Amplifier Pentode Pentode Amplifier	7R	6.3	0.3		-		R.F. Amplifier	250	- 2.5 - 3.0	 100	_	0.5 8.5						

#### TABLE II-6.3-VOLT GLASS TUBES WITH OCTAL BASES-Continued

<b>.</b> .		Socket	Fil. or	r Heater	Cop	ocitonc	e μμfd.		Plate			Screen	Plate	Plate	Transcon-		Load	Power	
Туре	Name	Connec- tions	Volts	Amp.	In	Out	Plate - Grid	Use	Supply Volts	Grid Bias	Screen Volts	Current Ma.	Current Ma.	Resistonce Ohms	ductance Micromhos	Amp. Factor	Resistance Ohms		t Type
587G10	Triode-Pentode	70	6.3	0.3				Closs-A Amplifier		1	1	Cha	nctoristics	same as 6F7-				1	6P7 G
P8G	Triode-Hexode Converter	8K	6.3	0.8		-		Converter	250	- 2.0	75	1.4	1.5		Triode Plate	100	2	1	6P8G
Q6G	Diode-Triode	6Y	6.3	0.15				Class-A Amplifier	250	- 3.0		1.4	1.2		1050	65			6Q6G
R6G	Pentode Amplifier	6AW	6.3	0.3	4.5	11	0.007		250	- 3.0	100	1.7	7.0		1450	1160			6R6G
Ségt	Remote Cut-off Pentode	5AK	6.3	0.45		-		R.F. Amplifier	250	- 2.0	100	3.0	13	350000	4000	1100			656GT
SBGT	Triple Diode Triode	8CB	6.3	0.3	1.2	5	2	Class-A Amplifier	250	- 2.0		0.0	0.9	91000	1100	100			658GT
5D7GT	Medium Cut-off Pentode	8M	6.3	0.3	9	7.5	.0035	R.F. Amplifier	250	- 2.0	100	1.9	6.0	1000000	3600				65D7G
SE7GT	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	8N	6.3	0.3	8	7.5	+	R.F. Amplifier	250	- 1.5	100	1.5	4,5	1100000	3400	3750			6SE7G
SH7L	Pentode R.F. Amp.	88K	6.3	0.3				Closs-A Amplifier	250	- 1.0	150	4.1	10.8	900000	4900	3/30			6SH7L
5L7GT	Twin Triode	8BD	6.3	0.3				Class-A Amplifier	250	- 2.0			2.31	44000	1600	70			65L7G
5N7GT 5N7GTA	Twin Triode	8BD	6.3	0.6		-	1-	Class-A Amplifier	250	- 8.0	_		9,01	7700	2600	20	=		65N7G
SU7GTY	Twin Triode	8BD	6.3	0.3				Closs-A Amplifier	250	- 2.0			2.3	44000	1600	70			65U7G
T6GM 10	Amplifier	6Z	6.3	0.45				Closs-A Amplifier	250	- 1.0	100	2.0	10	1000000	5500	/0			6T6GM
U6GT	Beam Power Amplifier	7AC	6.3	0,75				Closs-A Amplifier	200	-14.0	135	3.0	56	20000	6200		3000		
U7G	Vorioble-µ Pentode	7R	6.3	0.3	5	9	.007	Class-A Amplifier	100	14.0	105			1e as Type 60			3000		6U6GT 6U7G
V5GT	Beam Power Amplifier	6A0	6.3	0.45	9.0	10	0.6	Closs-A Amplifier	315	- 13	225	6.0	35	77000	3750		8500		
V7G LU	Duplex Diode-Triode	7V	6.3	0.3	2	3,5	1.7	Detector-Amplifier		10				me os Type 8			8300	5.5	6V5GT
W6GT	Beom Power Amplifier	7AC	6.3	1.25				Class-A Amplifier	135	- 9.5	135	12.0	61.0	ne us type a	9000	215	1 2000		677G
W7G	Pentode Det. Amplifier	7R	6.3	0.15	5	8.5	.007	Class-A Amplifier	250	- 3.0	100	2.0	0.5	1500000	1225	1850	2000		6W6G
X6G	Electron-Ray Tube	7AL	6.3	0.3				Indicator Tube	250	0.0				-8 v. for 0°,					6W7G
Y6G	Beam Power Amplifier	7AC	6.3	1.25	15	8	0.7	Class-A Amplifier	135	-13.5	135	3.0	60.0	9300	7000	gria 125			6X6G
Y7G 10	Twin Triode Amplifier	8B	6.3	0.3		_		Closs-B Amplifier		10.0	105			ne as Type 79	1		2000		6Y6G
								areas a sumprised	180	0		Chorac	8.4	ne us type /	A - 10016 1A		10000		6Y7G
27G	Twin Triode Amplifier	8B	6.3	0.3			—	Closs-B Amplifier	135	0			6.0			_	12000	4.2	6Z7G
17A	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	8BK	6,3	0.175	_			Class-A Amplifier	120	- 2.0	120	2.5	7.5	390000	4000		9000	2.5	7174
223	Shorp Cut-off Pentode	7 R	6.3	0,3				Class-A Amplifier	120	2.0	120			ame os 6C6-			1		717A
635	Twin Triode Amplifier	8B	6.3	0.6				Class-B Amplifier	300	0			6.6/54				12000	10.4	1223
691	Hi-Mu Twin Triode	8BD	6.3	0,6	2.4 <sup>7</sup> 2.7 <sup>8</sup>	2.3 7 2.7 8	3.6 <sup>7</sup> 3.6 <sup>8</sup>	Class-A Amp,	250	- 2		_	2.31	44000	1600	70	12000	10,4	1635 5691
592	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	8BD	6.3	0.6	2.3 7 2.6 %	2.5 7 2.7 8	3.5 <sup>7</sup> 3.3 <sup>8</sup>	Closs-A Amp.	250	- 9		_	6,51	9100	2200	18			5692
94	Twin Triode	8C5	6.3	0.8				Closs-A Amplifier	300	- 6			7,0	11000	3200	35			5694
181	Beam Pawer Amp.	7AC	6.3	0.9				Audio Amplifier				Cho		same as 6L6,					5881
080	Low-Mu Twin Triode	8BD	6.3	2.5	6.4	2.2	8.4	D.C. Amplifier	135	250*		1	125	280	7000	2			6080
000	Low-Noise Amplifier	7R	6.3	0.3				Class-A Amplifier				· · · · · · · · · · · · ·	- na ann	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	7 - Table I	-			7000

<sup>1</sup> Per plate.

<sup>3</sup> Through 20,000-ohm dropping resistor.

5 Values are for two tubes in push-pull.

Plate-to-plote value, 7 Na, 1 triode,

<sup>8</sup> No. 2 triade. <sup>9</sup> Peak a.f. voits G-G.

<sup>10</sup> Discontinued. <sup>11</sup> Mox. value.

TABLE III - 7-VOLT LOCK-IN-BASE	TUBES—For other lock-in-base types see Tables VIII, IX, and X
---------------------------------	---

-		5ocket	He	ater	Cape	citonce	μμ <b>fd</b> .		Plate			5creen	Plate	Plate	Tronscon-		Load	Power	
Туре	Nome	Connec- tions	Volts	Amp.	In	Out	Plate- Grid	Use	Supply Volts	Grid Bias	Screen Volts	Current Ma.	Current Ma,	Resistonce Ohms	ductonce Micromhos	Amp. Factor	Resistance Ohms	Output Watts	Туре
7A4	Triode Amplifier	5AC	7.0	0.32	3,4	3	4	Closs-A Amplifier	250	- 8.0			9.0	7700	2600	20	<u> </u>		7 8 4
7A5	Beam Power Amplifier	6AA	7.0	0,75	13	7.2	0.44	Closs-A: Amplifier	125	- 9.0	125	3.2/8	37.5/40	17000	6100	20	2700	1.9	7A4 7A5
7A6	Twin Diode	7AJ	7.0	0,16				Rectifler						150, Mox. OL		-10 mo		1.7	785
7A7	Remote Cut-off Pentode	8V	7.0	0.32	6	7	.005	Class-A Amplifier	250	- 3.0	100	2.0	8.6	800000	2000	1600			7 40
7 <b>A</b> 8	Multigrid Converter	8U	7.0	0,16	7.5	9.0	0.15	Converter	250	- 3.0	100	3.1	3.0	50000			i0 volts ma	×.1	7A8



#### TABLE III-7-VOLT LOCK-IN-BASE TUBES-Continued

		Socket	He	eater	Capa	citonc	e μμfd.		Plate			Screen	Plate	Plate	Transcon-		Load	Power	
Туре	Name	Connec- tions	Volts	Amp.	In	Out	Plate- Grid	Use	Supply Volts	Grid Bias	Screen Volts	Current Ma.	Current Ma.	Resistance Ohms	ductance Micromhos	Amp. Factor	Resistance Ohms	Output Watts	Туре
AD7	Pentode	8V	6.3	0.6	11.5	7.5	0.03	Class-A <sub>1</sub> Amp.	300	68*	150	7.0	28.0	300000	9500				7AD7
AF7	Twin Triode	8AC	6.3	0.3	2.2	1.6	2.3	Class-A Amp.	250	-10			9.0	7600	2100	16			7 AF7
AG7	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	8V	7.0	0.16	7.0	6.0	0.005	Class-A1 Amp.	250	250*	250	2.0	6.0	750000	4200				7AG7
'AH7	Pentode Amplifier	8V	6.3	0.15	7.0	6.5	0.005	Class-A1 Amplifier	250	250*	250	1.9	6.8	1000000	3300				7 AH7
'AJ7	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	8V	6.3	0.3	6.0	6.5	0.007	Class-A1 Amp.	250 100	- 3	100	0.7	2.2	1 Meg. 400000	1575 2275			—	7 A J7
AK7	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	8V	6.3	0.8	12	9.5	4	Class-A1 Amp.	150	0	90	21	40	11500	5500	_			7AK
'B4	High-µ Triode	5AC	7.0	0.32	3.6	3.4	1.6	Class-A Amplifier	250	- 2.0			0.9	66000	1500	100	<u> </u>		
'B5	Pentode Power Amplifier	6AE	7.0	0.43	3.2	3.2	1.6	Class-A1 Amplifler	250	-18.0	250	5.5/10	32/33	68000	2300		7600		784 785
86	Duo-Diode Triode	8W	7.0	0.32	3.0	2.4	1.6	Class-A Amplifler	250	- 2.0	1.50	3.3710	1.0	91000	1100	100	/000	3.4	-
'B7	Remote Cut-off Pentode	8V	7.0	0.16	5	7	.005	Class-A Amplifier	250	- 3.0	100	2.0	8.5	700000	1700	1200			7B6
'B8	Pentagrid Converter	8X	7.0	0.32	10.0	9.0	0.2	Converter	250	- 3.0	100	2.7	3.5	360000					787
'C5	Tetrode Power Amplifier	6AA	7.0	0.48	9.5	9.0	0.4	Class-A1 Amplifier	250	- 12.5	250	4,5/7	45/47			-gna 2 :	iO volts ma:		788
'C6	Dvo-Diode Triode	8W	7.0	0.48	2.4	3	1.4	Closs-A Amplifier	250	- 12.5	230	4.3//	45/4/	52000	4100	100	5000	4.5	7C5
'C7	Peniode Amplifier	8V	7.0	0.16	5.5	6.5	.007	Cless-A Amplifior	250	- 1.0	100			100000	1000	100			7C6
D7	Triode-Hexode Converter	8AR	7.0	0.48	3.3	0.0	.007	Converter		- 3.0	100	0,5	2.0	2 meg.	1300				7C7
'E6	Duo-Dicde Triode	8W	7.0	0.32		-			250					e Plate (No. 3		-			707
E7	Duo-Diode Pentode	845	7.0	0.32	4.4			Class-A Amplifier	250	- 9.0			9.5	8500	1900	16			7E6
F7	Twin Triode	8AC			4.6	4.6	.005	Class-A Amplifier	250	- 3.0	100	1.6	7.5	700000	1300				767
	Twin mode	OAC	7.0	0.32	-	-		Class-A Amplifier <sup>2</sup>		- 2.0	-		2.3	44000	1600	70		—	7F7
F8	Twin Triode	8BW	6.3	0.30	2.8	1.4	1.2	R.F. Amplifier	250	- 2.5			10.0	10400	5000				7F8
G7 / 232	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	8V	7.0	0.48	9	7	.007	Class-A Amplifler	180	- 1.0 - 2.0	100	2.0	12.0 6.0	8500 800000	7000 4500				767
G8/ 206	Dual Tetrode	8BV	6.3	0.30	3.4	2.6	0.15	R.F. Amplifier <sup>2</sup>	250	- 2.5	100	0.8	4.5	225000	2100				1232 7G8
H7	Semi-Variable-µ Pentode	8V	7.0	0.32	8	7	.007	R.F. Amplifier	250	- 2.5	150	2.5	9.0	1000000	3500				1206
J7	Triode-Heptode Converter	8AR	7.0	0.32	-	<u> </u>		Converter	250	- 3.0	100	2.9	1.3	1000000	Triode Plate	250			7H7
K7	Duo-Diode High-# Triode	8BF	7.0	0.32				Class-A Amplifier	250	- 2.0		4.7	2.3	44000	1600	230 V. 70	Max		7 J7
17	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	8V	7.0	0.32	8	6.5	.01	Class-A Amplifier	250	- 1.5	100	1.5	4.5	100000					7K7
'N7	Twin Triode	8AC	7.0	0.6	3.4 <sup>3</sup> 2.9 <sup>4</sup>	2.0 3	3.0 <sup>3</sup> 3.0 <sup>4</sup>	Class-A Amplifier <sup>2</sup>	250	- 1.5		1.3 —	4.3 9.0	7700	3100 2600	Cathod 20	e Resistor 25	0 ohms	7L7 7N7
Q7	Pentagrid Converter	8AL	7.0	0.32				Converter	250	0	100	8.0	3.4	800000	0.111				
R7	Duo-Diode Pentode	8AE	7.0	0.32	5.6	5.3	.004	Class-A Amplifier	250	- 1.0	100	8.0 1.7	5.7	1000000	3200	I resis	lor 20000 o	hms	.707
S7	Triode Hexode Converter	8BL	7.0	0.32		5.0		Converter	250	- 2.0	100	2.2	1.7	2000000	+				7R7
17	Pentode Amplifier	8V	7.0	0.32	8	7	.005	Class-A Amplifier	250			4.1				Plote 2	250 v. Max.	•	757
V7	Shorp Cut-off Pentode	8V	7.0	0.32	° 9.5	6.5	.003	Class-A Amplifier	300	- 1.0 160*	150	4.1	10.8	900000	4900				717
W7	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	88J	7.0	0.48	9.5	7.0	.0025	Class-A Amplifier	300		150			300000	5800		—		777
X7	Duo-Diode Triode	88Z	6.3	0.48	7.0		20023			- 2.2	150	3.9	10	300000	5800				7W7
231	Pentode Amplifier	8V	6.3	0.3	8.5	6.5	015	Class-A Amplifier	250	- 1.0	100		1.9	67000	1500	100			7X7
273	Nonmicrophonic Pentode	8V	7.0	0.43	8.3 6.0	6.5	.015 .007	Class-A Amplifier Class-A1 Amplifier	300 250	200* - 3.0	150 100	2.5 0.7	10 2.2	700000	5500 1575	3850	=	=	1231
		-			0.0	0.0			100	- 1.0	100	1.8	5,7	400000	2275			—	1273
679	Twin Diode	7CX	6.3	0.15		—		V.T.V.M. Rectifier					Sa	me as 7A6					5679
XL	Triode Osciliator	5AC	7.0	0.32				Oscillator	250	- 8.0			8.0		2300	20	1		XXL

#### TABLE IV-6.3-VOLT GLASS RECEIVING TUBES

_			Socket	Fil. or	Heater	Capa	citanc	e μμfd.	the	Plate	Grid	Screen	Screen Current	Plate Current	Plote Resistance	Transcon- ductance	Amp.	Lood Resistance	Power	Туре
Туре	Name	Base	Connec- tians	Volts	Amp.	In	Out	Plate- Grid	Use	Supply Volts	Bias	Volts	Ma.	Ma.	Ohms	Micromhos	Factor	Ohms	Watts	
C21/ 642	Twin-Triode Amplifier	м.	7BH	6.3	0.6			—	Class-A Amp.	250	- 16.5	—		8.3	7600	1375	10.4		-	2C21/ 1642
									Class-A Amp.	250	-45	—		60	800	5250	4.2	2500	3.5	4.8.2
A3	Triode Power Amplifier	м.	4D	6.3	1.0	7.0	5.0	16.0	Class AB <sub>1</sub> Amp. <sup>10</sup>	300 300	-62 850.		d Bias Bias	80 80				3000 11 5000 11	15 10	6A3
A4 /	Pentode Power Amplifier	M.	5B	6.3	0.3	—			Class-A Amp.	180	-12.0	180	3.9	22	60000	2500	150	8000	1.5	6A4
<b>A</b> 6	Twin Triode Amplifier	м.	7B	6.3	0.8		—		Class-B Amp. P.P	250 300	0				load, plate	• · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		8000 10000	8.0 10.0	6A6
47	Pentagrid Converter	S.	7C	6.3	0.3	8.5	9.0	0.3	Converter	250	- 3.0	100	2.2	3.5	360000			2) 200 volts	max.	6A7
AB5/6N5	Electron-Ray Tube	<b>S</b> .	6R	6.3	0.15				Indicator Tube	180	Cut-off	Grid Bias		0,5	and the second s	Target Curre				6AB5/6N
AF6G	Electron-Ray Tube Twin Indicator Type	s.	7AG	6.3	0.15		—	_	Indicator Tube	135 100			trol Voltag	e = 60 for	0° Shadow	Angle. Targe Angle. Torge	at currei	nt 0.9 ma.		6AF6G
B5	Direct-Coupled Power Amplifier	м.	6AS	6.3	0.8		—	-	Class-A Amp. <sup>9</sup> Push-Pull Amp. <sup>10</sup>	300 400	0 -13.0	=	61 4.51	45 40	241000	2400	58	7000 10000 11	4.0 20	685
87	Duplex-Diode Pentode	s.	7D	6.3	0.3	3.5	9.5	.007	Pentode R.F. Amp.	250	- 3.0	125	2.3	9.0	650000	1125	730		-	687
C6	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	S.	6F	6.3	0.3	5	6.5	.007	R.F. Amplifier	250	- 3.0	100	0.5	2.0	1500000	1225	1500			6C6
C7 #	Duplex Diode Triode	S.	7G	6.3	0.3				Class-A Amp.	250	- 9.0			4.5		20	1250		-	6C7
06	Variable+µ Pentode	<b>S</b> .	6F	6.3	0.3	4.7	6.5	.007	R.F. Amplifier	250	- 3.0	100	2.0	8.2	800000	1600	1280			6D6
<b>7</b> <u>ℓ</u>	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	s.	7H	6.3	0.3	5.2	6.8	.01	Class-A Amp.	250	- 3.0	100	0.5	2.0		1600	1280			6D7
5	Electron-Ray Tube	<b>S</b> .	6R	6.3	0.3	—	—		Indicator Tube	250	0	—		0.25		larget Currer				6E5
<b>6</b> #	Twin Triode Amplifier	м.	7B	6.3	0.6				Class-A Amp.	250	-27.5	Pe	r plate—18		3500	1700	6.0	14000	1.6	6E6
7 🕖	Variable-µ Pentode	<b>S</b> .	7H	6.3	0.3				R.F. Amplifier				Characte		ne as 6U7G					6E7
7	Triode Pentode	s.	7E	6.3	0.3		—		Triode Unit Amp. Pentode Unit Amplifier	100 250	- 3.0 - 3.0	100	1,5	3.5 6.5	16000 850000	500 1100	8 900		_	6F7
J5/6G5	Electron-Ray Tube	s.	6R	6.3	0.3	—			Indicotor Tube	250 100		Grid Bios Grid Bias		0.24 0.19		Target Curre Torget Curre				6U5/6G
15	Electron-Ray Tube	s.	6R	6.3	0.3		_		Indicator Tube			Sar	ne characte	eristics as	Type 6G5-	<b>Circular</b> Patt	ern			6H5
5	Electron-Ray Tube	s.	6R	6.3	0.3				Indicator Tube	250	Cut-off	Grid Bios	= −12 v.	0.24	1	arget Curren	t 4 ma.			6T5
<u> </u>	Tetrode R.F. Amplifier	S.	5E	6.3	0.3	3.8	9	.007	R.F. Amplifier	250	- 3.0	90	1.7	3.2	550000	1080	595			36
	Triode Detector Amplifier	S.	5A	6.3	0.3	3.5	2.9	2	Class-A Amp.	250	-18.0			7.5	8400	1100	9.2		-	37
	Pentode Power Amplifier	<b>S</b> ,	5F	6.3	0.3	3.5	7.5	0.3	Class-A Amp.	250	-25.0	250	3.8	22.0	100000	1200	120	10000	2.5	38
/44	Remote Cut-off Pentode	S.	5F	6.3	0.3	3.8	10	.007	R.F. Amplifier	250	- 3.0	90	1.4	5.8	1000000	1050	1050			39/44
,	Pentode Power Amplifier	S.	6B	6.3	0.4				Closs-A Amp.	250	-18.0	250	5,5	32.0	68000	2200	150	7600	3.4	41
	Pentode Power Amplifier	м.	6B	6.3	0.7		_		Class-A Amp.	250	-16.5	250	6.5	34.0	100000	2200	220	7000	3.0	42
	Dual Grid Triode	м.	5C	6.3	0.3		_	—	Closs-A Amp. <sup>4</sup> Class-B, 2 tubes <sup>5</sup>	110 180	0			43.0 3.0	1750	3000	5.2	2000 10000	1.5 5.0	52
AS	Triode Amplifier	s.	5A	6.3	0.4		_		Class-A Amp.				C	haracteris	lics same as	56		La	1	56AS
AS	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	s.	6F	6.3	0.4	_	_		R.F. Amplifier				C	haracteris	lics same os	57				57AS
AS	Remote Cut-off Pentode	s.	6F	6.3	0.4				R.F. Amplifier						lics same as					58A5
	Duplex-Diode Triode	s.	6G	6.3	0.3	1.7	3.8	1.7	Triode Amplifler	250	- 1.35			0.4	91000	1100	100			75
	Triode Detector Amplifier	s.	5A	6.3	0.3	3.5	2,5	2.8	Closs-A Amp.	250	-13.5			5.0	9500	1450	13.8	—		76
	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	s.	6F	6.3	0.3	4.7	11	.007	R.F. Amplifier	250	- 3.0	100	0.5	2.3	1500000	1250	1500			77
	Voriable-µ Pentode	s.	6F	6.3	0.3	4,5	ii—	.007	R.F. Amplifier	250	- 3.0	100	1.7	7.0	800000	1450	1160			78
	Twin Triode Amplifier	s.	6H	6.3	0.6				Class-B Amp.	250	0				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	t is for one l		14000	8.0	79
_	Duplex-Diode Triode	s.	6G	6.3	0.3	1.5	4.3	1.5	Class-A Amp.	250	-20.0			8.0	7500	1100	8.3	20000	0.35	85
AS		s. S.	6G	6.3	0.3				Class-A Amp.	250	- 9.0			5.5		1250	20			85AS
SAS	Duplex-Diode Triode	э.			0.5				Triode Amp. <sup>2</sup>	250	-31.0			32.0	2600	1800	4.7	5500	0.9	
,	Power Amplifier Pentode	<b>S</b> .	6F	6.3	0.4		_		the state states											89

61A

\_\_\_\_\_

#### TABLE IV-6.3-VOLT GLASS RECEIVING TUBES-Continued

			Socket	Fil. or	Heater	Сара	acitance	εµµfd.	1	Plate	Grid	Screen	Screen	Plate	Plate	Transcon-	Amp	Load	Power	
Туре	Name	Base	Connec- tions	Volts	Amp.	In	Out	Plate - Grid	Use	Supply Volts	Bias	Volts	Current Ma.	Current Ma.	Resistance Ohms	ductance Micromhos	Factor	Resistance Ohms	Output Watts	Туре
1221	Pentode R.F. Amplifier	<b>S</b> .	6F	6.3	0.3			—	Class-A Amp.			Spe	cial non-mi	crophonic	. Characteris	itics same as	6C6			1221
1603 <sup>1</sup>	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	M.	6F	6.3	0.3			—	Class-A Amp.				Cł	naracteristi	ics same as	6C6				1603
5871	Beam Power Amplifier	0.	7AC	6.3	0.45	9.5	7.5	0.7	Class-A Amp.	315	-13	225	2.2	34	77000	3750		8500	5,5	5871
7700*	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	<b>S</b> .	6F	6,3	0.3	-		—	Class-A Amp.				CI	arocteristi	cs same as	6C6				7700

\* Cathode bias resistor-ohms. # Discontinued. <sup>1</sup> Current to input plate (P<sub>1</sub>), <sup>2</sup> Grids Nos. 2 and 3 connected to plate. <sup>3</sup> Low noise, nonmicrophonic tubes.

4 G2 tied to plate. 5 G1 tied to G2. 6 Osc. grid leak ohms.

<sup>7</sup> Screen dropping resistor ohms.
 <sup>8</sup> Grid No. 2, screen; grid No. 3, suppressor.
 <sup>9</sup> Values for single tube.

<sup>10</sup> Values for two tubes in push-pull.
<sup>11</sup> Plate-to-plate value.

<sup>12</sup> No signal value.

TABLE V-2.5-VOLT RECEIVING TUBES

			Socket	Fil. or	Heater	Cap	acitance	e μμfd.		Plate	Grid	Screen	Screen	Plate	Plate	Transcon-	Amp.	Load	Power	_
Түре	Name	Base	Connec- tions	Volts	Amp.	In	Out	Plate- Grid	Use	Supply Volts	Bias	Volts	Current Ma.	Current Ma.	Resistance Ohms	ductance Micromhos	Factor	Resistance Ohms	Output Watts	Туре
25/45	Duodiode	Μ.	5D	2.5	1.35			—	Detector		1		At 50 d.	c. Volts pe	r plote, cath	ode ma. = 80	0			25/45
2A3	Triode Power Amplifier	M.	4D	2.5	2.5	7.5	5.5	16.5	Class-A Amp.				Characte	ristics san	ne as Type (	6A3, Table IV	۷			2A3
2A5	Pentode Power Amplifier	M.	6B	2.5	1.75	—		-	Class-A Amp.				Characte	eristics san	ne as Type 4	42, Table IV				2A5
2A6	Duplex-Diode Triode	<b>S</b> .	6G	2,5	0.8	1.7	3.8	1.7	Class-A Amp.				Characte	ristics san	ie as Type 7	75, Table IV				2A6
2A7	Pentagrid Converter	<b>S</b> .	7C	2.5	0.8				Converter				Characte	ristics san	ne as Type (	5A7, Table IV	V			2A7
286	<b>Direct-Coupled Amplifier</b>	M.	7 J	2,5	2,25		—	-	Amplifier	250	24.0	_		40.0	5150	3500	18.0	5000	4.0	286
287	Duplex-Diode Pentode	<b>S</b> .	7D	2,5	0.8	3,5	9.5	.007	Pentode Amp.				Characteri	stics same	as Type 68	7—Table IV				2B7
255	Electron-Ray Tube	<b>S</b> .	6R	2,5	0.8			-	Indicator Tube				Characteri	istics same	as Type 65	5—Table IV				265
2G5	Electron-Ray Tube	<b>S</b> .	6R	2.5	0.8				Indicator Tube				Characteri	stics same	as 6U5/6G	5—Table IV				2G5
24-A	Tetrode R.F. Amplifier	м.	58	2.5	1,75	5.3	10,5	.007	Screen-Grid R.F. Amplifier	250	- 3.0	90	1.7	4.0	600000	1050	630	—		24-A
	1					·			Bias Detector	250	- 5.0	20/45	1	Plate, cur	rent adjuste	d to 0.1 ma.	with no	signal		
									Class-A Amp.	250	-21.0			5.2	9250	975	9.0			27
27	Triode Detector-Amplifier	м.	5A	2,5	1.75	3,1	2.3	3,3	<b>Bias Detector</b>	250	30.0			Plate curr	ent adjusted	d to 0.2 ma.	with no	signal		L.,
15/31	Remote Cut-off Pentode	м.	58	2.5	1.75	5.3	10.5	.007	Screen-Grid R.F. Amplifier	250	- 3.0	90	2.5	6.5	400000	1050	420	_		35/51
45	Triode Power Amplifier	м.	4D	2,5	1.5	4	3	7	Class-A Amp.	275	56.0		—	36.0	1700	2050	3.5	4600	2.00	45
					1.74				Class-A Amp. <sup>2</sup>	250	-33.0	-		22.0	2380	2350	5.6	6400	1.25	46
46	Dual-Grid Power Amp.	м.	SC	2,5	1,75				Class-B Amp. <sup>3</sup>	400	0			12	Power out	put for 2 tub	85	5800	20.0	
47	Pentode Power Amplifier	M.	5B	2.5	1.75	8.6	13	1.2	Class-A Amp.	250	-16.5	250	6.0	31.0	60000	2500	150	7000	2.7	47
\$3	Twin Triode Amplifier	Μ.	7B	2,5	2.0				Class-B Amp.				Characteri	stics same	as Type 6/	A6, Table IV	-	·		53
55	Duplex-Diode Triode	5.	6G	2.5	1.0	1.5	4.3	1.5	Class-A Amp.				Characte	ristics sam	e as Type 8	35, Table IV				55
56	Triode Amplifier, Detector	<b>S</b> .	5A	2.5	1.0	3.2	2.4	3.2	Class-A Amp.				Characte	ristics sam	e as Type 7	6, Table IV				56
\$7	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	<b>S.</b>	6F	2.5	1.0	-	-	—	R.F. Amplifier	250	- 3.0	100	0.5	2.0	1500000	1225	1500			57
58	Remote Cut-off Pentode	\$,	6F	2.5	1.0	4.7	6.3	.007	Screen-Grid R.F. Amplifier	250	- 3.0	100	2.0	8.2	800000	1600	1280			58
59	Pentode Power Amplifier	м.	7 <b>A</b>	2.5	2.0		—	—	Class-A Triode 4 Class-A Pentode 5	250 250	-28.0	250	9.0	26.0 35.0	2300 40000	2600 2500	6.0 100	5000 6000	1.25	59
5608A	Twin Triode	Μ.	7B	2.5	2.0	-			Class-A Amp. <sup>6</sup>	300	- 6			6.0	13000	2450	32			5608/
EK15	Triode Power Amplifier	M.	4D1	2.5	1.75		-				Chara	cteristics	same as Ty	vpe 46 wil	h Class-B c	1				RK15
EK15	Triode Power Amplifier	M.	5A	2,5	2.0	-										le connection	15			RK16
RK 10	Pontode Power Amplifier	M.	SF	2,5	2.0	-							aracteristic							RK17

<sup>1</sup> Grid connection to cap; no connection to No. 3 pln. <sup>2</sup> Grid No. 2 tied to plate. <sup>3</sup> Grids Nos, 1 and 2 tied together.

<sup>4</sup> Grids Nos. 2 and 3 connected to plate,

<sup>5</sup> Grid No. 2, screen; grid No. 3, suppressor, <sup>5</sup> Valves each section,

#### TABLE VI-2.0-VOLT BATTERY RECEIVING TUBES

-		ĺ	Socket	Fila	ment	Сарс	citanc	e μμfd.		Plate	Grid		Screen	Plate	Plate	Transcon-		Logd	Power	
Туре	Name	Base	Connec- tions	Volts	Amp.	In	Out	Plate- Grid	Use	Supply Volts	Bias	Screen Volts	Current Ma.	Current Ma.	Resistance Ohms	ductance Micromhos		Resistance Ohms	Output Watts	Туре
1A4P	Variable-µ Pentode	<b>S</b> .	4M	2.0	0.06	5	11	.007	R.F. Amplifier	180	- 3.	67.5	0.8	2.3	1000000	750	750	-	-	1A4P
1A4T	Variable-µ Tetrode	<b>S</b> .	4K	2.0	0.06	5	11	.007	R.F. Amplifier	180	- 3.0	67.5	0.7	2:3	960000	750	720			1A4T
1A6	Pentagrid Converter	<b>S</b> .	6L	2.0	0.06				Converter	180	- 3.	67.5	2.4	1.3	500000	Anode gri	d (No. 2	) 180 max.	volts	1A6
184/951	Pentode R.F. Amplifier	<b>S</b> .	4M	2.0	0.06	5	11	.007	R.F. Amplifier	180 90	- 3.0 - 3.0	67.5 67.5	0.6 0.7	1.7 1.6	1500000 1000000	650 600	1000 550		—	184/951
185/255	Duplex-Diode Triode	<b>S</b> .	6M	2.0	0.06	1.6	1.9	3.6	Triode Class-A	135	- 3.0	—	—	0.8	35000	575	20			185/255
1C6	Pentogrid Converter	<b>S</b> .	6L	2.0	0.12	10	10	-	Converter	180	- 3.0	67.5	2.0	1.5	750000	Anode gri	d (No. 2	) 135 mox.	volts	1C6
1F4	Pentode Power Amplifier	Μ.	5K	2.0	0.12	—	—	—	Class-A Amp.	135	- 4.5	135	2.6	8.0	200000	1700	340	16000	0.34	1F4
			6W		0.06		9	.007	R.F. Amplifier	180	- 1.5	67.5	0.6	2.0	1000000	650	650		-	
1F6	Duplex-Diode Pentode	<b>S</b> .	011	2.0	0.08			.007	A.F. Amplifier	135	- 1.0	135	Plote	e, 0.25 me	gohm; scree	n, 1.0 mego	hm	Amp. = 4	8	1F6
15#	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	<b>S.</b>	5F	2.0	0.22	2.3	7.8	0.01	R.F. Amplifier	135	- 1.5	67.5	0.3	1.85	800000	750	600			15
19	Twin-Triode Amplifier	<b>S</b> .	6C	2.0	0.26				Class-B Amp.	135	0			-	Lood	plate-to-plat		10000	2.1	19
30	Triode Detector Amplifier	<b>S</b> .	4D	2.0	0.06				Class-A Amp.	180	-13.5			3.1	10300	900	9.3			30
31	Triode Power Amplifier	<b>S</b> .	4D	2.0	0.13	3.5	2.7	5.7	Class-A Amp.	180	30.0			12.3	3600	1050	3.8	5700	0.375	31
32	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	Μ.	4K	2.0	0.06	5.3	10.5	.015	R.F. Amplifier	180	- 3.0	67.5	0.4	1.7	1200000	650	780			32
33	Pentode Power Amplifier	Μ.	5K	2.0	0.26	8	12	1	Class-A Amp.	180	-18.0	180	5.0	22.0	55000	1700	90	6000	1.4	33
34	Variable-µ Pentode	M.	4M	2.0	0.06	6	11	.015	R.F. Amplifier	180	- 3.0	67.5	1.0	2.8	1000000	620	620	—		34
49		м.	5C	2.0	0.12				Class-A Amp. <sup>1</sup>	135	20,0			6.0	4175	1125	4.7	11000	0.17	49
47	Dual-Grid Power Amp.	- m.	30	2.0	0.12				Class-B Amp. <sup>2</sup>	180	0			P	ower output	for 2 tubes		12000	3.5	47
840	Pentode	<b>S.</b>	5J	2.0	0.13		—	—	Class-A Amp.	180	- 3.0	67.5	0.7	1.0	1000000	400	400			840
950	Pentode Power Amplifier	Μ.	5K	2.0	0,12		—	-	Class-A Amp.	135	-16.5	135	2.0	7.0	100000	1000	125	13500	0.575	950
RK24	Triode	Μ.	4D	2.0	0,12		—		Class-A Amp.	180	-13.5	—	—	8.0	5000	1600	8.0	12000	0.25	RK24
1229	Tetrode	M.	4K	2.0	0.06							S	pecial Type	32 for lo	w grid-curre	nt applicatio	ns			1229
1230	Triode	Μ.	4D	2.0	0.06	3.0	2.1	6.0				Sj	pecial Type	30 for lo	w grid_curre	nt applicatio	ns			1230

# Discontinued.

<sup>1</sup> Grid No. 2 tied to plate.

<sup>2</sup> Grids Nos. 1 and 2 tied together.

#### TABLE VII-2.0-VOLT BATTERY TUBES WITH OCTAL BASES

		Socket	Fila	ment	Сарс	citance	e μμfd.		Plate	Grid	Screen	Screen	Plate	Plate	Transcon-		Load	Power	
Туре	Name	Connec- tions	Volts	Amp.	In	Out	Plate- Grid	Use	Supply Volts	Bias	Volts	Current Ma.	Current Ma.	Resistance Ohms	ductance Micromhos	Factor	Resistance Ohms	Output Watis	Туре
1C7G	Heptode	7Z.	2.0	0.06	10	14	0.26	Converter			Cł	aracteristi	ics same a	s Type 1C6—1	able VI	-			1C7G
1D5GP	Variable-µ Pentode	5Y	2.0	0.06	5	11	.007	R.F. Amplifier			Ch	aracteristic	s same as	Type 1A4P-	Toble VI				1D5GP
1D5GT #	Variable-µ Tetrade	5R	2.0	0.06	—	—		R.F. Amplifier	180	- 3.0	67.5	0,7	2.2	600000	650				1D5GT
1D7G	Pentagrid Converter	7Z	2.0	0.06	10.5	9.0	0.25	Converter			CH	naracteristi	cs same a	Type 1A6-1	Table VI				1D7G
1E5GP	Pentode Amplifier	5Y	2.0	0.06	5	11	.007	R.F. Amplifier			CI	haracteristi	ics some a	s Type 1B4—T	able VI		-		1E5GP
1E7G	Double Pentode Power Amp.	8C	2.0	0.24	—	—		<b>Class-A Amplifier</b>	135	- 7.5	135	2.01	6.51	220000	1600	350	24000	0.65	1E7G
1F5G	Pentode Power Amplifier	6X	2.0	0.12	_	—		<b>Class-A Amplifier</b>			CF	aracteristi	cs same a	s Type 1F4-T	able VI	-			1F5G
1F7G2	Duplex-Diode Pentode	7AD	2.0	0.06	3.8	9.5	0.01	Detector-Amplifier			Cł	naracteristi	cs same a	s Type 1F6—T	able VI				1F7G
1G5G	Pentode Power Amplifier	6X	2.0	0.12	—	—	—	Class-A Amplifier	135	-13.5	135	2.5	8.7	160000	1550	250	9000	0.55	1G5G
1H4G	Triode Amplifier	55	2.0	0.06	_		-	Detector-Amplifier			C	haracterist	ics same a	s Type 30-T	able VI				1H4G
1H6G	Duplex-Diode Triode	7AA	2.0	0.06	1.6	1.9	3.6	Detector-Amplifier			CH	aracteristi	cs same a	: Type 185—1	able VI				1H6G
1J5G #	Pentode Power Amplifier	6X	2.0	0.12	—			Class-A Amplifier	135	-16.5	135	2.0	7.0		950	100	13500	0.45	1J5G
1J6GT	Twin Triode	7AB	2.0	0.24	—			Class-B Amplifier			С	haracterist	ics same a	s Type 19-T	able VI				1.J6G
			2.0	0.12				Class-A, 1 section	90	- 1.5	—		1.1	26600	750	20			4A6G
4A6G	Twin Triode	8L	4.0	0.06		—		Class-B, 2 sections	90	- 1.5	-		10.8 <sup>3</sup>			-	8000	1.0	4400

= Discontinued.

<sup>1</sup> Total current for both sections; no signal.

<sup>2</sup> Type GV has 7AF base.

<sup>3</sup> Max. signal,

#### TABLE VIII-1.3-VOLT TILAMENT BATTERT TODES

#### See also Table X for Special 1.4-volt Tubes

			Socket	Fila	ment	Cape	icitance	μµfd.		Plate	Grid	Screen	Screen	Plate	Plate	Transcon-	Amp.	Load	Power	_
Туре	Name	Base	Connec- tions	Volts	Amp.	In	Out	Plate- Grid	Use	Supply Volts	Bias	Volts	Current Ma.	Current Ma.	Resistance Ohms	ductance Micromhos	Factor	Resistance Ohms	Output M-watts	
1A5GT	Pentode Power Amplifier	Ο.	6X	1.4	0.05				Class-A1 Amp.	90	-4.5	90	0.8	4.0	300000	850	240	25000	115	1A5GT
1A7GT	Pentagrid Converter	О.	7Z	1.4	0.05		. Grid		Converter	90	0	45	0.7	0.6	600000	250		ode-grid olts 90		1A7GT
1 A B 5	Pentode R.F. Amplifier	L.	5BF	1.2	0.05	2.8	4.2	0.25	R.F. Amplifier	90 150	0 	90 150	0.8	3.5 6.8	275000	1100 1350			—	1 AB5
1B7GT #	Heptode	Ο.	7Z	1.4	0.1		—		Converter	90	0	45	1.3	1.5	350000	Grid No.	1 resist	or 200,000	ohms	1B7GT
1B8GT	Diode Triode Pentode	о.	8AW	1.4	0.1		—		Triode Amplifier Pentode Amp.	90 90	0 6.0	90	1.4	0.15 6.3	240000	275 1150	$\equiv$	14000	210	188GT
1C5GT	Pentode Power Amplifier	Ο.	6X	1.4	0.1				Class-A1 Amp.	90	-7.5	90	1.6	7.5	115000	1550	165	8000	240	1C5GT
1D8GT	Diode Triode Pentode	<b>o</b> .	8AJ	1.4	0.1		—		Triode Amp. Pentode Amp.	90 90	0	90	1.0	1.1 5.0	43500 200000	575 925		=		1D8GT
1E4G	Triode Amplifier	о.	55	1.4	0.05	2,4	6	2.40	Class-A Amp.	90 90	0 3.0			4.5 1.5	11000 17000	1325 825	14.5 14			1E4G
1G4GT	Triode Amplifier	Ο.	55	1.4	0.05	2.2	3.4	2.80	Class-A Amp.	90	-6.0			2.3	10700	825	8.8			1G4GT
1G6GT	Twin Triode	о.	7AB	1.4	0.1				Class-A Amp.	90	0		<u>⊢</u>	1.0	45000	675	30			1G6GT
									Class-B Amp.	90	0			1/7		ts input per	· · · · ·	12000	675	1H5GT
1H5GT	Diode High-µ Triode	0.	5Z	1.4	0.05	1.1	6	1.00	Class-A Amp.	90	0			0.14	240000 s same as 1	275	65			11.44
1LA4	Pentode Power Amplifier	L.	5AD	1.4	0.05				Class-A Amp.	90			1	1		1				
1LA6	Pentagrid Converter	ι.	7AK	1.4	0.05		c. Grid 200000		Converter	90	0	45 90	0.6	0.55	7 50000 200000	250 925	Anode	Grid Volts	90 200	1LA6 1LB4
1184	Pentode Power Amplifier	L.	5AD	1.4	0.05			-	Class-A Amp.	90	-9 0	67.5	1.0	0.4		925 rid No. 4-6	7.5	-	200	1LB6
1LB6	Heptode Converter	L.	8AX	1.4	0.05				Converter	90 90	0	45	0.2	1.15	1500000	775	/.3 v., I	NO. 3		11C5
ILC5	Remote Cut-off Pentode	ι.	740	1.4	0.05	3.2	7 c. Grid	.007	R.F. Amplifier			· · · · ·				·				
11.C6	Pentagrid Converter	L.	7AK	1.4	0.05		200000	Ω	Converter	90 90	0	351 45	0.7	0.75	650000 950000	275 600	Anode	Grid Volts	45	1LC6 1LD5
1LD5	Diode Pentode	L	6AX	1.4	0.05	3.2	6	0.18	Class-A Amp.	90	0	43	0.1	4.5	11200	1300			<u> </u>	
1LE3	Triode Amplifier	L.	444	1.4	0.05	1.7	3	1.70	Class-A Amp.	90	3		-	1.3	19000	760	14.5			1LE3
1LF3	Triode	L.	444	1.4	0.05	1.7	3	1.7	Class-A Amp.	90	-3			1.4		760	14.5			1LF3 1LG5
1LG5	Pentode R.F. Amp.	L.	740	1.4	0.05				Class-A Amp.	90	0	45	0.4	1.7	1000000	800				11.05
1LH4	Diode High-µ Triode	L.	5AG	1.4	0.05	1.1	6	1.00	Class-A Amp.	90	0			0.15	240000	275	65			ILN5
1LN5	Remote Cut-off Pentode	L.	740	1.4	0.05	3.4	8	.007	Class-A Amp.	90 90	0	90 90	0.3	1.2	1500000	750	1160			1N5GT
IN5GT	Remote Cut-off Pentode	0.	5Y	1.4	0.05	3	10	.007	Class-A Amp.	90	-4.5	90	0.6	3.1	300000	800	1100	25000	100	1N6G
1N6G #	Diode-Power-Pentode	0.	7 A M 5 Y	1.4	0.05	3	10	.007	Class-A Amp. R.F. Amplifier	90	0	90	0.7	2.3	800000	800	640	10000		1P5GT
1P5GT	Pentode	0.		1		3	10	.007		85	-5.0	85	1.2	7.2	70000	1950	0.0	9000	250	
1Q5GT	Tetrode Power Amplifier	О.	6AF	1.4	0.1				Class-A Amp.	90	-4.5	90	1.6	9.5	75000	2100		8000	270	1Q5GT
1R4/1294	U.h.f. Diode	ι.	4AH	1.4	0.15				Rectifier		Max	. r.m.s. ve	oltage per p	olate-30	Max.	d.c. output a	urrent-	-340 µa.		1R4/129
1SA6GT	Medium Cut-off Pentode	Ο.	6CA	1.4	0.05	5.2	8.6	0.01	R.F. Amplifier	90	0	67.5	0.68	2.45	800000	970	<u> </u>		I —	1SA6GT
1SB6GT	Diode Pentode	о.	6CB	1.4	0.05	3.2	3	0.25	Class-A Amp. R.C. Amplifier	90 90	0	67.5 90	0.38	1.45 reen resist	700000	665 grid 10 meg.		1 meg.	1102	1SB6GT
1T5GT	Beam Power Amplifier	Ο.	6AF	1.4	0.05	4.8	8	0.50	Class-A Amp.	90	6.0	90	1.4	6.5	<u> </u>	1150		14000	170	1T5GT
387/1291	U.h.f. Twin Triode	L.	7BE	2.8 3	0.11	1.4	2.6	2.6	Class-A Amp.	90	0			5.2	11350	1850	21			387/129
1293	U.h.f. Triode	L.	444	1.4	0.11	1.7	3.0	1.7	Class-A Amp.	90	0			4.7	10750	1300	14			1293
3D6/1299		L.	688	2.8 3	0.11	7.5	6.5	0.30	Class-A Amp.	135	-6	90	0.7	5.7		2200	—	13000	500	3D6/129
3E6	R.F. Pentode	L.	7CJ	1.4 2.8	0.10	5.5	7.5	0.007	Class-A Amp.	90	0	90	1.3	3.8	300000	2100		—	-	3E6
RK42	Triode Amplifier	5.	4D	1.5	0.6		—		Class-A Amp.				Characte	ristics son	ne as Type :	30—Table V	1			RK42
RK43	Twin Triode Amplifier	5.	6C	1.5	0.12		-		Class-A Amp.	135	-3			4.5	14500	900	13			RK43

# Discontinued.

<sup>1</sup> Through series resistor. Screen voltage must be at least 10 volts lower than oscillator anode.

² Voltage gain.

<sup>3</sup> Center-tap filament permits 1.4-volt operation.

#### TABLE IX-HIGH-VOLTAGE HEATER TUBES

			Socket	He	ater	Cape	acitanc	e μμfd.		Plate			Screen	Plate	Plate	Transcan-		Load	Power	
Туре	Name	Base	Connec- tions	Volts	Amp.	In	Out	Plate- Grid	Use	Supply Volts	Grid Bias	Screen Volts	Current Ma.	Current Ma.	Resistance Ohms	ductance Micromhos	Amp. Factor	Resistance Ohms		Typa
2052	High-µ Twin Triode	Ο.	8BD	12.6	0.3	2.3	0,75	2.7	Class-A Amp.	250	-2	-		1.3		1900	100	-	_	2C52
12A5 8	Pentode Pawer Amplifier	м.	7F	12.6 6.3	0.3	9.0	9.0	0.3	Class-A1 Amp.6	100 180	-15 -25	100	3/6.5 8/14	17/19 45/48	50000 35000	1700 2400	=	4500 3300	0.8	12A5
12A6	Beam Power Amplifier	Ο.	7AC	12.6	0.15	-	-		Class-A Amp.	250	-12.5	250	3.5	30	70000	3000	_	7500	3.4	12A6
12A7	Rectifier-Amplifier	Μ.	7K	12.6	0.3	-			Class-A Amp.	135	-13.5	135	2,5	9.0	102000	975	100	13500	0.55	12A7
12ABGT	Heptode	0.	8A	12.6	0.15	9.5	12	0.26	Canverter		1		Chara	cteristics s	ame as 6A	8-Table I			I	12A8GT
12AH7GT	Twin Triode	0.	88E	12.6	0.15	Eact	Triod	e Sect.	Class-A Amp.	180	- 6.5			7.6	8400	1900	16			12AH7G
1286M	Diode Triode	0.	6Y	12.6	0.15		1	-	Class-A Amp.	250	- 2.0	-		0.9	91000	1100	100	_		1286M
1287ML	Pentode Amplifier	Ο.	8V	12.6	0.15		-	-	Class-A Amp.	250	- 3.0	100	2.6	9.2	800000	2000				1287 ML
1288GT 8	Triade-Pentode	О.	8T	12.6	0.3		ode Se tade Se		Class-A Amp. Class-A Amp.	100	- 1	100	2	0.6 8	73000	1500	110 360	=	=	1288GT
12C8	Duplex-Diade Pentade	0.	8E	12.6	0.15	6	19	.005	Class-A Amp.				Chara	cteristics s	ame as 688	-Table I		1		12C8
12E5GT	Triade Amplifier	0.	6Q	12.6	0.15	3.4	5.5	2.60	Class-A Amp.	250	-13.5	I —		50	I —	1450	13.8	1	_	12E5GT
12F5GT	Triade Amplifier	0.	5M	12.6	0.15	1.9	3.4	2.40	Class-A Amp.		,		Chorac	J	me as 6SF5	-				12F5GT
12G7G	Duplex-Diade Triade	0.	7V	12.6	0.15	-	-		Class-A Amp.	250	- 3.0	- 1	1	-	58000		70	1		12G7G
12116	Twin Diode	0.	70	12.6	0.15			_	Rectifier		1	1	Chara	cteristics s	ame as 6H		1			12H6
1215GT	Triode Amplifier	0.	60	12.6	0.15	3.4	3.6	3.40	Class-A Amp.			_			same as 6J			_		12J5GT
12.J7GT	Sharp Cut-off Pentade	0.	7R	12.6	0.15	4.2	5.0	3.8	Class-A Amp.	1	_			-	ame as 6J7				_	12J7GT
12K7GT	Remote Cut-off Pentode	0.	7R	12.6	0.15	4.6	12	005	R.F. Amplifier	1					ame as 6K7				-	12K7GT
12K8	Triade Hexode Canverter	0.	8K	12.6	0.15		-		Converter						ame as 6Ki				_	12K8
12LIGT	Twin Pentode	0.	BBU	12.6	0.15	5	6	0.70	Class-A1 Amp.	180	- 9.0	180	2.8	13.0	160000		1	10000	110	12L8GT
12Q7GT	Duplex-Diade Triode	0.	77	12.6	0.15	2.2	5	1.60	Class-A Amp.	100	7.0	100			ame as 6Q			10000	1.0	12Q7 GT
1258GT	Triple-Diode Triade	0.	8CB	12.6	0.15	2.0	3.8	1.2	Class-A Amp.	250	- 2.0	1	Churc	0.9	91000		100	1		1258GT
125A7	Heptade	0.	8R	12.6	0.15	9.5	12	0.13	Converter	2.50	- 2.0		Charge		me as 65A		1 100	1		125801 125A7
12507	Twin Triode	0.	85	12.6	0.15	2.2	3.0	2.0	Class-A Amp.	-					ame as 65C					12567
125F5	High-µ Triode	0.	6AB	12.6	0.15	4	3.6	2.40	Class-A Amp.			_			ame as 6SF	and the second sec			_	125E7
125F7	Diade Variable-µ Pentade	0.	7AZ	12.6	0.15	5.5	6.0	.004	Class-A Amp.		_				ame as 6SF					125F5
12567	Medium Cut-off Pentode	0.	8BK	12.6	0.15	8,5	7.0	.004	Class-A Amp.						ame as 65G				_	125F7
125H7	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	0.	8BK	12.6	0.15	8.5	7.0	-	H-F Amplifier					states and states and states	ame as 65H	the second se	_		_	
125.17	Sharp Cut-off Pentade	0. 0.	8N	12.6	0.15	0.5	7.0	.003	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		_				ame as osri ame as 65J				_	125H7 125J7
125K7	Remote Cut-off Pentade	0.	8N	12.6	0.15		7.0	002	Class-A Amp.										-	
125L7GT	Twin Triade	0.	8BD	12.6	0.15	6.0	1.0	.003							ame as 6SK					125K7
125N7GT	Twin Triade	0. 0.	8BD	12.6	0.13		-		Class-A Amp.							GT-Table I			_	12SL7GT
12507	Duplex-Diode Triade	0.	80	12.6	0.15	3.2	3.0	1.60	Class-A Amp.	-						7GT-Table			_	12507
12587	Duplex-Diode Triode	0.	80	12.6	_	-	-	2.40	Class-A Amp.						ame as 65Q					
125K/	Duplex-Diade Triade	0.	80	12.6	0.15	3.6	2.8	-	Class-A Amp.		1 0		Charac		me as 6R7		1 14	T		125R7
125W/	Twin Triode	0.	8BD		0.15	3.0	2.8	2.4	Class-A1 Amp.	250	- 9			9.5	8500	1900	16			125W7
12517	Heptode Canverter	0.	8R	12.6 12.6	0.3		0.8 cGrid		Class-A1 Amp. <sup>5</sup> Canverter	250 250	- 8	100	8.5	9 3.5	7700 1000000	2600 450	20	-	=	125X7 125Y7
12V6GT	Beam Pentade	0.	7AC	12.6	0.225	_	7.5		Class-A Amp.	315	-13	225	2.2/6	34/35	80000	3750	-	8500	5.5	12V6GT
1444	Triade Amplifier	L.	5AC	14	0.16	3.4	3.0	4.00	Class-A Amp.	0.5	- 10		Charac					0.00	0.0	1444
1485	Beam Pawer Amplifier	L.	6AA	14	0.16	3.4	3.0	4.00	Class-A1 Amp.	250	-12.5	250	3.5/5.5	30/32	70000	3000		7500	2.8	14A5
14A7/ 12B7	Remate Cut-off Pentade	L.	8V	14	0.16	6.0	7.0	.005	Class-A Amp.	250	- 3.0	100	2.6	9.2	800000	2000			2.0	14A7/ 12B7
HAFT	Twin Triode	L.	8AC	14	0.16	2.2	1.6	2.30	Class-A Amp.	250	-10			9	7600	2100	16	-		14AF7
1484	Duplex-Diode Triade	L.	8W	14	0.16	4.4	1.0	2.30	Class-A Amp.	2.50	~10		Charas	· · · · · ·	me as 786		10			1486
1488	Pentagrid Converter	L.	8X	14	0.16		2-41	10	Converter			-			ame as 788					1488
14C5	Beam Pawer Amplifier	L.	644	14	0.18	1		nu.			_				ame as 6V6					1408
	Lease Lower withinger	Ref.	JAA	1.44	0.24	1			Class-A Amp.	1			Chord	CINTISTICS S	ume as 6¥6					140.0

V23

#### TABLE IX-HIGH-VOLTAGE HEATER TUBES-Continued

			Socket	He	ater	Сар	scitance	εµµfd.		Plate	Grid	Screen	Screen	Plate	Plate	Transcon-		Load	Power	1
Туре	Name	Base	Connec- tions	Volts	Amp.	In	Out	Plate- Grid	Use	Supply Volts	Bias	Volts	Current Ma.	Current Ma.	Resistance Ohms	ductance Micromhos	Amp. Factor	Resistance Ohms	Output Wotts	Туре
14E6	Duplex-Diode Triode	L.	8W	14	0.16	—		-	Class-A Amp.		1		Charoe	teristics so	ome as 7E6-	-Toble III				14E6
14E7	Duplex-Diode Pentode	L.	8AE	14	0.16	4.6	5.3	.005	Class-A Amp.				Charac	teristics so	ime as 7E7-	-Toble III				14E7
14F7	Twin Triode	ι.	8AC	14	0.16	-		-	Class-A Amp.				Charoo	teristics so	ame as 7F7-	-Toble III				14F7
14F8	Twin Triode	L.	88W	12.6	0.15	2.8	1.4	1.2	Closs-A1 Amp.				c	haracteris	tics some as	7F8				14F8
14H7	Semi-Variable-µ Pentode	L.	8V	14	0.16	8.0	7.0	.007	Class-A Amp.	250	- 2.5	150	3.5	9.5	800000	3800				14H7
14J7	Triode-Hexode Converter	L.	8BL	14	0.16	l F	ot = 5 N	la.	Converter		+		Charac	teristics so	ame as 7J7-	-Table III				14J7
14N7	Twin Triode	L.	8AC	14	0.32		-	-	Class-A Amp.				Charac	teristics so	me as 7N7-	-Toble III	1			14N7
14Q7	Heptode Pentagrid Converter	ι.	8AL	14	0.16	—	-	—	Converter				Charoo	teristics so	ime os 7Q7	—Table III				14Q7
14R7	Duplex-Diode Pentode	L.	8AE	14	0.16	5.6	5.3	.004	Class-A Amp.				Charoci	leristics sa	me as 7R7—	-Table III				14R7
1457	Triode Heptode	L.	8BL	14	0.16	1	t = 5 N	۱a.	Converter	250	- 2.0	100	3	1.8	1250000	525				1457
14V7	H.f. Pentode	L.	8V	14	0.24				Class-A Amp.	300	- 2.0	150	3.9	9.6	300000	5800				14V7
14W7	Pentode	L.	8BJ	14	0.24	Rk	= 160 c	ohms	Class-A Amp.	300	- 2.2	150	3.9	10	300000	5800				14W7
14X7	Twin Diode Triode	L.	8BZ	12.6	0.15	—	-		Class-A Amp.	250	- 1	—		1.9	—	1500	100		—	14X7
18	Pentode	Μ.	68	14	0.30				Class-A Amp.						cs same as i					18
198G6G	Beam Power Amp.	О.	58T	18.9	0.3	11	6.5	0.65	Deflection Amp.	400		Peak sur	ge E <sub>P</sub> =400	0 V. Peak	surge $E_G = -$	-100 V. Ig2	=6 ma.	I <sub>P</sub> =70 ma.		19BG6G
20J8GM	Triode Heptode Converter	0.	8H	20	0.15			-	Converter	250	- 3.0	100	3.4	1.5	Tria	ode Plate (No	5. 6) 10	0 v. 1.5 ma		20J8GM
21 <b>A</b> 7	Triode Hexode Converter	L.	8AR	21	0.16		<u> </u>	_	Converter	250 150	- 3.0 - 3.0		2.8 riode	1.3 3.5		275 1900	32	$\equiv$	=	21A7
25A6	Pentode Power Amplifier	0.	75	25	0.3	8.5	12.5	0.20	Class-A Amp.	135	-20.0	135	8	37	35000	2450	85	4000	2.0	25A6
25A7GT	Rectifier Power Pentode	0.	8F	25	0.3	—			Closs-A Amp.	100	15.0	100	4	20.5	50000	1800	90	4500	0.77	25A7GT
25AC5GT	Triode Power Amplifier	О.	6Q	25	0.3	—		—	Class-A Amp.	110 165	+15.0	Used in	dynomic-c	45 oupled cire	cuit with 6A	3800 F5G driver	58	2000 3500	2.0 3.3	25AC5GT
25AV5GT	Beam Pentode	0.	6CK	25	0.3				Horz. Def. Amp.	250 <sup>9</sup>	-509	1759		1009	Peo	ak pos. plate	pulse =	4500 volts.		25AV5GT
2585 *	Direct-Coupled Triodes	<b>S</b> .	6D	25	0.3	—	—	—	Class-A Amp.	110	0	110	7	45	11400	2200	25	2000	2.0	2585
2586G <sup>8</sup>	Pentode Power Amplifier	0.	75	25	0.3				Class-A Amp.	95	-15.0	95	4	45	—	4000		2000	1.75	2586G
25B8GT 8	Triode Pentode	о.	8T	25	0.15				Class-A Amp.					racteristics	s same as 1	288GT	[			2588GT
258Q6GT	Beam Pentode	0.	6AM	25	0.3	—	-		Deflection Amp.	250	47*	.150	2.1	45		5500	-		—	25BQ6GT
25C6G 8	Beam Power Amplifier	0.	7AC	25	0.3	—			Class-A <sub>1</sub> Amp.	135	-13.5	135	3.5/11.5		9300	7000		2000	3.6	25C6G
25CD6G	Beam Pentode	0.	5BT	25	0.6	26	10	1.0	Deflection Amp.	500		Peak	Pos, Pulse=			. 1 <sub>P</sub> =92 ma.		.5 ma.		25CD6G
25D8GT	Diode Triode Pentode	<b>o</b> .	8AF	25	0,15	—	—	—	Triode Amp. Pentode Amp.	100 100	- 1.0 - 3.0	100	2.7	0.5	91000 200000	1100 1900	100		_	25D8GT
2516	Beam Power Amplifier	0.	7AC	25	0.3	16	13.5	0.30	Class-A1 Amp.	110	- 8.0	110	3.5/10.5	45/48	10000	8000	80	2000	2.2	25L6
25N6G8	Direct-Coupled Triodes	0.	7W	25	0.3		—	—	Class-A Amp.	110	0	110	7	45	11400	2200	25	2000	2.0	25N6G
26A7GT	Twin Beam-Power Audio Amplifier	0.	8BU	26.5	0.6		iach Ur Push-Pu		Class-A Amp. Class-AB Amp. <sup>3</sup>	26.5 26.5	- 4.5 - 7.0	26.5 26.5	2/5.5 2/8.5	20/20.5	2500	5500		1500 2500 <sup>1</sup>	0.2	26A7GT
32L7GT	Diode-Beam Tetrode	ο.	8Z	32.5	0.3	_	—		Class-A Amp.	110	- 7.5	110	3	40	15000	6000		2500	1.5	32L7GT
35A5	Beam Power Amplifier	L.	6AA	35	0.15	—			Class-A1 Amp.	110	- 7.5	110	3/7	40/41	14000	5800		2500	1.5	35A5
35L6GT	Beam Power Amplifier	0.	7AC	35	0.15	13	9.5	0.80	Class-A1 Amp.	110	- 7.5	110	3/7	40/41	13800	5800		2500	1.5	35L6GT
43	Pentode Power Amplifier	Μ.	6B	25	0.3	8.5	12.5	0.20	Class-A Amp.	95	15.0	95	4.0	20.0	45000	2000	90	4500	0.90	43
48 8	Tetrode Power Amplifier	Μ.	6A	30	0.4			—	Class-A Amp.	96	- 19.0	96	9.0	52.0		3800	_	1500	2.0	48
50A5	Beam Power Amplifier	L.	6AA	50	0.15			—	Class-A <sub>1</sub> Amp.	110	- 7.5	110	4/11	49/50	10000	8200		2000	2.2	50A5
SOC6GT	Beam Power Amplifier	0.	7AC	50	0.15	-			Class-A1 Amp.	135	-13.5	135	3.5/11.5	58/60	9300	7000		2000	3.6	50C6GT
50L6GT	Beam Power Amplifier	0.	7AC	50	0.15				Class-A Amp.	110	- 7.5	110	4/11	49/50	—	8200	82	2000	2.2	50L6GT
70A7GT	Diode-Beam Tetrode	0.	8AB1	70	0.15	_		-	Class-A Amp.	110	- 7.5	110	3.0	40		5800	80	2500	1.5	70A7GT
70L7GT	Diode-Beam Tetrode	0.	8AA	70	0.15			—	Class-A: Amp.	110	- 7.5	110	3/6	40/43	15000	7500		2000	1.8	70L7GT
117L7GT/ 117M7GT	Rectifier-Amplifier	о.	BAO	117	0.09	-			Class-A Amp.	105	- 5.2	105	4/5.5	43	17000	5300	—	4000	0.85	117L7GT/ 117M7GT
117N7GT	Rectifier-Amplifier	0.	8AV	117	0.09			—	Class-A Amp.	100	- 6.0	100	5.0	51	16000	7000		3000	1.2	117N7GT

#### TABLE IX-HIGH-VOLTAGE HEATER TUBES-Continued

			Socket	He	ater	Сара	icitanc	e μμ <mark>fd.</mark>		Plate			Screen	Plate	Plate	Transcon-		Load	Power	
Туре	Name	Base	Connec- tions	Voits	Amp.	In	Out	Plate- Grid	Use	Supply Volts	Grid Bias	Screen Volts	Current Ma.	Current Ma.	Resistance Ohms	ductance Micromhos	Amp. Factor			Туре
117P7GT	Rectifler-Amplifier	<b>O</b> .	8AV	117	0.09	_		-	Class-A Amp.	105	- 5.2	105	4/5.5	43	17000	\$300		4000	0.85	117PZGT
1280	Pentode	ι.	8V	12.6	0.15	6.0	6.5	0.007	Class-A1 Amp.				Same as	14C7 (Sp	ecial Non-n	icrophonic)				1280
1284	U.h.f. Pentode	£.	8V	12.6	0.15	5.0	6.0	0.01	Class-A Amp.	250	- 3.0	100	2.5	9.0	800000	2000			-	1284
1629	Electron-Ray Tube	0.	6RA	12.6	0.15		-		Indicator Tube										·	1629
1631	Beam Power Amplifler	0.	7AC	12.6	0.45				Class-A Amp.	. Characteristics same as 616—Table I										1631
1632	Beam Power Amplifier	Ο.	7AC	12.6	0.6	—	—		Class-A Amp.											1632
1633	Twin Triode	Ο.	8BD	25	0.15		-		Class-A Amp.				Characte	ristics sam	e as 65N7G	T—Table II				1633
1634	Twin Triode	0.	85	12.6	0.15			—	Class-A Amp.				Charac	teristics so	ime as 65C7	-Table i				1634
1644	Twin Pentode	0.	Fig. 7	12.6	0.15			-	Class-A Amp.	180	- 9.0	180	2.8/4.6	13	160000	2150	-	10000	1.0	1644
XXD/ 14AF7	Twin Triode	٤.	8AC	12.6	0.15		—		Class-A Amp.	250	10		_	9.0	—	2100	16	—	-	X X D / 14 A F 7
28D7	Double Beam Power Amplifier	ι.	8BS	28.0	0.4	—		_	Class-A Amp.	28	390* 180*	28 <sup>2</sup> 28 <sup>3</sup>	0.7 <sup>2</sup> 1.2 <sup>3</sup>	9.0 <sup>2</sup> 18.5 <sup>3</sup>			_	1	0.08 - 0.175 3	28D7
5824	Pentode	Ο.	75	25	0.3	-		—	Class-Ai Amp.	135	-22	135	2.5/14.5	61/69	15000	5000	—	1700	4.3	5824
6082	Low-Mu Twin Triode	<b>O</b> .	8BD	26.5	0.6	6.4	2.2	8.4	D.C. Amp. <sup>5</sup>	135	250 *	—		125	280	7000	2			6082

TABLE X-SPECIAL RECEIVING TUBES

\* Cathode resistor—ohms.

Name

Туре

<sup>1</sup> 6.3-valt pilot lamp must be connected between Pins 6 and 7.

<sup>2</sup> Per section—resistance-coupled. <sup>3</sup> P.p. operation—values for both sections. + Plate to plate.

<sup>3</sup> Values are for each unit. <sup>6</sup> Values are for single tube.

Plate

Plate

Current Resistance ductance Ma. Ohms Micromhos

7 Grids 2 and 3 connected to plate. <sup>8</sup> Discontinued.

Load

Resistance Output Ohms Watts

Power

Туре

<sup>9</sup> Max. value.

Amp.

Factor

Transcon-

		Socket	Fil. or	Heater	Cape	citance	∍µµfd.		Plate	<b>A</b> · 1	-	
	Base	Connec- tions	Volts	Amp.	In	Out	Plate- Grid	Use	Supply Volts	Grid Bias	Screen Volts	Ċ
	м.	4D	5.0	0.25	3.2	2.0	8.50	Grid-Leak Det.	45			
100	8.6	AD	50	0.25				Charles A. A.	107			-

		Socket	Fil. or	Heater	Cape	citance	e μμfd.		Plate	<b>C</b>		Screen
	Base	Connec- tions	Volts	Amp.	In	Out	Plate- Grid	Use	Supply Volts	Grid Bias	Screen Volts	Current Ma.
	M.	4D	5.0	0.25	3.2	2.0	8.50	Grid-Leak Det.	45			
plifier	Μ.	4D	5.0	0.25	—	—		Class-A Amp.	135	- 9.0		
de	о.	845	1.4	0.1	2.6	4.2	2.0	Class-A Triode	90	0	—	
96	0.	OAS	2.8	0.05	3.0	10.0	0.012	<b>Class-A Pentode</b>	90	0	90	0.3
fier	О.	7AP	1.4 2.8	0.1 0.05			-	Class-A Amp.	67.5	- 7.0	67.5	0.6

			1		I .			Gna	1		1	1					1		1	
00-A 7	Triode Detector	Μ.	4D	5.0	0.25	3.2	2.0	8.50	Grid-Leak Det.	45				1.5	30000	666	20	_	-	00-A
01-A 7	Triode Detector Amplifier	Μ.	4D	5.0	0.25			-	Class-A Amp.	135	- 9.0		-	3.0	10000	800	8.0	—	-	01-A
3A8GT	Diode Triode Pentode	ο.	845	1.4	0.1	2.6	4.2	2.0	Class-A Triode	90	0	—		0.15	240000	275	65	_	-	
	Diode mode remode	0.	0AJ	2.8	0.05	3.0	10.0	0.012	Class-A Pentode	90	0	90	0.3	1.2	600000	750	—		-	- 3A8GT
385GT	Beam Power Amplifier	о.	7AP	1.4 2.8	0.1 0.05	_		-	Class-A Amp.	67.5	- 7.0	67.5	0.6 0.5	8.0 6.7	100000	1650 1500		5000	0.2 0.18	3B5GT
3C5GT	Power Output Pentode	о.	740	1.4 2.8	0.1 0.05	-			Class-A Amp.	90	- 9.0	90	1.4	6.0		1550 1450	—	8000 10000	0.24 0.26	3C5GT
3C6	Twin Triode	ι.	7BW	1.4 2.8	0.1 0.05	-			Class-A Amp.	90	0	—	_	4.5	11200	1300	14.5		—	3C6
3LE4	Power Amplifler Pentode	L.	6BA	2.8	0.05		—		Class-A Amp.	90	- 9.0	90	1.8	9.0	110000	1600	—	6000	0.30	3LE4
3LF4	Beam Pentode	٤.	6BB	1.4 2.8	0.1 0.05	-			Class-A Amp.	90	- 4.5	90	1.3 1.0	9.5 8.0	75000 80000	2200 2000	—	8000 7000	0.27 0.23	3LF4
3Q5GT	Beam Power Amplifier	о.	7AQ	1.4 2.8	0.1 0.05		ilel Fil es Fila	aments ments	Class-A Amp.	90	- 4.5	90	1.3 1.0	9.5 7.5		2100 1800	—	8000	0.27 0.25	3Q5GT
4A6G	Twin Triode Amplifier	ο.	81	4.0	0.06	Trio	des Pa	rallel	Class-A Amp.	90	- 1.5	—		2.2	13300	1500	20		<u> </u>	1
	Twin Thode Ampliner	0.	01	2.0	0.12	Bo	th Sect	ions	Class-B Amp.	90	0	_		4.6			_	8000	1.0	4A6G
6F4	Acorn Triode	A.	7BR	6.3	0.225	2.0	0.6	1.90	Class-A Amp.	80	150*	—		13.0	2900	5800	17			6F4
614	U.H.F. Triode	Α.	7BR	6.3	0:225	1.8	0.5	1.6	Class-A1 Amp.	80	150*			9.5	4400	6400	28			614
10	Triode Power Amplifler	Μ.	4D	7.5	1.25	4.0	3.0	7.00	Class-A Amp.	425	-39.0			18.0	5000	1600	8.0	10200	1.6	10
11/12 7	Triode Detector Amplifler	м.	4F/4D	1.1	0.25	-	—	—	Class-A Amp.	135	-10.5			3.0	15000	440	6.6			11/12
20 7	Triode Power Amplifier	S.	4D	3.3	0.132	2.0	2.3	4.10	Class-A Amp.	135	-22.5			6.5	6300	525	3.3	6500	0.11	20
22 7	Tetrode R.F. Amplifler	Μ.	4K	3.3	0.132	3.5	10	0.02	Class-A Amp.	135	- 1.5	67.5	1.3	3.7	325000	500	160		-	22
26	Triode Amplifier	. M. ·	4D	1.5	1.05	2.8	2.5	8.10	Class-A Amp.	180	-14.5	—	_	6.2	7300	1150	8.3		-	26

#### TABLE X-SPECIAL RECEIVING TUBES-Continued

			Socket	Fil, or	Heater	Cape	icitanci	∋µµfd.		Plate	Grid	Screen	Screen Current	Plate Current	Plate Resistance	Transcon- ductance	Amp.	Load Resistance	Power Output	Туре
Туре	Name	Base	Connec- tions	Volts	Amp.	In	Out	Plate- Grid	Use	Supply Volts	Bias	Valts	Ma.	Ma,	Ohms	Micromhas	Factor	Ohms	Watts	
07	Triode Voltage Amplifier	Μ.	4D	5.0	0.25	2.8	2.2	2.00	Class-A Amp.	180	- 3.0			0.2	150000	200	30			40
	Triode Power Amplifier	M.	4D	7,5	1.25	4.2	3.4	7.10	Class-A Amp.	450	-84.0		—	55.0	1800	2100	3.8	4350	4.6	50
-	Triode Power Amplifier	м.	4D	5.0	0.25	3.2	2.9	7.50	Class-A Amp.	180	-43.0			20.0	1750	1700	3.0	4800	0.79	71-A
	Triode Detector Amplifier	5.	4D	3.3	0.063	2.5	2.5	3.30	Class-A Amp.	90	- 4.5			2.5	15500	425	6.6			99
	Triode Detector Amplifier	M.	4D	5.0	0.25			-	Class-A Amp.	180	-13.5			7.7	4700	1800	8.5		-	112A
000/	Triode Amplifier	M.	4D	5.0	1.25	—	—	-	Class-A Amp.	250	-35.0	—		18.0		1500	5.0		2.0	182B/ 482B 183/48
83/4837	Power Triode	M.	4D	5.0	1.25				Class-A Amp.	250	-60.0			25.0	18000	1800	3.2	4500	2.0	485
85 7	Triode	<b>S</b> .	5A	3.0	1.3				Class-A Amp.	180	- 9.0			6.0	9300	1350	12.5			864
64	Triode Amplifier	5.	4D	1.1	0.25				Class-A Amp.	90	- 4,5			2.9	13500	610	8.2			604
54	Pentode Detector, Amplifier	Α.	5BB	6.3	0.15	3.4	3.0	0.007	Class-A Amp. Bios Detectar	250 250	- 3.0 - 6.0	100 100	0.7	2.0 Plate curr	1.5 meg. ent to be adj	1400 justed to 0.1		h no signal	=	954
55	Triode Detector, Amplifier, Oscillator	Α.	5BC	6.3	0.15	1.0	0.6	1.40	Class-A Amp.	250 90	- 7.0 - 2.5	=	=	6.3 2.5	11400 14700	2200 1700	25	=	$\equiv$	955
56	Variable-µ Pentode R.F. Amplifier	Α.	5BB	6.3	0.15	3.4	3.0	0.007	Class-A Amp. Mixer	250 250	- 3.0 - 10.0	100 100	2.7	6.7	700000	1800 Oscillator p	1440 eak volt	 s—7 min.	-	956
57	Triode Detector, Amplifier, Oscillatar	Α.	58D	1.25	0.05	0.3	0.7	1.20	Class-A Amp.	135	- 5,0			2.0	20800	650	13.5		-	957
758 758-A	Triode A.F. Amplifier, Oscillator	Α.	5BD	1.25	0.1	0.6	0.8	2.60	Class-A Amp.	135	- 7.5	—		3.0	10000	1200	12		-	958 958-A
959	Pentode Detector, Amplifier	Α.	5BE	1.25	0.05	1.8	2.5	0.015	Class-A Amp.	145	- 3.0	67.5	0.4	1.7	800000	600	480	-	-	959 7E5/1:
7E5/1201	U.h.f. Triode	L.	85N	6.3	0.15	3.6	2.8	1.50	Class-A Amp.	180	- 3			5.5	12000		36			7C4/1
7C4/1203	U.h.f. Diode	L.	4AH	6.3	0.15				Rectifier	_	Ma	x. r.m.s.	voltage—1	50	Max.	d.c. output	current-	-8 ma.		7AB7/
7 AB7 / 1 204	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	L.	8BO	6.3	0.15	3,5	4.0	0.06	Class-A Amp.	250	- 2	100	0.6	1.75	800000	1200	1-	-	-	1204
1276	<b>Triode Power Amplifier</b>	M.	4D	4.5	1.14		I	·	Class-A Amp.						ics similar t			1	-	1609
609	Pentode Amplifier	<b>S</b> .	5B	1.1	0.25				Class-A Amp.	135	- 1.5	67.5	0.65	2.5	400000	725	300			5731
5731	Acorn Triode	Α.	5BC	6.3	0.15	1.0	0.4	1.3	Class-A Amp.	250	- 7	-		6.3	11400	2200	25			
5768	U.h.f. "Rocket" Triode	N.	Fig. 36	6,3	0.4	1.2	0.01	1.3	1000-3000-Mc. Amplifier	250	- 1			9.3		4500	85			6173
6173	U.h.f. ''Pencil'' Diode	N.	Fig. 67	6.3	0.135	Ple	ate to P	(+1.1	Rectifier		Pe					Max. d.c. o				9004
2004	U.h.f. Diode	Α.	4BJ	6.3	0.15				Detector							utput current				9004
9005	U.h.f. Diode	Α.	5BG	3.6	0.165		·	·	Detector					-		utput current	1 1 ma	·	1	· EF-50
EF-50	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	L.	90	6.3	0.3	8	5	0.007	I.FR.F. Amp.	250	150*	250	3.1	10	600000	6300				GL-20
GL-2C44 GL-464A	U.h.f. Triode	О.	Fig. 17	6.3	0.75	-	·	·	Class-A Amp. and Modulator	250	100*			25.0	-	7000		· -		GL-46
GL-446A GL-446B	U.h.f. Triade	0.	Fig. 19	6.3	0,75	-	-	·	Oscillator, Amp. or Converter	250	200*	-		15.0	-	4500	45	·		GL-44
559 GL-559	U.h.f. Diode	О.	Fig. 18	6.3	0.75	-	-		Detector or trans. line switch	5,0	-	-	-	24.0	-	-				GL-55
NU-2C35	Special Hi-Mu Triode	0.	Fig. 38	_	0.3	5.2 5.0	2,:		Regulator	8000 220	-200			5.0 29.0	525000 1650		500 3.8		) 1.0	- NU-20 VT52
VT52	Triode	M.		7.0	1.18	3.0	3.0	7.7	Class-A1 Amp.			-		4.0					-	- X603
X6030	Diode	ι.	Fig. 4		0.6		-		Noise Diode	90	+			4.5	11200	1 1300 4				-
XXB	Twin-Triode Frequency Converter		Fig. 9	3. # °.	0.05/	-	-	-	Converter <sup>2</sup>	90	0 - 3			4.5	11200	)5 13005 14 7604	14.			ххв
XXFM	Twin-Diode Triode	L.	8BZ	1.6 6,3		-			Class-A Amp.	250	- 1	-		1.4	6700		10	s		XXFA

\* Cathode resistor—ahms.

<sup>1</sup> Both sections. <sup>2</sup> Section No. 2 recommended for h.f.a.

<sup>3</sup> Dry battery operation. 4 Section Na. 1.

<sup>5</sup> Section No. 2.
<sup>6</sup> Same as X99. Type V99 is same, but socket connections are 4E.

V26

			Socket	Fil. or	Heater	Cap	acitana	ce μμfd.		Plate	0.14		Screen	Plate	Plate	Transcon-	Amp.	Load	Power	1
Туре	Name	Base		Volts	Amp.	In	Out	Plate- Grid	Use	Supply Volts	Grid Bias	Screen Volts	Current Ma.	Current Ma,	Resistance Ohms	ductance Micromhos	Factor	Resistance Ohms	Output Watts	Prototype
1A3	H. F. Diode	B.	5AP	1.4	0,15	—	-	·	Detector F.M. Discrim.		Mo	1X. G.C. V	oltage per	plate—117	. Ma	c. output cur	rent—0.	.5 ma.		
1 A B 6	Pentagrid Converter	Β.	7DH	1.4	0.025	7.6	8,4	0.36	Converter				—						—	
1AC6	Pentagrid Converter	6.	7DH	1.4	0.05	7.5	8,4	0.36	Converter		1		-		—					—
1AE4	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	В.	6AR	1.25	0.1	3.6	4.4	0.008	Class-A1 Amp.	90	0	90	1.2	3.5	500000	1550				
1AF4	Pentode	Β.	6AR	1.4	0.025	3.8	7.6	.008	Class-A1 Amp.	90	0	90	0.5	1.65	1800000	950				
1AF5	Diode Pentode	Β.	6AU	1.4	0.025				Class-A <sub>1</sub> Amp.	90	0	90	0.4	1.1	2000000	600				
1AH5	Diode A.F. Pentode	Β.	7DJ	1.4	0.025	2.1	2.9	0.3	Closs-A Amp.	85		-	0,015	0.05	1000000		62			
1C3	Triode	Β.	5CF	1.4	0.05	0.9	4.2	1.8	Class-A1 Amp.	90	- 3			1.4	19000	760	14.5			1LE3
1E3	U.h.f. Triode	В.	9BG	1.25	0.22	1.25	0.75	5 1,5	Class-A Amp.	150	- 3.5			20		3500	14			
114	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	Β.	6AR	1.4	0.05	3.6	7.5	.008	Class-A Amp.	90	0	90	2.0	4.5	350000	1025	—			1N5GT
116	Pentagrid Converter	В.	7DC	1.4	0.05	7.5	12	0.3	Converter	90	0	45	0.6	0.5	650000	300	—			1LA6
1R5	Pentagrid Converter	В.	7AT	1.4	0.05	-	—		Converter	90	0	67.5	3.0	1.7	500000	300	Grid N	lo. 1 10000	0 ohms	1A7GT
154	Pentagrid Power Amp.	В.	7AV	1.4	0.1		—		Class-A Amp.	90	- 7.0	67.5	1.4	7.4	100000	1575	—	8000	0.270	1Q5GT
		-					-		Class-A Amp.	67.5	0	67.5	0.4	1.6	600000	625			-	1
155	Diode Pentode	B.	6AU	1.4	0.05	—			R-Coupled Amp.	90	0	90	Scr	een resista	r 3 meg., g	rid 10 meg.	1	1 meg.	0.050	
114	Variable-µ Pentode	В.	6AR	1.4	0.05	3.6	7.5	0.01	Class-A Amp.	90	0	67.5	1.4	3,5	500000	900				1P5GT
104	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	В.	6AR	1.4	0.05	3.6	7.5	0.01	Closs-A Amp.	90	0	90	0.5	1.6	1500000	900			<b>—</b>	1N5GT
105	Diode Pentode	В.	6BW	1.4	0.05		<u> </u>		Class-A Amp.	67.5	0	67.5	0.4	1.6	600000	625			1	
105	Pentagrid Converter	B.	7DC	1.4	0.025	8	12	0.4	Converter	90	0	45	0,55	0.55	600000	275				<u> </u>
1₩4	Power Amplifier Pentode	B.	5BZ	1.4	0.015	3.6	7	0.1	Class-A1 Amp.	90	- 9	90	1	5	300000	925		12000	0.2	11.84
2051		В.	8CJ	6.3	0.3	2.2	1.0	1.3		150	- 2	70	<u> </u>	8.2	30000	5500	35		0.2	7F8
2031	Twin Triode	D.	963	0.5	0.5	4.4	1.0	1.3	Class-A: Amp.				7.4 2	44 2			40 5			/ 10
									Class-A1 Single	250	450*	250			63000	3700		4500	4.5	+
2E30	Beam Power Pentode	В.	700	6.0	0.7	10	4.5	0.5	Class-A1 Amp.3	250	225*	250	14.8 <sup>2</sup>	88 <sup>2</sup>			80 5	9000 *	9	
									Class-AB <sub>1</sub> Amp. <sup>3</sup>	250	-25	250	13.5 2	80 <sup>2</sup>			48 5	8000 5	12,5	
									Class-AB <sub>2</sub> Amp. <sup>3</sup>		-30	250	20 2	120 <sup>2</sup>			40 5	3800 *	17	
3A4	Power Amplifier Pentode	В.	7BB	1.4 2.8	0.2 0.1	4.8	4.2	0,34	Class-A <sub>1</sub> Amp.	135 150	- 7.5 - 8.4	90 90	2.6 2.2	14.93 14.12	90000 100000	1900		8000	0.6 0.7	
3A5	H.F. Twin Triode	B.	7BC	1.4 2.8	0.22 0.11	0.9	1.0	3.20	Closs-A Amp.	90	- 2.5	—		3.7	8300	1800	15			
3C4	Power Pentode	В.	6BX	1.4	0.05	4.9	4.4	0.3	Class-A Amp.	85	- 5.2	85	5.0	1.1	125000	1350		13000	0.2	
3E5	Power Amplifier Pentode	B.	6BX	1.4 2.8	0.05 .025	—	—	-	Class-A1 Amp.	90	- 8	90	1.5	5.5	120000	1100	—	8000	.175	
304	Power Amplifier Pentode	В.	7BA	1.4	0.1			oments	Class-A Amp.	90	- 4.5	90	2.1	9.5	100000	2150		10000	0.27	3Q5GT
304	rower Ampinter Ferrode	5.		2.8	0.05	Serie	es Fila	ments	ciuss-A Amp.				1.7	7.7	120000	2000			0.24	04501
354	Power Amplifier Pentode	в.	7BA	1.4	0.1	Paral	lei Filo	aments	Class-A Amp.	90	- 7.0	67.5	1.4	7.4	100000 -	1575		8000	0.27	3Q5GT
334	rower Ampilier remode	<i>J</i> .		2.8	0.05	Serie	es Fila	ments	Clussed Amp.			0	1.1	6.1		1425		0000	0.235	34361
3V4	Power Amplifier Pentode	В.	6BX	1.4	0.1	Para	llel Filo	aments	Class-A Amp.	90	- 4.5	90	2.1	9.5	100000	2150		10000	0.27	3Q5GT
314	rower Ampiner remove	5.	007	2.8	0.05	Seri	es Fila	ments	Class-A Amp.	90	- 4.5	90	1.7	7.7	120000	2000		10000	0.24	54561
6AB4	U.h.f. Triode	В.	5CE	6.3	0.15	2.2	0.5	1.5	Class-A Amp.	250	200*		—	10	10900	5500	60			Single unit 12AT7
						4.6	4.7	0.2	Triode	100	- 2		_	4		1350	18			
6A88	Triode-Pentode	<b>B</b> .	9AT	6.3	0.3			-	Pentode	200	- 7.7	200	3.3	17.5	150000	3400		11000	1.4	
6AD8	Dual Diode Pentode	В.	9T	6.3	0.3	4.0	4.6	0.002	Class-A Amp.	250	- 2	85	2.3	6.7	1000000	1100				-
6AE8	Triode Hexode	8.	9Q	6.3	0.3				Freq. Converter											6K8
							<b>.</b>		Class-A1 Amp.	80	150 *		_	16	2270	6600	15			
			7DK	6.3	0.225	2.2	0.45	1.9	Osc. at 950 Mc.	100	<b>10000</b> Ω		0.410	22						
6AF4	U.h.f. Triode	B.	· PR		1									**						1
_												150	2.0	70	800000	5000			<u> </u>	1
6AF4 6AG5	U.h.f. Triode Sharp Cut-off Pentode	в. В.	78D	6.3	0.3	—	—		Class-A Amp. Pentode Amp.	250 100 300	200* 100* 160*	150 100 150	2.0 1.6 2.5	7.0 5.5 10	800000 300000 500000	5000 4750 9000	=			6SH7GT

#### TABLE XI-MINIATURE RECEIVING TUBES\_Other miniature types in Tables XIII and XV

IADLE	RELEIVING	IUBES Continued

			Socket	Fil. or	Heater	Cape	acitance	∋µµfd.		Plate	Grid	Screen	Screen	Plate	Plate	Transcon-	Amp.	Load	Power	1
Туре	Name	Base	Connec- tions	Volts	Amp.	In	Out	Plate- Grid	Use	Supply Volts	Bias	Volts	Current Ma.	Current Ma.	Resistance Ohms	ductance Micromhos	Factor		Output Watts	Prototype
6AJ4	U.h.f Triode	В.	98X	6.3	0.225	4.4	0.18	2.4	Class-A: Amp.	125	68*			16	4200	10000	42			
	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	•	7 P.M	6.3	0.175				R.F. Amplifler	28	200*	28	1.2	3.0	90000	2750	250			
6AJ5	Saarp Cur-off Peniode	В.	7 P.M	0.3	0.175	-		-	Class-AB Amp. <sup>3</sup>	180	- 7.5	75						28000 6	1.0	·
( . 10	Y. ta da Mantada	0	004	6.3	0.3	40	7.9	0.01	Heptode Mixer	250	- 2	22K Ω	6.7	3.25	1000000	775				
6AJ8	Triode-Heptode	В.	9CA	0.3	0.3	4.8	1.7	0.01	Triode Amp.	100	0		—	13.5		3700	22			
								1		180	200*	120	2.4	7.7	690000	5100	3500		_	+
6AK5	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	B.	78D	6.3	0.175	4.3	2.1	0.03	R.F. Amplifier	150	330*	140	2.2	7.0	420000	4300	1800			- I
										120	200*	120	2.5	7.5	340000	5000	1700			-
6AK6	Power Amplifier Pentode	В.	7BK	6.3	0.15	3.6	4.2	0.12	Class-A Amp.	180	- 9.0	180	2.5	15,0	200000	2300	-	10000	1.1	
6AK8	Triple Diode Triode	В.	9E	6.3	0.45	1.9	1.6	2.2	Class-A Amp.	250	- 3			1	58000	1200	70			
6AL5	U.h.f. Twin Diode	<b>B</b> .	6BT	6.3	0.3			-	Detector			Ma	x. r.m.s. v	oltage—15	0. Max. d.e	. output curi	ent-10	ma.1		6H6GT
6AM4	U.h.f. Triode	В.	9BX	6.3	0.225	4.4	0.16	2.4	Class-A Amp.	150	100*			7.5	10000	9000	90			-
6AM5	Power Amplifier Pentode	B.	6CH	6.3	0.2		—	—	Class-A1 Amp.	250	-13,5	250	2.4	16	130000	2600	-	16000	1.4	
6AM6	Pentode	<b>B.</b>	7DB	6.3	0.3	7.5	3.25	0.01	Class-A1 Amp.	250	- 2	250	2.5	10	1000000	7500	-		-	-
6AN4	U.h.f. Triode	8.	7DK	6.3	0.225	2.2	0.17	1.7	Class-A Amp.	200	100*			13		9000	70		-	
6AN5	Power Amp. Pentode	B.	78D	6.3	0.5	9.0	4.8	0.05	Class-A1 Amp.	120	- 6	120	12	35	12500	8000				6AG7
6AN6	Twin Diode	8.	7BJ	6.3	0.2				Detector	R.m.	s. voltag	e per plat	e=75 volt	s; d.c. outp	out=3,5 ma	. with 25000	ohmse	ind 8 µufd, I	oad;	
															na.; peak in	verse voltag	e = 210	•		
6AN7	Triode Hexode	B.	9Q	6.3	0.23	3.8	9.2	0.1	Converter	250	- 2	85	3	3		750	-			
6AQ5	Beam Power Tetrode	В,	78Z	6.3	0.45	7.6	6.0	0.35	Class-A: Amp.	180	- 8,5	180	4.0 <sup>2</sup>	<b>30</b> <sup>2</sup>	58000	3700	29	5500	2.0	6V6GT
						-				250	12.5	250	7,0 ?	<b>47</b> <sup>2</sup>	\$2000	4100	45	5000	4.5	01001
6AQ6	Duodiode Hi-mu Triode	В.	7BT	6.3	0.15	1.7	1.5	1.80	Class-A Triode	250	- 3.0	-		1.0	58000	1200	70			~ 617G
							<u> </u>			100	- 1.0			0.8	61000	1150	70			
6AR5	Pentode Power Amp.	В.	6CC	6.3	0,4	—	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	Class-A1 Amp.	250	- 18	250	5.5 2	33 <sup>2</sup>	68000	2300		7600	3.4	6K6GT
	Barry Bantada	0	7CV	6.2	0.0	10	6.0	0.6		250	- 16.5	250	5.5 2	35 2	65000	2400		7000	3.2	
6AS5	Beam Pentode	B,	7CV 7CM	6.3	0.8	12 4.0	6.2	0.6	Class-A1 Amp.	150	- 8,5	110	2/6.5	35/36		5600		4500	2.2	
6AS6	Shorp Cut-off Pentode	B.	76M	6.3	0.175		3.0	0.02	Class-A Amp.	120	2	120	3.5	5.2		3200				
6AT6	Duplex Diode Triode	B.		6.3	0.3	2.3	1.1	2.10	Class-A Amp.	250	- 3			1.0	58000	1200	70			6Q7GT
6AU6	Sharp Cut-off Pentode Duodiode Hi-mu Triode	B.	7BK 7BT	6.3 6.3	0.3	5.5	5.0	.0035	Class-A Amp.	250	- 1	150	4.3	10.8	2000000	5200		<u> </u>		6SH7G
6AV6		8.	700						Closs-A1 Amp.	250	- 2			1.2	62500	1600	100			6SQ7G
6BA6	Remote Cut-off Pentode	B.	801	6.3	0.3	5.5	5.0	.0035		250	68*	100	4.2	11	1500000	4400				6SG7G
6BA7	Pentagrid Converter	8.		6.3		9.5	8.3		Converter	250	- 1	100	10	3.8	1000000	950				6SB7Y
6BC5	Pentode	8.	7BD	6.3	0.3	6.6	3.1	.02	Class-A: Amp.	250	180*	150	1.4	4.7	600000	4900		<u> </u>	-	
6BC7	Triple Diode	В.	9AX	6.3	0.45		-		FM/AM Det.	100			de current			lax. htrcatt	n volts =	200	r	-
68D6	Remote Cut-off Pentode	B.	700	6.3	0.3		—	——	Class-A Amp.	100	- 1	100	5	13	120000	2350				6SK7GT
68D7	D dt de tit er Vet de	-	07	( )	0.00	0.4	1.0	1.0	<u> </u>	250	- 3	100	3.5	9	700000	2000				
6BE6	Duodiode Hi-mu Triode Pentagrid Converter	В. В.	9Z 7CH	6.3 6.3	0.23	2.4		1.3 0000 Ω	Class-A <sub>1</sub> Amp.	250	- 3	100		1.0	58000	1200	70			
OBEO	Fentagria Converter	D.	768	0.3	0.3	Osc.	Grid 3	1 0000 12	Converter	250	- 1.5	100	7.8	3.0	1000000	475				6SA7G
6BE7	Heptode Limiter-Disc.	B.	9AA	6.3	0.2	——	——		FM Limiter- Discriminator	250	- 4.4	20	1.5	0.28	5000000			<u> </u>		
6BF5	Beam Power Pentode	В.	7BZ	6.3	1.2	_		_	Class-A Amp.	110	- 7.5	110	4.0/8.5	49/50	10000	7500		2500	1.9	
6BF6	Duplex-Diode Triode	B.	7BT	6.3	0.3	1.8	1.1	2.0	Class-A: Amp.	250	- 9		4.070.0	9.5	8500	1900	16	10000	1.7	6SR7G
6BH5	Remote Cut-off Pentode	B.	9AZ	6.3	0.2	4.9	5.5	0.002	Class-A Amp.	250	- 2.5	<b>90Κ</b> Ω	1.7	6	1100000	2200		10000		038701
6BH6	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	B.	7CM	6.3	0.15	5.4	4,4		Class-A: Amp.	250	- 1	150	2.9	7.4	1400000	4600				+
6BJ5	Pentode	B.	6CH	6.3	0.64				Power Amp.	250	- 5	250	5.5	35	40000	10500	420	7000	4.0	+
6BJ6	Remote Cut-off Pentode	B.	7CM	6.3	0.15	4.5	5.0	.0035		250	- 1	100	3.3	9.2	1300000	3800	420		4.0	6557G
6BK5	Beam Power Pentode	B.	98Q	6.3	1.2	13	5.0	0.6	Class-Al Amp.	250	- 5	250	3.5/10	35/37	100000	8500		6500	2.5	03370
6BK6	Duodiode Triode	в. В.	78Q 78T	6.3	0.3		5.0	0.0	Class-Al Amp.	250	- 3	230	3.5/10	1.2	80000	1250	100	0300	3.5	
6BK7	U.h.f. Twin Triode	B.	9AJ	6.3	0.45	3.0	1.1	1.9	Class-Al Amp.	150	56*			1.2	4700	8500				
000/	Summer Will Friday	0.	7 MJ	0.3	0.45	3.0	1 1.1	11.7	Guss-AL Amp.	1 1 20	0.0			10	47.00	0000	40			

V28

		_	Socket	Fil. or l	Heater	Capa	citance	ε μμf <b>d.</b>		Plate	Grid	Screen	Screen	Plate	Plate	Tronscon-	Amp.	Load	Power	Protein
Туре	Name	Base	Connec- tions	Volts	Amp.	In	Out	Plate- Grid	Use	Supply Volts	Bios	Volts	Current Ma.	Current Ma.	Resistonce Ohms	ductance Micromhos	Factor 4	Resistance Ohms	Output Watts	Prototyp
6BM5	Power Pentode	B.	700	6.3	0.45	8	5,5	0.5	Class-A Amp.	250	~ 6	250	3	30	60000	7000		7000	3.5	
6BN6	Gated-beam Disc.	B.	7DF	6.3	0.3	4.2	3.3	,004	FM Disc.	80	- 1.3	60	5	0.23				68000		
		в.	Fig. 41	6.3	0.75	5.57	1.67	37	Class-A1 Amp. <sup>7</sup>	250	-15			24	2200	5500	12			
SBN7	Dual Triode	D.	rig. 41	0.5	0.75	1,45	0.3*	0.7%	Class-A: Amp.8	120	- 1			5	14000	2000	28			
6BQ7	Double Triode	В.	9AJ	6.3	0.4	2.55	1.3	1.15	Class-A: Amp. <sup>11</sup>	150	220*			9.0	5800	6000	35			
5BQ7A	Dual Triode	В,	9AJ	6.3	0.4			1.15	Class-A Amp.11	150	220*			9	6100		39	'l		6BQ7
58R7	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	В,	9BC	6.3	0.15	4.25	4.0	0.01	Class-A Amp.	250	- 3	100	0.6	2.1	2500000					6J7
6BT6	Duodiode Triode	В.	7BT	6.3	0.03				Closs-A Amp.	250	- 3			1	58000	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	70	10000		
SBU6	Duodiode Triode	В.	7BT	6.3	0.3				Class-A: Amp.	250	- 9			9.5	8500		16		0.3	
SBV7	Duodiode Pentode	B.	9BU	6.3	0.8	11.5	9.5	0,5	Class-A Amp.	250	- 5	250	6	38	100000	-		8000	4.0	
5BW6	Beom Pentode	B,	9AM	6.3	0.45		-		Class-A: Amp.	315 250	-13 -12,5	225 250	6 7	35 47	77000 52000	4100		8500 5000	5.5 4.5	
BX6	R.F. Pentode	В.	9AQ	6.3	0.3	7.2	3.4	0.007	Class-A Amp.	170	- 2	170	2.5	10	400000					
6BY7	R.F. Pentode	В.	9AQ	6.3	0.3	7.2	3.7	0.007	Class-A Amp.	250	- 2	100	2.5	10	500000					
6BZ7	U.h.f. Twin Tricde	В.	9AJ	6.3	0.4	2,85	2.27	1.15	Class-A Amp. <sup>11</sup>	150	220*	L		10	5600		38			6BQ
6C4	Triode Amplifier	В.	6BG	6.3	0.15	1.8	1.3	1.60	Class-A1 Amp.	250	- 8.5	-		10.5	7700		17			6J5C
6CB6	Shorp Cut-off Pentode	В.	7CM	6.3	0.3	6.3	1.9	0.02	Class-A1 Amp.	200	180*	150	2.8	9.5	600000					
SCF6	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	В.	7CM	6.3	0.3	6.3	1.9	0.02	Class-A1 Amp.	200	180*	150	2.8	9.5	600000					
SCG6	Remote Cut-off Pentode	В.	7BK	6.3	0.3	5	5	0.008	Class-A1 Amp.	250	- 8	150	2.3	9.0	720000					
SCH6	R.F. Pentode	В.	98A	6.3	0.75	14	5	0.25	Class-A Amp.	250	- 4.5	250	6	40	50000	-				
6CJ6	Audio Pentode	В.	9AS	6.3	1.05	14.7	6.0	0.8	Class-A Amp.	250	-38.5	250	2.4	32	15000					
6CK6	R.F. Pentode	B.	9AR	6.3	0.71	11.2	6.6	0.1	Class-A Amp.	250	- 5.5		5	36	130000	-				
6CL6	Power Pentode	B.	Fig. 68	6.3	0.65	11	5.5	0.12	Class-A1 Amp.	250	- 3	150	7/7.2	30/31	15000			7500	2.8	6AG
6CS6	Heptode	В.	7CH	6.3	0.3	5.5	7.5	0.05	Sync. Separator	100	<u> </u> − 1	30	1.1		urrent = 1,1	Ma.				
	U.h.f. Grounded-Grid	в.	7BQ	6.3	0.4	5.5	0.24	40	Grounded-Grid	150	200*			15.0	4500		55			
6J4	R.F. Amplifier	<b>D</b> .	104	0.3	0.4	3.5	0.24		Class-A <sub>1</sub> Amp.	100	100*			10.0	5000	11000	55			
616	Twin Triode	В.	7BF	6.3	0,45	2.2	0.4	1.6	Class-A: Amp. Mixer, Oscillato	-	50*	-		8.5	7100		38			
6M5	Power Amplifier Pentode	В.	9N	6.3	0.71	10	6.2	1	Class-A1 Amp.	250	170*	250	5.2	36	40000			7000	3.9	+
6N4	U.h.f. Triode Amplifier	Β,	7CA	6.3	0.2	3.0	1.6	1.10	Class-A Amp.	180	- 3.5			12		6000	32			
6N8	Duodiode Pentode	B,	9T	6.3	0.3	4	4.6	.002	Class-A1 Amp.	250	- 2	85		1	1600000					
6Q4	GrndGrid Triode	Β.	95	6.3	0.48	5.4	.0	-	Class-A1 Amp.	250	- 1.5			15		12000	80	+		
6R4	U.h.f. Triode	Β,	9R	6.3	0.2	1.7	-	+	Class-A: Amp.	150	- 2			30		5500	16	-		
6R8	Triple Diode Triode	B,	9E	6.3	0,45	1.5	1.1	2.4	Class-A1 Amp.	250	- 9			9.5	8500		16		0.3	
654	Triode	B.	9AC	6.3	0,6			·	Class-A: Amp.	250	8			26	3600	0 4500 7000	16			
6T4	Triode	B.	7DK	, 6.3	0.225	2.4	0.4	5 1.8	Class-A Amp.	80	150*			18	5800		70			
678	Triple-Diode Triode	В.	9E	6.3	0.45	1.5	1.1	2.4	Closs-A: Amp.	250 100	- 3   - 1			0.8	5400	) 1300	70	)		
	Triode		0.47	4.2	0.45	2.5	1.0	1.8	Class-A: Amp.	150	56*			18	5000		40	) —		
608	Pentode	- B.	9AE	6.3	0.45	5.0	2.6	0.01	Closs-A: Amp.	250	68*	110	3.5	10	400000		_	·		
6V8	Triple-Diode Triode	В.	9AH	6.3	0.45				Closs-A1 Amp.	100 250	- 1 - 3		-	0.8	54000 58000	-	70	>		
									Diode			Mox. d	iode =2 and	d ∦3 Ma. =	10 eoch. A	Nox. diode :	∦1 Mo. =	1.0		
	Medium Mu Triode					2.6	1.0	1.4	Triode Osc.	150	270012			13						_
6X8	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	- B.	9AK	6.3	0.45	4.5	i 1.2	0.008	Pentode Mix.	150	- 3.5	150	1.1	4.6		1600				
9BM 5	Power Pentode	B.	7DQ	9.5	0.3	8	5,5	0.5	Closs-A Amp.	250	- 6	250	3	30	6000		42		3.5	
98W6	Beam Pentode	В.			0.3				Closs-A Amp.	315	-13	225	2.2	34	77000	3750		- 8500	5.5	6BW

#### TABLE XI - MINIATURE RECEIVING TUBES - Continued

#### TABLE XI-MINIATURE RECEIVING TUBES-Continued

Туре 12А4	Name	Base	Connec-							Plate		C	Screen	Plate	Plote	Transcon-	Amp.	Lood	Power	1
			tions	Volts	Amp.	In	Out	Plate- Grid	Use	Supply Volts	Grid Bias	Screen Volts	Current Mo.	Current Ma.	Resistance Ohms	ductance Micromhas	Factor	Resistance Ohms	Output Watts	t Prototype
104110	Triode	В.	9AG	6.3 12.6	0.6		—	—	Class-A1 Amp.	150	-17	—	—	30	1200	5200	6.5	—	—	_
12AH8	Triade Heptode	В.	9BP	12.6	0.15				Heptode	250	—	100	4.4	2.6	1500000	550			—	
			701	6.3	0.3				Triode	100	- 3	—			12,5 Ma.	3500	17			
12AL5	Twin Diode	B.	6BT	12.6	0.15	2.5			Detector		R.n	n.s. volta			d.c. output≕ sk inverse vo	9 ma. per pl oltage = 330.	ote; pea	k ma.		12H6GT
12AQ5	Beam Pentade	В,	7BZ	12.6	0.225	8.3	8,2	0.35	Class-A1 Amp.	250	-12,5	250	4.5/7	45/47	52000	4100		5000	4.5	6AQ5
12AT6	Duplex Diode Triode	<b>B</b> .	7BT	12.6	0.15	2.3	1.1	2.10	Class-A Amp.	250	- 3.0	—		1.0	58000	1200	70		—	12Q7GT
12AT7	Double Triode	8.	9A	6.3	0.3	2.5 7	0.45	1.457	Class-A: Amp.	250	- 2	—	—	10	10000	5500	55		—	
				12.6	0.15	2.5 8	0.35 8	1.45 8	Eoch Unit	180	- 1			11	9400	6600	62			
12AU6	Shorp Cut-off Pentode	8,	700	12.6	0.15	5.5	5.0	.0035	Class-A: Amp.	250	- 1.0	150	4.3	10.8	1 meg.	5200	-		_	12SH7GT
12AU7	Twin-Triode Amplifier	B.	9A	6.3	0.3	1.6.7	0.57	1.57	Class-A1 Amp.	250	- 8.5		<u> </u>	10.5	7700	2200	17	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	12SN7GT
12AV6	Duodiode Hi-mu Triode	0	787	12.6	0.15	1.6 6	0.35 %	1.5 8	Class A. Ama	250	- 2			1.2	62500	1600	100			
TZAVO	Duodiode HI-MU Iriode	B.	7BT	12.6	0.15				Closs-A1 Amp.	100	120*	_		9.0	6100	6100	37			
12AV7	Double Triode	B.	9A	12.6	0,225	3.1	0.57	1.9	Class-A1 Amp. <sup>11</sup>	150	56*	=		18	4800	8500	41	+	_	
		+		0.3	0,45		0,4*		Pantada Ama	250	200*	150	2.0	7.0	800000	5000				
12AW6	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	<b>B</b> ,	7CM	12.6	0.15	6,5	1,5	0.025	Pentode Amp. Triode Amp. 9	250	825*	130	2.0	5,5	11000	3800	42		_	
12AW7	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	B. 1	7CM	12.6	0.15	6.5	1,5	0.025	Closs-A <sub>1</sub> Amp.	250	200*	150	2.0	7.0	0.8 meg.	5000				
t	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			12.6	0.15	1.67	0.467	1.7 7	Class-A Amp.	250	- 2			1.2	62500	1600	100	-		
12AX7	Double Triode	8.	9A	6.3	0.3		0,34 8	1.7 8	Closs-B Amp.	300	0			14/40				16000	7,5	
12AY7	Dual Triode			12.6	0.15				Closs-A Amp.	250	- 4			3		1750	40		-	
12417	Dual Inidae	8.	9A	6.3	0.3	1.3	0.6	1.3	Lo-Level Amp.	150	2700*		Plote re	sistor = 200	000 Ω. Grid (	resistor $=$ 0.1	Meg. V.	G.=12.5		
12AZ7	Double Triode	B,	9A	12.6	0.225	3.17		1.97	Class-A1 Amp.	100	270*		—	3.7	15000	4000	60			
				6.3	0.45	3,18	0.48	1.98	Conserved with:	250	200*	—		10.0	10900	5500	60		-	
12B4	Triode	B.	9AG	12.6	0.3	6.4	7	4,3	Closs-A Amp.	150	- 17.5	—		35		6500	6.5		—	
12BA6	Remote Cut-off Pentode	B.	700	12.6	0,15	5,5	5.0	.0035	Closs-A Amp.	250	68*	100	4.2	11.0	1500000	4400		-		125G7G
12BA7	Pentagrid Converter	Β.	8CT	12.6	0.15	9.5	8.3		Converter	250	- 1	100	10	3.8	1000000	3.5				
12BD6	Remote Cut-off Pentade	B,	7CC	12.6	0,15	4.3	5.0	.004	Closs-A Amp.	250	- 3	100	3.5	9.0	700000	2000			—	12SK7GT
12BE6	Pentagrid Converter	B.	7CH	12,6	0.15	Osc.	Grid 5	0000 Ω	Converter	250	- 1,5	100	7.8	3.0	1000000	475				12SA7GT
12BF6	Duodiode Triode	B.	7BT	12,6	0.15	1.8	1.1	2.00	Closs-A Amp.	250	- 9	—	—	9.5	8500	1900	16			12SR7GT
128H7	Dual Triode	B,	9A	6.3 12.6	0.6	3	2.6	2.4	Closs-At Amp.	250	- 9.5		—	11.5		3250	18	—		6SN7GT
12BK6	Duodiode Triode	B.	7BT	12.6	0.15	—	-	—	Class-A <sub>1</sub> Amp.	250	- 2	—		1.2	63000	1600	100		—	
12BN6	Gated-beam Disc.	B,	7DF	12.6	0.15	4.2	3,3	.004	FM Disc.					Som	e as 6BN6					
12BT6	Duodiode Triode	B,	7 BT	12.6	0.15		-		Closs-A1 Amp.						e as 6BT6					
12806	Duodiode Triode	B.	7BT	12.6	0.15	-		·	Closs-A: Amp.				r	Sam	e as 6BU6	1	T		1	
12BY7	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	B.	9BF	12.6 6.3	0.3	10.7	4.0	0.063	Class-A Amp.	250	100*	180	5.0	24	110000	12000	<b>30</b> 12			—
12BZ7	Dual Triode	8.	9A	12.6 6.3	0.15	6.5	0.7	0.45	Class-At Amp,11	250	- 2			2.5	31800	3200	100		<u> </u>	-
12G4	Triade	В.	6BG	12.6	0.15	2.4	0.9	3.4	Class-A Amp.	250	- 8			9		2600				12J5GT
15A6	R.F. Pentode	B.	9AR	15.0	0.3	10	7	0.1	Videa Amp.	180	- 2.9	180	4.6	36	100000	10000			-	
16A5	A.F. Pentode	B.	9BL	16.5	0.3	11	5.9	1.0	Closs-A Amp.	170	-10.4	170	8,5	45	24000	7600		3000	4.2	
19AQ5	Beam Pentode	B.	78Z	18.9	0.15	—			Class-A Amp.						e as 6AQ5					
19C8	Triple-Diode Triode	B.	9E	18.9	0.15				Class-A <sub>1</sub> Amp. Diode	100	- 1	<del></del>	—	0.5	80000 srrent = 6 Me	1250	100			- I

#### TABLE XI-MINIATURE RECEIVING TUBES-Continued

	Ne	0	Socket	Fil. or	Heater	Copo	citanc	e μμfd.	lka	Piote	Grid	Screen	Screen	Plate	Plote Resistonce	Transcon- ductance	Amp.	Lood Resistonce	Power	Prototype
Туре	Name	Base	Connec- tions	Volts	Amp.	in	Out	Plate- Grid	Use	Supply Volts	Bios	Volts	Current Ma.	Current Ma.	Ohms	Micromhos	Factor 4	Ohms	Watts	Prototype
19J6	Twin Triode	B.	7BF	18.9	0.15	2.0	0.4	1.5	Closs-A1 Amp.	100	50*			8.5 1	7100	5300	38		—	
1918	Triple-Diode Triode	B.	9E	18.9	0.15	1.5	1.1	2.4	Closs-A: Amp.	250	- 3	—		1.0	5800	1200	70			
19V8	Triple-Diade Triode	В.	9AH	18.9	0.15								c	horocterist	ics same as	6V8				
		-							Triode Osc.	150	27	700 Ω gric	lleok	13		3.6 Mo	. grid cu	rrent		
19X8	Triode Pentode	<b>B</b> .	9AK	18.9	0.15	4.3	0.7	0.09	Pentode Mixer	150	- 3.5	150	1.8	6.2		2100	-			
21A6	R.F. Pentode	В.	9A5	21.5	0.3	14.3	6.5	0.4	Horizontal Time Bose	180 180	-23 0	180 180	3 29	45 430		6500	=	=	==	
25BK5	Beam Power Amp.	B.	9BQ	25	0.3	13	5.0	0.6	Class-A: Amp.	250	- 5.0	250	3 5/10	35/37	100000	8500		6500	3.5	
26A6	Remote Cut-off Pentode	В,	78K	26.5	0.07	6.0	5.0	.0035	Closs-A: Amp.	250	125*	100	4	10.5	1000000	4000				
26BK6	Duodiode Triode	В.	7BT	26.5	0.07				Closs-A: Amp.					Some	os 6BK6				·	
26C6	Duplex-Diode Triode	В.	7 <b>BT</b>	26.5	0.07	1.8	1.4	2	Class-A: Amp.	250	- 9			9.5	8500	1900	16		-	
26CG6	Semi-Remote Cut-off Pentode	В.	7 B K	26.5	0.07	5.0	5.0	0.008	Closs-A: Amp.	250	- 8	150	2.3	9.0	720000	2000	—		-	
26D6	Pentogrid Convester	В.	7CH	26.5	0.07	Osc.	Grid 2	Ω 0000	Converter	250	- 1.5	100	7.8	3.0	1000000	475				
35B5	Beam Power Amplifier	В.	7BZ	35	0.15	11	6.5	0.4	Closs-A: Amp.	110	- 7.5	110	7 2	41 =		5800	40 -	2500	1,5	35L6GT
35C5	Beam Power Amplifier	B.	7CV	35	0.15	12	6.2	0.57	Closs-A: Amp.	110	- 7.5	110	3/7	40/41		5800		2500	1,5	
50B5	Beam Power Amplifier	В.	7BZ	50	0.15	13	6.5	0.50	Closs-A Amp.	110	- 7.5	110	4.0	49.0	14000	7500	-	3000	1.9	50L6GT
50C5	Beom Power Amplifier	В.	7CV	50	0.15		-		Closs-A: Amp.	110	- 7.5	110	4/8.5	49/50	10000	7 500		2500	1.9	
5590	Pentode	В.	7BD	6.3	0.15	3.4	2.9	0.01	Closs-A, Amp.	90	820*	90	1.4	3.9	300000	2000				
5591	R.F. Pentode	В.	7BD	6.3	0.15	3.9	2,85	0.01	Closs-A Amp.	180	200*	120	2.4	1.7	690000	5100	3500			
5608	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	B,	78D	6.3	1.75	4	2.9	0.02	Closs-A Amp.	120	-12	120	2.5	7.5	340000	5000				
5610	Triode	B.	6CG	6.3	0.15				Closs-A Amp.	90	- 1.5			17	3500	4000	14			
5654	Shorp Cut-off Pentode	B.	78D	6.3	0.175	4	2.9	0.02	Closs-AL Amp.	120	200*	120	2.5	7.5	340000	5000		<u> </u>		
5656	Double Tetrode	B.	9F	6.3	0.4	3.6	1.5	0.06	Closs-A: Amp.11	150	- 2	120	2.7	15	60000	5800				
5670	Duol Triode	B.	8CJ	6.3	0.35	2.2	1.0	1.3	Closs-A Amp.	150	240*			8.2		5500	35			7F8
5686	Power Pentode	B.	Fig. 29	6.3	0.35	6.4	4.0	0,11	Closs-A Amp.	250	-12.5	250	5	27		3100		9000	2.7	
5000	rower remode	0.	119	12.6	0.45					250	-12.5			16	4000	4100	16.5			
5687	Duol Triode	<b>B</b> .	9H	6.3	0.9	4	0.45	5 3.1	Closs-A Amp.	120	- 2			34	2000	10000	20			
5722	Noise Generating Diade	В.	5CB	2/5.5	1.6		1.5		Noise Generator	200		—		35					-	
5725	Semi-Remote Cut-off Pentode	В.	7CM	6,3	.175				Closs-A <sub>1</sub> Amp.	120	- 2	120	3.5	5.2		3200	-			
5726	Twin Diode	B.	6BT	6.3	0.3		3.2		Rectifier		Mox	imum o.c	. voltoge p	per plote =	117; Moxir	num d.c. Ma	o. per pl	ote = 9.	_	—
5749	Remote Cut-off Pentode	В.	78K	6.3	0.30	5.5	5.0	.0035	Closs-A Amp.	250	68*	100	4.2	11	1 Meg.	4400			-	
5750	Pentagrid Converter	В.	7CH	6.3	0.30	Osc.	Grid 2	2000012	Converter	250	- 1,5	100	7.5	2.6	1 Meg.	475	0.510			
5751	Duol Triode	В.	9A	12.6	.175				Closs-A: Amp.	250	- 3			1.1	58000	1200	70			125L7GT
5755	Double Triode	в.	91	12.6 6.3	0.18				D.C. Amp.	310	150K*			0.15	140000	500	70	900000		
5812	Beom Pentode	В,	7CQ	6.3	0.65	9	7.4	0.2	Closs-A: Amp.	250	-23	250	1.8	40	55000	4100	-			
5814	Duol Triode	В.	9A	6.3 12.6	0.35	1.6	0.5	1,5	Closs-A: Amp.	250	- 8.5			10.5	6250	2200	19.5			125N7GT
5842 417A	Triode	<b>B</b> .	9V	6.3	0.3	9.0	0.48		Closs-A1 Amp.	150	62*			26	1800	24000	43	-		
5844	Twin Triode	В.	7BF	6.3	0.3	2.4	0.5	2.7	Closs-A: Amp.	100	470*			4.8	7950	3400	27			6J6
5845	Double Triode	В.	5CA	4.3	0.435				Noise Generator	300			(Piote	s tied toge	ther)			600000		
5847	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	B.	9X	6.3	0.3	7.1	2.9	0.04	Closs-A Amp.	160	8.5	160	4.5			12500				
5879	Shorp Cut-off Pentode	В.	9AD	6.3	0.15	2.7	2.4	0.11	Closs-A Amp.	250	- 3	100	0.4	1.8	2 Meg.	1000	-		-	
5910	Shorp Cut-off Pentode	В.	6AR	1.4	0.05	3.6	7.5	0.008	Closs-A Amp.	90	0	90	0.45		1.5 Meg.	900				
	Dual Control Sharp	В.	7СН	4.2	0.3	7.2	8,6	0.3	5witch	30	- 5.5	75	8,25	6					_	
5915	Cut-off Heptode	В.	ЛСН	6.3	0.3	1.2	0.0	0.3	JWIICH	30			0.25						L	

#### TABLE XI-MINIATURE RECEIVING TUBES-Continued

			Socket	File	ment	Cop	acitan	ce μμfd.		Plate			Screen	Plate	Plate	Transcon-		Load	Pawer	1
Туре	Name	Base	Connec- tions	Volts	Amp.	In	Out	Plate- Grid	Use	Supply Volts	Grid Bias	Screen Voits	Current Ma.	Current Ma,	Resistance Ohms	ductance Micromhos	Amp. Factor	Resistance Ohms		Туре
5920	Twin Triode	В.	Fig. 70	6.3	0.4	3,1	0.3	2.6	Class-A Amp.13	100	- 1.8			8.5		5500	25			
5963	Dual Triode	В.	9A	12.6	0.15	1,9		1.5	Class-A1 Amp.	67.5	0			71	7850	2800	22		_	
5964	Dual Tricde	В.	7BF	6.3	0.45	2,1		1.3	Closs-A: Amp.	100	50*			9.51	6500	6000	20			
5965	Twin Triode	В.	9A	12.6	0.225	3.8	0.5	3.0	Class-A Amp. <sup>11</sup>	150	220*			8.2	7250	6000 6500	39 47			
6005	Beam Power Amplifier	В.	7BZ	6.3	0.45				Class-A1 Amp.	250	-12.5	250	4.5 /7	45/47	52000	4100		5000	4.5	
		_				ļ			Class-AB <sub>2</sub> a	250	-15	250	5/13	70/79	60000	3750		10000	10	-
60 57	Twin Triode	В.	9A	12.6 6,3	0.15	1.6	0.46	117	Class-A Amp. <sup>11</sup>	250	- 2			1,2	62500	1600	100			12AX7
6058	Twin Triode	Β.	6BT	6.3	0.3		3.2		Detector				Max.r.m	.s. volts =	150: Max.	d.c. Ma. = 91				6AL5
6059	H.F. Pentode	В.	9BC	6.3	0.15	4.25	4.0	0.01	Class-A: Amp.	250	- 3	100	0.6	2.1	2500000	1250			1	6J7
6060	Dual Triode	В.	9A	12.6	0.15	2.25	0.4	1.6	Closs-A Amp.11	250	- 2			10	10000	5500	55			12AT7
6061	Beam Pentode	B.	9AM	6.3	0.45				Closs-A Amp.	315	13	225	2.2	34	77000	3750		8500	5.5	6V6GT
6062	R.F. Beam Pentade	Β.	9K	6.0	0.75	9.5	4.5	0.3	Class-C Amp.	300	-60	250	5	50					8	5763
6064	R.F. Pentode	Β.	7BD	6.3	0.3	7.8	3.9	0.01	Class-A Amp.	250	- 2	250		10	1000000	7500			-	6AM6
6066	Dual Triode	Β.	7BT	6.3	0,3	2.3	1,1	2.1	Closs-A Amp,11	250	- 3			1.0	58000	1200	70			6AT6
6067	Twin Triode	B.	9A	12.6 6.3	0.15	1.6	0.5 0.35	1.5	Closs-A Amp. <sup>11</sup>	250	- 8,5			10.5	7700	2200	17			12AU7
6072	Lo-Noise Twin Triode	В.	9A	6.3	0,35	1.4	0.5	1.4	Closs-A1 Amp.	250	- 4.0			3.0	25000	1750	44			12AY7
6084	Pentade	B.	9BJ	6.3	0.3	5.1	7.1	0.025	Closs-A Amp.	250	- 2	100	0.55	3	1800000	1850				
6085	Dual Triade	В.	9A	12.6 6.3	0.3	2.8 2.7	1.2 1.3	2.6 2.75	Class-A Amp. <sup>11</sup>	250	- 5.5			6		2700	30			
6086	Pentode	В.	9BK	18	0.1	8.8	3.6	0.015	Closs-A Amp.	210	180*	120	1.7	8.3	440000	8200		20000	0.66	
6132	R.F. Pentode	Β.	98 A	6.3	0.75	14	5	0.25	Video Amp.	250	- 4.5	250	6	40	50000	11000				6CH6
6135	MedMu Triode	В.	6BG	6.3	0.175	1.5	0.7	1.4	Class-A1 Amp	250	- 8.5			10.5	7700	2200	17			6C4
6136	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	B.	7BK	6.3	0.3	6.0	5.0	0.0035	Class-A1 Amp.	250	68*	150	4.3	10.6	1000000	5200				6AU6
6158	Twin Triode	В.	9A	12.6 6.3	0.3	2.3	0.95	2.1	Class-A Amp. <sup>11</sup>	250	- 4.6			6	14000	2300	32			
6201	U.h.f. Triode	<b>B</b> .	9A	6.3	0.3	2.3	0.4	1.6	Class-AL Amp.	250	200*			10	10900	5500	60			12AT7
6216	Filter Reactor— Beam Power Tube	<b>B</b> .	Fig. 73	6.3	1.2	12.3	6.7	0.37	Filter Reactor Class-A Amp.	400 200	- 1 - 6	100 100	2/4	D.C. ou	lput = 335 v 38800	olts at 100 M		load. 4500	3.8	
9001	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	<b>B</b> .	7PM	6.3	0.15	3.6	3.0	0.01	Class-A Amp. Mixer	250 250	- 3.0 - 5.0	100	0.7	2.0	1 meg.+	1400	_		<u> </u>	
9002	Triode Detector, Amplifier, Oscillator	В.	7TM	6.3	0.15	1.2	1.1	1.40	Class-A Amp.	250 250 90	- 7.0 - 2.5			ak valtage 6.3 2.5	11400	550 2200	25			
9003	Remote Cut-off Pentode	B.	7PM	6.3	0.15	3.6	3.0	0.01	Class-A Amp.	250	- 3.0	100	2.7	6.7	14700 700000	1700 1800	25 			
000/	U.h.f. Diode	<b>B</b> .	6BH	6.3	0.15				Mixer	250	- 10.0	100	<u> </u>	ak voltage		600				
9006	U.n.r. 010de	<b>.</b>	0011	0.3	0.15				Detector			Max.	a.c. voltag	e—270. M	ax. d.c. out	put current-	-5 ma.			

Ω Oscillator gridleak ohms. \* Cathode resistor—ohms. 1 Per Plate.

<sup>2</sup> Maximum-signal current for full-power output.

<sup>8</sup> Values'are for two tubes in push-pull 4 Unless otherwise noted. <sup>5</sup> No signal plate ma.

<sup>6</sup> Effective plate-to-plate. <sup>7</sup> Triode No. 1. <sup>8</sup> Triode No. 2.

<sup>9</sup> Grid No. 2 tied to plate and No. 3 to cathode.
 <sup>10</sup> Oscillator grid current Ma.
 <sup>11</sup> Values for each section.
 <sup>12</sup> Between G<sub>1</sub> and G<sub>2</sub>.

#### TABLE XII-SUB-MINIATURE TUBES

	<u> </u>	T	Socket	Fil. or Heater		e Capacitonce µµfd.			1	Plate			Screen	Plate	Plate	Transcon-	T	Load		1
Туре	Name	Base	Connec- tions	Volts	Amp.	In	Out	Plate- Grid	Use	Supply Volts	Grid Bios	Screen Voits	Current Me.	Current Mo.	Resistonce Ohms	ductance Micromhos	Amp. Factor	Pasistanas	Power Output Watts	Туре
1AC5	Power Pentode	Bs.	Fig. 14	1.25	0.04	_	-		Class-A1 Amp.	67.5	-4.5	67.5	0,4	2.0	150000	750	-	25000	0.05	1AC5
1AD4	Pentode	2	2	1.25	0.1	4.5	4.5	0.01	Closs-A: Amp.	45	0	45	0.8	3.0	500000	2000	-			1AD4
1AD5	Sharp Cut-off Pentode	Bs.	Fig. 16	1.25	0.04	1.8	2.8	0.01	Cless-A: Amp.	67.5	0	67.5	0.75	1.85	700000	735			_	1AD5
1AE5	Heptode	1	2	1.25	0.06	4.9	2.1	4.0	Mixer	45	0	45	2.0	0.9	200000	200				1AE5
1AH4	R.F. Pentode	1	2	1.25	0.04	3.5	4.5	0.01	Closs-A1 Amp.	67.5	0	67.5	0.2	0.75	2000000	7 50		-	-	1AH4
1AJ5	Diade Pentode	1	2	1.25	0.04	1.7	2.4	0.1	Class-A: Amp.	45	0	45	0.3	1.0	300000	425		-	-	1AJ5
1C8	Heptode	-		1.25	0.04	6.5	4.0	0.25	Converter	30	0	30	0.75	0.32	300000	100	-			1C8
103	Triode	1	2	1.25	0.3	1.0	1.0	2.6	Class-A Amp.	90	- 5			12.5		3400	8.7		—	1D3
168	Pentagrid Converter	Bs.	Fig. 27	1.25	0.04	6		_	Converter	67.5	0	67.5	1.5	1.0		150	-			168
1Q6	Diade Pentade	Bs.	8CO	1.25	0.04	1.8	4.2	0.085	Class-A Amp.	67.5	0	67.5	0.4	1.6	400000	600	_	—		1Q6
156	Diode Pentode	Bs.	8DA	1.25	0.04	—			Detector Amp.	67.5	0	67.5	0.4	1.6	400000	600				156
116	Diode-Pentode	Bs.	Fig. 28	1.25	0.04				Class-A1 Amp.	67.5	0	67.5	0.4	1.6	400000	600	_			116
172	Audio Pentode	1	2	1.25	0.04	_	-	—	Class-A1 Amp.	67.5	-4.5	67.5	0.4	2.0	150000	750		25000	0.05	1V5
1V6	Triode Pentode	1	2	1.25	0.04				Pentode	45	0	45	0.15	0.4	1000000	200				1V6
140	Iriode Pentode	1.	-	1.25	0.04				Triode Osc.	45			Osc. grid a	= tnerru	12 $\mu$ amp. t	hrough 1 Me	g. gridl	eak	•	140
1₩5	Shorp Cut-off Pentode	1	2	1.25	0,04	2.3	3.5	0.01	Class-A1 Amp.	67.5	0	67.5	0.75	1.85	700000	735		<u> </u>	—	1W5
285	Twin Triode	1	2	1.2 2.4	0.26	0.8	0.8	1.2	Class-A Amp.	90	-1			2.6	18700	1150	21.5	—	—	285
2E31	R.F. Pentode	1	2	1.25	0.05				Closs-A1 Amp.	22.5	0	22.5	0.3	0.4		500	-			2E31
2E32	R.F. Pentode	1	2	1.25	0.05		1		Class-A Amp.	22.5	0	22.5	0.3	0.4	350000	500				2832
2E35	Audio Pentade	1	1	1.25	0.03	_	1		Class-A1 Amp.	22.5	0	22.5	0.07	0.27		385	—	_	0.0012	2E35
2E36	Audio Pentade	1	2	1.25	0.03				Class-A1 Amp.	22.5 45	0 1.25	22.5 45	0.07	0.27	220000 250000	385 500		150000	0.0012	2E36
2641	Diade Pentode	1	2	1.25	0.03			—	Detector Amp.	22.5	0	22.5	0.12	0.35						2E41
2E42	Diode Pentade	1	2	1.25	0.03				Detector Amp.	22.5	0	22.5	0.12	0.35	250000	375	-	1 meg.	-	2E42
2G21	Triode Heptode	1	. 2	1.25	0.05				Converter	22.5		22.5	0.2	0.3		75	—			2G21
2G22	Converter	1	2	1.25	0.05		1		Converter	22.5	0	22.5	0.3	0.2	500000	60				2G22
6AD4	Triode	Bs.	2	6.3	0.15	2.8	3.2	1.31	Class-A1 Amp.	100	820*			1.4	26000	2700	70			6AD4
6AZ5	Dual Diode	1	2	6.3	0.15			—	Rectifier		Max. a.	c. valts—	-150. Peo	k inverse	volts-420	. Peak Ma.—	24. Av	. Ma.—4.0		6AZ5
6BA5	Pentode	1	2	6.3	0.15	4.0	6.5	0.19	Class-A <sub>1</sub> Amp.	100	270*	100	1.25	4.8	150000	3300			—	68A5
6BF7	Dual Triode	Bs.	8DG	6.3	0.3	2.0	1.6	1.5	R.F. Amp.	100	100*			8.0	7000	4800	35	—		6BF7
6BG7	Dual Triode	Bs.	8DG	6.3	0.3	2.0	1.6	1.5	R.F. Amp.	100	100*			8.0	7000	4800	35		—	68G7
6K4	Triode	1	2	6.3	0.15	2.4	0.8	2.4	Class A1 Amp.	200	680*	—		11.5	4650	3450	16			6K4
1247	Diode	1	2	0.7	0.065	_	-	—	R.F. Probe				.c. volts-	-300 r.m.		plate curren	it-0.4 /	Ma.		1247
CK 501	Pentode Voltoge Amplifier	-1	2	1.25	0.033	_	-	_	Class-A Amp.	30 45	0 1.25	30 45	0.06	0.3	1000000 1500000	325 300			—	CK501
CK502	Pentode Output Amplifier	<b>—</b> <sup>1</sup>	z	1.25	0.033	-	-		Class-A Amp.	30	0	30	0.13	0.55	500000	400		60000	0.003	CK502
CK503	Pentode Output Amplifier	- '	2	1.25	0.033		-	—	Class-A Amp.	30	0	30	0.33	1.5	1 50000	600		20000	0.006	CK503
CK 504	Pentode Output Amplifier	- 1	2	1.25	0.033	_	_		Class-A Amp.	30	- 1.25	30	0.09	0.4	500000	350		60000	0.003	CK 504
CK 505	Pentade Voltage Amplifier	-1	2	0.625	0.03		—	—	Class-A Amp.	30	0 1.25	30 45	0.07	0.17	1100000 2000000	140 150		_	—	CK505
CK 506	Pentode Output Amplifier		2	1.25	0.05			—	Class-A1 Amp.	45	-4.5	45	0.4	1.25	120000	500	—	30000	0.025	CK506
CK 507	Pentode Output Amplifier		2	1.25	0.05	_			Closs-A1 Amp.	45	- 2.5	45	0.21	0.6	360000	500	—	50000	0.010	CK507
CK509	Triode Voltage Amplifier	-1	x	0.625	0.03				Class-A Amp.	45	0			0.15	150000	160	16	1000000		CK509
CK510	Dual Space-Charge Tetrode	-1	2	0.625	0.05	.—			Class-A Amp.	45	0	0.2	200 μα	60 μα	500000	65	32.5			CK510
CK512	Low Microphonic Pentade	1	2	0.625	0.02		I —		Voltage Amp.	22.5	0	22.5	0.04	0.125	—	160	—	—	—	CK412
CK515BX	Triode Voltage Amplifier	-1	2	0.625	0.03				Closs-A Amp.	45	0		—	0.15		160	24	1000000		CK515BX
CK520AX	Audio Pentode	1	2	0.625	0.05		—		Class-A1 Amp.	45	- 2.5	45	0.07	0.24		180			0.0045	CK520AX
CK521AX	Audia Pentode	1	2	1.25	0.05		-		Class-A1 Amp.	22.5	-3	22.5	0.22	0.8		400	—		0.006	CK521AX
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					_	1							L			<u> </u>			

V33

#### TABLE XII-SUB-MINIATURE TUBES-Continued

		T	C t			-			1		1									
Туре	Nome	Base	Socket Connec-		r Heater	Capa	ocitonce µµfd.		Use	Plate Supply	Grid	Screen	Screen	Plate Current	Plate Resistance	Transcon- ductance		Load Resistance	Power Output	
			tions	Volts	Amp.	In	Out	Plate- Grid		Volts	Bias	Volts	Ma.	Mo.	Ohms	Micromhos	Factor		Watts	Туре
CK522AX A	Audio Pentode	1	2	1.25	0.02				Class-A1 Amp.	22,5	0	22.5	0.08	0.2		470	<u> </u>			-
	Pentode Output Amp.	$\left  \begin{array}{c} \cdot \\ \cdot \end{array} \right $		1.25	0.02				Class-A Amp.	22.5			1	0.3		450			0.0012	
	entode Output Amp.	1		1.25	0.03				Class-A Amp.	15	-1.2 -1.75	22.5 15	0.075	0.3		360			0.0025	
	entode Output Amp.	1		1.25	0.2				Class-A Amp.	22.5	-1.75	22.5	0.125	0.45		300			0.0022	
	Pentode Output Amp.	1		1.25	0.2				Class-A Amp.	22.5	-1.2	22.5	0.08	0.25		325			0.0022	
	Pentode Output Amp.	1		1.25	0.015				Closs-A Amp.	22.5	0	22.5	0.12						0.004	CK526AX
	ihielded Output Pentode	1		1.25	0.02			-	Closs-A Amp.	15	-1.5	15	0.023	0.1		75 275			0.0007	CK527AX
	Diode Pentode	1	2	1.25	0.03	_	-		Detector - Amp.	22.5	0	22.5	0.03	0.17		275			0.0012	
CK553AXA R	R.F. Pentade	1	2	1.25	0.05	_	-	-	Closs-A1 Amp.	22.5	0	22.5	0.13	0.42		550				CK551AXA CK553AXA
	J.h.f. Triode	1	2	1.25	0.125	_	-	_	R.F. Oscillator	135	-5		0.10	4.0		1600	_			CK5556AX
CK568AX U	J.h.f. Triade	1	2	1.25	0.07		-	_	R.F. Oscillator	135	-6			1.9		650				CK568AX
CK569AX R	R.F. Pentode	1	2	1.25	0.05	_		-	Closs-A: Amp.	67.5	0	67.5	0.48	1.8		1100				CK569AX
CK605CX SI	harp Cut-off Pentode	1		6.3	0.2			_	Closs-A Amp.	120	-2	120	2.5	7.5		5000				
	ingle Diode	1	2	6.3	0.15		-		Detector	150 a.c.				9.0 d.c		3000				CK605CX CK606BX
	J.h.f. Triode	1	2	6.3	0.2		_	-	500-Mc. Osc.	120	-2			9.0		5000			0.75	CK6085X CK608CX
	li-Mu Triode	1	2	6.3	0.2		_	-	Class-A: Amp.	250	-2			4.0		4000			5.75	CK619CX
CK624CX SI	harp Cut-off Pentode	1		6.3	0.2		_	_	Class-A Amp.	120	-2	120	3.5	5.2		3000				CK624CX
	iharp Cut-off Pentode	1	2	6.3	0.2	-			Closs-A1 Amp.	120	-2	120	2.5	7.5		5000				CK650AX
CK5672 Pe	entode Output Amp.	1		1.25	0.05		_		Class-A Amp.	67.5	-6.25	67.5	1.0	2,75		625			0.06	CK5672
HY113	riode Amplifier		5K	1.4	0.07			—	Class-A Amp.	45	-4.5			0.4	25000	250	6.3	40000	0.0065	HY113 HY123
HY115 HY145 Pe	Pentode Voltage Amplifier	1	5K	1.4	0.07	—	—		Closs-A Amp.	45 90	-1.5 -1.5	22.5 45	0.008	0.03	5200000 1300000	58 270	300 370			HY115 HY145
HY125 HY155 Pe	entode Power Amptifier	1	5K	1.4	0.07	—	—	—	Class-A Amp.	45 90	-3.0 -7.5	45 90	0.2	0.9	825000 420000	310 450	255 190	50000 28000	0.0115	
M54 Te	etrode Power Amplifier	1	2	0.625	0.04			—	Closs-A Amp.	30	0	30	0.06	0.5	130000	200	26	35000	0.005	M54
M64 Te	etrode Voltage Amplifier	1	2	0.625	0.02		_	—	Closs-A Amp.	30	0		-	0.03	200000	110	25			M64
M74 Te	etrode Voltage Amplifier	1	2	0.625	0.02			_	Closs-A Amp.	30	0	7.0	0.01	0.02	500000	125	70			M74
	Gas Triode	1	2	1.4	0.05	—	—		Radio Control	45	-			1.5					_	RK61
303/	riode	1	2	6.3	0.15	2.6	0.7	1.4	Closs-A1 Amp.	100	820*			1.4	26000	2700	70			SD917A 5637
3636	Audio Pentode	1	2	6.3	0.15	4.0	3.0	0.22	Closs-AL Amp.	100	270*	100	1.25	4.8	1 500 00	3300				SD828A 5638
3034	harp Cut-off Pentode	4	—	6.3	0.15	4.4	2.8	0.01	Closs-A1 Amp.	100	150*	100	2.5	6.5	240000	3500	_		—	SD828E 5634
3033	emote Cut-aff Pentode	4	—	6.3	0.15	4.0	2.8	0.01	Class-A1 Amp.	100	150*	100	2.8	7.0	200000	3400	_			SN944 5633
	)io de	1	2	6.3	0.15	1.8	—	—	Rectifier	150		-	—	9.0	_					SN946
SN947D A	Audio Beam Pentode	1	2	6.3	0.45	_	—	—	Class-A1 Amp.	100	-9	100	2.2	31.0	15000	5000	—	3000	1.25	SN947C 5640
	oltage Regulator	1	—		—		—		Regulator			Ó	perating	voltage ==	95; Max. cu	rrent=25 M	lo.			SN948C
	ower Pentode	1		6.3	0.15	9.5	3.8	0.2	Closs-A Amp.	150	100*	100	4/7.5	21/20	50000	9000		9000		SN953D
2041	alf-Wave Rectifier	1	2	6.3	0.45	—		-	Rectifier	300	-	-	—	45.0		—				SN954 5641
	Jual Triode	1	2	6.3	0.45	2.8	1.0	1.3	Class-A1 Amp. 6	100	100*			5.5	8000	4250	34			SN955B
3042	.V. Half-Wave Rectifier		—	1.25	0.14	-	—	—	H.V. Rectifier		Peal	inverse	• V. = 100	00 Max.	Average 1p =	=2 Ma. Peak	k (p = 2)	3 Ma.		SN956B 5642
SN957A 5645	riode	1	2	6.3	0.15	2.0	1.0	1.8	Class-A1 Amp.	100	560*		-	5.0	7400	2700	20			SN957 A 5645
	riode Aixer	1	2	6.3 6.3	0.15	5.0	2.8		Class-A1 Amp.	100 100	820*			1.4	29000	2400	70			5N1006

**V**34

#### TABLE XII-SUB-MINIATURE TUBES-Continued

Type	Name	L	5ocket				citance		Han	Plate	Grid	5creen	Screen	Plate Current	Plate Resistance	Transcon- ductance	Amp,	Load Resistance	Power	Туре
Туре		Base	Connec- tions	Volts	Amp.	In	Out	Plate- Grid	Use	Supply Volts	Bias	Volts	Ma.	Ma.	Ohms	Micromhos	Factor	Ohms	Watts	Type
635	Dual Triode	Bs.	8D8	6.3	0,45	2.6	1.6	1.2	Class-A Amp. <sup>5</sup>	100	100*	—		4.8	10000	3800	38			5635
636	Pentode Mixer	Bs.	8DC	6.3	0.15	4.0	1.9	0.034	Class-A Amp.	100	150*	100	4.0	5.6	110000					5636
639	Video Pentode	1	8DL	6.3	0.45	9.5	7.5	0.10	Class-A1 Amp.	150	100*	100	4.0	21	50K	9000		9000	1.0	5639
641	Single Diode	1	6CJ	6.3	0.45	-	—		H. W. Rectifier				235 voli	s a.c. ma	x.; 45 Ma.	d.c. output.				5641
i643	Tetrode Thyratron	1	8DD	6.3	0.15	1.7	1.6	0.1	Relay Tube Grid Contr. Rect.		Peak a					k l <u>k</u> = 100 M				5643
644	Cold Cathode Diode	1	4CN	-			_		Voltage Reg.	Operating current = 5-25 Ma. Regulation = 4 volts approx.										5644
646	Triode	1		6.3	0.15	2.4	3,4	1.2	Class-A Amp.	100	820*			1.4	29000	2400	70			5646
647	Single Diode	1	B1	6.3	0.15	2.2	-	<u> </u>	H. W. Rectifier			1			iax; 9 Ma.	d.c. output.			10.015	5647
672	Power Pentode	1	2	1.25	0.05				Class-A Amp.	67.5	-6.5	67.5	1.1	3.25		650		20000	0.065	5672
676	Triode	1	2	1.25	0.12	1.3	4	2	Class-A Amp.	135	-5			4		1600	15			5676
677	Triode	1	2	1.25	0.06	1.3	3.8	2	Class-A Amp.	135	-6			1.9		650	13.5			5677
678	Pentode	1	2	1.25	0.05	3,3	3.8	.01	Class-A Amp.	67.5	0	67.5	0.48	1.8	1000000					5678
697	Lo-Mu Triode	1		0.625					Class-A Amp.	12	-3			0.22		135	2.1			5697
702	Remote Cut-off Pentode	1		6.3	0.2	4.4	3.5	0.03	Class-A Amp.	120	200*	120	2.5	7,5	340000					5702
703	Medium Mu Triode	1		6.3	0.2	2.6	0.7	1.2	Closs-A Amp.	120	220*			9		5000	25			5703
704	Diode	1		6.3	0,15				Max	. RMS plo		= 150; N	lax. d.c.		Peak IP =			= 420.		5704
5718	U.h.f. Medium-Mu Triode	1	8DK	6.3	0.15	2.2	0.7	1.4	Class-A1 Amp. U.h.f. Oscillator	150 150	180* 	 Fmc	.=500	13 20	4150	lg = 3.	-		0.9	5718
719	Hi- Mu Triode	1	8DK	6.3	0.15	2.4	0.6	0.7	Class-A: Amp.	150	680*	—		1.7	26000		70			5719
744	Hi-Mu Triode	1		6.3	0.2				Class-A Amp.	250	500*			4.0		4000	70			5744
784	Dual-Control Pentode	1		6.3	0.2	3.9	3.0	0.03	Class-A Amp.	120	-2	120	4.8	3.6		1850		J		5784
785	High Voltage Diode	1								Max. d.	c. 12=0	.1 Ma.; F	eak lp=	0.45 Ma.	; Max. peal	k inverse vo	lts = 350	0.		5785
840	U.h.f. Sharp Cut-off Pent.	1	8DL	6.3	0.15	4.2	4.0	0.015	Class-A: Amp.	100	150*	100	2.4	7.5	230K	5000				5840
851	Pentode Pawer Amplifier,	1	6CL	2.5	0.055	2.5	3.0	0.055	Class-A Amp.	125	-7.5	125	0.9	5,5	175000	1600				5851
896	U.h.f. Dual Diode	1	8DJ	6.3	0.3	3.0			DetRectifier			1.	50 volts a	.c. max.	9 Mo. d.c.	output per p	olate.			5896
070	C.I.I.I. DOGI DIGUC	-							Class-A1 Amp.	150	180*			13	4150	6500	27			5897
897	U.h.f. Medium-Mu Triode	1	8DK	6.3	0.15	2.2	0.7	1.4	U.h.f. Oscillotor	150	12	-		20	1	g = 3.7 Ma.	Fmc. = 5	00.	0.9	3077
898	Hi-Mu Triode	1	8DK	6.3	0.15	2.4	0.6	0.7	Class-A1 Amp.	150	680*	_		1.7	26000	2700	70			5898
899	U.h.f. Semi-Remote Pent.	1	8DL	6.3	0.15	4.4	4,0	0.015	Class-AL Amp.	100	120*	100	2.2	7.2	260K	4500				5899
900	U.h.f. Semi-Remote Pent.	1	8DL	6.3	0.15	4,4	4.0	0.015	Class-A1 Amp.	100	120*	100	2.2	7.2	260K	4500		— —	1 —	5900
i901	U.h.f. Sharp Cut-off Pent.	1	8DL	6.3	0.15	4.2	4.0	0.015	Class-A1 Amp.	100	150*	100	2.4	7.5	230K	5000				5901
902	Audio Beam Pentode	1	8DL	6.3	0.15	6.5	7.5	0.11	Class-A1 Amp.	110	270*	110	2.2	30	15K	4200	-	3000	1.0	5902
902 903	U.h.f. Dual Diode	1	8DJ	26.5	0.075		-		DetRectifier			1:	50 volts a	.c. max.	9 Ma. d.c.	output per (	plate.			5903
,,,,,		+		1	1	1	0.8		Class-A: Amp.	26.5	-3,5			3	3800	5000	19		-	6904
904	U.h.f. Medium-Mu Triode	1	8DK	26.5	0.045	2.2		1.8	U.h.f. Oscillator	26.5	0	-	-	20		g =7.5 Ma.	Fmc.=4	00.	0.06	- 5904
905	U.h.f. Sharp Cut-off Pent.	1	8DL	26.5	0.045	4.4	4.2	0.015		26.5	2.26	26.5	0.9	2.3	110K	2850	1 —	1 -		5905
906	U.h.f. Sharp Cut-off Pent.	1	8DL	26.5	0.045		4.0	0.015		100	150*	100	2.4	7.5	230K	5000				5906
907	U.h.f. Remote Cut-off Pent	1	8DL	26.5	0.045		4.0	0.015		26.5	2.26	26.5	1.1	2.7	125K	3000				5907
707	G.n.i. Kemple Col-off Fem	-		1					Closs-A: Amp.	26.5	2.26	26.5	1.6	2.3	30K	1750	-		-	5908
908	U.h.f. Pentode	1	8DC	26.5	0.045	4.4	4.6	0.08	Mixer	26.5	2.26	26.5	1.6	1.0	100K	800	-	—		5908
		1	1				1		Class-AL Amp.	100	150*	100	3.4	4.4	130K	3000				5916
5916	U.h.f. Pentode		8DC	26.5	0.045	4.2	4.0	0.015	Mixer	100	150*	100	4.6	2.5	400K	1100				- 3916
977	Triode	Bs.	8DK	6.3	0.15	2.0	0.8	1.3	Class-A Amp.	100	270*	-	-	10	3650	4500	16			5977
5987	Triode	Bs.	8DM	6.3	0.45	2.8	1.5	3.2	Class-A1 Amp.	150	- 24			22.5/2	8 2220	1850	4.1	3500	0.75	5987
		1		6.3	0.3	1.9	0.3	0,009		100	220*		1	8.5	4000	5000	20		1	6111

V35

<sup>2</sup> Leads identified on tube. <sup>3</sup> No screen connection. World Radio History
#### TABLE XIII-CONTROL AND REGULATOR TUBES

Туре	Name	Base	Socket Connec-	Cathode	Fil. or	Heater	Use	Peak	Max. Anode	Minimum	Operating	Operating	Grid	Tube	Turne
		ouse	tions	Cambae	Volts	Amp.	Use	Anode Voltage	Anode Ma.	Supply Voltage	Voltage	Ma.	Resistor	Voltage Drop	Туре
0A2 073	Voltage Regulator	7-pin B.	5BO	Cold		_	Voltage Regulator			185	150	5-30			0A2
DA5	Gas Pentode	7-pin B.	Fig. 33	Cold			Relay or Trigger		Plate - 7	50 V., Screer	- 90 V., Gri	d+3 V., Puls	se – 85 V.		0A5
)B2 5074	Voltage Regulator	7-pin B.	5BO	Cold		_	Voltage Regulator			133	108	5-30			0B2
0A4G 1267	Gas Triode Starter-Anode Type	6-pin O.	4V 4V	Cold	-	_	Cold-Cathode Starter-Anode Relay Tube			a.c. anode su age 55. Peak					0A4G 1267
)G3	Voltage Regulator	7-pin B.	5BO	Cold			Voltage Regulator			125	85	1-6			0G3
B47	Voltage Regulator	7-pin B.		—			Voltage Regulator			225	82	1-2		_	1847
IC21	Gas Triode Glow-Discharge Type	6-pin O.	4V	Cold			Relay Tube Voltage Regulator	125-145	25 0.1 <sup>6</sup>	66 <sup>6</sup>	—	_	—	73 55	1C21
2A4G	Gas Triode Grid Type	7-pin O.	55	Fil.	2.5	2.5	Control Tube	200	100			<u> </u>		15	2A4G
5Q5G	C	8-pin O.	6Q	Htr.	6.3	0.6									605G
284	Gas Triode Grid Type	5-pin M.	5A	Htr.	2.5	1.4	Sweep Circuit Oscillator	300	300			1.0	0.1-10 7	19	284
2C4	Gas Triode	7-pin B.	5AS	Fil.	2.5	0.65	Control Tube	Plate volts	= 350: Grid	volts = $-50;$	Ava. Ma. =	5: Peak Ma.	=20: Voltag	drop = 16.	1
2D21	Gas Tetrode	7 -1- D	7BN				Grid-Controlled Rectifier	650	500		650	100	0.1-107	8	
	Gas Terrode	7-pin B.	/ DIN	Htr.	6.3	0.6	Relay Tube	400		<u> </u>			1.07		2021
3C23	Gas and Mercury Vapor	4-pin M.	3G	Fil,	2.5	7.0	Cid Controlled During	1000			500	1500	-4.5 8	15	1
	Grid Type	4-pin m.	30	FU,	2.5	7.0	Grid-Controlled Rectifier	1000	6000		100	1500	-2.5 <sup>8</sup>	15	3C23
5D4	Gas Triode	7-pin B.	5AY	Htr.	6.3	0.25	Control Tube	Plate volts =	- 350; Grid v	volts $= -50;$	Avg. Ma. = 2	5; Peak Ma. =	= 100; Voltag	e drop = 16.	6D4
17	Mercury Vapor Triode	4-pin M.	3G	Fil,	2.5	5.0	Grid-Controlled Rectifier	7500 b 2500	2000	-53	1000	500 250	200-3000	10-24	17
374	Voltage Regulator	4-pin M.	45				Voltage Regulator			125	90	10-50			874
876#	Current Regulator	Mogul			_		Current Regulator				40-60	1.7			876
384	Gas Triode Grid Type	6-pin O.	6Q	Htr.	6.3	0.6	Sweep Circuit Oscillator Grid-Controlled Rectifier	300 350	300 300	-	—	2 75	25000 25000		884
885	Gas Triode Grid Type	5-pin S.	5A	Htr.	2.5	1.4	Same as Type 884			Characteri	stics same a	<u> </u>	23000		885
886#	Current Regulator	Mogul					Current Regulator				40-60	2.05			886
967	Mercury Vapor Triode	4-pin M.	3G	Fil.	2.5	5.0	Grid-Controlled Rectifier	2500	500	5 3	40-00	2.05		10-24	967
991	Voltage Regulator	Bayonet			—		Voltage Regulator			87	55-60	2.0		10-24	991
1265	Voltage Regulator	6-pin O.	4AJ	Cold	-		Voltage Regulator			130	90	5-30			1265
1266	Voltage Regulator	6-pin O.	4AJ	Cold			Voltage Regulator				70	5-40			1266
1267	Gas Triode	6-pin O.	4V	Cold	_		Relay Tube	_	1	Characte	ristics same	1			1267
2050	Gas Tetrode	8-pin O.	8BA	Htr.	6.3	0.6	Grid-Controlled Rectifier	650	500	-	I —	100	0.1-107	8	2050
2051	Gas Tetrode	8-pin O.	8BA	Htr.	6.3	0.6	Grid-Controlled Rectifier	350	375		-	75	0.1-107	14	2051
2523N1/ 128AS	Gas Triode Grid Type	5-pin M.	5A	Htr.	2.5	1.75	Relay Tube	400	300			1.0	300 7	13	2523N1 128A5
5651	Voltage Regulator	7-pin B.	5BO	Cold			Voltage Regulator	115		115	87	1.5-3.5	—		5651
5663	Tetrade Thyratron	7-pin B	7CE	Htr.	6.3	0.15	Contral and Relay		Max. peak	inv. volts =	500; Peak M	a. = 100; Av	g. Mo. = 20.		5663
5727	Gas Tetrode	7-pin B.	7BN	Htr.	6.3	0.6	Grid-Controlled Rectifier	650	500		650	100	0.17	8	5727
5823	Gas Triode	7-pin B.	4CK	Cold		_	Relay or Trigger		Max. peak	k inv. volts =	200; Peak M	a. = 100; Av	g. Ma. =25.		5823
5890	Remote Cut-off Pentode Regulator	<u> </u>	12J	Htr.	6.3	0.6	Shunt Regulator			—60 volts; 30000 volts;					5890
5962	Voltage Regulatar	7-pin B.	2AG	Cold			Voltage Regulator		—	730	700	5/5510	_		5962
6140	Voltage Regulator	9-pin B.	9BY	Cold			Voltage Regulator			160	100	4-6	—	—	6140
6141	Voltage Regulator	9-pin B.	9BZ	Cold			Voltage Regulator			165	100	5-40			6141
KY21	Gas Triade Grid Type	4-pin M.		Fil.	2.5	10.0	Grid-Controlled Rectifier				3000	500			KY21
RK61	Thyratron	9		Fil.	1.4	0.05	Radio-Controlled Relay	45	1.5	30		0.5-1.5	3 7	30	RK61
RK62	Gas Triode Grid Type	4-pin S.	4D	Fil.	1.4	0.05	Relay Tube	45	1.5		30-45	0.1-1.5		15	RK62
RM208	Permotron	4-pin M.		Fil.	2.5	5.0	Controlled Rectifier 1	7 5 0 0 <sup>2</sup>	1000					15	RM208

**V**36

#### TABLE XIII-CONTROL AND REGULATOR TUBES-Continued

	Name	Base	Socket	Cathode	Fil. or	Heater	Use	Peak Anode	Max. Anode	Minimum	Operating	Operating	Grid	Tube	
Туре	Indula	Buse	tions	Cunous	Volts	Amps.	010	Voltage	Me.	Supply Voltage	Valtage	Ma.	Resistor	Voltage Drop	Туре
RM209	Permatron	4-pin M.		Fil.	5.0	10.0	Controlled Rectifler	7500 <sup>2</sup>	5000					15	RM209
OA3/VR75	Voltage Regulator	6-pin O.	4AJ	Cold			Voltage Regulator			105	75	5-40	-		OA3/VR75
OB3/VR90	Voltage Regulator	6-pin O.	4AJ	Cold			Voltage Regulator			125	90	5-40	_		OB3/VR90
OC3/VR 105	Voltage Regulator	6-pin O.	4AJ	Cold	_		Voltage Regulator			135	105	5-40	_		OC3/VR105
OD3/VR150	Voltage Regulator	6-pin O.	4AJ	Cold	-		Voltage Regulator			185	150	5-40	_		OD3/VR150
KY 866	Mercury Vapor Triode	4-pin M.	Fig. 8	Fil.	2.5	5.0	Grid-Controlled Rectifier	10000	1000	0-150			_		KY866

<sup>1</sup> Far use as grid-controlled rectifier or with external magnetic control. RM-208 has characteristics of 866, RM-209 of 872. # Discontinued.

<sup>2</sup> When under control peak inverse rating is reduced to 2500.

<sup>3</sup> At 1000 anode volts. <sup>4</sup> Grid tied to plate.

<sup>5</sup> Peak inverse voltage. <sup>6</sup> Grid.

<sup>7</sup> Megohms. <sup>8</sup> Grid valtage.

<sup>9</sup> No base. Tinned wire leads. <sup>10</sup> Values in  $\mu$  amperes.

V37

Туре	Name	Sacket Connec-	He	ater	Use	Size	Anode No. 2	Anode No. 1	Cut-Off Grid	Grid No. 2	lon- Trap	Max. Input	Focus Coil		ection tivity <sup>6</sup>	Anode No. 3	Pattern	Туре
		tions	Volts	Amp.			Voltage	Voltage	Voltage	Voltage	Ma.	Voltage 1	Ma.	D <sub>1</sub> D <sub>2</sub>	D3 D4	Voltage	Color	
2AP17-11	Electrostatic Cathode-Ray	118	6.3	0.6	Oscillograph Television	2‴	1000	250 125	- 60	_	=	660	_	0.11	0.13	-	Green	2AP1-11
							2000	300/560	-135			500	_	2703	1743		-	
28P1-11	Electrostatic Cathode-Ray	12E	6.3	0.6	Oscillograph	2″	1000	150/280	-67.5			500		1353	873		Green	2BP1-11
JAP1/							1500	430	- 50		_			0.22	0.23		Green	3AP1/
906-P1-	Electrostatic Cathode-Ray	7AN	2.5	2.1	Oscillograph	3‴	1000	285	- 33			550	—	0.33	0.35		Blue	906-P1-
4-5-117							600	170	- 20					0.55	0.58		White	4-5-11
38P1-	Electrostatic Cathode-Ray	14A	6.3	0.6	Oscillograph	3‴	2000	575	- 60			550		0.13	0.17	_	Green	38P1- 4-11
4-11							1500	430	- 45					0.17	0.23			4-11
3DP1	Electrostatic Cathode-Ray	Fig. 49	6.3	0.6	Oscillograph	3‴	2000	575	- 60			550		2003	1483		Green	3DP1
							1500	430	- 40					1503	1113			
3EP1/ 1806-P1	Electrostatic Cathode-Ray	11A	6.3	0.6	Oscillograph Television	3‴	2000	575 430	- 60			550		0,115	0.154	—	Green	3EP1/ 1806-P1
3FP7-A	Electrostatic Cathode-Ray	14B	6.3	0.6	Oscillograph	3"	4000	430	- 45	2000				0.153	0.205			3FP7 - A
	Electrostatic Californe-Kay		0.5	0.0	Oschograph	3				2000							White	
3GP1- 4-5-11	Electrostatic Cathode-Ray	11A	6.3	0.6	Oscillograph	3″	1500 1000	350 234	- 50 - 33	_		550	_	0.21	0.24		Green	3GP1- 4-5-11
3JP1- 2-4-7-11	Electrostatic Cathode-Ray	14B	6.3	0.6	Oscillograph	3″	2000 1500	575 430	- 60 - 45		_	550		0.13	0.17	4000	Green Blue White	3JP1- 2-4-7-11
3KP1-11	Electrostatic Cathode-Ray	11M	6.3	0.6	Oscillograph	3″	1000	300 600	- 45	1000	=	500		683 523	136 <sup>5</sup>		Green	3KP1-11
3MP1	Electrostatic Cathode-Ray	Fig. 2	6.3	0.6	Oscillograph	3''	1000	200/350	- 68					190 3	180 3	_	Green	3MP1
3RP1	Electrostatic Cathode-Ray	12E	6.3	0.6	Oscillograph	3″	1000	165/310 330/620	-67.5 -135		—		—	73/993	52/703	—	Green	3RP1
35P1-7	Electrostatic Cathode-Ray	12E	6.3	0.6	Oscillograph	3″	2000	330/620				—		146/1983	104/1403		0	35P1
5ABP1- 7-11	Electrostatic Cathode-Ray	148	6.3	0.6	Oscillograph	5"	2000		-52/-87		_		_	<b>26/36</b> 3	18/243	4000	Green	5ABP1- 7-11
5AP1/ 1805-P1 5AP4/	Electrostatic Picture Tube	11A	6.3	0.6	Oscillagraph Television	5″	2000	575	- 35			500		0.17	0.21		Green White	5AP1/ 1805-P1 5AP4/
1805-P47							1500	430	- 27					0.23	0.28	_		1805-P4
5BP1/ 1802-P1-	Electrostatic Picture Tube	11A	6.3	0.6	Oscillograph	5''	2000	450	- 40			500		0.3	0.33		Green White	5BP1/ 1802-P1-
2-4-5-11					- ·		1500	337	- 30		—			0,4	0.45		Blue	2-4-5-11

Туре	Name	Socket Connec-	He	ater	Use	Size	Anode No. 2	Anode No. 1	Cut-Off Grid	Grid No. 2	lan- Trap	Max. Input	Focus Coil		ection tivity <sup>6</sup>	Anode No. 3	Pattern Color	Туре
.,		tions	Volts	Amps.		0.10	Voltage	Voltage	Voltage	Voltage	Ma.	Voltage 1	Ma.	D1 D2	D3 D4	Voltage	Color	
5CP1-							2000	575	- 60	—			_	0.28	0.32	4000	White	1001
2-4-5-7-	Electrostatic Cathode-Ray	14B	6.3	0.6	Oscillograph	5''	1500	430	- 45		—	550	_	0.37	0.43	3000	Green	5CP1- 2-4-5-7-1
11					Television		2000	575	- 60	—		1		0.36	0.41	2000	Blue	-
5FP1-					O tills		7000	250	- 45	_			_				Green	5FP1-
2-4-11-14	Electromagnetic Cathode-Ray	5AN	6.3	0.6	Oscillograph Television	5″	4000	250	- 45			1				_	White Blue	2-4-11-14
5HP1							2000	425	- 40					0.3	0.33		Green	5HP1
5HP4 7	flectrostotic Cathode-Ray	- 11A	6.3	0.6	Oscillograph	5″	1500	310	- 30	-		500	—	0.4	0.44		White	5HP4
5JP1-	Electrostatic Cothode-Ray	11E	6.3	0.6	Oscillagraph	5″	2000	520	- 75		—	500	—	0.25	0.28	4000	White Green	5JP1-
2-4-5-11			0.3	0.8	Oschlagraph	3	1500	390	- 56	— —		500		0.33	0.37	3000	Blue	2-4-5-11
5LP1-	#				0		2000	500	- 60					0.25	0.28	4000	White	5LP1-
2.4.5.11	Electrostatic Cathode-Ray	11F	6.3	0.6	Oscillograph Television	5″	1500	375	- 45			500		0.33	0.37	3000	Green Blue	2-4-5-11
							1000	250	- 30					0.49	0.56	2000		
5MP1-	Floring statis Cathoda Davi					-//	1500	375	- 50	<u> </u>	— —	440		0.39	0.42		White Green	5MP1-
4-5-11	Electrostatic Cathode-Ray	7AN	2.5	2.1	Oscillograph	5″	1000	250	- 33	—		660		0.58	0.64		Blue	4-5-11
5RP1-		1.45					3000		- 90		_	1000		0.12	0.12	15000	Green	5RP1-
2-4-7-11	Electrostatic Cathode-Ray	14F	6.3	0.6	Oscillograph	5''	2000	575	- 60	—	—	1200		0.18	0.18	10000	White Blue	2-4-7-11
5TP4	Projection Kinescope	120	6.3	0.6	Televisian	5″	27000	4900	- 70	200							White	5TP4
		+	1				2500	640	- 90			500	—	38.5 <sup>3</sup>	<b>77</b> <sup>3</sup>		Green	
5UP1-	Destant Cate I. D.						2500	340	- 90	—	—	500		283	563	—	Yel-	5UP1-
7-11	Electrostatic Cathode-Ray	12E	6.3	0.6	Oscillograph	5″	1000	320	- 45			500		313	623		low	7-11
	45 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·						1000	170	- 45			500		233	461		Blue	
5WP11	Transcriber Kinescope	12C	6.3	0.6	Televisian	5"	27000	5400	-42/-98	200	_	—					Blue	5WP11
SWP15	Flying-Spot Cathode-Ray	120	6.3	0.6	Vid. Sig. Gen.	5″	20000	3000/ 3800	-42/-98	200							Blue Green	5WP15
5ZP16	Flying-Spot Cathode-Ray	Fig. 46	6.3	0.6	Vid. Sig. Gen.	5''	20000	4700	70	200		—						5ZP16
7 A P 4	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	5AJ	2.5	2.1	Television	7''	3500	1000	-67.5			—					White	7AP4
78P1-007	Electromagnetic Cathode-Ray	5AN	6.3	0.6	Oscillograph	7"	7000	250	- 45								White Green	7BP1-
2-4-7-11	electromognenc cumoue-kuy	JAN	0.3	0.8	Television	1	4000	250	- 45					·			Blue	2-4-7-11
7CP1/5	Flashing and Call and Part					7"	7000	1470	- 45	250							Green	7CP1/
1811-P1	Electromagnetic Cathode-Ray	6AZ	6.3	0.6	Oscillograph	1	4000	840	- 45	250					-		Green	1811-P1
7DP4	Kinescape	12C	6.3	0.6	Television	7''	6000	1430	- 45	250		—		-			White	7DP4
7EP4	Electrostatic Cathode-Ray	11N	6.3	0.6	Television	7″	2500	650	- 60			—		110 3	<b>95</b> 3		White	7EP4
7GP4 <sup>5</sup>	Electrostatic Kinescope	Fig. 47	6.3	0.6	Television	7''	3000	1200	- 84	3000	—		—	E123 3	1023		White	7GP4
7JP1	Electrostatic Cathode-Ray	14G	6.3	0.6	Oscillograph	7"	2000	800	- 56					62/823	50/683		Green	7JP1
			0.0	0.0	Oschlograph		4000	1600	-112					124/1643	<u> </u>			
7JP4	Electrostatic Kinescope	14G	6.3	0.6	Television	7''	6000	2400	-168					246 3	204 <sup>3</sup>		White	7JP4
7MP7	Electromagnetic Cathode-Ray	12D	6.3	0.6	Oscillograph () Radar	7"		7000	-27/-63	250	<u> </u>	_ <u> </u>	85		ļ ——		Gr'nish Yellow	7MP7
7NP4	Projection Kinescope	14N	6.6	0.45		7''	75000	4000	-27 /-63	250			62		+		White	7NP4
/ 146 4	rrolection Kinescope	1419	0.0	0.62	Television	/	75000	16000/	- 155	400/600						_	·wnite	/11/4
7QP4	Electramagnetic Kinescope	120	6.3	0.6	Monitor	7''	-	912/ 1368	-67.5	250				-		6000	White	7QP4
7RP4	Flectromagnetic Picture Tube	12D	6.3	0.6	Television	7"	-	9000	-27 /-63	250			120				White	7RP4
7TP4	Monitor Kinescope	120	6.3	0.6	Television	7"	10000	1040/	-27/-63	200	0/88		120				White	7TP4
			0.0					1400	-44/-32	200	0/8-							
7VP1	Electrostatic Cathode-Ray-	14A	6.3	0.6	Oscillograph	7"	3000	800 / 1200	- 84	-	-		—	93/123	75/1023		Green	7761
7WP4	Projection Kinescope	14N	6.6		Television	7"	7 5000	8000	+	400/600	+	+			+		White	7WP4

#### TABLE XIV-CATHODE-RAY TUBES AND KINESCOPES-Continued

#### TABLE XIV-CATHODE-RAY TUBES AND KINESCOPES-Continued

Туре	Name	Socket Connec-	He	ater	Use	Size	Anode No. 2	Anode No. 1	Cut-Off Grid	Grid No. 2	lon- Trap	Max. Input	Focus Coil		ection tivity <sup>6</sup>	Anode No. 3	Pattern	Туре
		tions	Volts	Amps.			Voltage	Voltage	Voltage	Voltoge	Ma.	Voltoge <sup>1</sup>	Ma,	<b>D</b> <sub>1</sub> <b>D</b> <sub>2</sub>	D3 D4	Voltage	Color	
8AP4	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	12H	6.3	0.6	Television	8″		7000	-27 /-63	—	458	—	115	_			White	8AP4
8BP4	Electrostatic Picture Tube	14G	6.3	0.6	Television	8''		2400	-72/-168	6000				146/1983	124/1683		White	8BP4
				0.0				1620	-72/-168	6000	—	—	—			—		
9AP4/ 1804-P4	Electromagnetic Kinescope	6AL	2.5	2.1	Television	9''	7000	1425	- 40	250							White	9AP4/
							6000	1225	- 38								[	1804-P4
9CP4	Electromagnetic Kinescope	4AF	2.5	2.1	Television	9''	7000		-110	—		—					White	9CP4
9JP1/ 1809-P1	Electrostatic-Magnetic Cathode-Ray	8BR ,	2.5	2.1	Oscillograph	9"	5000 2500	1570 785	- 90 - 45		—	3000	—	0.136		—	Green	9JP1/ 1809-P1
10BP4	Mognetic Kinescope	12D	6.3	0.6	Television	10"		9000	- 45	250	—		—	— —	—		White	10BP4
10EP4	Magnetic-Focus Cathode-Ray	12D	6.3	0.6	Television	101/2"		8000	- 45	250				16 <u> </u>			White	10EP4
10FP4	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	12D	6.3	0.6	Television	10"		9000	-27/-63	250		—					White	10FP4
10HP4	Electrostatic Cathode-Ray	14G	6.3	0.6	Television	10"		5000	-60/-140	1800		—		130 <sup>3</sup>	1003		White	10HP4
10KP7	Magnetic Cathode-Roy	12D	6.3	0.6	Oscillograph	10"		9000	-27/-63	250	—					—	—	10KP7
105P4	Monitor Kinescope	120	6.3	0.6	Television	10"	14000	1640/ 2225	-18/-48	200		-	—			-	White	105P4
12AP4/ 1803-P4	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	6AL	2.5	2.1	Television	12"	7000 6000	1460 1240	- 75	250	25	—	10	-		—	White	12AP4/ 1803-P4
12CP47	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	4AF	2.5	2.1	Television	12"	7000		-110	—	25		10			—	White	12CP4
12DP4-7	Electromagnetic Cathode-Ray	5AN	6.3	0.6	Television	12"	7000 4000	250 250	- 45 - 45	=	=			=		=	White	12DP4
12KP4-A	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	Fig. 35	6.3	0.6	Television	12"		11000	-27/-63	250							White	12KP4-A
12LP47	Electromagnetic Kinescope	12D	6.3	0.6	Television	12"		11000	-27/-63	250				- <u> </u>			White	12LP4
12QP4	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	Fig. 35	6.3	0.6	Television	12"		10000	-27/-63	250	80		135	_			White	12QP4
12RP4	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	12D	6.3	0.6	Television	12"		10000	-27/-63	250	528		135				White	12RP4
125P7	Electromagnetic Cathode-Roy	12D	6.3	0.6	Oscillograph	12"		10000	-27 /-63	250			107	—	—		Gr'nish- Yellow	125P7
12TP4	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	12D	6.3	0.6	Television	12"		11000	-27/-63	250	120		110			—	White	12TP4
12UP4	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	12D	6.3	0.6	Television	12"		11000	-27 /-63	250			110				White	12UP4
14BP4	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	Fig. 35	6,3	0.6	Television	14"	_	11000	-27 /-63	250	120		110				White	14BP4
14CP4	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	12D	6.3	0.6	Television	14"	—	12000	-33/-77	250	32		105	—			White	14CP4
14DP4	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	12D	6.3	0.6	Television	14''		11000	-27 /-63	250	120	—	100				White	14DP4
14EP4	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	12D	6.3	0.6	Television	14"		12000	-33/-77		110		110				White	14EP4
14GP4	Electrostatic-Magnetic Kinescope	Fig. 42	6.3	0.6	Television	14"		12000	-33/-77	300						2940 <sup>2</sup>	White	14GP4
14HP4	Electrostatic-Magnetic Kinescope	Fig. 43	6.3	0.6	Television	14"	12000	-48/264	-33/-77	300	70	—		—			White	14HP4
15AP4	Electromagnetic Cathode-Ray	12D	6.3	0.6	Television	15"		8000	- 45	250		—		—		—	White	15AP4
15CP4	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	Fig. 35	6.3	0.6	Television	15"		9000	- 45	250	109	—	115		—	—	White	15CP4
15DP47	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	12D	6.3	0.6	Television	15"		13000	-27/-63	250	105	—	146			—	White	15DP4
16ADP4	Electromagnetic Cathode-Ray	Fig. 69	6.3	0.6	Oscillograph	16"		12000	-27 /-63	250						—	Gr'nish- Yellow	16ADP4
16AP4	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	Fig. 35	6.3	0.6	Television	16"		12000	-33/-77	300					—		White	16AP4
16CP4	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	Fig. 35	6.3	0.6	Television	16''		12000	-27 /-63	250	120		110				White	16CP4
16EP4A	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	12D	6.3	0.6	Television	16"		12000	-33/-77	300			105				White	16EP4A
16FP4	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	Fig. 35	6.3	0.6	Television	16"	—	13000	-27 /-63	250	105		146			—	White	16FP4
16GP4	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	12D	6.3	0.6	Television	16"		12000	-33/-77	300	23%		100			—	White	16GP4
16GP4B	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	12D	6.3	0.6	Television	16"		12000	-33/-77	300	35%		100				White	16GP4B
16GP4C	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	12D	6.3	0.6	Television	16"		12000	-33/-77	300	45 s		100	—		—	White	16GP4C
16HP4	Electromognetic Picture Tube	Fig. 35	6.3	0.6	Television	16"	—	12000	-33/-77	300	120		110	—	—		White	16HP4
16JP4	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	12D	6.3	0.6	Television	16"		11000	-27/-63	250	120	—	115	—		—	White	16JP4
16KP4	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	12D	6.3	0.6	Television	16″		14000	-33/-77	300	30%		90			—	White	16KP4

**V**39

#### TABLE XIV-CATHODE-RAY TUBES AND KINESCOPES-Continued

Туре	Name	Socket Connec-	He	ater	Use	Size	Anode No. 2	Anode No. 1	Cut-Off Grid	Grid No. 2	lon- Trap	Max. Input	Focus Coil	Deflec Sensiti		Anode No. 3	Pattern Color	Туре
		tions	Volts	Amps.			Voltage	Voltage	Voltage	Voltage	Ma.	Voltage <sup>1</sup>	Ma.	$D_1 D_2$	D3 D4	Voltage	Color	
16LP4	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	Fig. 35	6.3	0.6	Television	16"		12000	-33/-77	300	120	—	110	_			White	16LP4
16MP4	Electromagnetic Kinescope	12D	6.3	0.6	Television	16"		12000	-33/-77	300	120	—	110				White	16MP4
16RP4	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	12D	6.3	0.6	Television	16"	—	12000	-33/-77	300	120	—	100		—		White	16RP4
165P4A	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	12D	6.3	0.6	Television	16"		12000	-33/-77	300	120		110				White	165P4A
16TP4	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	Fig. 35	6.3	0.6	Television	16"		12000	-33/-77	300	45%		115				White	16TP4
16UP4	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	12D	6,3	0,6	Television	16"		12000	-27/-63	300	23%		100				White	16UP4
16VP4	Electromagnetic Kinescope	12D	6.3	0.6	Television	16″		12000	-27/-63	250	120		110				White	16VP4
16WP4A	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	12D	6.3	0.6	Television	16"		12000	-27/-63	250	120		110	_			White	16WP4A
16ZP4	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	12D	6.3	0.6	Television	16"		12000	-33/-77	300	120	-	110		-		White	16ZP4
17 AP4	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	12D	6.3	0.6	Television	17"		12000	-33/-77	300	75		100				White	17AP4
17BP4A	Electromagnetic Kinescope	Fig. 45	6.3	0.6	Television	17"		14000	-33/-77	300	50%		99				White	178P4A
17BP4B	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	12D	6.3	0.6	Television	17"		12000	-33/-77	300	358		100				White	17BP4B
17CP4	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	12D	6.3	0.6	Television	17"		14000	-33/-77	300	508		104				White	17 CP4
17FP4	Electrostatic-Magnetic Kinescope	Fig. 42	6.3	0.6	Television	17"	16000	3100/	-33/-77	300	40 <sup>3</sup>						White	17FP4
			0.0	0.0				4100										
17 GP4	Electrostatic-Magnetic Kinescope	Fig. 43	6,3	0.6	Television	17''		14000	-33/-77	300	40 <sup>8</sup>					3620 <sup>2</sup>	White	17GP4
17HP4	Electrostatic-Magnetic Kinescope	Fig. 42	6.3	0.6	Television	17"	14000	0-350	-33/-77	300	85						White	17HP4
17JP4	Electromagnetic Kinescope	Fig. 45	6.3	0.6	Television	17"		16000	-33/-77	300	45%						White	17JP4
17KP4	Electrostatic-Magnetic Kinescope	Fig. 45	6.3	0.6	Television	17"		12000	-33/-77	300	0/8'						White	17KP4
17LP4	Electrostatic-Magnetic Kinescope	Fig. 42	6.3	0.6	Television	17"		16000	-33/-77	300	50%						White	17LP4
17QP4	Electromagnetic Kinescope	12D	6.3	0.6	Television	17"		12000	-33/-77	300	35		100				White	17QP4
17RP4	Electrostatic-Magnetic Kinescope	Fig. 66	6.3	0.6	Television	17"	14000	0	-33/-77	300	358				_	_	White	17RP4
17SP4	Electrostatic-Magnetic	12D	6.3	0.6	Television	17"		13000	-33/-66	250	120					_	White	17SP4
17 YP4	Electromagnetic Kinescope	Fig. 45	6.3	0.6	Television	17"		12000	-33/-77	300	358		92				White	17YP4
19AP4	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	Fig. 35	6.3	0.6	Television	16"		13000	-27/-63	250	105		146	_			White	19AP4
19AP4A	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	12D	6.3	0.6	Television	16"		12000	-33/-77	300	75		140		_		White	19AP4A
19DP4A	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	12D	6.3	0.6	Television	19"		13000	-26/-63	250	105		146				White	19DP4A
19EP4	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	Fig. 35	6.3	0.6	Television	19"		13000	-26/-63	250	105		146				White	19EP4
19FP4	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	Fig. 35	6.3	0.6	Television	16"		13000	-27/-68	250	100		100/130				White	19FP4
19GP4	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	11g. 55	6.3	0.6	Television	19"		13000	-27 /-63	250	105		110/130				White	19GP4
19JP4	Electromagnetic Kinescope	12D	6.3	0.6	Television	19"		12000	-33/-77	300	75		95				White	190F4
20BP4	Electromagnetic Cathode-Ray	12D	6.3	0.6	Television	20"		12000	- 45	250	75		73			· -	White	20BP4
20CP4	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	Fig. 44	6.3	0.6	Television	20"		12000	-33/-77	300	75		95					200F4
20CP4A	Electromagnetic Kinescope	Fig. 44	6.3	0.6	Television	20"		12000	-33/-77	300	75		95				White White	20CP4A
20DP4	Electromagnetic Kinescope	-	6.3	0.6		20"		12000	-33/-77	300	75		95					20CP4A 20DP4
20FP4		Fig. 44	-		Television	20"	10000	2300/			75		73				White	
20774	Electrostatic-Magnetic Kinescope	Fig. 66	6.3	0.6	Television	20	12000	3100	-33/-77	300	/3						White	20FP4
20GP4	Electrostatic-Magnetic Kinescope	Fig. 42	6.3	0.6	Television	20"		16000	-33/-77	300	40 <sup>8</sup>					42702	White	20GP4
20HP4	Electrostatic-Magnetic Kinescope	Fig. 66	6.3	0.6	Television	20"	14000	-56/310	-33/-77	300	85						White	20HP4
20JP4	Electrostatic-Magnetic Kinescope	Fig. 45	6.3	0.6	Television	20"		12000	-33/-77	300	0/85						White	20JP4
20LP4	Electrostatic-Magnetic Kinescope	Fig. 43	6.3	0.6	Television	20"	14000	0	-33/-77	300	358						White	20JP4
20MP4	Electrostatic-Magnetic Kinescope	Fig. 43	6.3	0.6	Television	20"		16000	-33/-77	300	50 <sup>8</sup>						White	20LP4
21AP4	Electromagnetic Kinescope	Fig. 44	6.3	0.6	Television	21"		16000	-33/-77	300	50°		110				White	21AP4
21EP4A	Electromagnetic Kinescope	-	6.3	0.6	Television	21"		12000	-33/-77	300	70		95				White	21AF4
21FP4A		Fig. 44				21"	14000	= 200		300	408		73					
	Electrostatic-Magnetic Kinescope	Fig. 43	6.3 6.3	0.6	Television	21"	14000	12000	-33/-77	300	40° 50						White	21FP4A
21KP4A	Electrostatic-Magnetic Kinescope	Fig. 45		0.6	Television												White	21KP4A
21MP4	Electrostatic-Magnetic Kinescope	Fig. 43	6.3	0.6	Television	21"	-	16000	-33/-77	300	508						White	21MP4
22AP4	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	Fig. 35	6.3	0.6	Television	22"		14000	-33/-77	300	358		117				White	22AP4

V40

	TABLE XIV-CATHODE-RAY	TUBES AND	KINESCOPES — Continued
--	-----------------------	-----------	------------------------

Туре	Nome	Socket Connec-	He	ater	Use	Size	Anode No. 2	Anode No. 1	Cut-Off Grid	Grid No, 2	lon- Trap	Mox. Input	Focus Coil		ection tivity <sup>6</sup>	Anode No. 3	Pattern	Туре
		tions	Volts	Amp.			Voltoge	Voltage	Voltage	Voltage	Ma.	Voltage <sup>1</sup>	Mo.	D <sub>1</sub> D <sub>2</sub>	D3 D4	Voltoge	Color	
24AP4A	Electromognetic Picture Tube	12D	6.3	0.6	Television	24"		12000	-33/-77	300	328	-	97				White	24AP4A
24BP4	Electrostatic-Magnetic Kinescope	Fig. 43	6.3	0.6	Television	24"	14000	-56/310	-33/-77	300	85					-	White	24BP4
27 AP4	Electrostatic-Mognetic Kinescope	Fig. 43	6.3	0.6	Television	27"	15000	-60/300	-33/-77	300	85			—		-	White	27 AP4
27 EP 4	Electromognetic Picture Tube	12D	6.3	0.6	Television	27"		14000	-33/-77	300	85		110	—			White	27EP4
30BP4	Electromagnetic Picture Tube	12D	6.3	0.6	Television	30''		12000	-33/-77	300	75		95				White	30BP4
9027	Electrostatic Cathode-Ray	Fig. 1	6.3	C.6	Oscillograph	2″	600	150	- 60	—		350		0,19	0.22		Green	902
903 5	Electromagnetic Cathode-Ray	6AL	2.5	2.1	Oscillograph	9''	7000	1360	-120	250						-	Green	903
904	Electrostatic-Mognetic Cathode-Ray	Fig. 3	2.5	2.1	Oscillograph	5''	4600	970	- 75	250		4000		0.09			Green	904
9057	Electrostotic Cathode-Ray	Fig. 6	2.5	2.1	Oscillograph	5''	2000	450	- 35			1000		0.19	0.23		Green	905
907	Electrostotic Cothode-Ray	Fig. 6	2.5	2.1	Oscillograph	5"		C	haracterist	cs same o	s Type 90	5			-		Blue	907
9087	Electrostatic Cathode-Ray	7AN	2.5	2.1	Oscillograph	3''		Chara	cteristics s	ome as Ty	pe 3AP1/	/906P1					Blue	908
						3″	1500	430	- 50			500		0.223	0.233			
908-A	Electrostatic Cathode-Ray	7CE	2,5	2.1	Oscillograph	3	1000	287	- 33			500		0.334	0.348		Blue	908-A
909 5	Electrostatic Cathode-Ray	Fig. ó	2.5	2.1	Oscillograph	5″		c	haracterist	ics same a	s Type 90	05					Blue	909
910 5	Electrostatic Cathode-Ray	7AN	2.5	2.1	Oscillograph	3″		Chara	teristics se	ime as Tyj	pe 3AP1/	906P1					Blue	910
9115	Electrostatic Cathode-Ray	7AN	2.5	2.1	Oscillograph	3''		Charac	teristics so	me as Typ	pe 3AP1/	906P1		—			Green	911
912	Electrostotic Cothode-Ray	Fig. 8	2.5	2.1	Oscillograph	5''	10000	2000	- 66	250		7000	_	0.041	0.051		Green	912
913	Electrostatic Cathode-Ray	Fig. 1	6.3	0.6	Oscillograph	1″	500	100	- 65			250		0.07	0.10		Green	913
9147	Electrostatic Cathode-Ray	Fig. 12	2.5	2.1	Oscillograph	9"	7000	1450	- 50	250		3000	_	0.073	0.093		Green	914
1800 5	Electromognetic Kinescope	6AL	2.5	2,1	Television	9''	6000	1250	- 75	250	_						Yellow	1800
1801 3	Electromagnetic Kinescope	Fig. 13	2.5	2.1	Television	5″	3000	450	- 35								Yellow	1801
1816P4-A	Electromagnetic Kinescope	Fig. 65	6.3	0.6	Monitor	10''		9000	- 63	250							White	1816P4-A
2001	Electrostatic Cathode-Ray	4AA	6.3	0.6	Oscillograph	1″				Char	acteristics	essentially	same as	913				2001
2002	Electrostatic Cathode-Ray	Fig. 1	6.3	0.6	Oscillograph	2″	600	120				<u> </u>	_	0.16	0.17		Green	2002
2005	Electrostatic Cathode-Ray	Fig. 14	2.5		Television	5″	2000	1000	- 35	200	_			0.5	0.56			2005
24-XH	Electrostatic Cothode-Ray	Fig. 1	6.3	0.6	Oscilloscope	2″	600	120	- 60	_				0.14	0.16		Blue	24-XH

<sup>1</sup> Between Anode No. 2 and any deflecting plate.
<sup>2</sup> Grid No. 4 voltage.

<sup>3</sup> D.c. Volts/in. <sup>4</sup> Cathode connected to Pin 7. <sup>5</sup> Discontinued. <sup>6</sup> In mm./volt d.c. <sup>7</sup> Superseded by same type with suffix "A." <sup>8</sup> Ion-trap gausses.

#### TABLE XV—RECTIFIERS—RECEIVING AND TRANSMITTING See also Toble XIII—Control and Regulator Tubes

Т <sub>уре</sub> No.	Nome	Base	Socket Connec- tions	Cathode	Fil. or Volts	Heater Amp.	Max. A.C. Voltage Per Plate	D.C. Output Current Ma.	Max. Inverse Peak Voltage	Peak Piate Current Ma,	Type
BA	Full-Wave Rectifier	4-pin M.	4J	Cold			350	350	Tube dro		G
BH	Full-Wave Rectifler	4-pin M.	41	Cold	<b></b>	-	350	125	Tube dro		G
BR	Holf-Wave Rectifier	4-pin M.	4H	Cold			300	50			
CE-220	Half-Wave Rectifier	4-pin M.	4P	Fil.	2.5	3.0	300		Tube dro	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	G
OY4	Half-Wave Rectifier	5-pin O.	4BU	Cold	Conne	ct Pins nd 8	95	20 75	20000 300	100 500	HV G
OZ4	Full-Wave Rectifier	5-pin O.	4R	Cold	/ 0		350	30-75	1250	200	G
1	Half-Wave Rectifier	4-pin S.	4G	Htr.	6.3	0.3	350	50	1000	400	MV
1AX2	Half-Waye Rectifier	9-pin 8.	9Y	Fil.	1.4	0.65	20000	1.0	25000	11	HV
1-V	Holf-Wave Rectifier	4-pin S.	4G	Htr.	6.3	0.3	350	50	23000		HV
1V2	Holf-Wave Rectifier	9-pin B.	90	Fil.	.625	0.3		0.5	7500		
	Half-Wave Rectifier	6-pin O.	30	Fil.	1.25	0.3			7500	10	HV
1848	Half-Wave Rectifier	7-pin 8,	34	Cold	1.25	0.2		2.0	4000	17	HV
1X2	Half-Wave Rectifier	9-pin B.	9Y	Fil.	1.05		800	6	2700	50	G
IX2A	Half-Wave Rectifier	9-pin B. 9-pin B.	9Y		1.25	0.2		1	15000	10	HV
1X2B	Fly-Back Rectifier	1	-	Fil.	1.25	0.2		1.1	20000	11	HV
112		9-pin B.	9Y	Fil.	1.25	0.2		0.5	22000	45	HV
172	Half-Wave Rectifier	4-pin M.	4P	Fil.	1.5	0.29		2	50000	10	HV
	Half-Wave Rectifier	7-pin B.	7CB	Fil.	1.5	0.3	7800	2	20000	10	ну
2B25	Half-Wave Rectifier	7-pin B.	3T	Fil.	1.4	0.11	1000	1.5		9	HV
2V3G	Holf-Wave Rectifier	6-pin Ö,	4Y	Fil.	2.5	5.0		2.0	16500	12	HV
2W3	Half-Wave Rectifier	5-pin O.	4X	Fil.	2.5	1.5	350	55			HV
2X2/87910	Half-Wave Rectifier	4-pin S.	4AB	Htr.	2.5	1.75	4500	7.5			HV
2X2-A	Half-Wave Rectifier	4-pin S.	4AB	Same as	2X2/87	79 but w	ill withsto	ind severe	shock & v	ibration	HV
2¥2	<b>Holf-Wave Rectifier</b>	4-pin M.	4AB	Fil.	2.5	1.75	4400	5.0	1 —		HV
2Z2/G84	Half-Wave Rectifier	4-pin M.	48	Fil.	2.5	1.5	350	50	_	-	HV
3B24	Half-Wave Rectifier	4-pin M.	T-4A	Fil.	5.0	3.0		60	20000	300	111
					2.5 9	3.0		30	20000	150	HV
3B25	Half-Wave Rectifier	4-pin M.	4P	Fil.	2.5	5.0		500	4500	2000	G
3826	Half-Wave Rectifier	8-pin O.	Fig. 31	Htr.	2.5	4.75		20	15000	8000	HV
DR-3827	Half-Wave Rectifier	4-pin M.	4P	Fil.	2.5	5.0	3000	250	8500	1000	HV
3B28	Half-Wave Rectifier	4-pin-M	4P	Fit.	2.5	5.0	1700 3500	500 250	5000	2000	G
5AX4GT	Full-Wave Rectifier	5-pin O.	5T	Fil.	5	2.5	350	175	10000	1000 525	ну
5AZ4	Full-Wave Rectifier	5 -1- 0	67				5007	ļ	1	515	
JAL4	run-wave kechner	5-pin Ö.	5T	Fil.	5.0	2.0		Same as	Type 80		HV
5R4GY	Full-Wave Rectifier	5-pin O.	5T	Fil.	5.0	2.0	900 <sup>1</sup> 950 <sup>7</sup>	1504	2800	650	HV
5T4	Full-Wave Rectifier	5-pin O.	5T	Fil.	5.0	3.0			1070		
	Full-Wave Rectifier	8-pin O.	5T	Fil.	5.0	3.0	450	250	1250	800	HV
5V4G	Full-Wave Rectifier	8-pin O.	51	Htr.	5.0	2.0		Same as I			HV
5W4	Full-Wave Rectifier	5-pin O.	ST	Fil.	5.0	1.5	350	Some as 1			HV
	Full-Wave Rectifier	4-pin M.	40	Fil.			350	110	1000		HV
5X4G	Full-Wave Rectifier		5Q		5.0	2.0	1275	30			HV
5Y3G	Full-Wave Rectifier	8-pin O.		Fil.	5.0	3.0		Same a			HV
		5-pin O.	5T	Fil.	5.0	2.0		Same as			HV
	Full-Wave Rectifier	5-pin O.	5T	Fil.	5.0	2.0	375	120	1550	375	HV
	Full-Wave Rectifier	8-pin Ó.	5Q	Fil.	5.0	2.0		Same as	Type 80		HV
5Z3	Full-Wave Rectifier	4-pin M.	4C	Fil.	5.0	3.0	500	250	1400	—	HV
	Full-Wave Rectifler	5-pin O.	5L	Htr.	5.0	2.0	400	125	1100		HV
6AU4GT	Domper Diode	6-pin O.	4CG	Htr.	6.3	1.8	—	175	4500	1050	HV
6AX4GT	Damper Diode	6-pin O.	4CG	Htr.	6.3	1.2	—	125	4000	600	HV
SAX5GT	Full-Wave Rectifier	6-pin O.	65	Htr.	6.3	1.2	450	125	1250	375	нν
	Full-Wave Rectifier	7-pin O.	7Q	Htr.	6.3	2.5	350	250	1250	600	HV
5BY5G	Full-Wave Rectifier	7-pin O.	6CN	Htr.	6.3	1.6	3754	175	1400	525	HV
503	Damper Diode	9-pin B.	98M	Htr.	6.3	0.9		180	4000	400	HV
SU4GT	Half-Wave Rectifier	5-pin O.	4CG	Htr.	6.3	1.2		138	1375	660	HV
5V3	<b>Half-Wave Rectifier</b>	9-pin B.	98D	Htr.	6.3	1.75	350	125	6000	600	HV
5V4	Full-Wave Rectifier	9-pin B.	9M	Htr.	6.3	0.6	350	90			HV
1W4GI +	Damper Service	6-pin O.	4CG	Htr.	6.3	1.2		125	2000	600	ну
	Half-Wave Rectifier Full-Wave Rectifier	6-pin O.	65	Htr.	6.3	0.9	350 350	125	1250	600	
5X4	Full-Wave Rectifier	7-pin B.	7CF	Htr.	6.3		3254	100	1250	350	HV
SX5 SY3G	Half-Wave Rectifier	6-pin O.	6S 4AC			0.6	4507	70	1250	210	HV
		5-pin O.		Htr.	6.3	0.7	5000	7.5			HV
	Full-Wave Rectifier	6-pin S.	6J	Htr.	6.3	0.8	350	50	—	—	нν
	Half-Wave Rectifier	4-pin M.	4G	Fil.	6.3	0.3	350	50	—		HV
	Full-Wave Rectifier	6-pin S.	6K	Htr.	6.3	0.6	230	60	—	—	HV
	Full-Wave Rectifler	6-pin O.	65	Htr.	6.3	0.3	350	35	1000	150	HV
'X6	Full-Wave Rectifier	8-pin Ó.	7AJ	Htr.	6.3	1.2	235	150	700	450	HV
Y4	Full-Wave Rectifler	8-pin L.	5AB	Htr.	6.3	0.5	350	60			HV
							4501				
724	Full-Wave Rectifler	8-pin L.	5AB	Htr.	6.3	0.9	3254	100	1250	300	HV I

Type No.	Name	Base	Socket Cannec- tions	Cathode	1 1		Max. A.C. Voltage	D.C. Output Current	Max. Inverse Peak	Peak Plate Current	Тур
					Volts	Amp.	Per Plate	Ma.	Voltage	Ma.	
2AX4GT	Damper Diode	6-pin O.	4CG	Htr.	12.6	0.6		125	4000	600	н
2X4	Full-Wave Rectifier	7-pin B,	5BS	Hir.	12.6	0.3	650 900	70 70	1250 1250	210 210	HV
2Z3	Half-Wave Rectifier	4-pin S.	4G	Htr.	12.6	0.3	250	60			H/
225	Voltage Doubler	7-pin M.	7L	Htr.	12.6	0.3	225	60		_	н
4¥4	Full-Wave Rectifier	8-pin L.	5AB	Htr.	12.6	0.3	4501	70	1250	210	н
4Z3	Half-Wave Rectifier	4-pin S.	4G	Htr.	12.6	0.3	3254 250	60			н
723	Damper Diode	9-pin B.	9CB	Hir.	17	0.3		150	4500	450	H
9X3	Damper Diade	9-pin B.	9BM	Htr.	19	0.3		180	4500	400	H
9Y3	Holf-Waye Rectifier	9-pin B.	98M	Htr.	19	0.3		180	700		H
5A7G 10	Rectifier-Pentode	8-pin O.	8F	Htr.	25	0.3	125	75			H
25W4GT	Half-Wave Rectifier	6-pin O.	4CG	Htr.	25	0.3	350	125	1250	600	H
25X6GT	Voltage Doubler	7-pin O.	70	Htr.	25	0.15	125	60			H
25Y4GT	Holf-Wave Rectifier	6-pin O.	5AA	Htr.	25	0.15	125	75		<u> </u>	H
25Y5 10	Voltage Doubler	6-pin S.	6E	Htr.	25	0.3	250	85	_		H
15Z3	Half-Wave Rectifier	4-pin S.	4G	Hir.	25	0.3	250	50			H
25Z4	Half-Wave Rectifier	6-pin O.	5AA	Htr.	25	0.3	125	125			H
2525	Rectifier-Doubler	6-pin S.	6E	Htr.	25	0.3	125	100		500	H
26Z5W	Full-Wave Rectifier	9-pin B.	9BS	Htr.	26.5	0.2	3254	100	1250	300	н
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					4507	100	1250	500	H
2526	Rectifier-Doubler	7-pin O.	70	Htr.	25	0.3	125 450 7	100		300	H\
2825	Full-Wave Rectifier	8-pin L.	5AB	Htr.	28	0.24	3254	100		300	H \
B2L7GT	Rectifier-Tetrode	8-pin O.	8Z	Htr.	32.5 35 <sup>2</sup>	0.3	125	60 100 8	330	600	H
35W4	Half-Wave Rectifier	7-pin B.	5BQ	Htr.		0.15	125	60			-
3574	Half-Wave Rectifier	8-pin O.	5AL	Htr.	35 <sup>2</sup>	0.15	235	100 8	700	600	H
35Z3	Half-Wave Rectifier	8-pin L.	4Z	Hir.	35	0.15	250 5	100	700	600	H
35Z4GT	Half-Wave Rectifier	6-pin O.	5AA	Htr.	35	0.15	250	100	700	600	H
35Z5G	Half-Wave Rectifier	6-pin O.	6AD	Htr.	35 2	0.15	125	60 100 <sup>8</sup>		-	H'
35Z6G	Voltage Doubler	6-pin O.	70	Htr.	35	0.3	125	110	—	500	H
40Z5GT	Half-Wave Rectifier	6-pin O.	6AD	Htr.	40 2	0.15	125	60		_	н
45Z3	Half-Wave Rectifier	7-pin B.	5AM	Htt.	45	0.075	117	100 <sup>8</sup>	350	390	H
45Z5GT	Half-Wave Rectifier	6-pin O.	6AD	Htr.	45:	0.15	125	60	_	_	н
50AX6G	Full-Wave Rectifier	7-pin O.	70	Htr.	50	0.3	350	100 8	1250	600	H
50X6	Voltage Doubler	8-pin L.	7AJ	Htr.	50	0.15	117	75	700	450	H
50Y6GT	Full-Wave Rectifier	7-pin O.	70	Htr.	50	0.15	125	85			H
50Y7GT	Voltage Doubler	8-pin L.	8 AN	Htr.	50 2	0.15	117	65	700	+	H
50Z6G	Voltage Doubler	7-pin O.	70	Htr.	50	0.3	125	150			H
50Z7G10	Voltage Doubler	8-pin O.	8AN	Htr.	50	0.15	117	65		_	H
70A7GT	Rectifier-Tetrode	8-pin O.	8AB	Htr.	70	0.15	125 5	60			H
70L7GT	Rectifier-Tetrode	8-pin O.	888	Htr.	70	0.15	117	70	-	350	H
72	Half-Wave Rectifier	4-pin M.	4P	Fil.	2.5	3.0		30	20000	150	H
73	Half-Wave Rectifier	8-pin O.	4Y	Fil.	2,5	4.5	-	20	13000	3000	H
80	Full-Wave Rectifier	4-pin M.	4C	Fil.	. 5.0	2.0	350 4	125	1400	375	н
81							500 7	125			H
82	Half-Wave Rectifier	4-pin M. 4-pin M.	4B 4C	Fil.	7.5	1.25	700 500	85 125	1400	400	M
83	Full-Wave Rectifier	4-pin M. 4-pin M.	40	Fil.	5.0	3.0	500	250	1400	800	M
83-V	Full-Wave Rectifier	4-pin M. 4-pin M.	4C 4AD	Htr.	5.0	2.0	400	200	1100		H
84/6Z4	Full-Wave Rectifier	4-pin M. 5-pin S,	4AD 5D	Htr.	6.3	0.5	350	60	1000		н
117L7GT/	Rectifier-Tetrode	-	840	Htr.	117	0.09	117	75			н
117M7GT		8-pin O.									
117N7GT	Rectifier-Tetrode	8-pin O.	8AV	Htr.	117	0.09	117	75	350	450	H
117P7GT	Rectifier-Tetrode	8-pin O.	8AV	Htr.	117	0.09	117	75	350	450	H
117Z3 117Z4GT	Half-Wave Rectifier	7-pin B.	4BR	Htr.	117	0.04	117	90 90	330	=	H
117Z4G1	Half-Wave Rectifier Voltage Doubler	6-pin O. 7-pin O.	5AA 7Q	Htr. Htr.	117	0.04	117 235	60	700	360	H
217-A 10	Half-Wave Rectifier	4-pin J.	4AT	Fil.	10	3.25			3500	600	H
217-C	Half-Wave Rectifier	4-pin J. 4-pin J.	4AT	Fil.	10	3.25	-	-	7500	600	н
Z225	Half-Wave Rectifier	4-pin J. 4-pin M.	4A1 4P	Fil.	2.5	5.0		250	10000	1000	N
249-B	Half-Wave Rectifier	4-pin M.	Fig. 53	Fil.	2.5	7.5	3180	375	10000	1500	N
HK253	Half-Wave Rectifier	4-pin J.	4AT	Fil.	5.0	10		350	10000	1500	Η H
705A	Half-Wave Rectifier	1			2.5 %	5.0	-	50	35000	375	н
RK-705A	1	4-pin W.	T-3AA	Fil.	5.0	5.0		100	35000	750	_
816	Half-Wave Rectifier	4-pin`S.	4P	Fil.	2.5	2.0	2200	125	7 500	500	N
836	Half-Wave Rectifier	4-pin M.	4P	Htr.	2,5	5.0			5000	1000	H
866A/866	Half-Wave Rectifier	4-pin M.	4P	Fil.	2.5	5.0	3500	250	10000	1000	N
866B	Half-Wave Rectifier	4-pin M.	4P	Fil.	5.0	5.0		_	8500	1000	-   N

#### TABLE XV—RECTIFIERS—RECEIVING AND TRANSMITTING—Continued See also Table XIII—Control and Regulator Tubes

Туре	Name	Base	Socket	Cathode	Fil. or	Heater	Mex. A.C.	D.C. Output	Max. Inverse	Peak Plate	Туре
No.	name	Buse	tions	Catuode	Volts	Атр.	Voltage Per Plate	Current Ma.	Peak Voltage	Current Ma.	Тура
1Y866 Jr.	Half-Wave Rectifler	4-pin M.	48	Fil.	2.5	2.5	1750	2503	5000	—	MV
RK866	Half-Wave Rectifler	4-pin M.	49	Fil.	2.5	5.0	3500	250	10000	1000	MV
37110	Half-Wave Rectifler	4-pin M.	49	Fil.	2.5	2.0	1750	250	5000	500	MV
378	<b>Half-Wave Rectifier</b>	4-pin M.	4P	Fil.	2.5	5.0	7100	5	20000	_	HV
379	Half-Wave Rectifier	4-pin S.	4P	Fil. 2. A	2.5° (	1.75	2650	7.5	7500	100	HV
372A/872	Half-Wave Rectifier	4-pin J.	4AT	Fìl.	5.0	7.5	—	1250	10000	5000	MV
75A 575A	Half-Wave Rectifier	4-pin J.	4AŤ	Fil.	5,0	10,0	—	1500	15000	6000	MV
OZ4A/ 1003	Full-Wave Rectifier	5-pin O.	4R	Cold	—		—	1 10	880	—	G
1005 / CK 1005	Full-Wave Rectifier	8-pin O.	5AQ	Fil.	6,3	0.1	—	70	450	210	G
1006 / CK 1006	Full-Wave Rectifier	4-pin M.	4C	Fil.	1.75	2.25	-	200	1600		G
CK 1007	Full-Wave Rectifier	8-pin O.	T-9G	Fil.	1.0	1.2		110	980		G
CK1009/BA	Full-Wave Rectifier	4-pin M.		Cold	—			350	1000		G
274	Full-Wave Rectifier	6-pin O.	65	Htr.	6.3	0.6		Same a	as 7¥4		HV
275	Full-Wave Rectifier	4-pin M.	4C	Fil.	5.0	1.75		Same	as 5Z3		HV
1616	Half-Wave Rectifier	4-pin M.	49	Fil.	2.5	5.0	<b>—</b>	130	6000	800	HV
1641/ RK60	Full-Wave Rectifier	4-pin M.	T-4AG	Fil.	5.0	3.0		50 250	4500 2500		HV
1654	Half-Wave Rectifler	7-pin B.	2Z	Fil.	1.4	0.05	2500	1	7000	6	ΗV
5517	Half-Wave Rectifier	7-pin B.	5BU	Cold			1200	6		50	G
					6.3	2.4	350	1254	1120	750	
5690	Half-Wove Rectifier	8-pin O.	Fig. 74	Htr.	12.6	1.2	350	1507	1120	750	- HV
5825	Half-Wave Rectifier	4-pin M.	49	Fil.	1.6	1.25		2	60000	40	HV
5993	Full-Wave Rectifier	9-pin B.	Fig. 71	Hte.	6.3	0.8			1250	230	HV
							3254	70			
6063/6X4	Full-Wave Rectifier	7-pin B.	5BS	Hte.	6.3	0.6	4507	70			HV
6157	Half-Wave Rectifier	9-pin B.	Fig. 72	Hte.	6.3	0.8	500 350	75	—		ну
	11. 17. 194 D 17. D	4 -1 - 6	FI	E11	5.0	7.0	330	125	10000	5000	MV
8008	Half-Wave Rectifier	4-pin 6	Fig. 11	Fil.		7.5				150	HV
8013A	Half-Wave Rectifier	4-pin M.	4P	Fil.	2.5	5.0		20	40000	7.5	HV
8016	Half-Wave Rectifler	6-pin O.	4AC	Fil.	1.25	0.2	10000	2.0	10000		nv.
8020	Half-Wave Rectifier	4-pin M.	49	Fil.	5.0 5.8	5.5 6.5	10000 12500	100	40000 40000	750 750	нν
RK19	Full-Wave Rectifier	4-pin M.	4AT	Htr.	7.5	2.5	1250	200 4	3500	600	HV
RK21	Half-Wave Rectifier	4-pin M.	4P	Htr.	2.5	4.0	1250	200 4	3500	600	HV
RK22	Full-Wave Rectifier	4-pin M.	T-4AG	Htr.	2.5	8.0	1250	200 4	3500	600	HV
RX21A	Half-Wave Rectifier	5-pin M.		Fil.	2.5	10.0		7 50	11000		MV

#### TABLE XV-RECTIFIERS-RECEIVING AND TRANSMITTING-Continued See also Table XIII—Control and Regulator Tubes

. . .

ί,

With input choke of at least 20 henrys.
 Tapped for pilot lamps.
 Per pair with choke input.
 Condenser input.
 With 100 ohms min. resistonce in series with plate; without series resistor, maximum r.m.s. plate rating is 117 volts.

<sup>6</sup> Same as 872A/872 except for heavy-duty push-type base. Filament connected to pins 2 and 3, plate to top cap.
<sup>7</sup> Choke input.
<sup>8</sup> Without panel lamp.
<sup>9</sup> Using only one-half of filament.
<sup>10</sup> Discontinued.

#### TABLE XVI-TRIODE TRANSMITTING TUBES

	Max.	Cat	hode		Max.	Max.	1		erelectr citances	ode	Mox.				1	[			Approx.		
Туре	Plate Dissi- pation Watts	Volts	Amp.	Max. Plate Voltage	Plate Current Ma.	D.C. Grid Current Ma.	Amp. Factor		Grid to Plate	Plate to Fil.	Freq. Mc. Full Ratings	Base	Socket Connec- tions	Typical Operation	Plate Voltage	Grid Voltage	Plate Current Ma.	D.C. Grid Current Ma.	Grid Driving Power Watts	Cless B P-to-P Load Res. Ohms	Apprax. Output Power Watts
958-A	0.6	1.25	0.1	135	7	1.0	12	0.6	2.6	0.8	500	A.	5BD	Class-C AmpOscillatar	135	- 20	7	1.0	0.035		0.6
3B7 2		1.4 2.8	0.22 0.11	180	25	—	20	1.4	2.6	2.6	125	о.	7AP	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	180	0	25				2.8
RK24	1.5	2.0	0.12	180	20	6.0	8.0	3.5	5.5	3.0	125	5.	4D	Class-C AmpOscillator	180	- 45	16.5	6.0	0.5		2.0
5J6 2	1.5	6,3	0.45	300	30	16	32	2.2	1.6	0.4	250	8.	7BF	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy) <sup>2</sup>	150	- 10	30	16	0.35		3,5
9002	1.6	6,3	0,15	250	8	2.0	25	1.2	1.4	1.1	250	В.	7TM	Class-C AmpOscillator	180	- 35	7	1,5			0.5
955	1.6	6.3	0.15	180	8	2.0	25	1.0	1.4	0.6	250	Α.	5BC	Class-C AmpOscillator	180	- 35	7	1.5	_		0.5
HY114B	1.8	1.4	0,155	180	12	3.0	13	1.0	1.3	1.0	300	о.	21	Class-C AmpOscillator	180	- 30	12	2.0	0.2		1.43
						0.0		1.0	1.5	1.0	300	<u>.</u>	21	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	180	- 35	12	2.5	0.3		1,4 3
3A52	2.0	1.4 2.8	0,22 0,11	150	30	5.0	15	0.9	3.2	1.0	40	В.	7BC	Class-C AmpOscillator <sup>2</sup>	150	- 35	30	5.0	0.2		2.2
6F4	2.0	6.3	0.225	150	20	8.0	17	2.0	1.9	0.6	500	<b>A</b> .	7BR	Class-C AmpOscillator	150	- 15 550* 2000**	20	7,5	0.2		1.3
HY24	2.0	2.0	0.13	180	20	4.5	9.3	2.7	5,4	2.3	60	5.	4D	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	180	- 45	20	4,5	0.2		2.7
RK331,2	2.5		0.10											Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	180	- 45	20	4.5	0.3		2.5
12AU7 2	2.3	2.0 6.3	0.12	250	20	6.0	10,5	3-2	3-2	2.5	60	5,	T-7DA	Class-C AmpOscillator <sup>2</sup>	250	- 60	20	6.0	0.54		3.5
5N4	3.0	6.3	0.3	350	125	3.5 6	18	1.5	1.5	0.5	54	Β.	9A	Class-C AmpOscillator <sup>2</sup>	350	-100	24	7			6.0
026	3.0	6.3	0.2	150	12 30	10	32	3.1	2.35	0.55	500	Β.	7CA	Class-C AmpOscillator	180			—	—		
		0.5	0.2	130	30	10	24	2.2	1.3	0.38	400	Ν.		Class-C Oscillator-400 Mc.	135	1300 **	20	9.5	—		1.25
Y6J5GTX	3,5	6.3	0.3	330	20	4.0	20	4.2	3.8	5.0	60	Ο.	6Q	Class-C AmpOscillator	330	- 30	20	2.0	0.2		3.5
2C22/7193	3.5	6.3	0,3	500	_		20	2.2	3.6	0.7		0.		Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	250	- 30	20	2.5	0.3		2.5
17615									3.0	0.7		0.	4AM	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)				—			
Y-E1148	3.5	6.3	0,175	300	20	4.0	20	1,4	1.6	1.2	300	0.	T-8AG	Class-C AmpOscillator	300	- 35	20	2.0	0.4		4.03
GL-446A 1 GL-446B 1	3.75	6.3	0.75	400	20		45	2.2	1.6	0.02	500	0.	Fig. 19	Class-C Amp. (Telephony) Class-C AmpOscillator	300 250	- 35	20	3.0	0.8		<b>3.5</b> <sup>3</sup>
GL-2C441 GL-464A1	5,0	6.3	0.75	500	40	_		2.7	2.0	0.1	500	0,		Class-C AmpOscillator	250						
5C4	5.0	6.3	0,15	350	25	8.0	18	1.8	1.6	1.3	54										_
626	5.0	12.6	0.25	250	25	8.0	5.0	3.2	4.4	3.4	34	В. О.	6BG 6Q	Class-C AmpOscillator	300	- 27	25 -	7.0	0.35		5.5
C21/	5.0	6.3	0.6	250	40	12	5.0				30			Class-C AmpOscillator	250	- 70	25	5.0	0.5		4.0
K 33 <sup>2</sup>	5	6.3	0.4	1500	40	12	_	1.6	1.6	2.0		5.	T-7DA	Class-C AmpOscillator <sup>2</sup>	250	- 60	40	12	1.0	—	7
C37		0.5	0.4	1300 -			25	1.4	2.4	0.36	1200	Ν.	Fig. 36	Plate-Pulsed 1000-Mc. Osc.	1000 5	0	900 <sup>3</sup>	—			2005
766	5	6,3	0.4	350			25	1.4	1,85	0.02	3300	N.	Fig. 36	1000-Mc. C.W. Oscillatar	150	3000 **	15	3.6			0.5
764	5	6.3	0.4	1500 5	11.5		25	1.4	1.85	0.02	3300	N.	Fig. 36	Plate-Pulsed 3300-Mc. Osc.	1000 5	0	1300 5				0001
765	5	6.3	0.4	350			25	1.3	2.1	0.03	2900	N.	Fig. 36	1900-Mc. C.W. Oscillator	180	10000 **	25				2005 0,225
794		6.0	0.16			-			—			N.	Fig. 36	Fixed Tuned Oscillator Approximately 1680 Mc.	85/108		—				
675	5	6.3	0.135	165	30	8	20	2.3	1.3	0.09	3000	N.	Fig. 36	Grounded-Grid Osc.	120	- 8	25	4			
N7 -	5.5	6.3	0.8	350	30 6	5.0 6	35				10	0.	8B	Class-C Amp. Oscillator 2, 11	350	-100	60	10			0.05
876	. 6.25	6.3	0.135	300	25		56	2.5	10 O. 8B Class-C Amp. Os 5 1.4 0.035 1700 N. Fig. 36 Grounded-Grid O	Grounded-Grid Oscillator	250	- 2	23	3	_	=	14.5				
2C40	6.5	6.3	0.75	500	25		36	2.1						Frequency Multiplier	300	- 70	17.3	7			2.0
	- 0.5	0.3	0.75	500	23		30	2.1	1.3	0.05	500	0.	Fig. 19	Class-C AmpOscillator	250	- 5	20	0.3	-		0.075
556	7.0	4.5	1.1	350	40	10	8.5	4.0	8.3	3.0	6	м.	4D	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	350	- 80	35	2	0.25		6
														Class-C Amp. (Telephony	300	-100	30	2	0.3		4
6893	8.0	6.0	0.33	400	40	13	27	2.5	1.75	0.07	1000		Fig. 36	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	350	- 33	35	13	2.4		6.5
			l											Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	300	- 45	30	12	2.0		6.5

V45

	Max. Plate	Cat	hode	Max.	Max. Plate	Max. D.C.	Amp.		erelectro itances		Max. Freq.		Sacket		Plate	Grid	Plate	D.C. Grid	Approx. Grid	Class B P-to-P	Approx. Output
Туре	Dissi- pation Watts	Volts	Amp.	Plate Voltage	Current Ma.	Grid Current Ma.	Factor	Grid to Fil.	Grid to Plate	Plate to Fil.	Mc. Full Ratings	Base	Connec- tions	Typical Operation	Voltage	Voltage	Current Mo.	Current Ma,	Driving Power Watts	Load Res. Ohms	Power Watts
2C43	12	6.3	0.9	500	40	—	48	2.9	1.7	0.05	1250	0.	-	Class-C AmpOscillator	470		387				97
2C26A	10	6.3	1.10			·	16.3	2.6	2.8	1.1	250	0.	488		-						
2C34/ RK34 <sup>2</sup>	10	6.3	0.8	300	80	20	13	3.4	2.4	0.5	250	м.	T-7DC	Class-C AmpOscillator <sup>2</sup>	300	- 36	80	20	1.8		16
205D	14	4.5	1.6	400	50	10	7.2	5.2	4.8	3,3	6	м.	4D	Class-C AmpOscillator Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	400	-112 -144	45 35	10 10	1.5		10
				+							-			Class-C AmpOscillator	450	-100	65	15	3.2		19
2C25	15	7.0	1.18	450	60	15	B.O	6.0	8.9	3.0	—	M.	4D	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	350	- 100	50	12	2.2		12
					_									Class-C AmpOscillator	450	-100	65	15	3.2		19
10Y	15	7.5	1.25	450	65	15	8	4.1	7.0	3.0	8	M.	4D	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	350	-100	50	12	2.2		12
				1.25         450         65         15         8         4.1         7.0         3.0         8         M.         4D         Class-C Amp. (Tr Class-C Amp. (Tr Class-C Amp. (Tr Class-C Amp. (Tr	Class-C AmpOscillator	450	-140	30	5.0	1.0	_	7.5									
843	15	2.5	2.5	450	40	7.5	7.7	4.0	4.5	4.0	6	M.	5A	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	350	-150	30	7.0	1.6		5.0
RK59 <sup>2</sup>	15	6.3	1.0	500	90	25	25	5.0	9.0	1.0	i —	M.	T-4D	Class-C AmpOscillator	500	- 60	90	14	1.3		32
														Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	450	-140	90	20	5.2		26
HY75A	15	6.3	2.6	450	90	25	9.6	1.8	2.6	1.0	175	<b>o</b> .	21	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	400	-140	90	20	5.2		21
												-		Class-C AmpOscillator	450	- 50	80	12			21 3
HY75	15	6.3	2.5	450	80	20	10	1.8	3.8	1.0	60	О.	21	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	450	- 60	80	12 *			163
														Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	450	-115	55	15	3.3		13
16021	15	7.5	1.25	450	60	15	8.0	4.0	7.0	3.0	6	M.	4D	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	350	-135	45	15	3.5		8.0
											1			Class-B Amp. Audio 7	425	- 50	110 8	260 9	2.5 <sup>s</sup>	8000	25
			1.05	450	(0)	00	20	4.0	7.0	2.0			40	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	450	- 34	50	15	1.8	—	15
841	15.	7.5	1.25	450	60	20	30	4.0	7.0	3.0	6	M.	4D	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	350	- 47	50	15	2.0		11
						1			1	Í				Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	450	-100	65	15	3.2		19
101 RK101	15	7.5	1.25	450	65	15	8.0	3.0	8.0	4.0	60	M.	4D	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	350	-100	50	12	2.2		12
KKIU.							-				80			Class-B Audio 7	425	- 50	55 8	130 9	2.5 8	8000	25
RK 100 1	15	6,3	0.9	150	250	100	40	23	19	3.0		M.	T-6B	Closs-C Oscillator	110		80	8.0			3.5
KK TOU -	15	0,3	0.9	150	230	100	40	23	17	3.0			1-00	Class-C Amplifier	110	—	185	40	2.1		12
TUF-20	20	6.3	2.75	750	75	20	10	1.8	3.6	0.095	250	О.	21	Class-C AmpOscillator	750	-150	75	20	1.5/2.5		40
											1	1		Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	425	- 90	95	20	3.0		27
1608	20	2.5	2.5	425	95	25	20	8.5	9.0	3.0	45	M.	4D	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	350	- 80	85	20	3.0		18
												[		Class-B Amp. Audio 7	425	- 15	190 8	130 9	2.2 8	4800	50
310	20	7.5	1.25	600	70	15	8.0	4.0	7.0	2.2	6	м.	4D	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	600	-150	65	15	4.0		25
														Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	500	-190	55	15	4.5		18
703-A	20	1.2	4/4.5	350	75	12	8	0.9	1.1	0.6	1400	N.		Closs-C Amplifier	350	-120	75	12			2/2.5
				1										Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	600	-150	65	15	4.0	—	25
801-A/801	20	7.5	1.25	600	70	15	8.0	4.5	6.0	1.5	60	M.	4D	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	500	-190	55	15	4.5		18
														Class-B Amp. Audio 7	600	- 75	130	320 9	3.0 8	10000	45
HY801-A	20	7.5	1.25	600	70	15	8.0	4.5	6.0	1.5	60	M.	4D	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	600	-200	70	15	4.0		30
						L								Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	500	-200	60	15	4,5		22
T20	20	7.5	1.75	750	85	25	20	4.9	5,1	0.7	60	м,	3G	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	750	- 85	85	18	3.6		44
														Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	750	-140	70	15	3.6		38
				-										Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	750	- 40	85	28	3.75		44
TZ20	20	7.5	1.75	750	85	30	62	5.3	5.0	0.6	60	M.	3G	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	750	- 100	70	23	4.8		38
								-						Class-B Amp. Audio 7	800	0	40/136	160 9	1.8 8	12000	70
15E	20	5.5	4.2				25	1.4	1,15	0.3	600	N.	T-4AF	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)			Charact	eristics s	imilar to 2	5T	

Туре	Max. Plate Dissi-	Cot	hode	Max. Plate	Max. Plate	Max. D.C.	Amp.		terelectr citances		Max. Freq.		Socket		Plate	Grid	Plate	D.C.	Approx. Grid	Class B	Approx.
	pation Watts	Volts	Amp.	Voltage	Current Ma.	Grid Current Ma,	Factor	Grid to Fil.	Grid to Plate	Plate to Fil.	Mc. Full Ratings	Base	Connec- tions	Typical Operation	Voltage	Voltage	Current Ma.	Grid Current Ma.	Driving Power Watts	P-to-P Load Res, Ohms	Output Power Watts
						}									2000	-130	63	18	4.0		100
3-25A3 25T	25	6.3	3.0	2000	75	25	24	2.7	1.5	0.3	60	м.	3G	Class-C AmpOscillator	1500	- 95	67	13	2.2		75
				1						0.0			50		1000	- 70	72	9	1.3		47
														Class-B Amp. Audio 7	2000	- 80	16/80	270 %	0.7 8	55500	110
3-25D3															2000	-170	63	17	4.5		100
3C24	25	6.3	3.0	2000	75	25	23	2.0	1.6	0.2	150	<b>S</b> .	2D	Class-C AmpOscillator	1500	-110	67	15	3.1		75
24G		[						1.7	1.5	0.3	1.50	з.	20		1000	- 80	72	15	2.6		47
														Class-B Audio 7	2000	~ 85		290 9	1.15	55500	110
3C28	25	6.3	3.0	2000	75	25	23	2,1	1.8	0,1	100	<b>S</b> .	Fig. 56	Class-C AmpOscillotor			-		me as 3C2		110
IC34	25	6.3	3.0	2000	75	25	23	2.5	1.7	0.4	60	<b>S</b> .	3G	Class-C AmpOscillator					me as 3C2		
RK11	25	6.3	3.0	750	105	35	20	7.0						Class C Amp. (Telegraphy)	750	-120	105	21	3.2		55
			0.0	/ 30	103	33	20	7.0	7.0	0.9	60	м.	3G	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	600	-120	85	24	3.7		
RK12	25	6.3	3.0	750	105	40	100							Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	750	-100	105	35	5.2		38
		0.0	3.0	/ 30	103	40	100	7.0	7.0	0.9	60	м.	3G	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	600	-100	85	27			55
łK24	25	6.3	3.0	2000	75						†			Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	2000	-140	56	18	3.8		38
		0.5	3.0	2000	/3	30	25	2,5	1.7	0.4	60	s.	3G	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1500	-145	50	25	4.0		90
1725	25	7.5	2.25								+			Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	750	- 45	75	15	5.5		60
1123	23	1.5	2.23	800	75	25	55	4.2	4.6	1.0	60	M.	3G	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	700	- 45	75	17	2.0		42
	30				65						<u> </u>			Class-C Amp. (Grid. Mod.)	1000	- 45			5.0		39
8025	20	6.3	1.92	1000	65	20	18	2.7	2.8	0.35	500	м.	4AQ	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	800		50	4	3.5		20
	30				80	20				0.00	300			Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1000	- 105 - 90	40	10.5	1.4		22
HY30Z 1	30~	4.2	2.05											Class-C AmpOscillator	850	- 75	50 90	14	1.6		35
11302 .	30	6.3	2.25	850	90	25	87	6.0	4.9	1.0	60	M.	4BO	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)				25	2.5		58
4Y31Z =		6.3	3.5											Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	700	- 75	90	25	3.5		47
HY1231Z 2	30	12.6	1.7	500	150	30	45	5.0	5.5	1.9	60	M.	T-4D		500	- 45	150	25	2.5		56
316A														Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	400	100	150	30	3.5		45
/T-191	30	2.0	3.65	450	80	12	6.5	1.2	1.6	0.8	500	N.	—	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	450	-	80	12			7.5
														Class-C Amp. (Telephany)	400		80	12			6.5
309	30	6.3	2.5	1000	125	_	50	5.7	6.7	0.9	60	м.	3G	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1000	- 75	100	25	3.8		75
								2.7	0.7	0.7	60	- m.	30	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	750	- 60	100	32	4.3		55
														Class-B Amp. Audio 7	1000	- 9	40/200	155 9	2.7 8	11600	145
623	30	6,3	2,5	1000	100	25	20	5.7	6.7	0.9				Class-C AmpOscillator	1000	- 90	100	20	3,1		75
								3.7	0.7	0.7	60	M.	3G	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	750	-125	100	20	4.0		55
3 <b>A</b>	35	5.0	12.5	15000	_		35	3.6	1.9	0,4		M	T-4B	Class-B Amp. Audio	1000		30/200		4.2 8	12000	145
								5.0	1.7	0.4		N.	1+40	Oscillator at 300 Mc.				stely 50 v	watts outp	ut	
1K301	35	7.5	3.25	1250	80	25	15	2.75	2.5	2.75	60	M.	2D	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1250	-180	90	18	5.2		85
	-													Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1000	-200	80	15	4.5		60
00	35	7.5	3.25	1250	80	25	15	2.75	2,5	2.75	10			Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1250	-175	70	15	4.0		65
								2.7 3	2.5	2.73	60	м.	2D	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1000	-200	70	15	4.0		50
														Class-B Amp. Audio 7	1250	- 70	30/130	300 9	3.4 *	21000	106
6281	40	3.5	3.25	1000	60	15	22							Class-C AmpOscillator	1000	- 65	50	15	1.7		35
			0.23			13	23	2.0	2.0	0.4	500	N.	T-48B	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	800	-100	40	11	1.6		22
														Grid-Modulated Amp.	1000	-120	50	3.5	5.0		20
012	40	6.3	2.0	1000	80		10	2.7	2.8	0.35			_	Class-C AmpOscillator	1000	- 90	50	14	1.6		35
L-8012-A		0.0	A.0	1000	ev	20	18	2.7	2.5	0.4	500	N.	T-4BB	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	800	-105	40	10.5	1.4		22
														Grid-Modulated Amp.	1000	-135	50	4.0	3.5		20
K18⊺	40	7.5	3.0	1250	100	40	18	6.0	4.8	1.8	60	M.	3G	Closs-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1250	-160	100	12	2.8		95
														Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1000	-160	80	13	3.1		64

	Max. Plate	Cat	hode	Max.	Max. Plate	Max. D.C.	Amp.		erelectro itances		Max. Freq.		5ocket		Plate	Grid	Plate	D.C. Grid	Approx. Grid	Class B P-to-P	Approx
Туре	Dissi- pation Watts	Volts	Amp.	Plate- Voltage	Current Ma,	Grid Current Ma.	Factor	Grid to Fil.	Grid to Plote	Plate to Fil.	Mc. Full Ratings	Base	Connec- tions	Typical Operation	Voltage	Voltage	Current Ma.	Current Mo.	Driving Power Watts	Load Res. Ohms	Power Watts
							170	7.0	1.0	2.0	30	м.	3G	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1250	- 80	100	30	3.0		90
RK31	40	7.5	3.0	1250	100	35	170	7.0	1.0	2.0	30	<b>m</b> .	30	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1000	- 80	100	28	3.5		70
														Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1000	- 90	125	20	5.0		94
HY40 I	40	7,5	2.25	1000	125	25	25	6.1	5.6	1.0	60	M.	3G	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	850	- 90	125	25	5.0		82
														Grid-Modulated Amp.	1000		125				20
														Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1000	- 27	125	25	5.0		94
4Y40Z1	40	7,5	2.6	1000	125	30	80	6.2	6.3	0.8	60	м.	3G	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	850	- 30	100	30	7.0		82
										ļ				Grid-Modulated Amp.	1000		60				20
40	40	7,5	2.5	1500	150	40	25	4.5	4.8	0.8	60	M.	3G	Class-C AmpOscillator	1500	-140	150	28	9.0		158
			1.5											Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1250	-115	115	20	5.25		104
			I											Class-C AmpOscillator	1500	- 90	150	38	10		165
Z40	40	7.5	2,5	1500	150	45	62	4.8	5.0	0.8	60	м.	3G	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1250	- 100	125	30	7.5		
														Class-B Amp. Audio 7	1500	- 9	250 8	285 9	6.0 <sup>8</sup>	12000	250 70
														Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	850	- 48	110	15	2.5		47
4¥57	40	6.3	2,25	850	110	25	50	4.9	5.1	1.7	60	M.	3G	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	700	- 45	90	17	5.0		20
				↓								-		Grid-Modulated Amp.	850		70				20
7561	40	7.5	2.0	850	110	25	8.0	3.0	7.0	2.7		M.	4D	Class-C Amplifier	850		110	25			55
830 I	40	10	2,15	750	110	18	8.0	4.9	9.9	2.2	15	M.	4D	Class-C Amplifier	750	-180	110	18	7.0		15
														Grid-Modulated Amp.	1000	-200	50	2.0	3.0		
3-50A4								4.1	1.8	0.3	100	M.	3G	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	2000	-135	125	45	13		200
35T 3-50D4	50	5.0	4.0	2000	150	50	39	2.5	1.8	0.4	100	M.	2D	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1500	-150	90	40	11		105
35TG														Class-B Amp. Audio 7	2000	- 40	4/167	255 9	4.0 8	27500	235
8010-R	50	6.3	2.4	1350	150	20	30	2.3	1.5	0.07	350	N.		Class-C Amplifier		-					
NK-01	50	7,5	3.25	1250	100	25	11	2.5	3.4	0.7	100	м.	2D	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1250	-225	100	14	4.8		90
RK321	50	7.5	3.15	1230	100			1.5	<b>4.</b> 4	•				Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1000	-310	100	21	8.7		70
														Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1500	- 250	115	15	5.0		120
RK351	50	7,5	4.0	1500	125	20	9.0	3,5	2.7	0.4	60	M.	2D	Class-C Amp. (Telaphony)	1250	-250	100	14	4.6		93
									1					Grid-Modulated Amp.	1500	-180	37		2.0		25
														Closs-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1500	-130	115	30	7.0		122
RK37	50	7.5	4.0	1500	125	35	28	3.5	3.2	0,2	60	M.	2D	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1250	-150	100	23	5.6		90
														Grid-Modulated Amp.	1500	- 50	50		2.4		26
											1			Closs-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1250	-225	125	20	7.5		115
3-50G2 UH50	50	7.5	3,25	1250	125	25	10,6	2.2	2.6	0.3	60	M.	2D	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1250	-325	125	20	10		115
													ļ	Grid-Modulated Amp.	1250	-200	60	2.0	3.0		25
				1										Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	2000	- 500	150	20	15		225
UH511	50	5.0	6.5	2000	175	25	10.6	2.2	2.3	0.3	60	M.	2D	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1500	-400	165	20	15		200
														Grid-Modulated Amp.	1500	-400	85	2.0	8.0		65
														Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	3000	-290	100	25	10		250
H <b>K54</b>	50	5.0	5.0	3000	150	30	27	1.9	1.9	0.2	100	M.	2D	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	2500	-250	100	20	8.0		210
									-		+			Class-B Amp. Audio 7	2500	- 85	20/150		5.0	40000	_
													20	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1500	-590	167	20	15		200
HK1541	50	5.0	6.5	1500	175	30	6.7	4.3	5.9	1.1	60	M.	2D	Closs-C Amp. (Telephony)	1250	-460	170	20	12		162
												+	+	Grid-Modulated Amp.	1500	-450	52		5.0		28
HK158	50	12.6	2,5	2000	200	40	25	4.7	4.6	1.0	60	M.	2D	Class-C AmpOscillator	2000	-150	125	25	6.0		200
					-	-			-					Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	2000	-140	105	25	5.0		170
WE304A 1	50	7.5	3.25	1250	100	25	11	2.0	2.5	0.7	100	M.	2D	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1250	-200	100		-		85
304B	1			1			1		1				1	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1000	-180	100				65

_	Max. Plate	Cat	hode	Max.	Max. Plate	Max. D.C.	Amp.		erelectro citances		Max. Freq.	_	5ocket		Plate	Grid	Plate	D.C. Grid	Approx. Grid	Class B P-to-P	Approx.
Туре	Dissi- pation Watts	Volts	Amp.	Plate Voltage	Current Ma.	Grid Current Ma.	Factor	Grid to Fil.	Grid to Plate	Plate to Fil.	Mc. Full Ratings	Base	Connec- tions	Typical Operation	Voltage		Current Ma.	Current Ma,	Driving Power Watts	Load Res. Ohms	Power Watts
356A	50	5.0	5.0	1500	120	35	50	2.25	2.75	1.0	60	N.	T-4BD	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1500	- 60	100				100
														Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1250	-100	100	35			85
				1500	1.50									Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1500	-200	125	30	9.5		140
808	50	7.5	4.0	1500	150	35	47	5.3	2.8	0.15	30	м.	2D	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1250	-225	100	32	10.5		105
	1								-					Class-B Amp. Audio 7	1500	- 25	30/190	220 9	4.8 8	18300	185
834	50	7.5	3.1	1250	100	20	10.5	2.2	2.6	0.6	100	M.	2D	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy) Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1250	-225	90	15	4.5		75
841A1	50	10	2.0	1250	150	30	14.6	3.5	9.0	2.5		м.	3G	Class-C Amplifier	1000	-310	90	17.5	6.5		58
8415W	50	10	2.0	1000	150	30	14.6	0.5	9.0	1.5		M.	36	Class-C Amplifier							85
					130	30	14.0							Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1500	-170	150				
r55	55	7.5	3.0	1500	150	40	20	5.0	3.9	1.2	60	M.	3G	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1500	-170	150 125	18	6.0		170
							+	_						Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1500	-193	125	15 35	5.0		145
811	55	6.3	4.0	1500	150	50	160	5,5	5.5	0.6	60	M.	36	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1250	-125	125	50	8.0		170
		•							0.0	•				Class-B Amp. Audio 7	1230	- 9	20/200	150 %	11 3.0 <sup>8</sup>	17/00	120
														Class-C Amp. (Telegrophy)	1500	- 175	150	25	6.5	17600	220
812	55	6.3	4.0	1500	150	35	29	5,3	5.3	0.8	60	м.	36	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1250	-125	125	25	6.0		170 120
							-·							Class-B Amp. Audio 7	1500	- 45	50/200	2329	4.7 8	18000	220
						1								Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1500	-250	150	31	10		170
RK51	60	7.5	3.75	1500	150	40	20	6.0	6.0	2.5	60	м.	3G	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1250	-200	105	17	4.5		96
														Grid-Modulated Amp.	1500	130	60	0.4	2.3		128
						1								Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1500	-120	130	40	7.0		135
RK52	60	7.5	3.75	1500	130	50	170	6.6	12	2.2	60	м.	3G	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1250	-120	115	47	8.5		102
														Class-B Amp. Audio 7	, 1250	0	40/300	180 9	7.5 8	10000	250
-60	60	10	2.5	1600	150	50	20	5.5	5.2	2.5	60	M.	2D	Class-C AmpOscillator	1500	-150	150	50	9.0		100
														Class-C AmpOscillator	1000	- 70	130	35	5.8		90
326	55	7.5	4.0	1000	140	40	31	3.0	2.9	1.1	250	' N.	7BO	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1000	-160	95	40	11.5		70
														Grid-Modulated Amp.	1000	-125	65	9.5	8.2		25
														Class-C AmpOscillator	1000	-110	140	30	7.0		90
130B 130B	60	10	2.0	1000	150	30	25	5.0	11	1.8	15	M.	3G	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	800	-150	95	20	5.0		50
300														Class-B Amp. Audio 7	1000	- 35	20/280	270 9	6.0 8	7600	175
														Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1500	- 70	173	40	7.1		200
11-A	65	6.3	4.0	1500	175	50	160	5.9	5.6	0.7	60	M.	3G	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1250	-120	140	45	10.0		135
						Į								Class-B Amp. Audio 7	1500	- 4.5	32/313	170 9	4.48	12400	340
														Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1500	-120	173	30	6.5		190
12-A	65	6.3	4.0	1500	175	35	29	5.4	5.5	0.77	60	M.	3G	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1250	-115	140	35	7.6		130
														Class-B Audio 7	1500	- 48	28/310	270 9	5.0	13200	340
1Y51A1		7.0												Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1000	- 75	175	20	7.5		131
1751A1	65	7.5	3.5 2.25	1000	175	25	25	6.5	7.0	1.1	60	м.	3G	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1000	-67.5	130	15	7.5		104
														Grid-Modulated Amp.	1000		100		—		33
														Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1000	-22.5	175	35	10		131
1Y51Z1	65	7.5	3.5	1000	175	35	85	7.9	7.2	0.9	60	M.	4BO	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1000	- 30	150	35	10		104
									_					Grid-Modulated Amp.	1000		100		—		33
														Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1500	-106	175	60	12		200
514	65	7.5	3.0	1500	175	60	145	7.8	7.9	1.0	60	M.	4BO	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1250	- 84	142	60	10		135
														Class-B Audio	1500	-4.5	350 8	88 8	6.5 8	10500	400

V49

Туре	Max. Plate Dissi-	Cat	hade	Mox. Plate	Max. Plate	Max. D.C. Grid	Amp.	Capac	erelectro itances	(µµfd.)	Max. Freq. Mc.	Base	5ocket Connec-	Typical Operation	Plate	Grid	Plate Current	D.C. Grid	Approx. Grid Driving	Class B P-to-P	Approx. Output
i ype	potion Wotts	Valts	Amp.	Voltage	Current Ma.	Current Ma.	Factor	Grid to Fil.	Grid to Plate	Plote to Fil.	Full Ratings	2010	tions	.,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	Voltage	Voltage	Ma.	Current Ma.	Power Watts	Load Res. Ohms	Power Watts
UH35 I	70	5.0	4.0	1500	150	35	30	1.4	1.6	0.2	60	м.	3G	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1500	- 170	150	30	7.0		170
•••••								•••		•				Closs-C Amp. (Telephony)	1500	-120	100	30	5.0		120
70	70	10	2.5	1500	140	25	14	5.0	9.0	2.3		J.	3N	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1500	-215	130	6.0	3.0	—	140
V70B												м.	3G	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1250	-250	130	6.0	3.0		120
V70A V70C	70	10	2.5	1500	140	20	25	5.0	9.5	2.0		J. M.	3N 3G	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1000	-110	140 95	30 20	7.0 5.0		90 50
	77		4.0	3000	100	30	12	2.0	2.0	0.4				Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	3000	-600	100	25	3.0		250
50T 1	75	5.0	6.0	3000	100	30	12	2.0	2.0	0.4		м.	2D	Class-C Amplifier	2000	- 200	150	32	10		230
3-75A3						40	20	2.7	2.3	0.3			2D	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy) Class-B Amp. Audio 7	2000	- 200	50/225	350 %	3 5	19300	300
75TH	75	5.0	6.25	3000	225						40	M			2000	- 300	150	21	8	19300	225
3-75A2 75TL						35	12	2.6	2.4	0.4			2D	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1		-		0 58	10000	
			<u>`</u>									1		Class-B Amp. Audio 7	2000	- 160	50/250		-	18000	350
	70	10	2.5	1400	140						20		20	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1600	- 190 - 190	158	12	3.5		200
HF-60	75	10	2.5	1600	160	-	28	5.4	5.2	1.5	30	M.	2D	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)			-	8			110
			-											Class-B Amp. Audio	1600	- 75	50/248		3.0	13800	262
ZB-60	75	10	2.5	1600	160	40	80	6.1	5,8	1.85	30	M.	2D	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1500	- 95	158	31	6,0		190
									-					Class-B Amp. Audio	1500	- 9	30/305		12.5	11200	320
														Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1500	- 200	150	18	6.0		170
1118	75	10	2.5	1500	160	30	23	5.0	4.6	2.9	30	M.	2D	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1250	- 250	110	21	8.0		105
						-								Class-B Amp. Audio	1750	- 62	40/270		9.0	16000	350
HF75	75	10	3.25	2000	120		12.5		2.0		75	M.	2D	Class-C Oscillator-Amp.	2000		120				150
TW75	75	7.5	4,15	2000	175	60	20	3,35	1.5	0.7	60	M.	2D	Class-C AmpOscillator	2000	-175	150	37	12.7		225
		L	ļ								1	<u> </u>		Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	2000	- 260	125	32	13.2		198
	1	1												Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1500	- 200	150	18	6.0		170
1-100	75	10	2.5	1500	150	30	23	4.0	4.5	2.6	30	M.	20	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1250	- 250	110	21	8.0		105
HF100														Grid-Modulated Amp.	1500	-280	72	1.5	6.0		42
				-	ļ				L	<u> </u>		<u> </u>	-	Class-B Amp. Audio 7	1750	- 62	40/270		9.0 8	16000	350
						1								Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1500	- 200	150	18	6.0		170
UE-100	75	10	2.5	1750	150	30	23	3.5	4,5	1.4	30	M.	2D	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1250	- 250	120	21	8.0		105
					<u> </u>						1	1		Class-B Audio 7	1750	- 62	540 <sup>8</sup>		9.0	16000	350
														Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1250	- 135	160	23	5.5		145
ZB120	75	10	2.0	1250	160	40	90	5.3	5.2	3.2	30	J.	4E	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1000	- 150	120	21	5.0		95
TRIXY	13	10	1.0	1250	100		70	5.5	3.1	3.1	30	J.	76	Grid-Modulated Amp.	1250		95	8.0	1.5		45
		1												Class-B Amp. Audio 7	1500	- 9	60/296	196 *	5.0 <sup>8</sup>	11200	300
327B	75	10,5	10.6				30	3.4	2.45	0.3		N.	T-4AD			-		—			
242A	85	10	3.25	1250	150	50	12.5	6.5	13	4.0	6	J.	4E	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1250	- 175	150				130
242A	65		3.23	1150	1.50		11.5	0.5	13	4.0	Ŭ			Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1000	-160	150	50	_		100
		I				T	1					I		Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1250	-500	150				125
284D	85	10	3,25	1250	150	100	4.8	6.0	8.3	5,6		J.	4E	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1000	-450	150	50			100
		1												Class-B Amp. Audio 7	1250	-250	30/200	—		11200	140
														Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1750	-175	170	26	6.5	_	225
														Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1250	-125	125	25	5.0		116
812-H	85	6.3	4.0	1750	200	45		5.3	5.3	0.8	30	M.	3G		1500	-125	165	21	6.0		180
														Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1250	-125	125	25	6.0		120
						1								Class-B Amp. Audio 7	1500	- 46	42/200		_	18000	225

**V**50

World Radio History

	Max. Plate	Cat	hode	Max.	Mox. Plate	Mox. D.C.	Amp.		erelectro itances		Mox. Freq.		Socket				Plate	D.C.	Approx. Grid	Class B	Approx.
Туре	Dissi- pation Watts	Volts	Amp.	<sup>•</sup> Plate Voltage	Current Ma.	Grid Current Ma,	Foctor	Grid to Fil.	Grid to Plate	Plate to Fil.	Mc. Full Ratings	Base	Connec- tions	Typicol Operation	Piote Voltage	Grid Voltoge	Current Ma.	Grid Current Ma.	Driving Power Watts	P-to-P Load Res, Ohms	Output Power Watts
									-					Class-C AmpTelegraphy	1500	-130	200	32	7.5		220
8005	85	10	3,25	1500	200	45	20	6.4	5.0	1.0	60	м.	3G	Closs-C Amp. (Telephony)	1250	- 195	190	28	9.0		170
				1						1				Class-B Amp. Audio 7	1500	- 70	40/310	310 9	4.0	10000	300
														Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1750	-100	170	19	3.9		225
V-70-D	85	7.5	3,25	1750	200	45		4,5	4,5	1.7	30	M.	3G		1500	- 90	165	19	3.9		195
														Closs-C Amp. (Telephony)	1500	- 90	165	19	3.7		185
															1250	- 72	127	16	2.6		122
RK361	100	5.0	8.0	3000										Closs-C Amp. (Telegrophy)	2000	-360	150	30	15		200
****	100	5.0	8.0	3000	165-	35	14	4.5	5.0	1.0	60	м.	2D	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	2000	-360	150	30	15		200
											-	-		Grid-Modulated Amp.	2000	-270	72	1.0	3.5	—	42
RK381	100	5.0	8.0	3000	165	40								Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	2000	-200	160	30	10		225
KKJ0-	100	3.0	8.0	3000	105	40		4.6	4.3	0.9	60	м.	20	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	2000	-200	160	30	10		225
	<u> </u>								-		-			Grid-Modulated Amp.	2000	-150	80	2.0	5.5		60
3-100A4														Class-C Amp. (Telegrophy)	3000	-200	165	51	18		400
100TH	100	5.0	6.3	3000	225	60	40	2.9	2.0	0.4	40	м.	2D	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)							
						-						,		Grid-Modulated Amp.	3000	-400	70	3.0	7.0		100
	+													Class-B Amp. (Audio)	3000	- 65	40/215	335 9	5.0	31000	650
3-100A2									1					Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	3000	-400	165	30	20		400
100TL	100	5.0	6.3	3000	225	50	14	2.3	2.0	0.4	40	м.	2D	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)							
														Grid-Modulated Amp.	3000	- 560	60	2.0	7.0		90
	+ +								+					Class-B Amp. (Audio)	3000	-185	40/215	640 <sup>9</sup>	6.0 %	30000	450
VT127A	100	5.0	10.4	3000		i — I	15,5	2.7	2.3	0.35	150	N.	T-4B	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	2000	-340	210	67	25		315
227A	100	10.5	10,7				31	3.0	2.2	0.30		N.	T-4B	Class-B Amp. (Audio)	1500	-125	242	44	7.3	3000	200
327 A	100	10.5	10.7				31	3.4	2.2	0.30		N,	T-4D	Oscillator at 200 Mc.							
		10.5	10.1				31	3.4	¥.3	0.33		<b>IN.</b>	I-4AD	Oscillator at 200 Mc.							
	1 1											1		Closs-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	4000	-380	120	35	20		475
HK254	100	5.0	7.5	4000	200	40	25	3.3	3,4	1.1	50	J.	2N	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	3000	- 290	135	40	23		320
														Grid-Madulated Amp.	3000		51	3.0	4.0		58
									+					Closs-B Amp. (Audio)	3000	-100	40/240	456 9	7.0 8	30000	520
RK58	100	10	3.25	1250	175	70		8.5	6.5	10.5		J.	3N	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1250	- 90	150	30	6.0	—	130
HF120	100	10	3.25	1250	175	50	12	5,5	12.5	3.5	15	J.	4F	Class-C Amp. (Telephony) Class-C AmpOscillotor	1000	-135	150	50	16		100
HF125	100	10	3.25	1500	175		25		11.5		30	J.		Class-C AmpOscillator	1250	300	166	8	3.5		148
HF140	100	10	3.25	1250	175		12	5,5	13.0	4.5	15	J.	4F	Class-C AmpOscillator	1250	-300	175 166				200
												3.		Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1250			8	3.5		148
203A	100	10	3.25	1250	175	60	25	6,5	14.5	5.5	15	J.	4E	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1230	-125	150	25 50	7.0		130
303 <b>A</b>						•••		0.0	14.5	3.5		<b>.</b>	76	Class-B Amp. (Audio) 7	1250		26/320	330 9	14		100
									+					Closs-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1250	- 45			11 8	9000	260
203H	100	10	3.25	1500	175	60	25	6,5	11.5	1.5	15	J.	3N	Closs-C Amp. (Telephony) Closs-C Amp. (Telephony)	1250	-200	170 167	12	3.8		200
												••	511	Class-B Amp. (Audio) <sup>7</sup>	1250	- 160	30/320	304 9	5.0 5.5 <sup>8</sup>	11000	160
211									-					Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1250	- 52	150			11000	340
311	100	10	3,25	1250	175	50	12	6.0	14.5	5.5	15	J.	4E	Class-C Amp. (Telephony) Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1250	-225		18	7.0		130
8351								6.0	9.25	5.0		••	7.	Class-B Amp. (Audio) 7	1250	- 100	150 20/320	35 410 %	14		100
242B														Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1250	-175	150	410 -	8.0 8	9000	260
342B	100	10	3.25	1250	150	50	12,5	7.0	13.6	6.0	6	J.	4E	Class-C Amp. (Telephony) Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1230	-1/5	150	50			130

**V**51

Туре	Mox. Plate Dissi-	Cat	hode	Max. Plate	Max. Plate	Max. D.C. Grid	Amp.	Capac	erelectro itances	(μμfd.)	Max, Freq, Mc.	Base	Socket Connec-	Typical Operation	Plate	Grid	Plate Current	D.C. Grid	Approx. Grid Driving	Class B P-to-P	Approx. Output
sype	pation Watts	Volts	Amp.	Voltage	Current Ma,	Current Ma.	Factor	Grid to Fil.	Grid to Plote	Plate to Fil.	Full Ratings	Duse	tions		Voltage	Voltage	Ma.	Current Ma,	Power Watts	Load Res. Ohms	Power Watts
								_			T			Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1250	- 175	150				130
242C	100	10	3.25	1250	150	50	12.5	6.1	13.0	4.7	6	J.	4E	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1000	-160	150	50	<u> </u>		100
														Class-B Amp. (Audio) 7	1250	- 80	25/150		25 8	7600	200
261A														Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1250	-175	125 150				100
361A	100	10	3,25	1250	150	50	12	6.5	9.0	4.0	30	J.	4E	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1000	- 160	20/150	50	25 8	7200	200
				Ļ										Class-B Amp. (Audio) 7	1250	- 175	125		23.	7200	100
276A	100		2.0	1950	105		1.0	4.0			20		4E	Class-C Amp. (Telegrophy) Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1230	-160	125	50			85
76A	100	10	3.0	1250	125	50	12	6.0	9.0	4.0	30	J.		Class-B Amp. (Audio) 7	1250	- 90	20/125		25 8	9000	175
					<u> </u>							<u> </u>		Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1250	- 500	150				125
2848	100	10	3.25	1250	150	100	5.0	4,2	7.4	5.3		J.	3N	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1000	-430	150	50			100
			3.13		1.50		5.0		1.4	0.0				Closs-B Amp. (Audio) 7	1250	-245	15/150		10 8	7200	200
		<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	t	<del> </del>	+	-			+	<del> </del>	+	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1250	-125	150	<u> </u>	<u> </u>		125
295A	100	10	3.25	1250	175	50	25	6.5	14.5	5.5		J.	4E	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1000	-125	150	50	1		100
														Class-B Amp. (Audio) 7	1250	- 40	12/160		20 8	9000	250
					1				-		1		+	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1250	- 90	150	30	6.0		130
138 938	100	10	3,25	1250	175	70		6.5	8.0	5,0	30	J.	4E	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1000	-135	150	60	16		100
y38														Class-B Amp. (Audio)	1250	0	148/320	200 9	7.5 8	9000	260
				<u> </u>	1	<u> </u>						-		Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	3000	-600	85	15	12		165
152	100	10	3,25	3000	150	40	12	1,9	2.6	1.0	30	M.	2D	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	2000	-500	67	30	23		75
									1					Class-B Amp. (Audio) 7	3000	-250	14/160	780 º	3.5 8	10250	320
5648 12	100	6.3	1.1	1000	100	50	100	8.75	1.95	0.035	2500	N.		Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1000	- 50	50	18	4		30
	100	0,3	•.•	1000	100		100	0.7.5	1.73	0.035	2300	FN.		Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	600	- 25	55	22	6		20
												}		Class-C AmpOscillator	1350	-180	245	35	11		250
1003	100	10	3,25	1500	250	50	12	5,8	11.7	3.4	30	J	3N	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1100	-260	200	40	15		167
				L										Class-B Amp. (Audio) 7	1350	-100	40/490	480 9	10.5 *	6000	460
3X100A11 2C39	100	6,3	1,1	1000	60	40	100	6.5	1,95	0.03	500	N.		"Grid Isolation" Circuit	600	- 35	60	40	5.0		20
2C39A	100	6.3	1.0	1000	80	50	100	6.5	1.95	.035	500	N.		Class-C Amplifier	800	- 20	80	32	6		27
														Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	600	- 16	75	40	6		18
														Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1750	-200	200	20	4,5		260 148
B11-CH	125	10	3.25	1750	200	50	12	5.5	8.0	4,5	30	J.	Fig. 57	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1250	-200	166	8	3.5	8200	400
	107			1000							-			Class-B (Audio) 7	1500	-110	400 8			8200	400
IC22	125 125	6,3 5	2.0	1000	150	70	40	4.9	2.4	0.05	500	0.	Fig. 30	Class-C AmpOscillator	1000	-200	150	70	18		480
1.10	125	->	7.5	4000	—		29	3.2	3,0	0.4	60	J.	Fig. 56	Class-C AmpOscillator	1500	-250	250	30	11		300
-123-A	125	10	4,0	2000	300	75	14,5	6.5	8,5	3,3		۱.	E1- 04	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy) Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1500	-290	160	25	10		200
DR-123C	123	10	4.0	2000	300	/3	14,5	0.9	6.5	3.3		J.	Fig. 26		2000	-130	20/175	217 9	3.48	13800	522
											+		<u> </u>	Class-B Amp. (Audio) 7 Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1500	-105	200	40	8.5		215
K57/805	125	10	3,25	1500	210	70		6,5	8.0	5.0	30	J.	3N	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1250	-160	160	60	16		140
								0.0	0.0	0.0		••		Class-B Amp. (Audio) 7	1500	- 16	84/400	280 9	7.0 8	8200	370
														Class-C Amp, (Telegraphy)	2500	-200	240	31	11		475
125	125	10	4,5	2500	250	60	25	6.3	6.0	1.3	60	J.	2N	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	2000	-215	200	28	10		320
HF130	125	10	3.25	1250	210		12.5	5.5	9.0	3.5	20	J.		Class-C AmpOscillator	1250	- 250	200	10	3.5		170
HF150	125	10	3.25	1500	210	—	12.5	5,5	7.2	1.9	30	J.		Class-C AmpOscillator	1500	- 300	200	10	4		220
HF175	125	10	4.0	2000	250		18	4.8	6.3	2.7	25	J.	T-3AC	Class-C AmpOscillotor	2000	-250	200	23	9		320

**V**52

_	Max. Plate	Catl	hode	Max.	Max. Piate	Max. D.C.	Amp.		terelectri citances		Max. Freq.		Socket		Plate	Grid	Plate	D.C. Grid	Approx. Grid	Class B P-ta-P	Approx
Туре	Dissi- pation Watts	Volts	Amp.	Plate Voltage	Current Ma,	Grid Current Ma.	Factor	Grid to Fil.	Grid to Plate	Plate to Fil.	Mc. Full Ratings	Base	Connec- tions	Typical Operation	Voltage	Voltage	Current Ma.	Current Ma,	Driving Power Watts	Load Res. Ohms	Output Power Watts
														Class-C AmpOscillator	1250	-150	180	30			150
GL146	125	10	3.25	1500	200	60	75	7.2	9.2	3.9	15	J.	T-48G	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1000	200	160	40			100
	L													Class-B Amp. (Audio) 7	1250	0	34/320			8400	250
														Class-C AmpOscillator	1250	-150	180	30			150
GL152	125	10	3.25	1500	200	60	25	7.0	8.8	4.0	15	J.	T-4BG	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1000	-200	160	30			100
/														Class-B Amp. (Audio) 7	1250	- 40	16/320	<u> </u>		8400	250
														Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1500	-105	200	40	8.5		215
105	125	10	3.25	1500	210	70	40/60	8,5	6.5	10.5	30	J.	3N	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1250	-160	160	60	16	<u> </u>	140
														Class-B Amp. (Audio) 7	1500	- 16	84/400	280 9	7.0 8	8200	370
AX9900/	135	6.3	5.4	2500	200	40	25	5.8	5.5	0,1	150	N.	Fig. 5	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	2500	-200	200	40	16		390
5866 12		0.0	2.4	1900	100			3.0	3.5	0.1	130	14.	Fig. J	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	2000	-225	127	40	16		204
3X150A3										[				Class-B (Audio) 7	2500	- 90	80/330	350 9	14 8	15680	560
3C37	150	6.3	2.5	1000	—		23	4.2	3.5	0.6	500	N				<u> </u>	— I				
150T 1	150	5.0	10	3000	200	50	13	3.0	3.5	0.5		J.	2N	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	3000	-600	200	35	_		450
3-150A3														Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	3000	-300	250	70	27		600
52TH	100	e /10	12.51		450	85	20	5.7	4.5	0.8			4BC	Class-B Amp. (Audio) 7	3000	-150	67/335	430 9	3.0 8	20300	700
-150A2	150	5/10	6.25	3000	450	75	12	4.5	4.4	0.7	40	J.		Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	3000	-400	250	40	20		600
52TL													4BC	Class-B Amp. (Audio) 7	3000	-260	65/335	675 9	3.0 8	20400	700
W150	150	10	4.1	3000	200	60	35	3.9						Class-C AmpOscillator	3000	-170	200	45	17		470
W150	150	10		3000	200	80	35	3.9	2.0	0.8		J.	2N	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	3000	-260	165	40	17		400
K252-L	150	5/10	13/6.5	3000	500	75	10	7.0	5.0	0.4	125	N.	48C	Class-C AmpOscillator	3000	-400	250	30	15		610
N 232-L	130	3/10	13/0.3	3000	300		10	7.0	5.0	0.4	123	14.	480	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	2500	-350	250	35	16		500
R200							[ ]							Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	2500	- 300	200	18	8.0		380
IF 200	150	10-11	3.4	2500	200	50	18	5.2	5.8	1.2	20	J.	2N	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	2000	-350	160	20	9.0		250
1718										[	1			Class-B Amp. (Audio) 7	2500	-130	60/360	460 9	8.0 8	16000	600
1D203A	150	10	4.0	2000	250	60	25		12		15	J.	3N	Class-C Amplifier		—					375
IF250	150	10,5	4.0	2500	200	_	18		5,8		20	J.	2N	Class-C AmpOscillator	2500	—	200				375
														Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	4000	-690	245	50	48		830
IK354	150	5.0	10	4000	300	50	14	4,5	3.8	1.1	30	J.	2N	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	3000	- 550	210	50	35		525
IK354C											-			Grid-Modulated Amp.	3000	-400	78	3.0	12		85
														Class-B Amp. (Audio) 7	3000	-205	65/313	630 9	20 8	22000	665
IK354D	150	5.0	10	4000	300	55	22	4,5	3.8	1.1	30	J.	2N	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	3500	-490	240	50	38		690
														Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	3500	-425	210	55	36		525
K354E	150	5.0	10	4000	300	60	35	4.5	3.8	1.1	30	J.	2N	Class C Amp. (Telegraphy)	3500	-448	240	60	45	_	690
		_									-			Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	3000	-437	210	60	45		525
K354F	150	5.0	10	4000	300	75	50	4.5	3,8	1.1	30	J.	2N	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	3500	-368	250	75	50		720
														Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	3000	-312	210	75	45		525
E-468	150	10	4.05	2500	200	60	18	8,8	7.0	1.25	30	J.	Fig. 57	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	2500	-300	200	18	8.0		380
				1000	100			0.0	7.0	1.23		<b>.</b>	rig. 37	Class-C Amp. (Telephony) Class-B (Audio) 7	2000	-350	160	20	9.0	14000	250
														Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	2500	-130	320 8	410 9	2.5	16000	500
10		10	4,5											Class-C Amp. (Telephony) Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	2000	- 180	300	60 70	19 35		575
6271	175	5.0	9.0	2500	300	75	36	8,7	4,8	12	30	J.	2N	Grid-Modulated Amp.	2000	- 350	100	2.0	35 4.0		3,80 75
														ona-mouvialed Amp.	<b>XX3U</b>		100	2.0	4.0		/3

#### Interelectrede Max. Max. Max. Approx. Cathode Max. Capacitances (µµfd.) D.C. Class B Approx. Max. Plate D.C. Freg. Socket Plate Grid Plate Amp. Plate Grid Grid P-to-P Output Type Dissia Plate Grid Base **Typical Operation** Driving Mc. Connec-Current Current Grid Grid Plate Voltage Voltage Factor Current load Res. Power pation Voltage Current Full tions Ma. Power Ma. Volts Amp, Ma. 10 10 10 Ohms Watts Watts Ma. Ratinas Watts Fil. Plate Fil. Class-C Amp.-Oscillator 2500 -240 300 40 18 575 Class-C Amp. (Telephony) 2000 -370 250 37 380 20 \_ 8000 175 10 4.5 2500 300 45 16.5 5.0 6.4 3.3 30 J, 2N Grid-Modulated Amp. 2250 -265 100 0 2.5 75 Class-B Amp. (Audio) 2250 -130 65/450 560 9 7.98 12000 725 Class-A Amp. (Audio) 1500 -155 107 8200 5 55 \_\_\_\_\_ GL-5C24 160 10 5.2 1750 107 3.3 \_\_\_\_\_ 8 5,6 8,8 Ν. Fig. 26 Class-AB1 Amp. (Audio) 7 1750 -200 390 9 240 320 \_\_\_\_ 8000 Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy) 3000 -- 200 233 45 17 525 10 **RK63** 5.0 200 3000 250 60 37 2.7 3,3 1.1 J. 2N Class-C Amp. (Telephony) 2500 -200 405 205 50 19 EK63A 6.3 14 Grid-Modulated Amp. 3000 -250 100 100 7.0 12.5 Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy) 2500 -280 350 54 25 685 T200 200 10 5,75 2500 350 80 7,9 16 9,5 1.6 30 J. 2N Class-C Amp. (Telephony) 2000 -260 300 54 23 460 \_\_\_\_ Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy) 3000 -250 250 47 18 \_ 600 F-127-A 200 10 4.0 3000 325 70 38 13 13 4 Ъ. Fig. 26 Class-C Amp. (Telephony) 2500 -300 200 58 25.2 420 \_ Class-B Amp. (Audio) 7 2800 - 75 20/400 175 9 6.65 16600 820 Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy) 2500 -190 300 51 17. 600 \$22 20 3N 200 10 4.0 2500 300 60 30 8.5 13.5 2,1 J, Class-C Amp. (Telephony) 8225 2000 - 75 250 43 13.7 405 \_ 30 2N Class-B Amp. (Audio)<sup>7</sup> 3000 - 80 450 362 9 8.08 16000 1000 Class-C Amp.-Oscillator 2000 -165275 20 10 \_ 400 4C32 200 10 4.5 3000 300 60 30 5.5 5.8 1.1 60 J. 2N Class-C Amp. (Telephony) 2000 -200 250 20 15 375 -Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy) 3000 -220 222 25 11 466 \_ GL-592 200 10 3500 5.0 250 50 25 3.6 3.3 0.29 150 N. Fig. 52 Class-C Amp. (Telephony) -3003-200A3 2500 200 35 19 375 Class-B (Audio) 7 2000 - 50 20/500 520 253 8500 600 Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy) 3000 -400 250 28 16 600 60 \_\_\_\_ 4C34 200 11-12 4.0 3000 275 60 23 6.0 6,5 1.4 ۶, 2N Class-C Amp. (Telephony) 2000 -300250 36 17 385 HF300 20 Class-B Amp. (Audio) 7 -115 60/360 450 3000 13 8 20000 780 Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy) 2500 -240300 30 10 575 \_ T814 200 10 4.0 2500 200 60 12 8,5 12,8 1.7 30 3N 3 Class-C Amp. (Telephony) -370 HV12 2000 300 40 20 485 \_ Class-B Amp. (Audio)<sup>7</sup> 2000 -160 50/275 350 9 7.0 8 14400 400 T822 Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy) -175 2500 300 50 15 585 200 10 \_\_\_\_ 4,0 2500 300 60 27 8.5 13,5 2.1 30 J. 3N HV27 Class-C Amp. (Telephony) - 195 2000 250 45 15 -----400 Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy) 3000 -400 250 28 20 600 T-300 200 11 6.0 3000 300 23 6,0 7.0 1,4 \_ Class-C Amp. (Telephony) 2000 -300250 36 17 \_ 385 Closs-B (Audio) 7 2500 -100 60/450 7.58 750 \_ Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy) 780 3300 --600 300 40 34 -----805 225 5.0 10 3300 300 50 12.6 6,1 4,2 1.1 30 J, 2N Class-C Amp. (Telephony) 3000 -670 195 27 24 460 \_ Class-B Amp. (Audio) 7 3300 -240 80/475 930 9 35 8 16000 1120 Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy) 2000 -120350 100 34 500 \_ 3-250A4 Class-C Amp. (Telephony) 3000 -210 75 42 330 \_ 750 250 5.0 10.5 4000 350 100 37 0.7 2N 5,0 2,9 40 J, 250TH Grid-Modulated Amp. - 160 3000 125 4.5 20 \_ 125 Class-B Amp. (Audio) 7 3000 - 65 100/560 460 9 24 8 12250 1150 Class-C Amp, (Telegraphy) 3000 -350 335 45 29 -----750 3-250A2 Class-C Amp. (Telephony) 3000 -350 335 45 29 750 \_ 250 5,0 10,5 4000 350 50 14 3,7 0.7 3.1 40 J. 2N 250TL Grid-Modulated Amp. 3000 -450 125 2.0 15 125 Class-B Amp. (Audio) 7 3000 -175 100/500 840 9 17 8 13000 1000

#### TABLE XVI-TRIODE TRANSMITTING TUBES-Continued

World Radio History

CT

N

•	Max. Plate	Cat	hode	Max.	Max. Plate	Max. D.C.	Amp,		terelectro citances		Max. Freq.		Socket		Plate	Grid	Plate	D.C. Grid	Approx. Grid	Class B P-ta-P	
Туре	Dissi- pation Watts	Volts	Amp.	Plate Voltage	Current Ma.	Grid Current Ma.	Factor	Grid to Fil.	Grid to Plate	Plate to Fil.	Mc. Full Ratings	Base	Connec- tions	Typical Operation	Voltage	Voltage	Current Ma.	Current Ma,	Driving Power Watts	Load Res. Ohms	Power Watts
														Class-C AmpOscillator	2000	-200	400	17	6.0		620
L159	250	10	9.6	2000	400	100	20	11	17.6	5.0	15	J.	T-4BG	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1500	-240	400	23	9.0		450
														Class-B Amp. (Audio) <sup>7</sup>	2000	-100	30/660	400 %	4.0 8	6880	900
									1					Class-C AmpOscillator	2000	-100	400	42	10		620
L169	250	10	9.6	2000	400	100	85	11,5	19	4,7	15	J	T-48G	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1500	100	400	45	10		450
														Class-B Amp. (Audio) <sup>7</sup>	2000	- 18	30/660	220 %	6.0 %	7000	900
04A			1											Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	2500	-200	250	30	15		450
04A	250	11	3.85	2500	275	80	23	12.5	15	2.3	3	N.	T-1A	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	2000	-250	250	35	20		350
														Class-B Amp. (Audio) 7	3000	-100	80/372	500 <sup>9</sup>	18 *	20000	700
														Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1750	-345	300				350
108B	250	14	4.0	2250	325	75	8.0	13.6	17.4	9.3	1.5	Ν.	T-2A	cierre cierre (reregiepri)	1500	-300	300	-			300
														Class-8 Amp. (Audio) <sup>7</sup>	1750	-215	30/300	—	35 8	5200	575
IK454H	250	5.0	11	5000	375	85	30	4.6	3.4	1.4	100	J.	2N	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	3500	-275	270	60	28	—	760
1K454-L	250	5.0	11	5000	375	60	12	4.6	3.4	1.4	100	J.	2N	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	3500	-450	270	45	30	—	760
867 X-9901	250	5.25	14,1	—	—		25	7.0	5.3	0.15	100	—		Class-C Amplifier	3000	-400	363	80	—	—	950
12E													T-2A	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	3500	-275	270	60	28		760
41B	275	14	4.0	3000	350	75	16	14.9	18.8	8.6	1.5	Ν.	T-2A	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	3500	-450	270	45	30		760
12E														Class-8 Amp. (Audio) 7	2000		40/300	—	50 <sup>8</sup>	8000	650
00T 1	300	8.0	11.5	3500	350	75	16	4.0	4.0	0.6	—	J.	2N	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	2000	-225	300				400
K304-L	300	5/10	26/13	3000	1000	150	10	12	9.0	0.8	—	N.	4BC	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1500	-200	300	75	—	—	300
27	300	5.5	135.0				38	19.0	12.0	1.4	200	N.	T-4B	Oscillator at 200 Mc.		A	pproxim	ately 250	watts out	put	
														Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	2000	-380	500	75	57		7 20
iK654	300	7.5	15	4000	600	100	22	6.2	5.5	1.5	20	J.	2N	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	2000	-365	450	110	70		655
														Grid-Modulated Amp.	3500	-210	150	15	15	—	210
-300A3						170	20	13.5	10.2	0.7	40	N.	4BC	Class-C Amplifler	1500	-125	667	115	25	_	700
04TH		e /10	05/10.5	2000	900	170	20	13.5	10.2	0.7	40	N.	400	Class-B Amp. (Audio) <sup>7</sup>	3000	-150	134/667	420 %	6.0 8	10200	1400
-300A2	300	5/10	25/12.5	3000	900	150	12	8.5	9.1	0.6	40	N.	48C	Class-C Amplifier	1500	-250	665	90	33		700
04TL						150	12	0.5	7.1	0.0	40	14.	400	Class-B Amp. (Audio) <sup>7</sup>	3000	-260	130/667	650 <sup>9</sup>	6.0 <sup>8</sup>	10200	1400
						100	35	12.3	6.3	8.5	30	N.	T-1AB	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	2000	-200	475	65	25		740
33 <b>A</b>	350	10	10	3300	500	100	35	12.3	0.3	6.5	30	<b>N.</b>	I-IAD	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	2500	-300	335	75	30		635
						7.6	14	1.	21	2.0	7 6	N.	T-1A	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	3000	-375	350				700
70A	350	10	4.0	3000	375	75	16	18	21	2.0	7.5	<b>FN.</b>	1-1A	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	2250	-300	300	80			450
				-		105	10	17	22.6	2.0	3		T-1A	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	2500	-250	300	20	8.0		560
491	400	11	5.0	2500	350	125	19	17	33.5	3.0	3	N.	1+1A	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	2000	300	300	30	14		425
									4.0					Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	3500	-400	275	40	30		590
311	400	11	10	3500	350	75	14.5	3.8	4.0	1.4		N.	T-1AA	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	3000	-500	200	60	50		360

\* Cathode resistor in ohms. \*\* Grid resistor ohms.

Discontinued.
 Twin triode, Values, except interelement capacities, are for both sections in push-pull.
 Output at 112 Mc.

<sup>4</sup> Grid-leak resistor in ohms. <sup>5</sup> Peak valves.

<sup>7</sup> Values are far two tubes in push-pull,

<sup>6</sup> Per section.

<sup>8</sup> Max, signal value. <sup>9</sup> Peak a.f. grid-to-grid volts. <sup>10</sup> For single tube. <sup>11</sup> Class-8 date in Table I. <sup>13</sup> Forced-air caoling.

٠.

#### TABLE XVII-TETRODE AND PENTODE TRANSMITTING TUBES

	Max. Plate	Cat	hode	Mox. Plate	Max. Screen	Max. Screen		erelectr itances		Max. Freq.		Socket Con-		Plate	Screen	Sup-	Grid	Plote	Screen	Grid	Screen	Approx. Grid	Class B P-to-P Load	Approx Output
Туре	Dissi- pation Watts	Volts	Amp.	Volt- age	Volt- age	Dissi- pation Watts	Grid to Fil,	Grid to Plote	Plote to Fil.	Mc. Full Ratings	Base	nec- tions	Typicol Operation	Volt- oge	Volt- age	Volt- oge	Volt- age	Current Ma.	Current Mo.	Current Ma.	Resistor Ohms	Driving Power Watts	Res. Ohms	Power Watts
BA4	2.0	1.4 2.8	0.2 0.1	150	135	0.9	4.8	0.2	4.2	10	В.	7BB	Closs-C Amp. (Telegrophy)	150	135	0	- 26	18,3	6.5	0.13	2300			1.2
BD6	4.5	2.8 1.4	0.11 0.22	180	135	0.9	7.5	0.3	5.5	50	L.	68B	Closs-C Amp. (Telegrophy)	150	135		- 20	23	6.0	1.0		0.25		1.4
84	3.0	2.5 1.25	0.165 0.33	150	135		4.6	0.16	7.6	100	В.	7CY	Class-C Amp.	150		_	- 75	25	—	-				1.25
Y631	3.0	2.5 1.25	0.1125 0.225	200	100	0.6	8.0	0.1	8.0	60	о.	T-8DB	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy) Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	200 180	100 100	=		20 15	4.0 3.0	2.0 2.0	=	0.1	=	3.0 2.0
AK6	3.5	6.3	0.15	375	250	1.0	3.6	0.12	4.2	54	B.	7BK	Class-C Amp. (Telegrophy)	375	250		-100	15	4.0	3.0		—		4.0
A6	5.0	2.5 5.0	0.46 0.23	150	150	2	8.5	0.15	9.5	100	В.	9L	Class-C Amp.	150	150	0	- 24	40	11	1.2	—			3.1
618	5.0	6.0 3.0	0.23 0.46	300	125	2.0	7.0	0.24	5.0	80	В.	7 <b>C</b> U	Class-C Amp. (Telegrophy)	300	75	0	- 45	25	7.0	1,5	32000	0.3		5.4
K641	6.0	6.3	0.5	400	100	3.0	10	0.4	9.0	60	м.	5AW	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	400	100	30	- 30	35	10	3.0		0.18		10
	0.0	0.3	0.5	400	100	3.0	10	0.4	9.0		m.	541	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	300	—	30	- 30	26	8.0	4.0	30000	0.2		6.0
610	6.0	2.5	1.75	400	200	2.0	8.6	1.2	13	20	M.	T-5CA	Closs-C Amp. (Telegrophy)	400	150	—	- 50	22.5	7.0	1.5	-	0.1	—	5.0
686	7.5	6.3	0.35	250	250	3.0	6.4	0.11	4.0	160	В.	Fig. 29	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	250 250	250 180		- 50 - 30	40 30	10.5 6.5	2.0 2.0	=	0,15	-	6.5 5.0
AQ5	8.0	6.3	0.45	350	250	2.0	7.6	0.35	6.0	54	Β.	7BZ	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	350	250		-100	47	7.0	5.0	—			11
V6GT	8.0	6.3	0.45	350	250	2.0	9.5	0.7	7.5	10	Ο.	7AC	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	350	250		-100	47	7.0	5.0				11
AG7	9.0	6.3	0.65	375	250	1.5	13	0.06	7.5	10	Ο.	8Y	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	375	250		- 75	30	9.0	5.0	—		—	7.5
K56	8.0	6.3	0.55	300	300	4.5	10	0.2	9.0	60	м.	5AW	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	400	300		- 40	62	12	1.6	—	0.1	—	12.5
	0.0	0.5	0.55					0.1	7.0				Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	250	200		- 40	50	10	1.6	2800	0.28		8.5
K23 <sup>1</sup>		2.5	2.0				1						Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	500	200	45	- 90	55	38	4.0		0.5	—	22
K25 K25B1	10	6.3	0.9	500	250	8	10	0.2	10		M.	6BM	Closs-C Amp. (Telephony)	400	150	0	- 90	43	30	6.0	8300	0.8		13.5
K230*		0.3	0.9		ļ	ļ	<u> </u>					<u> </u>	Suppressor-Modulated Amp.	500	200	-45	- 90	31	39	4.0		0.5		6.0 9
613	10	6.3	0.7	350	275	2.5	8.5	0.5	11.5	45	<b>o</b> .	75	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	350	200		- 35	50,	10 10	3.5	20000	0.22		6.0
											——		Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	275	200		- 35	42	10	2.8	10000	0.18		7.5
E30	10	6.0	0.7	250	250	2.5	10	0.5	4.5	160	<b>B</b> .	7CQ	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy) Class-AB <sub>2</sub> Amp. (Audio) <sup>6</sup>	250 250	250		- 30	40/120	4/20	2.3	87 8	0.2	3800	17
812	10	6.0	0.65	300	250	2.5	9.0	0.2	7.4	165	В.	700	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	300	200		- 45	55	3.0	0.75		1.5		7.0
	10	0.0		-		1.0						7.00	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	300	150		- 50	63	8.0	2.0	_	0.3		8.8
216	10	6.3	1.2	300	200	1.0	12.3	0.37	6.7	50	В.	Fig. 73	Class-C AmpDoubler	300			- 75	50	6.0	1.0	25000	0.6		4.0
													Class-C Amp. (Telegrophy)	500	200	40	- 70	80	15	4.0	20000	0.4		28
37													Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	400	140	40	- 40	45	20	5.0	13000	0.3		11
K44 1	12	12.6	0.7	500	300	8	16	0.2	10	20	M.	6BM	Suppressor-Modulated Amp.	500		65	- 20	30	23	3.5	14000	0.1		5.0
763 062	12	6.0	0.75	300	250	2	9.5	0.3	4.5	175	B.	9K	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy) Doubler to 175 Mc.	300 300	250 250	0	- 60 - 75	50 40	5.0 4.0	3.0 1.0	12500	0.35	=	8.0 3.6
F6							6,5	0.2	13				Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	400	275		-100	50	11	5.0				14
F6G	12.5	6.3	0.7	400	275	3,0	8.0	0.5	6.5	10	0.	7AC	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	275	200		- 35	42	10	2.8		0.16		6.0
		-								<u> </u>			Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	600	250	40	-120	55	16	2.4	22000	0.30		23
02	13	6.3	0.9	600	250	6.0	12	0.15	8.5	30	M.	6BM	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	500	245	40	- 40	40	15	1.5	16300	0.10	—	12
_												1	Suppressor-Modulated Amp.	600	250	-45	-100	30	24	5.0	14500	0.6		6.3
-				FOC	000	0.2	1							400	180		- 45	50	8.0	2.5	27500	0.15	-	13.5
-	125	1.91	0.45	500	200	2.3		0.11	4.	105		701	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	500	180		- 45	54	8.0	2.5	40000	0.16	—	18.0
E24	13.5	6.35	0.65	600	200	2.5	8.5	0.11	6.5	125	0.	7CL	Class C Ame (Talamate)	400	200	—	- 45	75	10.0	3.0	20000	0.19		20
				000	200	2.5	1						Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	600	195		- 50	66	10	3.0	40500	0.21		27

**V56** 

_	Max. Plate	Col	hode	Max. Plate	Max. Screen	Max. Screen		citance:		Mox. Freq.		Sacket Con-		Plate	Screen	Sup-	Grid	Plate	Screen	Grid	Screen	Approx. Grid	Class B P-to-P	Apprex, Output	
Туре	Dissi- pation Watts	Volts	Amp.	Volt- age	Volt- age	Dissi- pation Watts	Grid to Fil.	Grid to Plate	to	Mc. Full Ratings	Base	nec- tions	Typical Operation	Volt- age	Volt- age	Volt- age	Volt- age	Current Ma.	Current Ma,	Current Ma.	Resistor Ohms	Driving Power Watts	Load Res. Ohms	Power Watts	< 5
				600	200	2.5					-		Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	600	185	—	- 45	+	10	3.0	41500	0.17	-	27	Ň
2E26	13.5	6.3	0.8	500	200	0.2	13	0.2	7.0	125	0.	7 <b>CK</b>	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	500	180		- 50		9.0	2.5	35500	0.15		18	
	L	1		500	200	2.3		_	-				Class-AB <sub>2</sub> Amp. (Audio) 6	500	125		- 15				60 8	0.367	8000	54	
HY6V6-	13	6.3	0.5	350	225	2.5	9.5	0.7	9.5	60	<b>o</b> .	7AC	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	300	200		- 45		7.5	2.5		0.3		12	
GTX			<u> </u>						-				Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	250	200		- 45		6.0	2.0	15000	0.4		10	
HY60	15	6.3	0.5	425	225	2.5	10	0.2	8.5	60	M.	5AW	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	425	200	—	- 62.5		8.5 7.0	3.0		0.3		18	
			<u> </u>		+				-				Class-C Amp. (Telephony) Class-C AmpOscillator	450	250		- 45		15	3.0		0.2		24	
HY651	15	6.3	0.85	450	250	4.0	9.1	0.18	7.2	60	<b>o</b> .	T-8DB	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	350	200		- 45		12	3.0		0.5		16	
	———							1				-	Class-C AmpOscillator	450	250		- 45	-	15	3.0		0.4		24	
2E25	15	6.0	0.8	450	250	4.0	8.5	0.15	6.7	125	<b>o</b> .	5BJ	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	400	200	<b>—</b>	- 45		12	3.0		0.4		16	
								•••••			••		Class-AB <sub>2</sub> Amp. (Audio) <sup>6</sup>	450	250		- 30	_		3.0	142 8	0.97	6000	40	
306 A	15	2.75	2.0	300	300	6.0	13	0.35	13	_	M.	T-5CB	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	300	180		- 50		15	3.0	8000			7.0	
307 A								1				-	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	500	250	0	- 35	60	13	1.4	20000	—		20	
RK-75	15	5,5	1.0	500	250	6.0	15	0.55	12		M.	T-5C	Suppressor-Modulated Amp.	500	200	- 50	- 35	40	20	1.5	14000	—		6.0	
8323	15	6.3	1.6	500	250			0.05		000		78P	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	500	200	—	- 65	72	14	2.6	21000	0.18		26	
631.	15	12.6	0.8	500	250	5.0	7.5	0.05	3.8	200	N.	100	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	425	200	_	- 60	52	16	2.4	14000	0.15		16	
832A3	15	6.3	1.6	750	250	5.0	7.5	0.05	3.8	200	N,	782	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	750	200		- 65	48	15	2.8	36500	0.19	<u> </u>	26	
•JIA -		12.6	0.8	/ 30	230	3.0	1.5	0.05	3.0	100		1.01	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	600	200		- 65	36	16	. 2.6	25000	0.16		17	
844 1	15	2.5	2.5	500	180	3.0	9.5	0.15	7.5		м.	5AW	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	500	175		-125	25	—	5.0				9.0	
						0.0	7.5	0.15				2011	Closs-C Amp. (Telephony)	500	150		-100	20						4.0	
865	15	7.5	2.0	750	175	.0	8.5	0.1	8.0	15	M.	T-4C	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	750	125	—	- 80			5.5		1.0		16	
													Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	500	125		-120		—	9.0		2.5		10	
													Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	400	300		- 55		10.5	5.0	9500	0.36		19.5	
1619	15	2.5	2.0	400	300	3.5	10.5	0.35	12.5	45	<b>o</b> .	T9H	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	325	285		- 50		7.5	2.8	5000	0.18		13	
		<u> </u>											Class-AB <sub>2</sub> Amp. (Audio) <sup>6</sup>	400	300	0	-16.5	- · ·	6.5/11.5		77 8	0.47	6000	36	
5516		6.0		400	070			0.10					Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	600	250		- 60	-	15	5.0		0.5		32	
5510	15	6.0	0.7	600	250	5.0	8.5	0.12	6.5	80	<b>o</b> .	7CL	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	475	250		- 90		10	4.0	22500	0.5		22	
													Class-AB <sub>2</sub> (Audio) <sup>6</sup>	600 400	25		- 25	36/140	1/24	47	80 8	0.16	10500	67 20.8	
AX- 99053	16	6.3	0.68	400	250	5	8.5	0.05	3.3	186	<b>o</b> .	Fig. 34	Class-C Amplifier	250	175		- 80	-	6.5	4.2		0.39	_	16.9	
254A	20	5.0	3.25	750	175	5.0	4.6	0.1	9.4		M.	T-4C	Class-C Amplifier	750	175		- 90	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	0.5	7.1		0.20		25	
616							10	0.4	12			1	Class-C AmpOscillator	400	300		-125		12	5.0	_			28	
6L6G	21	6.3	0.9	400	300	3.5	11.5	0.9	9.5	10	<b>o</b> .	7AC	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	325	250		- 70		<u> </u>	9.0		0.8		11	
													Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	500	250		- 50	90	9.0	2.0		0.25	_	30	
6L6GX	21	6.3	0.9	500	300	3.5	11	1.5	7.0		0.	7AC	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	325	225		- 45	90	9.0	3.0	_	0.25		20	
HY6L6-											-		Class-C AmpOscillator	500	250		50	90	9.0	2.0		0.5		30	
GTX	21	6.3	0.9	500	300	3.5	11	0.5	7.0	60	0.	7AC	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	400	225		- 45	90	9.0	3.0	16000	0.8		20	
		4.0		400	200								Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	400	250		- 50	95	8.0	3.0		0.2	_	25	
T21	21	6.3	0.9	400	300	3.5	13	0.7	12	30	M.	6A	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	350	200		- 45	65	17	5.0	_	0.35		14	
BK 40	21	6.3	0.9	400	300	3.5	11.5	1.4	10,6		м.	4.4	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	400	250	—	- 50	95	8.0	3.0		0.2	_	25	
RK49	<b>X</b> 1	0.3	0.9	400	300	3.5	11.5	1.4	10.8	_	_ m.	6 <b>A</b>	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	300	200		- 45	60	15	5.0	6700	0.34		12	
5881	23	6.3	0.9	400	300	3			—	—	Ο.	7AC	Class-C Amplifier						Same a	s óLó					
													Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	450	250		- 45	100	8	2.0	12500	0.15		31	
1614	25	6.3	0.9	450	300	3.5	10	0.4	12.5	80	О.	7AC	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	375	250		- 50		7.0	2.0	10000	0.15		24.5	
													Class-AB: Amp. (Audio) <sup>6</sup>	530	340	—	- 36	60/160	20 7		72 8		7200	50	
RK411	25	2.5	2.4	600	390	3.5	13	0.2	10	30	м.	5AW	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	600	300		- 90	93	10	3.0	`	0.38		36	
RK39		6.3	0.9									1	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	475	250		- 50	85	9.0	2.5	25000	0.2		26	

#### TABLE XVII-TETRODE AND PENTODE TRANSMITTING TUBES-Continued

World Radio Histor

	Max. Plate	Col	ihode	Mox. Plote	Mox. Screen	Mox. Screen		erelectr citances		Max. Freq.		Socket Con-		Plate	Screen	Sup-	Grid	Piote	Screen	Grid	Screen	Approx. Grid	P-to-P	Apprex. Output
Туре	Dissi- pation Watts	Volts	Amp.	Volt- oge	Volt- age	Dissi- pation Watts	Grid to Fil,	to	Plate to Fil.	Mc. Full Ratings	Base	nec- tions	Typicol Operation	Volt- age	Volt- age	Volt- oge	Volt- age	Current Ma.	Current Mo.	Ma.	Resistor Ohms	Driving Power Watts	Load Res. Ohms	Power Watts
									<u> </u>				Closs-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	600	250		- 50	85	9.0	4.0	39000	0.4		40
HY61	25	6.3	0.9	600	300	3.5	11	0.2	7.0	60	M.	5AW	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	475	250		- 50	100	9.0	3.5	25000	0.2		27
							1						Class-AB <sub>2</sub> Amp. (Audio) <sup>6</sup>	600	300		- 30	200 7	107	-		0.17		80
		12.6	0.8				i i					Į.	Class-C AmpOscillator	500	200		- 45	150	17	2,5	-	0.13		56
8153	25	6.3	1.6	500	200	4.0	13.3	0.2	8,5	125	0.	8BY	Closs-C Amp. (Telephony)	400	175	<u> </u>	- 45	150	15	3.0	-	0.16		45
													Closs-AB <sub>2</sub> Amp. (Audio) <sup>3</sup>	500	125	-	- 15	22/150	32 7		60 8	0.367	8000	54
254B	25	7.5	3.25	750	150	5.0	11.2	0.085	5.4		M.	T-4C	Class-C Amplifier	750	150		-135	75		-		-		30
													Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	600	300		- 60	90	10	5.0	30000	0.43		35
1624	25	2.5	2.0	600	300	3.5	11	0.25	7.5	60	M.	T-5DC	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	500	275		- 50	75	9.0	3.3	25000	0.25		24
			ļ	I									Class-AB <sub>2</sub> Amp. (Audio) <sup>6</sup>	600	300		- 25	42/180	5/15	1068		1.2 7	7500	72
3DX3	25	6.3	3.0	1500	200					250	5.	Fig. 40		1000	200		-155	75	-	2.8		0.57		50
						1	1						Class-C Amp. (C. W. 15 Mc.)	750	160		- 85	120	14.7	3.0		0.3		69
6146	25	6.3	1.25	750	250	3.0	13,5	0.22	9.0	60	M.	7CK	Class-C Amp. (C. W. 175 Mc.)	400	200		- 54		9	1.8		3.0		35
6159		26.5	0.3				1						Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	600	150		- 85		12	3.0		0.3		52
													Class-AB <sub>2</sub> Amp. (Audio) <sup>6</sup>	750	165				0.6/21	101 8		0.07	8000	130
3E22 *	30	12.6	0.8	560	225	6.0	14	0.22	8.5	200	o.	8BY	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy) <sup>3</sup>	600	200		- 55	160	20	7.0	20000	0.45		72
		6.3	1.6				ļ.,						Class-C Amp. (Telephony) <sup>3</sup>	560	200		- 50	160	20	6.5	18000	0.4		67
RK66	30	6.3	1.5	600	300	3.5	12	0.25	10.5	60	м.	T-5C	Closs-C AmpOscillotor	600	300		- 60	90	11	5.0		0.5		40
													Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	500			- 50		8.0	3.2	25000	0.23		25
807							1						Class-CAmp. (Telegraphy)	750	250		- 45		6	3.5	85000			50
807W	30	6.3	0.9	750	300	3.5	111	0.2	7.0	60	M. 1	5AW	Closs-C Amp. (Telephony)	600	275	-	- 90	100	6.5	4.0	50000	0.4		42.5
5933 1625		12.6	0,45			1		***				5AZ	Closs-AB2 Amp. (Audio) 5	750	300	-		60/240	5/10	92 8		0.2 7	6950	120
	1						ļ		1		<u> </u>		Closs-B Amp. (Audio) <sup>11</sup>	750			0			555 8		5.37	6650	
			l l			1					l		Class-C AmpOscillator	500	250	22.5	- 60		16	6.0	15000	0.55		34
2 <b>E</b> 22	30	6.3	1.5	750	250	10	13	0.2	8,0	—	M.	5J	Class-C AmpOscillotor	750	250	22.5	- 60	100	16	6.0	30000	0.55		53
_							ļ	L				L	Suppressor-Modulated Amp.	750	250	-90	- 65	55	29	6.5	17000	0.6		16.5
3D23	35	6.3	3.0			<u> </u>	6.5	0.2	1.8	250	м.	Fig. 54	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1500	375		- 300	110	22	15		4.5		130
T8-35													Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1000	300		-200	85	14	10		2.0		60
AX- 99033	40	6.3	1.8	600	250	7	6.7	0.08	2.1	150	N.	Fig. 10	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	600	250		- 80	200	16	2		0.2		80
5894A	1 **	12.6	0.9	000	230	· ·	0.7	0.08	2.1	1.30	"	rig. it	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	600	250		-100	200	24	8		1.2		85
								1				+	Class-C Amp. (Telegrophy)	1250	300	45	-100	92	36	11.5		1.6		84
RK201		7.5	3.0					1			l		Closs-C Amp. (Telephony)	1000	300	0	- 100	75	30	10	23000	1.3		52
RK20A	40	7.5	3,25 2,5	1250	300	15	14	0,01	12		M.	T-5C	Suppressor- Modulated Amp.	1250	300	-45	- 100	48	44	11.5		1.5		21
RK461		12.0	2.3				i i						Grid-Modulated Amp.	1250	300	45	-142	40	7.0	1.8		1.5		20
							†	1			<u> </u>		Class-C AmpOscillator	600	250	-	- 60	100	12.5	4.0	30000	0.25		42
													Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	600	250		- 60	100	12.5	5.0	30000	0.35		42
HY69	40	6.3	1.5	600	300	5.0	15.4	0.23	6.5	60	M.	T-5D	Modulated Doubler	600	200	-	-300	90	11.5	6.0	35000	2.8		27
													Class-AB <sub>2</sub> Amp. (Audio) <sup>6</sup>	600	300		- 35	2007	187	5.07	_	0.37	-	80
							1	1					Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	500	200	-	- 45	240	32	12	9300	0.7		83
8291,3	40	6.3	2.25	500	225	6	14.5	0.1	7.0	200	N.	7BP	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	425	200		- 60	212	35	11	6400	0.8		63
		12.6	1.12										Grid-Modulated Amp.	500	200	—	- 38	120	10	2.0	-	0.5		23
						<u> </u>		1				1	Class-C AmpOscillotor	750	200		- 55	160	30	12	18300	0.8		87
829A1,	40	6,3	2.25	750	240	7.0	14.4	0.1	7.0	200	N,	7BP	Closs-C Amp. (Telephony)	600	200		- 70	150	30	12	13300	0.9		70
		12.6	1.12										Grid-Modulated Amp.	750	200	-	- 55	80	5.0	0		0.7		24
	+					4		1				1	Class-C Amp. (Telegrophy)	500	200		- 45		32	12	9300		1	83
829B <sup>3</sup>	40	12.6	1.125	750	240	7	14,5	0.12	7.0	200	N.	7BP	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	425	200		- 60		35	11	6400	0.8		63
3E29 3		6.3	2,25			7							Class-B Amp. (Audio) <sup>5</sup>	500	200	-	- 18			56 8		0.39	4800	76
	1						1	1			1	1	· ····································	1		1			I	1	1		1	-

#### TABLE XVII-TETRODE AND PENTODE TRANSMITTING TUBES-Continued

.

	Max. Plate	Cet	hode	Max. Plate	Max, Screen	Max. Screen		erelectr citances		Max. Freq.		Socket Con-		Plate	Screen	Sup-	Grid	Plate	Screen	Grid	Screen	Approx. Grid	Class B P-to-P	Approx. Output
Туре	Dissi- pation Watts		Amp.	Valt- age	Valt- age	Dissi- pation Watts	Grid to Fil.	Grid to Plate	Plate to Fil.	Mc. Full Ratings	Base	nec- tions	Typical Operation	Volt- age	Volt- age	Volt- age	Volt- age	Current Ma.	Current Ma,	Current Ma.	Resistor Ohms	Driving Power Watts	Load Res. Ohms	Power Watts
_								r					Class-C AmpOscillator	750	300	—	- 70	120	15	4		0.25		63
HY 1269	40	6,3	3.5	750	300	5.0	16.0	0.25	7.5	6	м.	T-5DB	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	600	250		- 70	100	12.5	5	35000	0.5		42
		12.6	1.75	1			10.0					1.500	Grid-Modulated Amp.	750	300			80						20
													Class-AB <sub>2</sub> Amp. (Audio) <sup>6</sup>	600	300	-	- 35	2007				0.3		80
3D24	45	6.3	3.0	2000	400	10	6.5	0.2	2,4	125	ι.	T-9J	Class-C AmpOscillator	2000	375 375	-	-300	90 90	20 22	10 10	=	4.0 4.0		140
715-B	50	26/28		-					-	-		-	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1500	300	-	_	125					-	
		+	1			<u> </u>	1			1			Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1500	375	<u> </u>	- 300	116	21	12		3.6	-	135
5562	45	6,3	3.0	2000	400	8	6.5	0,2	1.8	120	M.	Fig. 54	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1000	300	_	-200	85	14	10		2.0	_	60
		1					1						Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	2000	450	+-30	-145	110	2	1	† <u> </u>	0.15		166
HK-57	50	5	5	3000	500	25	7.29	0.05	3,13	200	N.	Fig. 64	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	2000	450	-+-30	-145	88	2	1.5		0,2	-	135
												-	Suppressor-Modulated Amp.	2000	450	-190	-240	80	14	2.5	110000	0.6	-	90
		1				-		1		1			Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1250	300	-	- 70	138	14	7.0	-	1.0	-	120
<b>RK47</b>	50	10	3,25	1250	300	10	13	0.12	10		M,	T-5D	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	900	300	1	-150	120	17.5	6.0		1.4	—	87
						1	1		ł				Grid-Modulated Amp.	1250	300		- 30	60	2.0	0.9	—	4.0	—	25
			· · · · ·				1			<u> </u>			Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1250	300	20	- 55	100	36	5,5	_	0.7	—	90
312A	50	10	2.8	1250	500	20	15.5	0.15	12.3	I —	м.	T-6C	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1000	—	40	- 40	95	35	7.0	22000	1.0	—	65
				1		1	1			1			Suppressor-Modulated Amp.	1250		-85	50	50	42	5.0	22000	0.55		23
													Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1500	300	45	-100	100	35	7.0	34000	1.95		110
804	50	7.5	3.0	1500	300	15	16	0.01	14.5	15	м.	T-5C	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1250	250	50	- 90	75	20	6.0	50000	0.75		65
004	- 50	7,3	3.0	1300	300	15	10	0.01	14,3	15	<i>m</i> .	1-30	Grid-Modulated Amp.	1500	300	45	-130	50	13.5	3.7	—	1.3		28
								1		1		1	Suppressor-Modulated Amp.	1500	300	-50	-115	50	32	7.0		0.95	—	28
		25.2	0.8									E		750	300		-100	240	26	12	—	1.5	_	135
4D22		12.6	1.6	1								Fig. 50	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	600	300	—	-100	215	30	10		1.25	—	100
4022 4D32	50			750	350	14	28	0,27	13	60	N.		Class C Ame (Tele-heavy)	600	—	—	-100	220	28	10	10000	1.25		100
4032		6.3	3,75									Fig. 51	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	550			-100	175	17	6	15000	0.6		70
							1						Class-AB: Amp. (Audio) 6	600	250	—	- 25	100/365	26 7	70 <sup>8</sup>		0.457	3000	125
305A	60	10	3.1	1000	200	6	10,5	0,14	5.4		м.	T-4CE	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1000	200		-200	125						85
3034		10	5	1000	100	Ŭ	10,5	0.14	3.4		m.	1-462	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	800	200		-270	125	—	—	—	—		70
		6.3	4.5										Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1250	300		- 80	175	22.5	10	—	1.5		152
HY67	65	12.6	2,25	1250	300	10		0,19	14,5	— I	- M.	T-5DB	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1000	300		-150	145	17.5	14	—	2.0		101
													Grid-Modulated Amp.	1250	300	—	—	78	—	—	—	—		32.5
													Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1500	300	—	- 90	150	24	10	50000	1.5		160
814	65	10	3.25	1500	300	10	13.5	0.1	13.5	30	м.	T-5D	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1250	300		-150	145	20	10	48000	3.2		130
													Grid-Modulated Amp.	1500	250	—	-120	60	3.0	2.5		4.2		35
				3000	400								Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	3000	250	—	- 90	115	20	10		1.7		280
4-65A	65	6.0	3.5	2500	400	10	8.0	0.08	2.1	160 %	N.	Fig. 48	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	2500	250	—	- 150	108	16	8	—	1.9		225
				3000	600								Class-B Linear Amp.	2500	500	—		20/230	0/35	<b>6</b> <sup>10</sup>		1.8 10		325 7
				3000	600	_						_	Class-AB <sub>2</sub> Amp. (Audio) <sup>6</sup>	1800	250			50/220	0/25	180 8		2.27	20000	270
282A	70	10	3.0	1000	250	5	12,2	0,2	6.8		м.	T-4C	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1000	150		160	100						33
						-							Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	750	150			100	—	50	—			50
4827/													Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	2000	500	60	-200	150	11	6	136000	1.4		230
8001	75	5.0	7.5	4000	750	30	12	0.06	6,5	75	J.	7BM	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1800	400	60	-130	135	11	8	125000	1.7		178
													Suppressor-Modulated Amp.	2000	500	-300	-130	55	27	3.0		0.4		35

TABLE XVII-TETRODE AND PENTODE TRANSMITTING TUBES-Continued

**V**59

World Radio History

#### TABLE XVII-TETRODE AND PENTODE TRANSMITTING TUBES- Continued

	Max. Plate	Cat	hode	Max. Plate	Max. Screen	Mox. Screen		itances		Max. Freq.		Socket Con-		Plate	Screen	Sup-	Grid	Plate	Screen	Grid Current	Screen Resistor	Approx. Grid Driving	Class B P-to-P Load	Approx. Output
Туре	Dissi- patien Watts	Volts	Amp.	-Volt- age	Volt- age	Dissi- pation Watts	Grid to Fil.	Grid to Plate	Plate to Fit.	Mc. Full Ratings	Base	nec- tions	Typical Operation	Volt- oge	Volt- age	Volt- age	Volt- age	Current Ma.	Current Ma.	Ma.	Ohms	Power Watts	Res. Ohms	Power Watts
HK257				1						75			Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	2000	500	60	-200	150	11	6.0		1.4		230
HK257 HK257 B	75	5.0	7.5	4000	750	25	13.8	0.04	6.7	120	J.	78M	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1800	400	60	-130	135	11	8.0	-	1.7	-	178
NK 237 B										110			Suppressor-Modulated Amp.	2000	500	-300	130	55	27	3.0		0.4		35
								T	I				Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1500	400	75	-100	180	28	12	40000	2.2	-	200
828	80	10	3.25	2000	750	23	13.5	0.05	14.5	30	м.	5J	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1250	400	75	-140	160	28	12	30000	2.7	<u> </u>	150
040			0.25	1000			10.0	0.00	14.5				Grid-Modulated Amp.	1500	400	75	-150	80	4.0	1.3		1.3		41
													Class-AB; Amp. (Audio) 6	2000	750	60	-120	50/270	2/60	240		0	18500	385
				T									Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	2000	400	45	-100	150	55	13	21000	2.0		210
RK28	100	10	5.0	2000	400	35	15	0.02	15		J.	5.1	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1500	400	45	-100	135	52	13	21000	2.0		155
RR20	100	10	3.0	1000	100			0.01					Suppressor- Modulated Amp.	2000	400	-45	- 100	85	65	13	—	1.8		60
													Grid-Modulated Amplifier	2000	400	45	-140	80	20	4.0	_	0.9		75
			I				T			1			Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	2000	400		-100	180	40	6.5		1.0		250
RK48 RK48A	100	10	5.0	2000	400	22	17	0.13	13		J.	T-5D	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1500	400		-100	148	50	6.5	22000	1.0		165
													Grid-Moduloted Amplifier	1500	400		-145	77	10	1.5		1.6		40
													Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1250	175		-150	160		35		10		130
850	100	10	3.25	1250	175	10	17	0.25	25	15	J.	T-38	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1000	140		~100	125	_	40		10		65
													Grid-Modulated Amplifier	1250	175		- 13	110						40
860	100	10	3.25	3000	500	10	7 7 5	0.08	7.5	30	м.	T-4CB	Class-C AmpOscillator	3000	300		-150	85	25	15		7.0		165
600	100	10	3.23	3000	200		1	0.00					Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	2000	220		-200	85	25	38	100000	17		105
													Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	2250	400	0	-155	220	40	15	46000	4.0		375
813	125	10	5.0	2250	400	22	16.3	0.2	14	30	J.	5BA	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	2000	350	0	- 175	200	40	16	41000	4.3		300
612	123	10	3.0	1130	400		10.5	0.2			· ··		Grid-Modulated Amplifier	2250	400	0	-110	85	2.5		-			75
													Class-B Amp. (Audio) <sup>6</sup>	2500	750	0	- 95	· ·	1.2/55			0.35	17000	650
4-125A					[		T						Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	3000	350		-150		30	9		2.5		375
4D21	125	5.0	6.2	3000	400	20	10.3	0.03	3,0	120	N.	5BK	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	2500	350		-210	152		9		3.3		300
6155													Class-AB: Amp. (Audio) 5	2500	350		- 43		0/6	178 8		1.0	22200	400
							I		I	I	ŀ			3000	-	60	200		5	6		1.6		375
4E27 A/ 5-1258	125	5.0	7,5	4000	750	20	10.5	0.08	4.7	75	J.,	78M	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1500	500	60	-130		11	8		1.6	-	215
														1000	750	0	-170		21	3		0.6		115
								Γ					Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	2000	400	45	-100		60	10		1.6		250
RK28A	125	10	5.0	2000	400	35	15	0.02	15		J.	5J	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1500	400	45	-100		54	10	18500	1.6		150
KN20A	143	10	3.0	2000	400			0.01	1.2		-		Grid-Modulated Amp.	2000	400	45	- 55	80	18	2.0		0.5		60
									1			L	Suppressor-Modulated Amp.	2000		-45	-115	90	52	11,5	30000	1.5		60
					Ι		Ι		1				Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	2000	500	40	- 90	160	45	12		2.0		210
803	125	10	5.0	2000	600	30	17.5	0.15	29	20	J.	5.1	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	1600	400	100	- 80		45	25	27000	5.0		155
603	123	10	3.0	1000		30		0.13					Suppressor-Modulated Amp.	. 2000		-110	-100		48	15	35000	2.5	+	53
	1												Grid-Modulated Amplifier	2000	600	40	- 80		20	4.0		2.0		53
				T										1000	250		- 80	200	39	7		0.69	<u> </u>	148
4X- 150A'	150	6.0	2.0	1000	300	15	16.1	0.02	4.7	500	Ν.	T-9J	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	750	250 250	_	- 80		37 35	6.5 6	=	0.63	=	110 85
4X-	150	2.5	6,25	1250	300	15	16,1	0.02	4.7	165	N.		Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	1250	+		- 90		20	11	_	1.2		195
150G							+						Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	3000	400	-	- 290	200	27	7		2.6		450
PE340/	150	5.0	7.5	4000	400		11.6	0.06	4,35	120	N.	5BK	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	2500	400		-425	180	27	9		4		350
4D23				1									Class AB: Audio 4	2500	400		- 95	2847	71			1.87	19100	460

TABLE XVII-TETRODE AN	D PENTODE	TRANSMITTING	TUBES—Continued
-----------------------	-----------	--------------	-----------------

Tuna	Max. Plate Dissi-		thode	Mox.		Max. Screen	Copa	terelectr citances	ode (μμfd.)			Socket		Plate	Screen	Sup-	Grid	Plate	Screen	Grid	Screen	Approx. Grid		
Туре	pation Watts		Amp.	Plate Volt- age	Screen Volt- age	Dissi- pation Watts	Grid	Grid to Plate	Plate to Fil.	Mc. Full Ratings	Base	Con- nec- tions	Typical Operation	Volt- age	Volt- oge	pressor Volt- age	Volt- age					Driving Power Watts		Approx. Output Power Watts
AT-340	150	5	7,0	4000	400	—	9.04	0.19	4.16	120	J.	5BK	Closs-C AmpOscillator	3000	400		-500	165	75			2.4		
RK65	215	5.0	14	3000	500	35	10.5	0.24	4,75	60		T-3BC	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	3000	400	—	-100		70	24		6.0	=	510
		-							4.00		3.	1-500	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	2500	-		-150	200	70	22	30000	6.3		380
4-250A							L	ł					Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	3000	500		-180	330	60	10		2.6		800
5D22 6156	250	5.0	14.5	4000	600	35	12,7	0.06	4.5	75	N.		Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	3000	400	—	-310	225	30	9		3.2		510
GL							I		ļ				Class-AB <sub>2</sub> (Audio) <sup>6</sup>	1500	300	—	- 48	100/485	0/34	192 8		4.7 7	5400	428
5D24	250	5.0	14.1	4000	350	50	12.7	0.06	4.5	85	Ν.	5BK	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)				Sam	e as 4-2	250 A					GL-
4- 400 A 9	400	5.0	14,5	4000	600	35	12.5	0.12	4.7	110	Ν.	5BK	Class-C Teleg. or Telephony	4000	300		- 170	270	22.5	10		10		5D24
861	400	11	10	3500	750	35	14.5	0.1	10.5	20	N.	T-1B	Class-C Amp. (Telegraphy)	3500	500		-250	300	40	40		30		
			-				14.5	0.1	10.5	<b>4</b> 0	FN.	11.05	Class-C Amp. (Telephony)	3000	375		-200	200		55	70000	30		700
		<sup>1</sup> Disco	ntinued.								1 Tor		3 and 6 must be connected to					1		33	/0000	35		400

...

<sup>2</sup> Discontinuea. <sup>2</sup> Triode connection—screen grid tied to plate. <sup>3</sup> Dual tube. Values for both sections, in push-pull. Interelectrode capacitances, however, are for each section.

 <sup>4</sup> Terminals 3 and 6 must be connected togethor.
 <sup>5</sup> Filament limited to intermittent operation.
 <sup>6</sup> Values are for two tubes in push-pull. <sup>7</sup>Max.-signal value.

 8 Peak grid-to-grid a.f. volts.
 9 Forced-air cooling required.

 10 Average volue.
 11 Two tubes triode connected, G2 to G1 through 20K Ω, Input to G2.

#### TABLE XVIII-KLYSTRONS

Туре	Freq. Range-Mc.	Ca	thode	Bose		Beam	Beam	Beam	Control-			R.F. Driving	1
		Volts	Amp.	Connec- tions	Typical Operation	Volts	Ma. (Max.)	Watts (Max.)	Electrode Volts	Reflector Volts	Cathode Ma.	Power Watts 1	Output Watts
2K22	4240-4910	6.3	0.44		Reflex Oscillator	300				-120/-180			
2K25/ 723A-B	8702-9548	6.3	0.44	Fig. 60	Reflex Oscillator	300	32			-130/-185	25		0.75-0.115
2K26	6250-7060	6.3	0.50	Fig. 60	Reflex Oscillator	300	25			151 100			
2K28 5	1200-3750	6.3	0.65	Fig. 61	Reflex Oscillator	300 7	45		300	-65/-120			0.120
2K29	3400-3960	6.3	0.44		Reflex Oscillotor	300	45		300	-155/-290	30		0.140
2K33	23500-24500	6.3	0.65	Fig. 62	Reflex Oscillator	1800 7	-			-75/-180			0.85-0.106
2K34	2730-3330	6.3	1.6	Fig. 58	Oscillator-Buffer *	1900			-20/-100	-80/-220	6	—	0.04
2K35	2730-3330	6.3	1.6	Fig. 58	Coscade Amplifier *		150	450	-45		75		10-14
2K 39 3	7500-10300	6.3	1.3	Fig. 59		1500	150	450	0		75	0.005	5
2K41	2660-3310	6.3	1.3		Reflex Oscillotor *	1000	60	75	0,	-660	30		0.46
2K42 3	3300-4200	6.3		Fig. 59	Reflex Oscillator *	1000	60	75	+24	-510	60		0.75
2K43 3	4200-5700	6.3	1.3	Fig. 59	Reflex Oscillator*	1000	60	75	0	-650	45		0.75
2K44 3	5700-7500		1.3	Fig. 59	Reflex Oscillator *	1000	60	75	0	-320	40		0.8
		6.3	1.3	Fig. 59	Reflex Oscillator *	1000	60	75	0	-700	43		0.9
2K45	8500-9660	6.3	0.762		Reflex Oscillator	300				-95/-145			0.02-0.032
2K46	2730-3330 1 8190-10000 2	6.3	1.3	Fig. 58	Frequency Multiplier *	1500	60	60	90		30	0.01/0.07	0.02-0.032
2K47	250-280 <sup>1</sup> 2250-3360 <sup>2</sup>	6.3	1.3	Fig. 58	Frequency Multiplier *	1000	60	60	-35		50	3,5	0.15
2K48	6900-10850	6.3	0.515		Reflex Oscillotor	1250				-175/-300			
2K 56	3840-4460	6.3	5.0	Fig. 60	Reflex Oscillator	300	25						0.025
3K213	2300-2725	6.3	1.6	Fig. 58	Oscillator-Amplifier *	2000	150	450		- 85/- 150			0.090
3K22 3	3320-4000	6.3	1.6	Fig. 58	Oscillator-Amplifier *	2000	150		0		125	1-3	10-20
3K23 i	950-1150	6.3	1.6	Fig. 59	Reflex Oscillotor *	1000		450	0		125	1-3	10-20
K27 3	750-960	6.3	1.6	Fig. 59	Reflex Oscillator *		90	80	0	-300	70		1-2
K30						1000	90	80	0	- 300	70		1-2
410R)3 5BL6	2700-3300	6.3	1.6	Fig. 58	Oscillator • Amplifier *	2000	150	450	0		125	1-3	10-20
	1230-0000				Reflex Oscillotor	350			+ 1	0/-400	25		

<b>T</b>	En Dans Ma	Col	thode	Base			Beem	Becau	Control-	Reflector	Cothode	R.F. Driving	
Туре	Freq. Range-Mc.	Volts	Amp.	Connec- tions	Typicol Operation	Beam Volts	Ma. (Max.)	Wotts (Mox.)	Electrode Volts	Volts	Mo.	Power Watts 1	Output Wotts
6BM6	550-3000	—	<u> </u>		Reflex Oscillator	350			+ 1	0/-600	20		
707B 5	1200-3750	6.3	0.65	Fig. 61	Reflex Oscillator	300 7	45		300	-155/-290	30		0.140
SD1103	1250-6000				Reflex Oscillator	350			+10	0/-400	25		0.140
SD1104	550-3000				Reflex Oscillator	350			+10	0/-600	22		
QK140	29700-33520	6.3	0.65		Reflex Oscillotor	2250			-20/-250	-50/-200			0.01-0.02
QK159	2950-3275	6.3	0.65	Fig. 63	Reflex Oscillator	300	45		300	-100/-175	20		0.150
QK226	37100-42600	6.3	0.65		Reflex Oscillator	2500			-20/-200	-50/-200			0.005
QK227	41700-50000	6.3	0.65	_	Reflex Oscillator	3000			- 20/-200	-50/-200	=		
QK289	27270-30000	6.3	0.65	_	Reflex Oscillator	2250			-20/-250	-50/-200			0,005
QK290	29700-33520	6.3	0.65		Reflex Oscillator	2250			-20/-250	-50/-200			0.01-0.02
QK291	33520-36250	6.3	0.65		Reflex Oscillator	2250			-20/-250	-50/-200			0.01-0.02
QK292	35100-39700	6.3	0.65		Reflex Oscillator	2500			-20/-200	-\$0/-200			.005018
QK293	37100-42600	6.3	0.65		Reflex Osciliator	2500			-20/-200				.00501
QK294	41700-50000	6.3	0.65	<b>—</b>	Reflex Oscillator	3000	=		-20/-200	-50/-200			.005
QK295	50000-60000	6.3	0.65		Reflex Oscillator 8	3500				-50/-200			.005
QK306	18000-22000	6.3	0.65		Reflex Oscillator	1800			- 20/-200	-50/-200			
RK726C	2700-2960	6.3	0.44		Reflex Oscillator	300			-20/-100	-80/-220			.0104
RK5721	3500-12000	6.3	0.58							-75/-135			0.085-0.1
RK5976	6250-7460				Reflex Oscillator	1000			+4/+18	-60/-625			0.1 0.125
		6.3	0.44		Reflex Oscillotor	300				-78/-158			0.85-0.11
RK5981	1245-1460	6.3	0.455		Reflex Oscillator	225	_ <u> </u>			-30/-330			0.04-0.1
RK6043	2950-3275	6.3	0.65		Reflex Oscillator	300		-	+300	-100/-175			0.15-0.175
RK6115	5100-5900	6.3	0.44		Reflex Oscillotor	300				-115/-175			0.07-0.1
Z-668	21900-26100				Reflex Oscillator *	1700		15		-1700/-2300			0.02
5836	1250-6000				Reflex Oscillator	350			+ 10	0/-400	25		
5837	550-3000	—	-	-	Reflex Oscillator	350			+10	0/-600	22		

#### TABLE XVIII-KLYSTRONS-Continued

<sup>1</sup> Input frequency. <sup>2</sup> Output frequency.

<sup>‡</sup>Tuner required. <sup>4</sup>At max. ratings.

<sup>5</sup>Has demountable tuning cavity. <sup>6</sup>Cathode current specified on each tube.

<sup>7</sup> G2 and G3 voltage.
 <sup>8</sup> Two tubes to cover range.
 \* Forced-air cooling required,

#### TABLE XIX-CAVITY MAGNETRONS

		Band ar	He	ater		Maxi	mum Ra	tings		Ty	pical Op	eratian		
Туре	Class	Range Mc.	Volts	Amps.	Anode KV.	Anode Amps.	Duty Cycle	Input Watts	Anode KV.	Anade Amps.	Field Gauss	Pulse <sup>µ</sup> Sec.	P.P.S.	Peal Pwr Outpo KW
K2J22	1	3267-3333	6.3	1.5	22.0	30.0	.002	600	20.0	30.0	2250	1.0	1000	265
K2J23	1	3071-3100	6.3	1.5	22.0	30.0	.002	600	20.0	30.0	2400	1.0	1000	275
K2J24	1	3047-3071	6.3	1.5	22.0	30.0	.002	600	20.0	30.0	2400	1.0	1000	275
K2J25 K2J26	1	3019-3047	6.3	1.5	22.0	30.0	.002	600	20.0	30.0	2400	1.0	1000	275
K2J27	1	2992-3019 2965-2992	6.3 6.3	1.5	22.0	30.0	.002	600	20.0	30.0 30.0	2400 2400	1.0 1.0	1000	275
K2J28	1	2939-2965	6.3	1.5	22.0	30.0 30.0	.002	600 600	20.0	30.0	2400	1.0	1000	275
K2J29	1	2914-2939	6.3	1.5	22.0	30.0	.002	600	20.0	30.0	2400	1.0	1000	275
K2J30	1	2860-2900	6.3	1.5	22.0	30.0	.002	600	20.0	30.0	1900	1.0	1000	285
K2J31	1	2820-2860	6.3	1.5	22.0	30.0	.002	600	20.0	30.0	1900	1.0	1000	285
K2J32	1	2780-2820	6.3	1.5	22.0	30.0	.002	600	20.0	30.0	1900	1.0	1000	285
K2J33 K2J34	1	2740-2780	6.3	1.5	22.0	30.0	.002	600	20.0	30.0	1900	1.0	1000	285
K2J34 K2J36	1	2700-2740 9003-9168	6.3	1.5	22.0	30.0	.002	600	20.0	30.0	1900	1.0	1000	285
K2J38	1	3249-3263	6.3 6.3	1.3	13.5 6.0	12.0 8.0	.002	200	11.5 4.9	10.0 3.0	2500 Pkg.	1.0	2000	5.
K2J39	1	3267-3333	6.3	1.25	6.0	8.0	.002	200	5.4	5.0	Pkg.	1.0	2000	8.
J42	1	9345-9405	6.3	0.5	5.7	6.5	.001				4800	2.5		14
J42A	. 1	9345-9405	6.3	0.5	8.0	7.0	.001				6500	2.5		35
K2J48	1	9310-9320	6.3	1.0	16.0	16.0	.002	230	12.0	12.0	4850	1.0	1000	50
K2J49	1	9000-9160	6.3	1.0	16.0	16.0	.0012	180	12.0	12.0	5400	1.0	1000	58.
K2J50	1	8740-8890	6.3	1.0	16.0	16.0	.0012	180	12.0	12.0	5400	1.0	1000	58
K2J51 K2J54	2	8500-9600	6.3	1.1	16	16	.0012	230	15	14	Pkg.	1.0	1000	45
K2J54	1	3123-3259 9345-9405	6.3 6.3	1.5	14.0	15.0	.002	250	11.6	12.5	1400	1.0	2000	45.
K2J56	1	9215-9275	6.3	1.0	16.0 16.0	16.0 16.0	.001 .001	180 180	12.8	12.0 12.0	Pkg. Pkg.	1.0 1.0	1000	50. 50.
K2J58	2	2992-3100	6.3	1.5	22.0	15.0	.002	600	10.5	12.5	1450	1.0	2000	50.
K2J61A	2	3000-3100	6.3	1.5	15.0	15.0	.002	250	10.7	12.5	1300	1.0	2000	35.
K2J62A	2	2914-3010	6.3	1.5	15.0	15.0	.002	250	10.2	12.5	1300	1.0	2000	35.
K2J66	2	2845-2905	6.3	1.5	20.0	25.0	.001	400	18.0	25.0	1700	1.0	1000	150
K2J67	2	2795-2855	6.3	1.5	20.0	25.0	.001	400	18.0	25.0	1700	1.0	1000	150
K2J68	2	2745-2805	- 6.3	1.5	20.0	25.0	.001	400	18.0	25.0	1700	1.0	1000	150
K2J69 K2J70	1	2695-2755 3030-3110	6.3	1.5	20.0	25.0	.001	400	18.0	25.0	1700	1.0	1000	150
K2J71	1	3190-3201	6.3 6.3	1.25	7.5	15 8	.002	200	7	8	Pkg. Pkg.	0.5	1000	20
131	1	23744-24224	6.0	1.25	15.0	14.0	.0002				7600	1.0	2000	54
K4J31	1	2860-2900	16.0	3.1	30.0	70.0	.001	1200	28.0	70.0	2700	1.0	400	900
K4J32	1	2820-2860	16.0	3.1	30.0	70.0	.001	1200	28.0	70.0	2700	1.0	400	900
K4J33	1	2780-2820	16.0	3.1	30.0	70.0	.001	1200	28.0	70.0	2700	1.0	400	900
K4J34	1	2740-2780	16.0	3.1	30.0	70.0	.001	1200	28.0	70.0	2700	1.0	400	900
K4J35	1	2700-2740	16.0	3.1	30.0	70.0	.001	1200	28.0	70.0	2700	1.0	400	900
K4J36	1	3650-3700	16.0	3.1	30.0	70.0	.001	1200	28.0	70.0	2500	1.0	400	750
K4J37 K4J38	1	3600-3650 3550-3600	16.0 16.0	3.1	30.0 30.0	70.0 70.0	.001	1200	28.0	70.0	2500	1.0	400	750
K4J39	1	3500-3550	16.0	3.1	30.0	70.0	.001	1200	28.0 28.0	70.0 70.0	2500 2500	1.0	400	750
K4J40	1	3450-3500	16.0	3.1	30.0	70.0	.001	1200	28.0	70.0	2500	1.0	400	750
K4J41	1	3400-3450	16.0	3,1	30.0	70.0	.001	1200	28.0	70.0	2500	1.0	400	750
K4J43	1	2992-3019	16.0	3.1	30.0	70.0	.001	1200	28.0	70.0	2700	1.0	400	900
K4J44	1	2965-2992	16.0	3.1	30.0	70.0	.001	1200	28.0	70.0	2700	1.0	400	900
150	1	9345-9405	13.6	3.5	23.0	27.5	.004		—		6300	0.5		300
152	1	9345-9405	12.6	1.9	16.0	15.0	.002				5000	6.0		120
K4J53 K4J54	1	2793-2813 6875-6775	16.0 12.6	3.1 3.75	30.0	70.0 35.0	.001 .001	1200 650	28.0	70.0	2700	1.0	400	900
K4J55	1	6775-6675	12.6	3.75	25.0	35.0	.001	650	17.5 17.5	30.0 30.0	Pkg. Pkg.	1.0 1.0	1000 1000	200
K4J56	1	6675-6575	12.6	3,75	25.0	35.0	.001	650	17.5	30.0	Pkg.	1.0	1000	200
K4J57	1	6575-6475	12.6	3.75	25.0	35.0	.001	650	17.5	30.0	Pkg.	1.0	1000	200
(4J58	1	6475-6375	12.6	3.75	25.0	35.0	.001	650	17.5	30.0	Pkg.	1.0	1000	200
(4J59	1	6375-6275	12.6	3.75	25.0	35.0	.001	650	17.5	30.0	Pkg.	1.0	1000	200
78	1	9003-9168	13.6	3.5	23.0	27.5	.004	—	—		6300	0.5		300
(5J26	2	1220-1350	23.5	2.2	31.0	60.0	.002	1800	27.5	46.0	1400	4.0	225	400
(725A	1	9345-9405	6.3	1.0	16.0	16.0	.001	180	12.0	12.0	5400	1.0	1000	50.
K730A	1	9345-9405	6.3	1.1	16.0	16.0	.001	180	13.0	12.0	5400	1.0	1000	40.
K5586	2	2700-2900 2425-2475	16.0	3.1 3.8	30.0	70.0	.001 CW	1200	28.0	70.0	2700 Pka	1,0	400	900
K5609 K5657	2	2425-2475	6.3 16.0	3.8	1.7 32.5	0.15 70.0	C W	1300	1.5 32.5	0.15 70.0	Pkg. 2700	1.0	500	0.12
K5982	- 1	9335-9415	6.3	3.2	15.5	14.5	.001	225	15.5	13.4	2700 Pkg.	4.5	500 200	800
K174C	3	1990-2110	4.0	3.1	2.2	0,18	-	198	1.85	0.15	Pkg.			0.0
K312	4	2425-2475	8,5	3.2	7.0	2.5	CW	3600	5.1	0.56	Pkg.	cw.	cw.	1

#### TABLE XX-TRANSISTORS

		1	Max	imum R	atings		1	Charac	teristics						Турі	cal Operat	ion		_	
No.	Tunn		Collector	,	Emit	tter	Current	Coll.	Emitter	Base	-			1	Input	Output	Power	Noise		Power
NQ,	Туре	Diss. M. Watt	Ma.	Volts	Diss. M. Watts	Ma.	Amp. Factor	<b>R</b> . ΚΩ	<b>R.</b> Ω	<b>R</b> . Ω	Use	Collector Ma.	Collector Volts	Emitter Ma.	Resistance Ohms	Load R. Ohms	Gain Db.	Figure Db.	Base Ma.	Output M. Watts
2A	PtCont.	120	8	50			2				General		-10	1.0	800	15K	20			-
28	PtCont.	120	8	50			2				General	-	-10	1.0	800	15K			—	-
2C	PtCont.	100	8	50	—		2				Switching	4.0	0/-2	3.0						-
2D	PtCont.	100	8	50			2				General	1.0	-15	0						
2E	PtCont.	100	8	50			2				General	1.0	-15	0	500	10K	20			
2F	PtCont.	120	8	100		<u> </u>	2				Switching	5.0	0/-1.2	3.0						
2G	PtCont.	120	8	100			2				Switching	5.0	0/-1.2	3.0						
2N32	PtCont.	50	8	40	-	3	2.2				Pulse or Switching		-25	0.5	400	31K	21	—		
2N33	PtCont.	30	7	8.5		0.8			—		Oscillator 50 Mc.	3.3	- 8	0.3		—		—		1.0
2N34	Jct. PNP	50	8	25		8.0	0.98		—		General	10	- 6	1.0		—	40		0.25	
2N35	Jct. NPN	50	8	25		8.0	0.98				General	10	6	1.0			40		0.25	
2N36	Jct. PNP	50	8	20			45				General		- 6.0	1.0	1000	30K	40		0.01	
2N37	Jct. PNP	50	8	20		-	30				General		- 6.0	1.0	1000	30K	36		0.02	
2N38	Jct. PNP	50	8	20	—		15				General		- 6.0	1.0	1000	30K	32		0.05	
A1698	PtCont.	120	15	100		15.0			-	200	Switching									
CK716	PtCont.	100	4	40		10.0	2.5				General	1.5	- 10	0.5	250	15K	18	45		3.0
CK721	JctPNP	30	5	20		5.0	40				General	2.0	- 3			1250	38	22	0.3	2.8
CK722	Jct. PNP	30	5	20		5.0	12		-		General	0,5	- 1.5				30	22	0.2	
G-11	PtCont.	100	7	30		3.0	2,2			200	Amp. Oscillator				475	20K	17	57		
G-11A	PtCont.	100	7	30	—	3.0	2.2		—	500	Switching		-15	1.0	800	20K			—	
M1689	PtCont.	80	40	50		40.0					Switching				800	10K				
M1725	PtCont.	200	20	50		15.0	2.1			115	Audio and Carrier	4.0	- 5	1.5	195	8K	18	48		4.5
M1729	PtCont.	200	20	50		15.0	2.5			75	Audio and Carrier	5/7	30	1/2	190	15K	20/18	54		50.0
M1752	Jct. PNP	50	5	50		5.0	0.98		—	240	General				25	13K				
OC50	PtCont.	120	25	30	25						Amp. Oscillator		- 5	1.5	155	6800		43		—
0051	PtCont.	120	15	100	—	15	2.5				Switching	1.6	-40	0	350	26K				
PT-2A	PtCont.	100	10	40		5	1.5	10	300	500	Audio Amplifier		30	1.0	300	20K	19	57		
PT-25	PtCont.	100	10	40	—	5	2.0			500	Switching		30	1.0						
R1734	PtCont.	120									Switching									
RD2517	Jct. NPN	50	5	30			0.93	100	35	500	Audio and R.F.		4.5	1.0		4500	32	22		1.9
RD2520	Jct. NPN	50,	5	40			0.95	500	35	100	Audio and R.F.		4.5	1.0	—	4500	34	22		2.0
RD2521	Jct. NPN	50	10	40		10.0	0.975	300	30	100	Amp. Oscillator		4,5	1.0			37	22		
RD2525	Jct. NPN	25	5	25			125	200	35	500	Amp. Oscillator		4,5		—	4500	42	22		1.9
RR-14	Jct. PNP	50	5	25		—	25	700	30	270	Audio Amplifier	0.5	- 1.5				36	22		
RR-20	Jct. PNP	50	5	25			40	700	30	270	Audio Amplifier	0.5	- 1.5				40	22		
RR-21	Jct. PNP	50	5	25			25				Audio Amplifier	3.0	-15.0			5000				20
RR-34	Jct. PNP	30	5	20			10	500	30	270	Audio Amplifier	0.5	- 1.5	1.0		30K	30			
T-21A	PtCont.	50	5	30	20	5	0.95	500	50	500	General	1.0	- 4.5	1.0	500	30K	38	25		
A-161B	PtCont.	140	-				2			120	General	3.0	-20	1.5	300	15K	22	55		50.0
[P-01	PtCont.	100		35			2				General		-22.5	0.3/0.8	400	10K	18			
X-22	Jct. NPN	50	5	40		-	0.90		—		Audio Switching	—	4.5	1.0	35			_	_	
X-23	Jct. NPN	50 -	5	40			0.95			-	Audio Switching		4.5	1.0	35					

V64

Туре	Use	Max. Inverse Volts	Peak Rectif'd Ma,	Max. Surge Ma.	Max. Reverse μ-Amp.	Mox. Average Ma.	Туре	Use	Mox. Inverse Volts	Peak Rectif'd Ma.	Max. Surge Mo.	Mox. Reverse μ-Amp.	Max. Average Ma.
1N34 1N34A	General	60	150	500	50 @ 10 V. 800 @ 50 V	40	1N58 1N58A	100-Volt Diode	100	150	500	800 @ 100 V.	40
1N35	1	50	60	100	10 @ 10 V.	22.5	1N60	Vid. Det.	25	150	500	30@1.5	50
1N38 1N38A	100-Volt Diode	100	150	500	6 @ 3 V. 625 @ 100 V.	40	1N61	Diode	130	150	500	300 @ 100 V.	40
1N39	200-Volt Diode	200	150	500	200 @ 100 V. 800 @ 200 V.	40	1N63 G5E3	Generol	125	150	400	50 @ 50 V.	50
1N40 <sup>2</sup>	Varistor	25	60	100	50@10V.	22.5	1N641 G5F3	Vid. Det.	20	-	-	—	-
1N4 12	Varistor	25	60	100	50@ 10 V.	22.5	1N65 G5G3	Hi Back Resistance	85	150	400	200 @ 50 V.	50
1N42²	Varistor	50	60	100	6 @ 3 V. 625 @ 100 V.	22.5	1N66 <sup>2</sup>	General	60	150	500	800 @ 50 V.	50
1N43	Varistor	604	125	500	850 @ 50 V.	40	1N67	Hi Back Resistance	80	100	500	50 @ 50 V.	35
1N44	Varistor	1154	100	400	1000 @ 50 V.	. 40	1N68	Restorer	100	100	500	625 @ 100 V.	35
1N45	Varistor	754	100	400	410@ 50 V.	40	1N69	General	75	125	400	850 @ 50 V.	40
1N46	Varistor	604	125	500	1500 @ 50 V	. 40	1N70	Generol	125	90	350	410 @ 50 V.	30
1N47	Varistor	1154	90	350	410 @ 50 V.	30	1N7 12	Varistor	504	200	1000	300 @ 30 V.	60
1N48 G5 <sup>3</sup>	Generol	85	150	400	833 @ 50 V.	50	1N72 G73	U.H.F.	2	75	_	_	25
1N51 G5C3	Generol	50	100	300	1667 @ 50 V	. 25	1N732	Quad	75	60	100	50 @ 10 V.	22.5
1N52 G5D3	General	85	150	400	150 @ 50 V.	50	1N742	Quad	75	60	100		22.5
	htt Barah						1N75	General	125	150	400	50@ 50 V.	50
1N54 1N54A	Hi Back Resistance	35	150	500	10@10V.	40	CK705	General	60	150	500	800 @ 50 V.	50
1N55 1N55A	150-Volt Diode	150	150	500	300 @ 100 V. 800 @ 150 V.		CK706	Vid, Det.1	40	125	300	-	35
1N56	Hi-Con-			1000		-	CK707	Restorer	80	100	500	100 @ 50 V.	35
1N56A	duction	40	200	1000	300 @ 30 V.	50	CK708	Restorer	100	100	500	625 @ 100 V.	35
1N57	Diode	80	150	500	500 @ 75 V.	40	CK710	U.H.F. Mix.	5	75	-	500 @ 2 V.	25

TABLE XXI - GERMANIUM C	CRYSTAL	DIODES
-------------------------	---------	--------

---

Ratings given are for individual diodes. Average life is over 10,000 hours. Ambient temperature range for all types - 50° C. to + 75° C. Average shunt capacitance - 0.8 µ/fd. Units with A suffix are glass types. <sup>1</sup> Matched dual diode. <sup>2</sup> Unit has four matched diodes. <sup>3</sup>G.E. designation.

<sup>4</sup> Min. reverse volts for zero dynamic resistance.

Max. D.C. Output Ma. Max. A.C. Valts Max. R.M.S. Peak Peak Rectifier Monufacturer Type Number Inverse Valts Current Service Ma. Ma. Federol Telephone and Radio Corporation Holf-Wave 50 402D3200 117 380 \_ \_ 402D2788 # 402D3150A 220 75 Half-Wave 117 380 900 ., 40302625 •• 117 380 1200 325 100 Half-Wave 403D2625A 100 Half-Wave ... 40203151 18 \_ \_ \_ ... 160 \_\_\_\_ 75 Doubler 402D3239A \_ \_ 100 Doubler .. 403D3240A 160 \_ 163 65 Half-Wave 650 General Electric Co. 6RS5GH2 117 380 75 Half-Wave ... 6RS5GH1 117 380 750 187 Radia Receptor Company, Inc. 75 Half-Wave 5L 1 117 380 \_ ----Half-Wave 100 .. 5M1 117 380 \_ \_ # Circular plates—discontinued.

#### TABLE XXII - MINIATURE SELENIUM RECTIFIERS

# Jhe Catalog Section

☆

 $\frac{1}{2}$ 

\*

★

In the following pages is a catalog file of products of the principal manufacturers and the principal distributors who serve the radio field: industrial, commercial, amateur. All firms whose advertising has been accepted for this section have met The American Radio Relay League's rigid standards for established integrity; their products and engineering methods have received the League's approval.

★

## 31st EDITION 1954

## **INDEX OF ADVERTISERS ★** CATALOG SECTION **★**

The Radio Amateur's Handbook

	-g-
Allied Radio Corp	108 124 139
Bliley Electric Co Brill Co., W. D Bud Radio, Inc	134 96 168
Candler System Co Cannon Electric Co Cardwell Mfg. Corp., The Allen D Centralab	177
Dale Electronic Distributors	115
Electric Soldering Iron Co., Inc Electronic Instrument Co., Inc Electrons, Inc Electro-Voice, Inc	101 102 143 118 135 127
Fort Orange Radio Distributing Co., Inc. 112, Freed Transformer Co	113 82
Gates Radio Co General Electric Co79–81, General Radio Co	45 , 95 141
Henry Radio Stores	-91 153 105 -44 172
	147 140

ł	age
International Rectifier Corp	148 -87
Johnson Co., E. F	-51
Knights Co., The James	161
Lampkin Laboratories, Inc LaPointe Electronics	119 120
Macmillan Co., The	133 167
National Company, Inc. National Schools Newark Electric Co.	3-7 171 125
Ohmite Manufacturing Co	151
Par-Metal Products Corp110, Precise Measurements Co Precision Apparatus Co., Inc Price Electric Corp	111 173 122 174
Radio Corporation of America	, 93 123
Shure Brothers, Inc. Shurite Meters. Sprague Products Co. Superior Instruments Co. Supreme, Inc.	152 166 157 169 158
Terminal Radio Corp Times Facsimile Corp Triplett Electrical Instrument Co., Inc Turner Co., The	121 142 136 146
United Transformer Co	137
Van Nostrand Co., D., Inc Valpey Crystal Corp Vibroplex Co., Inc	178 150 160
Woterman Products Co., Inc.       106,         Wile, Eugene G.       Wincharger Corp.         Wincharger Corp.       Wind Turbine Co.         World Rodio Loborotories, Inc.       World Rodio Loborotories, Inc.	107 170 33 128 117

# We're "expecting"...

You'll notice that bur parts catalog in this edition of the handbook is not as extensive as in previous years. The reason is that we're hard at work designing new and exciting additions to our components line.

The components you will find on the following pages are so popular any changes in design would be "gilding the lily".

CHAIC

3

Inc.

OMPA

#### NC-88

#### \$129.95\*

THE ALL NEW

World Master

8 Big Features No Comparable Receiver Can Offer!



No other receiver at anywhere near the low price offers you these eight "high-priced" features: (1) Calibrated bandspread for 80, 40, 20, 15 and 11 meter bands (large 6" indirectly-lighted lucite scales). (2) Delayed A.V.C. (3) Higher sensitivity. (4) New miniature tubes used exclusively. (5) Antenna trimmer. (6) Better selectivity. (7) An extra tube (total of eight plus rect.). (8) More compact.

Other wanted features include: Range of 540 kcs. to 40 mcs. in 4 bands. Tuned R.F. stage. Two I.F. stages, 2 audio stages with phono input and 2-position tone control. Built-in-speaker. Separate high frequency oscillator. Sensitivity control. Series valve noise limiter. Headphone jack. Standby-receive switch.

**CONTROLS:** Ant. trimmer, main tuning, bandspread, sensitivity, receivestandby, band selector, ANL-OFF, tone, AM-CW, pitch, vol.-A.C. OFF.

**TUBE COMPLEMENT:** 6BA6, r.f.; 6BE6, mixer; 6C4, h.f. osc.; 6BD6, 1st i.f.; 6BD6, 2nd i.f.; 6AL5, 2nd det., AGC, ANL: 12AX7, 1st aud. and c.w. osc.; 6AQ5, aud. output; 5Y3/GT rect.



#### HRO- Sinty \$533.50\* (less speaker)

### Greatest Tuning Range and Best Sensitivity of Any Commercial Receiver!

COVERAGE: 50-430 ke, 480 ke-35 me. And 50-54 me. Voice, CW, NFM (with adapter).

FEATURES: Edge-lighted, direct frequency-reading scale with one range in view at a time, 3 LF, stages at 456 kes, employing 12 permeability-tuned circuits on all bands plus one L.F. stage at 2010 kes, on all frequencies above 7 mes. Switching is done automatically when coil set is plugged in, Built-in, isolated heavy-duty power supply. Sensitivity of 1 my, or better at 6 db, sig, noise, Selectivity variable from 8 kc, overall to app. 1200 eps. at 40 db, Currentregulated high frequency oscillator and second converter heaters. Voltage-regulated high frequency oscillator and 8-meter amplifier. Negl gible drift after warm-up. Micrometer dial for logging. Provision for crystal calibrator unit. Variable ant, trimmer, Lively S-meter, Min, tubes in front end and high freq, ose, Ose, circuits not disabled when receiver in send position. High-fidelity push-pull audio (  $\pm~$  2db 50 15,000 cps.) with phono jack, BFO switch separated from BFO freq. control. Illumination dimmer control. Accessory socket



for Select-O-Ject, Smooth gray finish (table and rack).

CONTROLS: Bandswitch, Oscillator, Tone, Ant. Trimmer, Dimmer, AVC, Limiter, AF Gain, Calif-ration. CWO, Phasing, Selectivity, On-Off, RF gain, AM-NFM-PHONO.

TUBE COMPLEMENT: 6BA6, 1st r.f.; 6BA6, 2nd r.f.; 6BE6; mixer; 6C4 h.f. oscillator; 6BE6, 2nd high-frequency conv.; 68G7, 1st i.f.; 68G7, 2nd i.f.; 68G7, 3rd i.f.; 6H6 det. & AVC, 6H6, ANL; 68J7, 1st audio, 68N7, phase splitter and S-meter amp.: 6V6GT (2) p.p. audio; 5V4G, rect.; 6SJ7, BFO; OB2, volt reg. 4114 Osc. Fil. Cur. Reg.



### NC-183D

#### \$383.50\* (less speaker)

'Highest Price' Features Yet Almost \$120 Less! COVERAGE: Continuous from 540 kes, to 31 mes, plus 48 to 56 mes. for 6-meter reception.

to so mes, for 6-meter reception, **FEATURES:** Two tuned R.F. stages. Dual conversion on 3 highest bands. Vo rage regulated osc, and BFO. Main tuning dual covers range in five bands. Bandspread dial calibrated for anateur 80, 40, 20, 15, 11–10 and 6-meter bands. Band-spread usable over entire range, Six-position crystal filter, New-type noise limiter. High fidelity push-pull andio. Ac-cessory socket for NFM adaptor or other unit, such as crystal calibrator. **COMPROJ.** CONSTRUCT Comp. A P.Comp. Main.

CONTROLS: CWO, Switch, CWO pitch, Tone, AF Gain, Main Tuning, Bandsprend, Ant, Trinnner, Bandswitch, Send-Receive Phono-Radio, Selectivity, Phasing, Limiter, RF Gain, **TUBE COMPLEMENT:** 6B3.6, 1-st r.f.; 6B3.6, 2nd r.f.; 2-6BE6 first and second converter; 3-6B3.6 [LF,; 1-6AL5 second det, AVC; 1-6AH6, AVC amplifier; 1-6SJ7, e.w. osc; 1-6AL5, limiter; 1-6SJ7 first and/o; 1-6J5, phase inverter; 2-6V66T, audio output: 1-0B2, voltage reg.; 1-5U4G, rect.

#### NC-125 \$199.95\* (less speaker)

The Only Receiver With the Famous Select-O-Ject Circuit — Yet Moderately Priced! COVERAGE: 560 kes, to 35 me, in 4 bands, Voice or CW.

FEATURES: Edge-lighted direct-reading scale with amateur, police, foreign, ship frequencies clearly marked. Sensational National Solect-O-lect built-in, Exceptional sensitivity on all bands, S-meter reads 89 to 50 mv, signal, AVC, ANL, jack for phono or NFM adaptor, volt, reg., stabilized osc., audio essentially flat to 10,000 c.p.s.

essentially flat to 10,000 c.p.s. **CONTROLS:** Main Tuning, Bandspread, Freq. (SOJ) Boost (SOJ), Send-Receive, Pitch, CWO-MVC-AVC-AVL, AF Gain, Tome, Trinmer, Bandswitch, RF Gain, **TUBE COMPLEMENT:** 6SG7 RF amp., 6SB7-Y osc.-mixer, 6SG7 1st 1F, 6SG7 2nd 1F, 6H6 2nd det-AVC-ANL, 6SL7GT Ist and-CWO, 6V6GT and, output, OD3 VR-150 volt, reg., 5Y3GT rect.

\*Slightly higher west of the Rockies



#### SHERMAN STREET, MALDEN, MASS. 61



#### **COIL FORMS**



**XR-50.** These mica-filled bakelite coll forms may be wound as desired to provide a permeability tuned coil. The form winding length is 11/16'' and the form winding diameter is  $\frac{1}{2}$  inch. The iron slug is  $\frac{3}{4}''$  dia. by  $\frac{1}{2}''$  long.

XR-51. same but with brass slug.

High-grade ceramic coil forms conforming to JAN specifications. May be wound as desired to provide a permeability-uned coil. Extra lugs provided.

- XE-6C Grooved for #26 wire with iron s'ug.
- XR-61 Crooved for #26 wire with brass slug.
- XE-62 Not grooved, winding length 11/4" with iron slug.
- XR-63 Not grooved, winding length 1¼" with brass slug.
- XR-7C Grooved for #19 wire with iron slug.
- XR-71 Grooved for #19 wire with brass slug.
- XR-72 Not grooved, winding length 1" with iron slug.
- XR-73 Not grooved, winding length 1" with brass slug.



-1 1/32"-

Small ceramic coil forms designed primarily for high frequency applications and conforming to government specifications. Call form is Grade L4 ceramic (JAN 1-10); base is silver-plated brass; core is brass or iron. Supplied with two nylon rings to separate coils if more than one is wound on same form. Small holes in rings can be used to secure leads.

"A" DIM.

11/4"

11/4"

1 3/4 "

1 3/4 "

11/4"

11/4 "

1 3/4 "

1 3/4 "

"8" DIM.

17/64"

17/64"

17/64"

17/64"

3/8 "

3/8 "

3/8 "

3/8 "

SPP-9

SPP-3

12

#### SAFETY GRID AND PLATE CAPS

**SPP-9**, Ceramic insulation. Fits 9/16" diameter.

**SPP-3.** Ceramic insulation. Fits  $\frac{3}{4}$ " diameter. National Safety Grid and Plate Caps have a ceramic body which offers protection against accidental contact with high voltage caps on tubes.



**Type 12,** for 9/16'' Caps. **Type 24,** for 35'' Caps.

Type 8, for 1/4" Caps.

National Grid and Plate Grips provide a secure and positive contact with the tube cap and yet are released easily by a slight pressure on the ear.



World Radio History





COUPLINGS

**TX-9.** This small insulated flexible coupling provides high electrical efficiency when used to isolate circuits. Insulation is steatite.  $1\frac{3}{6}$ " diam. Fits  $\frac{1}{4}$ " shaft.

**TX-10.** A very compact insulated coupling free from backlash. Insulation is canvas bakelite. 1-1/16'' diam. Fits  $\frac{1}{4}''$  shaft.

**TX-19.** A steatite insulated flexible coupling for  ${}^{1}_{4}g''$  shafts. Conservatively rated at 5000 volts peak. Drameter 1.3 s'', length 1", Length and flashover voltage can be increased by turning collars outboard.

**TX-23.** A deluxe insulated flexible coupling designed for coupling  $\frac{1}{4}$ " shafts, Will handle a maximum radial misalignment of 1/16" also 2 degrees maximum angular misalignment.

6






PRECISION-WOUND R.F. CHOKES



R-100 R-100U R-1005 R-1005T

These RF chokes are identical electrically, but differ in mounting provisions. The R-100 employs pigtail leads; the R-100U has pigtail leads and a removable stand-off insulator; the R-100S has cotter-pin lug terminals and a non-removable stand-off insulator; the R-100ST has a 6-32 threaded stud at each end. These chokes are available in 2.5, 5 and 10milliheary sizes and are rated at 125 milliamperes.



These RF chokes are similar in size to R-100 series but have higher current capacity. The R-300U is provided with a removable stand-off insulator at one end. The R-300S has a non-removable stand-off insulator and cotter-pin lug terminals. The R-300ST has a  $6{-}32$  threaded stud at ench end, Inductance values of 0.5, 1.0, 2.5 and 5.0 millihenries are available with a current rating of 300 milliamperes, R-300, R-300U, R-300ST and R-300ST are identical electrically.

DIALS, MECHANISMS AND KNOBS HRS-1 HRS-2 HRS-3 HR

**HRS** (gray or black) The HRS series knobs are a popular easy to grip knob. They are molded of high quality plastic and have 1%'' dia. chrome plated bevel skirts fit 4%'' shafts available in the following scales:

HRS-1	ON-OFF	through 30°
HRS-2	5-0-5	through 180°
HRS-3	0-10	through 300°
HRS-4	Single etched line	
HRS-5	0-10	through 180°

**HR** (gray or black) An HRS type knob without the chrome plated skirt but with a white dot for spotting relative control settings,

# CAPTIVE NUTS

National Captive Nuts of stainless steel may be pressed into aluminum and certain types of brass sheet metal to provide integral flushmounted tapped holes in a wide variety of sizes. Four basic types heve been designed for metal thicknesses of 1/16", 3/32", \k", 3/16" and \4".



R-50



**R-33.** The R-3/3 series chokes are 2section RF chokes available in 10, 50, 100 and 750 microhenry sizes. Also available in this series is a single layer solenoid choke of 1 microhenry inductance. All are rated at 100 milliamperes. The chokes are wound on a  $5_8$ " long form and range in diameter up to 5/16" maximum.

**R-50, R-50-1.** The R-50 setties chokes are 3 and 4-section RF chokes and available in 0.5, 1, 2.5, and 10 milliheury sizes. They are rated at 100 millampres. The chokes are wound on a 1" long form and have a maximum diameter of  $15/32^{\circ}$ . The 10 milliheury R-50-1 choke is wound on an iron core.

R-33

**R-152.** For use in the range between 2 and 4 Mc. Ideal for high power transmitter stages operated in the 80 meter amateur band. Inductance 4 m.h., DC resistance 10 ohms, DC carrent 600 ma. Coils boneycomb wound on steature core.



**HRT-M.** This smaller version of the HRT — now available in choice of gray or black — is 1-7/16'' in diameter.

**AM Diol.** The original "Velvet Vernier" mechanism in a metal skirted dial 3" in dia, ratio 5 to 1. It is available with 2, 3, 4, 5 or 6 scale and fits  $\frac{1}{4}$ " shaft. Mechanisms also available separately.

N Dial. The four-inch N and AD Dials have engine divided and die stamped scales respectively. The N Dial has a decimal vernier; the AD Dial employs a pointer. The planetary drive has a ratio of 5 to 1, and is contained within the body of the dial. 2, 3, 4, 5 or black scale. Fits  $\frac{1}{4}$ " shaft, **Specify scale**.



**HRM KNOB.** This straight knurl brass satin chrome finished knob with arrowhead fits  $\frac{1}{4}$ " shaft. See catalog for description.

NATIONAL COMPANY, INC., 61 SHERMAN STREET, MALDEN, MASS.



That tiny metal "spider" may change the very shape of communications in a year or so. It's a transistor, of course, the device that's hailed as the successor to the vacuum tube. And, as you would expect, Hallicrafters is among the leaders in experimentation with this remarkable electronic phenomenon.

Transistors aren't ready yet. To date it has been impossible to design them with the degree of accuracy, electronically speaking, or the sensitivity of the vacuum tube. Probably they will never completely replace tubes, anyway. In most applications their use is not justified. But where space is at a premium, where weight and power must be limited, as in the case of portable equipment or aircraft communications, they will be invaluable.

Transistor research is just one more example of a long Hallicrafters tradition. It is a tradition of engineering leadership unmatched in the field. And this is important to you as a radio amateur, because the best of Hallicrafters engineering thinking is lavished on the equipment that goes to you—our first and most important customer.

Take a look at the equipment and specifications on the succeeding pages. You'll see what we mean.

# hallicrafters engineering for tomorrow

# **Only the** all these features brings you







These Curves Tell the Story Compare with Any Other Receiver!

10

# hallicrafters SX-88 —everyone a necessity today!

- Full precision gear drive for main and band spread tuning.
- Six position Band Width Control (selectivity) from 250 cycles to 10 kc.
- 10 watt inverse feed back and push-pull audio output.
- 4. Exhalted B.F.O. for tops in single side band reception.
- 5. Buffer amplifier in B.F.O. circuit.
- 6. Antenna trimmer.
- 7. Amplified and delayed A.V.C.
- Local oscillator circuits individually temperature compensated for each band.
- 9. Built-in 100 kc calibration crystal.
- 10. Second conversion oscillators crystal controlled.
- 11. A.V.C. operates for CW reception.
- 12. Inertia tuning (fly wheels both dials),
- 13. Full frequency coverage from 535 kc to 33.3 Mc.
- Calibrated electrical bandspread 160, 80, 40, 20, 15, 11 and 10 meters.
- **55.** Logging scales on each tuning shaft.
- 16. Dial locks on each tuning shaft.
- Tuning dial indicators resettable from front panel for maximum calibration accuracy.
- 18. Auxiliary AC socket on rear of chassis.
- 19. Illuminated band-in-use indicator.
- 20. Illuminated S meter.
- 21. Dual S meter calibration S units and microvolts.
- Auxiliary power socket plus .6 amps at 6.3 volts and 10 ma at 150 volts for accessories.
- Standard 8<sup>3</sup>4" by 19" panel for rack mounting if desired.
- 24. 50 kc i f output jack via cathode follower for teletype converter, oscilliscopes, etc.
- 25. Five position response control (tone control).
- 26. Two r-f stages.
- 17 tubes plus voltage regulator, current regulators and rectifier.

## FRONT PANEL CONTROL

Main tuning. Bandspread. Band Selector 6 positions. Volume: 0-10 and AC/off. Band width in kc: 10, 5, 2<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>, 1<sup>1</sup>/<sub>4</sub>, .5 and .250 Pitch: (B.F.O.) +5-0-5. Response: Bass Boost, High Fidelity, Normal, Communications. Antenna trimmer <sup>+</sup> 5:0-5. Sensitivity 0-10.

## FRONT PANEL TOGGLE SWITCH

Noise limiter on/off. A.V.C. on/off. Calibrator on/off. Receiver standby.

C.W.-AM-SSSC (single side band suppressed carrier).

## CHASSIS REAR

Speaker terminals 3.2/8/500.600 ohms. Antenna terminals 52-600 ohms. AC Accessory socket 117 volts at 250 watts. Power socket—Octal for external power supply to receiver, such as batteries, and in addition this socket supplies 6.3 volts at 600 ma and 150 dc at 10 ma for future accessories. Audio Input—phono jack. Fuse holder for AC power circuit.

# FREQUENCY RANGE (Main tuning dial)

Band 1—535 to 1710 kc. Band 2—1690 to 3080 kc. Band 3—2980 to 5570 kc. Band 4—5370 to 10,000 kc. Band 5—9.8 to 18.3 Mc. Band 6—17.8 to 33.3 Mc.

## SENSITIVITY

Bands 2-6—1 microvolt for ½ watt output. 1 microvolt for 10 db signal to noise ratio.

Band 1 -10 microvolts for  $\frac{1}{2}$  watt output.

## IMAGE REJECTION

Not less than 80 db on frequencies lower than 20 Mc. Not less than 60 db on frequencies from 20 to 30 Mc.

# SPURIOUS RESPONSES (IF and oscillator tweets)

Not less than 80 db except at 1700 kc where it is not less than 50 db.

## BAND WIDTH (Selectivity)

6 db (nose)	60 db (skirts)
10 kc	21 kc
5 kc	15 kc
2.5 kc	7.5 kc
1.25 kc	3.75 kc
500 cps	1.50 kc
250 cps	850 cps
	(nose) 10 kc 5 kc 2.5 kc 1.25 kc 500 cps



# model HT-20 AM-CW transmitter

This Hallicrafters 100 watt AM-CW Transmitter is the modern successor to the HT-9 known throughout the world for reliability, ruggedness, flexibility and lowest cost for maximum dependable watts per dollars.

**Performance:** T.V.I. suppressed—completely shielded and filtered rf compartment plus built-in low-pass 52 ohm coaxial line output filter provides 90 db or greater suppression of all frequencies higher than 40 Mc. 100 watt AM phone output.

Frequency Coverage: Continuous coverage from 1.79 to 30 Mc.

**Components:** Heavy duty commercial type

power and modulation transformers. All parts rated for commercial service conditions.

**Controls:** Full band switching. No plug-in coils—choice of 10 crystals—all controls on front panel.

**Tubes:** Seven rf and audio tubes plus 5 rectifiers.

**Physical Data:** Cabinet size 20 inches long, 12½ inches high, 17¼ inches deep panel size for rack mounting 19 x 10½ inches. Shipping wt. 130 lbs. For 105-125 V. 60 cycle.

Model HT-20 Transmitter . . . . \$44950



# model SX-73 the finest in versatility-

Here, from Hallicrafters world-famous short wave laboratories, is a superb communications receiver —the SX-73, proud successor to so many famous top-quality Hallicrafters receivers. Absolutely without equal in its combination of ruggedness, sensitivity, stability, selectivity, resettability, and image and i-f rejection. Based on an original design developed by Hallicrafters for the armed forces for universal use all over the world, this new receiver will surpass all others in versatility, dependability, performance and value.

**Performance:** Continuous frequency coverage 540 kc to 54.0 Mc. Two r-f, two i-f stages. Dual conversion above 7 Mc; second beat oscillator is crystal controlled. Choice of six pretuned crystal controlled channels in range 1.5 to 30 Mc. Single tuning knob turns main and bandspread dials (6 to 1 ratio between the two); 50 to 1 tuning ratio. Resettability accurate to within 30 cycles per megacycle. Selectivity variable 14.5 kc to 300 cycles at 6 dp down. Sensitivity less than 2 microvolts for .5 watts output. Signal to noise ratio 10 db for 2 mv input. Image rejection 80 to 120 db. I-f rejection not less than

60 db. AVC circuit will hold up to one volt without overload. Series type noise limiter. Carrier level meter. Audio response plus or minus  $1\frac{1}{2}$  db from 300 to 3500 cycles.

**Controls:** Tuning knob with dial lock; Band Selector 540-1350 kc, 1.35-3.45 Mc., 3.45-7.00 Mc., 7.00-14.4 Mc., 14.4-29-7 Mc., 29-7-54.0 Mc; r-f Gain and AC on/off BFO Pitch, Xtal Phasing, 6-pos. Xtal Selectivity, 6-pos. Xtal fixed-frequency channel selector, a-f Gain, Xtal tuning Vernier; Rec./Standby, BFO, AVC, and ANL switches; BFO injection control and carrier meter adj. on rear.

**Physical Data:** Two-tone gray steel cabinet with satin chrome trim. Piano hinge top. Size 20 in. wide, 11 in. high, 18½ in. deep.

External Connections: Antenna Input 50 to 200 ohms throughout tuning range. Output 600 and 50 ohms. For 50/60 cycle current at 75, 105, 117, 130, 190, 210, 234, or 260 volts.

17 tubes plus voltage regulator, current regulator and rectifier.

Model SX-73-Use R-46 Speaker . . \$97500



# model SX-62 all-wave high fidelity

The world's finest receiver for the All-Wave listener. Uneaualled in coverage and performance on all wave bands—Standard Broadcast, Short-Wave or FM. Continuous coverage from 540 kc to 109 Mc. Having basically the same chassis as a fine communications receiver, the SX-62 provides communications-receiver performance in simplified form. A single tuning control covers the wide-vision dia'. Only one band lights up at a time—you always know just where you are tuning. In addition a 500 kc crystal calibration oscillator is built in, enabling you to adjust the dial pointer to show the exact frequency being tuned at any time.

**Performance:** Continuous AM reception 540 kc to 109 Mc; FM band 27-109 Mc. Temperature compensated, vol<sup>1</sup>age regulated. Two RF, three IF stages; dual IF channels (455 kc and 10.7 Mc). Audio flat 50-15,000 cycles; 10 watt push-pull output.

**Controls:** Band Selector 540-1620 kc. 1.62-4.9 Mc, 4.9-15 Mc, 15-32 Mc, 27-56 Mc, 54-109 Mc; Receive/Standby, Calibration Osc. On/Off, Noise

Limiter, Tuning, AF Gain, Phono/FM/AM/CW, sixposition Selectivity, four-position Tone, RF Gain, Calibration Reset.

**Physical Data:** Satin black steel cabinet with satin chrome trim. Top opens on piano hinge. Cabinet 20" wide by 10¼" high by 16" deep.

**External Connections:** Doublet or single wire antenna. 500 and 5000-ohm outputs. Phone jack. Phonograph input jack. Socket for external power and Remote control connections. 105-125 V. 50/60 cycle AC line.

14 Tubes plus Voltage Regulator and Rectifier: Two 6AG5 RF Amps., 7F8 Conv., 6S<7 IF Amp., 6SG7 IF Amp., 6SG7 IF Amp., 6SG7 FM Limiter and AM Det., 6H6 FM Det., 6J5 BFO, 6H6 ANL, 6SL7 AF Amp., two 6V6 Push-Pull Output, 6C4 Calibration Osc., VR-150 Regulator, 5U4G Rectifier.

Universal Model SX-62U: Same as above only for 115/250 volts, 25/60 cycle AC.

Model SX-62 or SX-62U . . . . \$34995



# model SX-71 command performance

From the Hams at Hallicrafters to Hams everywhere comes this top-performing receiver in the medium price class. Extra sensitivity, selectivity, and stability, definitely superior image rejection with double superheterodyne circuit, plus built-in Narrow Band FM reception. Extra wide dials for main and bandspread tuning. Surpasses in ham performance many receivers priced considerably higher.

**Performance:** Continuous AM reception from 538 kc to 34 Mc, and 46 to 56 Mc. Built-in limiter and balanced detector stages for hiss-free NBFM reception. Double conversion (2075 and 455 kc i-f channels) gives image rejection of better than 150 to 1 at 28 Mc. Temperature compensated, voltage regulated. One r-f, two conversion, and 3 i-f stages yield nigh gain for sensitivity of .7 microvolts with 50 milliwatts output. Audio peaked for communications frequencies, with 3 watt output.

**Controls:** Band Selector 538-1650 kc, 1600-4800 kc, 4.6-13.5 Mc, 12.5-34 Mc, 46-56 Mc. Separate main and Bandspread tuning controls; bandspread dial calibrated for 80, 40, 20, 15, 10, and 6 Meter

Bands. BFO Pitch 3-position Selectivity, Crystal Phasing, Tone, a-f Gain and r-f Gain controls. ANL, BFO, and Receive/Send switches. "S" Meter adjustment on rear.

**Physical Data:** Satin black steel cabinet with chrome trim. Piano hinge top. Size 181/2" wide by 87%" high by 12" deep. Ship. wt. 33 lbs.

**External Connections:** Use doublet or sing'e wire antenna. 500 and 3.2 ohm outputs for separate speaker. Phone jack. Socket for external power supply. Connections for remote control. For 105-125 vol\*s 50/60 cycle AC.

11 Tubes plus Voltage Regulator and Rectifier: 6BA6 r-f Amp., 6C4 Osc., 6AU6 Mixer, 6BE6 2nd Conv., three 6SK7 i-f Amps., 6H6 ANL and delayed AVC, 6SC7 BFO and a-f Amp., 6AL5 Det., 6K6GT Output, VR-I50 Reg., and 5Y3GT Rect.

**Universal Model SX71U:** Same as above only for 115/250 volts, 25/60 cycle AC.

Model SX71 or SX71U . . . . . \$24995

# hallicrafters model S-76

# double superhet

Double conversion receiver, double superhet with 50 kc second i-f and 4-inch ''S'' Meter.

**Performance:** Continuous coverage 538-1580 kc and 1.72-32 Mc. Double conversion eliminates images. 50 kc second i-f gives excellent "skirt" selectivity with "nose" selectivity variable from 5.6 kc down to 500 cycles. Temperature compensated, voltage regulated. One r-f, two conversion, and two i-f stages. 2<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> watts output.

**Controls:** Band Selector 538-1580 kc, 1.72-49 Mc, 4.6-13 Mc, 12-32 Mc; Separate Main and Bandspread tuning; bandspread calibrated for 80, 40, 20, 15, 11, 10 meters; five-position Selectivity with phono switch built in; BFO Pitch; full-range Tone; AVC, BFO, ANL, Rec./Standby switches. "S" Meter adjustment on rear.



Physical Data: Satin black steel cabinet with plastichrome skirts. Piano hinge top. Size 18½" wide, 8%" high, 9½" deep. Ship. wt. appr. 46 lbs. External Connections: Use doublet or single wire antenna. 500 or 3-2 ohm autputs. Phone jack. Phono input jack. Connections for external power and remote control. Mounting holes provided for

coax connector. For 105-125 volts 50/60 cycle AC. **9 Tubes plus Regulator and Rectifier:** 6CB6 r-f Amp., 6AU6 1st Conv., 6C4 Osc., 6BA6 1st i-f, 6BE6 2nd Conv., 6BA6 2nd i-f, 6AL5 Det., ANL, 6SC7 BFO, 6K6GT Output, VR-150 Reg., 5Y3GT Rect.

# hallicrafters

# ham favorite

Superior performance. Complete with PM speaker. **Performance:** AM reception 540 kc to 43 Mc. Temperature compensated oscillator. One RF and

two IF stages. Audio response to 10,000 cycles. **Controls:** Band Switch 540-1700 kc, 1700-5300 kc, 5.3-15.7 Mc, 15.7-43.0 Mc. Main tuning in Mc; bandspread dial has arbitrary scale. AF and RF Gain controls; AVC, BFO, and Noise Limiter switches; three-position Tone, BFO Pitch, and Receive/Standby controls.

**Physical Data:** Satin black steel cabinet. Size 18½" wide by 8½" high by 9½" deep. Ship. wt. 32 lbs.



External Connections: Doublet or single wire antenna. Phone jack. S-40 uses 105-125 V. 50/60 cycles AC only. S-77A uses 105-125 V. DC or 50/60 cycle AC.

7 Tubes plus Rectifier: (in S-40B) 6SG7 RF Amp., 6SA7 Conv., two 6SK7 IF Amps., 6d6 ANL and AVC, 6SL7 BFO and Det., 6K6GT Output, 5Y3GT Rectifier.

Model S-40B	•	•	•	•		•	•	\$ <b>129</b> 95
Model S-77A								\$ <b>129</b> 95

# model S-53A top performance —small size

Unquestionably the finest small communications receiver built. Several steps better than the S-38C but not as good as the S-40B. Complete in itself, with built-in PM speaker.

Performance: Coverage 540-1600 kc, 2.6-31 Mc plus 48-54.5 Mc. Two stages IF amplification.

**Controls:** Main tuning in Mc; separate bandspread dial with logging scale plus Mc calibration for 48-54.5 Mc band; Receive/Standby switch; Band switch 540-1630 kc; 2.5-6.3 Mc, 6.3-16 Mc, 14-31 Mc, and 48-54.5 Mc; AM/CW; RF Gain, Noise Limiter, AF Gain, two-position Tone;



Speaker/Phones switch on rear. Illuminated dial. **Physical Data:** Satin black steel cabinet with chrome trim. Top opens on piano hinge. Size 12%" wide by 7" high by 7¾" deep. Ship. wt. 19 lbs.

**External Connections:** Doublet or single wire antenna. Phone tip jacks. Phonograph input jack. 105-125 V. 50/60 cycle AC line.

7 Tubes plus Rectifier: 6C4 Osc., 6BA6 Mixer, two 6BA6 IF Amps., 6H6 Det., AVC and ANL, 6SC7 BFO and AF Amp., 6K6GT Output, 5Y3GT Rectifier.

# hallicrafters

# model R-46 communications speaker

Matching 10" PM speaker for use with Hallicrafters Communications receiver SX-71, SX-73, SX-62, or S-76. 80 to 5,000 cycle range. Matching transformer with 500/600-ohm input. Speaker voice coil Impedance, 3.2 ohms.



Black steel cabinet matches SX-71 and other Hallicrafters cabinets. Cloth covered metal grill.  $15'' \times 10\%'' \times 10\%''$  deep. Ship. wt. 17 lbs.



# famous S-38Cbiggest buy in SW

The lawest priced communications receiver on the market . . . with many features found in much higher priced sets. Standard Brocdcast plus three Short-Wave bands. Built-in PM speaker.

**Performance:** Continuous AM reception 540 kc to 32 Mc. Maximum sensitivity and selectivity from expertly engineered chassis.

**Contrcis:** Main tuning in Mc; separate electrical bandspread dial with arbitrary scale; Speaker/ Phones, AM/CW switches; Band Switch 540-1650 kc, 1.65-5 Mc, 5-14.5 Mc, 13.5-32 Mc; AF Gain, Receive/Standby.

Physical Data: Steel cabinet in gray hammer-

tone finish. Size 12%" wide by 7" high by 7%" deep. Ship. wt. 14 lbs.

**External Connections:** Doublet or single wire antenna. Phone tip jacks. 105-125 V. DC or 50/60 cycle AC.

**4 Tubes plus Rectifier:** 12SA7 Conv., 12SK7 IF Amp. and BFO, 12SQ7 Det. and AVC, 50L6GT Output, 35Z5GT Rectifier.

**220-Volt Line Cord:** Available separately. Works for AC or DC.

Mode	el S-3	8C	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	\$ <b>59</b> 95
Line	Cord	for	220	v.	Or	oerd	atio	n	•			\$ <b>2</b> 00

# model ST-83 finest hi-fi FM-AM tuner

This AM/FM Super-Fidelity unit carries the UL seal of approval and meets the F.C.C. specifications on oscillator radiation. Phono inputs, built-in pre-amp., accessory inputs for TV, tape recorders, etc. Dual outputs; medium and low impedance, tone controls; bass 12 db, treble 12 db.

Accessory power sockets dual at 200 watt 117 volts each. Tubes 6CB6 FM r-f amplifier, 12AT7 FM osc. converter, 6CD6 AM r-f amplifier, 6BE6 AM osc. converter, 6BA6 1st i-f amplifier 10.7 Mc,



6BA6 2nd i-f amplifier 455 kc and 10.7 Mc, 6BA6 3rd i-f amplifier, 6AL5 FM detector, 6AV6 AM detector and phono pre-amplifier, 6C4 cathode follower, 12AU7 audio tone control amplifier, 6AX5 rectifier.

Black steel with silver finish trim and chrome lite base.  $14'' \times 17^{1}2'' \times 9^{1}2''$  deep. Ship. wt. 18 lbs. Ten tubes plus rectifier.

For 105/125 V. 50/60 cycle AC . . \$12995

# hallicrafters

# model A-84 widest range hi-fi amplifier

The perfect mate for any AM/FM tuner. Exclusive output transformer giving widest range ever produced. Frequency range, 10 to 100,000 cycles per second at 10 watts (with perfect uniformity) and harmonic distortion of less than 0.25% at 10 watt level. Power output of 15 watts maximum.



Mineral oil impregnated coupling condensers, power supply input condenser oil filled. Chrome lite chassis base. 13½" x 7½" x 13½"

deep. Ship. wt. 26 lbs. All five tubes triode.

For 105/125 V. 50/60 cycle AC . \$9950



The Littlefone series of equipment are FM two-way radio telephone units operating at 25-50 Mc or 144-174 Mc. Both the receiver and transmitter are crystal controlled and a total of 22 sub-miniature tubes are used. The complete portable model with antenna and telephone hand-set weighs only fourteen pounds and will operate for more than eight hours on the self-contained rechargeable storage batteries. Models for AC power line and 6/12 volts

# littlefone – portable radio-telephone

DC operation employ the same r-f chassis as the portable units but an audio power output stage is added to drive the loud speaker. Adjustable squelch controls are available on all models. Power outputs 2 watts on 25-50 Mc and 1 watt on 144-174 Mc. Lower powered wet and dry battery models also available.

# Hand Carry from \$32495 to \$39995 plus \$17.12 F.E.T. plus \$21.93 F.E.T.

**Central Station** . . . Same performance and specifications as Hand Carry unit. Audio-amplifier, providing one watt of audio for loud speaker. AC operated with power consumption of 35 watts. Plugs in any AC outlet of 117 V. Hallicrafters S-81 receivers may be used as extra stationary stations.



# finest SW and broadcast portable made

The Hallicrafters "World-Wide," Model TW-1000, the finest short-wave and broadcast portable radio made. Superior Standard Broadcast covers 535-1620 kc plus seven other bands covering 1.7-3.9, 3.8-8.2, 9.2-10.4, 11.4-12.4, 14.6-15.7 and 17.3-18.3 Mcs, plus special marine weather band.

Sleek metal trim on smart leatherette cabinet. Full-view, easy to tune, overseas dial—a Hallicrafters exclusive. World-Wide short-wave radio map tells you what's on the air. Red indicator for easy band identification. Four way tone control.

Three antennas for maximum performance built-in loop, 64" telescope "whip" antenna, and removable "Skyrider" that fastens to car, railroad or airplane windows—lets the "World-Wide" play anywhere. Simplified controls include Dynamic Turret Tuner for accurate band selection. Five tubes plus rectifier. 105-125 V. AC or DC or battery.

Model TW-1000 . . . .

\$**149**95

Hallicrafters plants, four of them, are the most modern in the entire field of electronics. Here skilled craftsmen on modern assembly lines produce the Hallicrafters equipment that is known for highest quality in 89 countries — that is first choice of 33 governments — that is by long odds the overwheiming choice of ail of our own armed services. And, most exacting test of all, Hallicrafters is the choice of the most critical expert in the world — the American ham operator.

# hallicrafters

Companies are only as good as the people that work for them. Hallicrafters has, for years, been fortunate in the people that have made the company great, and have kept it that way. One thing makes them unusual — they bring an attitude and an interest to their jobs that other men reserve for their hobbies. Hallicrafters men are hams at heart — and most of them are hams by license. Here's what Bill Halligan, Senior, says about his job:

"The radio ham market," expounds Bill Halligan, "today is the most challenging and the most thrilling in all radio. The ham is never fooled by expensive cabinets — he wants every nickel's worth of





William J. Halligan President





Vice President

in charge of

Marketing



W. J. Halligan, Jr.

Sales Mgr. Radio & Communications



Fritz Franke Asst. Sales Mgr. Communications



Jack Halligan Communication Sales



John S. Mahoney Director of Advertising



Norm Cooper Service Mgr.

performance in the chassis. And he wants the absolute latest in circuit design. In working with him and pioneering equipment for him, we feel we are building a background for future developments."



# Have you seen it? hallicrafters

# a new dimension in picture realisma new height in viewing enjoyment!



Here is television only Hallicrafters could produce. Over twenty years of dealing with the most exacting of high frequency electronics have provided the experience, the know-how, the precision manufacturing techniques it took to produce these sets. And, just as no manufacturer can match this Hallicrafters heritage of experience no manufacturer can match this Hallicrafters TV picture.

In short, these television sets are exactly like what they are—Hallicrafters equipment. If you are thinking of a television set —or know anyone that is—remember Hallicrafters. There is a difference that you can see—a superiority that is the envy of the industry.

# hallicrafters

World's Leading Exclusive Manufacturer of Communications and Higb Fidelity Equipment, Radio and Television

4401 West Fifth Avenue, Chicago 24, Illinois

Hallicrafters Ltd., 51 Camden Street, Toronto, Canada











### ONE INCH INSTRUMENTATION OSCILLOSCOPE

Miniaturized, packaged panel maunting cathade ray ascillascape designed far use in instrumentation in place of the conventional "painter type" maving call meters uses the 1" 1CP1 tube. Panel bezet 

### **INSTRUMENT DIAL**

The Na. 10030 is an extremely sturdy instrument type indicator. Cantral shaft has 1 to 1 ratio. Veeder type counter is direct reading in 99 reva-Utions and vernier scale permits areed reading in 97 revo-lutions and vernier scale permits readings to 1 port in 100 of a single revolution. Has built-in dial lack and W" drive shaft coupling. May be used with multi revolution transmitter control, etc., or through gear reduction mechanism for control of fractional revolution capacitors, etc., in receivers or laboratory instruments.

No. 10030..... \$

## GRID DIP METER

The No. 90651 MILLEN GRID DIP METER is compact and completely self contained. The AC power supply is af the "transformer" type. The drum dial has seven calibrated uniform length scales from 1.7 MC to 300 MC with generals over laps plus an arbitrary scale for use with special application in-ductors, internal terminal strip permits bottery operation for antenna measurement. C

Additional Inductors for Lower Frequencies

Na. 46702—925 ta 2000 KC..... \$ No. 46703 — 500 to 1050 KC..... No. 46704 — 325 to 600 KC..... No. 46705 — 220 to 350 KC....

### LABORATORY SYNCHROSCOPES

The 5" labaratary synchroscopes are available with and without detector-videa strips, Madel P-4-2, with tubes...... Madel P-4E-2, with tubes.....

### MINIATURE SYNCHROSCOPE

The compact design of the Na. 90952, measuring only 7% " x 5%" x 13", and weighing only 17 lbs., mokes available for the first time a truly DESIGNED FOR APPLICATION "field service" Synchrascope.

Na. 90952, with tubes..... \$

### CATHODE RAY OSCILLOSCOPES

The Na, 90902, Na, 90903 and Na, 90905 Ruck Ponel Oscillascapes, far two, three and five inch tubes, respectively, are inexpensive basic units comprising power supply, brilliarcy and center ing controls, safety features, inagnetic shielding, switches, etc. As a transmitter monitor, no addi-tional equipment or accessories are required. The well known trapezaidat manitaring patterns are secured by feeding madulated carrier valtage from a pickup loop directly to vertical plates the cathode ray tube and audia modulating valt-age to harizantal plates. By the addition of such units as sweeps, pulse generators, amplifiers, serva sweeps, etc., all af which can be can-veniently and neatly constructed an companian rack panels, the original basic "cope unit may be expanded to serve any conceivable industrial or laboratory application.

### SCOPE AMPLIFIER-SWEEP UNIT

Vertical and horizontal amplifiers along with hard tube, saw taoth sweep generator. Complete with power supply maunted on a standard 5¼" rack ponel

### Na. 90921, with tubes.....

### **REGULATED POWER SUPPLIES**

A campact, uncased, regulated power supply, either far table use in the laboratory or far inrearation as an integral part of larger equipments. Reputated in trend ted, bias and frame v ded toges cr

Madel 90201, less tubes ..... \$









# ILLEN









### STANDING WAVE RATIO BRIDGE

The Millen S.W.R. bridge provides easy and in-expensive measurement of standing wave ratio on antennas using co-ax cable. As ossembled the bridge is set up for 52 ahm line. A colibrated 75 ohm resistar is mounted inside the case for sub-stitution in the circuit when 7.5 ohm line is used. No. 90671 .....

### PHASE-SHIFT NETWORK

A complete and laboratory oligned poir of phase-shift networks in a single compact  $2'' \ge 12_{16}'' \ge 4''$ x 17.16 shift networks in a single compact 2  $\times 1^{2}$  Ne  $\times 4$ cose with characteristics so as to provide a phase shift between the two networks of 90°  $\times 1.3^{\circ}$  over a frequency range of 225 cycles to 2750 cycles. This unit is equally well adapted far use in either single sideband transmitting or receiving equip-ment. When used in a suitably desianed transmitter it is possible to obtain a 40 db suppression of the unwanted sideband. The No. 75012 precision ad-justed phase-shift network makes passible the building of single sideband equipment without the necessity of complicated laboratory equipment for network adjustment. No. 75012......\$

..... S

**R9'er MATCHING PREAMPLIFIER** The Millen 92101 is an electranic impedance matching device and a broad-band preamplifier combined into a single unit, designed primarily for operation on 6 and 10 meters. Cails for 20 meter band also available. No. 92101, less tubes . 

# SO WATT EXCITER-TRANSMITTER

Modern design includes features and shielding far TVI reduction, bandswitching for 4-7-14-21-28 megacycle bonds, circuit metering, Canservatively rated for use either as a transmitter or exciter for high power PA stages, 5763 ascillator-buffer- multiplier and 6146 power amplifier. Rack mounted. 

## VARIABLE FREQUENCY OSCILLATOR

The No. 90711 is a complete transmitter control unit with 6SK7 temperature-compensated, electron coupled oscillator of exceptional stability and low drift, a 65K7 broad-band buffer or frequency doubler, a 6667 tuned amplifier which tracks with the oscillator tuning, and a regulated power upply. Output sufficient to drive an 807 is available on 160, 80 and 40 meters and reduced output is available on 20 meters. Since the output is isolated from the axillator by two stages, zero frequency shift occurs when the output laad is varied from open circuit to short circuit. The entire unit is unusually solidly built so that no frequency shift occurs due to vibration. The keying is clean and free from all annoying chirp, quick drift, jump, and similar difficulties often encountered in keying variable frequency ascillators, Na. 90711, with tubes 5

## HIGH VOLTAGE POWER SUPPLY

The Na. 90281 high voltage pawer supply has a d.c. output of 700 volts, with maximum current of 235 ma, In addition, o.c. filament power of 6.3 volts at 4 amperes is also available so that this pawer supply is an ideat unit for use with transmitters, such as the Millen No. 90801, as well as general lab-oratory purposes. The power supply uses two No. 816 rectifiers. The panel is standard 8<sup>3</sup>/<sub>4</sub><sup>4</sup>/<sub>4</sub> x 19<sup>4</sup> rack mounting. 

## HIGH FREQUENCY RF AMPLIFIER

HIGH FREQUENCY RF AMPLIFIER A physically small unit capable of a power output of 70 to 85 watts on 'phone or 87 to 110 watts on C-W on 20, 15, 11, 10, 6 or 2 meter amateur bands, Provision is made for quick band shift by means of the new No, 48000 series VHF plug-in coils, The No, 90811 unit uses either an 829-8 or 3E29.

No. 90811 with 10 meter band coils, less tube.... ..... S.

### RF POWER AMPLIFIER

This 500 watt amplifier may be used as the bosis of a high pawer amateur transmitter. The No. 90881 RF power amplifier is wired for use with the popular "812A" type to be. Of an indiant calmarker is d. The amplifier is of unusually sturdy mechanical con-struction, on a 101/2" relay rack panel. Plug-in in-ductors are furnished for operation on 10, 20, 40 or 80 meter omateur bands, The standard Millen No. 90801 exciter unit is an ideal driver for the new No. 90881 RF pawer amplifier. Na. 90881, with one set of coils, but less

World Radio History



90881









### PANEL DIALS

### WORM DRIVE UNIT

Cast aluminum frame may be ponel or base mounted. Spring loaded split gears to minimize back lash.

Standard ratio 16 1. Also in 48 1 on request. No. 10000—(stote ratio)......\$

### DIALS AND KNOBS

Just a few of the many stock types of small dials and knobs are illustrated herewith, 10007 is 1%''diameter, 10009 is 21/2'' and 10008 is 31/2''.

No.	10	002		÷									÷	÷	÷		•	•	•	5	
No.	10	007						-	-	-	-	-									
No.	10	800																			
No.	10	009																			
No.	10	015																			
No.	10	018																			
No.	10	021																	-		
No.	10	065														,		-	-		

### RIGHT ANGLE DRIVE

Extremely compact, with provisions for many methadi of mounting, literal for operating patentiameters, switche's, etc., that must be located, for short leads, in remote parts of chassis. No, 10012......\$

## HIGH VOLTAGE INSULATED SHAFT EXTENSION

SHAFT LOCKS

In addition to the original No. 10060 and No. 10061 DESIGNED FOR APPLICATION" shaft locks, we can olso furnis' such variations as the No. 10062 and No. 10° 62 for roll thumb operation as illustrated above. The No. 10061 instantly converts any plain 1a luaft' valume control, condenser, etc. from "plain to "shaft locked" type. Easy to mount in place of regular mounting nut.

No.	10060													-			\$ 1
	10061																
No.	10062		-	-									÷				
No.	10063											÷					

### TRANSMISSION LINE PLUG

An inexpensive, compact, and efficient polystyrene unit for use with the 300 ohm ribbon type polyeth, lene transmi ion line. Fits into standard Millan No. 33102 (crystal) sacket. Pin spacing ½", diameter.095". S

### DIAL LOCK

Compact, easy to mount, positive in action, does not alter dial setting in operation! Ratation of knob "A" depresses finger "B" and "C" without imparting any rotary mation to Dial. Single hale mounted.









# JAMES MILLEN MALDEN. MASSACHUSETTS









# TUBE SOCKETS DESIGNED FOR APPLICATION

MODERN SOCKETS far MODERN TUBES! Long Flashover path to chassis permits use with transmitting tubes, 866 rectifiers, etc. Long leakage path between contacts. Contacts are type praven by hundreds of millions already in gavernment, commercial and broadcast service, to be extremely dependable. Sackets may be mounted either with ar without metal flange. Mounts in standard size chassis hole. All types have barrier between contacts and chassis. All but octal and crystal sackets also have barriers between individual contacts in addition.

The No. 33888 shield is for use with the 33008 octal socket. By its use, the electrastatic isolation of the grid and plate circuits of single-ended metal tubes can be increased to secure greater stability and goin.

The 33087 tube clamp is easy to use, easy to install, effective in function. Available in special sizes for all types of tubes. Single hole mounting. Spring steel, cadmium plated.

Cavity Socket Contact Discs, 33446 are for use with the "Lighthouse" ultra high frequency tube. This set consists of three different size unhardened beryllium copper multifinger contact discs. Heat treating instructions forwarded with each kit for hordening after spinning or farming to frequency requirements.

Voltage regulator dual contact bayonet socket, 33991 black phenolic insulation and 33992 with law loss high leakage mica filled phenolic insulation.

No. 33004	
No 33005	
No. 33006	
No. 33007	
No. 33008	
No. 33888	
No. 33087	
No. 33002	
No. 33102	
No. 33202	
No. 33302	
No. 33446	
No. 33991	
No. 33992	
*Far set of 3. Single discs \$0.00 each.	

rat ser or 5, single discs 50.00 edch.

# FLEXIBLE COUPLINGS

The No. 39000 series of Millen "Designed for Application" flexible coupling units include, in addition to improved versions of the canventional types, also such exclusive ariginal designs as the No. 39001 insulated universal joint and the No. 39006 "slideaction" coupling (in both steatite and bakelite insulation).

The No. 39006 "slide-action" coupling permits langitudinul shaft motion, eccentric shaft motion and aut-of-line aperation, as well as angular drive without backlash.

The No. 39005 is similar to the No. 39001, but is not insulated and is designed for applications where relatively high torque is required. The steatile insulated No. 39001 has a special anti-backlash pivot and sacket grip feature. All of the abave illustrated units are for 'A'' shaft and are standard production type units. The No. 39016 incorporates features which have long been desired in a flexibile coupling. Na Back Losh—Higher Plexibility—Higher Breakdown Valtage—Smaller Diameter—Shorter Length—Higher Alignment Accuracy—Higher Resistance to Mechanical Shock—Salid Insulating Borrier Diaphragm—Molded as a Single Unit.

borrier	Diat	nr	0	gı			- '	A.	i C	11		e	a	1	0	•	u		9	10	19	μ.	e		20	ш,	
No. 39	100																										\$
No. 39	002									•					•		•	•	•			•	•	•	•		
No. 39	003				•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•			•	•			•						•		
No, 39	005				•		•								•	•	•			•	•		,	•	•		
No. 39	006				,	,	•	÷	•	•				•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	٠	•	•	•		
No. 39	016				•	•	•			•	•	•	٠			•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		
					_		_		_		_			_	_		_	_	_	_							





















# 04000 and 11000 SERIES TRANSMITTING CONDENSERS

A new member of the "Designed for Application" series of transmitting variable air capacitors is the 04000 series with peak voltage ratings of 3000, 6000, and 9000 volts. Right angle drive, 1-1 ratio. Adjustable drive shaft angle for either vertical or sloping panels. Sturdy construction, thick, roundedged, polished aluminum plates with 1¾" radius. Constant impedance, heavy current, multiple finger rotor contactor of new design. Avoilable in all normal capacities.

The 11000 series has 16 1 ratio center drive and fixed angle drive shaft.

Code	Volts	Capacity	Price
11035	3000	35	\$
11050	3000	50	
11070	3000	70	
04050	6000	50	
04060	9000	60	
04100	6000	90	
04200	3000	205	

# 12000 and 16000 SERIES TRANSMITTING CONDENSERS

Rigid heavy channeled aluminum end plates. Isolantite insulation, polished or plain edges. One piece rotor contact spring and connection lug. Compact, easy to mount with connector lugs in convenient locations. Same plate sizes as 11000 series above.

The 16000 series has some plate sizes as 04000 series. Also has constant impedance, heavy current, multiple finger rotor contoctor of new design. Both 12000 and 16000 series available in single and double sections and many capacities and plate spacing.

# THE 28000-29000 SERIES VARIABLE AIR CAPACITORS

"Designed for Application," double bearings, steatite end plates, cadmium or silver plated brass plates. Single or double section .022" or .066" air gap. End plate size: 19-16" x 11-16". Rotor plate radius: ¼". Shoft lock, rear shaft extension, special mounting brackets, etc., to meet your requirements. The 28000 series has semi-circular rotor plate shape. The 29000 series has approximately straight frequency line rotor plate shape. Prices quoted on request. Many stock sizes.

# NEUTRALIZING CAPACITOR

Designed originally for use in our own No. 90881 Power Amplifier, the No. 15011 disc neutralizing capacitor has such unique features as rigid channel frame, horizontal or vertical mounting, fine thread over-size lead screw with stop to prevent shorting and rotor lock. Heavy rounded-edged polished oluminum plates are 2" diameter. Glazed Steatile insulation.

No.15011....\$

# THRU-BUSHING

Efficient, compact, easy to use and neat appearing. Fits  $\frac{1}{4}$  '' hole in chassis. Held in place with o drop of solder or a "nick" from o crimping tool.

No. 32150 ..... \$ World Radio History









JAMES MILLEN MALDEN · MASSACHUSETTS









# TRANSMITTING TANK COILS

A full line—oll popular wottoges for all bands. Send for special catalog sheet.

### TUNABLE COIL FORM

Standard octal base of taw loss mica-filled bakelite, polystyrene  $\frac{1}{2}$ " diameter coil form, heavy aluminum shield, iron tuning slug of high frequency type, suitable for use up to 35 mc. Adjusting screw protrudes through center hole of standard octal socket.

No. 74001, with iron core...... \$ No. 74002, less iron core......

### **RF CHOKES**

Many have copied, few have equalled, and none have surpassed the genuine original design Millen Designed for Application series of midget RF Chokes. The more popular styles now in constant production are illustrated herewith. Special styles and variations to meet unusual requirements quickly furnished.

Figures 1 and 4 illustrate special types of RF chokes available on order. The popular 34300 and 34200 series are shown in figures 2 and 3 respectively. General Specifications: 2.5 mH, 250 mA for types 34100, 34101, 34102, 34103, 34104, and 1 mH, 300 mA for types 34105, 34106, 34107, 34108, 34109.

No.	34	100	).								,											:	\$
No.	34	101								•						•	•			•			
No.	34	102	١.		,					•			•	•									
No.																							
No.	34	104				•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		

### MIDGET COIL FORMS

Made af low loss mica filled brown bakelite. Guide funnel makes for easy threading of leads through pins. No. 45000.

		۰.	۰.		•		•		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	٠	•	٠	Ŷ	
No. 45004.						•		•	•	•		•	•	•	•		•	•	•			
No. 45005.	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		

### OCTAL BASE AND SHIELD

Low loss phenolic base with octal socket plug and aluminum shield can  $17_{16} \times 1\% \times 3^{15}_{16}$ . No. 74400......

## I.F. TRANSFORMERS

The Millen "Designed for Application" line of I.F. transformers includes air condenser tuned, and permeability tuned types for all applications. Standard stock units are for 456, 1600 and 5000 kc.B.F.O. also available.

### PERMEABILITY TUNED CERAMIC FORMS















# CERAMIC PLATE OR GRID CAPS

I E S

Soldering lug and contact one-piece. Lug ears annealed and solder dipped to facilitate easy combination "mechanical plus soldered" connection of cable

No. 36001-9 16".....\$ No. 36002-¾"..... No. 36004-¼".....

# SNAP LOCK PLATE CAP

For Mobile, Industrial and other applications where tighter than normal grip with multiple finger 360 low resistance contact is reauired. Contact self-locking when cap is pressed into position. Insulated snap button at top releases contact grip for easy removal without damage to tube.

No. 36011 9 16"..... \$ No. 36012 3%".....

# SAFETY TERMINAL

# TERMINAL STRIP

A sturdy four-terminal strip of molded black Textolite. Barriers between contacts. "Non turning" studs, threaded 8–32 each end. No. 37104......\$

## POSTS, PLATES and PLUGS

Designed for Application! Compact, easy to use. Made in black and red regular bakelite as well as low loss brown mica filled bakelite or steatite for R.F. uses. Posts have captive head.

No. 37202 Plates (pr.).....\$ No. 37212 Plugs..... No. 37222 Posts (pr.)....

## STEATITE TERMINAL STRIPS

Terminal and lug are one piece. Lugs are Navy turret type and are free floating so as not to strain steatite during wide temperature variations. Easy to mount with series of round holes for integral chassis bushinas.

No.	3730	2.													\$
No.	3730	3.			-		-				-				
No.	3730	4.	-						•						
No.	3730	5.													
No	3730	6													

## CATHODE RAY TUBE SHIELDS

# BEZELS FOR CATEODE RAY TUBES



ILLEN









# MINIATURIZED COMPONENTS

CODE

A019

**DESIGNED** for APPLICATION miniaturized components developed for use in our own equipment such as the 90901 Oscilloscope, are now available for separate sale. Many of these parts are similar in most details except size with their equivalents in our standard component parts group and in certain devices where complete miniaturization is not paramount, a combination of standard and miniature components may possibly be used to advantage. For convenience, we have also listed on this page the extremely small sized coil forms from our standard catalogue. Additional miniature and subminiature components are in process of design and will be announced shortly.

CODE	DESCRIPTION NET P	RICE
A006	Motches standard knobs in style. Black plostic with bross insert. For $\gamma_8''$ shoft. Overall height $\gamma_2'',$ Diameter $\mathcal{K}'',$	
A007	Some as A018 except for ⅔" diameter plastic dial with 5 index lines.	
A012	Right angle drive. ½′′ diameter shofts. Single hole mounting bushing ¼′′−32 diameter.	
A018	¼″ diameter block plostic knob with brass insert for ½″ shoft, Skirt diameter ¾″. Overall height ¾″. Unique design has screwdriver slot in top.	

## DESCRIPTION

Similar to A018, but without flange.

NET PRICE

5

- A061 Shoft lock for  $\frac{1}{2}$  diameter shoft,  $\frac{1}{2}$  -32 bushing. Nickle ploted brass.
- A066 Shoft bearing for ½1' diameter shofts. Nickle plated bross. Fits 11/64'' diameter halp.
- E001 Steatite stondoff or tie-point integro mounting eyelet .205 overall diameter. Box of five,
- J300-500 Iron core RF choke 500 uh.
- J300-1000 Iron core RF choke 1000 uh.
- J300-2500 Iron core RF choke 2½ mh.
- M003 Solid coupling for 1/6" diometer shoft. Nickle plated bross.
- M006 Universal joint style flexible coupling. Spring finger, Steptite insulation. Nickle ploted bross for ½" diameter shafts.
- M008 Insulated coupling, with nickle ploted bross inserts or  $\mathcal{V}_{0}^{\prime\prime\prime}$  diameter shafts.
- M023 Insulated shaft extension for mounting sub-miniature potentiameter with  ${\cal W}''$  diameter shafts and  ${\cal W}''-32$  bushing.
- 69043 Steptite coil form, Adjustable care, Tab tuned, Topped 4-40 hole in case for mounting. Winding space ¼'' diameter x 1⅔2'' length.
- 69044 Steatite coil form. Adjustable brass core. Bottom tuned. Mounting by No. 1D-32 bross base. Winding spoce .187 diometer by ⅔6″ length

U

ILLEN



# Midget Absorption Frequency Meters

Many amateurs and experimenters do not realize that one of the most useful "tools" of the commercial transmitter designer is a series of very small absorption type frequency meters. These handy instruments can be poked into small shield compartments, coil cans, corners of chassis, etc., to check harmonics; parasitics; oscillator-doubler, etc., tank tuning; and a host of other such applications. Quickly enables the design engineer to find out what is really "going on" in a circuit.

Types 90605 thru 90609 are extremely smoll and designed primarily for engineering laboratory use where they

SEATTLE

V. Jensen

2616 Second Avenue

INDIANAPOLIS

. MacNabb

915 Westfield Blvd.

will be handled with reasonable care. The most useful combination being the group of four under code No. 90600 and covering the total range of from 3.0 to 140 megacycles. When purchased in sets of four under code No. 90600 a convenient carrying and storage case is included. Series 90601 are slightly larger and very much more rugged. They are further protected by a contour fitting transparent polystyrene case to protect against damage and dirt. This latter series is designed primarily for field use and are not quite as convenient for laboratory use as the 90605 thru 90608 types. All types have dials directly calibrated in frequency.

Code	Description	Net Price	
90604	Range 160 to 210 mc.	\$	
90605	Range 3.0 to 10 mc.		
90606	Range 9.0 to 23 mc.		
90607	Range 23 to 60 mc.		
90608	Range 50 to 140 mc.		
90609	Range 130 to 170 mc.		
90610	Range 105 to 150 mc.		
90619	Range 350 to 1000 kc.—Neon Indicator		
90620	Range 150 to 350 kc.—Neon Indicator		
90625	Range 2 to 6 mc,—Neon Indicator		
90626	Range 5.5 to 1.5 mc.—Neon Indicator		
90600	Complete set of 90605 thru 90608, in case		
90601	Complete set Field type Frequency Meters in metal carrying case 1,5 to 40 mc.		

### NEW YORK Cooper-DiBlosi 259 W. 14th Street PHILADELPHIA L. D. Lowery 50 E. Wynnewood Rd. Wynnewood

DISTRICT SALES OFFICES

SAN FRANCISCO Maulthrap & Hunter 160 Tenth Street CHICAGO G. G. Ryan 549 W. Washington Blvd. BOSTON Harry Gerber 739 Boylston Street 3

DALLAS Jack Yount 1431 Pleasont Drive LOS ANGELES W. Bert Knight d. 10373 W. Pico Blvd. KANSAS CITY J. O. Schmitz 34th & Broadway Aves. GREENSBORO, N. C. Atcheson & Adams P.O. Bax 2158 MINNEAPOLIS Merrill Franklin Co. 338 E. Franklin Ave. CANADA H. R. Gray 46 Danforth Rd. Toronto EXPORT Technical Equipment Co. Main & Milton Sts. Rahway, N. J.





MFG. CO., INC.

150 EXCHANGE ST., MALDEN, MASSACHUSETTS, U.S.A.

World Radio History

# For better transmission and reception use

U.S. PAT

Whatever you need—simple antenna support towers or heavier towers for complex transmitting arrays—Wincharger Towers can do the best job for you.

Towers

Antenna Support Towers A, Five and 10-ft. Roof Mount Towersfor amateur and TV antennas.

Roof Mount Towersfor amateur and TV antennas. Using mast and simple guying can elevate antenna nearly 40'.

B. Lightweight Towers has hinged base. In 10' sections. With simple guying will support 4-bay stack at 40'.

C. Self-Supporting. Slender, attractive design—no guys. Will support antenna with maximum wind thrust of 100 pounds. Cement base.

TELEPHONE 2-1844 Dept. HB

SIOUX CITY 2 IOWA

Triangular cross-section transmission towers for rotary beam support . . , for insulated vertical radiators . . . for special, complex arrays of rhombics or curtain antennas . . . or any tower problem you have, you'll have the best results with Wincharger.

TYPE

101

TYPE

78

TYPE

150

TYPE

300

					POWER†
TOWER	Recommended				Watt Rating
TYPE	Max. Height		3 Guys a	CPER FT.*	
			ich Level	,	or Taller)
300	440 ft.	28!s in.	50 ft.	30 lbs.	50,000
1.50	000 //	102/ -	10 11	1 6 11	
150	320 ft.	$18^{\circ} + 10.$	40 ft.	15 lbs.	10,000
101	220 #	14 <sup>3</sup> % in.	25.4	10.1 lbc	5.000
101	£20 II.	14 8 111.	55 II.	10.1 105.	0,000
78	150 ft	14% in.	35 ft	781he	5,000
/0	100 10.	1 1 / 6 III.	0011.	7.0 105.	0,000
42-4	<b>7</b> 125 ft.	13½ in.	30 ft.	4.7 lbs.	3.000
- 7 244 7 7	140 14		00 14	117 100.	0,000

\*Tower steel only-weight of guys, insulators, etc. not included, †Insulation for greater power available at slight extra cost.



Another new, outstanding instrument design so typically character-istic of Heathkit operation in producing high quality instrument kits at the lowest possible price. A new, improved model Impedance Bridge kit featuring modern cabinet styling, with slanted panel for convenience of operation and interpretation of scales at a \$10.00 price reduction over the preceding model. Built-in adjustable phase shift oscillator and amplifier with all tubes of the battery operated type completely eliminates warm-up time. The instrument is en-tirely AC line operated. No bothersome battery replacements. The Heathkit IB-2 Impedance Bridge Kit actually represents four instruments in one compact unit. The Wheatstone Bridge for cresistance measurements, the Capacity Comparison Bridge for capa-city measurements, Maxwell Bridge for low Q, and Hay Bridge for high Q inductance measurements. Read Q, D, DQ all on one dial thereby eliminating possible confusion due to the incorrect dial reference or adjustment. Only one set of instrument terminals nec-

Heathkit

AUDIO WATTMETER







A new Heathkit design for the au-dio engineer, serious hi fi enthu-siast, recording studio, or broadcast station; the Heathkit Audio Wattmeter Kit. This specialized instrument instantly indicates the output level of the equipment under test without requiring the use of external load resistors. All

use of external load resistors. All readings are taken directly from the calibrated scales of a 4½ 200 microampere Simpson meter. The Heathkir Audio Wattmeter features five full scale power meas-urement ranges from 5 milliwatts up to 50 watts with db ranges of -15 db to +48 db. The instrument has a power measurement rating of 25 watts continuous and 50 watts maximum for inter-mittent operation. Non-inductive resistance load impedances of 4, 8, 16, and 600 ohms are provided through a panel impedance selector switch. Frequency effect is negligible from 10 cycles to 250 kc. A conventional VTVM circuit utilizes a 12AU7 twin triode tube. The meter bridge circuit uses four germanium diodes for good Nne-The meter bridge circuit uses four germanium diodes for good Nne-

arity. With the Heathkit AW-1 desired information can be obtained with the reactive of w-1 desired information can be obtained instantly and conveniently without bothering with the irksome setups and calculations usually required. Useful for power curve measure-ments, frequency response checks, monitoring indicator, etc. Con-venient calibration directly from 110 volt AC line source. This new instrument will help to supply the answers to your audio operating or power output problems.

# LABORATORY GENERATOR KIT

Heathkit



external generator use.



Another welcome new addition tO

the popular line of Heathkit instruments, the Heathkit Lab-

oratory Generator. Specifically designed for flexibility of operation, accuracy and versatility beyond the performance level provided by the conventional service type generator. Frequency coverage of the Colpitts oscillator is 150kc to 30mc in five convenient ranges with provisions for internal or external modulation up to 50%, and 1 volt RF output throughout the frequency range. Panel mounted 200 microampere Simpson meter for RF "set reference level" to provide relative indication of RF output. Individually shielded oscillator and shielded variable and step

attenuator provide flexible control of RF output. The circuit features a 6AF4 high frequency oscillator, a 6AV5 amplifier with grid modulation, 12AU7 400 cycle oscillator and modulator, OB2 voltage regulator tube, and a selenium rectifier for the transformer operated power supply. The smart professional instrument appearance and over-all flexibility of operation will prove a decided asset to any in-dustrial or educational laboratory. The Heathkit Laboratory o Generator sets a new level of operation, far superior to any instrument in this price classification.



Announcing the latest addition to a brilliant series of Heathkit Oscillo-scopes, the new Model O-9. This ourstanding instrument incorporates all of the teatures developed and proven in the production of well over 50,000 kirs, in addition to a hout of many new design features tor truly outstanding performance. This new scope features a brand new (no sur-plus) commercially available SUP1 eatheder at tube for function to use and size for design and industrial laboratories, development engineers, and service men. The only size CR tube offering a wide range of types, colors, physical description of the size of the tocusing. WERTICAL ANPLIFIER— New extended band width vertical amplifier tortaine lies in improved basic design and operating characteristics, and not in the use of latest CR tubes. WERTICAL ANPLIFIER— New extended band width vertical amplifier variable capacitors for proper input compensation, provisions for cali-brated 1 wit peak-to-peak reference, with calibrated screen for direct reading of TV pulses.

# Heathkit LOW CAPACITY PROBE KIT

NO. 342 \$ 250 SHIP. WT. 1 LB.

Oscilloscope investigation of high frequency, high impedance, or broad bandwidth circuits ercountered in television work requires the use of a low capacity probe to prevent loss of pain, distortion, or false service information. The Heathki Low Capacity Probe features a variable capacitor to provide the necessary degree of instrument impedance matching. New probe styling with bright polished alu-minum housing and polystyrene probe ends. 0

# Heathkit **VOLTAGE CALIBRATOR KIT**



MODEL VC-2 150 SHIPPING WT. 4 LB5.

The Heathkit Voltage Calibrator provides a convenient method of making peak-to-peak voltage measurements with an oscilloscope by establishing a relationship on a comparison basis between the amplitude of an unknown wave shape and the known output of the voltage calibrator. Peak-to-peak voltage values are read directly on the calibrated panel scales. To offset line voltage supply irregularities, the instrument features a voltage regulator tube.

With the Heathkit Voltage Calibrator, it is possible to measure all types of complex wave forms within a voltage range of .01 to 100 volts peak-to-peak. A convenient "signal" position on the panel switch by-passes the calibrator completely and the sig-nal is applied to the oscilloscope input thereby eliminating the necessity for transferring test leads.

HORIZONTAL AMPLI-FIER — New input se-lector switch provides choice of heri-zontal input. 60 cycle sweep input. Ine sync, internal sync, and external sync, Expanded horizontal sweep produces sweep width several times the cathod ray tube diameter. New bilawing amplifier for complete retrace lanking and new phasing control. POWER SUPPLY — New high voltage power upply and filtering cir-cut for really time hairline focusing. New heavy duty power transformer with adequate operating reserve. Voltage regulated upply for both vertical and horizontal amplihers for absolutely reak steady traces and complete freedom from bounce and jitter due to line variatens. The acid test of any excelloscope operation is the ability to reproduce high frequency square waves and the new Heathkit 0.9 will faithfully re-roduce square waves up to 500 kc. This is the ideal all around, general purpose oscilloscope for educational and industria, use, radio and TV serv-cing, and any other type of work requiring the instantaneous reproduction and observation of actual wave forms and other electrical phenomena.



-

a

0 a

ò o

ŏ

0

0 0

Heathkit SCOPE DEMODULATOR PROBE KIT

SHIP. WT. 1 LB.

In applications such as trouble shooting or aligning TV, RF, IF, and video stages, the frequency ranges encounced require demod-ulation of signals beire oscilloscope presen-tation, The newly-styled Heathkit Demodula-tor Probe in polished aluminum howing will fulfil, this function and readily prove its value as an oscilloscope service accessory. De-tailed assembly sheet provided, including in-structions for torbe generation. structions for probe aperation.

# Heathkit ELECTRONIC SWITCH KIT

The basic function of the Heathkit S-2 Electronic Switch Kit is to permit simul-taneous oscilloscope observation of two separate traces which can be either sepa-rated or superimposed for individaal study. A typical example would be ob-servation of a signal as it appears at beth the input and output stages of an ampli-for. It will also serve as a square wave generator over the range of switching fre-quencies often providing the necessary wave form response information without instrument. Dominously variable switching rates in three ranges from less than 10 cps to over 2,000 cps. Individual controls for each input channel and a positioning con-trol. The five tube transformer operated circuit utilizes two 65/7, two 65/7, and ong 6X5 tubes. Buy this kit and en oy increased versatility of operation from your oscilloscope.

your oscilloscope.



MODEL S-2 50 SHIP, WT. 11 LBS.



The beautiful Heathkit Model V-6 VTVM, the world's largest selling kit instrument, now offers many outstanding new features in addition to retaining all of the refinements developed and proven in the production of over 100.000 VTVM's. This is the basic measuring instrument for every branch of electronics. Easily meets all requirements for accuracy, stability, sensitivity, convenience of ranges, meter readability, and modern styling. It will accurately measure DC voltages, AC voltages, offers tremendous obmmeter range coverage and a complete db

modern stjing, it will accurately measure DC voltages, AC voltages, offers tremendous ohmmeter range coverage, and a complete db scale for a total of 35 meter ranges. New 115 volt full scale low range provides well over 21, " of scale length per volt. Upper DC scale limit 1,500 volts. DC ranges 0-1.5, 5, 15, 50, 150, 500, 1,500 volts full scale. AC ranges 0-1.5, 5, 15, 50, 150, 500, 1,500 (1,000 volts maximum). Seven ohm-

# Heathkit 30,000 VOLT DC PROBE KIT

For TV service work or any similar application where the measurement of high DC voltage is required, the Heathkir Model 556 High Voltage Probe Kit will prove invaluable. A precision multiplier resistor mounted inside the two-color, sleek, plastic probe body provides a multiplimultiplier resistor mounted inside the two sleek, plastic probe body provides a n cation factor of 100 on the DC ranges of the Heathkit 11 megohm. VTVM, The entire kit includes precision resis-tor, two-color plastic probe, tip con-nector spring, test lead, phone plug panel connector, and complete assembly instructions. Instructions





Heathkit PEAK-TO-PEAK PROBE KIT

Now read peak-to-peak voltages on the DC scales of the Heathkit 11 megohm VTVM. Readings can be directly made from the VTVM scale without involved calculations. Measure-ments over the frequency range of 5 kc to 5 mc. Use this probe to extend the usefulness of your VTVM in radio and TV service work. The Peak-to-Peak Probe Kit features the new polished aluminum housing with two-color polystyrene probe ends. Detailed assembly sheet including instructions for probe operation.

# Heathkit RF PROBE KIT

**FKUPE NIT** The Heathkit RF Probe used in conjunction with any 11 megohin VTVM will permit RF meas-urements up to 250 mc,  $\pm$  10%. A useful, con-venient accessory for those occasions when RF measurements are desired. The RF probe body is housed in the new, smartly-styled polished aluminum probe body featuring two-color poly-syrgene probe ends and a low capacity flexible shielded test lead. The kit is complete with all necessary material and a destiled assembly sheet as well as instructions for probe operation.



SHIP. WT. 2 LBS.

identification, all other scales a sharp, crisp black for easy reading. A variety of accessory probes shown on this page still add further to over-all instrument usefulness. Heathkit AC VACUUM TUBE

**VOLTMETER KIT** 

ience a DC polarity reversing switch and a center scale zero adjust-ment for FM alignment. The smartly styled, compact, sturdy, formed aluminum cabinet is finished in an attractive gray crackle exterior. The beautiful two-color, durable, infra-red, baked enamel panel further adds to the

Top quality components used throughout. 11/2 precision resistors

-silver contact range and selector switches — selenium rectiher — transformer operated power supply. Individual calibration on both AC and DC for maximum accuracy. DB scale printed in red for easy

MODEL AV-2

Ð )50

over-all professional appearance.

SHIPPING WT. 5 LBS.

The new Heathkit AC VTVM that makes possible those sensitive AC measurements required by laboratories, audio enthusiasts, and experimenters. Especi-ally useful for hum investiga-tion, sensitive null detection, phono pick-up output measure-

shono pick-up output measure-ments, making frequency response runs, gain measurements, ripple voltage checks, etc. Low level measurements are easy to make because of the complete voltage coverage of the instrument and the one knob operation. The large 200 microampere Simpson meter has clearly marked and easy to read meter scales. Ten voltage ranges covering from .01 rms full scale to 300 volts rms full scale, with frequency response  $\pm 1$  db from 20 cycles to 50,000 cycles. Instrument input impedance 1 megohm, ten db ranges from -52 db ro +52 db. For stability and good linearity characteristics the meter bridge circuit features 4 germanium diodes. Attractive instrument styling, a companion piece for the popular Heathkit VTVM and the new AW-1 Audio Wattmeter. Wattmeter.

# CHECK THESE Features

- 20,000 ohms per volt DC sensitivity, 5,000 ohms per volt on AC
- 🛩 Polarity reversal switch
- 1% precision multiplier resistors
- 🛩 50 microampere 4½" Simpson meter
- Meter ranges for service convenience
- New resistor ring-switch assembly
- 🖊 Total of 35 meter ranges
- 🛩 New Modern cabinet styling

NEW *Heathkit* MULTIMETER KIT MODEL MM-1 \$2650 SHIPPING WT. 6 LBS.



The most important Heathkit announcement of the year, the new 20,000 ohms per volt Heathkit Multimeter. Model MM-1. The universal service measuring instrument, accurate, sensitive, portable, and completely independent of AC line supply. Particularly designed for service use incorporating many desirable features for the convenience of the service man. Full 20,000 ohms per volt sensitivity on DC ranges — 5,000 ohms per volt sensitivity on AC—polarity reversal switch, no bothersome transferring of test leads — 1% precision multiplier resistors — large  $4\frac{1}{2}$ " recessed non-glare 50 microampre Simpson meter — conveniently slanted control panel — recessed safety type banana jacks — standard universally available batteries rugged practical sized cabinet with plastic carrying handle, and a total of 35 calibrated meter ranges. RANGES

Voltage ranges selected entirely for service convenience. For example 11/2 volt full scale low range for measuring portable radio filament voltages, bias voltages, etc., 150 volt full scale range for AC DC certains work 500 wolt full reale range for

SHIP. WT.

2 L85

range for AC-DC service work, 500 volt full scale range for conventional transformer operated power supply systems. Complete voltage ranges AC and DC, 0-1.5—5—50—150—500—1,500—5,000 volts. DC current ranges, 0-150 microamperes—15 milliamperes—150 milliamperes—500 milliamperes—15 amperes. Resistance measurements from .2 ohms to 20 meg-

ohms x 1 x 1,000 x 10,000. DB coverage from -10 db to +65 db.

### CONSTRUCTION

Entirely new design permits assembly, mounting and wiring of precision resistors on a ring-switch assembly unit. The major portion of instrument wiring is completed before mounting the ring-switch assembly to the panel. No cal bration procedure is required, all precision resistors readily accessible in event of replacement.

## CABINET

Strikingly modern cabinet styling featuring two piece construction, durable black Bakelite cabinet, with easy to read panel designations. Cabinet size  $5\frac{1}{2}$  wide x 4" deep x  $7\frac{1}{2}$ " high. Good cabiner physical stability when operated in vertical position.

The Heathkit MM-1 represents a terrific instrument value for a high quality 20,000 ohms per volt unit using all 1% deposited carbon type precision resistors. Here is quality, performance, functional design, and attractive appearance, all combined in one low priced package.



The Heathkit Battery Tester measures all types of dry batteries between 116 volts and 150 volts under actual load conditions. Readings are made directly on a three color Good-Weak-Replace scale. Operation is extremely simple and merely requires that the test leads be connected to the battery under test. Only one control to adjust in addition to a panel switch for "A" or "B" battery types. The Heathkit Battery Tester features compact assembly, ac-MODEL BT-1 curate meter movement, and a three deck wire-wound control, \$ 8 50 all mounted in a portable rugged plastic cabinet. Checks portable

radio batteries, hearing aid bat-

teries, lantern batteries, etc.

# *Heathkit* HANDITESTER KIT

The Heathkit Model M-1 Handitester readily fulfills major requirements for a compact, portable volt ohm milliammeter. Despite its compact size, the Handitester is packed with every desirable feature required in an instrument of this type. AC or DC voltage ranges full scale. 0.10 - 30 - 300 - 1.000 - 5.000 volts. Two ohmmeter ranges, 0-3.000 and 0-300,000. Two DC current measurement ranges, 0-10 milli amperes and 0-100 milliamperes. The instrument uses a Simpson 400 microampere meter movement, which is shunted with resistors to provide a uniform 1 milliampere load on both AC and DC ranges. Special type, easily accessible, battery mounting bracket -1 for deposited carbon type precision resistors — hearing aid type ohms adjust control. The Handitester is easily assembled from complete instructions and pictorial diagrams. Necessary test leads are ancluded in the price of this pepular kit.

# HEATH COMPANY . Benton Harbor 26, Mich.

0

00

0

0

000

0

9

13

0

00

00

0

0

00

0

MODEL M-1

STA 50

SHIPPING WT.

3 LBS.



Here is the new Heathkit Battery Eliminator necessary for modern, up-to-date operation of your service shop. The Heathkit Model BE-4 furnishes either 6 volts or 12 volts output which can be selected at the flick of a panel switch. Use the BE-4 to service the new 12 volt car radios in addition to the conventional 6 volt radios.

This new Battery Eliminator provides two continuously variable output ranges, 0-8 volts DC at 10 amperes continuously, or 15 amperes maximum intermittent; 0-16 volts DC at 5 amperes continuously or 7.5 amperes maximum intermittent. The output voltage is clean and well filtered as the circuit uses two 10,000 mf condensers. The continuously variable voltage output feature is a definite aid in determining the starting point of vibrators, the voltage operating range of oscillator circuits.

rent output and will quickly indicate the presence of a major circuit fault in the equipment under test. The power transformer primary winding is fuse protected and for additional safety an automatic relay of the self-resetting type is incorporated in the DC output circuit. The heavy duty rectifier is a split type 18 plate magnesium copper sulfide unit used either as a full wave rectifier or voltage doubler according to the position of the panel range switch.

Here is the ideal battery eliminator for all of your service problems and as an additional feature, it can also be used as a battery charger. Another new application for the Heathkit Battery Eliminator is a variable source of DC filament supply in audio development and research. More than adequate variable voltage and current range for normal applications.

# Heathkit VIBRATOR TESTER KIT

Your repair time is valuable, and service use of the Heathkit Vibrator Tester will save you many hours of work. This tester will instantly tell you the condition of the vibrator being checked. Checks vibrators for proper starting and the easy to read meter indicates quality of output on a large Bad-?-Good scale. The Heath-

wheter indicates quality of output on a large Bad-?-Good scale. The Heathkit VT-1 checks both interrupter and self rectifier types of vibrators. Five different sockets for checking hundreds of vibrator types. The Heathkit Vibrator Tester operates

The Heathkit Vibrator Tester operates from any battery eliminator capable of delivering continuously variable voltage from 4 to 6 volts DC at 4 amperes. The new Heathkit Model BE-4 Battery Eliminator would be an ideal source of supply.



MODEL VT-1 \$14.50 SHIPPING WT. 6 LBS.

# NEW Heathkit VARIABLE VOLTAGE ISOLATION TRANSFORMER KIT

The new Heathkit Isolation Transformer Kit provides line isolation for AC-DC radius (not an auto transformer), thereby eliminating shock hazard, hum problems, alignment difficulties, etc. The output voltage is variable from 90 to 130 volts AC and is constantly monitored by a panel mounted AC volt meter. Use it to increase AC supply voltage in order to induce breakdown of faulty components in circuits thereby saving service time. Use it also to simulate varying line voltage conditions and to determine the line voltage level at which oscillator circuits case functioning, particularly in three-way portable radios. Rated at 100 watts maximum intermitent operation. A useful radio and TV service tool.



MODEL IT-1

SHIP. WT. 9 LBS.

650



Heathkit BINDING POST

Binding post kit now available so that standardization of all instrument connectors is possible. This new, five-way binding post will accommodate an alligator clip, banana plug, test lead pin, spade lue, or hook-up wire. Sold in units of 20 binding post assemblies. Each assembly includes binding post, flat and shoulor; fiber washers, solder lug, and nut. 12<sup>th</sup> pieces in all. Kit 362, \$4.00.



Heathbit TECHNICAL APPLICATION BULLETINS

An exclusive Heathkit service. Technical application bullerins prepared by recognized instrument authoriucs outlining various combinations of instrument applications. Available now with 40 four-page illustrated bullerins and an attractive fiesible loose-leaf binder. Only S2.00. (No c.o.d. on this item, please.)



Proudly announcing an entirely new advanced model TV and FM Sweep Generator, the Heathkit Model TS-3. This new design provides features and combinations of functions not found in any other service type instrument. Every design consideration has been given to the requirements of the TV service man to provide a flexible, variable sweep source with more than adequate RF out-put and complete frequency coverage throughout the TV and FM spectrum.

The frequency range of the TS-3 is from 4 mc to 220 mc in four switch selected ranges. All frequency ranges are overlapping for complete coverage. A particularly important feature of the instrucomplete coveringe. A particularly important restrict of the insufe-ment is that the oscillator operates entirely on fundamentals, there-by providing complete freedom from spurious oscillation and parasities normally encountered in beat frequency type oscillators. This circuity assures a much higher total R1 ou put level and simplifies attenuation problems. The new TS-3 features an entirely new principle of sweep oper-transmission and the entirely new principle of sweep oper-

ation. Sweep action is entirely electronic with no moving parts or electro-mechanical devices so commonly used. The heart of the sweep system is a newly-developed INCREDUCTOR controllable inductor. With this system, the value of inductance of each oscil-

NEW Heathkit

lator coil is electrically varied with an AC control current, and the inductance variation is achieved by a change in the magnetic state of the core on which the oscillator coils are wound. This system provides a sweep deviation of not less than 12 mc on all TV frequencies, and up to a maximum of 30 mc on TV IF fre-quencies. The high RF output level throughout the instrument frequency range overcomes the most common complaint of the frequency range overcomes the most common complaint of the older type sweep generators. A new, automatic amplitude control circuit maintains the output level flat to  $\pm 2$  db throughout the instrument range. For convenience of operation a low impedance 50 ohm output is u.ed. Operation of the instrument has been simplified through the reduction of panel controls and separate panel terminals provide for external synchronization if desired. The circuit uses a voltage regulator tube to maintain stable instrument operation. A built-in wright excillance mether further adds to flexibility of instrument

regulator take to maintain stable instrument operation. A built-in operation. Provisions are also made for the use of an external marker, such as your service type signal generator, if desired. Use the Hearthkit TS-3 for rapid, accurate TV alignment work, and let it help you solve those time consuming, irksome problems so featuredly accurate frequently encountered.

SIGNAL GENERATOR KIT

MODEL SG-8

\$**19**50

SHIPPING WEIGHT 8 POUNDS

Announcing the new Heathkit Model SG-8 service type Signal Generator, in-corporating many design features not usually found in an instru-ment in this price range, all on funda-mentals, with useful harmonics up to 200 mc. The RF out-put level is in excess of 100,000 microvolts throughout the trequency range. The oscillator circuit consists of a 12AT7 twin triode tube. One half is used as a Colpity oscillator, and the other half

One half is used as a Colpits of a 12A1? (Win triode tube, One half is used as a Colpits oscillator, and the other half as a cathode follower output which acrs as a buffer between the oscillator and external load. This circuity eliminates oscillator frequency shift usually caused by external circuit loading

All coils are factory wound and adjusted, thereby com-All coils are factory would and adjusted, thereby com-pletely eliminating the need for calibration and the use of additional calibrating equipment. The stable low impedance output features a step and variable attenuator for complete control of RF level. A 6C4 triode acts as a 400 cycle sine wave oscillator and a panel switching sys-tem permits a choice of either external or internal modulation.

The transformer operated circuit is easy to assemble, requires no calibration, and meets every service require-ment for an adjustable level variable frequency signal source, either modulated or un-modulated.

# NEW Heathkit BAR GENERATOR KIT

MODEL BG-1 **A** 50

## SHIPPING WEIGHT 6 POUNDS

The Heathkit BG-1 Bar Generator represents another welcome addition to the fast growing line of popular Heathkits. The

station transmitted test pattern is rapidly disappearing, and the bar generator is the logical answer to the TV service man's problem in obtaining quick, accurate adjustment information without waiting for test patterns.

The Heathkit BG-1 produces a series of horizontal or vertical bars on a TV screen. Since these bars are equally spaced, they will quickly indicate picture linearity of the receiver under test. Panel switch provides "stand-by position" — "horizontal position" — "vertical position." The oscillator unit utilizes a 12AT7 twin triode for the RF oscillator and video carrier frequencies. A neon relaxation oscillator provides low frequency for vertical linearity tests. The instrument will not only produce bar patterns but will also provide an indication of horizontal and vertical sync circuit stability, as well as overall picture size.

Instrument operation is extremely simple, and merely requires connection to the TV receiver antenna terminal. The unit is transformer operated for safety when used in conjunction with universal or transformerless type TV circuits.





The new Model TC-2 Heathkit Tube Checker features many circuit improvements, simplified wiring, new roll chart drive and illumination of roll chart. The

instrument is primarily designed for the convenience of the radio and TV service man and will check the operating quality of tubes commonly encount-ered in this type of work. Test set-up procedure is simplified, rapid, and flex-ible. Panel sockets accommodate 4, 5, 6, and 7 pin tubes, octal and loctal, 7 and 9 pin miniatures, 5 pin Hytron and a blank socket for new tubes. Built-in neon short indicator, individual three-position lever switch for each tube element, spring return test switch, 14 filament voltage ranges, and line set control to compensate for supply voltage variations, all represent important design features of the TC-2. Results of tube tests are read directly from a large  $41_2$ " Simpson three-color meter, calibrated in terms of Bad-?-Good. Information that your customer can readily understand. Checks emission, shorted elements, open elements, and continuity. The use of closer tolerance resistors in critical circuits assures correct test

information and eliminates the possibility of inaccurate test interpretation. Improvement has been made in the mechanical roll chart drive system, completely eliminating diagonal running, erratic operation, and backlash. The thumb wheel gear driven action is smooth, positive, and free running. As an when the tube checker is used on radio or TV home service calls. Wiring procedure has been simplified through the extended use of multi-

cable, color coded wires, providing a harness type installation between tube sockets and lever switches. This procedure insures standard assembly and im-parts that "factory built" appearance to instrument construction. Completely detailed information is furnished in the new step by-step construction manual, regarding the set-up procedure for testing of new or unlisted tube types. No delay necessary for release of factory data. The new Heathkit Tube Checker will prove its value in building service

pressige through usefulness—simplified operation—attractive professional appearance. Don't overlook the fact that the kit price represents a savings of \$40.00 to \$50.00 over the price of a comparable commercially built instrument. At this low price, no service man need be without the advantages offered by the Heathkit Tube Checker.

# Heathkit POWER SUPPLY KIT



The Heathkit Laboratory Power Supply features continuously variable, regulated, voltage output with good stability under wide load variations. A 415" Simpson plastic enclosed panel mounted meter provides accurate meter output information of voltage or current. All panel terminals completely isolated from the cabinet. Separate 6.3 volt AC supply at 4 amperes for filament requirements. Ripple component exceptionally low, stand-by switch provided to climinate warm-up time of the five tube circuit.

# CHECK THESE NEW Features

- Simplified harness wiring
- Improved, smooth, anti-backlash roll chart action
- Optional roll chart illumination
- Individual element switches
- Portable or counter style cabinet
- Spare blank socket
- Contact type pilot light test socket
- Simplified test set-up procedure
- Line adjust control
- 412" three-color meter

New HEATHKIT PORTABLE TUBE CHECKER KIT

MODEL TC-2P \$3450

### SHIP. WT. 14 LBS.

The portable model is sup-

The portable model is sup-plied with a strikingly at-tractive two-tone cabinet finished in rich maroon, proxy-lin impreparted, fabric covering with a contrasting gray on the inside cover. Detachable cover, brass-plated hardware, sturdy plastic handle help to impart a truly professional appearance to the instrument.

PORTABLE TUBE CHECKER CABINET as described above will fit all earlier Heathkir TC-1 Tube Checkers. Shipping weight 7 lbs. Cabinet only, 91-8, \$7.50.



# LABORATORY AND SERVICE SHOP BOOKLETS

"Planning Your Service Business" by John T. Frye, and "Establishing the Industrial Electronics Laboratory" by Louis B. Garner, Jr., ark bookles available to Heath-kit customers at no charge. These busiling methods has not charge. bit customers at no charge. These biolders, written by nationally recog-nized authorities, outline the various requirements and considerations for establishing your own service busi-ness or for setting up an industrial electronics laboratory. Full attention is given to various details that are frequently overlooked when projects of this nature are underaken. Just write in to the Heath Company re-questing your free copy, or attach a memo to your next order.

50

SHIPPING WT.

17 LBS.

# HEATH COMPANY . Benton Harbor 26, Mich.

World Radio History

å

ė.

à

ė

.



An entirely new type of signal tracer incorporating a combina-tion of features not found in any other instrument. Designed ex-pressly for the radio and TV service man. particularly for the servicing of AM, FM, and TV circuits. Here in a five tube, trans-former operated instrument are all of the useful functions so necessary for speedy, accurate isolation of service difficulty. This new signal tracer features a special high gain RF input channel, used in conjunction with a newly-designed wide frequency range demodulator probe. High RF sensitivity permits signal tracing at the receiver antenna input. A separate low gain channel and probe available for audio circuit exploration. Both input chan-nels are constantly monitored by an electron ray beam indicator, so that visual as well as aural signal indications may be observed. The instrument can also be used for comparative estimation of gain per stage. gain per stage.

A decidedly unusual feature is a noise localizer circuit in conjunction with the audio probe. With this system, a DC potential is applied to a suspected circuit component and the action of the

4 LBS.

Heathkit

DECADE CONDENSER KIT

The Heathkit Decade Condenser Kit MODEL DC-1

Heathkit DECADE RESISTANCE KIT

MODEL DR-1 The Decade Resistance Kit provides individual switch selection of re-sistance values using twenty 1% resistors providing a choice of I ship. WT. Ceramic water switches, silver-bland contacts smooth positive de-

4 LBS. plated contacts, smooth, positive de-tent action, baked enamel panel, and handsome, polished birch cabinet.

\$1650

SHIP WT

voltage in the component can be seen as well as heard. Invaluable for ferreting out noisy or intermittent condensers, noisy resistors, controls, coils. IF and power transform-ers, et. A built-in calibrated wattmeter circuit is very useful for a quick preliminary check of the total wattage consumption of the equipment under test. Separate panel terminals provide external use of the speaker or output transformer for substitution purposes. use of the speaker of output transformer for substitution purposes. Saves valuable service time by eliminating the necessity for speaker removal on every service job. The terminals also permit the utili-zation of other slop equipment, such as your oscilloscope or VTVM, The T-3 Signal Tracer can be used as a high gain amplifier for checking tuners, record changers, microphones, phono crustle are crystals, etc.

Don't overlook the interesting service possibilities provided through the use of this new instrument and let it work for you by saving time and money. The kit is supplied complete with all tubes, circuit components, demodulator probe, audio probe, and additional test leads.

# Heathkit. CONDENSER CHECKER KIT





8 POUNDS

Use the Heathkit C-3 Con-denser Checker to quickly and accurately measure those unknown condenser

and resistor values. All readings are taken directlife from the call and scale scales without re-quiring any involved calculation. Capacity meas-urements in four ranges from .00001 mf to 1,000 mf. Checks paper, mica, ceramic, and electrolytic condensers. A power factor control is

mica, ceramic, and electrolytic condenses. A power factor control is available for accurate indication of electrolytic condenser measurements. A leakage test switch with switch selection of five polarizing voltages, 25 volts to 450 volts DC, will indicate condenser operating quality under actual load condition. The spring return leakage test switch automatically discharges the condenser under test and eliminates shock heaved to the operator. hazard to the operator.

Resistance measurements can be made in the range from 100 ohms to 5 megohms. Here again all values are read directly on the calibrated scale. Increased circuit sensitivity coupled with an electron beam null

scale. Increased circuit sensitivity coupled with an electron beam null indicator increases overall instrument usefulness. For safety of operation the circuit is entirely transformer operated and the instrument is housed in the attractive, newly-styled Heathkit cahinet, featuring rounded corners, and drawn aluminum panel. The outstanding low kit price for this surprisingly accurate instrument in-cludes necessary test leads. Good service shop operation requires the use of this specialized instrument, designed for the express purpose of determining unknown condenser values and operating characteristics.

HEATH COMPANY • Benton Harbor 26, Mich.



MODEL R5-5500 SHIP. WT. 2 LB5. The Heathkit Resistance Sub-stitution Box prevides indi-to Box prevides indi-ner of 36 RTMA 1 water 10% standard value resistors, anging from 1 i ohms to 10 meghoms. Many applica-tions in circuit development work, and also in radio and TV service work. Ideal for experi-mentally determining resistance values and for quickly altering circuit open-ting characteristics. Entire unit housed in attractive Bakelie cabinet, rearing the new universal type Heathkit binding posts to simplify circuit connections.

### World Radio History



Here is the latest Heathkit addition to the ham radio field, the Here is the latest Heathkit addition to the ham radio field, the AT-1 Transmitter Kit, incorporating many desirable design fea-tures at the lowest possible dollar-per-watts price. Panel mounted crystal socket, stand-by switch, key click filter, AC line filtering, good shielding, etc. VFO or crystal excitation— up to 35 watts input. Built-in power supply provides 425 volts at 100 ma. This kit features pre-wound coils, single knob band switching, 52 ohm coaxial output, plug in chassis provisions for VFO or modu-lator and rugged clean construction. Frequency range 80, 40, 20,

Heathkit

COMMUNICATIONS RECEIVER KIT

Transmitter kit. Many outstandingly desirable features have been incorporated in the design of the AR-2; such as, electrical bandspread for logging and tuning convenience — high gain miniature tubes — IF transformers for high sensitivity and good signal to noise ratio — separate RF gain control with optional automatic volume control or manual volume control, in addition to the conventional audio gain control. Noise limiter — stand-by switch — stable BFO oscillator circuit — headphone jack — transformer operation, etc., all contribute to a high performance standard.

Frequency coverage is continuous from 535 kc to 35 mc in four ranges. For added convenience, various ham bands have been separately

15, 11, and 10 meters. Tube line-up 6AG7 oscillator-multiplier, 6L6 amplifier-doubler, 5UiG rectifier. Physical dimensions 81.8" high x 131.8" wide x 7" deep. This amazingly low kit price includes all circuit components, tubes, cabinet, punched chassis, and detailed construction manual. The ideal kit for the novice just breaking into ham radio. It can be used later on as a stand-by rig or an all band exciter for higher powered trunsmitter. powered transmitter.

Heathkit ANTENNA IMPEDANCE METER

NEW Heathkit ANTENNA COUPLER KIT

New Heathkit Antenna Coupler, speci-ally designed for the Heathkii ATLI Transmitter. The Anten Coupler can be used with any 52 ohm coaxial in-put — up to 75 watts power. Low pass filter with curoif frequency of approximately 36 mc — L section uning network — neon tuning indi-cator — rugged, compact construction — transmitter type variable condenser, and high Q coil are all outstanding features. The AC-I has both inductance and capa-city tuning for maximum operating versa-city tuning for maximum operating versa-tility. Dimensions 81/a" wide x 43/a"

MODEL AR-2 \$25<sup>50</sup> SHIP. WT.

Here is the new receiver kit you have repeatedly asked for, the Heathkit repeatedly asked for, the Heathkit Communications Receiver. The per-fect companion piece for the AT-1





### MODEL GD-18

The invaluable instrument for service men, hams, and experimenters. Useful in TV service work for alignment of traps, filters, IF stages,

peaking compensation networks, etc. Locates spurious oscillation. provides a relative indication of power in

a relative indication of power in transmitter stages, use it for neutralization, locating para-sitics, correcting TVI, meavuring C, L, and Q of compo-nents, and determining RF circuit resonant frequencies. With oscillator energized, useful for finding resonant fre-quency of tuned circuits With the oscillator not energized, the instrument acts as an absorption wave meter. Variable meter sensitivity control, head phone jack, 500 microampere Simpson meter. Continuous frequency coverage from 2 mc to 250 mc. Pre-wound coil kit and tack new three proper coil mount. rack, new three prong coil mount-ing, 6AF4 high frequency triode.

Two additional plug-in coils are, available and provide continuous extension of low frequency cover-age down to 355 kc. Dial correla-tion curves included Shipping weight 1 lb., kit 341, \$3.00.



# ranges, for added convenience, various nam bands have been separately identified in respect to their relative placement on the slide rule tuning scale. A chassis mounted, 5½° PM speaker is included with this kit. Tube line up 12BE6 mixer oscillator, 12BA6 IF amplifier, 12AV6 de-tector AVC audio, 12BA6 BFO oscillator, 12A6 beam power output, 5Y3GT rectifier. RECEIVER CABINET DY3GT rectifier. RECEIVER CABINET Proxylin impregnated, fabric covered, plywood cabinet with aluminum panel designed expressly for the AR-2 Receiver. Part 91-10, shipping weight 5 lbs., \$4.50.

HEATH COMPANY • Benton Harbor 26, Mich

high

performance standard.


Another outstanding example of successful Heathkit engineering effort in producing a Q Meter Kit within the price range of TV service men, schools, laboratories, and experimenters. This Q Meter meets RF design requirements for rapid, accurate measurement of capacity, inductance, and Q at the operating frequency and all indications of value can be read directly on the meter calibrated scales. Oscillator section sapplies RF fre-

quencies of 150 kc to 18 mc. Calibrate capacitor with range of 40 mmt to 450 mmf, with vernier of  $\pm$  3 mmf.

Particularly useful in TV service work for checking peaking coils, wave traps, chokes, deflection coils, width and linearity coils, etc. At this low kit price research laboratory facilities are within the range of service shops, schools, and experimenters.

## Heathkit INTERMODULATION ANALYZER KIT



The Heathkit IM-1 is an extremely versatile instrument specifically designed for measuring the degree of inter-action between two signals in any portion of an audio chain. It is primarily intended for making tests of audio amplifiers, but may be used in other applications, such as checking microphones, records, recording equipment, phonograph pick-ups, and loud-speakers. High and low test frequency source, intermodulation unit, power supply, and AC vacuum tube volt meter all in one complete instrument. Per cent intermodulation is directly read on the calibrated scales, 30%, 10%, and 3% full scale. Both 4:1 I ratios of low to high frequency easily set up. With this instrument the and performance level of present equipment, or newly developed equipment can be easily and accurately checked. At this low price, you can now enjoy the benchts of intermodulation analysis for accurate audio interpretation.

## Heathkit AUDIO GENERATOR KIT

A Heathkit Audio Generator with frequen-cy coverage from 20 cycles to 1 mc. Re-sponse flar 2 1 db from 20 cycles to 400 kc, down 5 db ar 600 kc, and down only 8 db ar 1 mc. Calibrated, continuously vari-able, and step attenuator output controls provide convenient reference output level. Distortion is less than ...(2) from 100 cps through the audible range. The ideal Con-trollable extended frequency sine wave source for audio circuit investigation and development. development,



2050

## Heathkit AUDIO OSCILLATOR KIT

Sine or square wave coverage from 20 to 20,00.) cycles in three ranges at a controllable output level up to 10 volts. Low distortion, 1% precision resistors in multiplier circuits, high level output across entire frequency range, etc., readily qualify this instrument for audio experimentation and development work. Special circuit design consideration features thermistor operation for good control of linearity.



## Heathkit AUDIO FREQUENCY METER KIT



\$**34**50

The Heathkit Audio Frequency Meter provides a simple and convenient means of checking unknown audio frequencies from 10 cycles to 100 kc at any voltage level between 3 and 300 volts rms with any non-critical wave shape. Instrument operation is entirely electronic. Just set the range switch,

feed an unknown frequency into the instrument, and read the frequency directly on the calibrated scale of the Simp-SHIP. WT. 12 LBS. son 412" meter.

## Heathkit SQUARE WAVE GENERATOR KIT

The Heathkit Square Wave Generator provides an excellent square wave frequency source with completely variable coverage from 10 cycles to 100 kc. This generator features low output impedance of 600 ohms and the output voltage is continuously variable between 0 and 20 volts, thereby providing the necessary degree of operating flexibility. An invaluable instrument for those specialized circuit investigations requiring a good, stable, variable square wave source.

HEATH COMPANY • Benton Harbor 26, Mich.

MODEL SO-1

SHIP. WT. 12 LBS.



- Compensated volume control
- 🖊 Easy to assemble

An entirely new introduction to quality record reproduction, a simple to operate, compact, table top model with none of the specialized custom installation problems usually associated with high fidelity systems. Two matched, synchronized speakers mounted in an acousti-cally correct enclosure reproduce all of the music on the record. Musical reproduction with the unique sensation of being surrounded by a halo of glorious sound. This spectacular characteristic is possible musica thrilling new experience through naturally clear, life-like reproduction of sound at all levels through naturally clear, life-like performance level is vasity superior to that of the ordinary phonograph or console selling for many, may times the price of the Dual. Record Changer plays all sizes = all speeds=automatic shur-off for changer and amplither after the last record is played. A wide tonal

HEATHKIT Dual

RECORD

PLAYER KIT

MODEL RP-1

SHIPPING WT. 30 LBS.

range ceramic cartridge features an ingenieus turn-under twin sap-phire stylus for LP or 78 records without turning the cartridge. Simplified, easy to assemble, four tube amplifier teatures compen-sated volume control and separate tone control. Proxvin impreg-nated fabric covered cabinet supplied completely assembled. You build only the amplifier from step by-step construction. No special-ized tools or knowledge required as full recognition has been given to the fact that many purchasers of this kis enjoy geod musical re-production on a purely non-technical basis, and the construction manual has been simplified to the point where even the complete novice can successfully construct the Heattaki. Dual. The price of the Heattakit Dual includes cahinet. —— Record Changer, two 6" PM speakers, tubes, and all circuit component: required for amplifier construction.

- Andrew	MAIL YOUR ORDER TODAY TO THE HEATH COMPAN BENTON HARBOR 26 MICHIGAN OR PHONE HARBOR 5-11	Y From	Benton R D E R			SHIP VIA Parcel Post Express Freight Best Way
QUANTITY	MODEL NO.		DESCRIPTION		WEIGH*	PRICE
					_	
REMARKS				TOTAL WEIGHT AND AMOUNT ,		
HEAT	гн сом	PANY .	Benton	Harbor	26	Mich

## Internationally Speaking

When it comes to handling reams of press copy, commercial messages and facsimile on an around the clock basis—more and more, engineers are agreed that the rugged, straightforward, easy to service and dependable Gates high powered transmitters are the answer.

Date line-Bangkok, Thailand, Egypt, Norway, Dakar, Alaska, San Salvador, Korea, New York, or you name it — the best guess is — copy via Gates-made international short wave transmitters. Any Gates office will gladly participate in your planning. Overseas customers will also find a Gates representative close at hand. Two Gates 10,000 watt transmitters installed at Press Wireless, Inc., Hicksville, L. I., N. Y., one of the world's foremost companies in international communications.

SSP222



GATES RADIO COMPANY

Manufacturing Engineers Since 1922 QUINCY, ILLINOIS

INTERNATIONAL-13 East 40th St., New York City (Cahle - - - ARLAB)

D 51 East 42nd St. 7501 Sunset Blvd. 0 New York City Los Angeles, Calif. м Е 13th & Spring Sts. Warner Bldg. s Washington, D. C. Atlanta, Georgia Т Canadian Marconi Co. T. 2700 Polk Avenue Montreal, Canada C Houston, Texas



# F. JOHNSON COMPANY

#### 5 Δ SECOND AVENUE SOUTHWEST



VIKING II TRANSMITTER KIT



VIKING VFO KIT



#### MATCHBOX ANTENNA COUPLER



#### LOW PASS FILTER



SIGNAL SENTRY



S.W.R. BRIDGE

### JOHNSON VIKING II TRANSMITTER KIT

TVI suppressed, bondswitching and campletely self-cantained, the Viking II transmitter delivers 130 wotts CW autput and 100 watts phane 160 thraugh 10 meter omateur bonds.

-2	Output	Range	
Band	Frequency Ronge	Band	Frequency Ronge
160	1.8 mc. — 2.4 mc.	20	9.8 mc. — 15.0 mc.
80	2.9 mc. — 4.4 mc.	15	15.0 mc. — 21.8 mc.
40	5.2 mc. — 8.0 mc.	10-11	21 mc. — 30 mc.

Effectively TVI suppressed, feotures include a heavily copper plated cobinet serving as a simple RF shield. Lid is bonded to cabinet with silver plated phosphor bronze contact fingers yet is easily opened by removing just three thumb screws. Cobinet lid and bottom

Indeers yet is easily opened by removing just three thumb screws. Cobinet lid and bottom plate are perforated for effective air cooling. Special shields provided for meter, dial window and shoft openings. Chake-copacitor type filters for power line leads, VFO receptocle, antenna relay terminals as well as key and mike jocks, plus internal filters at RF tubes effectively eliminate spurious rodiation. Wide range pi-network output tuning system provides up to 30 DB second harmonic effectively eliminate and enternation.

Wide ronge pi-network output tuning system provides up to 30 DB second harmonic attenuotion before any external filtering. Shielded caaxial connectors are used for RF output and VFO input terminols. RF section consists of a 6AU6 oscillotor, a 6AQ5 buffer doubler and porollel 6146 out-put amplifier. Modulator, pp 807's operating class ABI with 6AU6 speech amplifier and 6AU6 driver. Parallel 5R4GY HV rectifiers. 5V4G low voltage rectifier with 6AL5 bias rectifier and 6AQ5 clomper screen voltage regulator. Fixed bias applied to buffer and output amplifier for break-in CW operation. Audio response limited to center of

speech ronge. All parts furnished including a complete set of tubes, cabinet, punched chossis, wiring horness, wire, terminols, grammets and all other hordware. Corefully detailed and illus-trated instructions for assembly, test, and aperation are also included. Supplied for 115 volt 50/50 cycle aperation anly. Cabinet dimensions 20° wide, 10<sup>3</sup>/<sub>2</sub> high, 13° deep. Net weight assembled, 65 pounds. Cat. No.

#### VIKING VFO KIT

VIKING VEOKII Variable frequency oscillator with 160 and 40 meter output for frequency multiplying transmitters. Accurately calibrated for all anateur bands from 160 thru 10 meters. 6AU6 electron coupled oscillator, OA2 voltage regulator. Excellent stability is assured by temperature compensated padders and rigid construction. 6.1 venier tuning with high reset accuracy. Power requirements 6.3 volts, 3 amperes, 250-300 volts 15 ma, DC un-regulated. (Power and input connections provided on every Viking transmitter.) Kit furnished complete, less tubes. All parts, assembly and calibration instructions included. When used with a Viking II or other shielded transmitter having filtered power leads, no TVI suppression measures are required. Cat. No. 240-122 Viking VFO Kit less tubes

940-199 Vilia VEO Kit Land	Amateur Net
240-122 Viking VFO Kit, less tubes	\$42,75
240-122-2 Viking VFO Kit, wired and tested	

#### JOHNSON "MATCHBOX"

"Matchbox" loads an almost infinite variety of antennas from 3.5 to 30.0 mcs. Matches balanced antennas from 25 to 1200 ohms resistance. Loads unbalanced, or single wire antennas of approximately 25 to 3000 ohms resistance. Tunes out large amounts of re-actance. Self-contained antenna changeover relay. Bondswitching—front panel con-trols—no internol adjustment required to change bands. Cat. No. S50.93 [change] Matulta Amateur Net

250-23 Johnson "Matchbox", assembled, wired, tested..... \$49.85

#### LOW PASS FILTER

The Johnson Low Pass Filter consists of four individually shielded sections. Handles more than 1000 watts RF, provides 75DB ar more attenuation above 54 mc. Insertion loss, less than .25DB. Teflon insuloted fixed copacitors are replaceable. SO-239 coaxial connectors at each end. Furnished completely wired and pre-tuned.

Amateur Net 250-20 Low Poss Filter....

.. \$13,50

#### JOHNSON SIGNAL SENTRY

CW OR PHONE MONITOR-ALL BANDS, NO TUNING

CW OR PHONE MONITOR—ALL BANDS, NO TUNING A non frequency sensitive RF actuated monitor, the Johnson Signal Sentry monitors CW or phone on all amateur bands to 50 mc. Triagered directly by transmitter RF, unit acts as "On the Air" indicator because transmitter failure is immediately apparent by lack of monitor output. Circuit designed to mute receiver audio when energized by transmitter enabling break-in operation. Powered from receiver or other available supply, the Signal Sentry is easily installed by plugging into receiver headphone jack—plugging headphones into monitor and coupling RF probe to transmitter. Controls: CW TONE and audio VOII IMF.

Maroon cabinet only 3%" x 3%" x 3%". Unit is supplied wired and tested including Instructions and oll cables and connectors for installation. Tubes required but not fur-nished: one 12AX7, one 12AU7. Shipping weight 3 lbs.

Amoteur Net 250-25 Johnson Signal Sentry, less tubes and power supply.....

#### SWR BRIDGE

Provides accurate measurement of standing wave ratios to insure most effective use af a low pass filter and antenna coupler for ultimate in TVI suppression. 52 ohms impedance can be changed to 70 ahms or other desired value. Equipped with SO-239 connectors and polarized meter jacks, 

## AND JACKS, KNOBS AND DIALS, AND PILOT LIGHTS

#### WASECA

## MINNESOTA

#### 6 BAND VIKING MOBILE TRANSMITTER

Power packed mobile kit designed especially for advanced amateurs who demand peak performance, Rated at 60 watts maximum PA input, the Viking Mobile Transmitter fea-tures instant bandswitching (75, 40, 20, 15, 11, and 10 meters) and gaag-tuning for maximum operating convenience. 100% AM modulation engineered for communications naximum operating convenience, 100% AM modulation engineered for communications audio pass band. Adjustable, single control coupling system simplifies loading. Ganged coupling circuits for each band are pre-tuned for efficient antenna matching. Separete PA trimmer permits unusually large frequency excursions without antenna loading coil adjustments, RF section, 68H6 oscillator, 6AQ5 buffer doubler and 807 power amplifier. Powerful PP 807 modulator, operates well within ratings and is designed for extra audio punch necessary for solid mobile communications. 68H6 speech amplifier and 68H6 driver has sufficient gain for either high impedence or carbon microphone. Unique RF bias system protects RF tubes and modulators and eliminates power-wasting cathode resistor bias. Special "Tune, Receive, Transmit" switch enables: "non-swish VFO tuning and receiver muting. Other controls: Audio Gain, PA Exitation, Meter Switch, Crystal selector and filament On-Off. Unit may be wired for either 6 or 12 volts. Designed for maximum efficiency using power supplies delivering 300 volts (30 watts PA input) to 600 volts (60 watts PA input) at 200 MA, the Viking Mobile is furnished in kit form with all parts, punched chasis, hardware and connectors. Step by step instructions completely illustrated for simplified assembly by the experienced amateur. Complete control wiring specifications and antenna sugges-tions included. Dimensions 67<sub>16</sub> %7 % %x10%%". Weight 16 lbs. Less tubes, crystals, micro-phone and power supply.

phone and power supply. Cat. No. 240-141 Viking Mobile Tronsmitter Kit. 240-141-2 Wired and Tested Viking Mobile available on special order. Amateur Net

#### VIKING MOBILE VFO

A diminutive variable frequency oscillator designed specifically for mobile use, the Viking Mobile VFO measures only 4 %4 ½ %5 ". Double bearing ceramic insulated turing capacitor...ceramic air dielectric trimmers...ceramic switches....ceramic coil form and heavy aluminum cabinet minimize frequency shift due to road shock and vibration.

and heavy aluminum cabinet minimize frequency shift due to road shock and vibration. Split colpits oscillator, compensated for an extremely wide range of ambient tempera-tures, is voltage regulated. Separate amplifier-multiplier stage, operating essentially class A, provides isolation for constant oscillator loading. Edge lighted lucite dial with vernier tuning designed for maximum visibility and accurate reset; VFO is calibrated for 75, 40, 20, 15, 11 and 10 meter bands. Output 3.5 to 4 mc. for 75 meter band and 7.05 to 7.45 for 40, 20, 15 and 10, 10.5 mc. output also available for straight doubling to 15 meters. Tube lineup, 68H6 oscillator, 68H6 buffer-multiplier and OA2 regulator. Adequate output will drive any straight pended crystal stage. Cables and connectors for use with Viking Mobile supplied; easily adapted for use with virtually any mobile transmitter. Complete kit includes all parts, hardware and assembly and operating instrained instrained bis. and operating instructions. Weight approximately 3 lbs.

Cat. No.	Amateur Net
240-152 Viking Mobile VFO Kit, less tubes	\$29.45
240-152-2 Viking Mobile VFO wired and tested, less tu	bes 44.95

#### "JOHNSON BI-NET"

Fully Automatic

Dual Band Antenna Resonator

Patents Pending

Dual mobile antenna loading network for 10 and 20 meters. Mounts in center of standard Due income america location network for to ana 20 meters, Mounts in center of standard mobile while an ennor for completely automatic band change while in motion. No relaxs or mechanical control required. Consists of two adjustable silver plated inductors and ceramic insulated fixed capacitor enclosed in a streamlined plastic housing.  $\chi^{*} \times 24$  female threads for antenna mounting. Size, 4% high, 5% long, 2% wide. Weight, 14 oz, Cat. No. Amateur Net 250-22.....

DYNAMOTOR POWER SUPPLIES

Supplies plate voltages far all stages of JOHNSON VIKING MOBILE and VFO; PA input approximately 50 watts. Base contains cantactor, fuses, filter and 50 watt adjustable dropping resistor. Supplied with connectors for Viking Mobile. Completely wired and assembled. Dimensions 61% "x 7%". Rated 500 volts, 200 ma. intermittent. Weight 1334 lbs.

	ur Net
239-102 Dynamotor Power Supply 6 volt primary	 \$89.50
239-104 Dynamotor Power Supply 12 volt primary	 9 <u>2.5</u> 0

#### DYNAMOTOR BASE KITS

Complete kit with all parts as above less dynamotor. Supplied with receptacles and Complete kit with all pairs as above tess dytalian plugs for Viking Mobile power and control cables. Cat. No. 239-101 6 volt base kit. 239-103 12 volt base kit. Amateur Net \$16.50

. 17.40

#### IMPROVED ROTOMATIC ANTENNA ROTATOR

Designed for rigorous service, the Johnson Rotomatic Rotator supports beam antennas weighing up to 175 pounds even under heavy icing conditions or high wind loading. Rotates 1 ¼ RPM. full 360° either direction—over-all gear reduction, 1200 to 1. Heavily chrome plated RF slip rings provide smooth, noise free operation and low con-tact resistance. Auxiliary slip rings provided for antenna switching relay control. Ro-tator housing is cast aluminum, with  $\frac{1}{2}$  steel rotating table. Unit hinged to tilt 90° for antenna adjustments, can be rotated in tilted position. Complete assembly includes at-tractive desk top control box with selsyn indicator. Artmuth bearings conthuously pre-sented on illuminated dial. Controls include reversible rotation switch, power switch, and antenna relays switch. Weight 76 pounds. Cat. No. Amateur Net Cat. No.

138-112 Kotomatic Kotator				
144-16 8 Conductor Control	Cable	<mark>.</mark>	• • • • • • • • • • • • • •	

#### PARASITIC BEAM ANTENNAS-ELEMENT KITS-BOOMS

Descriptive literature and prices available on request.



VIKING MOBILE TRANSMITTER KIT



VIKING MOBILE VFO



#### BI-NET ANTENNA RESONATOR



ROTOMATIC ROTATOR ND DIRECTION INDICATOR



## E. F. JOHNSON COMPANY 224 SECOND AVENUE SOUTHWEST

#### SPEED-X KEYS, PRACTICE SETS, BUZZERS

#### Standard Semi-Automatic Keys

Improved model, heavy steel base, rubber feet. Chrome plated vibrator and hardware. Ten adjustments, lowest and highest speeds. Circuit closing switch. Adjustable paddles. 

#### New Special Semi-Automatic Key

Combines best features of former amateur and professional models. Heavy cast metal base,  $6^{1}4'' \times 3'' \times \frac{1}{2}''$ , finished in black wrinkle enamel. Vibrator same as on deluxe key easy action and speed adjustment from lowest to highest speeds. Hardware and vibrator heavily chrome plated. ½° coin silver con-tacts. Lock nuts. Rubber mounting feet. Circuit closing switch.

114-520 Sp. Model, Semi-Automatic. . \$11.50

#### Heavy Duty Keys

Chrome plated key arm. ¼" coin silver contacts. Navy knob.

114-320 Black wrinkle enomel bose . . 114-321 Polished chrome plated base \$3.60 5.10

#### Standard Keys

High quality, low cost. Provision for plugng in semi-automotic key.  $\beta_8$  coin silver ging contacts.

114-310 Black wrinkle, less switch	3 00
114-310S Black wrinkle, with switch.	3.2
114-311 Chrome plated, less switch.	4.90
114-311S Chrome ploted, with switch	5,1

#### 114-316 Brass wrinkle, less switch 3 00

#### Molded Base Keys

Black phenolic base. 1/8" coin silver contacts. Metal ports nickel plated.

114-301 Less switch..... \$1.95

#### Practice Keys

For beginners. 1/8" coin silver contacts. 114-300 Molded brown phenolic base, \$1.85

#### **Practice Set**

Constant frequency buzzer & key mounted on 4" × 6" phenolic base. 114-450 Code practice set...... \$3.95

#### Constant Frequency Buzzer

Fully adjustable, holds frequency. Uses 2 dry cells or "C" battery.

114-400 Constant frequency buzzer \$1.50

#### Telegraph Sounder

Feregraph Sounder Formerly manufactured by the Signal Electric Company, Menominee, Michigan, this im-proved telegraph sounder is designed for in-stant response. Brass sounder gives clear resonant tone—steel bar frome with black enamel finish. Bross bridge and adjustment screws, with instrument lacquer finish—black lacquered steel sounder plate. Instrument mounted on mahogany finished wood base, brass binding posts and rubber feet. Net weight 2 lbs., shipping weight 3 lbs. 114\_119\_Sinand Na 119\_S (4 of Mars retifuence)

114-112 Signal No. 112-S (4 ohms resistance) 114-113 Signol No. 113-S (20 ohms resistance)

#### Telegraph Key M100

Another outstanding signal key, now monu-factured by E. F. Johnson, this professional telegrapher's key is equipped with circuit closing switch. Base, binding posts and switch lever are brass with instrument lacquer finish. Polished nickel plated key lever. Platinor con-tacts .072" diameter. Net Weight 1 lb. 114-100-3 Signal No. M-100

#### HI-Q AIR WOUND HAM INDUCTORS

Swinging link inductors for amoteur bands 160 thru 6 meters, 150, 500 and 1000 watt sizes. Two inductance values for each band permit choice of oppropriate L/C rotio dictated by amplifier plate voltage and plate current. Polystrene insulation, Steotite bases and heavier wire sizes insure highest efficiency. HCS— Inductors match high voltage, low current tubes. LCS—Inductors match low voltage, high current tubes.

#### Swinging Link Colls

			E III K	CONS			
1000 Wott Type No, 1000HCS160 1000HCS160 1000HCS80 1000HCS80 1000HCS40 1000HCS20 1000HCS20 1000H/LCS14 1000H/LCS14	Net Price \$7.50 6.70 6.70 6.05 5.55 5.55 5.20 4.90	500 Watt Type No. 500HCS160 500LCS160 500HCS80 500HCS80 500HCS40 500HCS20 500HCS20 500H/LCS10 500H/LCS10 500H/LCS10	Max. Cop.* 100 148 45 76 27 50 25 37 19 18	Net Price \$3,75 3,45 3,45 3,15 3,15 2,70 2,25 2,10 2,10 2,10	150 Watt Type No. 150HCS160 150LCS80 150HCS80 150HCS80 150HCS40 150HCS20 150HCS20 150H/LCS14 150H/LCS14		Net Price \$3.30 3.00 3.00 9.70 9.70 9.40 9.40 9.10 1.95
				A		10	1.95

Digits at the end of catalog numbers indicate the amateur band inductors tune. \*Maximum capacity required for resonance at the low frequency end of band.

#### Jack Bar Assemblies

Watts	Туре	No.	Net Price
150	150JBS		 \$
500	500 JBS		 1.20
1000	1000JBS		 1.80

#### Swinging Link Arm Assemblies ott Inductors

\$1.15

\$1.80

1.15 .00

1 90 .45

ñ

Net Price

1.40

150/SUUSLA FO	r 150/500 W	ott Indu
"Plug-In	' Swinging	Links
lype No.	No. Turns	Ň
150/500SL12	12	
150/500SL5	5	
150/500SL2	Ž	
1000SL10	10	
1000SL5	5	
	1000SLA For 10 "Plug-In" Type No. 150/500SL12 150/500SL5 150/500SL2 1000SL10	150/500SL5 5 150/500SL2 2 1000SL10 10

100051 9

#### **Rotary Inductor**

Type No. 229-201 (not illustrated bitch winding of No. 14 tinned copper wire. Maximum inductance 10 microhenries, Form and end plates Steatile, roller contact, Overall size: 21⁄2' wide x4 1⁄2' long x3' high. Net Price 8.85

#### FARADAY SHIELD

Cat. No. Description Net Price 238-304 Same as above, for 1000 watts. 2.75

Cat. No. Description Net Price 238-301 105/500 watt link shield only, 1.45 238-302 1000 watt link shield only, 1.60 Metallic plated screen on polystyrene discs.

#### CAPACITORS, INDUCTORS, SOCKETS, INSULATORS, PLUGS AND JACKS, KNOBS AND DIALS, AND PILOT LIGHTS

### WASECA

## MINNESOTA

#### VARIABLE CAPACITORS Partial Listing

Partial Listing This is a partial listing of the large JOHNSON line of quality capacitors. Several types are not shown, likewise many additional sizes are available in most types. All types employ steatite insulation. Approximate flashover valtage is 100x final numerals in catalog numbers (except Type N), "L" dimension is overall length less shaft extension.

#### TYPES C and D

Sturdy, rigid construction at low cost! Aluminum plates .051" thick, rounded edges. Panel space Type C, 5½" wide x 5¾" high, Type D, 4¼" wide and 4" high.

Type C—Single Section				Type C-Dual Section					
Туре No. <b>250C70</b>	252 .175°	No. Plates L 24 6 <sup>13</sup> 16	Net Price 14.25	Type No. 300CD70 150CD90	Max. Cap. PerSec 305 147	Air	No. Plates 29 19		Net Price 99.80 18.00
500C70 350C90 50C110 100C130	496 .175" 337 .250" 51 .350" 102 .500"	$\begin{array}{cccc} 47 & 12^{3} & \\ 43 & 14^{27} & \\ 8 & 4^{25} & \\ 21 & 13^{11} & \\ \end{array}$	17.40 17.00 8.75 12.20	50CD110 100CD110 50CD130	50 103 51	.350* .350* .500*	8 17 10	10 <sup>3</sup> 16 16 <sup>25</sup> 52 14 <sup>27</sup> 52	12.35 18.40 14.70
500D35 150D45 70D70 100D70 250D70 100D90 150D90	<b>TYPE D—Sing</b> 496 .080* 146 .125* 72 .175* 98 .175* 244 .175* 99 .250* 149 .250*	Je Section 39 6 <sup>25</sup> ½ 17 4 <sup>25</sup> ½ 11 4 <sup>25</sup> ½ 15 4 <sup>25</sup> ½ 37 10 <sup>5</sup> № 19 7 <sup>11</sup> № 29 10 <sup>5</sup> №	13.50 8.35 7.50 8.10 19.00 9.15 11.00	500DD35 150DD45 50DD70 70DD70 100DD70 150DD70 50DD90	496 155 52 72 97 151 52	D—Dua .080" .125" .175" .175" .175" .175" .250"	18 39 18 18 11 15 23 10	13 <sup>11</sup> 52 9 <sup>15</sup> 53 5 <sup>13</sup> 16 7 <sup>11</sup> 16 9 <sup>15</sup> 53 13 <sup>11</sup> 52 9 <sup>15</sup> 53	20.70 13.30 9.50 11.00 12.40 16.00 11.00

#### TYPES E and F

Rugged compact units for low and medium power transmitters. Aluminum plates .032 thick, rounded edges. Stainless steel shafts. Panel space, Type E, 2%" square, Type F, 2½" square.

TYPE E—Single Section				TYPE E—Dual Section						
Type No. 350E20 500E20 100E30 250E30 50E45 150E45	Max. Air Cap. Gap 353 .045 488 .045 100 .075 251 .075 53 .125 145 .125	45 15 37 12	L 3 <sup>17</sup> 52 4 <sup>15</sup> 52 2 <sup>8</sup> /8 4 <sup>15</sup> /8 2 <sup>31</sup> 52 6 <sup>3</sup> 52	Net Price 6.10 7.05 4.95 6.55 4.75 6.30	Type No. 300ED20 100ED30 150ED30 200ED30 50ED45 100ED45	Max. Cap. Per Se 312 99 153 196 52 100		No. Plate 29 15 23 29 12 23	s L 5 <sup>3</sup> / <sub>8</sub> 7 <sup>1</sup> / <sub>16</sub> 8 <sup>8</sup> / <sub>8</sub> 5 <sup>3</sup> / <sub>8</sub> 7 <sup>3</sup> / <sub>16</sub> 8 <sup>3</sup> / <sub>8</sub>	Net 9.90 7.85 9.20 10.80 7.20 9.45
100F20 150F20 100F30 150F30	TYPE F-Sir 106 .045 154 .045 99 .075 148 .075	igle Sect 7 17 7 25 7 25		5.30 5.90 5.90 6.75	100FD20 150FD20 70FD30 100FD30	104 104 153 66 99	F-Dua .045" .045" .075" .075"	I Secti 17 25 17 25	on $4^{23}{52}$ $5^{23}{52}$ $7^{7}{16}$	7.60 8.80 7.70 8.90

#### TYPE M MINIATURE

Smallest ever built, yet tops in performance. Ideal for VHF, miniature test equipment, etc. Pane space  $\frac{34}{2} \times \frac{3}{24}$ . Air gap .017. Mounts in  $\frac{14}{2}$  hole.

space 78 x 74 , All gup lot /, Historia III /4 Historia					
Single	Differential	Butterfly			
Capacity N	et Capacity Net	Capacity Net			
Type No. Max. Min. Pri	ce Type Na. Max. Min. Price 56 6MA11 5.0 1.5 1.40 00 9MA11 8.7 1.8 1.55 15 15MA11 14.2 2.3 1.75	Type No.         Max.         Min. Price           3MB11         3.1         1.5         1.35           5MB11         5.1         1.8         1.50           9MB11         8.0         2.2         1.70           11MB11         10.8         2.7         1.90			

TYPE L

Ceramic soldered—no eyelets or rivets to loosen. All brass, soldered construction. "Bright alloy" plated, Ideal for rough service. Panel space 1¾ square. Air gap .030°. In addition to those listed, also available in Differential types.

(i)ica/aitt					Dura	Section			
Sing	le End F	'late							
	Cap. p	er Sect.	No.	Net	(	lap, pe			
Type No.	Max.	Min.	Plate	s Price	Type No.	Max.		Plate	s Price
10115	11	2.8	3	1.85	25LD15	27	3.5	7	3.90
25L15	27	3.5	7	1.95	50LD15		4.6	13	4,30
50L15.		4.6	13	2.15	100LD15	99	6.8	25	5.05
75L15	75	5.7	19	2.35					
Single	End Pla	ate			Butte	afly			
Single	End Fil				10LB15	10.5	2.8	5	2.20
100L15	99	6.8	21	3,60	25LB15	26	4.3	12	2.50
200L15		11.6	51	4.50	50LB15	51	6.8	23	2.90

#### TYPE R CAPACITOR

JOHNSON version of a highly popular standardized capacitor widely used in compact portable and mobile equipment. End plates are of extra heavy nickel-plated brass, Steatite insulating bars. All soldered and riveted construction.

Cat. No. 149-1 149-2 149-3	Type No. 20R12 35R12 50R12	Net Price \$2.05 \$.10 \$.15	Plates per Sect. Length 3 1 <sup>7</sup> /2 5 1 <sup>7</sup> /2 7 1 <sup>7</sup> /2	Cat. No. 1 <b>49-4</b> 1 <b>49-5</b> 1 <b>49-6</b>	Type No. 75R12 100R12 140R12	Net Price \$2.30 2.45 2.65	Plates per Sect. 11 14 19	Length 1 <sup>7</sup> ½ 1 <sup>13</sup> ½ 1 <sup>19</sup> ½
--	--	--	--	--	--	--	--	--

Not Price 5.70

6.75

8.60

TYPE N

Small mounting space requirements, extremely high voltage rating and fine adjustment make these neutralizing capacitors ideal. Capacity

Min, Spacing 1.1 .125 1.4 .250

375'

1.1

Mox. 11.0

10.6

10.7

pe No.

N125

N250

N375.

#### TYPE G

Extremely popular as neutralizing capacitors far medium and low powerstages. Also widely used for grid and plote tuning at high frequencies

for grid and plote tuning at high frequencies.						
	Cap. pe			Net		
Type No.	Max.	Min.	Spacing	- Price		
13G45	13	4.7	.125	2.75		
6G70	5.7	3.5	.225*	3.00		
12G70	12	6	.225."	- 3,50		





49



## F. JOHNSON COMPANY -224 SECOND AVENUE SOUTHWES

## JOHNSON KNOBS & DIALS

Featuring fresh, advanced styling, these new JOHNSON models will enhance the appear-ance of your equipment. Molded phenolic knobs have 12 well defined flutes, large gripping area. Knob faces slightly convex, sides slightly topered to contribute to pleasing appearance. Beautiful satin chrome scales that will retain their new appearance indefinitely. Each knob and dial has brass set screw insert molded in place. Standard shaft size ¼°, "specials" available or %" shaft.

Get. No.         Description KNOSE         Net Price KNOSE         Cal. No.         Description Dial         Net Price Dial           116-520         KinstD KNOSE         Statistics - Statisti	dial has brass set screw insert molded in place. Standard shaft size 1/4", "specials" available for 3/4" shafts. Special models available or quantity orders.							
116-220       Knob, 1 §* (da., black phenolic	Cat. No.	Descr	iption ARS	Net Price				let Price
$\begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \mbox{process} pro$	116-220 116-260 116-281 phenolic 116-281 phenolic 116-261 lic skitt 116-265 over 180 drive and 116-285 degrees v single lina 116-208- escutcheo 116-208- Nos, 136- feeder spr	KNC Knob,1 ½ dia Knob,1 ½ dia Knob,2 ½ dia SKIRTED Knob, 1 ½ dia Skirt. Knob, 2 ½ dia kirt. Knob, 2 ½ dia Knob, 2 ½ dia VERNIE Dial, 2 ½ dia VERNIE Dial, 2 ½ dia VERNIE Dial, 2 ½ dia COUNTE COUNTE COUNTE COUNTE Some as obov 122, -124 and eaders of high	DBS .,black phen .,black phen .,black phen .,black phen tion with 1 lia. with 2 . with 3' bla R DIALS in chrome sc. 3 to 1 friction rescale 0-100 tion vernier R DIAL of with lock, of ner knob- e withoutdia FEI -126 are cor	olic. \$.29 olic39 olic59 %* black 	116-222 D with 136" 116-222-3 116-222-3 116-222-3 116-222-3 116-222-5 116-222-5 116-222-5 116-222-5 116-222-5 116-226-5 116-2265 116-265 116	DIAL ial, 1 ½ " bevel isob, Scales a 100-0 over 11 10-0 over 21 7-1 over 180 ON-OFF ove Single line ial, 2 ¾ " satin ndicator 0-100 ial, 4" satin chr tor 0-100 ovel SPINNER I inner knob 1 ½ inner knob 1 ½ inner knob 1 ½ inner knob 1 ½ Startumen HISTRUMEN INSTRUMEN S Lath,	S led satinchro s follows: 30 degrees. 30 degrees. degrees. degrees. chorme scole me scole wi 180 degrees. 180 degrees. NOBS as variable in "black phene T KNOB	me scale \$.56 
2hr ½* Cross section.       ANTENNA INSULATORS         136-107-119, are wel process 1' in dio. 136.       Cot. No.       Br'k o Strength Length Net Price         136-107-119, are wel process 1' in dio. 136.       Cot. No.       Br'k o Strength Length Net Price         136-107 process 3' straume. 136-29 is dry       136-107       400 lbs.       4''       5.15         process compression strain type, 1 ½* long. All       136-112       800 lbs.       12''       .85         antenna insulators glazed.       INSULATORS AND BUSHINGS       Strand-Off Insulators       15''       136-12''       .10''         135-20       1'4*       10'-32'       15'       135-22''       1''       74 Jock       16''         135-22       1'4*       10'-32''       13''       13''       .10'''       .10''''       .10''''''         135-60       1½*       10''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''	has notch	, Silicone impre es for 1½″  i	egnated, No.	. 136-122	136-124	4		.17
130-10/-112, are well process 1' in dio. 136- D4 is dry process 3' is duare. 136-32 is dry process compression strain type, 1 ½ long, All 136-107       136-107       800 lbs.       4''       7'       7.5         antenna insulators glazed.       136-107       800 lbs.       12''       85         INSULATORS AND BUSHINGS       Stand-Off Insulators       800 lbs.       12''       80         Cal. No.       H       Hardware       Net Price       74       10         135-20       1'&'       10-32       15       135-22.2       1''       74       Jack 12         135-20       1'&'       10-32       15       135-22.2       1''       74       Jack 16         135-60       1'&'       10-32       13'       13''       10''       3''       10'''         135-61       1'&'       10-32       2''       13'''       10''''       3''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''	3/8x 1/2" cro	oss section.						.22
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	136-107-1 104 is dry process co antenna ir	112, are wet p process ½" s mpression stra ssulators glaze	orocess 1" in square, 136 in type, 1½" d.	dio, 136- 32 is dry Iong, All	Cat. No. 1 136-104 136-107 136-119 136-39	Br'k'g Strength 400 lbs. 800 lbs. 800 lbs. 800 lbs. 800 lbs.	4° 7° 12°	\$.15 .75 .85
$\begin{array}{cccc} Cat. No. H \\ 135-20 \\ 156 \\ 135-20 \\ 156 \\ 135-20 \\ 156 \\ 135-20 \\ 156 \\ 135-20 \\ 176 \\ 135-20 \\ 176 \\ 135-20 \\ 176 \\ 135-20 \\ 176 \\ 135-20 \\ 176 \\ 135-20 \\ 176 \\ 135-20 \\ 176 \\ 135-20 \\ 176 \\ 176 \\ 135-20 \\ 176 \\ 176 \\ 135-20 \\ 176 \\ 1$				ATORS A	ND BUSH	lings		
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Cat No	ц		STEA	TITE			
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	135-20 135-20-2	1% 1%	10-32 <b>74-Jack</b>	.15 .20 .13	135-22-2 135-24	1'	74 - Jack	.16
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	135-60	4 1⁄2 "	14-20	.68	135-62	2 3/4	14-20	.36
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$			14-20	.21 .50	135-67 135-68		¼−20 10−32	
135-502 $1\frac{1}{2}^{\circ}$ $\hat{\theta} = 3\bar{\varrho}$ $\tilde{4}_{3}^{\circ}$ 100 M		5/B	6-32	.20	135-503	2"		
$\begin{array}{c} \textbf{STEATITE} \\ \textbf{135-40} & \textbf{1} \frac{14}{3}, \textbf{10} - 32, \textbf{25} & \textbf{135-42} & \frac{14}{3}, \textbf{74} - Jack, \textbf{32} \\ \textbf{135-40} & \textbf{14}, \textbf{74} - Jack, \textbf{33} & \textbf{135-44} & \frac{14}{3}, \textbf{74} - Jack, \textbf{32} \\ \textbf{135-42} & \frac{14}{3}, \textbf{74} - Jack, \textbf{33} & \textbf{135-44} & \frac{14}{3}, \textbf{76} - 32 & \textbf{18} \\ \textbf{135-45} & \textbf{14}, \textbf{10} - 32 & \textbf{33} & \textbf{135-47} & 4\frac{14}{3}, \textbf{74} - 20 & \textbf{1.24} \\ \textbf{135-45} & \frac{14}{3}, \textbf{74} - Jack, \textbf{41} & \textbf{135-47} & 4\frac{14}{3}, \textbf{76} - Jack, \textbf{1.46} \\ \textbf{135-45} & \frac{14}{3}, \textbf{74} - Jack, \textbf{41} & \textbf{135-47} & 4\frac{14}{3}, \textbf{76} - Jack, \textbf{1.46} \\ \textbf{135-46} & \frac{24}{3}, \textbf{74} - Jack, \textbf{41} & \textbf{135-47} & \frac{4}{3}, \textbf{76} - Jack, \textbf{1.46} \\ \textbf{135-46} & \frac{24}{3}, \textbf{76} - Jack, \textbf{1.06} & \textbf{135-48} & \frac{2}{3}, \textbf{76} - Jack, \textbf{1.60} \\ \textbf{135-46} & \frac{24}{3}, \textbf{76} - Jack, \textbf{1.06} & \textbf{135-48} & \frac{2}{3}, \textbf{74} - Jack, \textbf{.60} \\ \textbf{135-50} & \frac{12}{3}, \textbf{6} & \textbf{76} - Jack, \textbf{1.06} & \textbf{135-55} & \frac{14}{3}, \textbf{6} - 32 & \textbf{23} \\ \textbf{135-51} & \frac{14}{3}, \textbf{6} & \textbf{10} - 32 & \textbf{.40} & \textbf{135-55} & \frac{14}{3}, \textbf{6} - 32 & \textbf{23} \\ \textbf{135-51} & \frac{14}{3}, \textbf{6} & \textbf{10} - 32 & \textbf{.40} & \textbf{135-55} & \frac{14}{3}, \textbf{6} - 32 & \textbf{23} \\ \textbf{135-51} & \frac{14}{3}, \textbf{6} & \textbf{10} - 32 & \textbf{.40} & \textbf{135-55} & \frac{14}{3}, \textbf{6} - 32 & \textbf{23} \\ \textbf{147-100} & \textbf{1} \$ Faceted Min, Scr60 & \textbf{147-803} & \textbf{1} \ Faceted Cand. Scr71 \\ \textbf{147-101} & \textbf{1} \ Faceted Cand. Scr61 & \textbf{147-803} & \textbf{1} \ Faceted Min, Bay, .70 \\ \textbf{147-103} & \textbf{1} \ Faceted Min, Bay .63 & \textbf{147-803} & \textbf{1} \ Faceted Min, Bay, .70 \\ \textbf{147-106} & \textbf{1} \ Faceted Min, Bay .63 & \textbf{147-805} & \textbf{1} \ \text{Colar Disc} Min, Bay, .70 \\ \textbf{147-301} & \frac{14}{3} \ \text{Smooth} Min, Bay .63 & \textbf{147-805} & \textbf{1} \ \text{Colar Disc} Min, Bay, .70 \\ \textbf{147-301} & \frac{14}{3} \ \text{Smooth} Min, Bay .33 & \textbf{147-1003} & \textbf{1} \ \text{Faceted} Cand. Scr102 \\ \textbf{147-304} & \frac{14}{3} \ \text{Smooth} Min, Bay .33 & \textbf{147-1003} & \textbf{1} \ \text{Faceted} Cand. Scr99 \\ \textbf{147-304} & \frac{14}{3} \ \text{Smooth} Min, Bay .33 & \textbf{147-1003} & \textbf{1} \ \text{Faceted} Min, Bay .75 \\ \textbf{147-400} & \frac{14}{3} \ \text{Smooth} Min, Bay .33 & \textbf{147-1003} & \textbf{1} \ \text{Faceted} Min, Bay .70		11/2*	8-32	.43		3'	10-32	.85
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$			11	STEAT	Insulators FITE			
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	135-40-2	$1\frac{1}{4}$ $1\frac{1}{4}$ $\frac{7}{8}$	74-Jock	.25 .33 .24	135-49-9 135-44	7/8 5/8		
STEATILE           135-50         ½'         6-32         .24         135-52         1½'         ½'         6-32         .23           135-51         1½'         10-32         .40         135-55         1½'         6-32         .23           PILOT LIGHTS           A partial listing of the basic JOHNSON pilot light types in greatest demand. Jewel colors available are red, green, blue, amber, opal and clear.           Cat. No. Jewel Socket Net Price Cat. No. Jewel Socket Net Price           147-100         1' Faceted Min. Scr60         147-803         1' Faceted Cand. Scr71           147-101         1 Smooth Min. Scr60         147-803         1' Smooth Min. Bay70           147-104         1 ' faceted Cand. Scr61         147-805         1' Smooth Min. Bay70           147-105         1 ' faceted Min. Bay63         147-805         1' Smooth Min. Bay75           147-106         1' faceted Min. Bay63         147-1000*         1' faceted Cand. Scr102           147-300         ½' Faceted Min. Scr30         140-1001*         1' Smooth Cand. Scr102           147-300         ½' Faceted Cand. Scr31         147-1003**         1' Color Disc Cand. Scr102           147-300         ½' Faceted Min. Scr30         140-1001*         1' Smooth	135-45-2 135-46	1 3/8 1 3/8 2 3/4 2 3/4	74-Jack 1⁄4-20	.33 .41 .84 1.06	135-47 135-47-9 135-48 135-48-9	4 1/2	76-Jack 10-32	1.46 .48
A partial listing of the basic JOHNSON pilot light types in greatest demand. Jewel colors available are red, green, blue, amber, opal and clear.         Cat. No.       Jewel       Socket Net Price Cat. No.       Jewel       Socket Net Price         147-100       1° Faceted       Min. Scr.       .60       147-802       1° Faceted       Cand. Scr.       .71         147-101       1° Snooth       Min. Scr.       .60       147-803       1° Smooth       Cand. Scr.       .71         147-103       1° Faceted       Cand. Scr.       .61       147-803       1° Smooth       Min. Bay.       .70         147-104       1° Smooth       Cand. Scr.       .61       147-805       1° Smooth       Min. Bay.       .70         147-106       1° Smooth       Min. Bay.       .63       147-805       1° Smooth       Min. Bay.       .70         147-107       1° Smooth       Min. Scr.       .30       140-1000*       1° Faceted       Cand. Scr.       .102         147-300       ½° Faceted       Min. Scr.       .30       140-1001*       1° Smooth       Cand. Scr.       .99         147-304       ½° Smooth       Min. Scr.       .30       140-1003**       1° Smooth       Cand. Scr.       .99         147-306       ½° Faceted<		1/2 • 18/18		STEA1 .94 .40	135-52 135-55	1 ½ ¼	ା⁄₄ହ0 6-3ହ	
Cat. No.       Jewel       Socket Net Price Cat. No.       Jewel       Socket Net Price Cat. No.         147-100       1' Faceted       Min. Scr.       .60       147-803       1' Faceted       Cand. Scr.       .71         147-101       1' Smooth       Min. Scr.       .60       147-803       1' Faceted       Cand. Scr.       .71         147-103       1' Faceted       Cand. Scr.       .61       147-803       1' Faceted       Min. Bay.       .70         147-104       1' Smooth       Cand. Scr.       .61       147-803       1' Faceted       Min. Bay.       .70         147-104       1' Smooth       Cand. Scr.       .61       147-805       1' Smooth       Min. Bay.       .70         147-104       1' Smooth       Cand. Scr.       .61       147-808       1' Color Disc       Min. Bay.       .70         147-107       1' Smooth       Min. Bay.       .63       147-1000**       1' Smooth       Cand. Scr.       .102         147-300       ½' Faceted       Min. Scr.       .30       140-1001**       1' Smooth       Cand. Scr.       .99         147-304       ½' Smooth       Min. Bay.       .31       147-1003***       1' Smooth       Cand. Scr.       .99      1	A partia	I listing of the	basic JOH	NSON pilo	t light types	in greatest de	mand. Jewe	colors
	Cal. No. 147-100 147-101 147-103 147-104 147-104 147-106 147-300 147-301 147-303 147-304 147-304 147-307 147-400 147-403 147-403	Jewel Jewel 1* Faceted 1* Smooth 1* Faceted 1* Smooth 1* Faceted 2* Smooth 2* Faceted 2* Smooth 2* Faceted 2* Smooth 2* Smooth 2* Faceted 2* Smooth 2* Faceted 2* Smooth 2* Faceted 2* Smooth 2* Faceted 2* Smooth 2* Faceted	, olue, amod Socket N Min. Scr. Cand. Scr. Cand. Scr. Min. Bay Min. Bay. Cand. Scr. Cand. Scr. Min. Bay. Min. Bay. Min. Scr. Min. Bay. Min. Bay. Min. Bay. Min, Scr.	er, opol and lee 60 14 .60 14 .60 14 .61 14 .63 14 .63 14 .63 14 .30 14 .30 14 .31 147 .33 147 .33 147 .33 147 .33 147 .33 147 .50 147 .50 147	clear, t, No, 7-802 7-803 7-804 7-805 1-808 1-1000* 1-1002* 1-1003** 1-1003** 1-1003** 1-1003** 1-1217 1-1219 1-1219 1-1219 1-1210 1-1219 1-1210 1	Jewel Faceted Smooth Faceted Smooth Colar Disc Faceted Smooth Colar Disc Faceted Smooth Colar Disc Lucite Lucite Bullseye Bullseye	Socket Ni Cand. Scr. Cand. Scr. Min. Bay. Min. Bay. Cand. Scr. Cand. Scr. Cand. Scr. Cand. Scr. Cand. Scr. Cand. Scr. Cand. Scr. Cand. Scr. Min. Bay. D.C. Bay. Cand. Scr.	et Price .71 .71 .70 .75 1.02 1.02 1.07 .99 1.04 1.16 1.46 1.46 1.46

CAPACITORS, INDUCTORS, SOCKETS, INSULATORS, PLUGS AND JACKS, KNOBS AND DIALS, AND PILOT LIGHTS

### WASECA

## MINNESOTA

#### TUBE SOCKETS

Highest Quality Sockets for Every Application	Net Price
123-206 Industrial bayonet, Steatite, silver plated beryllium copper contacts. Base is 4 p super jumbo, Tension springs in shell	\$2.25
123-209 Medium 4 pin bayanet, white glazed porcelain base, metal shell, heavy pho phor bronze side wiping contacts 21% Dia	1.10
123-210 Same as = 209 except contact to shell spocing not as great, 212° Dia	. 1.10 . 1.40
123-2115B Same as 211 but with Steatite base and beryllium copper contacts 124-212 Steatite socket for RCA833 or 833A. 5½ plate leads. 123-216 Giant 5 pin Bayonet. For tubes such as 803, RK28. 3¾ Dia	6.55
123-2165B Same as –216 but with Steatite base and beryllium copper contacts 124-213 For Eimac 152TL and 304TL. Contacts arranged for either series or parall	<b>4</b> ,00 el
filaments. 124-214 For Eimac 1500TH, with ventilating hole for cooling. 124-215 For 250 watt tubes such as 204A, 849, etc. The plate terminal has a "sofety cu	1.45 1.80
which prevents accidental dislodgement.	3,60

#### Wafer Types

it diel Types	
Steatite top and sides glazed. Brass contacts with steel springs cadmium plated.	
<ul> <li>122-237 Giant 7 pin Steatite wafer. For transmitting tubes such as HK257 and RCA813. With <sup>3</sup>s<sup>-</sup> diam, ventilating hole in base.</li> <li>122-247 7 pin Steatite for tubes such as 826. Etched aluminum shield.</li> <li>122-244 4 pin Steatite. Super jumbo base tubes such as 8008.</li> <li>122-247 7 pin Steatite wafer with shield, retainer springs and provision for mounting</li> </ul>	.85
button mica by-pass capacitors. Designed for VHF use with tubes such as 839 122-275 Giant 5 pin Steatile wafer socket for 4-125A, RK48 tubes. Ventilation holes in	2.00
base.	1.31

Net Price 199-917 7 pin small\$.59 199-924 4 pin	Net Price 122-225 5 pin\$.42 122-226 6 pin	199-997 7 pin 199-998 Octal	Net Price medium\$.49 socket52
Miniature Sock	ets Mini	atur <mark>e Shie</mark> lds	For Sockel

Miniature Sockers	Por Socker
120-267 all ceramic, 7 pin \$.33	133-278-6 13 "High, N.P. Brass. 177,277. \$.15
120-277B with shield base, 7 pin	133-278-7 1 ¾ <sup>*</sup> High, N.P. Brass. 177,277
JAN Miniature Sockets	133-278-8 2¼" High, N.P. Brass. 177,277
Top mounting, saddle type sockets	133-278-9 1½ <sup>°</sup> High <mark>, N.P.</mark> Brass 199
per JAN spec. S-28A. 120-177 7 Pin	133-278-10 113/16" High, N.P. Brass 19924
120-199 9 Pin	133-278-11 2¾ " High, N.P. Brass 199

PLUGS AND JACKS

#### Banana Spring Type

1

1

Т

P 1 1

Accurately turned from brass, with milled nuts and tinned terminals. Nickel plated. Nickel-silver springs. Beryllium copper springs and other platings available in production quantities. Low contact resistance, high current capacity.

-75 series plugs fit -74 series jacks, -77 series plugs fit -76 jack. -7451 and -7452 have molded phenolic heads.

#### JACKS

Net	Price
108-74 1/4-28 x 1/2 thread	\$.10
108-7451 1/2-28 x 1/2 thread, red	.90
108-7459 ¼-28 x ½ thread, black	.90
108-76 38-24 x 15/ thread	.96

#### PLUGS

108-75 6-32 x ¾ thread	.11
108-75A 6-32 x 34 thread	.12
108-75BB 3/8 x 1 3/8 handle, black	.28
108-75BR 3/8 x 1 3/8 handle, red	.28
108-75C 6-32 x 5/6 screw	.11
108-77 10-32 x 5/8 thread	.24
108-77 A 10-32 x 34 screw	.97
108-77BB 5/8 x 1 3/4 handle, black	.39
108-77BR 3/8 x 1 3/4 handle, red	.39

PLASTIC HEAD TIP JACKS Attractively colored strong Plaskon heads, accurately threaded & 32 with milled hex nut and insulating washers for 3% hole.

Tip Jacks and Plugs

Cat. Na.	Color	Net Price
105-590	Red	
105-591	Black	
150-522	Dk. Green	
105-524	Brown	
105-525	Lt. Blue	
105-526	Orange.	
	Yellow	
	Lt. Green.	
105-529	Dk. Blue	
105-530	Ivory	
м	olded Tip Jacl	c <b>s</b>
molded into p	henolic head. 5	lated brass, body 16–40 thread, and
	shers for 者 ho	
		<b>5.</b> 22
No 105-419	Black	99

#### All Metal Tip Jack

Nickel plated brass, <sup>3</sup>th hex head, <sup>1</sup>/<sub>4</sub>-32 thread, with insulating washers for <sup>3</sup>/<sub>26</sub> hole. 105–1 similar but headless, no nut or washers, for mounting in <sup>1</sup>/<sub>4</sub>-32 tapped panel hole. No. 105-41,7... **S.14** No. 105-1.... **S.10** 

#### Solderless Tip Plugs

No. 105-15 <sup>13</sup>/<sub>16</sub> prong. ..... \$.16 No. 105-415 <sup>9</sup>/<sub>16</sub> prong. ..... 15

#### NYLON TIP JACKS Patents Pending

Completely insulated jack, body molded from Iow-Ioss Nylon. Threaded ½–32, jack mounts with single nut. Overall dimensions, diameter ¾, length <sup>28</sup>½, Available with beryllium copper insulated to the second second

B.C. Cont. Cat. No.	Color N	Net Price	B.C. Cont. Cat. No.	Colar	Net Price
105-601-1	White		105-606-1	Orange	
105-603-1			105-608-1		
	Dark Green		105-609-1	Light Green. Dark Blue	
	105-611-1		,	30	





# industrial electronic supplies

## **EVERYTHING IN STOCK FOR IMMEDIATE DELIVERY**

Depend on ALLIED—your one reliable source of supply-to bring you all the products of each of the dependable manufacturers represented in the Handbook. We carry the most complete stocks of Amateur station supplies-and, of course, we can supply all the components you'll need to build any circuit described in this or in any other publication.

You can always depend on ALLIED to give you every buying advantage: money-

saving values, complete lines of top-grade equipment, fast shipment from stock, easiest terms, unbeatable trade-ins, and 15-day trial on communications receivers. Have all these buying advantages, plus friendly day-in, day-out help from our staff of old-time Hams.

Whether you're buying electronic equipment for your station or for your work in industry, it pays to be "equipped by Allied."



268-Page ALLIED Buying Guide





Authorized

LIED



### AMATEUR & INDUSTRIAL TUBES

ALLIED maintains in constant stock for immediate shipment the largest distributor inventory of RCA special-purpose tubes for Amateur, industrial, broadcast, governmental and other uses. Phone, wire or write—we ship from stock to you within hours after we receive your order. Save time, effort and money—order all your RCA tubes from ALLIED—your complete and dependable electronic supply source. AMATEUR & INDUSTRIAL TUBES TEST INSTRUMENTS & PARTS



#### RCA TEST INSTRUMENTS

Order your RCA lab measurement instruments from our extensive stock. We can supply *promptly* all RCA test apparatus, including the following:

WO-88A	5" Oscilloscope	159.50
WR-89A	Marker Generator	242.50
WR-59C	TV Sweep Generator	274.50
WR-49A	RF Signal Generator	59.50
	Junior Volt Ohmyst*	
	Senior Volt Ohmyst*	
	Master Volt Ohmyst*	
	*T.M. Reg. Prices subject to change	

We are also leading suppliers of RCA parts, TV components, speakers and batteries. Simplify and speed your purchases—send us your orders for all RCA equipment—get quick, expert shipment from our complete stocks of Amateur and Industrial equipment.

## 268-Page ALLIED Buying Guide

Write for your FREE copy. It's your complete guide not only to all of the station supplies you want, but to everything in industrial electronic equipment, special tubes, test instruments, recording and high fidelity audio equipment, parts components—all of the lowest, money-saving prices. Get and use the ALLIED Cotalog.



World Radio History

KEEP IT HANDY



## your complete supply source for

PRECISION RECEIVERS AND TRANSMITTERS

hallicrafters

ALLIED

HT-20 Transmitter \$449.50

**O**rder your HALLICRAFTERS Communications Receivers and Transmitters from ALLIED. For detailed descriptions, see our Catalog. When you select your HALLICRAFTERS at ALLIED, you get every buying advantage—complete selection—quick delivery from stock—easiest terms —15-day trial—expert, dependable service from our staff of experienced Amateurs. Choose HALLICRAFTERS —world-famous for precision communications performance—and order your HALLICRAFTERS from ALLIED.

> We can supply all Hallicrafters "Littlefane" equipment, as well as High Fidelity companents...

268-Page ALLIED Buying Guide

Write for your FREE copy. It's your complete guide to everything in Amateur and Industrial electronic supplies. Lists everything you need includes full selection of equipment described above. Be sure to get and use your 268-page ALLIED Catalog.

nsmitter 50



SX-88 Receiver \$499.95

#### ALL HALLICRAFTERS MODELS IN STOCK FOR IMMEDIATE SHIPMENT...

Look to ALLIED for quick, expert service from stock on all HALLICRAFTERS equipment. We can supply all of the following models from our complete stocks:

S-53A	Low-Cost Communications Receiver	99.95
S-40B	Popular Communications Receiver	129.95
S-77 A	AC-DC Communications Receiver	129.95
S-76	Dual-Conversion Receiver	199.95
S-72A		109.95
S-72L	Portable with Long Wave Band	119.95
SX-73		975.00
SX-62		349.95
	Dual IF Receiver	249.95
	Low-Cost All-Wave Receiver	59.95
S-81	"Civic Patrol" Receiver (153-173 mc)	59.95
S-82	"Civic Patrol" Receiver (30-50 mc)	59.95
R-46	Matching Speakers for Hallicrafters Receivers	,
	SX-62, SX-88, SX-71, SX-73, S-76, etc	24.95

Prices subject to change

KEEP IT HANDY



ALLIED RADIO 100 N. Western Ave. Chicago 80, Illinois your complete supply source for



ALLIED



AMATEUR & INDUSTRIAL "Sealed-in-Steel" TRANSFORMERS

## WORLD'S TOUGHEST TRANSFORMERS IN STOCK FOR IMMEDIATE SHIPMENT

We supply the *complete* line of famous CHICAGO "Sealed-in-Steel" Transformers—units designed to fit today's amateur circuits . . . units to meet all MIL-T-27 specifications for military requirements—units for a wide range of industrial applications. Whatever your transformer needs, there's nothing tougher, nothing truer-to-ratings, nothing better than CHICAGO "Sealed-in-Steel" units. We have them *in stock* for immediate shipment. Order from your ALLIED Catalog for prompt, expert delivery on all types.

#### COMPLETE LINE: There's a unit for every application— Power, Bias, Filament, Filter Reactor, Audio, MIL-T-27, Stepdown, Isolation. VERSATILE: Available in 3 constructions to meet all needs.

- H-TYPE. Steel base cover is deep-seal soldered into case. Terminals hermetically sealed. Ceramic bushings. Stud-mounted unit. Meers all MIL-T-27 specs.
- S-TYPE. Steel base cover fitted with phenolic terminal board. Convenient numbered solder lug terminals. Flange-mounted unit.
- C-TYPE. With 10" color-coded stripped and tinned leads brought out through fibre board base cover. Flange-mounted unit.

# 268-Page ALLIED Buying Guide

complete guide to everything in Amateur and Industrial electronic supplies. Lists everything you need includes full selection of equipment described above. Be sure to get and use your 268-page ALLIED Catalog.



World Radio History

ALLIED RADIO 100 N. Western Ave. Chicago 80, Illinois

KEEP IT HANDY

your complete supply source for RAYTHEON

#### ALL TYPES IN STOCK FOR IMMEDIATE SHIPMENT

Subminiatures Reliable Subminiatures Reliable Miniatures Rugged Crystal Diodes Transistors Radiation Counter Rectifiers Thyratrons Voltage Reg. X-mitting Magnetrons Klystrons

#### QUICK, EXPERT SERVICE ON RAYTHEON TUBES

ALLIED

SPECIAL-PURPOSE ELECTRON TUBES

Look to ALLIED for quick shipment from stock of all types of RAYTHEON specialpurpose electron tubes. We specialize in supplying RAYTHEON tubes for Amateur, industrial, broadcast, research and other applications. To save time and money phone, wire or write us—and we'll have your RAYTHEON tubes on the way to you in just hours. Order your RAYTHEON special-purpose tubes—fill *all* your electronic needs at ALLIED—the *one* complete supply source on which you can always depend for quick, expert service.

## **268-Page ALLIED Buying Guide**

Write for your FREE copy. It's your complete guide to everything in Amateur and Industrial electronic supplies. Lists everything you need includes full selection of equipment described above. Be sure to get and use your 268-page ALLIED Catalog.



KEEP IT HANDY





## your complete supply source for





Order your HARVEY-WELLS equipment from ALLIED. Get quick, expert shipment straight from stock. And toke advontage of our eosiest-pay terms and 15-day trial offer.

### 268-Page ALLIED Buying Guide

Write for your FREE copy. It's your complete guide to everything in Amateur and Industrial electronic supplies. Lists everything you need includes full selection of equipment described above. Be sure to get and use your 268-page ALLIED Catalog.

## COMPACT, LOW-PRICED TRANSMITTERS

Fig. A. Bandmaster Deluxe. A complete 50-watt phone-CW transmitter with instant bandswitching 80 through 2 meters (8 bands). Includes new crystal-oscillator-vfo switching circuit. Tubes: 6AQ5 osc., 6AQ5 mult., 807 final. Speech amplifier for crystal mike uses 2-6AU6, 1-12AU7 phase inv., 2-6L6 mod. Requires APS-50 or DPS-50 power supply below. Size, 8 x 12 x 8'. Complete with tubes, less crystal and mike. Shpg. wt., 20 lbs. 97 SX 792. Bandmaster DeLuxe Transmitter......\$137.50

HARVEY-WELLS

**DP5-50-6 Dynemeter.** For portable operation of above x-mitters, from 6 volt storage battery. Output: 300 v. at 250 ma.  $10\frac{1}{8} \times 5\frac{1}{4} \times 5\frac{7}{8}$ ". Shpg. wt., 16 lbs. **97 \$ 697.** DPS-50-6 Dynamotor......**\$87.50** 

Prices subject to change







100 N. Western Ave. Chicago 80, Illinois





#### DE LUXE RELAY RACKS

These relay racks are made of 16 gauge steel with  $\frac{1}{2}$  panel supports. The panel mounting supports are recessed so that no edges of the panel will be exposed.

The front and back of the top, the two sides and the door are well louvered to provide ade-quate ventilation. Snap catches are positioned quate ventilation. Snap catches are positioned on the door. A streamlined appearance is achieved by the use of rounded corners and red-lined chrome trim. The relay rack is shipped knocked-down and complete with all necessary hardware for assembly. All standard 19" panels will fit

for assembly. All standard 19" panels will fit these racks. A SPECIAL FEATURE IS THE USE OF FOUR STURDY SUPPORTS ON THE BOT-TOM SO THAT CASTERS CAN BE FAS-TENED DIRECTLY TO THE BASE, THERE-BY ACHIEVING READY MOBILITY. Bud RC-7756 casters will fit this unit. Casters are not included in price of cabinet. These relay racks are supplied in either black or grey wrinkle or grey hammertone finish. The overall width is or grey hammertone finish. The overall width is 22'' and the depth is  $17\frac{1}{4}''$  on all sizes listed.

Catalog Panel Shipping Wt. Overall No. CR-1774 CR-1771 Space 36¾" 42" Height 42<sup>1</sup>/16" 47<sup>5</sup>/16" Wt. 90 lbs. 100 lbs. 61 14'' 77'' CR-1772 66<sup>9</sup>/16 135 lbs. CR-1773 82 16" 155 lbs.

#### ADD-g-RACK SERIES



It has always been necessary to buy special racks without louvers on one side special racks without louvers on one side to obtain a maximum of panel space with a minimum of floor space. Now, you no longer need to buy a whole new cabinet when you want additional panel space. Through our new and exclusive Add-a-Rack series, BUD not only offers additional racks at a lower cost, but provides you with a sturdier, better looking assembly. The illustration at top shows two Add-a-Rack cabinets assembled to-gether. The illustration below shows the unique and ingenious method of adding a unit to your present equipment. In-

unique and ingenious method of adding a unit to your present equipment. In-stead of buying an entire new outfit, you purchase only four parts: (1) a door (2) a top (3) a bottom and (4) an Add-a-Rack coupling-unit. The right (or left) hand side of your present relay rack is removed and replaced by the Add-a-Rack coupling-unit; next, a top and bottom is fastened into place, and the side taken from the first rack is fastened onto the second rack which has been added. Place the additional door into present and you hours two scale Place the additional door into position and you have two racks

Place the additional door properly and efficiently coupled together. In the same simple way, more racks can be added at any time and every one will be in a CONTINUOUS ONE-PIECE assembly. This series is available in two ways. (1) a double unit consisting of two racks and the Add-a-Rack coupling unit, (2) Add-a-Rack unit, consisting of a door, a top, a bottom and an a top, a bottom and an Add a Rack coupling-unit. These units are furnished with all necessary assembling and panel mounting hardware. Choice of finish s

Add-a-Rack

Unit AR-1778 AR-1775 AR-1776 AR-1777



ame as racks above

or minan admic da racko above.	
Used to	Shipping
Add-a-Rack to	Weight
CR-1774	70 lbs.
CR-1771	75 lbs.
CR-1772	100 lbs.
CR-1773	127 lbs.

Complete unit consisting of the knocked-down parts necessary for two relay racks coupled together.

CR-1779 two coupled relay racks same size as CR-1774 CR-1780 two coupled relay racks same size as CR-1771

CR-1786 two coupled relay racks same size as CR-1772

CR-1799 two coupled relay racks same size as CR-1773

Bud RC-7756 Casters will fit this unit. Casters are not included in price of cabinet.

#### SUPER DE LUXE RACKS (2 door)



This new Relay Rack is made of 16 gauge steel with ½" panel supports. The construction is similar to the series of Bud de luxe Relay Racks shown above. The panel mounting supports are recessed, so that no edges of the panel will be exposed, and these of the panel will be exposed, and they are also adjustable from front to back at various stopping points. This en-ables you to utilize the space in front and behind the panel to any degree. When placed as far back as the knock-outs provide, the panel is 6" from the front of the Rack.

These Racks have both front and rear doors; the rear door to cover any of the equipment behind the panel, providing easy access. The front door provides a means of concealing dials, knobs, etc., that may be in the front of the panel.

These relay racks also have the exclusive Bud feature of supports on the bottom, so that the casters may be fixed directly to the base. AVAILABLE IN BLACK OR GREY WRINKLE OR LIGHT GREY HAMMERTONE FINISH AT NO EXTRA CHARGE.

Catalog No.	Overall Height	Panel Space	Shipping Wt.
CR-2174	43 <sup>1</sup> 16''	36¾″	110 lbs.
CR-2171	47 <sup>5</sup> 16"	42''	122 lbs.
CR-2172	66 <sup>9</sup> 16"	61 1/4 "	165 lbs.
CR-2173	82 <sup>5</sup> 16"	77''	190 lbs.

#### DE LUXE CABINET RACKS



These cabinet racks have rounded corners and

These cabinet racks have rounded corners and attractive red-lined chrome trim. There is a recessed, hinged door on the top with a snap catch. These racks are made of heavy gauge steel and are of sturdy construction. The five large sizes have a hinged rear door, while the small sizes have a welded panel in the rear. Adequate ventilation is assured by means of lowvered sides and a two inch opening in the bottom of the back extends the entire width. BOSSED ON THE BOTTOM TO MINIMIZE MARRING OF A TABLE TOP. Racks are furnished in either black or grey wrinkle or grey hammertone finish. Depth 14¾", width 22". Will fit stand-ard 19" panels.

Catalog	Overall	Panel	Shipping
No.	Height	Space	Wt.
CR-1741	109 16"	834"	29 lbs.
CR-174)	125 16"	101/2"	31 lbs.
CR-1742	14 <sup>1</sup> 16"	1217"	32 lbs.
CR-1739	15 <sup>13</sup> <sub>16</sub> "	14''	36 lbs.
CR-1743	19 <sup>5</sup> 16″	17 1/2"	40 lbs.
CR-1727	22 <sup>13</sup> 16"	21''	45 lbs.
CR-1744	28 <sup>3</sup> 16"	26 14 "	50 lbs.
CR-1728	33°16″	31 1/3"	55 lbs.
CR-1745	36 <sup>13</sup> 16"	3112'' 35''	60 lbs.

#### STANDARD RELAY RACK PANELS



Made of Steel or Aluminum. Steel Panels are made of high grade steel  $\frac{1}{2}$  thick. Aluminum Panels are made of  $\frac{1}{2}$  wide. Furnished in either black or grey wrinkle or grey hammertone. Aluminum panels  $\frac{1}{2}$  with thick may be had if desired at 60% increase in cost over  $\frac{1}{2}$ .

STEEL		ALUMINUM	
Catalog No. PS-1250 PS-1251 PS-1252 PS-1253 PS-1255 PS-1256 PS-1256 PS-1256 PS-1258 PS-1259 PS-1260 PS-1261	Height 134'' 312''' 834''' 1032'''' 1234'''' 14''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''	Catalog No. PA-1101 PA-1102 PA-1102 PA-1103 PA-1104 PA-1105 PA-1106 PA-1107 PA-1107 PA-1109 PA-1110 PA-1111 PA-11112	Height 144" 144" 144" 144" 154" 1012" 1214" 154" 174" 154" 1712" 1914" 1914"

Illastrated are only a few of the many types and sizes of Bud Products. For complete catalog write Dept. R-54

## BUD RADIO, INC. 2118 East 55th Street, Cleveland 3, Ohio

## Precision Made Sheet Metal Products for Every Purpose



#### STEEL CHASSIS BASES

These chassis are made from one piece of steel, all corners are rein-forced and spot welded. The four sides are folded on bottom for adif desired. Furnished in either Black Wrinkle or Electro-Zinc plated.

Black Wrinkle Cat. No. CB-628 CB-790 CB-650 CB-636*	<ul> <li>Zinc Plated Cat. No. CB-629 CB-1192 CB-774 CB-637</li> </ul>	Depth 5'' 7'' 8'' 10''	Width 7'' 9'' 17'' 17''	Height 2'' 2'' 2'' 3''	Gauge 22 22 20 20
CB-658	CB-771	11" 13"	17''	3"	18 18
CB-660* CB-642*	CB-773 CB-643	13"	17"	4″	18
* Indicates	chassis which	are puncl	hed to ac	commodate	Chassis

Mounting Brackets. For additional sizes consult Bud Catalog

#### ALUMINUM CHASSIS



The construction and design of These chassis is exactly the same as our steel chassis. The aluminum chassis are welded on government approved spot welders that are the same as used in the welding of Aluminum Chassis to do a perfect job. Etched Aluminum finish.

The gauges in table below are aluminum gauges.

Cat. No. AC-430 AC-402 AC-423 AC-425 AC-420 AC-426	Depth 4" 5" 7" 8" 13" 11"	Width 6'' 17'' 17'' 17'' 17'' 17''	Height 3" 2" 3" 2" 3" 2"	Gauge 18 18 16 16 14 14
AC-426				
AC-416	For additional s		Bud Catalog	10



#### INSTRUMENT AND RECEIVER CABINETS

Each cabinet has an evenly recessed hinged cover with convenient finger lift. The panel on front of cabinet is readily attached with self-tapping screws. Louvers provide ample ventilation. These Cabinets are finished in black wrinkle only.

Cat. No. C-973	Height	Width	Depth 8'' 8''
C-993 C-994 C-995	7" 7" 7"	10" 12" 14"	8" 8"
C-1190 C-975	8'' 9''	16" 15"	8'' 11''



#### METAL UTILITY CABINETS

A large number of sizes available makes this line useful for all types of electronic equipment. Ince useful for all types of electronic equipment. These cabinets have two removable panels for easy accessibility and are finished in black wrinkle finish only. Those units prefixed by CU are made from steel, those prefixed by AU are made from high grade sheet aluminum.

Cat. No.	Depth	Width	Height
CU-883	2''	4''	4"
CU-728	3″′	5''	4''
	3 4''	5''	6''
CU-729		5 6''	6"
CU-1098	6''		
CU-1099	5''	6''	9''
CU-879	7″	8''	10"
CU-1124	6''	7''	12''
	8''	10"	10"
CU-880		11"	12"
CU-881	8''		
CU-882	7''	9''	15''
AU-1083	2''	4''	4''
AU-1028	3''	5''	4''
	4''	5''	6''
AU-1029			. 6''
AU-1039	6''	6"	
AU-1040	5''	б″	9''

#### NEW BUD FILTERS TO REDUCE OR ELIMINATE TELEVISION INTERFERENCE

The sources of television interference are most often short wave broadcasting stations, amateur radio transmitting stations, dia-thermy equipment, X-ray equipment, automotive ignition noises or similar sources. The basic problem of eliminating this interference is that of rejection of the signals received from these sources.



Interference to television receiver reception caused by trans-missions from an amateur station can be caused by harmonics or by shock from the transmitter. The shock from the transmitter fundamental can be cured at the television receiver with a Bud HF-600 high pass filter. Harmonics can be greatly reduced or eliminated at the transmitter by use of a Bud LF-601 low pass filter. filter.

The LF-601 high attenuation low pass filter has the following characteristics:

• Minimum attenuation of 85 decibels on all frequencies above 54 megacycles and a minimum of 93 decibels above 70 megacycles.
 Maximum rejection is adjustable from 55 to 90 megacycles. This • Maximum rejection is adjustable from 55 to 90 megacycles. This tunable feature provides two slots at least 100 decibels down • The cut-off frequency is 42 megacycles • The unit will easily handle a full kilowatt modulated on a reasonably flat line • The insertion loss is less than one DB • Since the design of this filter provides an adjustable feature, the unit can be used with either 52 ohm or 72 ohm coax • Each inductance is in an individually shielded compartment • All capacitors used are variable • Size 12" x  $2\frac{1}{2}$ ". x 21/4



#### HE-600 HIGH PASS FILTER

The HF-600 high pass filter has a cut off frequency at 42 megacycles, thus this filter rejects signals from 0 to 42 megacycles. It is within this range that the majority of signals causing interference are received. Since there is no attenuation above 42 megacycles, its easily installed and complete installation instructions are included. The filter is housed in an attractive aluminum case  $3\frac{1}{4}$ "

NEW PANEL CHASSIS



This new series of Panel Mounting Chassis is for professional type installations primarily. These units are constructed from .062 aluare constructed from .062 alu-minum with an etched finish. The holes on the front flange are suit-able for mounting to a Rack, and are dimensioned to fit standard panel notchings.

Cat. No.	Width	Depth	Height
CB-1370	19''	5 <sup>9</sup> 32''	1 \$4 "
CB-1371	19"	5% 201	31/2"
CB-1372	19''	5° 2″	514"
CB-1373	19''	5° 72''	
CB-1374	19″	5º 32"	8 3/4 "
CB-1375	19"	5° 32''	10 1/2"
CB-1376	19″	5° 2"	12 1/4 "
CB-1377	19"	5° ½''	14"



MINIBOXES

There are thousands of uses in the fields of radio and electronics for these new boxes. They are made from heavy gauge aluminum. The design of the box permits installation of more components than would be possible in the con-ventionally designed box of the same size. It is of two piece construction, each half forming three sides. The flange type construction assures adequate shielding.

Available in etched aluminum finish and gray hammerloid finish.

	Numbers					
Grey	Etched	Length	Width	Height		
CU-2100	CU-3000	23/4"	21/8"	15/8″ 3″		
CU-2105	CU-3005	5''	4′′			
CU-2108	CU-3008	7''	5″	3″		
CU-2111	CU-3011	12"	7"	4''		
CU-2115	CU-3015	4''	2''	23/4"		
For additional sizes consult Bud Catalog						

Illustrated are only a few of the many types and sizes of Bud Products. For complete catalog write Dept. R-54

## BUD RADIO, INC., 2118 East 55th Street, Cleveland 3, Ohio

## BUD Products are made to work better . . . last longer



#### TYPE DUAL MIDGET CONDENSERS

These Midget Condensers were de-signed to meet the rigid requirements in design of efficient high fre-quency electronic devices and precision laboratory equipment. The large front and rear bearings provide for smooth rotation. They feature a rotor wiping contact placed at center of the rotor

construction assures perfect counterbalance and provides even torque at any position of rotation. Steatite insulation eliminates closed induction loop in frame. All metal parts cadmium plated. DEP SECTION

r	r.	ĸ	<u>ى</u>	E.	L	ł.	л	U	ı,	

For additional sizes consult Bud Catalog	Catalog Number CE-2032 CE-2033 CE-2035 CE-2036 CE-2041	Max. Cap. 35 50 100 150 50 For addit.	Min. Cap. 6 7 9 10 8 ional size	No. of Plates 7 9 18 27 15 s consult B	Air Gap .030" .030" .030" .030" .060" ud Catalog	Distance Behind J/32'' 3 <sup>1</sup> ,''' 4 <sup>3</sup> /32'' 5 <sup>3</sup> /16'' 4 <sup>23</sup> /32''
--	--	--	--	---	---	--



#### "CE" MIDGET CONDENSERS SINGLE SECTION DOUBLE BEARING These Midget Condensers were designed

These Midget Condensers were designed to meet the rigid requirements in design of efficient high frequency electronic devices and precision laboratory equip-ment. Brass rotor and stator plate stacks are assembled into permanent units by means of electro-soldering, which assures long life and accurate plate spacing. End-plates of Steatite insulate the mount-large front and rear bearings provide for smooth rotation. Special

ing ousnings and angles from the fotor and station assembles. The large front and rear bearings provide for smooth rotation. Special wiper contact provides noise-free tuning. All metal parts are cadmium plated. Rotor plates semi-circular shaped. Provision for either panel or base mounting.

Catalog Number CE-2000 CE-2001 CE-2002 CE-2003	Max. Cap. MMFD. 15 35 50 75	Min. Cap. MMFD. 4 6 7	Air Gap .030" .030"	No. of Plates 3 7 9	Over- all Length 2 <sup>1/2</sup> " 2 <sup>23</sup> x <sup>2</sup> " 2 <sup>27</sup> x <sup>2</sup> "
CE-2004	100	8	.030" .030"	14 18	35 2"
CE-2005 CE-2008	150	10	.030"	27	311 2"
CE-2008	300 For additio	15 mal sizes c	.030" onsult Bud	52 Catalog	5 <sup>3</sup> 16''

#### TINY MITE TUNING CONDENSER SINGLE SECTION

This series of condensers has been designed for applications where space or weight are limiting lactors and for turing of high frequency cricuits. Rigid construction, close fitting bearing, positive rotor contact and Steatite insulation are the outstanding features. Cadmium plated, soldered, brass plates and rods insure high frequency efficiency.

Catalog Number LC-1640 LC-1644 LC-1646 LC-1652* LC-1655* LC-1655*	Max. Cap. MMFD. 8 50 100 50 15 25	Min. Cap. MMFD 2.5 6 9 8 5.5 9	Air Gap .017" .017" .017" .037" .073"	No. of Plates 3 19 37 35 15 27
* Denote	double bearing			
F	or additional	sizes consult	Bud Catalog	

#### CONDENSERS

Hams, Radio Constructors and Experi-Hams, Radio Constructors and Experi-menters can find many uses for these compact, three-gang condensers. Designed particularly for high frequency use, they are adaptable for use in converters, preselectors and receivers covering the Amateur, Television and F.M. bands. Well constructed with soldered brass plates and ceramic brackets. Rotor shaft extended 1," at rear. Height 15%". Width 13/16". Length behind panel 3<sup>2</sup>%". Mounting holes 2<sup>3</sup>/16" apart.

Catalog	Cap. Per	No. of Plates	
Number	Max.	Min.	Per Section
LC-1845	11	5	3
LC-1846	17	5	J
LC-1847	25	ő	7
		0	5

#### MIDGET CONDENSERS



Small size, sturdy construction and high mechanical and electrical efficiency are the outstanding features. Insulation used is Steatite. Rotor and Stator plates are brass and are electro-soldered to their respective rods. All metal parts are cadmium plated. These condensers have both front and sense These condensers have both front and rear

bearings and are furnished in either mid-line type plates (straight line wave length), or semi-circular plates (straight line capacity.)

5	EMI-CIRCULAR	TYPE-DO	UBLE BEARING	
Catalog	Cap. in	MMFD.	Air	Number
Number	Max.	Min.	Gap	Plates
MC-1850	15	3	.024''	Plates
MC-1853	50	5	.024	3
MC-1855	100	7	.024	
MC-1863	50	7	.060"	14
MC-1865	100	12		15
MC-1867	50	10	.060"	31
			.095"	23
	For additiona	I sizes consu	It Bud Catalog	
	BUD	TINY MITE	DUAL CONDER	ISERS



A

The construction of these units is similar to the regular Tiny Mite Tuning Condensers. The two end pieces are held together firmly with three tie-rods.

A separate round plate is soldered on rotor rod to shield the two stator sections. Large surface front and rear sleeve bearings, provide smooth rotation.

	CAP. PER	SECTION		No. Plates	Over-
Catalog	Max.	Min.	Air	Per	all
Number	MMFD.	MMFD.	Gap	Section	Length
LC-1659	8	2.5	.017"	3	11516
LC-1660	15	3	.017"	5	21.27
LC-1661	25	4	.017"	ğ	211,11
LC-1662	50	6	.017"	19	21
LC-1663	100	9	.017"	37	4 1777
LC-1664 LC-1665	10	4	.037"	7	215
LC-1666	15	5	.037″	11	215 2"
LC-1667	25	5.5	.037"	17	37/8"
PC-1001	35	6	.037"	21	4'''

#### NEUTRALIZING AND HIGH FREQUENCY TUNING CONDENSERS



This line of condensers will fill every neutralizing This line of condensers will fill every neutralizing and high frequency tuning requirement that mod-ern circuits pose. The two-pillar construction makes this unit unusually sturdy and eliminates any possibility of capacity variation due to vibration. The movable plate is adjusted by means of the threaded shaft to which it is at-tached, and it is permanently locked in any position by the lock-nut provided. Any loose rounded edges. Steatite insulation is used.

0		acu.	
Catalog Number	Plate	MMFD.	Capacity
NC-1000	Diameter 1 <sup>27</sup> /32''	Max,	Min,
NC-1001	213/16"	24	1
NC-1002	43/4''	27	6

#### IRON CORE R. F. CHOKES



**IRON CORE K. F. CHORES** The efficiency of any circuit requiring an R. F chocke will be definitely improved by utilizing one of these chockes with a finely divided molded metal-lic core. The improved "0" possible with this con-struction results from the D. C. resistance of these chockes being from 40 to 50" less for a given in-ductance than for regular air-core types. Thus, the D. C. voltage drop through the chocke is con-are made with silk-covered enameled wire terminated on conven-int soldering lugs, and the chockes are mounted in small square shield cans measuring 1%" x 1%" x 1%".

Catalog Number CH-1277 CH-1278 CH-1279 CH-1280 CH-1281 CH-1282 CH-1282 CH-1284 CH-1284 CH-1285 CH-1285 CH-1286 CH-1287	Inductance mh. 1.5 2.5 3.4 5.5 8. 10. 16. 30. 60. 80. 125.	D. C. Resistance Ohms 11.5 16. 19.5 27.5 36. 42.5 53. 82. 131. 163. 231.	Current ma. 125 125 125 125 125 125 125 125 100 100 90
		221,	90
CH-294 Also availa	Shield Can Only ble Pie wound and Lat		

Illustrated are only a few of the many types and sizes of Bud Products. For complete catalog write Dept. R-54

BUD RADIO, INC., 2118 East 55th Street, Cleveland 3, Ohio





#### **75-WATT TRANSMITTER COILS**

These coils are distinguished by their rigid construction, attractive appearance and conservative power rating. The polystyrene mounting base keeps the coil a safe distance from the chassis it also permits easy coil removal without dis-turbing the winding. All coils are air-wound and

OEP and OCP Coils are designed for use in circuits using Pentode tubes with high output capacity such as 6L6, 807, etc.

coils have fixed end link and are not tapped OEL have fixed center link with main winding center tapped. have adjustable center link, main winding center tapped. ÕCL OLS have adjustable end link and are not tapped. have adjustable end link and are not tapped. ŌES

OEF have adjustable center link main winding center tapped. OCP

				-	
Catalog No. Fixed End Link	Catalog No. Fixed Center Link	Cat. No. Adjust- able Center Link	Cat. No. Adjust- able End Link	Band	Capacity*
OEL-80 OEL-40 OEL-20 OEL-15 OEL-10 OEL-6	OCL-80 OCL-40 OCL-20 OCL-15 OCL-10 OCL- 6	OLS-160 OLS-80 OLS-40 OLS-20 OLS-15 OLS-10 OCP-10 OCP-20	OES-160 OES-80 OES-40 OES-20 OES-15 OES-10 OEP-10 OEP-20	160 Meter 160 Meter 80 Meter 40 Meter 20 Meter 15 Meter 10 Meter 10 Meter 20 Meter	100 MMFD 86 MMFD 75 MMFD 40 MMFD 30 MMFD 25 MMFD 17 MMFD 45 MMFD 50 MMFD
	-				

AM-8673 Coil Base only



#### **ADJUSTABLE LINK** TRANSMITTER COILS

Listed are two types of Coils. CL type of coil has an adjustable CENTER link. ES type of coil has an adjustable END link. The CL and ES can be used where fixed links are specified. No additional cost is involved and more efficient coupling is as-sured because of this special adjustable link, an exclusive BUD feature.

150 WATT RATING

Catalog No.	Catalog No.		
Center Link	End link		
Adjustable	Adjustable	Band	Capacity*
RCL-160	RES-160	160 Meters	110 MMFD
RCL-80	RES-80	80 Meters	68 MMFD
RCL-40	<b>RES-40</b>	40 Meters	36 MMFD
RCL-20	RES-20	20 Meters	27 MMFD
RCL-15	RES-15	15 Meters	27 MMFD
RCL-10	RES-10	10 Meters	25 MMFD
AM-1932 —	Mounting Base for	RCL and RES Coils	1

Also available in 500W and KW sizes



The most effective method of varying the loading of an R. F. Stage is by the the loading of an K. F. Stage is by the use of a variable link to the plate tank, a feature incorporated in all Bud Vari-able Link Coils. The link winding is connected to the jack bar into which the coils are plugged, and this link may be used with nuw of the coils conrected be used with any of the coils regardless of the band being worked. The link winding is so arranged that it may be readily controlled from the panel by means of an extension shaft if required. 500 WATT COILS

VARIABLE LINK TRANSMITTER COILS

Catalog			Length Mounting	Mounting Hole
Number	Band	Capacity*	Strip Dim.	Dim.
VLS-160	160 Meter	85 MMFD	51/2"	5''
VLS-80	80 M	70 MMFD	51/2"	5''
VLS-40	40 M	36 MMFD	51/2"	5''
VLS-20	20 M	28 MMFD	51/2"	5''
VLS-15	15 M	25 MMFD	51/2"	5''
VLS-10	10 M	25 MMFD	51/2"	5"
AM-1352 -	<ul> <li>Base and Lini</li> </ul>	k Assembly for 5	00 Watt Coil	8
	Also avaliab	le in 150W and	KW sizes	

\*Denotes tube plus circuit plus tank plus output coupling capacity required to resonate coil at low frequency end of band.

#### SHIELDED COIL-LINK

These links are made to fit RLS, VLS, and MLS series of coils. This



link will prevent capacity coupling between the tank coil and the link and will reduce TVI by greatly attenuating harmonics. The links can be used on co-ax or balanced lines.

Catalog No. Description Used with RLS coils (150 W) Used with VLS coils (500 W) Used with MLS coils (Kilowatt) AM-1300 AM-1301 AM-1302

#### ADD-A-LINK

When the circuit that you are using requires a different number of turns on the coil link than is furnished with the standard coil, the links listed below can be used to replace the standard link.

minks listed below can be dote to		
Cat. No.	Used With	No. of Turns
AM-1303	RLS	$3\frac{1}{2}$
AM-1304	RLS	4 1/2
AM-1305	RLS	$5\frac{1}{2}$
AM-1307	VLS	3 1/2
AM-1308	VLS	4 1/2
AM-1309	VLS	5 1/2
AM-1310	VLS	61/2
6 🐧 🦪 AM-1311	MLS	31/2
AM-1312	MLS	4 1/2
AM-1313	MLS	51/2
AM-1314	MLS	61/2

#### CODE PRACTICE OSCILLATOR AND MONITOR CPO-128



The BUD Codemaster is a real money saver. No longer do you have to consider your code practice oscillator useless after you have learned the code. A flip of the switch and you have a good CW moni-tor. This is a really versatile instrument. It has a 4" built-in permanent magnetic dynamic speaker and will operate

A volume control and pitch control permit adjustments to suit individual requirements. Any number of keys can be connected in parallel to the oscillator

for group practice. This unit will operate on 110 volts A.C. or D.C. An external speaker may be plugged in without the use of an out-

put transformer. All controls are placed on the front of the unit and all jacks are in the rear. The unit is  $6\frac{1}{2}$  high,  $5\frac{1}{2}$  wide and  $3\frac{1}{2}$ deep. It is finished in Grey Hammertone enamel with red lettering.



#### MODEL CPO-130

This unit is similar to the CPO-128. The difference is that the 4" speaker is not included. The monitor feature, however, is included A phone include the speaker included the sp included. A phone jack is provided for the included. A phone jack is provided for the output and as many as 20 pairs of phones and keys can be operated at one time for class-room operation. This model will also operate a permanent magnetic dynamic speaker. Size is  $5\frac{1}{2}$  wide,  $4\frac{1}{2}$  high,  $3\frac{1}{2}$  deep.



#### GIMIX GX-79

The BUD Gimix is a multipurpose unit requiring no The BUD GIMIX is a numperpose time requiring the batteries or power supply. It is calibrated for use on the 10, 15, 20, 40 and 80 meter amateur bands. No additional coils are needed as the one coil does the work on all bands. It can be used as a *Wave-Meter*. a Monitor, a Field Strength Indicator, a Carrier Shift Indicator and a sensitive Neutralizing Instrument. Operating instructions supplied with each unit.



#### **FREQUENCY CALIBRATOR FCC-90**

To comply with federal regulations, some means of accurately checking transmitter frequency must be avail-able at every "ham" station. The BUD FCC-90 consists of a 100 kc, crystal oscillator that is *Completely Sell-Powered*. It will give 100 kc, check points on all bands up to 30 operator to determine exact band edges

megacycles. This enables the operator to determine exact band edges. No extra wiring is required to install this unit. Plug the FCC-90 into a 110 volt receptacle, connect the pick-up lead to the antenna binding post of the receiver and the unit is ready for operation. An ON-OFF switch and a STANDBY switch are provided.

Illustrated are only a few of the many types and sizes of Bud Products. For complete catalog write Dept. R-54

BUD RADIO, INC., 2118 East 55th Street, Cleveland 3, Ohio

# FOR SALE! These and 100,001 other



# Centralab quality electronic components

World Radio History



HERE'S a perfect check list to determine your electronic needs. And there are hundreds of variations available to you. Whether you need single items or dozens — no other single manufacturer can offer you such a wide choice of standard fastest-forservicing parts. That's why Centralab is the industry's No. 1 electronic component source ... and keeps your distributor supplied with the latest developments in the fast-changing electronic field.

You know CRL parts are your best value because each is backed by a written guarantee. That means they're safest-for-servicing too. And you'll agree that's mighty important for building consistent customer satisfaction.

So when you need parts, look for the familiar blue and white CRL package — the product inside is the result of more than 30 years of electronic experience. This experience will continue to pioncer many more profitbuilding "firsts" for you! Trade Mark



In Canada, 804 Mt. Pleasant Rd. Toronto 12, Ont.

Г	
l	Centralab, A Divisian of Globe-Union Inc. 940L E. Keefe Ave., Milwaukee 1, Wis.
	Please send me Catalog 28 covering Centralab products.
ł	Name
1	Title
	Company
1	Address
I L	CityState

# ALL ABOUT CODE FREE



## **BEGINNERS**..

Here's your chance to learn code quickly and casily . . . to get maximum speed and proficiency in code . . . right in your own home. The 12-YEAR RECORD of the CANDLER SYSTEM in training beginners to develop and apply their talents to top speed and efficiency is sound proof of what the CANDLER SYSTEM offers you.

## OPERATORS ....

Are you hoping for a nice promotion...a higger salary...as an expert Operator? Then, now is the time to improve your speed and skill in code sending and receiving. The CANDLER SYSTEM OF CHAMPIONS shows you how to improve your code technique — increase your speed — develop your skill to the highest point — eliminate nervous tension — and pave the way to a topbracket position as an expert Operator.

#### HERE'S WHAT WORLD CHAMPION TED MCELROY SAYS ABOUT THE FAMOUS CANDLER SYSTEM



"My skill and speed are the result of the exclusive, scientific training Walter Candler gave me. Practice is necessary, but without proper training to develop Concentration, Co-ordination and a keen Perceptive Sense, practice is of little value. One is likely to practice the wrong way."

McElroy is the Official Champion Radio Operator, 75.2 W.P.M. at Asheville Code Tournament.

## LEARN CODE THE QUICK, EASY WAY

Think of the thrills and excitement you can have communicating by code with people all over the world . . . when you become a good Amateur Operator. Or, you may have your sights set on becoming a highly-goald, expert Commercial Operator. In either case, you can sum time and money learning the fundamentals of code sending and receiving and the principles of fast, efficient operating with the world-famous CANDLER SYSTEM.

## INCREASE SPEED and SKILL THE CANDLER WAY

Besides experience, you must have special training to develop the extra skill and speed you need to be a successful Commercial Operator. The CANDLER SYSTEM offers you that training in an easy, thorough and interesting way. It is the outstanding method that has developed thousands of first-class operators even Champions — from ordinary operators. There is a conres to meet your requirements, and your budget, in the CANDLER SYSTEM.

FIND OUT HOW THE CANDLER SYSTEM CAN HELP YOU. SEND NAME AND ADDRESS ON COUPON OR POSTCARD FOR FREE COPY OF CANDLER BOOK OF FACTS.

#### CANDLER SYSTEM CO., P.O. Box 928, Dept. 32, Denver 1, Colorado, U. S. A. Or: 52b, Abingdon Rd, London W.8, England

#### SPECIAL COURSES FOR BEGINNERS & OPERATORS

The SCIENTIFIC CODE COURSE, especially designed for the beginner. Teaches the basic principles of code operation scientifically.

The HIGH SPEED TELEGRAPHING COURSE, intended for the operator who wishes cade speed and skill to become a goad operator or a better one faster.

The HIGH SPEED TYPEWRITING COURSE, designed for those who desire typewriting proficiency and speed. Especially designed for copying messages and press with typewriter.

64

#### 

#### CANDLER SYSTEM CO., Dept. 32,

## P.O. Box 928, Denver 1, Colo.

On ozo, Kongadn Ka., Lundon W.o, Engi	una												
🗔 l am a beginner.	🗋 í am an operator,												
Gentlemen: Yes,I'm interested in the <b>System.</b> Please rush my FREE capy of the taday.													
Name													

							-									-		-	-	-							•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		• •	• •	• •		 				'
Addre	ss.	•	 •	•	•	•	•••	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	• •	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•						,			•	,			•	•	
City .																							. 2	20	m	e					St	a	h	е.						 				



We are presenting in the following pages a complete system of high-speed automatic Morse telegraph and radio telegraph operation. This system is capable of operating under conditions that would make impossible the use of ordinary five-unit printing telegraph systems. We are quite sure that the many thousands of friends we have made during the past 25 years will be pleased to know of our licensing agreement with the well-known Creed & Company, Ltd. of London, England, which makes possible the production here in Littleton, Massachusetts of much of the equipment described in the following pages. As one communications man to the many in the field who will see these pages, be assured that McElroy equipment is built for a minimum of 20 years of uninterrupted service. That is the way we build all of our equipment. We welcome your inquiries and shall be pleased to send complete technical manuals upon request.

We call your attention to the page devoted to our latest development — Type "S" Telephone Carrier.

MCELROY MANUFACTURING CORPORATION

T. R. MCELROY





The McElroy-Creed Morse Keyboard Perforator MC-9W is the heart of this completely automatic high-speed Morse system. This system is sometimes called the Wheatstone code system. The Wheatstone code perforator shown here is the answer to the hope we have had and many other communications people have had (especially the United States Government departments) for a Wheatstone code tape perforator that could be depended upon to do a job without the necessity for having a complete machine shop and highly skilled mechanical engineers to adjust the perforator and keep it in operation. The McElroy-Creed MC-9W gives you dependable operation at all times.

I remember as an operator for R.C.A., we had one of these in our Boston office. It required practically no maintenance whatever during the more than two years that I watched the thing work. The unit is complete as shown . . . no silencing cover is required; no special power supply necessary. We are building these units here in Littleton and can make shipment out of stock.



## **Keyer ADK**

## **Keyer AHD**

Using the same high-speed keying head and drive as the McElroy ADK, our AHD functions as a single-pole, double-throw switching mechanism in producing unpolarized "mark" and "space" pulses as indicated on the Wheatstone perforated tape. As with the ADK, this unit offers a selection of speed ranges up to 500 words per minute. This is the automatic code transmitter that has come within the past few years to be recognized throughout the world as the most dependable Morse transmitter that has ever been built. The McElroy ADK (Autohead-Drive-Keyer) accepts perforated tape from either the keyboard perforator or our three-button perforator and provides a keying voltage and/or high-speed relay keying at any desired speed from 10 to 500 words per minute. Our ADK features a built-in keyed tone for monitoring. These are delivered "off the shelf".





## **Recorder RAPC**

## 

At the receiving end, the incoming Morse dots and dashes are fed into the McElroy RAPC (Recorder-Amplifier-Puller-Combination). This quality ink recorder provides maintenance-free, dependable reception under conditions where not even a good operator could get the signal through the hash.

The normal speed of this Morse highspeed system is about 150 words per minute. At this speed none of the equipment is overworked, and this . 1. at a speed on circuits where no one would dream of attempting to use ordinary printing telegraph systems. The inked slip may be either transcribed by operators or may be used for monitoring the circuit. This cannot be done with five unit systems.

The RAPC Ink Recorder, as produced on certain Government contracts, is equipped with an automatic tape feed mechanism, which starts the tape puller instantaneously with the first incoming dots and dashes, and stops the tape puller at any interruption or stoppage of code. Recorder RPC The RPC Recorder is designed for those installations where the ink recording and tape pulling mechanisms can be remotely located from the amplifier. With its recording and pulling apparatus identical to the McElroy RAPC Recorder, the RPC offers dependable high-speed recording. This unit may be connected to the amplifier section of the RAPC whose sharply

peaked output is of sufficient magni-

tude to drive up to four ink recorders

68

reliably.

McElroy-Creed Morse Reperforator Model MC-7W

This is the McElroy-Creed Morse Reperforator MC-7W. Incoming Morse dots and dashes are fed into this reperforator at speeds up to 150 words per minute with the MC-7W producing perforated slip identical to that produced on the MC-9W perforator. This is simultaneous with the ink recording which makes it so easy to monitor the circuit. We will be tooled-up and producing these units early in 1954 at which time delivery can be made from stock.

A State and a stream of the state and the state

## McEiroy-Creed Morse Relay Model MC-27

A DOLONG

The McElroy-Creed high-speed Relay MC-27 (shown with cover removed) accepts Morse characters from any standard communications receiver and delivers these code signals to the Morse Reperforator.



## McElroy-Creed Morse Tape Printer Model MC-1T

We believe this equipment to be the most dependable unit of printing telegraph apparatus we have ever seen in a lifetime of communications experience. Everyone in the Communications field understands only too well the high cost of maintenance and replacement parts on ordinary printing telegraph systems. The MC-1T Morse Tape Printer is so dependable that we old-timers always refer to the unit as the "iron-horse". They just do not fail! The perforated slip from the Morse Reperforator is fed into the Morse Tape Printer at speeds up to 100 words per minute. Upon receipt of this coded slip, the MC-1T Tape Printer translates these signals in the form of Roman characters on the slip. There you have a completely automatic, high-speed, dependable telegraph system with all of the advantages that Morse code possesses over other means of code communication.

## MCELROY MANUFACTURING CORPORATION

### McElroy-Creed Morse Page Printer Model MC-1P

This unit is of the same basic design as the Morse Tape Printer shown above except that provision is made for two additional Morse signals thereby allowing for line feed and carriage return. Because the greatest value in our Morse system lies in its almost total absence of maintenance, we are somewhat partial to the Tape Printer MC-1T where a guy doesn't even need a screwdriver to insure operation year after year. Pasting up slip how ever, can be most time consuming, and for Central Office use, the Morse Page Printer has a very definite application.

# McElROY



Morse Package Model MP-1A

## **MP-1A Recording**





## **MP-1A** Keying

**MP-1A** Perforating

and the set of the

Under our new licensing agreement with Creed & Company, Ltd., we are now making plans to produce n the very near future, the Mo se Package MP-1A unit complete with the Mc-Elroy-Creed Keyboard Perforator. The perforator section of this madified MP-1A will be of the same dependable design as the Morse Keyboard Perforator MC-9W, but with the elimination of certain frame castings. etc. This means dependable keyboard perforating, as well as keying and recording, in a package about the size and weight of a portable typewriter ... to be sure, a completely self-contained and automatic Morse Central Office.





0

shown here, employs our standard three button perforator. Its simplicity of operation will warrant its continued production for those applications where either traffic conditions are light or personnel are not keyboard conscious. The MP-1A keying head is identical in every respect to the McElroy ADK and also provides for high-speed relay and voltage keying with built-in keying tone for monitoring. The MP-1A recorder section has the same basic trouble-free design as all our recording equipment. The tape pulling mechanism provides for a speed range of from 7 to 100 words per minute, or any other specified 7 to 1 ratio.

# McElROY

We are confident that our friends throughout the world will be pleased to know that the same skill and the same people who produce the world's greatest volume of telegraph communications equipment are now producing telephone carrier systems under a license from a group of independent engineers and research men who have developed what we believe to be the lowest priced telephone carrier that has ever been offered.

With each channel of Type S carrier exactly replacing a pair of wires, our unusually low price will allow this unit to "prove-in" under the cost of laying additional wire on distances as low as five miles! Stackable to five channels, Type S provides for five additional talking circuits for toll applications or will bring-in, with full selective ringing up to 50 additional subscribers. The first open-wire telephone carrier to make full use of the FM (Frequency Modulation) principal, Type S carrier provides for toll quality transmission regardless of weather or line variations.



MCELROY Manufacturing Corporation EITTLETON, MASSACHUSETTS, U.S.A. + Cables: TEDMAC. Boston, U.S.A. + Telephone: Boston Liberty 2:6960

To My Friends in Communications:

I have tried my best to describe our equipment and tell you what it will do and continue to talk like a telegraph operator rather than a huckster. I wish I could show you some of the beautiful work these excellent facilities of ours have produced and continue to produce in radar cavity work. You just don't show pictures of that kind of stuff, May I emphasize that the greatest thrill I receive out of the mail we receive is not the checks, which are the necessary life blood of the place, but the friendly letters from people all over the world who have bought and have used our equipment. Such encouragement and friendly letters

have contributed in no small way to make possible our growth from the days 25 years ago when I made telegraph keys and code practice oscillators in the basement of my home up to now when we are the world's largest producers of Morse

In conclusion, may I say that this place of ours is no longer a one man outfit. We have a very competent staff of engineering personnel, skilled tool and die makers, first-class machinists and close to 100 girls in our assembly shop, each a Rembrandt with the soldering iron. will be here with maintenance parts and more and more communications equipment long after I have passed out of the picture. So, at this point, on behalf of about 300 people, I express sincere thanks to you who have found time to read about our equipment.

T. R. MCELROY



## THE Collins 8R-1 CRYSTAL CALIBRATOR

Plugs into a completely wired socket on the 75A-2 or 75A-3 chassis. A set of contacts on the noise limiter-calibrate switch turn the 8R-1 crystal calibrator on and off. When harmonics of the 100 kc crystal have been checked against WWV, an accurate crystal check-point is available every 100 kc throughout the receiver's range. Use of the 8R-1 crystal calibrator in conjunction with the receiver's accurately calibrated linear dial permits interpolation to a fraction of a kilocycle. Net domestic price \$25.00.

# THE Collins 148C-1 NBFM ADAPTER

Plugs into a completely wired socket on the 75A-2 or 75A-3 chassis and is controlled by the CW-AM-FM switch on the front panel. Use of the 148C-1 adapter gives true discrimator reception of NBFM signals. *Net domestic price* \$22.50.

**35C-2 LOW-PASS RF FILTER** Although designed as an accessory for the 32V-3 and as standard equipment in the KW-1, coaxial fittings make the 35C-2 readily adaptable to any amateur transmitter having 52 ohm output. It has an insertion loss of only 0.25 db at frequencies below 30 mc, but its three individually shielded filter sections provide about 75 db attenuation at television frequencies. Net domestic price \$40.00.







# COLLINS

kw-1

for maximum OPERATING CONVENIENCE AND POWER

The Collins KW-1 runs a cool 1000 watts but tunes as easily as a 32V-3. It operates on phone or CW in the 160, 80, 40, 20, 15, 11, and 10 meter bands. A single control on the front panel bandswitches the entire transmitter. All RF tuning controls except the final amplifier are ganged. To tune the KW-1, just pick your band, set the built-in VFO to the desired spot, and adjust the final amplifier tuning and loading. That's all there is to it!

The KW-1 design effectively reduces spurious radiation to a very low value, particularly at television frequencies. A metal box inside the main cabinet completely shields the RF section. A large number of tuned circuits at the operating frequency reduce harmonic output from the exciter. The final amplifier pi-L network, developed by Collins, provides an effective TVI filter in the RF output circuit. To this is added the 75 db television-frequency attenuation of the built-in 35C-2 low pass filter. The final amplifier is tuned by a variable vacuum capacitor which provides a very short, low impedance path from the final amplifier plate circuit to ground at television frequencies.

The KW-1's reputation for getting through the QRM is due not only to its high power but also to its audio clipper followed by low-level and high-level low-pass filters which permit a high average percentage of modulation without splatter.

#### **KW-1 FEATURES:**

1000 watts input on phone or CW (500 watts on 160); covers 160, 80, 40, 20, 15, 11, and 10 meter bands; 52 ohm coaxial RF output; frequency control by means of the highly stable Collins 70E-14 oscillator; high impedance input for crystal or dynamic microphone; overload relay, fuses and high voltage arc gaps for circuit



The transmitter and all power supplies are contained in one attractive cabinet.





76



As can be seen in the block diagram, the Collins 75A-3 double conversion superheterodyne receiver, with its crystal-controlled front-end and highly stable low frequency VFO, is like a high frequency crystal-controlled converter working into a very stable low frequency receiver. The high stability and 3.1 kc bandwidth of the 75A-3 make it ideal for AM or single sideband — and an 800 cycle mechanical filter is available as an optional accessory for CW.

All coils are permeability tuned and have a straightline frequency characteristic allowing linear dial calibration. Only the band in use is visible on the slide rule dial. On the vernier dial each division represents one kc except on the 10 and 11 meter bands, where each dial division represents two kc. This accurate calibration is made possible by the highly stable oscillators in the 75A-3.

The 75A-3 covers the 160, 80, 40, 20, 15, 11, and 10 meter amateur bands. Sensitivity on all bands is 2.5 my or better for a 10 db signal-to-noise ratio. Image rejection is at least 50 db. AVC is applied to RF as well as IF stages. Separate noise limiters are included for phone and CW. The S-meter is calibrated from 1 to 9 in steps of approximately 6 db, and for 20, 40 and 60 db over S9. S9 corresponds to a signal input of 100 microvolts. Antenna input impedance is 50 to 150 ohms, balanced or unbalanced. A phone jack and 4 ohm and 500 ohm audio output terminals are provided. Sockets and front-panel controls are included for the 8R-1 100 kc crystal calibrator and 148C-1 NBFM adapter which are available as optional accessories. The following controls are on the 75A-3 front panel: tuning, zero set, bandswitch, RF gain, audio gain, BFO pitch, CW limiter, antenna trimmer, crystal selectivity, crystal phasing, mechanical filter selector, CW-AM-FM switch, noise limiter-calibrate switch, on-off-standby switch. The 75A-3 operates from a 115 volt 50/60 cycle ac power source. Cabinet dimensions are: 21-1/8" wide, 12-1/2" high, and 13-1/16" deep. The 19" panel fits a standard relay rack. The 75A-3 weighs approximately 50 pounds.

#### Net domestic prices:

75A-3 receiver complete with 3 kc mechanical filter: \$530.00

10-inch speaker in matching cabinet: \$20.00 8R-1 crystal calibrator: \$25.00

148C-1 NBFM adapter: \$22.50

F455B-08...800 cycle mechanical filter: \$55.00

F455B-31...3.1 kc mechanical filter: \$55.00

F455B-60...6.0 kc mechanical filter: \$55.00



## MECHANICAL FILTER ADAPTERS FOR Collins 75A-1

With the mechanical filter adapter shown here it takes only a few seconds to convert your 75A-1 receiver to include the Collins mechanical filter. Just remove the first 500 kc IF tube and plug in the adapter. That's all there is to it. Either a 1400 cycle CW filter or a 3.1 kc phone filter is permanently installed in each adapter.

Type 353C-14 plug-in adapter, complete with 1400 cycle filter, for 75A-1: \$75.00

Type 353C-31 plug-in adapter, complete with 3.1 kc filter for 75A-1: \$75.00.

## **MECHANICAL FILTER CONVERSION KIT FOR**

The 75A-2 mechanical filter conversion kit will enable you to convert your 75A-2 to include two mechanical filters. A front-panel switch selects the desired filter. A F455B-31 3.1 kc phone filter is included with each kit and a F455B-08 800 cycle CW filter may be added at any time. You can install the complete kit in one evening or, if you prefer, your distributor will make arrangements for you to return your 75A-2 to Collins. The factory will make minor repairs and completely realign your 75A-2 in addition to installing the conversion kit.

75A-2 conversion kit complete with F455B-31 3.1 kc mechanical filter \$80.00.

Factory installation of 75A-2 conversion kit including F455B-31 mechanical filter, minor repairs, and complete realignment of the 75A-2; F.O.B. Cedar Rapids \$105.00.

The mechanical filter is a resonant mechanical device in the receiver's i.f. strip. Unlike the crystal filter, the mechanical filter remains in the circuit at all times. As shown here, it consists of three general sections: an input transducer, a mechanically resonant section consisting of a number of metal disks, and an output transducer. A 455 kc. electrical signal applied to the input terminals is converted into a 455 kc. me-



Collins 75A-2

F455B-08 800 cycle mechanical filter (plug-in) for 75A-3's and modified 75A-2's \$55.00. F455A-31 3.1 kc mechanical filter (solder terminals) \$55.00.

F455A-08 800 cycle mechanical filter (solder terminals) \$55.00.

chanical vibration at the input transducer by means of magnetostriction. This mechanical vibration travels through the resonant mechanical section to the output transducer, and is converted, by magnetostriction, to a 455 kc. electrical signal which appears at the output terminals. There is no mechanical motion except for the imperceptible vibration of the metal disks. The mechanical filter requires no adjustment.



## 78

## COLLINS OTHER



## **COMMUNICATIONS .AND BROADCAST**



AIRCRAFT

Course Indicator



618S 144-Channel HF Transceiver



51V Glideslope Receiver

17M 360-Channel **VHF Transmitter** 

Mechanical Filter

Autotune



Approach Horizon



180L Automatic Antenna Tuner



51X 360-Channel VHF Receiver





INDUSTRIAL COMPONENTS



**Collins** 430 Series **Communications** Transmitter



511 Communications Receiver



20V Broadcast Transmitter



Collins 30K-5 2-Channel Communications Transmitter



300J 250-Watt Broadcast Transmitter

21E/21M 5,000 Watt 10,000 Watt Broadcast Transmitters





Oscillator

For Engineering Excellence in Radio Equipment, it's . . .

COLLINS RADIO COMPANY, Cedar Rapids, Iowa 2700 W. Olive Avenue 11 W. 42nd Street

NEW YORK 36

BURBANK World Radio History



1930 Hi-Line Drive DALLAS 2


# GENERAL ELECTRIC HEADQUARTERS FOR ELECTRONICS RESEARCH



POWER SUPPLY





OSCILLOSCOPE



INDUSTRY

At Electronics Park, near Syracuse, N. Y., General Electric maintains headquarters for electronic research and development. From radio to radar, from computers to semi-conductors, potential uses of the electron are explored unceasingly by an army of scientists and engineers in this modern plant.

## An Entire Family of G-E PRECISION EQUIPMENT

#### for Laboratory, Industrial, and High Quality Test Applications

**Power Supply ST-9A** – Dual regulated power supply gives electronic overload protection *plus* built-in modulator.

YPD-2 - General laboratory purposes. Accurate and dependable.

Oscilloscope ST-2B – Has direct coupled amplifier. ST-2A – General purpose use.

Germanium Diode Checker ST-12A – Checks static characteristics of diodes.

Sweep Generator ST-4A – Completely electronic . . . no moving parts. Sweep Marker Generator ST-SA – Crystal referenced calibrator from 10mc to 300mc.

TV Channel Sweep Generator ST-11A – Speeds production line testing. Binary Scaler 45N-1A4 – For general counting applications.

• For full information call your nearest G-E Test Equipment Distributor or write: General Electric Company, Section 564, Electronics Park, Syracuse, New York.











# RADIO COMMUNICATION

An Entire Family of **G-E FM Communications Equipment** 



POLICE & FIRE DEPTS.



SELECTIVE TONE SIGNALING EQUIPMENT



**24 CHANNEL COMMUNICATION** 



2000 MC MICROWAVE

#### G-E Communications Equipment Covers the Range 50 kc to 2.000.000 kc 1 watt to 3,000 watts

• G-E offers a complete line of communications equipmentfrom audio to microwave-for police, fire, oil, lumber, industrial and civil defense applications. Typical are:

Selective Tone Signaling Equipment-Duplex dispatching combinations, single tone, two-way, and group calling equipment. Provides up to 900 private lines on one radio channel!

Microwave-G-E microwave equipment offers dependable communication over long distances and in difficult terrain areas. Up to 24 channels available for heavy traffic use.

Industrial 2-Way Radio Communication—G-E 2-way radio steps up production-increases profits. With it, equipment can handle more material-personnel do a better job on co-ordinated activities.

#### G-E EQUIPMENT FEATURES:

• Narrow or wide band operation

tubes for efficient operation

- Low battery drain-cooler running equipment
- Quality components-G-E makes more of its 2-way radio components than any other manufacturer
- Superior design, minimum

For full information on G-E communications equipment call the General Electric office near you or write: General Electric Company, Section 564, Electronics Park, Syracuse, New York.







LUMBER



6AF4

Ham lens

The DIOPLEX

18 11

# ELECTRONIC TUBES

For new tubes... new Ham-News circuits... see your General Electric tube distributor!

6дм4

**NEW G-E TUBES...** like the v-h-fl u-h-f trio above ... keep your rig up-to-the-minute, give you top efficiency with economy. G.E. builds tubes of all types to precision standards-power tubes; rectifiers; glass, metal, and miniature receiving types. Your General Electric distributor is your A-1 tube source. Keep in touch with him!

IT'S G-E HAM NEWS for new ham gear, new circuits! Every issue brings you something useful. On this page are a few of the many pioneering devices Ham News introduced with full construction details, so you could build the equipment yourself. Ham News is free, if you pick up the magazine from your G-E tube distributor. Or ... for \$1 a year...G.E. will mail Ham News to your home in the U.S., Alaska, Hawaii, or Panama, C.Z. General Electric Co., Tube Dept., Schenectady 5, N.Y.

#### GENERAL и ELECTRIC 166-101



MOBILE-MARINE RECEIVER G-E Ham News, July-Aug., 1952



CASCODE 2-METER PRE-AMPLIFIER G-E Ham News, Nov.-Dec., 1952 Norld Dadio Hist



TVR HIGH-PASS FILTER G-E Ham News, Mar.-Apr., 1951



SUPER 430 CONVERTER G-E Ham News, July-Aug., 1953

#### WITH A FREED TRANSFORMER YOU CAN TEST IT BETTER WITH A FREED INSTRUMENT TRANSFORMERS • REACTORS • FILTERS PRECISION TEST INSTRUMENTS No. 1030 No. 1040 Miniature Low Toroidal Vacuum Frequency Audio Inductors Tube Voltmeter Indicator Sub No. 1010A No. 1020B Military Miniature Comparison Pulse Megohmmeter Toroidal Bridge Inductors 60 No. 1210 110 Null High No. 1140A Power Detector Fidelity Null Transformers & Vacuum Detector Tube Voltmeter No. 1110A No. 1150 Precision Slug Tuned Incremental Universal Filters Inductance Components Bridge Bridge Freedseal No. 1410 Treatment Harmonic Pulse Decade - ANE-19 Distortion Modulators Inductors Specs. Meter COMPLETE FBEED FREED TRANSFORMER CO., INC. CATALOG 40 ON SETS THE STANDARD FOR PERFORMANCE REQUEST 1728 Weirfield St., Brooklyn (Ridgewood) 27, N. Y.

FOR MILITARY, COMMERCIAL OR AMATEUR APPLICATION

YOU CAN BUILD IT BETTER

World Radio History



#### **CAPACITORS**

FP (fabricated plate) and other dry electrolytics, Plascap® plastic mbulars, ceramic trimmers, disc ceramics

#### CONTROLS

Midgetrol® single and dual concentric carbon controls, wire wound controls

#### MERCURY BATTERIES

Ideally smited for transistor circuits and compact power supplies

#### POWER RHEOSTATS

#### 25 to 500 Watt RECTIFIERS

Magnesium copper sulfide and selenium rectifier stacks, rectifier power supplies

**RESISTORS** 

Fixed and adjustable vitreous enamel types

SWITCHES

Circuit selector and "Hambaud" switches, jacks and plugs

#### VARIABLE INDUCTANCE TUNERS

#### VIBRATORS

Vibrators and Vibrapack® power supplies

# Make Sure... Make It MALLORY

You can count on Mallory Approved Precision Products for long, trouble-free performance. They are backed by years of skilled design and manufacturing experience.

Mallory also offers you a wealth of helpful, up-to-date literature and advice on your technical problems. Call on your Mallory distributor whenever you need parts or information. He is ready to serve you.

# MALLORY

SERVING INDUSTRY WITH THESE PRODUCTS:

Electromechanical • Resistors, Switches, Television Tuners, Vibrators Electrochemical • Capacitors, Rectifiers, Mercury Batteries Metallurgical • Contacts, Special Metals, Welding Materials

P. R. MALLORY & CO., Inc., INDIANAPOLIS 6, INDIANA

World Radio History

# WHEREVER THE CIRCUIT SAYS -------

#### **ADVANCED TYPE BT RESISTORS**

Type BT insulated Composition Resistors—meet JAN-R-11 Specifications at  $\frac{1}{2}$ ,  $\frac{1}{2}$ , 1 and 2 watts. Small size BTB specially designed for miniature 2 watt requirements. Type BT's are suited to televisian and similar exacting circuits. Extremely low operating temperature. Excellent power dissipation. 10 ohms to 22 megohms in RMA ranges. (Fully described in Cotolog RDC8.)

# BW INSULATED WIRE WOUND RESISTORS

Exceptionally stable, inexpensive low wattage wire wound resistors. ½, 1 and 2 watts-0.24 ohms to 8,200 ohms in RMA ranges. 50% to 100% averloads can be applied with negligible change, and return to initial value. (Fully described in Catalog RDC8.)

#### TYPE Q VOLUME CONTROLS

<sup>1</sup>%s<sup>27</sup> diameter and <sup>1</sup>%<sup>27</sup> long bushing suit the Q Control to the smallest chassis, yet it handles big-set requirements with ease. Knob Master Fixed Shaft is standard and fits most push-on knobs without alteration. 15 Interchangeable Fixed Shafts provide adaptability to "specials" Accommodates Type 76 Switch. 86 plain and tapped Q Controls give wide coverage of AM, FM and TV needs.

(Fully described in Catalog RDC1.)



#### 2-WATT WIRE WOUND CONTROLS

The non-dependable wire mand controls for power requirements up to 2 watts. Type W has ¼" full roand shaft 3" long from second lace. Type WK has Knob Master Shaft fer hitting to knowled and flatted knobs, bushing is ¼" long, and shaft 3" long from mounting face. Both types have 1¼" diameter and accommodate Type W Switches. Resistance values: 2 abms to 10,000 abms. (Fully described in Catalog RDC1.)

#### POWER WIRE WOUND RESISTORS

IRC Fixed and Adjustable Power Wire Wounds are rugged resistors engineered for heavy-duty service. They are supplied in a wide variety of power ratings, resistance values, sizes and terminal types. TUBULAR POWER WIRE WOUNDS-fixed and adjustable, 10 to 200 watts, require no derating in high ranges. 10 and 20 watt fixed types have combination lead and lug terminals.

TYPE PW-4—Four watt power resistors with axial leads. Completely insulated in high temperature plastic. Body dimensions 134" long by 2144" diameter 1 ohm to 8200 ohms.

TYPES PW-7 and PW-10—Seven and ten watt high temperature resistors of practical rectangular design with axial leads.

(Fully described in Catalog RDC5.)



## AND SINGLE CONTROL

#### Multisections

For ganged controls, IRC MULTISECTIONS are added to Q Controls like switches to provide an endless variety of duals, triples and quadruples. Available in 20 values from 500 ohms to 10 megohms. MULTISECTIONS are as easily and quickly attached as switches—and duals will accommodate Type 76 switches. (Fully described in Catalog RDC1.)

ASSEMBLED MULTISECTION

#### FLAT INSULATED WIRE WOUND RESISTORS

Unsurpassed for adaptability to an extremely wide variety of design requirements, Radical design features impervious phenolic compound casing, special metal mounting bracket that actually speeds transfer of heat from inside chassis. Space-suving MW's afford unusual flexibility in providing taps for voltage dividing applications.

(Fully described in Catalog RB-2.)

Philadelphia 8, Pa.

#### MIL TYPE PRECISION WIRE WOUND RESISTORS

IRC's improved Precision Wire Wounds surpass MIL-R-93A Specifications and are fully interchangeable with earlier types,  $\pm 1\%$  tolerance is standard. 7 Sizes, Resistance values from 0.1 ohm to 6 megohms. (Fully described in Catalog DC6.)

Other Products in IRC's complete resistor line are described on the fallowing poges.

85

PW 7-7W

IRC 340

2000 2



In Canada: International Resis<mark>tance Co., Ltd., Toronto, Liconsoo</mark>

401 N. Broad Street

INTERNATIONAL RESISTANCE COMPANY

# WHEREVER THE CIRCUIT SAYS ------

#### CLOSE TOLERANCE DEPOSITED CARBON PRECISTORS

PRECISTORS after a unique combination of class informance, stability and economy. Furn crystaffine curbon banded to selected account dans overtaries initiations of carbon paradition resistant and higher cost of practice wire wounds. PRECISTORS after wide rates of vulles, guaranreed accuracy, high stability, low schage coefficient, excellent frequency characteristics, predictable remainders coefficient. [Fully e-scalad or Curbon RDC-2]



#### HIGH FREQUENCY RESISTORS

Type MF Resistors are designed for frequencies share trace of convertional vesistors. 3 with to 90 watts Special construction with resistors for sensition of steellie convections, and concern trable resistors of low inductance and concernly. Type AFFALs are miniature by watt write for smith-space. Nigh frequency receives applications.

(Fully described in Cotolog \$5-1.)

#### HIGH VOLTAGE RESISTORS

Type AV's meet high resistance and power requirements in high votrage applications. Resistance cooling in helical turns on ceromic labe provides a conducting path of long effective length 2 works to 90 works. Votety of terminal types. Type AVX's meet requirements for small, high range and with abid lends. 2" a "is" construction identical with Type AVX's except for terminal.

Folly described in Catelogs #G-1 and #G-2.5

#### SPECIAL CONTROLS

TTFF ICL A continuously companiated control flot bacits lows and highs as volume is decreased—molitane depth and brillionce even of whisper level. Automatically mointain proper holonies of all frequencies in the audia spectrum at any distance level. Simple installation.

TYPE QJ.3. A low cost, easily installed TV estimator that permits ready adjustment of signal mouths. To TV sets.

Unity described in Catalog DC1.)

Other products in IRC's complete resistor line are described on the preceding pages.

#### SEALED VOLTMETER MULTIPLIERS

Dependable multipliers for use under the most severe humidity conditions, Type MF Resistors consist of a number of IRC Precisions interconnected and hermetically sealed in a glazed ceramic tube. Compact, rugged, stable, fully moisture-proof and easy to install. Maximum current: 1.0 M.A.; 0.5 megohms to 6 megohms.

(Fully described in Catalog RD-2.)



#### MICROSTAK SELENIUM DIODES

TYPE GA Diodes are IRC engineered for use in low current circuits where very high back resistance and low forward resistance are required. They are small size, hermetically sealed, and ideal for circuit applications up to 1 megacycle.

IRC VARISTORS are non-linear resistors. They ore voltage sensitive and provide sharp variation of resistance with applied voltage. (Fully described in Catalogs RDC11 and RSR-3.)

#### INSULATED CHOKES

Ideal for TV and similar circuits. Wide range of size and characteristic combinations permit accurate specification to individual requirements. Types CLA and CL-1 Chokes are fully insulated in molded phenolic housings—protected from high humidity, abrasion, physical damage or shorting to chassis.

(Completely described in Catalog RDC7.)



S



IRC manufactures a wide line of resistors, controls and related electronic components for equipment manufacturers, service technicians and amateurs.

In addition to the products described on these pages, IRC also furnishes—

BORON-CARBON PRECISTORS • MOLDED BORON-CARBON PRECISTORS • INDUSTRIAL CONTROLS • 4 WATT TV CONTROLS • FLAT TYPE POWER WIRE WOUNDS • FEED-THRU TERMINALS.

#### SEND FOR LITERATURE

For full information on any IRC product visit your local IRC Distributor or write for the Catalog Bulletin in which you are interested.

401 N. Broad Street Philadelphia 8, Pa.



In Canada: International Res<mark>istance Co., Ltd., Toronto, Licensee</mark>

# For those who appreciate PROFESSIONAL STANDARDS!



SP-600-JX



HQ-140-X

# Communications Receivers for finest Performance

#### The "SP-600-JX"

The "SP-600-JX", a masterpiece of receiver design, is a 20 tube dual conversion superheterodyne covering the range of 540 Kc to 54 Mc in 6 bands. Operation on any of 6 crystal-controlled fixed frequency channels is immediately available. The power supply is an integral part of this worldfamous receiver.

The "SP-600" represents today's ultimate in receiver performance. Stability is .001 to .01 percent, image rejection is 80 db to 120 db down, and spurious responses are at least 100 db down. Sensitivity is 1 microvolt CW and 2 microvolts AM. Selectivity for the 3 calibrated crystal and 3 non-crystal ranges is from 200 cycles to 13 Kc.

#### The "HQ-140-X"

The "HQ-140-X" was designed to give years of reliable, quality performance. Its many out-standing features are evidence that it was built for those who appreciate professional standards. Extremely accurate frequency setting is achieved because of its carefully calibrated bandspread dial. The Hammarlund patented 455 Kc crystal filter and phasing network makes possible bandwidth changes without the slightest detuning. The separate oscillator (6C4) and mixer (6BE6) contribute to the high degree of oscillator stability.

Low-loss tube sockets, ceramic bandswitches, temperature compensating capacitors, zero temperature coefficient ceramic trimmers, and a bimetallic compensating plate, all keep frequency drift to less than 0.01%, from the lowest frequency (540 Kc) to the highest (31 Mc).

#### WANT TO KNOW MORE ABOUT HAMMARLUND RECEIVERS?

Write immediately to have your name placed on our Receiver mailing list.





# Economical Systems of Modern Design

#### SELECTIVE CALLING OR SIGNALING

Hammarlund Selective Calling equipment, added to 2-way radio systems used to control large fleets of vehicles, or distant fixed stations, add privacy, speed, safety, quietness and convenience to day-inday-out operations. By the push of a button the dispatcher within 0.8 of a second selects the individual station or group of stations he wants to contact. If the operator of the car or station being called doesn't answer, an indicator lamp remains lighted to show he was called.

#### **REMOTE SUPERVISORY CONTROLS**

The Hammarlund "Multi-Gate" Remote Supervisory and Control System is engineered to provide highly efficient, fully reliable operational controls of important remote equipment such as used by refineries, pipelines, utilities, railroads, civil defense and other commercial, as well as military groups. This equipment makes possible the operation of many distant functions immediately and positively from one or more master stations.

#### POINT TO POINT SIGNALING

The Hammarlund Standard Duplex Signaling Unit consists of a tone generator and receiver designed to operate over wire lines, telephone or power line carrier, and radio or microwave communications circuits for signaling, dialing, slow speed telemetering, supervisory controls or other information. Transmitters and receivers are available for 36 frequency channels between 2000 and 6475 cps.

The above are examples of the many types of signaling and control units and systems, designed and manufactured by Hammarlund, and now in use by groups requiring remote operations and continuous indication of operating conditions.

Write for detailed information on equipment to fulfill your requirements.



**Push-Button Selective Calling** 



Aircraft Communications System Control

**Multi-Gate** 

for

**Remote Control** 



THE HAMMARLUND MANUFACTURING CO., INC. 460 WEST 34th STREET • NEW YORK 1, N. Y.

World Radio History





# **Reliable Component**

#### The "MAC"

The "MAC" provides the low minimum capacity essential for use as a trimmer in the VHF range. It was engineered to achieve the smallest dimensions practical to meet the requirements of a miniaturized component. Its silicone treated steatite base is only  $\sqrt[3]{4}$  x  $\sqrt[5]{8}$ .

Rotor and stator are soldered assemblies and are of brass, nickel plated. Capacities range from 1.4 to 19.6 mmf.

#### The "BFC"

The "BFC" "butterfly" type capacitor has very low minimum capacity, low inductance and isolated rotor for use in VHF applications as a series capacitor with no rotor contact. Brass rotors and stators are soldered and nickel-plated. The contact wiper is heavily silver-plated beryllium-copper.

Capacities range from 3.4 to 40.1 mmf.

#### The "APC"

The "APC" trimmer capacitor originated by Hammarlund over twenty years ago is still widely recognized as the standard capacitor of its type.

Its use is indicated in all classes of equipment where a compact, high quality air dielectric trimmer is required. It was designed to resist effects of temperature, moisture and vibration.

Capacities range from 3.0 to 140 mmf.

#### The "MAPC"

The "MAPC" capacitor is a scaled-down version of the popular "APC" with everything reduced except the quality and performance characteristics.

Lower minimum capacities and low inductance make the "MAPC" suitable for VHF use. Capacities range from 2.3 to 100 mmf.

#### The "MC"

The "MC" is a versatile single section tuning capacitor designed to give a choice of mountings, connections and capacity characteristics. "MC-S" capacitors have a straight line capacity characteristic. "MC-M" units have offset plates resulting in a "Midline" characteristic which more equally spaces frequencies. Capacities range from 5.5 to 320 mmf.



#### For that modern, high-efficiency, low-cost transmitter, always design around RCA Beam Power Tubes

Beam power tubes—an original RCA development—enable you to design and build high-efficiency rigs at less cost. Because of the low power required to drive beam power tubes, you can operate your transmitter with low-power-level exciters—minimize your TVI problems. With beam power tubes, you get peak performance with fewer stages —which makes for easier band switching—fewer tubes, and fewer components.

Put the advantages of beam power to work for you when you design. Specify RCA. There's an RCA Beam Power Tube for every input up to 1000 watts—and every frequency up to 225 Mc. For additional data on RCA beam power types see Table 17 in Chapter 27 of this Handbook.

RCA HAM TIPS. Written by radio amateurs for radio amateurs, this up-to-the-minute publication is jam-full of how-to-make-it articles, as well as non-constructional articles



on TVI. Free from your RCA Tube Distributor. Or write RCA, Commercial Engineering, Section A11M, Harrison, N. J.

HARRISON, N.J.



RADIO CORPORATION of AMERICA

ELECTRON TUBES

ELECTRON 4-250A



(Full input up to 75 Mc) High-power "final." A 2E26 drives it. A pair of 810's modulates it. Maximum plate voltage is 4000 volts for CW and 3200 volts for phone. 500watts CW; 375 watts phone (Full input up to 120 Mc) Two 4-125A/4D21's take 1 KW on CW, 750 wotts on phone. One 2E26 drives a pair. Two 811-A's modulote them. Maximum plote voltage is 3000v for CW, 2500v for phone.

CTRON 4125A

RCAFUEST MALE IN

90 watts CW; 67.5 watts phone (Full input up to 60 Mc Reduced input up to i75 Mc) Circuit versatility of this tube is matched by few other types. Excellent for 2-meter work—handles 48 wotts input on phone at 150 Mc. In a class AB<sub>1</sub> modulator, two 6146's con deliver up to 120 watts.

## Thyratrons, Rectifiers, Voltage Regulator Tubes

# time for you to get busy with TRANSISTORS

 Please address your inquiries: CHIEF CONSULTING ENGINEER,
Transistor Development and Application Division, Hydro-Aire Inc.
3000 Winona Avenue, Burbank, Calif.

#### Every HAM and Radio Hobbyist should know about Transistors. The Time to investigate is NOW!

From now on the use of Transistors is going to spread rapidly. Their advantages in simplifying design are unique. Their potential applications are endless.

Whenever you think of vacuum tubes, from now on you should consider the possibility of substituting Transistors. True, the characteristics of the Transistor do not lend themselves to direct replacement of tubes in existing circuitry, each new application must be designed around the Transistor. What makes the Transistor so overwhelmingly worth while is its small size and light weight, long life and low cost. In addition, the Transistor's versatility of function opens up a broad new field of applications never before possible.

Free Literature is now available from Hydro-Aire, giving guidance on how to use Point-contact Transistors in certain HAM applications; and also how to build a miniaturized home broadcast receiving set using Transistors supplied by Hydro-Aire. Write now \*



Actual size

HYDRO-AIRE Inc.

BURBANK, CALIF.

Subsidiary of Crane Co.





# DIFFUSED JUNCTION GERMANIUM RECTIFIERS

DIFFUSED JUNCTION RECTIFIER	1191	1N92	1N93	1N151	1N152	IN153	1N15
RMS INPUT VOLTAGE (Volts)	-	-	-	35	70	105	130
PEAK INVERSE VOLTAGE* (Volts)	100	200	300	100	200	300	380
PEAK FORWARD CURRENT (Amps.)	0.47	0.31	0.25	1.57	1.57	1.57	1.57
D.C. OUTPUT CURRENT" (Ma.)	150	100	75	500	500	500	500
D.C. OUTPUT CURRENT- CAPACITIVE LOAD (Ma.)	-	-	-	350	350	350	350
D.C. SURGE CURRENT (Amps.)	25	25	25	25	25	25	25
FULL LOAD VOLTAGE DROP (voits peak)	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.7	0.7	0.7	1.4
LEAKAGE CURRENT (Ma., @ rated P.I.V.)	2.7	1.9	1.2	2.4	1.9	1.2	0.8
CONTINUOUS REVERSE WORKING VOLTAGE (Volts D.C.)	30	65	100	30	65	100	185
OPERATING FREQUENCY (KC)	50	50	50	50	50	50	50
STORAGE TEMPERATURE (°C)	85	85	85	85	85	85	85

VERY LOW LOSSES when used for power supplies, battery chargers, filament supplies and switching circuits.

HERMETICALLY SEALED against deteriorating elements. Glass-to-metal seals throughout.

MINIATURE SIZE to facilitate use in all electronic equipments, yet heat losses are dissipated efficiently.

DESIGNED to meet all military humidity tests and shock and vibration requirements.

MULTIPLE ARRANGEMENTS can be made for full wave or bridge circuits up to tens of amperes. Send us your requirements-our engineers will furnish a complete recommendation.

Send for complete specifications: General Electric Co., Section 564. Electronics Park, Syracuse, New York.

#### A SINGLE **1N91 RECTIFIER**

operated from a 6.3 volt transformer makes an ideal trickle charger for your storage battery!

• delivers up to .5 amps ... and is an inexpensive way to get D.C. voltage for your tube filaments!







World Radio History

ELECTRIC

### THIS IS ONLY ONE OHM!



Bliley TYPE IN ERIE PA. M.S.A AX2 TOLERANCE (kc) RANGE (kc) PRICE 1803-1822 1878-1897 ±١ \$3.75 1903-1922 1978-1997 3500-3997 ± 5 \$2.95 7000-7425 ± 5 \$2.95 8000-8222 12500-13615  $\pm 30$ \$3.95 14000-14850

Specially designed third overtone crystal produced for the Bliley CCO-2A oscillator. On crystals supplied to the tolerance above, the nameplate frequency is calibrated to  $\pm$  .003% in factory test equipment. The drift is less than .0002% per °C.

TOLERANCE (kc)

± 5

-----

RANGE (kc)

24000-24333

25000-25500

On crystals supplied to the tolerance above, the nameplate frequency is calibrated to  $\pm .002\%$ in factory test equipment. The drift is less than .0002% per C.

## Bliley TYPE CCO-2A

This famous packaged oscillator unit was designed and engineered to utilize the many advantages of crystal control on 2-6-10-11 meters. With the CCO-2A, output is obtained directly on 6-10-11 meters; operation on 2 meters requires only atripler stage. Specified for 10 meters

and 11 meters is the Bliley type AX2. For 6 meter operation, use Bliley type AX3. On 2 meters, select an AX3 crystal which will triple to the desired transmitting frequency.

PRICE: \$11.95 (Less Tube and Crystal)

the desired trans-

You will find these famous Bliley amateur products described in Bulletin 44-A—now available at your favorite distributor of amateur equipment.

#### UNPON STATION BLDG., ERIE, PENNSYLVANIA



## Bliley TYPE MC9

Bliley TYPE

AX3

PRICE

\$3.95

# SPOT FREQUENCIES

RANGE (kc)	TOLERANCE (kc)	PRICE
ANY SPECIFIED		
BETWEE	±.03 %	\$4.80
3000-10:00		

On crystals supplied to the tolerance above, the nameplate frequency is calibrated to  $\pm$  .002% in factory test equipment. The drift is less than .0002% per °C.





# Baw PRODUCTS of the YEAR



#### **Radio Transmitter Model 5100**

- OUTPUT—100 watts phone, 125 watts CW.
- OPERATION—VFO or 80 meter crystal. VFO is built-in accurately calibrated, highly stable.
  Talevision into
- COVERAGE—80-40-20-15-11-10 Meter bands.
  R-F AMPLIFIER—Pi-network
- tank circuit for matching impedances from 40 to 125 ohms.

• Television interference suppressed.

This B&W transmitter has been designed for the most discriminating operator. It is built for consistent, dependable service, and a high quality signal output, be it telephone or telegraph. Though highly compact, its layout is straight-forward with all components easily accessible. The heavy gauge steel cabinet is finished in a pleasing shade of blue-gray Hammertone. The richly finished front panel clearly indicates all switch and knob designations. Weighing only 83 lbs., 21/2"wide x 151/4" high x 151/8"deep, this B&W Transmitter is an attractive piece of equipment that will catch the eye of the most critical amateur.



#### Grid Dip Meter

This indispensable measuring instrument enables you to get the most out of your equipment. Its amazing performance will save you time in initial transmitter tuning, neutralizing, antenna loading, and dozens of other jobs. Extremely versatile, it can be used as a sensitive grid dip meter, a signal generator, an absorption wave meter, or as a signal monitor from 1.75 to 260 mc. The calibrated color coded dial is divided in 5 bands matching each of the 5 coils supplied.



### **1-KW Multi-Band Balun**

This deluxe unit provides selection of an appropriate Balun by the twist of a selector knob when the operator desires to change operation from one band to another. It may be used with any one of five separate half wave folded dipoles or any multi-band antenna system whose feedline reflects a constant impedance of 300 ohms. Intended for indoor use, within easy reach from the operating position, its design provides for operation within the amateur bands 80-40-20-15 and 10 meters. Impedance characteristics are 55 ohms unbalanced input to 300 ohms balanced output.

#### 1-KW Single Band Beam Balun



These 1-KW Baluns are ideal for use with beam antennas employing the popular "T" matching section. Available in models for either 20, 15, or 10 meter operation, the input of each Balun is designed to match a 75 ohm unbalanced feed line system while the output, in a combination connection with a "T" section, marches 100 ohms. The metal case is weatherproof and fitted with a coaxial input connector and ceramic teedthru output terminals.

### **1-KW Single Band Balun**



These 1-KW Baluns are designed for half-wave folded dipole antennas. Input characteristics are 75 ohms unbalanced to an output of 300 ohms balanced. They are available in five models for operation at either 80-40-20-15 or 10 meters. Housed in sturdy, weatherproof Hammertone metal cases, all are equipped with coaxial input connectors and ceramic feedthru output terminals.

#### **R-F Power Meter**



This handy instrument is indispensable for measuring the output power of transmitters, and as a dummy load in tune up procedures when no radiation is desired. The large, fantype, power output scale is invaluable for indicating the final performance of your equipment. Power rating is 125 watts intermittent, 100 watts continuous. Max. SWR is 1.5:1. Models for 52 or 75 ohm input impedance are available for 0 to 40 mc or 35 to 100 mc.

TURN PAGE FOR MORE **B**&W DEPENDABLE PRODUCTS

World Radio History

# SIGNALING & CONTROL EQUIPMENT for dependable operations!

# Economical Systems of Modern Design

#### **SELECTIVE CALLING OR SIGNALING**

Hammarlund Selective Calling equipment, added to 2-way radio systems used to control large fleets of vehicles, or distant fixed stations, add privacy, speed, safety, quietness and convenience to day-inday-out operations. By the push of a button the dispatcher within 0.8 of a second selects the individual station or group of stations he wants to contact. If the operator of the car or station being called doesn't answer, an indicator lamp remains lighted to show he was called.

#### **REMOTE SUPERVISORY CONTROLS**

The Hammarlund "Multi-Gate" Remote Supervisory and Control System is engineered to provide highly efficient, fully reliable operational controls of important remote equipment such as used by refineries, pipelines, utilities, railroads, civil defense and other commercial, as well as military groups. This equipment makes possible the operation of many distant functions immediately and positively from one or more master stations.

#### **POINT TO POINT SIGNALING**

The Hammarlund Standard Duplex Signaling Unit consists of a tone generator and receiver designed to operate over wire lines, telephone or power line carrier, and radio or microwave communications circuits for signaling, dialing, slow speed telemetering, supervisory controls or other information. Transmitters and receivers are available for 36 frequency channels between 2000 and 6475 cps.

The above are examples of the many types of signaling and control units and systems, designed and manufactured by Hammarlund, and now in use by groups requiring remote operations and continuous indication of operating conditions.

Write for detailed information on equipment to fulfill your requirements.



**Push-Button Selective Calling** 



Aircraft Communications System Control

> Multi-Gate for Remote Control



THE HAMMARLUND MANUFACTURING CO., INC. 460 WEST 34th STREET • NEW YORK 1, N. Y.

World Radio History

When Your Design Considerations are Critical\_Put in





"MAPC"



"АРС"

## **Reliable Component:**

#### The "MAC"

The "MAC" provides the low minimum capacity essential for use as a trimmer in the VHF range. It was engineered to achieve the smallest dimensions practical to meet the requirements of a miniaturized component. Its silicone treated steatite base is only  $\frac{3}{4}$ " x  $\frac{5}{8}$ ".

Rotor and stator are soldered assemblies and are of brass, nickel plated. Capacities range from 1.4 to 19.6 mmf.

#### The "BFC"

The "BFC" "butterfly" type capacitor has very low minimum capacity, low inductance and isolated rotor for use in VHF applications as a series capacitor with no rotor contact. Brass rotors and stators are soldered and nickel-plated. The contact wiper is heavily silver-plated beryllium-copper.

Capacities range from 3.4 to 40.1 mmf,

#### The "APC"

The "APC" trimmer capacitor originated by Hammarlund over twenty years ago is still widely recognized as the standard capacitor of its type.

Its use is indicated in all classes of equipment where a compact, high quality air dielectric trimmer is required. It was designed to resist effects of temperature, moisture and vibration.

Capacities range from 3.0 to 140 mmf.

#### The "MAPC"

The "MAPC" capacitor is a scaled-down version of the popular "APC" with everything reduced except the quality and performance characteristics.

Lower minimum capacities and low inductance make the "MAPC" suitable for VHF use. Capacities range from 2.3 to 100 mmf.

#### The "MC"

The "MC" is a versatile single section tuning capacitor designed to give a choice of mountings, connections and capacity characteristics. "MC-S" capacitors have a straight line capacity characteristic. "MC-M" units have offset plates resulting in a "Midline" characteristic which more equally spaces frequencies. Capacities range from 5.5 to 320 mmf.

HAMMARLUND

# HAMMARLUND CAPACITORS

# for Your Equipment

#### The "RMC"

The "RMC" was designed specifically for applications requiring an "MC" type tuning capacitor with very rigid construction, such as mobile operation. Its sturdy frame consists of heavy gauge aluminum end panels held together by three aluminum tie rods.

It has a brass sleeve front bearing and a single ball thrust rear bearing for smooth tuning and a high degree of resetability. Capacities range from 7.3 to 327 mmf.

#### The "VU"

A uniquely designed UHF tuning capacitor using completely original concepts. With it, conventional "lumped constant" circuits, rather than tuned cavity techniques, can be efficiently used up to 500 Mc. Capacitor sections are in series to eliminate rotor wiper and the design utilizes Pyrex balls to form precision bearings and to completely isolate the rotor.

The vacuum tube and inductor can be mounted adjacent to and on opposite sides of the capacitor to minimize circuit inductance. Capacities range from 3.35 to 45 mmf.

#### The "HF" Series

The "HF" is a single section tuning capacitor employing "APC" rotor and stator design. Extra-long sleeve bearing and positive contact nickel-plated phosphor-bronze wiper make this unit ideally suited to high frequency applications. Also available as a dual "HFD". Capacities range from 2.8 to 142 mmf.

Write today for our latest Capacitor Catalog





THE HAMMARLUND MANUFACTURING CO., INC. 460 WEST 34th STREET • NEW YORK 1, N.Y.

# Do it Better

CW ond phone power values listed are maximum rated plate-input values for omateur service.



92

500watts CW ;400watts phone (Full input up to 30 Mc) This high-power amplifier delivers

nis ngn-power amplitier delivers more wotts per dollar thon any amateur beam power tube in its class. A 6L6 drives it. Operates efficiently over a wide range of plate voltage.



(Full input up to 200 Mc) Twin Beom Power Tube for VHF. One 2E26 drives it; two 507's modulate it. Maximum plate voltage: 750v en CW, 600v on phone.



17 watts CW; 15 watts phone (Full input up to 50 Mc Reduced input up to 175 Mc) RF amplifier, frequency multiplier, oscillotor—handles more power than any "miniature" in amateur radio. For mobile, portable, or fixed service. It delivers full power with only a 350v supply.



75 watts CW; 60 watts phane (Full input up to 60 Mc) Versatile beam power tube for if ampliflers, modulotors, and frequency multipliers. A 6AG7 drives it; a pair of 807's modulates it.



40 watts CW; 27 watts phone (Full input up to 125 Mc Reduced input up to 175 Mc)

RF power amplifier, freq. multiplier, oscillator. Well-swited for mobile and emergency services. A SAG7 drives it; a pair of 6V6-GT's or a 6N7 modulates it.



345 watts CW; 270 wattsphone (Full input up to 50 Mc) Medium-power rf amplifier. A 6AG7 drives it. Maximum plate voltage: 3090v for CW, 2500v for phone.

## RCA—Headquarters for Beam Power Tubes, Power Triodes,



#### For that modern, high-efficiency, low-cost transmitter, always design around RCA Beam Power Tubes

Beam power tubes—an original RCA development—enable you to design and build high-efficiency rigs at less cost. Because of the low power required to drive beam power tubes, you can operate your transmitter with low-power-level exciters—minimize your TVI problems. With beam power tubes, you get peak performance with fewer stages —which makes for easier band switching—fewer tubes, and fewer components.

Put the advantages of beam power to work for you when you design. Specify RCA. There's an RCA Beam Power Tube for every input up to 1000 watts—and every frequency up to 225 Mc. For additional data on RCA beam power types see Table 17 in Chapter 27 of this Handbook.

RCA HAM TIPS. Written by radio amateurs for radio amateurs, this up-to-the-minute publication is jam-full of how-to-make-it articles, as well as non-constructional articles



on TVI. Free from your RCA Tube Distributor. Or write RCA, Commercial Engineering, Section A11M, Harrison, N. J.

HARRISON, N.J.



#### RADIO CORPORATION of AMERICA

ELECTRON TUBES



#### 1000 watts and more, CW 675 watts phone

(Full input up to 75 Mc) High-power "final." A 2E26 drives it. A pair of 810's modulates it. Maximum plate voltoge is 4000 volts for CW and 3200 volts for phone. 500watts CW; 375 wattsphone (Full input up to 120 Mc) Two 4-125A/4D21's take 1 KW on CW, 750 watts on phone. One 2E26 drives a pair. Two 81 I-A's modulote them. Moximum plate voltage is 3030v for CW, 2500v for phone.

BE DEA 4125A

TAGE RCAFEET

90 watts CW; 67.5 watts phone (Full input up to 60 Mc Reduced input up to 175 Mc) Circuit versatility of this tube is matched by few other types. Excellent for 2-meter work—handles 48 wotts input on phone at 150 Mc. In a class AB<sub>5</sub> modulator, two 6146's can deliver up to 120 wotts.

## Thyratrons, Rectifiers, Voltage Regulator Tubes

# time for you to get busy with TRANSISTORS

 Please address your inquiries: CHIEF CONSULTING ENGINEER,
Transistor Development and Application Division, Hydro-Aire Inc.
3000 Winona Avenue, Burbank, Calif.

#### Every HAM and Radio Hobbyist should know about Transistors. The Time to investigate is NOW!

From now on the use of Transistors is going to spread rapidly. Their advantages in simplifying design are unique. Their potential applications are endless.

Whenever you think of vacuum tubes, from now on you should consider the possibility of substituting Transistors. True, the characteristics of the Transistor do not lend themselves to direct replacement of tubes in existing circuitry, each new application must be designed around the Transistor. What makes the Transistor so overwhelmingly worth while is its small size and light weight, long life and low cost. In addition, the Transistor's versatility of function opens up a broad new field of applications never before possible.

Free Literature is now available from Hydro-Aire, giving guidance on how to use Point-contact Transistors in certain HAM applications; and also how to build a miniaturized home broadcast receiving set using Transistors supplied by Hydro-Aire. Write now \*



HYDRO-AIRE Inc

BURBANK, CALIF,

Subsidiary of Crane Co.

CONSULTANTS ON TRANSISTOR APPLICATIONS





# DIFFUSED JUNCTION GERMANIUM RECTIFIERS

DIFFUSED JUNCTION RECTIFIER	1191	1N92	1N93	IN151	1N152	1N153	IN15
RMS INPUT VOLTAGE (Volts)	-	-	-	35	70	105	130
PEAK INVERSE VOLTAGE* (Volts)	100	200	300	100	200	300	380
PEAK FORWARD CURRENT (Amps.)	0.47	0.31	0.25	1.57	1.57	1.57	1.57
D.C. OUTPUT CURRENT* (Ma.)	150	100	75	500	500	500	500
D.C. OUTPUT CURRENT- CAPACITIVE LOAD (Ma.)	-	-	4	350	350	350	350
D.C. SURGE CURRENT (Amps.)	25	25	25	25	25	25	25
FULL LOAD VOLTAGE DROP (volts peak)	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.7	0.7	0.7	1.4
LEAKAGE CURRENT (Ma., @ roted P.I.V.)	2.7	1.9	1.2	2.4	1.9	1.2	0.8
CONTINUOUS REVERSE WORKING VOLTAGE (Volts D.C.)	30	65	100	30	65	100	185
OPERATING FREQUENCY (KC)	50	50	50	50	50	50	50
STORAGE TEMPERATURE (°C)	85	85	85	85	8.5	85	85

• VERY LOW LOSSES when used for power supplies, battery chargers, filament supplies and switching circuits.

• HERMETICALLY SEALED against deteriorating elements. Glass-to-metal seals throughout.

• MINIATURE SIZE to facilitate use in all electronic equipments, yet heat losses are dissipated efficiently.

• DESIGNED to meet all military humidity tests and shock and vibration requirements.

• MULTIPLE ARRANGEMENTS can be made for full wave or hridge circuits up to tens of amperes. Send us your requirements—our engineers will furnish a complete recommendation.

Send for complete specifications: General Electric Co., Section 564. Electronics Park, Syracuse, New York.

#### A SINGLE 1N91 RECTIFIER

• operated from a 6.3 volt transformer makes an ideal trickle charger for your storage battery!

• delivers up to .5 amps ... and is an inexpensive way to get D.C. voltage for your tube filaments!





## OTE THIS IS ONLY ONE OHM!



SLILEY FLEC	Blild	εφ ΤΥΡΕ <b>Χ2</b>
RANGE (kc)	TOLERANCE (k«)	PRICE
1803-1822 1878-1897 1903-1922 1978-1997	<u>+</u> 1	\$3.75
3500-3997	± 5	\$2.95
7000-7425 8000-8222	±5	\$2.95
12500-13615 14000-14850	± 30	\$3.95

On crystals supplied to the tolerance above, the nameplate frequency is calibrated to ± .002% in factory test equipment. The drift is less than .0002% per C.

# **Bliley Crystals FOR 23 YEARS** TOP AMATEUR CHOICE...

RANGE (kc)

24000-24333

25000-25500



### Bliley TYPE CCO-2A

This famous packaged oscillator unit was designed and engineered to utilize the many advantages of crystal control on 2-6-10-11 meters. With the CCO-2A, output is obtained directly on 6-10-11 meters; operation on 2 meters requires only a tripler stage. Specified for 10 meters

and 11 meters is the Bliley type AX2. For 6 meter operation, use Bliley type AX3. On 2 meters, select an AX3 crystal which will triple to the desired transmitting frequency.

PRICE: \$11.95 (Less Tube and Crystal)



## Black TYPE MC9

Bliley TYPE

AX3

PRICE

\$3.95

#### **SPOT FREQUENCIES** for NET OPERATION

RANGE (kc)	TOLERANCE (kc)	PRICE
ANY SPECIFIED		
3080-10-00	± <b>.03</b> %	\$4.80

TOLERANCE (kc)

±5

Specially designed third overtone crystal produced for the Bliley CCO-2A oscillator. On crystals supplied to the tolerance above, the nameplate frequency is calibrated to ± .003% in factory test equipment. The drift is less than .0002% per °C.

On crystals supplied to the tolerance above, the nameplate frequency is calibrated to ± .002% in factory test equipment. The drift is less than .0002% per °C.





UNEON STATION BLDG., ERIE, PENNSYLVANIA

You will find these famous Bliley amateur products described in Bulletin 44-A-now available at your favorite distributor of amateur equipment.

# **B&W PRODUCTS** of the **YEAR**



#### Radio Transmitter Model 5100

- OUTPUT-100 watts phone, 125 watts CW.
- OPERATION—VFO or 80 meter crystal. VFO is built-in accurately colibrated, highly stable.
  Television inter

This B&W transmitter has been designed for the most discriminating operator. It is built for consistent, dependable service, and a high quality signal output, be it telephone or telegraph. Though highly compact, its layout is straight-forward with all components easily accessible. The heavy gauge steel cabinet

- COVERAGE—80-40-20-15-11-10 Meter bands.
- R-F AMPLIFIER—Pi-network tank circuit for matching impedonces from 40 to 125 ohms.

• Television interference suppressed.

is finished in a pleasing shade of blue-gray Hammertone. The richly finished front panel clearly indicates all switch and knob designations, Weighing only 83 lbs., 21<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>" wide x 15<sup>1</sup>/<sub>4</sub>" high x 15<sup>1</sup>/<sub>8</sub>" deep, this B&W Transmitter is an attractive piece of equipment that will catch the eye of the most critical amateur.



#### Grid Dip Meter

This indispensable measuring instrument enables you to get the most out of your equipment. Its amazing performance will save you time in initial transmitter tuning, neutralizing, antenna loading, and dozens of other jobs Extremely versatile, it can be used as a sensitive grid dip meter, a signal generator, an absorption wave meter, or as a signal monitor from 1.75 to 260 mc. The calibrated color coded dial is divided in 5 bands matching each of the 5 coils supplied.



#### 1-KW Multi-Band Balun

This deluxe unit provides selection of an appropriate Balun by the twist of a selector knob when the operator desires to change operation from one band to another. It may be used with any one of five separate half wave folded dipoles or any multi-band antenna system whose feedline reflects a constant impedance of 300 ohms, Intended for indoor use, within easy reach from the operating position, its design provides for operation within the amateur bands 80-40-20-15 and 10 meters. Impedance characteristics are 75 ohms unbalanced output.

#### 1-KW Single Band Beam Balun



These 1-KW Baluns are ideal for use with beam antennas employing the popular "T" matching section. Available in models for either 20, 15, or 10 meter operation, the input of each Balun is designed to match a 75 ohm unbalanced feed line system while the output, in a combination connection with a "T" section, matches 100 ohms. The metal case is weatherproof and fitted with a coaxial input connector and ceranic leedthru output terminals.

#### **1-KW Single Band Balun**



These 1-KW Baluns are designed for half-wave folded dipole antennas. Input characteristics are 75 ohms unbalanced to an output of 300 ohms balanced. They are available in five models for operation at either 80-40-20-15 or 10 meters. Housed in sturdy, weatherproof Hammertone metal cases, all are equipped with coaxial input connectors and ceramic feedthru output terminals.

#### **R-F Power Meter**



This handy instrument is indispensable for measuring the output power of transmitters, and as a dummy load in tune up procedures when no radiation is desired. The large, fantype, power output scale is invaluable for indicating the final performance of your equipment. Power rating is 125 watts intermittent, 100 watts continuous. Max. SWR is 1.5:1. Models for 52 or 75 ohm input impedance are available for 0 to 40 mc or 35 to 100 mc,

TURN PAGE FOR MORE **B**&W DEPENDABLE PRODUCTS

World Radio History





Heavy Duty Butterfly Variable Capacitors B & W heavy duty butterfly variable capacitors with coils integrally mounted pave the way for increased efficiency in singleended and push-pull circuits. Better L. C. ratios at high frequencies, with beam power tubes as well as a host of other desirable features, are a reality with these husky units. These include: compact assembly, shorter tuned circuit leads, shorter R. F. paths and optional built-in neutralizing condensers.



Low Pass Filters B&W Low Pass Filters are highly effective in attenuating harmonics causing TVI. Attenuation is 85db or more thru the TV band; insertion loss less than .25db thru the pass band to 30mc. They can easily handle more than 1 KW of r-f power. Consisting of four "K" sections plus two "M" derived end sections, these filters are constructed of heavy gauge copper, employ the highest grade electrical Teflon insulation, in a compact, screw-assembled case.

These accessories permit compact assemblies with companion units such as capacitors, jack bars, plug-in coils, and links. Two groups are available, one for open wire plug-in swinging links, and another for Faraday Shielded links. Assemblies include a jack bar, arm and hinge, link (open wire or shielded), and either a metal bottom plate or capacitor mounting bracket. Individual parts may be purchased.



Audio Oscillator

Freq. Range: 30 to 30,000 cycles. Freq. Response: Better than  $\pm 1$ DB. 30 to 15,000 cycles with 500 ohm load. Stability: Better than  $1\frac{C_0}{T_0}$ . Bases and Mounting Assemblies



B&V

Freq. Range: Fundamentals from 30 to 15,000 cycles. Measures harmonics to 45,000 cycles. Sensitivity: 3 volts minimum input required.

BARKER & WILLIAMSON, IN

Frequency Meter Freq. Range: 0 to 30,000 cycles. Sensitivity: 0.25 volts minimum input required.

Wave Form: Any form with peak ratios less than 8:1.

# EQUIPMENT

Having 25% of the frontal area of the Heavy Duty Type, these split-stator variable capacitors are ideal for medium power triode or tetrode stage plate circuits and many other applications. Heavy rounded edge plates permit ratings up to 2500 volts dc unmodulated and 1500 volts dc in modulated final amplifier circuits. Design provides peak efficiency and more power in less space.

This compact, versatile unit is in keeping with modern trends toward miniaturization. Operated with either crystal or VFO, it serves as an exciter for a high powered rig or as a low powered transmitter with a full 30 watt of output on the amateur bands including 80- 40- 20- 15- 11 and 10 meters. It avoids the most laborious and time consuming part of the job during construction of a new transmitter.

Provides an efficient watertight insulated connector for center-feed antenna systems using coaxial cable for feed lines.

Light in weight, it will withstand pulling strains up to 500 lbs.

B & W Rotary Coils are available for all medium and high power requirements of pi-network, final circuits, and antenna coupling and loading units. 500-watt units are supplied with inductances of 1.6, 6.2, 15, and 72 micro-henries, 1000-watt types with 60 or 96 micro-henries.

#### INSTRUMENTS

Fairfield



#### **Sine Wave Clipper**

Does the work of a square wave generator costing many times more. Speeds accurate circuit analysis.



# Linear Detector

Provides R-F detection and audio bridging circuits. It is an invaluable accessory for distortion meters lacking these features.

WRITE FOR FREE CATALOG

Ave.,

Upper

## Junior Butterfly Variable Capacitors



504 Multiplier



CC 50 Coaxial Connector



Rotary Coils



Pa.

#### BALUN INDUCTORS ... Match 75 ohm unbalanced outputs to 75 and 300 ohm balanced feed lines. Two of these sturdy bifilar air-wound balun inductors serve as a compact, highly efficient multi-band (80 to 10 meters) unit for matching feed line systems to both transmitters and receivers.

Darby,



#### TRIODES

25T

35T

4-65A

4-125A 4-250A

4-400A

4-1000

4PR604



# follow the leaders



#### **TETRODES**

	4W20000A
	4X150A
	4X150D
	4X150G
A	4X500A
	4X500F

#### PENTODE





#### RECTIFIERS 2-01 C 2-254 2-50A 2-150D 2-240A 2-2000A

**KY21A** 





#### **AIR SYSTEM SOCKETS**

3K20,000LF 3K20,000LK 3K50,000LA 3K50,000LF 3K50,000LK

**KLYSTRONS** 3K20,000LA

> 4-400A/4000 4-1000A/4006\* 4-400A/4006\* 4X150A/4000 4X150A/4006\* 4-1000A/4000 4X150A/4010

\*Replacement Chimneys



#### VARIABLE VACUUM CAPACITORS VVC60-20 VVC2-60-20 VVC4-60-20

#### VACUUM CAPACITORS VC6-20 VC6-32

VC25-20 VC25-32 VC12-20 VC50-20 VC12-32 VC50-32

ACCESSORIES

HR Heat dissipating connectors Preformed Contact Finger Stock

ION GAUGE

100 IG ion gauge







#### 2C39A

This small, rugged triode is designed for use as a power amplifier, oscillator or frequency multiplier to frequencies above 2500 mc. It is particularly suitable for compact fixed or mobile equipment.

#### 4-125A

The radial-beam power tetrode that made transmitting screen-grid tubes popular. This tube will take a plate input of 500 watts for CW or 380 watts for fone. Driving power is less than two watts. A pair of these tetrodes make an ideal high power fone or CW final for the amateur.

#### 4-250A

A pair of these radial-beam power tetrodes will easily handle a kilowatt for fone. In CW service, one tube will take a kilowatt input. Driving power is only two to three watts per tube. As modulators a pair will deliver as much as 750 watts audio with simple resistance coupled driver stages.

#### FINGER STOCK

Preformed Contact Finger Stock is a useful electrical 'weather strip'' around accesses to equipment cabinets as well as providing good circuit continuity between adjustable components. It is ideally designed for making connections to coaxially constructed and external anode tubes.



## Export Agents: Fraza<u>r & Hanse</u>n, 301 Clay St., San Francisco

# to EIMAC TUBES!



#### 4X150A

This small external anode radial-beam power tetrode operates efficiently at all frequencies into the UHF range with a driving power of only a few watts. Its small size and ruggedness make it ideal for compact equipment such as mobile.



#### 4W20,000A

In pulse service and TV operation the Eimac 4W20,-000Å is the only time-proved tetrode in its power class. Its rugged construction includes a ceramic envelope that minimizes losses and increases operational life. In VHF-TV operation, it gives 25kw peak sync power output with only 500 watts drive.



#### 4E27A

With simple circuits and less than two watts driving power this radial-beam power pentode gives dependable operation and high output. It is capable of an easy 500 watts input in Class-C service — or when suppressor modulated will deliver 75 watts output at carrier conditions.



#### KLYSTRONS

Eimac six kilowatt klystrons, 3K20,000L (A,F,K), and 15 kilowatt klystrons, 3K50,000L (A,F,K), are outstanding for high power CW and TV at UHF. Only three tubes of either series are required to span the entire UHF.TV spectrum. Externally tuned circuitry and ceramic envelopes are among other features.



#### 250T

A tried, proven and continually improved 250 watt triode. The ideal triode for one KW CW input. Will handle 825 watts input on fone. With plate voltage as low as 1500 volts in Class-B audio service a pair will modulate a KW RF stage.



#### VVC60-20

This is but one type in the Eimac line of variable and fixed vacuum capacitors for plate tank circuits. It is variable over a range of 10 mmfd to 60 mmfd. Maximum rf voltage is 20 kv at 40 amperes.

• Write for 28-page booklet, "Care and Feeding of Power Tetrodes." Available free upon request.



Eimac maintains an Amateurs' Service Bureau for amateur radio operators. Free information may be obtained by writing. Available for engineering consultation and information is the Eimac Application Engineering department.





duction requirements, ESICO solder pots are made from high quality gray iron costings. They are fitted with heater plate type elements which can be easily and quickly replaced. Elements wound from highest quality nickel chrome resistance wire. Elements of the three pots are interchangeable for greater economy and flexitithe.

Elements wound from highest quality nickel chrome resistance are interchangeable for greater economy and flexi-ELECTRIC SOLDERING IRON CO., INC., Deep River, Conn., U.S.A.

## HARVEY ALWAYS HAS IT...IN STOCK For IMMEDIATE DELIVERY TRANSFORMERS







Designed for Modern Circuit Applications: Amateur Communications, Broadcast, TV, & Audio

#### FILAMENT TRANSFORMERS PLATE TRANSFORMERS

Primary: 115/230 volts, 50/60 cycles.

Primary: 115/230 volts, 50/60 cycles.

Chicago filament transformers are rated to provide voltages and currents for heating a wide range of receiving and transmitting tubes. All units are S-type mountings (see illustration above). Those with secondaries rated at less than 6 amps. have solder-lug terminals, those over 6 amps. have screw-type terminals. Units marked \* have ceramicinsulated secondary terminals, especially suited for high voltage rectifier supply.

Catalog	Secon	dary	Insulation	Net
No.	Volts	Amps.	Volts RMS	Price
F-25 F-210* F-210H* F-215H*	2.5 CT 2.5 CT 2.5 CT 2.5 CT 2.5 CT	5.25 10. 10. 15.	3500 5000 9000 9000	\$ 6.33 9.09 10.65 12.75
F-54 F-58 F-510H* F-516 F-520HB* F-530	5.0 CT 5.0 CT 5.0 CT 5.0 CT 5.0 CT 5.0 CT 5.0 CT	4.0 10 10. 20. 20. 30	2500 2500 10000 2500 10000 2500	6.51 8.70 13.50 13.11 16.95 16.95
F-615	6.3 CT	1.5	2500	3.75
F-63	6.3 CT	3.	2500	5.25
F-65	6.3 CT	5.5	2500	7.65
F-610	6.3 CT	10.	2500	9.78
F-75	7.5 CT	5.0	2500	7.35
F-712	7 5 CT	12.	2500	12.75
F-725	7.5 CT	25	2500	16.95
F-104	10. CT	4.0	2500	7.80
F-106	10. CT	6.5	2500	10.77
F-1010	10. CT	10	2500	12.75
F-1110	11. CT	10.	2500	12.30

Chicago plate transformers, as well as the filter reactors, are conservatively designed. They are amply insulated, and built to withstand the most rugged service. Temperature rise is very moderate under both CCS and ICAS conditions.

Catalog I No.	Max. Pri. VA	Secondary A-C Load Volts	D-C Volts after filter		Ma. ICAS	Mtg. Type	Net Price
P-45	185	675-0-675 575-0-575	400 500	250	325	s	\$ 14.10
P-67	250	900-0-900 735-0-735	750 600	250	325	s	16.80
P-107	310	1150-0-1150 870-0-870	1000 750	250	350	FS	41.70
P-1240	360	1425-0-1425* 600-0-600	1250 400	150 200	200 260	s	23.70
P-1512	550	1710-0-1710 1430-0-1430	1500 1250	300	425	FS	47.70
P-2520	915	2820 0-2820 2260-0-2260	2500 2000	300	425	FS	71.70
P•2126	1600	2900-0 2900 2320 0-2320	2600 2100	500	700	FS	89.70
P-3025	1850	3450-0-3450 2850 0 2850	3000 2500	500	700	FS	119.70
P-4353	3050	4600-0-4600 4050-0-4050 3400-0-3400	4000 3500 3000	600	800	FS	161.70

#### FILTER REACTORS

Catalog No.	Inductance in Henries	Max. D-C Ma.	D-C Resistance, Ohms	Insulation Volts RMS	Mtg. Type	Net Price
R-67	6	700	35	10,000	FS	\$33.90
R-105	10	500	40	9,000	FS	34.50
R-65	6	500	35	9,000	FS	27.48
R-103	10	300	40	7,500	SX	16,95
R-63	6	300	35	7,500	SX	14.34

Anywhere in The World Order by Mail Direct from Harvey

Write for full details and accessory lists to: NOTE: In view of the rapidly changing market canditions, all prices shown are subject to change without natice and are Net, F. O. B., New York City. Write for FREE CATALOG Contains full details an Chicaga equipment line with complete design data ta fit taday's circuits



# HARVEY REA AUTHORIZED



## RCA Tubes and Harvey Service... For Double Dependability!

HARVEY's line of RCA tubes is so complete, that HARVEY can fill virtually any requirement . . . right from stock . . . and deliver at almost a moment's notice.

This is particularly important to AM, FM, and TV Broadcasters, Industrial and Commercial users, Amateurs, and Service-Technicians, all of whom depend on tubes for sustained operation of important electronic equipment.

Write, Wire, or Phone, for Prompt Harvey Service.



...that's why NOVICES, AMATEURS, ENGINEERS, and **EXPERIMENTERS** Across the Nation **RELY UPON** HARVEY for all their **ELECTRONIC** and COMMUNICATION **REQUIREMENTS!** 

Telephone

103 West 43rd St., New York 36, N. Y.

Because Harvey's stocks are so large and so complete, almost anything you can name in electronics, can be shipped within minutes of your letter, wire, or phone call. And you can depend upon Harvey that what you receive is exactly as ordered, and that it will function and perform to your complete satisfaction.

Harvey has been the reliable headquarters for hams, experimenters, professionals, commercial and industrial engineers for over 25 years. And the experience gained over these years is always at work for you. Six active amateurs are in Harvey's employ, plus a staff of well informed, trained experts who stand ready to assist you in the selection of parts and equipment, and in troubleshooting your problems. Every possible field is covered, including radio communications and broadcasting, TV, audio, recording, and industrial electronics.

Remember, you are always welcome at Harvey's. So, when in New York, make it a point to come in and say, "Hello".



World Radio History



Investigations of complex waves take great strides forward when either a Waterman SAR or LAB <u>PULSE</u>SCOPE is employed Their compactness, portability and precision have established a new high in pulse measurement instruments for all electronic work. Each <u>PULSE</u>SCOPE has internally generated markers which are synchronized with the sweep with the basic difference that the sweep in the LAB <u>PULSE</u>SCOPE initiates the markers while in the SAR <u>PULSE</u>SCOPE it is the crystal controlled markers which initiate the sweep. Power supply requirements of 50 to 1000 c.p.s. at 115 Volts permits operation almost anywhere.

The SAR <u>PUI SESCOPE</u>, model S-4-A, is characterized by a pulse rise time of 0.035 microseconds thru a video amplifier with a sensitivity of 0.5 Volts p to p/inch. A vertical delay of 0.55 microseconds is optional. A and S sweeps covering a continuous range from 1.2 to 12,000 microseconds are augmented by R sweeps, which in turn are variable from 2.4 to 2.4 microseconds. A directly calibrated dial permits **R** sweep delay readings from 3 to 10,000 microseconds. The LAB <u>PULSESCOPE</u>, model S-5-A, has equivalent rise time of 0.035 microseconds, a fixed 0.55 microseconds vertica delay and 0.1 Volts p to p/inch sensitivity, so arranged as to assure portrayal of leading edges on displayed signals A precision calibrated voltage is provided as well as ar optional sweep expansion of 10 to 1. A built-in trigger generator voltage is available for synchronizing any asso ciated test equipment.



#### WATERMAN RAYONIC® CATHODE RAY TUBE DEVELOPMENTS

Since the introduction of the Waterman RAYONIC 3MP1 for miniaturized oscilloscopes, scientists in our laboratories have diligently searched for more perfect answers to present day cathode ray tube problems. Such research led to the introduction of the revolutionary new 3SP and 3XP type cathode ray tubes. These tubes were designed with multi-trace oscilloscopy in mind. Every avenue of practical design was explored to produce tubes with bright, sharp traces and high deflection sensitivity at medium anode potentials.



TUBE		PHYSICAL DA	TA		TYPIC	AL VOLTAGE	s	DEFLE		MAX.	VOLTS
	Face	Length	Base	Anode = 3	Anode = 2	Anode # 1	Grid # 1	D1 to D2	D3 to D4	Anode # 3	Anode # 2
			Medium	3000	1500	300 to 515	-22.5 to -67.5	127 to 173	94 to 128	4000	2000
3 JP	3 inch Round	10 inches	Diheptal 12 Pin	4000	2000	400 to 690	30 to 90	170 to 230	125 to 170	4000	2000
			Smoll		1000	200 to 350	0 to - 68	140 to 190	130 to 180		
3MP	3 inch Round	8 inches	Duodecal 12 Pin		2000	400 to 700	0 to - 126	280 10 380	260 to 360		2500
			Smoll		1000	165 to 310	-28.5 to -67.5	73 to 99	52 to 70		
35 P	1½x3 inches	9.12 inches	Duodecal 12 Pin		2000	330 to 620	—58 to —135	146 to 198	104 to 140		27 50
ЗХР	1½x3 inches	8.88 inches	Lectal		2000	400 to 690	-22.5 to -67.5	68 to 92	25 to 35		27 50

Write for your complimentary subscription of "POCKETSCOOP" · OFFICIAL WATERMAN PUBLICATION



...light...compact...accurate

The HIGH, WIDE and TWIN POCKETSCOPES have become the "triple threat" of the oscilloscope industry. Their small size, light weight and incredible performance, has skyrocketed this team of truly portable instruments into unparalleled prominence. Each oscilloscope features DC coupled amplifiers in both its vertical and horizontal charnels. The HIGH GAIN, S-14-A POCKETSCOPE, has a vertical sensitivity of 10 millivolts rms/inch, and a frequency response within -2 db from DC to 200 KC, while the WHDE BAND S-14-B POCKETSCOPE is characterized by frequency response within -2 db from DC to 700 KC and a sensitivity of 50 millivolts rms/inch.

The INDUSTRIAL POCKETSCOPE. POCKETSCOPE model S-11-A, has become America's most popular DC couple | oscilloscope because of its small size, light weight, and unique flexibility. This compact instrument has identical vertical and horizontal amplifiers which permit the observation of low frequency repetitive phenomena, while simultaneously climinating undesirable trace bounce. Each amplifier sensitivity is 0.1 Volt rms/inch. The frequency responses are likewise S-11-A identical, within -2 db from DC to 200 KC.

Discover for yourself the amazing utility of this tiny work-horse of industrial electronics.

The TWIN POCKETSCOPE is essentially two HIGH GAIN POCKETSCOPES with individual cathode ray tubes, amplifiers, controls, but a common sweep generator, All these are endowed with many identical characteristics. Their sweep generators can be operated as triggered or repetitive over a frequency range from 0.5 cycles to 50 KC, with synchronization polarity optional. Return traces are blanked and provisions are made for modulating the intensity in each cathode ray tube.

Laboratory quality has not been sacrificed in order to accomplish portability and ruggedness. Investigate the many advantages of Waterman POCKETSCOPES.

RAKSCOPE

S-12-B

The S-12-B RAKSCOPE is a rack mounted. (ANized version of the famous Waterman S-11-A POCKETSCOPE, with the addition of a triggered sweep and a special calibrating circuit for rapid frequency comparisons. The entire oscilloscope is built to occupy but seven inches when mounted in a standard relay rack.

Because provisions are made for applying input signals from the rear, as well as the front, the S-12-B is the ideal combination, systems monitor and trouble-shooting oscilloscope. Investigate the multiple applications of this instrument as an integral part of your own rack mounted apparatus,

## PHILADELPHIA 25, PENNA., U.S.A.

PRODUC

CABLE ADDRESS, POKETSCOPE, PHILA.

WATERMAN

Manufacturers of POCKETSCOPES® • RAKSCOPES® • PULSESCOPES® and RAYONIC TUBES®

107


### SATISFIED USERS PRAISE AMECO METHODS:

"Received year cale course a week ago and can copy 10 W.P.M. already with ease. Since becoming handicapped 1 base found a tremendous satisfaction with your method of studying code. It's the best, bar name!"

#### — A.M. Carter, Pelham, Ga.

"Passed the FCC test today! I'm Sickled pink thanks to the AMECO Code and Theory wethod?"

> - Jayce Edelson, K2CFF, Lawrence, N.Y.

<sup>1</sup>Learned your Norice Code Course in record time! Never thought Code and Theory could be as thorough as our AMECO method! Tim more han pleased with my progress and need to further myself in this feld!<sup>1</sup>

> - K.A. Yingling,WN3VDM, Waynesbara, Pa.

"Hare learned the Jr. Course in smazing time! It's terrific! Am now eady for the Seniar Course!"

— P. Signarelli, KN6CHR, Sherman Oaks, Calif.



Simplified, easy-to-learn AMECO methods have enabled thousands to PASS COMMERCIAL AND AMATEUR CODE EXAMS and AMATEUR THEORY EXAMS for their FCC license. Many have been helped to enjoy a career in communications.

AMECO courses are the result of years of thorough preparation by leading experts. Thanks to their "know-how" you can now learn Code and Theory as you never thought possible. Challenge our courses with any other . . . you'll pay less for the best!

### 4 AMECO Courses Available:

No. 1—Novice Code Course. You get and keep 10 recordings (alphabet through 8 W.P.M.) on 78 R.P.M. records. Includes typical FCC type code exams. Free instruction book on learning how to send and receive code the simplest, fastest way; plus charts to check your receiving accuracy; plus an album; all for the low price of only........\$7.95

No. 2—Senior Code Course. You get and keep everything given in the Novice Course except that you get 22 recordings (alphabetthrough 18 W.P.M.), plus typical FCC type code exams for General class and 2nd class commercial telegraph licenses. All this for only..\$12.95 No. 3—Complete Radio Theory Course. A complete, simplified home study theory course in radio covering the Novice, Technician, Conditional and General classes all under one cover—with nearly four hundred typical FCC type questions to prepare you for license exam. No technical background required. You also get, FREE, one year of consultation and a guide to setting up your own Ham station. All for the amazing low price of.......\$6.95

No. 4—Advanced Code Course. Prepares Novice operators for the amateur general class and second class commercial license tests. Contains 12 recordings (8 through 18 W.P.M.) PLUS the complete code book—PLUS typical FCC code examinations for general and commercial tests. ALL for only.. \$6.95

### "RADIO AMATEUR QUESTION & ANSWER LICENSE GUIDE"

A "must" for anyone preparing for the Novice, Technician, Conditional or General Class exams. This power-packed book contains approximately 200 questions and answers — mostly of the multiple choice type — similar to the ones

given on FCC exams.

> FREE LITERATURE AVAILABLE Sold at leading distribut rs everywhere or write to

# AMERICAN ELECTRONICS CO.

### 1205 Bryant Ave., New York 59, N.Y.

For Export: Inquire Dept. H



### Amateur...Novice...School Instructor...Industrial Engineer

Yes, that's what they all say about the new Walter Ashe Catalog ... source book and buying reference for everything in Radio, Television and Electronic equipment, including items appearing in the ARRL Handbook.

What's more, our central location assures fast

### Try us and see for yourself.



FREE CATALOG! Send for your copy today
find duplicated elsewhere.
combination that we honestly believe you won't
for service and satisfaction and you have a
experience, competent personnel and reputation
it and at the right price. Add to this our long

delivery. You get what you want, when you want

- FREE CATALOG! Send T	0l	your	copy	Tourna	í.
WALTER ASHE RADIO COMPANY 1125 Pine St., St. Louis 1, Missouri				RAH-54	
Send new FREE 1954 Catalog.					
Name					
Address		_			
CityZone	_	Sta	te		
				109	)



### 110

#### NETRE CABINETS • CHASSIS 19" WIDE BLANK RACK PANELS DESK PANEL CABINET RACKS (For Standord 19" Rack Ponels) 211/2" Long x 15" Deep (Ve" Steel or Aluminum) These panels have the standard $1^{+}a'' \ge 32''$ spaced slotted boles. Aluminum panels can also be supplied 3/16'' thick at an addi-tional cost of 60%. Finish is black ripple or slate grey ripple enamel. Z112" Long X 15" Deep Streamlined design. Vertical front corners are rounded and trimmed with mouldings, Panels fit into recess, and mounting holes are drilled for all our panels. Holes tapped 10/32, and can be used with any chassis up to 13" x 17". Finished in black ripple enamel. 10 ALUMINUM Steel Heights Cat. No. Grey G-6600 G-6601 G-6602 Cat. No. Black 6675 6676 Cat. No. Black Cat. No. Net Price \$ .75 1.08 Net Steel or No. Grey G-6675 G-6676 G-6677 G-6678 G-6679 G-6681 G-6681 G-6682 G-6683 G-6684 G-6685 Triple channel. Overall Height Cat. No. With Door in Top Only Panel Space No. DL-128 $10^{L_0}$ ," $8^{-1}$ ," $10^{L_0}$ ," $10^{L_0}$ ," DL-1210 $12^{L_1}$ ," $10^{L_0}$ ," $10^{L_0}$ ," $10^{L_0}$ ," $10^{L_0}$ ," DL-1225 $14^{\prime\prime}$ ," $12^{L_1}$ ," $14^{\prime\prime}$ ," $12^{L_1}$ ." DL-12413 $15^{L_1}$ ," $14^{\prime\prime}$ ," $12^{L_1}$ ." DL-1413 $15^{L_1}$ ," $14^{\prime\prime}$ ," $10^{L_1}$ ," DL-1713 $19^{L_1}$ ," $10^{L_1}$ ," $10^{L_1}$ ," DL-2613 $28^{\prime\prime}$ ," $26^{L_1}$ ," $21^{L_1}$ ." DL-3513 $36^{L_1}$ ," $35^{\prime\prime}$ ." $35^{\prime\prime}$ ." Price \$ .66 .75 Alum. 1:4' 3!4" 5:4" 7" Net Price \$12.00 13.50 14.55 16.20 6600 6601 6601 6602 6603 6604 6605 6606 6606 6607 6608 .93 1.08 1.32 1.59 1.89 2.16 2.46 2.70 6677 1.59 G-6602 G-6603 G-6604 G-6605 G-6605 G-6607 G-6608 G-6609 6677 6678 6679 6680 6681 6682 6683 7", 8<sup>3</sup>4" 10<sup>1</sup>2", 12<sup>1</sup>4" 14" 15<sup>3</sup>4" 15<sup>3</sup>4" 19<sup>1</sup>4" 21" 2.31 2.31 2.91 3.39 3.90 4.35 4.80 5.25 5.70 19.20 22.50 24.90 6609 6610 6684 -6610 3.00 6685 -6685 G-6685 G-6686 HINGED STEEL CABINETS 6611 3.30 6686 (Deluxe Type) Has rounded front corners. New type formed top door hinged at back with large opening for full access to interior. Chrome fin-STANDARD DESK PANELS access to interior, chronie interior, chronie interior, chronie interior, chronie interior is and bottom opening at rear for leads. Finished in grey ripple enamel. **Prices do not** Tables are rigidly made of 1/16'' thick steel, and are securely mounted to regular $\frac{1}{3}''$ steel panels, which are $10\frac{1}{3}'' \times 19''$ . All tables are 22'' wide. include chassis. Overall Dimension H. L. D. 9x12<sup>1</sup>/<sub>3</sub>x 8" 9x16<sup>1</sup>/<sub>3</sub>x 8" 10x17<sup>1</sup>/<sub>3</sub>x11" 10x20<sup>1</sup>/<sub>3</sub>x 9" 13x20<sup>1</sup>/<sub>3</sub>x12" Net Price \$ 5.40 6.30 9.30 9.30 Cat. No. CA-300 CA-301 CA-302 For Chassis Grey Enamel 7x 9x2" 7x13x2" 10x14x3" 8x17x3" Black Enamel Net Cat. No. BT-2220 BT-2216 Net Price \$13.80 13.50 Cat. No. GT-2220 GT-2216 Depth Depth 20" Price \$15.90 CA-303 CA-304 20'' 16'' 16" 10.20 14.40 10x17x3 HINGED STEEL CABINETS **DOOR PANELS** (Rounded Corner Type) (nounced Corner 1796) Excellent for monitors, oscilla-tors, etc. These cabinets are similar in design to DeLuxe type with hinges at back for full acress to interior. Rear opening allows for necessary leads, etc. Slate grey ripple finish. Prices do not include chassis. (Grille or Solid) Grille Type Illustrated These panels have flush hinged doors which are equipped with piano hinges, knob and concealed catch. All doors start 1" from top to allow space for chossis at bottom. Regular chassis brackets may be used. Finish: !' — Black Ripple or G — Grey Ripple. Overall Dimensions H. L. D. 8<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>×10<sup>1</sup>/<sub>8</sub>× 8" 8<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>×12<sup>1</sup>/<sub>8</sub>× 8" 9<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>×16<sup>1</sup>/<sub>8</sub>× 8" 9<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>×16<sup>1</sup>/<sub>8</sub>× 8" 12<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>×20<sup>1</sup>/<sub>8</sub>×12" Cat. No. CA-200 CA-201 CA-202 CA-203 CA-204 For Chassis 7x 7x2" 7x 9x2" 7x13x2" Net Price \$3.60 3.90 5.07 7.89 SOLID SOLID or GRILLE GRILLE Door Size 41/2x154x" 6 x15<sup>3</sup>x" 71/2x154x" Cat. No. P.G-680 P.G-681 Cat. No. P,G-670 P,G-671 P,G-672 Net Price \$4.20 4.50 4.95 Net Panel Size Price \$5.40 10x14x3 10×17×3" 9.30 8<sup>3</sup>4" 10<sup>1</sup>2" 12<sup>1</sup>4" 5.85 P.G-682 SLOPING FRONT CABINETS Adaptable as instrument cases for studios, laboratories, etc. Top-corner rounded and trimmed with furiome moulding. State grey ripple finish. A chassis may be mounted to front panel, and removed as a unit. Rear of case ventilated, with openings for connections. Prices do not include chassis. **BLANK STEEL CHASSIS BASES** These bases are stamped from one piece of cold rolled steel. Has 4 solid sides with welded corners. Bottom edges are flanged in on 4 sides to pro-vide additional reinforcement, and are (d) additional reinforce and a state of the Overall Dimensions H. L. D. 8x 8x 8" 8x10x 8" 9x14x 8" 9x18x 8" 12x18x12" For Chassis 7x 7x2" 7x 9x2" 7x13x2" 7x17x3" 10x17x3" Net Price \$3.84 4.26 4.59 Cat. No. SF-500 SF-501 SF-502 Cat. No. Cat. No. Cat. Cat. No. No. Black Zinc Ripple Plated Zine Net Black Net SF-503 Size Size Price **Ripple** Plated Price



SF-504



New York 16

-49th STREET . . . LONG ISLAND CITY 3, N. Y. 32-62\$1.50 1.59 2.04 1.65 2.04 2.25

2.46 1.71 2.04 2.25 2.46 2.85

3 25

World Radio History

B-4500 B-4507

B-4507 B-4508 B-4509 B-4510 B-4511 B-4512

B-4513 B-4514

B-4514 B-4518 B-4515 B-4502 B-4531 B-4532





**TVI Suppressed 100 Watter – Model HT20** Here's the transmitter you've been waiting for! Continuous coverage from 1.7 Mc to 30 Mc. Full band switching, no more plugin coils; choice of 10 crystals. Shielded, filtered r-f compartments plus low-pass 52 ohm co-axial line output filter assures at least 90 db suppression of all harmonics above 40 Mc. Only **\$449.50** 



Model S-40B—Covers Broadcast Band 540-1700 kc and three short-wave bands. 1.7-43 Mc. One r-f, two i-f stages. Electrical bandspread tuning. Switches for automatic noise limiter. code reception and three-position tone control. CW pitch control. Built-in PM speaker. 115 V, A.C. Only \$129.95



Motched Speaker, Model R46—The perfect speaker for SW. Includes transformer of 500/600-ohm input. Voice coil impedance 3.2 ohms. 10" cone. Black finish, 15" x 1078" x 1078" deep. Only **\$24.95** 

\*He can help you pick the right gear. On the air for over a quarter of a century Is your guarantee that Uncle Dave knows the Ham and his needs from a practical standpoint,



### Sooner or later you'll want





### amateur radio equipment

**KW-1 TRANSMITTER**—This kilowatt rig operates on phone or CW in the 160, 80, 40, 20, 15, 11, and 10 meter bands but tunes as easily as a 32V-3. Just pick your band, set the built-in VFO to the desired spo-, and adjust the final amplifier for 1000 watts input. That's all there is to it! The KW-1 design reduces spurious radiation to a very low value, particularly at television frequencies.

KW-1 Transmitter. Net Domestic Price....\$3,850.00



**35C-2 LOW-PASS RF FILTER**—Although designed as an accessory for the 32V-3 and as standard equipment in the KW-1, coaxial fittings make the 35C-2 readily adaptable to any amateur transmitter having 52 ohm output. It has an insertion loss of only 0.25 db at frequencies below 30 mc, but its three individually shielded filter sections provide about 75 db attenuation at television frequencies.

35C-2 Low-Pass RF Filter. Net Domestic Price., \$40.00

**75A-3 RECEIVER**—The 75A-3 is a double conversion superheterodyne designed for top performance in the 160, 80, 40, 20, 15, 11, and 10 meter amateur bands. A crystal controlled high frequency oscillator and highly stable low frequency VFO permit accurate calibration of two kilocycles per dial division on 10 and 11 meters and one kilocycle per dial division on all other bands. The Collins mechanical filter gives the 75A-3 the most nearly optimum selectivity ever achieved in a communications receiver.





### 114 WHY THE EXCITEMENT ABOUT SINGLE SIDEBAND?



by Bill Cummings, W1RMG

When I heard the first stories about Single Sideband transmission, I found it hard to believe the "miracle" promises. Imagine 10 watts on SSB performing better than 1 KW on regular AM!

The stories seemed to be backed by good authority, so we decided to go into it all the way here at Dale. During years of working the Ham circuit, I've tried all the new gimmicks, so I don't startle easily . . . but SSB gave me the same kind of excitement I experienced when I first became a Ham. Here's an example of what happened:

On one occasion, I caught a signal from a KW transmitter in New Mexico on AM. He said he would switch right over to SSB on his 10-watter using the same antenna. There was a sharp improvement in readability, and I copied him with the greatest ease. I've worked the whole route from the WI's through the W0's with my own 10-watter.

Amazing? No, it's just SSB. The only amazing thing about it is you can buy that kind of performance for a small fraction of the price of AM gear.

Actually, no AM set can "match" the job SSB does in cutting through QRM in the noisy 75 meter band. SSB takes less space on the spectrum, knifes through sharply, and permits higher selectivity in your receiver. The Dale ad adjoining this column tells you more about specific advantages and the best kind of equipment for SSB operation.

If you'd like to check those big claims for SSB, how about a simple test? Write me and we'll arrange a schedule so you can hear for yourself. I'll send you tuning instructions too. Send along any questions – I'll be glad to answer them. Just drop me a note c/o Dale Electronic Distributors Inc. in New Haven.

Write ta Bill Cummings at Dale far trade-in allawances and easy terms.

# DALE takes the

### hallicrafters NEW!



### MODEL SX-88 RECEIVER

### \$499.95

Hallicrafters' finest receiver for amateur use, with highest degree of usable selectivity. Full coverage in six bands, from 535 kc to 33.3 Mc. Double conversion superhet over entire frequency range. Two tuned r-f stages on bands 2-6, one on broadcast. IF's 2075 kc and 50 kc (bands 1-6), 1550 kc and 50 kc (band 2). AM, CW, SSSC signals. Sensitivity on bands 1-6: 1 microvolt for  $\frac{1}{2}$  w output. 1 microvolt for 10 db signal-to-noise ratio. Band 6: 10 microvolts for  $\frac{1}{2}$  w output. Image rejection not less than 80 db on frequencies lower than 20 Mc and not less than 60 db from 20-30 Mc. Seventeen tubes plus voltage regulator, ballast tube, and rectifier.

	SELECTIVITY	
10 kc	6 db - 10 kc	60 db — 30 kc
5 kc	6 db — 5 kc	60 db - 15 kc
2.5 kc	6 db 2.5 kc	60 db - 7.5 kc
1.25 kc	6 db — 1.25 kc	60 db - 3.75 kc
.500 kc	6 db 500 cps	60 db - 1.50 kc
.250 kc	6 db - 250 cps	60 db - 850 cps

### hallicrafters



### \$249.95

MODEL SX-71 RECEIVER 560-1600 kc broadcast plus four bands covering 1650 kc — 34 Mc and 46 — 56 Mc. Intermediate bands 1 and 2: 455 kc; bands 3, 4, 5: 2075 Mc and 455 kc. Double conversion superhet circuit. Eleven tubes plus rectifier and regulator.

#### MODEL S-76 RECEIVER



\$199.95

Standard broadcast plus three bands covering 1720 kc — 34 Mc. Double conversion superhet over entire range. Intermediate frequencies: 1650 kc and 50 kc. Nine tubes plus rectifier and voltage regulator.

	SELECTIVITY	Y
1: (Broad)	6 db-5 kc	60 db-15 kc
2:	6 db-3 kc	60 db-12 kc
3:	6 db-2 kc	60 db-10 kc
4:	6 db-1.3 kc	60 db - 7 kc
5: (Sharp)	6 db5 kc	60 db- 5 kc

### **DALE ELECTRONIC DISTRIBUTORS INC. • 150 JAMES STREET**

# lead with Single Sideband.

### Advantages of Single Sideband Transmission

Here are some reasons why SSB offers an exciting new kind of performance at a fraction of AM cost:

- 1. With Single Sideband, your final amplifier tubes can provide a 9 db gain, or a power increase of 8 times over conventional double sideband AM.
- 2. Your final amplifier delivers TALK POWER, not wasteful carrier.
- 3. No high power modulator and modulator power supply required.
- 4. The newer selective receivers and receiving adapters will pass only one sideband — in this case half of your sideband power is wasted with double sideband.
- 5. SSB eliminates the heterodyning carriers that plague the overcrowded phone bands.
- 6. Less spectrum space occupied by phone signals using SSB.
- 7. Take full advantage of SSB technique by switching sidebands to avoid QRM.
- 8. Round-table operation of two independent QSOs on the same suppressed carrier frequency using opposite sidebands.
- 9. Distortion due to selective fading eliminated.
- 10. Harmonic TVI virtually eliminated through the use of linear amplifiers.

### COLLINS





55.00 55.00 55.00 55.00

**World Radio History** 

### MODEL 75A-3 RECEIVER

with built-in mechanical filter

The nearly flat top and sharp cutoff at the sides of the selectivity curve of the 3 kc Mechanical Filter permit all AM signals to be tuned so as to accept the carrier and either one of the sidebands at will, while other sideband is rejected.

Alternatively, both AM and SSSC signals may be received with carrier supplied by the BFO; and the ideal selectivity curve of the Mechanical Filter permits full advantage to be taken of the benefits of local carrier reinsertion.

75A-3 receiver	\$ 530.00
Matching speaker	20.00
32V3 transmitter	775.00
KW-1 transmitter	3,850.00
70E8A-VFO	97.50
35C2 lo-pass filter	40.00

#### COLLINS MECHANICAL FILTERS

	3.1 KC plug in	
F-455B-08	800 cycle plug in	
F-455A-31	3.1 KC solder term	
F-455A-08	800 cycle solder term	

### CENTRAL ELECTRONICS



\$249.50

MODEL 20A MULTIPHASE SSB EXCITER Also rack-mounted in grey or black \$7.50 additional

20 peak watts output - SSB, AM, PM, CW. Bandswitched 160-10 meters. Magic eye carrier null and modulation peak indicator. New! Carrier level control: Separate knob inserts any amount of carrier without disturbing carrier suppression adjustments, New! Calibrate circuit: Simply talk yourself exactly on frequency as you set VFO. New! Calibrate level control: Adjusts signal strength to suit hand conditions. New! Phone patch input jack: Inserting phone plug disconnects speaker. PLUS all the timeproven features of popular Model 10A.

Available soon! Model V-10 all-band VFO for model 10A, 20A, or your present rig.

### MODEL 10A MULTIPHASE EXCITER \$159.50



10 watts peak output - SSB, AM, PM, CW, Multiband operation 10-160 meters. Reduced harmonic TVI. Voice operated break-in, CW break-in, Switchable single sideband, with or without carrier. Double sideband AM. Narrow band phase modulation.



An adapter that will improve any receiver. Utilizes the phase shift principle to provide selectable single sideband reception of SSB, AM, PM and CW signals. Reduces the unwanted sideband an average of 40 db, a power ratio of 10,000 - 1, or approximately 6 to 8 S-units on the average receiver. Improves SSB and CW reception, since the noise bandwidth is cut in half. May be used to check the sideband rejection of SSB signals. Simple connection to any receiver.



### NEW HAVEN, CONN. • SPruce 7-5555



<u>Worl</u>d Radio History

story



### Pay Only 10% Cash Down 18 Months to Pay on Major Equipment

Now it is easier than ever to buy from WRL. Pay as little as 10% down and the balance in 18 months. No red tape — we handle our own financing. We will give you a generous trade-in allowance on your present equipment. We have over 600 reconditioned used items — with new factory guarantee. Send for free list, You will profit most when you deal with WRL — THE WORLD'S MOST PERSONALIZED RAIDIO SUPPLY HOUSE and THE WORLD'S LARGEST DISTRIBUTOR OF AMATEUR RADIO TRANSMITTING EQUIPMENT.

Leo I. Meyerson, WØGFQ C.U. on 10-20-40 & 75 Meters



### "It Is A Pleasure To Do Business With WRL"

#### Dear Leo:

\$**51**50

Cash Down

NEW TVI MODEL 400 C GLOBE KING XMTR

TVI SCREENED CABINET NOW STANDARD EQUIPMENT

I placed my Globe King in operation several months ago acd am MORE than pleased with the results. Far rugged dependability, an outstanding signal, and watt-per-dollar value, I do not believe it can be beat. Although I live, literally, in a forest of TV antennas, I have never received a complaint.

\$495.00

KIT FORM

\$515.00

WIRFD



In-Id



World Radio Laboratories, Inc.

New Log Book 25c

Rodio Mop 25c

744 West Broodway

Council Bluffs, Iawa

Free Cotolog

Please send me:

Nome

City

Address

40A Complete Band Switching

GLOBE SCOUT



117

ODAY

HB-54

Globe Scout Info

Globe King Info

State

🔲 Globe Chompion Info

Used Equipment List

### "EL" XENON GAS-FILLED TUBES

### RECTIFIERS









FULL WAVE RECTIFIER	FULL WAVE RECTIFIER	FULL WAVE RECTIFIER	
EL 1C	EL 3C	EL 6C	
Peak Anode Current       4.0         Peak Inverse Volts       725         Filament Volts       2.5         Filament Amperes       6.0	Peak Anode Current 10.0 Peak Inverse Volts 725 Filament Volts 2.5 Filament Amperes 11.5	D.C. Output (Amps.) 6.4 Peak Anode Current 25.6 Peak Inverse Volts 725 Filament Volts 2.5 Filament Amperes 17.0 Overall Length 71/2"	Peak Anode Current 40.0 Peak Inverse Volts 920 Filament Volts 2.5 Filament Amperes 21





### HALF WAVE RECTIFIER EL 16F

D.C. Output (Amps.) 16.0
Peak Anode Current 96.0
Peak inverse Volts 620
Filament Volts 2.5
Filament Amperes 36
Overall Length 15%
(Panel Mounting)

### GRID CONTROL RECTIFIERS

(THYRATRONS)

EL (3)

EL CJ/A



#### EL (6)

D.C. Output (Amps.) ... 6.4 Peak Anode Current ... 77.0 Peak Forward Volts .... 750 Peak Inverse Volts .... 1250 Filament Volts ...... 2.5 Filament Amperes ..... 21.0 Overall Length ...... 9"

#### EL C6J/A

D.C. Output (Amps.)	6.4
Peak Anode Current	77.0
Peak Forward Volts	1000
Peak Inverse Volts	1250
Filament Volts	2.5
Filament Amperes	21.0
Overall Length	- 9''



#### EL (16)

D.C. Output (Amps.) .. 16.0 Peak Anode Current 160.0 Peak Forward Volts .... 1000 Peak Inverse Volts .... 1250 Filament Volts ...... 2.5 Filament Amperes ...... 31.0 Overall Length ..... 10" (Panel Mounting)



#### EL (6(

D.C. Output (Amps.)	
Peak Anode Current	77.0
Peak Forward Volts	2000
Peak Inverse Volts	4000
Filament Volts	2.5
Filament Amperes	24.0
Overall Length	-11"



D.C. Output (Amps.)	1.0
Peak Anode Current	8.0
Peak Forward Volts	750
Peak Inverse Volts	1250
Filament Volts	2.5
Filament Amperes	6.3
Overall Length	41/2"

EL C1K

D.C. Output (Amps.) ... 2.5 Peak Anode Current ... 30.0 Peak Forward Volts .... 1000 Peak Inverse Volts .... 1250 

> ELECTRONS, INCORPORATED 127 SUSSEX AVENUE NEWARK 3. N. J.

### ENGINEERING MANUAL & CATALOG WILL BE SENT AT YOUR REQUEST

# Why LAMPKIN METERS

### are the PERFECT PAIR for Mobile-Service Measurements

- LOWEST COST . . . for multiple channels. No additional crystals needed for added frequencies.
- VERSATILE . . . measure unlimited number of channels.
- PORTABLE . . . weigh less than 14 pounds apiece.
- LAMPKIN REPUTATION ... over 60% of sales are repeat orders ... satisfaction guaranteed or your money refunded.



### LAMPKIN 205 FM MODULATION METER

FREQUENCY RANGE—continuous 25 mc. to 200 mc. No coils to change. Rough and vernier tuning control. MEETS FCC SPECS—reads peak voice deviation directly, 0–25 kc., positive or negative. No charts or tables. ACCURATE—within 10% at full scale. FIELD STRENGTH METER—reads relative transmitter output. PROTECTED—Panel components recessed behind edges of the case. PORTABLE —just a 2-finger load.



### LAMPKIN 105-B MICROMETER FREQUENCY METER

FREQUENCY RANGE—continuous 100 kc. to 175 mc. No extra crystals needed. MEETS FCC SPECS —Accuracy guaranteed better than 0.0025%. CALIBRATION—Calibration Table for each meter. Charts show percentage transmitter off frequency from FCC assignment. DIAL—4" circular dial with 8000 dial divisions spread over 42 feet. TEM-PERATURE COMPENSATION—crystal thermometer on panel, automatically indicates dial checkpoint for any temperature. SIGNAL GENERATOR highly accurate CW source for mobile-receiver final alignment.

Lampkin meters are used by many municipalities . . . including New York, Chicago, and Los Angeles—by agencies of 37 states—by the service organizations of most two-way radio manufacturers—and by hundreds of independent mobile-service engineers. They are guaranteed to please you, too, or your money will be refunded.

For price and complete technical information, mail coupon today!

LAMPKIN LABORATORIES INC.

Bradenton, Florida

Measurements Division		
LAMPKIN LABORATORIES, INC	<b>.</b>	
Bradenton, Florida		
With no obligation to me, pl meters.	ease send inf	ormation and prices on Lampkin
Name		
Address		
City	Zone	State

THE NEW VEEDX antenna rotator

here's help with your WAS

VEE DX control console

engineered for instantaneous clockwise and counter. clockwise action, has unique fingertip actian contral which operates with convenient dawnward pressure. The clear, easy-ta-read dial features a logging scale for easier repeat pasitioning.



This rugged, precision-built VEE-D-X Antenna Rotator is a "must" for successfully Working All States. The directional beams necessary for DX work and for penetrating QRM are effective only with a good antenna rotator. And discriminating "hams" insist on the best --VEE.D.X. Carefully engineered for the greatest strength, this modern rotator will easily support several stacked VHF direction beams. Its axial mast design is ideal for either horizontal or vertical polarized antenna mounting. Compact, efficient gearing and full 365 degree traverse assure razor-sharp accuracy in plotting radiation patterns of an antenna.

Write today for complete literature on the VEE-D-X Antenna Rotator and Contral Console.

PRODUCT OF THE RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT LABORATORIES OF LA Pointe ELECTRONICS INC., ROCKVILLE, CONN.



Circuitron Inc. — specialists in the manufacture of the finest printed circuits — offers you the advantages of competent engineering . . . advanced manufacturing methods . . . and extensive, new production facilities. Engineers, consult Circuitron today!

ROCKVILLE, CONNECTICUT A subsidiary of LaPointe Electronics Inc.



### "HAMS" in Industry and in the Shack...

depend on

PRECIISION

### ELECTRONIC TEST INSTRUMENTS ... because ...

- ... they recognize that there is no compromise, no guesswork, behind the design and workmanship of a "PRECISION"-built instrument ...
- ... they have seen the "insides" of the equipment, which reveals the infinite and painstaking care given to "Precision Individualized Production"...
- • they have learned, over the past twenty years in the shack, on the production line, at the service bench — that they can always look to "PRECISION" Test Equipment, as the standard of performance, accuracy and value.





SERIES E-200C A modern, multi-band SIGNAL and MARKER GENERATOR for AM, FM, and TV Receiver Alignment Direct Reading from 88 KC. to 240 MC.



\$78.50



SERIES ES-500A High Sensitivity, Wide-Range 5'' OSCILLOSCOPE

Push-Pull V. and H. Amplifiers Net Price \$173.70

SERIES SP-5 — TEST PROBE SET Engineered for use with ES-500A. Net Price \$23.50



RECISION

SERIES 40 Compact, Wide-Range AC-DC CIRCUIT TESTER

Net Price



### PRECISION APPARATUS CO., INC. 92-27 Horace Harding Boulevard, Elmhurst 17, New York

Export Division: 458 Broadway, New York 13, U.S.A. • Cables—Morhanex In Canada: Atlas Radio Corp., 1td., 560 King Street, W., Toronto 2B

# NOVICE AMATEUR ENGINEER

Write today for your FREE copy of this great new book that gives you complete details, pictures, and lowest prices on:

Amateur Radio Antennas **Audio Amplifiers** Audio Furniture **Batteries** Books Capacitors Chassis, Racks, and Panels Chokes Clips Connectors **Counter** tubes Crystals **Dials and Knobs** Electric Tools Fuses Hand Tools Headphones Hi-Fi Speakers Inductonces Insulation Insulators Intercoms Loud Speakers Microphones **Music Systems** Noise Filters P. A. Equipment

Phono Needles Phono Pickups **Pilot Lights Plugs and Jacks Power Supplies Radio Hardware** Radio Sets **Radio Tuners Receiving Tubes** : **Record Changers** Rectifiers Relays Resistors Sockets Soldering Equipment Special-purpose Tubes Switches Tape, Wire, Discs **Tape Recorders Telegraph Keys** Terminals **Test Equipment** Transformers Turntables **TV** Replacements **TV** sets Vibrators Voltage Controls Wire

EASY TIME-PAY TERMS!



YOU NEED THIS

# 224-PAGE NEW, 1954 RADIO SHACK

Please send me your new catalog No. 54-AH

Name	•••••
Street	Zone
CityStat	B

### CUSTOM MADE TECHNICAL CERAMICS

FOR ELECTRONIC AND ELECTRICAL USES SOLD ONLY TO MANUFACTURERS

AMERICAN LAVA CORPORATION Chattanooga 5, Tennessee

124

THE BEST IN



**52ND YEAR OF CERAMIC LEADERSHIP** 



Finest amateur communications receiver ever built by Hallicrafters, Highest degree of usable variable selectivity connerectally available. Covers 535 ke to 33.3 me in 6 bands, Calibrated electrical band-spread. Built-in 100 ke crystal oscillator provides marker signals. The first IF is 1550 ke on band 2, and 2075 ke on all other bands. Second converter is crystal controlled. Second 1F 50 ke. 50 ke BFO has buffer amplifier for greater stability. Has 50 ke BFO has buffer amplifier for greater stability. Has 50 ke oscilloscope, etc. IF selectivity variable from 10 ke to 0.25 ke at -6 db. Antenna impedance: 52-600 ohms. Has antenna peaking control, Audio output rated at 10 watts.




126

### LEADING DISTRIBUTORS CARRY A COMPLETE STOCK OF ALL ERIE ELECTRONIC COMPONENTS



### for Amateur, Commercial and Military Uses

TRYLON BEAM ROTATOR\*: A heavy-duty rotator that easily handles single- or two-band arrays weighing up to 200 paunds. Accommodates two caax, ribbon, or open-wire lines, without switching, through separate low-leakage couplings. Continuous, reversible rotation at ¼ RPM. Heavy-duty 1/25 h.p. motor, geared 2400 to 1, produces a torque of 500 inch-pounds--more than enough to turn a heavily ice-laden beam. Hardened worm ond spur gears positively lock array in any position and prevent backlash during high winds. Cross-ribbed chassis of aluminum olloy supports motor ond gear train in permanently aligned Oilite bearings. Rotating spider supported by self-centering conicol thrust bearing.

Fingertip remote control ond indication of all rotator functions provided in the Trylon Anten-A-Cator control box. Selsyn-controlled hoirline pointer accurately indicates beam position on indirectly-lighted transparent compass dial. 115-volt, 60-cycle power supplied to rotator through weatherproof cable from Anten-A-Cator.

TRYLON TILT-MOUNT: Constructed of heavy gauge steel, hotdip galvanized, with stainless steel bearing pins, the Trylon Tilt-Mount permits the Trylon Rotator and Beam Antenna to be tilted dawnward for easy servicing or adjustment of oll parts from the side of the supporting tower.

Write for prices and descriptive booklet \* Mfg. under Patent 2,583,747 assigned to Gordon Specialties Co.



TRYLON 2-BAND ROTARY BEAM: This highly directional, high-gain ontenna covers any two bands between 12 and 50 mc. Each orray is available with either 3 or 4 elements consisting of adjustoble telescoping aluminum tubes, plus odjustoble stubs ond "T" matches. This allows precise adjustment for moximum radiation efficiency in each band and insures an impedance match for all transmissionlines.

Telescoping elements are constructed of 3S-H18 aluminum alloy with thick walls to prevent sagging and whipping during high winds. Sturdy cross-ribbed oluminum booms ore furnished with stand-off insulators, top guys, and other hardware. Shipped knocked down with boom drilled and tapped for use with the Trylon Beam Rotator or other heavy-duty rotators.

Telescoping oluminum elements, Adjusto-Stub element tuners, adjustable "T" matches, booms, etc., are available separately for those wishing to construct their own deluxe rotary beams.

Write for prices and descriptive booklet



TRYLON STEEL LADDER TOWERS: All types, all sizes—from low-cost TV receiving antenna masts and towers for amoteur rotary beams to vertical radiators for commercial AM transmitters. Complete selection of "heavyweight" towers for FM-TV transmitters and extended microwave installations with rigid sway and twist limits. All Trylon towers are hot-dip galvanized offer fabrication for maximum weather protection and long life.

#### Typical Towers Illustrated at Right

Fig. 1 Series No.-650 Mox.height-80 ft. Face width-6.5 in. Wt. per 10-ft. sec.-22 lbs. Use-Most for TV, Amateur, portable, ond wire-type antennos. Fig. 2 Series No.—2400 Max. Heigh—280 ft. Foce width—24% in. Wt. per 10-ft. sec.— 112 lbs. Use—Tower for Trylon Rotary Beam, AM Broadcost, and Microwave antemps. Fig. 3 Series No. -- 6000 Mox. Height -- 800 ft. Face width -- 60 in. Wt. per 10-ft. sec. --653 lbs.

Use—TV Broadcasting and Curtoin antennos for International Broadcasting. Fig. 1 Fig. 2 Fig. 3

Outline your ontenno support requirements for a prompt quotation and descriptive literature from the acknowledged leader in this field for over 20 years.

Trylon Products WIND TURBINE COMPANY West Chester, Pa. are made only by WIND TURBINE COMPANY West Chester 3110



COMPLETE

ANTENNA

SYSTEMS

Leading the Field ...

THE AMERICAN RADIO RELAY LEAGUE, through its publications in the field of amateur radio, is acknowledged as the leading contributor to this fascinating art. The whole picture of amateur radio, from basic fundamentals through the most complex phases of this appealing hobby, is covered in the League library. The newcomer who succumbs to the first nibbles of the radio bug can find his "gateway" to amateur radio in such introductory booklets as How to Become a Radio Amateur, Learning the Radiotelegraph Code, and the License Manual. Other League publications, especially that all-time radio best seller, The Radio Amateur's Handbook, are storehouses of information for everybody interested in electronics and radio communication. Supplies such as log books, world map, calculators, message blanks and binders are specially designed for the needs of active operating amateurs.

Whether novice or old-time amateur, student or engineer, League publications will help you to keep abreast of the times in the ever-expanding field of electronics. Most of the publications described in the following pages are handled by your radio dealer. If you cannot obtain them locally, they may be ordered direct from League Headquarters.

THE AMERICAN RADIO RELAY LEAGUE, Inc. WEST HARTFORD 7, CONNECTICUT



Quick and necurate answers with ARRL Lightning Calculators! Type A for problems involving frequency, inductance, capacity. Type B for resistance, voltage, current and power, \$1.25 each postpaid anytchere. Internationally recognized, universally consulted. The all-purpose volume of radio. Packed with information useful to the amateur and professional alike. Written in a clear, concise manner, contains hundreds of photos, diagrams, charts and tables. \$3 U.S.A., \$3.50 U.S. Poss. and Canada, \$4 elsewhere

### The radio amateurs handbook



LOC

RADIOGRAM

.

PUBLIC For NOVICES

Active amateurs need these supplies: ARRL Loglook, 50¢ U.S.A., 60¢ elsewhere. Minilog, 30¢ U.S.A., 35¢ elsewhere. Radiogram blanks, 35¢ per pad postpaid. Message delivery cards, 4¢ each stamped. 2¢ e ach unstamped. Members' stationery, 100 sheets \$1.25, 250 sheets \$1.50, 500 sheets \$2.50 postpaid.

Tells what amateur radio is and how to get started in this fascinating hobby. Special emphasis is given to the needs of the Novice licensee, with three complete simple amateur

stations featured. 50¢ everywhere

No need to let your copies of QST rest in a disordered pile. A QST binder will keep them neat and orderly. Each holds a one-year the. 82.50 (available in U.S. and Possessions only).



If you build equipment and operate an amateur radio station, you'll find this a mighty valuable book in your shack and workshop. More than 200 practical ideas plus a surplus conversion. section. \$1.00 U.S.A. proper, \$1.25 elseuchere





Study guide and reference book, points the way toward the coveted amateur license. Complete with typical questions and answers to all of the FCC amateur exams — Novice, Technician, General and Extra Class. Continually kept up to date. 50e postpaid



ARRL World Map. Printed in eight colors on heavy map paper with 267 countries clearly outlined. Continental boundaries, time zones, plainly marked. 82 postpaid anywhere.



For those who find it difficult to master the code, this publication supplies the key to the problem. Designed to help the beginner overcome the main stumbling block to a ham license. Contains practice material for home study and classroom use. 50¢ postpaid

### TIMERS, ENGINEERS

ATIONS



Containing 16 chapters and profusely illustrated, the Antenna Book includes all necessary information on theory and operation of antennas for all amateur bands; simple doublets, multielement arrays, rotaries, long wires, rhombics and others. \$I U.S.A., \$1.25 elseuchere



A complete course of study for use with the *Radio Imateur's Handbook*, enables the student to learn the principles of radio by following the principle of "learning by doing." Applicable to individual home study or classroom use. 50¢ postpaid

World Radio Histo

AMERICAN RADIO RELAY LEAGUE West Hartford 7, Conn.

31

Application for Membership

### AMERICAN RADIO RELAY LEAGUE

Administrative Headquarters: West Hartford, Connecticut, U. S. A.

American Radio Relay League, West Hartford, Conn., U. S. A.

Being genuinely interested in Amateur Radio, I hereby apply for membership in the American Radio Relay League, and enclose  $4.00^*$  in payment of one year's dues, 2.00 of which is for a subscription to QST for the same period. [Subscription to QST alone cannot be entered for one year for 2.00, since membership and subscription are inseparable.] Please begin my subscription with the ......issue.

The call of my station is..... The class of my operator's license is..... I belong to the following radio societies..... Send my Certificate of Membership 
or Membership Card 
(Indicate which) to the address below: Name....

A bona fide interest in amateur radio is the only essential requirement, but full voting membership is granted only to licensed radio amateurs of the United States and Canada. Therefore, if you have a license, please be sure to indicate it above.

\$4.00 in the United States and Possessions,
\$4.25, U. S. funds, in Canada,
\$5.00, U. S. funds, in all other countries.

### MEASUREMENTS CORPORATION

Laboratory Standards Throughout the world, Measurements' reputation for accuracy and reliability is your guarantee of satisfactory service.

STANDARD S	IGNAL GENER	ATOR MODEL 65-B
FREQUENCY BANGE	OUTPUT RANGE	MODULATION
75 Kc - 30 Mc.	0.1 microvolt to 2.2 volts	AM 0 to 100% 400 cycles or 1000 cycles External mod., 50-10,000 cycles
STANDARD	SIGNAL GENE	RATOR MODEL 78
FREQUENCY RANGE	OUTPUT RANGE	MODULATION
15-25 Mc.; 195-225 Mc. 15-25 Mc.; 90-125 Mc. Offier ranges on order	1 to 100,000 microvolts	AM 8200-400 cycles 625—400 cycles Fixed at approximately 30%
STANDARD S	GNAL GENER	ATOR MODEL 78-FM
FREQUENCY RANGE	OUTPUT RANGE	MODULATION
86 Mc - 108 Mc.	1 to 100,000 microvolts	Deviation 0-300 Kc. 2 ranges FM 400-8200 cyrles Externol mod to 15 Kc.
STANDARD	SIGNAL GENE	RATOR MODEL 80
FREQUENCY RANGE	OUTPUT RANGE	MODULATION
2 Mc.— 400 Mc.	0.1 to 100,000 microvolts	AM. 0 to 30% 400 cycles or 1000 cycles External mod., 50-10,040 cycles
STANDARD	SIGNAL GENT	RATOR MODEL 82
FREQUENCY RANGE	OUTPUT RANGE	MODULATION
20 cycles ta 200 Kc. B0 Kc to 50 Mc.	0.50 volts 01 microvolt to 1 volt	Continuously voriable 0.50% from 20 cycles to 20 Kc.
STANDARD	SIGNAL GEN	RATOR MODEL 84
FREQUENCY RANGE	OUTPUT RANGE	MODULATION
300 Mc.—1000 Mc	01 to 100,000 microvolts	AM. 0 to 30%, 400, 1000, or 2500 cycles Internol pulse modulotor Externol mod., 50-30,000 cycles.
STANDARD S	SIGNAL GENER	ATOR MODEL 34-TV
	OUTPUT RANGE	MODULATION
FREQUENCY RANGE	OUTPUT RANGE Continuously variable from	MODULATION Continuously variable C to 30% External madulation 20 to 20,000 cycles
TREDUENCY RANGE	OUTPUT RANGE Continuously variable from 0.1 microvolt to 1 0 volt	MODULATION Continuously variable C to 30% External madulation 20 to 20,000 cycles
TREDUENCY RANGE 300 Mc. 10 1000 Mc. <b>STANDARD</b>	OUTPUT RANGE Continuously variable from 0.1 microvolt to 1 0 volt SIGNAL GENE	MODULATION Continuously variable C to 30% External modulation 20 to 20,000 cycles RATOR MODEL 90
SREQUENCY RANGE 300 Mc. to 1000 Mc. STANDARD FREQUENCY RANGE 20 Mc250 Mc.	OUTPUT RANGE Continuously voriable from 0.1 microvolt to 1.0 volt SIGNAL GFNE OUTPUT RANGE 0.3 microvolt to	MODULATION Continuously variable C to 30% External modulation 20 to 20,000 cycles RATOR MODEL 90 MODULATION Continuously variable, C to 100% Sinusoidal modulation 30 cycles
SREQUENCY RANGE 300 Mc. to 1000 Mc. STANDARD FREQUENCY RANGE 20 Mc250 Mc.	OUTPUT RANGE Continuoutly variable from 0.1 micravolt to 1.0 volt SIGNAL GENE OUTPUT RANGE 0.3 micravolt to 0.1 volt	MODULATION Continuously variable C to 30% External modulation 20 to 20,000 cycles RATOR MODEL 90 MODULATION Continuously variable, C to 100% Sinusoidal modulation 30 cycles 5 mc. Composite TV modulation.
FREQUENCY RANGE 300 Mc, to 1000 Mc. STANDARD FREQUENCY RANGE 20 Mc.—250 Mc. PULSE	OUTPUT RANGE Continuously variable from 0.1 microvolt to 10 volt SIGNAL GENE OUTPUT RANGE 0.3 microvolt to 0 1 volt GENERATOR	MODULATION Continuously variable C to 30% Externol modulation 20 to 20,000 cycles RATOR MODEL 90 MODULATION Continuously variable, 0 to 100% Sinusoidal modulation 30 cycles 5 mc. Composite TV modulation, MODEL 79-#
IREQUENCY RANGE 300 Mc. to 1000 Mc. STANDARD FREQUENCY RANGE 20 Mc.—250 Mc. PULSE FREQUENCY RANGE 60 to 100,000 cycles	OUTPUT RANGE Continuously variable from OI microvolt to 10 volt SIGNAL GENE OUTPUT RANGE O.3 microvolt to O 1 volt GENERATOR PULSE WIDTH Continuously vorvible from 0.5 to 40 microseconds	MODULATION Continuously variable C to 30% Externol modulation 20 to 20,000 cycles RATOR MODEL 90 MODULATION Continuously variable, 0 to 100% Sinusoidal modulation 30 cycles 5 mc. Composite TV modulation, MODEL 79-R QUTPUT Approx 150 v positive with respect to ground, "Sync Output" 75 v.
IREQUENCY RANGE 300 Mc. to 1000 Mc. STANDARD FREQUENCY RANGE 20 Mc.—250 Mc. PULSE FREQUENCY RANGE 60 to 100,000 cycles	OUTPUT RANGE Continuously variable from OI microvolt to 10 volt SIGNAL GENE OUTPUT RANGE O.3 microvolt to O 1 volt GENERATOR PULSE WIDTH Continuously vorvible from 0.5 to 40 microseconds	MODULATION Continuously variable C to 30% Externol modulation 20 to 20,000 cycles RATOR MODEL 90 MODULATION Continuously variable, 0 to 100% Sinusoidal modulation 30 cycles 5 mc, Composite TV modulation, MODEL 79-R OUTPUT Approx 150 v positive with respect to ground, "Sync Output" 75 v, positive with respect to ground.
IREQUENCY RANGE 300 Mc. to 1000 Mc. STANDARD FREQUENCY RANGE 20 Mc.—250 Mc. PULSE FREQUENCY RANGE 60 to 100,000 cycles SQUARE	OUTPUT RANGE Continuously variable from OI microvolt to 10 volt SIGN AL GENE OUTPUT RANGE OUTPUT RANGE OI volt GENER ATOR PULSE WIDTH Continuously voriable from microseconds WAVE GENER	MODULATION Continuously variable C to 30% Externol modulation 20 to 20.000 cycles RATOR MODEL 90 MODULATION Continuously variable, 0 to 100% Sinusoidal modulotion 30 cycles S mc, Composite TV modulotion MODEL 79-R OUTPUT Approx 150 v positive with respect to ground. "Sync Output" 75 v, positive with respect to ground.
IREQUENCY RANGE 300 Mc. to 1000 Mc. STANDARD FREQUENCY RANGE 20 Mc.—250 Mc. PULSE FREQUENCY RANGE 60 to 100,000 cycles SQUARE FREQUENCY RANGE Centinuoudy variable 6 to 100,000 cycles	OUTPUT RANGE Continuously variable from OI microvolt to 10 volt SIGN AL GENE OUTPUT RANGE OI Volt GENER ATOR PULSE WIDTH Continuously voriable from 0.5 to 40 microseconds WAVE GENER WAVE GENER WAVE SHAPE Rise time less than 0.2 microseconds with	MODULATION Continuously variable C to 30% Externol modulation 20 to 20.000 cycles RATOR MODEL 90 MODULATION Continuously variable, 0 to 100% Sinusoidal modulotion 30 cycles 5 mc, Composite TV modulotion MODEL 79-# OUTPUT Approx 150 v positive with respect to ground. "Sync Output" 75 v, positive with respect to ground. ATOR MODEL 71 OUTPUT Step attenuator: 75, 50, 25, 15, 10, 5 peat volts fixed and 0 to 2.5 volts continuously voriable.
IREQUENCY RANGE 300 Mc. to 1000 Mc. STANDARD FREQUENCY RANGE 20 Mc.—250 Mc. PULSE FREQUENCY RANGE 60 to 100,000 cycles SQUARE FREQUENCY RANGE Centinuoudy variable 6 to 100,000 cycles	OUTPUT RANGE Continuously variable from OUTPUT RANGE OUTPUT RANGE OUTP	MODULATION Continuously variable C to 30% Externol modulation 20 to 20.000 cycles RATOR MODEL 90 MODULATION Continuously variable, 0 to 100% Sinusoidal modulotion 30 cycles 5 mc, Composite TV modulotion MODEL 79-# OUTPUT Approx 150 v positive with respect to ground. "Sync Output" 75 v, positive with respect to ground. ATOR MODEL 71 OUTPUT Step attenuator: 75, 50, 25, 15, 10, 5 peat volts fixed and 0 to 2.5 volts continuously voriable.
IREQUENCY RANGE 300 Mc. to 1000 Mc. STANDARD FREQUENCY RANGE 20 Mc.—250 Mc. PULSE FREQUENCY RANGE 60 to 100,000 cycles SQUARE FREQUENCY RANGE Centinuoudy variable 6 to 100,000 cycles	OUTPUT RANGE Continuously variable from OUTPUT RANGE OUTPUT RANGE OUTP	MODULATION Continuously variable C to 30% Externol modulation 20 to 20.000 cycles RATOR MODEL 90 MODULATION Continuously variable, 0 to 100% Sinusoidal modulotion 30 cycles 5 mc, Composite TV modulotion MODEL 79-# OUTPUT Approx 150 v positive with respect to ground. "Sync Output" 75 v, positive with respect to ground. ATOR MODEL 71 OUTPUT Step attenuator: 75, 50, 25, 15, 10, 5 peat volts fixed and 0 to 2.5 volts continuously voriable.
IREQUENCY RANGE 300 Mc. to 1000 Mc. STANDARD FREQUENCY RANGE 20 Mc.—250 Mc. PULSE FREQUENCY RANGE 60 to 100,000 cycles SQUARE FREQUENCY RANGE Centinuoudy variable 6 to 100,000 cycles WA C	OUTPUT RANGE Continuously variable from OUTPUT RANGE OUTPUT RANGE OUTP	MODULATION Continuously variable C to 30% Externol modulation 20 to 20.000 cycles RATOR MODEL 90 MODULATION Continuously variable, 0 to 100% Sinusoidal modulotion 30 cycles 5 mc, Composite TV modulotion, MODEL 79-R OUTPUT Approx 150 v positive with respect to ground. "Sync Output" 75 v, positive with respect to ground, ATOR MODEL 71 OUTPUT Step attenuator: 75, 50, 25, 15, 10, 5 peat volts fixed and 0 to 2.5 volts continuously voriable. OLTMETERS
IREQUENCY RANGE 300 Mc. to 1000 Mc. STANDARD FREQUENCY RANGE 20 Mc.—250 Mc. PULSE FREQUENCY RANGE 60 to 100,000 cycles SQUARE FREQUENCY RANGE Continuously variable 6 to 100,000 cycles VAC VOLTAGE RANGE 0-1, 0-3, 0-30 and 0-100 volt: AC or DC	OUTPUT RANGE Continuously variable from OI microvolt to 10 volt SIGN AL GENE OUTPUT RANGE OI volt GENER ATOR PULSE WIDTH Continuously vorrioble from 0.5 to 40 microseconds WAVE GENER WAVE GENER WAVE SHAPE Rise time less than 0.2 microseconds with negligible overshoot UUM TURE V MODEL 62 FREQUENCY RANGE 30 cycles to over 150 Mc.	MODULATION Continuously variable C to 30% Externol modulation 20 to 20.000 cycles RATOR MODEL 90 MODULATION Continuously variable, 0 to 100% Sinusoidal modulotion 30 cycles S mc. Composite TV modulotion MODEL 79-R OUTPUT Approx 150 v positive with respect to ground, "Sync Output" 75 v. positive with respect to ground. ATOR MODEL 71 OUTPUT Step attenuator: 75, 50, 25, 15, 10, 5 peat volts fixed and 0 to 2,5 volts continuously variable. OLTMETERS INPUT IMPEDANCE Approximately 7 mmfd.
IREQUENCY RANGE 300 Mc. to 1000 Mc. STANDARD FREQUENCY RANGE 20 Mc.—250 Mc. PULSE FREQUENCY RANGE 60 to 100,000 cycles SQUARE FREQUENCY RANGE Centinuoudy variable 6 to 100,000 cycles VAC	OUTPUT RANGE Continuously variable from OUTPUT RANGE OUTPUT RANGE OUTPUT RANGE OUTPUT RANGE OUTPUT RANGE OUTPUT RANGE OUTPUT RANGE OUTPUT RANGE OUTPUT RANGE OUTPUT RANGE PULSE WIDTH Continuously variable from recently and NAVE GENER WAVE SHAPE Rise time less than 0.2 microscends with negligible overshoot UUM TURE V MODEL 62 FREQUENCY RANGE 30 cycles to over 150 Mc.	MODULATION Continuously variable C to 30% Externol modulation 20 to 20.000 cycles RATOR MODEL 90 MODULATION Continuously variable, 0 to 100% Sinusoidal modulotion 30 cycles S mc. Composite IV modulotion MODEL 79-R OUTPUT Approx 150 × positive with respect to ground, "Sync Output" 75 v. positive with respect to ground. ATOR MODEL 71 OUTPUT Step attenuator. 75, 50, 25, 15, 10, 5 peat volts fixed and 0 to 2.5 volts continuously voriable. INPUT IMPEDANCE INPUT IMPEDANCE



ator with rotios of 10, 100 and 1000 ahead of all tubes.			
INTERM	ODULATION M	ETER MODEL 31	
INTE MODULATION RAN	GE FREQUENCIES CYCL	S) ANALYZER INPUT VOLTAGES	
0.5% to 30%	LF: 60 cps HF: 3000 cps	Full scale ranges of 3, 10, 30 volts RMS	
MEGACYCLE METER MODEL 59			
FREQUENCY RANGE	FREQUENCY ACCURACY	MODULATION	
2.2 Mc. to 400 Mc.	Within ≠2%	CW or 120 cycles fixed at approximately 30%. Provision for external modulation	
CRYSTAL CALIBRATORS			
	CREDIME CMEE	DKALUKS	
	MODEL 11		
FREQUENCY RANGE	4.7		
	MODEL 11		
FREQUENCY RANGE	MODEL 11	HARMONIC RANGE .25 Mc Oscillator: .25-450 Mc. 1 Mc Oscillator: 1-600 Mc. 10 Mc Oscillator: 10-1000 Mc.	
FREQUENCY RANGE	MODEL 11 FREQUENCY ACCURACY 0.001%	HARMONIC RANGE .25 Mc Oscillator: .25-450 Mc. 1 Mc Oscillator: 1-600 Mc. 10 Mc Oscillator: 10-1000 Mc.	







# What do you want in a

Check the features and characteristics for which E-V microphones have become favorites in every field. Then take your choice, and know you can expect performance that is guaranteed by E-V research-engineering. Here are 9 models of today's most complete microphone line.

#### 950 CARDAX

**High level cardioid** crystal micraphone with dual frequency response for high-fidelity sound pick-up or for extra crispness of speech Overcomes feedback and background noise. Wide range response. "On-Off" switch, Metal Seal crystal, List, \$42.50





#### 208 MOBILE

Small size, high output, single-button corbon microphone for maximum intelligibility. Closetolking, noise-concelling Olfferential® type, High articulation, Blost proof, water proof, shock resistant. Comfortably hand-held, Press-to-talk switch, Panel mounting. brocket. List, \$16.50

636 SLIMAIR



630 DYNAMIC

**Omsi-directional**, Exclusive Acoustolloy diophragm.

Model 630. List, \$47.00

Entra rugged, Tiltable head, "On-Off" switch.

Avoilable in high

or low impedance

Papulor high fidelity high output dynamic. Response 60-11,000 cps.



#### 600-D and 210

**Dynomic and Carbon** high art culation mobile micraphones. Give high intelligibility speech tronsmission. Light weight, yet extra rugged. Easily held in hand, Press-to-talk switch. Hodel 600-D. List, \$38.50 Model 210, List, \$28,50





#### H-51/U MANDSET

Virtually indestructible. Transmits speech clearly and intelligibly under high ambient noise conditions. Noise-cancelling second order differential carbon m crophone, 600 ohm receiver, black nylon handle, push-to-talk switch, 10" long, Weighs 1 lb. Lint, \$180.00

### CENTURY

Low-cost oll-purpose Crystal, Dynamic and Ceramic madels. Can be used in hand, or on stand, Remarkable performer. Satin Chrome finish, in high ond low impedances, list from \$11.25 to %19.50 Model 415 Desk Mount lists at \$1.70

### TOUCH-TO-TALK

Model 428 "Break-in" Touch-to-Talk Stand with locking facture, Fits any microphone with standard & -27 thread. Lever-type switch gives finger-tip reloy operation or microphone "On-Off." Single-pole double-throw List, \$16.00



INC. 407 CARROLL STREET . BUCHANAN, MICHIGAN Export: 13 East 40th Street, N.Y. 16, U.S.A. Cables: Arlab

Patent No. 2,350,010

135

Slim versatile dynamic of exceptional quality migh-fidelity response 60-13,000 cps. Output -55 db. Acoustically-treated grille head stops wind and d aphragm Jults 90 On-Diff" switch, High or low impedance selection

MICROPHONES . PHONO-CARTRIDGES HIGH FIDELITY SPEAKER SYSTEMS TV ACCESSORIES . PA PROJECTORS

List, \$70.00

See your E-V Distributor or Write for Bulletins Crystal mikes licensed under Brush patents. E-V Pat. Pend,

## VOLT-OHM-MIL-AMMETERS



### for your every need

\* Note . . . These Sensational Improvements

### TRIPLETT Model 630

- ★ Large 5½ Inch Meter in special molded case under panel.
- ★ Resistance Scale Markings from .2 Ohms to 100 Megohms. Zero Ohms control flush with panel.
- ★ Only one switch. Has extra large knob 2½" long, easy to turn, flush with panel surface.
- ★ New molded selector switch, contacts are fully enclosed.
- ★ All resistors are precision film or wire wound types, all sealed in molded compartment.
- Unit construction—Resistors, Shunts, Rectifier, Batteries all are housed in a molded base built right over the switch. Provides direct connections without cabling. No chance for shorts.
- \* Botteries easily replaced—New Double Suspended Contacts.
- ★ Ranges: DC Volts 0 to 6000, 20,000 Ohm Volt; AC Volts 0 to 6000, 5000 Ohm Volt; DB: - 30 to ⊢70; Direct Current from 0-50 Microamp. to 0-12 Amps; Resistonce: 0-1000-10,000 Ohms, 0-1-100 Megs.

### POCKET SIZE Model 666-R

### ABSORPTION FREQUENCY METER

### Model 3256

A band-switching, tuned absorption type frequency meter that covers five amateur bands. Has Germanium crystal and a DC Mill:ammeter indicator for greater sensitivity. Direct calibration on panel — no coils to change. Switching permits instantaneous band change. Audio jack provides for monitoring of phone signals — another new features. Calibration is in Megacycles in following bands: 3.5-4 MC; 7-7.3 MC; 14-14.4 MC; 20-21.5 MC; 28-30 MC. Coil is removable and other coils may be substituted for special bands. Useful for checking: Fundamental frequency of oscillating circuits; Presence, order and relative amplitude of harmoncics; Parasitic oscillations, etc. Size: 7½" x 2½" x 2½". Metal case with gray enamel finish black trim.

For your AC and DC Voltage, Direct Current and Resistance analyses to 3 Megohms. Enclosed selector switch of molded construction keeps dirt out. Retains contact alignment permanently. Unit Construction — All Resistors, shunts, rectifier and batteries housed in a molded base integral with the switch. Eliminates chancefor shorts. Direct connections. No cabling. All precision film or wire-wound resistors, mounted in their own compartment-assures greater accuracy. 3'' RED-DOT Lifetime Guaranteed instrument. Red and black markings on a white background. Easy to read scale. Precalibrated rectifier unit. Sell-contained batteries.



RANGES: AC:DC Volts: 0-10-50-250-1000-5000, 1000 Ohms Volt; Direct Current: 0-10-100 Ma., 0-1 Amp; Resistance: 0-3303-330,000 Ohms, 3 Meg. Black molded case, completely insulated,  $3_{1/6}$ '' x 5%'' x 2  $\frac{1}{16}$ ''. White panel markings.

### Model 666-HH VOLT-OHM-MILLIAMMETER

A complete miniature laboratory for DC-AC Voltage, Direct Current and Resistance analyses. The answer to V-O-Ma. requirements of radio servicemen, amateurs, industrial engineers, etc. Greater scale readability on the 3" RED•DOT Lifetime guaranteed instrument with red and black scale markings. Simplified switching.

RANGES: AC-DC volts: 0-10-50-250-1000-5000, 1000 Ohm Volt; DC Ma: 0-10-100-500; OHMS: 0-2000-403.000. Self-contained plug-in batteries. Black molded case, completely insulated,  $3_{1/16}$ " x  $5^{7}g$ " x  $2\frac{1}{16}$ ". Panel with white markings.



### A COMPLETE LINE OF METERS

Triplett panel and portable meters are available in more than 26 case styles — round, square and fan — 2" to 7" mizes. Included are votmeters, ammeters, millianmeters, millivoltmoters, microammeters, thermo-ammeters, DB meters, VU meters and electrodynamometer type instruments

Address all inquiries to Dept. Q-53

HOU FOOT

# COMPONENTS FOR EVERY APPLICATION



LINEAR STANDARD High Fidelity Ideol



HIPERM ALLOT ULIKA C High Fidelity . . . Compost Portable . . .



ULTRA COMPACT Portable . . . High Fidelity



OUNCER Wide Ronge . . . 1 ounce **M** 

SUB OUNCER Weight ½ ounce



COMMERCIAL GRADE



SPECIAL SERIES Quality for the "Ham"



POWER COMPONENTS Rugged . . . Dependoble



VARITRAN Voltoge Adjustors



MODULATION UNITS One watt to 100KW



VARIABLE INDUCTOR Adjust like o Trimmer



TOROID HIGH Q COILS Accuracy . . . Stability

SATURABLE REACTORS

Power or Phase Control

REPLACEMENT

Universal Mounting



TOROID FILTERS



**MU-CORE FILTERS** Any type  $\frac{1}{2} = 10,000$  cyc.





PULSE TRANSFORMERS



VERTICAL SHELLS Husky ... Inexpensive



LARGE UNITS To 100KW Broodcost



STEP-DOWN Up to 250CW . . . Stock



PLUG-IN TYPE

LINE ADJUSTORS Motch any line valtage



CABLE TYPE

For mike cable line

CHANNEL FRAME Simple Low cost



Conter Sour Guarantee of



### **RF CONNECTORS**

AMPHENOL RF connectors are unsurpassed for mechanical design and electrical efficiency. They provide low-loss continuity in critical RF circuits with little or no impedance change or increase in standing wave ratio.

AMPHENOL RF connectors are available in Types BNC, BN, HN, LC, N, C and the popular 83 series. including plugs, jacks, receptacles and adapters. All AMPHENOL RF connectors meet or surpass rigid government specifications.



"S" Sockets and "CP" Plugs mate with each other and feature the AMPHENOL retainer ring design — mount without screws or rivets on panel or chassis. They are compact in size and are ruggedly built for troublefree service. Available in black bakelite or mica-filled bakelite. "S" type sockets are also available in AMPHENOL Steatite and in a variety of sizes with the number of contacts ranging from 4 to 11. Supplied with retainer rings for chassis mounting. Plugs and sockets are also available with plates and caps.



#### STEATITE TRANSMITTING TYPE TUBE SOCKETS

Designed for use where other, less rugged, sockets cannot do the job. Made of low-loss AMPHENOL Steatite, they feature the "clover leaf" contacts that provide four full lines of contacts. Barriers provide long creepage paths that prevent arcing and flashover. Available in various sizes with 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 contacts.

138



AMPHENOL has a complete line of miniature 7 and 9 pin sockets for every application. Materials include black bakelite, micafilled bakelite. Steatite or AMPHENOL'S own Ethylon-A. Zip-in sockets are molded of Ethylon-A, aresilient dielectric, and need no mounting plate or retainer ring.





### MICROPHONE CONNECTORS

**AMPHENOL** manufactures an extensive line of connectors to fit practically all makes of microphones. The 75-MC1F Microphone connectors, illustrated above, function as either male or female fitting, include jacks, plugs. receptacles, adapters and switches. The 80 Series, single and double contact, connectors are designed for shielded cables. Obtainable in any combination of male or female cable connectors or as chassis units. The 91 Series includes both three and four contact connectors, polarized to prevent incorrect insertion. They are procurable as plugs, cable jacks and chassis receptacles in any combination of male or female types,



"MIP" SOCKETS

The world's strongest socket! The plated steel mounting plate is molded right into the solid bakelite body, cannot come loose or vibrate. Two holes in each contact provide wiring and anchoring points for resistors, condensers, chokes, etc. Available in black bakelite or mica-filled bakelite in a wide variety of contact arrangements. "MIP" sockets are also available for 8 pin Octal and Loktal tubes. The "MIP" sockets are unequalled in either strength or versatility.





### VHF and UHF TELEVISION ANTENNAS.

AMPHENOL manufactures a complete line of quality television antennas. For VHF, the famous INLINE (Reissue Pat. No. 23,273) design is available in either single bay or stacked array. AMPHENOL UHF antennas include BO-TY, Corner Reflector, Rhombic and Yagi types. The Stacked-V model will receive VHF, UHF or both.

Antennas are available for extended distances reception of either VHF or UHF. Stacking for greater db gain may be done with the INLINE, BO-TY, Corner Reflector and Yagi.

The materials used in all AMPHENOL antennas are the very finest available. Sturdy aluminum and steel with non-rusting finishes insure likenew appearance on the rooftop. All AMPHENOL antennas feature *stay-up* construction—and perform well for many years.



#### COAX and TWINAX CABLE

AMPHENOL cables are produced in strict conformity to the rigid military specifications. Constant checks and inspections are made to assure the best in mechanical and electrical construction.

Most of the RF cables in the AMPHENOL line have top grade polyethylene dielectric for low-loss, flexibility and mechanical stability. For high temperature applications, cables are also available with other types of dielectric.

### FLAT and TUBULAR TWIN-LEAD



AMPHENOL twin-lead, flat or tubular, is made of the finest materials available, manufactured with constant and rigid inspection. The brown pigmented virgin polyethylene assures a minimum of signal loss and constant impedance.

AMPHENOL flat twin-lead is available in a variety of types and sizes. AIR-CORE Tubular twin-lead (U.S. Pat. No. 2,543,696) is a must for UHF television lead-in purposes.



The AMPHENOL Amateur Antenna has been designed to meet your need for a simple, effective folded dipole antenna system. The efficiency of the AMPHENOL Antenna for both transmitting and receiving has been demonstrated by years of satisfied amateur use. The Amateur Antenna is available in an economical, easy-to-assemble kit form. All the kits are pre-cut to band length and are ready for final assembly and installation. Complete assembly instructions are included.



NEW! CATALOG B-3 The new, revised AMPHENOL general catalog B-3 will be sent upon request. It contains illustrations and specifications on the over 9,000 items now manufactured by the AMERICAN PHENOLIC CORPORATION.



BI 2-1000

AMERICAN PHENOLIC CORPORATION 1830 South 54th Avenue, Chicago 50, Illinois

## Learn Code the EASY Way

### Beginners, Amateurs and Experts alike recommend the INSTRUCTOGRAPH, to learn code and increase speed.

Learning the INSTRUCTOGRAPH way will give you a decided advantage in qualifying for Amateur or Commercial examinations, and to increase your words per minute to the standard of an expert. The Government uses a machine in giving examinations.

Motor with adjustable speed and spacing of characters on tapes permit a speed range of from 3 to 40 words per minute. A large variety of tapes are available — elementary, words, messages, plain language and coded groups. Also an "Airways" series for those interested in Aviation.

#### MAY BE PURCHASED OR RENTED

The INSTRUCTOGRAPH is made in several models to suit your purse and all may be purchased on convenient monthly payments if desired. These machines may also be rented on very reasonable terms and if when renting should you decide to buy the equipment the first three months rental may be applied in full on the purchase price.

#### ACQUIRING THE CODE

It is a well-known fact that practice and practice alone constitutes ninety per cent of the entire effort necessary to "Acquire the Code," or, in other words, learn telegraphy either wire or wireless. The Instructograph supplies this ninety per cent. It takes the place of an expert operator in teaching the student. It will send slowly at first, and gradually faster and faster, until one is just naturally copying the fastest sending without conscious effort.

#### **BOOK OF INSTRUCTIONS**

Other than the practice afforded by the Instructograph, all that is required is well directed practice instruction, and that is just what the Instructograph's "Book of Instructions" does. It supplies the remaining ten per cent necessary to acquire the code. It directs one how to practice to the best advantage, and how to take advantage of the few "short cuts" known to experienced operators, that so materially assists in acquiring the code in the quickest possible time. Therefore, the Instructograph, the tapes, and the book of instructions is everything needed to acquire the code as well as it is possible to acquire it.

### MACHINES FOR RENT OR SALE



The Instructograph

ACCOMPLISHES THESE PURPOSES:

**FIRST:** It teaches you to receive telegraph symbols, words and messages.

**SECOND:** It teaches you to send perfectly.

**THIRD:** It increases your speed of sending and receiving after you have learned the code.

With the Instructograph it is not necessary to impose on your friends. It is always ready and waiting for you. You are also free from Q.R.M. experienced in listening through your receiver. This machine is just as valuable to the licensed amateur for increasing his speed as to the beginner who wishes to obtain his amateur license.

Postal Card WILL BRING FULL PARTICULARS

### THE INSTRUCTOGRAPH CO.

### 4707 SHERIDAN ROAD

N ROAD CHICAGO 40, ILLINOIS Representative for Canada—Canadian Marconi Co., P.O. Box 1690, Montreal, Quebec

140

wice the Power

## for the Same Price

with the

# type V-2 Varias

The new Type V-2 VARIAC is the latest addition to the popular "V" series of VARIAC continuously-adjustable autotransformers. With a power rating of twice that of the Type 200-B, it is intended eventually to supplant the latter.

The Type V-2 represents a considerable improvement over the 200-B, making it even more adaptable to a wide variety of applications where a relatively low-power, moderately-priced, a-c voltage control with all of the latest exclusive VARIAC features is needed. Its electrical and mechanical features include:

New DURATRAK brush-track coating ★ Load rating of 0.345 kva

- (instead of 0.17 kva)
- + Dutput voltages continuously adjustable from 0 to 135 v, or 0 to 115 v.
- Line frequency 50 to 60 cycles; no load loss at 60 c.: less than 3.5 watts
- 😽 Standard mounting holes (interchangeable with Type 200 B)
- ★ Considerably less panel space 🗧 Metal Base for improved cooling
- and added strength 🛧 More rugged stops
- 🖕 G-R Unit Brush construction

Brush and track on face of winding instead of periphery, for panel mounting, dial reversible to read 0-115 or 0-135 volts, output; sinch insulated shaft; improved terminal plate with circuit and connections clearly shown; G-R uni: brush; metal base

141

Terminal board with circuit and connections clearly shown Molded knob-pointer and reversible dial plate for panel installation Meets applicable requirements of Military Specification for Transformers: MIL-T-27

🔶 Moderate Price: \$12.50



GENERAL RADIO Compan 275 Massachusetts Avenue, Cambridge 39, Massachusetts, U. S.

The new DURATRAK coating is one of the most important nprovements in VARIACS; another step in the continuing occess of development which makes the VARIAC the best improvements in voltage control available

### ALL "V" TYPE VARIACS HAVE NEW DUratrak CONSTRUCTION for Increased Performance

### **Even Longer Life**

The new DURATRAK brushtrack coating eliminates all brush track oxidization problems which formerly might become critical under severe conditions of operation.

DURATRAK construction adds these features to increase the utility of VARIACS:

Long Life — insures a life as long as that of fixed-ratio power transformers operated at rated loads

Unaffected By Surges - VARIACS with DURATRAK will withstand initia surges as kigh as ten times rated current

Minimum Maintenance - the brush track will not deteriorate under norma operation - only maintenance needed is occasional wiping of track with alcohol-moistened rag

Write for the NEW VARIAC BULLETIN for Complete Specifications

Admittance Meter & Consial Elements & Decade Capacitor Decade Inductors & Decade Resistor & Distortion Meters Frequency Meters & Frequency Dawlard. & Guiger Counters Impedance Bridges & Modulation Meters & Oscillators Variacs & Light Meters & Megohmmeters & Motor Controls Noise Meters & Null Detector: & Precision Capacitors

Pulse Generators & Signal Generators & Vibration Meters & Strahoscopes & Wave Filters U-II-F Measuring Equipment & V-T Voltmeters & Wave Aralyzers & Polariscopes

# **TOP HAT RETAINERS**

An improved clamp that holds electron tubes, relays, capacitors and pluggable components in position.







### TO APPLY ... INSTANTLY RELEASED

Made in a variety of sizes to fit almost any type tube.

Recommended for use in Army, Navy and Air Force electronic equipment.





### POSITIVE LOCKING ACTION

POSITIVE-Component even when inverted will not loosen under the most severe shock or vibration. **RESILIENT** — Positive retention is achieved with minimum rigidity or strain on component. ACCESSIBLE - Clamp fits on top of component and can be fastened or released easily without tools. CORROSION **RESISTANT**—Hat and Posts are stainless steel. All materials and finishes comply with Armed Forces Specifications. VERSATILE-Top Hat Retainers may be applied to practically any tube or plug-in component.





### WRITE TODAY FOR FREE CATALOG TIMES FACSIMILE 540 West 58th Street New York 19, New York CORPORATION 142

1523 L Street, N.W. Washington 5, D.C.





#### NEW 470K 7" PUSH-PULL SCOPE KIT \$79.95. WIREO \$129,50.

WINCU S12.30. V freq. rep: flat  $\Rightarrow 2$  db 10 cps—1 mc. V sens. 01 welts rms/in. H freq. resp flat  $\Rightarrow 0$  db 10 cps—200 kcs. -4db at 500 kc, H sens. 3 volts rms/in. Sweeps range 12 sps—100 kc 34tep freq.compensided utenuator eliminates distartion, averloading. Return trace blanking. Int. valtage collabrator: V & H trace expansion & entering: 1.2% full screen, no distortion. Direct connection to vert. CRI plates. Phasing intensity mad. input, 60 cps. cawtooth outputs.

Famous EICO amazing feelure-packed economy-priced 425K 5" PUSH-PULL SCOPE KIT \$44.95. Wired \$79.95

#### VACUUM TUBE VOLTMETER

Laboratory-precision VTVM for trigger-fast operation and lifetime service. 15 different ranges. Large 4½" meter, can't-burn-aut circuit, New zero center for TV & FM distribution of the trigger-fast operation of the trigger-fast operation operati

New 214K VTVM KIT \$ 3 4 . 9 5 . W I R E D \$54.95. 7%" METER Model 221-K, KIT, only \$25.95 Model 221, factory wired, \$49.95



#### TUBE TESTER

Also available

in Counter Display Model.

Brand new professional tube tester and merchandiser EICO Brand new professional tube tester and merchandiser EICO Service. Engineered for unbectable value Large 4/4" full-vision meter. Tasts conventional and TV tubes including 9-pin minia-tures. New lever-action switches-tests every tube element. Illuminated "Speed Roll-Chart," 2 grid caps. Short and appen-element tests. Spore socket for new tubes. Protective overload bulb. Electronic rectifier, 3-color etched panel, rugged steel case. 115 v., 60 cycle AC, 12% + 9% x 4%".

Model 625-K, KIT, only \$34.95 Model 625, factory wired, \$49.95



#### **MULTI-SIGNAL TRACER**

Highest gain and flexibility in law-cott field. Audibly traces all IF, RF, Video and Audio from ANT to SPK or CET without witching. Response well over 200 MC. Integral test speaker, Provinin for visual tracing with VTM. Completen with 6517, 6K6, 6X5, Ger-manium crystal diade. 3-color eitched panely ragged uteel case. 115 v., 60 cycle AC. 10 451.1

Model 145-K, KIT, only \$19.95 Model 145, foctory wired, \$28.95

#### NEW 1050K 6V & 12V BATTERY ELIMINATOR & CHARGER KIT \$29.95. Wired \$38.95.

DC output. 0-8 V or 0-14 V. Continuous current rating: 10 A ot 6 V, 6 A ot 12 V. Intermittent current rating, 20 A ot 6 V, 12 A ot 12 V. Separate Voltmeter & Ammeter. 1040K 6V BATTERY ELIMINATOR & CHARGER KIT \$25,95, Wired \$34.95.

**DELUXE SIGNAL GENERATOR** 

A laboratory-precision generator EICO Service-Engineered With 1% occuracy, Extremely stable, frequency 75 KC-150 MC in 7 colliproted ranges, Illuminated hairline vernier tuning, VR stabilized line supply. A00-cycle pure sine wave with less than 5% distortion. Tube complement: 6X5, 7F7, 6C4, VR-150. 3-color etched panel; rugged steel case. 115 v., 60 cycle AC. 12 x 13 x 7".

Model 315-K, KIT, only \$39.95 Model 315, factory wired, \$59.95



### EICT SUPER-SIMPLIFIED INSTRUCTIONS

Easy-to-follow step-by-step EICO pictorial and schematic instructions-most explicit and comprehensive in electronics !- supplied with each Kit. Anyone can build the EICO Kits!

ELECTRONIC INSTRUMENT CO., Inc.

84 WITHERS STREET, BROOKLYN 11, N. Y.



Model 536-K, KIT,

Model 320-K, KIT, only \$19.95

Model 377-K, KIT, only \$31.95. Adel 377, factory wired, \$49.95

Model 320, factory wired, 529.95

### SWEEP GENERATOR

SWEEF GENERATION Covers all TV-FM alignment frequencies, 500 KC-228 MC Venier-driven alali: center of each of 13 TV channels morter on front panel. Sweepwidth variable 0-30 MC with mechanica on transmission of adjacent RF T an tro.. inductive s nels. on trant panet, sweepwidth variable U-30 ML with mechanical inductive sweep—permits gain comparison of adjacent RF T channels. Crystal marker ascillatar, variable amplitude. Pra vides far injection of esternal marker. Phaing contrail. Com plete with HF tubes: 6X3CT, 12AU7 (dval-triade), 2-6C4. Les crystal. 10.2 & 62W.5 MC Crystal, eo. 33.95.

Model 360-K, KIT, only \$34.95 Model 360, factory wired, \$49.95

### SIGNAL GENERATOR Far FM-AM precision alignment and TV marker frequencies. Vernier Tuning Candenser. Highly stable RF ascillator, range: 150 KC—102 MC with fundamentals to 34 MC. Separate audia range: nudia ascillator supplies 400-cycle pure sine wave valtage. Pure RF. modulated RF or pure AF far external testing, 115 v., 60 cycle AC. 10 x 8 x 434". D DI DI ES AUDIO GENERATOR Camplete sine wave caverage: 20-200,000 cps. Complete square wave coverage: 60-30,000 cps (5% round-aff at 30 kc). 4-gang candenser. Response $\simeq 1.5$ db, 60 cps to 150 kc. Improved Wien bridge-type actilitotre. Related load 1000 ahms resistive. Power autput 100 mw into rated load. Distortion 1% af rated output. Hwn less than (1.4% rated output. Tvbess 6X5, 6SJ7, 2-6K6, 6SN7. 11% x 7% x 7%.

New professional EICO-engineered HV probe carefully disigned and insulated for extra tafety and versatility. Extends range or VTVMs and valimeters up to 31,000 v. Lovie head. Large fash guards. Multi-layer processed handle. Camplete with interchange ble ceramic Multiplier to match your instrument

the exclusive EICO Make-Good GUARANTEE

Each EICO Kit and Instrument is daubly guaranteed, by Each ELCO Kit and Instrument is daubly guarantees, by ELCO and your jabber, is contain only selected quality com-ponents. ELCO guarantees to replace any component which indight become defective in normal use if refurned to the factory transportation charges pre-pold within 90 days at purchase. ELCO guarantees all Kits assembled according to ELCO's simplified instructions will operate as specified hereins. ELCO guarantees revice and calibration of every ELCO Kit and Instrument at the nominal charge as stated to the interview. the instructions.

forId Radio History

Be sure to look at the EICO line before you huy any higher-priced equipment! Each EICO product is jam-packed with unbelievable value YOU be the judge ---

compare EICO at your local jobber today, and SAVE! Write NOW for free newest Catalog H

only \$12.90. Model 536, factory wired, \$14.90. Specifications and prices subject to change without notice.

1000 Ohms Volt MULTIMETERS 31 ranges. DC/AC Valts: Zera ta 1, 5, 10, 50, 100, 500, 5000. DC/AC Cur-rent: 0-1 ma, 10 ma; 0.1

rent: 0-1 ma; 10 ma; 0-1 amp, 1 amp. Ohms: 0-500, 100K, 1 meg. 6 db ranges: -20 ta +69. 3-inch 400 va meter movn-ment. Dval reclifter. 6% x 3% x 2"




for the Amateur Operator . . . the most complete transmitter-exciter and receiver combination at popular amateur prices.

RECEIVER	TRANS-CITER
<ul> <li>6 BANDS <ul> <li>(1) BC &amp; 160 (2) 80 &amp; 75</li> <li>(3) 40 (4) 30 (5) 15 (6) 10</li> </ul> </li> <li>HIGH SENSITIVITY &amp; SELECTIVITY <ul> <li>AUTOMATIC NOISE LIMITER</li> <li>DUAL CONVERSION</li> <li>BEAT FREQ. OSCILLATOR</li> <li>AVAILABLE FOR 6 OR 12 VOLTS</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	<ul> <li>7 BANDS 160, 80, 40, 20, 15, 11, 10</li> <li>TRANSMITTER OR EXCITER</li> <li>AM-NBFM-CW</li> <li>500  A.F. OUTPUT</li> <li>VFO OR CRYSTAL</li> <li>6 OR 12 VOLT OPERATION</li> </ul>
FOR COMPLETE INFORMATIC	ON SEE YOUR DISTRIBUTOR.

MULTI-PRODUCTS COMPANY 559 E. TEN MILE ROAD, HAZEL PARK, MICHIGAN 144

World Radio History

### • Highest Quality • Greatest Variety-meet every need in radio, sound, TV and related fields • Standard on leading microphones

# CANNON PLUGS

For audio, TV and instrument uses, 2 to 8 contacts 30a max. Plug shown

P3-CG-11. Available in 16 basic shapes.

Insert Dia, 1". Zine or steel shells,

satin chrome finish. Molded phenolic

The ultimate audio guick disconnect to R.T.M.A. Spees. 3-15a contacts only. Plug shown UA-3-11. Available in 7 basic shapes. Insert Dia. 750".

Zine or steel shells, satin chrome fin-

ish. Insulation, phenolic with rubber

seal. Latch lock coupling method,

insert. Latch lock coupling method.



For microphone and related uses, 3 30a contacts only. Plug shown O3-12. Available in 6 basic shapes. Insert 1" wide. Zine alloy shell, satin chrome finish. Molded phenolic insert. Latch lock coupling method.

For audio, instrument and related

uses. 1 to 4 contacts, 15a max, Plug shown XK-3-11. Available in 4 basic shapes. Insert Dia, .625". Zinc or steel shells, bright nickel finish. Molded

phenolic insert. Acme thread coupling

For audio, instrument and related uses. 1 to 4 contacts 15a max. Receptacle shown X-3-14. Available in 5 basic shapes. Insert Dia, .625". Zinc alloy shell, bright nickel finish. Molded phenolic insert. Coupling held by contact friction





**UA SERIES** 

For audio, instrument and related uses. 3-15a contacts only. Plug shown XL-3-11. Available in 14 basic shapes. Insert dia. .625". Zine or steel shells, bright nickel and satin chrome finish. Molded phenolic insert. Latch lock coupling method.



**GB** SERIES

XK SERIES

Similar to XK Series, but weatherproofed by addition of a rubber bushing, special packing ring within the coupling nut and rubber sealing washers on the retaining screw. Plug shown XKW-3-12. Available in 4 basic shapes.

nut.



# **XKW-B1 SERIES**

For coaxial cable applications. One Standard Cannon type "R" coaxial contact only. The coax carries one 10a contact for No. 16 B & S wire. Shells, coupling ring and mounting flanges are same as XKW Series. Plug shown is XKW-B1-11.

For hermetically sealed instruments, indicators miniature switches, etc. 3 to 12 contacts 5a in three shell sizes. Shell is cold rolled steel. Inserts (min. dia. .294") are vitreous material and Silcan silicone rubber. Bayonet lock.



For heavy duty power, lighting and sound uses, 4 30a contacts only. Plug shown is M1-4-22. Available in 17 basic shapes. Insert Dia. 2.250", Aluminum alloy shells sand blasted. Molded phenolic inserts. Coupling held by contact friction.



For TV cameras and cable. Coax con-tacts available, Insert Dia, 2.250". Plug shown 1 KT-R24C-22-7+". Straight and 90° shells, ribbed coupling nut, gland nut, friction washer, bushing, gland washer and packing ring to support cable are features.



#### CANNON ELECTRIC CO., LOS ANGELES 31, CALIF.

Factories in Los Angeles, Toronto, New Haven. Great Lakes Division, Benton Harbor, Mich. Representatives in principal cities. Address inquiries to Cannon Electric Co. Dept. 138, P.O. Box 75, Lincoln Heights Vorld Restation of the Angeles 31 Calif





The receptacle SK-M7-32S (shown) and mating plug SK-M7-21C-12" are standard equipment for the recorder connectors used by Telephone Companies as subscribers' voice recorder.

All connectors shown are stock items for Cannon Franchised Distributors, All other Cannon Plugs may be purchased from these same distributors by arrangement between the distributor and the customer. For further detail, request RJC Bulletin from factory.

**D** SERIES

For storage batteries, engine starters

and other high current uses. 2-600a

contacts. I contact to accommodate

No. 8, 10 or 12 wire for signal or

starter relay circuits. Molded rubber

shell. Coupling maintained by contact friction. Plug shown is GB-3-21CFS.

For miniature circuitry, radio or audio. 15 to 50 contacts 5a Plug shown DA-15S. Insert is 1.049" long. Cold rolled steel shell Cadmium Iridite bleached. Inserts are molded Nyion. Coupling is held by contact triction.



# IN THE SPOTLIGHT FOR HAMS

**TURNER Model 80 Crystal (center)** A compact convenient microphone for increased rig efficiency. Excellent response to voice, 80 to 7000 cps. High quality Bimorph moisture sealed crystal, mechanical and shock proofed. Solidly built of die-cast zine overlaid with beautiful satin chrome plate. 7-ft. attached, single conductor, shielded cable. Shown with Turner C-4 Stand. Standard <sup>3</sup>8"-27 thread.

Model 80	- \$15.95
C-4 Matching Stand	5.75

TURNER Model ADA 95D Dynamic (right) Newest Turner microphone. Superior sound characteristics make it ideal for amateur work. Maximum sensitivity to voice assured with Alnico V Magnets and moving coils. And this graceful beauty sells for less. Frequency response, 70 to 10,000 cps. Level, -58 db; standard  $5_8$ "-27 coupler, 20 ft. removable cable set; high impedance wired single ended (single conductor shielded cable); 50, 200 or 500 ohms wired for balanced line (two conductor shielded cable). ADA 95D Dynamic ... \$35.00 ADA S95D, with slide switch .... 38.50 TURNER 90 Carbon Mobile Microphone (left) The answer to mobile amateur operations. Adds real eye appeal-gives superior sound performance - solidly built for lasting use. Choice of heavy duty push-to-talk switch, on-off relay circuit switch, or onoff relay switch, Equipped with 2 or 4 conductor cable, regular or Koiled Kord (5-ft. extended). Supplied with hook for hanging and bracket for wall or dashboard mounting. Response, 200 to 4000 cps; level, -42 db; 200 ohms nominal DC resistance. Standard Model SR90R with 4 conductor

unshielded Koiled Kord\_\_\_\_\_\$26.50

# The TURNER Company

931 17th Street, N.E., Cedar Rapids, Iowa

IN CANADA: Canodian Marconi Co., Toronto, Ont., & Branches EXPORT Ad. Auricma, 89 Broad Street New York 4, N. Y.



#### THERE'S AN **ILLINOIS** ELECTROLYTIC CAPACITOR OF *Time Tested Quality* FOR EVERY ELECTRONIC APPLICATION

Seventeen years of successful production experience, making millions of quality capacitors, has created this complete, outstanding line.

The environments and manufacturing experience has enabled ILLINOIS CONDENSER COMPANY to meet every demand for new capacitor types, whether for peace or defense applications, with components of exceptional value and dependability.

illustrated are but a few of the many capacitor types now manufactured by ILLINOIS CONDENSER. There is a guaranteed ILLINOIS Condinactive every electronic application. Whitever you ecily ILLINOIS CONDENSER Benefit by the years of environment and manufacturing experience behind these condenses of "Time Tested Ovelity".

#### IHT

And the second s

IHC shade for an exercise sector of the sect

#### UMP

A second of the second of the

PE for an intervention of the second second

UMT second and second for the second second

#### UMS

Contraction and the local distance of the second se

EXPORT DEPT., IS MOORE ST., NEW YORE 4, N. Y. CABLE "MINTHORNE"



ILLINOIS CONDENSER CO. 1616 N. THROOP ST., CHICAGO 20, ILLINOIS



UMC

#### INTERNATIONAL RECTIFIER CORPORATION

EL SEGUNDO CALIFORNIA

# SELENIUM RECTIFIERS SELENIUM & GERMANIUM DIODES SELENIUM PHOTOCELLS



Half wave, full wave and voltage doubler units with input ratings of 25 to 165 volts AC. DC output current from 65 milliamperes to 1200 milliamperes. High quality selenium universal replacement Rectifiers for radio and TV sets. Also useful for amateur and experimental applications. Can be used in voltage multiplier circuits directly from line supply to provide a DC voltage output of any multiple of the input voltage. Universal mounting.

Technical information on request (an your letterhead)

#### BOOSTER AND CONVERTER TYPES

These miniature Selenium Rectifier units are ideal for replacement in TV Boosters. UHF Converters and Record Player Amplifiers. Small compact Provided with pigtail leads for easy wiring into erowded spaces. Available in half wave units with AC inputs of from 130 to 165 volts and DC current output of 20 to 50 milliamperes. These units are very useful for experimental devices, especially if the load current is 50 milliamperes or less



HIGH VOLTAGE CARTRIDGES Designed with ferrule terminals for quick insertion into standard 30-ampere fuse clips. Recommended for use in high voltage power supplies where long life and extreme reliability are of prime importance. DC output from 1.000 volts at 5 milliamperes to 3500 volts at 5 milliamperes.

#### INDUSTRIAL AND POWER TYPES

Typical uses include heavy duty plating, general purpose power supplies cathodic protection, battery chargers and laboratory equipment DC output from 10 volts at 0.4 amperes to 120 volts at 13 amperes. Available in half wave center tap and single phase bridge units

#### SELENIUM DIODES

WIDEST RANGE IN THE INDUSTRY

Designed for stable operation in an ambient temperature range of minus 60° C to plus 100° C Rectifying elements are potted in a thermosetting compound for protection

against corrosion and fungus. DC output voltage from 29 to 160 volts. DC output current average from 200 nucroamperes to 11 milliamperes. Assortments avail-able in kit form Diam from 1.8" to 13/32" Length: from 1.4" to 1/2".

#### GERMANIUM DIODES

Available in all types in demand by service men. laboratories. experimenters and hobbyists. Case diam: 1/4". Case length: 1/2". Axial pigtail leads for easy soldering and clipping in-

to breadboard setups. Assortments available in kit form





l

#### SELENIUM PHOTOCELLS

When connected directly to the actuating device or the amplifier, current of the order of 600 microamperes per lumen will flow at an external resistance of 100 ohms. Available in unmounted and mounted units, 8 different cell sizes with average output at 100 foot-candles illumination of from 75 to 750 microamperes.

Available from your **Favorite Jobber** 





You will save time — takes only minutes, at times most convenient to you, to order by mail the items and quantities you alone decide on ... no waiting for salesmen ... no breaking into your busy hours ... no pressure to sell you more than your needs ... A "One Stop" source for your every need.

You will sove money — B-A Volume sales permit big buying at savings passed on to you. Every page lists many special, big, moneysaving values made possible only by huge B-A special purchases. Net prices are shown so you can see at a glance what each item costs you.

### YOU WILL GET PROMPT, SPEEDY SERVICE

Because of always adequate stocks and the B-A "Know-How" acquired in 25 years' experience in the mail order Electronic distribution field. The location of Kansas City, a foremost transportation "hub" . . . in the exact "Center of America" . . . days closer to Everywhere . . . is more reason why you will get faster delivery from B-A.

### BURSTEIN-APPLEBEE CO. 1012-14 McGEE ST., KANSAS CITY 6, MISSOURI



### are famous for accuracy!

Since 1931, Valpey Crystals have earned and maintained a foremost reputation in aiding amateur and professional electronic engineers in experimentation and development. A portion of the line of crystals is shown here.

#### COMPACT—HERMETICALLY SEALED

Type VR6, hermetically sealed in compact metal case, has 1500 to 75000 Kc. frequency range. For mobile or fixed stations. VHF and experimental work. Vertical mount for .486" spacing special crystal socket. Jan type HC6.

#### FOR FREQUENCY **STANDARDS**

Type XL100, with a frequency of 100 Kc., is used extensively in frequency standards. Mounts in 34" spacing crystal socket or the standard 5-prong socket. Compact and dependable.





#### FOR ALL TYPES OF APPLICATIONS

Type CM1, ideal for marine, police, aircraft and general applications has frequency range from 850 to 20000 Kc. Fixed air-gap; vertical mount; available in standard 3/4" spaced pins and GR 3/4", 5/8", 7/8" or .850" spaced pins.

#### **FAVORITE OF** AMATEURS

Type CM5. Frequency range 1500 to 30000 Kc.: used extensively for marine, police and other mobile or fixed stations. Fits Valpey Xtalector for instant, accurate frequency shift; fixed air gap, vertical mount, standard .486" spacing socket or standard octal socket.



#### AUTHORIZED FOR **BROADCAST USE**

Type CBC-O Used widely by broadcast, fixed stations and frequency standards. Frequency range 60 to 10000 Kc. Available with 6, 8, or 10 volt over plus-minus 1/2 degree C. temperature stability. Micrometeradjustable air-gap. Mounts in standard 5-prong socket.

#### HIGH ACCURACY

Type DFS Features separate 100 and 1000 Kc. crystals in one compact mounting, with accuracy plus or minus .005 % over range of minus 10°C to plus 60°C when used in recommended circuits. This is a Valpey development



#### SINGLE OR DUAL CRYSTALS

Type VD5 Frequency range 1000 to 6000 Kc. Single or dual crystals, popular for marine, aircraft and police applications. Mounts in special 3-prong socket.

For additional details on these or other types write:

#### FOR FIXED OR MOBILE TRANSMITTER-RECEIVERS

for secondary standards and receiver calibration.

Type VDO Frequency range 1000 to 10000 Kc. Used for railroad and bus communications, fixed or mobile units. Single or dual crystals with 6 volt over plus-minus 1/2 degree temperature stability. Mounts in standard 5-prong socket.



♦ VALPEY Crystal corporation 1200 HIGHLAND ST., HOLLISTON, MASS.

# Where Dependability counts – 151 Use OHMITE!



#### RHEOSTATS

Insure permanently smooth, close control. All-ceromic vitreaus enameled: 25, 50, 75, 100, 150, 225, 300, 500, 750, ond 1000-watt sizes.

#### "BROWN DEVIL" RESISTORS

Sturdy, wire-waund, vitreous-enameled resistors for valtage dropping, bios units, bleeders, etc. In 5, 10, and 20-watt sizes; values from 0.4 to 100,000 ohms.

#### "LITTLE DEVIL' RESISTORS

Tiny, molded, composition resistors each morked with resistonce ond wattage –  $V_2$ , 1, and 2-wott sizes,  $\pm 10\%$  ar  $\pm 5\%$  tol. 10 Ohms to 22 megohms.

#### FIXED RESISTORS

Resistance wire is locked in place and protected by vitreous enomel. Stock sizes—25, 50, 100, 160, and 200 watts; volwes 1 to 250,000 ohms.

#### ADJUSTABLE RESISTORS

Vitreous enameled. Quickly adjustable to the value needed. Adjustable lugs can be attached for multi-top resistors and voltage dividers. Sizes 10 to 200 watts, to 100,000 ohms.

#### **R. F. CHOKES**

Be Right with

JEACTATE . DECICTAD Cord Rationiabry CAA

Single-layer-wound on law power foctor cores, with moisture-proaf coating. Seven stock sizes, 3 to 520 mc. Two units rated 600 mo, others 1000 mo.

#### TAP SWITCHES

Compact, high-current rotary selectors far a-c use. All ceramic. Selfcleaning silver-to-silver contacts. Rated ot 10, 15, 25, 50, and 100 amperes.

#### PRECISION RESISTORS

Three types available: vitreous-enomeled, vocuum-impregnoted, ar glasssealed. Toleronce  $\pm 1\%$ , im  $\frac{1}{2}$  and 1-watt sizes, from 0.1 to 2,000,000 ohms.

#### DUMMY ANTENNA

These rugged, vitreous-enameled units ore proctically nonreactive within their recommended frequency range. In 100 and 250-wott sizes, 52 to 600 ohms,  $\pm 5\%$ .



Write for Stock Catalog No. 24 OHMITE MANUFACTURING COMPANY 3608 W. Howard St., Skokie, III., (Suburb of Chicago)

# SHURE MICROPHONES Field-Froved from SHACK to CAR!

#### In the Shack . . .

This sturdy Controlled Reluctance unit is designed to handle the most severe requirements of amateur broadcasting, paging, and dispatching systems. It provides high speech intelligibility, makes your messages instantly understood. The "Dispatcher" has a 2-conductor shielded cable, and is wired to operate both microphone and relay circuits. Firm downward pressure on the grip-bar locks the switch. The "Dispatcher" is immune to severe conditions of heat and humidity. Output is 52.5 db below one volt per microbar. High impedance. Furnished with 7-foot cable.

#### In the Car . . .

A high-quolity carbon microphone specially designed for mobile equipment. Used throughout the world for Ham, Police, Fire, and Transportation Services—more than all other makes combined! Rugged, dependable unit with clear, crisp voice response and high output. Fits snugly into polm of hand. Heavy duty switch for push-to-talk performance. Furnished with bracket for wall mounting, plus coiled-cord cable. Output level: 5 db below 1 volt for 100 microbar speech signal. 70 ta 80 ohms impedance.

Model	Coble	Switch Arrongement	List Price
1010	Standord Coiled Cord 11" retracted; 5" extended	Two Wire Reloy	\$27.50
101E	Tinsel Colled Cord 11" re- trocted, 5' extended with Amohenol MC4M Connector	e- Switch normolly open, th (No microphone switch) \$	
102C	Standard Coiled Cord 11" retrocted, 5' extended	Relay normally open.	\$27.50
1025	Tinsel Coiled Cord 11" re- tracted; 5' extended with spade lugs	e- Microphone switch	
103	Standard Coiled Cord 11" retracted; 5' extended with Amphenol MC4M Connector	Two Wire Relay Switch normolly open. (No microphone switch)	\$29.00

Microbar = one dyne per sq. cm.



Model 520SL List Price \$38.50





**Coble Address: SHUREMICRO** 

Microphones and Acoustic Devices

SHURE BROTHERS, Inc. \*

#### the THIRD DIMENSION of SERVICE ....

Not plane, ordinary service, but Service that is backed up by a <u>depth</u> of procurement and merchandising experience that makes your needed electronic parts and equipment come at you so quickly you will jump (for joy)!



FREE to Purchasing Agents and Chief Engineers! This latest \$6.50 encyclopedia of electronic parts and equipment sim-plifies your research for product information. Your request to our Industrial Sales Department, on your company letterhead, will company letterhead, will bring you a copy of this big, useful book without charge.

**NOW!** Available to indi-viduals on a cost sharing basis. Send only \$1.95 for your copy, postpaid.

#### Your Electronic Equipment SUPPLY LINE Starts from HARRISON's **BIG "Single-Source" INVENTORY**

Our large New York and Jamaica stores and warehouses bulge with the products of over 200 worldfamous manufacturers! That's why "Harrison Has It!" means fast service on ALL your requirements from a transistor to a complete station or laboratory. Remember too, we're not limited to our tremendous "in stock" inventory, but also have excellent contacts for those special, hard-to-get items you need in a hurry.

Large scale purchasing and efficient business operation enable us to sell everything at the lowest possible prices. Every item and transaction is backed by a 29-year reputation for integrity that insures your complete satisfaction.

Our sales and expediting staffs include active hams, technicians and industrial procurement specialists with the know-how to speak your "language." They're a friendly, conscientious crew, eager to save you time and money!

#### Call BArclay 7-7777 FIRSTI for

AMATEUR - INDUSTRIAL - GOVERNMENT - SERVICE Electronic Materiel . . . Since 1925





# from your own experience that Cornell-Dubilier products

are time-tested









High and Medium Voltage Transmitter Capacitors in all popular capacities.



Auto radio, heavy duty, railroad converter vibrators.



Disc and hi-voltage ceramic capacitors.



CDR Rotators, TV-AM-FM and Auto Antennas.



Receiver and transmitter capacitors.



Vibrator-powered converters and inverters.



# **CORNELL-DUBILIER ELECTRIC CORPORATION**

'LANTS IN SOUTH PLAINFIELD, N. J.; NEW BEDFORD, WORCESTER AND CAMBRIDGE<mark>, NASS.; Providence, R. 1.;</mark> Adiamapolis, Ind.; Fuguat Springs, N. C.; and Subsidiamy, the madiant comp.; Clevelang, ohio

World Radio History

## HY-LITE AMATEUR ANTENNAS





E

**4E2** 

8E2

#### THE FAMOUS INSULATED STANDARD 6, 10-11, 15, 20 METERS • 2, 3, 4 ELEMENTS

Quickly and easily assembled, the HY-LITE ROTARY BEAMS are ideal for any transmission location. They are built ruggedly and will stand up under stress and strain fat beyond that encountered under actual use.

The elements on the 6, 10-11 mtr. beams are made of 36" and <sup>4</sup>/<sub>4</sub>" telescopic aluminum tubing of the highest grade. (The elements of the 15 & 20 mtr. beam are of 1" and %" tubing.) with locking clamps for securing after tuning. The elements are supported on heavy Steatite insulators. Strong aluminum castings support the reflectors and directors and the antenna elements

The HY-LITE ROTARY BEAMS are rigid and sturdy and mounted on a standard size 6' mast

Any BEAM can be purchased and later a BEAM of a different frequency added to the original. Stacked array can be had in any combination on order

6, 10 & 15 meter beams supplied with .1 and .15 spacing. 3 element 20 meter units supplied with .075 & .1 spacing.

#### PRICED FULLY ADJUSTABLE • ALL ALUMINUM • RIGHT

#### THE ALL-GROUNDED SKY-LITE 6, 10-11 METERS • 2, 3 ELEMENTS



meter

arrays

16E2

Lightest Beam ever built by HY-LITE. Beam complete includes Mast. Can be assembled and adjusted in less than 30 minutes by one man with only a screw driver. Element lengths and

spacing fully adjustable. Will withstand high winds and gale, built of all dural tubing and rigid aluminum castings. Elements are ¾" and ⅛" diameter, boom is heavy wall 1", "1" match is adjustable by movable castings to lightning protection. No wood used. Good forward gain and front to back ratio. Very little sag in either boom or elements. Using 1 and 15 spacing. 6 meter or 10 meter can be added separately at later date for stacking Full instructions are given for length of elements and spacing at different frequencies.

#### TCH OUR ADS IN OST FOR CURRENT PRICES

Can be mounted for horizontal palar-Can be mounted for non-control policy ization, built of all dural tubing. All elements are grounded. Excellent for-ward gain and front to back ratio. Boom is 1" diameter hard tubing. Using 2, 2, and .25 spacing. Elements are 34" and 1" outside diameter. Unit is supplied with clamp to fit any size mast up to 1 % inch outside diameter (no mast is included with unit.) So light it can be rotated with almost any TV Antennae Rotator, Each four element unit weighs under 3 lbs - 16 Element weighs approximately 12 lbs. unit Made to match 300 ohm line. Can be stub matched for use with low impedance coax



Y

H

OPEN 100 FOOT SPOOLS OR THE NE

HIGH GAIN . OMNIDIRECTIONAL . CD . POLICE . FIRE . These famous revolutionarily designed antennas are the design of 'Doc' Ross, W2NGA, Real gain is offered over a ground plane and conventional type all-direction antennas Featuring the same all aluminum construction for which HY-LITE is famous, the QUADS are ideal for service other than, as well as, amateur; CD Headquarters, Police Stations, Fire Stations, Aircraft towers or any application where omnidirectional signals with added gain is desirable. Impedance at antenna is approximately 300 ohms but instructions for balun matching for 52 or 72 ohm coax is included. QUADRAPOLE owners can obtain an additional QUAD and matching stub to assemble the ROCKET QUAD at reasonable cost. Complete with all hardware less mast.

EAMS HY.LITE EAMS Y-LITE BEAMS HYLLITE BEAMS HY-LITE BEAMS HY-LITE BEAMS HY-LITE BEAMS HYPLITE BFAMS HYLLITE BEAMS HY-LITE BFAMS HV.LITE BFAMS Y-LITE BEAMS HY-LITE BEAMS HY-LITE BEAMS HY-LITE BFAMS HYLLITE EAMS EAMS HY-LITE Antennae inc., 243 EAST 137th STREET, NEW YORK 51, N.

155

HY-LITE

BFAMS HV.LITE

BFAMS

BEAMS

HYLLITE

RFAMS

HY-LITE

EAMS

Y.LITE

Y.LITE

World Radio History







We are now in our own new, air conditioned four story building with three times as much space as we had formerly. Greatly expanded stocks give you a wider choice of selections of the latest and best in electronic parts and equipment for use in Amateur, Broadcast, Industrial, Research and Educational applications. For your convenience we now have air conditioned High Fidelity Audio and Amateur demonstration rooms. Drive-in customers will find it easier to park here. For faster service mail or phone your orders to Cameradio.

1121

CAMERADIO CO.

AVENUE

PA.

22.

PENN

PITTSBURGH

**SINCE 1919** 

# 156

# SPRAGUE CAPACITORS

Just Right FOR YOUR RIG!

HYPASS®—feed-through capacitors for bypassing harmonic currents in transmitters and for eliminating v-h-f interference from a-c mains and control circuits. Ideal for eliminating TVI ...developed to meet transmitter needs outlined by ARRL Headquarters.

SPRAGUE HYPASS ATPIE

SPRAGUE

36.0

SPRAGUE

290

NOOLOHM

FILTEROL®—line filters for suppressing "man-made" radio noises and television "scrambles" on practically any application. Small, self-contained, and easily installed, Filterols provide maximum noise suppression.

CERA-MITE\* — the first complete line of miniature disc ceramics. Tough, dependable, and inexpensive. A type for every use—GA (General Application), high-K, and temperaturecompensating.

METAL-ENCASED PAPER CAPACITORS — long a favorite with amateurs, these metal encased capacitors are impregnated and filled with KVO, the efficient dielectric material. Long-life and reliability are outstanding.

ELECTRIC

**TELECAP\*** — phenolic molded paper tubulars assure maximum dependability under extreme heat, humidity, and shock. These Black Beauties are oil-impregnated in ratings from 600 to 12,500 volts.

ATOM<sup>®</sup> — metal - encased, dry electrolytics are engineered especially for tough television replacement applications. Small enough to fit anywhere, Atoms withstand punishing 85°C. (185 F.) temperatures.

TWIST-LOK\*—dry electrolytics, sealed in aluminum cans with twist-prong tabs for washer or direct-tochassis mounting. Top dependability in small size at 85 C. (185 F.). Sprague makes more ratings than any other manufacturer. Ideal for TV servicing.

SPRAGUE

MICAS—of maximum quality for R-F applications where high "Q" and high insulation resistance are required. There is a Sprague mica capacitor for every amateurrequirement, from tiny half "postage stamp" types to giant ceramic-jacketed types.

# KOOLOHM® RESISTORS

The only resistors wound with ceramic coated wire and doubly protected by a glazed ceramic housing and unique end seal to guard against moisture. Wires cannot short. Koolohms can be mounted anywhere, even flat against a chassis or grounded parts. They can be used safely at full wattage ratings.

WRITE FOR CATALOG C-609 OR SEE YOUR RADIO PARTS SUPPLIER.

AND

+TRADEMARK

PRAGUE PRODUCTS COMPAN (Distributors' Division of Sprague Electric Co.) North Adams, Massachusetts

DEVELOPMENT

ELECTRONIC



### Since 1927 "Supreme by Comparison"



## **MULTI-METERS**

The Supreme Model 543 (left) and Model 542 (right) volt-ohm-milliammeters have become real companions to maintenance men everywhere. Both instruments are the same size (approx.  $6 \ge 3 \ge 2$  inches) and are available in either the moulded "B" style case (illustrated) or the metallic type case with leather handle and meter protector shield (Style "M"). Model 543 has 4 functions and 12 ranges and the Model 542 has 6 functions and 24 ranges.

Model 543B	\$24.60
Model 543M	\$28,30
Test Leads	\$ 1,40

	Current States
AN AN	999
1999	9.99
	Ϋ́́



### **MINIMETERS**

Model 5428

Model 542M Test Leads \$27.70 \$32.10 \$ 1.40

About the size of a cigarette pack, these fine little multi-range, single function instruments have found their way into a lot of shirt and vest pockets of electrical troubleshooters. Convenient size and durable construction for portability. Built with highest quality materials and workmanship for dependability. Quantity production for a budget price. Model 440 Ohmmeter only \$12.90 complete with test leads. Other functions available from \$10.65 to \$14.50.





## PANEL METERS

Leading manufacturers of electrical and electronic devices select Supreme meters for use in their products because they are quality built and dependable. Supreme meters are supplied for end equipment uses in a variety of sizes and designs "customed" to meet the need for special scales, dials and case appearance. A sketch or drawing of your meter needs will bring you a prompt quotation and delivery schedule from Supreme.



WRITE FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION: For prompt action, address your request for additional information to SUPREME, INC., Attn: HB-4, 1754 CARROLTON AVENUE, GREENWOOD, MISSISSIPPI. Is addition to the items illustrated above, Supreme also makes Oscilloscopes, Tube Testers, Signal Generators, and special purpose instruments for both government and industry. Special instrument problems are welcome.









AM2C (Formerly K1504RF)



(Formerly K1504)

Write for new, descriptive Catalog containing detailed information about ADVANCE Relays and facilities.

ADVANCE ELECTRIC AND RELAY COMPANY

uniformly high quality relays -

specify ADVANCE.

2435 NORTH NAOMI STREET, BURBANK, CALIFORNIA Sales Representatives in Principal Cities of U. S. and Canada

World Radio History

(Formerly 7200)

# BOB Henry Says-

"When you deal with Bob Henry I want you to be entirely satisfied, get the lowest wholesale price, the quickest service, the best trade-in and the best time sale plan financed by me with the least red tape and the lowest carrying charges. I want everything to be entirely satisfactory. It will pay to contact me by mail, phone, or telegraph about any equipment. "I want you to say, 'You can bet on Bob Henry for the best.""

"LARGEST DESTRIBUTORS OF SHORT WAVE

HENRY RADIO STORES 11240 Olympic Blvd. LOS ANGELES 64 BRodybow 2-2917

Bob Henry

RECEIVERS'

Butler 1, Missouri Phone: 395

# YOU CAN BET ON Dro Henry FOR THE BEST-HE HAS IT!

31 REASONS WHY hallicrafters SX88

## IS HAM NEWS AT BOB HENRY'S:



- 1. Heavy gauge steel welded chassis for mechanical stability.
- 2. Full precision gear drive for main and band spread tuning.
- 3. Six position Band Width Control (selectivity) from 250 cycles to 10 kc.
- 4. 10 watt inverse feed back and pushpull audio output.
- 5. Exhalted B.F.O. for tops in single side band reception.
- 6. Buffer amplifier in B.F.O. circuit.
- 7. Antenna trimmer.
- 8. Amplified and delayed A.V.C.
- 9. Built-in 100 kc calibration crystal. 10. Second conversion oscillators crys-
- tal controlled. 11. Inertia tuning (fly wheels both
- dials).
- 12. Full frequency coverage from 535 kc to 33 mc.
- 13. Calibrated electrical band spread 160, 80, 40, 20, 15, 11, and 10 meters.
- 14. Logging scales on each tuning shaft.
- 15. Dial locks on each tuning shaft.
- 16. Tuning dial indicators resettable from front panel for maximum calibration accuracy.

- 17. Auxiliary A.C. socket on rear of chassis.
- 18. Illuminated band-in-use indicator.
- 19. Illuminated S meter.
- 20. Dual S meter calibration S units and microvolts.
- 21. Auxiliary power socket plus .6 amps at 6.3 volts and 10 ma at 150 volts for accessories.
- 22. Standard 8%" by 19" panel for rack mounting if desired.
- 23. 50 kc i.f. output jack via cathode follower for teletype converter, etc.
- 24. Five position response control (tone control).
- 25. Two r.f. stages (Bands II to VI).
- 26. 17 tubes plus voltage regulator, ballast tube and rectifier.
- 27. Automatic noise limiter circuit.
- 28. Phono Jack.
- 29. Audio output transformer for 3.2, 8, 500/600 ohm loads.
- 30. Fuse for overload protection.
- 31. Auxiliary sensitivity control permits monitoring of local transmissions in standby position.

PRICE \$499.50 SUBJECT TO CHANGE WITHOUT NOTICE.

ENRY RADIO ST

"LARGEST DISTRIBUTORS OF SHORT WAVE RECEIVERS

**BOB HENRY SAYS**—"I offer you the lowest prices, the easiest terms, top trade-ins, my personal attention to your satisfaction. Get my offer before you buy."

Butler 1, Missouri Phone: 395

INES LOS ANGELES 64 BRadshaw 2-2917

11240 Olympic Blvd.

# YOU CAN BET ON BB Henry FOR THE BEST-HE HAS IT!

"COMMUNICATOR"

THE NEW



THE NEW GIVER' "SUPER-CEIVER" MOBILE RECEIVER



Ideal for Amateur • Civil Defense • C.A.P. Commercial Activities • Fixed-Mobile • Airport Unicom.

Superheterodyne receiver is complete with 6BQ7 Cascode rf stage, 3 stages if, and employs the famous GONSET NOISE CLIPPER circuit. Tuning eye metering on all stages including transmitter antenna circuit (indicates max, transmitter output). No external meter required. Transmitter employs 8 mc, crystals for stability. Modulator can be used for P.A. system, for emergency and CD work. **\$209.50** Including Federal Excise Tax (less microphone and crystal). For deluxe model with Squelch add \$20.00. The Super-reciver combination consists of three elements: IIF tuning head, which may be a Super-Six or other standard, good quality converter, a control box and the all-important Model 3041 unit, the heart of the combination. The latter is actually a crystal controlled, superheterodyne receiver with input circuits fixed-tuned to the output frequency used for the average converter. (1430 kc for Super Six) Six band operation, (10-11-15-20-40-75) when used with "Super Six."

"Finger-tip control" with remote control head  $2^{\prime\prime}$  high to match Super Six converter.

**COMPACT!** Model 3041 unit is  $6\frac{7}{4}$  wide,  $6\frac{4}{4}$  deep and  $5\frac{1}{4}$  high. Control head is 5" wide,  $3\frac{1}{4}$  deep, 2" high.

Convertible (dual) 6-12 volt pack. \$119.50 Including Federal Excise Tax. (Price does not include Super Six converter.)



ENRY RADIO STORE

SHORT

OF

A Six Band Amateur Converter covers the amateur 10, 11, 15, 20, 40 and 75 meter phone bands with lots of bandspread. Also covers 6 me. (19 meter) nightime and 15 me. (19 meter) daytime Short Wave broadcast bands, therefore ideal for BC reception in remote areas where standard broadcast reception is poor. Very high sensitivity on an 8 ft. whip antenna. Low drift, noise factor, and image response. Net \$52.50.

#### BOB HENRY SAYS-

"I offer you the lowest prices, the easiest terms, top trade-ins, my personal attention to your satisfaction. Get my offer before you buy."



"LARGEST DISTRIBUTORS

Butler 1, Missouri Phone: 395

#### 35-50 watt MULTI-BAND TRANSMITTER

FREQUENCY RANGE: 1.7 to 54 Mc. continuous.

TUBES: R.f. - 6AG7, 6146, A.f. - 12AT7, 2-6AG5's

**POWER REQUIREMENTS:** 300 volts d.c. at 200-225 ma. (phone) and 6.3 volts a.e. or d.e. at 3.15 amp. 35 watts input on phone, 50 watts on c. w.

MODULATOR: Class AB<sub>2</sub> beam tetrodes and integral high level speech elipping (requires no adjustment) permit heavy modulation without splatter.

MICROPHONE INPUT: Any standard earbon or p.a. type high impedance dynamic or crystal. No optional model or preamp required for crystal mike.

ANTENNA FEED: All conventional feed lines including COAN, RIB-BON, and OPEN LINE, or DIRECT TO MARCONI ANTENNA. SIZE Very compact: 53%" high by 83%" wide by 73%" deep. Suitable for under dash mounting.

(Completely wired and tested, with all tubes, and including two high-Q final tank coils which cover 10-11, 15, 20, 40, 75, and 80 meters. Final coils for other frequencies are available separately.) Model #3016 -- Net \$124.50

WAVE RECEIVERS"

LOS ANGELES 64

BRadshaw 2-2917

# YOU CAN BET ON BB Henry FOR THE BEST-HE HAS IT!



RADIO COMPANY, BOB HENRY OFFERS:





#### 32V-3 VFO TRANSMITTER

FROM

A bandswitching, gang-tuned amateur transmitter. Rated at 150 watts input on CW, 120 watts phone, this little receiversize rig has the kick of a kangeroo, and its excellent audio provides extraordinarily good readability. The 32V-3 covers the 80, 40, 20, 15, 11 and 10 meter ham bands. It is thoroughly filtered and shielded to minimize the possibility of TVI. Price \$775.00

#### KW-1 TRANSMITTER

Engineered for maximum power allowed by your heense. Its input is a full 1000 watts on phone or CW. The entire transmitter, including power supply, is in one attractive cabinet. Complete bandswitching of the exciter, drive and power amplifier by a single control on the front panel. It covers all bands from 10 througn 160. TVI reduction is accomplished by well engineered shielding and filtering. It's as easy to handle as a 32V-3. Price \$3850.00



#### 75A-3 RECEIVER

Makes use of the new Collins mechanical filter which represents an entirely new approach to the attainment of selectivity. The 75A-3 is a double conversion superheterodyne for top performance on the 160, 80, 40, 20, 15, 11 and 10 meter bands. Only the band in use is shown on the slide rule dial. The bandspread dial is accurately calibrated directly in kilocycles. Vernier zero set control on front panel. 75A-3 less speaker \$530,00. Speaker in calinet \$20,00, 8R1 crystal calibrator \$25,00, 148C-1 NBFM adapter \$22,50, 880 cycle filter \$55,00, 6kc filter \$55,00.

75A-2 RECEIVER — Same as the 75A-3 except without mechanical filter. Price \$420.00



#### BOB HENRY SAYS-

"I offer you the lowest prices, the easiest terms, top trade-ins, my personal attention to your satisfaction. Get my offer before you buy."

138 ter





# POPULAR WITH HAMS BECAUSE THEY'RE ...

Rugged	Exceptionally high ratio, torque to weight, for fast pointer response. Sturdy construction throughout. Molded inner unit with internal and external locking nuts for maximum rigidity.
Good Looking	Dials are metal so they stay attractive in spite of age and moisture. Metal cases throughout with rich telephone black finish. Concealed coils and good, readable scales.
Well Designed	AC meters are double-vane repulsion type using hair-spring and jeweled bearing. Most DC meters are polarized-vane solenoid type. High internal resistance voltmeters available in popular ranges. Accuracy well within 5%.
Guaranteed	For one year from date of purchase against defective workmanship and material, and will be repaired or replaced if sent to the factory postpaid with 40¢ handling charge.
Priced Right	For instance, the meters pictured above are priced at Model 950, 0-100 DC Ma
A Complete Line	All of these features are available in 323 ranges and types; AC, DC, Voltmeters, Ammeters, Milliammeters, Resistance Meters. For in- stance, DC Milliammeters are made in 65 types and ranges. The newest meters are a 0-3 DC Milliammeter with 500 ohms internal resistance and built-in zero adjustor with ten times the sensitivity of previous 0-3 DC Milliammeters, also a 0-1 DC Milliammeter with 1000 ohms internal resistance and zero adjustor.
Available	Stocked by leading electronic parts distributors in a wide variety of types and ranges. For prompt shipment, contact the authorized Shurite distributor nearest you.

## THEY'RE TODAY'S BEST VALUE

Ask for Catalog Sheet F-56{SH}, latest revision



SKURITE METERS · 89 Hamilton Street, New Haven 8, Conn.

World Radio History

BURTON BROWNE ADVERTISING

# MERIT tv's

.....coils

.transformers

....components

"full" replacement line!

Flybacks: Universal replacement with complete installation data. Exact replacement for the "big 10" \*where necessary. \*RCA-Zenith-Motorola-Admiral-etc.

Transformers: Complete coverage of the replacement market.

IF-RF Coils: A complete line constantly expanding to meet current and future needs.

Merit Replacement Data: #405 TV "Repl" Guide-#3 Auto Radio replacement guide-#10 comparative transformer part nos.-#14 comparative coil part nos.

• Listed in John Rider's Tek-File and Howard Sams' Counter Facts and Photo Facts-Tape Marked\* to help you. \*originated by Merit



Merit Coil and Transformer Corp. 4425 N. Clark Street, Chicago 40.

# W. D. BRILL

Complete Stocks —

has





AMATEUR & INDUSTRIAL "Sealed-in-Steel" TRANSFORMERS

### THE WORLD'S TOUGHEST Hermetically-Sealed Units WE STOCK THE COMPLETE LINE

We can supply the *complete* line of CHICAGO "Sealed-in-Steel" Transformers — units designed to fit today's amateur circuits . . . units to meet all MIL-T-27 specifications for military requirements . . . units for a wide range of industrial applications. Whatever your transformer needs, there's nothing tougher, nothing better than CHICAGO "Sealed-in-Steel" units and BRILL has them in stock for quick shipment. Order from your BPILL Catalog for prompt delivery.

#### 200 Page W. D. BRILL Buying Guide

Write for your FREE copy of the latest W. D. BRILL Catalog — the complete Buying Guide for all Amateur and Industrial Electronic Equipment. Features the widest selection and largest stocks of equipment — includes the CHICAGO Transformers you need. Get and use your 200 page W. D. BRILL Catalog now.



W. D. BRILL COMPANY 198 10th STREET OAKLAND 7, CALIF. Phone: TEmplebar 2-6100

# THE NEW MODEL 770-A The FIRST Pocket-Sized **VOLT-OHM MILLIAMETER**



71% MORE SCALE AREA!

Yes, although our new FULL-VIEW D'Arsonval type meter occupies exactly the same space used by the older standard 21/2" Meters, it provides 71% more scale area. As a result, all calibrations are printed in large easy-to-read type and for the first time it is now possible to obtain measurements instead of approximations on a popular priced pocket-sized V.O.M.

# Features

- ★ Compact—measures 31/8" x 57/8" x 21/4"
- ★ Uses "Full View" 2% accurate, 850 Microampere D'Arsonval type meter
- ★ Housed in round-cornered, molded case
- ★ Beautiful black etched panel. Depressed letters filled with permanent white, insures long-life even with constant use.

#### SPECIFICATIONS

- 6 A.C. VOLTAGE RANGES: 0-15/30/150/300/1500/3000 Volts
- 6 D.C. VOLTAGE RANGES: 0-7.5/15/75/150/750/1500 Volts
- **2 RESISTANT RANGES:** 0-10,000 Ohms 0-1 Megohm
- 3 D.C. CURRENT RANGES: 0-15/150 Mg. 0-1.5 Amps.
- **3 DECIBEL RANGES**

-6 db to +18 db +34 db to +58 db +14 db to +38 db The Model 770-A comes complete with self-contained batteries, test leads and all operating instructions.



## SUPERIOR INSTRUMENTS CO. Dept. HB-54 \* 2435-41 WHITE PLAINS ROAD \* NEW YORK 67, N.Y.

PLEASE PLACE YOUR ORDER WITH YOUR REGULAR RADIO PARTS JOBBER. IF YOUR JOBBER DOES NOT HANDLE OUR LINE PLEASE SEND YOUR ORDER DIRECT TO US COMPLETE OUTFITTERS for the **HAM** . . .

COMMUNICATIONS

AND

ELECTRONIC

**ENGINEERS** 

# EUGENE G. WILE

218-220 South 11th Street Kingsley 5-8370

Philadelphia 7, Pa.

Distributors of

Nationally Advertised Lines of

RADIO, TELEVISION and ELECTRONIC Parts

World Radio History

#### **ADVANCE!** Raise your earning power-learn ADIO-TELEVISION-ELECTRONICS MASTER ALL PHASES! Get Master Shop-Method Home Training from an Established Practical Resident School with its own Training

#### GOOD JOBS AWAIT THE TRAINED RADIO-TV TECHNICIAN

There is a place for you in the great Radio-Television-Electronics industry when you are trained as National Schools will train you at home!

Trained technicians are in growing demand at good pay in manufacturing, broadcasting, television, communications, radar, research laboratories, home Radio-TV service, and other branches of the field. National Schools Master Shop-Method Home Training, with newly added lessons and equipment, trains you in your spare time, right in your own home, for these fascinating opportunities. OUR METHOD IS PROVED BY THE SUCCESS OF NATIONAL SCHOOLS TRAINED MEN, ALL OVER THE WORLD, SINCE 1905.

#### EARN WHILE YOU LEARN

Many National students pay for all or part of their training with spare time earnings. We'll show you how you can do the same! Early in your training, you receive "Spare-time Work" Lessons which will enable you to earn extra money servicing neighbors' and friends' Radio and Television receivers, appliances, etc.



T. R. F. Receiver

Audio Oscillator

#### National Schools Training is All-Embracing

National Schools prepares you for your choice of many job opportunities. Thousands of home, portable, and auto radios are being sold daily-more than ever before. Television is sweeping the country, too. Co-axial cables are now bringing Television to more cities, towns, and farms every day! National Schools' complete training program qualifies you in all fields. Read this partial list of opportunities for trained technicians:

**Business of Your Own • Broadcasting** Radio Manufacturing, Sales, Service • Telecasting Television Manufacturing, Sales, Service Laboratories: Installation, Maintenance of Electronic Equipment **Electrolysis, Call Systems** Garages: Auto Radio Sales, Service Sound Systems and Telephone Companies, Engineering Firms Theatre Sound Systems, Police Radio And scores of other good jobs in many related fields.

EXDIDICITY STOR

**TELEVISION TRAINING** 

You get a complete series of up-to-theminute lessons covering all phases of repairing, servicing and construction. The same

lesson texts used by resident students in our

modern and complete Television broadcast studios, laboratories and classrooms!

FREE! RADIO-TV BOOK AND SAMPLE LESSON! Send today for National Schools' new, illustrated Book of Opportunity in Redio-Television

Electronics, and an actual This Sample Lesson. No costcourse also offered coupon now-we'll in Spanish and Portuguese.

APPROVED FOR VETERANS AND NON-VETERANS

You receive and keep all the modern equipment shown above, including tubes and valuable, professional qual-ity Multitester. No extra charges. RADIO TELEVISION

Superheteradyne Receiver LEARN BY DOING



Shops, Laboratories, Studios — almost 50 Years of

You also

receive this

**Multitester** 

anops, Laboratories, augus – armost av verts ar Successful Experience in Training Ambitious Men.

We Bring National Schools To You!

es Cal

1

1

1

# FUNGUS-PROOF **NYLON** Lacing Cords and Flat Braided Tapes meet Army, Navy and Civilian "Specs"



Lacing Cord or Tying Twine

172

Intensive research in the laboratories of The Heminway & Bartlett Mfg. Co. has resulted in the development of fungus-proof Nylon Lacing Cords (also known as Tying Twines) and Flat Braided Tapes. These new products are especially important to you because of their special synthetic resin coating which resists the growth of mold and micro-organisms — factors most often responsible for the deterioration of old-type linen and cotton lacing cords and tapes and the subsequent corrosion and failure of electronic equipment.

Heminway & Bartlett's new, special-finish Nylon Lacing Cords and Flat Braided Tapes are much faster and easier to lace. They have high abrasion resistance . . . low moisture absorption. They retain the desirable malleability of wax and yet have a melting point of over 190°F. In addition, they are non-toxic to humans.

Heminway & Bartlett's Nylon Lacing Cords and Flat Braided Tapes are sold through leading distributors throughout the U.S. If your regular distributor does not have them in stock, write us for the name of the nearest distributor who carries them.

EST. 1888



**HEMINWAY & BARTLET** The Heminway & Bartlett Mfg. Co., 500 Fifth Ave., New York 36, N.Y.

Sales Offices: Chicago, Philadelphia, Boston, St. Louis, Cincinnati, San Francisco, Los Angeles, Charlotte, N.C., Gloversville, N.Y.

Foreign Agent: Turner, Halsey Co., Inc., 40 Worth Street, New York, N.Y. Cable Address: THECOTEX

#### PRECISE MEASUREMENTS COMPANY 942 KINGS HIGHWAY **BROOKLYN 23, NEW YORK** Tel. ES 5-9435

#### ONE HUNDRED THOUSAND VOLTS!

- At Fifty Thousand Ohms/Volt KILOVOLTER Model 4000
- Shielded Polysterene Probe
- Choice of Ranges Simple Foolproof Circuits

Measures televisian and X-ray valtages with extra high input impedances. All valtage is dissipated in the shielded palvsterene probe, "Normal-Reverse" is pravided so that prabe may be used regardless of palarity of valtage under test. Indicator has large clear scale for easy reading. Additional low leakage path, special insulated prabe is supplied an all 100 KV madels.

	Range	1000
Madel	Kilavalts	Price
4000	0-25/50	\$67.50
4000-A	0-100	80.00
4000-8	0-50/100	85.00
4000-C	0-10/50/100	95.00

#### HIGH VOLTAGE POWER SUPPLIES



A precision, well constructed high valtage supply far televisian, meter testing and calibratian, electrastatic painting, breakdown tests, nuclear physics and wherever high patentials at law currents are needed. Output is well filtered direct current. Adjustable by means of a control on the frant panel. Available with ar without meter, input valtage is 115 v., 60 cycles.

Model		Maximum Valtage	Price
6000		2,500	\$60.00
6000-A	With Meter	2,500	80.00
6005		5,000	75.00
6005-A	With Meter	5,000	95.00
6010		10,000	85,00
6010-A	With Meter	10,000	105.00
6015		15,000	95.00
6015-A	With Meter	15,000	115.00
6025		25,000	115.00
6025-A	With Meter	25,000	155.00

Also available with two meters (as illustrated) thus current and voltage can be read simultaneously. Perfect for breakdown and leakage measurements. Current limiter circuits protect meter an shorts. Price \$35 additional. Specify 50 µamps, 100 µamps ar 1 mil meter. Same delivery time.

**Regulated Power Supplies.** Any madel can be had with built-in regulatian circuits. Output remains within 5% aver mast af the range. Same delivery time. Claser regulation an special order.



Provide clear sharp impressions of all the most used radia and electrical circuit symbals. Saves cansiderable drawing and drafting time and pravides a neater laaking appearance. Used by leading manufacturers and labarataries. Stamps are crystal clear and easily lined up by laaking right through them. Available in two popular sizes. May be purchased separately or in camplete set. When ardering, specify stamp number and size.

Size A CIRCUIT STAMP SET	(12 stamps)	\$8.50
Size A Individual Circuit Stamps	each	.85
Size B CIRCUIT STAMP SET	(12 stamps)	10.00
Size B Individual Circuit Stamps	each	.95



#### MICRO CIRCLE CUTTER

Cuts hales in all types af metals fram stainless steel to magnesium. Perfect far plastics and waad. Especially recommended far cutting meter hales in panels.

Built-in micrameter type size cantral far precise settings, Extra heavy construction of the main beam and body make it useful for production jabs as well as experimental work. All are equipped with a ¼" high speed steel cutting bit.

Madel

- Round Shank (far drill press ar hand drill) 1 Square Tapered (far hand brace) Raund Shank 1-A 5 6
  - Marse Na. 2 Taper Shank



#### SCALE PRINTING MACHINE

Price

\$5.00

5.00

7.50

Prints lettering, numbers and divisions on meter scales, metal, paper, plastics. For making experimental name plates, decais, etc. Perfect lettering is assured by use of standard printers type. Many leading instrument manufacturers and laboratories are using our machines. The Model 1500 Scale Printer is illustrated. Send for Catalog A-4.

#### HIGH VOLTAGE TRANSFORMER

Small physical size is the result of engineering studies into this problem. Used for Oscilloscopes, Photoflash Units, and Miniature High Valtage Pawer Supplies. Primary has tap far rectifier tube. Several diagrams furnished. Pravides 4500 Valts D.C. Price \$15.00.



Part Na 3 KVT	Primary 115 Volts 60 Cycle with 1¼ Valt Tap,	Secandary 3200 Valts AC at 1 Ma	Size 2" high x 2¼" wide. Base 2¾" Mtg. Centers 2½"

#### MINIATURE HIGH VOLTAGE CONVERTER

Cannect primary to batteries and abtain high valtage autput. Single campact init cantains bath an efficient vibratar and special step-up transformer. Use far phataflash, isalated pawer supplies and where high patentials and small size are required. Easily rectified with any of these tubes: 1X2A, 1B3GT, 5642 ar 1654. Diagrams far camplete pawer supplies furnished with each unit.

art Na. 5 MVT	Primary 2 ta 6 Valts DC ar 60 Cycle AC	Secondary 2,000 ta 7,000 Valts	Price <b>\$8.50</b>
------------------	--	-----------------------------------	------------------------

#### **ELECTRO-GRAPHIC RECORDER**

As a result of a number of field tests, we are in the process of adding a number of new features to the ever popular Model 50 Electra-Graphic Recorder. This direct writing instrument will cantinue to be the same campact size and rugged construction.

INSTRUMENTS BUILT TO SPECIFICATIONS. Precise Measurements Company equipment is used by leading industrial concerns, research laboratories, government and serious amateurs everywhere. Your Local Distributor will be glad to show you our products.

P

5



173





120C 200C 75N 75NB3 90NB 120CB 200CB 120N 120NB 200N 1000 200NB 100CB 150N 230N 100N **150NB** 240C 100NB 153C 240N HIGH VOLTAGE RECTIFIERS AVT-13 AVT-14 IGNITRONS 5551/652 5554/679 5552/651 5553/655 5555/653B MAGNETRONS 2J48 4J47 4J58 2J55 2J56 4152 4159 4157 725A MERCURY RECTIFIERS 575A 673 857B 249B 866AX 249C 255B 869B 872A 8008 266B 866A 315A PENTODES 6083/AX-9909 828 Secondary Emission Pentode EFP60 Subminiature Pentodes 6007/5913 6008/5911 TETRODES AX4-125A/6155 5895/AX-9905 4X150A 6075/AX-9907 AX4-250A/6156 6076/AX-9907R 807 6097/AX-9908 813 **TWIN TETRODES** 5894/AX-9903 6360 6252/AX-9910 832A THYRATRONS Hydrogen 4C35 6268/AX-9911 5C22 6279/AX-9912 Inert Gas 2D21 Mercury

**GEIGER COUNTERS** 

FG17/1701/967/5559 5557 5869/AGR-9950 FG105/AX105 5870/AGR-9951 678

Xenon		
3B28	4B32	5685/C6J
	TR	IODES
HF125	473	889A
HF200	498	889A 889RA
207	501R	891
211	502	891R
212E	502R	891 891R 892
212F	504R	8928
232C	508/6	246 893A 893AR
242C	750TL	893AR
HF250	805	HF-3000
250TH	810	ZB3200
250TL	833A	893AK HF-3000 ZB3200 5604* 5619 5658
251A	834	5619
279A	838	5658
284D	845	5666 5667 5736
HF300	849	5667
311CH	849A	5736
342A	849H	5771
343A	851	5920 8002 8002R
343AA	858	8002
450TH	859	8002R
450TL		
3X2500	DA3	5868/AX-9902 5923/AX-9904 5924/AX-9904R
3X2500	DF3	5923/AX-9904
EC55/5	861	5924/AX-9904R
		6077/AX-9906
	X-9900	6078/AX-9906R
5867/AX-9901		
VACUUM CONDENSERS		

VACUUM CONDENSERS VC6/20 VC50/32 VC6/32 VC100/20 VC12/20 VC100A/20 VC12/32 VC100/32 VC25/20 VC100A/32 VC25/32 VC100A/32 VC50/20 VOLTAGE REGULATORS Better Built for Dependable Performance and Operating Economy!

9906R

VC25

Specialists in electronic tube design and construction, our over-all laboratory facilities in our new, modern plant with its latest, up-to-the-minute equipment for precision quality control are recognized as outstanding.

4157

833A

889RA

AX5551

6333

FOR ALL

**INDUSTRIAL** and

COMMUNICATIONS

REQUIREMENTS

5894

813

857B

4X-150A

AMPEREX Tubes are designed, not only for every phase of communications, but for applications in all fields where electronic equipments are used . . . industrial, radiation detection, electromedical...etc...to assure yourself of unvarying performance and more all-around value for your money...be sure to specify AMPEREX.

Datavia

See Your Local Radio Parts Distributor



230 DUFFY AVENUE, HICKSVILLE, LONG ISLAND In Canada and Newfoundland: Rogers Majestic Limited

Terento

11-19 Reputel/Month Reilid History

AMPEREX ELECTRONIC CORP

you learn easily from

Starting with the fundamentals, you'll understand from step-by-step explanations and illustrations, just how each unit in the TV receiver functions, how it is set up by the various manufacturers, what flaws may occur in it, what points in the circuitry cause these flaws, how they affect the other components in the unit, and how they show up on the TV screen. All faults likely to occur, including those hard-to-find troubles are fully dealt with. And you won't be confused by unnecessary theory. Only the essentials actually needed for practical servicing are given, in clear, easy-to-follow terms.

#### Hundreds of Helpful Illustrations

Original photographs, especially made for this book, show you what appears on the screen when there is a defective picture tube, diathermy interference and dozens of other causes of imperfect pictures. Scores of scope patterns aid you in signal tracing and analysis of circuit performance. Hundreds of large, clear schematics, many from the major manufacturers, show you every detail of circuit arrangement.

#### A Complete Master Trouble Index

makes it easy for you to locate the source of trouble quickly. It's in the form of a handy chart listing the various hums, sound distortions, streaks, bars, focus defects and 100 other trouble symptoms in sound and picture together with the possible causes of each and the page on which servicing in-\$5.50 structions are given.

# Mandl's Television Servicing

with new data on transistors. cascode tuners, other new developments

- simple signal tracing procedures
- how to improve reception in the fringe areas
- how to use the oscilloscope and other test equipment
- how to trouble-shoot keyed A.G.C. and synchroguide circuits
- how to align I.F. stoges

You'll

learn

and many tricks for diagnosing troubles in minimum time

**MATTHEW MANDL** is author of the "Tele-vision Servicing Clinic" in *Radio Electronics* and of regular articles on the technical and servicing problems of radio and television in other leading trade magazines; technical and engineering consultant; former operator of a radio station and owner of his own servicing business.

reliable books for Radiomen

#### **Radio and TV Mathematics**

by Bernhard Fischer. "By far the best book for preparation for FCC exams," writes one radioman. "A book for the place of honor beside its natural partner, the slide-rule," says Radio Electronics. Here are its natural partner, the side-rule, says Karlo Electronics field are step-by-step solutions for every question requiring matchematics in the FCC study guide, as well as hundreds of other circuit problems in radio, TV and industrial electronics. Whatever YOUR problems whether to correct the power factor of a motor, or to find the im-pedance and length of a matching stub between a TV antenna and interviewed as a set of burdrate of other architers. pedance and length of a matching stud october problems, here is its transmission line, or any of hundreds of other problems, here is \$6.75 your solution.

#### **Television for Radiomen**

by Edward M Noll. "By the time you are through with this book, you'll have a GOOD founda-tion in TV," writes a radio and TV engineer, "You'll discover that the author has treated a much written-about subject in a refreshingly original manner." Written by a man nationally known for his many helpful articles on TV operation and servicing, this book explains very fully and clearly the principles of transmission and the construction, function and operating principles of *every* circuit and element in TV reception. You'll acquire the fundamental knowl-edge you MUST have to qualify for the many good jobs waiting for you in television. \$8.00

#### **An Introduction to Practical Radio**

by D. J. Tucker. One of the best fundamentals' books ever published, widely praised by authorities. "The chapter on Kirchoff's laws is a model," writes the reviewer in Electronics. authorities. "The chapter on Kirchoff's laws is a model," writes the reviewer in Electronic authorities. "Also goes further into the use of vectors for solving a-c circuit problems-a must for today's \$5 00 \$5 00 radio technicians.

#### TV and FM Antenna Guide

by E. M. Noll and M. Mandl. A basic course on antenna theory combined with a complete handbook on all types of antennas, including all commercial models, high-gain antennas for fringe areas, antennas for special locations and for the new UHF allocations. Shows you all techniques for get-ting the most out of the antenna system. Based on extensive \$5.25 testing done by the authors.



New!

Television

Service Course Laboratory Manual

By Matthew Mandl

by Matthew Manat Work-book of experi-ments designed to give you practical experience in trouble-shooting and ervicing procedures

servicing procedures.

As your dealers or from The Macmillan Company 60 Fifth Ave., New York 11

# Attenuators for high quality audio



...where performance counts ...use Cínema's best

> Instantaneous control, whether in the laboratory or in the speech input console, must be dependable. Use the attenuators backed by 18 years experience. Write for catalogue 18AB today.

FACTORY REPRESENTATIVES THROUGHOUT THE NATION

EXPORT AGENTS Frazar & Hansen, Limited 301 Clay Street San Francisca, Calif., U.S.A.



CINEMA ENGINEERING CO. DIVISION AEROVOX CORPORATION 1100 CHESTNUT - BURBANK, CALIFORNIA

# AND Still THE BEST TV BOOK TO BUY!

New material on: **TV Tuners Keyed AGC systems DC Video Amplifiers Cascode Amplifiers** 45-mc Video I.F. systems

New illustrations, new diagrams, new whole chapters on UHF and COLOR TELEVISION!



### TELEVISION SIMPLIFIED

by Milton S. Kiver is now in its 4th revised, reset and enlarged edition. No other book has received such wide acclaim in the television field. Basic principles are explained in language free of involved theory or mathematics, from the analysis of circuits and operating fundamentals of V.H.F.-U.H.F., TV and F-M, to the repairing of television sets and the explanation of an actual troubleshooting system.

2nd edition

Let these other KIVER books help you with special problems

### TELEVISION & FM RECEIVER SERVICING by MILTON S. KIVER 3rd ed. \$4.20

The most famous servicing book on the market today, now up-to-date and one third larger than before. Includes all practical information on troubleshooting, antennas, installations, alignment, testing, patterns, circuits and servicing.

#### FM SIMPLIFIED by MILTON S. KIVER

"To bridge the gap between AM and FM techniques, it explains fully and in simple language the theory of FM propogation and FM receiver and transmitter circuits including detailed descriptions of circuits in commercial FM receivers and methods of servicing them."-Radio Electronics

#### UHF SIMPLIFIED by MILTON S. KIVER

Starting out from the principles of ordinary radio circuits, this book proceeds step-by-step to a thorough understanding of U.H.F. radio and equipment that is clear, easy to remember and apply.

#### MODULATION THEORY by HAROLD S. BLACK 363 pp.

The very latest of the extensive series to come out of the Bell Telephone Laboratories designed to give both students and engineers a broad knowledge of all systems. It covers sampling, multiplexing and statistical properties of noise and message material.

#### THE RADIO MANUAL - 4th edition

by G. E. STERLING and R. E. Monroe 890 pp. \$12.00 This giant volume covers the entire field of radio-from elementary electrical and radio theory to the most advanced applications in AM, FM, TV, Marine Radio, Navigational Aids, Emergency Services and the State, Federal and International laws. More than 800 illustrations, photographs and schematic drawings cover every type of modern equipment.

### **MICROWAVE THEORY AND TECHNIQUES**

#### by HERBERT J. REICH and others.

914 pp. \$12.50 From an introductory treatment of vector methods, static and dynamic electromagnetic fields to an up-to-date coverage of the entire microwave field, this heavily illustrated volume thoroughly covers principles, problems, experiments and references.

at book and radio supply dealers everywhere, or write to

D. VAN NOSTRAND COMPANY, INC. 250 Fourth Avenue, New York 3

\$8.75

#### \$4.50

\$6.50







World Radio History



# CARDWELL CAPACITORS

## Whether it be

#### PRECISION VARIABLES

. . . Such as this temperature-compensated unit which make possible the famous frequency meters BC-221, TS-173/UR, and TS-174/U.

#### HIGH-POWER TRANSMITTING UNITS





Like this 1-inch air gap 100 mmfd. unit with special electrostatic shields and corona cups to minimize losses at peak voltages up to 20KV.

#### MEDIUM-POWER TRANSMITTING UNITS

Designed for efficient high-frequency use in services ranging from "ham" rigs to TV transmitters.

#### COMPACT LOW-POWER "TRIM-AIRS"





For years the favorite's of designers, experimenters, ond hams because of their extreme adaptability to individual needs.

#### CARDWELL MAKES THE FINEST

Based on more than 35 years experience in development and production of the components required to do a special job well, Cardwell continues to manufacture high quality air-dielectric capacitors to fill almost every need. In addition to the units shown above, plug-in fixed air capacitors, disc-type neutralizers, insulated shaft couplings and other variable capacitors are available as described in Catalog 50A

Specify

# CARDWELL QUALITY PRODUCTS

Ask us about our Printed Circuit facilities, UHF TV converters, TV IF strips and UHF TV tuners. THE ALLEN D. CARDWELL MFG. CO.

PLAINVILLE, CONN.

WRITE FOR OUR DETAILED CATALOG NO. 50A

# Index

PAGE

Charts	and	Tab	les
--------	-----	-----	-----

	302 - 538 -
Amateur Frequency-Bands	14
Amateur's Code, The Antenna and Feeder Lengths .332–333, 336, 344, 3	8
Antenna and Feeder Lengths 332-333, 336, 344,	345
Antenna Diameter vs. Length	562 849
Antenna Length Factor	341
Attenuation of Transmission Lines	315
Bandpass Filters Bandwidth, Typical I.F	541
Beam Element Lengths	350
Breakdown Voltages	23
Call Areas	536
Capacitance of Short Vertical Antennas	$\frac{452}{454}$
Capacitance, Top-Loading Cathode and Screen-Dropping Resistors for	101
R.F. and I.F. Amplifiers	89
Cathodo Modulation Performance Curves	276
Characteristic Impedance	314
Constant Line Data	474
Coaxial Line Data	314
Color Code for Radio Parts	519 519
Condenser Color Code	$510 \\ 542$
Continental Code Conversion of Fractional and Multiple Units Copper-Wire Table Corner-Reflector Antenna Feed Impedance Countries List A DBL	13
Conversion of Fractional and Multiple Units	20
Copper-Wire Table	539 419
Corner-Reflector Antenna Fred Impedance	536
Countries List, ARRL Coupling-Coefficient Curves	46
Coupling to Flat Lines	323
	-65 302
Dogibal	537
Decimal Equivalents of Fractions	515
Diologtric Constants	_23
Drill Sizes Driving-Power/Plate-Circuit-Efficiency Curve	$\frac{513}{139}$
Effect of Ground on Horizontal Antennas	331
Electrical Conductivity of Metals	542
12 11 Ok. Back Maten Calibration Course	476
Filters, Bandpass	218
Folded Dipole Nonlogram	18
Fileters, Bandpass. Folded Dipole Nomogram Frequency-Spectrum Nomenclature Gain of Directive Antennas	350
Gauges, Standard Metal	538
Germanium Crystal Diodes	-0ə 333
Inunodance Sten-Un in Folded Dipoles	318
Half-Wave Antenna Lengths Impedance Step-Up in Folded Dipoles Index, Modulation Inductance and Capacitance for Ripple Reduc-	285
Inductance and Capacitance for Ripple Reduc-	
tion	210
Charts 542.	543
Inductance and Capacitance for Apple Refine- tion	543
International Amateur Prefixes	536
International Morse Code	474
<i>L-C</i> Computation	30
Linear Amplifier Tube-Operation Data	296
Loading-Coil Data	453
Log, Station	$\frac{525}{336}$
Long-Wire Antenna Lengths Metals, Relative Resistivity of	18
Miniductor Data	543
Mobile-Antenna Data	453
Modulation Index	285
Musical Scale	538
Mutual Conductance	-63
Nomonelature of Frequencies.	18
Open Stubs, Position and Length	317 85
Open Stubs, Position and Length Operating Values, Converter Tubes Peak-Rectifier-Current/D.CLow-Current	
Ratio	210
Percentage Ripple Across Input Condenser	$\frac{210}{298}$
Phase-Shift Network Design Data	298

F	PAGE
Phonetic Code	523
Pilot-Lamn Data	543
Plate_Circuit_Efficiency/Driving-Power Curve	139
Puneture Voltages, Dielectric	$^{23}$
) Signals	535
RC Time Constant	-30
RST System	535
Radiation Angles	333
Radiation Patterns	, 337
Radiation Resistance	, 340
Reactance Change with Antenna Length	342
Reactance Chart	542
Relationship of Amateur-Band Harmonics 495.	, 511
Resistance-Coupled Voltage-Amplifier Data	241
Resistivity of Metals, Relative	_18
Resistor Color Code	519
Response, Tuned-Circuit	540
Rhombie Antenna Design	344
Schematic Symbols	$^{2}$
Schematic Symbols Screen-Dropping and Cathode Resistors for	00
R.F. and I.F. Amplifiers	. 89
Selenium Rectifiers	V-65
Shorted Stubs, Position and Length	317
Signal-Strength, Readability and Tone Scales.	535
Standard Component Values	517
Standard Metal Gauges	538
Standing-Wave Ratio	315
Station Log	525
Stub Position and Length	317
SWR Calibration	477
Tank-Circuit Capacitance	,142
Tap Sizes. Time, Condenser Charge and Discharge	513
Time, Condenser Charge and Discharge	$-30 \\ -29$
Time Constant, CR.	
Time Constant, $L/R$	$\frac{30}{454}$
Top-Loading Capacitance	-404 -258
Transformer Ratios	V-63
Transistors	69
Transistor Symbols	314
Transmission-Line Data	315
Transmission-Line Losses	
Transmission Lines, Spacing	540 540
Tuned-Circuit Response	344
V-Antenna Design Chart	044
Vacuum Tubes and Semiconductors (Index to	V-1
Tables). Velocity Factor and Attenuation of Transmis-	V -1
velocity ractor and Attenuation of Transmis-	314
sion Lines	537
Voltage Decay	209
Voltage-Output/ Fransformer-voltage Aatio	461
Wolt-Ohm-Milliammeter Range Calibration Word Lists for Accurate Transmission	523
WORD LISTS IOF ACCURATE TRAISINGSION,	460
WWV Schedules	101

#### Formulas

A.C. Average, Effective and Peak Values	17
Antenna Length	, 415
Capacitance of Condenser	- 24
Capacitance Measurement	474
Capacitive Reactance	- 33
Cathode-Bias Resistor	65
Characteristic Impedance	314
Coaxial-Line Matching Section	352
Critical Inductance	210
Decibels, Gain in	537
Delta-Matching Transformer Design	335
Efficiency, Power	22 - 23
Energy, Electrical	- 23
Feed-Back Percentage	261
Feeder Length	314
Filter Design	), 541
Folded Dipole, Driven-Element Length	415
Frequency, Resonant	41
Frequency-Wavelength Conversion	18
Grid Impedance	141
Ground-Plane Antenna Design	1 - 342
Half-Wave Phasing Section, Length	348
High-Pass Filter	), 541
Impedance Matching	59, 40
PAGE	
--	
Impedance Ratios	
Impedance, Resistive at Resonance	
Index, Modulation 285 Inductance Calculation 27	
Inductance Calculation	
Inductance Measurement	
Inductive Reactance 33	
Input Capacitance, Tube. 62 LC Constant 44	
Locher Wires 464	
Locher Wires 464 Lissajous Figures, Frequency 482–483	
Low-Pass Filter	
L/R Time Constant 30	
Modulation Impedance	
Modulation Index out	
Modulation Percentage	
Modulation Precentage	
Multiplier, Meter 460	
Ohm's Law (A.C.)	
Ohm's Law (D.C.)	
Multiplier, Meter       257         Multiplier, Meter       460         Ohm's Law (A.C.)       34,35         Ohm's Law (D.C.)       19–20,22         Output Condenser for Modulated Amplifier       Plate Power Supply         Parasitic Element Spacing       349	
Plate Power Supply	
Parasitic Element Spacing	
1 Ower	
Power-Supply Output Voltage         213           Power-Supply Transformer Voltage         213	
0 A2 44 510	
Q	
Quarter-Wave Physing Section Length 348	
RC Time Constant	
Reactance 34	
Regulation 208	
Regulation       208         Resistance Measured by Voltmeter       460         Resonance       41	
Resonance 41	
Resonant Frequency 41	
Rhombic Antenna	
Ripple	
Screen-Dropping Resistor	
Ripple       211         Screen-Dropping Resistor       66         Series, Parallel and Series-Parallel Capaci- tances       25, 26         Series, Parallel and Series-Parallel Inductances       28	
Canica Devallel and Series Devallel Judications 25, 26	
Series, Parallel and Series-Parallel Resist-	
ances	
Shunts Meter 458	
Shunts, Meter 458 Standing-Wave Ratio 310, 478	
Surge Impedance	
Surge Impedance         307, 314           Time Constant, CR, L/R         29, 30	
Transformer Current       38         Transformer Efficiency       38         Transformer Turns, Primary       213         Transformer Voltage       38         Transformer Voltage       38	
Transformer Efficiency	
Transformer Turns, Primary	
Transformer Voltage	
Transformer Volt-Ampere Rating	
Transmission-Line Length 314	
Transmission-Line Output Impedance	
Turns Ratio	
Voltage Decay Time	
Voltage Dividers	
Voltage-Dropping Series Resistor	
Voltage Regulation208Voltage-Regulator Limiting Resistor215	
Waveguide Dimensions	
Wavelength	
Wavelength18Wavelength-Frequency Conversion18	

## Text

"A" Battery
"A"-Frame Mast
A-1 Operators Club 533
A.C
A.C. Line Filters
AM (see "Amplitude Modulation")
ARRL Emblem Colors
ARRL Operating Organization
AT-Cut Crystals
Absorption Frequency Meters
Absorption of Radio Waves 72
"Acorn" Tubes
Additive Frequency Meter
Ale Level and Line 210
Air-Insulated Lines
Alignment, Receiver
Alternating Current
Alternations 16
Aluminum Finishing
Amateur Band Operating Characteristics 70, 361–
364, 421
001, 121

PAGE 10	
Amateur Bands	
Amateur Operator and Station Licenses 17	
Amateur Aegulations	
Amateur's Code, The	
American Radio Relay League:	
American Radio Relay League:	
530-531	
530–531 Joining the League	
Ampere         17           Amplification         54, 55-61, 69	
Amplification Factor 55	
Amplification Factor	
Amplifier Classifications	
Amplifier, Linear	
Amplifier, Speech	
ceivers," "Transmitters," "Radioteleph-	
$OIV, and V.H.F. \}$	
Amplifiers, Class A, B, C	
Amplitude, Current 15–16 Amplitude Modulation 51, 265	
Angle of Radiation	
Anode	
Antenna Construction	
Antenna for 80 and 40 Meters.	
Antenna for 80 and 40 Meters         156           Antenna Input Impedance         316           Antenna Length         332–334, 337, 341, 343, 414–416	
Antenna Length 332–334, 337, 341, 343, 414–416	
Antenna Masts	
Antennas, Receiving 352–353	
Antenna Switching	
Antennas for Restricted Space	
Antennas, Vertical	
Antennas for 160 Meters. Antennas 1342–343	
Autinode 200	
Antistatic Powder	
Array 345 Arrays in Combination 352	
Assembling a Station	
Atmospheric Bending	
Atoms. 16 Audio-Amplifier Classifications. 58–60	
Audio-Ulrenit Rectification 492-493	
Audio Converters 86	
Audio Frequencies	
Audio Harmonics, Suppression of	
Audio Limiting	
Audio Uscillators	
Audio Power       269         Auroral Reflection       75, 363	
Autodyne Reception 76-80	
Automatic Volume Control	
Autotransformer       40         Average-Current Value       17	
Awards	
"B" Battery	
BT-Cut Crystals	
Back Resistance 69	
Backwave	
Baffle Shields	
Balanced Circuit	
Balun	
Balun	
Bandpass Filters	
Bands, Amateur	
Bandwidth	
Bandwidth, Antenna 331	
Base, Transistor   69     Basic Radio Propagation Predictions   362	
Battery	
Bazooka	
BCI	
Beam Tetrodes	
Beat Frequencies	
Beat Note	
Beat Oscillator         90           Bending, Tropospheric         72–75, 364	
sourcement with the production of the state	

\*

	PAGE
Bent Antennas	339, 342–343
Bias	140, 230, 258
Bias, Cathode	
BiasSupplies	217 - 219
"Birdies"	84, 103
"Birdies" Bleeder Blocked-Grid Keying	208, 211
Blocked-Grid Keying	
Blocking Condenser	
Booms, Rotary Beam	
Day . Davadam Longuo	599
Breakdown Voltage	
Break-In	297, 521-524
Bridge-Type Standing-Wave Indicators	476-481
Broadband Antennas	420
Broadcast Interference, Elimination of .	493–494
Drondside Arrays	
Buffer Amplifier	225-226
"Buncher"	427
Butterfly Circuits	
Button, Microphone Buzzer Code-Practice Set	$   \ldots 238     14 $
By-Pass Condenser	49 153
By-Passing	153, 500-501
By-Passing	
C (Capacitance)	
('R and L/R Time Constants Cable Lacing Canadian Director	29-31, 537
Cable Lacing	
Capacitance and Condensers	23-26
Capacitance:	
Distributed	
Feed-Back . Inductance, and Frequency Charts Interlectrode	
Inductance, and Frequency Charts	61 69 145
Measurement	473-474
Specific Inductive	
Tube Input	61-62
Tube Output Capacitance-Resistance Time Constant Capacitive Coupling	63
Capacitance-Resistance Time Constant	
Reactance	32-33
Carbon Mierophone	238
Carrier	51,265
Carrier Suppression	291-292
Cascade R F Amplifier	
"Catcher"	
Cascade Amplifiers Cascade R.F. Amplifier "Catcher" Cathode Cathode-Bias Calculation	52-53
Cathode-Bias Calculation	
Cathode-Ray Oscilloscopes Catwhisker	481–484 69
Cavity Resonators	
Cell	16
Contor-Fod Antenna	334-337
Center-Tap, Filament Center-Tap, Filament Center-Tap Full-Wave Rectifier Center-Tap Keying	404
Conter-Tap, Flament	205-206
Center-Tap Keying	
Center-Tap Modulation	276-277
Channel	265
Characteristic Curves	
Characteristics, Crystals	
Characteristics, Dynamic Characteristics of Amateur Bands	
Characteristics of Amateur Bands	55
Characteristics of Radio Waves	$\ldots 55$ $\ldots 70,361$
Chusis Lavout	
Charges, Electrical Chassis Layout Chiro, Keving	15, 16 513-514
Chirp, Keying Choke:	10-72 15, 16 13-513-514 133-134, 229
Chirp, Keying Choke: Coil	$\begin{array}{c}$
Chirp, Keying. Choke: Coil. Filter.	$\begin{array}{c}$
Chirp, Keying. Choke: Coil. Filter. Radio-Frequency.	$\begin{array}{cccc} & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & $
Chirp, Keying. Choke: Coil. Filter. Radio-Frequency.	$\begin{array}{cccc} & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & $
Chirp, Keying. Choke: Coil. Filter. Rudio-Frequency. Swinging Choke-Coupled Modulation Choke-Input Filter.	$\begin{array}{c} \dots & 10-72\\ \dots & 15, 16\\ \dots & 513-514\\ 133-134, 229\\ \dots & 26, 210\\ \dots & 210\\ \dots & 48, 153\\ \dots & 211\\ \dots & 270-271\\ \dots & 210-212\\ \end{array}$
Chirp, Keying Choke: Coil	$\begin{array}{c} \dots & 10-72\\ - 15, 16\\ \dots & 513-514\\ 133-134, 229\\ \dots & 26, 210\\ \dots & 210\\ \dots & 48, 153\\ \dots & 211\\ \dots & 270-271\\ \dots & 210-212\\ \dots & 83, 98 \end{array}$
Chirp, Keying. Choke: Coil Filter. Radio-Frequency. Swinging Choke-Coupled Modulation Choke-Input Filter. Circuit Tracking Clapp Oscillator.	$\begin{array}{c} \dots & 10-72\\ -15, 16\\ \dots & 513-514\\ 133-134, 229\\ \dots & 26, 210\\ \dots & 210\\ \dots & 48, 153\\ \dots & 211\\ \dots & 270-271\\ \dots & 210-212\\ \dots & 83, 98\\ \dots & 133\\ \end{array}$
Chirp, Keying Choke: Coil Filter. Radio-Frequency Swinging Choke-Coupled Modulation Choke-Input Filter Circuit Tracking Clapp Oscillator Class A Amplifiers Class A B Amplifiers	$\begin{array}{c} \dots & 10-72\\ -15, 16\\ \dots & 513-514\\ 133-134, 229\\ \dots & 26, 210\\ \dots & 210\\ \dots & 48, 153\\ \dots & 211\\ \dots & 270-271\\ \dots & 210-212\\ \dots & 83, 98\\ \dots & 133\\ \dots & 58\\ \dots & 58\\ \dots & 60\end{array}$
Chirp, Keying Choke: Coil Filter. Radio-Frequency Swinging Choke-Coupled Modulation Choke-Input Filter Circuit Tracking Clapp Oscillator Class A Amplifiers Class A B Amplifiers	$\begin{array}{c} \dots & 10-72\\ -15, 16\\ \dots & 513-514\\ 133-134, 229\\ \dots & 26, 210\\ \dots & 210\\ \dots & 48, 153\\ \dots & 211\\ \dots & 270-271\\ \dots & 210-212\\ \dots & 83, 98\\ \dots & 133\\ \dots & 58\\ \dots & 58\\ \dots & 60\end{array}$
Chirp, Keying. Color: Color: Filter. Radio-Frequency. Swinging. Choke-Coupled Modulation. Choke-Input Filter. Circuit Tracking. Clapp Oscillator. Class A Amplifiers. Class A Amplifiers. Class B Modulators.	$\begin{array}{c} \dots & 10-72\\ -15, 16\\ \dots & 513-514\\ 133-134, 229\\ \dots & 26, 210\\ \dots & 210\\ \dots & 48, 153\\ \dots & 211\\ \dots & 270-271\\ \dots & 210-212\\ \dots & 83, 98\\ \dots & 133\\ \dots & 58\\ \dots & 59-60\\ \dots & 257-261\\ \end{array}$
Chirp, Keying. Choke: Coil	$\begin{array}{c} \dots & 10-72\\ -15, 16\\ \dots & 513-514\\ 133-134, 229\\ \dots & 26, 210\\ \dots & 210\\ \dots & 48, 153\\ \dots & 211\\ \dots & 270-271\\ \dots & 210-212\\ \dots & 83, 98\\ \dots & 133\\ \dots & 58\\ \dots & 59-60\\ \dots & 257-261\\ \end{array}$

	ē. –
PAGE Clicks Keying 229 231–233	
Clicks, Keying	j.
Clipping, Speech	í.
Closed Stub 317	ź
Closed Stub. 317 Club Affiliation 530	)
Coaxial Antennas 419	)
Coaxial Antennas 419 Coaxial-Electrode Tubes 385	ŝ
Coaxial-Line Circuits 421–422 Coaxial-Line Matching Section 351–352	2
Coaxial-Line Matching Section 351-352	2
Coaxial Plug Connections 516-517	7
Coaxial Plug Connections 516-517 Coaxial Transmission Lines 312, 313-314	1
Code (Continental) and Code Practice	i
Code Proficiency Certificate 532	)
Coefficient of Coupling 29,46 Coefficient, Temperature 19 Coil (see "Inductance")	5
Coefficient, Temperature	)
Coil (see "Inductance")	
Cold-Cathode Rectifiers       200         Collinear Arrays       345–346         Cotor Codes, RTMA       518–519	5
Collinear Arrays	5
Cotor Codes, RTMA	)
Colpitts Circuit	3
Combined A.C. and D.C	)
Combination Arrays	2
Compact Antennas	3
Complex Waves	7
Complex Waves 17, 37 Component Values 517	ĩ
Compression Speech Amplifier 244–24a	•
Concentric-Line Matching Section	2
Concentric Transmission Line 312	2
Concentric-Line Matching Section       351-352         Concentric Transmission Line       312         Condenser       23         Condenser-Input Filter       209-210	5
Condenser-Input Filter	J
Condonsors	
Bandspread	2
Buffer	j
By-Pass	3
Ceramie	
Electrolytic	
Filter	2
Fixed	5
Main-Tuning	2
Neutralizing 145	5
Padding 83 Trimmer 83	3
Trimmer 83	3
Variable	Ċ
Conductance 16 Conductance, Mutual 55	j.
Conductance, Mutual	S
Conductivity	
Conductor Size, Antennas	3
Conductor Size, Antennas	3
Cone Antennas 420	3 6 0
Cone Antennas	3 6 0 1
Cone Antennas	3 6 0 1
Cone Antennas       420         Constant, Time       29-31, 91         Constants, LC       440         Constant-Voltage Transformers       221-222	3655142
Cone Antennas       420         Constant, Time       29–31, 91         Constants, LC       44         Constant-Voltage Transformers       221–222         Construction, Antenna       353–360	3601420
Cone Antennas       420         Constant, Time.       29–31, 91         Constants, LC.       44         Constant-Voltage Transformers.       221–222         Construction, Antenna       353–360         Construction Practice       512–514	36014209
Cone Antennas       420         Constant, Time.       29–31, 91         Constants, LC.       44         Constant-Voltage Transformers.       221–222         Construction, Antenna       353–366         Construction Practice       512–519         Construction Code       13–14	360142094
Cone Antennas       420         Constant, Time       29–31, 91         Constants, LC       44         Constant-Voltage Transformers       221–222         Construction, Antenna       353–360         Construction Practice       512–512         Continental Code       13–14         Control Circuits, Station       486–487	3601420947
Cone Antennas       420         Constant, Time       29–31, 91         Constants, LC       44         Constant-Voltage Transformers       221–222         Construction, Antenna       353–360         Construction Practice       512–512         Continental Code       13–14         Control Circuits, Station       486–487	3601420947
Cone Antennas       420         Constant, Time       29–31, 91         Constants, $LC$ 44         Constant-Voltage Transformers       221–222         Construction, Antenna       353–366         Construction Practice       512–514         Control Circuits, Station       486–487         Control Grid       54         Control Grid       54	360142094745
Cone Antennas       420         Constant, Time       29–31, 91         Constants, $LC$ 44         Constant-Voltage Transformers       221–222         Construction, Antenna       353–366         Construction Practice       512–514         Control Circuits, Station       486–487         Control Grid       54         Control Grid       54	360142094745
Cone Antennas       420         Constant, Time. $29-31, 91$ Constants, $LC$ 44         Constants, $LC$ 4353-360         Construction, Antenna       353-361         Construction, Practice       512-511         Control Creatis, Station       486-487         Control Grid       54         Controlled Carrier       275         Conversion Efficiency       84         Conversion Efficiency       84	36014209474545
Cone Antennas       420         Constant, Time. $29-31, 91$ Constants, $LC$ 44         Constants, $LC$ 4353-360         Construction, Antenna       353-361         Construction, Practice       512-511         Control Creatis, Station       486-487         Control Grid       54         Controlled Carrier       275         Conversion Efficiency       84         Conversion Efficiency       84	36014209474545
Cone Antennas       420         Constant, Time. $29-31, 91$ Constants, $LC$ 44         Constants, $LC$ 4353-360         Construction, Antenna       353-361         Construction, Practice       512-511         Control Creatis, Station       486-487         Control Grid       54         Controlled Carrier       275         Conversion Efficiency       84         Conversion Efficiency       84	36014209474545
Cone Antennas420Constant, Time.29–31, 91Constants, $LC$ .44Constant-Voltage Transformers221–222Construction, Antenna353–360Construction Practice512–511Control Circuits, Station486–487Control Grid54Controlled Carrier277Conversion Efficiency84Converters, D.CA.C.222Converters, Frequency83–84, 95Converters, Frequency83–84, 94	36014209474545694
Cone Antennas420Constant, Time $29-31, 91$ Constants, $LC$ $44$ Constants, $LC$ $44$ Constant-Voltage Transformers $221-222$ Construction, Antenna $353-366$ Construction Practice $512-511$ Control Circuits, Station $486-487$ Control Grid $54$ Control Grid $54$ Conversion Efficiency $84$ Converters, D.CA.C. $225$ Converters, Frequency $83-84, 90$ Converters, V.H.F. $369-378, 440-444$ Copper-Wire Table $533$ Cores $26, 27-28, 213$	360142094745456949
Cone Antennas420Constant, Time $29-31, 91$ Constants, $LC$ $44$ Constants, $LC$ $44$ Constant-Voltage Transformers $221-222$ Construction, Antenna $353-366$ Construction Practice $512-511$ Control Circuits, Station $486-487$ Control Grid $54$ Control Grid $54$ Conversion Efficiency $84$ Converters, D.CA.C. $225$ Converters, Frequency $83-84, 90$ Converters, V.H.F. $369-378, 440-444$ Copper-Wire Table $533$ Cores $26, 27-28, 213$	3601420947454569493
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	36014209474545694939
Cone Antennas420Constant, Time $29-31, 91$ Constants, $LC$ $44$ Constants, $LC$ $44$ Constant-Voltage Transformers $221-222$ Construction, Antenna $353-366$ Construction Practice $512-514$ Control Circuits, Station $486-485$ Control Grid $54$ Control Grid $54$ Converters, D.CA.C. $225$ Converters, Frequency $83-84, 95$ Converters, V.H.F. $369-378, 440-444$ Copper-Wire Table $533$ Corner Reflector Antenna $411$ Counterpoise $343$ Counterpoise $343$	3601420947454569493936
Cone Antennas420Constant, Time. $29-31, 91$ Constants, $LC$ $44$ Constants, $LC$ $44$ Constant-Voltage Transformers $221-222$ Construction, Antenna $353-360$ Construction Practice $512-511$ Control Circuits, Station $486-487$ Control Grid $54$ Controlled Carrier $275$ Conversion Efficiency $84$ Converters, Nudio $86$ Converters, Frequency $83-84, 92$ Converters, Frequency $83-84, 940-444$ Copper-Wire Table $538$ Corner Reflector Antenna $411$ Counterpoise $344$ Countries List, ARRL $533$ Counties List, ARRL $533$	36014209474545694939367
Cone Antennas420Constant, Time. $29-31, 91$ Constants, $LC$ $44$ Constants, $LC$ $44$ Constant-Voltage Transformers $221-222$ Construction, Antenna $353-360$ Construction Practice $512-511$ Control Circuits, Station $486-487$ Control Grid $54$ Controlled Carrier $275$ Conversion Efficiency $84$ Converters, Nudio $86$ Converters, Frequency $83-84, 92$ Converters, Frequency $83-84, 940-444$ Copper-Wire Table $538$ Corner Reflector Antenna $411$ Counterpoise $344$ Countries List, ARRL $533$ Counties List, ARRL $533$	36014209474545694939367
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	360142094745456949393679
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	3601420947454569493936799
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	3601420947454569493936799 4
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	3601420947454569493936799 48
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	3601420947454569493936799 487
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	3601420947454569493936799 4873
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	3601420947454569493936799 48737
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	3601420947454569493936799 487377
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	3601420947454569493936799 4873779
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	3601420947454569493936799 48737795
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	3601420947454569493936799 487377957
Cone Antennas       420         Constant, Time. $29-31, 91$ Constants, $LC$ $44$ Constants, $LC$ $44$ Constants, $LC$ $44$ Constant-Voltage Transformers $221-222$ Construction, Antenna $353-360$ Construction Practice $512-511$ Continental Code $13-14$ Control Grid $54$ Control Grid $54$ Controlled Carrier $275$ Conversion Efficiency $84$ Converters, Nulio $86$ Converters, Frequency $83-84, 95$ Converters, Frequency $83-84, 95$ Converters, V.I.F. $369-378, 440-444$ Copper-Wire Table $533$ Corner Reflector Antenna $414$ Countries List, ARRL $534$ Coupling $344$ Coupling: $342$ Antenna to Receiver $81, 321-322, 384$ Amplifier-Output $136-138$ Antenna to Transmitter $322-322$ Capacitive $45, 143, 502-507$ Choke $557$	3601420947454569493936799 4873779576
Cone Antennas       420         Constant, Time $29-31, 91$ Constants, $LC$ $44$ Constants, $LC$ $44$ Constants, $LC$ $44$ Constants, $LC$ $44$ Construction, Antenna $353-360$ Construction Practice $512-511$ Control Circuits, Station $486-487$ Control Grid $54$ Control Grid $54$ Controlled Carrier $275$ Conversion Efficiency $84$ Converters, D.CA.C. $225$ Converters, Nuclo $86$ Converters, V.II.F. $369-378, 440-444$ Copper-Wire Table $533$ Corres $26, 27-28, 213$ Corner Reflector Antenna $416$ Counterpoise $344$ Coupled Circuits $44-47$ Coupled Circuits $44-47$ Coupling: $322-322$ Coupling: $322-322$ Coupling: $322-322$ Coupling: $44-47$ Antenna to Transmitter $322-322$ Copperive	3601420947454569493936799 48737795767
Cone Antennas420Constant, Time. $29-31, 91$ Constants, $LC$ . $44$ Constants, $LC$ . $44$ Constant-Voltage Transformers $221-222$ Construction, Antenna $353-360$ Construction Practice $512-511$ Continental Code $13-14$ Control Grid $54$ Control Grid $54$ Control Grid $54$ Control Grid $54$ Controlled Carrier $275$ Converters, D.CA.C. $225$ Converters, Frequency $83-84, 96$ Converters, V.I.F. $369-378, 440-444$ Copper-Wire Table $533$ Corres $26, 27-28, 213$ Counterpoise $343$ Countries List, ARRL $536$ Couplers, Antenna $117-118, 321-322$ Coupling: $41-44$ Antenna to Receiver $81, 321-322, 384$ Amplifier-Output $136-138$ Antenna to Transmitter $322-327$ Capacitive $44-47, 55$ Close $29, 442$ Condenser $57$ Critical $44-47, 55$ Close $29, 442$ Condenser $57$ Critical $44$ Impedance $57$ Inductive $45, 143, 502-503$	3601420947454569493936799 487377957672
Cone Antennas420Constant, Time. $29-31, 91$ Constants, $LC$ . $44$ Constants, $LC$ . $44$ Constant-Voltage Transformers $221-222$ Construction, Antenna $353-360$ Construction Practice $512-511$ Continental Code $13-14$ Control Grid $54$ Control Grid $54$ Control Grid $54$ Control Grid $54$ Controlled Carrier $275$ Converters, D.CA.C. $225$ Converters, Frequency $83-84, 96$ Converters, V.I.F. $369-378, 440-444$ Copper-Wire Table $533$ Corres $26, 27-28, 213$ Counterpoise $343$ Countries List, ARRL $536$ Couplers, Antenna $117-118, 321-322$ Coupling: $41-44$ Antenna to Receiver $81, 321-322, 384$ Amplifier-Output $136-138$ Antenna to Transmitter $322-327$ Capacitive $44-47, 55$ Close $29, 442$ Condenser $57$ Critical $44-47, 55$ Close $29, 442$ Condenser $57$ Critical $44$ Impedance $57$ Inductive $45, 143, 502-503$	3601420947454569493936799 487377957672
Cone Antennas       420         Constant, Time       29–31, 91         Constants, $LC$ 44         Constants, $LC$ 44         Constants, $LC$ 44         Constant-Voltage Transformers       221–222         Construction, Antenna       353–360         Construction Practice       512–511         Control Circuits, Station       486–487         Control Grid       54         Controlled Carrier       275         Conversion Efficiency       84         Converters, D.CA.C.       225         Converters, V.H.F.       369–378, 440–444         Copper-Wire Table       53         Corres       26, 27–28, 213         Controle Circuits       44–47         Coupler Wire Table       53         Countries List, ARRL       53         Couplers, Antenna       117–118, 321–322, 384         Antenna to Receiver       81, 321–322, 384         Amplifier-Output       136–133         Antenna to Transmitter       322–327         Cuopling:       44         Condenser       57         Circuits       44,7,55         Coupling:       45,143,502–500         Choke <t< td=""><td>3601420947454569493936799 48737795767246</td></t<>	3601420947454569493936799 48737795767246
Cone Antennas420Constant, Time. $29-31, 91$ Constants, $LC$ . $44$ Constants, $LC$ . $44$ Constant-Voltage Transformers $221-222$ Construction, Antenna $353-360$ Construction Practice $512-511$ Continental Code $13-14$ Control Grid $54$ Control Grid $54$ Control Grid $54$ Control Grid $54$ Controlled Carrier $275$ Converters, D.CA.C. $225$ Converters, Frequency $83-84, 96$ Converters, V.I.F. $369-378, 440-444$ Copper-Wire Table $533$ Corres $26, 27-28, 213$ Counterpoise $343$ Countries List, ARRL $536$ Couplers, Antenna $117-118, 321-322$ Coupling: $41-44$ Antenna to Receiver $81, 321-322, 384$ Amplifier-Output $136-138$ Antenna to Transmitter $322-327$ Capacitive $44-47, 55$ Close $29, 442$ Condenser $57$ Critical $44-47, 55$ Close $29, 442$ Condenser $57$ Critical $44$ Impedance $57$ Inductive $45, 143, 502-503$	3601420947454569493936799 48737795767246

PAGE . . . . 143-144 

 PI-Section
 140-144

 Resistance
 57, 241

 Transformer
 45-46, 57, 241

 To Transmission Lines
 136-138

 To Wave Guides and Cavity Resonators
 426

 Tuned
 137, 138, 322-323

 Critical:
 73

 Coupling.
 46

 Frequency.
 73

 Inductance.
 210

 Cross-Modulation
 97, 492, 508

 Cross-Talk.
 492

 Censtal:
 492

 Cross-Talk
 492

 Crystal:
 10

 Diodes
 68-69, V-65

 Filters
 95

 Grinding
 131-132

 Microphones
 238-239

 Oscillators
 129, 130-132, 386-387

 Resonator
 47

 Crystal Characteristics
 131

 Crystal Controlled Converters
 121-124, 369-374

 Crystal-Controlled Oscillators
 129, 130-132, 386-387

 Crystal Detector
 77

 Crystal Filter, Tuning with
 95, 100

 Crystal, Germanium
 68-69

 Crystals, Vertone
 386-387

 Crystals, Piezoelectric
 47-48, 131-132

 Current:
 57

  $\begin{array}{c} \text{Current:} & 16, 32-40 \\ \text{Atternating} & 16, 32-40 \\ \text{Antenna} & 336 \\ \text{Direct} & 16 \\ \text{Distribution, Antenna} & 336 \\ \text{Eddy} & 28, 40 \\ \text{Effective} & 17 \\ \text{Electric} & 15-16 \\ \text{Feed for Antennas} & 334 \\ \text{Gain} & & 69 \\ \text{Lag and Lead} & 31, 33-36 \\ \text{Line} & 307 \\ \text{Loop} & 309 \\ \text{Magnetizing} & 38 \\ \text{Measurement} & 458-459 \\ \text{Node} & 309 \\ \text{Plate} & 53 \\ \text{Pulsating} & 53 \\ \text{Values} & 17 \\ \text{Current-Intensity Modulation} & 427-428 \\ \text{Curve, Resonance} & 41-43, 46-47 \\ \text{Curves, Tube-Characteristic} & 55 \\ \text{Cut-Off Frequency} & 540, 541 \\ \text{Cut-Off, Plate-Current} & 54-56, 63, 139-141 \\ \text{CuV. Reception} & 99-100 \\ \text{Cycle} & 16, 31 \\ \end{array}$ Current: urrent: Alternating......16, 32–40  $\begin{array}{c} \text{C.W. Procedure} & ..., 52-50, 520-521\\ \text{C.W. Reception} & ..., 99-100\\ \text{Cycle} & ..., 16, 31\\ \text{Cyclic Variations in Ionosphere} & ..., 74-75\\ \text{Cylindrical Antennas} & 420\\ \mathcal{D} \text{ Region} & ..., 73\\ \text{Data, Miscellaneous} & ..., 535-543\\ \text{D.C.} & ..., 16-17\\ \text{D.C. Instruments} & ..., 457-462\\ \text{Dead Spots} & ..., 81\\ \text{Decay, Voltage} & ..., 83\\ \text{Decay, Voltage} & ..., 83\\ \text{Decoupling} & ..., 88-80, 230-241\\ \text{Deflection Plates} & ..., 848-482\\ \text{Degeneration} & ..., 60-61\\ \text{Deflyed A.V.C.} & ..., 90\\ \text{Delta Matching Transformer} & ..., 319-320\\ \text{Deltayed A.V.C.} & ..., 15\\ \text{Dendulation} & ..., 51, 77-82\\ \text{Design of Speech Amplifiers} & ..., 242-243\\ \text{Detectors} & ..., 77-82\\ \text{Deviation Ratio} & ..., 285\\ \text{Diagrams, Schematic Symbols for} & ..., 22\\ \text{Diagrams, Schematic Symbols for} & ..., 22\\ \text{Diagrams, Schematic Symbols for} & ..., 23\\ \text{Dielectric Constants} & ..., 23\\ \text{Dielectric Onstants} & ..., 23\\ \text{Difference of Potential} & ..., 51, 16\\ \text{Diffraction of Radio Waves} & ..., 71\\ \end{array}$ 

PAGEDiode Detectors77–78Diodes53Dipole, Folded317–318, 351, 413Dipole, Half-wave332Direct Current16–17Direct Current16–17Direct Ve Antennas334, 337–338, 343–352Directivity, Antenna334, 337–338, 313–352Directors, ARRL12Discharging, Condenser23Discriminator101Dissipation, Grid139Distributed Capacitance and Inductance49Dividers, Voltage214–215Dividers, Voltage129Doublet, Frequency129Doublet, Folded317–318, 351, 413Doublet, Folded317–318, 351, 413Doublet, Folded317–318, 351, 413Doublet, Half-Wave322Doublet, Hunped Resonance Curve46–48Doublet, Hunped Resonance Curve46–48Double-Sideband Reduced-Carrier292–293Double Superheterodyne343Drift Space427–428Drift Space257–264Driver Power138–139, 239Driver Power531–532Dyniver Regulation152, 502Duplex-Diode, Triodes and Pentodes66DX Operating Code524DX Operating Code524DX Operating Code531–532Dynamici73Characteristics55Instability67–68Mierophones239Dynamotors224–225Dynamotors224–225Dynamici73</t Conversion 38, Transformer 38, Electric Current Electrical Charge 15-Electrical Laws and Circuits 15-Electrode 15-1615 -51 5225Electromagnetic: Deflection 481 

 Field.
 15

 Waves.
 15, 17

 Electromotive Force (E.M.F.).
 16

 Electron-Coupled Oscillator
 130, 133

 Electron: Gun. 481Electronic: Conduction 16 

 Keys
 237

 Switching
 66

 Voltage Regulation
 215–217

 Electrons
 16

 Electrostatic:
 16

 Electronstatic:
 45-46

 Coupling
 45-46

 Deflection
 481-482

 Field
 15

 Shield
 124, 502-503

 Waves
 71-72

 Element Spacing, Antenna
 345

 Elements, Antenna
 345

 Elements, Vacuum Tube
 52

 Emergency Communications
 527-529

 Emergence Communications
 528

 

	PAGE
Emergency Coördinator	529
Emergency Power Supply Emission:	.224-228
Electron	52
Secondary	
Thermionic	
Emitter, Transistor	332
End-Fire Arrays	346-348
Energy	22–23
Excitation Exciter Units (see "Transmitters") Exciting Voltage	.138 - 139
Exciting Voltage	
Extended Double-Zepp Antenna	342
Extended Double-Zepp Antenna FM (see "Frequency Modulation") F-Layer	70 000
Fade-Outs, Radio	
Fading	74
Farad	24
Faraday Shield	124
Feed-Back	
Feeders and Feed Systems	334-336
Feeding Half-Wave Antennas	. 554–550 338
Fidelity	1.88.238
Field Direction	15
Field, Electromagnetic	
Field Intensity	
Field, Magnetostatie	15
Field Strength	
Field-Strength Meter	.470-470 52-53
Filament Center-Tap	64-65
Filament Ilum	64–65
Filament Supply	213 139
Filament Voltage	212
Filter, Crystal	95, 100
Filter Resonance,	212
Filters. Audio	. 040, 041 - 945946
High-Pass	540 541
	010,011
Keying	.231 - 233
Line	.231 - 233 494
Line Low-Pass Power-Supply	.231-233 494 .504-507 .208-212
Line Low-Pass Power-Supply R.F.	$\begin{array}{rrr} .231-233\\& 494\\ .504-507\\ .208-212\\ .231-233\\ \end{array}$
Line Low-Pass Power-Supply	$\begin{array}{r} .231 - 233 \\ 494 \\ .504 - 507 \\ .208 - 212 \\ .231 - 233 \\ .244 - 245 \end{array}$
Line Low-Pass Power-Supply R.F. Filtering, Audio Finishing Aluminum First Detector	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Line Low-Pass Power-Supply R.F. Filtering, Audio Finishing Aluminum First Detector Fixed Condenser	$\begin{array}{c} .231-233\\494\\ .504-507\\ .208-212\\ .231-233\\ .244-245\\515\\83\\83\\24-25\end{array}$
Line Low-Pass Power-Supply R.F. Filtering, Audio Finishing Aluminum First Detector Fixed Condenser Flat Lines Flux Density, Magnetic.	$\begin{array}{r} .231-233\\494\\ .504-507\\ .208-212\\ .231-233\\ .244-245\\515\\83\\24-25\\311\\ 15, 28-29 \end{array}$
Line Low-Pass Power-Supply R.F. Filtering, Audio Finishing Aluminum First Detector Fixed Condenser Flat Lines Flux Density, Magnetic Flux, Leakage	$\begin{array}{c} .231-233\\ \ 494\\ .504-507\\ .208-212\\ .231-233\\ .244-245\\ \ 515\\ \ 83\\ \ 24-25\\ \ 311\\ 15, \ 28-29\\ \ 39\end{array}$
Line Low-Pass Power-Supply R.F. Filtering, Audio Finishing Aluminum First Detector Fixed Condenser Flat Lines Flux Density, Magnetic Flux, Leakage Flux, Lines	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Line Low-Pass Power-Supply R.F. Filtering, Audio Finishing Aluminum First Detector Fixed Condenser Flat Lines Flux Density, Magnetic Flux, Leakage Flux Lines Flux Lines Flux Lines	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Line Low-Pass Power-Supply R.F. Filtering, Audio Finishing Aluminum First Detector Fixed Condenser Flat Lines Flux Density, Magnetic Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Flux, Lines Fly-Back Focusing Electrode Folded Dipole	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Line Low-Pass Power-Supply R.F. Filtering, Audio Finishing Aluminum First Detector Fixed Condenser Flat Lines Flux Density, Magnetic Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Flux Lines Fly-Back Foreusing Electrode Fodded Dipole Force, Electromotive	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Line Low-Pass Power-Supply R.F. Filtering, Audio Finishing Aluminum First Detector Fixed Condenser Flat Lines Flat Lines Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Flux Lines Fly-Back Focusing Electrode Folded Dipole Force, Electromotive Force, Lines of	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Line Low-Pass Power-Supply R.F. Filtering, Audio Finishing Aluminum First Detector Fixed Condenser Flat Lines Flux Density, Magnetic Flux, Leakage Flux Lines Fly-Back Foreusing Electrode Folded Dipole Force, Electromotive Force, Lines of Form, Log Form, Message	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Line Low-Pass Power-Supply R.F. Filtering, Audio Finishing Aluminum First Detector Fixed Condenser Flat Lines Flat Lines Flux, Leakage Flux Density, Magnetic Flux, Leakage Flux Lines Fly-Back Focusing Electrode Folded Dipole Force, Electromotive Force, Lines of Form, Log Form, Message Forward Resistance	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Line Low-Pass Power-Supply R.F. Filtering, Audio Finishing Aluminum First Detector Fixed Condenser Flat Lines Flux Density, Magnetic Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Force, Electrode Force, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Form, Message Forward Resistance Free-Space Pattern	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Line Low-Pass Power-Supply R.F. Filtering, Audio Finishing Aluminum First Detector Fixed Condenser Flat Lines Flat Lines Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Fore, Electrode Folded Dipole Force, Electromotive Force, Lines of Form, Log Form, Log Form, Message Forward Resistance Frequency Measurement:	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Line Low-Pass Power-Supply R.F. Filtering, Audio Finishing Aluminum First Detector Fixed Condenser Flat Lines. Flux Density, Magnetic Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Fore, Electrode Forded Dipole Fore, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Form, Message Forward Resistance Free-Space Pattern Frequency Frequency Measurement: Absorption Frequency Meters	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Line Low-Pass Power-Supply R.F. Filtering, Audio Finishing Aluminum First Detector Fixed Condenser Flat Lines. Flux Density, Magnetic Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Fore, Electrode Forded Dipole Fore, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Form, Message Forward Resistance Free-Space Pattern Frequency Frequency Measurement: Absorption Frequency Meters	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Line Low-Pass Power-Supply R.F. Filtering, Audio Finishing Aluminum First Detector Fixed Condenser Flat Lines. Flux Density, Magnetic Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Fore, Electronde Force, Electronde Force, Electronotive Force, Lines of Form, Log Form, Log Form, Message Forward Resistance Frequency Measurement: Absorption Frequency Meters Frequency Standards Interodyno Frequency Meters Interodyno Frequency Meters	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Line Low-Pass Power-Supply R.F. Filtering, Audio Finishing Aluminum First Detector Fixed Condenser Flat Lines. Flux Density, Magnetic Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Fore, Electronde Force, Electronde Force, Electronotive Force, Lines of Form, Log Form, Log Form, Message Forward Resistance Frequency Measurement: Absorption Frequency Meters Frequency Standards Interodyno Frequency Meters Interodyno Frequency Meters	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Line Low-Pass Power-Supply R.F. Filtering, Audio Finishing Aluminum First Detector Fixed Condenser Flat Lines. Flux Density, Magnetic Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Fore, Electronde Force, Electronde Force, Electronotive Force, Lines of Form, Log Form, Log Form, Message Forward Resistance Frequency Measurement: Absorption Frequency Meters Frequency Standards Interodyno Frequency Meters Interodyno Frequency Meters	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Line Low-Pass Power-Supply R.F. Filtering, Audio Finishing Aluminum First Detector Fixed Condenser Flat Lines. Flux Density, Magnetic Flux, Leakage Flux Density, Magnetic Flux, Leakage Flux Density, Magnetic Flux, Leakage Flux Lines. Flux Lines. Flux Lines. Flux Lines. Force, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Force, Lines of Form, Log Form, Message Forward Resistance Free-Space Pattern Frequency Measurement: Absorption Frequency Meters Frequency Standards Ileterodyne Frequency Meters Interpolation-Type Frequency Meter Lecher Wires WWV Schedules Frequency and Phase Modulation Narrow-Band Reactance-Modulator Un Narrow-Band Reactance-Modulator Un	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Line Low-Pass Power-Supply R.F. Filtering, Audio Finishing Aluminum First Detector Fixed Condenser Flat Lines Flux Density, Magnetic Flux Lenes Flux Lines Flux Lines Flux Lines Flux Lines Force, Flux Lines Force, Flux Lines Force, Electronde Forded Dipole Forde, Electronotive Force, Electromotive Force, Lines of Form, Log Form, Log Form, Message Forward Resistance Frequency Frequency Frequency Frequency Frequency Frequency Frequency Measurement: Absorption Frequency Meters Frequency Standards Interpolation-Type Frequency Meter Lecher Wires WWV Schedules Frequency and Phase Modulation Narrow-Band Reactance-Modulator Un Deviation Ratio	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Line Low-Pass Power-Supply R.F. Filtering, Audio Finishing Aluminum First Detector Fixed Condenser Flat Lines Flux Density, Magnetic Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Force, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Form, Message Forward Resistance Frequency Measurement: Absorption Frequency Meters Frequency Standards Ileterodyne Frequency Meters Interpolation-Type Frequency Meter Lecher Wires WWV Schedules Frequency and Phase Modulation Narrow-Band Reactance-Modulator Un Deviation Ratio Discriminator	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Line Low-Pass Power-Supply R.F. Filtering, Audio Finishing Aluminum First Detector Fixed Condenser Flat Lines. Flux Density, Magnetic Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Fore, Electronde Force, Electronotive Force, Electronotive Force, Electromotive Force, Lines of Form, Log Form, Log Form, Message Forward Resistance Frequency Measurement: Absorption Frequency Meters Frequency Standards Ileterodyne Frequency Meters Interpolation-Type Frequency Meter Interpolation-Type Frequency Meter Frequency and Phase Modulation Narrow-Band Reactance-Modulator Un Deviation Ratio Discriminator Index, Modulation	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Line Low-Pass Power-Supply R.F. Filtering, Audio Finishing Aluminum First Detector Fixed Condenser Flat Lines Flux Density, Magnetic Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Force, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Form, Message Forward Resistance Frequency Frequency Measurement: Absorption Frequency Meters Frequency Standards Ileterodyne Frequency Meters Interpolation-Type Frequency Meter Lecher Wires WWV Schedules Frequency and Phase Modulation Narrow-Band Reactance-Modulator Un Deviation Ratio Discriminator Index, Modulation Methods On V.H.F.	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Line Low-Pass Power-Supply R.F. Filtering, Audio Finishing Aluminum First Detector Fixed Condenser Flat Lines. Flux Density, Magnetic Flux, Leakage Flux Density, Magnetic Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Flux, Leakage Fore, Electronde Fooded Dipole Fooded Dipole Force, Electronotive Force, Electromotive Force, Lines of Form, Log Form, Log Form, Log Form, Message Forward Resistance Frequency Measurement: Absorption Frequency Meters Frequency Measurement: Absorption Frequency Meters Interpolation-Type Frequency Meter Interpolation-Type Frequency Meters Frequency and Phase Modulation Narrow-Band Reactance-Modulator Un Deviation Ratio Discriminator Index, Modulation Methods On V.H.F. Principles	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Line Low-Pass Power-Supply R.F. Filtering, Audio Finishing Aluminum First Detector Fixed Condenser Flat Lines. Flux Density, Magnetic Flux, Leakage Flux Density, Magnetic Flux, Leakage Flux Density, Magnetic Flux, Leakage Flux Lines. Flux Lines. Flux Lines. Flux Lines. Fly-Back Focusing Electrode Folded Dipole Forde, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Form, Message Forward Resistance Frequency Frequency Measurement: Absorption Frequency Meters Frequency Standards Interodyne Frequency Meters Interpolation-Type Frequency Meter Lecher Wires WWV Schedules Frequency and Phase Modulation Narrow-Band Reactance-Modulator Un Deviation Ratio Discriminator Index, Modulation Methods On V.H.F. Principles Reactance Modulator	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Line Low-Pass Power-Supply R.F. Filtering, Audio Finishing Aluminum First Detector Fixed Condenser Flat Lines. Flux Density, Magnetic Flux Density, Magnetic Flux Density, Magnetic Flux Lenkage Flux Lines. Flux Lines. Flux Lines. Flux Lines. Force, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Force, Lines of Form, Log Form, Message Forward Resistance Free-Space Pattern Frequency Measurement: Absorption Frequency Meters Frequency Standards Ileterodyne Frequency Meters Interpolation-Type Frequency Meter Lecher Wires WWV Schedules Frequency and Phase Modulation Narrow-Band Reactance-Modulator Un Deviation Ratio Discriminator Index, Modulation Methods On V.H.F. Principles Reactance Modulator Reception Transmitter Checking	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Line Low-Pass Power-Supply R.F. Filtering, Audio Finishing Aluminum First Detector Fixed Condenser Flat Lines. Flux Density, Magnetic Flux, Leakage Flux Density, Magnetic Flux, Leakage Flux Density, Magnetic Flux, Leakage Flux Lines. Flux Lines. Flux Lines. Flux Lines. Fly-Back Focusing Electrode Folded Dipole Forde, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Force, Electromotive Form, Message Forward Resistance Frequency Frequency Measurement: Absorption Frequency Meters Frequency Standards Interodyne Frequency Meters Interpolation-Type Frequency Meter Lecher Wires WWV Schedules Frequency and Phase Modulation Narrow-Band Reactance-Modulator Un Deviation Ratio Discriminator Index, Modulation Methods On V.H.F. Principles Reactance Modulator	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$

<b>D</b> ( <b>D</b> )
PAGE Front-to-Back Ratio
Front-to-Back Ratio
Full-Wave Center-Tap Rectiners       205–206         Fusing       490
Gain Control
- "Gamma" Match
Gauged Tuning       83         Gaseous Regulator Tubes       215         Gasoline-Engine-Driven Generators       227–228
Gasofine-Engine-Driven Generators
Genemotors         228           Generator         16
Generator Noise 434
Germanium Crystals
Grid
Condenser
Current
Excitation
Leak
Resistor
Voltage
Grid-Bias Modulation
Grid-Cathode Capacitance
Grid-Dip Meters 469-471
Grid-Input Impedance 141 Grid-Leak Detectors 80-82
Grid-Plate Capacitance
Grid-Plate Crystal Oscillator 130
Grid-Plate Transconductance         55           Ground
Ground Effects
Ground-Plane Antenna
Ground Potential         49–50           Ground Waves         72
Grounded Antennas
Grounded-Grid Amplifier64, 366–367, 387 Grounds
Guys, Antenna
Half-Wave Antenna
Half-Wave Line387Half-Wave Rectifiers205
Halyards, Antenna
llarmonic 17
Antenna
Generation
Operation of Antennas.         336–338           Reduction         388, 502–508
Suppression, Audio
Traps
Hash Elimination
Heater
Heating Effect   17     Henry   26
Heriz Antenna
Heterodyne Frequency Meters         465–466           Ileterodyne Reception         76
11 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
lligh-('
High-Frequency Communication 70-75
High-Frequency Oscillator       86-87         High-Frequency Receivers       76-128         High-Frequency Transmitters       129-204
High-Frequency Receivers
111gh-1'ass Futers
High-Q Circuit         42-43           High-Vacuum Rectifiers         53, 54, 206-207
High-y acuum Rectiners
High-µ Tubes       55         Hiram Percy Maxim Memorial Station       12, 531
History of Amateur Radio
Horizontal Polarization of Radio Waves 71
History of Amateur Radio       9-12         Horizontal Angle of Radiation       330         Horizontal Polarization of Radio Waves       71         Hum
I (Current)
Ignition Interference
Image
Image Ratio
Impedance
Impedance
Complex

Grid Input. 141 Input. 310–311, 316 Matching. 39, 257–258, 414–415 Modulating. 269–270 307 PAGE Input310-311, 316Matching39, 257-258, 414-415Modulating269-270Surge307Transformation311Transformer Ratio39, 257-258Transmission-Line307Impedance-Coupled Amplifiers57Imperfect Ground331Imputerect Ground331Imputerect Ground331Induced E. M. F.26Inducators, Tuning93-94Inducators, Tuning93-94Inducators, Tuning93-94Inducators, Tuning93-94Inducators, Tuning93-94Inducators, Tuning93-94Inducators, Tuning93-94Inducators, Tuning93-94Inductance49Leakage39Masurement473Mutual28-29Optimum Value210Stug-Tuned83Small Coil543Inductive Capacitance, Specific23Inductive Coupling45, 142, 322-324, 325-326Inductive Reatance79-80Input Unpedance210Input Choke210Instantaneous Current Value17Instantaneous Current Value16Internediate-Frequency Mandwidths, Table89Internediate-Frequency Mandwidths, Table89Internediate-Frequency Matorer70, 36Inductive Reatance310-31Inductive Reatance310-31Inductive Reatance310-32Inductive Reatance310-32Induct 

 Backwave
 229

 Break-In
 229–230, 236–237

 Electronic Keys
 237

 Key-Click Reduction
 231–233

 Methods
 229–234

 Monitoring
 234

 Kilowatt
 220

 Klystrons
 227

 L (Inductance)
 228

 L/C Ratios
 44

 L/R Time Constant
 30–317

 Lacing Cable
 517

 Lag Circuits
 231–233

 Backwave....

Lag Current on Valeum	PAGE
Lag, Current or Voltage Laminations Laws Concerning Amateur Operations	
Laws Concerning Amateur Operations	
Laws Electrical Lazy-H Antenna Lead, Current or Voltage Lead-In, Antenna	
Lazy-II Antenna	
Lead, Current or Voltage	31, 33-36
Lead-In, Antenna.	53-354, 356
Leakage Flux Leakage Inductance	
LORKSDO KOSOTSDOG	00
Lecher Wires	
Level, Microphone	238
Lecher Wires Level, Microphone License Manual, The Radio Amateur's	13
Lighthouse Tubes	66, 385, 427
Limitors Noiso	
Limiting Resistor	.92-93,435
Line Current	36
Line Filters	494
Line Filters. Line-Voltage Adjustment. Linear-Amplifier Tube — Operation Da Linear Amplifiers. 59–60, 291, 294–2 Linear Reactances	
Linear-Amplifier Tube - Operation Da	ta 296
Linear Ampiners 59–60, 291, 294–2	297,305-306
Linear Reactances. Linear Sweep Linear Transformers. Linearity	317
Linear Transformers	482
Linearity	56.268.270
Lines, Matched	
Lines of Force	
Lines, Nonresonant and Resonant	
Lines, Nonresonant and Resonant Lines, Nonresonant and Resonant Lines, Parallel Conductor Lines, Transmission Link Coupling Link Neutralization Lissatious Figures	312 - 313
Link Coupling 47, 149, 392-3	22394_225
Link Neutralization	147.148
Load	()() = = = = = ()
Load Impedance Load Isolation, VFO Load Resistor Loaded Circuit O	257
Load Resistor	
Loaded Circuit Q	
Local Oscillator Locations, V.11.F. Locking-In Log Station	83 86-87
Locations, V.11.F.	
Locking-In	81-82
Log Station Logarithmic F.S. Meter Long-Wire Antennas	525
Long-Wire Antonnes	476
Long-Wire Directive Arrays	
Loops	300
Losses, Hysteresis	28
Loudspeaker Coil Color Code	519
Low-C.	···· 44 ···· 17
Low-Pass Filters	7 540 541
Low-µ Tubes	55
Low-r ass rules	422-423
MUF (see "Maximum Usable Frequency Magnetic Storms.	'')
Magnetizing Current. Magnetrons	
Marker Frequencies	428429
Matched Lines.	
Matched Lines Matching, Antenna Maximum Inverse Peak Voltage Maximum Usable Fraquency	2, 334-336
Maximum Inverse Peak Voltage	
Maximum Usable Frequency	73, 362
Antenna	471 491
Capacitance	473-474
Current	458-450
rield Strength	475
Frequency.	462-471
Inductance	479
Modulation	-264, 278
Phase	15
rower	.479
Resistance	-461, 474
Standing-Wave Ratio	.476-481
voltage	457_459
Measuring Instruments Medium of Propagation	457
Mailine mate	
Medium-µ Tupes	71
Medium-µ Tubes. Megacycle.	71 55 17
Megacycle	71 55 17 427
Megacycle Megatrons	71 55 55 17 427
Megacycle.	71 55 55 17 427

	PAGE
Message Form	
Message Handling	525-527
Meteor Trails.	
Meters, Volt-Ohm-Milliampere	149-152
Meters, Volt-Ohm-Milliampere	460–461
Meter Switching	
Mho	$\begin{array}{cccc} \dots & 19 \\ \dots & 20 \end{array}$
Microampere	$   \frac{20}{24} $
Microhenry	
Micrombo	
Microphones	238–239
Microvolt Microwaves (see also "Ultra-lligh-F cies").	
cios'')	requen- 421
Milliammeters.	.53. 458-459
Milliampere	
Millihenry Millivolt	
Millivolt	
Milliwatt	
Mixers	83-84 367
Mobile:	
Antennas	
Equipment.	
Power Supply	
Receivers	445-449
Modes of Propagation	424-425
Modes of Propagation	
Modulation:	
Amplitude Modulation	
Capability	
Characteristic	
Characteristic Checking AM 'Phone Operation 263-	-264. 277-283
Choke-Coupled Modulation	270-272
Controlled-Carrier Systems	
Depth	265 - 266, 285
Driving Power	
Envelope Frequency Modulation	
Grid-Bias Modulation	
Grid-Bias Modulation	271-272
Impedance	
Index	285
Index	$     285 \\     268 $
Index Linearity Methods	285     268     268     268     268
Index Linearity Methods	285     268     268     268     268
Index Linearity Methods Monitoring Narrow-Band Frequency Percentage of	285 268 268-269 283 285 265-276
Index Linearity Methods Monitoring Narrow-Band Frequency Percentage of	285 268 268-269 283 285 265-276
Index Linearity Methods Monitoring Narrow-Band Frequency Percentage of	285 268 268-269 283 285 265-276
Index Linearity Methods Monitoring Narrow-Band Frequency Percentage of Phase Modulation Plate Modulation Plate Supply	$\begin{array}{c} & 285 \\ 268 \\ 268 \\ 268 \\ 283 \\ 285 \\ 265 \\ 265 \\ 276 \\ 285 \\ 269 \\ 271 \\ 256, 268, 281 \end{array}$
Index Linearity Methods Monitoring Narrow-Band Frequency Percentage of Phase Modulation Plate Modulation Plate Supply	$\begin{array}{c} & 285 \\ 268 \\ 268 \\ 268 \\ 283 \\ 285 \\ 265 \\ 265 \\ 276 \\ 285 \\ 269 \\ 271 \\ 256, 268, 281 \end{array}$
Index Linearity Methods Monitoring Narrow-Band Frequency Percentage of Phase Modulation Plate Modulation Plate Modulation Plate Supply Power Screen-Grid Amplifiers Suppresent Ciril Medulation	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Index Linearity Methods Monitoring Narrow-Band Frequency Percentage of Phase Modulation Plate Modulation Plate Modulation Plate Supply Power Screen-Grid Amplifiers Suppresent Ciril Medulation	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Index Linearity Methods Monitoring Narrow-Band Frequency Percentage of Phase Modulation Plate Modulation Plate Modulation Plate Supply Power Screen-Grid Amplifiers Suppresent Ciril Medulation	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Index Linearity Methods Monitoring Narrow-Band Frequency Percentage of Phase Modulation Plate Supply Power Screen-Grid Amplifiers Suppressor-Grid Modulation Test Equipment Velocity Modulation Waveforms 2666	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Index Linearity Methods Monitoring Narrow-Band Frequency Percentage of Phase Modulation Plate Supply Power Screen-Grid Amplifiers Suppressor-Grid Modulation Test Equipment Velocity Modulation Waveforms 2666	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Index Linearity Methods Monitoring Narrow-Band Frequency Percentage of Phase Modulation Plate Supply Power Screen-Grid Amplifiers Suppressor-Grid Modulation Test Equipment Velocity Modulation Waveforms 2666	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Index Linearity Methods Monitoring Narrow-Band Frequency Percentage of Phase Modulation Plate Supply Power Screen-Grid Amplifiers Suppressor-Grid Modulation Test Equipment Velocity Modulation Waveforms Modulator Tubes Modulators (see "Radiotelephony") "Monitone"	$\begin{array}{c}$
Index Linearity Methods Monitoring Narrow-Band Frequency Percentage of Phase Modulation Plate Modulation Plate Modulation Plate Supply Power Screen-Grid Amplifiers Suppressor-Grid Modulation Test Equipment Velocity Modulation Waveforms Modulator Tubes Modulators (see "Radiotelephony") "Monitone" Monitons Motorboating	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Index Linearity Methods Monitoring Narrow-Band Frequency Percentage of Phase Modulation Plate Modulation Plate Supply Power Screen-Grid Amplifiers Suppressor-Grid Modulation Test Equipment Velocity Modulation Waveforms Modulator Tubes Modulators (see "Radiotelephony") "Monitone" Monitores Motorboating Mu (µ)	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Index         Linearity         Methods         Monitoring         Narrow-Band Frequency         Percentage of         Phase Modulation         Plate Modulation         Plate Supply         Power         Suppressor-Grid Amplifiers         Suppressor-Grid Modulation         Test Equipment         Velocity Modulation         Waveforms       266,         Modulators (see "Radiotelephony")         'Monitone''         Monitors       234–238,         Mu (μ)       Mu (μ)         Mu (μ)       Mu	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Index Linearity Methods Monitoring Narrow-Band Frequency Percentage of Phase Modulation Plate Modulation Plate Modulation Plate Supply Power Screen-Grid Amplifiers Suppressor-Grid Modulation Test Equipment Velocity Modulation Waveforms Modulator Tubes Modulators Modulators Modulators Monitone" Monitors Monitone Mu ( $\mu$ ) Mu, Variable Multiband Antennas	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Index Linearity Methods Monitoring Narrow-Band Frequency Percentage of Phase Modulation Plate Supply Power Screen-Grid Amplifiers Suppressor-Grid Modulation Test Equipment Velocity Modulation Waveforms Modulator Tubes Modulators (see "Radiotelephony") "Monitone" Monitors Monitors Monitors Monitors Multiband Antennas Multiband Antennas Multibane Tubes	$\begin{array}{c} 285\\ 268-269\\ 268-269\\ 283\\ 285\\ 265-276\\ 285\\ 265-276\\ 266-271\\ 256, 268, 281\\ 273-275\\ 273-275\\ 275-276\\ 263-264, 278\\ 427-428\\ 267, 279, 281\\ 257\\ 239\\ 235-236\\ 283, 487-489\\ \ldots & 103\\ 55\\ 63\\ \ldots & 338-339\\ 66\end{array}$
Index         Linearity         Methods         Monitoring         Narrow-Band Frequency         Percentage of         Phase Modulation         Plate Modulation         Plate Supply         Power         Suppressor-Grid Amplifiers         Suppressor-Grid Modulation         Test Equipment         Velocity Modulation         Waveforms       266,         Modulators (see "Radiotelephony")         "Monitone"         Monitors       234–238,         Motorboating       Mu (μ)         Mu (μ)       Multiband Antennas         Multiband Antennas       Multiband Dates	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Index Linearity Methods Monitoring Narrow-Band Frequency Percentage of Phase Modulation Plate Modulation Plate Supply Power Screen-Grid Amplifiers Suppressor-Grid Modulation Test Equipment Velocity Modulation Waveforms Modulator Tubes Modulators (see "Radiotelephony") "Monitone" Monitores Modulators (see "Radiotelephony") "Monitores Modulators (see "Radiotelephony") "Monitore 234–238, Motorboating Mu ( $\mu$ ) Mu, Variable Multiband Antennas Multiblement Tubes Multibang Transmission Multimeters Multipurpose Tubes	$\begin{array}{c} 285\\ 268-269\\ 268-269\\ 283\\ 285\\ 265-276\\ 285\\ 260-271\\ 256, 268, 281\\ 273-275\\ 273-275\\ 273-275\\ 264, 278\\ 427-428\\ 267, 279, 281\\ 267, 279, 281\\ 267, 279, 281\\ 267, 279, 281\\ 267, 279, 281\\ 267, 279, 281\\ 368-39\\ 235-236\\ 283, 487-489\\ 103\\ 338-339\\ 66\\ 74, 364\\ 460-461\\ 66\end{array}$
Index Linearity Methods Monitoring Narrow-Band Frequency Percentage of Phase Modulation Plate Supply Power Screen-Grid Amplifiers Suppressor-Grid Modulation Test Equipment Velocity Modulation Waveforms Modulator Tubes Modulators (see "Radiotelephony") "Monitone" Monitors Monitors Monitors Monitors Multiband Antennas Multiband Antennas Multibane Tubes	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Index Linearity Methods Monitoring Narrow-Band Frequency Percentage of Phase Modulation Plate Modulation Plate Modulation Plate Supply Power Screen-Grid Amplifiers Suppressor-Grid Modulation Test Equipment Velocity Modulation Waveforms Modulator Tubes Modulator Tubes Modulators Modulators Monitone Monitors Monitone Mu ( $\mu$ ) Mu, Variable Multiband Antennas Multiband Antennas Multibaneters Multipurpose Tubes Multipurpose Tubes Multipurpose Tubes Multipurpose Tubes	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Index Linearity Methods Monitoring Narrow-Band Frequency Percentage of Phase Modulation Plate Modulation Plate Modulation Plate Supply Power Screen-Grid Amplifiers Suppressor-Grid Modulation Test Equipment Velocity Modulation Waveforms Modulator Tubes Modulator Tubes Modulators Modulators Monitone Monitors Monitone Mu ( $\mu$ ) Mu, Variable Multiband Antennas Multiband Antennas Multibaneters Multipurpose Tubes Multipurpose Tubes Multipurpose Tubes Multipurpose Tubes	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Index Linearity Methods Monitoring Narrow-Band Frequency Percentage of Phase Modulation Plate Modulation Plate Supply Power Screen-Grid Amplifiers Suppressor-Grid Modulation Test Equipment Velocity Modulation Waveforms Modulator Tubes Modulators (see "Radiotelephony") "Monitone Monitors Monitors Monitors Monitors Monitors Monitors Multiband Antennas Multiband Antennas Multibar Multipurpose Tubes Multipurpose Tubes Multipliers, Frequency Multipliers, Voltmeter Multipang Meters Multipar Scale	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Index Linearity Methods Monitoring Narrow-Band Frequency Percentage of Phase Modulation Plate Modulation Plate Supply Power Screen-Grid Amplifiers Suppressor-Grid Modulation Test Equipment Velocity Modulation Waveforms Modulator Tubes Modulators (see "Radiotelephony") "Monitone Monitors Monitors Monitors Monitors Monitors Monitors Multiband Antennas Multiband Antennas Multibar Multipurpose Tubes Multipurpose Tubes Multipliers, Frequency Multipliers, Voltmeter Multipang Meters Multipar Scale	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Index Linearity Methods Monitoring Narrow-Band Frequency Percentage of Phase Modulation Plate Supply Power Screen-Grid Amplifiers Suppressor-Grid Modulation Test Equipment Velocity Modulation Waveforms Modulator Tubes Modulators (see "Radiotelephony") "Monitone" Monitors Monitors Mu ( $\mu$ ) Mu ( $\mu$ ) Mu ( $\mu$ ) Mu ( $\mu$ ) Multiband Antennas Multibop Transmission Multimeters Multipliers, Frequency Multipliers, Frequency Multipliers, Voltmeter Multipliers, Voltmeter Multipliers, Scale Musical Scale Mutual Conductance Mutual Inductance	$\begin{array}{c}$
Index Linearity Methods Monitoring Narrow-Band Frequency Percentage of Phase Modulation Plate Supply Power Screen-Grid Amplifiers Suppressor-Grid Modulation Test Equipment Velocity Modulation Waveforms Modulator Tubes Modulators (see "Radiotelephony") "Monitone" Monitors Monitors Mu ( $\mu$ ) Mu ( $\mu$ ) Mu ( $\mu$ ) Mu ( $\mu$ ) Multiband Antennas Multibop Transmission Multimeters Multipliers, Frequency Multipliers, Frequency Multipliers, Voltmeter Multipliers, Voltmeter Multipliers, Scale Musical Scale Mutual Conductance Mutual Inductance	$\begin{array}{c}$
Index Linearity Methods Monitoring Narrow-Band Frequency Percentage of Phase Modulation Plate Modulation Plate Supply Power Screen-Grid Amplifiers Suppressor-Grid Modulation Test Equipment Velocity Modulation Waveforms Modulator Tubes Modulators (see "Radiotelephony") "Monitone" Monitores Modulators (see "Radiotelephony") "Monitores Modulators (see "Radiotelephony") "Monitores Modulators (see "Radiotelephony") "Monitores Modulators (see "Radiotelephony") "Monitores Modulators (see "Radiotelephony") "Monitores Modulators (see "Radiotelephony") "Monitores Motorboating Mu (µ) Mu (µ) Mu (µ) Multipurpose Tubes Multiplers, Frequency Multipliers, Voltmeter Multipliers, Voltmeter Multipliers, Voltmeter Multipliers, Voltmeter Multipliers, Voltmeter Multipliers, Multipliers Multipliers, Multipliers Multipliers, Moltator Multipliers	$\begin{array}{c} 285\\ 268-269\\ 268-269\\ 283\\ 285\\ 265-276\\ 285\\ 265-276\\ 266-271\\ 256, 268, 281\\ 273-275\\ 273-275\\ 273-276\\ 263-264, 278\\ 427-428\\ 267, 279, 281\\ 267, 279, 281\\ 267, 279, 281\\ 267, 279, 281\\ 267, 279, 281\\ 263, 487-489\\ 263, 487-489\\ 263, 487-489\\ 263, 487-489\\ 263, 487-489\\ 263, 487-489\\ 263, 487-489\\ 263, 487-489\\ 263, 487-489\\ 263, 487-489\\ 263, 487-489\\ 263, 460-461\\ 264, 460-461\\ 264, 460-461\\ 264, 460-461\\ 264, 460-461\\ 264, 460-461\\ 264, 460-461\\ 264, 556, 63\\ 28-29\\ 285\\ 28-29\\ 101\\ 285\\ 28-29\\ 101\\ 285\\ 28-29\\ 101\\ 285\\ 28-29\\ 101\\ 285\\ 28-29\\ 101\\ 285\\ 28-29\\ 101\\ 285\\ 28-29\\ 101\\ 285\\ 28-29\\ 101\\ 285\\ 28-29\\ 101\\ 285\\ 28-29\\ 101\\ 285\\ 28-29\\ 101\\ 285\\ 28-29\\ 101\\ 285\\ 28-29\\ 101\\ 285\\ 285\\ 28-29\\ 101\\ 285\\ 285\\ 28-29\\ 101\\ 285\\ 285\\ 28-29\\ 101\\ 285\\ 285\\ 285\\ 28-29\\ 101\\ 285\\ 285\\ 285\\ 28-29\\ 101\\ 285\\ 285\\ 285\\ 28-29\\ 101\\ 285\\ 285\\ 285\\ 285\\ 28-29\\ 101\\ 285\\ 285\\ 285\\ 285\\ 285\\ 285\\ 285\\ 285$
Index Linearity Methods Monitoring Narrow-Band Frequency Percentage of Phase Modulation Plate Modulation Plate Supply Power Screen-Grid Amplifiers Suppressor-Grid Modulation Test Equipment Velocity Modulation Waveforms Modulator Tubes Modulators (see "Radiotelephony") "Monitone (see "Radiotelephony")" "Monitors Modulators (see "Radiotelephony")" "Monitors Monitors Monitors Monitors Monitors Multiple Multiband Antennas Multiband Antennas Multibar Transmission Multipurpose Tubes Multipurpose Tubes Multipurpurpurpurpurpurpurpurpurpurpurpurpurp	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Index Linearity Methods Monitoring Narrow-Band Frequency Percentage of Phase Modulation Plate Modulation Plate Supply Power Screen-Grid Amplifiers Suppressor-Grid Modulation Test Equipment Velocity Modulation Waveforms Modulator Tubes Modulators (see "Radiotelephony") "Monitone (see "Radiotelephony")" "Monitors Modulators (see "Radiotelephony")" "Monitors Monitors Monitors Monitors Monitors Multiple Multiband Antennas Multiband Antennas Multibar Multipurpose Tubes Multipurpose Tubes	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Index Linearity Methods Monitoring Narrow-Band Frequency Percentage of Phase Modulation Plate Supply Power Screen-Grid Amplifiers Suppressor-Grid Modulation Test Equipment Velocity Modulation Waveforms Modulator Tubes Modulator Tubes Modulators (see "Radiotelephony") "Monitone" Monitors Monitones Multiband Antennas Multiband Antennas Multiband Antennas Multibart Tubes Multibart Tubes Multibart State Multibart State Multibart State Multipuers Multipuers Multipliers, Frequency Multipliers, Voltmeter Multipliers, Voltmeter Mu	$\begin{array}{c} 285\\268-269\\268-269\\268-269\\265-276\\285\\265-276\\265-276\\266-271\\ 256, 268, 281\\273-275\\275-276\\275-276\\268, 281\\275-276\\275-276\\275-276\\268, 281\\275-276\\275-276\\275-276\\285-236\\285\\285\\285\\285\\63\\388-339\\ .$
Index Linearity Methods Monitoring Narrow-Band Frequency Percentage of Phase Modulation Plate Modulation Plate Supply Power Screen-Grid Amplifiers Suppressor-Grid Modulation Test Equipment Velocity Modulation Waveforms Modulator Tubes Modulators (see "Radiotelephony") "Monitone (see "Radiotelephony")" "Monitors Modulators (see "Radiotelephony")" "Monitors Monitors Monitors Monitors Monitors Multiple Multiband Antennas Multiband Antennas Multibar Multipurpose Tubes Multipurpose Tubes	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$

	PAGE
Neutralization	145-147, 270
Nodes	
Noise Figure	
Noise-Limiter Circuits Noise, Receiver Noise Elimination, Mobile	76-77 09 04
Noise Elimination Mobile	433-435
Noise Reduction	92 - 93, 226, 228
Nomenciature, Frequency-Spectr	11m
Nonconductors	
Nonlinearity	
Nonradiating Loads	311
Nonsynchronous Vibrators	
Nucleus	
Official Bulletin Station	
Official Experimental Station	
Official Observer Station Official 'Phone Station	530
Official Relay Station	529
Ohm	
Ohm's Law Ohm's Law for A.C.	
Ohm's Law for A.C.,	
Ohmmeters Old Timers Club	
Open Stub	317
Open-Wire Line Operating an Amateur Radio Stati	
Operating an Amateur Radio Stati	on 526, 527, 533
Operating Angle, Amplifier Operating a Station	
Operating Bias	120-140
Operating Point	
Operating Point	13
Oscillation	.61, 66-68, 69, 103
Oscillations, Parasitic	
Oscillators	66 69 60
Oscillators. Test	468
Oscillators, Test Oscilloscope Patterns	264, 278–280,
0 11	302, 483
Oscilloscopes . Output Condenser, Filter	.263 - 264, 481 - 484
Output Limiting	
Output Power	
Output Voltage	
Output Voltage Overexcitation, Class B Amplifier	
Output Voltage Overexcitation, Class B Amplifier Overmodulation	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Output Voltage Overexcitation, Class B Amplifier Overmodulation Overmodulation Indicators Oxide_Casted Cathoda	240 $259$ $259$ $265, 267, 283$ $283$ $283$ $53$
Output Voltage Overexcitation, Class B Amplifier Overmodulation Overmodulation Indicators Oxide_Casted Cathoda	240 $259$ $259$ $265, 267, 283$ $283$ $283$ $53$
Output Voltage Overnodulation Class B Amplifier Overnodulation Indicators Overnodulation Indicators Ovide-Coated Cathode P (Power) PM (see "Phase Modulation")	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Output Voltage Overexcitation, Class B Amplifier Overmodulation Indicators Oxide-Coated Cathode P (Power) PM (see "Phase Modulation") Padding Condenser	240 259 265, 267, 283 283 53 53 
Output Voltage Overexcitation, Class B Amplifier Overmodulation Amplifier Overmodulation Indicators Ovide-Coated Cathode P (Power) PM (see "Phase Modulation") Padding Condenser Parabolic Reflectors	240 259 259 265, 267, 283 283 53 22-32 22-32 83 420
Output Voltage Overexcitation, Class B Amplifier Overmodulation Overmodulation Indicators Oxide-Coated Cathode P (Power) PM (see "Phase Modulation") Padding Condenser Parallel Amplifiers Parallel Antenna Tuniog	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Output Voltage Overexcitation, Class B Amplifier Overmodulation Overmodulation Indicators Oxide-Coated Cathode P (Power) PM (see "Phase Modulation") Padding Condenser Parallel Amplifiers Parallel Antenna Tuniog	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Output Voltage Overexcitation, Class B Amplifier Overmodulation Overmodulation Indicators Oxide-Coated Cathode P (Power) PM (see "Phase Modulation") Padding Condenser Parallel Amplifiers Parallel Antenna Tuniog	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Output Voltage Overexcitation, Class B Amplifier Overmodulation Indicators Overmodulation Indicators Overmodulation Indicators Overmodulation Indicators P (Power) PM (see "Phase Modulation") Padding Condenser Parabolic Reflectors Parallel Amplifiers Parallel Antenna Tuning Parallel Capacitances Parallel Circuits Parallel-Conductor Line	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Output Voltage Overexcitation, Class B Amplifier Overmodulation Indicators Ovide-Coated Cathode P (Power). PM (see "Phase Modulation") Parabolic Reflectors. Parallel Amplifiers Parallel Amplifiers Parallel Capacitances. Parallel Circuits Parallel Circuits Parallel Ford	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Output Voltage Overexcitation, Class B Amplifier Overmodulation Indicators Overmodulation Indicators Overmodulation Indicators P (Power). PM (see "Phase Modulation") Padding Condenser Parabolic Reflectors Parallel Amplifiers Parallel Amplifiers Parallel Capacitances Parallel Capacitances Parallel Circuits. Parallel Conductor Line Parallel Feed Parallel Impedance	$\begin{array}{c}$
Output Voltage Overexcitation, Class B Amplifier Overmodulation Indicators Overmodulation Indicators Oxide-Coated Cathode P (Power). PM (see "Phase Modulation") Padding Condenser Parabolic Reflectors Parallel Amplifiers Parallel Amplifiers Parallel Capacitances. Parallel Circuits Parallel Circuits Parallel Feed Parallel Impedance Parallel Inductances. Parallel Resistances	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Output Voltage Overexcitation, Class B Amplifier Overmodulation Indicators Overmodulation Indicators Oxide-Coated Cathode P (Power). PM (see "Phase Modulation") Padding Condenser Parabolic Reflectors Parallel Amplifiers Parallel Amplifiers Parallel Capacitances. Parallel Circuits Parallel Circuits Parallel Feed Parallel Impedance Parallel Inductances. Parallel Resistances	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Output Voltage Overexcitation, Class B Amplifier Overmodulation Indicators Overmodulation Indicators Ovide-Coated Cathode P (Power) PM (see " Phase Modulation ") Padding Condenser Parabolic Reflectors Parallel Amplifiers Parallel Amplifiers Parallel Capacitances Parallel Capacitances Parallel Circuits Parallel Circuits Parallel Conductor Line Parallel Feed Parallel Inductances Parallel Resistances Parallel Resistances Parallel Resistances Parallel Resistances	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Output Voltage Overexcitation, Class B Amplifier Overmodulation Indicators. Overmodulation Indicators. Oxide-Coated Cathode P (Power) PM (see " Phase Modulation ") Padding Condenser Parabolic Reflectors Parallel Amplifiers Parallel Amplifiers Parallel Capacitances Parallel Capacitances Parallel Conductor Line Parallel Feed Parallel Feed Parallel Impedance Parallel Resonance Parallel Resonance	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Output Voltage Overexcitation, Class B Amplifier Overmodulation Indicators. Overmodulation Indicators. Oxide-Coated Cathode P (Power) PM (see " Phase Modulation ") Padding Condenser Parabolic Reflectors Parallel Amplifiers Parallel Amplifiers Parallel Capacitances Parallel Capacitances Parallel Conductor Line Parallel Feed Parallel Feed Parallel Impedance Parallel Resonance Parallel Resonance	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Output Voltage Overexcitation, Class B Amplifier Overmodulation Indicators. Overmodulation Indicators. Oxide-Coated Cathode P (Power) PM (see " Phase Modulation ") Padding Condenser Parabolic Reflectors Parallel Amplifiers Parallel Amplifiers Parallel Capacitances Parallel Capacitances Parallel Conductor Line Parallel Feed Parallel Feed Parallel Impedance Parallel Resonance Parallel Resonance	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Output Voltage         Overmodulation         Overmodulation         Dovermodulation         Overmodulation         Overmodulation         Overmodulation         Oxide-Coated Cathode         P (Power)         PM (see "Phase Modulation")         Padding Condenser         Parabolic Reflectors         Parallel Amplifiers         Parallel Capacitances         Parallel Conductor Line         Parallel Feed         Parallel Inductances         Parallel Resistances         Parallel Resonance         Parallel Resonance         Parallel Tuning         Parasitic Elements, Antenna Arr         Parasitic Oscillations         Passband, Receiver         Paterns, Oscilloscope         264	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Output Voltage         Overexcitation, Class B Amplifier         Overmodulation         Overmodulation Indicators         Parable Conductor Second Indicators         Parallel Conductor Line         Parallel Inductances         Parallel Resonance         Parallel Resonance         Parallel Resonance         Parasitic Elements, Antenna Arr         Parasitic Oscillations         Passband, Receiver         Patterns, Oscilloscope       264,	$\begin{array}{c} 240\\ - 259\\ - 265, 267, 283\\ - 333\\ - 333\\ - 333\\ - 337\\ - 253\\ - 253\\ - 283\\ - 283\\ - 283\\ - 283\\ - 283\\ - 283\\ - 283\\ - 283\\ - 283\\ - 283\\ - 283\\ - 283\\ - 333\\ - 333\\ - 337\\ - 283\\ -$
Output Voltage         Overexcitation, Class B Amplifier         Overmodulation         Overmodulation Indicators         Parable Conductor Second Indicators         Parallel Conductor Line         Parallel Inductances         Parallel Resonance         Parallel Resonance         Parallel Resonance         Parasitic Elements, Antenna Arr         Parasitic Oscillations         Passband, Receiver         Patterns, Oscilloscope       264,	$\begin{array}{c} 240\\ - 259\\ - 265, 267, 283\\ - 333\\ - 333\\ - 333\\ - 337\\ - 253\\ - 253\\ - 283\\ - 283\\ - 283\\ - 283\\ - 283\\ - 283\\ - 283\\ - 283\\ - 283\\ - 283\\ - 283\\ - 283\\ - 333\\ - 333\\ - 337\\ - 283\\ -$
Output Voltage         Overexcitation, Class B Amplifier         Overmodulation         Overmodulation Indicators         Parable Conductor Second Indicators         Parallel Conductor Line         Parallel Inductances         Parallel Resonance         Parallel Resonance         Parallel Resonance         Parasitic Elements, Antenna Arr         Passband, Receiver         Patterns, Oscilloscope       264,         Patterns, Radiation         Pátterns, TVI         Peak-Current Value         Peak-Current Value	$\begin{array}{c} 240\\ -259\\ -299\\ -299\\ -299\\ -290\\ -207\\ -207\\ -209\\ -207\\ -209\\ -207\\ -209\\ -207\\ -209\\ -207\\ -209\\ -200\\ -209\\ -200\\ $
Output Voltage         Overmodulation         Overmodulation         Devermodulation         Overmodulation         Overmodulation         Ovide-Coated Cathode         P (Power)         PM (see "Phase Modulation")         Padding Condenser         Parabolic Reflectors         Parallel Amplifiers         Parallel Capacitances         Parallel Conductor Line         Parallel Conductor Line         Parallel Feed         Parallel Resonance         Parallel Resonance         Parallel Resonance         Parallel Resonance         Parasitic Excitation         Parasitic Excitation         Parasitic Excitation         Patterns, Oscilloscope       .264,         Patterns, TVI         Peak-Current Value         Peak-Voltage Rating         Peneil Tubos	$\begin{array}{c} 240\\ -259\\ $
Output Voltage         Overexcitation, Class B Amplifier         Overmodulation         Devermodulation         Oxide-Coated Cathode         P (Power)         PM (see "Phase Modulation")         Padding Condenser         Parabolic Reflectors         Parallel Amplifiers         Parallel Capacitances         Parallel Conductor Line         Parallel Feed         Parallel Resistances         Parallel Resonance         Parallel Resonance         Parasitic Elements, Antenna Arr         Parasitic Excitation         Parasitic Excitation         Paratterns, Radiation         Pátterns, TVI         Peak-Voltage Rating         Peak-Voltage Rating         Pencil Tubes         Pencil Tubes	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Output Voltage         Overexcitation, Class B Amplifier         Overmodulation         Overmodulation Indicators         Parable Conductor Line         Parallel Conductor Line         Parallel Inductances         Parallel Resistances         Parallel Resistances         Parallel Resistances         Parallel Resonance         Parasitic Excitation         Parasitic Scillations         Passband, Receiver         Patterns, Oscilloscope       264,         Patterns, Radiation         Pátterns, Radiation         Péak-Current Value         Peak-Current Value         Peatagrid Converters         Pentagrid Converters         Pentagrid Converters	$\begin{array}{c} 240\\ -259\\ -299\\ $
Output Voltage         Overmodulation         Overmodulation         Dovermodulation         Overmodulation         Overmodulation         Ovide-Coated Cathode         P (Power)         PM (see "Phase Modulation")         Padding Condenser         Parabolic Reflectors         Parallel Amplifiers         Parallel Capacitances         Parallel Conductor Line         Parallel Feed         Parallel Inductances         Parallel Resistances         Parallel Resonance         Parallel Resonance         Parallel Resonance         Parasitic Elements, Antenna Arr         Parasitic Oscillations         Passband, Receiver         Patterns, Oscilloscope       264,         Patterns, TVI         Peak-Voltage Rating         Pencil Tubes         Pencil Tubes         Pentode Amplifiers         Pentode Amplifiers         Pentode Amplifiers	$\begin{array}{c} 240\\ -240\\ -259\\ -259\\ -259\\ -259\\ -259\\ -259\\ -259\\ -259\\ -259\\ -259\\ -259\\ -259\\ -259\\ -259\\ -259\\ -259\\ -259\\ -269\\ -29\\ -29\\ -29\\ -29\\ -29\\ -29\\ -29\\ -2$
Output Voltage         Overexcitation, Class B Amplifier         Overmodulation         Overmodulation         Overmodulation         Ovide-Coated Cathode         P (Power)         PM (see "Phase Modulation")         Padding Condenser         Parabolic Reflectors         Parallel Amplifiers         Parallel Capacitances         Parallel Conductor Line         Parallel Resistances         Parallel Inductances         Parallel Resistances         Parallel Resistances         Parallel Resonance         Parallel Resonance         Parastic Elements, Antenna Arr         Patterns, Oscilloscope       264,         Patterns, Radiation         Pátterns, Radiation         Pátterns, Radiation         Patterns, Radiation         Patterns, Radiation         Patterns, Radiation         Peneil Tubes         Penetage Rating         Penetage Rating     <	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Output Voltage Overexcitation, Class B Amplifier Overmodulation Indicators. Overmodulation Indicators. Ovide-Coated Cathode P (Power). PM (see "Phase Modulation") Padding Condenser Parabolic Reflectors Parallel Amplifiers Parallel Capacitances Parallel Capacitances Parallel Capacitances Parallel Conductor Line Parallel Conductor Line Parallel Feed Parallel Inductances Parallel Resistances Parallel Resista	$\begin{array}{c} 240\\ -259\\ -259\\ -259\\ -259\\ -259\\ -259\\ -259\\ -259\\ -259\\ -259\\ -269\\ -210\\ $
Output Voltage         Overexcitation, Class B Amplifier         Overmodulation         Dermodulation         Overmodulation         Oxide-Coated Cathode         P (Power)         PM (see "Phase Modulation")         Padding Condenser         Parabolic Reflectors         Parallel Amplifiers         Parallel Capacitances         Parallel Conductor Line         Parallel Feed         Parallel Resistances         Parallel Resonance         Parailie Resonance         Parailie Resonance         Parailie Resonance         Parasitic Elements, Antenna Arr         Parasitic Excitation         Parasitic Excitation         Patterns, Oscilloscope       264         Patterns, TVI         Peak-Current Value         Peak-Voltage Rating         Pentode Crystal Oscillators         Pentode Crystal Oscillators         Pentode S         Perrentage of Modulation         Per Cent Ripple         Percentage in Modulation	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Output Voltage Overmodulation, Class B Amplifier Overmodulation Indicators. Overmodulation Indicators. Overmodulation Indicators. Overmodulation Indicators. Overmodulation Indicators. Parallel-Conduct Cathode Parallel Capacitances Parallel Capacitances. Parallel Capacitances. Parallel Capacitances. Parallel Capacitances. Parallel Capacitances. Parallel Capacitances. Parallel Capacitances. Parallel Inductor Line. Parallel Inductor Line. Parallel Inductances. Parallel Resistances. Parallel Resistances. Paralters, Socilloscope. Patterns, Oscilloscope. Patterns, TVI Peak-Current Value. Peatary Voltage Rating. Pentode Amplifiers. Pentode Crystal Oscillators. Pentodes. Percentage of Modulation. Per Cent Ripple. Permeability. Phase.	$\begin{array}{c} 240\\ -259\\ $
Output Voltage Overmodulation, Class B Amplifier Overmodulation Indicators. Overmodulation Indicators. Overmodulation Indicators. Overmodulation Indicators. Overmodulation Indicators. Parallel-Conduct Cathode Parallel Capacitances Parallel Capacitances. Parallel Capacitances. Parallel Capacitances. Parallel Capacitances. Parallel Capacitances. Parallel Capacitances. Parallel Capacitances. Parallel Inductor Line. Parallel Inductor Line. Parallel Inductances. Parallel Resistances. Parallel Resistances. Paralters, Socilloscope. Patterns, Oscilloscope. Patterns, TVI Peak-Current Value. Peatary Voltage Rating. Pentode Amplifiers. Pentode Crystal Oscillators. Pentodes. Percentage of Modulation. Per Cent Ripple. Permeability. Phase.	$\begin{array}{c} 240\\ -259\\ $
Output Voltage         Overexcitation, Class B Amplifier         Overmodulation         Overmodulation         Indexcondent Cathode         P (Power)         PM (see "Phase Modulation")         Parading Condenser         Parabolic Reflectors         Parallel Amplifiers         Parallel Capacitances         Parallel Conductor Line         Parallel Feed         Parallel Inductances         Parallel Resistances         Parallel Resistances         Parallel Resonance	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Output Voltage         Overexcitation, Class B Amplifier         Overmodulation Indicators         Overmodulation Indicators         Ovide-Coated Cathode         P (Power)         PM (see "Phase Modulation")         Padding Condenser         Parabolic Reflectors         Parallel Amplifiers         Parallel Capacitances         Parallel Conductor Line         Parallel Conductor Line         Parallel Resistances         Parallel Resonance         Parallel Resonance      <	$\begin{array}{c} 240\\ -259\\ $
Output Voltage         Overexcitation, Class B Amplifier         Overmodulation         Overmodulation         Indexcondent Cathode         P (Power)         PM (see "Phase Modulation")         Parading Condenser         Parabolic Reflectors         Parallel Amplifiers         Parallel Capacitances         Parallel Conductor Line         Parallel Feed         Parallel Inductances         Parallel Resistances         Parallel Resistances         Parallel Resonance	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$

PAGEPAGEPhone Activities Manager529Phone Reception100Phone Reception100Phone Reception100Phone ta (Table)543Pi-Section Coupling144Pi-Section Filters138Pi-Section Tank Circuit138Pierce Oscillator138Pierce Oscillator139Pierce Oscillator139Pierce Coscillator139Pierce Coscillator61-62, 145Piacoelectricity47Plane-Reflector Antennas418-419Plate-Cathode Capacitunce61-62, 145Plate-Current Shift281-283Plate52Blocking Condenser53Octectors79Dissipation138-130Modulation269Neutralization145Resistor57Supply, Audio258, 268Plate Transformer212-213Plate Transformer212-213Plate Transformer61-42Plate Transformer212-213Plate Transformer61Potrable Antennas71, 330, 332, 412-413Portable Antennas71, 330, 332, 412-413Power Amplification58<t Power Supplies: Bias Supplies Combination A.C.-Storage Battery Supplies 224 -227 Constructional (see Chapters Five and Six) D.C.-A.C. Converters Dry Batteries 995 228 Dynamotors. 224–225 Emergency Power Supply. 224–228 Filament Supply...... 213

PAGE 
 Public Service
 PAGE

 Pulleys, Antenna
 .10–11

 Pulleys, Antenna
 .355–356

 "Pulling"
 .81–82, 84

 Pulsating Current
 .53

 Puncture Voltage
 .23, 25

 Push-Pull Amplifier
 .149

 Push-Pull Multiplier
 .149

 Push-to-Talk
 .489
 Radiotelephone Operating Procedure ...... 520-521 Radiotelephone : Constructional: 40-Watt Class AB<sub>1</sub> Modulator......252–254 

 Narrow-Band Reactance-Modulator Unit
 288

 Phasing-Type SSB Exciter
 .297-302

 Driver Stages
 .259-261

 Measurements
 .263-264, 281-282

 Microphones
 .238-239

 Modulation
 .265

 Modulators and Drivers
 .257-264

 Monitors
 .245

 Overmodulation Indicators
 .245

 Principles
 .265

 Principles
 .265

 Output Liniting
 .245

 Overmodulation Indicators
 .263

 Principles
 .265

 100
 .245

 Overmodulation Indicators283<br/>Principles283<br/>PrinciplesReception100Resistance-Coupled Speech-Amplifier Data241<br/>Single-Sideband Transmission291<br/>Speech AmplifiersSpeech Amplifiers239-244<br/>Volume Compression244-245Radio Waves, Characteristics of.70-72, 362-365Rag Chewers Club532<br/>Range, V.H.F.362Ratio, Image84Ratio, Image84Ratio, Impedance.39-40Ratio, Standing Wave.309-310, 476-481Ratio, Voltage-Amplification56Ratio, Voltage-Amplification56Ratio, Voltage-Amplification56Ratio, Voltage-Amplification56Ratio, L/C.44, 138Reactance, Capacitive.32-33Reactance, Linear.317Reactance, Linear.317Reactance, Linear.308-309Reactance, Transmission-Line.308-309Reactance Power.34Readability Scale.535Rebound.364Receive Servicing.102-103 Rebound . 364

PAGE

Receivers, High-Frequency: (see also Antennas for	9 "V.H.F.")
Constructional:	
1-Tube Converter for 10 and 11 M	
1-Tube Regenerative Receiver . All-Purpose Super-Selective I.F.	
All-Purpose Super-Selective I.F. Antenna Coupling Unit for Ree Bandswitching Preselector for Mc. Clipper/Filter for C.W. or 'Phon Crystal-Controlled Converters f and 28 Mc. Receiver Matching to Tuned Li "Selectoject" Two-Band Five-Tube Superhet Reception, NFM, FM and PM Reception, Single-Sideband Rectification Rectifiers, Grid-Control Rectifiers, Mercury-Vapor Rectifiers, Mercury-Vapor Rectifiers, Selenium Reflected Impedance Reflected Waves Reflection of Radio Waves Reflection, Ground Reflector, Antenna Reflector, Antenna Reflex Klystrons Reflection of Radio Waves Reflection of Radio Waves Regenerative LF.	Ampuner 125-128
Antenna Coupling Unit for Reco	eiving 117
Bandswitching Preselector for	14 to 30
Mc.	
Crystai-Controlled Converters f	e112–115 or 14. 21
and 28 Mc.	
Receiver Matching to Tuned Li	nes 118
Two-Band Five-Tube Superhet	
Reception, NFM, FM and PM	101
Reception, Single-Sideband	$\dots \dots 101 - 102$
Rectification	
Rectifiers (	
Rectifiers, Grid-Control	
Rectifiers, Mercury-Vapor	66, 207
Rectifiers, Selenium	219-220, 1-65
Reflected Waves	.308, 363-365
Reflection of Radio Waves	1, 72, 363-365
Reflection from Meteor Trails	
Reflection, Ground	
Reflex Klystrons	427-428
Refraction of Radio Waves	
Regeneration	60, 61, 99
Regenerative Detectors	
Regenerative I.F. Regenerative R.F. Stage, Receiver. Regulation, Driver. Regulation, Voltage	
Regulation, Driver	
Regulation, Voltage	
Regulations, Amateur	13-14
Regulator Tubes	
Relays	231, 489
Resistance	18-22
Revistance Ruck	
Resistance, Dack	69
Resistance, Forward	
Resistance, Back Resistance, Forward Resistance-Bridge Standing-Wave In	470-480
	470-480
Resistance-Capacitance Time Const Resistance-Coupled Amplifier Data (	ant 29–30 Chart) 241
Resistance-Capacitance Time Const. Resistance-Coupled Amplifier Data ( Resistance in Series and Parallel Resistivity	476–480 ant29–30 Chart)241 20–22
Resistance-Capacitance Time Const. Resistance-Coupled Amplifier Data ( Resistance in Series and Parallel Resistivity	476–480 ant29–30 Chart)241 20–22
Resistance-Capacitance Time Const. Resistance-Coupled Amplifier Data ( Resistance in Series and Parallel Resistivity	476–480 ant29–30 Chart)241 20–22
Resistance-Capacitance Time Const. Resistance-Coupled Amplifier Data ( Resistance in Series and Parallel Resistivity	476–480 ant29–30 Chart)241 20–22
Resistance-Capacitance Time Const. Resistance-Coupled Amplifier Data ( Resistance in Series and Parallel Resistivity Resistor Color Code Resistor Color Code Resistor Wattage Resonance Resonance Curve 41	$\begin{array}{cccc} & 470 - 480 \\ \text{ant} & 29 - 30 \\ \text{Chart} & 241 \\ & 20 - 22 \\ & & 19 \\ & & 519 \\ & & 22 - 23 \\ & & 40 - 44 \\ -43 & 46 - 47 & 530 \end{array}$
Resistance-Capacitance Time Const. Resistance-Coupled Amplifier Data ( Resistance in Series and Parallel Resistivity Resistor Color Code Resistor Color Code Resistor Wattage Resonance Resonance Curve 41	$\begin{array}{cccc} & 470 - 480 \\ \text{ant} & 29 - 30 \\ \text{Chart} & 241 \\ & 20 - 22 \\ & & 19 \\ & & 519 \\ & & 22 - 23 \\ & & 40 - 44 \\ -43 & 46 - 47 & 530 \end{array}$
Resistance-Capacitance Time Const. Resistance-Coupled Amplifier Data ( Resistance in Series and Parallel Resistivity Resistor Color Code Resistor Color Code Resistor Wattage Resonance Resonance Curve 41	$\begin{array}{cccc} & 470 - 480 \\ \text{ant} & 29 - 30 \\ \text{Chart} & 241 \\ & 20 - 22 \\ & & 19 \\ & & 519 \\ & & 22 - 23 \\ & & 40 - 44 \\ -43 & 46 - 47 & 530 \end{array}$
Resistance-Capacitance Time Const. Resistance-Coupled Amplifier Data ( Resistance in Series and Parallel Resistivity Resistor Color Code Resistor Color Code Resistor Wattage Resonance Resonance Curve 41	$\begin{array}{cccc} & 470 - 480 \\ \text{ant} & 29 - 30 \\ \text{Chart} & 241 \\ & 20 - 22 \\ & & 19 \\ & & 519 \\ & & 22 - 23 \\ & & 40 - 44 \\ -43 & 46 - 47 & 530 \end{array}$
Resistance-Capacitance Time Const. Resistance in Series and Parallel Resistor Resistor Color Code Resistor Color Code Resistor Wattage Resonance Resonance Curve Resonance Cirve Resonance, Filter Resonance, Sharpness of Resonanct Transmission Lines	$\begin{array}{c} 446-480\\ \text{mt}29-30\\ \text{Chart})241\\20-22\\18\\19\\19\\19\\$
Resistance-Capacitance Time Const. Resistance in Series and Parallel Resistor Resistor Color Code Resistor Color Code Resistor Wattage Resonance Resonance Curve Resonance Cirve Resonance, Filter Resonance, Sharpness of Resonanct Transmission Lines	$\begin{array}{c} 446 - 480 \\ \text{ant} \dots 20 - 30 \\ \text{Chart} \end{pmatrix} \dots 241 \\ \dots 20 - 22 \\ \dots 18 \\ \dots 19 \\ \dots 519 \\ \dots 22 - 23 \\ \dots 40 - 44 \\ -43, 46 - 47, 540 \\ \dots 212 \\ \dots 41 - 43, 351 \\ \dots 422 \\ \dots 422 \\ \dots 422 \\ \dots 41 - 43, 351 \\ \dots 321 \\ \dots 321$
Resistance-Capacitance Time Const. Resistance in Series and Parallel Resistor Resistor Color Code Resistor Color Code Resistor Wattage Resonance Resonance Curve Resonance Cirve Resonance, Filter Resonance, Sharpness of Resonanct Transmission Lines	$\begin{array}{c} 446 - 480 \\ \text{ant} \dots 20 - 30 \\ \text{Chart} \end{pmatrix} \dots 241 \\ \dots 20 - 22 \\ \dots 18 \\ \dots 19 \\ \dots 519 \\ \dots 22 - 23 \\ \dots 40 - 44 \\ -43, 46 - 47, 540 \\ \dots 212 \\ \dots 41 - 43, 351 \\ \dots 422 \\ \dots 422 \\ \dots 422 \\ \dots 41 - 43, 351 \\ \dots 321 \\ \dots 321$
Resistance-Capacitance Time Const. Resistance in Series and Parallel Resistor Resistor Color Code Resistor Color Code Resistor Wattage Resonance Resonance Curve Resonance Cirve Resonance, Filter Resonance, Sharpness of Resonanct Transmission Lines	$\begin{array}{c} 446 - 480 \\ \text{ant} \dots 20 - 30 \\ \text{Chart} \end{pmatrix} \dots 241 \\ \dots 20 - 22 \\ \dots 18 \\ \dots 19 \\ \dots 519 \\ \dots 22 - 23 \\ \dots 40 - 44 \\ -43, 46 - 47, 540 \\ \dots 212 \\ \dots 41 - 43, 351 \\ \dots 422 \\ \dots 422 \\ \dots 422 \\ \dots 41 - 43, 351 \\ \dots 321 \\ \dots 321$
Resistance-Capacitance Time Const. Resistance in Series and Parallel Resistor Resistor Resistor Color Code Resistor Color Code Resistor Wattage Resonance Resonance Curve Resonance, Flater Resonance, Sharpness of Resonant-Line Circuits Resonant Transmission Lines Resonant Transmission Lines Resonant Cavity Response, Flat Response, Frequency Response, Frequency Response, Frequency Response, Frequency Response, Frequency Response, Anator Cavity Response, Frequency Response, Response, Cavity Response, Response, Cavity Response, Response, Cavity Response, Response, Cavity Response, Response, Cavity Response, Response, Cavity Response, Response, Cavity	$\begin{array}{c} 446-480\\ \text{ant} \ 29-30\\ \text{Chart} \ 20-22\\ \ 20-22\\ \ 19\\ \ 22-23\\ \ 40-44\\ \ 43, 46-47, 540\\ \ 212\\ \ 41-43, 351\\ \ 42-426\\ \ 311\\ \ 424-426\\ \ 61, 238, 240\\ \ 540\\ \ 338-339\\ \end{array}$
Resistance-Capacitance Time Const. Resistance-Coupled Amplifier Data ( Resistance in Series and Parallel Resistor Color Code Resistor Wattage Resonance Curve Resonance, Filter Resonance, Filter Resonance, Sharpness of Resonant-Line Circuits Resonant Transmission Lines Resonant Transmission Lines Resonator, Cavity Response, Flat Response, Frequency Response, Fruedency Response, Frequency Response, Frequency Response, Frequency Response, Frequency Response, Frequency Response, Frequency Response, Tumed-Circuit Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted-Space Antennas	$\begin{array}{c} 446-480\\ \mathrm{mt} & 20-30\\ \mathrm{Chart} & 241\\ & 20-22\\ & 18\\ & 19\\ & & 519\\ & & 22-23\\ & 40-44\\ +43, 46-47, 540\\ & & 212\\ & 41-43, 351\\ & & 422\\ & & 311\\ & & 424-426\\ & & & 61, 238, 240\\ & & & & 540\\ & & & & 338-339\\ & & & & 244-246\end{array}$
Resistance-Capacitance Time Const. Resistance in Series and Parallel Resistivity Resistor Resistor Color Code Resistor Wattage Resonance Resonance Curve Resonance Filter Resonance, Sharpness of Resonance, Sharpness of Resonant Transmission Lines Resonant Cavity Response, Flat Resonance, Circuit Response, Flat Response, Flat Response, Timed-Circuit Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted Space Antennas Restriction of Frequency Response Return Trace Results	$\begin{array}{c} 446-480\\ ant \ 29-30\\ Chart \ 20-22\\ \ 20-22\\ \ 19\\ \ 22-23\\ \ 40-44\\ -43, 46-47, 540\\ \ 212\\ \ 41-43, 351\\ \ 422\\ \ 311\\ \ 424-426\\ \ 61\\ \ 61, 238, 240\\ \ 338-339\\ \ 244-246\\ \ 540\\ \ 338-339\\ \ 244-246\\ \ 482\\ \ 213-214\\ \end{array}$
Resistance-Capacitance Time Const. Resistance-Coupled Amplifier Data ( Resistance in Series and Parallel Resistor Color Code Resistor Waltage Resonance Curve Resonance, Filter Resonance, Filter Resonance, Filter Resonance, Sharpness of Resonant-Line Circuits Resonant Transmission Lines Resonant, Cavity Response, Flat Response, Flat Response, Fraquency Response, Fraquency Response, Trued-Circuit Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted Space Antennas	$\begin{array}{c} 446-480\\ -8460 - 8460 -$
Resistance-Capacitance Time Const. Resistance in Series and Parallel Resistivity. Resistor Color Code Resistor Wattage Resonance Curve Resonance Curve Resonance, Filter Resonance, Filter Resonance, Sharpness of Resonant-Line Circuits Resonant Transmission Lines Resonant Transmission Lines Resonant, Cavity Response, Flat Response, Frequency Response, Frequency Response, Tuned-Circuit Restricted-Space Antennas Restriction of Frequency Response Restriction of Frequency Response Restriction of Frequency Return Trace Rewinding Transformers Rhombia Antenna	$\begin{array}{c} 446-480\\ \mathrm{mt} & 20-30\\ \mathrm{Chart}) & 241\\ & 20-22\\ & 18\\ & 19\\ & 22-23\\ & 40-44\\ +43, 46-47, 540\\ & 40-44\\ +43, 46-47, 540\\ & 212\\ & 41-43, 351\\ & 422\\ & 311\\ & 424-426\\ & 61\\ & 61, 238, 240\\ & 540\\ & 338-339\\ & 244-246\\ & 482\\ & 213-214\\ & 344-345\\ & 427-428\\ \end{array}$
Resistance-Capacitance Time Const. Resistance in Series and Parallel Resistivity. Resistor Color Code Resistor Wattage Resonance Curve Resonance Curve Resonance, Filter Resonance, Filter Resonance, Sharpness of Resonant-Line Circuits Resonant Transmission Lines Resonant Transmission Lines Resonant, Cavity Response, Flat Response, Frequency Response, Frequency Response, Tuned-Circuit Restricted-Space Antennas Restriction of Frequency Response Restriction of Frequency Response Restriction of Frequency Return Trace Rewinding Transformers Rhombia Antenna	$\begin{array}{c} 446-480\\ \mathrm{mt} & 20-30\\ \mathrm{Chart}) & 241\\ & 20-22\\ & 18\\ & 19\\ & 22-23\\ & 40-44\\ +43, 46-47, 540\\ & 40-44\\ +43, 46-47, 540\\ & 212\\ & 41-43, 351\\ & 422\\ & 311\\ & 424-426\\ & 61\\ & 61, 238, 240\\ & 540\\ & 338-339\\ & 244-246\\ & 482\\ & 213-214\\ & 344-345\\ & 427-428\\ \end{array}$
Resistance-Capacitance Time Const. Resistance in Series and Parallel Resistivity. Resistor Color Code Resistor Wattage Resistor Wattage Resonance Curve Resonance, Filter Resonance, Filter Resonance, Filter Resonance, Filter Resonant-Line Circuits. Resonant Transmission Lines Resonant Transmission Lines Resonant, Cavity Response, Frequency Response, Frequency Response, Frequency Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted-Space Antennas Restriction of Frequency Response. Return Trace Rewinding Transformers. Rhombic Antenna Rhumbatrons "Ribbon" Microphone Ripple Frequency and Voltage Rochelle Satts Crystals	$\begin{array}{c} 476-480\\ \text{mt} & 20-30\\ \text{Chart} & 20-32\\ \text{Chart} & 20-22\\ & 18\\ & 19\\ & 22-23\\ & 40-44\\ +33, 46-47, 540\\ & 422-33\\ & 40-44\\ +43, 46-47, 540\\ & 212\\ & 41-43, 351\\ & 422\\ & 311\\ & 424-426\\ & 61, 238, 240\\ & 540\\ & 338-339\\ & 244-246\\ & 61, 238, 240\\ & 540\\ & 338-339\\ & 244-246\\ & 424-246\\ & 482\\ & 213-214\\ & 344-345\\ & 427-428\\ & 239\\ & 208-209\\ & & 208-209\\ & & & 47\\ \end{array}$
Resistance-Capacitance Time Const. Resistance in Series and Parallel Resistor Resistor Color Code Resistor Color Code Resistor Wattage Resonance Resonance Curve Resonance Curve Resonance, Filter Resonance, Sharpness of Resonance, Sharpness of Resonant-Line Circuits Resonant-Line Circuits Resonant, Cavity Response, Flat Response, Flat Response, That Response, The Circuit Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted-Space Antennas Restrict and Frequency Response Return Trace Rewinding Transformers Rhombic Antenna Rhumbatrons "Ribbon" Microphone Ripple Frequency and Voltage Rochelle Salts Crystals Rotary Antennas	$\begin{array}{c} 446-480\\ ant 20-30\\ Chart) 241\\ 20-22\\ 18\\ 19\\ 20-22\\ 18\\ 19\\ 20-22\\ 19\\ 20-22\\ 19\\ 19\\ 20-22\\ 19\\ 19\\ 20-22\\ 19\\ 1$
Resistance-Capacitance Time Const. Resistance in Series and Parallel Resistivity. Resistor Color Code Resistor Wattage Resonance Curve Resonance Curve Resonance, Filter Resonance, Filter Resonance, Filter Resonant-Line Circuits Resonant Transmission Lines Resonant Transmission Lines Resonator, Cavity Response, Frequency Response, Frequency Response, Frequency Response, Frequency Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted-Space Antennas Return Trace Rewinding Transformers Rhombic Antenna Rhumbatrons "Ribbon" Microphone Ripple Frequency and Voltage Rochelle Salts Crystals Rotary-Beam Construction	$\begin{array}{c} 446-480\\ \mathrm{mt} & 20-30\\ \mathrm{Chart} & 20-32\\ \mathrm{Chart} & 20-22\\ & 18\\ & 19\\ & 22-23\\ & 40-44\\ +43, 46-47, 540\\ & 212\\ & 41-43, 351\\ & 422\\ & 311\\ & 424-426\\ & 61, 238, 240\\ & 540\\ & 338-339\\ & 244-246\\ & 482\\ & 213-214\\ & 344-345\\ & 427-428\\ & 239\\ & 208-209\\ & 47\\ & 350\\ & 357-360\\ \end{array}$
Resistance-Capacitance Time Const. Resistance in Series and Parallel Resistor Color Code Resistor Color Code Resistor Wattage Resistor Wattage Resonance Curve Resonance, Filter Resonance, Filter Resonance, Filter Resonanct Transmission Lines Resonant Transmission Lines Resonant Transmission Lines Resonator, Cavity Response, Frequency Response, Frequency Response, Frequency Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted-Space Antennas Restriction of Frequency Response Return Trace Rewinding Transformers Rhombic Antenna Rhumbatrons "Ribbon" Microphone Ripple Frequency and Voltage Rochelle Satts Crystals Rotary-Beam Construction Route Manager	$\begin{array}{c} 446-480\\ \mathrm{mt} & 20-30\\ \mathrm{Chart}) & 241\\ & 20-22\\ & 18\\ & 19\\ & 22-23\\ & 40-44\\ +3, 46-47, 540\\ & 422\\ & 41-43, 351\\ & 422\\ & 311\\ & 424-426\\ & 61, 238, 240\\ & 540\\ & 338-339\\ & 244-246\\ & 61, 238, 240\\ & 540\\ & 338-339\\ & 244-246\\ & 482\\ & 213-214\\ & 344-345\\ & 427-428\\ & 239\\ & 208-209\\ & 208-209\\ & 47\\ & 350\\ & 357-360\\ & 529\\ \end{array}$
Resistance-Capacitance Time Const. Resistance in Series and Parallel Resistivity. Resistor Color Code Resistor Wattage Resonance Curve Resonance Curve Resonance, Filter Resonance, Filter Resonance, Filter Resonant-Line Circuits Resonant Transmission Lines Resonant Transmission Lines Resonator, Cavity Response, Frequency Response, Frequency Response, Frequency Response, Frequency Response, Frequency Response, Frequency Response, Frequency Response, Frequency Response, Frequency Response, Response Return Trace Return Trace Return Trace Return Trace Return Trace Return Construction Ripple Frequency and Voltage Rochelle Salts Crystals Rotary Antennas Rotary-Beaun Construction Route Manager S-Meters	$\begin{array}{c} 446-480\\ +476-480\\ -29-30\\ -29-30\\ -20-32\\ -20-$
Resistance-Capacitance Time Const. Resistance in Series and Parallel Resistivity. Resistor Color Code Resistor Wattage Resistor Wattage Resonance Curve Resonance Curve Resonance, Filter Resonance, Filter Resonance, Filter Resonant Transmission Lines Resonant Transmission Lines Resonant Transmission Lines Resonator, Cavity Response, Frequency Response, Frequency Response, Frequency Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted-Space Antennas Restriction of Frequency Response Return Trace Rewinding Transformers. Rhombic Antenna Rhumbatrons "Ribbon" Microphone Ripple Frequency and Voltage Rochelle Satts Crystals Rotary-Beam Construction Route Manager S-Meters S Scale SSB Exciters	$\begin{array}{c} 446-480\\ \mathrm{mt} & 20-30\\ \mathrm{Chart}) & 241\\ & 20-22\\ & 18\\ & 19\\ & 519\\ & 22-23\\ & 40-44\\ +43, 46-47, 540\\ & 212\\ & 41-43, 351\\ & 422\\ & 311\\ & 424-426\\ & 61, 238, 240\\ & 540\\ & 338-339\\ & 244-246\\ & 61, 238, 240\\ & 540\\ & 338-339\\ & 244-246\\ & 482\\ & 213-214\\ & 344-345\\ & 427-428\\ & 239\\ & 208-209\\ & & 47\\ & 350\\ & & 357-360\\ & & 357-360\\ & & 535\\ & & 297-304\\ \end{array}$
Resistance-Capacitance Time Const. Resistance in Series and Parallel Resistor Resistor Color Code Resistor Color Code Resistor Wattage Resonance Resonance Curve Resonance Curve Resonance, Filter Resonance, Filter Resonance, Filter Resonance, Filter Resonant-Line Circuits Resonant Transmission Lines Resonant, Cavity Response, Flat Response, Flat Response, Frequency Response, The Circuit Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted State Crystals Rhombic Antenna Rhombic Antenna Rhotary Antennas Rotary Essence Soule Salts Crystals Rotary Antennas Rotary Antennas Safety	$\begin{array}{c} 440-480\\ ant. \ 20-30\\ Chart). \ 241\\20-32\\ Chart). \ 241\\20-32\\30\\$
Resistance-Capacitance Time Const. Resistance in Series and Parallel Resistivity. Resistor Color Code Resistor Wattage Resonance Curve Resonance Curve Resonance, Filter Resonance, Filter Resonance, Sharpness of Resonant-Line Circuits Resonant Transmission Lines Resonant Transmission Lines Resonator, Cavity Response, Frequency Response, Transformers Restriction of Frequency Response Return Trace Rewinding Transformers Rhombic Antenna Rhumbatrons "Ribbon" Microphone Ripple Frequency and Voltage Rochelle Salts Crystals Rotary Antennas Rotary-Beaun Construction Route Manager S-Meters S Scale SSB Exciters Safety Saturation	$\begin{array}{c} 446-480\\ +476-480\\ -20-30\\ -20-30\\ -20-32\\ -20-$
Resistance-Capacitance Time Const. Resistance in Series and Parallel Resistor Resistor Color Code Resistor Color Code Resistor Wattage Resonance Resonance Curve Resonance Curve Resonance, Filter Resonance, Filter Resonance, Filter Resonance, Filter Resonant-Line Circuits Resonant Transmission Lines Resonant, Cavity Response, Flat Response, Flat Response, Frequency Response, The Circuit Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted State Crystals Rhombic Antenna Rhombic Antenna Rhotary Antennas Rotary Essence Soule Salts Crystals Rotary Antennas Rotary Antennas Safety	$\begin{array}{c} 446-480\\ \mathrm{mt} & 20-30\\ \mathrm{Chart}) & 241\\ & 20-22\\ & 18\\ & 19\\ & 22-23\\ & 40-44\\ +3, 46-47, 540\\ & 422-33\\ & 40-44\\ +43, 46-47, 540\\ & 212\\ & 41-43, 351\\ & 422-33\\ & 41-43, 351\\ & 422-33\\ & 41-43, 351\\ & 422-33\\ & 41-43, 351\\ & 424-426\\ & 61, 238, 240\\ & 540\\ & 540\\ & 338-339\\ & 244-246\\ & 61, 238, 240\\ & 540\\ & 540\\ & 540\\ & 540\\ & 540\\ & 535\\ & 297-304\\ & 489-490\\ & 27, 212\\ & 53\\ \end{array}$
Resistance-Capacitance Time Const. Resistance in Series and Parallel Resistivity. Resistor Color Code Resistor Wattage Resonance Curve Resonance Curve Resonance, Filter Resonance, Filter Resonance, Filter Resonanct Transmission Lines Resonant Transmission Lines Resonant Transmission Lines Resonator, Cavity Response, Frequency Response, Frequency Response, Frequency Response, Frequency Response, Frequency Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted-Space Antennas Ripple Frequency and Voltage Robelle Salts Crystals Rotary-Beam Construction Route Manager S-Meters S-Scale SSB Exciters Saturation Saturation Saturation Point Saturation Saturation Seatter	$\begin{array}{c} 476-480\\ nt. \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \$
Resistance-Capacitance Time Const. Resistance in Series and Parallel Resistivity. Resistor Color Code Resistor Wattage Resistor Wattage Resonance Curve Resonance Curve Resonance, Filter Resonance, Filter Resonance, Filter Resonance, Filter Resonant Transmission Lines Resonant Transmission Lines Resonant Transmission Lines Resonant, Cavity Response, Frequency Response, Frequency Response, Frequency Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted-Space Antennas Restricted-Space Antennas Restriction of Frequency Response Return Trace Rewinding Transformers. Rhombic Antenna Rhumbatrons "Ribbon" Microphone Ripple Frequency and Voltage Rochelle Salts Crystals Rotary-Beam Construction Route Manager S-Meters S Scale SSB Exciters Safety Saturation Point.	$\begin{array}{c} 476-480\\ 1476-480\\ 20-30\\ Chart) & 241\\ & 20-22\\ & 18\\ & 19\\ & 22-23\\ & 19\\ & 22-23\\ & 19\\ & 22-23\\ & 19\\ & 22-23\\ & 19\\ & 22-23\\ & 19\\ & 22-23\\ & 19\\ & 22-23\\ & 19\\ & 22-23\\ & 19\\ & 22-23\\ & 41-43\\ & 40-44\\ & 421\\ & 424-426\\ & 61\\ & 238-339\\ & 244-246\\ & 61\\ & 238-339\\ & 244-246\\ & 61\\ & 238-339\\ & 244-246\\ & 61\\ & 238-339\\ & 244-246\\ & 482\\ & 213-214\\ & 344-345\\ & 427-428\\ & 239\\ & 208-209\\ & 244-246\\ & 482\\ & 213-214\\ & 344-345\\ & 427-428\\ & 239\\ & 208-209\\ & 244-246\\ & 482\\ & 213-214\\ & 344-345\\ & 482\\ & 27,212\\ & 535\\ & 297-304\\ & 489-490\\ & 27,212\\ & 53\\ & 482\\ & 74,364\\ & $

PAGE

PAGE Sereen Dropping ResistorPAGESereen-Grid Koying230Sereen-Grid Modulation273-275Soreen-Grid Tube Protection141Boreen-Orid Tubes(2-63)Sereen-Grid Tube(2-63)Sereen-Grid Tube(2-63)Sereen-Grid Tube(2-63)Sereen-Grid Tube(2-63)Secondary Emission(62)Secondary Emission(62)Secondary Emission(62)Secondary Emission(62)Secondary Emission(62)Section Emergency Coordinator(52)Section Communfactions Manager(52)Section Mets(53)Selectivity, Receiver(7, 94)Selef-Inductance(26)Self-Controlled Oscillators(12-2)Self-Controlled Oscillators(12-3)Self-Inductance(26)Self-Qacillation(6-67)Sending(51)Series Circuits(2-2)Series Circuits(2-

 

 Static Contracteristics
 50

 Static Collectors
 435

 Station Control Circuits
 486-489

 Station Locations, V.II.F.
 364

 Straight Amplifier
 129

 Station Control Circuits
 400 400

 Station Control Circuits486-489Station Locations, V.II.F.364Stray Receiver Rectification492-493Stubs, Antenna-Matching317Sunspot Cycle74Superheterodyne83-84Superheterodyne83-84Superheterodyne83-84Superheterodyne83-84Superheterodyne83-84Superheterodyne83-84Superheterodyne83-84Superheterodyne83-84Superheterodyne83-84Superheterodyne83-84Superheterodyne83-84Superheterodyne83-84Supersor Cycle18Superesor Grid62Suppressor Grid62Suppressor Grid62Suppressor-Grid Modulation275-276Surge Impedance307Sweep Circuits482Sweep Waveforms482Swing, Grid54Switching, Antenna353Switching, Meter149-152Synchronous Vibrators225"T"-Match to Antennas318-319"T"-Section Filters541Tank-Circuit Q41-48, 132, 135-138, 423Tank-Circuit Q41-48, 132, 135-138, 423Tank-Circuit Q41-48, 132, 135-138, 423Tank-Circuit Q41-48, 132, 135-138, 423Tank-Circuit Q41-48, 132, 135-138, 425Tank-Circuit Q41-48, 132, 135-138, 425Tank-Circuit Q41-48, 132, 135-138, 425< Inyratrons.66Tickler Coil.80-81Time Base482Time Constant29-31, 91, 537Tire Static435Tone Control244Tools.512-513Trace, Cathode-Ray454Trace, Cathode-Ray454Tracking83, 98Tracking Capacity98Transonductance, Grid-Plate55Transformer Color Codes519Transformer Color Codes519Transformer Color Codes519Transformer Delta-Matching319, 335, 351, 413Transformer Efficiency38-39

PAGE 

 Transformer, "Q"-Section
 413

 Transformer Ratio
 258

 Transformer Rewinding
 213–214

 Transformerless Power Supplies
 219–220

 Transformerless Power Supplies
 219–220

 Transformers:
 Air-Tuned
 88–89

 Constant-Voltage
 221–222

 Filament
 213–214

 I.F.
 88–89

 Linear-Circuit
 317

 Permeability-Tuned
 89

 Plate
 212–213

 Triple-Tuned
 89

 Variable-Selectivity
 89

 Transitors
 69

 Transitors
 69

 Transision Lines
 307–329

 Transmission Lines as Circuit Elements
 422–423

 Transmission-Line Construction
 312–313

 Transmission-Line Construction 312–313 Transmission-Line Coupling 136–138 Transmission-Line Feed for Half-Wave 74 Constructional: **Complete Transmitter Assemblies:** 1-Tube 2-Band Transmitter for the . 154-156 Meters . ...177-179 500-Watt Multiband VFO Transmitter, 172-176 6146 Multiband Amplifier 196–197 Bandswitching 80-Watt Transmitter 198–200 Beat-Frequency Exciter 185-187 Beginner's 35-Watt Transmitter 160-161 Compact 75-Watt 6-Band Transmitter 162-166 Completely-Shielded 90-Watt Transmitter Completely-Shielded 90-Watt Transmitter or Exciter 167–171 High-Power Tetrode Amplifier 201–204 Multiband Mobile Transmitter 445–446 Remotely-Tuned VFO 188–190 Silenced VFO for Break-In C.W. 182–184 Simple VFO 180–181 Sweep-Tube Transmitter for 3.5 and 7 Mc. 157–159 Line-Voltage Adjustment 2222 Metering 149–152 Principles and Design 129 Transverse-Electric and Magnetic Mode 424–425 Trapezoidal Pattern 279–280 Traverse-Electric and Magnetic Mode 424–425 Trapezoidal Pattern 279–280 Traveling-Wave Tube 429 Trimmer Condenser 83 Triodes 54–55 Triode Amplifiers 149–150 Triple-Detection Superheterodyne 96 Tripler, Frequency 129, 149, 410–411 Tri-Tet Oscillator 130 Tropospheric Bending 72–75, 364 Tropospheric Bending 72–75, 364 Trouble Shooting (Receivers) 102 Tube Keyer 234 Tube Koyer 26 Tubes, Driver 260 Tubes, Modulator 257 Tuned-Circuit Response 540 Tuned Coupling 137–138, 322–323 Tuned-Grief Uned-Plate Circuit 67–68 Tuned-Grief Tansers 311 Tuners, Antenna, Construction of: Coax-Coupled Matching Circuit 327–328 Receiver Coupler 117–118 "Universal "Antenna Coupler 328–329 Tuning Range, Extending the Receiver 99 Tuning Ransiters 149–152 Turns Ratio 38 or Exciter 167–171 High-Power Tetrode Amplifier 201–204 
 Tuning Transmitters
 149–152

 Turns Ratio
 38

 TVI
 388, 495–511

	PAGE
TV Receiver Deficiencies "Twin-Lamp" Standing-Wave Indicator	508
"Twin-Lamp" Standing-Wave Indicator	.480-481
Twin-Lead	.312-313
"Butterfly" Circuits	423
Cavity Resonators	.423-420
Klystrons. "Lighthouse" Tubes	427-428
"Lighthouse" Tubes	, 427-430
Lumped-Constant Circuits	422-423
Magnetrons. Megatrons.	.428-429
Tank Circuits	.421~424
Techniques . Transmission-Line Tanks	.429 - 432
Transmission-Line Tanks	422
Traveling-Wave Tubes	429
Tubes.	4.77
Tubes. Velocity Modulation Wave Guides Unbalance in Amplifiers Unbalance in Transmission Lines Universal Antenna Coupler	423-426
Unbalance in Amplifiers	148
Unbalance in Transmission Lines313	, 320–321
Universal Antenna Coupler	. 328-329
COUDED I FAUSINISSION LINES	
"V" Antennas	343-344
VR Tubes.	215
Vacuum Tubes and Semiconductors	
(Index to Tables)	<u>V1</u>
Upward Modulation "V" Antennas. VR Tubes. Vacuum Tubes and Semiconductors (Index to Tables). Vacuum-Tube Principles. Variable-Frequency Oseillators: Audio-I.F. VFOs. Variable- $\mu$ Tubes. Variable- $\mu$ Tubes. Variable- $\mu$ Tubes. Variable- $\mu$ Tubes. Variable- $\mu$ Microphone. Velocity Microphone. Velocity-Modulated Tubes.	
Variable Frequency Oscillators:	24-20
Andio-I.F.	.470-471
VFOs	.132 - 135
Variable-µ Tubes	63
Variable Selectivity	
Velocity Factor	-314-313
Velocity Microphone	427
Velocity Modulation	427
Velocity of Radio Waves	18,70-71
Vertical Amplifiers.	482
Vertical Angle of Radiation	330 .340–343
Vertical Antennas.	. 340-345
Very-Iligh Frequencies (V.II.F.): Antenna Systems	
Antenna Systems	, 452–456
Constructional:	
Receivers:	M. 990
Crystal-Controlled Converters for	MC. 304
Crystal-Controlled Converters for	50
144 and 220 Mc.	50, .369–374
144 and 220 Mc.	50, .369–374 .379–380
144 and 220 Mc. Low-Noise Preamplifier for 144 Mc. Receivers for 420 Mc.	50, .369–374 .379–380 .380–383
144 and 220 Mc.         Low-Noise Preamplifier for 144 Mc.         Receivers for 420 Mc.         R.F. Amplifiers for 420 Mc.	50, 369-374 379-380 380-383 381-382 276-275
144 and 220 Mc.         Low-Noise Preamplifier for 144 Mc.         Receivers for 420 Mc.         R.F. Amplifiers for 420 Mc.         Simple Converter for 50 and 144 Mc.         V H E Belves	50, .369-374 .379-380 .380-383 .381-382 .376-378 .374-375
144 and 220 Mc.         Low-Noise Preamplifier for 144 Mc.         Receivers for 420 Mc.         R.F. Amplifiers for 420 Mc.         Simple Converter for 50 and 144 Mc.         V.H.F. Baluns         2. Meter Mobile Converter	50, .369-374 .379-380 .380-383 .381-382 .376-378 .374-375 .443-444
Receivers: Crystal-Controlled Converter for 432 Crystal-Controlled Converters for 144 and 220 Mc. Low-Noise Preamplifier for 144 Mc. Receivers for 420 Mc. R.F. Amplifiers for 420 Mc. Simple Converter for 50 and 144 Mc. V.H.F. Baluns 2-Meter Mobile Converter. Transmitters:	$\begin{array}{c} 50,\\ .369-374\\ .379-380\\ .380-383\\ .381-382\\ .376-378\\ .374-375\\ .443-444 \end{array}$
50-144 Mc. Band-Changing Crystal-	
50-144 Mc. Band-Changing Crystal-	447-450
50-144 Mc. Band-Changing Crystal-	447-450
50-144 Mc. Band-Changing Crystal-	447-450
<ul> <li>10-144 Mc. Band-Changing Crystal- Controlled Mobile Transmitter</li> <li>144-Mc. Driver-Amplifier</li> <li>420-Mc. Transmitters</li> <li>Complete Transmitter for 144 Through</li> </ul>	.447-450 .392-396 .409-411 .21
<ul> <li>10-144 Mc. Band-Changing Crystal- Controlled Mobile Transmitter</li> <li>144-Mc. Driver-Amplifier</li> <li>420-Mc. Transmitters</li> <li>Complete Transmitter for 144 Through</li> </ul>	.447-450 .392-396 .409-411 .21
101-144 Mc. Band-Changing Crystal- Controlled Mobile Transmitter         144-Mc. Driver-Amplifier         1420-Mc. Transmitters         Complete Transmitter for 144 Through Mc.         Transmitter-Exciter for 220 Mc.         Final Amplifier for 50, 28 and 21 Mc.	$\begin{array}{r} .447-450\\ .392-396\\ .409-411\\ 121\\ .389-392\\ .407-408\\ .396-399\end{array}$
101-144 Mc. Band-Changing Crystal- Controlled Mobile Transmitter         144-Mc. Driver-Amplifier         1420-Mc. Transmitters         Complete Transmitter for 144 Through Mc.         Transmitter-Exciter for 220 Mc.         Final Amplifier for 50, 28 and 21 Mc.	$\begin{array}{r} .447-450\\ .392-396\\ .409-411\\ 121\\ .389-392\\ .407-408\\ .396-399\end{array}$
<ul> <li>10-144 Mc. Band-Changing Crystal- Controlled Mobile Transmitter</li> <li>144-Mc. Driver-Amplifier</li> <li>420-Mc. Transmitters</li> <li>Complete Transmitter for 144 Through</li> </ul>	.447-450 .392-396 .409-411 121 .389-392 .407-408 .396-399 .399-401 Mc.
<ul> <li>50-144 Mc. Band-Changing Crystal- Controlled Mobile Transmitter</li></ul>	.447-450 .392-396 .409-411 .121 .389-392 .407-408 .396-399 .399-401 Mc. .402-405
<ul> <li>50-144 Mc. Band-Changing Crystal- Controlled Mobile Transmitter</li></ul>	.447-450 .392-396 .409-411 .121 .389-392 .407-408 .396-399 .399-401 Mc. .402-405
<ul> <li>50-144 Mc. Band-Changing Crystal- Controlled Mobile Transmitter</li></ul>	.447-450 .392-396 .409-411 .121 .389-392 .407-408 .396-399 .399-401 Mc. .402-405
<ul> <li>10-144 Mc. Band-Changing Crystal- Controlled Mobile Transmitter</li></ul>	.447-450 .392-396 .409-411 .121 .389-392 .407-408 .396-399 .399-401 Mc. .402-405

r	AGE
Station Locations, V.II.F.	364
Superregenerative Receiver	368
Transmitter Design V.II.F. Receiver Design	380
V.II.F. Receiver Design	-308
VFO Vibrator Power Supplies	-297
Virtual Height	72
Virtual Height Voice-Controlled Break-In	297
voice Uperating	-523
Volt-Volt-Amperes	17
Volt-Amperes	4,37
Volt-Ampere Rating. Voltage Amplification	213
Voltage Amplification	,240
Voltage Amplifier	58
Voltage Breakdown	20
Voltage Decay	-215
Voltage Distribution Antenna 333	336
Voltage Drop 21	214
Voltage Feed for Antennas	334
Voltage Gain	240
Voltage Loop	309
Voltage-Amplification Ratio	56
Voltage Loop. Voltage-Amplification Ratio. Voltage-Multiplier Circuits	-220
Voltage Node	309
voltage Rano. Fransformer	- 30
Voltage Regulation	208
Voltage, Ripple	-209
Voltage Rise	42
Voltage-Regulator Interference	434
Voltmotory 457 459 460	-217
Voltage Regulation Voltage, Ripple	-245
W1AW 12.	531
	532
WAS Award	531
	22
Watt Ham	
Watt+110ur	23
Watt-Second	$\frac{23}{23}$
Watt-Becond Wave Angle	$23 \\ 23 \\ 333$
Watt-Second Wave Angle	$23 \\ 23 \\ 333 \\ 266$
Watt-Second Wave Angle	$23 \\ 23 \\ 333 \\ 266 \\ 71 \\ 71 \\ 71 \\ 71 \\ 71 \\ 71 \\ 71 \\ $
Watt-Hour Watt-Second Wave Angle	
Wave Guides 423-	-426
Wave Guides 423-	-426
Wave Guides	-426 2-75 -37
Wave Guides    423-      Wave Propagation    77      Wave, Sine    17, 31      Wave, Sky    72	-426 2-75 1-37 2-75
Wave Guides       423-         Wave Propagation       72         Wave, Sine       17, 31         Wave, Sky       72         Waveform       72	-426 2-75 1-37 2-75 17
Wave Guides       423-         Wave Propagation       72         Wave, Sine       17, 31         Wave, Sky       72         Waveform       72	-426 2-75 1-37 2-75
Wave Guides       423-         Wave Propagation       72         Wave, Sine       17, 31         Wave, Sky       72         Waveform       72         Wavelength       72         Wavelength-Frequency Conversion       73	-426 2-75 1-37 2-75 17 18
Wave Guides       423-         Wave Propagation       7:         Wave, Sine       17, 31         Wave, Sky       7:         Waveform       7:         Wavelength       Wavelength         Wavelength       Frequency Conversion         Wavelength       Wavelength         Wavelength       Frequency Conversion         Wavelength       Wavelength	-426 2-75 1-37 2-75 17 18 18 18 70 14
Wave Guides       423-         Wave Propagation       7:         Wave, Sine       17, 31         Wave, Sky       7:         Waveform       7:         Wavelength       Wavelength         Wavelength       Frequency Conversion         Wavelength       Wavelength         Wavelength       Frequency Conversion         Wavelength       Wavelength	426 2-75 1-37 2-75 17 18 18 18 18 70 14 37
Wave Guides       423-         Wave Propagation       7:         Wave, Sine       17, 31         Wave, Sky       7:         Waveform       7:         Wavelength       Wavelength         Wavelength       Frequency Conversion         Wavelength       Wavelength         Wavelength       Frequency Conversion         Wavelength       Wavelength	426 2-75 1-37 2-75 17 18 18 18 70 14 37 36
Wave Guides       423-         Wave Propagation       7:         Wave, Sine       17, 31         Wave, Sky       7:         Waveform       7:         Wavelength       7:         Wavelength       8:         Wavelength       9:         Wavelength       9:         Wavelength       9:         Wavelength, Frequency Conversion       9:         Wavelength, Amateur       9:         Waves, Complex       9:         Waves, Distorted       9:         Waves, Electronagnetic       9:	$\begin{array}{c} -426\\ 2-75\\ 1-37\\ 2-75\\ 17\\ 18\\ 18\\ 70\\ 14\\ 37\\ 36\\ 15\\ \end{array}$
Wave Guides       423-         Wave Propagation       77         Wave, Sine       17, 31         Wave, Sky       72         Waveform       72         Wavelength-Frequency Conversion       74         Wavelength-Frequency Conversion       74         Wavelength, Performance       74         Waves, Complex       74         Waves, Distorted       74         Waves, Electromagnetic       494, 498-	$\begin{array}{c} -426\\ -426\\ 2-75\\ 1-37\\ 2-75\\ 17\\ 18\\ 18\\ 70\\ 14\\ 37\\ 36\\ 15\\ -499\end{array}$
Wave Guides       423-         Wave Propagation       72         Wave, Sine       17, 31         Wave, Sky       72         Wavelength       72         Wavelength-       72         Wavelength-       72         Wavelength-       72         Wavelength-       72         Wavelength-       72         Wavelength-       73         Wavelength-       74         Wavelength, Amateur       73         Waves, Complex.       74         Waves, Distorted       74         Wavetraps       494, 498         Wheel Static       434	$\begin{array}{c} -426\\ -426\\ 2-75\\ 1-37\\ 2-75\\ 17\\ 18\\ 18\\ 70\\ 14\\ 37\\ 36\\ 15\\ -499\\ -435\\ \end{array}$
Wave Guides       423-         Wave Propagation       7:         Wave, Sine       17, 31         Wave, Sky       7:         Wavelength       7:         Wavelength       7:         Wavelength       7:         Wavelength Performance       Wavelengths, Amateur         Waves, Complex       9:         Waves, Distorted       494, 498-         Wavetraps       494, 498-         Wheel Static       434-	$\begin{array}{c} -426\\ -426\\ 2-75\\ 1-37\\ 2-75\\ 17\\ 18\\ 18\\ 70\\ 14\\ 37\\ 36\\ 15\\ -499\\ -435\\ 420\\ \end{array}$
Wave Guides       423-         Wave Propagation       72         Wave, Sine       17, 31         Wave, Sky       72         Wavelength       72         Wavelength-Frequency Conversion       Wavelength-Frequency Conversion         Wavelength Performance       Wavelength S, Amateur         Waves, Complex       Waves, Complex         Waves, Distorted       494, 498-         Wavetraps       494, 498-         Wide-Band Antennas       434-	$\begin{array}{c} -426\\ -426\\ -2-75\\ 1-37\\ 2-75\\ 17\\ 18\\ 18\\ 70\\ 14\\ 37\\ 37\\ 37\\ -499\\ 420\\ 420\\ 420\\ \end{array}$
Wave Guides       423-         Wave Propagation       72         Wave, Sine       17, 31         Wave, Sky       72         Wavelength       72         Wavelength-Frequency Conversion       Wavelength-Frequency Conversion         Wavelength Performance       Wavelength S, Amateur         Waves, Complex       Waves, Complex         Waves, Distorted       494, 498-         Wavetraps       494, 498-         Wide-Band Antennas       434-	$\begin{array}{c} -426\\ -426\\ -2-75\\ 1-37\\ 2-75\\ 17\\ 18\\ 18\\ 70\\ 14\\ 37\\ 37\\ 37\\ -499\\ 420\\ 420\\ 420\\ \end{array}$
Wave Guides       423-         Wave Propagation       72         Wave, Sine       17, 31         Wave, Sky       72         Wavelength       72         Wavelength-Frequency Conversion       Wavelength-Frequency Conversion         Wavelength Performance       Wavelength S, Amateur         Waves, Complex       Waves, Complex         Waves, Distorted       494, 498-         Wavetraps       494, 498-         Wide-Band Antennas       434-	$\begin{array}{c} -426\\ -426\\ -2-75\\ 1-37\\ 2-75\\ 17\\ 18\\ 18\\ 70\\ 14\\ 37\\ 37\\ 37\\ -499\\ 420\\ 420\\ 420\\ \end{array}$
Wave Guides       423-         Wave Propagation       72         Wave, Sine       17, 31         Wave, Sky       72         Wavelength       72         Wavelength-Frequency Conversion       Wavelength-Frequency Conversion         Wavelength Performance       Wavelength S, Amateur         Waves, Complex       Waves, Complex         Waves, Distorted       494, 498-         Wavetraps       494, 498-         Wide-Band Antennas       434-	$\begin{array}{c} -426\\ -426\\ -2-75\\ 1-37\\ 2-75\\ 17\\ 18\\ 18\\ 70\\ 14\\ 37\\ 37\\ 37\\ -499\\ 420\\ 420\\ 420\\ \end{array}$
Wave Guides       423-         Wave Propagation       7:         Wave, Sine       17, 31         Wave, Sky       7:         Waveform       7:         Wavelength       7:         Wavelength Performance       7:         Wavelength Performance       7:         Wavelength Performance       7:         Waves, Complex       494, 498         Waves, Electronagnetic       494, 498         Wheel Static       434         Wide-Band Antennas       434         Wiring, Station       515         Word List for Accurate Transmission       515	426 2-75 1-37 2-75 17 18 18 14 37 36 15 499 435 420 539 2 490 539 2 593 2
Wave Guides       423-         Wave Propagation       77         Wave, Sine       17, 31         Wave, Sine       17, 31         Wave, Sky       72         Waveform       72         Wavelength-Frequency Conversion       72         Wavelength-Frequency Conversion       73         Wavelength Performance       74         Waves, Complex       74         Waves, Distorted       74         Waves, Electromagnetic       494, 498         Wheel Static       434         Wide-Band Antennas       494, 498         Wiring Diagrams, Symbols for       515-         Wiring, Station       515-         Working DX       523-	$\begin{array}{c} 426\\ 2-75\\ 1-37\\ 1-37\\ 17\\ 18\\ 8\\ 8\\ 15\\ -499\\ 2\\ 420\\ 539\\ 2\\ 490\\ 2\\ 490\\ 2\\ 539\\ 2\\ 490\\ 5523\\ -524\\ 490\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\$
Wave Guides       423-         Wave Propagation       77         Wave, Sine       17, 31         Wave, Sine       17, 31         Wave, Sky       72         Waveform       72         Wavelength-Frequency Conversion       72         Wavelength-Frequency Conversion       73         Wavelength Performance       74         Waves, Complex       74         Waves, Distorted       74         Waves, Electromagnetic       494, 498         Wheel Static       434         Wide-Band Antennas       494, 498         Wiring Diagrams, Symbols for       515-         Wiring, Station       515-         Working DX       523-	$\begin{array}{c} 426\\ 2-75\\ 1-37\\ 1-37\\ 17\\ 18\\ 8\\ 8\\ 15\\ -499\\ 2\\ 420\\ 539\\ 2\\ 490\\ 2\\ 490\\ 2\\ 539\\ 2\\ 490\\ 5523\\ -524\\ 490\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\$
Wave Guides       423-         Wave Propagation       77         Wave, Sine       17, 31         Wave, Sine       17, 31         Wave, Sky       72         Waveform       72         Wavelength-Frequency Conversion       72         Wavelength-Frequency Conversion       73         Wavelength Performance       74         Waves, Complex       74         Waves, Distorted       74         Waves, Electromagnetic       494, 498         Wheel Static       434         Wide-Band Antennas       494, 498         Wiring Diagrams, Symbols for       515-         Wiring, Station       515-         Working DX       523-	$\begin{array}{c} 426\\ 2-75\\ 1-37\\ 1-37\\ 17\\ 18\\ 8\\ 8\\ 15\\ -499\\ 2\\ 420\\ 539\\ 2\\ 490\\ 2\\ 490\\ 2\\ 539\\ 2\\ 490\\ 5523\\ -524\\ 490\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\$
Wave Guides       423-         Wave Propagation       77         Wave, Sine       17, 31         Wave, Sine       17, 31         Wave, Sky       72         Waveform       72         Wavelength-Frequency Conversion       72         Wavelength-Frequency Conversion       73         Wavelength Performance       74         Waves, Complex       74         Waves, Distorted       74         Waves, Electromagnetic       494, 498         Wheel Static       434         Wide-Band Antennas       494, 498         Wiring Diagrams, Symbols for       515-         Wiring, Station       515-         Working DX       523-	$\begin{array}{c} 426\\ 2-75\\ 1-37\\ 1-37\\ 17\\ 18\\ 8\\ 8\\ 15\\ -499\\ 2\\ 420\\ 539\\ 2\\ 490\\ 2\\ 490\\ 2\\ 539\\ 2\\ 490\\ 5523\\ -524\\ 490\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\$
Wave Guides       423-         Wave Propagation       77         Wave, Sine       17, 31         Wave, Sine       17, 31         Wave, Sky       72         Waveform       72         Wavelength-Frequency Conversion       72         Wavelength-Frequency Conversion       73         Wavelength Performance       74         Waves, Complex       74         Waves, Distorted       74         Waves, Electromagnetic       494, 498         Wheel Static       434         Wide-Band Antennas       494, 498         Wiring Diagrams, Symbols for       515-         Wiring, Station       515-         Working DX       523-	$\begin{array}{c} 426\\ 2-75\\ 1-37\\ 1-37\\ 17\\ 18\\ 8\\ 8\\ 15\\ -499\\ 2\\ 420\\ 539\\ 2\\ 490\\ 2\\ 490\\ 2\\ 539\\ 2\\ 490\\ 5523\\ -524\\ 490\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\ 2\\$
Wave Guides       423-         Wave Propagation       72-         Wave, Sine       17, 31         Wave, Sky       72-         Wavelength       72-         Wavelength-       40-         Waves, Distorted       49-         Waves, Electromagnetic       494-         Wavetraps       494-         Wiring, Station       434-         Wiring, Transmitter       515-         Working DX       523-         Working DX       523-         Working Voltage, Condenser       512-         WW V Schedules       319-         X' (Reactance)       319-	$\begin{array}{c} 426\\ -426\\ -75\\ -37\\ -75\\ -75\\ -75\\ -75\\ -77\\ -78\\ -70\\ -18\\ -88\\ -70\\ -18\\ -70\\ -18\\ -70\\ -18\\ -70\\ -18\\ -18\\ -18\\ -18\\ -18\\ -18\\ -18\\ -18$
Wave Guides       423-         Wave Propagation       77         Wave, Sine       17, 31         Wave, Sine       17, 31         Wave, Sine       72         Waveform       72         Wavelength-Frequency Conversion       74         Wavelength Performance       72         Waves, Complex       74         Waves, Distorted       74         Waves, Distorted       74         Waves, Electromagnetic       494, 498         Wheel Static       434         Wide-Band Antennas       494, 498         Wiring Diagrams, Symbols for       515         Working Diagrams, Symbols for       515         Working DX       523-         Working Voltage, Condenser       512-         WW Schedules       319-         X (Reactance)       319-         Z (Impedance)       34-	$\begin{array}{c} 426\\ -426\\ -75\\ -75\\ -75\\ -75\\ -2-75\\ -75\\ -75\\ -75\\ -75\\ -499\\ -435\\ -499\\ -435\\ -499\\ -435\\ -499\\ -435\\ -499\\ -517\\ -523\\ -524\\ 4200\\ -517\\ -523\\ -524\\ -519\\ -524\\ -519\\ -524\\ -5219\\ -524\\ -522\\ -524\\ -222\\ -222\\ $
Wave Guides       423-         Wave Propagation       72-         Wave, Sine       17, 31         Wave, Sky       72-         Wavelength       72-         Wavelength-       40-         Waves, Distorted       49-         Waves, Electromagnetic       494-         Wavetraps       494-         Wiring, Station       434-         Wiring, Transmitter       515-         Working DX       523-         Working DX       523-         Working Voltage, Condenser       512-         WW V Schedules       319-         X' (Reactance)       319-	$\begin{array}{c} 426\\ -426\\ -75\\ -75\\ -75\\ -75\\ -2-75\\ -75\\ -75\\ -75\\ -75\\ -499\\ -435\\ -499\\ -435\\ -499\\ -435\\ -499\\ -435\\ -499\\ -517\\ -523\\ -524\\ 4200\\ -517\\ -523\\ -524\\ -519\\ -524\\ -519\\ -524\\ -5219\\ -524\\ -522\\ -524\\ -222\\ -222\\ $

· ·

.



